SUBCELLULAR BIOCHEMISTRY Volume 45

Calcium Signalling and Disease

Molecular Pathology of Calcium

Edited by

Ernesto Carafoli and Marisa Brini



Calcium Signalling and Disease

Subcellular Biochemistry Volume 45

SUBCELLULAR BIOCHEMISTRY

SERIES EDITOR J.ROBIN HARRIS, University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany ASSISTANT EDITORS B.B. BISWAS, University of Calcutta, Calcutta, India P.QUINN, King's College London, London, U.K

Recent Volumes in this Series

Volume 31	Intermediate Filaments Edited by Harald Herrmann and J. Robin Harris		
Volume 32	alpha-Gal and Anti-Gal: alpha-1,3-Galactosyltransferase, alpha-Gal Epitope and the Natural Anti-Gal Antibody Edited by Uri Galili and Jos-Luis Avila		
Volume 33	Bacterial Invasion into Eukaryotic Cells Tobias A. Oelschlaeger and Jorg Hacker		
Volume 34	Fusion of Biological Membranes and Related Problems Edited by Herwig Hilderson and Stefan Fuller		
Volume 35	Enzyme-Catalyzed Electron and Radical Transfer Andreas Holzenburg and Nigel S. Scrutton		
Volume 36	Phospholipid Metabolism in Apoptosis Edited by Peter J. Quinn and Valerian E. Kagan		
Volume 37	Membrane Dynamics and Domains Edited by P.J. Quinn		
Volume 38	Alzheimer's Disease: Cellular and Molecular Aspects of Amyloid beta Edited by R. Harris and F. Fahrenholz		
Volume 39	Biology of Inositols and Phosphoinositides Edited by A. Lahiri Majumder and B.B. Biswas		
Volume 40	Reviews and Protocols in DT40 Research Edited by Jean-Marie Buerstedde and Shunichi Takeda		
Volume 41	Chromatin and Disease Edited by Tapas K. Kundu and Dipak Dasgupta		
Volume 42	Inflammation in the Pathogenesis of Chronic Diseases Edited by Randall E. Harris		
Volume 43	Subcellular Proteomics Edited by Eric Bertrand and Michel Faupel		
Volume 44	Peroxiredoxin Systems Edited by Leopold Flohé and J. Robin Harris		
Volume 45	Calcium Signalling and Disease Edited by Ernesto Carafoli and Marisa Brini		

Calcium Signalling and Disease

Molecular Pathology of Calcium

Subcellular Biochemistry Volume 45

Edited by

Ernesto Carafoli

University of Padova, Italy

and

Marisa Brini University of Padova, Italy



This series is a continuation of the journal Sub-Cellular Biochemistry. Volume 1 to 4 of which were published quarterly from 1972 to 1975

ISBN 978-1-4020-6190-5 (HB) ISBN 978-1-4020-6191-2 (e-book)

© 2007 Springer

All rights reserved. This work may not be translated or copied in whole or in part without the written permission of the publisher (Springer Science + Business Media, Inc., 233 Springer street, New York, NY 10013, USA), except for brief excerpts in connection with review or scholarly analysis. Use in connection with any form of information storage and retrieval, electronic adaption, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed is forbidden.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks and similar terms, whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

(BS/DH)

9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

springer.com

CONTENTS

List of Contributors		
Pro	logue	xi
1.	Annexinopathies M.J. Hayes, R.E. Longbottom, M.A. Evans and S.E. Moss	1
2.	Calpains and Human Disease I. Bertipaglia and E. Carafoli	29
3.	Gelsolin and Diseases L. Spinardi and W. Witke	55
4.	Guanylate Cyclase-Activating Proteins and Retina Disease W. Baehr and K. Palczewski	71
5.	Pathologies Involving the S100 Proteins and Rage C.W. Heizmann, G.E. Ackermann and A. Galichet	93
6.	The Calcium-Sensing Receptor: Physiology, Pathophysiology and CaR-Based Therapeutics E.M. Brown	139
7.	Physiological Roles of the Ca ²⁺ /CaM-Dependent Protein Kinase Cascade in Health and Disease J. Colomer and A.R. Means	169
8.	Calcium Channelopathies: Voltage-gated Calcium Channels P.J. Adams and T.P. Snutch	215
9.	TRP Channels in Disease S.E. Jordt and B.E. Ehrlich	253
10.	Diseases Associated with Altered Ryanodine Receptor Activity W.J. Durham, X.H.T. Wehrens, S. Sood and S.L. Hamilton	273

11.	Inositol 1,4,5-tripshosphate Receptor, Calcium Signalling and Huntington's Disease I. Bezprozvanny	323
12.	SERCA Pumps and Human Diseases A. Hovnanian	337
13.	The Plasma Membrane Calcium ATPase and Disease B.L Tempel and D.J. Shilling	365
14.	Diseases Involving the Golgi Calcium Pump J. Vanoevelen, L. Dode, L. Raeymaekers, F. Wuytack and L. Missiaen	385
15.	Calcium Signalling and Cancer Cell Growth T. Capiod, Y. Shuba, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya	405
16.	Calcium Misregulation and the Pathogenesis of Muscular Dystrophy F.W. Hopf, P.R. Turner and R.A. Steinhardt	429
17.	Calcium and Cell Death A. Verkhratsky	465
18.	Calcium and Cell Death: The Mitochondrial Connection P. Bernardi and A. Rasola	481
19.	Role of Calcium in the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease and Transgenic Models K.N. Green, I.F. Smith and F.M. LaFerla	507
20.	Calcium and Cardiomyopathies E.G. Kranias and D.M. Bers	523
21.	Calcium Signalling and Calcium Transport in Bone Disease H.C. Blair, P.H. Schlesinger, C.LH. Huang and M. Zaidi	539
Inde	ex	563
Colour Plates		567

LIST OF CONTRIBUTORS

M.J. Hayes, R.E. Longbottom, M.A. Evans and S.E. Moss Div. of Cell Biology, University College London Institute of Ophthalmology, 11–43 Bath Street, London EC1V 9EL, UK

I. Bertipaglia and E. Carafoli

Department of Biochemistry, University of Padova, and Venetian Institute of Molecular Medicine, Padova, Italy

L. Spinardi

Direzione Scientifica, IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale Policlinico, Mangiagalli e Regina Elena, Via Francesco Sforza 28, 20122 Milano, Italy

W. Witke

EMBL Monterotondo, Via Ramarini 32, 00096 Monterotondo, Rome, Italy

W. Baehr

Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah 84112-5339, USA

K. Palczewski Department of Pharmacology, Case School of Medicine, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, Ohio 44106-4965, USA

C.W. Heizmann, G.E. Ackermann and A. Galichet Division of Clinical Chemistry and Biochemistry, Department of Pediatrics, University of Zurich, Switzerland

E.M. Brown

Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Hypertension, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, 221 Longwood Avenue, 02115 Boston, MA, USA

J. Colomer and A.R. Means

Department of Pharmacology and Cancer Biology, Duke University Medical Center

P.J. Adams

Michael Smith Laboratorie, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T1Z4

T.P. Snutch

Neuromed Pharmaceuticals Inc., 2389 Health Sciences Mall Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T1Z4 $\,$

S.E. Jordt and B.E. Ehrlich Department of Pharmacology, Yale University School of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, 333 Cedar Street, New Haven, CT 06520-8066

W.J. Durham, S. Sood and S.L. Hamilton Department of Molecular Physiology and Biophysics

X.H.T. Wehrens Department of Molecular Physiology and Biophysics, Department of Medicine (Division of Cardiology), Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX 77030

I. Bezprozvanny Department of Physiology, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas, Dallas, Texas 75390, USA

 A. Hovnanian
INSERM, U 563, Toulouse, F-31300 France; Université Toulouse III Paul-Sabatier, UMR-S 563, Toulouse, F-31400 France

B.L Tempel and D.J. Shilling

The Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, the Department of Pharmacology, and the V.M. Bloedel Hearing Research Center; University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle WA 98195-7923, USA

J. Vanoevelen, L. Dode, L. Raeymaekers, F. Wuytack and L. Missiaen Laboratory of Physiology, KULeuven Campus Gasthuisberg O&N1, Herestraat 49 bus 802, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium

T. Capiod, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya INSERM U800, Laboratoire de Physiologie Cellulaire, Université des Sciences et Technologies Lille 1, 59655 Villeneuve d'Ascq Cedex, France

Y. Shuba

Bogomoletz Institute of Physiology, NASU, Bogomoletz Str, 4, 01024 Kiev-24, Ukraine

F.W. Hopf

Ernest Gallo Clinic and Research Center, University of California, San Francisco, 5858 Horton St., Suite 200, Emeryville, CA 94608

P.R. Turner

Panomics, 6519 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA, 94555

R.A. Steinhardt

Department of Molecular and Cell biology, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA 94720-3200

A. Verkhratsky

Faculty of Life Sciences, The University of Manchester, 1.124 Stopford Building, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PT, UK

P. Bernardi and A. Rasola

Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Padova, Viale Giuseppe Colombo 3, 35121 Padova, Italy

K.N. Green, I.F. Smith and F.M. LaFerla

Department of Neurobiology and Behavior, University of California, Irvine CA 92697-4545

E.G. Kranias

Department of Pharmacology and Cell Biophysics, College of Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH 45267

D.M. Bers

Department of Physiology, Loyola University Chicago, Stritch School of Medicine, Maywood, IL 60153

H.C. Blair, P.H. Schlesinger, Christopher L.-H. Huang and M. Zaidi

Departments of Pathology and of Cell Biology and Physiology, University of Pittsburgh and Veterans' Affairs Health System, Pittsburgh, PA 15261, Department of Physiology and Cell Biology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO 63110, Physiological Laboratory, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, CB2 3EG, United Kingdom, and The Bone Program, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, New York 10029

PROLOGUE

M. BRINI¹ AND E. CARAFOLI^{1,2}

¹Department of Biochemistry and Department of Experimental Veterinary Sciences, University of Padova, Viale G. Colombo, 3,35121, Padova, Italy

²Venetian Institute of Molecular Medicine, Via G. Orus 2, 35129 Padova, Italy

About 120 years have elapsed since the days of the landmark experiment by Ringer that opened the Ca^{2+} signalling area (Ringer, 1883). The experiment was followed by an unusually long period of incubation, after which interest and knowledge in the topic started growing exponentially, eventually establishing Ca^{2+} as a universal carrier of messages to a constantly expanding number of cell function. As knowledge advanced, it gradually became clear that Ca²⁺ has properties that set it apart from all other carriers of biological information. Among them one could quote the auto regulatory properties of the signal, and the ability of Ca^{2+} to act as both a first and a second messenger (Carafoli et al., 2001). But another distinctive property gradually became evident: the ambivalence of the signal. Although it is now clear that cells would not function properly without Ca²⁺ messages, it is also clear that the messages must be delivered to cells, and decoded by them, in a carefully controlled way. Should cells become somehow unable to control the free concentration of Ca^{2+} , letting it increase persistently in their interior above the optimal 100–200 nM level, all Ca^{2+} controlled activities would become permanently activated, including those (e.g., proteases) that are potentially harmful to cells. Various degrees of damage, up to cell death, would inevitably ensue. Cells may activate rescue attempts: as a rule, however, they only buy time, i.e., they enable cells to survive until the emergency disappears. If it doesn't, however, the cells are doomed.

The massive dysregulation of Ca^{2+} signalling that culminates in the death of cells is a dramatic example of the ambivalent nature of the Ca^{2+} message. The literature describing the numerous ways in which the homeostasis of Ca^{2+} may become so dramatically altered, and the molecular mechanisms by which they terminate cell life has now become impressively large. However, a number of less dramatic conditions have become known more recently, in which the Ca^{2+} signal is not altered globally and persistently to the extent necessary to rapidly precipitate cell death. It is instead altered in more specific ways that only affect individual actors in the control of Ca^{2+} signalling pathways. This is a field that is now expanding very rapidly thanks especially to the rapid advances in the area of genetics. It will be covered in this book, which has attempted to collect essentially all what is known today on the dysfunctions, mostly genetic, of Ca^{2+} controlling systems and of Ca^{2+} signalling pathways. The Chapters of the book will describe and discuss critically diseases linked to the dysfunction of membrane transporters, including channels, that control the fluxes of Ca^{2+} in and out of the cell cytoplasm, as well as diseases caused by the malfunctioning of Ca^{2+} -sensor proteins that are modulated by Ca^{2+} and/or process its signal. No comprehensive book on this important and rapidly expanding topic has so far appeared. It is hoped that the discussion in the chapters collected in the book will expand interest, and help suggesting new work, in this very stimulating field.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank our colleague Dr. Laura Fedrizzi for her invaluable help in the editing of the chapters of the book.

REFERENCES

Carafoli, E., Santella, L. Branca, D. and Brini, M., 2001, Generation, control, and processing of cellular calcium signals. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol* 36, 107–260.

Ringer, S., 1883, A further contribution regarding the influence of different constitutuens of the blood on the contraction of the heart. *J. Physiol.* 4, 29–43.

CHAPTER 1 ANNEXINOPATHIES

M.J. HAYES, R.E. LONGBOTTOM, M.A. EVANS AND S.E. MOSS

Div. of Cell Biology, University College London Institute of Ophthalmology, 11–43 Bath Street, London ECIV 9EL, UK

Abstract: Annexins comprise a conserved family of proteins characterised by their ability to bind and order charged phospholipids in membranes, often in response to elevated intracellular calcium. The family members (there are at least 12 in humans) have become specialised over evolutionary time and are involved in a diverse range of cellular functions both inside the cell and extracellularly

Although a mutation in an annexin has never been categorically proven to be the cause of a disease state, they have been implicated in pathologies as diverse as autoimmunity, infection, heart disease, diabetes and cancer. 'Annexinopathies' were first described by Jacob H. Rand to describe the pathological sequelae in two disease states, the overexpression of annexin 2 in a patients with a haemorrhagic form of acute promyelocytic leukaemia, and the under-expression of annexin 5 on placental trophoblasts in the antiphospholipid syndrome. In this chapter we will outline some of the more recent observations in regard to these conditions, and describe the involvement of annexins in some other major causes of human morbidity

Keywords: Annexin, phospholipid, fibrinolysis, endosome, cancer, glucocorticoid, inflammation

1. INTRODUCTION

"The view [of causation] that we adopt has consequences which reach beyond informal discussion during coffee breaks." -(Olsen 1993)

Observers of 'annexinology' may be astonished at the involvement of annexins in almost every aspect of human morbidity. There is probably no corner of medicine into which annexins have not insinuated themselves, and there is an abundance of studies that support their involvement in disease. Pathogenesis however can be defined as the origin and development of morbidity and to date it remains the case that an annexin has never been identified as the 'origin' of a disease state. The rigorous application of epidemiology and of Koch's postulates has never been

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 1–28. © 2007 Springer.

successfully applied to an annexin. However, they repeatedly emerge as 'accessories after the fact'; they always seem to turn up in the wrong place at the wrong time.

The annexins form a large family of mostly abundant proteins which are expressed in almost all tissues of multicellular organisms and in many unicellular organisms. Any individual cell-type may be described as having an 'annexin fingerprint' in that it will express a number of annexins, some at high levels. The annexin family of proteins (there are at least 12 of them in humans) is characterised by the presence of 4 so-called 'annexin repeats' (annexin 6 which occurred as a result of gene fusion has 8). These are 70 amino acid sub-domains each of which is composed of 5 alpha helices joined by short loops. The protein adopts a remarkably well conserved, tightly folded, compact, slightly curved structure which looks like a rhombus when viewed from the convex 'top' of the protein. This upper surface possesses class II calcium binding sites and it is this surface that fulfils the major defining biochemical characteristic of annexins, their ability to associate with anionic charged phospholipid-containing membranes. The N-terminal 'interacting domain' of the protein varies considerably in length and sequence between the proteins and binds to a wide range of ligands including members of the EF-hand containing S100 family of proteins. The annexin Ca²⁺-binding site differs from that of the helix-loop-helix EF-hand in that only 5 of the seven co-ordination sites are provided by protein oxygens. Instead, the calcium ion is coordinated by three carbonyl oxygens in a short inter-helical loop, two carbonyl oxygens of an acidic residue are provided by another helix and water molecules, which can be substituted by phosphoryl moieties if the protein interacts with phospholipid containing membranes (reviewed in Gerke et al., 2005).

Some annexins can self-assemble into highly-ordered, tessellating twodimensional arrays on lipid surfaces. By subtly re-organising the underlying lipids the proteins can alter the curvature and 'fuse-ability' of the underlying membrane. Other annexins have been shown to 'shepherd' anionic phospholipids together, corralling them into sub-domains. Some of these interactions are facilitated by cholesterol. In this way annexins can effectively 'un-mix' membranes and introduce concentration gradients in otherwise homogeneous arrays. This could have important consequences for the maintenance of signalling complexes and structural sub-domains of membranes. The different annexins have disparate calcium requirements for association with both the plasma membrane and other internal membranes. As calcium levels rise intracellularly in response to a range of signals the annexins will 'annexe' the membrane in an ordered manner determined by this calcium requirement. Thus many of the annexins may be considered to be a 'calcium-sensitive effectors'; with different annexins fulfilling this role on various subcellular membranes (Monastyrskaya et al., 2006).

In addition, several annexins have been shown to interact directly or indirectly with actin microfilaments and microtubules, thus annexins have the potential to form a structural link between the membrane and the underlying cortical cytoskeleton (reviewed in Gerke et al.; 2005 Hayes et al., 2004). As well as lateral interannexin interactions (either homotypic or heterotypic with other types of annexin) the proteins can also form heteromeric complexes with their binding partners (Figure 1). This has probably been most intensely investigated for annexin 2 which forms a tetrameric complex with \$100A10 via its N-terminal interacting domain. The protein can adopt a flexible, side to side configuration with S100A10 which might strengthen lateral interactions with membranes, or adopt a head-to-tail conformation which has been well characterised by crystallographic studies, in which the two concave surfaces come together, coordinated with two S100A10 proteins. In this way the protein could potentially interact with two closely approaching membranes, consistent with a role in vesicle fusion or budding. We stress here the roles of annexins as intracellular cytoplasmic proteins, but several annexins have apparently unrelated functions in the extracellular milieu. In fact, it is often in this context that they have come to the attention of medical researchers. Annexin 1 has been shown to be secreted by folliculo-stellate cells via a mechanism involving the adenosine 5'-triphosphate-binding cassette transporter A1 (Chapman et al., 2003, Omer et al., 2006). But the mechanism of annexin 'secretion' from other cells remains more controversial, and would appear to occur via non-conventional routes.



Figure 1. Schematic view of the putative roles of annexin 2 in disease pathology

A: Extracellular annexin 2 acts as a receptor for calcium oxalate crystals in collecting duct epithelial cells in Dent's disease. B: It acts as a receptor for respiratory syncytial virus and cytomegalovirus. C: It is necessary for maturation of the gag protein of HIV and virion maturation on the internal membranes of multivesicular bodies in macrophages. D: Annexin 2 is enriched in the PIP2 and actin-rich pedestals of non-invasive enteropathogenic E.coli. E: Annexin 2 acts as a 'fibrinolytic receptor' binding both tissue plasminogen activator (tPa) and Plasminogen (P) on the cell surface. Activated plamin (P) is then involved in degradation of fibrin (fib). F: Antibodies with specificity for annexin 2 (F) or the formation of Advanced Glycation Products (G) can interfere with the role of annexin 2 in fibrinolysis. Annexin 2 expression is often altered as normoplastic cells become cancer cells. This may reflect the role of annexin 2 in regulation of actin polymerisation. Dramatic changes in actin structure are associated with loss of focal adhesions (H) and the formation of metalloproteinases (M) which degrade extracellular matrix (ECM) and encourage cellular migration. N is the nucleus. Annexin 2 is coloured green throughout (See Colour Plate 1)

At mildly acidic pH some annexins are proposed to be capable of undergoing conformational changes that would facilitate their insertion into membranes as pore complexes. It is conceivable that subsequent contortions could release the protein to the extra-cellular membrane. An alternative suggestion is that the proteins are 'budded-off' from the surface of the cell in association with small lipid vesicles which could then lyse and release the protein. Their high affinity for phospholipids in the presence of calcium is consistent with the retention of annexins on the cell surface though there is growing evidence for the presence of non-lipid annexin receptors on certain cell types.

The term 'annexinopathies' was first coined by Jacob H. Rand to describe the pathological sequelae in two disease states. The first of these involves overexpression of annexin 2 in a subset of patients having a hemorrhagic form of acute promyelocytic leukaemia (Tallman and Kwaan, 1992, Tallman et al., 1993; Menell et al., 1999). The second example concerns the under-expression of annexin 5 on placental trophoblasts in the antiphospholipid syndrome and in pre-eclampsia. In this chapter we discuss these first two observations before extending the list into a few new areas. Finally we will summarise some of the more conjectural suggestions linking annexins to a whole host of disease conditions.

2. ANNEXIN 2 IN A HAEMORRHAGIC FORM OF ACUTE PROMYELOCYTIC LEUKAEMIA (APL)

Acute myelocytic leukaemia is characterised by the accumulation of immature myelocytes in the bone marrow. This is the most common form of leukaemia found in adults, though it can affect people of all ages. Annexin 2 has been shown to be upregulated in leukaemic cells in patients with acute promyelocytic leukaemia which is a subset of this disease in which the cells accumulate chromosomal abnormalities rendering them insensitive to vitamin A (Menell et al., 1999). This occurs due to disruption of the retinoic acid receptor alpha (RARA) gene by fusion with the PML tumour-suppressor gene-product following a t(15:17)(q22; q11) translocation (de The et al., 1990). This results in uncontrolled expansion of the pro-myelocytic lineage. The leukaemic cells enter the bloodstream and invade other organs where they continue to divide. A major complication of APL is a haemorrhagic disorder; bleeding and thrombosis can lead to premature death in approximately ten percent of patients despite otherwise successful treatment (Tallman and Kwaan 1992; Tallman et al., 1993).

Interestingly, cells containing the most common translocation produce more tissue plasminogen activator (tPA)-dependent plasmin than other cells and express higher levels of annexin 2 on their surface (Menell et al., 1999). Annexin 2 and its binding partner S100A10 have been shown to appear on the surface of monocytes, activated macrophages and endothelial cells where they accelerate the activation of plasmin from plasminogen by tPA. It is suggested that the proteins behave as a 'fibrinolytic receptor' bringing plasminogen and tPA into intimate association on the cell surface and releasing activated plasmin. There is currently some controversy as to which of the two proteins is the dominant factor in binding plasminogen (Hajjar et al., 1994;

Cesarman et al., 1994; MacLeod et al., 2003) indeed it is possible that both proteins do; but it is clear that the resultant plasmin may then participate in fibrinolysis, the degradation of fibrin clots. The process appears to be negatively regulated by a feedback mechanism involving angiostatin (a fragment of plasminogen and a powerful inhibitor of angiogenesis), which binds competitively to endothelial cell surface annexin 2 (Tuszynski et al., 2002), and thrombin (Peterson et al., 2003). The dominant function of thrombin is the conversion of fibrinogen into an active form that can assemble into fibrin filaments. It also activates the clotting factors XI, V, VIII and XIII. Thrombin is active in association with phospholipids on the surface of cells and its local accumulation is necessary for clotting. Interestingly treatment of human umbilical vein endothelial cells with both thrombin and the thrombin receptoractivating peptide (TRAP) resulted in increased surface expression of annexin 2 and S100A10 (Peterson et al., 2003), thus the very factors which promote and sustain fibrin formation and deposition facilitate its subsequent degradation by plasmin. Slightly counter-intuitively, recombinant annexin 2/S100A10 tetramers inhibit fibrinolysis by plasmin in vitro, but this may underline the importance of the cellular surface in regulating the process, or simply reflect a non-productive competitive steric hindrance at a shared binding site. Once activated, plasmin can subsequently cleave and activate other down-stream targets such as numerous matrix-metalloproteinases (MMPs), which are necessary for the remodelling of the extracellular matrix associated with angiogenesis. This would place annexin 2 and S100A10 at a nexus between the related axes of clotting, fibrinolysis and angiogenesis.

The fibrinolytic phenotype observed in cells containing the PML/RARA translocation could be induced in non-t(15:17) cells by over-expression of annexin 2 and inhibited in t(15:17) cells by annexin 2 specific antibodies. Treatment of cells with all trans-retinoic acid, which promotes the differentiation of pro-myelocytic cells and is commonly used in conjunction with chemotherapy to treat the disease; down-regulated annexin 2 and negated the pro-fibrinolytic phenotype of the cells (Menell et al., 1999). This condition thus represents a genuine annexinopathy in that the un-coordinated over-expression of annexin 2 on immature pre-myelocytes may be the causative factor in the haemorrhagic complications of APL. This is not completely clear cut, because it may be the case that annexin 2 expression is always high on pro-myelocytes which would imply that there is in fact no dis-regulation of the gene per se. The APL-RARA translocation site (15q22) is <14Mb from the annexin 2 gene itself (15q21-22) so it is possible that the translocation could affect expression of annexin 2 directly. Annexin 2 surface and mRNA expression do not appear to correlate consistently with pre-myelocyte status in cell lines (Olwill et al., 2005) but this may reflect subsequent changes accumulated in cell culture.

Up-regulation of annexin 2 has also been implicated in pro-B cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia ALL (Matsunaga et al., 2004). This occurs as a result of a different translocation t(17;19)(q22;p13) and the expression of the fusion protein E2A-HLF is also associated with poor prognosis, hypercalcemia and haemorrhagic complications. Expression of E2A-HLF was sufficient to induce annexin 2 over-expression in leukaemic cell lines.

Recently two other annexins, namely annexin 1 and annexin 10 have been identified in proteomic screens for genes up-regulated in acute myeloid leukaemia (Lopez-Pedrera et al., 2006). Whether these changes have consequences for disease progression or pathogenesis remains to be seen.

3. ANNEXINS AND THE ANTI-PHOSPHOLIPID SYNDROME

The anti-phospholipid syndrome refers to a range of autoimmune conditions which are characterised by venous or arterial thrombosis, recurrent strokes, pulmonary embolism, recurrent pregnancy loss or obstetric complications and the presence of circulating antibodies with specificity to a range of phospholipids; including phosphatidylserine and cardiolipin. The syndrome is the leading cause of vascular thrombosis in children. It sometimes accompanies other autoimmune conditions such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE).

Recently it has become apparent that at least some of the auto-antibodies are in fact directed against phospholipid-protein complexes or against the lipid-binding proteins themselves: β 2-glycoprotein I (β 2 -GPI) and prothrombin being the major targets. β 2 -GPI is a circulating plasma protein which binds to artherogenic-lipoprotein (Lp(a)) which is structurally homologous to plasminogen. It has been suggested that it could form a ternary complex with Glu-plasminogen and tissue-associated plasminogen activator, facilitating plasmin activation. As described already, endothelial surface-bound annexin 2/S100A10 complex functions as a 'fibrinolytic-receptor' by binding plasminogen and tPA. It has also been shown that annexin 2 forms a complex with β 2-GPI on the surface of endothelial cells (Ma et al., 2000), allowing the latter protein to bind and generate an anti-coagulant environment at this surface.

Antibodies directed against β 2 -GPI further enrich the protein on the cell surface but these promote a p38 Map-kinase signalling cascade which results in increased expression of tissue factor (TF) and reduced expression of thrombomodulin on the surface of cells. TF is a major initiator of coagulation and increased levels of TF expression have been measured on endothelial cells treated with anti-phospholipid antibodies and on monocytes both ex vivo and in vivo (Yasuda et al., 2005; Lopez-lira et al., 2005, Lopez-Pedrera et al., 2006). Thrombomodulin is a potent anti-coagulant protein which limits activation of thrombin, so the net result of circulating anti-phospholipid antibodies is to usurp the anti-coagulative, protective mechanism and initiate a pro-coagulation cascade.

Patients with APL have increased circulating titres of anti-annexin 2 antibodies (Cesarman-Maus et al., 2006). Anti-annexin 2 IgG enhances the expression of tissue factor on endothelial cells more than 6 fold, significantly blocks plasmin generation in a tPA-dependent generation assay (independently of beta-2-glycoprotein-I), and significantly inhibited cell surface plasmin generation on human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The exact interplay between β 2-GPI and annexin 2 requires careful dissection but the importance of annexin 2 in the regulation of the coagulability of the environment is clear.

Despite the strength of the evidence for annexin 2 involvement in the development of cellular pathologies, Rand's initial description of the annexinopathies and APL syndrome in particular was not concerned with annexin 2, but rather with annexin 5. The surface availability of anionic charged phospholipids is critical for the initiation and maintenance of thrombosis. Annexin 5 prevents formation of prothrombinase and tenase complexes (intrinsic pro-coagulation complexes formed of factor VIIIa and factor IXa) by competing for these sites (Andree et al., 1992). It has also been shown to significantly displace preadsorbed anticardiolipin-β-GPI complexes from such membranes and to modify platelet aggregation and accretion into larger complexes under the conditions of blood flow (van Heerde et al., 1994). Significantly annexin 5 also attenuates the nucleating effects of core debris which can cause additional clots when they are released from ruptured plaques. A polymorphism in the Kozak sequence of the annexin 5 gene has been discovered that does not change the sequence of the protein but has been shown to correlate with an increase in the level of annexin 5 expression and abundance of the protein in the circulation. It has been suggested that this gives some protection against thromboembolic disease (González-Conejero et al., 2002), though this has not been confirmed by other groups (van Heerde et al, 2003).

Annexin 5 is expressed at high levels on the surface of syncytiotrophoblasts where its anti-coagulant activity is thought to protect the developing foetus. Annexin 5 has been proposed to form a 'shield' over the surface of the placenta, adopting a tessellating array on the exposed phospholipids and preventing the circulating proclotting factors from finding purchase. In a mouse model in which labelled annexin 5 was injected into Balb-c mice it accumulated on numerous foci on the apical surface of the trophoblasts. Antibodies with specificity to annexin 5 (which binds phosphatidylserine) are commonly associated with APL and it has been suggested that these antibodies or indeed anti-phospholipid antibodies could interfere with annexin 5 shielding of the trophoblast (Rand et al; 2003; 2004; Rand and Wu 2004; Rand et al., 2005, reviewed in Esposito et al., 2005). When the annexin 5 'shield' was disrupted in pregnant mice by the injection of annexin 5 antibodies, thrombosis and necrosis were seen on the foetal component of the placenta, and various degrees of foetal readsorption were observed (Wang et al., 1999).

The significance of anti-annexin 5 antibodies to the pathogenesis of this disease is not entirely uncontentious. A thrombotic association may only occur when antiphospholipid antibodies are also present, so they may not be a useful independent marker of risk (Arnold et al., 2001). In this moderately sized study, there was not a single patient with antibodies against both annexin 5 and β 2-GPI. This could suggest that there are two, independent routes to the disease: a β 2–GPI/annexin 2 path and an aPL/annexin 5 path. A clear distinction between anti- β 2-GPI and anti-annexin 5 was found in regard to late recurrent miscarriage (Zammiti et al., 2006) and no correlation was found between the presence of anti-annexin 5 antibodies and thrombosis in APL (de Laat et al., 2006). These authors do however find a positive correlation with the mutation in the Kozak sequence described above.

It is clear that there are still issues that need to be resolved in this field. Methodological differences have been highlighted by some of the authors to explain their differing conclusions, but there may be some specific property of annexins that renders them susceptible to this kind of analytical quandary. In various other autoimmune conditions it has been suggested that autoantibodies develop as a result of antigen creep from the so-called 'natural antibodies' with broad specificity for a range of common pathogens. Anti-annexin antibodies have been discovered in a wide range of autoimmune conditions; perhaps the charged, helix-rich structure of annexins, in complex with charged lipids just happens to represent a surface which can easily mimic antigens derived from pathogens. Perhaps the association of annexins with membrane surfaces, in inflammatory environments and on phagosomal and endosomal membranes (as will be discussed later) means that they feature regularly as the 'usual suspects' in immunological identity parades. That annexinspecific antibodies have the potential to be pathogenic is clear; whether they will be useful markers for autoimmune conditions is possible, and whether or not they are of clinical relevance still remains to be proven beyond reasonable doubt.

4. ANNEXINS AND DIABETES

Diabetes is a chronic condition that can present in two different ways; type-1 insulindependent diabetes or the more common type-2 insulin non-dependent diabetes. In both instances it is the resulting hyperglycemia that is thought to be primarily responsible for the disease facies. Although diabetes is a systemic condition that affects all parts of the body, for the purposes of this discussion the endothelium will be the main point of focus, since the most complete data regarding the role of annexins in diabetes have come from studies examining their actions in endothelial cells.

There are thought to be four major effects of hyperglycemia on endothelial cells: an increase in flux through the polyol pathway which leads to a depletion of NADPH and ultimately diminishes the cell's ability to produce protective anti-oxidants, an increase in conversion of glucosamine-6-phosphate to N-acetylglucosamine which leads to the formation of transcription factor-sugar adducts (which can affect transcriptional regulation), increased activation of protein kinase C isoforms and formation of Advanced Glycation End-products (AGE) via the Maillard pathway. An increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by the mitochondria in response to high glucose or increased fatty acid metabolism can be linked to all four pathways (reviewed in Brownlee 2005). Whether any of these cellular consequences of diabetes has an effect on any of the annexins is a novel area of research that is gaining momentum.

Although there have been a number of descriptions of annexin involvement in cell signalling pathways important in diabetes, the role of annexin 2 as a receptor for plasminogen and tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) is the most compelling. Diabetes has long been known to induce a hypercoagulable state and it is currently thought that a change in the ability of annexin 2 to perform its role in the formation

of plasmin plays some part in this. Annexins 1 and 2 are both early non-enzymatic glycation products (Ghitescu et al., 2001), and in cultured primary endothelial cells grown in high glucose and high insulin, plasmin formation is reduced, an effect that could be reversed by the addition of recombinant annexin 2 (Ishii, 2001). These observations led to the hypothesis that glycation of annexin 2 is sufficient to disrupt its ability to function in the generation of plasmin (Gugliucci and Ghitescu, 2002), although this has not been proven conclusively.

In another study, treatment of endothelial cells with high glucose was found to be sufficient to enhance binding of annexin 2 to a heat shock protein, HSP90 α . This resulted in increased translocation of annexin 2 to the cell surface and a concomitant increase in plasmin production was observed (Lei et al., 2001). The major distinction between the two studies is the addition of insulin, since in both studies high glucose was used, but only in the study conducted by Ishii et al., were endothelial cells also exposed to high insulin. Insulin stimulation of cells leads to an increase in phosphorylated annexin 2 (Biener et al., 1996) though it is currently unknown if it is directly phosphorylated by the insulin receptor itself. The question of whether this phosphorylation event is sufficient to perturb tPA or plasminogen binding to annexin 2 has yet to be answered. There is however evidence to suggest that other modifications of annexin 2 can alter its binding capacity for such proteins. One such example is the effect of hyperhomocysteinemia, a condition known to adversely influence the microvascular complications of diabetes such as retinopathy (Goldstein et al., 2004). The presence of elevated levels of homocysteine has been shown to reduce the cell surface binding of tPA by 60%, and this has been attributed to the replacement of the cysteine 8 residue in the N-terminus of annexin 2 with a Homocysteine which does not favor tPA binding (Hajjar, 1993). It is also possible that phosphorylation of annexin 2 modifies its ability to act as a plasminogen/tPA receptor, especially since the tyrosine phosphorylation site of annexin 2 is only 15 residues away on tyrosine 23. This leads to the interesting possibility that the phosphorylation state of annexin 2 could have differing consequences in the context of type-1 and type-2 diabetes where there is an absence and increased presence of insulin respectively. Whether annexin 2 is directly involved in the pathogenesis of type-1 or type-2 diabetes is yet open to question, but it is most likely to have at least a significant ancillary role.

Further evidence for a role of annexins in diabetes comes from one study of a heterozygous annexin 7 knock-out mouse. In this study the annexin 7 null mouse was found to be embryonic lethal at day 10 but the heterozygote was viable and fertile. The heterozygous mice have enlarged islets of Langerhans with an 8-10 fold increase in vesicle insulin content at 6 weeks after birth. Abnormal calcium-mediated insulin secretion was observed in heterozygotes with a reduction in insulin secretion of 67% at 1mM Ca²⁺, and a higher level of secretion at high calcium concentration 5mM Ca²⁺. This was attributed to a decrease in the amount of IP₃ receptors in the heterozygotes that was confirmed by electron microscopy (Srivastava, 1999). These results however have not been reproduced in another annexin 7 knockout mouse which appears to have no defects in insulin metabolism

(Herr et al., 2001), and it remains a long-standing puzzle as to why an annexin 7 +/- mouse should have a deficiency of IP₃ receptors.

5. ANNEXINS AND HEART DISEASE

Annexins 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 and 7 have all been identified in the heart, though annexins 5 and 6 are by far the most abundant. Due to the fluctuating levels of submembranous calcium all annexins would be expected to exhibit dynamic on-off interactions with sarcolemal and sarcoplasmic reticulum membranes in cardiomyocytes upon exitation and calcium influx (reviewed in Camors et al., 2005).

Annexin 2 is localised in intra-myocardial capillaries, extracellular matrix and in endothelial cells of the coronary arteries but is undetectable in ventricular and atrial myocytes. In hypertensive guinea pigs at the onset of heart failure and in failing human hearts it was found to be significantly up-regulated and was localized to the interstitium between the cardiomyocytes and the coronary arteries (Trouve et al., 1999). In this region it might be involved in regulation of fibrinolysis and the coagulability of the endothelial surface of the heart blood vessels as previously described. Heart tissue derived from patients with end-stage congestive heart failure due to coronary artery disease showed increased levels of annexins 2 and 5 but significantly reduced expression of annexin 6 (Song et al., 1998).

Annexin 6 has been shown in vitro to be a modulator of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} -release channel, the cardiac L-type channel and the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (Diaz-Munoz et al., 1990). Cardiomyocytes derived from an annexin 6 null mutant mouse show increased contraction and relaxation amplitudes and reduced 'time to peak relaxation', (Song et al., 2002). Heart-specific annexin 6 over-expression in a mouse resulted in dilation of the heart, acute diffusive myocarditis, moderate to severe fibrosis throughout the heart and frequency-dependent reduced shortening and rates of contraction of isolated cardiomyocytes (Gunteski-Hamblin et al., 1996) consistent with a role in negative inotopic calcium handling.

Sorcin (a member of the EF-hand superfamily of calcium binding proteins) has been shown to bind the N-terminal region of annexin 7 (Brownawell, 1997). Overexpression of sorcin affects cardiac contractility though such investigations have provided contradictory results, with some groups finding an increase in cell shortening (Seidler, 2003) whilst others have found a decrease (Meyers, 2003). These effects are thought to be mediated by sorcin's interactions with the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ channel, the ryanodine receptor (RyR) or the L-type calcium channel rather than via a direct effect on annexin 7 (Frank, 2005). These results are somewhat at odds with studies using another annexin 7 knockout mouse. Here the null mouse did not demonstrate embryonic lethality, indeed the mice are reported to be reasonably healthy and are fertile (Herr et al., 2001). However, although cardiomyocytes (taken at embryonic day 11.5–12.5) from the viable annexin 7 null mouse were found to have normal calcium homeostasis and complete expression of the components involved in excitation-contraction coupling, there was a decrease in the frequency-induced cell shortening. It was hypothesised that this might link to a role for sorcin and consequently annexin 7 in the mature sarcomere, where there is a shift from calcium influx-mediated contraction to calcium-induced calcium release (CICR)-mediated contraction during development. The authors suggest this is the reason why there is no embryonic lethality of their null mouse, as the role for annexin 7 is restricted to the contraction components of the mature cardiomyocyte. It is possible therefore that annexin 7 and sorcin play a role in communication between the L-type Ca^{2+} channels and the RyR calcium release channels in the sarcoplasmic reticulum, a notion which is supported by the localisation of annexin 7 within the T-tubule system.

Annexin 5 has been shown to be associated in a complex with the cardiac Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger and caveolin-3 in both failing and non-failing hearts (Camors et al., 2006). The precise role of annexins in calcium homeostasis in the heart remains unclear. They may have direct regulatory roles on the calcium channels themselves, either via protein-protein interaction of through stabilisation or reorganisation of the membranes in which the channels operate. Alternatively they may regulate trafficking of calcium channels to and from the membrane, either as soluble complexes or in association with membranes. It is also possible that they contribute to calcium conductance directly, by adopting membrane spanning conformations to form atypical channels (reviewed in Moss and Morgan, 2004). In spite of a large and growing body of work involving the roles of annexins in normal heart function and in the diseased state, it remains unclear whether the changes in annexin expression and localisation are a cause or a consequence of cardiomyopathy.

6. ANNEXIN 1 AND INFLAMMATION

Annexin 1 is predominantly an intracellular protein initially identified as a major target for phosphorylation by the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). It is expressed at high levels in many cell types and has a crucial role in EGFmediated inward vesiculation of the EGFR (White et al., 2006). Signalling through the EGFR leads to stimulation of the MAP kinase pathway via an intermediate complex involving p21 ras and Grb2. Annexin 1 appears to competitively inhibit recruitment of this intermediate when cells are exposed to glucocorticoids, becoming phosphorylated and associating with EGFR-containing vesicles (Croxtall et al., 2000). Normal signalling through the MAP kinase pathway leads to relocalisation of the cytoplasmic phospholipase A_2 (cPLA₂) to membranes where it is involved in the production of the inflammatory second messenger arachidonic acid (AA). By inhibiting this pathway through increased annexin 1 recruitment, dexamethasone can moderate the pro-inflammatory stimulus. A small peptide derived from the N-terminus of annexin 1 can also uncouple EGF stimulation from AA production which lends promise to the development of annexin 1-based small anti-inflammatory drugs.

Consistent with much earlier work postulating a role for annexin 1 in mediating the effects of certain steroids, mice lacking annexin 1 are almost refractory to the anti-inflammatory action of glucocorticoids (Hannon et al., 2003). Normally, glucocorticoid treatment results in up-regulation of annexin 1 expression, underscoring the importance of this protein in this pathway (Philipps et al., 1989, Morand et al., 2006). Other groups have shown that annexin 1 can regulate PLA_2 isoforms via a direct and specific interaction without a requirement for other proteins (Kim et al., 2001). The 19 mammalian PLA_2 isoforms are involved in a host of inflammatory processes including those associated with the central nervous system where they are highly expressed in astrocytes and neuronal cells, thus it is possible that annexin 1 might have a role in moderating such conditions as cerebral ischemia, Alzheimer's disease and neuronal injury due to cytotoxic agents.

Neutrophils express annexin 1 at high levels, with the protein being localised predominantly to the cytoplasm, the plasma membrane and to gelatinase containing granules. Fusion of these granules with the plasma membrane upon cell adhesion results in release of their contents and the appearance of annexin 1 on the cell surface. Annexin 1 is readily cleaved by extracellular proteases and the liberated amino terminus may then act as an 'autocoid', signalling via an interaction with the receptor for n-formylated peptides (nFPR receptors) (Gavins et al., 2003; Hayhoe et al., 2006). Annexin 1 inhibits diapedesis and extravasation in several models of inflammation (Perretti et al., 1996, 2001; Lim et al., 1998) and promotes leukocyte detachment through shedding of L-selectin and PSGL-1 (P-selectin glycoprotein-1 which is found on all leukocytes, primarily on the tips of their microvilli (Hayhoe et al., 2006). It appears that the N-terminus of annexin 1 can activate all the members of the FPR family, acting as a chemoattractant to both granulocytes and monocytes and also desensitizing these receptors to activation by other ligands. The balance between pro-and anti-inflammatory effects of the whole protein and the cleaved peptide will critically depend on concentration, presentation of the active moiety and the concentration of other ligands (Ernst et al., 2004).

It has been suggested that annexins 1 and 2 on the surface of neutrophils and macrophages could act as bridges between the phosphatidylserine exposed on the surface of apoptotic cells and the surface of the leukocytes. This could be particularly important in the non-phlogistic phagocytosis of effete lymphocytes (Fan et al., 2004). Annexin 1 null macrophages (from the knockout mouse) show diminished phagocytosis (Yona et al., 2006), but the authors note that these cells also show a reduction in the surface expression of the CD11b component of Mac-1, an important receptor in phagocytosis. This could reflect an annexin 1-dependent failure of trafficking of CD11b or may represent a downstream consequence of altered cell signalling. The authors also note the increased production of pro-inflammatory mediators by these cells upon phagocytosis of various targets. In in vivo experiments (the zymosan peritonitis model) macrophage extravasation, activation and migration (but not adhesion) was seen to be enhanced (Chatterjee et al, 2005) in the annexin 1 null mouse compared to wildtype controls. Annexin 1 expression was thought to be under the regulation of the pituitary adrenal axis (Buckingham and Flower, 1997), but in one model using adrenalectomized (glucocorticoids) or hypophysectomized (pituitary factors) rats, over-expression and secretion of annexin 1 appeared to be independent of these pathways (Vergnolle et al., 1997).

Annexin 1 is up-regulated in multiple sclerosis and in an experimental model of the disease (experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis-EAE) intracerebroventricular administration of annexin 1 proved to be neuroprotective. Annexin 1 is present in both macrophages and astrocytes localised in the lesions (Bolton et al., 1990; Huntinga et al, 1998). In experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN), a model for human Guillain-Barre syndrome, increased annexin 1 expression was also observed in macrophages and T-cells in the inflamed sciatic nerve (Gold et al., 1999).

7. ANNEXIN 1 AND CYSTIC FIBROSIS

Cystic fibrosis is a chronic, fatal disease characterised by mutations in the CFTR gene, which codes for a cAMP-activated chloride channel, the most common mutation being a deletion of the phenylalanine at position 508. The disease is characterised by an increase in the concentration of secreted fluids on the surface of epithelia in the lung, pancreas and elsewhere. Patients become very susceptible to bacterial infections in the lung and damage to the pancreas can result in diabetes, a common complication. Liver damage is also common. Annexin 1 has been found to be down-regulated or differentially expressed in nasal cells of CF patients with a number of CFTR mutations and in cells from intestinal crypts, the lungs and pancreas (all cells known to express the CFTR) in the CFTR knock out mouse (Bensalem et al., 2005). Full-length annexin 1 can be detected in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluids from healthy individuals but in CF patients, in which neutrophils are often present in the BAL fluids, the protein appears to be cleaved by neutrophil elastase (Tsao et al., 1998). This would result in the release of the potentially immunomodulatory amino terminus of the protein.

It has been suggested that an increased production of arachidonic acid following down-regulation of annexin 1 in CF patients may explain some of the associated complications of the disease (Carlstedt-Duke et al., 1986; Strandvik et al., 1988). This is based on the observation that lymphocytes from CF patients show defective inhibition of AA production by dexamethasone. Increased AA production has been reported in CF and would influence chloride transport, mucus production and calcium homeostasis (and production of the eicosanoids). The reason why annexin 1 expression is reduced in these patients is at present unclear.

8. ANNEXINS AND BACTERIAL INFECTION

In addition to the problems discussed above, CF patients are particularly susceptible to infection with Pseudomonas aeruginosa and a recent study has suggested that extracellular annexin 2 on the surface of epithelial cells may act as a specific receptor for this bacterium (Kirschnek et al., 2005). Annexin 2 has also been

shown to be recruited to the actin-rich pedestals of non-invasive enteropathogenic E. coli (EPECs) (Rescher et al., 2004; Zobiack et al., 2002). These bacteria do not invade the cell, but rather form microcolonies on the cell surface, riding on an elevated 'cushion' of intimately associated plasma-membrane and underlying actin cytoskeleton. It is possible that the bacteria possess a membrane penetrating surface receptor which recruits annexin 2 directly, but the site of attachment is also coincident with a localised increase in phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PI4,5P₂) production and this may be sufficient to bring annexin 2 to the membrane. In this context annexin 2 may stabilise or nucleate F-actin filaments at the plasma membrane (Hayes et al., 2004; Hayes et al., 2006). It is also possible that annexin 2 serves to stabilize the membrane in contact with the bacterial cells which is rich in 'raft-like' components (perhaps in the manner of a 'stalled' phagocytosis event) or is involved in some element of downstream signalling.

9. ANNEXIN 2 AND VIRAL INFECTION

In addition to possible roles in bacterial infection, annexin 2 is also implicated as a co-receptor for a number of viruses. It was identified as a potential receptor for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) on Hep2 cells, binding to the viral G-protein, and indeed its expression was increased following viral infection (Raynor et al., 1999; Malhotra et al., 2003). Annexin 2 has also been identified as a co-receptor for cytomegalovirus (CMV) (Adlish et al., 1990; Taylor and Cooper, 1990; Raynor et al., 1999) and was localised to the surface of the mature virion by immunofluorescence (Wright et al., 1994) where it interacts directly with the viral glycoprotein B (Pitropaolo and Compton, 1997). Annexin 2 on the surface of the virion and on the host endothelium have both been implicated in the process of infection, though the direct role of annexin 2 in this regard remains speculative. It was not found to be necessary for CMV infection of fibroblasts (Pitropaolo and Compton, 1999), which suggests that the mode of action of annexin 2 is likely to be more complicated than the simple formation of a bridge between phospholipids on the viral and cellular membranes.

Recently a novel and more persuasive role has been ascribed to annexin 2 with regard to HIV maturation and infectivity. In CD4⁺ macrophages HIV maturation occurs on the limiting membranes of multivesicular bodies, multi-lamellar structures which may be classified as sorting endosomes. Tissue macrophages (which include microglia of the central nervous system) are an important reservoir of HIV as they are less susceptible to the cytotoxic effects of the virus which normally matures on and buds from the plasma membrane of other CD4⁺ cells. Proteomics studies have identified annexins, annexin-binding proteins and numerous components of the endosomal complex in the mature enveloped HIV-1 virus purified from monocyte-derived macrophages (Chertova et al., 2006). Annexin 2 was reported to form a complex with the Gag protein of HIV in an interaction that is necessary for complete Gag processing, maturation of the virion, and incorporation of CD63 (an intracellular tetraspanin protein associated with late endosomes and multivesicular

bodies) into the mature particle (Ryzhova et al., 2006). Interestingly Gag targeting to 'lipid raft-like' domains is dependent on the localised production of $PI4,5P_2$ and on the availability of cholesterol. So it is possible that annexin 2 actually shuttles Gag to these membrane subdomains.

Annexin 2 has also been implicated in other stages of infection of macrophages by HIV-1 (Ma et al, 2004). When annexin 2 expression was reduced with small interfering RNA in macrophages, HIV-1 infection was severely compromised. 'Blocking' antibodies with specificity for the N-terminus of annexin 2 also reduced HIV-1 infectivity. It appears that annexin 2 does not act at the initial stage of viral binding to the membrane (although the authors point out that it could act as a bridge between exposed phosphatidylserine on the viral envelope and the macrophage cell surface), rather it is involved in the production of fully infective particles, in tacit agreement with the previously described study. The authors showed that annexin 2 also bound SLPI (secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor) a known antagonist of HIV-1 infection, though the significance of this interaction is currently unknown.

Interestingly, over-expression of HIV tat-protein in Jurkat cells (a cell line derived from T-cells) resulted in down-regulation of numerous cytoskeletal elements including actin, tubulin and annexin 2 (Coiras et al., 2006). Again, the significance of these changes is as yet unclear, though one could hypothesise that this could allow the virus to remain dormant in a pool of T-cells.

10. DENT'S DISEASE

Mis-localisation of annexin 2 has recently been implicated in the pathogenesis of Dent's disease. This term is now used collectively to describe what was previously four conditions that affect kidney function: X-linked recessive nephrolithiasis with renal failure, X-linked recessive hypophosphatemic rickets, idiopathic low molecular weight proteinuria with hypercalciuria and nephrocalcinosis and Dent's disease. Patients with this condition present with low molecular weight proteinuria and hypercalciuria. Renal stones, nephrocalcinosis and renal failure are common late-stage developments. The condition has been attributed to abnormal acidification within endosomes of the proximal tubular cells. It is very rare and is usually caused by mutations in the voltage-dependent Cl⁻/H⁺ chloride antiporter CLCN5, but occasionally in the PI4,5P₂ 5-phosphatase, OCRL1 (oculocerebrorenal syndrome of Lowe protein 1).

Carr et al., (2006) showed that down-regulation of CLCN5 in a collecting-duct model system results in mis-localisation of annexin 2 from the cell cytoplasm to the cell membrane and onto the cell surface. Annexin 2 has been identified as the 'receptor' for calcium oxalate monohydrate crystals on the surface of MDCKI epithelial cells (dog kidney cells) (Kumar et al., 2003). The authors have shown that increased surface availability of annexin 2 results in increased binding of crystals to the cell, and that this could be inhibited by treating the cells with anti-annexin 2 antibodies.

11. ANNEXINS AND CANCER

As previously described, annexins are ubiquitous proteins, expressed to different degrees in different cell types. The annexin 'fingerprint' of cells may vary between quiescent and activated cells or indeed as cells undergo steps in developmental maturation. There have been many recent studies which have identified changes in annexin expression during neoplastic progression. Many of these studies depend on comparative proteomic or genomic analysis of tumour and 'normoplastic' tissues. In some cases clinical progression correlates well with increase or loss of annexin expression, in others it is the distribution of the protein which is altered. Such studies are useful in as much as they suggest that the level of annexin expression could be used as a prognostic indicator. Neoplastic changes are diverse and complex, in some cases they represent expansion of normally rare, multipotent clones of cells, sometimes they may represent 'de-differentiation' within a tissue, in others they represent invasion of one tissue (such as endocrine tissue) into another one. The annexin complement of the normoplastic and neoplastic cells may well represent the 'normal' annexin expression levels in these mislocated (spatially or temporally) cells. In most cases we do not know what the normal expression levels of any particular annexin are in such tissues, hence it is difficult to assess whether or not the observed expression level is inherently 'unusual'. Although the same could be said to be true of many proteins, the shear abundance of annexins means they are perhaps more likely to be picked up in such studies. We have only the most superficial idea of the cell/tissue-specific functions of many of the annexins so it may be premature in most cases to extrapolate from an observed correlation to a pathological role. The association of various annexins with particular neoplasis is summarized in Table 1.

Although earlier studies were largely dependent upon the use of only a single antibody in histological sections, and as such should be viewed with caution, many of these initial observations are now being verified by unbiased proteomic 'fishing' studies. It is clear from Table 1 that annexins often show either reduced or elevated expression levels (though not in the same cancer), suggesting that they are unlikely to fall into simple categories as tumour-supressor genes or oncogenes.

In this review we focus only on observations made using primary tissues and cells. There is an extensive literature examining the expression of annexins in cancer cell lines derived from a wide variety of sources, and the effects of modulating annexin expression on cell division, apoptosis, motility and 'invasiveness' in them. Such studies are vital if we are to further dissect the role of annexins in tumourigenesis, but real insights will only emerge with reference to primary cells as well. Many cells rapidly change their levels of annexins when cultured as their expression is dependent upon stress, growth rate and the presence or absence of growth factors. These gratuitous changes in the context of many other arbitrary changes seen in cell lines maintained for long periods in culture, means studies performed on cell lines alone should be viewed with caution.

Annexinopathies

Table 1. Tumour-associated changes in annexin expression
--

Disease	Annexin	Comments
Acute promyelocytic leukaemia	↑2;↑8	Haemorrhagic complications consistent with annexin 2 having a role in fibrinolysis (Menell et al., 1999); annexin 8 was found to be expressed at high levels in this leukaemia (Chang et al., 1992).
pro-B cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia	↑2	(Matsunaga et al., 2004).
B-cell Non-Hodgkin's	$\downarrow 1$	(Vishwanatha et al., 2004)
Acute myeloid leukaemia	<u>↑1_10</u>	(Lopez-Pedrera et al. 2006)
esophageal squamous cell	1, 10	Loss off annexin 1 associated with poorly
carcinoma	ψ ¹ , ψ ²	differentiated tumour foci. (Hu et al., 2004, Luo et al., 2004): (Zhang et al., 2004)
Head and neck Squamous	11 1	Melle et al., 2003: Reduced annexin 1
cell Carcinoma	1-7 4	expression correlates with histological
		grade. (Pedrero et al., 2004
Glioblastoma multiforme	↓7: ↑2	Loss of annexin 7 correlates with poor
(Brain tumour)	¥·, -	prognosis (Hung and Howng, 2003):
× ,		Up-regulation of annexin 2 in high grade samples (Reeves et al., 1992)
Astrocytic brain tumour	↑2	Expression of Annexin 2 correlated with histological grade (Roseman et al., 1994)
Prostate Cancer	↓1,↓2,	Progressive loss of annexins with
	↓5,↓4,	increased histological stage. (Smitherman
	↓6,↓11	et al., 2004); Lehnigk et al., 2005);
		Annexin 1 expression reduced in prostatic
		adenocarcinoma and high-grade prostatic
		intraepithelial neoplasia (Kang et al., 2002;
		Patton et al., 2005); (Xin et al., 2003)
Renal Cancer	<u>↑</u> 2; <u>↑</u> 4	Upregulation of Annexin 2 in
		stress-induced renal carcinoma in a rat
		model. (Tanaka et al., 2004); Zimmerman
		et al., 2004; Shi et al., 2004)
Pancreatic Cancer	<i>↑</i> 1; <i>↑</i> 4; <i>↑</i> 2	Bai et al., 2004; Shen et al., 2004;
		Annexin 2 up-regulated (Vishwanatha
		et al., 1993; Esposito et al., 2006)
Osteosarcoma	$\downarrow 2$	Annexin 2 expression inversely correlated
		to metastatic invasive potential (Gilette
		et al., 2004; Mintz et al., 2005)
Gastric Carcinoma	↑5	Wang et al., 2004); (Kang et al., 2006)
Breast cancer	↑11; ↓1; ↑8	(Hudelist et al., 2004); (Shen et al., 2005);
		Annexin A8 expression was associated with
		basal-cell-like breast cancers, associated
		with poor prognosis (Stein et al., 2005)
Nasopharyngeal carcinoma	$\downarrow 1$	(Rodrigo et al., 2005)
Thyroid	$\downarrow 1$	Down-regulation of annexin 1 associated
		with loss of differentiation (Petrella et al., 2006)

The ubiquitous expression of annexins means that they are superficially unattractive targets for drug development. Recently however it has been shown that Withaferin A, a steroidal lactone derived from Indian Ginseng which has been widely used in traditional Indian medicine, specifically binds to annexin 2 and has dramatic effects on cancer cell lines by modifying their actin cytoskeleton (Falsey et al., 2006). It is cytotoxic to cancer cell lines and is thought to alter the actin binding properties of annexin 2. Derivatives of this compound are finding uses as markers for angiogenesis and the compound itself has potent anti-angiogenic properties (Yokota et al., 2006; Mohan et al., 2004). This is congruent with the observation that the annexin 2 knockout mouse is incapable of pathological neo-angiogenesis, and with the proposed role of annexin 2 in the migration of new blood vessels (via tissue plasminogen activator, plasminogen and matrix metalloproteinases MMPs) (Ling et al., 2004).

12. ANNEXINS AS REGULATORS OF TUMORIGENESIS?

Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) in the 10q21 region (human) has been found in 35% of prostrate tumours, the region which encodes for annexin 7 (Srivastava et al., 2001), and the protein has been shown to be down-regulated in samples of recurrent prostate carcinoma but not in androgen-stimulated prostate cancer (Smitherman et al., 2004). There are also significant alterations in hormone receptor status that correlate with this regional LOH, indicating that this could be a useful prognostic tool, and aid in the development of more specific treatments (Leighton et al., 2004).

In one study heterozygous (+/-) annexin 7 mice exhibited a higher number of spontaneous tumours in thymus, spleen, liver and prostrate than littermate controls (Srivastava et al., 2003), leading to the suggestion that annexin 7 could act as a tumour suppressor gene. The same group have presented evidence of genomic instability in a hepatocellular carcinoma cell line derived from the annexin 7 (+/-) mouse, supporting this notion. However there was an absence of phenotype in a second null (-/-) annexin 7 mouse which was viable and fertile (Herr et al., 2001). Histological analysis of these animals revealed no significant abnormalities and no change in tumour susceptibility. No up-regulation at either an mRNA or protein level of annexins 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 or 11 was observed in brain, heart, liver and skeletal muscle, indicating there was no compensation by other members of the annexin protein family. The observed differences in the phenotypes of the two mice have been attributed to the different strategies used to knock-out the annexin 7 gene.

Another case involves annexin 6. Expression of this protein in A431 squamous epithelial cells reduced their proliferation rate in culture under conditions of limited serum (Theobald et al., 1994). When these cells were introduced subcutaneously into nude mice the developing tumours were significantly smaller, suggesting a tumour-suppressor activity of the protein (Theobald et al., 1995).

13. CONCLUSIONS

The review of literature in this chapter is far from complete, and for the sake of brevity we have had to largely exclude an extensive body of work based entirely on cultured cell lines. However, such studies are vital if we are to develop mechanistic models of how the annexins contribute to the pathology of the diseases with which they are increasingly becoming associated. Annexins are evolutionarily conserved proteins and appear for the most part to be cellular Ca^{2+} 'effectors'; structural and regulatory components of the cellular machinery that physically build connections between membranes and cytoskeleton and regulate and nucleate signalling complexes at these interfaces.

In this guise they may have many roles, for example regulating the dramatic changes in the structure of membrane subdomains in smooth muscle cells in response to changes in calcium (Draeger et al., 2005), or regulating flux through the endosomal compartments in response to growth factors (Gerke and Moss, 1997, Gruenberg and Stenmark, 2004). In some cases it is these roles that become deregulated in human disease. Neoplastic changes for example require increases in cellular transport, cell motility or loss of cell-cell contact, and these conditions are often associated with altered annexin expression or localisation. In other cases, the normal intracellular functions of annexins may be usurped by pathogens; as is the case with annexin 2 in viral and bacterial infectivity.

As well as their 'core' intracellular activities, many annexins have evolved other, specialised extracellular functions, such as the immunomodulatory action of annexin 1 or the pro-fibrinolytic activity of annexin 2. In this guise they contribute to homeostasis and repair; regulating and resolving infection and trauma, and will doubtless prove to be involved in many pathological processes. In the case of autoimmunity, when these mechanisms become disturbed, annexins are again implicated (for example in APL, SLE and diabetes) which underscores their importance as key regulatory factors.

The question remains as to whether we can definitively assign a disease state to a defect in annexin function. As explained at the beginning of this chapter, this requires a higher level of proof than has perhaps been achieved to date. Due to lack of space we have not discussed the potential roles of annexins in normal development, but it would appear that annexins have important roles at critical stages in this process. Mouse models however have shown that loss of some of the annexins is not incompatible with life, and annexin 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 deficient mice are superficially healthy. In some cases however, the null mutations are accompanied by changes in the expression of other members of the annexin family, suggesting that compensatory changes have obfuscated the significance of this loss. It is possible that similar somatic changes occur in human in disease states.

Improvements in global genomic technologies for examination of the proteome or 'expressome' in normal or disease tissues are beginning to identify changes in annexin expression in the pathophysiological state. The identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in annexin genes is also allowing various groups to assess the contribution of subtle changes in these proteins to quantitative trait loci. Recently such a SNP in the annexin 2 gene has been associated with osteonecrosis and stroke associated with sickle cell disease (Baldwin et al., 2005, Sebastiani et al., 2005). This fits in with a role for annexin 2 in mineralization of bone and cartilage due to its involvement in the formation of matrix vesicles, a specialized form of exocytosis (Gillette and Nielsen-Preiss, 2004; Anderson 2003, Wang and Kirsh, 2002; Wu et al., 1996). It is in the coming together of the independent approaches of histology, cell biology, biochemistry and genetics that such results are so compelling. Rand identified two annexinopathies; before long we can safely predict that we will be able to add many more to this list.

REFERENCES

- Adlish, J.D., Lahijani, R.S., and S.C. St Jeor, 1990, Identification of a putative cell receptor for human cytomegalovirus. Virology. 176(2):337–45.
- Anderson, H.C., 2003, Matrix vesicles and calcification. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 5(3):222-6.
- Andree, H.A., Stuart, M.C., Hermens, W.T., Reutelingsperger, C.P., Hemker, H.C., Frederik, P.M., and G.M. Willems, 1992, Clustering of lipid-bound annexin V may explain its anticoagulant effect. J Biol Chem. 267(25):17907–12.
- Arnold, J., Holmes, Z., Pickering, W., Farmer, C., Regan, L., and H. Cohen, 2001, Anti-beta 2 glycoprotein 1 and anti-annexin V antibodies in women with recurrent miscarriage. Br J Haematol. 2001 113(4):911–4.
- Arur, S., Uche, U.E., Rezaul, K., Fong, M., Scranton, V., Cowan, A.E., Mohler, W., and D.K. Han, 2003, Annexin I is an endogenous ligand that mediates apoptotic cell engulfment. Dev Cell. 4(4):587–98.
- Bai, X.F., Ni, X.G., Zhao, P., Liu, S.M., Wang, H.X., Guo, B., Zhou, L.P., Liu, F., Zhang, J.S., Wang, K., Xie, Y.Q., Shao, Y.F., and X.H. Zhao, 2004, Overexpression of annexin 1 in pancreatic cancer and its clinical significance. World J Gastroenterol. 10(10): 1466–70.
- Bensalem, N., Ventura, A.P., Vallee, B., Lipecka, J., Tondelier, D., Davezac, N., Dos Santos, A., Perretti, M., Fajac, A., Sermet-Gaudelus, I., Renouil, M., Lesure, J.F., Halgand, F., Laprevote, O., and A. Edelman A, 2005, Down-regulation of the anti-inflammatory protein annexin A1 in cystic fibrosis knock-out mice and patients. Mol Cell Proteomics. 4(10):1591–601.
- Biener, Y., Feinstein, R., Mayak, M., Kaburaqi, Y., Kadowaki, T. and Y. Zick, 1996, Annexin II is a novel player in insulin signal transduction. Possible association between annexin II phosphorylation and insulin receptor internalization. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 29489–29496.
- Bizzaro, N., Tonutti, E., Villalta, D., Tampoia, M., and R. Tozzoli, 2005, Prevalence and clinical correlation of anti-phospholipid-binding protein antibodies in anticardiolipin-negative patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and women with unexplained recurrent miscarriages. Arch Pathol Lab Med.129(1):61–8.
- Bolton, C., Elderfield, A.J., and R.J. Flower, 1990, The detection of lipocortins 1, 2 and 5 in central nervous system tissues from Lewis rats with acute experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol. 29(1–3):173–81.
- Brownawell, A. M. and C.E. Creutz, 1997, Calcium-dependent binding of sorcin to the N-terminal domain of synexin (annexin VII). J. Biol. Chem. 272, 22182–22190.
- Brownlee, M., 2005, The pathobiology of diabetic complications: a unifying mechanism. Diabetes 54, 1615–1625.
- Camors, E., Monceau, V., and D. Charlemagne D, 2005, Annexins and Ca²⁺ handling in the heart. Cardiovasc Res. 65(4):793–802.
- Carlstedt-Duke, J., Bronnegard, M., and B. Strandvik, 1986, Pathological regulation of arachidonic acid release in cystic fibrosis: the putative basic defect. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 83(23):9202–6.
- Carr, G., Simmons, N.L., and J.A. Sayer, 2006, Disruption of clc-5 leads to a redistribution of annexin A2 and promotes calcium crystal agglomeration in collecting duct epithelial cells. Cell Mol Life Sci. 63(3):367–77.

- Cesarman-Maus, G., Rios-Luna, N.P., Deora, A.B., Huang, B., Villa, R., Del Carmen Cravioto, M., Alarcon-Segovia, D., Sanchez-Guerrero, J. and AK Hajjar, 2006, Autoantibodies against the fibrinolytic receptor, annexin 2, in antiphospholipid syndrome. Blood. 107(11):4375–82.
- Cesarman, G.M., Guevara, C.A., and K.A. Hajjar, 1994, An endothelial cell receptor for plasminogen/tissue plasminogen activator (t-PA). II. Annexin II-mediated enhancement of t-PAdependent plasminogen activation. J Biol Chem. 269(33):21198–203.
- Chang, K.S., Wang, G., Freireich, E.J., Daly, M., Naylor, S.L., Trujillo, J.M., and S.A. Stass, 1992, Specific expression of the annexin VIII gene in acute promyelocytic leukemia. Blood. 79(7):1802–10.
- Chapman, L.P., Epton, M.J., Buckingham, J.C., Morris, J.F., and H.C. Christian, 2003, Evidence for a role of the adenosine 5'-triphosphate-binding cassette transporter A1 in the externalization of annexin I from pituitary folliculo-stellate cells. Endocrinology.144(3):1062–73.
- Chatterjee, B.E., Yona, S., Rosignoli, G., Young, R.E., Nourshargh, S., Flower, R.J., and M. Perretti, 2005, Annexin 1-deficient neutrophils exhibit enhanced transmigration in vivo and increased responsiveness in vitro. J Leukoc Biol. 8(3):639–46.
- Chertova, E., Chertov, O., Coren, L.V., Roser, J.D., Trubey, C.M., Bess, J.W. Jr, Sowder, R.C. 2nd, Barsov, E., Hood, B.L., Fisher, R.J., Nagashima, K., Conrads, T.P., Veenstra, T.D., Lifson, J.D., and D.E. Ott, 2006, Proteomic and biochemical analysis of purified human immunodeficiency virus type 1 produced from infected monocyte-derived macrophages. J Virol. 80(18):9039–52.
- Clemen, C. S., Herr, C., Hovelmeyer, N. and A.A. Noegel, 2003, The lack of annexin A7 affects functions of primary astrocytes. Exp. Cell Res. 291, 406–414.
- Coiras M., Camafeita E., Urena T, Lopez, J.A., Caballero, F., Fernandez, B., Lopez-Huertas, M.R., Perez-Olmeda, M., and J. Alcami, 2006, Modifications in the human T cell proteome induced by intracellular HIV-1 Tat protein expression. Proteomics. Suppl 1:S63–73.
- Creutz, C. E., Pazoles, C. J. and H.B. Pollard, 1978, Identification and purification of an adrenal medullary protein (synexin) that causes calcium-dependent aggregation of isolated chromaffin granules. J. Biol. Chem. 253, 2858–2866.
- Croxtall, J.D., Choudhury, Q., and R.J. Flower, 2000, Glucocorticoids act within minutes to inhibit recruitment of signalling factors to activated EGF receptors through a receptor-dependent, transcription-independent mechanism. Br J Pharmacol.130(2):289–98.
- Croxtall, J.D., Choudhury, Q., and R.J. Flower, 1998, Inhibitory effect of peptides derived from the N-terminus of lipocortin 1 on arachidonic acid release and proliferation in the A549 cell line: identification of E-Q-E-Y-V as a crucial component. Br J Pharmacol. 123(5):975–83.
- Croxtall, J.D., Choudhury, Q., and R.J. Flower, 2000, Glucocorticoids act within minutes to inhibit recruitment of signalling factors to activated EGF receptors through a receptor-dependent, transcription-independent mechanism. Br J Pharmacol. 130(2):289–98.
- de Laat, B., Derksen, R.H., Mackie I.J., Roest, M., Schoormans, S., Woodhams, B.J., de Groot, P.G., and W. L. van Heerde, 2006, Annexin A5 polymorphism (-1C>T) and the presence of anti-annexin A5 antibodies in the antiphospholipid syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis. [Epub ahead of print]
- de The, H., Chomienne, C., Lanotte, M., Degos, L., and A. Dejean, 1990, The t(15;17) translocation of acute promyelocytic leukaemia fuses the retinoic acid receptor alpha gene to a novel transcribed locus. Nature. 347(6293):558–61.
- Doring, V., Veretout, F., Albrecht, R., Muhlbauer, B., Schlatterer, C., Schleicher, M. and A.A. Noegel, 1995, The in vivo role of annexin VII (synexin): characterization of an annexin VII-deficient Dictyostelium mutant indicates an involvement in Ca(2+)-regulated processes. J. Cell Sci. 108 (Pt 5), 2065–2076.
- Draeger, A., Wray, S., and E.B. Babiychuk, 2005, Domain architecture of the smooth-muscle plasma membrane: regulation by annexins. Biochem J. 387(Pt 2):309–14.
- Ernst, S., Lange. C., Wilbers, A., Goebeler, V., Gerke, V., and U. Rescher, 2004, An annexin 1 N-terminal peptide activates leukocytes by triggering different members of the formyl peptide receptor family. J Immunol. 172(12):7669–76.
- Esposito, G., Tamby, M.C., Chanseaud, Y., Servettaz, A., Guillevin, L., and L. Mouthon, 2005, Antiannexin V antibodies: are they prothrombotic? Autoimmun Rev. 4(1):55–60.

- Esposito, I., Penzel, R., Chaib-Harrireche, M., Barcena, U., Bergmann, F., Riedl, S., Kayed, H., Giese, N., Kleeff, J., Friess, H., and P. Schirmacher, 2006, Tenascin C and annexin II expression in the process of pancreatic carcinogenesis. J Pathol. 208(5): 673–85.
- Esposito, I., Penzel, R., Chaib-Harrireche, M., Barcena, U., Bergmann, F., Riedl, S., Kayed, H., Giese, N., Kleeff, J., Friess, H., and P. Schirmacher, 2006, Tenascin C and annexin II expression in the process of pancreatic carcinogenesis. J Pathol. 208(5):673–85.
- Falsey, R.R., Marron, M.T., Gunaherath, G.M., Shirahatti, N., Mahadevan, D., Gunatilaka, A.A., and L. Whitesell, 2006, Actin microfilament aggregation induced by withaferin A is mediated by annexin II. Nat Chem Biol. 2(1):33–8.
- Fan, X., Krahling, S., Smith, D., Williamson, P., and R.A. Schlegel, 2004, Macrophage surface expression of annexins I and II in the phagocytosis of apoptotic lymphocytes. Mol Biol Cell.15(6):2863–72.
- Frank, K. F., Bolck, B., Ding, Z., Krause, D., Hattebuhr, N., Malik, A., Brixius, K., Hajjar, R. J., Schrader, J. & Schwinger, R. H. (2005) J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 38, 607–615.
- Garcia Pedrero, J.M., Fernandez, M.P., Morgan, R.O., Herrero Zapatero, A., Gonzalez, M.V., Suarez Nieto, C., and J.P. Rodrigo, 2004, Annexin A1 down-regulation in head and neck cancer is associated with epithelial differentiation status. Am J Pathol. 164(1): 73–9.
- Gerke, V., Creutz, C. E., and S. E. Moss, 2005, Annexins: Linking Ca²⁺ signalling to membrane dynamics. Nat. Rev. 6: 449–461.
- Ghitescu, L.D., Gugliucci, A., and F. Dumas, 2001, Actin and annexins I and II are among the main endothelial plasmalemma-associated proteins forming early glucose adducts in experimental diabetes. Diabetes 50, 1666–1674.
- Gillette, J..M., and S.M. Nielsen-Preiss, 2004, The role of annexin 2 in osteoblastic mineralization. J Cell Sci. 117(Pt 3):441–9.
- Gillette, J.M., Chan, D.C., and S.M. Nielsen-Preiss, 2004, Annexin 2 expression is reduced in human osteosarcoma metastases. J Cell Biochem. 92(4): 820–32.
- Gold, R., Oelschlager, M., Pepinsky, R.B., Sommer, C., Hartung, H.P., and K.V. Toyka KV., 1999, Increased lipocortin-1 (annexin-1) expression in the sciatic nerve of Lewis rats with experimental autoimmune neuritis. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 98(6):583–9.
- Goldstein, M. Leibovitch, I., Yeffimov, I., Gavendom, S., Sela, B.A., and A. Loewenstein, 2004, Hyperhomocysteinemia in patients with diabetes mellitus with and without diabetic retinopathy. Eye 18, 460–465.
- Gugliucci, A. and L. Ghitescu, 2002, Is diabetic hypercoagulability an acquired annexinopathy? Glycation of annexin II as a putative mechanism for impaired fibrinolysis in diabetic patients. Med. Hypotheses 59, 247–251.
- Hajjar, K.A., Jacovina, A.T., and J. Chacko, 1994, An endothelial cell receptor for plasminogen/tissue plasminogen activator. I. Identity with annexin II. J Biol Chem. 269(33):21191–7.
- Hajjar, K.A., 1993, Homocysteine-induced modulation of tissue plasminogen activator binding to its endothelial cell membrane receptor. J. Clin. Invest 91, 2873–2879.
- Hajjar, K.A., and S. Krishnan, 1999, Annexin II: a mediator of the plasmin/plasminogen activator system. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 9, 128–138.
- Hajjar, K.A., Mauri, L., Jacovina, A.T., Zhong, F., Mirza, U.A., Padovan, J.C., and B.T. Chait, 1998, Tissue plasminogen activator binding to the annexin II tail domain. Direct modulation by homocysteine. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 9987–9993.
- Hannon, R., Croxtall, J.D., Getting, S.J., Roviezzo, F., Yona, S., Paul-Clark, M.J., Gavins, F.N., Perretti, M., Morris, J.F., Buckingham. J.C., and R.J. Flower, 2003, Aberrant inflammation and resistance to glucocorticoids in annexin 1–/– mouse. FASEB J. 17(2): 253–5.
- Hayes, M.J., Shao, D., Bailly, M., and S.E. Moss, 2006, Regulation of actin dynamics by annexin 2. EMBO J. 25, 1816–1826.
- Hayes, M.J., Rescher, U., Gerke, V., and S.E. Moss, 2004, Annexin-actin interactions. Traffic. 5, 571–576.
- Herr, C., Smyth, N., Ullrich, S., Yun, F., Sasse, P., Hescheler, J., Fleischmann, B., Lasek, K., Brixius, K., Schwinger, R. H., Fassler, R., Schroder, R., and A.A. Noegel, 2001, Loss of annexin A7 leads to

alterations in frequency-induced shortening of isolated murine cardiomyocytes. Mol. Cell Biol. 21, 4119-4128.

- Hu, N., Flaig, M.J., Su, H., Shou, J.Z., Roth, M.J., Li, W.J., Wang, C., Goldstein, A.M., Li, G., Emmert-Buck, M.R., and P.R. Taylor, 2004, Comprehensive characterization of annexin I alterations in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res.10(18 Pt 1):6013–22.
- Hudelist, G., Pacher-Zavisin, M., Singer, C.F., Holper, T., Kubista, E., Schreiber, M., Manavi, M., Bilban, M., and K. Czerwenka, 2004, Use of high-throughput protein array for profiling of differentially expressed proteins in normal and malignant breast tissue. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 86(3): 281–91.
- Huitinga, I., Bauer, J., Strijbos, P.J., Rothwell, N.J., Dijkstra, C.D., and F.J. Tilders, 1998, Effect of annexin-1 on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in the rat. Clin Exp Immunol. 111(1):198–204.
- Hung, K.S., Howng S.L. Prognostic significance of annexin VII expression in glioblastomas multiforme in humans. J Neurosurg. 2003 Nov; 99(5): 886–92.
- Isacke, C.M., Trowbridge,I.S. and T. Hunter, 1986, Modulation of p36 phosphorylation in human cells: studies using anti-p36 monoclonal antibodies. Mol. Cell Biol. 6, 2745–2751.
- Ishii, H., Yoshida, M., Hajjar, K.A., Tanaka, A., Yasukochi, Y., Shimokado, K., and F.H. Numano, 2001, Potential role of recombinant annexin II in diabetic vascular injury. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 947, 308–311.
- Kang, J.S., Calvo, B.F., Maygarden, S.J., Caskey, L.S., Mohler, J.L., and D.K. Ornstein, 2002, Dysregulation of annexin I protein expression in high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia and prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 8(1):117–23.
- Kang, H.J., Koh, K.H., Yang, E., You, K.T., Kim, H.J., Paik, Y.K., and H. Kim, 2006, Differentially expressed proteins in gastrointestinal stromal tumors with KIT and PDGFRA mutations. Proteomics. 6(4): 1151–7.
- Kim, S.W., Rhee, H.J., Ko, J., Kim, Y.J., Kim, H.G., Yang, J.M., Choi, E.C., and D.S. Na, 2002, Inhibition of cytosolic phospholipase A2 by annexin I. Specific interaction model and mapping of the interaction site. J Biol Chem. 276(19):15712–9.
- Kirschnek, S., Adams, C., and E. Gulbins, 2005, Annexin II is a novel receptor for Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 327(3):900–6.
- Kumar, V., Farell, G., Deganello, S., and J.C. Lieske, 2003, Annexin II is present on renal epithelial cells and binds calcium oxalate monohydrate crystals. J Am Soc Nephrol. 14(2): 289–97.
- Kusumawati, A., Liautard, J.P., Sri, and J. Widada, 2001, Implication of annexin 1 in phagocytosis: effects of n-terminal domain deletions and point mutations of the phosphorylation site Ser-27. Cell Biol Int. 25(8):809–13.
- Lehnigk, U., Zimmermann, U., Woenckhaus, C., and J. Giebel J., 2005, Histol Histopathol Localization of annexins I, II, IV and VII in whole prostate sections from radical prostatectomy patients. 20(3): 673–80.
- Lehnigk, U., Zimmermann, U., Woenckhaus, C., and J. Giebel, 2005, Localization of annexins I, II, IV and VII in whole prostate sections from radical prostatectomy patients. Histol Histopathol. 20(3):673–80.
- Lei, H., Romeo, G. and A. Kazlauskas, 2004, Heat shock protein 90alpha-dependent translocation of annexin II to the surface of endothelial cells modulates plasmin activity in the diabetic rat aorta. Circ. Res. 94, 902–909.
- Leighton, X., Srikantan, V., Pollard, H. B., Sukumar, S. and M. Srivastava, 2004, Significant allelic loss of ANX7region (10q21) in hormone receptor negative breast carcinomas. Cancer Lett. 210, 239–244.
- Lim, L.H., Solito, E., Russo-Marie, F., Flower, R.J., and M. Perretti, 1998, Promoting detachment of neutrophils adherent to murine postcapillary venules to control inflammation: effect of lipocortin 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 24; 95(24): 14535–9.
- Lim, L., H., Solito, H.E., Russo-Marie, F., Flower, R.J., and M. Perretti, 1998, Promoting detachment of neutrophils adherent to murine postcapillary venules to control inflammation: effect of lipocortin 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:14535.

- Lopez-Lira, F., Rosales-Leon, L., Martinez, V.M. and B. H. Ruiz Ordaz, 2006, The role of beta2glycoprotein I (beta(2)GPI) in the activation of plasminogen. Biochim Biophys Acta. [Epub ahead of print]
- Lopez-Pedrera, C., Villalba, J.M., Siendones, E., Barbarroja N., Gomez-Diaz, C., Rodriguez-Ariza, A., Buendia, P., Torres, A., and F. Velasco, 2006, Proteomic analysis of acute myeloid leukemia: Identification of potential early biomarkers and therapeutic targets. Proteomics Suppl 1: S293–9.
- Lopez-Pedrera, C., Buendia, P., Barbarroja, N., Siendones, E., Velasco, F. and M.J. Cuadrado, 2006, Antiphospholipid-mediated thrombosis: interplay between anticardiolipin antibodies and vascular cells. Clin Appl Thromb Hemost.12(1):41–5.
- Lopez-Pedrera, C., Buendia, P., Cuadrado, M.J., Siendones, E., Aguirre, M.A., Barbarroja, N., Montiel-Duarte, C., Torres, A., Khamashta, M., and F. Velasco, 2006, Antiphospholipid antibodies from patients with the antiphospholipid syndrome induce monocyte tissue factor expression through the simultaneous activation of NF-kappaB/Rel proteins via the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway, and of the MEK-1/ERK pathway.Arthritis Rheum. 54(1):301–11.
- Luo, A., Kong, J., Hu, G., Liew, C.C., Xiong, M., Wang, X., Ji, J., Wang, T., Zhi, H., Wu, M., and Z. Liu Z., 2004, Discovery of Ca²⁺-relevant and differentiation-associated genes downregulated in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma using cDNA microarray. Oncogene. 12; 23(6): 1291–9.
- Ma, K., Simantov, R., Zhang, J.C., Silverstein, R., Hajjar, K.A., and K.R. McCrae, 2000, High affinity binding of beta 2-glycoprotein I to human endothelial cells is mediated by annexin II. J Biol Chem. 275(20):15541–8.
- MacLeod, T.J., Kwon, M., Filipenko, N.R., and D.M. Waisman, 2003, Phospholipid-associated annexin A2-S100A10 heterotetramer and its subunits: characterization of the interaction with tissue plasminogen activator, plasminogen, and plasmin. J Biol Chem. 278(28):25577–84.
- Matsunaga, T., Inaba, T., Okuya, M., Miyajima, A., Inukai, T., Funabiki, T., Endo, M., Look, A.T. and H. Kurosawa, 2004, Regulation of annexin II by cytokine-initiated signaling pathways and E2A-HLF oncoprotein. Blood. 103(8):3185–91.
- Melle, C., Ernst, G., Schimmel, B., Bleul, A, Koscielny, S., Wiesner, A., Bogumil, R., Moller, U., Osterloh, D., Halbhuber, K.J., and F. Von Eggling, 2003, Biomarker Discovery and Identification in Laser Microdissected Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma with ProteinChip(R) Technology, Two-dimensional Gel Electrophoresis, Tandem Mass Spectrometry, and Immunohistochemistry. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2(7): 443–52.
- Menell, J.S., Cesarman, G.M., Jacovina, A.T., McLaughlin, M.A., Lev, E.A., and K. A. Hajjar, 1999, N Engl J Med. Annexin II and bleeding in acute promyelocytic leukemia. 340(13):994–1004.
- Mintz, M.B., Sowers, R., Brown, K.M., Hilmer, S.C., Mazza, B., Huvos, A.G., Meyers, P.A., Lafleur, B., McDonough, W.S., Henry, M.M., Ramsey, K.E., Antonescu, C.R., Chen, W., Healey, J.H., Daluski, A., Berens, M.E., Macdonald, T.J., Gorlick, R., and D. A Stephan, 2005, An expression signature classifies chemotherapy-resistant pediatric osteosarcoma. Cancer Res. 65(5): 1748–54.
- Malhotra, R., M., Ward, H., Bright, R., Priest, M.R., Foster, M., Hurle, E. Blair, and M. Bird, 2003, Isolation and characterisation of potential respiratory syncytial virus receptor(s) on epithelial cells. Microbes Infect. 5:123–133.
- Mohan, R., Hammers, H.J., Bargagna-Mohan, P., Zhan, X.H., Herbstritt, C.J., Ruiz, A., Zhang, L., Hanson, A.D., Conner, B.P., Rougas, J., and V. S. Pribluda, 2004, Withaferin A is a potent inhibitor of angiogenesis. Angiogenesis. 7(2):115–22.
- Monastyrskaya, K., Babiychuk, E.B., Hostettler, A., Rescher, U., and A. Draeger., 2006, Annexins as intracellular calcium sensors. Cell Calcium. 2006.
- Morand, E.F., Hall, P., Hutchinson, P., and Y.H. Yang, 2006, Regulation of annexin I in rheumatoid synovial cells by glucocorticoids and interleukin-1. Mediators Inflamm. (2):73835.
- Nojima, J., Kuratsune, H., Suehisa, E., Futsukaichi, Y., Yamanishi, H., Machii, T., Iwatani, Y., and Y. Kanakura, 2001, Association between the prevalence of antibodies to beta(2)-glycoprotein I, prothrombin, protein C, protein S, and annexin V in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and thrombotic and thrombocytopenic complications. Clin Chem. 47(6):1008–15.
- Nolan, V.G., Baldwin, C., Ma, Q., Wyszynski, D.F., Amirault, Y., Farrell, J.J., Bisbee, A., Embury, S.H., Farrer, L.A., ad M.H. Steinberg, 2005, Association of single nucleotide polymorphisms in klotho with priapism in sickle cell anaemia. Br J Haematol. 128(2):266–72.
- Olsen, J., 1993, Some consequences of adopting a conditional deterministic causal model in epidemiology. Eur. J. Public Health 3: 204–209.
- Omer, S., Meredith, D., Morris, J.F., and H.C. Christian, 2006, Evidence for the role of adenosine 5'-triphosphate-binding cassette (ABC)-A1 in the externalization of annexin 1 from pituitary folliculostellate cells and ABCA1-transfected cell models. Endocrinology. 147(7):3219–27.
- Patton, K.T., Chen, H.M., Joseph, L., and X.J. Yang, 2005, Decreased annexin I expression in prostatic adenocarcinoma and in high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. Histopathology. 47(6): 597–601.
- Peterson, E. A., Sutherland, M, R, Nesheim, M. E., and E.L. Pryzdial. (2003) Thrombin induces endothelial cell-surface exposure of the plasminogen receptor annexin 2. J. Cell. Sci. 116: 2399–2408.
- Perretti, M., Croxtall, J.D., Wheller, S.K., Goulding, N.J., Hannon, R., and R.J. Flower, 1996, Mobilizing lipocortin 1 in adherent human leukocytes downregulates their transmigration. Nat Med. 2(11):1259–62.
- Perretti, M., Christian, H., Wheller, S.K., Aiello, I., Mugridge, K.G., Morris, J.F., Flower, R.J., and N.J. Goulding, 2000, Annexin I is stored within gelatinase granules of human neutrophil and mobilized on the cell surface upon adhesion but not phagocytosis. Cell Biol Int. 24(3):163–74.
- Petrella, A., Festa, M., Ercolino, S.F., Zerilli, M., Stassi, G., Solito, E., and L. Parente, 2006, Annexin-1 Downregulation in Thyroid Cancer Correlates to the Degree of Tumor Differentiation. Cancer Biol Ther. 5(6):643–7.
- Philipps, C., Rose-John, S., Rincke, G., Furstenberger, G., and F. Marks, 1989, cDNA-cloning, sequencing and expression in glucocorticoid-stimulated quiescent Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts of mouse lipocortin I. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 28;159(1):155–62.
- Pietropaolo, R., and T. Compton, 1999, Interference with annexin II has no effect on entry of human cytomegalovirus into fibroblast cells. J Gen Virol. 80 (Pt 7):1807–16.
- Pietropaolo, R.L., and T. Compton, 1997, Direct interaction between human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B and cellular annexin II. J Virol. 71(12):9803–7.
- Rand, J.H., Wu, X.X., Quinn, A.S., Chen, P.P., McCrae, K.R., Bovill, E.G., and D.J.Taatjes, 2003, Human monoclonal antiphospholipid antibodies disrupt the annexin A5 anticoagulant crystal shield on phospholipid bilayers: evidence from atomic force microscopy and functional assay. Am J Pathol. 163(3):1193–200.
- Rand, J.H., Eerden, P.V., Wu, X.X., and C. Chazotte, 2005, Defective annexin A5 crystallization: a mechanism for pregnancy losses in the antiphospholipid syndrome. Thromb Res. 115 Suppl 1:77–81.
- Rand, J.H., 2000, The annexinopathies: a new category of diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta.1498(2,3):169–73.
- Rand, J.H., and X.X. Wu, 2004, Antibody-mediated interference with annexins in the antiphospholipid syndrome. Thromb Res. 114(5, g6):383–9.
- Rand, J.H., Wu, X.X., Lapinski, R., van Heerde, W.L., Reutelingsperger, C.P., Chen, P.P., and T.L. Ortel, 2004, Detection of antibody-mediated reduction of annexin A5 anticoagulant activity in plasmas of patients with the antiphospholipid syndrome. Blood.104(9):2783–90.
- Raynor, C.M., J.F. Wright, D.M. Waisman, and E.L. Pryzdial, 1999, Annexin II enhances cytomegalovirus binding and fusion to phospholipid membranes. Biochemistry. 38:5089–5095.
- Rescher, U., Ruhe, D., Ludwig, C., Zobiack, N., and V. Gerke, 2004, Annexin 2 is a phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate binding protein recruited to actin assembly sites at cellular membranes. J Cell Sci. 117(Pt 16):3473–80.
- Rodrigo, J.P., Garcia-Pedrero, J.M., Fernandez, M.P., Morgan, R.O., Suárez, C., and A. Herrero, 2005, Annexin A1 expression in nasopharyngeal carcinoma correlates with squamous differentiation. Am J Rhinol. 19(5): 483–7.
- Sahin, M., Duzgun, N., Tunc, S.E. and H. Tutkak, 2006, Clinical manifestations and antiphosphatidylserine antibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: is there an association? Clin Rheumatol. (Epub ahead of print)

- Sebastiani, P., Ramoni, M., Nolan, V., Baldwin, C., and M. Steinberg, 2005, Genetic dissection and prognostic modeling of a complex trait: overt stroke in sickle cell anemia. Nat Genet. 37: 435–440.
- Shen, D., Chang, H.R., Chen, Z., He, J., Lonsberry, V., Elshimali, Y., Chia, D., Seligson, D., Goodglick, L., Nelson, S.F., and J.A. Gornbein, 2005, Loss of annexin A1 expression in human breast cancer detected by multiple high-throughput analyses. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 326(1): 218–27.
- Shen, J., Person, M.D., Zhu, J., Abbruzzese, J.L., and D. Li, 2004, Protein expression profiles in pancreatic adenocarcinoma compared with normal pancreatic tissue and tissue affected by pancreatitis as detected by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry. Cancer Res. 64(24): 9018–26.
- Shi, T., Dong, F, Liou, L.S., Duan, Z.H., Novick, A.C., and J.A. DiDonato, 2004, Differential protein profiling in renal-cell carcinoma. Mol Carcinog. 40(1):47–61.
- Smitherman, A.B., Mohler, J.L., Maygarden, S.J., and D.K. Ornstein, 2004, Expression of annexin I, II and VII proteins in androgen stimulated and recurrent prostate cancer. J Urol. 171(2 Pt 1): 916–20.
- Srivastava, M., Bubendorf, L., Srikantan, V., Fossom, L., Nolan, L., Glasman, M., Leighton, X., Fehrle, W., Pittaluga, S., Raffeld, M. et al., 2001, ANX7, a candidate tumor suppressor gene for prostate cancer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 4575–4580.
- Srivastava, M., Bubendorf, L., Raffeld, M., Bucher, C., Torhorst, J., Sauter, G., Olsen, C., Kallioniemi, O. P., Eidelman, O. and H.B. Pollard, 2004, Prognostic impact of ANX7-GTPase in metastatic and HER2-negative breast cancer patients. Clin. Cancer Res. 10, 2344–2350.
- Srivastava, M., Atwater, I., Glasman, M., Leighton, X., Goping, G., Caohuy, H., Miller, G., Pichel, J., Westphal, H., Mears, D. Rojas, E and H.B. Pollard, 1999, Defects in inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor expression, Ca(2+) signaling, and insulin secretion in the anx7(+/-) knockout mouse. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96, 13783–13788.
- Srivastava, M., Montagna, C., Leighton, X., Glasman, M., Naga, S., Eidelman, O., Ried, T. and H.B. Pollard, 2003, Haploinsufficiency of Anx7 tumor suppressor gene and consequent genomic instability promotes tumorigenesis in the Anx7(+/-) mouse.Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 14287–14292.
- Stein, T., Price, K.N., Morris, J.S., Heath, V.J., Ferrier, R.K., Bell, A.K., Pringle, M.A., Villadsen, R., Petersen, O.W., Sauter, G., Bryson, G., Mallon, E.A., and B.A Gusterson, 2005, Annexin A8 is up-regulated during mouse mammary gland involution and predicts poor survival in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 11(19 Pt 1): 6872–9.
- Tanaka, T., Akatsuka, S., Ozeki, M., Shirase, T., Hiai, H., and S. Toyokuni, 2004, Redox regulation of annexin 2 and its implications for oxidative stress-induced renal carcinogenesis and metastasis. Oncogene.13; 23(22): 3980–9.
- Taylor, H.P., and N.R. Cooper, 1990, The human cytomegalovirus receptor on fibroblasts is a 30-kilodalton membrane protein. J Virol. 64(6):2484–90.
- Tuszynski, G.P., Sharma, M. R., Rothman, V. L. and M.C. Sharma, 2002, Angiostatin binds to tyrosine kinase substrate annexin II through the lysine-binding domain in endothelial cells. Microvasc. Res. 64: 448–462.
- van Heerde, W.L., Kenis, H., Schoormans, S., Lap, P., and C.P. Reutelingsperger, 2003, The -1C>T mutation in the annexin A5 gene does not affect plasma levels of annexin A5.
- van Heerde, W.L., Sakariassen, K.S., Hemker, H.C., Sixma, J.J., Reutelingsperger, C.P., and P.G. de Groot, 1994, Annexin V inhibits the procoagulant activity of matrices of TNF-stimulated endothelium under blood flow conditions. Arterioscler Thromb.14:824–830.
- Rodrigo, J.P., Garcia-Pedrero, J.M., Fernandez, M.P., Morgan, R.O., Suárez, C., and A. Herrero, 2005, Annexin A1 expression in nasopharyngeal carcinoma correlates with squamous differentiation. Am J Rhinol. 19(5): 483–7.
- Reeves, S.A., Chavez-Kappel, C., Davis, R., Rosenblum, M., and M.A. Israel, 1992, Developmental regulation of annexin II (Lipocortin 2) in human brain and expression in high grade glioma. Cancer Res. 52(24):6871–6.
- Roseman, B.J., Bollen, A., Hsu, J., Lamborn, K., and M.A. Israel, 1994, Annexin II marks astrocytic brain tumors of high histologic grade. Oncol Res. 1994;6(12):561–7.

- Strandvik, B., Bronnegard, M., Gilljam, H., and J, Carlstedt-Duke, 1988, Relation between defective regulation of arachidonic acid release and symptoms in cystic fibrosis. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl. 143:1–4.
- Selbert, S., Fischer, P., Pongratz, D., Stewart, M., and A.A Noegel, 1995, Expression and localization of annexin VII (synexin) in muscle cells. J. Cell Sci. 108 (Pt 1), 85–95.
- Seidler, T., Miller, S. L., Loughrey, C. M., Kania, A., Burow, A., Kettlewell, S., Teucher, N., Wagner, S., Kogler, H., Meyers, M. B. Hasenfuss, G, and G.L. Smith, 2003, Effects of adenovirus-mediated sorcin overexpression on excitation-contraction coupling in isolated rabbit cardiomyocytes. Circ. Res. 93, 132–139.
- Trouve, P., Legot, S., Belikova, I., Marotte, F., Benevolensky, D., Russo-Marie, F., Samuel, J.L., and D. Charlemagne, 1999, Localization and quantitation of cardiac annexins II, V, and VI in hypertensive guinea pigs Am J Physiol. 276(4 Pt 2): 1159–1166.
- Vishwanatha, J.K., Salazar, E., and V.K. Gopalakrishnan, 2004, Absence of annexin I expression in B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and cell lines. BMC Cancer. 8;4:8.
- Vishwanatha, J.K., Chiang, Y., Kumble, K.D., Hollingsworth, M.A., and P.M. Pour, 1993, Enhanced expression of annexin II in human pancreatic carcinoma cells and primary pancreatic cancers. Carcinogenesis. 14(12):2575–9.
- Wang, J. L., Gray, R. M., Haudek, K. C. and R.J. Patterson, 2004, Nucleocytoplasmic lectins. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1673, 75–93.
- Wang, K.J., Wang, R.T., and J.Z. Zhang, 2004, Identification of tumor markers using two-dimensional electrophoresis in gastric carcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. 10(15): 2179–83.
- Wang, W., and T. Kirsch, 2002, Retinoic acid stimulates annexin-mediated growth plate chondrocyte mineralization. J Cell Biol.10;157(6):1061–9.
- White, I.J., Bailey, L.M., Aghakhani, M.R., Moss, S.E., and C. E. Futter, 2006, EGF stimulates annexin 1-dependent inward vesiculation in a multivesicular endosome subpopulation. EMBO J. 11:25 (1): 1–12.
- Wright, J.F., Kurosky, A., Pryzdial, E.L., and S. Wasi, 1995, Host cellular annexin II is associated with cytomegalovirus particles isolated from cultured human fibroblasts. J Virol. 69(8):4784–91.
- Wu, L.N., Genge, B.R., Sauer, G.R., and R.E. Wuthier, 1996, Characterization and reconstitution of the nucleational complex responsible for mineral formation by growth plate cartilage matrix vesicles. Connect Tissue Res. 35(1–4):309–15.
- Xin, W., Rhodes, D.R., Ingold, C., Chinnaiyan A.M., and M.A. Rubin, 2003, Dysregulation of the annexin family protein family is associated with prostate cancer progression. Am J Pathol. 162(1): 255–61.
- Yasuda, S., Bohgaki, M., Atsumi, T., and T. Koike, 2005, Pathogenesis of antiphospholipid antibodies: impairment of fibrinolysis and monocyte activation via the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway.Immunobiology. 210(10):775–80.
- Yokota, Y., Bargagna-Mohan, P., Ravindranath, P.P., Kim, K.B., and R. Mohan, 2006, Development of withaferin A analogs as probes of angiogenesis. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 16(10):2603–7.
- Yona, S., Heinsbroek, S.E., Peiser, L., Gordon, S., Perretti, M., and R.J. Flower, 2006, Impaired phagocytic mechanism in annexin 1 null macrophages. Br J Pharmacol. 148(4):469–77.
- Yona, S., Heinsbroek, S.E., Peiser, L., Gordon, S., Perretti, M., and R.J. Flower, 2006, Impaired phagocytic mechanism in annexin 1 null macrophages. Br J Pharmacol.148(4):469–77.
- Yu, F., Finley, R. L., Jr., Raz, A. and H.R. Kim, 2002, Galectin-3 translocates to the perinuclear membranes and inhibits cytochrome c release from the mitochondria. A role for synexin in galectin-3 translocation J. Biol. Chem. 277, 15819–15827.
- Zammiti, W., Mtiraoui, N., Kallel, C., Mercier, E., Almawi, W.Y., and T. Mahjoub, 2006, A case-control study on the association of idiopathic recurrent pregnancy loss with autoantibodies against {beta} 2-glycoprotein I and annexin V. Reproduction.131(4):817–22.
- Zhang, X., Zhi, H.Y., Zhang J., Wang X.Q., Zhou, C.N, Wu, M., Sun, Y.T., and Z.H. Liu, 2003, Expression of annexin II in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi. 25(4): 353–5.

- Zimmermann, U., Balabanov, S., Giebel, J., Teller, S., Junker, H., Schmoll, D., Protzel, C., Scharf, C., Kleist, B., and R. Walther R, 2004, Increased expression and altered location of annexin IV in renal clear cell carcinoma: a possible role in tumour dissemination. Cancer Lett. 2004. 209(1): 111–8.
- Zobiack, N., Rescher, U., Laarmann, S., Michgehl, S., Schmidt, M.A., and V. Gerke, 2002, Cell-surface attachment of pedestal-forming enteropathogenic E. coli induces a clustering of raft components and a recruitment of annexin 2. J Cell Sci.115(Pt 1):91–8.
- Zobiack, N., Rescher, U., Ludwig, C., Zeuschner, D., and V. Gerke, 2003, The annexin 2/S100A10 complex controls the distribution of transferrin receptor-containing recycling endosomes. Mol Biol Cell. 14(12):4896–908.

CHAPTER 2

CALPAINS AND HUMAN DISEASE

I. BERTIPAGLIA AND E. CARAFOLI

Department of Biochemistry, University of Padova, and Venetian Institute of Molecular Medicine, Padova, Italy

Abstract: Calpains, particularly conventional dimeric calpains, have claimed to be involved in the cell degeneration processes that characterize numerous disease conditions linked to dysfunctions of cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis. The evidence supporting their involvement has traditionally been indirect and circumstantial, but recent work has added more solid evidence supporting the role of ubiquitous dimeric calpains in the process of neurodegeneration. The only disease condition in which a calpain defect has been conclusively involved concerns an atypical monomeric calpain: the muscle specific calpain-3, also known as p94. Inactivating defects in its gene cause a muscular dystrophy termed LGMD-2A. The molecular mechanism by which the absence of the proteolytic activity of calpain-3 causes the dystrophic process is unknown. Another atypical calpain, which has been characterized recently as a Ca²⁺- dependent protease, calpain 10, appears to be involved in the etiology of type 2 diabetes. The involvement has been inferred essentially from genetic evidence. Also in the case of type 2 diabetes the molecular mechanisms that could link the disease to calpain 10 are unknown

Keywords: Calpain-3, muscular dystrophy, type 2 diabetes, calpain 10, neurodegeneration, protease

1. INTRODUCTION

An intracellular calcium dependent neutral proteolytic activity was described more than 40 years ago (Guroff, 1964). Calpains, as these proteases were later named, are widely distributed in the animal kingdom, from mammals to invertebrates, and have also been detected in fungi. They catalyse the limited proteolysis of proteins involved in numerous cell functions, among them cytoskeletal remodeling, signal transduction, cell cycle regulation, cell differentiation, apoptosis and necrosis, embryonic development and, in the central nervous system, long-term potentiation (Carafoli and Molinari, 1998), (Ono et al., 1998), (Wang, 2000). A number of pathological conditions have been associated with disturbances of the calpain system, among them: cataractogenesis, inflammation, arthritis, Alzheimer's

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 29–53. © 2007 Springer.

(Saito et al., 1993) and Parkinson's diseases (Vanderklish and Bahr, 2000). The list could continue to include organ ischemia, stroke, brain trauma, various platelet syndromes, hypertension, liver dysfunction, and some types of cancer: Table 1 offers a panorama of the diseases that have most frequently been linked to calpains. A role for these proteases in the genesis of these conditions has been generally inferred from

Diseases	Observations	References
LGMD-2A	This disease is associated with mutations in the gene encoding calpain 3 (<i>CAPN3</i>) and the probable loss of CAPN3 proteolytic activity	Ono et al., 1998
Gastric cancer	This type of cancer is associated with down-regulation of <i>CAPN9</i> .	Yoshikawa et al., 2000
Type 2 diabetes mellitus	Mutations in intron 3 of <i>CAPN10</i> are associated with an increased incidence of type 2 diabetes in some populations.	Horikawa et al., 2000
Duchenne's and Becker's muscular dystrophies	These dystrophies are associated with the absence or deficiency of dystrophin, a membrane-associated protein, resulting in an increased Ca^{2+} level in muscle, loss of Ca^{2+} homeostasis, and inappropriate calpain activity.	Tidball and Spencer, 2000
Alzheimer's disease	There is an increased amount of m-calpain in the cytosolic but not the membranous fraction of the brain and in the neurofibrillary tangles of the brain.	Nixon and Mohan, 1999 Tsuji et al., 1998
Cataract formation	Ca^{2+} influx activates m-calpain, the predominant calpain in the lens, cleaving <i>a</i> - and <i>b</i> -crystallins but not <i>g</i> -crystallins; the crystallin fragments aggregate to form cataracts.	Shearer et al., 2000
Myocardial infarction	Ca^{2+} homeostasis is lost in ischemic areas, triggering inappropriate calpain activity; desmin and <i>a</i> -spectrin are degraded in ischemic heart tissue by synthetic calpain inhibitors; protein and mRNA levels of m-calpain and μ -calpain increase after myocardial infarction.	Papp et al., 2000 Sandmann, et al., 2001 Tsuji, et al., 2001 Yoshida, et al., 2001
Multiple sclerosis.	Levels of the 150-kD calpain-specific degradation product of <i>a</i> -spectrin increase 50% in human multiple sclerosis plaques; degradation of the 68-kD neurofilament protein is inhibited by a synthetic calpain inhibitor	Shields et al., 1999 Banik et al., 1997
Obsessive- compulsive disorder	Erythrocytes from patients with obsessive–compulsive disorder have significantly higher calpain activities than normal controls, a finding that could not be attributed to differences in memory function.	Mundo et al., 1997
Neuronal ischemia (stroke)	Calpastatin is degraded by calpain to a membrane-bound 50-kD polypeptide in ischemic brain tissue; calpains participate in both apoptosis and necrosis in tissue damage in ischemic areas.	Blomgren et al., 2001

Table 1. Pathologic conditions that have been associated with the calpains*

* from Zatz and Starling, 2005

indirect evidence, and is thus not conclusively established. So far the only condition in which the linkage with a calpain mutation has been unambiguously proved is Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A (Richard et al., 1999). Type 2 diabetes mellitus (Horikawa et al., 2000) is the other disease for which relatively convincing evidence for a genetic linkage to a calpain, has been provided. We will therefore focus our attention on these two conditions. We will close this contribution with a brief discussion of the involvement of calpains in neuronal cell death, a process in which a role for calpains is suggested by increasingly convincing evidence.

2. PROPERTIES AND STRUCTURE OF CALPAINS

The first described calpains are the m- and μ -isoforms. They differ in sensitivity to calcium *in vitro*, as they are activated by millimolar and micromolar Ca²⁺-concentrations respectively. They are heterodimers of two distinct subunits: an 80 kDa catalytic subunit also indicated as L-chain (large), and a regulatory 30kDa subunit or S-chain (small), each encoded by a different gene. The large subunit can be divided in four distinct domains:

Domain I is the N-terminal portion of the protein. The autocatalytic hydrolysis of this domain leads to the activation of the enzyme, and consequent dissociation of the 30K subunit (Yoshizawa et al., 1995).

Domain II is composed of two subdomains (IIa and IIb) and represents the catalytic core of the protease. A cys at position 115 (μ -calpain) or 105 (m-calpain), a His residue at position 272 (μ -calpain) or 262 (m-calpain) and an Asn residue at position 296 (μ -calpain) or 286 (m-calpain) form the catalytic triad characteristic of cysteine proteases such as papain or cathepsins B, L, or S. Domain II, however, shares only limited sequence homology with other cysteine proteases, and is likely to have evolved from a different ancestral gene.

Domain III shares no sequence homology with other known proteins, its structure resembling the C2 domains found in phospholipase C, protein kinase C and synaptotagmin (Rizo and Sudhof, 1998). In addition to linking the Ca^{2+} -binding domain of the molecule to the catalytic domain (domain II), domain III appears to be involved in phospholipids and Ca^{2+} binding (Tompa et al., 2001).

Domain IV is the C-terminal portion of the protein, and is also known as the calmodulin-like domain due to its similarity with calmodulin. It contains five EF-hand Ca^{2+} -binding motifs, the fifth of which does not bind calcium but is involved in the dimerization with the small subunit, through the interaction with the analogous EF-hand motif in domain VI. The small subunit is composed of two domains (V and VI) separated by a region containing a proline-rich stretch.

Domain V has high glycine content and is therefore a hydrophobic region that may be responsible for the interaction of calpain with the plasma membrane (Lee et al., 1990) (Kuboki et al., 1987) (Kuboki et al., 1990).

Domain VI is homologous to domain IV of the large subunit, and therefore has five EF-hands motifs, four of which bind calcium while the fifth is involved in the interaction with the large subunit. The crystal structures of domain IV (Blanchard

et al., 1996), and then of the entire heterodimeric m-calpain (Hosfield et al., 1999), has offered new insights into the functional properties of the protease (Figure 1). The x-ray structure of domain IV has revealed that the fifth EF-hand motif of the catalytic subunit indeed interacts with the EF-hand motif of domain VI of the small subunit. Crystallization at low and high calcium concentrations has demonstrated that the first four EF-hand motifs in domain IV and VI bind calcium with higher affinity than the fifth motif, which binds calcium only when crystallization is carried out at higher calcium concentration.

As mentioned above domain II is divided into two subdomains (IIa and IIb) containing the Cys and the His/Asn residues, respectively, which in the absence of calcium are held apart forming a wide gap that disrupts the catalytic triad, keeping the enzyme in an inactive state. To allow the formation of a functional catalytic complex, the distance between the residues in the triad must be reduced through



Figure 1. 3D structure of heterodimeric m-calpain, from Suzuki et al., 2004 (See Colour Plate 2)

a conformational change, which is produced by the binding of calcium. Since the calcium-linked conformational changes derived from the binding of the metal to domain IV are very limited, other calcium binding regions must be involved in the process. An "electrostatic switch" mechanism has been proposed (Strobl et al., 1999) as a possible mechanism of activation, where a putative calcium binding site is represented by the acidic loop in domain III which forms interdomain salt bridges with basic side chains in domain IIa. Binding of two or three calcium ions to this region would disrupt the electrostatic interaction, allowing domain IIa to move closer to domain IIb, and aligning the catalytic triad residues. Indeed, two non EF-hand calcium binding of calcium to these regions induces a conformational change that brings the catalytic residues in close proximity to each other (Moldoveanu et al., 2002).

3. CALPAIN FAMILY

At least 14 calpain like DNA sequences have been identified in mammals, some of which not yet isolated as proteins. Some are tissue specific, others are expressed in a variety of tissues (Sorimachi et al., 1989) (Sorimachi et al., 1993). With few exceptions, very little is known on the properties of these (putative) calpains other than the sequence homology to conventional calpains (Dear and Boehm, 1999) (Dear and Boehm, 2001). The inclusion in the family is based on the sequence similarity with domain II of m- and μ -calpains. At least 38 calpain-like genes have been identified in a wide variety of species, including Drosophila (4 isoforms) (Pintér and Friedrich, 1988) (Pintér et al., 1992), C. elegans (12 isoforms), fungi/yeast (2 isoforms), Trypanosoma brucei (5 isoforms). A membrane intrinsic calpain has been identified in a variety of plants. These calpain-like genes produce proteins with widely divergent properties, which can be grouped in 11 "typical calpains", having a domain structure similar to the 80 kDa subunit of m- or µ-calpain, and 27 "atypical calpains" that lack the calmodulin-like EF-sequences in domain IV. The function of these "calpain-like" molecules is unknown: some of them do not have domain IV and might thus be calcium insensitive, other "atypical calpains", lack one or more residues of the catalytic triad and are probably proteolitically inactive (Sorimachi and Suzuki, 2001). Figure 2 shows the most important members of the calpain family.

3.1. Biochemical Properties of Calpains

3.1.1. Tissue and cell distribution

m- and μ -calpain are expressed in a variety of tissues and cell types, however, their mutual ratio varies with the tissue and, in the same tissues, with the species. For instance, human platelets and erythrocytes have no detectable m-calpain, while bovine platelets and smooth muscle have no detectable μ -calpain (Thompson and Goll, 2000). Several studies have led to the suggestion that calpains are capable of relocating in the cell in response to signals, for instance m-calpain has

Calpain 1	1 2 3 4 5-DF	hand Ubiquitous	ŕ.
Calpain 2		Ubiquitous	
Calpain 3 NS	St 152	Skeletal, muscle, lens, retina	
Calpain 8		Stomach mucosa	Large subunit
Calpain 9		Digestive tract	- product
Calpain 11		Testis	
Calpain 12	10000	Ubiquitous	
Calpain 5		Ubiquitous	Ī
Calpain 6		Placenta	No. and in second
Calpain 7		Ubiquitous	EF-negative
Calpain 10		Ubiquitous	
Calpain 13		Testis/lung	
Calpain 4 Calpain small subunit 2		Ubiquitous N/A	Small subunit
Calpastatin		Ubiquitous	Calpain inhibitor

Figure 2. Domain organization of calpains from Branca, et al., 1999 (See Colour Plate 3)

been found at the plasma membrane in dividing (Schollmeyer, 1986) or fusing (Schollmeyer, 1986) myoblasts, and redistributes from the cytoplasm to the plasma membrane in COS-7 cells and in human lung tumor cells after stimulation with a Ca^{2+} ionophore (Gil-Parrado et al., 2003).

4. ACTIVATION UPON AUTOLYSIS?

Both m- and μ -calpain undergo rapid autoproteolysis when incubated with calcium. Autolysis of the large and the small subunits generates a 76kDa (μ -calpain) or 78 kDa (m-calpain) and an 18kDa fragment, respectively (Zimmerman and Schlapfer, 1991) (McClelland et al., 1989). Autolysis reduces the Ca²⁺-requirement for halfmaximal activity of μ -calpain from 3–50 to 0.5–2.0 μ M Ca²⁺ and that of m-calpain from 400–800 to 50–150 μ M Ca²⁺ (Suzuki et al., 1981). These observations have initially led to the suggestion that calpains could be proenzymes. However, while a number of papers have claimed that autolysis was necessary for activation (Baki et al., 1995), other studies have found that both the cleaved and intact forms of the protease were capable of cleaving a casein substrate (Cottin et al., 2001). Eventually, the x-ray structure has shown that autolysis of m-calpain removed an a-helical NH_2 terminal fragment of the 80kDa subunit that did not block the active site, compatible with the idea that autolysis is not required for activation (Hosfield et al., 1999). The function of the autoproteolytic step is thus still unclear.

5. REGULATION OF CALPAIN ACTIVITY. THE CALCIUM REQUIREMENT PROBLEM

The calcium concentrations required for the activity of μ - and m-calpains are much higher than the 50-300 nM found in the cytosol of living cells. Efforts have thus been made to identify possible mechanisms to reduce the calcium requirement of the calpains, focusing on factors that might act as "activators". Extensive work on phospholipids has shown (Coolican and Hathaway, 1984) that phosphoinositides lower the Ca²⁺-requirement of either m- or µ-calpain by three- to six-fold (Saido et al., 1992). Very high molar ratios of the phospholipids were required, making it unlikely that this mechanism would function under physiological conditions. It has been suggested that the calpains would interact with phospholipids at the plasma membrane, and that the interaction might lower the Ca²⁺requirement of the protease. This is an interesting suggestion; however, calpains bind to proteins and not to phospholipids in the plasma membrane (Inomata et al., 1990). Isovelerylcarnitine has been claimed to reduce the Ca²⁺-requirement for the activity of m-calpain to less than 10µM and to increase the specific activity of the protease (Pontremoli et al., 1990). A heat stable polypeptide (40-50kDa) isolated from human neutrophils (Pontremoli et al., 1988) and rat skeletal muscle (Pontremoli et al., 1990), has also been shown to reduce the Ca^{2+} concentration required for proteolytic activity of m-calpain. A dimeric protein of 30kDa, later identified as an acyl-CoA binding protein, has also been claimed to reduce the Ca^{2+} -requirement for m-calpain from a variety of sources (Melloni et al., 1998). Other activators have also been described, including nuclear DNA (Mellgren et al., 1993) and calpastatin subdomain A and C (see below) (Tompa et al., 2002). In summary, the mechanisms to reduce the calcium requirement of calpains are still obscure.

6. CALPASTATIN

Calpastatin was identified in experiments in which no calpain activity could be observed in crude skeletal muscle homogenates. After precipitation of calpain at pH 6.5 (Dayton et al., 1976), the supernatant was found to contain a heat-resistant factor with calpain inhibitory activity (Okitani et al., 1976), which was later named calpastatin. Early attempts to characterize and purify the factor were unsuccessful, due to the susceptibility of the protein to proteolytic degradation.

Another complicating factor was the existence of at least 9 different calpastatin polypeptides generated by different promoters and alternative splicing mechanisms from a single gene. Cloning and sequencing has eventually shown that calpastatin has four repeated, poorly homologous, inhibitory domains of approximately 140 aminoacids (domain I, II, III and IV) and an N-terminal domain L that has no inhibitory activity. Three subdomains were identified within each inhibitory domain. A conserved sequence in subdomain B appears to be essential for activity, but has little inhibitory activity by itself. Calpastatin is a very specific inhibitor, as it does not inhibit other proteases, including cystein proteases. Calpains bind to calpastatin in a calcium- dependent, reversible manner. Calpastatin domain A binds to domain IV of calpain and calpastatin domain C to domain VI of calpain.

7. CALPAIN-3

The first tissue-specific calpain, calpain-3 (or p94) was described in 1989 (Sorimachi et al., 1989). Calpain-3 is predominantly expressed in skeletal muscle, where its mRNA is 10 times more abundant than that of the ubiquitous calpains. The domain organization of calpain-3 is similar to that of the large subunit of the conventional calpains, but is characterized by three unique regions: NS at the Nterminal domain, IS1 in domain II and IS2 between domains III and IV. These inserts presumably contribute to calpain-3's peculiar properties and physiological function. NS comprises about 60 residues with numerous prolines, and becomes cleaved during the autolysis of calpain-3. Studies on NS-deletion mutants have shown that the absence of NS did not affect the activation of the proteolytic core of the protein (Diaz et al., 2004). IS1 is a 48 amino acid stretch situated just upstream of the active site His: together with IS2, it has been associated with the chronic instability of p94. IS1 has been recently shown to function as an internal propeptide that must be autoproteolytically removed from the vicinity of the active site before the enzyme can accept exogenous substrates and inhibitors (Diaz et al., 2004). The IS2 insert is rich in lysines and contains a nuclear localization signal (Sorimachi et al., 1990). Cells transfected with deletion mutants lacking the IS2 insert do not show clear nuclear localization signals, whereas those transfected with wild type variants do, indicating that the nuclear localization signal is functional. The finding that mutants lacking IS2 show increased stability to autoproteolysis suggests a role of IS2 in the regulation of the activity of the protease (Sorimachi et al., 1993).

8. AUTOLYSIS OF CALPAIN-3

A distinctive feature of calpain-3 is the propensity to autolysis: the half life of the protein *in vitro* is less than 30 minutes. Autoproteolysis is prevented by replacing the cys residue of the catalytic site with a ser, but is not affected by cysteine protease inhibitors such as calpastatin, E64 and Leupeptin (Sorimachi et al., 1993). The autocatalytic activity and the absence of effective inhibitors have made the

purification and characterization of calpain-3 difficult. Initially, the protein could not even be detected in rat skeletal muscle fractions, but eventually an affinity chromatography method allowed the isolation of the protein (Kinbara et al., 1998). Three auto-cleavage sites were identified within the IS1 region, producing fragments of 60, 58 and 55kDa, respectively (Kinbara et al., 1998). The autolytic cleavage sites of calpain-3 have been more precisely characterized in a deletion mutant, p94I-II, comprising only domains I and II. Incubation of p94I-II with 10mM CaCl₂ immediately initiated autoproteolysis, and two major fragments of 30 and 15 kDa appeared. They corresponded to cleavage sites located in the NS and IS1 regions, whereas two additional fragments corresponded to cleavage sites near the C-terminal ends of NS and IS1. All four sites had a pro or gly residue near the cleavage point (Rey and Davies, 2002).

9. EFFECT OF CALCIUM ON CALPAIN-3 AUTOLYSIS

The presence of a domain IV containing EF-hand motifs, of a C2-like domain and of the two non EF-hand calcium binding sites in domain IIa and IIb (Moldoveanu et al., 2002), suggests that calpain-3 does bind calcium. Nonetheless, early reports had indicated that it was rapidly degraded in the presence of EDTA (Sorimachi et al., 1993). The paradox was resolved by another study, that directly demonstrated calcium binding to calpain-3 using a gel overlay method, and showed that calpain-3 was stable in the presence of EGTA, autolytic cleavage already occurring at 500nM Ca²⁺(Branca et al., 1999). Therefore, calpain-3 has a Ca²⁺-affinity which is far higher than that of conventional calpains. Very recently, the calcium requirement for calpain-3 activity has been determined for two truncated isoforms: p94 I-II, comprising domain I and II and the two inserts NS and IS1, and p94I-II Δ NS/IS1 including domain I and II but lacking NS and IS1. The data have suggested cooperative binding of calcium at two sites, with half maximal activity values at 150 and 90 μ M CaCl₂ (Diaz et al., 2006).

10. INTERACTION BETWEEN CALPAIN-3 AND CONNECTIN/TITIN

A yeast-two hybrid screening on human skeletal muscle cDNA library has shown that calpain-3 binds specifically to the N_2 -line portion and the C-terminal of connectin. Connectin, also known as titin, is a giant filamentous protein expressed in all vertebrate striated muscles (Labeit et al., 1995). Single molecules of titin span half the sarcomere from the Z to the M lines and are thought to provide a template for sarcomere assembly during muscle cell development, to facilitate cell contraction by anchoring components of the thick and thin filament system, and to impart to the myofobrils the passive tension response to stretch (Gregorio et al., 1999). Further analysis has shown that calpain-3 interacts with the N2-line portion of titin through the IS2 region, and that only the full-length calpain-3 interacts with the C-terminus of connectin (Kinbara et al., 1997).

11. LGMD-2A

Autosomal recessive limb girdle muscular dystrophies are a clinically and genetically heterogeneous group of disorders involving at least ten recessive and three dominant forms indicated as LGMD2 and LGMD1, respectively (Walton and Nattrass 1954). LGMDs are characterized by progressive symmetrical atrophy of the shoulder and pelvic girdle muscles, and with the exception of LGMD-2A, they are all due to mutations in genes encoding structural proteins (Bushby, 1999). When it was discovered that mutations on the calpain3 gene (*CNP3*) caused LGMD-2A, it became clear that, in spite of similar clinical features, LGMDs have different pathogeneses (Zatz et al., 2000): LGMD-2A was the first identified dystrophic syndrome associated with an altered enzyme activity.

12. GENETICS AND ETIOLOGY

The gene whose mutations are responsible for this form of LGMD was located on chromosome 15 (Beckmann et al., 1991). The identification of LGMD-2A etiologic mutations came from mutation analyses conducted initially on a small inbred population of La Rèunion Island, and subsequently on other isolated ethnic populations such as the inter-related northern and southern Indiana Old Order Amish population (Richard et al., 1995). All the identified mutations fell inside gene CPN3, encoding calpain-3 (Sorimachi et al 1989). The gene is composed of 24 exons corresponding to a 3,5kb transcript (Sorimachi et al., 1996). The number of CPN3 mutations found to affect the La Rèunion Island families led to the suggestion that LGMD-2A might be a digenic disease and that additional loci might be involved (Richard et al., 1995). However, further studies on other populations indicated that LGMD-2A was a monogenic recessive disease, and the high allelic heterogeneity found on La Rèunion Island became known as the Rèunion paradox. More than 280 distinct pathogenic mutations have now been documented (Fokkema et al., 2005): 65 missense, 55 frameshift, 36 splice sites, 38 insertions/deletions and a small number of apparently neutral polymorphic or unclassified variants. Missense mutations are the majority and show a non uniform distribution with clusters of hot spots around domains IIa, IIb and III and preserved regions around the IS1 and IS2 domains (Jia et al., 2001). In most cases the mutations lead to loss of proteolytic activity, while others seem to affect the ability of the protease to interact with titin (Ono et al., 1998). The interaction is believed to be important for the regulation of the protease activity (Sorimachi et al., 2000).

13. CLINICAL FEATURES

LGMD-2A is considered to be the most frequent form of recessive LGMD (Beckmann et al 1991), its frequency varying regionally between 10 and 50% and reaching 80% in some ethnic populations (Fanin et al., 2003). The age of onset ranges from 2 to 40 years, but the disease appears frequently during the second

decade of life. The course of the disease is slow but progressive, leading to loss of ambulation approximately one or two decades after diagnosis. Weakness of the limb girdle muscles manifests at first in the pelvic girdle, while involvement of the shoulder girdle usually occurs about 2–10 years later. Calf enlargement is frequently seen, involving the soleus and the medial head of the gastrocnemius and sparing the lateral head. There are no reports of cardiac or facial involvement and no intellectual impairment. The clinical phenotype is highly variable and attempts to derive genotype-phenotype correlations are difficult due to the high heterogeneity of *CANP3* mutations. It has only been possible to observe increased severity of the disease in patients carrying two inactivating alleles (Zatz et al., 2000). Biopsies show a typical dystrophic pattern consisting of necrosis, regeneration, fiber diameter variability, myofibrillar disorganization and fibrosis (Kawai et al., 1998) (Chae et al., 2001). Abundant and disorganized mitochondria have also been observed.

14. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS

The molecular mechanism of the disease has not been established, but a number of suggestions arising from experimental findings have been put forward.

NfkB/apoptosis NF- κ Bs are dimeric transcription factors that play a central role in the regulation of diverse biological processes, including cell growth and survival. In resting cells, NF- κ B dimers are sequestered in the cytoplasm as latent complexes through binding inhibitors containing ankyrin repeat domains (ARD), called IkB (inhibitor of κB) proteins. The major pathway leading to NF- κB activation involves the induction of IkB degradation, that allows NF-kB dimers to accumulate in the nucleus to activate transcription (Xiao et al., 2006). A high incidence of apoptosis, associated with accumulation of Ik $\beta\alpha$ (a member of the IkB family) was observed in muscle biopsies from LGMD2A patients. Ik $\beta\alpha a$ was then reported to be cleaved by calpain-3 when the two where co-expressed in model cells, suggesting a role for calpain-3 in the NFKB signalling pathway, and therefore in the expression of survival genes (Baghdiguian et al., 1999). According to the suggestion, the absence of calpain-3 activity would lead to the accumulation of IkBa, in turn leading to the stabilization of the Ik $\beta\alpha$ /NF- κ B complex in the cytoplasm and to the inhibition of NF- κ B signalling. Unfortunately, no conclusive evidence supporting this interesting suggestion has so far been produced and recent studies have instead demonstrated that NF-KB inhibition had no effect on muscle mass and pathology (Cai et al., 2004).

Filamin hypothesis Filamin C is a muscle-specific isoform of filamin that interacts with actin, myotilin, γ - and δ - sarcoglycans. It has been proposed to provide a signalling link between the sarcolemma and the Z-disks of myofibrils (Thompson, and Goll, 2000) (Stossel et al., 2001) (van der Ven et al., 2000). A recent report has associated C-terminal mutations of filamin C with a novel type of autosomal dominant myopathy with clinical features of LGMD, characterized by cytoplasmic aggregates that contain filamin C (Vorgerd et al., 2005). Calpain-3 has been found to cleave filamin C C-terminally both in *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments

(Guyon et al., 2003) (Taveau et al., 2003). The calpain-3 mediated proteolysis of filamin C might play a role in the regulation of the protein ability to bind to sarcoglycans: indeed, the cleavage of filamin C inhibits its interaction with γ - and δ -sarcoglycans (Guyon et al., 2003). However, so far no evidence has been provided that the mechanism described above is functional in physiological conditions.

Dysferlin. Dysferlin is a member of the ferlin family, a group of vesicleassociated membrane proteins involved in the docking and fusion of vesicles in skeletal muscle cells (Bansal and Campbell, 2004). At least two autosomal recessive muscle diseases are related to mutations of the dysferlin gene: LGMD2B and Miyoshi pathology (Bashir et al., 1998) (Liu et al., 1998) (Illa et al., 2001). Recent data have demonstrated a role for dysferlin in the repairing of the musclefiber plasma membrane, indicating that dysferlin defects might lead to membrane damage and eventually to the dystrophic syndrome. Interestingly, a reduction of calpain-3 levels was reported in some patients affected by LGMD2B and Miyoshi myopathy (Anderson et al., 2000), and, in turn, a decreased content of dysferlin was occasionally found in patients with LGMD2A (Chrobakova et al., 2004). It has also been shown that calpain-3 co-immunoprecipitated with dysferlin. These data have led to the suggestion that calpain-3 may play a role in dysferlin-mediated plasma membrane repair. Unfortunately, recent work has cast doubt on the involvement of calpain-3 in membrane repairing as no membrane damage has been observed in calpain-3 knock-out mice (Fougerousse et al., 2003) (Kramerova et al., 2005).

Titin. The fact that full length calpain-3, although very unstable, can be detected in freshly prepared skeletal muscle homogenates might be explained by the presence in skeletal muscle of a stabilizing factor that prevents its autolysis. Titin is a plausible candidate for this function. As mentioned above, titin is a giant sarcomeric protein that interacts with calpain-3, through its N₂-line portion and C-terminal domain (Kinbara et al., 1997). The suggestion that titin could be involved in the regulation of calpain-3 activity is thus plausible. A mutation in the N2A region of titin causes a severe form of muscular dystrophy in mice (muscular dystrophy with myositis, mdm) (Garvey et al., 2002). The deletion affects the ability of calpain-3 to bind to the N2A region, and as a result the amount of calpain-3 decreases in the muscle homozygous mdm mice (Haravuori et al., 2001). The ability of titin to prevent calpain-3 autolysis has been investigated by coexpressing the latter with the 2NA titin fragment in insect cells: in this system the connectin fragment failed to prevent calpain-3 autolysis (Kinbara, et al., 1998). Recent studies have shown that N2A titin has a suppressive rather than an inhibitory effect on calpain-3, i.e. N2A titin fragment suppresses calpain-3 autolytic disassembly. While these data support the suggestion that titin might serve as an important regulator of calpain-3 activity, the fact that the severity and progression of the pathology does not change in double mutants with an mdm phenotype lacking calpain-3 indicates that altered calpain-3 activity is not a primary mechanism of mdm pathology (Ono et al., 2006).

PDLIM1. Work now in progress in our laboratory has identified PDLIM1 as a direct *in vivo* substrate of calpain-3. PDLIM1 is one of the proteins that were found to be differentially expressed during comparative proteomic analyses of calpain-3

knock out cultured muscle cells. In vitro experiments have then revealed that PDLIM1 is cleaved by the protease, and that a fragment of about 8 kDa is released from the C-terminal portion of the protein. PDLIM1 contains an N-terminal PDZ domain and a C-terminal LIM domain. The PDZ and LIM domains mediate protein association with the cytoskeleton and with proteins involved in signal transduction. PDLIM1 is most abundantly expressed in heart and skeletal muscles (Kotaka et al., 2001). It is associated through its LIM domain to the C-terminal calcium-insensitive EF hand region of a-actinin 2, thus localizing at the Z-disks of the sarcomere (Kotaka et al., 2000). The cleavage of the C-terminal portion of the protein would release the PDZ domain, allowing its interaction with other proteins. If these proteins were components of signal transduction pathways, PDLIM1 might play a role as a component of a "signaling complex" in the Z-line, acting together with calpain-3 in the modulation of muscle cell homeostasis. It could, for instance, transduce signals from external stimuli into internal responses.

15. CALPAIN-10

The human calpain-10 gene (chromosome 2q) contains 15 exons and is expressed in eight different alternatively spliced isoforms (calpain-10a-h), with calpain-10a being the most abundant (Goll, et al., 2003). CNP10 transcripts are ubiquitously expressed in mouse, rat and human tissues, with high expression levels in human heart and rat brain. The protein is present in high concentration in the water insoluble fractions of tissues, suggesting that a significant portion of it might be associated with membrane and/or cytoskeletal elements. For instance, in mouse skeletal muscle it is predominantly associated with the sarcolemma (Ma et al., 2001). Calpain-10 (CNP10) is an atypical calpain, in which the calmodulin-like domain IV is replaced by a domain structurally related to domain III. This domain, that does not contain calcium-binding EF-hand motifs, was initially termed domain T (Sorimachi and Suzuki, 2001), but is now called domain III'. The same domain organization, with the catalytic domain followed by a repeat of two domains III, is also found in two other atypical calpains, calpain-5 and 6. In addition to the absence of EF-hand domains, calpain-10 does not contain residues important for Ca^{2+} -binding in domain II, nor does it contain the acidic loops that are believed to be responsible for the 'calcium switch mechanism' that allow typical calpains to reach a conformationally active state. Thus, the Ca²⁺-dependent activation mechanism must differ not only from that of typical calpains, it also differs from that of closely related calpain-5, which contain Ca²⁺-binding sites in domains II and III. Ca²⁺mediated calpain-10 proteolytic activity could not be detected in animal tissues using zimography or fluorescence-labeled casein assays (Sokol, and Kuwabara, 2000). Enhanced expression levels and nuclear localization of calpain-10 were observed when mouse lens epithelial cells, where calpain-10 is expressed, were treated with 10µM ionomycin in the presence of calcium. This suggested a role for Ca²⁺in the translocation of the protein to the nucleus and provided some evidence for Ca^{2+} interaction with the protein)Ma et al., 2001) More recently, immunoblot analysis and activity assay revealed calpain 10 in fractions of kidney mitochondria.

The protease was found in all mitochondrial compartments, i.e., the outer membrane, intermembrane space, inner membrane, and matrix. The protease hydrolyzed a calpain substrate (SLLVY-AMC) in a reaction that was partially sensitive to calcium. The cleavage of the substrate was inhibited by active site-directed calpain inhibitors (calpeptin and E64), but not by inhibitors that bind to domain IV of typical calpains (PD150606). The Ca²⁺-dependent proteolytic activity was blocked by ruthenium red, the inhibitor of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺-uptake uniporter. Because ruthenium red blocks Ca²⁺ uptake across the mitochondrial inner membrane, it was suggested that the calpain activity was located in the mitochondrial matrix. Interestingly, the stimulation of the activity of Calpain-10 by Ca²⁺ appears to be a mediator of mitochondrial dysfunction through the cleavage of Complex I subunits and activation of mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT) (Arrington, et al., 2006).

16. TYPE 2 DIABETES MELLITUS

Type 2 or non insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is the most common form of the disease, accounting for over 90% of the cases. It affects about 4% of the general population with a typical onset in adulthood, generally at age 40–60. The disease is characterized by defects in hepatic glucose production, insulin action and insulin secretion. Insulin resistance is an early feature, and is initially compensated by hyperinsulinemia, which ensures that glucose homeostasis is maintained. Deterioration of glucose homeostasis and overt T2DM develop when pancreatic β -cells become unable to provide sufficient compensatory hyperinsulinemia. At this point the hyperglycemia continues to worsen, compromising β -cells function, and eventually resulting in their failure)Harris et al., 2004).

17. THE GENETIC LINKAGE OF CALPAIN-10 TO T2DM

A major susceptibility locus for Type 2 diabetes, designated NIDDM1, was initially detected on chromosome 2 in a Mexican American population in Texas (Hanis et al., 1996). Positional cloning studies on the NIDDM1 region mapped the putative T2DM susceptibility gene to *CNP10*, which encodes calpain-10 (Horikawa et al., 2000). These studies discovered that a $G \rightarrow A$ polymorphism in intron 3 (UCSNP43) was significantly associated with T2DM. They also found that T2DM was associated with a high-risk haplotype defined not only by UCSNP43 but also by polymorphisms at UCSNP19 and UCSNP63. Association between *CNP10* polymorphisms and susceptibility to T2DM has then been found in a number of other ethnic groups including Finns and Germans (Horikawa et al., 2000). It has also been linked with a number of conditions associated with T2DM including obesity (Hoffstedt et al., 2002), polycystic ovary syndrome (Gonzalez et al., 2003), hypertension and dyslipidemia (Sugimoto et al., 2003). The mechanisms by which DNA polymorphisms in

CNP10 may lead to T2DM are still unclear, but it has been suggested that it might affect the transcriptional regulation of the gene.

18. CALPAIN-10 AND T2DM

Even if the linkage between calpain-10 and Type 2 diabetes remains obscure, the possibility that the protease participates in pathways that regulate glucose homeostasis is drawing increasing attention. Thus it has been reported that mutations of the calpain-10 gene influence both insulin secretion (Lynn et al., 2002) (Marshall et al., 2004) and insulin action (Baier et al., 2000) (Orho et al., 2002). Clinical studies on full heritage Pima Indians of Arizona, a population with the world's highest reported incidence of type 2 diabetes, have failed to indicate an association between a G/G genotype at UCSNP-43 and the increased occurrence of type 2 diabetes. A decreased rate of insulin stimulated glucose turnover was nevertheless observed, and reduced calpain-10 mRNA expression in skeletal muscle was found in G/G homozygotes (Baier et al., 2000). Elevated free fatty acids levels were also associated with mutations of the calpain-10 gene in a population of the Botnia region in Western Finland (Orho et al., 2002). They have been suggested to be involved in the reduced sensitivity to the antilipolytic effects of insulin, and in the worsening of insulin resistance. Studies reporting an involvement of protein kinase C (PKC) in skeletal muscle insulin resistance have offered some support to the suggestion. Free fatty acids activate PKC in vitro, leading to the hyperphosphorylation of the insulin receptor and to the downregulation of its tyrosine kinase activity. As a result, insulin resistance would increase (Griffin et al., 1999). PKC could also be involved in a different way: the kinase is a calpain substrate in vitro, therefore, decreased calpain-10 expression might upregulate its activity, increasing the phosphorylation of insulin receptors and decreasing insulin signaling (Orho et al., 2002). Other studies have linked calpain-10 to ryanodine-induced apoptosis of pancreatic β -cells, which plays an important role in the pathogenesis of diabetes mellitus: no ryanodine-mediated apoptosis was observed in transgenic mice in which the calpain-10 gene had been ablated. The data were supported by the finding that calpain inhibitors prevented ryanodine-induced apoptosis of β -cells (Johnson et al 2003) (Butler et al., 2003). Calpain-10 has also been found to coimmunoprecipitate with the plasma membrane SNARE-complex (N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein attachment receptors), suggesting that it may trigger exocytosis in pancreatic β -cells. The protease could thus play a role in the coupling of stimuli with the secretory event in pancreatic β -cells (Marshall et al., 2005). Overexpression of calpastatin in skeletal muscle cells affected the function of the glucose transporter GLUT4: a severe resistance of the transporter to insulin stimulation was observed in transgenic mice overexpressing calpastatin (Otani et al., 2004). The glucose transporter was also found to be less responsive in contraction- stimulated muscles overexpressing calpastatin (Otani, et al., 2006). Calpain inhibition could thus result in the impairment of insulinand contraction stimulated glucose transport. However, it remains to be established whether these effects are mediated by calpain-10 or by other components of the calpain family. Quite simply, not enough is known on calpain-10 to draw convicing conclusions on this point. The same applies to the recent finding of significantly decreased insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in cultured human myotubes pre-treated with calpain inhibitors. Irrespective of whether calpain-10 has a role in the process, the finding is nevertheless compatible with the suggestion that calpain may have functions that could be relevant to the pathogenesis of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes (Logie et al., 2005).

19. CALPAINS IN NEURODEGENERATION AND NEURONAL DEATH

The role of calpains in neuronal cell death has been traditionally considered very likely, and has been examined in various injuries and pathological conditions of the central nervous system. As expected, increased calpain activity has frequently been related to the development of neurological disorders involving impaired calcium homeostasis (Besse et al., 1994) (Blalock et al., 1999) (Romero et al., 2002). The importance of calpain activation as a final pathway in states of acute cell injury triggered by calcium influx is by and large accepted, particularly in the nervous system. For instance, in Alzheimer's disease a persistent abnormal level of calpain activation develops at an early stage of the disease (Saito et al., 1993). Alzheimer's disease is associated to the abnormal processing of amyloid precursor protein (APP), that leads to extracellular deposits of aggregates known as amyloid plaques. A secondary event is the generation of neurofibrillary tangles, composed of intracellular aggregates of the tau protein. The hyperphosphorylation of tau causes its dissociation from microtubules and its accumulation in the cytosol of neuronal cells (Buee et al., 2000) (Alvarez, et al., 1999). Calpains have been proposed to link these two events. Since calpains are involved in the activation of cdk5 and ERK/MAP kinases, their hyperactivation, triggered by the elevated intracellular calcium, might be responsible for the phosphorylation of the tau protein, and therefore for cytoskeletal disorganization and neuronal cell damage (Jordán et al., 1997), (Nath et al., 2000). A recently proposed model suggests that calpain might be directly responsible for APP proteolysis, and that its enhanced activity may be the main mechanism of amyloid plaque formation (Mathews et al., 2002). Interestingly, siRNA experiments have indicated that μ -calpain's gene silencing prevents APPs release, but additional work is clearly needed to confirm calpain's direct involvement in the formation of protein tau aggregates (Chen and Fernandez, 2005). Calpain activation has also been linked to Parkinson's disease. Inhibition of calpain activity prevents the neurological and behavioral defects in a Parkinson's mouse model (Mouatt-Prigent et al., 1996). Recent data have indicated the association between calpain activation and the loss of dopamine neurons in post mortem tissues in Parkinsons's disesase cases (Crocker et al., 2003). N-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) evoked an increase in calpain-mediated proteolysis in nigral dopamine neurons in vivo. Inhibition of calpain proteolysis using either a calpain inhibitor (MDL-28170) or adenovirus-mediated overexpression of the endogenous calpain inhibitor protein, calpastatin, significantly attenuated MPTP-induced loss of nigral dopamine neurons (Crocker et al., 2003). Calpain activation has also been reported in a number of in vivo and cell culture models of apoptosis which may be relevant to neurodegeneration. Members of the Bcl-2 protein family of cell death regulators can be process by calpains (Gil-Parrado et al., 2002), p53 activation has been linked to calpain inhibition (Sedarous et al., 2003), and calpain-mediated proteolytic activation of Bax has also been reported (Wood et al., 1998). Acute activation of calpains may lead to caspase independent apoptotic events (Lankiewicz et al., 2000), or to necrotic cell death triggered by calcium influx (Syntichaki et al., 2002). One of the mechanisms by which calpain may contribute to acute cell damage is the cleavage of essential cytoskeletal proteins such as neurofilaments, cain/cabin1 and fodrin. For example the cleavage of the calcineurin binding domain of cain/cabin1 would result in calcineurin activation, followed by calcium mediated cell-death (Kim et al., 2002). Cain/cabin1 is an endogenous inhibitor of calcineurin, a calcium-dependent serinethreonine phosphatase involved in various cellular functions including apoptosis. During apoptosis cain/cabin1 is cleaved by calpain at the carboxyl terminus, which correspond to the calcineurin-binding domain of cain/cabin1, preventing the latter from binding calcineurin. As a consequence, increased activation of calcineurin induces calcium-triggered cell death (Kim, et al., 2002). A recent report provides additional insights into the involvement of calpain in the molecular mechanisms of excitotoxic cell death in neurons. During excitotoxicity, Ca2+influx, triggered by glutamate receptor stimulation, is followed by a second uncontrolled calcium increase that eventually leads to neuronal death. The secondary calcium overload is prevented by inhibition of calpain-mediated inhibitory cleavage of one of the isoforms of the plasma membrane Na/Ca exchanger (NCX3), which is particularly important for the regulation of calcium homeostasis in neurons. The function of this exchanger is to export calcium from neurons preventing the development of the calcium overload. Its cleavage by calpain would inhibit Ca²⁺ export, inducing neuronal death (Bano et al., 2005).

20. CONCLUSIONS

The list of pathological conditions that have been linked to the altered activity of the calpain system is very long. So far only LGMD-2A has been unambiguously linked to calpain interestingly, in the case of LGMD-2A it is the absence of calpain activity, not, as one would expect, its anomalous increase that causes the disease. Interest is now increasing in the involvement of the atypical calpain 10 in the etiology of diabetes type 2. Here, however, a word of caution is in order for more than one reason. One is the confused picture of the molecular/physiological aspects linking the down regulation of calpain-10 to the disease. Another is the paucity of information on calpain-10, the proteolytic activity of which has not even been conclusively demonstrated. Even if erroneous calpain activation has been found in a number of pathological conditions, the role played by calpains remains largely elusive. Serious difficulties have hampered the progress toward the elucidation of

the proteolytic pathway involved in these pathological processes. Among them is the existence of multiple calpain substrates, including cytoskeletal and regulator proteins, and the extensive cross-talk between different proteolytic systems. Since proteases modulate signal transduction pathways the precise definition of the *in vivo* role of calpains becomes further complicated. The identification of the physiological substrates of calpains, and of substrates specific for calpain isoforms, would be of great help in the understanding of the role played by calpains in diseases. Also of help would be the availability of specific inhibitors. They would not only help establishing unequivocally the physiological and pathological actions of calpains, but in a longer time perspective could possibly become useful tools in the therapy of disorders involving calpain dysfunction.

REFERENCES

- Alvarez, A., Toro, R., Caceres, A., Maccioni, R.B., 1999, *Inhibition of tau phosphorylating protein* kinase cdk5 prevents β amyloid-induced neuronal death, FEBS Lett., 459, 421–426
- Anderson, L.V.B., Harrison, L.V.B., Pogue, R., Vafiadaki, E., Pollitt, C., Davison, K., Moss, J.A., Keers, S., Pyle, A., and Shaw, P.J., et al., 2000, Secondary reduction in calpain 3 expression in patients with limb girdle muscular dystrophy type 2B and Miyoshi myopathy (primary dysferlinopathies)., Neuromuscul. Dis., 10, 553–559
- Arrington, D., Van Vleet, T., Schnellmann, R., 2006, Calpain 10: A Mitochondrial Calpain and its Role in Calcium-induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction, Am. J. Physiol.Cell. Physiol., Baghdiguian, S., Martin, M., Richard, I., Pons, F., Astier, C., Bourg, N., Hay, R.T., Chemaly, R., Halaby, G., Loiselet, J., Anderson, L.V., Lopez de Munain, A., Fardeau, M., Mangeat, P., Beckmann, J.S., Lefranc, G., 1999, Calpain 3 deficiency is associated with myonuclear apoptosis and profound perturbation of the IkappaB alpha/NF-kappaB pathway in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A, Nat Med., 5, 503–11
- Baier, L.J., Permana, P.A., Yang X., Pratley, R.E., Hanson, R.L., Shen, G.Q., Mott, D., Knowler, W.C., Cox, N.J., Horikawa, Y., Oda, N., Bell, G.I., Bogardus, C., 2000, A calpain-10 gene polymorphism is associated with reduced muscle mRNA levels and insulin resistance, J. Clin. Invest., 106, 69–73
- Baki, A., Tompa, P., Molnár, O., Friedrich, P., 1995, Autolysis parallels activation of μ-calpain, Biochem. J., 318, 897–901
- Banik, N.L., Matzelle, D., Terry, E., Hogan, E.L., 1997, A new mechanism of methylprednisolone and other corticosteroids action demonstrated in vitro: inhibition of a proteinase (calpain) prevents myelin and cytoskeletal protein degradation, Brain. Res.; 748,205–210
- Bano, D., Young, K.W., Guerin, C.J., LeFeuvre, R., Rothwell, N.J., Naldini, L., Rizzuto, R., Carafoli, E. and Nicotera, P., 2005, *Cleavage of the plasma membrane Na(+)/Ca(2+) exchanger in excitotoxicity*, Cell ,120, 275–285
- Bansal, D., and Campbell, K.P., 2004, Dysferlin and the plasma membrane repair in muscular dystrophy., Trends Cell Biol., 14, 206–213
- Bashir, R., Britton, S., Strachan, T., Keers, S., Vafiadaki, E., Lako, M., Richard, I., Marchand, S., Bourg, N., and Argov, Z., et al., 1998, *A gene related to Caenorhabditis elegans spermatogenesis factor fer-1 is mutated in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2B.*, Nat. Genet., 20, 37–42
- Beckmann, J.S., Richard, I., Hillaire, D., Broux, O., Antignac, C., Bois, E., Cann, H., Cottingham, R.W., Feingold, N., and Feingold, J., et al.,1991, A gene for limb-girdle muscular dystrophy maps to chromosome 15 by linkage, C. R. Acad. Sci. III, 312, 141–148
- Besse, S., Delcayre, C., Chevalier, B., Hardouin, S., Heymes, C., Bourgeois, F., Moalic, J.M., Swynghedauw, B., 1994, *Is the senescent heart overloaded and already failing.*, Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther., 8, 581–587

- Blalock, E.M., Porter, N.M., Landfield, P.W., 1999, Decreased G-protein-mediated regulation and shift in calcium channel types with age in hippocampal cultures., J. Neurosci, 19, 8674–8684
- Blanchard, H., Li, Y., Cygler, M., Kay, C.M., Simon, J., Blanchard, H., Li, Y., Cygler, M., Kay, C.M., Simon, J.C., Davies, P.L., Elce, J. S., 1996, Ca(2+)-binding domain VI of rat calpain is a homodimer in solution: hydrodynamic, crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction studies, Protein Sci., 5, 535–537
- Blomgren, K., Zhu, C., Wang, X., et al., 2001, Synergistic activation of caspase-3 by m-calpain after neonatal hypoxia-ischemia: a mechanism of "pathological apoptosis"?, J. Biol. Chem., 276, 10191–10198
- Branca, D., Gigliucci, A., Bano, D., Brini, M., Carafoli, E., 1999, Expression, partial purification and functional properties of the muscle specific calpain isoform p94, Eur. J. Biochem., 265, 839–46
- Buee, L., Bussiere, T., Buee-Scherrer, V., Delacourte, A., Hof, P.R., 2000, *Tau protein isoforms*, *phosphorylation and role in neurodegenerative disorders*, Brain. Res. Rev., 33, 95–130
- Bushby, K.M.D., 1999, Making sense of the limb-girdle muscular dystrophies, Brain, 122, 1403-1420
- Butler, A.E., Janson, J., Bonner-Weir, S., Ritzel, R., Rizza, R.A., and Butler, P.C., 2003, β-Cell Deficit and Increased β-Cell Apoptosis in Humans With Type 2 Diabetes, Diabetes, 52, 102–110
- Cai, D., Frantz, J.D., Tawa, N.E., P.A. Jr., Melendez, B.C., Oh, H.G., Lidov, P.O., Hasselgren, W.R., Frontera, J. and Lee, D.J. et al., 2004, *IKKbeta/NF-kappaB activation causes severe muscle wasting in mice*, Cell ,119 ,285–298
- Carafoli, E., and Molinari, M., 1998, *Calpain: a protease in search of a function?*, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 247, 193–203.
- Chae, J., Minami, N., Jin, Y., Nakagawa, M., Murayama, K., Igarashi, F. and Nonaka, I., 2001, Calpain 3 gene mutations: genetic and clinical-pathologic findings in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy., Neuromuscul. Dis., 11, 547–555
- Chen, M., and Fernandez, H.L., 2005, *Mu-calpain is functionally required for alpha-processing of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein.*, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 330, 714–21
- Chrobakova, T., Hermanova, M., Kroupova, I., Vondracek, P., Marikova, T., Mazanec, R., Zamecnik, J., Stanek, J., Havlova, M. and Fajkusova, L., 2004, *Mutations in Czech LGMD2A patients revealed by* analysis of calpain3 mRNA and their phenotypic outcome, Neuromuscul. Disord., 14, 659–665
- Coolican, S., and Hathaway, D., 1984, Effect of L-{alpha}-phosphatidylinositol on a vascular smooth muscle Ca²⁺-dependent protease, J. Biol. Chem., 259, 11627–11630
- Cottin, P., Thompson, V., Sathe, S., Szpacenko, A., Goll, D., 2001, Autolysis of µ- and m-calpain from bovine skeletal muscle., Biol. Chem., 382, 767–776
- Crocker, S.J., Smith, P.D., Jackson-Lewis, V., Lamba, W.R., Hayley, S.P., Grimm, E., Callaghan, S.M., Slack, R.S., Melloni, E., Przedborski, S., Robertson, G.S., Anisman, H., Merali, Z., Park, D.S., 2003, *Inhibition of calpains prevents neuronal and behavioral deficits in an MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease*, J. Neurosci., 23, 4081–4091
- Dayton, W., Goll, D., Zeece, M., Robson, R., Reville, W., 1976, A Ca²⁺-activated protease possibly involved in myofibrillar protein turnover. Purification from porcine muscle, Biochemistry, 15, 2150–2158
- Dear, T.N., and Boehm, T., 2000, Identification and characterization of two novel calpain large subunit genes, Gene, 274, 245–252
- Dear, T.N., and Boehm, T., 1999, Diverse mRNA expression patterns of the mouse calpain genes Capn5, Capn6, and Capn 11 during development, Mech. Dev., 89, 201–209
- Diaz, B., Moldoveanu, T., Kuiper, M., Campbell, R., Davies, P., 2004, Insertion Sequence 1 of Musclespecific Calpain, p94, Acts as an Internal Propeptide, J. Biol. Chem., 279, 27656–27666
- Fanin, M., Nascimbeni, A.C., Fulizio, L., Trevisan, C.P., Meznaric-Petrusa, M. and Angelini, C., 2003, Loss of calpain-3 autocatalytic activity in LGMD2A patients with normal protein expression, Am. J. Pathol., 163, 1929–1936
- Fokkema, I.F., den Dunnen, J.T., and Taschner, P.E., 2005, LOVD: easy creation of a locus-specific sequence variation database using an "LSDB-in-a-box" approach, Hum.Mutat., 26, 63–68
- Fougerousse, F., Gonin, P., Durand, M., Richard, I. and Raymackers, J.M., 2003, Force impairment in calpain 3-deficient mice is not correlated with mechanical disruption, Muscle Nerve, 27, 616–623

- Garcia Diaz, B.E, Gauthier, S., Davies, PL., 2006, Ca²⁺ dependency of calpain 3 (p94) activation, Biochemistry, 45, 3714–22
- Garvey, S.M., Rajan, C., Lerner, A.P., Frankel, W.N. and Cox, G.A., 2002, *The muscular dystrophy with myositis (mdm) mouse mutation disrupts a skeletal muscle-specific domain of titin*, Genomics, 79, 146–149
- Gil-Parrado, S., Fernández-Montalván, A., Assfalg-Machleidt, I., Popp, O., Bestvater, F., Holloschi, A., Knoch, T.A., Auerswald, E.A., Welsh, K., Reed, J.C., Fritz, H., Fuentes-Prior, P., Spiess, E., Salvesen, G.S., Machleidt, W., 2002, *Ionomycin-activated calpain triggers apoptosis*. A probable role for Bcl-2 family members, J. Biol. Chem., 277, 27217–27226
- Gil-Parrado, S., Popp, O., Knoch, T., Zahler, T., Bestvater, F., Felgenträger, M., Holloschi, A., Fernández-Montalavan, A., Auerswald, D., Fritzh, H., Fluentes-Prior, P., Machleidt, W., Spiess, E., 2003, Subcellular localization and in vivo subunit interactions of ubiquitous µ-calpain, J. Biol. Chem., 278
- Goll, D.E., Thompson, V.F., Li, H., Wei, W., and Cong, J., 2003, *The Calpain System*, Physiol. Rev., 83, 731–801
- Gonzalez, A., Abril, E., Roca, A., Aragon, M.J., Figueroa, M.J., Velarde, P., Royo, J.L., Real, L.M., Ruiz, A., *CAPN10 alleles are associated with polycystic ovary syndrome*, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 87, 3971–3976
- Gregorio, C., Granzier, H., Sorimachi, H., Labeit, S., 1999, Muscle assembly: a titanic achievement?, Curr. Opin. Cell. Biol., 11, 18–25
- Griffin, M.E., Marcucci, M.J., Cline, G.W., Bell, K., Barucci, N., Lee, D., Goodyear, L.J., Kraegen, E.W., White, M.F., Shulman, G.I., 1999, Free fatty acid-induced insulin resistance is associated with activation of protein kinase C theta and alterations in the insulin signaling cascade. Diabetes. 48, 1270–4
- Guroff, G., 1964, A neutral, calcium-activated proteinase from the soluble fraction of rat brain, J. Biol. Chem., 239, 149–55
- Guyon, J.R., Kudryashova, E., Potts, A., Dalkilic, I., Brosius, M.A., Thompson, T.G., Beckmann, J.S., Kunkel, L.M. and. Spencer M.J., 2003, *Calpain 3 cleaves filamin C and regulates its ability to interact with gamma- and delta-sarcoglycans.*, Muscle Nerve, 28, 472–483
- Hanis, C.L., Boerwinkle, E., Chakraborty, R., Ellsworth, D.L., Concannon, P., Stirling, B., Morrison, V.A., Wapelhorst, B., Spielman, R.S., Gogolin-Ewens, K.J., Shephard, J.M., Williams, S.R., Risch, N., Hinds, D., Iwasaki, N., Ogata, M, Omori, Y., Petzold, C., Rietzch, H., Schroder, H.E., Schulze, J., Cox, N.J., Menzel, S., Boriraj, V.V., and Chen, X., et al., 1996, A genome-wide search for human non-insulin-dependent (type 2) diabetes genes reveals a major susceptibility locus on chromosome 2., Nat. Genet., 13, 161–166
- Haravuori, H., Vihola, A., Straub, V., Auranen, M., Richard, I., Marchand, S., Voit, T., Labeit, S., Somer, H. and Peltonen, L., et al., 2001, Secondary calpain3 deficiency in 2q-linked muscular dystrophy: titin is the candidate gene, Neurology, 56, 869–877
- Harris, F., Chatfield, L., Singh, J., Phoenix, D.A., 2004, Role of calpains in diabetes mellitus: a mini review, Mol. Cell. Biochem., 261, 161–7
- Hosfield, C., Elce, J., Davies, P., Jia Z., 1999, Crystal structure of calpain reveals the structural basis for Ca²⁺-dependent protease activity and a novel mode of enzyme activation, EMBO J., 18, 6880–6889
- Hoffstedt, J., Naslund, E., Arner, P., 2002, Calpain-10 gene polymorphism is associated with Reduced β 3-Adrenoceptor function in human fat cells., J. Clin. Endocr. Metab., 87, 3362–3367
- Horikawa, Y., Oda, N., Cox, N.J., et al., 2000, Genetic varation in the gene encoding calpain-10 is associated with type 2 diabetes mellitus, Nat. Genet., 26, 163–165
- Illa, I., Serrano-Munuera, C., Gallardo, E., Lasa, A., Rojas-Garcia, R., Palmer, J., Gallano, P., Baiget, M., Matsuda, C., and Brown, R.H., 2001, *Distal anterior compartment myopathy: a dysferlin mutation causing a new muscular dystrophy phenotype*, Ann. Neurol., 49, 130–134
- Inomata, M., Saito, Y., Kon, K., Kawashima, S., 1990, Binding sites for calcium-activated neutral protease on erythrocyte membranes are not membrane phospholipids. Biochem.Biophys. Res. Commun., 171, 625–632
- Jia, Z., Petrounevitch, V., Wong, A., Moldoveanu, T., Davies, P.L., Elce, J.S., and Beckmann, J.S., 2001, Mutations in calpain 3 associated with limb girdle muscular dystrophy: analysis by molecular modeling and by mutation in m-calpain., Biophys. J., 80, 2590–2596

- Johnson, J.D., Ahmed, N.T., Luciani, D. S., Han, Z., Tran, H., Fujita, J., Misler, S., Edlund, H., and Polonsky, K.S., 2003, *Increased islet apoptosis in Pdx1+/- mice*, J. Clin. Invest., 111, 1147–1160
- Jordán, J., Galindo, M.F., Miller, R.J.,1997, Role of calpain- and interleukin-1 beta converting enzymelike proteases in the beta-amyloid-induced death of rat hippocampal neurons in culture, J. Neurochem., 68, 1612–1621
- Saito, K., Elce, J.S., Hamos, J.E., and Nixon, R.A., 1993, Widespread Activation of Calcium-Activated Neutral Proteinase (Calpain) in the Brain in Alzheimer Disease: A Potential Molecular Basis for Neuronal Degeneration, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 90, 2628–2632
- Kawai, H., Akaike, M., Kunishige, M., Inui, T., Adachi, K., Kimura, C., Kawajiri, M., Nishida, Y., Endo, I., and Kashiwagi, S. et al., 1998, *Clinical, pathological, and genetic features of limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A with new calpain 3 gene mutations in seven patients from three Japanese families*, Muscle Nerve, 21, 1493–1501
- Kim, M.J., Jo, D.G., Hong, G.S., Kim, B.J., Lai, M., Cho, D.H., Kim, K.W., Bandyopadhyay, A., Hong, Y.M., Kim, D.H., Cho, C., Liu, J.O., Snyder, S.H., Jung, Y.K., 2002, *Calpain-dependent cleavage of cain/cabin1 activates calcineurin to mediate calcium-triggered cell death*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 99, 9870–9875
- Kinbara, K., Ishiura, S., Tomioka, S., Sorimachi, H., Jeong, S.Y., Amano, S., Kawasaki, H., Kolmerer, B., Kimura, S., Labeit, S., Suzuki, K., 1998, Purification of native p94, a muscle-specific calpain, and characterization of its autolysis, Biochem J., 335, 589–96
- Kinbara, K., Sorimachi, H., Ishiura, S., Suzuki, K., 1997, Muscle-specific calpain, p94, interacts with the extreme C-terminal region of connectin, a unique region flanked by two immunoglobulin C2 motifs, Arch. Biochem. Biophys, 342, 99–107
- Kotaka, M., Kostin, S., Ngai, S., Chan, K., Lau, Y., Lee, S.M., Li H., Ng, E.K., Schaper, J., Tsui SK, Fung K, Lee C, Waye MM. ,2000,Interaction of hCLIM1, an enigma family protein, with alpha-actinin 2.,J. Cell. Biochem. ,78,558–65
- Kotaka, M., Lau, Y.M., Cheung, K.K., Lee, S.M., Li, H.Y., Chan, W.Y., Fung, K.P., Lee, C.Y., Waye, M.M., Tsui, S.K., 2001, *Elfin is expressed during early heart development*, 83, 463–72
- Kramerova, I., Kudryashova E., Venkatraman, G., and Spencer, M.J., 2005, Calpain 3 participates in muscle remodeling by acting upstream of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, Hum. Mol. Genet., 14, 2125–2134
- Kuboki, M; Ishii, H; Kazama, M., 1990, Characterization of calpain I-binding proteins in human erythrocyte plasma membrane, J. Biochem., 107, 776–780
- Kuboki, M., Ishii, H., and Kazama, M., 1987, Procalpain is activated on the plasma membrane and the calpain acts on the membrane, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 929, 164–172
- Labeit, S., Kolmerer, B., 1995, Titins: giant proteins in charge of muscle ultrastructure and elasticity, Science, 270, 293–296
- Lankiewicz, S., Luetjens, C.M., Nguyen, T.B., Krohn, A.J., Poppe, M., Cole, G.M., Saido, T.C., Prehn, J.H.M., 2000, Activation of calpain I converts excitotoxic neuron death into a caspaseindependent cell death, J. Biol. Chem., 275, 17064–17071
- Lee, W. J., Adachi, Y., Maki, M., Hatanaka, M., and Murachi, T., 1990, Factors influencing the binding of calpain I to human erythrocyte inside-out vesicles, Biochem. Int., 22, 163–171
- Liu, J., Aoki, M., Illa, I., Wu, C., Fardeau, M., Angelini, C., Serrano, C., Urtizberea, J.A., Hentati, F., and Hamida, M.B., et al., 1998, Dysferlin, a novel skeletal muscle gene, is mutated in Miyoshi myopathy and limb girdle muscular dystrophy, Nat. Genet., 20, 31–36
- Logie, L.J., Brown, A.E., Yeaman, S.J., Walker, M., 2005, Calpain inhibition and insulin action in cultured human muscle cells, Mol. Genet. Metab, 85, 54–60
- Lynn, S., Evans, J.C., White, C.B., Frayling, T.M., Hattersley, A.T., Turnbull, D.M., Horikawa, Y., Cox, N.J., Bell, G.I., and Walker, M. , 2002, Variation in the calpain-10 gene affects blood glucose levels in the British population, Diabetes, 51, 247–250
- Ma, H., Fukiage, C., Kim, Y.H., Duncan, M.K., Reed, N.A., Shih, M., Azuma, M., and Shearer, T.S., 2001, Characterization and expression of calpain 10. A novel ubiquitous calpain with nuclear localization, J. Biol. Chem., 276, 28525–28531

- Marshall, C., Hitman, G.A., Partridge, C.J., Clark, A., Ma, H., Shearer, T.R., Turner, M.D., 2005, Evidence that an isoform of calpain-10 is a regulator of exocytosis in pancreatic beta-cells, Mol. Endocrinol., 19, 213–24
- Mathews, P.M., Jiang, Y., Schmidt, S.D., Grbovic, O.M., Mercken, M., Nixon, R.A., 2002, Calpain activity regulates the cell surface distribution of amyloid precursor protein. Inhibition of calpains enhances endosomal generation of B-cleaved C-terminal APP fragments., J. Biol. Chem., 277, 36415– 36424
- Mcclelland, P., Lash, J., Hataway, D., 1989, Identification of major autolytic cleavage sites in the regulatory subunit of vascular Calpain II. A comparison of partial amino-terminal sequences to deduced sequence from complementary DNA, J. Biol. Chem., 264, 17428–17431
- Mellgren, R., Song, K., Mericle, M., 1993, m-Calpain requires DNA for activity on nuclear proteins at low calcium concentrations, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 653–657
- Melloni, E., Michetti, M., Salamino, F., Pontremoli, S., 1998, Molecular and functional properties of a calpain activator protein specific for µ-isoforms, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 12827–12831
- Moldoveanu, T., Hosfield, C., Lim, D., Elce, J., Jia, Z., Davies, P., 2002, A Calcium switch aligns the active site of calpain, Cell, 108, 649–660
- Mouatt-Prigent, A., Karlsson, J.O., Agid, and Hirsch E.C., 1996, Increased M-calpain expression in the mesencephalon of patients with Parkinson's disease but not in other neurodegenerative disorders involving the mesencephalon: a role in nerve cell death, Neuroscience, 73, 979–987
- Mundo, E., Soldati, L., Bellodi, L., Bianchi, G., 1997, The calpain-calpastatin system in obsessivecompulsive disorder, Biol. Psychiatry; 42, 228–229
- Nath, R., Davis, M., Probert, A.W., Kupina, N.C., Ren, X., Schielke, G.P., Wang, K.K.W., 2000, Processing of cdk5 Activator p35 to Its Truncated Form (p25) by Calpain in Acutely Injured Neuronal Cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 274, 16–21
- Nixon, R.A., Mohan, P., 1999, Calpains in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. in: Wang KKW, Yuen P-W, eds. Calpain: pharmacology and toxicology of calcium-dependent protease. Philadelphia: Taylor & Francis, 267–91
- Okitani, A., Goll, D., Stromer, M., Robson, R., Intracellular inhibitor of a Ca²⁺-dependent proteinase involved in myofibrillar protein turnover, Federation Proc., 35, 1746
- Ono, Y., Sorimachi, H., Suzulu, K., 2004, Structure, Activation, and Biology of Calpain, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun, 245, 284–294
- Ono, Y., Shimada, H., Sorimachi, H., Richard, I., Saido, T.C., Beckmann, J.S., Ishiura, S., and Suzuki, K., 1998, Functional defects of a muscle-specific calpain, p94, caused by mutations associated with limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 17073–17078
- Ono, Y., Torii, F., Ojima, K., Doi, N., Yoshioka, K., Kawabata, Y., Labeit, D., Labeit, S., Suzuki, K., Abe, K., Maeda, T., Sorimachi, H., 2006, Suppressed disassembly of autolyzing p94/CAPN3 by N2A connectin/titin in a genetic reporter system, J. Biol. Chem., 281, 18519–31
- Orho-Melander, M., Klannemark, M., Svensson, M.K., Ridderstrale, M., Lindgren, C.M., and Groop, L., 2002, Variants in the calpain-10 gene predispose to insulin resistance and elevated free fatty acid levels., Diabetes, 51, 2658–2664
- Otani, K., Han, D.H., Ford, E.L., Garcia-Roves, P.M., Ye, H., Horikawa, Y., Bell, G.I., Holloszy, J.O., Polonsky, K.S., 2004, *Calpain system regulates muscle mass and glucose transporter GLUT4 turnover*, J. Biol. Chem., 279, 20915–2
- Otani, K., Polonsky, K.S., Holloszy, J.O., Han, D.H., 2006, Inhibition of calpain results in impaired contraction-stimulated GLUT4 translocation in skeletal muscle, Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab., 291, 544–8
- Papp, Z., van der Velden, J., Stienen, G.J., 2000, Calpain-I induced alterations in the cytoskeletal structure and impaired mechanical properties of single myocytes of rat heart,. Cardiovasc. Res., 45, 981–993
- P.F. van der Ven, Wiesner, S., Salmikangas, P., Auerbach, D., Himmel, M., Kempa, S., Hayess, K., Pacholsky, D., Taivainen, A., and Schröder, R., et al., 2000, *Indications for a novel muscular dystrophy* pathway. gamma-filamin, the muscle-specific filamin isoform, interacts with myotilin, J. Cell Biol., 151, 235–248

- Pintér, M., and Friedrich, P., 1988, The calcium dependent proteolytic system calpain-calpatatin in Drosophila melanogaster, Biochem J., 253, 467–473
- Pintér, M., Stierandova, A., and Friedrich, P., 1992, Purification and characterization o a Ca²⁺ activated thiol protease from drosophila melanogaster, Biochemistry, 31, 8201–8206
- Pontremoli, S., Melloni, E., Michetti, M., Salamino, F., Sparatore, B., Horecker, B., 1988, An endogenous activator of the Ca²⁺-dependent proteinase of human neutrophils that increases its affinity for Ca²⁺, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA, 85, 1740–1743
- Pontremoli, S., Melloni, E., Viotti, PL., Michetti, M., Di Lisa, F., Siliprandi, N., 1990, Isovalerylcarnitine is a specific activator of the high calcium requiring calpain forms, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 167, 373–380
- Pontremoli, S., Viotti P., Michetti, M., Sparatore, B., Salamino, F., Melloni, E., 1990, Identification of an endogenous activator of calpain in rat skeletal muscle, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 171, 569–574
- Rey, M., and Davies, P., 2002, The protease core of the muscle-specific calpain, p94, undergoes Ca^{2+} -dependent intramolecular autolysis, FEBS Lett., 532, 401–6
- Richard, I., Broux, O., Allamand, V., Fougerousse, F., Chiannilkulchai, N., Bourg, N., Brenguier, L., Devaud, C., Pasturaud, P., Roudaut, C., Hillaire, D., Passos-Bueno, M.-R., Zatz, M., Tischfield, J.A., Fardeau, M., Jackson, C.E., Cohen, D., and Beckmann, J.S., 1995, *Mutations in the proteolytic enzyme calpain 3 cause limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A*, Cell, 81, 27–40
- Richard, I., Roudant, C., Saenz, A., et al., 1999, Calpainopathy, a survey of mutations and polymorphism, Am. J. Hum. Genet., 64, 1524–1540
- Rizo, J., and Sudhof, T.C., 1998, C2-domains, structure and function of a universal Ca²⁺-binding domain, J. Biol. Chem., 273, 15879 –15822
- Romero, P.J., Salas, V., Hernandez, C.,,2002, Calcium pump phosphoenzyme from young and old human red cells.,,26,945–949
- Saito, K., Elce, J.S., Hamos, J.E., Nixon, R.A., 1993, Widespread activation of calcium-activated neutral proteinase (calpain) in the brain in Alzheimer disease: a potential molecular basis for neuronal degeneration, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 90, 2628–2632
- Saido, T., Shibata, M., Takenawa, T., Murofushi, H., Suzuki, K., 1992, Positive regulation of μ-calpain action by polyphosphoinositides, J. Biol. Chem., 267, 24585–24590
- Sandmann, S., Yu, M., Unger, T., 2001, Transcriptional and translational regulation of calpain in the rat heart after myocardial infarction – effects of AT(1) and AT(2) receptor antagonists and ACE inhibitor, Br. J. Pharmacol.; 132, 767–777
- Sedarous, M., Keramaris, E., O'Hare, M., Melloni, E., Slack, R.S., Elce, J.S., Greer, P.A., Park, D.S., 2003, Calpains mediate p53 activation and neuronal death evoked by DNA damage, J. Biol. Chem., 278, 26031–26038
- Shearer, T.R., Ma, H., Shih, M., Fukiage, C., Azuma, M., 2000, Calpains in the lens and cataractogenesis, Methods Mol. Biol.; 144, 277–285
- Shields, D.C., Schaecher, K.E., Saido, T.C., Banik, N.L., 1999, A putative mechanism of demyelination in multiple sclerosis by a proteolytic enzyme, calpain, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A; 96,11486–11491
- Shollmeyer, J., 1986, Possible role of calpain I and calpain II in differentiating muscle, Exp. Cell. Res., 163, 413–422
- Shollmeyer, J., 1986, Role of Ca²⁺ and Ca²⁺-activated protease in myoblast fusion, Exp. Cell. Res., 162, 411–422
- Sokol, S.B., and Kuwabara, P.E., 2000, Proteolysis in Caenorhabditis elegans sex determination: cleavage of TRA-2A by TRA-3, Genes.Dev., 14, 901–906
- Sorimachi, H., Forsberg, N.E., Lee, H.J., Joeng, S.Y., Richard, I., Beckmann, J.S., Ishiura, S., and Suzuki, K., 1996, *Highly conserved structure in the promoter region of the gene for muscle-specific calpain*, *p94.*, Biol. Chem., 377, 859–864
- Sorimachi, H., Imajoh, O.S., Emori, Y., Kawasaki, H., Ohno, S., Minami, Y., and Suzuki, K., 1989, Molecular cloning of a novel mammalian calcium-dependent protease distinct from both m- and mu-types. Specific expression of the mRNA in skeletal muscle, J. Biol. Chem., 264, 20106–20111

- Sorimachi, H., Ohmi, S., Emori, Y., Kawasaki, H., Saido, T., Ohno, S., Minami, Y., Suzuki, K., 1990, A novel member of the calcium-dependent cysteine protease family, Biol. Chem. Hoppe Seyler., 371, 171–6
- Sorimachi, H., Ono, Y., Suzuki, K., 2000, Skeletal muscle-specific calpain, p94, and connectin/titin: their physiological functions and relationship to limb-girdle muscular dystrophy type 2A, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., 481, 383–95
- Sorimachi, H., and Suzuki, K., 2001, The structure of calpain, J. Biochem., 129, 653-654
- Sorimachi, H., Toyama-Sorimachi, N., Saido, T. C., Kawasaki, H., Sugita, H., Miyasaka, M., Arahata, K., Ishiura, S., Suzuki, K., 1993, *Muscle-specific calpain*, p94, is degraded by autolysis immediately after translation, resulting in disappearance from muscle, J. Biol. Chem., 268, 10593–10605
- Stossel, T.P., Condeelis, J., Cooley, L., Hartwig, J.H., Noegel, A., Schleicher, M., and Shapiro, S.S., 2001, Filamins as integrators of cell mechanics and signalling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol., 2, 138–145
- Strobl, S., Fernandez-Catalan, C., Braun, M., Huber, R., Masumoto, H., Nakagawa, K., Irie, A., Sorimachi, H., Bourenkow, G., Bartunik, H., Suzuki, K., Bode, W., 1999, *The crystal structure of calcium free human m-calpain suggests an electrostatic switch mechanism for activation by calcium*, PNAS, 97, 588–592
- Sugimoto, K., Katsuya, T., Ishikawa, K., Iwashima, Y., Yamamoto, K., Fu, Y., Matsuo, A., Motone, M., Rakugi, H., Ogihara, T., 2003, UCSNP-43 G/A polymorphism of calpain-10 gene is associated with hypertension and dyslipidemia in Japanese population, Am. J. Hypertens., 16, A82
- Suzuki, K., Hata, S., Kawabata, Y., Sorimachi, H., Structure, activation, and biology of calpain, 2004, Diabetes, ;53, 12–8.
- Suzuki, K., Tsuji, S., Kubota, S., Kimura, Y., Imahori, K., 1981, Limited autolysis of Ca²⁺-activated neutral protease (CANP) changes its sensitivity to Ca²⁺ ions, J. Biochem., 90, 275–278
- Taveau, M., Bourg, N., Sillon, G., Roudaut, C., Bartoli, M., and Richard, I., 2003, Calpain 3 is activated through autolysis within the active site and lyses sarcomeric and sarcolemmal components, Mol. Cell. Biol., 23, 9127–9135
- Thompson, T.G., Cha, Y.M., Hack, A.A., Brosius, M., Rajala, M., Lidov, H.G., McNally, E.M., Watkins, S., and Kunkel, L.M., 2000, Filamin 2 (FLN2): a muscle-specific sarcoglycan interacting protein, J. Cell Biol., 148, 115–126
- Thompson, V.F., and Goll, D.E., 2000, Purification of mu-calpain, m-calpain, and calpastatin from animal tissues, Methods. Mol. Biol., 144, 3–16
- Tidball, J.G, Spencer, M.J., 2000, *Calpains and muscular dystrophies*, Int. J. Biochem. Cell. Biol.; 32, 1–5
- Tompa, P., Emori, Y., Sorimachi, H., Suzuki, K., Friedrich, P., 2001, *Domain III of calpain is a* Ca²⁺-regulated phospholipid-binding domain, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 280, 1333–1339
- Tompa, P., Mucsi, Z., Orosz, G., Friedrich, P., 2002, *Calpastatin subdomains A and C are activators of calpain*, J. Biol. Chem., 277, 9022–6
- Tsuji, T., Ohga, Y., Yoshikawa, Y., et al., 2001, Rat cardiac contractile dysfunction induced by Ca²⁺ overload: possible link to the proteolysis of alpha-fodrin, Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol., 281, 1286–1294
- Tsuji, T., Shimohama, S., Kimura, J., Shimizu, K., 1998, *m-Calpain (calcium-activated neutral proteinase) in Alzheimer's disease brains*, Neurosci. Lett.; 248, 109–112
- Vanderklish, P.W., and Bahr, B.A., 2000, The pathogenic activation of calpain: a marker and mediator of cellular toxicity and disease states, Int. J. Exp. Path., 81, 323–339
- Vorgerd, M., P.F., van der Ven, Bruchertseifer, M., Lowe, T., Kley, R.A., Schroder, R., Lochmuller, H., Himmel, M., Koehler, K., and Furst, D.O., et al., 2005, A mutation in the dimerization domain of filamin c causes a novel type of autosomal dominant myofibrillar myopathy, Am. J. Hum. Genet., 77, 297–304
- Walton, J.N., and Nattrass, F.J., 1954, On the classification, natural history and treatment of the myopathies, Brain, 77, 169–231
- Wang, K.K.W., 2000, Calpain or caspase: can you tell the difference?, Trends. Neurosci., 23, 20-26
- Wood, D.E., Thomas, A., Devi, L.A., Berman, Y., Beavis, R.C., Reed, J.C., Newcomb, E.W., 1998, Bax cleavage is mediated by calpain during drug-induced apoptosis, Oncogene, 17, 1069–1078

- Xiao, G., Rabson, A.B., Young, W., Qing, G., Qu, Z., 2006, Alternative pathways of NF-kappaB activation: a double-edged sword in health and disease, Cytokine Growth Factor Rev., 17, 281–93
- Xu, K., Driscoll, M., Tavernarakis, N., 2002, Specific aspartyl and calpain proteases are required for neurodegeneration in C, elegans, Nature , 419, 939–944
- Yoshida, K., Inui, M., Harada, K., et al., 1995, Reperfusion of rat heart after brief ischemia induces proteolysis of calspectin (nonerythroid spectrin or fodrin) by calpain, Circ. Res., 77, 603–610
- Yoshikawa, Y., Mukai, H., Hino, F., Asada, K., Kato, I., 2000, Isolation of two novel genes, downregulated in gastric cancer, Jpn. J. Cancer Res.; 91,459–463
- Yoshizawa, T., Sorimachi, H., Tomioka, S., Ishiura, S., Suzuki, K., 1995, Calpain dissociates into subunits in the presence calcium ions, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 208, 376–383
- Zatz, M., Vainzof, M., Passos-Bueno, M.R., 2000, Limb-girdle muscular dystrophy: one gene with different phenotypes, one phenotype with different genes, Curr. Opin. Neurol., 13, 511–517
- Zimmerman, U., and Schlapfer, W., 1991, Two stage autolysis of the catalytic subunit initiates activation of calpain I, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1078, 192–198

CHAPTER 3

GELSOLIN AND DISEASES

L. SPINARDI^{1,*} AND W. WITKE²

¹Direzione Scientifica, IRCCS Fondazione Ospedale Policlinico, Mangiagalli e Regina Elena, Via Francesco Sforza 28, 20122 Milano, Italy ²EMBL Monterotondo, Via Ramarini 32, 00015 Monterotondo, Rome, Italy

Abstract: Gelsolin is a calcium-activated actin filament severing and capping protein found in many cell types and as a secreted form in the plasma of vertebrates. Mutant mice for gelsolin as well as clinical studies have shown that gelsolin is linked to a number of pathological conditions such as inflammation, cancer and amyloidosis. The tight regulation of gelsolin by calcium is crucial for its physiological role and constitutive activation leads to apoptosis. In the following we will give an overview on how gelsolin is regulated by calcium, and which clinical conditions have been linked to lack or misregulation of gelsolin

Keywords: Gelsolin, calcium, diseases, amyloidosis, inflammation, cancer

1. INTRODUCTION

Actin monomers (G-actin) reversibly associate and polymerize in a head to tail fashion to form long helical filaments (F-actin), whose ends are distinct in terms of dynamics (Wegner, 1976). The rapid assembly and disassembly of actin filaments plays an active role in a large number of cellular functions such as cell locomotion, cell differentiation and cytokinesis (Welch et al., 1997; Fishkind and Wang, 1995; Yamada and Geiger, 1997). The organization of the actin cytoskeleton is controlled by numerous actin-binding proteins, which affect the dynamics of filament turnover and allow remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton in response to appropriate signals (Way et al., 1991; Pollard and Cooper, 1986). Actin binding proteins have been identified from a wide range of organisms and have been classified according to their

^{*}Laura Spinardi, E-mail: laura.spinardi@policlinico.mi.it

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 55–69. © 2007 Springer.

in vitro activities: their ability for crosslinking, severing, capping and nucleation of actin filaments (see Figure 1: *The life cycle of actin filaments*).

Actin filament length in particular is regulated by proteins of the gelsolin and cofilin superfamilies (Carlier, 1998). The proteins of the gelsolin family are characterized by their ability to sever and cap actin filaments in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner (Janmey et al., 1986) (Cunningham et al., 1991; Burtnick et al., 1997; Kwiatkowski, 1999; Yin and Stull, 1999; McGough et al., 2003). Family members include proteins such as villin (Bretscher and Weber, 1979), adseverin/scinderin (Maekawa and Sakai, 1990; Rodriguez Del Castillo et al., 1990), flightless I (Campbell et al., 1993) and the macrophage capping protein CapG (Yu et al., 1990; Prendergast and Ziff, 1991; Dabiri et al., 1992). Gelsolin and the family members are built by either three or six repeats of a conserved ancestral structural domain. Remarkably, the structure of this gelsolin subdomain is identical to the structure of the smaller cofilin family members, despite the fact that cofilin shows little sequence homology with gelsolin (Hatanaka et al., 1996), suggesting a common evolutionary origin





Actin dynamics follows a complex kinetic that is regulated by actin binding proteins. ATP-bound globular actin (G-actin) first forms a trimer in a nucleation step after which rapid polymerization occurs into filamentous actin (F-actin). Due to the intrinsic ATP as activity of actin the growing filament comprises an ATP-actin cap and an aged ADP-actin tail. Gelsolin preferentially binds to the ADP-actin containing filaments and severs them. Gelsolin then remains attached to the + end (barbed end) of filaments as a cap blocking further addition of actin monomers. Uncapping of gelsolin can liberate polymerization competent filament ends and thereby induce actin polymerization. (See Colour Plate 4)

or converging evolution for a protein domain required to sever actin filaments. Compared to gelsolin, villin, advillin, and supervillin all have C-, or N-terminal extensions, important for their roles in the formation of specialized cellular structures such as microvilli. The gelsolin family members have somewhat different biochemical activities, CapG for example can cap actin filaments but is lacking actin filament severing activity (Southwick and DiNubile, 1986), villin is also bundling actin filaments (Bretscher and Weber, 1980) and others show different sensitivity towards calcium (Kwiatkowski, 1999).

Gelsolin itself was discovered in 1979 by Yin and Stossel based on its ability to activate the gel-sol transformation of actin filaments in a calcium-dependent manner (Yin and Stossel, 1979; Yin et al., 1980). Gelsolin is composed of six domains, named S1-S6, that appears to have arisen from triplication, followed by duplication of an ancestral gene encoding a single domain protein of about 15 kDa (Kwiatkowski et al., 1986) (see Figure 2: *Gelsolin structure*).

A unique feature of gelsolin is that apart from the cytoplasmic protein found in most cell types, a secreted plasma form is generated mainly in muscle cells by alternative splicing, adding a 25 amino acid long amino-terminal leader peptide (Yin et al., 1984; Kwiatkowski et al., 1986). A minor cytoplasmic gelsolin isoform, named gelsolin-3, has been also identified, differing by an additional 11 amino acids at its amino-terminus (Vouyiouklis and Brophy, 1997). Cytoplasmic as well as secreted gelsolin are the most potent actin filament severing proteins identified to date. Severing is defined as the weakening of non-covalent bonds between actin



Figure 2. Gelsolin structure.

Gelsolin is composed of six domains, named S1-S6, that have arisen from of an ancestral gene encoding a protein of about 15 kDa. Gelsolin activity is regulated by calcium binding (yellow ovals) and by phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) binding (black ovals). The isolated domain S1 contains severing activity, while domain S1-3 has capping activity. Biochemicals studies have identified three actin-binding sites (red ovals), a caspase-3 cleavage site (black arrow) and a furin cleavage site. In the Finnish type familial amyloidosis (FAF) a point mutations in gelsolin (orange star) activates the furin cleavage site eventually leading to aberrant intracellular cleavage and the production of amyloidogenic fragments. (See Colour Plate 5)

molecules within a filament leading to a break in the filament (see Figure 1: *The life cycle of actin filaments*). Severing is calcium dependent (see next chapter) and occurs rapidly upon binding of gelsolin to the side of an actin filament (Selden et al., 1998; McGough et al., 1998). After severing, gelsolin remains attached to the fast growing end (barbed end) of the filament forming a cap. As a result, a large number of very short actin filaments are generated which cannot reanneal or elongate at their barbed ends. In this way, the actin network is disassembled and can be rapidly re-assembled upon cell stimulation by selective uncapping of gelsolin and liberation of polymerization competent filament ends (Yin and Stull, 1999) (see Figure 1).

2. GELSOLIN IS A CALCIUM AND PHOSPHATIDYLINOSITIDE REGULATED MOLECULE

Two regulatory mechanisms are thought to modulate the activity of gelsolin *in vivo*. Calcium activates gelsolin to allow capping and severing of actin filaments, while phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) at the cell membrane keeps gelsolin sequestered in an inactive state. Upon hydrolysis of PIP₂ gelsolin is released into the cytoplasm and Ca²⁺ dependent activation can occur (Janmey et al., 1987; Allen, 2003). The importance of Ca²⁺-regulated actin severing has been well documented during platelet activation (Witke et al., 1995; Goshima et al., 1999). To date gelsolin is the only known Ca²⁺-dependent severing protein that by this mechanism can effectively increase the number of filaments (Sun et al., 1999).

Protein crystallography has identified a Ca²⁺-binding site in each of gelsolin domains suggesting that free gelsolin can recruit up to six calcium ions (McLaughlin et al., 1993; Burtnick et al., 1997; Choe et al., 2002; Pope et al., 1995). Also each domain has different actin binding properties (Kwiatkowski et al., 1985; Chaponnier et al., 1986; Pope et al., 1991; Bryan and Hwo, 1986; Way and Matsudaira, 1993). In Figure 2 the Ca^{2+} and actin binding sites in gelsolin are schematically summarized. At submicromolar Ca²⁺ concentrations, domains S5 and S6 are occupied by calcium and gelsolin becomes activated to bind actin, however for full activation of severing activity higher calcium concentrations are required, most likely filling the sites on domains S1, S2 and S4 (Burtnick et al., 2004; Choe et al., 2002). Biochemical studies suggest that Ca²⁺ opens up gelsolin by inducing a conformational change in the C-terminus to expose the actin binding sites located at the N-terminus (Weeds et al., 1995; Pope et al., 1995). In calcium-free conditions, gelsolin exists as a compact folded structure that cannot bind actin as domain S4 and S6 remain tightly packed into an extended β -sheet blocking binding of actin to domain S2 (Weeds et al., 1995; Burtnick et al., 1997). Upon adding Ca^{2+} this structure opens, domain S6 swings away from S4 and forms new contacts with S5. Thereby gelsolin becomes activated so that the F-actin binding region in domain S2 is exposed allowing the molecule to make the initial contact with the actin filament. The gelsolin/EGTA crystal structure furthermore showed that the C-terminus of gelsolin has a tail extension made of a short helix. The tail helix is in close contact with the actin binding helix of S2 and may act as a latch to inhibit actin binding by the N-half in the absence of Ca^{2+} . This model has been put forward as the "tail latch hypothesis" (Choe et al., 2002; Burtnick et al., 2004). The latch hypothesis suggests that Ca^{2+} binding to domain S6 induces a first conformational change in the gelsolin structure, releasing the tail latch and allowing binding of actin to domain S2. S2 binding to actin then directs the S1 domain to bind actin and induce severing. (Figure 3: *Gelsolin activation by Ca*²⁺).

In agreement with this model, deletion of the last 20 residues in the C-terminus activates severing activity independent of Ca^{2+} (Kwiatkowski et al., 1989; Way and Matsudaira, 1993). The crystallographic analysis was further complemented by biochemical studies of proteolytic fragments which identified three actin-binding regions: a calcium-independent monomer binding fragment (S1), a calcium-independent filament-binding fragment (S2-3), and a calcium-dependent monomer-binding fragment (S4-6) (Bryan, 1988) (Way et al., 1990; Way et al., 1992; Pope et al., 1995; Pope et al., 1991).

These structural constrains have significant relevance *in vivo*. For example, an amino-terminal cleavage product of gelsolin (residues 1–352) comprising domain





Gelsolin is a Ca^{2+} -activated actin filament severing protein. Depending on the Ca^{2+} -concentration, gelsolin becomes gradually activated by controlled unfolding of the individual domains. Ca^{2+} opens up gelsolin by inducing a conformational change in the C-terminus (S4-6) to expose the actin binding sites on the N-terminus. This is called the "tail latch hypothesis".

In the presence of low calcium concentration, Ca^{2+} binds to the S6 domain, induces release of the C- tail domain and frees the actin binding sites present in domains S1-2. In order for severing to occur, higher concentrations of the ion are required. Additional calcium binding, most likely to domains S1, S2 and S4, fully activates the molecule, thus allowing severing to take place.

Activated gelsolin domains are shown as red hexagons and calcium ion concentrations required for each conformation change are indicated. F-actin is shown in yellow. (See Colour Plate 6)

1–3 no longer requires Ca^{2+} to sever actin filaments and to dismantle the membrane cytoskeleton (see Figure 2). Caspase-3 is such a specific cellular protease that is activated via the death receptor and mitochondrial apoptotic pathways (Kothakota et al., 1997; Kamada et al., 1998). Caspase-3 mediated cleavage of gelsolin induces constitutive filament severing and disruption of the actin cytoskeleton – a hallmark of apoptosis.

3. PATHOLOGY OF GELSOLIN DELETION IN THE MOUSE

Gelsolin is broadly expressed by cells of mesenchymal-epithelial origins both in the adult and in the embryonic tissues (Tanaka and Sobue, 1994; Teubner et al., 1994; Lueck et al., 1998; Arai and Kwiatkowski, 1999) (Spinardi and Witke, unpublished observation). Cytoplasmic gelsolin is highly expressed in platelets, macrophages and neutrophils, (Witke et al., 1995; Barkalow et al., 1996) but also in smooth muscle cells and osteoblasts (Spinardi and Witke, unpublished observation). However, muscle cells are the major source of the secreted plasma gelsolin (Kwiatkowski et al., 1988).

The generation of a mouse model lacking gelsolin was an important step to reveal and dissect the relevant biological functions of this protein. Surprisingly, gelsolin null mice lacking any cytoplasmic or plasma gelsolin were viable in a mixed background (Witke et al., 1995). However, cells from gelsolin null mice exhibited a number of defects in actin-mediated processes. Gelsolin null fibroblasts have exaggerated actin stress fibers, which is consistent with the inability to sever and remodel actin filaments (Witke et al., 1995). Furthermore, gelsolin null fibroblasts do not ruffle in response to growth factor, show impaired chemotaxis and delayed wound healing (Witke et al., 1995) (Azuma et al., 1998). In gelsolin null mice skin defects and impaired wound healing are amplified due to impaired keratinocyte function (Spinardi and Witke, unpublished observation). Gelsolin is required for rapid platelet activation and shape changes as shown by prolonged bleeding of mutant mice after injury. In conjunction with a delayed neutrophil extravasation these results highlighted a role for gelsolin particular in responses that require fast motility under stress conditions (Witke et al., 1995).

In neurons gelsolin was shown to regulate growth cone collapse and filopodia retraction (Lu et al., 1997). Interestingly, the alterations of F-actin levels in neurons lacking gelsolin prolonged the opening time of calcium channels, and as a result mutant mice showed increased susceptibility to glutamate induced excitotoxicity (Furukawa et al., 1997).

In immune cells it was demonstrated that gelsolin plays a role in Fc receptorand integrin-but not in complement- mediated phagocytosis (Arora et al., 1999; Arora et al., 2004) (Serrander et al., 2000; Witke et al., 2001). Analysis of phagocytosis in CapG/gelsolin double-null mice, further suggested distinct and non-overlapping functions of CapG and gelsolin in the phagocytic processes of macrophages (Witke et al., 2001). Using primary cells from gelsolin null mice it was shown that gelsolin functions as a downstream effector of the GTP-binding protein Rac (Azuma et al., 1998). Once activated, Rac promotes dissociation of gelsolin from capped actin filaments, allowing actin remodeling to proceed (Arcaro, 1998). Rac activation is also a first step in Fc receptor- and integrin-mediated phagocytosis (Caron and Hall, 1998) which was shown to be affected in gelsolin null cells.

4. GELSOLIN IN HUMAN DISEASES

Since its discovery as an actin depolymerizing factor, gelsolin has been implicated in a number of disease pathways such as amyloidosis, inflammation, and oncogenic transformation (Kwiatkowski, 1999). In the following section we will summarize the knowledge on the role of gelsolin in pathological processes and discuss potential therapeutic strategies.

4.1. Amyloidosis is Caused by Point Mutations in Gelsolin

Protein folding disorders are now recognized to contribute to a large number of human diseases including those involving amyloid fibril deposition in various organs (Aridor and Balch, 1999; Kelly, 1996). The name amyloid comes from the early mistaken identification of the fibril substance as starch (*amylum* in Latin), based on crude histological iodine-staining techniques. For some time it was debated whether or not amyloid deposits were fatty deposits or carbohydrate deposits until it was finally resolved that it was rather an extracellular deposition of proteins. Amyloidoses represent a group of late-onset degenerative disorders caused by the misfolding and self-assembly of a single protein. It is believed that the general mechanism of amyloidosis is similar for all amyloid diseases, including Alzheimer's and diabetes II (Carrell and Gooptu, 1998; Zerovnik, 2002).

One type of familial amyloidosis first identified in the Finnish population is caused by deposition of gelsolin (Maury et al., 2000; Maury et al., 2001). This Finnish type familial amyloidosis (FAF) is a hereditable autosomal dominant amyloid polyneuropathy, characterized by corneal lattice dystrophy, progressive cranial and peripheral neuropathy as well as skin changes (Chen et al., 2001; Maury et al., 2001).

The major protein constituents of the amyloid are 5 and 8 kDa internal fragments of the actin-binding protein gelsolin (see Figure 2). Sequencing of these fragments revealed amino acid substitutions at a single residue (D187N, or D187Y) when compared to wild type gelsolin (Maury, 1991). These mutations lead to an aberrant intracellular cleavage of secreted gelsolin between residues 172 and 173 resulting in the production of the amyloidogenic 173–243 fragment. The 172/173 cleavage appears to be due to disruption of the Cys188–Cys201 disulfide bond in gelsolin and occurs at highest frequency in neuronal cells, consistent with the pattern of symptoms in this disease (Paunio et al., 1998).
The production of the D187N and D187Y variants of gelsolin are due to aberrant processing by furin, a Ca²⁺-dependent protease known as proprotein convertases. Normally, wild-type gelsolin is stabilized by Ca²⁺ binding in the trans-Golgi and the furin consensus site is hidden. However, the mutant gelsolins are not able to bind Ca²⁺ in the S2 domain, resulting in the destabilization of the structure and the exposure of the furin cleavage site (Isaacson et al., 1999; Huff et al., 2003). Furin cleavage then liberates an amyloidogenic fragment that assembles into amyloid fibrils (Page et al., 2004) (see Figure 2. *Gelsolin structure*). Although the role of plasma gelsolin form is the basis for the disease. Interestingly, plasma gelsolin isolated from homozygous FAF patients lacks both, actin severing and nucleating activities (Weeds et al., 1993). In contrast, cytoplasmic gelsolin is not cleaved in these patients and the cellular actin modulating function of intracellular gelsolin is not affected (Kangas et al., 1999).

4.2. Gelsolin and Inflammation

Inflammation is part of the first line response of the immune system to infection. Inflammation is characterized by two main components: an exudative response and a cellular response. The exudative response involves the local recruitment of fluid (edema, swelling), containing proteins such as fibrin and immunoglobulins. The cellular response involves the release of cytokines from resident cells such as fibroblasts and the invasion of white blood cells into the inflamed tissue. Leukocytes take on an important role in inflammation by clearing the site from bacteria and cellular debris. In chronic inflammation an increased extravasation of neutrophils, monocytes, activated T cells, and macrophages to the inflamed site will persist.

Gelsolin was shown to play an important role in the cellular response of inflammation. For example, gelsolin null mice respond more slowly to an induced inflammatory stimulus such as intraperitoneal thioglycollate instillation (Witke et al., 1995). The slower kinetics of leukocyte accumulation in gelsolin null mice were similar to those observed in P-selectin knockout mice (Mayadas et al., 1993) and most likely due to an impaired emigration of leukocytes from blood vessels (Witke et al., 1995). The blunted inflammatory response in gelsolin null mice is restricted to the early acute phase which suggests that gelsolin could represent a potential target for anti-inflammatory therapy (Witke et al., 1995).

The ethiology of chronic inflammatory diseases differs from acute inflammation and is still poorly understood. One example is the chronic rheumatoid arthritis (RA), which is characterized by a chronic destructive arthropathy. In RA and other inflammatory bone diseases there is intense crosstalk between the skeleton and the immune system by the use of common cytokines and transcriptional pathways. A newly established research area – 'osteoimmunology' – attempts to unravel this skeletal/immunological axis and several signaling pathways involved in inflammatory bone loss have been identified (Wagner and Eferl, 2005). One pathway leading to rheumatoid arthritis (RA) involves gelsolin and cytoskeletal organization. Recent studies in the mouse as well as in patients have confirmed that gelsolin expression is lost in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts leading to severe alterations in cytoskeletal organization (Aidinis et al., 2005). Furthermore, induction of RA in gelsolin null mice resulted in the exacerbation of the disease symptoms, suggesting that loss of gelsolin plays an important role in the pathophysiology of the disease.

Crohn's diseases, is another example of chronic inflammation of the intestine, in which actin reorganization and gelsolin might play an important role. Smooth muscle from Crohn's patients change their phenotype from a contractile form to a migratory form that correlates with an increased expression of gelsolin (Ehrlich et al., 2000).

One important conclusion from all these studies is that there might be conditions where modulating gelsolin expression or activity might be beneficial. Since the etiology and progression is different in the different diseases, one might want to inhibit gelsolin activity during acute type of inflammation, while boosting gelsolin expression might ameliorate the symptoms in chronic inflammation like RA.

4.3. Gelsolin and Cancer

A number of studies have suggested a role for gelsolin as a tumor suppressor gene mainly in breast cancer and carcinomas (Mullauer et al., 1993; Asch et al., 1996; Mielnicki et al., 1999; Onda et al., 1999; Fujita et al., 2001). Gelsolin expression is also downregulated in 60–90% of tumors during carcinogenesis of breast, colon, stomach, bladder, prostate, and lung (Asch et al., 1999; Kuzumaki et al., 1997; Tanaka et al., 1995; Dosaka-Akita et al., 1998; Prasad et al., 1997; Sagawa et al., 2003).

In these cancer types downregulation of gelsolin during tumor progression was observed and overexpression of gelsolin reverted the transformed phenotype in cell culture and mouse models (Sagawa et al., 2003). However, in a subset of breast tumors overexpressing the tyrosine kinase receptors erbB-2 and EGFR, gelsolin overexpression was described to correlate with negative prognoses (Thor et al., 2001). Similarly it has been observed that high level expression of gelsolin in early stage non-small-cell lung cancer occurs in 14% of patients, and provided a highly significant negative prognostic factor (Shieh et al., 1999). These somewhat contradictory results could for example be explained by an increased invasive potential of transformed cells when gelsolin expression is high (De Corte et al., 2002). A direct correlation of motility with expressed levels of gelsolin was shown in cell culture (Cunningham et al., 1991).

However it should be noted that under normal housing conditions and without challenging the animals, the gelsolin null mice do not show any increased incidence of tumor formation (Witke W, Kwiatkowski DJ, unpublished observation), suggesting that the loss of gelsolin in cancer is perhaps a downstream event, or that loss of gelsolin has to go together with the loss of other tumor promoting genes in order to cause transformation.

5. GELSOLIN AS A THERAPEUTIC MOLECULE?

When necrosis and cell death occurs, cytoplasmic actin is released into the blood stream where it can interact with components of the haemostatic and fibrinolytic systems, or polymerize and form filaments because of the favorable ionic conditions. An actin scavenger system must therefore exist that helps to remove free actin from the circulation and plasma gelsolin was discussed as one important component of this system. A depletion of the actin scavenger system upon continued tissue damage and actin release may result in severe organ damage. Several studies reported gelsolin depletion in a variety of tissue injury syndromes such as acute liver failure, septic shock, acute lung injury, cardiac infraction and myonecrosis (Janmey et al., 1986; Suhler et al., 1997) (Dahl et al., 1999). Recent data showed that intravenous infusion of recombinant gelsolin completely prevented the increase in pulmonary microvascular permeability in burn-injured rats, suggesting that the exogenous administration of recombinant gelsolin could be beneficial to prevent inflammation-induced pulmonary microvascular dysfunction (Rothenbach et al., 2004).

Another condition where cell debris becomes life threatening is the obstruction of airways by viscous sputum in patients suffering from cystic fibrosis (CF). It has been shown that human plasma gelsolin can rapidly decreased the viscosity of CF sputum samples *in vitro* (Vasconcellos et al., 1994; Sheils et al., 1996; Davoodian et al., 1997; Ismailov et al., 1997), suggesting that in CF patients gelsolin may have therapeutic potential as a mucolytic agent.

These data provide evidence for an important protective function of circulating gelsolin during systemic inflammatory events, and suggest that therapeutic use of recombinant gelsolin could be a promising strategy for treatment of specific pathological condition.

6. CONCLUDING REMARKS

While the early work on gelsolin has mainly focused on the calcium regulated remodeling of actin filaments, recent data have begun to elucidate the importance of gelsolin-mediated function in pathological conditions. Several strategies are currently explored to test whether gelsolin itself can be used as a therapeutic molecule or whether it can serve to target and restrict cell migration for example in cancer and metastasis.

REFERENCES

- Aidinis, V., P. Carninci, M. Armaka, W. Witke, V. Harokopos, N. Pavelka, D. Koczan, C. Argyropoulos, M.M. Thwin, S. Moller, K. Waki, P. Gopalakrishnakone, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, H.J. Thiesen, Y. Hayashizaki, and G. Kollias. 2005. Cytoskeletal rearrangements in synovial fibroblasts as a novel pathophysiological determinant of modeled rheumatoid arthritis. *PLoS Genet*. 1:e48.
- Allen, P.G. 2003. Actin filament uncapping localizes to ruffling lamellae and rocketing vesicles. *Nat Cell Biol.* 5:972–9.
- Arai, M., and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 1999. Differential developmentally regulated expression of gelsolin family members in the mouse. *Dev Dyn.* 215:297–307.

- Arcaro, A. 1998. The small GTP-binding protein Rac promotes the dissociation of gelsolin from actin filaments in neutrophils. *J Biol Chem.* 273:805–13.
- Aridor, M., and W.E. Balch. 1999. Integration of endoplasmic reticulum signaling in health and disease. *Nat Med.* 5:745–51.
- Arora, P.D., M. Glogauer, A. Kapus, D.J. Kwiatkowski, and C.A. McCulloch. 2004. Gelsolin mediates collagen phagocytosis through a rac-dependent step. *Mol Biol Cell*. 15:588–99.
- Arora, P.D., P.A. Janmey, and C.A. McCulloch. 1999. A role for gelsolin in stress fiber-dependent cell contraction. *Exp Cell Res.* 250:155–67.
- Asch, H.L., K. Head, Y. Dong, F. Natoli, J.S. Winston, J.L. Connolly, and B.B. Asch. 1996. Widespread loss of gelsolin in breast cancers of humans, mice, and rats. *Cancer Res.* 56:4841–5.
- Asch, H.L., J.S. Winston, S.B. Edge, P.C. Stomper, and B.B. Asch. 1999. Down-regulation of gelsolin expression in human breast ductal carcinoma in situ with and without invasion. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 55:179–88.
- Azuma, T., W. Witke, T.P. Stossel, J.H. Hartwig, and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 1998. Gelsolin is a downstream effector of rac for fibroblast motility. *Embo J.* 17:1362–70.
- Barkalow, K., W. Witke, D.J. Kwiatkowski, and J.H. Hartwig. 1996. Coordinated regulation of platelet actin filament barbed ends by gelsolin and capping protein. J Cell Biol. 134:389–99.
- Bretscher, A., and K. Weber. 1979. Villin: the major microfilament-associated protein of the intestinal microvillus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 76:2321–5.
- Bretscher, A., and K. Weber. 1980. Villin is a major protein of the microvillus cytoskeleton which binds both G and F actin in a calcium-dependent manner. *Cell*. 20:839–47.
- Bryan, J. 1988. Gelsolin has three actin-binding sites. J Cell Biol. 106:1553-62.
- Bryan, J., and S. Hwo. 1986. Definition of an N-terminal actin-binding domain and a C-terminal Ca²⁺ regulatory domain in human brevin. *J Cell Biol*. 102:1439–46.
- Burtnick, L.D., E.K. Koepf, J. Grimes, E.Y. Jones, D.I. Stuart, P.J. McLaughlin, and R.C. Robinson. 1997. The crystal structure of plasma gelsolin: implications for actin severing, capping, and nucleation. *Cell*. 90:661–70.
- Burtnick, L.D., D. Urosev, E. Irobi, K. Narayan, and R.C. Robinson. 2004. Structure of the N-terminal half of gelsolin bound to actin: roles in severing, apoptosis and FAF. *Embo J.* 23:2713–22.
- Campbell, H.D., T. Schimansky, C. Claudianos, N. Ozsarac, A.B. Kasprzak, J.N. Cotsell, I.G. Young, H.G. de Couet, and G.L. Miklos. 1993. The Drosophila melanogaster flightless-I gene involved in gastrulation and muscle degeneration encodes gelsolin-like and leucine-rich repeat domains and is conserved in Caenorhabditis elegans and humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 90:11386–90.
- Carlier, M.F. 1998. Control of actin dynamics. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 10:45-51.
- Caron, E., and A. Hall. 1998. Identification of two distinct mechanisms of phagocytosis controlled by different Rho GTPases. *Science*. 282:1717–21.
- Carrell, R.W., and B. Gooptu. 1998. Conformational changes and disease–serpins, prions and Alzheimer's. *Curr Opin Struct Biol.* 8:799–809.
- Chaponnier, C., P.A. Janmey, and H.L. Yin. 1986. The actin filament-severing domain of plasma gelsolin. J Cell Biol. 103:1473–81.
- Chen, C.D., M.E. Huff, J. Matteson, L. Page, R. Phillips, J.W. Kelly, and W.E. Balch. 2001. Furin initiates gelsolin familial amyloidosis in the Golgi through a defect in Ca(2+) stabilization. *Embo J*. 20:6277–87.
- Choe, H., L.D. Burtnick, M. Mejillano, H.L. Yin, R.C. Robinson, and S. Choe. 2002. The calcium activation of gelsolin: insights from the 3A structure of the G4-G6/actin complex. J Mol Biol. 324:691–702.
- Cunningham, C.C., T.P. Stossel, and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 1991. Enhanced motility in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts that overexpress gelsolin. *Science*. 251:1233–6.
- Dabiri, G.A., C.L. Young, J. Rosenbloom, and F.S. Southwick. 1992. Molecular cloning of human macrophage capping protein cDNA. A unique member of the gelsolin/villin family expressed primarily in macrophages. J Biol Chem. 267:16545–52.
- Dahl, B., F.V. Schiodt, P. Ott, R. Gvozdenovic, H.L. Yin, and W.M. Lee. 1999. Plasma gelsolin is reduced in trauma patients. *Shock*. 12:102–4.

- Davoodian, K., B.W. Ritchings, R. Ramphal, and M.R. Bubb. 1997. Gelsolin activates DNase I in vitro and cystic fibrosis sputum. *Biochemistry*. 36:9637–41.
- De Corte, V., E. Bruyneel, C. Boucherie, M. Mareel, J. Vandekerckhove, and J. Gettemans. 2002. Gelsolin-induced epithelial cell invasion is dependent on Ras-Rac signaling. *Embo J.* 21:6781–90.
- Dosaka-Akita, H., F. Hommura, H. Fujita, I. Kinoshita, M. Nishi, T. Morikawa, H. Katoh, Y. Kawakami, and N. Kuzumaki. 1998. Frequent loss of gelsolin expression in non-small cell lung cancers of heavy smokers. *Cancer Res.* 58:322–7.
- Ehrlich, H.P., G.M. Allison, M.J. Page, W.A. Kolton, and M. Graham. 2000. Increased gelsolin expression and retarded collagen lattice contraction with smooth muscle cells from Crohn's diseased intestine. J Cell Physiol. 182:303–9.
- Fishkind, D.J., and Y.L. Wang. 1995. New horizons for cytokinesis. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 7:23-31.
- Fujita, H., F. Okada, J. Hamada, M. Hosokawa, T. Moriuchi, R.C. Koya, and N. Kuzumaki. 2001. Gelsolin functions as a metastasis suppressor in B16-BL6 mouse melanoma cells and requirement of the carboxyl-terminus for its effect. *Int J Cancer*. 93:773–80.
- Furukawa, K., W. Fu, Y. Li, W. Witke, D.J. Kwiatkowski, and M.P. Mattson. 1997. The actin-severing protein gelsolin modulates calcium channel and NMDA receptor activities and vulnerability to excitotoxicity in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci. 17:8178–86.
- Goshima, M., K. Kariya, Y. Yamawaki-Kataoka, T. Okada, M. Shibatohge, F. Shima, E. Fujimoto, and T. Kataoka. 1999. Characterization of a novel Ras-binding protein Ce-FLI-1 comprising leucine-rich repeats and gelsolin-like domains. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 257:111–6.
- Hatanaka, H., K. Ogura, K. Moriyama, S. Ichikawa, I. Yahara, and F. Inagaki. 1996. Tertiary structure of destrin and structural similarity between two actin-regulating protein families. *Cell*. 85:1047–55.
- Huff, M.E., L.J. Page, W.E. Balch, and J.W. Kelly. 2003. Gelsolin domain 2 Ca²⁺ affinity determines susceptibility to furin proteolysis and familial amyloidosis of finnish type. J Mol Biol. 334:119–27.
- Isaacson, R.L., A.G. Weeds, and A.R. Fersht. 1999. Equilibria and kinetics of folding of gelsolin domain 2 and mutants involved in familial amyloidosis-Finnish type. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 96:11247–52.
- Ismailov, II, B.K. Berdiev, V.G. Shlyonsky, C.M. Fuller, A.G. Prat, B. Jovov, H.F. Cantiello, D.A. Ausiello, and D.J. Benos. 1997. Role of actin in regulation of epithelial sodium channels by CFTR. *Am J Physiol.* 272:C1077–86.
- Janmey, P.A., K. Iida, H.L. Yin, and T.P. Stossel. 1987. Polyphosphoinositide micelles and polyphosphoinositide-containing vesicles dissociate endogenous gelsolin-actin complexes and promote actin assembly from the fast-growing end of actin filaments blocked by gelsolin. J Biol Chem. 262:12228–36.
- Janmey, P.A., T.P. Stossel, and S.E. Lind. 1986. Sequential binding of actin monomers to plasma gelsolin and its inhibition by vitamin D-binding protein. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 136:72–9.
- Kamada, S., H. Kusano, H. Fujita, M. Ohtsu, R.C. Koya, N. Kuzumaki, and Y. Tsujimoto. 1998. A cloning method for caspase substrates that uses the yeast two-hybrid system: cloning of the antiapoptotic gene gelsolin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 95:8532–7.
- Kangas, H., I. Ulmanen, T. Paunio, D.J. Kwiatkowski, M. Lehtovirta, A. Jalanko, and L. Peltonen. 1999. Functional consequences of amyloidosis mutation for gelsolin polypeptide – analysis of gelsolin-actin interaction and gelsolin processing in gelsolin knock-out fibroblasts. *FEBS Lett.* 454:233–9.
- Kelly, J.W. 1996. Alternative conformations of amyloidogenic proteins govern their behavior. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 6:11–7.
- Kothakota, S., T. Azuma, C. Reinhard, A. Klippel, J. Tang, K. Chu, T.J. McGarry, M.W. Kirschner, K. Koths, D.J. Kwiatkowski, and L.T. Williams. 1997. Caspase-3-generated fragment of gelsolin: effector of morphological change in apoptosis. *Science*. 278:294–8.
- Kuzumaki, N., M. Tanaka, N. Sakai, and H. Fujita. 1997. [Tumor suppressive function of gelsolin]. Gan To Kagaku Ryoho. 24:1436–41.
- Kwiatkowski, D.J. 1999. Functions of gelsolin: motility, signaling, apoptosis, cancer. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*. 11:103–8.
- Kwiatkowski, D.J., P.A. Janmey, J.E. Mole, and H.L. Yin. 1985. Isolation and properties of two actinbinding domains in gelsolin. J Biol Chem. 260:15232–8.

- Kwiatkowski, D.J., P.A. Janmey, and H.L. Yin. 1989. Identification of critical functional and regulatory domains in gelsolin. J Cell Biol. 108:1717–26.
- Kwiatkowski, D.J., R. Mehl, S. Izumo, B. Nadal-Ginard, and H.L. Yin. 1988. Muscle is the major source of plasma gelsolin. J Biol Chem. 263:8239–43.
- Kwiatkowski, D.J., T.P. Stossel, S.H. Orkin, J.E. Mole, H.R. Colten, and H.L. Yin. 1986. Plasma and cytoplasmic gelsolins are encoded by a single gene and contain a duplicated actin-binding domain. *Nature*. 323:455–8.
- Lu, M., W. Witke, D.J. Kwiatkowski, and K.S. Kosik. 1997. Delayed retraction of filopodia in gelsolin null mice. J Cell Biol. 138:1279–87.
- Lueck, A., D. Brown, and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 1998. The actin-binding proteins adseverin and gelsolin are both highly expressed but differentially localized in kidney and intestine. *J Cell Sci.* 111 (Pt 24): 3633–43.
- Maekawa, S., and H. Sakai. 1990. Inhibition of actin regulatory activity of the 74-kDa protein from bovine adrenal medulla (adseverin) by some phospholipids. J Biol Chem. 265:10940–2.
- Maury, C.P. 1991. Gelsolin-related amyloidosis. Identification of the amyloid protein in Finnish hereditary amyloidosis as a fragment of variant gelsolin. *J Clin Invest.* 87:1195–9.
- Maury, C.P., M. Liljestrom, G. Boysen, T. Tornroth, A. de la Chapelle, and E.L. Nurmiaho-Lassila. 2000. Danish type gelsolin related amyloidosis: 654G-T mutation is associated with a disease pathogenetically and clinically similar to that caused by the 654G-A mutation (familial amyloidosis of the Finnish type). J Clin Pathol. 53:95–9.
- Maury, C.P., M. Liljestrom, S. Tiitinen, K. Laiho, K. Kaarela, and C. Ehnholm. 2001. Apolipoprotein E phenotypes in rheumatoid arthritis with or without amyloidosis. *Amyloid*. 8:270–3.
- Mayadas, T.N., R.C. Johnson, H. Rayburn, R.O. Hynes, and D.D. Wagner. 1993. Leukocyte rolling and extravasation are severely compromised in P selectin-deficient mice. *Cell*. 74:541–54.
- McGough, A., W. Chiu, and M. Way. 1998. Determination of the gelsolin binding site on F-actin: implications for severing and capping. *Biophys J.* 74:764–72.
- McGough, A.M., C.J. Staiger, J.K. Min, and K.D. Simonetti. 2003. The gelsolin family of actin regulatory proteins: modular structures, versatile functions. *FEBS Lett.* 552:75–81.
- McLaughlin, P.J., J.T. Gooch, H.G. Mannherz, and A.G. Weeds. 1993. Structure of gelsolin segment 1-actin complex and the mechanism of filament severing. *Nature*. 364:685–92.
- Mielnicki, L.M., A.M. Ying, K.L. Head, H.L. Asch, and B.B. Asch. 1999. Epigenetic regulation of gelsolin expression in human breast cancer cells. *Exp Cell Res.* 249:161–76.
- Mullauer, L., H. Fujita, A. Ishizaki, and N. Kuzumaki. 1993. Tumor-suppressive function of mutated gelsolin in ras-transformed cells. *Oncogene*. 8:2531–6.
- Onda, H., A. Lueck, P.W. Marks, H.B. Warren, and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 1999. Tsc2(+/-) mice develop tumors in multiple sites that express gelsolin and are influenced by genetic background. *J Clin Invest*. 104:687–95.
- Page, L.J., M.E. Huff, J.W. Kelly, and W.E. Balch. 2004. Ca²⁺ binding protects against gelsolin amyloidosis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 322:1105–10.
- Paunio, T., H. Kangas, O. Heinonen, M.H. Buc-Caron, J.J. Robert, S. Kaasinen, I. Julkunen, J. Mallet, and L. Peltonen. 1998. Cells of the neuronal lineage play a major role in the generation of amyloid precursor fragments in gelsolin-related amyloidosis. J Biol Chem. 273:16319–24.
- Pollard, T.D., and J.A. Cooper. 1986. Actin and actin-binding proteins. A critical evaluation of mechanisms and functions. Annu Rev Biochem. 55:987–1035.
- Pope, B., S. Maciver, and A. Weeds. 1995. Localization of the calcium-sensitive actin monomer binding site in gelsolin to segment 4 and identification of calcium binding sites. *Biochemistry*. 34:1583–8.
- Pope, B., M. Way, and A.G. Weeds. 1991. Two of the three actin-binding domains of gelsolin bind to the same subdomain of actin. Implications of capping and severing mechanisms. FEBS Lett. 280:70–4.
- Prasad, S.C., P.J. Thraves, A. Dritschilo, and M.R. Kuettel. 1997. Protein expression changes associated with radiation-induced neoplastic progression of human prostate epithelial cells. *Electrophoresis*. 18:629–37.
- Prendergast, G.C., and E.B. Ziff. 1991. Mbh 1: a novel gelsolin/severin-related protein which binds actin in vitro and exhibits nuclear localization in vivo. *Embo J.* 10:757–66.

- Rodriguez Del Castillo, A., S. Lemaire, L. Tchakarov, M. Jeyapragasan, J.P. Doucet, M.L. Vitale, and J.M. Trifaro. 1990. Chromaffin cell scinderin, a novel calcium-dependent actin filament-severing protein. *Embo J*. 9:43–52.
- Rothenbach, P.A., B. Dahl, J.J. Schwartz, G.E. O'Keefe, M. Yamamoto, W.M. Lee, J.W. Horton, H.L. Yin, and R.H. Turnage. 2004. Recombinant plasma gelsolin infusion attenuates burn-induced pulmonary microvascular dysfunction. J Appl Physiol. 96:25–31.
- Sagawa, N., H. Fujita, Y. Banno, Y. Nozawa, H. Katoh, and N. Kuzumaki. 2003. Gelsolin suppresses tumorigenicity through inhibiting PKC activation in a human lung cancer cell line, PC10. *Br J Cancer*. 88:606–12.
- Selden, L.A., H.J. Kinosian, J. Newman, B. Lincoln, C. Hurwitz, L.C. Gershman, and J.E. Estes. 1998. Severing of F-actin by the amino-terminal half of gelsolin suggests internal cooperativity in gelsolin. *Biophys J*. 75:3092–100.
- Serrander, L., P. Skarman, B. Rasmussen, W. Witke, D.P. Lew, K.H. Krause, O. Stendahl, and O. Nusse. 2000. Selective inhibition of IgG-mediated phagocytosis in gelsolin-deficient murine neutrophils. *J Immunol.* 165:2451–7.
- Sheils, C.A., J. Kas, W. Travassos, P.G. Allen, P.A. Janmey, M.E. Wohl, and T.P. Stossel. 1996. Actin filaments mediate DNA fiber formation in chronic inflammatory airway disease. *Am J Pathol.* 148:919–27.
- Shieh, D.B., J. Godleski, J.E. Herndon, 2nd, T. Azuma, H. Mercer, D.J. Sugarbaker, and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 1999. Cell motility as a prognostic factor in Stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma: the role of gelsolin expression. *Cancer*. 85:47–57.
- Southwick, F.S., and M.J. DiNubile. 1986. Rabbit alveolar macrophages contain a Ca²⁺-sensitive, 41,000-dalton protein which reversibly blocks the "barbed" ends of actin filaments but does not sever them. *J Biol Chem.* 261:14191–5.
- Suhler, E., W. Lin, H.L. Yin, and W.M. Lee. 1997. Decreased plasma gelsolin concentrations in acute liver failure, myocardial infarction, septic shock, and myonecrosis. *Crit Care Med.* 25:594–8.
- Sun, H.Q., M. Yamamoto, M. Mejillano, and H.L. Yin. 1999. Gelsolin, a multifunctional actin regulatory protein. J Biol Chem. 274:33179–82.
- Tanaka, J., and K. Sobue. 1994. Localization and characterization of gelsolin in nervous tissues: gelsolin is specifically enriched in myelin-forming cells. J Neurosci. 14:1038–52.
- Tanaka, M., L. Mullauer, Y. Ogiso, H. Fujita, S. Moriya, K. Furuuchi, T. Harabayashi, N. Shinohara, T. Koyanagi, and N. Kuzumaki. 1995. Gelsolin: a candidate for suppressor of human bladder cancer. *Cancer Res.* 55:3228–32.
- Teubner, A., I. Sobek-Klocke, H. Hinssen, and U. Eichenlaub-Ritter. 1994. Distribution of gelsolin in mouse ovary. *Cell Tissue Res.* 276:535–44.
- Thor, A.D., S.M. Edgerton, S. Liu, D.H. Moore, 2nd, and D.J. Kwiatkowski. 2001. Gelsolin as a negative prognostic factor and effector of motility in erbB-2-positive epidermal growth factor receptor-positive breast cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* 7:2415–24.
- Vasconcellos, C.A., P.G. Allen, M.E. Wohl, J.M. Drazen, P.A. Janmey, and T.P. Stossel. 1994. Reduction in viscosity of cystic fibrosis sputum in vitro by gelsolin. *Science*. 263:969–71.
- Vouyiouklis, D.A., and P.J. Brophy. 1997. A novel gelsolin isoform expressed by oligodendrocytes in the central nervous system. J Neurochem. 69:995–1005.
- Wagner, E.F., and R. Eferl. 2005. Fos/AP-1 proteins in bone and the immune system. *Immunol Rev.* 208:126–40.
- Way, M., and P. Matsudaira. 1993. The secrets of severing? Curr Biol. 3:887-90.
- Way, M., B. Pope, J. Gooch, M. Hawkins, and A.G. Weeds. 1990. Identification of a region in segment 1 of gelsolin critical for actin binding. *Embo J*. 9:4103–9.
- Way, M., B. Pope, and A. Weeds. 1991. Molecular biology of actin binding proteins: evidence for a common structural domain in the F-actin binding sites of gelsolin and alpha-actinin. J Cell Sci Suppl. 14:91–4.
- Way, M., B. Pope, and A.G. Weeds. 1992. Are the conserved sequences in segment 1 of gelsolin important for binding actin? J Cell Biol. 116:1135–43.

- Weeds, A.G., J. Gooch, P. McLaughlin, and C.P. Maury. 1993. Variant plasma gelsolin responsible for familial amyloidosis (Finnish type) has defective actin severing activity. FEBS Lett. 335:119–23.
- Weeds, A.G., J. Gooch, P. McLaughlin, B. Pope, M. Bengtsdotter, and R. Karlsson. 1995. Identification of the trapped calcium in the gelsolin segment 1-actin complex: implications for the role of calcium in the control of gelsolin activity. *FEBS Lett.* 360:227–30.
- Wegner, A. 1976. Head to tail polymerization of actin. J Mol Biol. 108:139-50.
- Welch, M.D., A. Mallavarapu, J. Rosenblatt, and T.J. Mitchison. 1997. Actin dynamics in vivo. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 9:54–61.
- Witke, W., W. Li, D.J. Kwiatkowski, and F.S. Southwick. 2001. Comparisons of CapG and gelsolin-null macrophages: demonstration of a unique role for CapG in receptor-mediated ruffling, phagocytosis, and vesicle rocketing. J Cell Biol. 154:775–84.
- Witke, W., A.H. Sharpe, J.H. Hartwig, T. Azuma, T.P. Stossel, and P. Chang. 1995. Hemostatic, inflammatory, and fibroblast responses are blunted in mice lacking gelsolin. *Cell*. 81:41–51.
- Yamada, K.M., and B. Geiger. 1997. Molecular interactions in cell adhesion complexes. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 9:76–85.
- Yin, H.L., D.J. Kwiatkowski, J.E. Mole, and F.S. Cole. 1984. Structure and biosynthesis of cytoplasmic and secreted variants of gelsolin. J Biol Chem. 259:5271–6.
- Yin, H.L., and T.P. Stossel. 1979. Control of cytoplasmic actin gel-sol transformation by gelsolin, a calcium-dependent regulatory protein. *Nature*. 281:583–6.
- Yin, H.L., and J.T. Stull. 1999. Proteins that regulate dynamic actin remodeling in response to membrane signaling minireview series. J Biol Chem. 274:32529–30.
- Yin, H.L., K.S. Zaner, and T.P. Stossel. 1980. Ca²⁺ control of actin gelation. Interaction of gelsolin with actin filaments and regulation of actin gelation. J Biol Chem. 255:9494–500.
- Yu, F.X., P.A. Johnston, T.C. Sudhof, and H.L. Yin. 1990. gCap39, a calcium ion- and polyphosphoinositide-regulated actin capping protein. *Science*. 250:1413–5.
- Zerovnik, E. 2002. Amyloid-fibril formation. Proposed mechanisms and relevance to conformational disease. *Eur J Biochem.* 269:3362–71.

CHAPTER 4

GUANYLATE CYCLASE-ACTIVATING PROTEINS AND RETINA DISEASE

W. BAEHR¹ AND K. PALCZEWSKI²

¹Department of Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah 84112-5339, USA ²Department of Pharmacology, Case School of Medicine, Case Western Reserve University,

Cleveland, Ohio 44106-4965, USA

- Abstract: Detailed biochemical, structural and physiological studies of the role of Ca^{2+} -binding proteins in mammalian retinal neurons have yielded new insights into the function of these proteins in normal and pathological states. In phototransduction, a biochemical process that is responsible for the conversion of light into an electrical impulse, guanylate cyclases (GCs) are regulated by GC-activating proteins (GCAPs). These regulatory proteins respond to changes in cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} concentrations. Disruption of Ca^{2+} homeostasis in photoreceptor cells by genetic and environmental factors can result ultimately in degeneration of these congenital amaurosis and autosomal dominant cone dystrophy, respectively. This report provides a recent account of the advances, challenges, and possible future prospects of studying this important step in visual transduction that transcends to other neuronal Ca^{2+} homeostasis processes
- **Keywords:** Calcium, rod and cone photoreceptors, rod outer segments (ROS), retina, guanylate cyclase (GC), guanylate cyclase-activating proteins (GCAPs), EF-hand motif, Ca²⁺-binding protein, dominant cone dystrophy, Leber Congenital Amaurosis (LCA), cone dystrophy

1. THE PHOTOTRANSDUCTION CASCADE AND Ca²⁺ FEEDBACK

The rod phototransduction cascade is well researched and has been extensively reviewed (Polans et al., 1996; McBee et al., 2001; Baylor and Burns, 1998; Pugh, Jr. et al., 1999; Burns and Arshavsky, 2005). In darkness, the cytoplasm of the rod cell contains high levels of cGMP (1–10 μ M) maintaining a number of CNG channels in an open state. Within milliseconds after a light flash, cGMP-gated (CNG) cation channels close and photoreceptor cells hyperpolarize. Open CNG

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 71–91. © 2007 Springer.

channels allow an inward flow of cations (primarily Na⁺ and Ca²⁺), called the "dark current", across the plasma membrane. Single cell recordings with suction pipettes can measure this current, providing an extremely useful method to analyze phenotypes in genetically engineered rods (reviewed in (Burns and Baylor, 2001)). The main task of rhodopsin is to capture a photon and to activate the visual cascade. The activated state of rhodopsin, R*, acts as a guanine nucleotide-exchange factor (GEF), generating T*-GTP, the activator of a cGMP-specific phosphodiesterase (PDE). PDE* in turn rapidly hydrolyzes cGMP, thereby reducing the cytoplasmic level of cGMP and causing the CNG channels to close. CNG channel closure terminates the influx of cations, whereas the Na^+ , Ca^{2+}/K^+ exchanger (NCKX) continues to extrude Ca²⁺, producing hyperpolarization of the photoreceptor cell. The consequence of channel closure and NCKX activity is a rapid drop in internal free Ca²⁺, leading to activation of guanylate cyclase-activating proteins (GCAPs) to form Ca²⁺-free GCAPs, which can stimulate a membrane bound guanylate cyclase (GC) to accelerate production of cGMP from GTP (Figure 1). This is an important step in the recovery of photoreceptors to the dark state, which requires the reopening of CNG channels. Additional key steps for full recovery involve quenching excitatory intermediates of the rod cascade (R*, T*, and PDE*). Deactivation of



Figure 1. Negative cGMP/Ca²⁺ feedback loop. Light activates PDE which rapidly hydrolizes cGMP. Closure of cGMP-gated channels and continued activity of the Na⁺/Ca²⁺,K⁺ exchanger NCKX lowers intracellular Ca²⁺ leading to activation of GCs by GCAPs and cGMP re-synthesis (boxed area). Consequently, channels open and Ca²⁺ rises again to dark levels in a time course of less than one second (depending on light intensity)



Figure 2. The rod phototransduction cascade and human diseases associated with mutations in GC1 and GCAP1. The main proteins of the cascade are shown in gray. GC1 and GCAP1 represent the main components of the Ca^{2+} -regulated GC in rods and cones responsible for cGMP synthesis. IPM = Interphotoreceptor Matrix (See Colour Plate 7)

PDE*/T*-GTP is initiated by hydrolysis of GTP bound to T, which in turn is accelerated by a GTPase-accelerating protein (GAP) consisting of RGS9/G β 5/R9AP subunits, in conjunction with PDE γ (Krispel et al., 2006; Lyubarsky et al., 2001). Conversion of T*-GTP to T-GDP leads to inactivation of PDE by re-association of catalytic subunits with their γ -subunits. In this review, we explore the link to retinal diseases of GC1 and GC2 (Imanishi et al., 2002; Tucker et al., 1999; Tucker et al., 2004; Yang et al., 1999) and their Ca²⁺ dependent activators GCAP1 and GCAP2 (Palczewski et al., 2004; Newbold et al., 2002; Dizhoor, 2000) (Figure 2).

2. DIVERSITY OF GCs AND GCAPs

In mice and humans, two guanylate cyclases have been identified in the retina (termed GC-E and GC-F in mice, retGC1 and retGC2 in humans) (Lowe et al., 1995). For simplicity, in this review we will refer to these as GC1 and GC2, respectively. *In situ* hybridization of the human GC1 and GC2 shows localization in the photoreceptor cell bodies and inner segments (Imanishi et al., 2002) By immunocytochemistry, GCs are present in murine rods (Yang and Garbers, 1997; Hallett et al., 1996), and human/primate rods and cones (Liu et al., 1994; Imanishi et al., 2002).

There are also reports associating GC1 with the photoreceptor axoneme and microtubules (Fleischman et al., 1980; Hallett et al., 1996). Photoreceptor GC1 was also detected in the pineal gland and olfactory bulb (Duda and Koch, 2002), and in significant amounts in the cochlear nerve and in the organ of Corti (Seebacher et al., 1999).

In mice, only GCAP1 and GCAP2 are expressed, whereas in humans a third GCAP (GCAP3) is also present. *In situ* hybridization studies of GCAP mRNAs in bovine and monkey retinas revealed nearly identical expression patterns in the myoid regions of rod and cone photoreceptors (Otto-Bruc et al., 1997b; Imanishi et al., 2002). Immunocytochemical studies in mice demonstrated that GCAP1 is present in rods and cones, whereas GCAP2 is predominantly in rods and may also be present in cells of the inner retina where its function is unknown (Otto-Bruc



Figure 3. Alignment of cloned and predicted mammalian GCAP3 sequences, in comparison with a predicted chicken GCAP9 sequence identified in chicken genomic library. Prefix h, human; chimp, chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes); mac, macaque (Macaca mulatta); dog (Canis familiaris); c, chicken (Gallus gallus). hGCAP3 (Acc.: O95843); chimpGCAP3 (Acc.: XP_516639); macGCAP3 (Acc.: XP_001102050); dogGCAP3 (Acc.: XP_545090); cGCAP3 (Acc.: XP_425532); hGCAP3sv (splice variant) (Acc.: AAD19945); macGCAP3 (Acc.: XP_001101961)

et al., 1997b; Howes et al., 1998; Cuenca et al., 1998). ESTs encoding human GCAP1 have been cloned from other sources suggesting the presence of GCAP1 at low levels in other tissues (Palczewski et al., 2004). Most likely due to genome duplications, the diversity of GCAPs is more complex in lower vertebrates (teleost and pufferfish) where as many as 8 GCAP genes have been identified (Imanishi et al., 2004). Based on genome searches and EST analyses, the mouse and human genomes do not harbor GCAP4-8 genes. GCAP3 was originally only identified in human and teleosts (Imanishi et al., 2002), and a GCAP3 splice variant of unknown function was identified only in human (Haeseleer et al., 1999). Due to the progress in genome sequencing of many mammalian species, we also identified GCAP3 sequences in dog, macaque and chimpanzee and a GCAP3 splice variant in macaque (Figure 3). A sequence related to mammalian GCAP3, but distinct from GCAP4-8 and GCAP1-2 was identified in the chicken genome. We tentatively termed this sequence chicken GCAP9 (Figure 3).

3. GC STIMULATION BY GCAPs

Photoreceptor GCs have all the structural features characteristic of a membrane GC including a signal sequence, a large N-terminal extracellular domain, a single membrane-spanning region, a kinase-like homology domain, a hinge or dimerization domain, and a C-terminal catalytic domain. As a hallmark of biological function, photoreceptor GCs respond to changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_{free}$ mediated by Ca^{2+} -binding proteins called GCAPs. GCAPs stimulate GC in low $[Ca^{2+}]$ (light), whereas GCAPs are inactive at high $[Ca^{2+}]$ (dark). GCAPs interact with an intracellular domain of GC, because deletion of the extracellular domain has no effect on GCAP stimulation of GC. Deletion of the kinase-like domain diminished the stimulation by GCAP1 (Duda et al., 1996; Laura et al., 1996). Dimerization of GC1 may be an essential step for activation (Yu et al., 1999), possibly by forming homomers (Yang and Garbers, 1997).

In vitro experiments showed that GCAP1 effectively stimulates mostly GC1, whereas GCAP2 and GCAP3 stimulate both GC1 and GC2 (Haeseleer et al., 1999) (Figure 4). A mutation associated with a cone-rod dystrophy in the



Figure 4. Cellular localization and cross-stimulation of GC1 and GC2 by the three GCAPs

Table 1. Selected pathogenic mutations in GC1 (Additional mutations can be found in (Hanein et al., 2004)). LCA1, Leber congenital amaurosis type 1; ar, autosomal recessive; ad, autosomal dominant; RP, retinitis pigmentosa; CORD, cone-rod dystrophy; IRP, juvenile isolated RP; fs, frameshift; mis, missense; splice, splice site mutation; non, nonsense mutation

Exon	DNA mutation	AA change	type	Disease	Domain	References
2	nt460delC		fs	LCA1	Ext	(Perrault et al., 1996; Rozet et al., 2001)
2	nt693delC		fs	LCA1	Ext	(Perrault et al., 1996; Rozet et al., 2001)
2	52-99dup48bp		ins	LCA1	Ext	(Rozet et al., 2001)
2	226-239del14bp		fs	LCA1	Ext	(Rozet et al., 2001)
2	387delC		fs	LCA1	Ext	(Rozet et al., 2001)
2		M1I	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Rozet et al., 2001;
						Perrault et al., 2000)
2		W21 R	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Rozet et al., 2001)
2		L41 F	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Rozet et al., 2001;
						Perrault et al., 2000)
2		C105Y	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Tucker et al., 2004)
2		H109P	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Rozet et al., 2001)
2		N129K	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Perrault et al., 2000)
3		R313C	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Perrault et al., 2000)
		L325P	mis	LCA1	Ext	(Tucker et al., 2004)
7		R540C	mis	LCA1	Kin	(Rozet et al., 2001)
8	T1767C	F589S	mis	LCA1	Kin	(Perrault et al., 1996)
ivs8	IVS9-1G/T		splice	LCA1	Kin	(Perrault et al., 2000)
ivs8	IVS9-1 G/A		splice	LCA1	Kin	(Perrault et al., 2000)
ivs8	IVS0+2T/A		splice	LCA1	Kin	(Perrault et al., 2000)
9	1805-1829del25bp		fs	LCA1	Kin	(Rozet et al., 2001)
10	-	P701S		arRP		(Booij et al., 2005)
12		P768W		LCA		,
13		E837D	mis	adCORD	dim	(Kelsell et al., 1998;
						Payne et al., 2001;
						Perrault et al., 1998)
13		R838C(H,A,S)	mis	adCORD	dim	(Kelsell et al., 1998;
						Payne et al., 2001;
						Perrault et al., 1998;
						Van Ghelue et al., 2000)
13		T839M	mis	adCORD	dim	(Payne et al., 2001;
						Downes et al., 2001b;
						Perrault et al., 1998)
		R838H, 838C		adCORD	dim	(Ito et al., 2004b)
	C2636T	Q855ter	non	LCA1	dim	(El-Shanti et al., 1999)
		P858S		LCA1	dim	(Tucker et al., 2004)
	T2817C,G2822C	I915T, G917R	mis	adCORD	dim	(Ito et al., 2004a)
15		L954P		LCA1		(Tucker et al., 2004)
15		R976L	mis	LCA1	cat	(Rozet et al., 2001;
						Perrault et al., 2000)
15	2943deIGc. 3043+4A>T		fs	arRP	cat	(Perrault et al., 2005)
16		R995W	mis	LCA1	cat	(Rozet et al., 2001)

17	3078-3079delGA		fs	LCA	cat	(Rozet et al., 2001)
17		H1019P	mis	LCA	cat	(Rozet et al., 2001)
18		P1069R	mis	IRP	cat	(Booij et al., 2005)
18	3236insACCA			arRP	cat	(Perrault et al., 2005)

human GC1 gene (R838C, Table 1) was shown to dramatically reduce stimulation by GCAP2 whereas increasing the affinity for GCAP1 and altering the Ca²⁺sensitivity (Tucker et al., 1999). These and other results suggest that GCAP1 and GCAP2 may have distinct but overlapping contact sites on GC1. Several extensive reviews summarize the regulation of GCs by GCAPs *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Koch et al., 2002; Pugh, Jr. et al., 1997; Hurley and Dizhoor, 2000; Palczewski et al., 2000; Palczewski et al., 2004). Based on these studies, two mechanisms emerged describing the stimulation of GC in the recovery phase of phototransduction. One model assumes changes within the flexible central helix of GCAP1 upon Ca²⁺ dissociation, causing relative reorientation of two structural domains containing a pair of EF-hand motifs and thus switching its targets, GCs, from an inactive (or basal activity) to an active conformation. The second model proposes that dimerization of GCAPs is part of the mechanism by which this protein regulates GCs (Olshevskaya et al., 1999b).

An important factor in GC regulation is ATP (Duda et al., 1993), a nucleotide that causes an increase in the V_{max} of GC (Otto-Bruc et al., 1997a; Gorczyca et al., 1994; Yamazaki et al., 2006; Yamazaki et al., 2005; Sitaramayya et al., 1995). We found that ATP doubled the affinity of retGC1 for GCAP1 in reconstituted systems composed of purified GCAP1 and washed ROS or recombinant photoreceptor GC1 (Otto-Bruc et al., 1997a). Dizhoor et al. found that ATP potentiates stimulation of GC by GCAP2 and that neither the extracellular nor the transmembrane domains of GC1 participate in its regulation by ATP (Laura et al., 1996). These data suggest strongly that ATP is a key component of GC1 regulation by GCAPs. ATP influences the rate of cGMP production by increasing the rate of catalysis and affinity for GCAP1.

4. PHOTORECEPTOR GC GENES, KNOCKOUTS AND RETINA DISEASE

Null mutations in the GC1 gene (*GUCY2D*, *chromosome 17q*) have been linked to Leber congenital amaurosis type 1 (LCA1) (Perrault et al., 1996), and missense mutations have been linked to dominant cone-rod dystrophy (Kelsell et al., 1998) (Figure 5; Table 1). The GC2 (*GUCY2F*) gene on Xq22 (Yang et al., 1996) has not been linked to a disease phenotype. In a naturally occurring animal model that is null for GC1 (*rd* chicken), both rods and cones degenerate rapidly starting one week post-hatch (Semple-Rowland et al., 1998). Thus, expression of a functional GC1



Figure 5. Cartoon of the human GC1 gene and GC1 disease mutations. In general, null mutations are associated with recessive LCA, whereas missense mutations in the dimerization domain are associated with dominant cone dystrophy

gene in chicken retina is essential for survival of rods and cones. In GC1 knock-out mouse models, rod photoreceptor function is preserved but cones are non-functional and degenerate (Yang et al., 1999; Coleman et al., 2004). In mice, therefore, GC1 is essential only for cones, whereas GC2 (or yet another unidentified GC) can substitute, in part, for the loss of GC1 in rods (Yang et al., 1999). Mutations in GC1 that are associated with CORD6 are restricted to the dimerization domain. Important missense mutations of the dimerization domain in exon 13 include E837D, R838C, and T839M (Table 1). It is speculated that these mutations lead to the production of a mutant cyclase that interferes with normal protein dimerization or with Ca^{2+} dependent regulation of GC by GCAPs.

5. GCAP KNOCKOUT AND TRANSGENIC MICE: ROLES OF GCAP1 AND GCAP2

GCAP1 and GCAP2 genes are organized in a tail-to-tail array on mouse chromosome 17 (Figure 6) facilitating a double knockout (dko) with one construct. The phenotype of GCAPdko in rods and cones consisted of a delayed return to the dark-adapted state, consistent with a defect in GC stimulation (Mendez et al., 2001; Pennesi et al., 2003). Absence of GCAPs in photoreceptors, however, did not cause retinal degeneration indicating that GCAP genes are not essential for the development or the survival of photoreceptors.

We provided evidence that transgenic GCAP1 can rescue the $GCAP^{-/-}$ phenotype and that GCAP1 supports the generation of normal flash responses in rods in the absence of GCAP2 (Howes et al., 2002). In contrast, when GCAP2 was expressed on the $GCAP^{-/-}$ background, normal rod flash responses were not restored (Mendez et al., 2001). We also analyzed these mice for restoration of the cone response (Pennesi et al., 2003). These studies revealed that, similar to rods, deletion of GCAP1 and GCAP2 delays the recovery of light responses in cones and that GCAP1 restores the recovery of cone responses in the absence of GCAP2.



Figure 6. GCAP1 and GCAP2 genes are arranged in a tail-to-tail array on mouse chromosome 17 (top). This arrangement facilitates to knockout both genes simultaneously (second from top). Two transgenic lines were generated (G1T3 and G1T4) to express transgenic GCAPs on a GCAPs knockout background

6. GCAP MUTATIONS AND RETINA DISEASE

The GCAP1 gene has been linked to autosomal dominant cone or cone-rod dystrophies (adCD, adCORD) in several unrelated families (Figure 7), and the GCAP2 gene was recently linked to autosomal dominant RP in a single small family (Sato et al., 2005). The Y99C mutation is located adjacent to the EF3-hand motif (Payne et al., 1998) and three mutations (I143NT, E155G, L151F) have been described in or adjacent to the EF4-hand motif (Wilkie et al., 2001; Nishiguchi et al., 2004; Sokal et al., 2004; Jiang et al., 2005). A fifth mutation (P50L) is located between



Figure 7. Sequence alignment and positions of mutations associated with disease. Functional EF-hand motifs are shaded. Positions of mutations are indicated by vertical arrows. Conserved residues are printed white on black or gray background. In GCAP1, Y99C is located adjacent to EF3 and I143NT, E155G, L151F are located in EF4. For GCAP2, G157R is located in EF4

EF1 and EF2, and does not affect Ca^{2+} binding (Newbold et al., 2001). A single identified mutation in GCAP2 is located within the EF4-hand motif (Sato et al., 2005) (Figure 7).

6.1. The GCAP1(Y99C) Mutation

Patients with autosomal dominant cone dystrophy have reduced visual acuity and experience a complete loss of color vision. In a four-generation British family (27 members, 7 affected), dominant cone dystrophy was mapped to chromosome 6p21.1, the locus of the GCAP1/GCAP2 gene array (Payne et al., 1998). A missense mutation $(A \rightarrow G)$ at codon 99 in exon 2 of the gene encoding GCAP1 (GUCA1A) was identified. The mutation replaced Tyr at position 99 with Cys (Y99C), a change that was absent in over 200 unrelated controls. The same mutation was later identified independently in two ancestrally related families (Downes et al., 2001a). The Y99C mutation in GCAP1 has been reported to cause both cone-rod dystrophy and isolated macular dysfunction (Michaelides et al., 2005). The authors suggested that the phenotypic variation indicated an intrafamilial heterogeneity of retinal dysfunction that can be observed in persons harboring the same mutation. The residue Tyr99 immediately precedes the EF3-hand motif, one of three functional EFhand high affinity Ca²⁺-binding sites in GCAPs. Residues flanking the hydrophilic Ca^{2+} -binding loop are invariantly hydrophobic (Falke et al., 1994). Substitution by a smaller polar Cys leads to changes in the orientation of the N-terminal a-helix and a decrease in affinity for Ca²⁺. When Tyr99 was replaced by Trp, a hydrophobic residue, biological activity of mutant GCAP1 was unchanged (Sokal et al., 1999). Analysis of the EF3-hand motif Ca²⁺ binding kinetics with the Y99W mutant (W3Cys-), exploiting the intrinsic Trp fluorescence of Trp99, showed a significant increase in the Trp fluorescence intensity of W3-GCAP1(w⁻) in the presence of high Ca^{2+} , reflecting a conformational change (Sokal et al., 1999). The change in fluorescence provided a convenient tool to measure the kinetics of Ca²⁺ binding using a stopped flow setup. The results showed that GCAP1 rapidly binds Ca²⁺ $(k_1 > 2 \times 10^8 M^{-1} s^{-1})$ and rapidly loses its bound $Ca^{2+}(k_{-1} = 72 s^{-1} at 37^{\circ}C)$ at the EF3-hand motif, thereby displaying thermodynamic and kinetic properties that are compatible with its involvement early in the phototransduction response. Thus, the EF3-hand motif is a key region for conversion of GCAP1 from activator to inhibitor consistent with mutations in this region being causative of cone dystrophy.

6.2. The GCAP1(P50L) Mutation

The GCAP1(P50L) mutation was also suggested to be associated with autosomal cone dystrophy (Downes et al., 2001a; Newbold et al., 2001). Amino acid residue Pro50 is located in a variable region between the EF1-hand and EF2-hand motifs (Figure 7), and not conserved in other GCAPs. We found that biochemical properties of recombinant GCAP1(P50L) were largely identical to WT GCAP1, activating

photoreceptor GC at $[Ca^{2+}] < 100$ nM and inhibiting it at micromolar concentrations (Sokal et al., 2000). We also found a reduced capacity to bind free Ca²⁺ which can lead to changes in cone photoreceptor Ca²⁺homeostasis (Sokal et al., 2000). Newbold *et al.* demonstrated that the P50L mutant was less stable and more susceptible to proteolysis (Newbold et al., 2001). The biochemical mechanism leading to dominant cone dystrophy with this mutation in GCAP1 is unclear.

6.3. The GCAP1(E155G) Mutation

An A464G transition in the *GUCA1A* gene, not seen in 200 normal controls, was identified in a large dominant cone dystrophy pedigree of 67 individuals, of whom 33 were found to be affected (Wilkie et al., 2001). The age at onset of decreased visual acuity and color vision defects was 8–24 years. This transition changes amino acid Glu155 in the EF4-hand motif to Gly, and is predicted to affect Ca^{2+} coordination at the EF4-hand motif. Ca^{2+} binding at the EF4-hand motif does not affect structural changes of GCAP1 to the same extent as it does at the EF3-hand motif, as shown measuring intrinsic fluorescence as a function of Ca^{2+} using a Trp at position 142 (Sokal et al., 1999). However, it is expected to exert similar dominant effects on GC1 stimulation as does GCAP1(Y99C). The residue Glu155 of GCAP1 is invariant in all GCAPs (Palczewski et al., 2004); an invariant Glu at position 12 of the EF-hand loop, contributing both of its side-chain oxygen atoms to the metal-ion coordination, has been shown to be essential for Ca^{2+} coordination (Nakayama et al., 1992; Falke et al., 1994).

6.4. The I143NT Mutation

A novel GCAP1 mutation, I143NT (substitution of Ile at codon 143 by Asn and Thr) affecting the EF4-hand Ca^{2+} -binding loop was identified in a heterozygote father and son with autosomal dominant cone degeneration. Both patients had much greater loss of cone function versus rod function; previous histopathologic evaluation of the father's eyes at autopsy (age 75 years) showed no foveal cones and only a few, scattered cones remaining in the peripheral retina. Biochemical analysis showed that the GCAP1-I143NT mutant adopted a conformation susceptible to proteolysis, and the recombinant mutant protein inhibited GC only partially at high Ca^{2+} concentrations. Properties of the GCAP1-I143NT mutant protein suggest that it is incompletely inactivated by high Ca^{2+} concentrations as should occur with dark adaptation.

6.5. The GCAP1(L151F) Mutation

GCAP1(L151F) mutations affecting the EF4-hand motif linked to dominant cone dystrophy and cone-rod dystrophy were identified in two unrelated families. In one family (Sokal et al., 2004), affected family members experienced dyschromatopsia, hemeralopia, and reduced visual acuity by the second to third decade

of life. Electrophysiology revealed a non-recordable photopic response with later attenuation of the scotopic response. GCAP1-L151F stimulation of photoreceptor GC was not completely inhibited at high physiological $[Ca^{2+}]$, consistent with a lowered affinity for Ca^{2+} binding to the EF4-hand motif. These results showed that a conservative L151F mutation in the EF4-hand motif of GCAP1 is associated with adCORD. Although there is a conservative substitution, molecular dynamics suggests a significant change in Ca^{2+} binding to the EF4-hand and EF2-hand motifs and changes of the shape of L151F-GCAP1.

In a second family (Jiang et al., 2005) of 24 individuals at risk for disease in a five generation family, 11 members were affected. Clinical presentations included photophobia, color vision defects, central acuity loss, and legal blindness with advanced age. The disease phenotype was observed in the second and third decades of life and segregated in an autosomal dominant fashion. An electroretinographic analysis was consistent with cone dystrophy. Mutational analysis and direct sequencing revealed a C451T transition in GUCA1A, corresponding to a L151F mutation in GCAP1.

6.6. The GCAP2(G157R) Mutation

All GCAP1 mutations identified to date and linked to dystrophy are in high-affinity Ca^{2+} -binding sites (exception P50L), affecting association/dissociation of Ca^{2+} . Recently, a G157R mutation in the EF4-hand motif of GCAP2 (Figure 7) was reported to be associated with autosomal dominant RP in 3 families of Japanese origin (Sato et al., 2005). Gly157 is a key conserved residue in the EF4-hand motif, and its replacement by R is expected to influence Ca^{2+} binding, similar to that observed for the EF3/4-hand motif mutations in GCAP1. The mutation is a strong candidate for causing dominant RP for the following reasons. First, in GCAP2, the EF4-hand motif is more important for Ca²⁺-dependent stimulation of GC than the EF3-hand motif that contributes to Ca²⁺ sensitivity of GC only weakly (Olshevskaya et al., 1999a). For example, a GCAP2(Y104C) mutation, corresponding to GCAP1(Y99C) linked to disease, has no effect on Ca²⁺ sensitivity (Dizhoor et al., 1998). Second, the mutation is predicted to affect severely the affinity of Ca²⁺ to the EF4-hand motif. Third, GCAP2 is expressed predominantly in rods, thus mutations will affect rods consistent with an RP-like phenotype. Fourth, the G157R mutation segregated with RP in Japanese patients and was not present in over 100 control subjects.

7. THE BIOCHEMICAL PHENOTYPE OF CONE DYSTROPHIES ASSOCIATED WITH EF-HAND MOTIF MUTATIONS

Cone-specific degeneration is consistent with high expression levels of GCAP1 in cone outer segments. All mutations alter the Ca^{2+} sensitivity of GCAP1, leading to constitutive stimulation of GC1 at high $[Ca^{2+}]_{i}$ limiting its ability to fully inactivate GC1 under physiological dark conditions (Figure 8). Persistent stimulation of GC



Figure 8. Stimulation of GC activity in ROS membranes by normal and mutant GCAP1s as a function of Ca^{2+} . The dark shaded area indicates low $[Ca^{2+}]_{free}$ expected in the dark-adapted photoreceptors, the lighter shaded area reflects high $[Ca^{2+}]_{free}$ expected in the light. Mutant GCAP1s are active at Ca^{2+} concentrations which inactivate normal GCAP1 (See Colour Plate 8)

by the mutant proteins is predicted to lead to elevated levels of cGMP in the darkadapted retina, which in turn causes a higher percentage of cGMP-gated channels in the plasma membrane to be opened. The altered physiological cGMP levels may be subtle and thus cause relatively slow retinal degeneration. The reason for the mostly cone-specific degeneration in response to this physiological defect is unknown. GCAP1 may be more active in cones than rods, or, alternatively, it may reflect other differences in cGMP metabolism between rods and cones. Animal models with homologous dominant GCAP1 mutations will be helpful to address this uncertainty. A mouse line expressing GCAP1(Y99C) was generated and shown to shift the Ca^{2+} sensitivity of GCs in photoreceptors, keeping it partially active at 250 nM free Ca^{2+} , the normal resting Ca^{2+} concentration in darkness (Olshevskaya et al., 2004).

8. GCAP MUTATIONS AND EFFECTS ON STRUCTURE

GCAPs belong to the EF-hand motif-containing superfamily of Ca^{2+} -binding proteins from the calmodulin superfamily (Lewit-Bentley and Rety, 2000; Bhattacharya et al., 2004). The structures of several members of the "recoverin branch" of the EF-hand

motif-containing superfamily have been solved. These include the NMR structure of GCAP2 (Ames et al., 1999), crystal structure of GCAP3 (Stephen et al., 2006), and the crystal structures of recoverin (Flaherty et al., 1993), neurocalcin (Vijay-Kumar and Kumar, 1999), frequenin (Bourne et al., 2001), calcineurin (Griffith et al., 1995) and the Ca²⁺–and–Integrin–Binding protein (CIB) (Padmanabhan et al., 2004). These proteins display remarkable structural similarities despite a relatively modest 40–60% sequence similarity. The crystal structure of GCAP3 was determined recently (Stephen et al., 2006) and shows three EF-hand Ca²⁺ binding motifs whereas, as expected for a GCAP family member, Ca²⁺ binding to the EF1-hand motif is disabled as observed in the NMR structure of GCAP2 (Ames et al., 1999). The loop connecting the two helices in the EF1-hand motif is one amino acid shorter than the canonical EF loop and this domain is missing three of the Ca²⁺ coordinating side chains (Figure 9).

GCAPs arrange their four EF-hand motifs into two domains encompassing the EF1-hand and EF2-hand motifs from the N-terminal domain connected by a linker to a C-terminal domain composed of the EF3-hand and EF4-hand motifs (Figure 9). This arrangement resembles the two lobe structure of calmodulin (Lewit-Bentley and Rety, 2000; Bhattacharya et al., 2004). The structures of the C-terminal domains of calmodulin and GCAP3 are superimposable (Stephen et al., 2006). However, the relative arrangement of the two domains is quite different because in GCAPs the central helix is kinked whereas it is more extended in calmodulin. Thus, calmodulin adopts a dumbbell shape; GCAPs have a compact structure with all



Figure 9. The structure of GCAP3 (Stephen et al., 2006). Residues that correspond to pathogenic mutations in GCAP1, the structure of which is unknown, are shown in yellow with the side chains. Ca^{2+} is shown as yellow spheres. Molecular graphics representations were created with PYMOL (Warren L. DeLano "The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System." DeLano Scientific LLC, San Carlos, CA, USA. http://www.pymol.org) (See Colour Plate 9)

four EF-hand motifs in a tandem array. This compact arrangement is typical of recoverin and other Ca^{2+} -binding proteins in the "recoverin branch" of the EF-hand motif-containing superfamily.

The interface between GCs and GCAPs has been investigated extensively by biophysical methods (Hurley and Dizhoor, 2000; Krylov et al., 1999; Laura and Hurley, 1998; Sokal et al., 2002; Krylov and Hurley, 2001). However, no direct structural analysis of the complex has been obtained yet. Most of the pathogenic mutations occur at the EF3-hand and EF4-hand motifs, dis-regulating Ca²⁺ inactivation (Figure 9). This is in excellent agreement with biochemical data which show that these two EF-hand motifs are critical for conformational changes that inactivate GCAPs (Rudnicka-Nawrot et al., 1998; Sokal et al., 1999). Whether these residues form the interface in the complex with GC is unclear, although evolutionary trace analysis suggests this as a possibility (Imanishi et al., 2004).

9. OUTLOOK

Further research will be necessary to provide more details about the regulation of GCs by GCAPs, specifically on the structural level. Of particular interest will be finding a cure for retinal dystrophies associated with mutations in the GC1 and GCAP genes. GC mutations causing the most devastating blindness, LCA, may be treated by gene transfer if implemented before onset of retina degeneration. Viral gene transfer therapies of retinal diseases by an adeno-associated virus (AAV) vector have been very successful in several recessive animal models (Acland et al., 2001; Bennett et al., 1999; Bennett et al., 1998; Batten et al., 2005; LaVail et al., 2000; Haire et al., 2006; Williams et al., 2006). Cone and cone-rod dystrophies linked to GCAP1 mutations may be treatable by small molecules that inactivate GCAP1. The search for such molecules is underway.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by NIH grant EY08123 awarded to W.B., and NIH grant EY09339 to K.P. W.B. further acknowledges generous support from the Center Grant to the University of Utah (Foundation Fighting Blindness, Inc. Owen Mills, MD).

REFERENCES

- Acland, G.M., Aguirre, G.D., Ray, J., Zhang, Q., Aleman, T.S., Cideciyan, A.V., Pearce-Kelling, S.E., Anand, V., Zeng, Y., Maguire, A.M., Jacobson, S.G., Hauswirth, W.W., and Bennett, J. (2001). *Gene* therapy restores vision in a canine model of childhood blindness. Nat. Genet. 28: 92–95.
- Ames, J.B., Dizhoor, A.M., Ikura, M., Palczewski, K., and Stryer, L. (1999). Three-dimensional structure of guanylyl cyclase activating protein-2, a calcium-sensitive modulator of photoreceptor guanylyl cyclases. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 19329–19337.
- Batten, M.L., Imanishi, Y., Tu, D.C., Doan, T., Zhu, L., Pang, J., Glushakova, L., Moise, A.R., Baehr, W., Gelder, R.N., Hauswirth, W.W., Rieke, F., and Palczewski, K. (2005). *Pharmacological and rAAV*

Gene Therapy Rescue of Visual Functions in a Blind Mouse Model of Leber Congenital Amaurosis. PLoS. Med. 2: e333.

Baylor, D.A. and Burns, M.E. (1998). Control of rhodopsin activity in vision. Eye 12 (Pt 3b): 521-525.

- Bennett, J., Maguire, A.M., Cideciyan, A.V., Schnell, M., Glover, E., Anand, V., Aleman, T.S., Chirmule, N., Gupta, A.R., Huang, Y., Gao, G.P., Nyberg, W.C., Tazelaar, J., Hughes, J., Wilson, J.M., and Jacobson, S.G. (1999). Stable transgene expression in rod photoreceptors after recombinant adeno-associated virus-mediated gene transfer to monkey retina. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 96: 9920–9925.
- Bennett, J., Zeng, Y., Bajwa, R., Klatt, L., Li, Y., and Maguire, A.M. (1998). Adenovirus-mediated delivery of rhodopsin-promoted bcl-2 results in a delay in photoreceptor cell death in the rd/rd mouse. Gene Ther. 5: 1156–1164.
- Bhattacharya, S., Bunick, C.G., and Chazin, W.J. (2004). Target selectivity in EF-hand calcium binding proteins. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1742: 69–79.
- Booij, J.C., Florijn, R.J., ten Brink, J.B., Loves, W., Meire, F., van Schooneveld, M.J., de Jong, P.T., and Bergen, A.A. (2005). *Identification of mutations in the AIPL1, CRB1, GUCY2D, RPE65, and RPGRIP1 genes in patients with juvenile retinitis pigmentosa.* J. Med. Genet. 42: e67.
- Bourne, Y., Dannenberg, J., Pollmann, V., Marchot, P., and Pongs, O. (2001). Immunocytochemical localization and crystal structure of human frequenin (neuronal calcium sensor 1). J. Biol. Chem. 276: 11949–11955.
- Burns, M.E. and Arshavsky, V.Y. (2005). Beyond counting photons: trials and trends in vertebrate visual transduction. Neuron 48: 387–401.
- Burns, M.E. and Baylor, D.A. (2001). Activation, deactivation, and adaptation in vertebrate photoreceptor cells. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24: 779–805.
- Coleman, J.E., Zhang, Y., Brown, G.A., and Semple-Rowland, S.L. (2004). Cone cell survival and downregulation of GCAP1 protein in the retinas of GC1 knockout mice. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci 45: 3397–3403.
- Cuenca, N., Lopez, S., Howes, K., and Kolb, H. (1998). The localization of guanylyl cyclase-activating proteins in the mammalian retina. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 39: 1243–1250.
- Dizhoor, A.M. (2000). Regulation of cGMP synthesis in photoreceptors: role in signal transduction and congenital diseases of the retina. Cell Signal. 12: 711–719.
- Dizhoor, A.M., Boikov, S.G., and Olshevskaya, E. (1998). Constitutive activation of photoreceptor guanylate cyclase by Y99C mutant of GCAP-1. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 17311–17314.
- Downes, S.M., Holder, G.E., Fitzke, F.W., Payne, A.M., Warren, M.J., Bhattacharya, S.S., and Bird, A.C. (2001a). Autosomal dominant cone and cone-rod dystrophy with mutations in the guanylate cyclase activator 1A gene-encoding guanylate cyclase activating protein-1. Arch. Ophthalmol. 119: 96–105.
- Downes, S.M., Payne, A.M., Kelsell, R.E., Fitzke, F.W., Holder, G.E., Hunt, D.M., Moore, A.T., and Bird, A.C. (2001b). Autosomal dominant cone-rod dystrophy with mutations in the guanylate cyclase 2D gene encoding retinal guanylate cyclase-1. Arch. Ophthalmol. 119: 1667–1673.
- Duda, T., Goraczniak, R.M., and Sharma, R.K. (1993). The glycine residue of ATP regulatory module in receptor guanylate cyclases that is essential in natriuretic factor signaling. FEBS Lett. 335: 309–314.
- Duda, T., Goraczniak, R.M., Surgucheva, I., Rudnicka-Nawrot, M., Gorczyca, W.A., Palczewski, K., Sitaramayya, A., Baehr, W., and Sharma, R.K. (1996). *Calcium modulation of bovine photoreceptor* guanylate cyclase. Biochemistry 35: 8478–8482.
- Duda, T. and Koch, K.W. (2002). Calcium-modulated membrane guanylate cyclase in synaptic transmission? Mol. Cell Biochem. 230: 107–116.
- El-Shanti, H., Al-Salem, M., El-Najjar, M., Ajlouni, K., Beck, J., Sheffiled, V.C., and Stone, E.M. (1999). A nonsense mutation in the retinal specific guanylate cyclase gene is the cause of Leber congenital amaurosis in a large inbred kindred from Jordan. J. Med. Genet. 36: 862–865.
- Falke, J.J., Drake, S.K., Hazard, A.L., and Peerson, O.B. (1994). *Molecular tuning of ion binding to calcium signaling proteins*. Q. Rev. Biophys. 27: 219–290.
- Flaherty, K.M., Zozulya, S., Stryer, L., and McKay, D.B. (1993). *Three-dimensional structure of recoverin, a calcium sensor in vision*. Cell 75: 709–716.

- Fleischman, D., Denisevich, M., Raveed, D., and Pannbacker, R.G. (1980). Association of guanylate cyclase with the axoneme of retinal rods. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 630: 176–186.
- Gorczyca, W.A., Van Hooser, J.P., and Palczewski, K. (1994). Nucleotide inhibitors and activators of retinal guanylyl cyclase. Biochemistry 33: 3217–3222.
- Griffith, J.P., Kim, J.L., Kim, E.E., Sintchak, M.D., Thomson, J.A., Fitzgibbon, M.J., Fleming, M.A., Caron, P.R., Hsiao, K., and Navia, M.A. (1995). X-ray structure of calcineurin inhibited by the immunophilin-immunosuppressant FKBP12-FK506 complex. Cell 82: 507–522.
- Haeseleer, F., Sokal, I., Li, N., Pettenati, M., Rao, N., Bronson, D., Wechter, R., Baehr, W., and Palczewski, K. (1999). *Molecular characterization of a third member of the guanylyl cyclaseactivating protein subfamily*. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 6526–6535.
- Haire, S.E., Pang, J., Boye, S.L., Sokal, I., Craft, C.M., Palczewski, K., Hauswirth, W.W., and Semple-Rowland, S.L. (2006). *Light-Driven Cone Arrestin Translocation in Cones of Postnatal Guanylate Cyclase-1 Knockout Mouse Retina Treated with AAV-GC1*. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci 47: 3745–3753.
- Hallett, M.A., Delaat, J.L., Arikawa, K., Schlamp, C.L., Kong, F., and Williams, D.R. (1996). Distribution of guanylate cyclase within photoreceptor outer segments. J. Cell Sci. 109: 1803–1812.
- Hanein, S., Perrault, I., Gerber, S., Tanguy, G., Barbet, F., Ducroq, D., Calvas, P., Dollfus, H., Hamel, C., Lopponen, T., Munier, F., Santos, L., Shalev, S., Zafeiriou, D., Dufier, J.L., Munnich, A., Rozet, J.M., and Kaplan, J. (2004). *Leber congenital amaurosis: comprehensive survey of the genetic heterogeneity, refinement of the clinical definition, and genotype-phenotype correlations as a strategy for molecular diagnosis.* Hum. Mutat. 23: 306–317.
- Howes, K.A., Bronson, J.D., Dang, Y.L., Li, N., Zhang, K., Ruiz, C.C., Helekar, B.S., Lee, M., Subbaraya, I., Kolb, H., Chen, J., and Baehr, W. (1998). *Gene array and expression of mouse retina* guanylate cyclase activating proteins 1 and 2. Invest. Ophthalmol. & Vis. Sci. 39: 867–875.
- Howes, K.A., Pennesi, M.E., Sokal, I., Church-Kopish, J., Schmidt, B., Margolis, D., Frederick, J.M., Rieke, F., Palczewski, K., Wu, S.M., Detwiler, P.B., and Baehr, W. (2002). GCAP1 rescues rod photoreceptor response in GCAP1/GCAP2 knockout mice. EMBO J. 21: 1545–1554.
- Hurley, J.B. and Dizhoor, A.M. (2000). Heterologous expression and assays for photoreceptor guanylyl cyclases and guanylyl cyclase activating proteins. Methods Enzymol. 315: 708–717.
- Imanishi, Y., Li, N., Sowa, M.E., Lichtarge, O., Wensel, T.G., Saperstein, D.A., Baehr, W., and Palczewski, K. (2002). *Characterization of retinal guanylate cyclase-activating protein 3 (GCAP3)* from zebrafish to man. Eur. J. Neurosci. 15: 63–78.
- Imanishi, Y., Yang, L., Sokal, I., Filipek, S., Palczewski, K., and Baehr, W. (2004). Diversity of guanylate cyclase-activating proteins (GCAPs) in teleost fish: Characterization of three novel GCAPs (GCAP4, GCAP5, GCAP7) from zebrafish (Danio rerio) and prediction of eight GCAPs (GCAP1-8) in pufferfish (Fugu rubripes). J. Mol. Evol. 59: 204–217.
- Ito, S., Nakamura, M., Nuno, Y., Ohnishi, Y., Nishida, T., and Miyake, Y. (2004a). Novel complex GUCY2D mutation in Japanese family with cone-rod dystrophy. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci 45: 1480–1485.
- Ito, S., Nakamura, M., Ohnishi, Y., and Miyake, Y. (2004b). Autosomal dominant cone-rod dystrophy with R838H and R838C mutations in the GUCY2D gene in Japanese patients. Jpn. J. Ophthalmol. 48: 228–235.
- Jiang, L., Katz, B.J., Yang, Z., Zhao, Y., Faulkner, N., Hu, J., Baird, J., Baehr, W., Creel, D.J., and Zhang, K. (2005). Autosomal dominant cone dystrophy caused by a novel mutation in the GCAP1 gene (GUCA1A). Mol. Vis. 11: 143–151.
- Kelsell, R.E., Gregory-Evans K, Payne, A.M., Perrault, I., Kaplan, J., Yang, R.-B., Garbers, D.L., Bird, A.C., Moore, A.T., and Hunt, D.F. (1998). *Mutations in the retinal guanylate cyclase (RETGC-1)* gene in dominant con-rod dystrophy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 7: 1179–1184.
- Koch, K.W., Duda, T., and Sharma, R.K. (2002). Photoreceptor specific guanylate cyclases in vertebrate phototransduction. Mol. Cell Biochem. 230: 97–106.
- Krispel, C.M., Chen, D., Melling, N., Chen, Y.J., Martemyanov, K.A., Quillinan, N., Arshavsky, V.Y., Wensel, T.G., Chen, C.K., and Burns, M.E. (2006). RGS Expression Rate-Limits Recovery of Rod Photoresponses. Neuron 51: 409–416.

- Krylov, D.M. and Hurley, J.B. (2001). Identification of proximate regions in a complex of retinal guanylyl cyclase 1 and guanylyl cyclase activating protein-1 by a novel mass spectrometry based method. J Biol. Chem. 276: 30648–30654.
- Krylov, D.M., Niemi, G.A., Dizhoor, A.M., and Hurley, J.B. (1999). Mapping Sites in Guanylyl Cyclase Activating Protein-1 Required for Regulation of Photoreceptor Membrane Guanylyl Cyclases. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 10833–10839.
- Laura, R.P., Dizhoor, A.M., and Hurley, J.B. (1996). The membrane guanylyl cyclase, retinal guanylyl cyclase-1, is activated through its intracellular domain. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 11646–11651.
- Laura, R.P. and Hurley, J.B. (1998). *The kinase homology domain of retinal guanylyl cyclases 1 and 2 specifies the affinity and cooperativity of interaction with guanylyl cyclase activating protein-2.* Biochemistry *37*: 11264–11271.
- LaVail, M.M., Yasumura, D., Matthes, M.T., Drenser, K.A., Flannery, J.G., Lewin, A.S., and Hauswirth, W.W. (2000). *Ribozyme rescue of photoreceptor cells in P23H transgenic rats: long- term survival* and late-stage therapy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 97: 11488–11493.
- Lewit-Bentley, A. and Rety, S. (2000). *EF-hand calcium-binding proteins*. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 10: 637–643.
- Liu, X., Seno, K., Nishizawa, Y., Hayashi, F., Yamazaki, A., Matsumoto, H., Wakabayashi, T., and Usukura, J. (1994). Ultrastructural localization of retinal guanylate cyclase in human and monkey retinas. Exp. Eye Res. 59: 761–768.
- Lowe, D.G., Dizhoor, A.M., Liu, K., Gu, Q., Spencer, M., Laura, R., Lu, L., and Hurley, J.B. (1995). Cloning and expression of a second photoreceptor-specific membrane retina guanylyl cyclase (RetGC), RetGC-2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92: 5535–5539.
- Lyubarsky, A.L., Naarendorp, F., Zhang, X., Wensel, T., Simon, M.I., and Pugh, E.N., Jr. (2001). *RGS9-1 is required for normal inactivation of mouse cone phototransduction*. Mol. Vis. 7: 71–78.
- McBee, J.K., Palczewski, K., Baehr, W., and Pepperberg, D.R. (2001). Confronting complexity: the interlink of phototransduction and retinoid metabolism in the vertebrate retina. Prog. Retin. Eye Res. 20: 469–529.
- Mendez, A., Burns, M.E., Sokal, I., Dizhoor, A.M., Baehr, W., Palczewski, K., Baylor, D.A., and Chen, J. (2001). Role of guanylate cyclase-activating proteins (GCAPs) in setting the flash sensitivity of rod photoreceptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 98: 9948–9953.
- Michaelides, M., Wilkie, S.E., Jenkins, S., Holder, G.E., Hunt, D.M., Moore, A.T., and Webster, A.R. (2005). Mutation in the gene GUCA1A, encoding guanylate cyclase-activating protein 1, causes cone, cone-rod, and macular dystrophy. Ophthalmology 112: 1442–1447.
- Nakayama, S., Moncrief, N.D., and Kretsinger, R.H. (1992). Evolution of EF-hand calcium-modulated proteins II. Domains of several subfamilies have diverse evolutionary histories. J. Mol. Evol. 34: 416–448.
- Newbold, R.J., Deery, E.C., Payne, A.M., Wilkie, S.E., Hunt, D.M., and Warren, M.J. (2002). Guanylate cyclase activating proteins, guanylate cyclase and disease. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 514: 411–438.
- Newbold, R.J., Deery, E.C., Walker, C.E., Wilkie, S.E., Srinivasan, N., Hunt, D.M., Bhattacharya, S.S., and Warren, M.J. (2001). *The destabilization of human GCAP1 by a proline to leucine mutation might cause cone-rod dystrophy*. Hum. Mol. Genet 10: 47–54.
- Nishiguchi, K.M., Sokal, I., Yang, L., Roychowdhury, N., Palczewski, K., Berson, E.L., Dryja, T.P., and Baehr, W. (2004). A Novel Mutation (1143NT) in Guanylate Cyclase-Activating Protein 1 (GCAP1) Associated with Autosomal Dominant Cone Degeneration. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci 45: 3863–3870.
- Olshevskaya, E.V., Boikov, S., Ermilov, A., Krylov, D., Hurley, J.B., and Dizhoor, A.M. (1999a). Mapping Functional Domains of the Guanylate Cyclase Regulator Protein, GCAP-2. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 10823–10832.
- Olshevskaya, E.V., Calvert, P.D., Woodruff, M.L., Peshenko, I.V., Savchenko, A.B., Makino, C.L., Ho, Y.S., Fain, G.L., and Dizhoor, A.M. (2004). *The Y99C mutation in guanylyl cyclase-activating* protein 1 increases intracellular Ca²⁺ and causes photoreceptor degeneration in transgenic mice. J. Neurosci. 24: 6078–6085.

- Olshevskaya, E.V., Ermilov, A.N., and Dizhoor, A.M. (1999b). Dimerization of guanylyl cyclaseactivating protein and a mechanism of photoreceptor guanylyl cyclase activation. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 25583–25587.
- Otto-Bruc, A., Buczylko, J., Surgucheva, I., Subbaraya, I., Rudnicka-Nawrot, M., Crabb, J., Arendt, A., Hargrave, P.A., Baehr, W., and Palczewski, K. (1997a). Functional reconstitution of photoreceptor guanylate cyclase with native and mutant forms of guanylate cyclase activating protein 1. Biochemistry 36: 4295–4302.
- Otto-Bruc, A., Fariss, R.N., Haeseleer, F., Huang, J., Buczylko, J., Surgucheva, I., Baehr, W., Milam, A.H., and Palczewski, K. (1997b). *Localization of guanylate cyclase activating protein 2 in mammalian retinas*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 94: 4727–4732.
- Padmanabhan, B., Kuzuhara, T., Adachi, N., and Horikoshi, M. (2004). The crystal structure of CCG1/TAF(II)250-interacting factor B (CIB). J. Biol. Chem. 279: 9615–9624.
- Palczewski, K., Polans, A.S., Baehr, W., and Ames, J.B. (2000). Calcium binding proteins in the retina: Structure, function, and the etiology of human visual diseases. BioEssays 22: 337–350.
- Palczewski, K., Sokal, I., and Baehr, W. (2004). Guanylate cyclase-activating proteins: structure, function, and diversity. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 322: 1123–1130.
- Payne, A.M., Downes, S.M., Bessant, D.A., Taylor, R., Holder, G.E., Warren, M.J., Bird, A.C., and Bhattacharya, S.S. (1998). A mutation in guanylate cyclase activator 1A (GUCA1A) in an autosomal dominant cone dystrophy pedigree mapping to a new locus on chromosome 6p21.1. Hum. Mol. Genet. 7: 273–277.
- Payne, A.M., Morris, A.G., Downes, S.M., Johnson, S., Bird, A.C., Moore, A.T., Bhattacharya, S.S., and Hunt, D.M. (2001). Clustering and frequency of mutations in the retinal guanylate cyclase (GUCY2D) gene in patients with dominant cone-rod dystrophies. J. Med. Genet. 38: 611–614.
- Pennesi, M.E., Howes, K.A., Baehr, W., and Wu, S.M. (2003). Guanylate cyclase-activating protein (GCAP) 1 rescues cone recovery kinetics in GCAP1/GCAP2 knockout mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci U. S. A 100: 6783–6788.
- Perrault, I., Hanein, S., Gerber, S., Lebail, B., Vlajnik, P., Barbet, F., Ducroq, D., Dufier, J.L., Munnich, A., Kaplan, J., and Rozet, J.M. (2005). A novel mutation in the GUCY2D gene responsible for an early onset severe RP different from the usual GUCY2D-LCA phenotype. Hum. Mutat. 25: 222.
- Perrault, I., Rozet, J.M., Gerber, S., Ghazi, I., Ducroq, D., Souied, E., Leowski, C., Bonnemaison, M., Dufier, J.L., Munnich, A., and Kaplan, J. (2000). Spectrum of retGC1 mutations in Leber's congenital amaurosis. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 8: 578–582.
- Perrault, I., Rozet, J.M., Gerber, S., Kelsell, R.E., Souied, E., Cabot, A., Hunt, D.M., Munnich, A., and Kaplan, J. (1998). A retGC-1 mutation in autosomal dominant cone-rod dystrophy. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 63: 651–654.
- Perrault, I., Rozet, J.-M., Calvas, P., Gerber, S., Camuzat, A., Dollfus, H., Chatelin, S., Souied, E., Ghazi, I., Leowski, C., Bonnermaison, M., Le Paslier, D., Frezal, J., Dufier, J.-L., Pittler, S.J., Munnich, A., and Kaplan, J. (1996). *Retinal-specific guanylate cyclase gene mutations in Leber's congenital amaurosis*. Nature Genet. 14: 461–464.
- Polans, A., Baehr, W., and Palczewski, K. (1996). Turned on by Ca^{2+} ! The physiology and pathology of Ca^{2+} binding proteins in the retina. Trends Neurosci. 19: 547–554.
- Pugh, E.N., Jr., Duda, T., Sitaramayya, A., and Sharma, R.K. (1997). Photoreceptor guanylate cyclases: a review. Biosci. Rep. 17: 429–473.
- Pugh, E.N., Jr., Nikonov, S., and Lamb, T.D. (1999). Molecular mechanisms of vertebrate photoreceptor light adaptation. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 9: 410–418.
- Rozet, J.M., Perrault, I., Gerber, S., Hanein, S., Barbet, F., Ducroq, D., Souied, E., Munnich, A., and Kaplan, J. (2001). Complete abolition of the retinal-specific guanylyl cyclase (retGC-1) catalytic ability consistently leads to leber congenital amaurosis (LCA). Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci 42: 1190–1192.
- Rudnicka-Nawrot, M., Surgucheva, I., Hulmes, J.D., Haeseleer, F., Sokal, I., Crabb, J.W., Baehr, W., and Palczewski, K. (1998). *Changes in biological activity and folding of guanylate cyclase-activating* protein 1 as a function of calcium. Biochemistry 37: 248–257.

- Sato, M., Nakazawa, M., Usui, T., Tanimoto, N., Abe, H., and Ohguro, H. (2005). Mutations in the gene coding for guanylate cyclase-activating protein 2 (GUCA1B gene) in patients with autosomal dominant retinal dystrophies. Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 243: 235–242.
- Seebacher, T., Beitz, E., Kumagami, H., Wild, K., Ruppersberg, J.P., and Schultz, J.E. (1999). *Expression of membrane-bound and cytosolic guanylyl cyclases in the rat inner ear*. Hear. Res. 127: 95–102.
- Semple-Rowland, S.L., Lee, N.R., Van Hooser, J.P., Palczewski, K., and Baehr, W. (1998). A null mutation in the photoreceptor guanylate cyclase gene causes the retinal degeneration chicken phenotype. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95: 1271–1276.
- Sitaramayya, A., Duda, T., and Sharma, R.K. (1995). Regulation of bovine rod outer segment membrane guanylate cyclase by ATP. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 148: 139–145.
- Sokal, I., Alekseev, A., Baehr, W., Haeseleer, F., and Palczewski, K. (2002). Soluble fusion proteins between single transmembrane photoreceptor guanylyl cyclases and their activators. Biochemistry 41: 251–257.
- Sokal, I., Dupps, W.J., Andorf, J.A., Schrum, K.M., Melendez, K.A., Roychowdhury, N., Yang, L., Filipek, S., Palczewski, K., Stone, E.M., and Baehr, W. (2004). A Novel GCAP1 Missense Mutation (L151F) in a Large Family with Autosomal Dominant Cone-Rod Dystrophy. Invest Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci submitted.
- Sokal, I., Li, N., Verlinde, C.L., Haeseleer, F., Baehr, W., and Palczewski, K. (2000). Ca²⁺-binding proteins in the retina: from discovery to etiology of human disease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1498: 233–251.
- Sokal, I., Otto-Bruc, A.E., Surgucheva, I., Verlinde, C.L., Wang, C.K., Baehr, W., and Palczewski, K. (1999). Conformational changes in guanylyl cyclase-activating protein 1 (GCAP1) and its tryptophan mutants as a function of calcium concentration. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 19829–19837.
- Stephen, R., Palczewski, K., and Sousa, M.C. (2006). The crystal structure of GCAP3 suggests molecular mechanism of GCAP-linked cone dystrophies. J. Mol. Biol. 359: 266–275.
- Tucker, C.L., Ramamurthy, V., Pina, A.L., Loyer, M., Dharmaraj, S., Li, Y., Maumenee, I.H., Hurley, J.B., and Koenekoop, R.K. (2004). Functional analyses of mutant recessive GUCY2D alleles identified in Leber congenital amaurosis patients: protein domain comparisons and dominant negative effects. Mol. Vis. 10: 297–303.
- Tucker, C.L., Woodcock, S.C., Kelsell, R.E., Ramamurthy, V., Hunt, D.M., and Hurley, J.B. (1999). Biochemical analysis of a dimerization domain mutation in RetGC-1 associated with dominant conerod dystrophy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 96: 9039–9044.
- Van Ghelue, M., Eriksen, H.L., Ponjavic, V., Fagerheim, T., Andreasson, S., Forsman-Semb, K., Sandgren, O., Holmgren, G., and Tranebjaerg, L. (2000). Autosomal dominant cone-rod dystrophy due to a missense mutation (R838C) in the guanylate cyclase 2D gene (GUCY2D) with preserved rod function in one branch of the family. Ophthalmic Genet 21: 197–209.
- Vijay-Kumar, S. and Kumar, V.D. (1999). Crystal structure of recombinant bovine neurocalcin. Nat. Struct. Biol. 6: 80–88.
- Wilkie, S.E., Li, Y., Deery, E.C., Newbold, R.J., Garibaldi, D., Bateman, J.B., Zhang, H., Lin, W., Zack, D.J., Bhattacharya, S.S., Warren, M.J., Hunt, D.M., and Zhang, K. (2001). *Identification and functional consequences of a new mutation (E155G) in the gene for GCAP1 that causes autosomal dominant cone dystrophy*. Am. J Hum. Genet 69: 471–480.
- Williams, M.L., Coleman, J.E., Haire, S.E., Aleman, T.S., Cideciyan, A.V., Sokal, I., Palczewski, K., Jacobson, S.G., and Semple-Rowland, S.L. (2006). *Lentiviral expression of retinal guanylate cyclase-1* (*RetGC1*) restores vision in an avian model of childhood blindness. PLoS. Med. 3: e201.
- Yamazaki, A., Yamazaki, M., Yamazaki, R.K., and Usukura, J. (2006). Illuminated rhodopsin is required for strong activation of retinal guanylate cyclase by guanylate cyclase-activating proteins. Biochemistry 45: 1899–1909.
- Yamazaki, M., Usukura, J., Yamazaki, R.K., and Yamazaki, A. (2005). ATP binding is required for physiological activation of retinal guanylate cyclase. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 338: 1291–1298.

- Yang, R.B., Fulle, H.J., and Garbers, D.L. (1996). Chromosomal localization and genomic organization of genes encoding guanylyl cyclase receptors expressed in olfactory sensory neurons and retina. Genomics 31: 367–372.
- Yang, R.B. and Garbers, D.L. (1997). Two eye guanylyl cyclases are expressed in the same photoreceptor cells and form homomers in preference to heteromers. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 13738–13742.
- Yang, R.B., Robinson, S.W., Xiong, W.H., Yau, K.W., Birch, D.G., and Garbers, D.L. (1999). Disruption of a retinal guanylyl cyclase gene leads to cone-specific dystrophy and paradoxical rod behavior. J. Neurosci. 19: 5889–5897.
- Yu, H., Olshevskaya, E., Duda, T., Seno, K., Hayashi, F., Sharma, R.K., Dizhoor, A.M., and Yamazaki, A. (1999). Activation of retinal guanylyl cyclase-1 by Ca²⁺-binding proteins involves its dimerization. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 15547–15555.

CHAPTER 5

PATHOLOGIES INVOLVING THE S100 PROTEINS AND RAGE

C.W. HEIZMANN*, G.E. ACKERMANN AND A. GALICHET

Division of Clinical Chemistry and Biochemistry, Department of Pediatrics, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Abstract:

The S100 proteins are exclusively expressed in vertebrates and are the largest subgroup within the superfamily of EF-hand Ca^{2+} -binding proteins

Generally, S100 proteins are organized as tight homodimers (some as heterodimers). Each subunit is composed of a C-terminal, 'canonical' EF-hand, common to all EF-hand proteins, and a N-terminal, 'pseudo' EF-hand, characteristic of S100 proteins. Upon Ca²⁺-binding, the C-terminal EF-hand undergoes a large conformational change resulting in the exposure of a hydrophobic surface responsible for target binding

A unique feature of this protein family is that some members are secreted from cells upon stimulation, exerting cytokine- and chemokine-like extracellular activities via the Receptor for Advanced Glycation Endproducts, RAGE. Recently, larger assemblies of some S100 proteins (hexamers, tetramers, octamers) have been also observed and are suggested to be the active extracellular species required for receptor binding and activation through receptor multimerization

Most S100 genes are located in a gene cluster on human chromosome 1q21, a region frequently rearranged in human cancer

The functional diversification of S100 proteins is achieved by their specific cell- and tissue-expression patterns, structural variations, different metal ion binding properties $(Ca^{2+}, Zn^{2+} \text{ and } Cu^{2+})$ as well as their ability to form homo-, hetero- and oligomeric assemblies

Here, we review the most recent developments focussing on the biological functions of the S100 proteins and we discuss the presently available S100-specific mouse models and their possible use as human disease models

In addition, the S100-RAGE interaction and the activation of various cellular pathways will be discussed. Finally, the close association of S100 proteins with cardiomyopathy, cancer, inflammation and brain diseases is summarized as well as their use in diagnosis and their potential as drug targets to improve therapies in the future

Keywords: Calcium, EF-hand, S100 proteins, human diseases, RAGE

^{*}Claus W. Heizmann, Division of Clinical Chemistry and Biochemistry, Department of Pediatrics, University of Zurich, Steinwiesstrasse 75, 8032 Zurich, Switzerland, E-mail: Claus.Heizmann@kispi.unizh.ch

1. INTRODUCTION

S100 proteins (named because of their solubility in 100% ammonium sulfate solution) constitute the largest family within the EF-hand Ca^{2+} -binding proteins superfamily and display unique properties (Marenholz et al., 2004a). S100 proteins are small, acidic proteins containing a classical Ca^{2+} -binding EF-hand at the C-terminus and a S100-specific EF-hand at the N-terminus (Fritz and Heizmann, 2004; Bhattacharya et al., 2004; Vallely et al., 2002; Ikura and Ames, 2006; Zimmer et al., 2005). Most S100 proteins show a cell- and tissue-specific expression pattern indicating specialised biological functions. S100 proteins form homo- and hetero-dimers and even oligomers, which also contribute to their functional diversity. S100 proteins act intracellularly as Ca^{2+} -signalling molecules, but some members are secreted from the cells and act in a cytokine-like manner through their binding to the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) or other receptors (Ramasamy et al., 2005).

In addition to their affinity for Ca^{2+} , some S100 proteins display high affinity towards Zn^{2+} or Cu^{2+} ions, which could influence their biochemical activities. S100 proteins are involved in a variety of cellular processes such as cell cycle regulation, cell growth, cell differentiation or motility. Interestingly of more than 20 human genes, 16 are tightly clustered in a region of the human chromosome 1q21. The S100 gene cluster also exists in mouse and is structurally conserved during evolution (Ridinger et al., 1998). Generally, interspecies homology between the known mouse and human S100 cDNAs ranges from 79.6 to 95%. Based on these findings, an official nomenclature was introduced (Table 1) (Marenholz et al., 2004a; Marenholz et al., 2006). The S100 genes structure is highly conserved and in most cases contains three exons and two introns, the first exon being non-coding.

A related gene family is present in the same gene cluster and encodes for proteins containing an S100-like domain fused to a larger peptide. These proteins include trichohyalin, filaggrin, and repetin, which are multidomain proteins involved in epidermal differentiation (Marenholz et al., 2001; Huber et al., 2005) and are classified as a separate family.

Recently, S100 proteins have received increasing attention due to their close association with several human diseases including cancer, neurodegenerative disorders, and cardiomyopathies. Therefore they have become increasingly valuable for diagnostic purposes (Table 2) and are also useful as markers to improve clinical management and are considered as having a potential as drug targets to improve therapies (Heizmann, 2005).

2. NOMENCLATURE

The plethora of names given to the first members of the S100 family resulted in considerable confusion in this field of research and prompted Schaefer et al. (Schafer et al., 1995) to introduce an official nomenclature of the S100 family,

Approved gene symbol	Approved gene name	Previous symbols and aliases	Chromosomal location	Sequence Accession ID
S100A1	S100 calcium binding protein A1	S100A, S100-alpha s1001 CoN10	1q21	NM_006271 NM_005078
S100A2 S100A3	S100 calcium binding protein A2	S100L, Can13 S100E	1421 1921	NM_002960
S100A4	S100 calcium binding protein A4	Calvasculin, metastasin, murine placental homolog, calcium placental protein (CAPL),	1q21	NM_002961
S100.45	\$100 calcium hinding motain \$5	MIM, PARA, 10A2, PELZO, 42A SIMD	10.01	69000 MM
S100A6	S100 calcium binding protein A6	Calcyclin (CACY), 2A9, PRA, CABP	1421 1921	NM_014624
S100A7	S100 calcium binding protein A7	Psoriasin 1 (PSOR1), S100A7c	1q21	NM_002963
S100A7A	S100 calcium binding protein A7A	S100A15, S100A7L1	1q21	NM_176823
S100A7L2	S100 calcium binding protein A7-like 2	S100A7b	1q21	I
S100A7P1	S100 calcium binding protein A7 pseudogene 1	S100A7L3, S100A7d	1q21	I
S100A7P2	S100 calcium binding protein A7 pseudogene 2	S100A7L4, S100A7e	1q21	I
S100A8	S100 calcium binding protein A8	Calgranulin A (CAGA), CGLA, P8, MRP8, CFAG, LIAg, 60B8AG	1q21	NM_002964

Table 1. Nomenclature and chromosomal location of the S100 genes

(Continued)

Table 1. (Continu	(pə			
Approved gene symbol	Approved gene name	Previous symbols and aliases	Chromosomal location	Sequence Accession ID
S100A9	S100 calcium binding protein A9	Calgranulin B (CAGB), CGLB, P14, MRP14, CFAG, LIA <u>s</u> . 60B8AG	1q21	NM_002965
S100A10	S100 calcium binding protein A10	Annexin II ligand (ANX2LG), calpactin I, light polypeptide (CAL1L), p11, CLP11, 42C	1q21	NM_002966
S100A11	S100 calcium binding protein A11	Calgizzarin, S100C	1q21	NM_005620
S100A11P	S100 calcium binding protein A11 pseudogene	S100A14	7q22-q31	I
S100A12	S100 calcium binding protein A12	Calgranulin C (CAGC), CAAF1, CGRP, p6, ENRAGE	1q21	NM_005621
S100A13	S100 calcium binding protein A13		1q21	NM_005979
S100A14	S100 calcium binding protein A14	BCMP84, S100A15	1q21	NM_020672
S100A16	S100 calcium binding protein A16	S100F, DTIP1A7, MGC17528	1q21	NM_080388
S100B	S100 calcium binding protein B	S100-beta	21q22	NM_006272
S100G	S100 calcium binding protein G	Calbindin 3 (CALB3), CaBP9K, CABPI	Xp22	NM_004057
S100P	S100 calcium binding protein P		4p16	NM_005980
S100Z	S100 calcium binding protein Z	S100-zeta	5q13	NM_130772
Approved by the l Reference: 1. Ma	HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee renholz et al., Biochim. Biophys. Acta	s and the European Calcium Society. - Molecular Cell Research (2006), in press.		

Proteins	Association with Diseases
S100B	Developmental brain dysfunction, learning and memory deficits Alzheimer's disease, blood brain barrier dysfunction
	Down syndromebrain trauma and ischemia,
	schizophrenia, depression
S100A1	Cardiomyopathies
S100A2	Cancer, tumour suppression
S100A4	Cancer, metastasis
S100A6	Cancer, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)
S100A7	Psoriasis
S100A8/A9	Inflammation, cystic fibrosis
	Wound healing, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis
S100A10/A11	Cancer
S100A12	Inflammation, Kawasaki disease, Mooren's ulcer
S100P	Cancer

Table 2. Involvement of \$100 Proteins in Human Diseases

References: Marenholz et al., Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2004;322:1111–1122; Heizmann et al., Frontiers Bioscience 2002;7:d1356–1368; Foell et al., Arthritis & Rheumatism 2004;50:1286–1295; Donato et al., Microsc. Res. Tech. 2003;60:540–551; Kwon et al., Frontiers Bioscience 2005;10:300–325; Foell et al., Lancet 2003;361:1270– 1272; Hetzel et al., Psychopharmacol. 2005;178:161–166.

which was recently updated (Marenholz et al., 2004a; Marenholz et al., 2006). One of these genes (S100A15) had already been published with the approved gene symbol S100A16 (Marenholz and Heizmann, 2004) (see Table 1). Although carrying the S100-specific EF-hand motif at the N-terminus, proteins of the 'fused' gene family (approved gene nomenclature: HRNR, hornerin and TCHHL1, and trichohyalin-like 1) should not be classified as S100 proteins but as a separate family.

Four S100 gene symbols have now been changed according to the functional relevance and phylogenetic relationship of the genes. S100A7L1/S100A15 was renamed S100A7A to indicate its high homology with S100A7. S100A15 has been withdrawn as an official gene symbol and will not be used for any future S100A genes. Because S100A7L3 and S100A7L4 are non-coding genes, their new gene symbols are S100A7P1 and S100A7P2, respectively. Finally, CALB3 (calbindin 3) has been renamed S100G, to make its affiliation to the S100 family more obvious. http://www.gene.ucl.ac.uk/nomenclature/ index.html.

3. PROTEIN STRUCTURES, METAL BINDING, AND INTERACTIONS WITH TARGET PROTEINS

Structural analyses have revealed a typical architecture of the S100 proteins. Each S100 protein is composed of two EF-hand Ca^{2+} -binding domains connected by a central hinge region (Fritz and Heizmann, 2004; Bhattacharya et al., 2004;

Vallely et al., 2002; Ikura and Ames, 2006). The C-terminal EF-hand contains the classical Ca²⁺-binding motif, common to all EF-hand proteins (see above). This Ca²⁺-binding motif has a typical sequence signature of 12 amino acids and is flanked by helices H_{III} and H_{IV} . The N-terminal EF-hand is different from the classical EF-hand motif and is characteristic of the S100 proteins. Therefore, this EF-hand, with a 14 amino acid consensus sequence motif, is flanked by helices H_{II} and H_{II} and is called the 'S100-specific' or 'pseudo' EF-hand.

Upon Ca²⁺-binding, S100 proteins undergo a conformational change which is mainly due to a large reorientation of helix H_{III} of the classical EF-hand, whereas helix H_{IV}, engaged in the dimer interface, does not move. The N-terminal EF-hand, flanked by helices H_I and H_{II} exhibits only minor structural changes upon Ca²⁺binding. The Ca²⁺-induced conformational change opens the structure and exposes a wide hydrophobic cleft formed by residues of the hinge region, helix H_{III} , and the C-terminal loop region. This hydrophobic surfacerepresents the interaction site of S100 proteins with their target proteins. However, S100-target protein interaction mechanism also presents some diversity, as it was revealed by the structure of six S100-peptide complexes. In four of these structures, the rat or human S100B was complexed with peptides derived from Ndr-kinase (Heizmann, 2005), p53 (Ramasamy et al., 2005), and CapZ (Huber et al., 2005). Comparison of the structures revealed differences in the orientation of the peptides as well as the type of interaction with S100B. Similarly, the structures of the S100A10/annexin II (Rety et al., 1999) and S100A11/annexin I (Rety et al., 2000) complexes are similar to each other but different from other S100-target protein complexes (Bhattacharya et al., 2004).

Some S100 proteins e.g. S100A9 have long and flexible C-terminal extensions, which might be required for target interaction independently of calcium binding.

In general, the C-terminal end exhibits the highest sequence variation and therefore may contribute to the specificity of the different S100 proteins (Marenholz et al., 2004a; Bhattacharya et al., 2004; Wilder et al., 2006).

Generally, dimeric S100 proteins bind four Ca^{2+} ($K_d = 20-500 \,\mu$ M) with strong positive cooperativity. In addition to binding to Ca^{2+} , a number of S100 proteins also bind Zn^{2+} with a wide range of affinities ($K_d = 4 \,n$ M to 2 mM) (Heizmann and Cox, 1998). Among the S100 proteins, S100A3 displays the highest affinity for Zn^{2+} ($K_d = 4 \,n$ M) and, interestingly, the lowest affinity for Ca^{2+} ($K_d = \sim 20 \,m$ M) (Fritz et al., 1998), implying that S100A3 functions as a Zn^{2+} rather than a Ca²⁺-signalling protein. Spectroscopic studies and crystal structure of metal-free S100A3 (Fritz et al., 2002) allowed the identification of one preformed Zn^{2+} binding site (distinct from the EF-hand) in the C-terminus of each subunit in which the Zn^{2+} -ion is coordinated by one histidine and three cysteine residues.

Recently, the structure of the Zn^{2+} -bound S100A2 was characterised in more detail (Koch et al, submitted). The binding of Zn^{2+} leads to the formation of a novel tetrameric structure different from other S100 proteins. This finding implies that, under physiological conditions, Zn^{2+} may control the cellular activity of S100A2.

 Cu^{2+} can also binds to S100 proteins as it was reported for S100B (K_d = 0.46 μ M) (Nishikawa et al., 1997) and S100A5 (K_d = 4 μ M) (Schafer et al., 2000).

S100A16 protein is a unique member of the S100 protein family with only one functional Ca²⁺-binding site located in the C-terminal canonical EF-hand (Sturchler et al., 2006). Surprisingly, the Ca²⁺-binding affinity of the mouse C-terminal EF-hand is very low, whereas the affinity in the human protein is 2-fold higher. The weak binding of Ca²⁺ to the C-terminus of the mouse S100A16 may be due to the unusual C-tail consisting of additional Q QEC/S repeats. S100A16 also binds Zn^{2+} , and binding studies indicate that Ca²⁺ and Zn²⁺ do not bind to the same sites and that the exposed hydrophobic patches are different.

Multimeric forms of S100 proteins appear to be associated with their extracellular activity. Larger assemblies than dimers were reported for S100A12 (Moroz et al., 2002), S100A4 (Novitskaya et al., 2000; Novitskaya et al., 2000) and S100B (Barger et al., 1992; Ostendorp et al., 2005). It has been proposed that such polymeric forms of S100 proteins trigger aggregation of RAGE, thereby activating intracellular signal cascades.

4. **BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS AND PATHOLOGIES**

S100 proteins are involved in a large number of cellular activities such as signal transduction, cell differentiation, regulation of cell motility, transcription and cell cycle progression (Marenholz et al., 2004a; Heizmann et al., 2002) through modulation of their subcellular localization and their interaction with various target proteins in a Ca²⁺-(and possibly also in a Zn²⁺- and Cu²⁺-) dependent as well as Ca²⁺-independent manner.

Understanding the biological functions of S100 proteins will crucially depend on the identification of their target proteins. During the last decade, a large number of possible interactors have been described involving enzymes, cytoskeletal elements as well as transcription factors.

Many of the target protein interactions have been characterised on the biochemical level using in vitro assay systems and are summarised in recent reviews (Heizmann et al., 2002; Marenholz et al., 2004a; Deloulme et al., 2003; Zimmer et al., 2005; Donato, 2003; Santamaria-Kisiel et al., 2006). Despite this large amount of biochemical data, very little is known about the physiological functions of \$100 proteins. This can be ascribed to the fact that experiments using whole organisms are still scarce.

4.1. S100B

S100B protein represents 0.2% of the total brain proteins and is mainly synthesised by astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and Schwann cells and to a lesser extent by neurons (Chan et al., 2003; Donato, 2003; Vives et al., 2003; Zimmer et al., 2003; Van Eldik and Wainwright, 2003). The 3-dimensional structure of the S100B dimer has been determined by NMR (Drohat et al., 1998; Drohat et al., 1999; Kilby
et al., 1996). In addition to Ca²⁺, S100B can also bind Zn²⁺ at a site distinct from the EF-hand Ca²⁺-binding domains. In several cases, binding of Zn²⁺ can affect Ca²⁺-binding and target binding affinities (Baudier et al., 1986; Baudier and Gerard, 1986; Wilder et al., 2003). S100B also binds copper, which might have a neuroprotective function (Shiraishi and Nishikimi, 1998; Nishikawa et al., 1997). S100B has been shown to interact in vitro with more than 15 proteins including p53 (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2005; Delphin et al., 1999; Wilder et al., 2006), NDR kinase (Bhattacharya et al., 2003), and TRTK-12 (Inman et al., 2002). S100B is involved in various cellular functions such as cell metabolism, cell motility, celldeath, or synaptic plasticity. S100B is also secreted by astrocytes and exerts either a trophic or a toxic effect on neurons depending of its concentration: at nanomolar concentration, S100B stimulates neurite outgrowth and enhances survival of neurons during development and after glucose deprivation damage, whereas a micromolar concentration of S100B induces apoptosis (Huttunen et al., 2000). As with S100A1, RAGE has been suggested to be the multiligand receptor mediating the extracellular effects observed with S100B (Hofmann et al., 1999).

S100B protein is not essential for survival since $S100B^{-/-}$ mice present only mild phenotypes (Table 3). They show an enhanced spatial and fear memory associated with strengthened neuronal plasticity (Nishiyama et al., 2002). In addition, enhanced epileptogenesis has been reported (Dyck et al., 2002), probably because of abnormalities in calcium-handling in astrocytes, as evidenced by increased Ca²⁺ transients upon KCl and caffeine treatment in S100B-deficient neonatal cerebellar glia cells (Xiong et al., 2000). Transgenic mice overexpressing S100B exhibit enhanced explorative activity, reduced anxiety and impaired learning and memory capabilities (Bell et al., 2003; Gerlai et al., 1995; Gerlai and Roder, 1996; Winocur et al., 2001). Interestingly, in humans, higher S100B concentration has been detected after brain trauma and ischemia, making S100B a potential diagnostic protein in traumatic brain damage (Rothermundt et al., 2003). An increased concentration of S100B has also been found in cases of neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (Griffin et al., 1989), or in patients with Down syndrome and in some psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia (Table 2).

4.2. S100A1

S100A1 binds Ca²⁺ with moderate affinity (Kd = 20–50 μ M), which induces a conformational change for interaction with other proteins (Heizmann and Cox, 1998; Heizmann et al., 2003; Marenholz et al., 2004b; Santamaria-Kisiel et al., 2006; Zimmer et al., 2003). Ca²⁺-binding strongly activates S-nitrosylation of S100A1 at its single cysteine residue (Cys85) and results in alterations of the 3-dimensional protein structure (Zhukova et al., 2004). In addition, S-glutathionylation of S100A1 at the same site increases Ca²⁺ affinity of the C- and N-terminal EF-hands 10- and 10,000-fold, respectively (Goch et al., 2005). These findings suggest that besides its involvement in Ca²⁺ signalling, S100A1 may play a role in the intracellular redox response.

Transgene	Mouse model	Pheontype
S100B	Overexpression	Female specific hyperactivity, lack of habituation to novelty, reduced T-maze spontaneous alternation rate, abnormal exploratory behavior Enhanced astrocytosis and neurite proliferation Impaired learning and memory, increased dendrite density, enhanced age-related loss of dendrites Inhibitory effect on cardiac hypertrophy Increased susceptibility to hypoxia-ischemia Increased apoptosis after myocardial infarction Enhanced neuroinflammation and neuronal dysfunction induced by amyloid-8
	Knock-out	Increased synaptic plasticity, spatial memory and fear memory Chronic gliosis Decreased susceptibility to hypoxia-ischemia Enhanced epileptogenesis Enhanced Ca ²⁺ transients Enhanced hypertrophy, decreased apoptosis and improved hemodynamics after myocardial infarction
S100A1	Overexpression Knock-out	Increased myocardial contractile performance Impaired cardiac contractility in response to β -adrenergic stimulation and hemodynamic stress Reduced anxiety-related responses and increased exploratory drive in male KO mice Prolonged Q-T intervals, reduced Ca ²⁺ -induced Ca ²⁺ release upon β -adrenergic stimulation.
S100A4	Overexpression	Enhanced tumour development and metastasis Increased right ventricular systolic pressure, right ventricular hypertrophy, reduced ventricular elastance and decreased cardiac output.
	Knock-out	Tumour development and reduced apoptosis Delayed tumour uptake, decreased tumour incidences, no metastasis after transplantation of highly metastatic mammary carcinomas. Enhanced astrocyte migration after demyelination
S100A8 S100A9	Knock-out Knock-out	Embryonic lethal No functional abnormalities. Absence of S100A8 protein. Myeloid cells with reduced density. No functional abnormalities <i>in vivo</i> . Absence of S100A8 protein. Reduced response to chemoattractant stimuli <i>in vitro</i> . Stimulation of myeloid cells with ATP results in a stronger increase of intracellular free Ca ²⁺ . No emigration of CD4-CD8 double-negative thymocytes upon tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin exposure.

Table 3. Genetically engineered S100 mouse models

(Continued)

Transgene	Mouse model	Pheontype
		Reduced inflammatory-induced IP ₃ -mediated Ca ²⁺ release <i>in vitro</i> .
S100A10	Overexpression	Hyperactive, reduced anxiety-related distress, reduced depression-like behavior, increased serotonin 1B receptors.
	Knock-out	Increased anxiety-related distress, increased depression-like behavior, decreased response to sweet reward, reduced serotonin 1B receptors.
S100A11	Knock-out	No obvious abnormalities

Table 3. (Continued)

References: Bell et al., Neuropsychopharmacology 2003;28:1810–1816; Gerlai et al., Behav. Brain Res. 1993;55:51–59; Gerlai et al., Behav. Neurosci. 1994;108:100–106; Gerlai et al., Behav. Brain Res. 1993;59:119-124; Gerlai et al., J. Psychiatry Neurosci 1995;20:105-112; Gerlai et al., Neurobiol. Learn Mem. 1996;66:143-154; Gerlai et al., Learn Mem. 1995;2:26-39; Roder et al., 1996a;60:31-36; Roder et al., Physiol. Behav. 1996b;60:611-615; Reeves et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 1994;91:5359-5363; Whitaker-Azmitia et al., Brain Res. 1997;776:51-60; Winocur et al., Neurobiol. Learn Mem. 2001;75:230-243; Parker et al., Can. J. Appl. Physiol. 1998;23:377-389; Wainwright et al., Ann. Neurol. 2004;56:61-67; Tsoporis et al., Circulation 2005;111:598-606; Craft et al., Glia 2005;51:209-216; Nishiyama et al., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 2002a;99:4037-4042; Nishiyama et al., Neurosci Lett. 2002b;321:49-52; Dyck et al., Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 2002;106:22-29; Xiong et al., Exp. Cell Res. 2000;25:281–289; Most et al., J. Biol. Chem. 2003;278:33809–33817; Du et al., Mol. Cell Biol. 2002;22:2821-2829; Ackermann et al., Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2006; in press; Ackermann et al., unpublished results; Davies et al., Oncogene 1996;13:1631-1637; Ambartsumian et al., J. Dairy Res. 2005;72: Spec. No., 27-33; Merklinger et al., Circ. Res. 2005;97:596-604; El Naaman et al., Oncogene 2004;23:3670-3680; Grum-Schwensen et al., Cancer Res. 2005;65:3772-3780; Fang et al., Acta Neuropathol. (Berl.) 2006;111:213-219; Passey et al., J. Immunol. 1999;163:2209-2216; Hobbs et al., Mol. Cell Biol. 2003;23:2564–2576; Manitz et al., Mol. Cell Biol. 2003;23:1034–1043; Nacken et al., Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 2005;37:1241-1253; Temchura et al., Eur. J. Immunol. 2005;35:2738-2747; McNeill et al. Cell Calcium 2006; Svenningsson et al., Science 2006;311:77-80; Mannan et al., Mol. Reprod. Dev. 2003;66: 431-438.

Protein extraction from tissues revealed that S100A1 forms homodimers and heterodimers with S100B (Baudier and Gerard, 1986), mostly by hydrophobic interaction (Deloulme et al., 2003; Isobe et al., 1983). The 3-dimensional solution structures of apo- and Ca²⁺-bound S100A1, the S100A1 homodimer and S100A1/S100B heterodimer were later determined by NMR spectroscopy (Rustandi et al., 2002; Wright et al., 2005). Using yeast two-hybrid techniques, S100A1 was further found to form heterodimers with S100A4 and S100P (Tarabykina et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2000a; Wang et al., 2004). The physical interaction of S100A1 with S100A4 or S100P was additionally demonstrated in living mammalian cells using fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) (Wang et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2004). Moreover, S100A1 and S100A4 were shown to behave mutually antagonistic towards each other's activities in vivo, i.e. S100A1 reduced the metastasis-inducing capabilities of S100A4, whereas S100A4 attenuated S100A1-triggered host muscle cell proliferation in a rat model of mammary tumour transplantation (Wang et al., 2005). Using quantitative northern blotting, S100A1 was demonstrated to be most prominently expressed in the heart, and with decreasing levels in the kidney, liver, skin, brain, lung, stomach, testis, muscle, small intestine, thymus and spleen (Zimmer et al., 2005). S100A1 was additionally detected in the submaxillary and thyroid glands (Kiewitz et al., 2000b). S100A1 was reported to be present in the cytoplasm of astrocytes, neurons, skeletal and cardiac myocytes, kidney and mammary cells (Ackermann et al., 2006; Benfenati et al., 2004; Kato and Kimura, 1985; Wang et al., 2000a). In addition, undifferentiated and differentiated skeletal muscle (L6S4) and neuroendocrine (PC12) cells were found to express S100A1 protein, which was predominantly located in the cytoplasm (Zimmer and Landar, 1995). In the rat heart muscle cell line H9c2, S100A1 and the transcription factor MyoD localize both primarily in the nucleus, but are also found in the cytoplasm. Nuclear staining with affinity-purified S100A1 antibodies was also observed in adult skeletal muscle, although the bulk of the protein was cytoplasmic (Haimoto and Kato, 1987).

S100A1 was shown to interact with at least 24 different proteins in a Ca²⁺dependent and -independent manner (Santamaria-Kisiel et al., 2006). These include the sarcomeric, myosin-associated giant kinase twitchin (Heierhorst et al., 1996), its vertebrate ortholog titin (Yamasaki et al., 2001), the transcription factor MyoD (Baudier et al., 1995), connexin 43 (Donato, 2001; Zimmer et al., 1995), adenylate cyclase (Fano et al., 1989a), sarcoplasmatic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase 2a (SERCA2a) (Kiewitz et al., 2003), phospholamban (PLB) (Kiewitz et al., 2003), ryanodine receptor 1 (RyR1) (Treves et al., 1997) and ryanodine receptor 2 (RyR2) (Most et al., 2003b), in order to mention a few muscle-specific examples.

S100A1 was also reported to interact with protein domains capable of binding calmodulin (Baudier et al., 1987), which implies the participation of S100A1 in calmodulin-mediated signalling.

S100A1 is the most abundant S100 protein found in striated muscle and predominates in myocardial tissue (Kato and Kimura, 1985). Besides its cytoplasmic occurrence, S100A1 was reported in these cells to associate with the sarcolemma, sarcoplasmatic reticulum (SR), contractile filaments, intercalated discs, outer mitochondrial membrane and other intracellular membrane structures (Arcuri et al., 2002; Donato et al., 1989; Haimoto and Kato, 1988; Sorci et al., 1999). However, the exact location of S100A1 on the contractile elements of the sarcomere is still controversial (Maco et al., 2001; Zimmer, 1991).

S100A1 was found to stimulate Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺ release (CICR) in skeletal muscle terminal cisternae (Fano et al., 1989b; Marsili et al., 1992). In the presence of nanomolar Ca²⁺-concentrations, S100A1 was observed to increase the channel open probability of purified rabbit skeletal muscle RyR1 (Treves et al., 1997). Biosensor measurements indicated that S100A1 binds RyR1 in the presence of milli- and nanomolar Ca²⁺-concentrations, and affinity chromatography revealed binding of the RyR1 to S100A1-conjugated Sepharose in the presence of nanomolar Ca²⁺-concentrations (Treves et al., 1997). In line with these results, S100A1 was shown to enhance SR Ca²⁺ release and contractile performance in murine skinned

skeletal muscle fibers (Most et al., 2003c). Additionally, S100A1 was reported to reduce Ca^{2+} sensitivity and to enhance Ca^{2+} cooperativity in skinned single rabbit muscle fibres (Adhikari and Wang, 2001).

Expression of S100A1 in primary cultures of rabbit cardiomyocytes improves contractility, augments intracellular Ca2+ transients, increases SR Ca2+ uptake and decreases myofilament Ca²⁺ sensitivity (Most et al., 2001). These results were confirmed in neonatal and adult rat cardiomyocytes overexpressing S100A1, with the additional findings that the SR Ca²⁺ load was increased and contractility as well as Ca^{2+} cycling improved, also after β -adrenergic stimulation (Most et al., 2005; Remppis et al., 2002). In a following study, the introduction of S100A1 at a concentration of 100nM into rabbit cardiomyocytes via a patch clamp pipette similarly resulted in increased Ca²⁺ transient amplitudes and enhanced Ca²⁺ re-uptake via SERCA2a (Kettlewell et al., 2005). However, higher and lower concentrations of S100A1 were ineffective. In addition, L-type Ca^{2+} current amplitudes, Ca^{2+} efflux rates via the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX) and SR Ca²⁺ load were unaffected by S100A1 infusion. The authors conclude that S100A1 enhances fractional SR Ca²⁺ release and uptake, consistent with the additional findings that S100A1 stimulates RyR2 activity and co-immunprecipitates with SERCA2a and RyR2. However, Völkers et al. reported that S100A1 decreases Ca²⁺ spark frequencies (Volkers et al., 2006).

S100A1 is released into the blood during ischemic periods and can serve as a marker for myocardial ischemia together with creatine kinase isoenzymes, myoglobin, troponin I and T (Kiewitz et al., 2000a). Extracellular S100A1 was reported to be endocytosed into the endosomal compartment of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes and to inhibit apoptosis via activation of extracellular signalregulated protein kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) (Most et al., 2003a). Endocytosed S100A1 was further demonstrated to result in decreased diastolic Ca²⁺-concentrations and a diminished SR Ca²⁺ load (Most et al., 2005). In rodent cardiomyocytes, the extracellular application and subsequent endocytotic internalization of S100A1 resulted in increased L-type Ca²⁺ currents (I_{Ca}^{2+}), accelerated fast inactivation kinetics of I_{Ca}^{2+} and a shift of the *I*/V relationship of I_{Ca}^{2+} to negative potentials (Reppel et al., 2005).

In engineered heart tissue, overexpression of S100A1 increases isometric force development and Ca²⁺ sensitivity at rest and upon β -adrenergic stimulation (Most et al., 2001; Remppis et al., 2004). Intracoronary delivery of adenovirus containing cytomegalovirus promoter-driven S100A1 after myocardial infarction in rats resulted in improved left ventricular function at rest as well as upon β -adrenergic stimulation and attenuated the hypertrophic response (Most et al., 2004; Pleger et al., 2005). The improved cardiac performance was attributed to increased cardiomyocyte shortening, elevated Ca²⁺ transients and SR Ca²⁺ loads, due to enhanced SR Ca²⁺ uptake and reduced SR Ca²⁺ leak. In addition, S100A1 gene transfer into failing cardiomyocytes was associated with a reduction of elevated Na⁺-concentrations, restoration of energy supply and reversal of the activated hypertrophic fetal gene expression program (Most et al., 2004). On the transcription level, co-expression of S100A1 in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes resulted in the inhibition of the β -adrenergic

activation of hypertrophic response genes, such as α -skeletal actin, β -myosin heavy chain and S100B (Tsoporis et al., 2003).

Transgenic overexpression of S100A1 in the mouse myocardium resulted in improved cardiac performance (i.e. increased left ventricular systolic ejection pressure, contractility and relaxation rates) at rest and after β-adrenergic stimulation (Most et al., 2003b). Consistent with these in vivo findings, cardiomyocytes isolated from transgenic S100A1 mice showed increased shortening, Ca²⁺ transient amplitudes, SR Ca²⁺ load and CICR (Most et al., 2003b). The fact that chronic cardiac overexpression of S100A1 in the mouse did not result in hypertrophy suggests that the up-regulation of S100A1 in a pig model of cardiac hypertrophy was compensatory and not causative (Ehlermann et al., 2000). In rat models of cardiac hypertrophy induced by aortic banding or coronary artery ligation, levels of S100A1 were however reduced (Tsoporis et al., 2003). Similarly, levels of S100A1 protein were found to be diminished in patients with end stage heart failure (Remppis et al., 1996). In a mouse model of gene targeting by homologous recombination, S100A1-deficient mice failed to augment left ventricular systolic pressure, contraction and relaxation rates, and showed reduced fractional shortening in response to β -adrenergic stimulation (Du et al., 2002). In the state of chronic pressure overload, these mice again were not able to increase contraction or relaxation rates, although the hypertrophic response to thoracic aorta constriction was normal. These findings were paralleled by a reduced Ca²⁺ sensitivity during contraction, but broadly intact β-adrenergic signalling. In another mouse model of S100A1 deficiency, generated by gene trap mutagenesis, left ventricular systolic pressure, contraction and relaxation rates were not reduced in response to Badrenergic stimulation (Ackermann et al., 2007, unpublished results). The role of S100A1 in the cardiomyocyctes is summarised in Figure 1.

In the neuroendocrine PC12 cell line, S100A1 protein was found to be upregulated in response to nerve growth factor (NGF)-induced differentiation (Zimmer and Landar, 1995). Increased S100A1 protein levels were also documented during cell differentiation of the glial C6 cell line (Zimmer and Van Eldik, 1989). Ablation of S100A1 in PC12 cells by an antisense strategy resulted in enhanced neurite outgrowth in response to NGF, elevated levels of α -tubulin and reduced cell proliferation at high cell densities (Zimmer et al., 1998). S100A1-deficiency in PC12 cells was also associated with reduced basal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels and enhanced ionomycin-induced Ca^{2+} release (Zimmer et al., 2005). In addition, S100A1 was demonstrated to inhibit brain microtubule assembly (Donato, 1988; Donato, 1991).

The microtubule-associated-protein tau is a component of the neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease and a target of S100A1. PC12 cells devoid of S100A1 were shown to be more resistant to A β (25–35) peptide-mediated cell death and have lower levels of intracellular amyloid precursor protein (APP) (Zimmer et al., 2005).

S100A1-deficient mice present a normal brain morphology and cytoarchitecture and exhibit increased explorative activity and reduced anxiety-related responses (Ackermann et al., 2006). Levels of α -tubulin and APP in whole brain extracts of



Adapted from Nature Revisions Genetics, Nov 2004, 5, p814

Figure 1. Calcium cycling in the heart: The role of S100A1

Legend: S100A1 occurs in the cytoplasm and was shown to physically interact and functionally modulate the sarcoplasmatic reticulum calcium ATPase (SERCA2a) and the ryanodine receptor (RyR). In addition, S100A1 can bind phospholamban (PLB). Our preliminary in vivo results indicate that loss of S100A1 results in reduced Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺ release and prolonged Q-T intervals upon (-adrenergic stimulation (Ackermann et al. 2006, unpublished data). Abbreviations: adenylate cyclase (AC), A-kinase anchoring protein (AKAP), angiotensin II receptor (Ang-IIR), alpha and beta adrenergic receptor (α/β -AR), beta adrenergic receptor kinase (β -ARK), calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), calsequestrin (CSQ), dihydropyridine receptor (DHPR) or L-type calcium channel (LTCC), endothelin-1 receptor (ET-1R), FK506-binding protein (FKBP), G-proteins (Gq α and Gs α), phosphatase inhibitor 1(I-1), sodium/calcium exchanger (NCX), phospholipase C (PLC), plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA), protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C alpha (PKCA), protein phosphatase 1 (PP1), PP1 regulatory subunit 3A (Rgl), sarcoplasmatic reticulum (SR), transverse tubule (TT)(See Colour Plate 10)

S100A1-deficient mice are unchanged when compared to wild-types as determined by immunoblotting (Ackermann et al., 2006, unpublished results).

4.3. S100A2

S100A2 is a homodimeric Ca²⁺- and Zn²⁺- binding protein (Rustandi et al., 2000) (Bhattacharya et al., 2004). S100A2 protein was first detected in lung and kidney and is mainly expressed in a subset of tissues such as breast epithelia and liver (Heizmann et al., 2002; Fritz and Heizmann, 2004; Franz et al., 1998; Glenney et al., 1989; Zhang et al., 2002b).

Interestingly, S100A2 encoding cDNA was first identified as a novel tumour suppressor gene by subtractive hybridisation between normal and tumour-derived human mammary epithelial cells (Lee et al., 1991). Expression studies showed that S100A2 gene is markedly down-regulated in several tumour tissues of various origins such as melanomas (Maelandsmo et al., 1997) and breast carcinoma (Pedrocchi et al., 1994). Moreover, growth factors were reported to alter S100A2 gene expression at late G_1 /S phase, indicating that S100A2 expression is cell cycle-regulated (Lee et al., 1992). Site-specific DNA methylation of the S100A2 gene promoter region in normal versus tumourigenic breast cancer cell lines indicated repression of gene expression in tumour cells, thus suggesting a role for S100A2 in suppression of tumour cell growth and possibly inhibition of tumour progression (Wicki et al., 1997).

The S100A2 protein was found to translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus during the S phase of the cell cycle in two different oral carcinoma cells (i.e. FADU and SCC-25) (Mueller et al., 2005). Co-immunoprecipitation experiments and electrophoretic mobility shift assays showed a Ca^{2+} -dependent interaction of S100A2 with the tumour suppressor p53 and the characterisation of this interaction indicated that S100A2 binds to the p53 C-terminal end. Furthermore, S100A2-p53 interaction increased p53 transcriptional activity. S100A2 was shown to interact at the same p53 binding site as S100B (Rustandi et al., 2000; Delphin et al., 1999; Wilder et al., 1998).

S100A2 was found to be oxidised in keratinocytes subjected to oxidative stress (Zhang et al., 2002b). Normal human keratinocytes displayed strong nuclear and moderate cytoplasmic S100A2 immunoreactivity. H_2O_2 treatment of normal human keratinocytes caused a transregulation of S100A2 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm.

These results highly suggested that S100A2 oxidation and translocation is associated with early cellular responses to oxidative stress.

It has been found that $\Delta Np63$ (a mutant lacking the NH_2 -terminal TA^2 transactivation domain of p53) may play an oncogenic role in the tumourigenic pathway of squamous cell cancers. To gain more insight into this pathway, the global gene expression pattern in cancer cells expressing $\Delta Np63$ gene was examined by oligonucleotide microarray (Hibi et al., 2003). It was found that S100A2 is a target of the $\Delta Np63$ pathway and that S100A2 induction was strictly dependent on $\Delta Np63$ expression. These results suggest that S100A2 is a novel downstream mediator of $\Delta Np63$.

4.4. S100A3

S100A3 is unique for its poor Ca²⁺-binding (K_d = 4–35 mM) but exceptionally high Zn²⁺-binding affinity ((K_d = 4 nM), this high affinity for Zn²⁺ being attributed to the unusual high Cys content of S100A3. These results imply that S100A3 might be a Zn²⁺- rather than a Ca²⁺-signalling molecule. The protein is highly expressed in fast-proliferating hair root cells and astrocytoma pointing toward a function in cell cycle control (Kizawa et al., 2002). S100A3 has a very selective expression

in human hair (Boni et al., 1997; Kizawa et al., 1998; Takizawa et al., 1999). The protein was found to be mainly expressed in the cuticular and cortical cells of the hair follicle . S100A3 might therefore play an important role in hair shaft formation.

The high resolution structure (Fritz et al., 2002) revealed a large distortion of the C-terminal canonical EF-hand, which most likely abolishes Ca^{2+} -binding. The crystal structure of S100A3 allowed the prediction of one putative Zn^{2+} -binding site in the C-terminus of each subunit of S100A3 involving Cys and His residues in the coordination of the metal ion. Zn^{2+} -binding induced a large conformational change in S100A3, pertubing the hydrophobic interface between two S100A3 subunits.

4.5. S100A4

S100A4 is implicated in tumour progression and metastasis (Helfman et al., 2005; Kiryushko et al., 2006; Jenkinson et al., 2004; Pedersen et al., 2004).

The 3-dimensional structure was determined in the apo state by NMR spectroscopy (Vallely et al., 2002). As other S100 proteins, S100A4 is a symmetrical homodimer held together by non-covalent interactions. A preliminary X-ray structure of human S100A4 confirmed this solution structure (Zhang et al., 2002a). Larger assemblies than dimers were reported for S100A4 (Novitskaya et al., 2000) probably interacting/activating RAGE.

S100A4, like some other S100 proteins, is able to relocate upon cellular stimulation, allowing its interaction with different partner proteins in a spatial and temporal manner. These include liprin β 1, a member of the family of LAR transmembrane phosphatase –interacting proteins (Kriajevska et al., 2002), annexin II (Semov et al., 2005), p53 (Grigorian et al., 2001), methionine aminopeptidase 2 (Endo et al., 2002), or myosin-IIA heavy chain (Li and Bresnick, 2006).

Genetically modified mouse models have been used to study the mechanisms of S100A4-mediated metastasis (Ambartsumian et al., 2005). The combined results support the view that S100A4 plays an important role in tumour development and metastasis. Interestingly, in mice deficient for S100A4, the expression of the S100A5 flanking gene was activated in some cells that normally express S100A4 (El-Naaman et al., 2004). Although it could be ruled out that the oncogenic action of S100A4 is due to S100A5, it nevertheless indicates a crosstalk compensation mechanism between neighbouring S100 genes. This was also supported by recent finding of a mutually antagonistic action of S100A4 and S100A1 in carcinoma cells (Wang et al., 2005).

The expression of S100A4 has been detected in various human tumours and high S100A4 levels have been repeatedly correlated with a reduced patient survival and poor prognosis (Helfman et al., 2005).

We investigated the relevance of S100A4 to clinical cancer in several archival colon cancer specimens, without metastasis at the time of surgery (Stein et al.,

2006). Remarkably, S100A4 mRNA levels were found to be higher in the primary tumours, which later developed distant metastases. Patients whose tumours were heterozygous for activating β -catenin mutation were identified, and the tumours showed both nuclear β -catenin staining and high S100A4 expression. All these patients developed metastases in the liver. This was the first demonstration that mRNA expression of S100A4, determined in primary tumours in a quantitative manner, is of value for the prediction of metastatic cancer.

The results showed an interconnection of two previously unconnected molecular pathways which play important roles in tumour progression and metastasis, the β -catenin/TCF signalling pathway and S100A4, that controls motility and invasiveness. The finding demonstrated that β -cateninTCF directly regulates the expression of the S100A4, and that β -catenin-induced effects on cell migration and invasion are mediated by S100A4 in colon cancer cells. New therapeutic strategies aimed at disrupting this regulation and the function of S100A4 protein may be of particular value for prevention of colon cancer metastasis.

4.6. S100A5

Homodimeric S100A5 binds four Ca²⁺-ions with strong positive cooperativity and an affinity 20–100 fold higher than the other S100 proteins studied under identical conditions (Schafer et al., 2000). S100A5 also binds two Zn²⁺-ions and four Cu²⁺ ions per dimer and Cu²⁺-binding strongly impairs the binding of Ca²⁺; however, none of these ions change the α -helical-rich secondary structure. After covalent labelling of an exposed thiol with 2-(4'-(iodoacetamide)anilino)naphtalene-6-sulfonic acid, Cu²⁺binding, but not Ca²⁺ or Zn²⁺, strongly decreased its fluorescence. In light of the 3-dimensional structure of S100 proteins, our data suggest that in each subunit the single Zn²⁺ site is located at the opposite side of the EF-hands. The two Cu²⁺-binding sites probably share ligands of the EF-hands. However, the potential role of S100A5 in copper homeostasis is unknown.

The expression of S100A5 is restricted to a few specific areas of the brain: namely the olfactory bulb, the brainstem, and the spinal trigeminal tract (Schafer et al., 2000; Chan et al., 2003). S100A5 was found to be overexpressed in astrocytic tumours (Camby et al., 2000) suggesting a role of S100A5 as marker of recurrence in certain meningiomas (Hancq et al., 2004a). S100A5 was also found in the human kidney where it is proposed to play a functional role in the ascending limb of the loop of Henle in the nephron (Teratani et al., 2002). No target protein for S100A5 has been yet described.

Interestingly, when the expression of the S100A5 and S100A3 genes was analysed in S100A4 null mice, an alteration of the expression of S100A5 was observed. This raised the possibility of a compensatory mechanism of the S100A4 activity in mice and should be considered when other S100 null mice are investigated.

4.7. S100A6

S100A6 was initially identified by Baserga and coworkers as a cDNA clone encoding an mRNA specie whose level is induced when quiescent/growth-arrested human fibroblasts are stimulated to progress from the G_0 to the G_1 phase of the cell cycle (Ferrari et al., 1987; Calabretta et al., 1986). The S100A6 has been purified to homogeneity and found to be expressed in high levels in muscle, lung, kidney, spleen, and brain (Kuznicki et al., 1989a; Filipek et al., 1990; Kuznicki et al., 1989b).

The 3-dimensional structure of apo-S100A6 was the first S100 protein structure determined (Potts et al., 1995) and revealed a new dimeric fold, the unique architecture common to all S100 proteins but fundamentally different from calmodulin. Refined structural analysis (Otterbein et al., 2002) of the Ca^{2+} -free and Ca^{2+} -bound states have contributed to our understanding of target binding and cooperativity of metal-binding in the S100 family.

A Ca^{2+} -dependent translocation of S100A6 was found in endothelial cells (Hsieh et al., 2002) and neuroblastoma cells (Filipek et al., 2002b) enabling the protein to interact with different target proteins localised in distinct cell compartments.

These include annexin (Minami et al., 1992; Tomas and Moss, 2003; Farnaes and Ditzel, 2003) at the nuclear envelope suggesting a role of this complex in cell division.

S100A6 was also found to specifically interact with the Siah-1-interacting protein (SIP), a component of a novel ubiquitinylation (Filipek et al., 2002a) pathway regulating β -catenin degradation (Matsuzawa and Reed, 2001). Several other S100 proteins also bind to the C-terminus of SIP in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner suggesting that protein ubiquitinylation can be regulated by S100 proteins (Lee et al., 2004).

In the brain, S100A6 is restricted to some subpopulations of neurons and astrocytes (Yamashita et al., 1999). Interestingly, S100A6 is overexpressed in astrocytes associated with the neurodegenerative lesions of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Hoyaux et al., 2002) as well as in patients with Alzheimer's disease (AD), and in two different AD mouse models (Boom et al., 2004). A deregulation of S100A6 expression was also found in certain tumour tissues (Stulik et al., 2000; Luu et al., 2005; Hancq et al., 2004b; Cross et al., 2005) and in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (Murphy et al., 1988).

4.8. S100A7

S100A7 proteins (for nomenclature see Table 1) have various functions in the epidermis (Kulski et al., 2003; Eckert et al., 2004; Eckert and Lee, 2006). The human S100A7 was first identified as a protein upregulated in psoriatic skin (Madsen et al., 1991; Madsen et al., 1992). Recently, the homologous S100A7A (previous symbol S100A15) was identified and its expression was found to be upregulated in lesional skin (Wolf et al., 2006). S100A7 and S100A7A are co-expressed

in psoriasis probably participating in keratinocyte maturation, proliferation, and inflammation.

The crystal structure of S100A7 revealed that this protein, in contrast to other S100 proteins, probably binds only one calcium ion per monomer and this binding does not induce large conformational changes of the protein (Boeshans et al., 2006; Brodersen et al., 1998).

The structures also revealed a Zn^{2+} -binding site in the protein. The coordination of the zinc ion is similar to the pattern seen in certain metalloproteases (Brodersen et al., 1999). Sequence comparison suggests that this zinc-binding site is present in a number of the remaining members of the S100 family (Fritz and Heizmann, 2004). The structure of S100A7, crystallised in the absence of zinc, further showed that loss of zinc resulted in a reorganisation of the adjacent empty and distorted EF-hand loop, similarly to a calcium-loaded EF-hand.

In the intracellular compartment, S100A7 interacted with epidermal fatty acidbinding protein (E-FABP) (Hagens et al., 1999; Ruse et al., 2003). Although E-FABP is involved in lipid metabolism and transport, the role of the intracellular S100A7-E-FABP interaction is not known. Interestingly, S100A7 is translocated to the cell periphery when keratinocytes are stimulated. In addition, S100A7 is found extracellulary in psoriatic plaque exudate, as its binding partner E-FABP.

S100A7 proteins are of major interest as they are overexpressed in wound healing, inflammatory skin diseases, and skin- and other types of cancer diseases (Webb et al., 2005; Emberley et al., 2004).

4.9. S100A8/S100A9

S100A8 and S100A9 are characterised by a unique expression pattern with strong prevalence in cells of myeloid origin (Roth et al., 2003; McCormick et al., 2005). These proteins were first discovered in body fluids of children with cystic fibrosis.

The X-ray structure of monodimeric human S1008 (Ishikawa et al., 2000) and S100A9 proteins (Itou et al., 2002) has been reported.

S100A9 is different from other S100 proteins because of its long C-terminus, which is extremely flexible. S100A8 and S100A9 tend to form homo- and heterodimers in the absence of Ca^{2+} and associate to higher-order oligomers in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner (Leukert et al., 2006; T. Vogel, 2006). The formation of tetramers may also be triggered by Zinc, suggesting that Zn^{2+} or Ca^{2+} might activate different cellular pathways (Yui et al., 2002).

Intracellularly, S100A8/S100A9 complexes play an important role in myeloid maturation, cell trafficking and arachidonic acid (AA) metabolism. S100A8 and S100A9, present in high concentrations in the cytoplasm of neutrophils and monocytes, are able to translocate and are secreted after activation of a novel pathway requiring an intact microtubule network (Rammes et al., 1997).

Extracellular S100A8/A9 heterodimer exhibits cytokine-like functions, e.g. enhancing leukocyte recruitment to inflammatory sites and AA transportation to target cells (Vandal et al., 2003; Kerkhoff et al., 1999; Eue and Sorg, 2001).

S100A8/S100A9 seem to bind and activate various surface receptors such as heparin sulfate proteoglycans (Srikrishna et al., 2001), CD36 (Kerkhoff et al., 2001), and RAGE (Hermani et al., 2006).

The functions of S100A8 and S100A9 pro-inflammatory proteins were investigated in two different mouse models. Inactivation of the S100A9 gene showed no obvious phenotype (Hobbs et al., 2003; Manitz et al., 2003) (Table 3). However, reduced migration of S100A9-deficient neutrophils and decreased surface expression of CD11b, which belongs to the integrin family, were observed in vitro upon stimulation (Manitz et al., 2003). In addition, chemokine-induced downregulation of the cytosolic Ca²⁺-level was detected. Obviously, these in vitro effects are compensated by alternative pathways in vivo.

In contrast, mice lacking S100A8 displayed a severe phenotype and provided the first evidence of a nonreduntant function of a S100 protein (Table 3). Lack of S100A8 expression caused early resorption of the mouse embryo by the mother, suggesting that S100A8 protects the implanting embryo from maternal rejection (Passey et al., 1999).

S100A8/A9 proteins are involved in inflammatory diseases. Their expression is low in healthy people whereas, during inflammation, specific cell populations release homo- or hetero-S100 protein complexes depending on the phase and the type of inflammation. Tests have been developed to detect S1008 and S100A9 in body fluids of patients with rheumatoid arthritis for the discrimination of active and nonactive osteoarthritis from rheumatoid arthritis. S100A8 and S100A9 are also associated with chronic inflammatory diseases including bowel disease and chronic periodontitis, and both proteins are involved in wound repair by reorganisation of the keratin cytoskeleton in the injured epidermis. In addition, some of the therapeutic effects of retinoids in inflammatory and hyperproliferative skin diseases might be associated with repression of S100A8 function.

As a consequence of the various proinflammatory properties of \$100 proteins, strategies targeting these molecules by in vivo administration of \$100 antibodies are a novel option for anti-inflammatory therapies. Another approach is the inhibition of the release of these cytokine-like molecules at sites of inflammation.

In clinical practice, laboratory measures used to monitor those inflammatory diseases are C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate. Recent studies have shown that the use of S100A8/S100A9 proteins as markers of synovial inflammation is even superior to C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (Kane et al., 2003).

Furthermore, overexpression of S100A8 and S100A9 was also reported in various types of cancers contributing to their development and progression. They were suggested to be novel diagnostic markers when measured in the serum of patients with prostate cancer and benign prostate hyperplasia (BPH) (Hermani et al., 2005).

4.10. S100A10

New data have been reported about the structure (Rety et al., 1999; Menke et al., 2004) and functions of S100A10 (van de Graaf et al., 2003; Yamada et al., 2005; Kwon et al., 2005; Donier et al., 2005; Svenningsson et al., 2006).

The annexin II-S100A10 complex was found to reorganise the actin cytoskeleton, causing the association of the E-cadherin and nectin systems to form adherens junctions in kidney cells (Yamada et al., 2005). Furthermore, it has been shown (Kwon et al., 2005) that the annexin A2-S100A10 complex stimulates the conversion of plasminogen to plasmin and that loss of S100A10 from the cell surface results in a dramatic loss of plasmin generation, suggesting that this protein complex is a major regulator of plasmin production.

Recently the yeast two-hybrid system was applied to identify sensory neuron proteins that interact with the <u>Acid-Sending Ion Channel (ASIC1a)</u> (Donier et al., 2005). ASICs are voltage-independent H⁺-gated ion channels implicated in mechanosensation, learning and memory, and anxiety-like behaviour.

S100A10 was found to interact physically with ASIC1a. It was suggested that its primary role to regulate ASIC1a activity is to enhance cell surface expression of ASIC1a (Donier et al., 2005). Besides this specialised role in enhancing ASIC1a functional expression, S100A10 is also known to traffic the Transient Receptor Potential Channels (TRPV5 and TRPV6) to the plasma membrane presenting the facilitation of Ca^{2+} inward currents (van de Graaf et al., 2003).

Most interestingly, the serotonin 1B receptor was found to colocalise/ interact with S100A10, thereby increasing the recruitment of this receptor to the cell surface (Svenningsson et al., 2006). Abnormality in serotonin signalling has been implicated in the pathophysiology of depression. S100A10, a new molecule to brighten the mood (Sharp, 2006), is decreased in animal models of depression and in brain tissues from depressed patients. S100A10^{-/-} mice exhibit a depression-like phenotype and have reduced responsiveness to 5-HT_{1B} agonists. These and other results indicate an important modulation of 5-HT_{1B} receptor functions by S100A10 which can associate with depression-like states (Svenningsson et al., 2006).

4.11. S100A11

The structure of S100A11 has been determined by NMR spectroscopy and crystallography (Dempsey et al., 2003; Rety et al., 2000; Sakaguchi et al., 2004; Sakaguchi et al., 2003; Sakaguchi et al., 2005). A novel mode of interaction of the annexin I tetramer has been proposed (Rety et al., 2000) suggesting it is important for membrane organisation during fusion events.

S100A11 is homodimeric and interacts in a Ca^{2+} -dependent manner with annexin I to coordinate membrane association (Pan et al., 2006).

It has been recently demonstrated (Sakaguchi et al., 2004; Sakaguchi et al., 2003; Sakaguchi et al., 2005) that S100A11 is a key mediator for growth inhibition of normal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHK) triggered by high Ca^{2+} or TGF β .

The pathways for high Ca²⁺- and TGF β -induced growth inhibition of NHK cells is linked to PKC α -dependent phosphorylation of S100A11. This enables a more differentiated regulation of growth inhibition (Sakaguchi et al., 2005). Exposure of cells to high Ca²⁺ concentration or to TGF β results in S100A11 phosphorylation (¹⁰Thr). Phosphorylated S100A11 binds then to nucleolin and is transferred to the nucleus. This leads to the liberation of Sp1 and the induction of p21 expression. TGF β activates smad proteins and this leads to an increased affinity of Sp1 to the proximal p21 promoter (Sakaguchi et al., 2004; Sakaguchi et al., 2005).

Just recently, an S100A11-deficient mouse was generated to analyse the role of S100A11 during mouse spermatogenesis. Although S100A11 is highly expressed in Sertoli cells of the testis, knockout mice were fertile and showed no gross abnormalities in testis morphology. So far, no phenotypic abnormalities could be observed (Mannan et al., 2003).

4.12. S100A12

F. Guignard et al. detected a protein that was immunologically related to S100A8 and S100A9 (Guignard et al., 1995). Human S100A12 was then purified, its proteins sequence determined by tandem mass spectrometry (Ilg et al., 1996) and its nucleotide sequence localised on human chromosome 1q21 (Wicki et al., 1996a). S100A12 is mainly expressed in granulocytes but also in keratinocytes and psoriatic lesions (for rev. see (Moroz et al., 2003b; Roth et al., 2003).

The Ca²⁺-loaded crystal structure of dimeric S100A12 has been determined (Moroz et al., 2002) and the two residues Glu 4 and Glu 8, that are highly conserved in other S100 proteins, possibly take part in target binding. The structure of the human S100A12-copper complex was reported (Moroz et al., 2003a) showing that each monomer binds a single copper ion that is probably essential in early immune responses.

A number of S100A12 binding partners have been identified including aldolase, annexin V, and S100A9 (Hatakeyama et al., 2004) and it was suggested that S100A12 may have a Ca^{2+} -dependent chaperone-like function.

Similar to other S100 proteins, S100A12 was found to translocate from the cytosol to the membrane of neutrophiles after Ca^{2+} activation. There is accumulating evidence that S100A12 may be involved in defence mechanisms against microorganisms and parasites. S100A12 was also found to induce neurite formation when added to cultured hippocampal cells. S100A12 extracellular activities may be transmitted through its interaction with RAGE, generating a cascade of intracellular events (Mikkelsen et al., 2001).

The S100A12 molecule, interacting with the extracellular domaine of RAGE, might be a S100A12-hexamer built up of 3 dimers bridged by intermolecular Ca^{2+} -binding sites (Moroz et al., 2002). It is suggested that this hexameric molecule has the capacity to interact with the extracellular domains of RAGE resulting in receptor oligomerisation and signal propagation.

S100A12 is associated with several pathological states including psoriasis (together with S100A7), inflammation, Mooren's ulcer, an autoimmune disease of the human cornea, and Kawasaki's disease, an acute multisystem vasculitits, occurring in children usually under 5 years of age (Table 2).

4.13. S100A13

The cDNA of human and murine S100A13 was first identified by screening expressed sequence tag databases of human chromosome 1q21 (Hsieh et al., 2002). The human S100A13 gene was shown to neighbour S100A1 on chromosome 1q21, at least 35 kilobase pairs apart from the subgroup of the closely linked S100A2-S100A3-S100A4-S100A5-S100A6 genes. Mouse S100A13 cDNA shows the lowest sequence identity among S100 cDNAs when compared to the human cDNA.

Expression of S100A13 mRNA has been so far detected in skeletal muscle, heart, kidney, pancreas, ovary, spleen, and small intestine (Wicki et al., 1996b). Comparison of human S100A13 protein sequence with other S100 proteins revealed interesting differences. The second EF-hand contains an unusual lysine in the -x position which might influence Ca²⁺ binding properties (Ridinger et al., 2000). Furthermore, the last eleven C-terminal amino acids contain six lysine and two arginine residues. This positively charged C-terminal region could potentially be involved in specific protein interactions as it was reported for the positive C-terminal tail of syntaxin, which interacts with synaptotagmin (Shao et al., 1997).

S100A13 differs from the other family members in its very broad expression pattern and the absence of a surface-exposed hydrophobic patch in the Ca^{2+} -saturated state. Its 3-dimensional structures (Sivaraja et al., 2005) deposited in the RCSB Protein Data Bank supports the unique properties of this S100A13 protein.

In addition, NMR experiments (Arnesano et al., 2005) showed that Ca²⁺-binding to S100A13 leads to a conformational change, thus creating a novel binding site for Cu²⁺-ions on a solvent exposed location. This would be in agreement with the findings that intracellular S100A13 may be involved in the formation of a Cu²⁺-dependent interleukin-1 α -S100A13 complex, facilitating the export of both proteins (Mandinova et al., 2003).

The fact that the two antiallergic drugs, amlexanox and cromolyn bind S100A13 suggests that S100A13 may be involved in degranulation of mast cells (Oyama et al., 1997; Shishibori et al., 1999). In endothelial cells, S100A13 is translocated in response to a rise in Ca²⁺ (Hsieh et al., 2002), using a different pathway from that used by S100A6. This suggests that different S100 proteins use distinct translocation pathways and end up in specific subcellular components in order to fulfil their distinct tasks.

4.14. S100A14

S100A14 was identified and characterised by analysing a human lung cancer cell line subtraction cDNA library (Pietas et al., 2002). It encodes an mRNA present

in several normal human tissues of epithelial origin with the highest expression level in colon. The full-length cDNA predicts a protein of 104 amino acids with 68% homology to S100A13. The deduced amino acid sequence of human and mouse S100A14 contains two EF-hand Ca^{2+} -binding domains, a myristoylation and a glycosylation sites and several potential protein kinase phosphorylation sites. Examination of the intracellular distribution of S100A14 using two human lung carcinoma and an immortalised monkey cell lines revealed a pronounced cytoplasmatic staining. S100A14 was shown to be overexpressed in ovary, breast and uterus tumours and down-regulated in kidney, rectum, and colon tumours. This pattern suggests a distinct regulation with potentially important functions in malignant transformation.

4.15. S100A15 (see S100A7)

According to the official nomenclature (Table 1) the S100A15 gene symbol has been withdrawn and replaced by the new approved gene symbol, S100A7L1.

4.16. S100A16

S100A16 is the most recently identified member of the S100 EF-hand Ca²⁺-binding protein family. The biochemical characterisation of human and mouse recombinant S100A16 proteins has been reported recently (Sturchler et al., 2006). Both S100A16 proteins form homodimers and bind one Ca²⁺-ion at the C-terminal EF-hand. The human protein exhibits a two fold higher Ca²⁺-affinity (Kd ~ 430 μ M). Trp fluorescence shifts indicate conformational changes in the ortholog proteins upon Ca²⁺-binding, while formation of a hydrophobic patch, implicated in target protein recognition, only occurs in the human S100A16 protein.

S100A16 mRNA was found in many tissues (Marenholz and Heizmann, 2004) including the brain, where it was found to be astrocyte specific (Sturchler et al., 2006). In glioblastoma cells, S100A16 was found to accumulate within nucleoli and to translocate to the cytoplasm in response to Ca^{2+} -stimulation, suggesting a possible role of S100A16 in ribonucleoprotein complex processing, gene silencing, or cell cycle progression.

Like other members of the family, S100A16 lacks the canonical nuclear localisation signal. Nuclear import may require interaction with transporter proteins or phosphorylation, as it was described for S100A11 (Hollstein et al., 1991), or may occur via facilitated diffusion pathways, as observed for calmodulin (Hibi et al., 2003; Moll et al., 1995). Interestingly, a recent study identifies phosphorylated S100A16 protein in nucleoli of HeLa cells (Raybaud-Diogene et al., 1996), indicating a possible function of phosphorylation in S100A16 nuclear import.

4.17. S100RVP

S100RVP was identified as an androgen-responsive gene in the rat ventral prostate (RVP). This protein is abundantly expressed in the cytoplasm and nucleus of

epithelial cells. The protein shows a high homology to S100A13 and S100A7. S100RVP is suggested to play a role in calcium homeostasis in the prostate (Oram et al., 2006).

4.18. S100P

The crystal structure of the human S100P in the Ca²⁺-bound form has been resolved (Zhang et al., 2003). S100P, localises on human chromosome 4p16 and is expressed in several malignant neoplasms (Arumugam et al., 2005; Arumugam et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2006). It has been suggested that S100P plays a major role in the aggressiveness of pancreatic cancer possibly mediated through RAGE activation.

Dimeric S100P was found to bind and activate ezrin, a membrane/F-actin crosslinking protein (Koltzscher et al., 2003) possibly influencing cell morphology.

4.19. S100Z

Gribenko et al. isolated a human cDNA from human prostate encoding a 99-amino acid S100 protein, designated S100Z. It was reported to be capable of interacting with S100P. S100Z is a dimeric, predominantly α -helical protein, with two Ca²⁺-binding sites. S100AZ is expressed in various tissues with highest levels in spleen and leukocytes. S100Z gene expression appears to be deregulated in some tumour tissues (Gribenko et al., 2001).

4.20. S100G (CALBINDIN 3, CaBP9K)

Whereas S100 proteins form homo-, heterodimers, and polymers in solution, calbindin occurs as a monomer. This structural difference is also reflected in S100G function as a Ca^{2+} buffer or transcellular Ca^{2+} transporter (van der Eerden et al., 2005) versus the signalling activities of the other S100 proteins (Julenius et al., 2002; Bertini et al., 2002; Nelson et al., 2002) of the strictly conserved . The dimerisation plane of S100 proteins is composed of strictly conserved hydrophobic residues, which are missing in S100G. S100G is expressed in a number of tissues, such as intestine, uterus, placenta, kidney, and bone tissues (Choi et al., 2005) under the regulation of 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D3.

5. TWO S100-LIKE PROTEINS

5.1. p26olf from Frog

Frog p26olf is a S100-like Ca²⁺-binding protein found in olfactory cilia. It consists of two S100-like domains aligned in series and has a total of four Ca²⁺-binding sites (known as EF-hands) (Miwa and Kawamura, 2003). This protein localises in the cilia of olfactory epithelium and interacts with a frog β -adrenergic receptor kinase (β ARK)-like protein in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner. Through the β ARK-dependent

phosphorylation, p26olf has been suggested to have some role(s) in olfactory signal transduction.

5.2. Dicalcin from Xenopus

A homologous protein (named dicalcin) was detected in Xenopus eggs. When compared with other S100 members, the C-terminal half of Xenopus dicalcin shows the highest homology (~45%) with rabbit S100A11 and lesser homology (~38%) to rat S100A1. Immunohistochemical studies revealed that Xenopus dicalcin is localised prominently in the vitelline envelope and the cytoplasm of the cortex of both the animal and the vegetal hemispheres of Xenopus eggs. Xenopus dicalcin binds to several soluble proteins and two vitelline envelop proteins in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner. These results suggest that Xenopus dicalcin is a novel S100-like protein in eggs and may to be involved in the fertilisation process.

6. S100 PROTEINS AND RAGE SIGNALLING

Several S100 proteins present extracellular functions (Fritz et al., 2002; Marenholz et al., 2004a). Although active secretion has only been demonstrated for S100B, S100A4, S100A8/S100A9 and S100A12 (Rammes et al., 1997; Stary et al., 2006; Van Eldik and Zimmer, 1987; Ye et al., 2004), it cannot be excluded that some members of the S100 protein family, similarly to amphoterin, could be released by injured or necrotic cells and then act as signalling molecules (Scaffidi et al., 2002). S100 protein-driven biological functions are mediated through their interaction with specific receptors located at the cell surface and S100B, S100A1, S100A2, S100A4, S100A6 and S100A12 have been shown to interact with the receptor for advanced glycation end-products (RAGE) (Hofmann et al., 1999; Huttunen et al., 2000; Reddy et al., 2006b; Leclerc et al., unpublished).

RAGE is a member of the immunoglobulin-like cell surface receptor superfamily and its gene is located on the human chromosome 6p21.3 in the MHC class III locus near the junction to class II (Neeper et al., 1992; Vissing et al., 1994). RAGE is composed of three extracellular immunoglobulin domains, (a "V" followed by two "C" type domains), a single spanning transmembrane region and a short cytosolic domain (Figure 2) (Neeper et al., 1992). Recently, additional RAGE isoforms lacking the transmembrane and cytosolic regions (endogenous secreted RAGE or esRAGE) or the "V" immunoglobulin domain (N-truncated RAGE or NtRAGE) were identified in the human brain (Ding and Keller, 2005b). Whereas the human RAGE isoforms are produced by differential splicing, mouse RAGE isoforms are likely to be produced by carboxy-terminal truncation (Ding and Keller, 2005b; Hanford et al., 2004). The presence of various RAGE proteins suggests that they display specialized functions. For example, NtRAGE is expected to exhibit different ligand affinities compared to the full-length RAGE as it lacks the "V" domain involved in ligand interaction (Ding and Keller, 2005a; Ding and Keller, 2005b; Kislinger et al., 1999; Yonekura et al., 2003). In contrast, esRAGE, released into



Figure 2. The RAGE signalling network. The RAGE ligands (S100 proteins, Amyloid- β or AGEs, LPS or Amphoterin) bind to full-length RAGE or N-truncated RAGE (NtRAGE) and recruit different signalling pathways, p21^{ras} and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK). Depending on the pathways recruited, RAGE ligand-signal leads to the activation of transcription factors like NF- κ B or Sp1 and to cellular responses. In contrast, binding of the RAGE ligands to the endogenous secreted RAGE (esRAGE) abolishes membrane-localized RAGE activation and protect cells against cellular activation

the extracellular space, can interact with all ligands and sequester RAGE ligands in a concentration-dependent manner prior to their interaction with full-length RAGE (Deane et al., 2003; Taguchi et al., 2000; Yan et al., 2000). RAGE can be activated by amyloid- β (A β), amphoterin, LPS or advanced glycation endproducts (AGEs) as well as by S100 proteins (Hori et al., 1995; Neeper et al., 1992; Yan et al., 1996). RAGE is expressed at high levels during development, especially in the central nervous system. In contrast, RAGE expression decreases to low level in most adult cell types like neurons, smooth muscle cells, mononuclear phagocytes, cardiac myocytes, hepatocytes, renal glomerular epithelial cells, Muller and bipolar ganglion cells of the retina. The notable exception is lung epithelial cells, where its expression remains high (Li and Schmidt, 1997; Schmidt et al., 2001; Shirasawa et al., 2004). Although RAGE expression is very low in most adult tissues, the specific accumulation of RAGE ligands, observed in a large number of pathophysiological processes, results in the up-regulation of the receptor. This leads to sustained activation and has been suggested to be the starting point of chronic cellular activation and tissue damage (Bierhaus et al., 2004; De Vriese et al., 2006; Pachydaki et al., 2006).

RAGE functions during brain development by promoting cell migration and neurite outgrowth (Chou et al., 2004; Hori et al., 1995; Huttunen et al., 2000). Furthermore, involvement of RAGE in neurite outgrowth was also demonstrated in vivo in a sciatic nerve crush model. Blockade of RAGE-ligand interaction with esRAGE or specific antibodies directed against RAGE, S100 proteins or amphoterin reduced the functional regeneration of the peripheral nerve (Rong et al., 2004a). However, RAGE^{-/-} mice present neither any obvious neuronal deficit nor behaviour abnormalities, suggesting that the presence of other cellular mechanisms might ensure normal development when RAGE function is impaired (Bierhaus et al., 2004). In vitro studies as well as functional characterization of the RAGE^{-/-} mice have revealed the involvement of the RAGE-ligand network in several human pathologies such as diabetes, cancer, neurodegenerative diseases, proliferative retinal disease, inflammation, atherosclerosis and myocardial injury (Arumugam et al., 2004; Bucciarelli et al., 2006; Bucciarelli et al., 2002; Cecil et al., 2005; Ehlermann et al., 2006; Liliensiek et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2004; Pachydaki et al., 2006; Rong et al., 2004b; Yan et al., 1996). In these pathological contexts, RAGE-ligand interaction at the cell surface results in diverse cellular responses varying from cytokine secretion, increased cellular oxidative stress and apoptosis (Schmidt et al., 2001). Furthermore, RAGE engagement by a ligand triggers the activation of key signalling pathways involving $p21^{ras}$, Rac, p44/42, Akt, JNK or p38 MAP kinases as well as NF-kB and resulting in the modulation of the expression of target genes (Figure 2) (Du Yan et al., 1997; Huttunen et al., 1999; Huttunen et al., 2000; Reddy et al., 2006a; Riuzzi et al., 2006; Taguchi et al., 2000; Yan et al., 2000). More particularly, we have shown that RAGE-S100 protein interaction differentially affects cellular functions depending on specific S100 protein and its concentration. These effects are mediated through the recruitment of a large set of signalling pathways, some being generally associated with S100-mediated cellular responses and other specifically activated in the presence of a particular S100 protein (Figure 3) (E. Leclerc, C.W. Heizmann and A. Galichet, personal communication). In addition, it is also important to mention that RAGE-ligand interaction can have very different consequences depending on the cell type. RAGE-AB interaction increases microglia activation and macrophage colony-stimulating factor secretion whereas it promotes apoptosis in neurons (Lue et al., 2001; Sousa et al., 2001). S100B protects LAN-5 neuroblastoma cells against AB-induced apoptosis in a RAGE-dependent manner,



Figure 3. RAGE-mediated S100 proteins biological functions and transduction pathways. Various members of the S100 proteins family bind to RAGE. S100B activates cell proliferation in a concentration-dependent manner through the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which then activate the Akt (Protein kinase B) and the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (erk) pathways, leading to changes in the activity of NF- κ B transcription factor. In contrast, S100A6 induces cellular apoptosis by production of ROS, activation of Erk pathway and changes in NF- κ B transcriptional activity but also involves the c-JUN NH₂-terminal kinase (JNK). JNK and Erk activation are dependent on ROS formation

although this study did not provide information on the involvement of RAGE in A β toxicity or on the potential physical competition between the two ligands for the RAGE receptor which could also explain S100B protection (Businaro et al., 2006).

Endogenous secreted soluble RAGE (esRAGE) binds to the diverse RAGE ligands. It could therefore participate to the removal and detoxification of the ligands involved in human diseases by acting as a decoy. The potential use of esRAGE as a therapeutic target was investigated in animal models and results of these studies consistently indicated that administration of esRAGE reduced or limited the development of most RAGE-dependent human disorders. Specifically, esRAGE suppressed Alzheimer's disease-associated pathology and reduced the transport of A β peptide across the blood-brain barrier in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model (Deane et al., 2003; Lue et al., 2001). In addition, injection of esRAGE in mice blocked the development of tumours and metastasis as well as inflammation and prevented diabetes-associated impaired wound healing (Goova et al., 2001; Hofmann et al., 1999; Taguchi et al., 2000). esRAGE also emerged as a disease marker and clinical studies revealed a specific decrease of circulating

esRAGE level in patients with hypertension, Alzheimer's disease or reduced inflammatory response. In contrast, elevated esRAGE level was found in patients with acute lung injury or renal diseases (Geroldi et al., 2006). A second blockade approach of the RAGE-ligand interaction has been investigated in diabetic and Alzheimer's disease mouse models using specific antibodies directed against RAGE and has proven to be successful (Flyvbjerg et al., 2004; Jensen et al., 2006; Lue et al., 2001). However, the use of such approaches needs a perfect understanding of the RAGE-ligand interaction structure as well as the development of antibodies specifically directed against the binding site of a particular ligand on RAGE.

The RAGE $^{-/-}$ and wild type mice present similarly increased immune responses following the induction of delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH), which generates the production of RAGE ligands like S100 proteins. In contrast, treatment of both wild type and RAGE^{-/-} mice with esRAGE reduces this adaptive immune response (Liliensiek et al., 2004). Similarly, administration of esRAGE to diabetic wild type mice completely restored pain perception, whereas pain perception was only partly restored in diabetic RAGE^{-/-} animals (Bierhaus et al., 2004). These results strongly indicate that RAGE ligands, sequestered by esRAGE, can coactivate receptors other than RAGE which are also involved in these pathological mechanisms. Indeed, it was reported that S100A8/S100A9 bind to heparin sulphate glycosaminoglycans on human HMEC-1 cells devoid of RAGE. Similarly, AGEs can bind to receptors like AGE-R1 and AGE-R2 (He et al., 2000; Robinson et al., 2002; Stitt et al., 1999). Furthermore, $A\beta$ peptide can interact with cell surface binding sites such as type A scavenger and a-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (Paresce et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2000b). In addition, RAGE-mediated leukocyte recruitment is dependent on the interaction between RAGE and the β2-integrin Mac-1, and the binding of RAGE to Mac-1 is enhanced by S100 proteins but not by AGEs (Chavakis et al., 2003). The difference in the outcome between different cell types in contact with the same RAGE ligand could also arise from cell-type specific expression of coreceptors. Altogether, this reveals the high complexity of the RAGE network involved in human disease and highly suggests that ligand recognition, RAGE-ligand interaction as well as the biological significance of RAGE activation must be tightly regulated in cells.

7. CONCLUSION

Many vital physiological functions and metabolic processes are regulated by Ca^{2+} and a large number of human diseases are linked to an altered Ca^{2+} homeostasis. The Ca^{2+} -signal within cells is transmitted by many Ca^{2+} -binding proteins, including the S100 proteins family. S100 proteins have received increased attention recently because of their close association with human diseases and their use in diagnosis. S100 proteins are also considered (together with their extracellular receptor RAGE) to have a potential as drug targets to improve therapies in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank Dr. A. Rowlerson for critical reading and D. Arévalo for typing of this manuscript. This work was supported in part by the NCCR on Neural Plasticity and Repair, the Transregio Sonderforschungsbereich TR SFB 11 Konstanz/Zürich, the Swiss University Conference, the Wilhelm Sander-Stiftung, and the Swiss National Science Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Ackermann GE, Marenholz I, Wolfer DP, Chan WY, Schäfer B, Erne P, Heizmann CW. 2006. S100A1deficient male mice exhibit increased exploratory activity and reduced anxiety-related responses. Biochim Biophys Acta - Molecular Cell Research, in press.
- Adhikari BB, Wang K. 2001. S100A1 modulates skeletal muscle contraction by desensitizing calcium activation of isometric tension, stiffness and ATPase. FEBS Lett 497(2, 3):95–98.
- Ambartsumian N, Grigorian M, Lukanidin E. 2005. Genetically modified mouse models to study the role of metastasis-promoting S100A4(mts1) protein in metastatic mammary cancer. J Dairy Res 72 Spec No:27–33.
- Arcuri C, Giambanco I, Bianchi R, Donato R. 2002. Annexin V, annexin VI, S100A1 and S100B in developing and adult avian skeletal muscles. Neuroscience 109(2):371–388.
- Arnesano F, Banci L, Bertini I, Fantoni A, Tenori L, Viezzoli MS. 2005. Structural interplay between calcium(II) and copper(II) binding to S100A13 protein. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 44(39):6341–6344.
- Arumugam T, Simeone DM, Schmidt AM, Logsdon CD. 2004. S100P stimulates cell proliferation and survival via receptor for activated glycation end products (RAGE). J Biol Chem 279(7):5059–5065.
- Arumugam T, Simeone DM, Van Golen K, Logsdon CD. 2005. S100P promotes pancreatic cancer growth, survival, and invasion. Clin Cancer Res 11(15):5356–5364.
- Barger SW, Wolchok SR, Van Eldik LJ. 1992. Disulfide-linked S100 beta dimers and signal transduction. Biochim Biophys Acta 1160(1):105–112.
- Baudier J, Bergeret E, Bertacchi N, Weintraub H, Gagnon J, Garin J. 1995. Interactions of myogenic bHLH transcription factors with calcium-binding calmodulin and S100a (alpha alpha) proteins. Biochemistry 34(24):7834–7846.
- Baudier J, Gerard D. 1986. Ions binding to S100 proteins. II. Conformational studies and calciuminduced conformational changes in S100 alpha alpha protein: the effect of acidic pH and calcium incubation on subunit exchange in S100a (alpha beta) protein. J Biol Chem 261(18):8204–8212.
- Baudier J, Glasser N, Gerard D. 1986. Ions binding to S100 proteins. I. Calcium- and zinc-binding properties of bovine brain S100 alpha alpha, S100a (alpha beta), and S100b (beta beta) protein: Zn2+ regulates Ca²⁺ binding on S100b protein. J Biol Chem 261(18):8192–8203.
- Baudier J, Mochly-Rosen D, Newton A, Lee SH, Koshland DE, Jr., Cole RD. 1987. Comparison of S100b protein with calmodulin: interactions with melittin and microtubule-associated tau proteins and inhibition of phosphorylation of tau proteins by protein kinase C. Biochemistry 26(10):2886–2893.
- Bell K, Shokrian D, Potenzieri C, Whitaker-Azmitia PM. 2003. Harm avoidance, anxiety, and response to novelty in the adolescent S-100beta transgenic mouse: role of serotonin and relevance to Down syndrome. Neuropsychopharmacology 28(10):1810–1816.
- Benfenati F, Ferrari R, Onofri F, Arcuri C, Giambanco I, Donato R. 2004. S100A1 codistributes with synapsin I in discrete brain areas and inhibits the F-actin-bundling activity of synapsin I. J Neurochem 89:1260–1270.
- Bertini I, Carrano CJ, Luchinat C, Piccioli M, Poggi L. 2002. A 15N NMR mobility study on the dicalcium P43M calbindin D9k and its mono-La3+-substituted form. Biochemistry 41(16):5104–5111.
- Bhattacharya S, Bunick CG, Chazin WJ. 2004. Target selectivity in EF-hand calcium binding proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1742(1–3):69–79.

- Bhattacharya S, Large E, Heizmann CW, Hemmings B, Chazin WJ. 2003. Structure of the Ca²⁺/S100B/NDR kinase peptide complex: insights into S100 target specificity and activation of the kinase. Biochemistry 42(49):14416–14426.
- Bierhaus A, Haslbeck KM, Humpert PM, Liliensiek B, Dehmer T, Morcos M, Sayed AA, Andrassy M, Schiekofer S, Schneider JG, Schulz JB, Heuss D, Neundorfer B, Dierl S, Huber J, Tritschler H, Schmidt AM, Schwaninger M, Haering HU, Schleicher E, Kasper M, Stern DM, Arnold B, Nawroth PP. 2004. Loss of pain perception in diabetes is dependent on a receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily. J Clin Invest 114(12):1741–1751.
- Boeshans KM, Wolf R, Voscopoulos C, Gillette W, Esposito D, Mueser TC, Yuspa SH, Ahvazi B. 2006. Purification, crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction of human S100A15. Acta Crystallograph Sect F Struct Biol Cryst Commun 62(Pt 5):467–470.
- Boni R, Burg G, Doguoglu A, Ilg EC, Schafer BW, Muller B, Heizmann CW. 1997. Immunohistochemical localization of the Ca²⁺ binding S100 proteins in normal human skin and melanocytic lesions. Br J Dermatol 137(1):39–43.
- Boom A, Pochet R, Authelet M, Pradier L, Borghgraef P, Van Leuven F, Heizmann CW, Brion JP. 2004. Astrocytic calcium/zinc binding protein S100A6 over expression in Alzheimer's disease and in PS1/APP transgenic mice models. Biochim Biophys Acta 1742(1–3):161–168.
- Brodersen DE, Etzerodt M, Madsen P, Celis JE, Thogersen HC, Nyborg J, Kjeldgaard M. 1998. EFhands at atomic resolution: the structure of human psoriasin (S100A7) solved by MAD phasing. Structure 6(4):477–489.
- Brodersen DE, Nyborg J, Kjeldgaard M. 1999. Zinc-binding site of an S100 protein revealed. Two crystal structures of Ca²⁺-bound human psoriasin (S100A7) in the Zn2+-loaded and Zn2+-free states. Biochemistry 38(6):1695–1704.
- Bucciarelli LG, Kaneko M, Ananthakrishnan R, Harja E, Lee LK, Hwang YC, Lerner S, Bakr S, Li Q, Lu Y, Song F, Qu W, Gomez T, Zou YS, Yan SF, Schmidt AM, Ramasamy R. 2006. Receptor for advanced-glycation end products: key modulator of myocardial ischemic injury. Circulation 113(9):1226–1234.
- Bucciarelli LG, Wendt T, Rong L, Lalla E, Hofmann MA, Goova MT, Taguchi A, Yan SF, Yan SD, Stern DM, Schmidt AM. 2002. RAGE is a multiligand receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily: implications for homeostasis and chronic disease. Cell Mol Life Sci 59(7):1117–1128.
- Businaro R, Leone S, Fabrizi C, Sorci G, Donato R, Lauro GM, Fumagalli L. 2006. S100B protects LAN-5 neuroblastoma cells against Abeta amyloid-induced neurotoxicity via RAGE engagement at low doses but increases Abeta amyloid neurotoxicity at high doses. J Neurosci Res 83(5):897–906.
- Calabretta B, Battini R, Kaczmarek L, de Riel JK, Baserga R. 1986. Molecular cloning of the cDNA for a growth factor-inducible gene with strong homology to S-100, a calcium-binding protein. J Biol Chem 261(27):12628–12632.
- Camby I, Lefranc F, Titeca G, Neuci S, Fastrez M, Dedecken L, Schafer BW, Brotchi J, Heizmann CW, Pochet R, Salmon I, Kiss R, Decaestecker C. 2000. Differential expression of S100 calcium-binding proteins characterizes distinct clinical entities in both WHO grade II and III astrocytic tumours. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 26(1):76–90.
- Cecil DL, Johnson K, Rediske J, Lotz M, Schmidt AM, Terkeltaub R. 2005. Inflammation-induced chondrocyte hypertrophy is driven by receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Immunol 175(12):8296–8302.
- Chan WY, Xia CL, Dong DC, Heizmann CW, Yew DT. 2003. Differential expression of S100 proteins in the developing human hippocampus and temporal cortex. Microsc Res Tech 60(6):600–613.
- Chavakis T, Bierhaus A, Al-Fakhri N, Schneider D, Witte S, Linn T, Nagashima M, Morser J, Arnold B, Preissner KT, Nawroth PP. 2003. The pattern recognition receptor (RAGE) is a counterreceptor for leukocyte integrins: a novel pathway for inflammatory cell recruitment. J Exp Med 198(10): 1507–1515.
- Choi KC, Leung PC, Jeung EB. 2005. Biology and physiology of Calbindin-D9k in female reproductive tissues: involvement of steroids and endocrine disruptors. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 3:66.
- Chou DK, Zhang J, Smith FI, McCaffery P, Jungalwala FB. 2004. Developmental expression of receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), amphoterin and sulfoglucuronyl (HNK-1) carbohydrate

in mouse cerebellum and their role in neurite outgrowth and cell migration. J Neurochem 90(6): 1389–1401.

- Cross SS, Hamdy FC, Deloulme JC, Rehman I. 2005. Expression of S100 proteins in normal human tissues and common cancers using tissue microarrays: S100A6, S100A8, S100A9 and S100A11 are all overexpressed in common cancers. Histopathology 46(3):256–269.
- De Vriese AS, Tilton RG, Mortier S, Lameire NH. 2006. Myofibroblast transdifferentiation of mesothelial cells is mediated by rage and contributes to peritoneal fibrosis in uraemia. Nephrol Dial Transplant.
- Deane R, Du Yan S, Submamaryan RK, LaRue B, Jovanovic S, Hogg E, Welch D, Manness L, Lin C, Yu J, Zhu H, Ghiso J, Frangione B, Stern A, Schmidt AM, Armstrong DL, Arnold B, Liliensiek B, Nawroth P, Hofman F, Kindy M, Stern D, Zlokovic B. 2003. RAGE mediates amyloidbeta peptide transport across the blood-brain barrier and accumulation in brain. Nat Med 9(7): 907–913.
- Deloulme JC, Gentil BJ, Baudier J. 2003. Monitoring of S100 homodimerization and heterodimeric interactions by the yeast two-hybrid system. Microsc Res Tech 60(6):560–568.
- Delphin C, Ronjat M, Deloulme JC, Garin G, Debussche L, Higashimoto Y, Sakaguchi K, Baudier J. 1999. Calcium-dependent interaction of S100B with the C-terminal domain of the tumor suppressor p53. J Biol Chem 274(15):10539–10544.
- Dempsey AC, Walsh MP, Shaw GS. 2003. Unmasking the annexin I interaction from the structure of Apo-S100A11. Structure 11(7):887–897.
- Ding Q, Keller JN. 2005a. Evaluation of rage isoforms, ligands, and signaling in the brain. Biochim Biophys Acta 1746(1):18–27.
- Ding Q, Keller JN. 2005b. Splice variants of the receptor for advanced glycosylation end products (RAGE) in human brain. Neurosci Lett 373(1):67–72.
- Donato R. 1988. Calcium-independent, pH-regulated effects of S-100 proteins on assembly-disassembly of brain microtubule protein in vitro. J Biol Chem 263(1):106–110.
- Donato R. 1991. Perspectives in S-100 protein biology. Review article. Cell Calcium 12(10):713-726.
- Donato R. 2001. S100: a multigenic family of calcium-modulated proteins of the EF-hand type with intracellular and extracellular functional roles. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 33(7):637–668.
- Donato R. 2003. Intracellular and extracellular roles of \$100 proteins. Microsc Res Tech 60(6):540-551.
- Donato R, Giambanco I, Aisa MC, di Geronimo G, Ceccarelli P, Rambotti MG, Spreca A. 1989. Cardiac S-100a0 protein: purification by a simple procedure and related immunocytochemical and immunochemical studies. Cell Calcium 10(2):81–92.
- Donier E, Rugiero F, Okuse K, Wood JN. 2005. Annexin II light chain p11 promotes functional expression of acid-sensing ion channel ASIC1a. J Biol Chem 280(46):38666–38672.
- Drohat AC, Baldisseri DM, Rustandi RR, Weber DJ. 1998. Solution structure of calcium-bound rat \$100B(betabeta) as determined by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Biochemistry 37(9):2729–2740.
- Drohat AC, Tjandra N, Baldisseri DM, Weber DJ. 1999. The use of dipolar couplings for determining the solution structure of rat apo-S100B(betabeta). Protein Sci 8(4):800–809.
- Du XJ, Cole TJ, Tenis N, Gao XM, Kontgen F, Kemp BE, Heierhorst J. 2002. Impaired cardiac contractility response to hemodynamic stress in S100A1-deficient mice. Mol Cell Biol 22(8): 2821–2829.
- Du Yan S, Zhu H, Fu J, Yan SF, Roher A, Tourtellotte WW, Rajavashisth T, Chen X, Godman GC, Stern D, Schmidt AM. 1997. Amyloid-beta peptide-receptor for advanced glycation endproduct interaction elicits neuronal expression of macrophage-colony stimulating factor: a proinflammatory pathway in Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(10):5296–5301.
- Dyck RH, Bogoch, II, Marks A, Melvin NR, Teskey GC. 2002. Enhanced epileptogenesis in S100B knockout mice. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 106(1, 2):22–29.
- El-Naaman C, Grum-Schwensen B, Mansouri A, Grigorian M, Santoni-Rugiu E, Hansen T, Kriajevska M, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW, Lukanidin E, Ambartsumian N. 2004. Cancer predisposition in mice deficient for the metastasis-associated Mts1(S100A4) gene. Oncogene 23(20):3670– 3680.

- Eckert RL, Broome AM, Ruse M, Robinson N, Ryan D, Lee K. 2004. S100 proteins in the epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 123(1):23–33.
- Eckert RL, Lee KC. 2006. S100A7 (Psoriasin): a story of mice and men. J Invest Dermatol 126(7): 1442–1444.
- Ehlermann P, Eggers K, Bierhaus A, Most P, Weichenhan D, Greten J, Nawroth PP, Katus HA, Remppis A. 2006. Increased proinflammatory endothelial response to S100A8/A9 after preactivation through advanced glycation end products. Cardiovasc Diabetol 5:6.
- Ehlermann P, Remppis A, Guddat O, Weimann J, Schnabel PA, Motsch J, Heizmann CW, Katus HA. 2000. Right ventricular upregulation of the Ca(2+) binding protein S100A1 in chronic pulmonary hypertension. Biochim Biophys Acta 1500(2):249–255.
- Emberley ED, Murphy LC, Watson PH. 2004. S100A7 and the progression of breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 6(4):153–159.
- Endo H, Takenaga K, Kanno T, Satoh H, Mori S. 2002. Methionine aminopeptidase 2 is a new target for the metastasis-associated protein, S100A4. J Biol Chem 277(29):26396–26402.
- Eue I, Sorg C. 2001. Arachidonic acid specifically regulates binding of S100A8/9, a heterodimer complex of the S100 class of calcium binding proteins, to human microvascular endothelial cells. Atherosclerosis 154(2):505–508.
- Fano G, Angelella P, Mariggio D, Aisa MC, Giambanco I, Donato R. 1989a. S-100a0 protein stimulates the basal (Mg2+-activated) adenylate cyclase activity associated with skeletal muscle membranes. FEBS Lett 248(1-2):9–12.
- Fano G, Marsili V, Angelella P, Aisa MC, Giambanco I, Donato R. 1989b. S-100a0 protein stimulates Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺ release from isolated sarcoplasmic reticulum vesicles. FEBS Lett 255(2):381–384.
- Farnaes L, Ditzel HJ. 2003. Dissecting the cellular functions of annexin XI using recombinant human annexin XI-specific autoantibodies cloned by phage display. J Biol Chem 278(35):33120–33126.
- Fernandez-Fernandez MR, Veprintsev DB, Fersht AR. 2005. Proteins of the S100 family regulate the oligomerization of p53 tumor suppressor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(13):4735–4740.
- Ferrari S, Calabretta B, deRiel JK, Battini R, Ghezzo F, Lauret E, Griffin C, Emanuel BS, Gurrieri F, Baserga R. 1987. Structural and functional analysis of a growth-regulated gene, the human calcyclin. J Biol Chem 262(17):8325–8332.
- Filipek A, Heizmann CW, Kuznicki J. 1990. Calcyclin is a calcium and zinc binding protein. FEBS Lett 264(2):263–266.
- Filipek A, Jastrzebska B, Nowotny M, Kuznicki J. 2002a. CacyBP/SIP, a calcyclin and Siah-1-interacting protein, binds EF-hand proteins of the S100 family. J Biol Chem 277(32):28848–28852.
- Filipek A, Jastrzebska B, Nowotny M, Kwiatkowska K, Hetman M, Surmacz L, Wyroba E, Kuznicki J. 2002b. Ca²⁺-dependent translocation of the calcyclin-binding protein in neurons and neuroblastoma NB-2a cells. J Biol Chem 277(23):21103–21109.
- Flyvbjerg A, Denner L, Schrijvers BF, Tilton RG, Mogensen TH, Paludan SR, Rasch R. 2004. Longterm renal effects of a neutralizing RAGE antibody in obese type 2 diabetic mice. Diabetes 53(1): 166–172.
- Franz C, Durussel I, Cox JA, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW. 1998. Binding of Ca²⁺ and Zn2+ to human nuclear S100A2 and mutant proteins. J Biol Chem 273(30):18826–18834.
- Fritz G, Heizmann CW, Kroneck PM. 1998. Probing the structure of the human Ca²⁺- and Zn2+binding protein S100A3: spectroscopic investigations of its transition metal ion complexes, and three-dimensional structural model. Biochim Biophys Acta 1448(2):264–276.
- Fritz G, Heizmann CW. 2004. 3D-structures of the Ca²⁺- and Zn2+-binding S100 proteins. A. Messerschmidt WB, M. Cygler, eds., editor. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons. p. 529–540.
- Fritz G, Mittl PR, Vasak M, Grutter MG, Heizmann CW. 2002. The crystal structure of metal-free human EF-hand protein S100A3 at 1.7-A resolution. J Biol Chem 277(36):33092–33098.
- Gerlai R, Roder J. 1996. Spatial and nonspatial learning in mice: effects of S100 beta overexpression and age. Neurobiol Learn Mem 66(2):143–154.
- Gerlai R, Wojtowicz JM, Marks A, Roder J. 1995. Overexpression of a calcium-binding protein, S100 beta, in astrocytes alters synaptic plasticity and impairs spatial learning in transgenic mice. Learn Mem 2(1):26–39.

- Geroldi D, Falcone C, Emanuele E. 2006. Soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products: from disease marker to potential therapeutic target. Curr Med Chem 13(17):1971–1978.
- Glenney JR, Jr., Kindy MS, Zokas L. 1989. Isolation of a new member of the S100 protein family: amino acid sequence, tissue, and subcellular distribution. J Cell Biol 108(2):569–578.
- Goch G, Vdovenko S, Kozlowska H, Bierzynski A. 2005. Affinity of S100A1 protein for calcium increases dramatically upon glutathionylation. Febs J 272(10):2557–2565.
- Goova MT, Li J, Kislinger T, Qu W, Lu Y, Bucciarelli LG, Nowygrod S, Wolf BM, Caliste X, Yan SF, Stern DM, Schmidt AM. 2001. Blockade of receptor for advanced glycation end-products restores effective wound healing in diabetic mice. Am J Pathol 159(2):513–525.
- Gribenko AV, Hopper JE, Makhatadze GI. 2001. Molecular characterization and tissue distribution of a novel member of the S100 family of EF-hand proteins. Biochemistry 40(51):15538–15548.
- Griffin WS, Stanley LC, Ling C, White L, MacLeod V, Perrot LJ, White CL, 3rd, Araoz C. 1989. Brain interleukin 1 and S-100 immunoreactivity are elevated in Down syndrome and Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(19):7611–7615.
- Grigorian M, Andresen S, Tulchinsky E, Kriajevska M, Carlberg C, Kruse C, Cohn M, Ambartsumian N, Christensen A, Selivanova G, Lukanidin E. 2001. Tumor suppressor p53 protein is a new target for the metastasis-associated Mts1/S100A4 protein: functional consequences of their interaction. J Biol Chem 276(25):22699–22708.
- Guignard F, Mauel J, Markert M. 1995. Identification and characterization of a novel human neutrophil protein related to the S100 family. Biochem J 309 (Pt 2):395–401.
- Hagens G, Masouye I, Augsburger E, Hotz R, Saurat JH, Siegenthaler G. 1999. Calcium-binding protein S100A7 and epidermal-type fatty acid-binding protein are associated in the cytosol of human keratinocytes. Biochem J 339 (Pt 2):419–427.
- Haimoto H, Kato K. 1987. S100a0 (alpha alpha) protein, a calcium-binding protein, is localized in the slow-twitch muscle fiber. J Neurochem 48(3):917–923.
- Haimoto H, Kato K. 1988. S100a0 (alpha alpha) protein in cardiac muscle. Isolation from human cardiac muscle and ultrastructural localization. Eur J Biochem 171(1-2):409–415.
- Hancq S, Salmon I, Brotchi J, De Witte O, Gabius HJ, Heizmann CW, Kiss R, Decaestecker C. 2004a. S100A5: a marker of recurrence in WHO grade I meningiomas. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 30(2):178–187.
- Hancq S, Salmon I, Brotchi J, Gabius HJ, Heizmann CW, Kiss R, Decaestecker C. 2004b. Detection of S100B, S100A6 and galectin-3 ligands in meningiomas as markers of aggressiveness. Int J Oncol 25(5):1233–1240.
- Hanford LE, Enghild JJ, Valnickova Z, Petersen SV, Schaefer LM, Schaefer TM, Reinhart TA, Oury TD. 2004. Purification and characterization of mouse soluble receptor for advanced glycation end products (sRAGE). J Biol Chem 279(48):50019–50024.
- Hatakeyama T, Okada M, Shimamoto S, Kubota Y, Kobayashi R. 2004. Identification of intracellular target proteins of the calcium-signaling protein S100A12. Eur J Biochem 271(18):3765–3775.
- He CJ, Zheng F, Stitt A, Striker L, Hattori M, Vlassara H. 2000. Differential expression of renal AGE-receptor genes in NOD mice: possible role in nonobese diabetic renal disease. Kidney Int 58(5):1931–1940.
- Heierhorst J, Kobe B, Feil SC, Parker MW, Benian GM, Weiss KR, Kemp BE. 1996. Ca²⁺/S100 regulation of giant protein kinases. Nature 380(6575):636–639.
- Heizmann CW. 2005. The importance of calcium-binding proteins in childhood diseases. J Pediatr 147(6):731–738.
- Heizmann CW, Cox JA. 1998. New perspectives on S100 proteins: a multi-functional Ca²⁺-, Zn(2+)and Cu(2+)-binding protein family. Biometals 11(4):383–397.
- Heizmann CW, Fritz G, Schafer BW. 2002. S100 proteins: structure, functions and pathology. Front Biosci 7:d1356–1368.
- Heizmann CW, Schäfer BW, Fritz G. 2003. The familiy of S100 cell signaling proteins. In: Bradshaw RA, Dennis E, editors. Handbook of Cell Signaling. USA: Elsevier Science. p 87–93.
- Helfman DM, Kim EJ, Lukanidin E, Grigorian M. 2005. The metastasis associated protein S100A4: role in tumour progression and metastasis. Br J Cancer 92(11):1955–1958.

- Hermani A, De Servi B, Medunjanin S, Tessier PA, Mayer D. 2006. S100A8 and S100A9 activate MAP kinase and NF-kappaB signaling pathways and trigger translocation of RAGE in human prostate cancer cells. Exp Cell Res 312(2):184–197.
- Hermani A, Hess J, De Servi B, Medunjanin S, Grobholz R, Trojan L, Angel P, Mayer D. 2005. Calcium-binding proteins S100A8 and S100A9 as novel diagnostic markers in human prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res 11(14):5146–5152.
- Hibi K, Fujitake S, Takase T, Kodera Y, Ito K, Akiyama S, Shirane M, Nakao A. 2003. Identification of S100A2 as a target of the DeltaNp63 oncogenic pathway. Clin Cancer Res 9(11): 4282–4285.
- Hobbs JA, May R, Tanousis K, McNeill E, Mathies M, Gebhardt C, Henderson R, Robinson MJ, Hogg N. 2003. Myeloid cell function in MRP-14 (S100A9) null mice. Mol Cell Biol 23(7): 2564–2576.
- Hofmann MA, Drury S, Fu C, Qu W, Taguchi A, Lu Y, Avila C, Kambham N, Bierhaus A, Nawroth P, Neurath MF, Slattery T, Beach D, McClary J, Nagashima M, Morser J, Stern D, Schmidt AM. 1999. RAGE mediates a novel proinflammatory axis: a central cell surface receptor for S100/calgranulin polypeptides. Cell 97(7):889–901.
- Hollstein M, Sidransky D, Vogelstein B, Harris CC. 1991. p53 mutations in human cancers. Science 253(5015):49–53.
- Hori O, Brett J, Slattery T, Cao R, Zhang J, Chen JX, Nagashima M, Lundh ER, Vijay S, Nitecki D, et al. 1995. The receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) is a cellular binding site for amphoterin. Mediation of neurite outgrowth and co-expression of rage and amphoterin in the developing nervous system. J Biol Chem 270(43):25752–25761.
- Hoyaux D, Boom A, Van den Bosch L, Belot N, Martin JJ, Heizmann CW, Kiss R, Pochet R. 2002. S100A6 overexpression within astrocytes associated with impaired axons from both ALS mouse model and human patients. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 61(8):736–744.
- Hsieh HL, Schafer BW, Cox JA, Heizmann CW. 2002. S100A13 and S100A6 exhibit distinct translocation pathways in endothelial cells. J Cell Sci 115(Pt 15):3149–3158.
- Huber M, Siegenthaler G, Mirancea N, Marenholz I, Nizetic D, Breitkreutz D, Mischke D, Hohl D. 2005. Isolation and characterization of human repetin, a member of the fused gene family of the epidermal differentiation complex. J Invest Dermatol 124(5):998–1007.
- Huttunen HJ, Fages C, Rauvala H. 1999. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)-mediated neurite outgrowth and activation of NF-kappaB require the cytoplasmic domain of the receptor but different downstream signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 274(28):19919–19924.
- Huttunen HJ, Kuja-Panula J, Sorci G, Agneletti AL, Donato R, Rauvala H. 2000. Coregulation of neurite outgrowth and cell survival by amphoterin and S100 proteins through receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) activation. J Biol Chem 275(51):40096–40105.
- Ikura M, Ames JB. 2006. Genetic polymorphism and protein conformational plasticity in the calmodulin superfamily: two ways to promote multifunctionality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(5):1159–1164.
- Ilg EC, Troxler H, Burgisser DM, Kuster T, Markert M, Guignard F, Hunziker P, Birchler N, Heizmann CW. 1996. Amino acid sequence determination of human S100A12 (P6, calgranulin C, CGRP, CAAF1) by tandem mass spectrometry. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 225(1):146–150.
- Inman KG, Yang R, Rustandi RR, Miller KE, Baldisseri DM, Weber DJ. 2002. Solution NMR structure of S100B bound to the high-affinity target peptide TRTK-12. J Mol Biol 324(5):1003–1014.
- Ishikawa K, Nakagawa A, Tanaka I, Suzuki M, Nishihira J. 2000. The structure of human MRP8, a member of the S100 calcium-binding protein family, by MAD phasing at 1.9 A resolution. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 56(Pt 5):559–566.
- Isobe T, Ishioka N, Masuda T, Takahashi Y, Ganno S, Okuyama T. 1983. A rapid separation of S100 subunits by high performance liquid chromatography: the subunit compositions of S100 proteins. Biochem Int 6(3):419–426.
- Itou H, Yao M, Fujita I, Watanabe N, Suzuki M, Nishihira J, Tanaka I. 2002. The crystal structure of human MRP14 (S100A9), a Ca(2+)-dependent regulator protein in inflammatory process. J Mol Biol 316(2):265–276.

- Jenkinson SR, Barraclough R, West CR, Rudland PS. 2004. S100A4 regulates cell motility and invasion in an in vitro model for breast cancer metastasis. Br J Cancer 90(1):253–262.
- Jensen LJ, Denner L, Schrijvers BF, Tilton RG, Rasch R, Flyvbjerg A. 2006. Renal effects of a neutralising RAGE-antibody in long-term streptozotocin-diabetic mice. J Endocrinol 188(3): 493–501.
- Julenius K, Robblee J, Thulin E, Finn BE, Fairman R, Linse S. 2002. Coupling of ligand binding and dimerization of helix-loop-helix peptides: spectroscopic and sedimentation analyses of calbindin D9k EF-hands. Proteins 47(3):323–333.
- Kane D, Roth J, Frosch M, Vogl T, Bresnihan B, FitzGerald O. 2003. Increased perivascular synovial membrane expression of myeloid-related proteins in psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 48(6): 1676–1685.
- Kato K, Kimura S. 1985. S100ao (alpha alpha) protein is mainly located in the heart and striated muscles. Biochim Biophys Acta 842(2–3):146–150.
- Kerkhoff C, Klempt M, Kaever V, Sorg C. 1999. The two calcium-binding proteins, S100A8 and S100A9, are involved in the metabolism of arachidonic acid in human neutrophils. J Biol Chem 274(46):32672–32679.
- Kerkhoff C, Sorg C, Tandon NN, Nacken W. 2001. Interaction of S100A8/S100A9-arachidonic acid complexes with the scavenger receptor CD36 may facilitate fatty acid uptake by endothelial cells. Biochemistry 40(1):241–248.
- Kettlewell S, Most P, Currie S, Koch WJ, Smith GL. 2005. S100A1 increases the gain of excitationcontraction coupling in isolated rabbit ventricular cardiomyocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 39(6):900–910.
- Kiewitz R, Acklin C, Minder E, Huber PR, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW. 2000a. S100A1, a new marker for acute myocardial ischemia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 274(3):865–871.
- Kiewitz R, Acklin C, Schafer BW, Maco B, Uhrik B, Wuytack F, Erne P, Heizmann CW. 2003. Ca^{2+} -dependent interaction of S100A1 with the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} -ATPase2a and phospholamban in the human heart. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 306(2):550–557.
- Kiewitz R, Lyons GE, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW. 2000b. Transcriptional regulation of \$100A1 and expression during mouse heart development. Biochim Biophys Acta 1498(2-3):207–219.
- Kilby PM, Van Eldik LJ, Roberts GC. 1996. The solution structure of the bovine S100B protein dimer in the calcium-free state. Structure 4(9):1041–1052.
- Kiryushko D, Novitskaya V, Soroka V, Klingelhofer J, Lukanidin E, Berezin V, Bock E. 2006. Molecular mechanisms of Ca(2+) signaling in neurons induced by the S100A4 protein. Mol Cell Biol 26(9): 3625–3638.
- Kislinger T, Fu C, Huber B, Qu W, Taguchi A, Du Yan S, Hofmann M, Yan SF, Pischetsrieder M, Stern D, Schmidt AM. 1999. N(epsilon)-(carboxymethyl)lysine adducts of proteins are ligands for receptor for advanced glycation end products that activate cell signaling pathways and modulate gene expression. J Biol Chem 274(44):31740–31749.
- Kizawa K, Troxler H, Kleinert P, Inoue T, Toyoda M, Morohashi M, Heizmann CW. 2002. Characterization of the cysteine-rich calcium-binding S100A3 protein from human hair cuticles. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 299(5):857–862.
- Kizawa K, Tsuchimoto S, Hashimoto K, Uchiwa H. 1998. Gene expression of mouse S100A3, a cysteine-rich calcium-binding protein, in developing hair follicle. J Invest Dermatol 111(5): 879–886.
- Koltzscher M, Neumann C, Konig S, Gerke V. 2003. Ca²⁺-dependent binding and activation of dormant ezrin by dimeric S100P. Mol Biol Cell 14(6):2372–2384.
- Kriajevska M, Fischer-Larsen M, Moertz E, Vorm O, Tulchinsky E, Grigorian M, Ambartsumian N, Lukanidin E. 2002. Liprin beta 1, a member of the family of LAR transmembrane tyrosine phosphataseinteracting proteins, is a new target for the metastasis-associated protein S100A4 (Mts1). J Biol Chem 277(7):5229–5235.
- Kulski JK, Lim CP, Dunn DS, Bellgard M. 2003. Genomic and phylogenetic analysis of the S100A7 (Psoriasin) gene duplications within the region of the S100 gene cluster on human chromosome 1q21. J Mol Evol 56(4):397–406.

- Kuznicki J, Filipek A, Heimann P, Kaczmarek L, Kaminska B. 1989a. Tissue specific distribution of calcyclin–10.5 kDa Ca²⁺-binding protein. FEBS Lett 254(1-2):141–144.
- Kuznicki J, Filipek A, Hunziker PE, Huber S, Heizmann CW. 1989b. Calcium-binding protein from mouse Ehrlich ascites-tumour cells is homologous to human calcyclin. Biochem J 263(3):951–956.
- Kwon M, Yoon CS, Jeong W, Rhee SG, Waisman DM. 2005. Annexin A2-S100A10 heterotetramer, a novel substrate of thioredoxin. J Biol Chem 280(25):23584–23592.
- Lee SW, Tomasetto C, Sager R. 1991. Positive selection of candidate tumor-suppressor genes by subtractive hybridization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88(7):2825–2829.
- Lee SW, Tomasetto C, Swisshelm K, Keyomarsi K, Sager R. 1992. Down-regulation of a member of the S100 gene family in mammary carcinoma cells and reexpression by azadeoxycytidine treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89(6):2504–2508.
- Lee YT, Jacob J, Michowski W, Nowotny M, Kuznicki J, Chazin WJ. 2004. Human Sgt1 binds HSP90 through the CHORD-Sgt1 domain and not the tetratricopeptide repeat domain. J Biol Chem 279(16):16511–16517.
- Leukert N, Vogl T, Strupat K, Reichelt R, Sorg C, Roth J. 2006. Calcium-dependent tetramer formation of S100A8 and S100A9 is essential for biological activity. J Mol Biol 359(4):961–972.
- Li J, Schmidt AM. 1997. Characterization and functional analysis of the promoter of RAGE, the receptor for advanced glycation end products. J Biol Chem 272(26):16498–16506.
- Li ZH, Bresnick AR. 2006. The S100A4 metastasis factor regulates cellular motility via a direct interaction with myosin-IIA. Cancer Res 66(10):5173–5180.
- Liliensiek B, Weigand MA, Bierhaus A, Nicklas W, Kasper M, Hofer S, Plachky J, Grone HJ, Kurschus FC, Schmidt AM, Yan SD, Martin E, Schleicher E, Stern DM, Hammerling GG, Nawroth PP, Arnold B. 2004. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) regulates sepsis but not the adaptive immune response. J Clin Invest 113(11):1641–1650.
- Lu C, He JC, Cai W, Liu H, Zhu L, Vlassara H. 2004. Advanced glycation endproduct (AGE) receptor 1 is a negative regulator of the inflammatory response to AGE in mesangial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(32):11767–11772.
- Lue LF, Walker DG, Brachova L, Beach TG, Rogers J, Schmidt AM, Stern DM, Yan SD. 2001. Involvement of microglial receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) in Alzheimer's disease: identification of a cellular activation mechanism. Exp Neurol 171(1):29–45.
- Luu HH, Zhou L, Haydon RC, Deyrup AT, Montag AG, Huo D, Heck R, Heizmann CW, Peabody TD, Simon MA, He TC. 2005. Increased expression of S100A6 is associated with decreased metastasis and inhibition of cell migration and anchorage independent growth in human osteosarcoma. Cancer Lett 229(1):135–148.
- Maco B, Mandinova A, Durrenberger MB, Schafer BW, Uhrik B, Heizmann CW. 2001. Ultrastructural distribution of the S100A1 Ca²⁺-binding protein in the human heart. Physiol Res 50(6):567–574.
- Madsen P, Rasmussen HH, Leffers H, Honore B, Celis JE. 1992. Molecular cloning and expression of a novel keratinocyte protein (psoriasis-associated fatty acid-binding protein [PA-FABP]) that is highly up-regulated in psoriatic skin and that shares similarity to fatty acid-binding proteins. J Invest Dermatol 99(3):299–305.
- Madsen P, Rasmussen HH, Leffers H, Honore B, Dejgaard K, Olsen E, Kiil J, Walbum E, Andersen AH, Basse B, et al. 1991. Molecular cloning, occurrence, and expression of a novel partially secreted protein "psoriasin" that is highly up-regulated in psoriatic skin. J Invest Dermatol 97(4):701–712.
- Maelandsmo GM, Florenes VA, Mellingsaeter T, Hovig E, Kerbel RS, Fodstad O. 1997. Differential expression patterns of S100A2, S100A4 and S100A6 during progression of human malignant melanoma. Int J Cancer 74(4):464–469.
- Mandinova A, Soldi R, Graziani I, Bagala C, Bellum S, Landriscina M, Tarantini F, Prudovsky I, Maciag T. 2003. S100A13 mediates the copper-dependent stress-induced release of IL-1alpha from both human U937 and murine NIH 3T3 cells. J Cell Sci 116(Pt 13):2687–2696.
- Manitz MP, Horst B, Seeliger S, Strey A, Skryabin BV, Gunzer M, Frings W, Schonlau F, Roth J, Sorg C, Nacken W. 2003. Loss of S100A9 (MRP14) results in reduced interleukin-8-induced CD11b surface expression, a polarized microfilament system, and diminished responsiveness to chemoattractants in vitro. Mol Cell Biol 23(3):1034–1043.

- Mannan AU, Nica G, Nayernia K, Mueller C, Engel W. 2003. Calgizarrin like gene (Cal) deficient mice undergo normal spermatogenesis. Mol Reprod Dev 66(4):431–438.
- Marenholz I, Heizmann CW. 2004. S100A16, a ubiquitously expressed EF-hand protein which is upregulated in tumors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 313(2):237–244.
- Marenholz I, Heizmann CW, Fritz G. 2004a. S100 proteins in mouse and man: from evolution to function and pathology (including an update of the nomenclature). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322(4):1111–1122.
- Marenholz I, Heizmann CW, Fritz G. 2004b. S100 proteins in mouse and man: from evolution to function and pathology (including an update of the nomenclature). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322(4):1111–1122.
- Marenholz I, Lovering RC, Heizmann CW. 2006. An update of the S100 nomenclature. Biochim Biophys Acta Molecular Cell Research, in press.
- Marenholz I, Zirra M, Fischer DF, Backendorf C, Ziegler A, Mischke D. 2001. Identification of human epidermal differentiation complex (EDC)-encoded genes by subtractive hybridization of entire YACs to a gridded keratinocyte cDNA library. Genome Res 11(3):341–355.
- Marsili V, Mancinelli L, Menchetti G, Fulle S, Baldoni F, Fano G. 1992. S-100ab increases Ca²⁺ release in purified sarcoplasmic reticulum vesicles of frog skeletal muscle. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 13(5):511–515.
- Matsuzawa SI, Reed JC. 2001. Siah-1, SIP, and Ebi collaborate in a novel pathway for beta-catenin degradation linked to p53 responses. Mol Cell 7(5):915–926.
- McCormick MM, Rahimi F, Bobryshev YV, Gaus K, Zreiqat H, Cai H, Lord RS, Geczy CL. 2005. S100A8 and S100A9 in human arterial wall. Implications for atherogenesis. J Biol Chem 280(50):41521–41529.
- Menke M, Ross M, Gerke V, Steinem C. 2004. The molecular arrangement of membrane-bound annexin A2-S100A10 tetramer as revealed by scanning force microscopy. Chembiochem 5(7):1003–1006.
- Mikkelsen SE, Novitskaya V, Kriajevska M, Berezin V, Bock E, Norrild B, Lukanidin E. 2001. S100A12 protein is a strong inducer of neurite outgrowth from primary hippocampal neurons. J Neurochem 79(4):767–776.
- Minami H, Tokumitsu H, Mizutani A, Watanabe Y, Watanabe M, Hidaka H. 1992. Specific binding of CAP-50 to calcyclin. FEBS Lett 305(3):217–219.
- Miwa N, Kawamura S. 2003. Frog p260lf, a molecule with two S100-like regions in a single peptide. Microsc Res Tech 60(6):593–599.
- Moll UM, LaQuaglia M, Benard J, Riou G. 1995. Wild-type p53 protein undergoes cytoplasmic sequestration in undifferentiated neuroblastomas but not in differentiated tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(10):4407–4411.
- Moroz OV, Antson AA, Dodson EJ, Burrell HJ, Grist SJ, Lloyd RM, Maitland NJ, Dodson GG, Wilson KS, Lukanidin E, Bronstein IB. 2002. The structure of S100A12 in a hexameric form and its proposed role in receptor signalling. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 58(Pt 3):407–413.
- Moroz OV, Antson AA, Grist SJ, Maitland NJ, Dodson GG, Wilson KS, Lukanidin E, Bronstein IB. 2003a. Structure of the human S100A12-copper complex: implications for host-parasite defence. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 59(Pt 5):859–867.
- Moroz OV, Dodson GG, Wilson KS, Lukanidin E, Bronstein IB. 2003b. Multiple structural states of S100A12: A key to its functional diversity. Microsc Res Tech 60(6):581–592.
- Most P, Bernotat J, Ehlermann P, Pleger ST, Reppel M, Borries M, Niroomand F, Pieske B, Janssen PM, Eschenhagen T, Karczewski P, Smith GL, Koch WJ, Katus HA, Remppis A. 2001. S100A1: a regulator of myocardial contractility. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(24):13889–13894.
- Most P, Boerries M, Eicher C, Schweda C, Ehlermann P, Pleger ST, Loeffler E, Koch WJ, Katus HA, Schoenenberger CA, Remppis A. 2003a. Extracellular S100A1 protein inhibits apoptosis in ventricular cardiomyocytes via activation of the extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2). J Biol Chem 278(48):48404–48412.
- Most P, Boerries M, Eicher C, Schweda C, Volkers M, Wedel T, Sollner S, Katus HA, Remppis A, Aebi U, Koch WJ, Schoenenberger CA. 2005. Distinct subcellular location of the Ca²⁺-binding

protein S100A1 differentially modulates $Ca^{2+}\mbox{-cycling}$ in ventricular rat cardiomyocytes. J Cell Sci 118(Pt 2):421–431.

- Most P, Pleger ST, Völkers M, Heidt B, Boerries M, Weichenhan D, Löffler E, Janssen PML, Eckhart AD, Martini J, Williams ML, Katus HA, Remppis A, Koch WJ. 2004. Cardiac adenoviral S100A1 gene delivery rescues failing myocardium. J Clin Invest 114(11):1550–1563.
- Most P, Remppis A, Pleger ST, Loffler E, Ehlermann P, Bernotat J, Kleuss C, Heierhorst J, Ruiz P, Witt H, Karczewski P, Mao L, Rockman HA, Duncan SJ, Katus HA, Koch WJ. 2003b. Transgenic overexpression of the Ca²⁺-binding protein S100A1 in the heart leads to increased in vivo myocardial contractile performance. J Biol Chem 278(36):33809–33817.
- Most P, Remppis A, Weber C, Bernotat J, Ehlermann P, Pleger ST, Kirsch W, Weber M, Uttenweiler D, Smith GL, Katus HA, Fink RH. 2003c. The C terminus (amino acids 75–94) and the linker region (amino acids 42–54) of the Ca²⁺-binding protein S100A1 differentially enhance sarcoplasmic Ca²⁺ release in murine skinned skeletal muscle fibers. J Biol Chem 278(29):26356–26364.
- Mueller A, Schafer BW, Ferrari S, Weibel M, Makek M, Hochli M, Heizmann CW. 2005. The calcium binding protein S100A2 interacts with p53 and modulates its transcriptional activity. J Biol Chem.
- Murphy LC, Murphy LJ, Tsuyuki D, Duckworth ML, Shiu RP. 1988. Cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding a highly conserved, putative calcium binding protein, identified by an anti-prolactin receptor antiserum. J Biol Chem 263(5):2397–2401.
- Neeper M, Schmidt AM, Brett J, Yan SD, Wang F, Pan YC, Elliston K, Stern D, Shaw A. 1992. Cloning and expression of a cell surface receptor for advanced glycosylation end products of proteins. J Biol Chem 267(21):14998–15004.
- Nelson MR, Thulin E, Fagan PA, Forsen S, Chazin WJ. 2002. The EF-hand domain: a globally cooperative structural unit. Protein Sci 11(2):198–205.
- Nishikawa T, Lee IS, Shiraishi N, Ishikawa T, Ohta Y, Nishikimi M. 1997. Identification of S100b protein as copper-binding protein and its suppression of copper-induced cell damage. J Biol Chem 272(37):23037–23041.
- Nishiyama H, Knopfel T, Endo S, Itohara S. 2002. Glial protein S100B modulates long-term neuronal synaptic plasticity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(6):4037–4042.
- Novitskaya V, Grigorian M, Kriajevska M, Tarabykina S, Bronstein I, Berezin V, Bock E, Lukanidin E. 2000. Oligomeric forms of the metastasis-related Mts1 (S100A4) protein stimulate neuronal differentiation in cultures of rat hippocampal neurons. J Biol Chem 275(52):41278–41286.
- Oram S, Cai X, Haleem R, Cyriac J, Wang Z. 2006. Regulation of calcium homeostasis by S100RVP, an androgen-regulated S100 protein in the rat ventral prostate. Prostate 66(7):768–778.
- Ostendorp T, Heizmann CW, Kroneck PM, Fritz G. 2005. Purification, crystallization and preliminary X-ray diffraction studies on human Ca²⁺-binding protein S100B. Acta Crystallograph Sect F Struct Biol Cryst Commun 61(Pt 7):673–675.
- Otterbein LR, Kordowska J, Witte-Hoffmann C, Wang CL, Dominguez R. 2002. Crystal structures of S100A6 in the Ca(2+)-free and Ca(2+)-bound states: the calcium sensor mechanism of S100 proteins revealed at atomic resolution. Structure 10(4):557–567.
- Oyama Y, Shishibori T, Yamashita K, Naya T, Nakagiri S, Maeta H, Kobayashi R. 1997. Two distinct anti-allergic drugs, amlexanox and cromolyn, bind to the same kinds of calcium binding proteins, except calmodulin, in bovine lung extract. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 240(2):341–347.
- Pachydaki SI, Tari SR, Lee SE, Ma W, Tseng JJ, Sosunov AA, Cataldergirmen G, Scarmeas N, Caspersen C, Chang S, Schiff WM, Schmidt AM, Barile GR. 2006. Upregulation of RAGE and its ligands in proliferative retinal disease. Exp Eye Res 82(5):807–815.
- Pan J, Rintala-Dempsey AC, Li Y, Shaw GS, Konermann L. 2006. Folding kinetics of the S100A11 protein dimer studied by time-resolved electrospray mass spectrometry and pulsed hydrogen-deuterium exchange. Biochemistry 45(9):3005–3013.
- Paresce DM, Ghosh RN, Maxfield FR. 1996. Microglial cells internalize aggregates of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid beta-protein via a scavenger receptor. Neuron 17(3):553–565.
- Passey RJ, Williams E, Lichanska AM, Wells C, Hu S, Geczy CL, Little MH, Hume DA. 1999. A null mutation in the inflammation-associated S100 protein S100A8 causes early resorption of the mouse embryo. J Immunol 163(4):2209–2216.

- Pedersen MV, Kohler LB, Grigorian M, Novitskaya V, Bock E, Lukanidin E, Berezin V. 2004. The Mts1/S100A4 protein is a neuroprotectant. J Neurosci Res 77(6):777–786.
- Pedrocchi M, Schafer BW, Mueller H, Eppenberger U, Heizmann CW. 1994. Expression of Ca(2+)binding proteins of the S100 family in malignant human breast-cancer cell lines and biopsy samples. Int J Cancer 57(5):684–690.
- Pietas A, Schluns K, Marenholz I, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW, Petersen I. 2002. Molecular cloning and characterization of the human S100A14 gene encoding a novel member of the S100 family. Genomics 79(4):513–522.
- Pleger ST, Remppis A, Heidt B, Volkers M, Chuprun JK, Kuhn M, Zhou RH, Gao E, Szabo G, Weichenhan D, Muller OJ, Eckhart AD, Katus HA, Koch WJ, Most P. 2005. S100A1 gene therapy preserves in vivo cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Mol Ther 12(6):1120–1129.
- Potts BC, Smith J, Akke M, Macke TJ, Okazaki K, Hidaka H, Case DA, Chazin WJ. 1995. The structure of calcyclin reveals a novel homodimeric fold for S100 Ca(2+)-binding proteins. Nat Struct Biol 2(9):790–796.
- Ramasamy R, Vannucci SJ, Yan SS, Herold K, Yan SF, Schmidt AM. 2005. Advanced glycation end products and RAGE: a common thread in aging, diabetes, neurodegeneration, and inflammation. Glycobiology 15(7):16R–28R.
- Rammes A, Roth J, Goebeler M, Klempt M, Hartmann M, Sorg C. 1997. Myeloid-related protein (MRP) 8 and MRP14, calcium-binding proteins of the S100 family, are secreted by activated monocytes via a novel, tubulin-dependent pathway. J Biol Chem 272(14):9496–9502.
- Raybaud-Diogene H, Tetu B, Morency R, Fortin A, Monteil RA. 1996. p53 overexpression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: review of the literature. Eur J Cancer B Oral Oncol 32B(3):143–149.
- Reddy MA, Li SL, Sahar S, Kim YS, Xu ZG, Lanting L, Natarajan R. 2006a. Key role of SRC kinase in S100B-induced activation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem.
- Reddy MA, Li SL, Sahar S, Kim YS, Xu ZG, Lanting L, Natarajan R. 2006b. Key role of Src kinase in S100B-induced activation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 281(19):13685–13693.
- Remppis A, Greten T, Schafer BW, Hunziker P, Erne P, Katus HA, Heizmann CW. 1996. Altered expression of the Ca(2+)-binding protein S100A1 in human cardiomyopathy. Biochim Biophys Acta 1313(3):253–257.
- Remppis A, Most P, Loffler E, Ehlermann P, Bernotat J, Pleger S, Borries M, Reppel M, Fischer J, Koch WJ, Smith G, Katus HA. 2002. The small EF-hand Ca²⁺ binding protein S100A1 increases contractility and Ca²⁺ cycling in rat cardiac myocytes. Basic Res Cardiol 97 Suppl 1:156–62.
- Remppis A, Pleger ST, Most P, Lindenkamp J, Ehlermann P, Schweda C, Loffler E, Weichenhan D, Zimmermann W, Eschenhagen T, Koch WJ, Katus HA. 2004. S100A1 gene transfer: a strategy to strengthen engineered cardiac grafts. J Gene Med 6(4):387–394.
- Reppel M, Sasse P, Piekorz R, Tang M, Roell W, Duan Y, Kletke A, Hescheler J, Nurnberg B, Fleischmann BK. 2005. S100A1 enhances the L-type Ca²⁺ current in embryonic mouse and neonatal rat ventricular cardiomyocytes. J Biol Chem 280(43):36019–36028.
- Rety S, Osterloh D, Arie JP, Tabaries S, Seeman J, Russo-Marie F, Gerke V, Lewit-Bentley A. 2000. Structural basis of the Ca(2+)-dependent association between S100C (S100A11) and its target, the N-terminal part of annexin I. Structure 8(2):175–184.
- Rety S, Sopkova J, Renouard M, Osterloh D, Gerke V, Tabaries S, Russo-Marie F, Lewit-Bentley A. 1999. The crystal structure of a complex of p11 with the annexin II N-terminal peptide. Nat Struct Biol 6(1):89–95.
- Ridinger K, Ilg EC, Niggli FK, Heizmann CW, Schafer BW. 1998. Clustered organization of \$100 genes in human and mouse. Biochim Biophys Acta 1448(2):254–263.
- Ridinger K, Schafer BW, Durussel I, Cox JA, Heizmann CW. 2000. S100A13. Biochemical characterization and subcellular localization in different cell lines. J Biol Chem 275(12):8686–8694.
- Riuzzi F, Sorci G, Donato R. 2006. The amphoterin (HMGB1)/receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) pair modulates myoblast proliferation, apoptosis, adhesiveness, migration, and

invasiveness. Functional inactivation of RAGE in L6 myoblasts results in tumor formation in vivo. J Biol Chem 281(12):8242–8253.

- Robinson MJ, Tessier P, Poulsom R, Hogg N. 2002. The S100 family heterodimer, MRP-8/14, binds with high affinity to heparin and heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans on endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 277(5):3658–3665.
- Rong LL, Trojaborg W, Qu W, Kostov K, Yan SD, Gooch C, Szabolcs M, Hays AP, Schmidt AM. 2004a. Antagonism of RAGE suppresses peripheral nerve regeneration. Faseb J 18(15):1812–1817.
- Rong LL, Yan SF, Wendt T, Hans D, Pachydaki S, Bucciarelli LG, Adebayo A, Qu W, Lu Y, Kostov K, Lalla E, Yan SD, Gooch C, Szabolcs M, Trojaborg W, Hays AP, Schmidt AM. 2004b. RAGE modulates peripheral nerve regeneration via recruitment of both inflammatory and axonal outgrowth pathways. Faseb J 18(15):1818–1825.
- Roth J, Vogl T, Sorg C, Sunderkotter C. 2003. Phagocyte-specific S100 proteins: a novel group of proinflammatory molecules. Trends Immunol 24(4):155–158.
- Rothermundt M, Peters M, Prehn JH, Arolt V. 2003. S100B in brain damage and neurodegeneration. Microsc Res Tech 60(6):614–632.
- Ruse M, Broome AM, Eckert RL. 2003. S100A7 (psoriasin) interacts with epidermal fatty acid binding protein and localizes in focal adhesion-like structures in cultured keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 121(1):132–141.
- Rustandi RR, Baldisseri DM, Inman KG, Nizner P, Hamilton SM, Landar A, Zimmer DB, Weber DJ. 2002. Three-dimensional solution structure of the calcium-signaling protein apo-S100A1 as determined by NMR. Biochemistry 41(3):788–796.
- Rustandi RR, Baldisseri DM, Weber DJ. 2000. Structure of the negative regulatory domain of p53 bound to S100B(betabeta). Nat Struct Biol 7(7):570–574.
- Sakaguchi M, Miyazaki M, Sonegawa H, Kashiwagi M, Ohba M, Kuroki T, Namba M, Huh NH. 2004. PKCalpha mediates TGFbeta-induced growth inhibition of human keratinocytes via phosphorylation of S100C/A11. J Cell Biol 164(7):979–984.
- Sakaguchi M, Miyazaki M, Takaishi M, Sakaguchi Y, Makino E, Kataoka N, Yamada H, Namba M, Huh NH. 2003. S100C/A11 is a key mediator of Ca(2+)-induced growth inhibition of human epidermal keratinocytes. J Cell Biol 163(4):825–835.
- Sakaguchi M, Sonegawa H, Nukui T, Sakaguchi Y, Miyazaki M, Namba M, Huh NH. 2005. Bifurcated converging pathways for high Ca²⁺- and TGFbeta-induced inhibition of growth of normal human keratinocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(39):13921–13926.
- Santamaria-Kisiel L, Rintala-Dempsey AC, Shaw GS. 2006. Calcium-dependent and -independent interactions of the S100 protein family. Biochem J 396(2):201–214.
- Scaffidi P, Misteli T, Bianchi ME. 2002. Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. Nature 418(6894):191–195.
- Schafer BW, Fritschy JM, Murmann P, Troxler H, Durussel I, Heizmann CW, Cox JA. 2000. Brain S100A5 is a novel calcium-, zinc-, and copper ion-binding protein of the EF-hand superfamily. J Biol Chem 275(39):30623–30630.
- Schafer BW, Wicki R, Engelkamp D, Mattei MG, Heizmann CW. 1995. Isolation of a YAC clone covering a cluster of nine S100 genes on human chromosome 1q21: rationale for a new nomenclature of the S100 calcium-binding protein family. Genomics 25(3):638–643.
- Schmidt AM, Yan SD, Yan SF, Stern DM. 2001. The multiligand receptor RAGE as a progression factor amplifying immune and inflammatory responses. J Clin Invest 108(7):949–955.
- Semov A, Moreno MJ, Onichtchenko A, Abulrob A, Ball M, Ekiel I, Pietrzynski G, Stanimirovic D, Alakhov V. 2005. Metastasis-associated protein S100A4 induces angiogenesis through interaction with Annexin II and accelerated plasmin formation. J Biol Chem 280(21):20833–20841.
- Shao X, Li C, Fernandez I, Zhang X, Sudhof TC, Rizo J. 1997. Synaptotagmin-syntaxin interaction: the C2 domain as a Ca²⁺-dependent electrostatic switch. Neuron 18(1):133–142.
- Sharp T. 2006. Neuroscience. A new molecule to brighten the mood. Science 311(5757):45-46.
- Shiraishi N, Nishikimi M. 1998. Suppression of copper-induced cellular damage by copper sequestration with S100b protein. Arch Biochem Biophys 357(2):225–230.

- Shirasawa M, Fujiwara N, Hirabayashi S, Ohno H, Iida J, Makita K, Hata Y. 2004. Receptor for advanced glycation end-products is a marker of type I lung alveolar cells. Genes Cells 9(2):165–174.
- Shishibori T, Oyama Y, Matsushita O, Yamashita K, Furuichi H, Okabe A, Maeta H, Hata Y, Kobayashi R. 1999. Three distinct anti-allergic drugs, amlexanox, cromolyn and tranilast, bind to S100A12 and S100A13 of the S100 protein family. Biochem J 338 (Pt 3):583–589.
- Sivaraja V, Kumar TK, Prudovsky I, Yu C. 2005. Three-dimensional solution structure of a unique S100 protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 335(4):1140–1148.
- Sorci G, Bianchi R, Giambanco I, Rambotti MG, Donato R. 1999. Replicating myoblasts and fused myotubes express the calcium-regulated proteins S100A1 and S100B. Cell Calcium 25(2):93–106.
- Sousa MM, Du Yan S, Fernandes R, Guimaraes A, Stern D, Saraiva MJ. 2001. Familial amyloid polyneuropathy: receptor for advanced glycation end products-dependent triggering of neuronal inflammatory and apoptotic pathways. J Neurosci 21(19):7576–7586.
- Srikrishna G, Panneerselvam K, Westphal V, Abraham V, Varki A, Freeze HH. 2001. Two proteins modulating transendothelial migration of leukocytes recognize novel carboxylated glycans on endothelial cells. J Immunol 166(7):4678–4688.
- Stary M, Schneider M, Sheikh SP, Weitzer G. 2006. Parietal endoderm secreted S100A4 promotes early cardiomyogenesis in embryoid bodies. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 343(2):555–563.
- Stein U, Walther W, Crooks H, Waldman T, Harris ED, Arlt F, Mertins SD, Heizmann CW, Allard D, Birchmeier W, Schlag PM, Shoemaker RH. 2006. The metastasis associated gene S100A4 metastasin is a target of the B-catenin/TCF-pathway. Gastroenterology, in press.
- Stitt AW, He C, Vlassara H. 1999. Characterization of the advanced glycation end-product receptor complex in human vascular endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 256(3):549–556.
- Stulik J, Osterreicher J, Koupilova K, Knizek J, Bures J, Jandik P, Langr F, Dedic K, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW. 2000. Differential expression of the Ca²⁺ binding S100A6 protein in normal, preneoplastic and neoplastic colon mucosa. Eur J Cancer 36(8):1050–1059.
- Sturchler E, Cox JA, I. Durussel, M. Weibel, C.W. Heizmann. 2006. S100A16, a novel calcium-binding protein of the EF-hand superfamily. J Biol Chem, in press.
- Svenningsson P, Chergui K, Rachleff I, Flajolet M, Zhang X, El Yacoubi M, Vaugeois JM, Nomikos GG, Greengard P. 2006. Alterations in 5-HT1B receptor function by p11 in depression-like states. Science 311(5757):77–80.
- Taguchi A, Blood DC, del Toro G, Canet A, Lee DC, Qu W, Tanji N, Lu Y, Lalla E, Fu C, Hofmann MA, Kislinger T, Ingram M, Lu A, Tanaka H, Hori O, Ogawa S, Stern DM, Schmidt AM. 2000. Blockade of RAGE-amphoterin signalling suppresses tumour growth and metastases. Nature 405(6784):354–360.
- Takizawa T, Arai S, Kizawa K, Uchiwa H, Sasaki I, Inoue T. 1999. Ultrastructural localization of S100A3, a cysteine-rich, calcium binding protein, in human scalp hair shafts revealed by rapid-freezing immunocytochemistry. J Histochem Cytochem 47(4):525–532.
- Tarabykina S, Kriajevska M, Scott DJ, Hill TJ, Lafitte D, Derrick PJ, Dodson GG, Lukanidin E, Bronstein I. 2000. Heterocomplex formation between metastasis-related protein S100A4 (Mts1) and S100A1 as revealed by the yeast two-hybrid system. FEBS Lett 475(3):187–191.
- Teratani T, Watanabe T, Yamahara K, Kumagai H, Ishikawa A, Arai K, Nozawa R. 2002. Restricted expression of calcium-binding protein S100A5 in human kidney. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 291(3):623–627.
- Tomas A, Moss SE. 2003. Calcium- and cell cycle-dependent association of annexin 11 with the nuclear envelope. J Biol Chem 278(22):20210–20216.
- Treves S, Scutari E, Robert M, Groh S, Ottolia M, Prestipino G, Ronjat M, Zorzato F. 1997. Interaction of S100A1 with the Ca²⁺ release channel (ryanodine receptor) of skeletal muscle. Biochemistry 36(38):11496–11503.
- Tsoporis JN, Marks A, Zimmer DB, McMahon C, Parker TG. 2003. The myocardial protein S100A1 plays a role in the maintenance of normal gene expression in the adult heart. Mol Cell Biochem 242(1-2):27–33.
- Vallely KM, Rustandi RR, Ellis KC, Varlamova O, Bresnick AR, Weber DJ. 2002. Solution structure of human Mts1 (S100A4) as determined by NMR spectroscopy. Biochemistry 41(42):12670–12680.
- van de Graaf SF, Hoenderop JG, Gkika D, Lamers D, Prenen J, Rescher U, Gerke V, Staub O, Nilius B, Bindels RJ. 2003. Functional expression of the epithelial Ca(2+) channels (TRPV5 and TRPV6) requires association of the S100A10-annexin 2 complex. Embo J 22(7):1478–1487.
- van der Eerden BC, Hoenderop JG, de Vries TJ, Schoenmaker T, Buurman CJ, Uitterlinden AG, Pols HA, Bindels RJ, van Leeuwen JP. 2005. The epithelial Ca²⁺ channel TRPV5 is essential for proper osteoclastic bone resorption. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(48):17507–17512.
- Van Eldik LJ, Wainwright MS. 2003. The Janus face of glial-derived S100B: beneficial and detrimental functions in the brain. Restor Neurol Neurosci 21(3-4):97–108.
- Van Eldik LJ, Zimmer DB. 1987. Secretion of S-100 from rat C6 glioma cells. Brain Res 436(2):367-370.
- Vandal K, Rouleau P, Boivin A, Ryckman C, Talbot M, Tessier PA. 2003. Blockade of S100A8 and S100A9 suppresses neutrophil migration in response to lipopolysaccharide. J Immunol 171(5): 2602–2609.
- Vissing H, Aagaard L, Tommerup N, Boel E. 1994. Localization of the human gene for advanced glycosylation end product-specific receptor (AGER) to chromosome 6p21.3. Genomics 24(3): 606–608.
- Vives V, Alonso G, Solal AC, Joubert D, Legraverend C. 2003. Visualization of S100B-positive neurons and glia in the central nervous system of EGFP transgenic mice. J Comp Neurol 457(4):404–419.
- Vogel T, Leukert N, Barczyk, K. Strupat K, Roth J. Biophysical characterization of S100A8 and S100A9 in the absence and presence of bivalent cations. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Molecular Cell Research; 2006, in press.
- Volkers M, Loughrey CM, Macquaide N, Remppis A, de George B, Wegner FV, Friedrich O, Fink RH, Koch WJ, Smith GL, Most P. 2006. S100A1 decreases calcium spark frequency and alters their spatial characteristics in permeabilized adult ventricular cardiomyocytes. Cell Calcium.
- Wang G, Platt-Higgins A, Carroll J, de Silva Rudland S, Winstanley J, Barraclough R, Rudland PS. 2006. Induction of metastasis by S100P in a rat mammary model and its association with poor survival of breast cancer patients. Cancer Res 66(2):1199–1207.
- Wang G, Rudland PS, White MR, Barraclough R. 2000a. Interaction in vivo and in vitro of the metastasis-inducing S100 protein, S100A4 (p9Ka) with S100A1. J Biol Chem 275(15):11141–11146.
- Wang G, Zhang S, Fernig DG, Martin-Fernandez M, Rudland PS, Barraclough R. 2005. Mutually antagonistic actions of S100A4 and S100A1 on normal and metastatic phenotypes. Oncogene 24(8): 1445–1454.
- Wang G, Zhang S, Fernig DG, Spiller D, Martin-Fernandez M, Zhang H, Ding Y, Rao Z, Rudland PS, Barraclough R. 2004. Heterodimeric interaction and interfaces of S100A1 and S100P. Biochem J 382(Pt 1):375–383.
- Wang HY, Lee DH, D'Andrea MR, Peterson PA, Shank RP, Reitz AB. 2000b. beta-Amyloid(1–42) binds to alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor with high affinity. Implications for Alzheimer's disease pathology. J Biol Chem 275(8):5626–5632.
- Webb M, Emberley ED, Lizardo M, Alowami S, Qing G, Alfia'ar A, Snell-Curtis LJ, Niu Y, Civetta A, Myal Y, Shiu R, Murphy LC, Watson PH. 2005. Expression analysis of the mouse S100A7/psoriasin gene in skin inflammation and mammary tumorigenesis. BMC Cancer 5:17.
- Wicki R, Franz C, Scholl FA, Heizmann CW, Schafer BW. 1997. Repression of the candidate tumor suppressor gene S100A2 in breast cancer is mediated by site-specific hypermethylation. Cell Calcium 22(4):243–254.
- Wicki R, Marenholz I, Mischke D, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW. 1996a. Characterization of the human S100A12 (calgranulin C, p6, CAAF1, CGRP) gene, a new member of the S100 gene cluster on chromosome 1q21. Cell Calcium 20(6):459–464.
- Wicki R, Schafer BW, Erne P, Heizmann CW. 1996b. Characterization of the human and mouse cDNAs coding for S100A13, a new member of the S100 protein family. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 227(2):594–599.
- Wilder PT, Baldisseri DM, Udan R, Vallely KM, Weber DJ. 2003. Location of the Zn(2+)-binding site on S100B as determined by NMR spectroscopy and site-directed mutagenesis. Biochemistry 42(46):13410–13421.

- Wilder PT, Lin J, Bair CL, Charpentier TH, Yang D, Liriano M, Varney KM, Lee A, Oppenheim AB, Adhya S, Carrier F, Weber DJ. Recognition of the tumor suppressor protein p53 and other protein targets by the calcium-binding protein S100B. Biochim Biophys Acta - Molecular Cell Research; 2006, in press.
- Wilder PT, Rustandi RR, Drohat AC, Weber DJ. 1998. S100B (betabeta) inhibits the protein kinase C-dependent phosphorylation of a peptide derived from p53 in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner. Protein Sci 7(3):794–798.
- Winocur G, Roder J, Lobaugh N. 2001. Learning and memory in S100-beta transgenic mice: an analysis of impaired and preserved function. Neurobiol Learn Mem 75(2):230–243.
- Wolf R, Voscopoulos CJ, FitzGerald PC, Goldsmith P, Cataisson C, Gunsior M, Walz M, Ruzicka T, Yuspa SH. 2006. The mouse S100A15 ortholog parallels genomic organization, structure, gene expression, and protein-processing pattern of the human S100A7/A15 subfamily during epidermal maturation. J Invest Dermatol 126(7):1600–1608.
- Wright NT, Varney KM, Ellis KC, Markowitz J, Gitti RK, Zimmer DB, Weber DJ. 2005. The threedimensional solution structure of Ca(2+)-bound S100A1 as determined by NMR spectroscopy. J Mol Biol 353(2):410–426.
- Xiong Z, O'Hanlon D, Becker LE, Roder J, MacDonald JF, Marks A. 2000. Enhanced calcium transients in glial cells in neonatal cerebellar cultures derived from S100B null mice. Exp Cell Res 257(2): 281–289.
- Yamada A, Irie K, Hirota T, Ooshio T, Fukuhara A, Takai Y. 2005. Involvement of the annexin II-S100A10 complex in the formation of E-cadherin-based adherens junctions in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells. J Biol Chem 280(7):6016–6027.
- Yamasaki R, Berri M, Wu Y, Trombitas K, McNabb M, Kellermayer MS, Witt C, Labeit D, Labeit S, Greaser M, Granzier H. 2001. Titin-actin interaction in mouse myocardium: passive tension modulation and its regulation by calcium/S100A1. Biophys J 81(4):2297–2313.
- Yamashita N, Ilg EC, Schafer BW, Heizmann CW, Kosaka T. 1999. Distribution of a specific calciumbinding protein of the S100 protein family, S100A6 (calcyclin), in subpopulations of neurons and glial cells of the adult rat nervous system. J Comp Neurol 404(2):235–257.
- Yan SD, Chen X, Fu J, Chen M, Zhu H, Roher A, Slattery T, Zhao L, Nagashima M, Morser J, Migheli A, Nawroth P, Stern D, Schmidt AM. 1996. RAGE and amyloid-beta peptide neurotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Nature 382(6593):685–691.
- Yan SD, Zhu H, Zhu A, Golabek A, Du H, Roher A, Yu J, Soto C, Schmidt AM, Stern D, Kindy M. 2000. Receptor-dependent cell stress and amyloid accumulation in systemic amyloidosis. Nat Med 6(6):643–651.
- Ye F, Foell D, Hirono KI, Vogl T, Rui C, Yu X, Watanabe S, Watanabe K, Uese K, Hashimoto I, Roth J, Ichida F, Miyawaki T. 2004. Neutrophil-derived S100A12 is profoundly upregulated in the early stage of acute Kawasaki disease. Am J Cardiol 94(6):840–844.
- Yonekura H, Yamamoto Y, Sakurai S, Petrova RG, Abedin MJ, Li H, Yasui K, Takeuchi M, Makita Z, Takasawa S, Okamoto H, Watanabe T, Yamamoto H. 2003. Novel splice variants of the receptor for advanced glycation end-products expressed in human vascular endothelial cells and pericytes, and their putative roles in diabetes-induced vascular injury. Biochem J 370(Pt 3):1097–1109.
- Yui S, Nakatani Y, Hunter MJ, Chazin WJ, Yamazaki M. 2002. Implication of extracellular zinc exclusion by recombinant human calprotectin (MRP8 and MRP14) from target cells in its apoptosis-inducing activity. Mediators Inflamm 11(3):165–172.
- Zhang H, Wang G, Ding Y, Wang Z, Barraclough R, Rudland PS, Fernig DG, Rao Z. 2003. The crystal structure at 2A resolution of the Ca²⁺-binding protein S100P. J Mol Biol 325(4):785–794.
- Zhang H, Wang Z, Ding Y, Wang G, Wang X, Bartlam M, Tang H, Liu Y, Jiang F, Barraclough R, Rudland PS, Rao Z. 2002a. Crystallization and preliminary crystallographic analysis of a metastasisinducing protein, human S100A4. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 58(Pt 1):127–129.
- Zhang T, Woods TL, Elder JT. 2002b. Differential responses of S100A2 to oxidative stress and increased intracellular calcium in normal, immortalized, and malignant human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 119(5):1196–1201.

- Zhukova L, Zhukov I, Bal W, Wyslouch-Cieszynska A. 2004. Redox modifications of the C-terminal cysteine residue cause structural changes in S100A1 and S100B proteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1742(1-3):191–201.
- Zimmer DB. 1991. Examination of the calcium-modulated protein S100 alpha and its target proteins in adult and developing skeletal muscle. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 20(4):325–337.
- Zimmer DB, Chaplin J, Baldwin A, Rast M. 2005. S100-mediated signal transduction in the nervous system and neurological diseases. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand) 51(2):201–214.
- Zimmer DB, Cornwall EH, Landar A, Song W. 1995. The S100 protein family: history, function, and expression. Brain Res Bull 37(4):417–429.
- Zimmer DB, Cornwall EH, Reynolds PD, Donald CM. 1998. S100A1 regulates neurite organization, tubulin levels, and proliferation in PC12 cells. J Biol Chem 273(8):4705–4711.
- Zimmer DB, Landar A. 1995. Analysis of S100A1 expression during skeletal muscle and neuronal cell differentiation. J Neurochem 64(6):2727–2736.
- Zimmer DB, Van Eldik LJ. 1989. Analysis of the calcium-modulated proteins, S100 and calmodulin, and their target proteins during C6 glioma cell differentiation. J Cell Biol 108(1):141–151.
- Zimmer DB, Wright Sadosky P, Weber DJ. 2003. Molecular mechanisms of S100-target protein interactions. Microsc Res Tech 60(6):552–559.

CHAPTER 6

THE CALCIUM-SENSING RECEPTOR: PHYSIOLOGY, PATHOPHYSIOLOGY AND CaR-BASED THERAPEUTICS

Physiology and pathophysiology of CaR

E.M. BROWN, M.D.*

Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Hypertension, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, 221 Longwood Avenue, 02115 Boston, MA, USA

- Abstract: The extracellular calcium (Ca2+)-sensing receptor (CaR) enables the parathyroid glands and other CaR-expressing cells to sense alterations in the level of Ca_o²⁺ and to respond with changes in function that are directed at normalizing the blood calcium concentration. In addition to the parathyroid gland, the kidney is a key site for Ca_{o}^{2+} -sensing that enables it to make physiologically relevant alterations in divalent cation and water metabolism. Several disorders of Ca_o²⁺-sensing arise from inherited or acquired abnormalities that "reset" the serum calcium concentration upward or downward. Inactivating mutations produce a benign form of hypercalcemia when present in the heterozygous state, termed Familial Hypocalciuric Hypercalcemia (FHH), while homozygous mutations produce a much more severe hypercalcemic disorder resulting from marked hyperparathyroidism, called Neonatal Severe Hyperparathyroidism (NSHPT). Activating mutations cause a hypocalcemic syndrome of varying severity, termed autosomal dominant hypocalcemia or hypoparathyroidism. Inactivating or activating antibodies directed at the CaR produce the expected hyper- or hypocalcemic syndromes, respectively. "Calcimimetic" CaR activators and "calcilytic" CaR antagonists have been developed. The calcimimetics are currently in use for controlling severe hyperparathyroidism in patients receiving dialysis treatment for end stage renal disease or with parathyroid cancer. Calcilytics are being evaluated as a means of inducing a "pulse" in the circulating parathyroid hormone (PTH) concentration, which would mimic that resulting from injection of PTH, an established anabolic form of treatment for osteoporosis
- Keywords: Seven transmembrane receptor, calcium-sensing receptor, calcium homeostasis, calcimimetic, calcilytic, familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia, autosomal dominant hypoparathyroidism, acquired hypoparathyroidism, osteoporosis, hyperparathyroidism

^{*}Edward M. Brown, M.D., Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Hypertension, Brigham and Women's Hospital, EBRC223A, 221 Longwood Ave., Boston, MA 02115, E-mail: embrown@ partner.org

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 139–167. © 2007 Springer.

1. INTRODUCTION

The calcium-sensing receptor (CaR) is a seven transmembrane receptor (7TM receptor-also termed G protein-coupled receptor) that is expressed widely throughout the body (Brown et al, 1993). It plays key roles in the maintenance of a nearly constant extracellular ionized calcium concentration (Ca_{a}^{2+}), particularly in the chief cells of the parathyroid gland. Here it regulates the synthesis and secretion of PTH as well as parathyroid cellular proliferation (Tfelt-Hansen and Brown, 2005), inhibiting all three when Ca_o^{2+} is high and stimulating them when Ca₂⁺ is low (Tfelt-Hansen and Brown, 2005). PTH plays a central role in the acute regulation of Ca_0^{2+} and through its regulation by the CaR, maintains Ca_0^{2+} within a narrow range (1.1–1.3mM). Both very high and very low levels of Ca_0^{2+} can lead to serious clinical sequellae and in some instance can be life-threatening. Even minute alterations in Ca_{0}^{2+} from its normal level (e.g., of a few percent) promote immediate physiologic responses, especially reciprocal changes in PTH secretion that will normalize the level of Ca_{0}^{2+} . The CaR, cloned over a decade ago, is a central element in the maintenance of this delicate state of calcium homeostasis. It serves as the body's thermostat for Ca₂⁺, functioning as a "calciostat" and informing the parathyroid glands of the precise level of Ca_{0}^{2+} .

The CaR was cloned using the expression-cloning technique in Xenopus laevis oocytes (Brown et al, 1993). Analysis of its nucleotide and amino acid sequences place the CaR within family C of the superfamily of seven transmembrane, G protein-couple receptors (GPCRs). Other members of this family are the G protein -coupled, so-called metabotropic receptors for glutamate (mGluRs) and for gammaaminobutyric acid (GABA), as well as GPCRs for sensing pheromones, taste, and odorants (in fish). Recently, another member of family C, GPRC6A, has been found to share several pharmacological properties with the CaR (Wellendorph and Brauner-Osborne, 2004; Wellendorph et al, 2005). Like the CaR, GPRC6A is sensitive towards certain L-amino acids, although unlike the CaR, which senses predominantly aromatic amino acids, GPRC6A is most responsive to basic amino acids (Wellendorph et al, 2005). Subsequent studies showed that this receptor is also activated by high concentrations of extracellular calcium (e.g., 10–20 mM) and calcimimetics (Pi et al, 2005), allosteric activators of the CaR that will be discussed later. These data have implicated GPRC6A as a second calcium-sensing receptor (CaSR2).

The physiological relevance of the CaR in humans was proven by the identification of inherited disorders caused by mutations in the receptor leading to either loss- or gain-of-function (Hendy et al, 2000). Heterozygous (e.g., the mutation is present in only one allele) gain-of-function mutations cause a form of autosomal dominant hypoparathyroidism (ADH). Heterozygous loss-of-function mutations are the cause of a disorder called familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia—FHH, also termed familial benign hypocalciuric hypercalcemia (FBHH), which typically manifests as asymptomatic hypercalcemia with relative or absolute hypocalciuria. When present in the homozygous or compound heterozygous state, in contrast, inactivating CaR mutations produce neonatal severe primary hyperparathyroidism (NSHPT), a severe, sometimes lethal disease if it is left untreated. Mouse models with disruption of one or both CaR genes produce biochemical and phenotypic features closely resembling those observed in FHH and NSHPT, respectively. Thus our increasing understanding of inherited disorders of calcium-sensing as well as animal models with knockout of the receptor have illuminated not only the pathophysiology but also the physiology of the CaR and is reviewed in a later section.

CaR expression is greatest in the parathyroid glands, calcitonin-secreting C-cells of the thyroid gland, and kidney, but the CaR is also found in the two other key organs that participate in calcium homeostasis: gut and bone (Brown and MacLeod, 2001). This review will focus on the structure and function of the CaR, its role in normal physiology and in various disorders of Ca_o^{2+} -sensing, and the development of CaR-based therapeutics.

2. BIOCHEMICAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL FEATURES OF THE CaR

This section briefly introduces key aspects of the structure of the CaR and its downstream signaling pathways to provide sufficient background information to understand the molecular basis for both normal mineral ion homeostasis and for inherited diseases of the CaR. We also present an update regarding the growing number of naturally occurring and pharmacologic ligands of the receptor. The use of the latter as CaR-based therapeutics for various disorders of Ca_o^{2+} -sensing is covered in greater depth in section F, following the description of these ligands and disorders.

2.1. Structure and Signaling Pathways of the CaR

The 5.3-kb clone of the CaR isolated by expression cloning, when expressed in the oocytes, exhibited the same pharmacological properties as the Ca_o^{2+} -sensing mechanism previously characterized in dispersed bovine parathyroid cells, the prototypical calcium-sensing cell (Brown et al, 1993). The use of nucleic acid hybridization-based cloning then enabled the CaR to be cloned from humans (Garrett et al, 1995), rats (Riccardi et al, 1995), mice, rabbits (Butters et al, 1997) and, more recently, the dogfish shark (Nearing et al, 2002) and bony fish (Loretz et al, 2004). The nucleic acid sequences of the mammalian receptors are at least 85% identical to that of the original bovine parathyroid CaR. The amino acid sequences show even greater similarity [>90% identity using http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST/]. Therefore, only a limited amount of divergence from a putative primordial calcium-sensing receptor has taken place throughout evolution, and the functionally important structural features have presumably been retained.

The CaR is a member of family C II of the superfamily of seven transmembrane (7TM) receptors, also termed G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Brown and MacLeod, 2001). 7TM receptors are by far the largest group of cell surface receptors. They are very important in clinical medicine, since the 7TM receptors represent

the targets of about 50% of currently available drugs. The human CaR comprises 1078 amino acid residues and has three structural domains, as do all 7TM receptors (Figure 1). It has an unusually large extracellular domain (ECD) (612 residues), which is characteristic of the family C GPCRs; a transmembrane domain (TMD) of 250 amino acids containing the 7 membrane spanning helices, and an intracellular, C-terminal tail (ICD) of 216 amino acids (Figure 1). The receptor exhibits substantial N-linked glycosylation, which is important for the normal level of cell membrane expression of the receptor but does not appear to modify the function of the



Figure 1. Topology of the CaR showing naturally occuring mutations

Scissors indicate end of signal peptide, circled P's at amino acids T646, S794, S915, S895, T888 are protein kinase C sites, blue symbols are polymorphisms, green are inactivating mutations, red are activating mutations, and black on top of green are two inactivating mutations (See Colour Plate 11) reproduced with permission from G.N. Hendy, Ph.D.

receptor per se (Rav et al, 1998). The cell surface form of the CaR is primarily a dimer, and the two monomers within the dimeric CaR are linked by disulfide bonds involving cysteine residues 129 and 131 within each monomer (Bai et al, 1998a). The location(s) of the Ca_{α}^{2+} -binding sites in the CaR have not been fully elucidated, but recent evidence suggests that one potential binding pocket is present within the cleft between the two lobes (Silve et al, 2005). The ECD of each CaR monomer probably contains more than one binding sites for Ca_{a}^{2+} , because the Hill coefficient for the activation of the receptor by Ca_{0}^{2+} is 3, 4; consistent with the presence of positive cooperativity amongst at least this number of binding sites within the dimeric CaR. The TMD is also apparently involved in Ca_{0}^{2+} sensing, since a mutant CaR lacking the ECD also responds to Ca²⁺ and other polyvalent cations (Hu et al, 2005). The receptor contains five protein kinase C (PKC) phosphorylation sites (Figure 1) (Bai et al, 1998b). The PKC phosphorylation sites are part of a negative feedback system, whereby phosphorylation of one or more of the PKC sites, particularly T888, inhibits CaR-mediated activation of phospholipase C (PLC), which is a major downstream mediator of the receptor's biological responses. PLC is an important participant in CaR-mediated activation of PKC, particularly the calcium-dependent forms of the enzyme. Studies carried out prior to the cloning of the CaR demonstrated that incubation of parathyroid chief cells with high levels of Ca_{0}^{2+} inhibited hormone-dependent cAMP accumulation and activated PLC and, consequently, IP₃ production, documenting that the CaR activates both $G\alpha_{q}$ and $G\alpha_{i/o}$ (Brown, 1991). The ICD binds to the scaffolding proteins, filamin-A and caveolin-1 (anti-caveolin antibodies co-immunoprecipitate the CaR, but direct binding of caveolin-1 to the CaR has not been demonstrated)

(Hjalm et al, 2001; Kifor et al, 1998); both of these proteins also bind signaling partners activated by the CaR, such as components of the MAPK pathways (see below). The interaction of the CaR with filamin-A was recently shown to protect the CaR from intracellular degradation (Zhang and Breitwieser, 2005); this finding may explain why some studies have found that the CaR exhibits limited internalization following binding to its ligands.

Studies utilizing a heterologous system of human embryonic kidney (HEK) cells with or without stably transfected CaR (HEK-CaR) have uncovered a plethora of intracellular signaling pathways regulated by the receptor (Awata et al, 2001; Brown and MacLeod, 2001). Most are also active in CaR-mediated signaling in other cells expressing the CaR endogenously. In HEK-CaR cells as well as in parathyroid cells, the CaR activates phospholipases (PL) A_2 , C, and D. PLC hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate to produce IP₃, which, in turn, activates the IP₃ receptor in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), thereby releasing calcium from its internal stores within the ER; the attendant influx of calcium into the cytosol causes spikes in the cytosolic free calcium concentration (Ca²⁺_i). An early step in the biosynthesis of polyphosphoinositides is conversion of phosphatidylinositol (PI) to phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate (PI-4P) by phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase. The CaR stimulates phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase via G α_q in parallel with its concomitant activation of PLC in HEK-CaR cells (Huang et al, 2002). Another key group of intracellular signaling pathways linked to the CaR is the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs). Activation of MAPKs takes place via phosphorylation by their respective upstream kinases. MAPKs are key intracellular signaling pathways that often produce changes in gene expression, i.e., in cell cycle regulation. But MAPKs can also regulate processes close to the cell membrane, such as the activity of potassium channels and the secretion of peptides. We have previously demonstrated that the CaR in parathyroid cells and HEK-CaR cells stimulates the activity of MAPKs (Kifor et al, 1997). Handlogten et al. also showed that the CaR activates MAPK in HEK-CaR cells; they used HEK cells stably transfected with a dominant-negative CaR (Arg796Trp) as a control (Handlogten et al, 2001). They likewise demonstrated that the CaR stimulates PLA₂ through Ga_a, PLC, calmodulin, and calmodulin-dependent kinase, but not through Ga_s or MAPK in HEK-CaR cells. The explanation(s) underlying the differing results of these two studies concerning the role of MAPK in PLA₂ activation has not yet been clarified. In cells that express the CaR at lower levels than parathyroid cells and HEK-CaR cells, including testicular cancer cells, MAPK and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase), components of an important prosurvival pathway, have been shown to be activated by the CaR (Tfelt-Hansen et al, 2004).

2.2. Agonists of the Calcium-sensing Receptor

The CaR behaves in a promiscuous manner with regards to the considerable number of ligands that regulate it. CaR agonists are described as type I or type II (Nemeth et al, 1998b). Type I agonists are direct agonists, while type II serve as allosteric modulators, requiring the presence of calcium to stimulate the CaR; the type II modulators leftshift the calcium dose-response curve by sensitizing the receptor to this or other type I agonists. The type I ligands comprise a variety of polycations, both inorganic and organic, and their potencies generally parallel the number of positive charges that they possess. The rank order of potency for the stimulation of the CaR by various inorganic di- and trivalent cations is as follows: $Gd^{3+} > La^{3+} \gg Ca^{2+} = Ba^{2+} > Sr^{2+} > Mg^{2+}$ (Brown et al, 1990; Nemeth and Scarpa, 1987; Shoback et al, 1988). The best characterized type I organic polycationic CaR agonists are neomycin, spermine, and amyloid β -peptides (Brown et al, 1993; Quinn et al, 1997; Ye et al, 1997). Neomycin and gadolinium are often utilized to demonstrate that an action of Ca_{0}^{2+} is likely to be mediated through the CaR; however, they are far from specific for the CaR and newer, more specific approaches, such as the use of pharmacological activators or inhibitors of the receptor, dominant negative constructs or RNA silencing, offer great advantages in this regard. Slight alterations in Ca_{0}^{2+} (50–100 micromolar) within the physiological range in vivo regulate the CaR's activity, but the affinity of the receptor for its principal physiological regulator, calcium, is far lower than that of other GPCRs for their ligands. The CaR's low affinity, when considered within the context of the levels of calcium within the bodily fluids (e.g., millimolar) as well as the steepness of the curve relating Ca_{o}^{2+} to CaR activity, make the CaR a excellent "calciostat" for informing CaR-expressing cells of the precise level of Ca_0^{2+} within their immediate vicinity. The Hill coefficient, which provides a measure of how well the CaR responds to small alterations in the

concentrations of its agonists, is 3 to 4 in HEK-CaR cells (Bai et al, 1996), as noted above. In dispersed parathyroid cells *in vitro*, the CaR is even more sensitive to changes in Ca_o^{2+} : PTH release is maximal at 0.75 mM and fully suppressed at just below 2 mM ionized Ca_o^{2+} (Brown, 1991). HEK-CaR cells as well as other types of cells, which, in general, express the CaR at lower levels than do the chief cells of the parathyroid gland, e.g. leydig cancer cells derived from the testis, exhibit higher EC_{50} values (\sim 3–4 mM) (Bai et al, 1996; Sanders et al, 2000).

As noted earlier, type II agonists are allosteric modulators of the CaR, e.g., they potentiate the action of Ca_{0}^{2+} on the receptor. They comprise two classes: small molecule drugs and amino acids. Drugs that allosterically stimulate the CaR are called "calcimimetics" (Nemeth et al, 1998b). NPS R-467 and NPS R-568 and AMG 073 are calcimimetics that have been used in various experimental studies and clinical trials and, more recently, as treatments for the secondary hyperparathyroidism, which is not uncommonly encountered in patients with end stage renal disease receiving dialysis therapy (Block et al, 2004; Goodman et al, 2002). AMG 073 (also called cinacalcet or sensipar) is currently the drug of choice, because NPS R-467 and NPS R-568 are degraded by a cytochrome P-450 enzyme, CYP2D6 (Amgen, unpublished data). Five to seven percent of the general population expresses CYP2D6, which has reduced enzymatic activity, thereby resulting in higher blood levels and delayed metabolic clearance in this segment of the population. Calcimimetics interact with the CaR's TMD and in some manner increase the apparent affinity of the receptor for calcium. More details on CaR-based therapeutics and their application to human disease are given in Section F.

Some L-amino acids also act as type II agonists, in contrast to the respective D-amino acids, which are several-fold less potent in activating the receptor (Conigrave et al, 2000). This CaR's ability to be activated by both extracellular calcium and L-amino acids may permit it to sense nutrients in the gut, for example. Available data indicate that amino acids bind to the ECD of the receptor, interacting with a binding pocket homologous to those binding GABA and glutamate in the GABA_B receptors and mGluRs, respectively (Silve et al, 2005; Zhang et al, 2002). This may be pharmacologically important, since L-phenylalanine and the calcimimetic NPS R-467 have synergistic actions in stimulating the CaR. Finally, calcilytics represent another type of pharmacological agent acting on the CaR, as described in more detail in Section F. They antagonize the action of Ca_o^{2+} on the receptor, and are being studied for use in the treatment of osteoporosis, as they stimulate a pulse of endogenous PTH secretion, which has the potential to exert an anabolic action on bone, similar to that of once daily injected PTH (Gowen et al, 2000).

2.3. Physiology

It is crucial for the body that Ca_o^{2+} is maintained within a narrow range (1.1–1.3 mM). Both very low and very high levels of Ca_o^{2+} can be dangerous and even life-threatening. Even very small alterations in the level of Ca_o^{2+} , on the order of

a few percent, produce immediate physiologic responses, which include alterations in PTH secretion that restore Ca_o^{2+} to its normal level. Rapid alterations in Ca_o^{2+} are more hazardous than slowly developing ones; thus the rapidity of the PTH response is essential as a homeostatic defense against both hypo- and hypercalcemia.

Parathyroid hormone (PTH), calcitonin, and 1,25(OH)₂D₃ are the three most important Ca₂⁺-regulating hormones (Bringhurst et al, 1998). As noted earlier, there is a functionally critical inverse relationship between Ca_o²⁺ and PTH, a calciumelevating hormone. This relationship is mediated by the CaR (Ho et al, 1995; Schwarz et al, 1993). In contrast, high Ca_{0}^{2+} stimulates the secretion of calcitonin (CT), a Ca_{0}^{2+} -lowering hormone; this action of calcium on CT secretion is likewise mediated by the CaR (Fudge and Kovacs, 2004). The rapidity with which the secretion of PTH and CT respond to changes in extracellular calcium usually normalizes Ca²⁺ within minutes to hours. Available data have demonstrated that the CaR is expressed not only in the organs that secrete calcium-regulating hormones (e.g., the parathyroid glands and C-cells of the thyroid glands), but also in target tissues for these hormones. These latter tissues regulate Ca_{o}^{2+} by translocating calcium ions into or out of the bodily fluids, and include the kidney, which expresses the CaR at robust levels in certain nephron segments, as well as bone and intestine, which express the receptor at lower levels (see below). By acting on both hormonesecreting and hormone-responsive tissues through its own cell surface receptor, Ca_o²⁺ acts in effect, as another Ca_{0}^{2+} -regulating "hormone" (in this case Ca_{0}^{2+} -lowering) or "first messenger". Elevations in the extracellular ionized calcium concentration stimulate the CaR and lower Ca_0^{2+} by enhancing CT secretion, promoting urinary calcium excretion and suppressing PTH release. In the remainder of this section, we will provide a brief discussion of the CaR's known and putative roles in parathyroid gland, kidney and bone, three out of the four main organs involved in calcium homeostasis. For a discussion of the CaR's localization and potential roles along the gastrointestinal tract, see (Hebert et al, 2004).

2.3.1. Parathyroid (PT) glands

The most important function of the CaR in minute-to-minute Ca_o^{2+} homeostasis lies in the CaR-mediated inhibition of PTH secretion. The steep inverse sigmoidal curve relating Ca_o^{2+} and PTH release was described long before the CaR was cloned. Studies utilizing dispersed parathyroid cells to investigate Ca_o^{2+} -regulated PTH release are mainly limited to those performed within a few hours of isolating the cells, because these cells, particularly bovine parathyroid cells, exhibit a marked, loss of their expression of the CaR on the cell membrane over 24–48 hours (Brown et al, 1995; Mithal et al, 1995). The receptor is normally expressed at high levels on the surface of the parathyroid chief cells. The principal functions of the CaR in the parathyroid are shown in Table 1. Relatively little is known about the control of its expression on the cell surface, but of note, the expression of the CaR in rat parathyroid and kidney was increased by 1,25(OH)₂D₃, while Ca_o^{2+} had no effect (Brown et al, 1996). In more recent studies, however, raising Ca_o^{2+} increased CaR expression in avian parathyroid gland (Yarden et al, 2000), and a

Table 1. Key Roles of CaR in Parathyroid and Kidney

- Parathyroid
 - (1) Inhibit PTH secretion
 - (2) Inhibit PTH gene expression
 - (3) Inhibit parathyroid cellular proliferation
- Kidney
 - (1) Proximal tubule-blunt PTH-induced phosphaturia
 - (2) MTAL—inhibit NaCl reabsorption
 - (3) CTAL—inhibit reabsorption of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+}
 - (4) IMCD—inhibit vasopressin-elicited water reabsorption

calcimimetic elevated the expression of the receptor in pathological parathyroid glands (Mizobuchi et al, 2004). The upregulation of the receptor following its activation could clearly serve as a positive feedback loop contributing to CaR-mediated actions in the parathyroid gland. Of note in this regard, Ca_o^{2+} also regulates the expression of the vitamin D receptor (VDR) (Bajwa et al, 2005), which could potentiate the action of vitamin D on the level of CaR expression and also enhance the biological actions of the CaR. Another case where there is upregulation of parathyroid CaR expression is in sheep subjected to burn injury, which was accompanied by a decrease in set-point for suppression of PTH secretion by calcium (Murphey et al, 2000). This increase in CaR expression and the associated change in Ca_o^{2+} -regulated PTH secretion may be a factor that contributes to the hypocalcemia and relative hypoparathyroidism in human burn patients. It might also participate in the hypocalcemia accompanied by inappropriately normal PTH levels, which can be observed in severely ill patients with inflammatory states.

In bovine parathyroid cells, the CaR is located on the cell membrane in caveolin-1-containing rich membrane domains (Kifor et al, 1998) that are called caveolae and can serve as "message centers" where several different types of signaling molecules are concentrated. The signaling systems downstream of the CaR that contribute to the regulation of PTH secretion are not known with certainty. However, a recent report showed that knockout of both G_q and G_{11} in mice resulted in biochemical features similar to those caused by homozygous knockout of the CaR in mice and humans, suggesting a critical role for these G proteins in CaR-induced suppression of PTH secretion (Wettschureck et al, 2006). Another report showed that activation of the CaR increases ERK1/2 activity via the PKC pathway and, to a lesser extent, the PI-3K pathway, in normal parathyroid cells. Thus, while more work is needed, a pathway comprising CaR $\rightarrow G_{q/11} \rightarrow PLC \rightarrow PKC \rightarrow ERK1/2$ may participate in the modulation of PTH secretion by Ca_0^{2+} .

2.3.2. Expression, function and regulation of the CaR in the kidney

The kidney plays several critical roles in calcium homeostasis. The CaR is widely expressed along essentially the whole nephron. The cellular localization and putative function(s) of the CaR in the kidney seem to depend upon the region of the nephron in which the receptor resides (Ward and Riccardi, 2002). The CaR's

expression along the nephron has been studied using *in situ* hybridization as well as reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) of micro-dissected nephron segments (Riccardi et al, 1996). Later, the cellular localization and regional distribution of receptor protein along the nephron was examined using immunofluorescence (Riccardi et al, 1998). One outcome of these studies was the recognition that the polarity of CaR protein varies along the nephron. In the proximal tubule the receptor is present on the apical surface of the proximal tubular epithelial cells. On the contrary, in the cells of the cortical thick ascending limb (CTAL), the receptor is localized in the basolateral membrane. Similarly, basolateral staining for the CaR was observed in the medullary thick ascending limb (MTAL), macula densa, and the distal convoluted tubule (DCT). In the cortical collecting duct, immunostaining for the CaR is located on some intercalated cells, while in the inner medullary collecting duct (IMCD) the receptor has primarily an apical distribution.

There has been relatively little work characterizing the factors that regulate the CaR's expression in the kidney. A recent report demonstrated that in rat kidney, C-cell and parathyroid in vivo as well as in a human proximal tubule cell line in vitro, transcription of the CaR gene was increased about two-fold following 8 and 12 h of treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D₃ (Canaff and Hendy, 2002), acting via two promoters that lie upstream of the CaR gene. A low phosphate diet had no effect on CaR expression along the nephron in one study (Caride et al, 1998), while Riccardi et al. demonstrated *in vivo* in rats that a low phosphate diet as well as treatment with PTH downregulated CaR protein in the proximal tubule (Riccardi et al, 2000). Thus CaR expression in the proximal tubule of the rat kidney is modulated by 1,25(OH)₂D₃ and PTH and, perhaps, by dietary phosphate. One other study on the regulation of the CaR's expression along the nephron demonstrated that the level of CaR protein in purified apical endosomes isolated from IMCD, which also contain aquaporin-2, the water channel that traffics to the apical membrane in response to vasopressin and enhances water reabsorption, was reduced in rats rendered hypercalcemic by vitamin D administration (Sands et al, 1998). To summarize, the CaR's roles along the nephron include: 1) diminishing the inhibitory effect of PTH on renal phosphate reabsorption in the proximal tubule (Ba et al, 2003); 2) inhibiting renal tubular reabsorption of calcium in the CTAL (Motoyama and Friedman, 2002); and 3) reducing urinary concentrating ability in the IMCD by antagonizing the action of vasopressin (Sands et al, 1997).

2.3.3. Bone

Abundant data indicate that Ca_o^{2+} inhibits the formation and activity of osteoclasts and stimulates the activity of osteoblasts. The first evidence for the existence of a G protein-coupled, cation-sensing mechanism in osteoblasts was presented shortly after the cloning of the CaR (Quarles et al, 1994). Since then some, but not all studies have found that the CaR is expressed in various osteoblastic cell lines and primary osteoblasts (Chang et al, 1999; Chattopadhyay et al, 2004; Pi et al, 1999). A interesting study demonstrated that osteoblasts from CaR knockout mice still had a promitogenic response to Ca_o^{2+} , supporting the presence of a calcium-sensing mechanism other than the full length CaR. This mechanism could potentially be represented by the newly cloned GPRC6A, although the latter is responsive to calcimimetics, and the actions of extracellular calcium on the CaR knockout osteoblasts were not (Pi et al, 2005). The CaR is also present in articular and hypertrophic chondrocytes (Chang et al, 1999). Utilizing a type II CaR agonist in organ culture (fetal rat metatarsal bones) to study the possible role of the CaR in bone growth, Wu et al. (Wu et al, 2004) demonstrated that the receptor modulates chondrogenesis in the growth plate and enhances longitudinal bone growth.

The CaR is expressed by some osteoclasts (Kanatani et al, 1999) and by monocytes, which are of the same lineage as osteoclast precursors (Yamaguchi et al, 2000). In addition to inhibiting the formation and activity of osteoclasts, high extracellular calcium has been shown to promote osteoclast apoptosis (Lorget et al, 2000). However, the calcimimetic, AMG 073, produced none of the actions of elevated extracellular calcium on osteoblast proliferation or osteoclast formation and resorption in one study (Shalhoub et al, 2003). One possible mechanism that has been suggested to mediate calcium-sensing in osteoclasts is a plasma membrane, ryanodine-like receptor that couples to increases in the intracellular calcium-sensing mechanisms may participate in the regulation of bone cell and cartilage function, further studies are clearly required to clarify the divergent results observed in the studies to date.

3. DISORDERS OF CALCIUM-SENSING THAT INVOLVE THE CaR

3.1. Clinical and Genetic Features of Familial Hypocalciuric Hypercalcemia (FHH) [OMIM 14598]

The principal disorders of extracellular calcium sensing are listed in Table 2. FHH is typically a benign form of hypercalcemia (Law Jr. and Heath III, 1985; Marx et al, 1981a). The diagnosis of FHH can be made in a patient with mild-to-moderate, PTH-dependent hypercalcemia averaging approximately 2.75 mM (total calcium), an autosomal dominant pattern of inheritance of a similar degree of hypercalcemia on family screening, and an inappropriately reduced rate of urinary calcium excretion in the face of hypercalcemia. Several families, however, have been identified with more marked hypercalcemia, averaging 3 and 3.4 mM. Several affected neonates from some of these kindreds have manifested a neonatal severe hyperparathyroid-like state (Bai et al, 1997). It is thought that the mutant receptors harboring these mutations may in some cases exert a dominant negative action on the wild type partner in mutant-wild type heterodimers.

Because the disorder is benign in most cases, patients with FHH are frequently not diagnosed until a routine measurement of the blood calcium concentration shows

Tal	ble	2.	Dis	orders	s of	Ca	lcium	ı-S	ens	sing	g
-----	-----	----	-----	--------	------	----	-------	-----	-----	------	---

- Conditions with reduced sensitivity to Ca_o²⁺
 (1) FHH/NSHPT
 - (2) Primary hyperparathyroidism
 - (3) Inactivating antibodies to the CaR
- Conditions with increased sensitivity to Ca²⁺_o
 - (1) Autosomal dominant hypocalcemia
 - (2) Activating antibodies to the CaR

an unexpectedly high value, or family screening is carried out owing to the birth of a child with NSHPT (Marx et al, 1982). Patients with FHH commonly have normal serum levels of PTH despite their hypercalcemia, although in about 15–20% of cases, PTH levels are frankly elevated (Heath, 1989b).

The hypercalcemia in FHH, when viewed in the context of a normal level of PTH that is inappropriately high for that serum calcium concentration, reflects the presence of a right-shifted set-point for Ca_o^{2+} -regulated PTH release (Auwerx et al, 1984). An additional important finding is the fact that there is typically a normal or even frankly reduced urinary calcium excretion in spite of the coexistent hypercalcemia (Marx et al, 1981a). This alteration in renal calcium handling reflects "resistance" of the kidney to the usual hypercalciuric action of hypercalcemia and is the equivalent of the resistance of PTH secretion to the normal inhibitory effect of high calcium in FHH. Of note, administration of a loop diuretic (e.g., ethacrynic acid) promotes renal excretion points towards a key role of the thick ascending limb—the site where this class of diuretics acts—in the anomalous renal calcium handling in FHH.

Short of carrying out mutational analysis, the most useful means of distinguishing FHH from other forms of hypercalcemia, particularly primary hyperparathyroidism, is to determine the ratio of the renal clearance of calcium to that of creatinine (Ca/Cr). A value less than 0.01 is found in about 80% of individuals with FHH, while a similar proportion of cases of primary hyperparathyroidism have levels higher than this (Fuleihan et al., 2002). Another biochemical finding in patients with FHH is their capacity to concentrate their urine normally, in contrast to patients with primary hyperparathyroidism, in whom maximal urinary concentration elicited by dehydration is reduced (Marx et al, 1981b). While this finding is not used diagnostically, it likely reflects renal resistance of FHH patients to the hypercalcemia-induced diminution in urinary concentrating ability that is observed in other forms of hypercalcemia. Individuals with FHH usually manifest serum magnesium concentrations that are in the upper normal range or mildly elevated. Finally, while differentiating FHH from primary hyperparathyroidism is usually straightforward, a recent study of the genetic basis for familial isolated hyperparathyroidism showed that four of 22 unrelated probands harbored inactivating mutations of the CaR (Warner et al, 2004). Therefore the clinician should bear in mind that FHH can be an underdiagnosed but important cause of familial isolated hyperparathyroidism (Simonds et al, 2002;

Warner et al, 2004). Moreover this study points out that there can be overlap in the clinical presentations of FHH and primary hyperparathyroidism, particularly in familial forms of the latter.

Additional FHH families have also highlighted the existence of atypical presentations of this condition that initially led to a diagnosis of primary hyperparathyroidism. One such kindred manifested hypercalcemia, high PTH levels, hypercalciuria and even renal stone formation, but was then shown to harbor an inactivating FHH mutation (Carling et al, 2000). Subtotal parathyroidectomy in most affected family members provided long-term remission of their biochemical abnormalities, demonstrating that parathyroid surgery, while typically ineffective in curing hypercalcemia in FHH, may be appropriate in an occasional kindred. Recent studies have described the presence of single and multiple parathyroid "adenomas" in several patients with FHH, although the parathyroid glands in FHH typically are of normal size and histology, or in some cases exhibit mild chief cell hyperplasia with one or more enlarged glands (Burski et al, 2002; Carling et al, 2000). A few cases of parathyroid lipohyperplasia have been described in FHH, and some authors have suggested that finding should prompt a search for inactivating mutations of CaR (Fukumoto et al, 2001).

While FHH most commonly presents as an asymptomatic form of hypercalcemia, a few kindreds exhibit more severe hypercalcemia. Nevertheless, even in these cases the natural history of the disorder is usually so benign that the great majority of these patients should be followed without intervention, with a few exceptions (see above). In the unusual individual with FHH and symptomatic hypercalcemia, the new calcimimetics-described in more detail below—could potentially provide a useful form of treatment; indeed the use of this treatment was recently described in this setting.

The mutations in the CaR gene in FHH or NSHPT cause a loss-of-function of the CaR that result in a rightward shift in the set-point for Ca_o²⁺-regulated PTH secretion. In 1972, Foley et al. (Foley Jr et al, 1972) first described the characteristic clinical features of the hereditary condition now known as familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia (FHH) (it was initially called familial benign hypercalcemia). Nearly two decades later, linkage analysis showed that the predominant locus of the FHH disease gene resided on the long arm of chromosome 3 (band q21-24) in four large FHH families (Chou et al, 1992). However, FHH is not always linked to chromosome 3q. Notably, two families with a clinical features similar to FHH showed linkage to the short and long arms of chromosome 19 (Heath et al, 1993; Lloyd et al, 1999), respectively; one of these was called the Oklahoma variant and exhibited a tendency for the biochemical abnormalities to be progressive with time (Lloyd et al, 1999). FHH that is linked to these latter two loci may be present in a minority of the $\sim 30\%$ of FHH cases without an identifiable mutation in the CaR gene. The remaining cases of FHH without an identifiable mutation presumably harbor mutations in regulatory regions of the CaR gene that control its expression, but this remains to be shown directly.

Since the initial discovery of three unique missense mutations in the CaR gene in 1993 in the families with FHH (Pollak et al, 1993), more than 150 additional mutations have been described. Most are unique to individual families, although a few apparently unrelated kindreds have identical mutations (e.g., gly552arg) (see web site http://www.casrdb.mcgill.ca). Most are missense mutations and reside in the first half of the ECD or within the TMD of the receptor (Hauache, 2001). However, truncation, insertion, deletion and splice site mutations have also been described (Carling et al, 2000; D'Souza-Li et al, 1998; Hendy et al, 2000; Janicic et al, 1995). An unusual type of mutation was described in an FHH family that exhibited a mutation in the acceptor splice site at position-1 of intron 2 of the CaR gene, which resulted in a frame shift and a truncated protein of 153 amino acids (D'Souza-Li et al, 1998). Although the mRNA for the receptor was stable, the truncated protein, lacking any of the transmembrane domain, was never found on the cell membrane. Individual mutations are associated with distinct phenotypes: In some instances, a mutant receptor exerts a dominant-negative action on the remaining wild type receptor within mutant-wild type heterodimers, as noted above, thereby rendering the phenotype more severe (Bai et al, 1997). Such a dominantnegative action presumably reflects the specific properties of the mutant receptor protein residing on the cell surface. In the case of mutant receptors exerting a dominant negative action, normally functioning, wild type CaR homodimers would only represent about one-fourth of all the cell surface receptors (reflecting the theoretically expected ratio of 1:2:1 of wild type homodimer, wild-type-mutant heterodimer, and mutant homodimers, respectively). Truncations in the CaR gene, in contrast, may simply reduce the number of normally functioning CaRs expressed on the cell surface, producing so-called haploinsufficiency, which results from a decrease in receptor expression/activity due to loss of one CaR allele, analogous to mice heterozygous for knockout of the CaR gene (Ho et al, 1995), where levels of the CaR protein are about 50% of normal. It should be kept in mind while evaluating the literature describing in vitro characterization of mutant CaRs that the cells used for these experiments differ substantially from the chief cells of the parathyroid glands or CaR-expressing kidney cells. Thus the experimental data likely represent only an approximation of how the receptors would function in their native environment.

3.2. Clinical and Genetic Features of Neonatal Severe Primary Hyperparathyroidism (NSHPT) [OMIM 239200]

NSHPT in most cases presents within the first six months of life. Affected infants have severe, symptomatic, PTH-dependent hypercalcemia, along with the bony changes of severe hyperparathyroidism. Infants with NSHPT can exhibit polyuria, dehydration, hypotonia, and failure to thrive (Brown et al, 1997; Eftekhari and Yousefzadeh, 1982; Grantmyre, 1973; Heath, 1989a; Marx et al, 1985). A prominent feature of the disease is the associated hyperparathyroid bone disease, which can be associated with multiple fractures. Rib fractures can in some cases produce a

"flail chest" syndrome that causes respiratory difficulties, owing to a decreased capacity of the affected infant to expand its chest wall and generate the negative intrathoracic pressure needed for normal respiration (Grantmyre, 1973).

The mass of the parathyroid glands in NSHPT is generally increased several-fold, and they exhibit prominent chief cell hyperplasia. Biochemical evaluation shows hypercalcemia, hyperparathyroidism, and relative hypocalciuria (Cole et al, 1997). Total serum calcium concentrations range from moderately elevated (e.g., 3–3.25 mM) to levels as high as 7.7 mM in the most severely affected cases (Brown, 2000; Heath, 1989a). PTH levels are often 10-fold higher than the upper limit of normal. Early diagnosis is critical, as untreated NSHPT can be a devastating neurodevelopmental disorder, which in some cases is lethal without parathyroidectomy to alleviate the hyperparathyroidism and hypercalcemia (Cole et al, 1997). As noted earlier, the most severe cases of NSHPT develop ribcage deformities, as well as rachitic changes, skeletal undermineralization, and fractures of the long bones and other skeletal sites (Eftekhari and Yousefzadeh, 1982; Grantmyre, 1973).

The older literature on NSHPT (e.g., prior to 20 years ago) describes substantial mortality in infants with NSHPT; therefore, treatment for the condition in its severe form has traditionally been total parathyroidectomy (Eftekhari and Yousefzadeh, 1982). However, more recently, a broader clinical spectrum for NSHPT has become apparent; particularly given the availability of genetic testing of the CaR gene. As a result a number of studies have now shown that some infants have milder hyperparathyroidism and a substantially milder clinical presentation and natural history (Heath, 1989a; Pearce et al, 1995b). This latter form of the disease might better be termed neonatal hyperparathyroidism (NHPT), to emphasize this milder phenotype in these infants, most of whom harbor heterozygous inactivating CaR mutations. In these latter cases, the condition can revert with time to a phenotype resembling FHH with medical management alone (Heath, 1989a). Therefore, at the moment parathyroidectomy should be reserved for the most severely affected infants, in whom intensive medical therapy (e.g., with aggressive hydration and, if appropriate, bisphosphonates) has failed to stabilize the patient, and there is concern for the infant's survival.

Recent reports have described patients with homozygous mutations in the CaR gene, who escaped detection until adulthood, at which time they did not have the usual symptoms and signs of hypercalcemia and were only identified serendipitously by routine biochemical screening. One such patient, a 35-year-old woman had two copies of the missense mutation pro39ala from related parents. She was asymptomatic, despite a serum calcium concentration of 3.75 to 4.25 mM (Aida et al, 1995). Another such patient, who was homozygous for a distinct inactivating CaR mutation was likewise not diagnosed until adulthood (Fukumoto et al, 2001). Both mutations produced relatively mild defects of their function when expressed heterologously, perhaps enabling a sufficient of control PTH release by calcium to be compatible with a relatively normal life, despite quite marked hypercalcemia. Indeed the seeming lack of hypercalcemic symptoms in the face of moderate to severe hypercalcemia supports the notion that at least some of these symptoms

are mediated by the CaR. That is, these patients seem to be resistant not only to the effects of calcium on parathyroid and kidney but also to the development of hypercalcemic symptoms. In these patients a calcimimetic might represent a means of lowering the serum calcium concentration–assuming the mutant CaRs were responsive to the drug–thereby providing not only a diagnostic test to determine whether the patient obtained any symptomatic benefit from parathyroidectomy but also, potentially, an effective long term, medical therapy.

NSHPT is most commonly an autosomal recessive condition; that is, the CaR genes from both of the parents is mutated (e.g., homozygous FHH). Pollak et al. studied 11 kindreds with FHH, in whom consanguineous unions engendered four infants with NSHPT (Pollak et al, 1994b). It should be recognized, however, that NSHPT is quite uncommon in FHH families considered as a whole. In one case of NSHPT, two distinct mutations-one a mutation in exon 7 from the mother and the other a mutation in exon 4 from the father-caused the disease, e.g., as a result of the compound heterozygosity in the proband, who thereby lacked any normal CaRs (Kobayashi et al, 1997). In theory, NSHPT can result from (1) homozygosity from a consanguineous FHH union, (2) two mutant alleles of the CaR gene arising from two distinct FHH kindreds or (3) from a de novo mutational event, with or without an inherited, mutant parental allele (Pearce et al, 1995b). In addition, an investigation of a girl with phenotypic NSHPT and her family revealed a single mutant allele (present in exon 6, Gly552Arg) in her CaR gene, while her sister, despite having the same genotype, had phenotypic FHH (Schwarz et al, 2000). Thus factors leading to this degree of phenotypic variation are still only partly understood.

3.3. Clinical and Genetic Features of Autosomal Dominant Hypoparathyroidism (OMIM) [#601298]

Patients with this inherited form of hypocalcemia/hypoparathyroidism are commonly asymptomatic, similar to the majority of patients with FHH. Some patients, however, can exhibit neuromuscular irritability, seizures and basal ganglia calcification. Patients generally exhibit mild to moderate hypocalcemia, with serum PTH levels that are inappropriately low given the hypocalcemia, e.g., within the lower half of the normal range or frankly subnormal (Pollak et al, 1994a). Affected individuals often exhibit relative or absolute hypercalciuria, with normal or frankly elevated urinary calcium excretion, respectively, in spite of their low serum calcium concentration. Some studies have shown that renal calcium excretion in ADH is higher than that in typical hypoparathyroidism. However, not all studies have shown this difference in renal calcium excretion (Okazaki et al, 1999; Yamamoto et al, 2000). During febrile episodes patients, particularly children, with ADH may present with symptoms of hypocalcemia and, in some cases, seizures. It is important to prevent renal complications, including nephrocalcinosis, nephrolithiasis, and renal impairment, during treatment of ADH patients with calcium and vitamin D (Pearce et al, 1995a). These renal complications are generally seen in a setting in which the clinician has tried to correct the serum calcium concentration to or close to the normal range. Treatment with calcium supplements and vitamin D metabolites should be reserved for those patients with symptomatic ADH; the goal should be to increase the serum calcium concentration only to a level sufficient to render the patient asymptomatic (Lienhardt et al, 2001). Renal excretion of calcium requires monitoring in treated patients in order to minimize the risk of urinary complications. If a serum calcium concentration high enough to ameliorate symptoms cannot be achieved with calcium and vitamin D supplementation without inducing frank hypercalciuria (generally 4 mg/kg/24h), it may be necessary to co-administer a hypocalciuric agent, such as a thiazide diuretic or injectable PTH (Winer et al, 1998).

ADH is a rare syndrome, although in index cases it may comprise a sizeable fraction of cases of idiopathic hypoparathyroidism, perhaps representing as many as a third of such cases (Lienhardt et al, 2001). Patients with this condition harbor an activating or gain-of-function mutation of the CaR gene that resets the set-point of Ca_{0}^{2+} -regulated PTH secretion leftward and lowers renal calcium reabsorption. Within a year after the cloning of the CaR, Finegold et al. (1994) showed linkage of ADH to a locus on chromosome 3 q13—the same locus containing the gene for the CaR. Shortly afterward, a heterozygous missense mutation, Glu127Ala, was shown to be the cause of ADH in an unrelated family (Pollak et al, 1994a). Since these first reports, more than 30 mutations have been characterized causing ADH (see CaR Database at http://www.casrdb.mcgill.ca/). Most of these are missense mutations within the CaR's ECD and TMD. When expressed in heterologous systems, these mutations cause a left-shift in the activation of the CaR by Ca_{α}^{2+} , and they only rarely induce constitutive activation of the receptor (Baron et al, 1996; D'Souza-Li et al, 2002; Hauache, 2001; Pearce et al, 1996; Pollak et al, 1994a) A recent report identified a family with a large deletion of 181 amino acids within the C-terminus of the CaR, which increased the sensitivity of the receptor for Ca_0^{2+} (Lienhardt et al, 2000). This family contained the only individual to date known to be homozygous for an activating mutation, but this individual exhibited a phenotype very similar to that of the heterozygous family members. Thus one mutated allele may be enough to induce a maximal shift in the set-point of Ca_o²⁺-regulated PTH secretion, and the presence of the second mutated allele does not alter the biochemical properties of the receptor dimers any further, perhaps due to a "dominant positive" effect of the mutant receptor on its wild type partner within the heterodimeric CaR. Another activating mutation of the CaR changed a cysteine at amino acid 129 to a serine (Cys129Ser) (Hauache, 2001; Hirai et al, 2001). Because this cysteine participates in dimerization of the CaR, this result suggests that this cysteine constrains the receptor in its inactive state.

4. AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

Recent studies have identified autoimmune, acquired forms of hypo- and hypercalcemia analogous to ADH and FHH, respectively, but which result from activating and inactivating antibodies, respectively, rather than activating and inactivating mutations. Although these conditions are rare, they are important to be aware of in considering the differential diagnosis of the inherited diseases of calcium homeostasis just described.

4.1. Anti-CaR Antibodies and PTH-Dependent Hypercalcemia

Kifor et al. (2003) found autoantibodies to the CaR in four patients who had a clinical picture resembling that of FHH in the setting of other autoimmune conditions (e.g., Hashimoto's thyroiditis and sprue). The patients' sera stimulated PTH secretion and inhibited high calcium-stimulated inositol phosphate accumulation and MAPK activation, presumably owing to antibody-mediated inhibition of the CaR. Further studies of a larger number of patients are required to determine the incidence of autoimmune, PTH-dependent hypocalciuric hypercalcemia in the presence of various types of autoimmunity.

4.2. Anti-CaR Antibodies and Hypoparathyroidism

Idiopathic hypoparathyroidism is a condition with hypocalcemia caused by insufficient PTH secretion to maintain normocalcemia that is of unknown cause (e.g., hypomagnesemia or prior neck surgery). Blizzard et al. reported the presence of autoantibodies to the parathyroid glands in the sera of patients with idiopathic hypoparathyroidism in 1966 (Blizzard et al, 1966). They showed that 38% of 74 patients with idiopathic hypoparathyroidism had demonstrable anti-parathyroid antibodies, compared with only 6% of 245 healthy controls, thereby establishing the existence of parathyroid autoimmunity. A later study showed that autoantibodies to the parathyroid glands in patients with sporadic, adult-onset hypoparathyroidism bound to the cell surface of dispersed human parathyroid cells and inhibited PTH release (Posillico et al, 1986). This result supported the presence of a cell surface moiety that participated in regulating PTH secretion, which in retrospect may have been the CaR. Li et al. (Li et al, 1996) more recently reported that 14 of 25 patients with autoimmune hyperparathyroidism had antibodies directed at the CaR. In contrast, none of 50 control patients with other autoimmune diseases and 22 normal subjects had antibodies to the receptor. Recently, Kifor at al. reported two patients with hypoparathyroidism and anti-CaR antibodies that activated the receptor as assessed by simulation of MAPK activity and inositol phosphate accumulation and inhibition of PTH release (Kifor et al, 2004). Two further studies have shown conflicting results concerning the presence of anti-CaR antibodies in patients presenting with autoimmune hypoparathyroidism. One study examined 90 patients with autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 and found no anti-CaR autoantibodies (Soderbergh et al, 2004). Another study evaluated 51 patients with idiopathic hypoparathyroidism-most with only hypoparathyroidism-and 45 healthy controls; Forty nine percent of the patients had serologic evidence of anti-CaR antibodies (Goswami et al, 2004), and there was an association between antibodies to the CaR and HLA-DR, suggesting an autoimmune component to the disease. Of note, the two patients in the study of Kifor et al. with activating autoantibodies to the CaR also had Graves' disease and Addison's disease, respectively, further supporting the hypothesis of an autoimmune disease. It remains to be determined whether the differences in the results of these two studies reflect the fact that the incidence of anti-CaR antibodies in patients with type 1 APS and those with isolated hypoparathyroidism differs or is due to other factors.

5. CaR-BASED THERAPEUTICS

The development of allosteric activators ("calcimimetics") (Nemeth et al, 1998b) and antagonists ("calcilytics") (Gowen et al, 2000) of the CaR has made possible CaR-based therapy of disorders of extracellular calcium homeostasis (Table 3). AMG073 (known as Cinacalcet hydrochloride or Sensipar) has recently been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in treating secondary hyperparathyroidism in patients receiving dialysis therapy for end stage kidney disease (Block et al, 2004) as well as in parathyroid cancer (see website: www.amgen.com). The drug also shows efficacy in mild primary hyperparathyroidism, as described below, but has not yet received FDA approval for this indication (Peacock et al, 2005).

Beneficial effects of calcimimetics in treating 2° HPT were first reported in animal models in which this condition was induced by subtotal nephrectomy. In these studies parathyroidectomy or NPS R-568 slowed the progression of renal failure and decreased heart-risk factors (Ogata et al, 2003). In both these animal models and *in vitro*, the calcimimetics decreased circulating PTH levels (Fox et al, 1999; Roussanne et al, 2001; Wada et al, 1998; Wada et al, 2000). It is noteworthy that NPS R-568 suppressed not only PTH release but also parathyroid cellular growth in rats with experimentally induced renal insufficiency that were receiving a normal-phosphate diet (Wada et al, 2000), indicating that the receptor regulates parathyroid cell apoptosis.

Table 3. Use of CaR-Based Therapeutics

- Calcimimetics
 - (1) Approved by FDA
 - (a) Secondary hyperparathyroidism in dialysis patients(b) parathyroid cancer
 - (2) Not yet approved
 - (a) Primary hyperparathyroidism
 - (b) Possibly FHH/NSHPT or inactivating CaR antibodies
- Calcilytics
 - (1) Not yet FDA-approved
 - (a) Osteoporosis
 - (b) Possibly activating CaR mutations or antibodies

Several studies have examined the efficacy of calcimimetics in treating 2° HPT in human subjects on dialysis treatment (Antonsen et al, 1998; Block et al, 2004; Goodman et al, 2002; Ohashi et al, 2004). These studies demonstrated that both NPS R-568 and cinacalcet are effectively in lowering serum levels of PTH as well as serum total and ionized calcium concentrations, and, in studies of long enough duration, the calcium-phosphate product (e.g., the product of the calcium and phosphorous concentrations in the serum, which provide an index of the risk of pathological calcification). Because the calcimimetic-induced decrease in serum PTH at times induces hypocalcemia, it may be necessary to administer an active analogue of vitamin D along with the calcimimetic. The utility of an analogue of vitamin D in this setting makes physiological sense as a replacement for the decreased synthesis of $1,25(OH)_2D_3$ by the damaged kidneys.

In a recent 26 week multicenter study of 741 patients with end stage renal disease receiving hemodialysis, administration of cinacalcet reduced mean PTH concentration by 43% in patients, while PTH increased by 9% in the placebo group (Block et al, 2004). As has been observed in other clinical trials, the only consistent adverse effect in cinacalcet-treated subjects was generally self-limited nausea and vomiting. Notably, the serum calcium-phosphate product decreased by 15% in the patients receiving cinacalcet and was unchanged in the placebo group. The use of some traditional modes of treatment for 2° HPT, e.g., vitamin D analogues and calcium-containing phosphate binders, can lead to hypercalcemia and/or hyperphosphatemia, which are associated with an increased risk of death as well as greater arterial stiffness, and calcification of the coronary arteries, aorta and cardiac valves. Thus the cinacalcet-induced decrease in the calcium-phosphate product might be expected to reduce these complications and perhaps prolong life in dialysis patients. A recent small meta analysis summarized the initial evidence for beneficial long term effects of cinacalcet, showing that administration of the drug reduces risk of parathyroidectomy, fracture and cardiovascular hospitalization and also improves quality of life (Ogata et al, 2006). There is a potential risk of low turnover bone disease if doses of cinacalcet are utilized that produce too great a decrease in serum PTH; further studies are needed to assess the frequency of this complication.

A recent, 52 week trial of cinacalcet in 78 patients with mild primary hyperparathyroidism found that 73% of the patients treated with the drug achieved normocalcemia, while only 5% of controls reached this endpoint (Peacock et al, 2005). There was no increase in urinary calcium excretion, suggesting that there was no excess activation of the CaR in the kidney that might have promoted hypercalciuria. Despite the biochemical improvements in these subjects, however, there was no increase in bone mineral density, unlike what is seen following surgical removal of parathyroid tumors in PHPT. Therefore, cinacalcet is safe and efficacious for treating the hypercalcemia in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism, although it may not be as effective as parathyroid surgery in treating patients with reduced bone mineral density. However, cinacalcet hasn't yet been approved by the FDA for the treatment of PHPT, except in the case of parathyroid cancer, for which there is no other effective therapy of the biochemical abnormalities. Administration of the calcimimetic in the latter setting enables some amelioration of the severe hyperparathyroidism that not uncommonly is the cause of death in this condition. Based on experience in a small number of patients, there is about a 60% response rate, although progression of the disease eventually overwhelms the drug's efficacy in most cases (see www.amgen.com).

Calcium receptor antagonists, so-called calcilytics, have been developed, and their clinical utility is being explored. In the presence of the calcilytic, a higher than usual calcium concentration is needed to suppress PTH levels to a given extent (Gowen et al, 2000; Nemeth et al, 1998a). As a result, the calcium receptor reads normocalcemia as hypocalcemia and secretes a pulse of PTH. Parathyroid hormone, when administered in a once daily regimen, exerts an anabolic action on the skeleton, and is currently being used in the setting of osteoprosis (Neer et al, 2001). Once daily adminsitration of the calcilytic, therefore, could promote a similar effect owing to release of endogenous PTH, if the pharmacokinetics of the endogenous PTH secretion mimicked sufficiently well that resulting from exogenous PTH. Proof-of-principle has been obtained in a rat model of bone loss resulting from removal of the ovaries, but further studies, particularly those in humans, are needed to establish the role of calcilytics in the treatment of osteoprosis (Gowen et al, 2000).

6. SUMMARY AND FUTURE ISSUES

The CaR is a membrane bound 7TM receptor expressed in all of the tissues regulating extracellular calcium homeostasis. It "senses" even minute (on the order of a few percent) alterations in the level of calcium in the blood; thus it acts as the body's "calciostat". The CaR, in turn, regulates the functions of the cells that express it so as to normalize the level of blood calcium concentration. CaRmediated control of the release of PTH plays an especially important role in calcium homeostasis, since it directly or indirectly regulates the functions of all of the tissues that are involved in regulating blood calcium. Patients who have loss-of-function mutations in the CaR gene exhibit a form of hypercalcemia that is accompanied by absolute or hypocalciuria. In the heterozygous form, it produces a benign hypercalcemic condition, FHH. In the homozygous form (NSHPT), the hypercalcemia may be lethal if it is not treated surgically. Gain-of-function mutations produce a generally benign state of hypocalcemia with relative or absolute hypercalciuria, ADH; It will be of interest in future studies to collect detailed clinical information in large kindreds to study the possible implications of the CaR's altered sensitivity to calcium in these patients and the resulting alterations in the levels of the serum calcium concentration. This could be even more relevant than previously considered, since the CaR is expressed in numerous organs, such as the breast brain, intestine and cardiovascular system, which are not thought to be involved in systemic calcium metabolism. Finally, symptomatic patients may derive benefit from the new calcimimetic CaR activators and, perhaps in the future, calcilytics.

REFERENCES

- Aida, K, Koishi, S, Inoue, M, Nakazato, M, Tawata, M and Onaya, T, 1995, Familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia associated with mutation in the human Ca(2+)-sensing receptor gene, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 80: 2594–2598
- Antonsen, JE, Sherrard, DJ and Andress, DL, 1998, A calcimimetic agent acutely suppresses parathyroid hormone levels in patients with chronic renal failure. Rapid communication, Kidney Int 53: 223–227
- Attie, MF, Gill Jr, J, Stock, JL, Spiegel, AM, Downs Jr, RW, Levine, MA and Marx, SJ, 1983, Urinary calcium excretion in familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia. Persistence of relative hypocalciuria after induction of hypoparathyroidism, J Clin Invest 72: 667–676
- Auwerx, J, Demedts, M and Bouillon, R, 1984, Altered parathyroid set point to calcium in familial hypocalciuric hypercalcaemia, Acta Endocrinologica (Copenh) 106: 215–218
- Awata, H, Huang, C, Handlogten, ME and Miller, RT, 2001, Interaction of the calcium-sensing receptor and filamin, a potential scaffolding protein, J Biol Chem 276: 34871–34879
- Ba, J, Brown, D and Friedman, PA, 2003, Calcium-sensing receptor regulation of PTH-inhibitable proximal tubule phosphate transport, Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 285: F1233–1243
- Bai, M, Pearce, SH, Kifor, O, Trivedi, S, Stauffer, UG, Thakker, RV, Brown, EM and Steinmann, B, 1997, In vivo and in vitro characterization of neonatal hyperparathyroidism resulting from a de novo, heterozygous mutation in the Ca²⁺-sensing receptor gene: normal maternal calcium homeostasis as a cause of secondary hyperparathyroidism in familial benign hypocalciuric hypercalcemia, J Clin Invest 99: 88–96
- Bai, M, Quinn, S, Trivedi, S, Kifor, O, Pearce, SHS, Pollak, MR, Krapcho, K, Hebert, SC and Brown, EM, 1996, Expression and characterization of inactivating and activating mutations in the human Ca²⁺osensing receptor, J Biol Chem 271: 19537–19545
- Bai, M, Trivedi, S and Brown, EM, 1998a, Dimerization of the extracellular calcium-sensing receptor (CaR) on the cell surface of CaR-transfected HEK293 cells, J Biol Chem 273: 23605–23610
- Bai, M, Trivedi, S, Lane, CR, Yang, Y, Quinn, SJ and Brown, EM, 1998b, Protein kinase C phosphorylation of threonine at position 888 in Ca²⁺o- sensing receptor (CaR) inhibits coupling to Ca²⁺ store release, J Biol Chem 273: 21267–21275
- Bajwa, A, Horst, RL and Beckman, MJ, 2005, *Gene profiling the effects of calcium deficiency versus* 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D induced hypercalcemia in rat kidney cortex, Arch Biochem Biophys 438: 182–194
- Baron, J, Winer, KK, Yanovski, JA, Cunningham, AW, Laue, L, Zimmerman, D and Cutler, GB, Jr., 1996, Mutations in the Ca(2+)-sensing receptor gene cause autosomal dominant and sporadic hypoparathyroidism, Hum Mol Genet 5: 601–606
- Blizzard, RM, Chee, D and Davis, W, 1966, *The incidence of parathyroid and other antibodies in the sera of patients with idiopathic hypoparathyroidism*, Clin Exp Immunol 1: 119–128
- Block, GA, Martin, KJ, de Francisco, AL, Turner, SA, Avram, MM, Suranyi, MG, Hercz, G, Cunningham, J, Abu-Alfa, AK, Messa, P, Coyne, DW, Locatelli, F, Cohen, RM, Evenepoel, P, Moe, SM, Fournier, A, Braun, J, McCary, LC, Zani, VJ, Olson, KA, Drueke, TB and Goodman, WG, 2004, *Cinacalcet for secondary hyperparathyroidism in patients receiving hemodialysis*, N Engl J Med 350: 1516–1525
- Bringhurst, FR, Demay, MB and Kronenberg, HM. Hormones and disorders of mineral metabolism. In: *Williams Textbook of Endocrinology* (9th ed.), edited by Wilson JD, et alFoster DW, et alKronenberg HM, et al. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders, 1998, p. 1155–1209
- Brown, AJ, Zhong, M, Finch, J, Ritter, C, McCracken, R, Morrissey, J and Slatopolsky, E, 1996, Rat calcium-sensing receptor is regulated by vitamin D but not by calcium, Am J Physiol 270: F454–460
- Brown, AJ, Zhong, M, Ritter, C, Brown, EM and Slatopolsky, E, 1995, Loss of calcium responsiveness in cultured bovine parathyroid cells is associated with decreased calcium receptor expression, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 212: 861–867
- Brown, EM, 1991, Extracellular Ca²⁺ sensing, regulation of parathyroid cell function, and role of Ca²⁺ and other ions as extracellular (first) messengers, Physiol Rev 71: 371–411

- Brown, EM, 2000, Familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and other disorders with resistance to extracellular calcium, Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 29: 503–522
- Brown, EM, Bai, M and Pollak, MR. Familial benign hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and other syndromes of altered responsiveness to extracellular calcium. In: *Metabolic Bone Diseases and Clinically Related Disorders*. (third edition ed.), edited by Krane S and Avioli LV. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, 1997, p. 479–499
- Brown, EM, Fuleihan, Ge-H, Chen, CJ and Kifor, O, 1990, A comparison of the effects of divalent and trivalent cations on parathyroid hormone release, 3',5'-cyclic-adenosine monophosphate accumulation, and the levels of inositol phosphates in bovine parathyroid cells, Endocrinology 127: 1064–1071
- Brown, EM, Gamba, G, Riccardi, D, Lombardi, M, Butters, R, Kifor, O, Sun, A, Hediger, MA, Lytton, J and Hebert, SC, 1993, *Cloning and characterization of an extracellular Ca*(2+)-sensing receptor from bovine parathyroid, Nature 366: 575–580
- Brown, EM and MacLeod, RJ, 2001, Extracellular calcium sensing and extracellular calcium signaling, Physiol Rev 81: 239–297
- Burski, K, Torjussen, B, Paulsen, AQ, Boman, H and Bollerslev, J, 2002, Parathyroid adenoma in a subject with familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia: coincidence or causality?, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87: 1015–1016
- Butters, RR, Jr., Chattopadhyay, N, Nielsen, P, Smith, CP, Mithal, A, Kifor, O, Bai, M, Quinn, S, Goldsmith, P, Hurwitz, S, Krapcho, K, Busby, J and Brown, EM, 1997, *Cloning and characterization* of a calcium-sensing receptor from the hypercalcemic New Zealand white rabbit reveals unaltered responsiveness to extracellular calcium, J Bone Miner Res 12: 568–579
- Canaff, L and Hendy, GN, 2002, Human calcium-sensing receptor gene. Vitamin D response elements in promoters P1 and P2 confer transcriptional responsiveness to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, J Biol Chem 277: 30337–30350
- Caride, AJ, Chini, EN, Homma, S, Dousa, TP and Penniston, JT, 1998, mRNAs coding for the calciumsensing receptor along the rat nephron: effect of a low-phosphate diet, Kidney Blood Press Res 21: 305–309
- Carling, T, Szabo, E, Bai, M, Ridefelt, P, Westin, G, Gustavsson, P, Trivedi, S, Hellman, P, Brown, EM, Dahl, N and Rastad, J, 2000, Familial hypercalcemia and hypercalciuria caused by a novel mutation in the cytoplasmic tail of the calcium receptor, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85: 2042–2047
- Chang, W, Tu, C, Chen, T-H, Komuves, L, Oda, Y, Pratt, S, Miller, S and Shoback, D, 1999, Expression and signal transduction of calcium-sensing receptors in cartilage and bone, Endocrinology 140: 5883–5893
- Chattopadhyay, N, Yano, S, Tfelt-Hansen, J, Rooney, P, Kanuparthi, D, Bandyopadhyay, S, Ren, X, Terwilliger, E and Brown, EM, 2004, *Mitogenic action of calcium-sensing receptor on rat calvarial* osteoblasts, Endocrinology 145: 3451–3462
- Chou, YH, Brown, EM, Levi, T, Crowe, G, Atkinson, AB, Arnqvist, HJ, Toss, G, Fuleihan, GE, Seidman, JG and Seidman, CE, 1992, *The gene responsible for familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia maps to chromosome 3q in four unrelated families*, Nat Genet 1: 295–300
- Cole, DE, Janicic, N, Salisbury, SR and Hendy, GN, 1997, Neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism, secondary hyperparathyroidism, and familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia: multiple different phenotypes associated with an inactivating Alu insertion mutation of the calcium- sensing receptor gene [published erratum appears in Am J Med Genet 1997 Oct 17;72(2):251-2], Am J Med Genet 71: 202–210
- Conigrave, AD, Quinn, SJ and Brown, EM, 2000, *L-amino acid sensing by the extracellular Ca*²⁺sensing receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97: 4814–4819
- D'Souza-Li, L, Canaff, L, Janicic, N, Cole, DEC and Hendy, GN, 1998, An acceptor splice site mutation in the calcium-sensing receptor gene in familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism, Submitted
- D'Souza-Li, L, Yang, B, Canaff, L, Bai, M, Hanley, DA, Bastepe, M, Salisbury, SR, Brown, EM, Cole, DE and Hendy, GN, 2002, *Identification and functional characterization of novel calcium-sensing receptor mutations in familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and autosomal dominant hypocalcemia*, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87: 1309–1318

- Eftekhari, F and Yousefzadeh, D, 1982, Primary infantile hyperparathyroidism: clinical, laboratory, and radiographic features in 21 cases, Skeletal Radiol 8: 201–208
- Finegold, DN, Armitage, MM, Galiani, M, Matise, TC, Pandian, MR, Perry, YM, Deka, R and Ferrell, RE, 1994, Preliminary localization of a gene for autosomal dominant hypoparathyroidism to chromosome 3q13, Pediatr Res 36: 414–417
- Foley Jr, T, Harrison, H, Arnaud, C and Harrison, H, 1972, *Familial benign hypercalcemia*, J Pediatr 81: 1060–1067
- Fox, J, Lowe, SH, Petty, BA and Nemeth, EF, 1999, NPS R-568: a type II calcimimetic compound that acts on parathyroid cell calcium receptor of rats to reduce plasma levels of parathyroid hormone and calcium, J Pharmacol Exp Ther 290: 473–479
- Fudge, NJ and Kovacs, CS, 2004, Physiological studies in heterozygous calcium sensing receptor (CaSR) gene-ablated mice confirm that the CaSR regulates calcitonin release in vivo, BMC Physiol 4: 5
- Fukumoto, S, Chikatsu, N, Okazaki, R, Takeuchi, Y, Tamura, Y, Murakami, T, Obara, T and Fujita, T, 2001, *Inactivating mutations of calcium-sensing receptor results in parathyroid lipohyperplasia*, Diagn Mol Pathol 10: 242–247
- Fuleihan Gel, H, 2002, *Familial benign hypocalciuric hypercalcemia*, J Bone Miner Res 17 Suppl 2: N51–56
- Garrett, JE, Capuano, IV, Hammerland, LG, Hung, BC, Brown, EM, Hebert, SC, Nemeth, EF and Fuller, F, 1995, *Molecular cloning and functional expression of human parathyroid calcium receptor cDNAs*, J Biol Chem 270: 12919–12925
- Goodman, WG, Hladik, GA, Turner, SA, Blaisdell, PW, Goodkin, DA, Liu, W, Barri, YM, Cohen, RM and Coburn, JW, 2002, *The Calcimimetic agent AMG 073 lowers plasma parathyroid hormone levels* in hemodialysis patients with secondary hyperparathyroidism, J Am Soc Nephrol 13: 1017–1024
- Goswami, R, Brown, EM, Kochupillai, N, Gupta, N, Rani, R, Kifor, O and Chattopadhyay, N, 2004, Prevalence of calcium sensing receptor autoantibodies in patients with sporadic idiopathic hypoparathyroidism, Eur J Endocrinol 150: 9–18
- Gowen, M, Stroup, GB, Dodds, RA, James, IE, Votta, BJ, Smith, BR, Bhatnagar, PK, Lago, AM, Callahan, JF, DelMar, EG, Miller, MA, Nemeth, EF and Fox, J, 2000, Antagonizing the parathyroid calcium receptor stimulates parathyroid hormone secretion and bone formation in osteopenic rats, J Clin Invest 105: 1595–1604
- Grantmyre, E, 1973, Roentgenographic features of "primary" hyperparathyroidism in infancy, J Can Assoc Radiol 24: 257–260
- Handlogten, ME, Huang, C, Shiraishi, N, Awata, H and Miller, RT, 2001, *The Ca*²⁺-sensing receptor activates cytosolic phospholipase A2 via a Gqalpha -dependent ERK-independent pathway, J Biol Chem 276: 13941–13948
- Hauache, OM, 2001, Extracellular calcium-sensing receptor: structural and functional features and association with diseases, Braz J Med Biol Res 34: 577–584
- Heath, D, 1989a, Familial benign hypercalcemia, Trends Endocrinol Metab 1: 6-9
- Heath, Hd, 1989b, Familial benign (hypocalciuric) hypercalcemia. A troublesome mimic of mild primary hyperparathyroidism, Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 18: 723–740
- Heath, Hd, Jackson, CE, Otterud, B and Leppert, MF, 1993, *Genetic linkage analysis in familial benign* (hypocalciuric) hypercalcemia: evidence for locus heterogeneity, Am J Hum Genet 53: 193–200
- Hebert, SC, Cheng, S and Geibel, J, 2004, Functions and roles of the extracellular Ca²⁺-sensing receptor in the gastrointestinal tract, Cell Calcium 35: 239–247
- Hendy, GN, D'Souza-Li, L, Yang, B, Canaff, L and Cole, DE, 2000, Mutations of the calcium-sensing receptor (CASR) in familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia, neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism, and autosomal dominant hypocalcemia [In Process Citation], Hum Mutat 16: 281–296
- Hirai, H, Nakajima, S, Miyauchi, A, Nishimura, K, Shimizu, N, Shima, M, Michigami, T, Ozono, K and Okada, S, 2001, A novel activating mutation (C129S) in the calcium-sensing receptor gene in a Japanese family with autosomal dominant hypocalcemia, J Hum Genet 46: 41–44
- Hjalm, G, MacLeod, RJ, Kifor, O, Chattopadhyay, N and Brown, EM, 2001, Filamin-A binds to the carboxyl-terminal tail of the calcium-sensing receptor, an interaction that participates in CaRmediated activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase, J Biol Chem 276: 34880–34887

- Ho, C, Conner, DA, Pollak, MR, Ladd, DJ, Kifor, O, Warren, HB, Brown, EM, Seidman, JG and Seidman, CE, 1995, A mouse model of human familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism [see comments], Nat Genet 11: 389–394
- Hu, J, McLarnon, SJ, Mora, S, Jiang, J, Thomas, C, Jacobson, KA and Spiegel, AM, 2005, A region in the seven-transmembrane domain of the human Ca²⁺ receptor critical for response to Ca²⁺, J Biol Chem 280: 5113–5120
- Huang, C, Handlogten, ME and Miller, RT, 2002, Parallel activation of phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase and phospholipase C by the extracellular calcium-sensing receptor, J Biol Chem 277: 20293–20300
- Janicic, N, Pausova, Z, Cole, DE and Hendy, GN, 1995, Insertion of an Alu sequence in the Ca(2+)sensing receptor gene in familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism, Am J Hum Genet 56: 880–886
- Kanatani, M, Sugimoto, T, Kanzawa, M, Yano, S and Chihara, K, 1999, High extracellular calcium inhibits osteoclast-like cell formation by directly acting on the calcium-sensing receptor existing in osteoclast precursor cells, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 261: 144–148
- Kifor, O, Diaz, R, Butters, R and Brown, EM, 1997, The Ca²⁺-sensing receptor (CaR) activates phospholipases C, A2, and D in bovine parathyroid and CaR-transfected, human embryonic kidney (HEK293) cells, J Bone Miner Res 12: 715–725
- Kifor, O, Diaz, R, Butters, R, Kifor, I and Brown, EM, 1998, The calcium-sensing receptor is localized in caveolin-rich plasma membrane domains of bovine parathyroid cells, J Biol Chem 273: 21708–21713
- Kifor, O, McElduff, A, LeBoff, MS, Moore, FD, Jr., Butters, R, Gao, P, Cantor, TL, Kifor, I and Brown, EM, 2004, Activating antibodies to the calcium-sensing receptor in two patients with autoimmune hypoparathyroidism, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89: 548–556
- Kifor, O, Moore, FD, Jr., Delaney, M, Garber, J, Hendy, GN, Butters, R, Gao, P, Cantor, TL, Kifor, I, Brown, EM and Wysolmerski, J, 2003, A syndrome of hypocalciuric hypercalcemia caused by autoantibodies directed at the calcium-sensing receptor, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88: 60–72
- Kobayashi, M, Tanaka, H, Tsuzuki, K, Tsuyuki, M, Igaki, H, Ichinose, Y, Aya, K, Nishioka, N and Seino, Y, 1997, Two novel missense mutations in calcium-sensing receptor gene associated with neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 82: 2716–2719
- Law Jr, WM and Heath III, H, 1985, Familial benign hypercalcemia (hypocalciuric hypercalcemia). Clinical and pathogenetic studies in 21 families, Ann Int Med 105: 511–519
- Li, Y, Song, YH, Rais, N, Connor, E, Schatz, D, Muir, A and Maclaren, N, 1996, Autoantibodies to the extracellular domain of the calcium sensing receptor in patients with acquired hypoparathyroidism., J Clin Invest 97: 910–914
- Lienhardt, A, Bai, M, Lagarde, JP, Rigaud, M, Zhang, Z, Jiang, Y, Kottler, ML, Brown, EM and Garabedian, M, 2001, Activating mutations of the calcium-sensing receptor: management of hypocalcemia, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86: 5313–5323
- Lienhardt, A, Garabedian, M, Bai, M, Sinding, C, Zhang, Z, Lagarde, JP, Boulesteix, J, Rigaud, M, Brown, EM and Kottler, ML, 2000, A large homozygous or heterozygous in-frame deletion within the calcium-sensing receptor's carboxylterminal cytoplasmic tail that causes autosomal dominant hypocalcemia, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85: 1695–1702
- Lloyd, SE, Pannett, AA, Dixon, PH, Whyte, MP and Thakker, RV, 1999, Localization of familial benign hypercalcemia, Oklahoma variant (FBHOk), to chromosome 19q13, Am J Hum Genet 64: 189–195
- Loretz, CA, Pollina, C, Hyodo, S, Takei, Y, Chang, W and Shoback, D, 2004, *cDNA cloning and functional expression of a Ca*²⁺-sensing receptor with truncated C-terminal tail from the Mozambique tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus), J Biol Chem 279: 53288–53297
- Lorget, F, Kamel, S, Mentaverri, R, Wattel, A, Naassila, M, Maamer, M and Brazier, M, 2000, *High extracellular calcium concentrations directly stimulate osteoclast apoptosis*, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 268: 899–903
- Marx, S, Attie, M, Spiegel, A, Levine, M, Lasker, R and Fox, M, 1982, An association between neonatal severe primary hyperparathyroidism and familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia in three kindreds, N Engl J Med 306: 257–284
- Marx, SJ, Attie, MF, Levine, MA, Spiegel, AM, Downs Jr, RW and Lasker, RD, 1981a, The hypocalciuric or benign variant of familial hypercalcemia: clinical and biochemical features in fifteen kindreds, Medicine (Baltimore) 60: 397–412

- Marx, SJ, Attie, MF, Stock, JL, Spiegel, AM and Levine, MA, 1981b, Maximal urine-concentrating ability: familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia versus typical primary hyperparathyroidism, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 52: 736–740
- Marx, SJ, Fraser, D and Rapoport, A, 1985, Familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia. Mild expression of the gene in heterozygotes and severe expression in homozygotes, Am J Med 78: 15–22
- Mithal, A, Kifor, O, Kifor, I, Vassilev, P, Butters, R, Krapcho, K, Simin, R, Fuller, F, Hebert, SC and Brown, EM, 1995, The reduced responsiveness of cultured bovine parathyroid cells to extracellular Ca²⁺ is associated with marked reduction in the expression of extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptor messenger ribonucleic acid and protein, Endocrinology 136: 3087–3092
- Mizobuchi, M, Hatamura, I, Ogata, H, Saji, F, Uda, S, Shiizaki, K, Sakaguchi, T, Negi, S, Kinugasa, E, Koshikawa, S and Akizawa, T, 2004, Calcimimetic compound upregulates decreased calcium-sensing receptor expression level in parathyroid glands of rats with chronic renal insufficiency, J Am Soc Nephrol 15: 2579–2587
- Motoyama, HI and Friedman, PA, 2002, Calcium-sensing receptor regulation of PTH-dependent calcium absorption by mouse cortical ascending limbs, Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 283: F399–406
- Murphey, ED, Chattopadhyay, N, Bai, M, Kifor, O, Harper, D, Traber, DL, Hawkins, HK, Brown, EM and Klein, GL, 2000, Up-regulation of the parathyroid calcium-sensing receptor after burn injury in sheep: a potential contributory factor to postburn hypocalcemia, Crit Care Med 28: 3885–3890
- Nearing, J, Betka, M, Quinn, S, Hentschel, H, Elger, M, Baum, M, Bai, M, Chattopadyhay, N, Brown, EM, Hebert, SC and Harris, HW, 2002, *Polyvalent cation receptor proteins (CaRs) are salinity sensors in fish*, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 9231–9236
- Neer, RM, Arnaud, CD, Zanchetta, JR, Prince, R, Gaich, GA, Reginster, JY, Hodsman, AB, Eriksen, EF, Ish-Shalom, S, Genant, HK, Wang, O and Mitlak, BH, 2001, *Effect of parathyroid hormone* (1–34) on fractures and bone mineral density in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis, N Engl J Med 344: 1434–1441
- Nemeth, E and Scarpa, A, 1987, Rapid mobilization of cellular Ca^{2+} in bovine parathyroid cells by external divalent cations, J Biol Chem 202: 5188-5196
- Nemeth, EF, Fox, J, Delmar, EG, Steffey, ME, Lambert, LD, Conklin, RL, Bhatnagar, PK and Gowen, M, 1998a, *Stimulation of parathyroid hormone secretion by a small molecule antagonist of the calcium receptor.*, J Bone Miner Res 23: S156 (absract #1030)
- Nemeth, EF, Steffey, ME, Hammerland, LG, Hung, BC, Van Wagenen, BC, DelMar, EG and Balandrin, MF, 1998b, *Calcimimetics with potent and selective activity on the parathyroid calcium receptor*, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 4040–4045
- Ogata, H, Koiwa, F, Ito, H and Kinugasa, E, 2006, *Therapeutic strategies for secondary hyperparathy*roidism in dialysis patients, Ther Apher Dial 10: 355–363
- Ogata, H, Ritz, E, Odoni, G, Amann, K and Orth, SR, 2003, Beneficial effects of calcimimetics on progression of renal failure and cardiovascular risk factors, J Am Soc Nephrol 14: 959–967
- Ohashi, N, Uematsu, T, Nagashima, S, Kanamaru, M, Togawa, A, Hishida, A, Uchida, E, Akizawa, T and Koshikawa, S, 2004, *The calcimimetic agent KRN 1493 lowers plasma parathyroid hormone and ionized calcium concentrations in patients with chronic renal failure on haemodialysis both on the day of haemodialysis and on the day without haemodialysis*, Br J Clin Pharmacol 57: 726–734
- Okazaki, R, Chikatsu, N, Nakatsu, M, Takeuchi, Y, Ajima, M, Miki, J, Fujita, T, Arai, M, Totsuka, Y, Tanaka, K and Fukumoto, S, 1999, A novel activating mutation in calcium-sensing receptor gene associated with a family of autosomal dominant hypocalcemia, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84: 363–366
- Peacock, M, Bilezikian, JP, Klassen, PS, Guo, MD, Turner, SA and Shoback, D, 2005, Cinacalcet hydrochloride maintains long-term normocalcemia in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90: 135–141
- Pearce, S, Coulthard, M, Kendall-Taylor, P and Thakker, R, 1995a, Autosomal dominant hypocalcemia associated with a mutation in the calcium-sensing receptor, J Bone Miner Res 10: S176(Abstract 149)
- Pearce, SH, Trump, D, Wooding, C, Besser, GM, Chew, SL, Grant, DB, Heath, DA, Hughes, IA, Paterson, CR, Whyte, MP and et al., 1995b, *Calcium-sensing receptor mutations in familial benign* hypercalcemia and neonatal hyperparathyroidism, J Clin Invest 96: 2683–2692

- Pearce, SH, Williamson, C, Kifor, O, Bai, M, Coulthard, MG, Davies, M, Lewis-Barned, N, McCredie, D, Powell, H, Kendall-Taylor, P, Brown, EM and Thakker, RV, 1996, A familial syndrome of hypocalcemia with hypercalciuria due to mutations in the calcium-sensing receptor [see comments], N Engl J Med 335: 1115–1122
- Pi, M, Faber, P, Ekema, G, Jackson, PD, Ting, A, Wang, N, Fontilla-Poole, M, Mays, RW, Brunden, KR, Harrington, JJ and Quarles, LD, 2005, *Identification of a novel extracellular cation-sensing G-protein-coupled receptor*, J Biol Chem 280: 40201–40209
- Pi, M, Hinson, TK and Quarles, L, 1999, Failure to detect the extracellular calcium-sensing receptor (CasR) in human osteoblast cell lines, J Bone Miner Res 14: 1310–1319
- Pollak, MR, Brown, EM, Chou, YH, Hebert, SC, Marx, SJ, Steinmann, B, Levi, T, Seidman, CE and Seidman, JG, 1993, *Mutations in the human Ca*(2+)-sensing receptor gene cause familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism, Cell 75: 1297–1303
- Pollak, MR, Brown, EM, Estep, HL, McLaine, PN, Kifor, O, Park, J, Hebert, SC, Seidman, CE and Seidman, JG, 1994a, Autosomal dominant hypocalcaemia caused by a Ca(2+)-sensing receptor gene mutation, Nat Genet 8: 303–307
- Pollak, MR, Chou, YH, Marx, SJ, Steinmann, B, Cole, DE, Brandi, ML, Papapoulos, SE, Menko, FH, Hendy, GN, Brown, EM and et al., 1994b, *Familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe* hyperparathyroidism. Effects of mutant gene dosage on phenotype, J Clin Invest 93: 1108–1112
- Posillico, JT, Wortsman, J, Srikanta, S, Eisenbarth, GS, Mallette, LE and Brown, EM, 1986, Parathyroid cell surface autoantibodies that inhibit parathyroid hormone secretion from dispersed human parathyroid cells, J Bone Miner Res 1: 475–483
- Quarles, LD, Hartle, JE, 2nd, Middleton, JP, Zhang, J, Arthur, JM and Raymond, JR, 1994, Aluminuminduced DNA synthesis in osteoblasts: mediation by a G-protein coupled cation sensing mechanism, J Cell Biochem 56: 106–117
- Quinn, SJ, Ye, CP, Diaz, R, Kifor, O, Bai, M, Vassilev, P and Brown, E, 1997, *The Ca*²⁺-sensing receptor: a target for polyamines, Am J Physiol 273: C1315–1323
- Ray, K, Clapp, P, Goldsmith, PK and Spiegel, AM, 1998, Identification of the sites of N-linked glycosylation on the human calcium receptor and assessment of their role in cell surface expression and signal transduction, J Biol Chem 273: 34558–34567
- Riccardi, D, Hall, AE, Chattopadhyay, N, Xu, JZ, Brown, EM and Hebert, SC, 1998, *Localization of the extracellular Ca*²⁺/polyvalent cation-sensing protein in rat kidney, Am J Physiol 274: F611–622
- Riccardi, D, Lee, WS, Lee, K, Segre, GV, Brown, EM and Hebert, SC, 1996, Localization of the extracellular Ca(2+)-sensing receptor and PTH/PTHrP receptor in rat kidney, Am J Physiol 271: F951–956
- Riccardi, D, Park, J, Lee, WS, Gamba, G, Brown, EM and Hebert, SC, 1995, Cloning and functional expression of a rat kidney extracellular calcium/polyvalent cation-sensing receptor, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 131–135
- Riccardi, D, Traebert, M, Ward, DT, Kaissling, B, Biber, J, Hebert, SC and Murer, H, 2000, *Dietary* phosphate and parathyroid hormone alter the expression of the calcium-sensing receptor (CaR) and the Na+-dependent Pi transporter (NaPi-2) in the rat proximal tubule, Pflugers Arch 441: 379–387
- Roussanne, MC, Lieberherr, M, Souberbielle, JC, Sarfati, E, Drueke, T and Bourdeau, A, 2001, Human parathyroid cell proliferation in response to calcium, NPS R-467, calcitriol and phosphate, Eur J Clin Invest 31: 610–616
- Sanders, JL, Chattopadhyay, N, Kifor, O, Yamaguchi, T and Brown, EM, 2000, Extracellular calciumsensing receptor (CaR) expression and its potential role in parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP) secretion in the H-500 rat Leydig cell model of humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 269: 427–432
- Sands, JM, Flores, FX, Kato, A, Baum, MA, Brown, EM, Ward, DT, Hebert, SC and Harris, HW, 1998, Vasopressin-elicited water and urea permeabilities are altered in IMCD in hypercalcemic rats, Am J Physiol 274: F978–985
- Sands, JM, Naruse, M, Baum, M, Jo, I, Hebert, SC, Brown, EM and Harris, HW, 1997, Apical extracellular calcium/polyvalent cation-sensing receptor regulates vasopressin-elicited water permeability in rat kidney inner medullary collecting duct, J Clin Invest 99: 1399–1405

- Schwarz, P, Larsen, NE, Lonborg Friis, IM, Lillquist, K, Brown, EM and Gammeltoft, S, 2000, Familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia and neonatal severe hyperparathyroidism associated with mutations in the human Ca²⁺-sensing receptor gene in three Danish families, Scand J Clin Lab Invest 60: 221–227
- Schwarz, P, Sorensen, HA, McNair, P and Transbol, I, 1993, Cica-clamp technique: a method for quantifying parathyroid hormone secretion: a sequential citrate and calcium clamp study, Eur J Clin Invest 23: 546–553
- Shalhoub, V, Grisanti, M, Padagas, J, Scully, S, Rattan, A, Qi, M, Varnum, B, Vezina, C, Lacey, D and Martin, D, 2003, *In vitro studies with the calcimimetic, cinacalcet HCl, on normal human adult* osteoblastic and osteoclastic cells, Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 13: 89–106
- Shoback, DM, Membreno, LA and McGhee, JG, 1988, High calcium and other divalent cations increase inositol trisphosphate in bovine parathyroid cells, Endocrinology 123: 382–389
- Silve, C, Petrel, C, Leroy, C, Bruel, H, Mallet, E, Rognan, D and Ruat, M, 2005, Delineating a Ca²⁺ binding pocket within the venus flytrap module of the human calcium-sensing receptor, J Biol Chem 280: 37917–37923
- Simonds, WF, James-Newton, LA, Agarwal, SK, Yang, B, Skarulis, MC, Hendy, GN and Marx, SJ, 2002, Familial isolated hyperparathyroidism: clinical and genetic characteristics of 36 kindreds, Medicine (Baltimore) 81: 1–26
- Soderbergh, A, Myhre, AG, Ekwall, O, Gebre-Medhin, G, Hedstrand, H, Landgren, E, Miettinen, A, Eskelin, P, Halonen, M, Tuomi, T, Gustafsson, J, Husebye, ES, Perheentupa, J, Gylling, M, Manns, MP, Rorsman, F, Kampe, O and Nilsson, T, 2004, *Prevalence and clinical associations of 10 defined autoantibodies in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I*, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89: 557–562
- Tfelt-Hansen, J and Brown, EM, 2005, *The calcium-sensing receptor in normal physiology and patho-physiology: a review*, Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 42: 35–70
- Tfelt-Hansen, J, Chattopadhyay, N, Yano, S, Kanuparthi, D, Rooney, P, Schwarz, P and Brown, EM, 2004, Calcium-sensing receptor induces proliferation through p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase but not extracellularly regulated kinase in a model of humoral hypercalcemia of malignancy, Endocrinology 145: 1211–1217
- Wada, M, Ishii, H, Furuya, Y, Fox, J, Nemeth, EF and Nagano, N, 1998, NPS R-568 halts or reverses osteitis fibrosa in uremic rats [see comments], Kidney Int 53: 448–453
- Wada, M, Nagano, N, Furuya, Y, Chin, J, Nemeth, EF and Fox, J, 2000, Calcimimetic NPS R-568 prevents parathyroid hyperplasia in rats with severe secondary hyperparathyroidism, Kidney Int 57: 50–58
- Ward, DT and Riccardi, D, 2002, Renal physiology of the extracellular calcium-sensing receptor, Pflugers Arch 445: 169–176
- Warner, J, Epstein, M, Sweet, A, Singh, D, Burgess, J, Stranks, S, Hill, P, Perry-Keene, D, Learoyd, D, Robinson, B, Birdsey, P, Mackenzie, E, Teh, BT, Prins, JB and Cardinal, J, 2004, *Genetic testing in familial isolated hyperparathyroidism: unexpected results and their implications*, J Med Genet 41: 155–160
- Wellendorph, P and Brauner-Osborne, H, 2004, Molecular cloning, expression, and sequence analysis of GPRC6A, a novel family C G-protein-coupled receptor, Gene 335: 37–46
- Wellendorph, P, Hansen, KB, Balsgaard, A, Greenwood, JR, Egebjerg, J and Brauner-Osborne, H, 2005, Deorphanization of GPRC6A: a promiscuous L-alpha-amino acid receptor with preference for basic amino acids, Mol Pharmacol 67: 589–597
- Wettschureck, N, Lee, E, Libutti, SK, Offermanns, S, Robey, PG and Spiegel, AM, 2006, Parathyroidspecific double knockout of Gq- and G11-{alpha} subunits leads to a phenotype resembling germline knockout of the extracellular Ca++-sensing receptor, Mol Endocrinol
- Winer, KK, Yanovski, JA, Sarani, B and Cutler, GB, Jr., 1998, A randomized, cross-over trial of once-daily versus twice-daily parathyroid hormone 1–34 in treatment of hypoparathyroidism, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83: 3480–3486
- Wu, S, Palese, T, Mishra, OP, Delivoria-Papadopoulos, M and De Luca, F, 2004, *Effects of Ca*²⁺ sensing receptor activation in the growth plate, Faseb J 18: 143–145
- Yamaguchi, T, Ye, C, Chattopadhyay, N, Sanders, JL, Vassilev, PM and Brown, EM, 2000, Enhanced expression of extracellular calcium sensing receptor in monocyte-differentiated versus undifferentiated

HL-60 cells: potential role in regulation of a nonselective cation channel [In Process Citation], Calcif Tissue Int 66: 375–382

- Yamamoto, M, Akatsu, T, Nagase, T and Ogata, E, 2000, Comparison of hypocalcemic hypercalciuria between patients with idiopathic hypoparathyroidism and those with gain-of-function mutations in the calcium-sensing receptor: is it possible to differentiate the two disorders?, J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85: 4583–4591
- Yarden, N, Lavelin, I, Genina, O, Hurwitz, S, Diaz, R, Brown, EM and Pines, M, 2000, Expression of calcium-sensing receptor gene by avian parathyroid gland in vivo: relationship to plasma calcium, Gen Comp Endocrinol 117: 173-181
- Ye, C, Ho-Pao, CL, Kanazirska, M, Quinn, S, Rogers, K, Seidman, CE, Seidman, JG, Brown, EM and Vassilev, PM, 1997, *Amyloid-beta proteins activate Ca*(2+)-permeable channels through calcium-sensing receptors, J Neurosci Res 47: 547–554
- Zaidi, M, Adebanjo, OA, Moonga, BS, Sun, L and Huang, CL, 1999, *Emerging insights into the role of calcium ions in osteoclast regulation*, J Bone Miner Res 14: 669–674
- Zhang, M and Breitwieser, GE, 2005, *High affinity interaction with filamin A protects against calcium*sensing receptor degradation, J Biol Chem 280: 11140–11146
- Zhang, Z, Qiu, W, Quinn, SJ, Conigrave, AD, Brown, EM and Bai, M, 2002, Three adjacent serines in the extracellular domains of the CaR are required for L-amino acid-mediated potentiation of receptor function, J Biol Chem 277: 33727–33735

CHAPTER 7

PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLES OF THE Ca²⁺/CaM-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE CASCADE IN HEALTH AND DISEASE

J. COLOMER AND A.R. MEANS

Department of Pharmacology and Cancer Biology, Duke University Medical Center

- Numerous hormones, growth factors and physiological processes cause a rise in Abstract: cytosolic Ca²⁺, which is translated into meaningful cellular responses by interacting with a large number of Ca²⁺-binding proteins. The Ca²⁺-binding protein that is most pervasive in mediating these responses is calmodulin (CaM), which acts as a primary receptor for Ca²⁺ in all eukaryotic cells. In turn, Ca²⁺/CaM functions as an allosteric activator of a host of enzymatic proteins including a considerable number of protein kinases. The topic of this review is to discuss the physiological roles of a sub-set of these protein kinases which can function in cells as a Ca²⁺/CaM-dependent kinase signaling cascade. The cascade was originally believed to consist of a CaM kinase kinase that phosphorylates and activates one of two CaM kinases, CaMKI or CaMKIV. The unusual aspect of this cascade is that both the kinase kinase and the kinase require the binding of Ca^{2+}/CaM for activation. More recently, one of the CaM kinase kinases has been found to activate another important enzyme, the AMP-dependent protein kinase so the concept of the CaM kinase cascade must be expanded. A CaM kinase cascade is important for many normal physiological processes that when misregulated can lead to a variety of disease states. These processes include: cell proliferation and apoptosis that may conspire in the genesis of cancer; neuronal growth and function related to brain development, synaptic plasticity as well as memory formation and maintenance; proper function of the immune system including the inflammatory response, activation of T lymphocytes and hematopoietic stem cell maintenance; and the central control of energy balance that, when altered, can lead to obesity and diabetes. Although the study of the CaM-dependent kinase cascades is still in its infancy continued analysis of the pathways regulated by these Ca²⁺-initiated signaling cascades holds considerable promise for the future of disease-related research
- **Keywords:** calmodulin dependent protein kinase, kinase cascade, cell cycle regulation, apoptosis, long term memory, T cell activation, hematopoiesis, neurite growth, metabolism regulation

1. INTRODUCTION TO THE CALMODULIN KINASE CASCADE

A considerable number of diseases and physiological disorders, ranging from cancer to neuronal dysfunction to immunological conditions, are related to defects in signaling cascades initiated by changes in intracellular calcium (Ca^{2+}). This is due to the fact that Ca^{2+} is a very prominent second messenger not only in all cells of the human body, but also in all eukaryotic organisms. Therefore, all cells regulate intracellular Ca²⁺ levels exquisitely (Klee and Means, 2002). Free intracellular Ca²⁺ ions are rapidly bound by several proteins known as "calcium sensors", which will change their conformation upon Ca²⁺ binding. One of the most pervasive calcium sensors is calmodulin (CaM), a small, acidic protein (17 kDa) with 4 Ca²⁺ binding motifs of the EF-hand type, that interacts with a great number of proteins, including those involved in regulating Ca²⁺ homeostasis, cyclic nucleotide metabolism and protein phosphorylation/dephosphorylation (Chin and Means, 2000). Indeed, CaM regulates protein phosphorylation through the activation of numerous protein kinases as well as the protein phosphatase 2B (also known as calcineurin). Some of the CaM-dependent protein kinases target a very specific substrate and are known as "dedicated kinases", while others target a wide range of proteins that contain consensus phosphorylation sequences and are known as "multifunctional kinases" (Chow and Means, 2006). The multifunctional kinase family is comprised of the CaM-dependent protein kinase I (CaMKI) subfamily (α,β,γ and δ genes), CaMKII subfamily (α,β,γ) and δ genes) and CaMKIV (one gene), as well as the CaMKK subfamily (α and β , genes). The CaMKII subfamily members associate in 8–12 unit oligomers, are activated by Ca²⁺/CaM binding and are characterized by intrasubunit phosphorylation at threonine 286 (T²⁸⁶) or T²⁸⁷, depending on the isoform (Saitoh et al., 1985; Saitoh et al., 1987), a modification that generates kinase activity that is autonomous (independent of Ca²⁺/CaM). CaMKII is a very important regulatory kinase but is not a component of a CaMK cascade, and its regulation has been reviewed in detail elsewhere (Hudmon and Schulman, 2002), so is not considered herein. However, all members of the CaMKI subfamily as well as CaMKIV are activated by phosphorylation of a critical threonine in their activation loop by CaMKK α or CaMKK β , constituting what has been recently dubbed a CaMK cascade (Soderling, 1999; Means, 2000). Interestingly, in addition to CaMKI and CaMKIV, CaMKKs can also phosphorylate and activate additional substrates such as AMPK (Hawley et al., 1995; Okuno et al., 2000; Hamilton et al., 2002). We will address the potential physiological functions of such CaMK cascades in this chapter.

2. THE CAMKK SUBFAMILY

Currently, two genes coding for distinct CaMKK isoforms have been identified, namely Camkk1 and Camkk2, which encode CaMKK α and CaMKK β , respectively. Figure 1 presents a schematic representation of these two isoforms as well as a comparison with the other multifunctional kinases, the CaMKI isoforms and



Figure 1. Schemaic representation of the proteins involved in the CaMK cascade, aligned by functional domain. Dotted box, catalytic domain; horizontal striped box, RP insert; vertical striped box, CAAX insert; brick box, autoregulatory domain; white boxes, unknown or undefined domains. T, CaMKK target threonine. See text for more details

CaMKIV. Both CaMKK α and CaMKK β have a fairly long N-terminal domain of between 120-165 residues, followed by a kinase domain consisting of between 260–290 residues, the autoregulatory domain, which is comprised of a 30–40 residue autoinhibitory segment/calmodulin binding domain and ends with a C-terminal domain of unknown function that varies between 50-80 residue (Tokumitsu et al., 1995; Anderson et al., 1998; Tokumitsu et al., 1999). Interestingly, the catalytic domain of the CaMKKs contains a subdomain rich in arginine and proline residues, called the RP domain. This RP region is inserted between subdomains II and III of the kinase domain and, in the case of CaMKK α , has been suggested to be required to bind and activate CaMKI and CaMKIV, but not other potential substrates such as PKB (Akt) or synthetic peptides (Tokumitsu et al., 1999). All CaMKKs require Ca²⁺/CaM for maximal kinase activity (Tokumitsu and Soderling, 1996), although CaMKKB exhibits substantial constitutive activity in the absence of Ca²⁺/CaM whereas CaMKK α is completely dependent on Ca²⁺/CaM binding for activity (Edelman et al., 1996; Anderson et al., 1998). CaMKKs also undergo autophosporylation, although the process is very slow, substochiometric and does not seem to affect catalytic activity (Anderson et al., 1998; Tokumitsu et al., 1999). The Camkk2 gene produces several splicing isoforms depending on cell type, which increases the number of isoforms of CaMKKs (Hsu et al., 2001; Ishikawa et al., 2003). All members of the CaMKK subfamily have a molecular weight between 54–68 kDa and are located mainly in the cytoplasm, although on occasion CaMKK β has been reported to be present in the nucleus (Sakagami et al., 2000; Nakamura et al., 2001). At the organismal level, both CaMKK α and CaMKK β are expressed primarily in brain (although they vary in relative abundance in different parts of the brain), in some peripheral tissues such as thymus, spleen and testis, and in many other cells and tissues at low levels (Tokumitsu et al., 1995; Kitani et al., 1997; Anderson et al., 1998; Sakagami et al., 2000; Hsu et al., 2001; Vinet et al., 2003). To a certain extent, the expression pattern of CaMKK β seems to parallel that of CaMKIV to a greater extent than does CaMKK α (Anderson et al., 1998). Table 1 presents a summary of the expression patterns of all of the kinases that participate in a CaM kinase cascade including the CaMKKs.

Gene	Tissue distribution	Reference
Camkk1	<u>Brain</u> (parietal cortex, hippocampus, brainstem, mesencephalon and thalamus, caudate-putamen and cerebellum) Thymus spleen many other tissues	(Tokumitsu et al., 1995; Anderson et al., 1998; Sakagami et al., 2000; Vinet et al., 2003)
Camkk2	Brain (parietal cortex, cerebellum (granule cells), caudate-putamen, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, brainstem, mesencephalon and thalamus) Thymus, testis, spleen, lungs, many other tissues	(Kitani et al., 1997; Anderson et al., 1998; Sakagami et al., 2000; Hsu et al., 2001; Vinet et al., 2003)
Camk1α	Brain (hippocampus, cortex, brain stem and olfactory bulb) Adrenal gland, liver, lung, every tissue tested	(Picciotto et al., 1993; Picciotto et al., 1995; Sawamura et al., 1996)
Camk1β	Brain (hypothalamus, hippocampus, cortex, cerebellum, septum, thalamus, amygdala, olfactory bulb) Uterus, ovary, testes, heart, skeletal muscle, pancreas, placenta, liver, lung, spleen	(Naito et al., 1997; Ueda et al., 1999; Gardner et al., 2000; Loseth et al., 2000; Rina et al., 2001)
Camk1γ	Brain (amygdale, ventromedial hypothalamus, olfactory bulb, hippocampus, pineal gland)	(Nishimura et al., 2003; Takemoto-Kimura et al., 2003)
Camk1δ	Brain (Hippocampus, cortex, amygdala, spinal cord) Granulocytes (Polymorphonuclear leucocytes)	(Verploegen et al., 2000; Sakagami et al., 2005)
Camk4	Brain (parietal cortex, cerebellum (granular cells), caudate putamen, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, brainstem, mesencephalon and thalamus) Thymocytes, Testis, Ovary	(Ohmstede et al., 1989; Means et al., 1991; Sakagami et al., 1992; Sun et al., 1995; Anderson et al., 1998; Sakagami et al., 1999; Wu et al., 2000; Wu and Means, 2000; Wang et al., 2001)

Table 1. Tissue distribution of the different members of the CaMK cascade. Underdlined are the tissues with most abundant expression of each gene are in italics
3. THE CAMKI SUBFAMILY

Four distinct genes encoding CaMKI isoforms have been identified so far and are known as Camk1α, Camk1β (also Pnck), Camk1γ (also ClickIII) and Camk1δ (also CKLiK), and each gene produces one or more splice variants. As shown in Figure 1, all CaMKI family members have a similar domain structure, consisting of a short N-terminal sequence (up to 23 residues) followed by the kinase domain, the autoregulatory domain and a 30-50 C-terminal domain of unknown function (150 residues in the case of CaMKIy) (Haribabu et al., 1995; Yokokura et al., 1995; Naito et al., 1997; Gardner et al., 2000; Ishikawa et al., 2003; Takemoto-Kimura et al., 2003). All isoforms require Ca²⁺/CaM for kinase activity and also contain a conserved T in the activation loop (T^{174} to T^{180} , depending on the isoform). Phosphorylation of this T by a CaMKK is usually required for maximal CaMKI activity (Haribabu et al., 1995; Naito et al., 1997; Ishikawa et al., 2003; Nishimura et al., 2003; Takemoto-Kimura et al., 2003) although this depends on the substrate (Hook et al., 1999). Overall, all members of the CaMKI subfamily have molecular weights between 38-42 kDa, except for CaMKIy, which is 53 kDa. This is due to a longer C-terminal domain which ends in a CAAX sequence that targets CaMKI γ to membranes of the sarcoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi (Takemoto-Kimura et al., 2003). The other three isoforms are localized primarily in the cytoplasm, although some splice variants, such as CaMKIB2 and CaMKIS, have been reported to translocate into the nucleus in response to cell stimulation (Ueda et al., 1999; Rina et al., 2001; Sakagami et al., 2005). Lastly, various CaMKI isoforms are expressed in brain (although heterogeneously in different portions of the brain) as well as many other tissues (Picciotto et al., 1993; Picciotto et al., 1995; Sawamura et al., 1996; Naito et al., 1997; Ueda et al., 1999; Gardner et al., 2000; Loseth et al., 2000; Verploegen et al., 2000; Rina et al., 2001; Nishimura et al., 2003; Takemoto-Kimura et al., 2003; Sakagami et al., 2005). Interestingly, CaMKIa appears to be ubiquitously expressed in mammalian tissues (Picciotto et al., 1993; Picciotto et al., 1995; Sawamura et al., 1996).

3.1. CaMKIV

Only one gene encoding CaMKIV has been identified, although it produces several mRNAs due to differential splicing as well as the use of an alternative transcriptional initiation site (Sakagami and Kondo, 1993). The two protein isoforms, CaMKIV α and CaMKIV β , are identical, except that the latter contains a 28 residue N-terminal extension, which has no known function. A schematic representation of the CaMKIV protein is shown in Figure 1. Similar to the CaMKI subfamily, CaMKIV has a short N-terminal sequence, followed by the kinase domain, the autoregulatory domain, and a C-terminal domain of unknown function (Means et al., 1991; Cruzalegui and Means, 1993; Bland et al., 1994). CaMKIV requires Ca²⁺/CaM to initiate kinase activity and also contains a conserved T in the activation loop (T²⁰⁰ in the human CaMKIV), which is phosphorylated by a CaMKK. Activation loop phosphorylation

is necessary for maximal CaMKIV activity (Selbert et al., 1995; Tokumitsu et al., 1995) and generates autonomous activity, which is required for its transcriptional activation functions. All CaMKIV isoforms have a molecular weight between 65-67 kDa and translocate between nucleus and cytoplasm in response to cell stimuli that result in an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ (Bito et al., 1996; Sakagami et al., 1999; Lemrow et al., 2004). Interestingly, the Camk4 gene also encodes calspermin, which is a distinct Ca²⁺/CaM-binding protein of unknown function that is expressed exclusively in testis (Ono et al., 1989). The transcript is initiated by use of an alternate promoter that is located in the 10th intron of the gene and is regulated by cAMP (Means et al., 1991; Sun et al., 1995). Regarding CaMKIV distribution in tissues, it is expressed primarily in brain (with the highest levels in the cerebellum) but also present in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells, T cells, testis and ovary (Ohmstede et al., 1989; Means et al., 1991; Sakagami et al., 1992; Sun et al., 1995; Anderson et al., 1998; Sakagami et al., 1999; Wu et al., 2000; Wu and Means, 2000; Wang et al., 2001; Kitsos et al., 2005). As mentioned previously, the CaMKIV expression pattern resembles that of CaMKKB suggesting that CaMKKB may primarily serve to activate CaMKIV in cells that express both proteins.

In this section we have only presented a brief overview of the cast of characters that constitute the CaM kinase cascades. For a much more thorough discussion of the biochemical properties of CaMKKs as well as CaMKI and CaMKIV, we refer the reader to a recent review by Chow and Means (Chow and Means, 2006).

3.2. Inhibitors of the CaMK Cascade

The present chapter focuses on the physiological functions of the CaMK cascade that have been identified to date. The definition of these functions has relied heavily on the use of pharmacological inhibitors, overexpression of constitutively active or dominant/negative mutants of the various CaM kinases, and a variey of model organisms that include mice, worms and fungi null (or transgenic) for specific members of the CaMK cascade.

The only currently available small molecule inhibitor of the CaMKK subfamily is STO-609, which acts as a competitive antagonist for ATP (Tokumitsu et al., 2002). Whereas, STO-609 is a relatively selective inhibitor of the CaMKKs, it is not specific, as it also targets other kinases at higher concentrations than normally used to inhibit the CaMKKs (Tokumitsu et al., 2002; Hawley et al., 2005). However, STO-609 does not inhibit CaMKI or CaMKIV. The small molecules most frequently used as inhibitors of CaMKI and CaMKIV (and CaMKII) are KN-62 and KN-93, which are thought to act as competitive antagonists of Ca²⁺/CaM although the mechanism involved is not known (Tokumitsu et al., 1990; Sumi et al., 1991). Unfortunately, these compounds can neither distinguish between CaMKI, CaMKII and CaMKIV nor inhibit autonomously active versions of CaMKII and CaMKIV. In addition, the KN molecules can inhibit molecules unrelated to the CaM kinases (such as ion channels) but have no effect on the CaMKKs. A detailed discussion on the usefulness and limitations of these pharmacological compounds can be found in Chow and Means (Chow and Means, 2006).

Overexpression of dominant/negative (kinase-inactive), constitutively active or wild type forms of the different CaMKKs and CaMKs has been used to either inhibit or stimulate various signaling pathways in which these CaM kinases are suspected to be involved. Such approaches have certainly contributed to our appreciation of the panoply of physiological processes in which the CaM kinase cascade may participate. However, the overexpression approach also has potentially serious limitations in terms of specificity. The advantages and disadvantages of overexpression are also discussed in detail by Chow and Means (Chow and Means, 2006). In sum, several approaches, pharmacological and protein expression, as well as gene deletion, inactivation or modification, should probably be used in combination to evaluate the role of these kinases in cells and organisms. Even so it is prudent to interpret the results obtained with caution.

4. THE CAMKS, THE CELL CYCLE AND CANCER

There is compelling evidence that Ca^{2+}/CaM and various multifunctional CaMKs are important in cell cycle regulation, (Kahl and Means, 2003). Proper control of the cell cycle is necessary to avoid hyperproliferative diseases such as cancer. The cell cycle progresses through a series of checkpoints to ensure fidelity of DNA replication and cell division. Overexpression of CaM can abrogate some of these checkpoints and shorten the cell division cycle. In addition, many human cancers have elevated levels of CaM that could contribute to the proliferative defects characteristic of these diseases. More recent work has revealed that CaM controls the activites of several CaM kinases that contribute to cell cycle regulation. CaMKII is important for the G2/M transition whereas the CaM kinase cascade is involved in regulating the G1/S transition (Kahl and Means, 2003).

4.1. CaMKII Regulation of G2/M in Vertebrate Cells

Considerable evidence exists supporting a role for CaMKII in regulating the G2/M transition. The first such data were derived from studies in which a consitutively active form of CaMKII was transiently overexpressed in a mouse cell line and found to block cells in G2 of the cell cycle. Similar results were obtained in human HeLa cells several years later (Planas-Silva and Means, 1992; Beauman et al., 2003). On the other hand, a CaMKII specific inhibitory peptide also blocks cells in G2, presumably by preventing the phorphorylation of the Cdc25 phosphatase by CaMKII (Patel et al., 1999). In addition, CaMKII is absolutely required for the resumption of the cell cycle in *Xenopus* eggs arrested in metaphase of the second meiotic division due to the inactivation of CyclinB/cdk1 (Lorca et al., 1993). In this case a critical substrate of CaMKII is XErp1/Emi2 (Liu and Maller, 2005). Similarly, CaMKII is required for resumption of meiosis following fertilization of mouse eggs (Knott et al., 2006). These collective results suggest that the timing of CaMKII activation

is critical in G2/M progession for two reasons. First, it must remain inactive in order for cells to progress from G2 into meiosis/mitosis and second, it must become activated in order for cells to enter and complete meiosis/mitosis.

4.2. The CaMK Cascade and Cell Cycle in Schizosaccharomyces Pombe

A link between CaMKI and cell cycle regulation has been reported to occur in the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *S. pombe* contains at least two CaM-dependent kinases with considerable similarity to the mammalian CaMKs: CMK1 (40% identity) (Rasmussen, 2000), and CMK2 (also 40% identity to CaMKI and 35% identity to CaMKII) (Alemany et al., 2002). Whereas CMK2 does not have a phosphorylatable T in the activation loop and cannot be activated by phosphorylation (Sanchez-Piris et al., 2002), CMK1 does contain a T in the activation loop at position 192 (T¹⁹²), which, when mutated to an acidic residue (T¹⁹²D), increases its *in vitro* activity 15X compared to the wild type CMK1 (Rasmussen, 2000), indicating that CMK1 is the yeast CaMKI. Although the CMK1-kinase has yet to be described in yeast, these data suggest the presence of a CaMKK/CaMK1 cascade in *S. pombe*.

A role for CMK1 in cell cycle regulation in *S. pombe* is supported by two observations. First, Cmk1 mRNA levels are tightly regulated in synchronized *S. pombe* cells, increasing 6X between G1 and S phase, followed by a rapid decline at the end of the S phase (Rasmussen, 2000). Second, overexpression of the mutant CMK1 $T^{192}D$ causes cell cycle arrest and changes in cell morphology (Rasmussen, 2000). At first glance, such results could be interpreted to implicate a negative role for CMK1 in the G1/S transition, since it is a gain of function mutation that blocks such a transition. On the other hand, like described above for the role of CaMKII in G2/M, an equally plausible interpretation of the data is that the timing of the activation and inactivation of CMK1 could be important in the regulation of the G1/S transition.

Of course, the *S. pombe* study is far from complete and several issues remain to be addressed. First, the CMK1 activator equivalent to the mammalian CaMKK must be cloned in order to prove that *S. pombe* does, in fact, have a functional CaMKK cascade. Second, both the CMK1 and its activator must be deleted in order to convincingly demonstrate a requirement of the cascade in the cell cycle. Nevertheless, the data obtained in *S. pombe* to date are consitent with a role for CMK1 in regulation the G1/S transition of the cell cycle.

4.3. The CaMK Cascade and Cell Cycle in Aspergillus Nidulans

Aspergillus nidulans, a filamentous fungus, also contains three homologues of mammalian CaMKs, called CMKA, CMKB and CMKC. CMKA is most similar to CaMKII, CMKB to CaMKI (43% identity to *S. pombe* CMK1, 35% identity to rat CaMKI) and CMKC the CaMKKs (Joseph and Means, 2000). Indeed, CMKC activates CMKB kinase *in vitro* by 73X and this activation is entirely dependent on phosphorylation of T¹⁷⁹ in the activation loop of CMKB, which is equivalent to T¹⁷⁷

in human CaMKI (Haribabu et al., 1995). Confirming the relationship, mutation of T^{179} to alanine ($T^{179}A$) completely abrogates the ability of CMKC to activate CMKB (Joseph and Means, 2000). Therefore in *Aspergillus nidulans* the CaMK cascade is comprised of CMKB and CMKC.

The functional role of the CaMK cascade in *Aspergillus* is based on loss of function studies. The deletion of the Cmkb gene is lethal, therefore the consequences of loss of function was assessed by disrupting the Cmkb promoter, which results in a 1–2 h delay in CMKB protein expression upon spore germination (Joseph and Means, 2000). This delay in expression results in a 2 h delay in nuclear division after germination (both for the first and the second nuclear divisions) which is consistent with a similar increase of the duration of the cell cycle (Joseph and Means, 2000). Together these results clearly demonstrate that CMKB regulates the cell cycle.

Fortunately, deletion of the Cmkc gene is not lethal, therefore it could be used to address the function of CMKC in cell division during spore germination. The absence of CMKC results in the failure of 30% of the germlings to undergo the first nuclear division. The ones that do complete this division are dramatically delayed compared to the control germlings (2–4 h). In addition, the time required to complete the second nuclear division is similarly delayed (Joseph and Means, 2000). Regarding the mechanism responsible for the increased nuclear division time, both the deletion of Cmkb promoter and of the Cmkc coding sequence result in a delay of the activation as well as in a decreased maximal activity of NIMX^{cdc2}, the cyclin dependent kinase in *Aspergillus* that triggers the entry into S phase (Joseph and Means, 2000). Therefore, the CaMKK cascade in *Aspergillus*, comprised of CMKB and CMKC, is required for proper activation of NIMX^{cdc2} and thus, the timing of nuclear division after germination.

Interestingly, the overexpression of wild type CMKB in *Aspergillus* has no effect on the cell cycle, whereas overexpression of the constitutively active mutant of CMKB, CMKB $T^{179}D$ (CMKB T^{179} is the residue phosphorylated by CMKC in *Aspergillus*) lengthens the nuclear division cycle in both the wild type and Cmkcnull strains (Joseph and Means, 2000) in a similar way to how CMK1 affects the cell cycle of *S. pombe* (Rasmussen, 2000). The mechanism responsible for this phenomenon is not clear, but again the data are compatible with the idea that the timing of CMK activation and inactivation is critical in order to execute the G1/S transition in both *Aspergillus* and *S. pombe*.

4.4. The CaMKI Cascade and Cell Cycle in Cultured Mammalian Cells

Two reports presented evidence that CaMKI and its activators CAMKK α and CaMKK β are important in G1 progression of human cells in culture. In one study, WI-38 normal diploid fibroblasts were used whereas the other study used MCF-7 human breast cancer cells together with the non-tumorigenic MCF-10A clone.

WI-38 cells can be arrested in G0 by serum starvation and are syncronously released back into the cell cycle upon re-addition of serum. Treatment of quiescent

WI-38 cells with the CaMK inhibitor KN-93 inhibits re-entry to DNA synthesis. Since WI-38 cells express CaMKI α , CaMKII γ and CaMKII δ (Tombes and Krystal, 1997; Kahl and Means, 2004), but not CaMKIV (Kahl and Means, 2004), lover-expression of kinase-inactive mutants of CaMKI α (dn-CaMKI) and CaMKII (dn-CaMKI) were used to question which CaMK might be the target of KN-93. Whereas dn-CaMKI replicated the KN-93-induced block at the G1/S boundary, dn-CaMKII did not, suggesting that CaMKIa is required for G1 progression in WI-38 cells (Kahl and Means, 2004). The precise mechanism by which CaMKIa regulates the G1/S transition is not clear, but the kinase is required for activation of the fully assembled, nuclear cdk4/cyclin D complex (Figure 2). In the presence of KN-93 or dn-CaMKI, the complex is not activated so Rb is not phosphorylated and G1 progression is arrested due to the inability of E2F to activate the transcription of genes that are required for the entry into S phase (Kahl and Means, 2004). Remarkably, this role for the CaMKI cascade in human fibroblasts is very similar to its requirement in Aspergillus. In the latter case, CMKB and CMKC are required to activate NIMX^{cdc2}, which is the cdk required for the G1/S transition in this fungal species (Joseph and Means, 2000).



Figure 2. Schematic representation of the activation of the cdk4/cyclin D complex during G1. Evidence shows that CaMKI α , which can be activated by either CaMKK α or β , activates the cdk4/cyclin D complex, leading to the phosphorylation of Rb and therefore de-repression of E2F transcription factor members. The mechanism by which CaMKI regulates cdk4/cyclin D remains to be determined. GFR, receptor for a growth factor; CAK, cdk activating kinase; p21/p27, members of the inhibitory Cip and Kip families, respectively; E2F 1-3, transcription factors 1-3 of the E2F family; Rb, Retinoblastoma protein; P, phosphorylation event

The subsequent study confirming a role for the CaMKI cascade in cell cycle regulation in human cells was carried out in the human breast tumor cell line, MCF-7, and the immortalized but not transformed human breast epithelial cell line, MCF-10A. As found in WI-38 cells, the cell cycle of both MCF-7 and MCF-10A cell lines was inhibited in G1 by KN-93, although the tumorigenic MCF-7 cells were blocked better than the non-tumorigenic MCF-10A cells. Also similar to WI-38 cells, both MCF cell lines express CaMKI α , CaMKII γ and CaMKII δ (but not CaMKIV), in addition to at least one CaMKK isoform (one in MCF-10A cells, two in MCF-7 cells) (Rodriguez-Mora et al., 2005). This study used siRNA to evaluate which CaMK was the target of KN-93 whose inhibition led to cell cycle arrest in G1. CaMKI α -specific siRNA resulted in the accumulation of cells in G1, but CaMKII γ - or β -specific siRNAs did not, again confirming a role for CaMKI α in G1 progression (Rodriguez-Mora et al., 2005). Moreover, both CaMKKa- and CaMKKβ- specific siRNAs also blocked the MCF-7 cells in G1, a result entirely consistent with a CaMKK/CaMKI cascade regulating passage through G1. Again in a manner similar to WI-38 cells, CaMKI α is required to induce Rb phosphorylation through the activity of cdk4/cyclin D (Rodriguez-Mora et al., 2005). Thus, both MCF-7 and WI-38 cells require a CaMKIa cascade in order to activate cdk4/cyclin D, phosphorylate Rb and proceed from G1 into S phase of the cell cycle, consistent with the model depicted in Figure 2.

4.5. The CaMK Cascade and Apoptosis in Mammalian Cells

Another characteristic of cancer cells is their decreased susceptibility to apoptotic cell death. Interestingly, a CaM kinase cascade is also required for cell survival, although the mechanism is still speculative. The first evidence that a CaMK might be pro-survival, came from an *in vivo* study in which mouse thymocytes specifically expessed a kinase-inactive form of CaMKIV (dn-CAMKIV) due to regulation of the transgene by the thymocyte-specific lck promoter. The transgenic mice showed a markedly reduced thymus, a correspondingly lower number of thymocytes and an increased percentage of thymocytes undergoing apoptosis compared to control mice (Anderson et al., 1997). Although this phenotype was not produced in mice globally deleted for the CaMKIV gene, such mice do show an inability to activate memory T cells. Both the transgenic thymocytes and the memory T cells from the CaMKIV null mice shared a common phenotype in that they could not be activated by engagement of the T cell receptor (TCR). Interestingly, depletion of CaMKIV from isolated human peripheral T cells also prevents TCR-mediated activation of these cells. In the Camk4^{-/-} mouse, hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) and cerebellar granule cells (CGC) are reduced in number due to increased apoptosis (Kitsos et al., 2005). The HSCs from the Camk4 null mice have lower levels of the pro-survial protein Bcl-2 and cannot repopulate the bone marrow upon transplantation into irradiated recipient mice (Kitsos et al., 2005). The pathways by which CaMKIV regulates cells of the immune system are discussed in more detail in a subsequent section.

As mentioned briefly in the preceding paragraph, CaMKIV has an anti-apoptotic effect in CGCs, which robustly express this kinase. Culturing isolated CGCs in low KCl (5 mM) was previously shown to induce apoptotic cell death that correlates with calpain-mediated proteolysis of CaMKIV (Tremper-Wells and Vallano, 2005). Apoptosis could be prevented by over-expression of a constitutively active mutant of CaMKIV and stimulated by a kinase-inactive mutant of CaMKIV (dn-CaMKIV), confirming that the cytoprotective function requires the kinase activity of CaMKIV. Moreover, the decrease in CaMKIV protein correlates with decreased phosphorylation of CREB on S¹³³, which regulates (among many other genes) the expression of the neuroprotective brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (See et al., 2001). Indeed, CREB and CaMKIV can regulate the expression of BDNF in neurons, and a CaMKIV-sensitive element in the BDNF promoter has been defined (Shieh et al., 1998; Shieh and Ghosh, 1999). Evaluation of the role of CaMKIV in neuronal apoptosis in Camk4^{-/-} mice is currently underway in our laboratory.

The CaMKIV/CaMKI activator CaMKK α has also been implicated in apoptosis but through a PKB pathway instead of a CaMKIV pathway. Yano et al. showed that CaMKK α could phosphorylate and activate PKB *in vitro* and in neuronal cell cultures that pathway was suggested to protect the cells from apoptosis (Yano et al., 1998). In this study, CaMKK α was suggested to phosphorylate PKB in response to stimuli that increased intracellular Ca²⁺, which in turn results in the phosphorylation of the pro-apoptotic factor BAD on S¹³⁶ and its sequestration by 14-3-3, therefore promoting survival of the neurons (Yano et al., 1998). In addition, it has been reported that CaM and presumably a CaMK (based on the use of the CaM inhibitor W7 and the CaMK inhibitor KN-93) regulate the activation of PKB induced by hydrogen peroxide (Howe et al., 2002). These obervations suggest the possibility that a CaMK cascade may function upstream of the PKB-dependent apoptotic pathway.

4.6. Concluding Remarks on the CaMK Cascade, the Cell Cycle and Cancer

The role of the CaMKK/CaMKI cascade in the cell cycle, as well as the role of the CaMKK/CaMKIV in apoptosis prompted Rodriguez-Mori et al. to propose that the CaMK cascade is a promising target for cancer therapy (Rodriguez-Mora et al., 2005). Current evidence strongly supports a regulatory function for CaMKK/CaMKI (and CaMKII) at specific stages of the cell cycle (as discussed above) and circumstantial evidence suggests that such a role may be more prominent in cancer cells. For example, the human breast cancer-derived cell line MCF-7 is more susceptible to CaMK siRNA blockade of the cell cycle than is the related but non-transformed cell line MCF-10A (Rodriguez-Mora et al., 2005). Moreover, hepatocarcinoma cells of both rat and human origin express higher levels of CaMKK and CaMKIV than do normal hepatocytes from the corresponding species (Tamura et al., 2000). A dual role of the CaMKK cascade in cell cycle regulation and cell survival could indicate

appropriately specific CaMK inhibitors as a means to decrease cancer cell proliferation as well as to sensitize cancer cells to currently employed chemotheraputic drugs (Rodriguez-Mora et al., 2005). In spite of this encouraging evidence, the details of the mechanism by which the CaMK cascade regulates cell cycle remain ill-defined, and further study is necessary to clarify the specific target(s) of CaMKI that is(are) relevant to activation of the cdk4/cyclin D complex, as well as the precise mechanism by which CaMKIV regulates cell survival.

5. THE CAMK CASCADE REGULATES CREB ACTIVATION AND SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY IN NEURONAL CELLS

Neurons from mammals abundantly express most of the members of the CaMK cascade, as shown in Table 1. Neurons are specialized to receive stimuli from and send them to other cells, and such stimuli can be either chemical (such as neurotransmitters) or electrical. The ultimate function of neurons is to compute data that can be either processed to produce a desired task or stored as memory, which can be retrieved later. The mechanisms by which memories are stored and retrieved are not well understood, but memory formation involves synaptic plasticity. Here synaptic plasticity is defined as changes in the synaptic strengths between two neurons. Synaptic plasticity has been best studied in hippocampal neurons, and there are two well-studied examples of such plasticity. The first one is a long-lasting increase in synaptic strength, called long term potentiation (LTP), which is produced by a brief, high frequency activation of excitatory synapses. The second type of synaptic plasticity is a long-term decrease of synaptic strength, called long term depression (LTD), which is produced by two inputs that are negatively correlated on the same dendritic tree. (Sejnowski T, 1989). As we discuss below, LTP and LTD in certain types of neurons is dependent on the CaMK cascade.

The LTP process, which may last for several hours or even days, as well as the LTD process, require new gene transcription and protein synthesis in their late phases (reviewed by Kandel, 2001). Indeed, both in invertebrates (*Aplysia, Drosophila*) and vertebrates the transcription factor cAMP-dependent response element binding protein (CREB) becomes activated after LTP induction, which results in the transcription of several immediate early genes, which act on other genes to promote growth of new synaptic connections (Kandel, 2001). Although many genes have been identified whose expression is dependent on CREB (Zhang et al., 2005), the specific ones that are important for LTP or LTD activation have not yet been defined (Lonze and Ginty, 2002). Today there is a vast amount of data supporting the critical role of CREB in long-term memory formation in mammals, ranging from changes in CREB phosphorylation at S¹³³ in neurons after LTP induction to loss-of-function mouse models such as mice hypomorphic for the Creb gene and mice with inducible expression of a CREB inhibitor (reviewed by Lonze and Ginty, 2002)).

CREB transcriptional activity is regulated by phosphorylation, and the most critical phosphorylation site is S^{133} in the KID domain. S^{133} can be phosphorylated

by a variety of kinases, including PKA, RSK 1-3, MSK 1-2 and MAPKAPK2, which are activated by the ras/ERK pathway, the SAPK2/p38MAPK, an unidentified kinase downstream of PI3K/AKT and several CaMKs (reviewed by Lonze and Ginty (Lonze and Ginty, 2002)). Among the CaMKs that have been shown to phosphorylate CREB, at least CaMKI (Sheng et al., 1991; Sun et al., 1996), CaMKII (Dash et al., 1991; Sheng et al., 1991) and CaMKIV (Enslen et al., 1994; Matthews et al., 1994; Bito et al., 1996) can phosphorylate CREB at S¹³³ in vitro, although CaMKII phosphorylates an additional site, S¹⁴², that results in inhibition of CREB transcriptional activity instead of activation (Sun et al., 1994). Among the several CaMK isoforms expressed in neurons, only CaMKIV and a few splice variants of CaMKI β and δ localize to the nucleus, where CREB is localized, suggesting that CaMKIV is the most likely CaMK to be physiologically relevant as a physiological CREB kinase that is activated in response to a Ca^{2+} signal (Bito et al., 1996). The Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinase is more important to initially phosphorylate CREB on S¹³³ following an activating stimulus whereas the ERK pathway seems critical to maintain CREB phosphorylation for up to 1 h after the initial signal (Wu et al., 2001). The CaMKIV cascade is not only important for CREB phosphorylation in neurons of mammals, but also in neurons of more simple organisms, suggesting that it is an evolutionary conserved mechanism to regulate neuronal activity.

5.1. The CaMK Cascade in the Nervous System of *Caenorhabditis Elegans*

Caenorhabditis elegans, a nematode utilized as a model for complex organisms due to the convenience of genetic manipulation, has a CaMK cascade consisting of CKK-1 and CMK-1. CKK-1 is highly homologous to the mammalian CaMKKs, including the presence of an arginine/proline rich insert (RP-insert) in the catalytic domain. Even the CKK-1 C-terminal domain (which includes the autoinhibitory and CaM binding domains) is 54% identical to the mammalian CaMKK α . Moreover, CKK-1 shares many properties with mammalian CaMKK, including Ca²⁺/CaMdependent activition and its ability to phosphorylate the activation loop T of both CMK-1 and CaMKIV, indicating CKK-1 is a bona fide CaMKK (Tokumitsu et al., 1999). CMK-1 is 60% identical to both rat and human CaMKI and is of a similar molecular weight (39,066). However, CMK-1 has some features characteristic of mammalian CaMKIV, such as its nuclear localization and V_{max} for the peptide syntide-2 (Eto et al., 1999). Another similarity between CMK-1 and CaMKIV is the ability of both of them to phosphorylate CREB in mammalian cells. Indeed, co-expression of the C. elegans CaMK cascade proteins (both CKK-1 and CMK-1) into mammalian COS-7 cells results in the Ca²⁺-dependent phosphorylation and transcriptional activation of mammalian CREB (Eto et al., 1999).

A physiological role for the CaMK cascade in activating CREB transcriptional activity in neurons *in vivo* has been demonstrated in *C. elegans*. As in mammalian neurons, *C. elegans* neurons also express a gene homologous to creb1, called crh-1 (Kimura et al., 2002). CRH-1 must be phosphorylated at S^{129} (the equivalent site

to S¹³³ in mammalian CREB) for maximal transcriptional activity, and CMK-1 can phosphorylate this site in vitro. Moreover, the presence of CKK-1 dramatically enhanced the CMK-1-dependent phosphorylation of CRH-1 in vitro nominating CRH-1 as a good candidate substrate for the CKK-1/CMK-1 cascade (Kimura et al., 2002). Therefore, the existence of a CKK-1/CMK-1/CRH-1 cascade was evaluated in C. elegans in vivo. All three components of the CKK-1/CMK-1/CRH-1 cascade were co-expressed in head neurons (Kimura et al., 2002). In addition, CMK-1, but not the other two components of the cascade, is expressed in AIY and AIZ interneurons, which together with AFD neurons comprise the thermosensory circuit (Satterlee et al., 2004). These differences in expression patterns between the members of the cascade may be relevant to CRH-1 independent functions of CMK-1. Next, the ability of the CKK-1/CMK-1 cascade to activate CRH-1 in vivo in C. elegans was tested using a reporter construct in which the CRH-1 responsive element (CRE) regulated expression of GFP. A series of experiments was then conducted which conclusively proved that the CKK-1/CMK-1/CRH-1 cascade serves a physiological signaling function in C. elegans (Kimura et al., 2002). This physiological function is likely to involve sensing or integrating environmental stimuli as nematodes null for the crh-1 gene show behavioral defects in response to food-rich media (Kimura et al., 2002).

As indicated above, there is also evidence supporting CRH-1-independent signaling pathways of CMK-1 in vivo. AFD neurons express the cmk-1 gene but not the crh-1 gene, and cmk-1 null worms show down-regulation of the gcy-8 gene in AFD neurons, whereas expression of this gene was not altered in worms null for crh-1 (Satterlee et al., 2004). Interestingly, the requirement of CMK-1 for gcy-8 is also independent of CKK-1, since the CMK-1 T¹⁷⁹A mutant rescued gcy-8 expression in cmk-1 mutant worms and worms lacking the ckk-1 gene did not show down-regulation of gcy-8 in AFD neurons (Satterlee et al., 2004). As AFD neurons are involved in mediating thermo-sensitivity, the response of worms to temperature changes was analyzed in cmk-1 null worms. These nematodes showed a weakened response to temperature change that could be rescued by re-expression of cmk-1 in the AFD neurons (Satterlee et al., 2004). It is unclear whether the weakened response was due to a defect in sensing the temperature change or in remembering/storing the initial cultivation temperature to which the AFD cells compare temperature change. If the latter proves to be the case then this would be an example of CMK-1 regulated memory storage in C. elegans that is independent of the CREB homologue (Satterlee et al., 2004).

5.2. The CaMK Cascade and CREB Regulation in Mammalian Cells

Strong evidence also exists that the CaMKK/CaMKIV cascade regulates CREB activity in mice. As mentioned at the beginning of this section, several CaMKs can phosphorylate CREB at S¹³³ and activate its transcriptional function *in vitro* and in cultured mammalian cells. However, it required analysis of mice null for the Camk4

gene or its activator Camkk2 together with transgenic mice that express a kinaseinactive mutant of Camk4 gene in neurons to confirm that the CaMKIV/CaMKK cascade was physiologically relevant for CREB activation in the context of the whole organism. Ho et al. reported that cortical neurons from $Camk4^{-/-}$ mice have low basal levels of CREB phosphorylated at S¹³³ and the increase in CREB phosphorylation after stimulation with KCl is impaired (Ho et al., 2000). Similarly, neurons present in the CA1 region of hippocampal slices from Camk4^{-/-} mice fail to increase CREB phosphorylation at S¹³³ after glutamate stimulation (Ho et al., 2000). More importantly, a stimulus such as restraint stress, which has been shown to stimulate CREB-phosphorylation in the cortex and hippocampus of mice (Melia et al., 1994), fails to increase CREB phosphorylation in the hippocampus (but not the amygdala) of Camk $4^{-/-}$ mice, revealing that CaMKIV is required for CREB activation in vivo in specific areas of the brain (Ho et al., 2000). Fear conditioning also stimulates CREB phosphorylation in particular areas of the mouse brain, such as the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala and the CA1 region of the hippocampus. Importantly, Camk4^{-/-}mice subjected to a fear conditioning regimen showed no increase or a markedly blunted increase in CREB phosphorylation in the basolateral region of the amygdala, somatosensory neurons, insular cortex neurons, the ACC and the CA1 region of the hippocampus, indicating that CaMKIV is involved in CREB activation that contributes to the memory of fear (Wei et al., 2002). In an independently created Camk4^{-/-} mouse strain, placing mice in an unfamiliar environment, which stimulates CREB phosphorylation in the cerebellum of wild type mice, failed to increase CREB S¹³³ phosphorylation in cerebellar neurons (Ribar et al., 2000). In the latter study, CREB phosphorylation was even decreased in the cerebellum of Camk4^{-/-} mice prior to the environmental stimulus (Ribar et al., 2000). Taken together these experiments show clearly that CaMKIV is required to phosphorylate and activate CREB in a variety of neuronal types in the intact brain of mammals in response to physiological stimuli.

The relevance of CaMKIV-dependent phosporylation of CREB was also addressed using a different mouse model, in this case a transgenic mouse that specifically expresses a kinase-inactive CaMKIV mutant (dn-CaMKIV) in postnatal forebrain. Hippocampal slices prepared from this model show a significant reduction of CREB S¹³³ phosphorylation in response to stimulation with membrance depolarizing amounts of KCl or glutamate (Kang et al., 2001). However, in the absence of stimulation, the basal level of CREB S¹³³ phosphorylation was normal, a result that is different from that found in the Camk $4^{-/-}$ mice (in which basal CREB phosphorylation is decreased). Of course, this apparent difference could be the result of the mechanism used to impair CaMKIV activity. The total absence could result in no CREB phosphorylation even under non-stimulated conditions, whereas the dn-CaMKIV may only prevent the increase in endogenous CaMKIV activity that occurs in response to actute stimulation. In this instance, perhaps the dn-CaMKIV functions by sequestering the endogenous CaMKK, which is required to activate CaMKIV in response to a rise in Ca^{2+} (Chow et al., 2006). In support of this possibility, CREB phosphorylation in hippocampus from mice null for Camkk2 is similar to that in hippocampus from wild type mice but show a failure to increase CREB S¹³³ phosphorylation in response to environmental stimuli such as water-maze training (Peters et al., 2003). In addition, Camkk1^{-/-} mice also show decreased CREB S¹³³ phosphorylation in response to environmental stimuli such as the fear conditioning protocol. In particular, CREB phosphorylation fails to increase specifically in the lateral nucleus of the amygdala, compared to wild type mice (Blaeser et al., 2006). At any rate all of these studies support an important role for the CaMKK β or α /CaMKIV/CREB cascade in neurons present in the brain that are activated in response to multiple types of neuro-excitatory stimulation and support the concept that only the phosphorylated, autonomously active form of CaMKIV is capable of entering the nucleus and phosporylating CREB (Chow et al., 2005).

5.3. The CaMK Cascade, LTP and Memory

Since CREB has been shown to be required for neuronal functions such as LTP and long-term memory formation and the CaMKK/CaMKIV cascade is required for CREB phosphorylation and activation, it follows logically that the CaMKK/CaMKIV would be required for LTP and long-term memory. This hypothesis has been addressed by analyzing LTP and some types of long-term memory in mice lacking either CaMKIV or CaMKK or mice expressing the dn-CaMKIV. Camk4^{-/-} mice show normal gross morphology of the hippocampus and cortex (Ho et al., 2000). The hippocampus, which is important for memory, undergoes LTP and LTD, depending on the type of stimulation received. Treatment of CA1 hippocampal neurons with low frequency stimulation (LFS) induces LTD in hippocampal slices prepared from wild type or Cam $k^{4/-}$ mice. However, tetanic stimulation of the CA1 neurons, which results in LTP, did not result in LTP in hippocampus from Camk4^{-/-}mice, indicating that CaMKIV is involved in LTP but not LTD in the hippocampus. The requirement of CaMKIV for LTP was specific for the late phase, which requires protein synthesis (Ho et al., 2000). Because CA1 neurons have been implicated in spatial memory, Camk4^{-/-} mice were subjected to spatial learning and memory tests such as the Morris water navigation task and the radial arm maze. Surprisingly, neither test showed differences between wild type and Camk $4^{-/-}$ mice (Ho et al., 2000). The reasons why the LTP defect did not result in altered spatial learning and memory are not clear, although memory tasks that involve emotionality (such as neophobia and walking initiation, which showed some differences between wild type and Camk4^{-/-} mice) may require CaMKIV (Ho et al., 2000).

However, a different mouse model of CaMKIV inhibition, the forebrain-specific transgenic dn-CaMKIV mouse, yielded somewhat different results. Spatial memory was tested using the hidden platform and the visible platform versions of the Morris water maze task. Both tests showed impaired spatial memory formation in dn-CaMKIV mice compared to controls, since dn-CaMKIV mice did not remember the location of the platform as well as wild type mice (Kang et al., 2001). Tests

that reflect locomotion and emotional behavior (anxiety) such as the open-field test and the elevated plus maze, did not show any differences between dn-CaMKIV and control mice, therefore it was concluded that only spatial memory requires CaMKIV (Kang et al., 2001). In order to distinguish between a problem with memory formation and memory retention in the dn-CaMKIV mice, the contextual fear conditioning test was used, and the results showed that the initial formation of the memory was similar between dn-CaMKIV and control mice (as measured 24 h after the cue), but the retention of the memory was impaired in dn-CaMKIV mice (Kang et al., 2001). On the other hand, pyramidal CA1 cells from dn-CaMKIV mice show normal pre-synaptic function, normal early LTP but decreased late LTP (Kang et al., 2001), as seen in the Camk $4^{-/-}$ mice (Ho et al., 2000). Although both models, Camk4^{-/-} and dn-CaMKIV mice, show that LTP in the CA1 neurons of the hippocampus require CaMKIV, the actual long term memory phenotype that was predicted is only manifest in the dn-CaMKIV. The reason for this discrepancy is unknown, but one major difference between these two models is the time during development at which CaMKIV function is lost: from the very beginning of embryogenesis in the case of Camk4^{-/-} mice versus from immediately after birth in the case of dn-CaMKIV mice. This difference in timing the absence of CaMKIV during development might promote the activation of compensatory mechanisms in the case of Camk4^{-/-} mice that fail to occur in the dn-CaMKIV mice. This possibility could be explored by the use of conditional Camk4^{-/-}mice that would allow deletion of the Camk4 gene at various times during development.

The potential of CaMKIV has been analyzed not only for spatial memory in the hippocampus, but also in other regions of the brain that account for different types of memory. Because LTP has been associated with fear memory formation as well, the role of CaMKIV in LTP in the various neuron types involved in fear conditioning was examined, using tissue slices and electrical stimulation to induce LTP. The amygdala neurons of Camk4^{-/-} mice showed significantly reduced LTP whereas no LTP could be measured in ACC neurons, somatosensory neurons or insular cortex neurons, indicating that CaMKIV is required to mediate LTP in multiple neuron types during fear memory formation (Wei et al., 2002). Using tests to assess fear memory formation based on the association of a neutral conditioned stimulus (such as tone) that has been paired with an aversive unconditioned stimulus (such as a foot shock) and with the context in which the animals were conditioned, the study shows that Camk4^{-/-} mice had an impaired fear memory response, which is one type of long term memory (Wei et al., 2002).

The CaMKIV activator CaMKK would be predicted to have a role on neuronal function as well, since it is required to activate CaMKIV. This hypothesis was initially tested using mice lacking the Camkk2 gene (which encodes the CaMKK β enzyme). Camkk2^{-/-} mice show certain types of long term memory (LTM) deficiencies such as those required for social transmission of food preference (eating cued food 24 h after training) and spatial memory (hidden platform version of the Morris water maze, 6 days after training), but there was no difference between wild type and Camkk2^{-/-} mice in the spatial memory after 10 days of training, suggesting

that CaMKK β is involved in accelerating spatial memory formation (Peters et al., 2003). In addition, no other LTM based in hippocampus such as cued, conditional or trace fear conditioning, or any form of short term memory was altered in Camkk2^{-/-} mice (Peters et al., 2003). Using hippocampus slices stimulated with electrodes, this study showed that late (but not early) long term potentiation (LTP) was decreased in hippocampal neurons of the Camkk2^{-/-} mice compared to wild type control mice (Peters et al., 2003). Overall, the phenotypes displayed by Camkk2^{-/-} mice are more similar to the transgenic mice overexpressing dn-CaMKIV than Camk4^{-/-} mice. For example, basal CREB phosphorylation was normal in Camkk2^{-/-} and dn-CaMKIV neurons but failed to increase upon stimulation, whereas Camk4^{-/-} neurons show decreased CREB phosphorylation at S¹³³both in the basal state and upon stimulation. The reason for a LTM-only phenotype of Camkk2^{-/-} mice may be due to the requirement of transcription and new protein synthesis in LTM (Silva and Giese, 1994) since CaMKK is required to activate the transcription activation capabilities of CaMKIV (Chow et al., 2005).

Interestingly, two groups have recently analyzed memory formation in mice null for the Camkk1 gene that encodes CaMKK α (Blaeser et al., 2006; Mizuno et al., 2006). Both groups report defects in memory envoked by fear conditioning. Both spatial and contexural fear memory required input from the hippocampus. The studies on loss of CaMKK β show it to be important in spatial but not contextural fear memory. Contrariwise, Mizuno et al, reveal that mice null for CaMKK α are deficient in contexural but not spatial fear memory. Since CaMKK α and CaMKK β are quite similar enzymes and are both efficient CaMKI and CaMKIV activating kinases, it is comforting to learn that at least some function of these two CaMKKs are not redundant.

5.4. The CaMK Cascade, ERK and Neuronal Plasticity

Besides the role of CaMKK/CaMKIV in regulating synaptic plasticity, the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) also are important in learning, synaptic plasticity and dendrite growth (for recent reviews see (Sweatt, 2004; Thomas and Huganir, 2004). ERK can be activated in response to stimulation of a variety of membrane receptors and can cross-talk with several other signaling pathways including a Ca²⁺/CaM/CaMK pathway (Agell et al., 2002; Schmitt et al., 2004). However, the components of the pathway that link the initial Ca^{2+} rise in stimulated neurons to activation of the ERK pathway that is relevant for synaptic plasticity remains enigmatic. Recent evidence points to CaMKK/CaMKIa as likely components based on the observation that NMDA receptor stimulation of hippocampal neurons, which induces a cytosolic Ca^{2+} rise, results in ERK phosphorylation, and STO-609, or dn-CaMKIa (but not a dn-CaMKIV, or the naturally ocurring CaMKII inhibitory protein, CaMKIIN) prevents the activation (Schmitt et al., 2005). The addition of STO-609 to hippocampal slices stimulated to induce early-LTP or late LTP prevented or attenuated the process, leading to the suggestion that one of the CaMKKs is involved in both LTP phases (Schmitt et al., 2005). Since Camkk2^{-/-} mice only show a deficiency in late-LTP, but not early-LTP (Peters et al., 2003), and Camkk1^{-/-} mice show normal LTP in the hippocampus (in spite of showing a deficiency in fear) (Blaeser et al., 2006; Mizuno et al., 2006), it is possible that CaMKK α in involved in LTP only in certain conditions or that STO-609 has an effect on LTP by inhibiting an unrelated protein. ERK activation is necessary for phosphorylation of the translation factors eIF4E and 4E-BP1, based on studies in transgenic mice expressing dn-MEK1, indicating that the ERK pathway contributes to proteins synthesis during late-LTP (Kelleher et al., 2004). Similarly, ERK activation mediated by the CaMK cascade (inhibitable by STO-609 or dn-CaMKI α) also results in phosphorylation of both eIF4E and 4E-BP1, suggesting that the CaMK cascade might be involved in the regulation of translation during LTP (Schmitt et al., 2005) (Figure 3). However, because STO-609 can inhibit several other proeins kinases as higher concentrations than required to inhibit the CaMKKs (Hawley et al., 2005), this concept needs to be addressed with alternative



Figure 3. Neuron representing different CaMK cascade pathways that might be activated after electrical stimulation of the cell. Electrical stimulation (represented as a wave on the top left corner) induces a surge of Ca²⁺, which binds to calmodulin and activates CaMKK α or β , which in turn activate CaMKIV (both activate CaMKIV, although in different neuron types), which proceeds to induce the expression of some genes, possibly by CREB phosphorylation. On the other hand, a CaMKK has been proposed to activate CaMK1 α , which would crosstalk with the MAPK/ERK pathway and enhance translation of the mRNAs whose synthesis is regulated by the CaMKIV pathway. The production of such proteins is necessary for synaptic plasticity. Also, there is evidence that the CaMKK/CaMKI γ pathway is involved in dendrite growth, in particular stimulating the growth cone of the dendrites through activation of Wnt 2 expression. This figure is a summary of data collected from the different mouse models and neuron types studied, and details of some of the CaMKK/CaMKI pathways still require clarification

tools such as siRNA and/or genetically altered mice to deplete additional members of the CaMK cascade such as CaMKK α and CaMKI α .

5.5. The CaMK Cascade in the Cerebellum

Camk4^{-/-} mice also showed anomalies associated with the cerebellum, such as ataxia, as reflected by deficiencies in balance, coordination and sensorimotor function in the strain generated in our laboratory (Ribar et al., 2000). However, in a Camk4^{-/-} strain created in the Chatila laboratory, whereas differences in walking initiation were found, no differences in locomotor activity, ledge, inclined screen, rotating rod or balance were identified (Ho et al., 2000). One type of neuron that transiently expresses CaMKIV in the cerebellum is the Purkinje cell (Wang et al., 2001), and in Camk4^{-/-} mice Purkinje cells were severely affected. Microscopic analysis revealed considerably fewer Purkinje cells in the Camk4^{-/-} mice, and the remaining cells were smaller, immature (Ribar et al., 2000), or had reduced dendritic arbors (Ho et al., 2000).

Purkinje cell function was also analyzed in Camk4^{-/-} mice. Analysis of cerebellar slices revealed that Purkinje cells from Camk4^{-/-} mice remain innervated by multiple climbing fibers, which result in graded postsynaptic currents. These characteristics are usually restricted to immature Purkinje cells. The synaptic electrical properties of Purkinje cells are also altered by the absence of CaMKIV. On one hand, postsynaptic currents due to parallel fiber interaction are faster and have larger amplitude in cerebellar slices prepared from $Camk4^{-/-}$ relative to wild type mice. On the other hand, postsynaptic currents due to climbing fiber interaction have smaller amplitude in Camk $4^{-/-}$ slices compared to wild type ones (Ribar et al., 2000). Short term plasticity of the synapses is also altered in Purkinje cells from $Camk4^{-/-}$ mice, in a manner that favors synaptic facilitation rather than depression in response to stimulation of paired climbing fibers, and the frequency of postsynaptic currents is reduced (Ho et al., 2000; Ribar et al., 2000). Moreover, Purkinje cells stimulated with glutamate/depolarization (which induces LTD in response to subsequent glutamate stimulation in wild type Purkinje cells), fails to induce LTD in Purkinje cells from $Camk4^{-/-}$ mice. This failure occurs during the late phase of LTD, which requires protein synthesis, indicating that CaMKIV is required for the expression of proteins involved in the late phase of LTD in Purkinje cells (Ho et al., 2000). As only some of these physiological differences are common to the independently generated Camk4^{-/-} strains, whereas each strain also exhibits unique behavioral phenotypes, it seems likely that genetic background differences may be responsible (C57BL6/J in the Chatila strain and a mixed C57BL6/J:129/Sv in the Means strain). It is important to note that Purkinje cells most highly express CaMKIV at the time of birth, and these levels decrease as the mouse matures to adulthood (Sakagami et al., 1992), suggesting that CaMKIV may be more relevant during the development and/or maturation of Purkinje cells than to the function of mature Purkinje cells in adult mice. Regardless of the differences between strains of mice and the molecular mechanisms involved, it is clear that CaMKIV is required for LTP and long term memory formation in several types of neurons.

5.6. Concluding Remarks on the CaMK Cascade Relating to Memory

The similarities between the roles of CREB and CaMKKB/CaMKIV in LTP and memory formation, together with the fact that the CaMK cascade results in CREB phosphorylation after stimulation, support the existence of a functional CaMKK/CaMKIV/CREB pathway in neurons (See Figure 3). Additional supporting evidence is provided by the observations that the major function of CREB is to regulate gene transcription, which results in the synthesis of new proteins required for the late phase of LTP (reviewed by Kandel, 2001). The stage in the late phase of LTP that is blocked by the protein synthesis inhibitor anisomycin, is exactly the same stage in the late phase of LTP blocked in neurons from dn-CaMKIV mice, suggesting that dn-CaMKIV ultimately prevents CREB-directed gene transcription (Kang et al., 2001). Moreover, this is also the same stage in the late phase of LT that is blocked in neurons from Camk4^{-/-} mice (Ho et al., 2000). Finally, a study in which adenovirally-mediated over-expression of activated CaMKIV or activated CREB in the brain were compared side by side, showed that both proteins increased LTP and generated "silent synapses", supporting the idea that they are components of the the same signaling pathway (Marie et al., 2005).

However, the data discussed above are only correlative, and whether or not the primary function of CaMKK/CaMKIV is to phosphorylate and activate CREB has yet to be demonstrated. A recent report showed that there is not always a good correlation between the levels of phosphorylated CREB on S¹³³ and transcriptional activation as seen in transgenic mice with a reporter construct consisting of several CRE sequences driving lacZ gene expression; it concluded that the level of phosphorylated CREB is not a reliable indicator of its function (Brodie et al., 2004). That idea fits with the hypothesis that CBP, a binding partner of CREB required for its transcriptional activity, may be limiting in cells where CREB levels are high (Brodie et al., 2004). Since the role of the CaMK cascade has relied on such a correlation, alternative methods to assess downstream consequences of CREB activity, such as changes in mRNA levels of regulated genes (such as c-fos), might be required to better interpret previous results. In this regard, although few studies have analyzed c-fos mRNA levels after stimulation of the CaMK cascade, one study showed that there was a good correlation between inhibiting CaMKIV using the dn-CaMKIV construct and inhibition of c-fos mRNA levels after a stimulus that increased intracellular Ca²⁺ (Kang et al., 2001), confirming that CaMKIV activates CREB-dependent transcription in the neurons.

On the other hand, there are a few observations that raise concerns that are worth mentioning. First, the effects of CREB and the CaMK cascade are not always identical. For example, after stereotaxic injection of viruses expressing a constitutively active CaMKIV (CA-CaMKIV) and a constitutively active form of CREB (CA-CREB), several parameters were compared in the CA area of the hippocampus.

CA-CREB had some effects similar to CA-CaMKIV such as a dramatic increase in the magnitude and maintenance of LTP (late phase), as well as increased excitatory currents mediated by the NMDAR. However, there were some effects that were different including increased excitatory currents initiated by the AMPAR, which were observed in CA-CaMKIV treated animals only (Marie et al., 2005). Therefore, it was concluded that the effects of CaMKIV on LTP mediated by NMDARs correlated with CREB phosphorylation, whereas the effects of CaMKIV mediated by AMPARs must involve some target of CaMKIV other than CREB. Also, some defects in the early phase of LTP in Camk4^{-/-} mice were seen as early as 5 min after stimulation which is much too early for any new gene transcription to be causally relevant (Ho et al., 2000).

Second, as pointed out above, there are differences between the phenotypes of Camk4^{-/-} mice and Camkk2^{-/-} mice. One explanation is that CaMKK α , instead of CaMKK β , may mediate some of the functions of CaMKIV, involved in fear conditioning, (Peters et al., 2003; Blaeser et al., 2006; Mizuno et al., 2006). Moreover, CaMKI is another target of the CaMKKs which is ubiquitously expressed in brain and its role has not yet been addressed by loss of function studies conducted in animals, so CaMKI might mediate some of the functions of CaMKK β as well. Indeed, there is a report showing that stimulation of LTP in hippocampus slices results in activation of CaMKI α and ERK, as monitored by their phosphorylation status, and that these effects are probably mediated by a CaMKK, since STO-609 can inhibit phosphorylation of both CaMKI and ERK, as well as LTP (Schmitt et al., 2005). This study suggested that the CaMKK/CaMKI α pathway may mediate the early phase of LTP through ERK activation, based on the inhibition of LTP by STO-609, dn-CaMKK α and dn-CaMKI α (Schmitt et al., 2005).

Third, spatial memory formation is clearly dependent on CREB activation, but PKA and ERK, which also activate CREB, are also important regulators of spatial memory formation (Abel et al., 1997; Blum et al., 1999; Selcher et al., 1999). Since these kinases can phosphorylate CREB at S¹³³, it is not clear why the CaMK cascade would be required in response to the same stimulus to activate the same pathway, unless the CaMK cascade phosphorylates a different target. For example, the CaMK cascade might be required to phosphorylate CBP on S³⁰¹, to allow its binding to CREB (Impey et al., 2002). In support of this, the ability of the CaMKK cascade to induce CREB/CBP-mediated transcription requires the autonomous activity of CaMKIV, which is only generated upon phosphorylation of T^{200} in the activation loop of CaMKIV by CaMKK (Chow et al., 2005). On the other hand, CaMKIV can stimulate the activity of additional transcriptional activators such as RORa (Kane CD, 2000). Indeed, some phenotypes of the Camk $4^{-/-}$ mice are very similar to those produced by deletion of the ROR α gene (Hamilton et al., 1996; Dussault et al., 1998; Steinmayr et al., 1998), inactivation of which produces the staggerer mouse (Hamilton et al., 1996; Dussault et al., 1998). Another transcription factor important for LTP formation is Zif268 (Jones et al., 2001). Zif268 is a zinc finger transcription factor required for LTP and long-term memory, as is CREB. Thus, a number of effects resulting from the inactivation of CaMKIV may be independent of CREB.

5.7. The CaMK Cascade in Neuronal Growth

Some pathologies that result in mental retardation, such as Down's and Fragile X syndromes correlate with dendritic abnormalities of neurons, resulting in abnormal development of neuronal circuits and activity – dependent plasticity. The growth of neurites (which includes axons and dendrites) during neuronal development has also been reported to involve the CaMK cascade. The evidence for such involvement comes from inhibiting the CaMK cascade using STO-609, dn-CaMKK or dn-CaMKI α , which results in abrogation of overall neurite growth in both hippocampal and cerebellar granule neurons. However, expression of dn-Akt or dn-CaMKIVnuc, that carries a nuclear localization signal to restrict it to the nucleus, did not result in alteration of neurite growth, indicating that CaMKK and CaMKI are the relevant members of the CaMK cascade involved in this process (Wayman et al., 2004). The STO-609-mediated inhibition of growth was rescued by expression of CaMKI α , indicating the specificity of STO-609 for the CaMKK/CaMKI pathway in this case (Wayman et al., 2004).

A subsequent study focused more specifically on dendritic arborization stimulated by neuronal activity. In this study neurons were cultured in vitro and stimulated with KCl or bicuculline. Such stimulation resulted in a 70-100% increase in dendritic arborization within 2 days, and was dependent on NMDA receptors (which raise cytosolic Ca^{2+} levels). Again, STO-609 inhibited the arborization and the inhibitory effects of the drug were rescued by overexpression of the STO-609-resistant CaMKK^{L233F}, indicating involvement of a CaMKK. Using reagents such as dn-CaMKIa, dn-CaMKIVnuc, and siRNAs that specifically target each one of the 4 isoforms of CaMKI it was concluded that only CaMKIy is required for dendritic arborization. These experiments suggest that a CaMKK/CaMKIy pathway is involved in stimulus-dependent dendrite arborization (Wayman et al., 2006), which, in turn, activates the MEK/ERK pathway. It was also concluded that CREB was downstream of the CaMKK/CaMKIy/MEK/ERK cascade and serial analysis of chromatin occupancy identifed Wnt-2 as a downstream target of the kinase pathway, which when added by itself to hippocampal slices is sufficient to stimulate neurite growth. Based on these results, the authors proposed a Ca²⁺-dependent pathway which involves CaMKK/CaMKIy/ERK/CREB/Wnt-2 to be important in the regulation of neurite growth in response to neuronal stimulation (Wayman et al., 2006).

5.8. Concluding Remarks on the CaMK Cascade and Neuronal Growth

The role of CaMKI γ in neurite growth is one of the few physiologically important roles attributed to the CaMKI isoforms. Besides possible roles in cell cycle for CaMKI α and neutrophil activation for CaMKI δ (see below), the functions of the other isoforms of CaMKI remain to be determined. Based on the involvement of CaMKI γ in neurite growth, it would be interesting to learn whether growth and

cell mobility in other cell types is also regulated by CaMKI γ (or other isoforms of CaMKI). It also remains a mystery why many members of the CaMK cascade are expressed in neurons and how neurons discriminate between different stimuli that raise intracellular Ca²⁺ to activate one or more specific members of the CaMK cascade. In this regard, the fact that CaMKI γ is the only CaMKI isoform that is localized to the cell membrane may provide a useful clue to function and specificity.

6. THE CAMK CASCADE REGULATES THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

One member of the CaMK cascade, CaMKIV, is particularly abundant in T lymphocytes. T cells are critical to the mammalian immune system because they recognize antigens on the surface of invading pathogens, viruses and tumor cells. Three major types of T cells have been described: helper T (TH), cytotoxic T (TC), and suppressor T (TS) cells. TH cells recognize and are activated by a sub-set of antigens, resulting in the secretion of cytokines that promote growth and responsiveness of B cells and TC cells. TC cells recognize and are activated by tumor cells or pathogens, resulting in their maturation into active cytotoxic T lymphocytes, which destroy the altered cells. And TS cells inhibit both T cell- and B cellmediated immunity, limiting what might otherwise be an uncontrolled response (Moffet et al., 1993).

T cells recognize an antigen through a complex mechanism that includes three different receptors: T cell receptor (TCR), CD4 or CD8 and IL-1 receptor. In the case of TH cells, the antigen must be presented in the context of a type II major histocompatibility complex (MHC II), which is present only on macrophages, some B cells and a few other cell types. The TCR on a TH cell will recognize the antigen presented; the CD4 surface receptor on the TH cell will recognize the MHC II from the presenter cell; and finally, the IL-1 receptor on the TH cell will recognize the IL-1 factor secreted by the presenter cell. Only the combination of these stimuli will activate the TH cell, which then responds by releasing additional cytokines that will stimulate growth of other T cells (Moffet et al., 1993).

6.1. The CaMK Cascade and Activation of T Cells

The complex mechanism by which these receptors mediate the T cell response involves Ca^{2+} , among many other signaling molecules. Indeed, stimulation of the TCR leads to a rapid and transient Ca^{2+} peak in the cytoplasm that reaches a maximal level at one min. before being decreased in a manner that results in a lower sustained plateau. This new sustained plateau of Ca^{2+} lasts for 2 h and seems to be required for induction of IL-2 expression (reviewed in Crabtree and Clipstone, 1994). One of the effectors of the Ca^{2+} signaling pathway is the Ca^{2+} /calmodulindependent phosphatase calcineurin (also known as serine/threonine phosphatase 2B). Calcineurin dephosphorylates and induces the nuclear translocation of the nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT), which activates transcription of numerous genes encoding growth factors including IL-2 (reviewed in Crabtree and Clipstone, 1994). However, in addition to NFAT other transcription factors such as CREB, c-fos and c-jun are required for T cell activation. Indeed, CREB phosphorylation on S¹³³ was found to occur as early as 1 min. after T cell stimulation, and seemed to be independent of PKA, since the PKA inhibitor H89 failed to prevent CREB phosphorylation. Moreover, the T cell-specific expression of a dominant/negative form of CREB (with S¹³³ mutated to A, so it cannot be phosphorylated) in mice revealed a critical role for CREB in T cell activation, as these mice were unable to produce IL-2, induce the expression of immediate early genes such as c-jun, c-fos and fra-2 and subsequently proliferate (Barton et al., 1996). At the time, the activator of CREB in T cells was unknown.

One candidate for the CREB kinase involved in the activation of T cells is CaMKIV, since it is not only expressed in T cells but becomes activated after T cell stimulation (Hanissian et al., 1993). Moreover, CaMKIV is phosphorylated on T²⁰⁰ of the activation loop by a CaMKK in the T cell-derived Jurkat cell line, suggesting that the CaMK cascade could be important for T cell function after TCR stimulation (Park and Soderling, 1995; Chatila et al., 1996). Subsequently, the role of CaMKIV has been addressed in mice that express either dn-CaMKIV or are null for the Camk4 gene. Both approaches resulted in defects in T cell activation and IL-2 synthesis, and suggested that CaMKIV is probably required at more than one point during T cell activation. For instance, transgenic mice expressing dn-CaMKIV specifically in thymocytes driven by the proximal promoter of the lck gene, which is active during thymocyte development but inactivated as mature T cells leave the thymus, showed a profound thymocyte activation defect (Anderson et al., 1997). On the other hand, Camk4^{-/-} mice created in the Means' laboratory failed to show decreased activation of thymocytes but were defective in activation of memory T cells (Anderson and Means, 2002). A third study, using Camk4^{-/-} mice created in the Chatila laboratory, did not identify a defect in thymocyte activation but showed a role for CaMKIV in the positive selection of T cells (Raman et al., 2001).

The inhibition of CaMKIV function by the expression of the dn-CaMKIV in thymocytes in living mice results in a smaller thymus that contains only 16% the number of thymocytes characteristic of control mice. One reason for the decreased number of thymocytes is increased apoptosis. This effect is specific to expression of dn-CaMKIV since T cells isolated from spleen are normal and contain control levels of CaMKIV due to the inactivation of the lck-promoter used to express this kinase mutant (Anderson et al., 1997). Consistent with the ability of CaMKIV to phosphorylate CREB, upon stimulation dn-CaMKIV thymocytes are deficient in CREB phosphorylation at S¹³³ as well as expression of Fos-B, which is a downstream gene target of CREB (Anderson et al., 1997). In agreement with the hypothesis that Ca²⁺, CaM, CaMKIV, CREB and Fos-B are components of the signaling pathway that leads to activation of the IL-2 gene, IL-2 production was decreased in dn-CaMIV thymocytes as was the IL-2 receptor component CD25 (Anderson et al., 1997). Because IL-2 is a growth/survival factor for thymocytes, these results were interpreted to indicate that CaMKIV might be required for

thymocyte survival and normal thymus development through the activation of the CREB/Fos-B/IL-2 pathway.

Based on the results obtained in the dn-CaMKIV transgenic mice, it came as a surprise that the thymic phenotype was not recapitulated in mice null for Camk4 (Camk4^{-/-}) (Raman et al., 2001; Anderson and Means, 2002). One possibility for the difference is that developmental compensatory mechanisms occurred that normalized thymocyte production and activation in Camk4^{-/-}mice. Alternatively, dn-CaMKIV may have sequestered one or both CaMKKs resulting in the inhibition of another pathway(s) necessary for proper thymocyte development not involving CaMKIV. However, one Camk4^{-/-} strain does show a slightly altered maturation of thymocytes, based on the ratio of single-positive CD⁴⁺ and CD⁸⁺ T cells present in the spleen and a reason suggested to explain this apparent discrepancy was that the expression of CaMKIV is decreased in peripheral T cells relative to thymocytes even in wild type mice (Raman et al., 2001).

One important step that occurs during thymocyte maturation is the process of T cell selection, which can be either positive or negative. It is of critical importance that T cells rapidly and strongly respond to a stimulus so the infection or invading agent can be contained as soon as possible; this response is called positive selection. Of equal importance is the ability of the T cells to recognize normal proteins and molecules as self, therefore avoiding a reaction against normal cells and inducing autoimmune diseases; this mechanism is called negative selection. Both positive and negative selection occur in thymocytes that are double positive $(CD^{4+} \text{ and } CD^{8+})$ and are on their way to becoming single positive for either CD⁴⁺ or CD⁸⁺ (Sebzda et al., 1999). The role of CaMKIV in positive and negative selection was studied by crossing Camk4^{-/-} mice with 3.L2, 3A9 or H-Y transgenic mice, 3.L2, 3A9 and H-Y being types of TCR that recognize defined peptides. 3.L2, 3A9 and H-Y mice all demonstrate increased positive selection, seen as a high number of single CD^{4+} (or CD^{8+}) T cells that express this particular TCR in the mouse. However, the cross of Camk4^{-/-}with either 3.L2, 3A9 or H-Y mice resulted in a low number of single CD⁴⁺ (and CD⁸⁺) cells in each case, indicating that positive selection was impaired in Camk $4^{-/-}$ mice (Raman et al., 2001). The role of CaMKIV appeared to be specific for positive selection, since using the H-Y and 3.L2 strains in the presence of the antigen in the mouse (which is recognized as an endogenous protein and therefore induces negative selection in wild type mice), Camk $4^{-/-}$ mice showed normal negative selection. The mechanism by which CaMKIV regulates positive selection was not determined but correlated with the expression of several transcription factors, such as CD40L (a member of the TNF family), TNF- α and Nurr77, since the expression of these three factors was diminished in Camk4^{-/-} cells after stimulation *in vitro*, compared to control cells (Raman et al., 2001). Surprisingly, however, phosphorylation of CREB on S¹³³ was not diminished after stimulation (Raman et al., 2001), which is in stark contrast to the response of thymocytes expressing the dn-CaMKIV. Whether the thymocytes have developed a compensatory pathway to regulate CREB phosphorylation in response to TCR stimulation during development, or whether CREB phosphorylation only represents an obligatory step for the primary mechanism by which CaMKIV activates transcription (such as CBP phosphorylation, for example), remains to be determined.

thymocyte development is reasonably Interestingly, whereas normal. $Camk4^{-/-}$ mice do show an anomaly in T cell function at later stages of maturation: a subset of TH cells, called memory TH cells, but not naïve TH cells, are deficient in IL-2 production after stimulation. Memory T cells are cells that were previously exposed to the antigen they recognize, and consequently express surface makers such as L-selectin^{low} and CD44^{high}. In contrast, naïve cells have never encountered an antigen previously and are characterized by L-selectin^{high} and CD44^{low}. Both cell populations are found in the spleen, are CD⁴⁺ and express CaMKIV (Anderson and Means, 2002). Separation of these two types of cells can be accomplished by staining of the cell surface markers followed by cell sorting. Analysis of these cells showed that after TCR stimulation, memory T cells from Camk4^{-/-} mice, but not naïve T cells, produced 5-8 fold less of three cytokines important for their activation: IL-2, IL-4 and interferon γ (Anderson and Means, 2002). Similar to thymocytes, both memory and naïve T cells respond to TCR stimulation by activation of CaMKIV and CREB leading to induction of immediate early and cytokine gene expression, but only memory T cells require this pathway for cytokine production. By contrast the Ca^{2+} -dependent pathway required for cytokine production in naïve T cells requires p90rsk rather than CaMKIV to phosphorylate CREB, transcribe immediate early genes and produce cytokines based on this study of cells isolated from Camk4^{-/-} mice (Anderson and Means, 2002).

As naïve T cells also express CaMKIV, a different approach was taken to address the role of CaMKIV in these cells. In human naïve T cells CaMKIV was inhibited acutely using either a specific siRNA or the CaMK inhibitor KN-62 to preclude development of a compensatory mechanism that might result from chronic inhibiton. The acute decrease of CaMKIV resulted in a concomitant decrease in IL-2 expression indication that, similar to memory T cells and thymocytes, naïve human T cells also require CaMKIV for IL production (Pan et al., 2005). However, the mechanism by which CaMKIV regulates IL-2 production in human naïve T cells is independent of CREB, which is consistent with the lack of difference in CREB phosphorylation observed between mouse Camk4^{-/-} and wild type naïve T cells (Anderson and Means, 2002). The role of CaMKIV in human naïve T cells is to phosphorylate Cabin1, which is a CaM-binding protein that functions as a repressor of the transcription factor MEF-2. In resting T cells, Cabin1 is bound to the IL-2 promoter in complex with MEF-2. Upon T cell stimulation, Ca²⁺ is increased which activates CaMKIV and CaMKIV phosphorylates Cabin1 on S²¹²⁶ which promotes its binding to 14-3-3, leading to its nuclear export (Pan et al., 2005). It is important to note that there is a difference in the sequence surrounding S^{2126} between human and mouse/rat Cabin1, in that only the human Cabin1 has a consensus sequence for 14-3-3 docking. This difference may explain why naïve T cells from $Camk4^{-/-}$ mice do not show an IL-2 production phenotype whereas the human T cells do (Pan et al., 2005). Regardless of the specific mechanism involved, the dn-CaMKIV and Camk4^{-/-} mouse models together with the human naïve T cell results clearly show that CaMKIV is required to activate T cell cytokine synthesis in response to TCR stimulation. The point at which CaMKIV acts in the different types of T cells is summarized in Figure 4.

6.2. The CaMK Cascade in Hematopoietic Stem Cells

There is another aspect of immune function that is affected by the CaMK cascade. This aspect is the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells that reside in bone marrow and give rise to blood. These cells are clinically important in bone marrow transplants. CaMKIV is expressed in the hematopoietic progenitor population that contains stem cells and are called KLS cells (based on the status of three cell surface markers c-Kit⁺, Sca-1⁺, Lin^{-/low}). Bone marrow from Camk4^{-/-}mice was found to contain a decreased number of KLS cells, as well as a decreased number of leukocytes in the blood (Kitsos et al., 2005). Moreover, the KLS cells from Camk4^{-/-} mice are functionally impaired and unable to reconstitute blood upon bone marrow



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the $Ca^{2+}/CaM/CaMKK/CaMKIV/CREB/immediate early genes/IL pathway in T cells. Activation only takes place after the triple stimulation of the TCR, IL-1R and CD4/8 receptors. The end point effect of CaMKIV, which is the synthesis of interleukins and other growth factors, is common to T cells and thymocytes. Interleukins and other growth factors may have an autocrine or a paracrine effect. The different pathways included here have been addressed using Camk4-/- mouse models. Since the role of the CaMK cascade in hematopoietic stem cells and neutrophils is a little different, they are not included here$

transplantation into lethally irradiated mice. Following transplantation there was an abnormally early burst of reconstitution at 3 weeks after the transplant, which was followed by complete exhaustion 9–12 weeks after transplantation. This stem cell exhaustion was confirmed by showing that serial transplantation of cells isolated from the primary transplanted mice had lost their long term repopulation ability.

The decrease in KLS cell number in $Camk4^{-/-}$ mice correlated with an increase in the number of apoptotic KLS cells compared to controls together with a threefold increase in the number of proliferating KLS cells, suggesting that CaMKIV is required for maintenance of quiescence in the bone marrow stem cells that is critical for self-renewal and thus, for reconstitution of blood. The absence of CaMKIV from KLS cells correlated with decreased CREB phosphorylation at S¹³³ in both basal and stimulated conditions in these cells (similar to the results found in T cells and neurons mentioned earlier). The Camk4^{-/-} KLS cells also contain a two-fold decrease in the amount of the CREB binding protein CBP, suggesting that CaMKIV is important for activation of the CREB/CBP pathway in KLS cells (Kitsos et al., 2005). The observation that CBP levels are decreased is significant because mice haplo-insufficient for CBP show a similar hematopoietic phenotype (Kung et al., 2000; Rebel et al., 2002), supporting the view that CBP is a mediator in the CaMKIV pathway (Chawla et al., 1998). Bcl-2 was evaluated as a possible downstream target of CREB/CBP for three reasons. First, the Bcl-2 gene is regulated by Ca²⁺ (Apati et al., 2003) and CREB (Wilson et al., 1996). Second, Bcl-2 both inhibits apoptosis (Domen et al., 2000) and is required to maintain cell quiescence (Greider et al., 2002; Janumyan et al., 2003). Third, overexpression of Bcl-2 increases hematopoietic stem cell number and the ability of these cells to reconstitute blood (Domen et al., 2000). Indeed, Bcl-2 mRNA and protein are decreased in KLS cells from Camk4^{-/-} mice compared to control KLS cells, establishing a clear correlation between CaMKIV, phospho-CREB, CBP and Bcl-2. Re-expression of CaMKIV (but not a kinase-inactive CaMKIV mutant) in Camk4^{-/-} KLS cells resulted in restoration of phopho-CREB as well as CBP and Bcl-2 levels to those characteristic of wild type KLS cells. Similarly, re-expression of wild type but not inactive CaMKIV in Camk4^{-/-} KLS cells rescued their hyperproliferation and apoptotic abnormalities (Kitsos et al., 2005). Collectively, these studies reveal an important role for CaMKIV in the maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells and suggest that inhibition of this enzyme in mammals might have immunosuppressive effects.

6.3. Concluding Remarks on the CaMK Cascade Relating to the Immune System

The presence of CaMKIV is positively correlated with the phosphorylation of CREB on S¹³³, and with the expression of several immediate early genes in response to TCR-mediated activation of thymocytes and T cells, or with the expression of anti-apoptotic genes such as Bcl-2 in hematopoietic stem cells. Whether this correlation is a cause-effect relationship or just parallel events that occur during the relevant activation process triggered by CaMKIV needs to be clarified. For example, since

CaMKIV has been primarily implicated in gene regulation, gene expression arrays using using mRNA isolated from wild type and Camk4^{-/-} cells would provide information about the nature of genes whose expression is affected by CaMKIV. Moreover, the DNA elements in the promoters of genes affected by CaMKIV could be analyzed by chromatin immunoprecipitation using CaMKIV antibodies. If elements with which CaMKIV is associated other than CREs are identified, this could lead to a better appreciation of the transcription factors that might represent additional targets for CaMKIV.

The role of the CaMKIV kinases, CaMKK α and CaMK β , has not yet been addressed in T cell activation and hematopoiesis. However, preliminary results from our laboratory indicate that there is a defect in hematopoiesis in Camkk2^{-/-} mice as well (K.A. Anderson, unpublished results). The extent to which phenotypes of Camk4^{-/-} and Camkk2^{-/-} mice are similar or divergent, will point to the pathways that may utilize a CaMKK β /CaMKIV cascade or depend on cascades involving CaMKK β /AMPK or CaMKK α /CaMKIV. The availability of mice null for CaMKK α (Blaeser et al., 2006; Mizuno et al., 2006) will considerably facilitate obtaining answers to these interesting questions.

Finally, it has been suggested that a specific isoform of CaMKI, CaMKIô, may be involved in the activation of granulocytes in response to agents such as fMLP that bind to G-protein coupled cell surface recptors or oportunistic pathogenic fungi such as *Aspergillus fumigatus* (Verploegen et al., 2005). In various types of granulocytic cells in culture a specific peptide inhibitor of CaMKIô inhibited the generation of ROS and motility in response to fMLP as well as phagocytosis in response to *A. fumigatus*. These roles of CaMKIô could be quite important in immune survelience although neither the cascade of events upstream or downstream of CaMKI that lead to these responses have been elucidated. Future studies investigating these mechanisms could be of consisiderable interest.

7. A CAMK CASCADE REGULATES ENERGY BALANCE

As mentioned in the introduction, CaMKKs can phosphorylate proteins in addition to CaMKI and CaMKIV. One such alternate target is the AMP-dependent protein kinase (AMPK) (Hawley et al., 1995; Hamilton et al., 2002), and recent studies present compelling evidence that CaMKKs are physiologically relevant activators of AMPK in cultured cells. These studies are of particular interest as AMPK is a kinase intimately involved in the regulation of metabolism, both at the cellular and organismal levels (Kemp et al., 1999). In mammals, AMPK has been implicated in diabetes, obesity and cardiovascular disease (Arad et al., 2002; Kemp et al., 2003) prompting a flurry of studies to identify the relevant AMPKK involved in each tissue that participates in the etiology of these diseases.

The AMPK is a heterotrimeric complex containing α catalytic, β scaffolding and γ regulatory subunits. The β subunit binds both α and γ subunits through its ASC domain as well as glycogen through its KIS domain whereas the γ subunit binds two AMP or ATP molecules via its two Bateman domains (Jiang and Carlson, 1997; Cheung et al., 2000; Hudson et al., 2003; Kemp, 2004). In mammals, each subunit is encoded by multiple genes (α 1, α 2, β 1, β 2, γ 1, γ 2 and γ 3) which can

express several splice variants and/or be regulated by more than one promoter resulting in a higher number of possible heterotrimeric complexes (Hardie et al., 2003; Carling, 2004). The kinase activity of heterotrimic AMPK is regulated in response to a change in the cellular ratio of AMP:ATP, which occurs as cells become ATP-depleted and is sensed by AMP binding to the AMPKa subunit. The increase in the AMP:ATP ratio also facilitates AMPKK-dependent phosphorylation of T^{172} , which is present in the activation loop of the AMPK α subunit, presumably via a conformational change that exposes T¹⁷²to the activity of the upstream kinase. These events conspire to activate the kinase activity of AMPK. In other cases, however, AMPK can become phosphorylated at T¹⁷² without a rise in the AMP:ATP ratio, which is sufficient to activate the enzyme (reviewed by Carling (Carling, 2004)). In either case, activation of AMPK results in phosphorylation of downstream substrates leading to decreased energy expenditure and synthesis of ATP. One of the primary AMPK substrates is acetyl CoA carboxylase (ACC). Phosphorylation of ACC on S⁷⁹ inhibits its activity leading to a decrease in conversion of acetyl CoA to malonyl-CoA. The decreased level of malonyl-CoA results in activation of the mitochondrial long chain acyl-CoA transporter CPT1, which in turn results in increased oxidation of acyl-CoA and generation of ATP by the mitochondria (Kahn et al., 2005). The activation of AMPK can also lead to negative or positive changes in gene expression. For example, in pancreatic β cells activation leads to the inhibition of insulin mRNA (Rutter et al., 2003) whereas in NPY neurons present in the arculate nucleus of the hypothalamus, activated AMPK results in an increase of NPY mRNA (Minokoshi et al., 2004).

The establishment of energy balance in the whole organism occurs by activating or inhibiting different pathways in different tissues. For example, in cardiac and skeletal muscle, AMPK activation results in increased fatty acid oxidation and glucose uptake, while in liver and adipose tissue AMPK activation results in decreased fatty acid synthesis; and in pancreatic cells, AMPK inhibits insulin secretion (Carling, 2004). AMPK activation by energy depletion and, in particular, in response to low glucose levels is not peculiar to mammals. Indeed, in unicellular organisms, such as the yeast *S. cerevisiae*, the AMPK ortholog, Snf1p, is also activated and regulates the expression of several genes whose protein products are required for survival under glucose depletion (Hardie et al., 1998). Moreover, there is another parallel between the mammalian AMPK pathway and the yeast Snf1p pathway as both catalytic proteins are subunits of a heterotrimeric enzyme complex and must be phosphorylated by an upstream kinase for full activation of the complex (Hardie et al., 1998). Indeed, studies in *S. cerevisiae* have contributed much to our understanding of the regulation of mammalian AMPK.

7.1. CaMKKs Activate the AMPK Pathway in Cultured Cells

The upstream activators of AMPK α have been intensively studied recently. Initially, three yeast kinases were identified using genetic and biochemical approaches and each was shown to phosphorylate Snf1p on T²¹⁰ leading to its activation: Sak1

(formerly Pak1), Tos3 and Elm1 (Hong et al., 2003). Deletion of the three activators simultaneously (but not individually) reproduces the phenotype of the Snf1 deletion, which is the inability of cells to utilize non-fermentable carbon sources such as raffinose or glycerol/ethanol (Hong et al., 2003; Elbing et al., 2006). Sequence homology between the three yeast activators and mammalian genes was used to search for mammalian activators of AMPK, and three candidate genes were identified: CaMKKa, CaMKKB and LKB1 (Nath et al., 2003). Recently, a fourth AMPK kinase called TAK1 has been identified (Momcilovic et al., 2006). Each of the four mammalian enzymes can rescue the Snf1⁻ phenotype resulting from deletion of all three Snf1p kinases in yeast and can function as Snf1p kinases (Hong et al., 2005; Woods et al., 2005; Momcilovic et al., 2006). However, LKB1 was the first mammalian enzyme shown to function as a bona fide AMPK kinase based on the ability of purified LKB1 to phosporylate T¹⁷² of AMPK *in vitro* (Hawley et al., 2003; Hong et al., 2003). In addition, LKB1 is required for metformin-dependent activation of AMPK as HeLa cells (which do not express LKB1) and MEFs from LKB1^{-/-} mice fail to respond to metformin unless LKB1 is re-expressed (Hawley et al., 2003).

The first clue that a CaMKK might serve as a AMPKK in mammals was that a pig brain extract known to contain an enzyme capable of phosphorylating CaMKI could phosphorylate AMPK in vitro, although at a lower rate than its known substrates CaMKI and CaMKIV (Hawley et al., 1995). The second clue came after the mammalian CaMKKs had been cloned and expressed and was the observation that purified CaMKK β could stoichiometrically phosphorylate AMPK α on T^{172} (Hamilton et al., 2002). Additional evidence for the existence of an AMPK other than LKB1 was provided by studies on cardiac ischemia (Altarejos et al., 2005). Finally, three groups published papers almost at the same time which showed that cells lacking LKB1 contained an additional activity capable of phosphorylating AMPK at T172 leading to AMPK activation and identified the additional AMPKK to be CaMKKB (Hawley et al., 2005; Hurley et al., 2005; Woods et al., 2005). One approach common to these three studies was the use of STO-609, which was found to inhibit phosphorylation of AMPKa in several mammalian cell lines (CCL3, HeLa and A549 cells) that occurred in response to stimulation with agents that increased intracellular Ca^{2+} (Hawley et al., 2005; Hurley et al., 2005; Woods et al., 2005). Since STO-609 is selective but not absolutely specific for the CaMKKs (Hawley et al., 2005), all three groups used siRNA to deplete CaMKK β and found a marked inhibition of Ca²⁺-induced AMPK phosphorylation and activation (assayed by examining phosphorylation of ACC). Thus, these studies identified CaMKKB as a physiologically relevant activator of the AMPK pathway in mammalian cells (Hawley et al., 2005; Hurley et al., 2005; Woods et al., 2005). On the other hand, depleting CaMKK α in mammalian cells with siRNA produced mixed results. In one case it significantly inhibited AMPKa phosphorylation and activity in response to 2-deoxyglucose or ionomycin, although depletion of CaMKK α was less effective than depletion of CaMKKB in reducing the levels of phosphorylated ACC (Hurley et al., 2005). In the other cases, depletion of CaMKKa resulted in only marginal inhibition of AMPK α phosphorylation and activity in cells in response to increased Ca²⁺ (Woods et al., 2005) or failed to have an effect (Hawley et al., 2005), respectively. Purified CaMKK α can phosphorylate AMPK α *in vitro*, although 7 times less effectively than CaMKK β (Hawley et al., 2005). Thus, the role for CaMKK α as an AMPK kinase has yet to be conclusively established in mammalian cells and should be the subject of further investigation.

AMPK is also important in the regulation food intake in rodents which is mediated by neurons in the arcuate and paraventricular nuclei of the hypothalamus. In these specific neurons, AMPK is activated by fasting and inhibited by feeding, resulting in increased or decreased food intake, respectively (Minokoshi et al., 2004). The mechanism by which AMPK activity is regulated in the paraventricular nucleus is not well understood, but anorexigenic hormones such as insulin and leptin result in the inhibition of AMPK (Minokoshi et al., 2004) whereas orexigenic hormones such as ghrelin and the agouti-related peptide stimulate hypothalamic AMPK activity (Andersson et al., 2004; Minokoshi et al., 2004), further supporting a central role for AMPK in the hypothalamic signaling pathways that regulate food intake. At this point, the downstream effectors of AMPK in the hypothalamus relevant for food intake regulation are unknown but is the subject of current investigation.

7.2. CaMKKβ Activates AMPK in the Hypothalamus

AMPK is expressed in many cell types including NPY and POMC neurons that are located in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus. These two types of neurons are especially relevant to the regulation of food intake and energy balance because they are responsive to metabolic hormones leptin and ghrelin. Leptin is produced in adipose tissue. This hormone inhibits the expression NPY in NPY neurons and induces the expression of POMC in POMC neurons through activation of the ObRb receptor and consequent decreased phosphorylation of AMPK (Vaisse et al., 1996; Andersson et al., 2004; Minokoshi et al., 2004). Since NPY is a potent mammalian appetite stimulator while POMC is an appetite suppressor, leptin suppresses appetite in a manner that correlates with decreased activity of AMPK. Ghrelin, synthesized by the stomach in response to fasting, stimulates the expression of NPY in NPY neurons through activation of the Gq-coupled receptor GHSR, which results in an increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ as well as AMPK phosphorylation and activation (Andersson et al., 2004; Carreira et al., 2004). Ghrelin, therefore, results in the stimulation of appetite in a manner that is positively correlated with the activity of AMPK.

Recent results from our laboratory establish CaMKK β as a physiologically relevant AMPK in mice and suggest that it mediates the ghrelin-induced activation of AMPK and NPY in hypothalamic NPY neurons. *In situ* hybridization revealed that CaMKK β mRNA is expressed in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus. Mice null for the CaMKK β gene show decreased hypothalamic AMPK phosphorylation and activity as well as NPY/AgRP mRNAs. The CaMKK β null mice fed regular mouse chow share many phenotypes common to mice null for NPY and/or one of the NPY receptors. These phenotypes include: 1) normal food intake; 2) slightly increased body weight; 3) increased percent body fat; 4) decreased refeeding after a fast; 5) increased thermogenic response; 6) increased serum leptin; 7) decreased energy expenditure; and 8) normal fasting blood glucose and free fatty acids (Marsh et al., 1998; Pedrazzini et al., 1998; Segal-Lieberman et al., 2003). We conclude that the primary pathway altered in mice null for CaMKKB affecting energy balance includes AMPK and regulates NPY gene expression in the NPY hypothalamic neurons. Previous published studies have shown that ablation of the NPY/AgRP neurons in neonatal mice has no effect on feeding behavior whereas ablation of these neurons in adult mice leads to profound appetite and body weight loss (Bewick et al., 2005). To test the possibility that the CaMKKB null mice may have compensated for the loss of NPY during development in order to maintain body weight, we infused the selective CaMKKB inhibitor, STO-609, into the 3rd ventricle of living wild-type mice over a 7 day period. The drug-treated mice showed a marked decrease in food intake accompanied by decreased body weight. Analysis of hypothalamic mRNA at the end of the experiment revealed 75% decreases in NPY mRNA in samples obtained from STO-609-treated mice. We postulate that CaMKKB serves as a primary AMPKK in NPY neurons and that acute inhibition of this enzyme leads to decreased production of NPY which, in turn, causes decreased food intake and weight loss (see model in Figure 5).

7.3. Concluding Remarks on CaMKKβ Regulation of Energy Balance

The Camkk $2^{-/-}$ mouse model clearly shows that CaMKK β regulates the production of NPY and therefore can regulate fat deposition and feeding under certain conditions. The decrease in NPY due to the absence of CaMKK β correlates with a decrease in AMPK activity, although it remains to be determined whether it is the change in AMPK activity that mediates the effects of CaMKK β in NPY neurons. In fact, although these preliminary studies predict the discovery of a new regulatory mechanism many details remain to be elucidated. For example, the specific hormones or receptors that activate CaMKKB in the hypothalamus are unknown, as is the specific mechanism by which CaMKK β regulates the levels of NPY in the NPY neurons. It also remains to be determined whether the acute deletion of the CaMKK β gene in NPY neurons of adult mice will produce the same effects on food intake and body weight we observed due to the infusion of STO-609 into the 3rd ventricle of the brain. Moreover, whether depletion or inhibiton of CaMKKß will protect mice against diet-induced hyperglycemia and insulin resistance must be explored. At this time it is also unknown whether CaMKKa plays a role in the regulation of energy balance although our in situ experiments also suggest that this enzyme is expressed in the arcuate nucleus as well as in other hypothalamic neurons. The availability of mice null for CaMKK α should enable this question to be addressed in the near future. Another unresolved question is the mechanism by which anorexic hormones such as leptin negatively regulate AMPK



Figure 5. Arcuate nucleus neuron representing a CaMKK β /AMPK cascade pathway that might be activated after hormonal stimulation. Stimulation by hormones such as ghrelin induce a surge in cytoplasmic Ca²⁺, which binds to calmodulin and activates CaMKK β , which in turn activates AMPK α by phosphorylation. Active AMPK can either promote transcription of some orexygenic factors such as neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related peptide (AgRP), or can phosphorylate metabolic enzymes such as acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC). Both NPY (N) and AgRP (A) are paracrine factors that will target other neurons of the central nervous system. This pathway is based on observations in Camkk2^{-/-} mice as well as on several cell lines. Intermediate steps that are currently unknown are represented by several arrows in a row

activity and NPY expression in the arcuate nucleus. Lastly, whether CaMKK α and/or CaMKK β play any role in the regulation of AMPK and glucose metabolism in other tissues such as muscle, adipose tissue and liver remains an open question. This will be especially interesting to explore because LKB1 has been shown to play an important role in liver and skeletal muscle (Sakamoto et al., 2005; Shaw et al., 2005). In the heart, however, ablation of LKB1 has effects only on AMPK α 2 but not in AMPK α 1, even though AMPK α 1 becomes phosphorylated and activated in response to ischemia and anoxia, which could suggest roles for an additional AMPKK such as one of the CaMKKs in this organ (Sakamoto et al., 2006).

8. CONCLUDING REMARKS

In the recent years, an increasing number of studies show widespread relevance of the CaMK cascade. From the recent description of new isoforms, such as those of the CaMKI subfamily, to the analysis of mouse models null or transgenic for a dominant/negative form of a specific member of the cascade, the CaMK cascade has been implicated to be involved in pathological processes as diverse as cancer (cell division and apoptosis), memory formation and maintenance, dendrite growth, autoimmune disease (T cell selection), immune system development (T cell maturation and hematopoiesis) and obesity (via NPY regulation in the hypothalamus).

Several of these roles are just emerging, and the implications may be larger than they currently appear. For example, if regulation of the cell cycle by the CaMK cascade is indeed more prominent in cancerous cells than in normal cells, then regulation of this pathway may be therapeutically more relevant than it was previously thought to be. Another role for the cascade that needs further research is the regulation of stem cell maintenance and expansion, in particular of hematopoietic stem cells, as these cells are vitally important for bone marrow transplantion and gene therapy. And certainly the regulation of obesity and diabetes through inhibition of the CaMKK β /AMPK/NPY pathway is particularly interesting since it might be possible to identify drugs that specifically inhibit the ability of CaMKK β to phosphorylate AMPK α without altering the ability of the CaMKKs to activate CaMKI or IV or for LKB1 to activate AMPK. Without question, much more research is needed on each member of the CaMK cascade to gain a better understanding of their physiological roles and how intervention of these pathways may lead to or be used to treat human disease.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by National Institute of Health Grants DK074701 and GM033976.

REFERENCES

- Abel, T., Nguyen, P. V., Barad, M., Deuel, T. A., Kandel, E. R. and Bourtchouladze, R., 1997, Genetic demonstration of a role for PKA in the late phase of LTP and in hippocampus-based long-term memory, Cell, 88, pp 615–26.
- Agell, N., Bachs, O., Rocamora, N. and Villalonga, P., 2002, *Modulation of the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK* pathway by Ca(2+), and calmodulin, Cell Signal, 14, pp 649–54.
- Alemany, V., Sanchez-Piris, M., Bachs, O. and Aligue, R., 2002, Cmk2, a novel serine/threonine kinase in fission yeast, FEBS Lett, 524, pp 79–86.
- Altarejos, J. Y., Taniguchi, M., Clanachan, A. S. and Lopaschuk, G. D., 2005, Myocardial ischemia differentially regulates LKB1 and an alternate 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase kinase, J Biol Chem, 280, pp 183–90.
- Anderson, K. A. and Means, A. R., 2002, Defective signaling in a subpopulation of CD4(+) T cells in the absence of Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV, Mol Cell Biol, 22, pp 23–9.
- Anderson, K. A., Means, R. L., Huang, Q. H., Kemp, B. E., Goldstein, E. G., Selbert, M. A., Edelman, A. M., Fremeau, R. T. and Means, A. R., 1998, *Components of a calmodulin-dependent* protein kinase cascade. Molecular cloning, functional characterization and cellular localization of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase beta, J Biol Chem, 273, pp 31880–9.

- Anderson, K. A., Ribar, T. J., Illario, M. and Means, A. R., 1997, Defective survival and activation of thymocytes in transgenic mice expressing a catalytically inactive form of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV, Mol Endocrinol, 11, pp 725–37.
- Andersson, U., Filipsson, K., Abbott, C. R., Woods, A., Smith, K., Bloom, S. R., Carling, D. and Small, C. J., 2004, AMP-activated protein kinase plays a role in the control of food intake, J Biol Chem, 279, pp 12005–8.
- Apati, A., Janossy, J., Brozik, A., Bauer, P. I. and Magocsi, M., 2003, Calcium induces cell survival and proliferation through the activation of the MAPK pathway in a human hormone-dependent leukemia cell line, TF-1, J Biol Chem, 278, pp 9235–43.
- Arad, M., Benson, D. W., Perez-Atayde, A. R., McKenna, W. J., Sparks, E. A., Kanter, R. J., McGarry, K., Seidman, J. G. and Seidman, C. E., 2002, *Constitutively active AMP kinase mutations cause glycogen storage disease mimicking hypertrophic cardiomyopathy*, J Clin Invest, 109, pp 357–62.
- Barton, K., Muthusamy, N., Chanyangam, M., Fischer, C., Clendenin, C. and Leiden, J. M., 1996, Defective thymocyte proliferation and IL-2 production in transgenic mice expressing a dominantnegative form of CREB, Nature, 379, pp 81–5.
- Beauman, S. R., Campos, B., Kaetzel, M. A. and Dedman, J. R., 2003, CyclinB1 expression is elevated and mitosis is delayed in HeLa cells expressing autonomous CaMKII, Cell Signal, 15, pp 1049–57.
- Bewick, G. A., Gardiner, J. V., Dhillo, W. S., Kent, A. S., White, N. E., Webster, Z., Ghatei, M. A. and Bloom, S. R., 2005, *Post-embryonic ablation of AgRP neurons in mice leads to a lean, hypophagic phenotype*, Faseb J, 19, pp 1680–2.
- Bito, H., Deisseroth, K. and Tsien, R., 1996, *CREB phosphorylation and dephosphorylation: a Ca*(2+)and stimulus duration-dependent switch for hippocampal gene expression, Cell, 87, pp 1203–1214.
- Blaeser, F., Sanders, M. J., Truong, N., Ko, S., Wu, L. J., Wozniak, D. F., Fanselow, M. S., Zhuo, M. and Chatila, T. A., 2006, Long term Memory Deficits in Pavlovian Fear Conditioning in CaMKK{alpha} Deficient Mice, Mol Cell Biol, pp in press.
- Bland, M. M., Monroe, R. S. and Ohmstede, C. A., 1994, The cDNA sequence and characterization of the Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase-Gr from human brain and thymus, Gene, 142, pp 191–7.
- Blum, S., Moore, A. N., Adams, F. and Dash, P. K., 1999, A mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in the CA1/CA2 subfield of the dorsal hippocampus is essential for long-term spatial memory, J Neurosci, 19, pp 3535–44.
- Brodie, C. R., Khaliq, M., Yin, J. C., Brent Clark, H., Orr, H. T. and Boland, L. M., 2004, Overexpression of CREB reduces CRE-mediated transcription: behavioral and cellular analyses in transgenic mice, Mol Cell Neurosci, 25, pp 602–11.
- Carling, D., 2004, *The AMP-activated protein kinase cascade-a unifying system for energy control*, Trends Biochem Sci, 29, pp 18–24.
- Carreira, M. C., Camina, J. P., Smith, R. G. and Casanueva, F. F., 2004, Agonist-specific coupling of growth hormone secretagogue receptor type 1a to different intracellular signaling systems. Role of adenosine, Neuroendocrinology, 79, pp 13–25.
- Chatila, T., Anderson, K. A., Ho, N. and Means, A. R., 1996, A unique phosphorylation-dependent mechanism for the activation of Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type IV/GR, J Biol Chem, 271, pp 21542–21548.
- Chawla, S., Hardingham, G. E., Quinn, D. R. and Bading, H., 1998, CBP: a signal-regulated transcriptional coactivator controlled by nuclear calcium and CaM kinase IV, Science, 281, pp 1505–9.
- Cheung, P. C., Salt, I. P., Davies, S. P., Hardie, D. G. and Carling, D., 2000, *Characterization of AMP-activated protein kinase gamma-subunit isoforms and their role in AMP binding*, Biochem J, 346 Pt 3, pp 659–69.
- Chin, D. and Means, A. R., 2000, *Calmodulin: a prototypical calcium sensor*, Trends Cell Biol, 10, pp 322–8.
- Chow, F. A., Anderson, K. A., Noeldner, P. K. and Means, A. R., 2005, *The autonomous activity of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV is required for its role in transcription*, J Biol Chem, 280, pp 20530–8.

- Chow, F. A. and Means, A. R., 2006, The Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase Cascades, New Comprehensive Biochemistry-Calcium, A Matter of Life or Death, (J. Krebs and M. Michalak), Elsevier B.V.
- Crabtree, G. R. and Clipstone, N., 1994, *Signal transmission between the plasma membrane and nucleus of T lymphocytes*, Annual Review of Biochemistry, 63, pp 1045–1083.
- Cruzalegui, F. H. and Means, A. R., 1993, Biochemical characterization of the multifunctional $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$ protein kinase type IV expressed in insect cells, J Biol Chem, 268, pp 26171–26178.
- Dash, P. K., Karl, K. A., Colicos, M. A., Prywes, R. and Kandel, E. R., 1991, cAMP response elementbinding protein is activated by Ca2+/calmodulin- as well as cAMP-dependent protein kinase, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 88, pp 5061–5.
- Domen, J., Cheshier, S. H. and Weissman, I. L., 2000, The role of apoptosis in the regulation of hematopoietic stem cells: Overexpression of Bcl-2 increases both their number and repopulation potential, J Exp Med, 191, pp 253–64.
- Dussault, I., Fawcett, D., Matthyssen, A., Bader, J. A. and Giguere, V., 1998, Orphan nuclear receptor ROR alpha-deficient mice display the cerebellar defects of staggerer, Mech Dev, 70, pp 147–53.
- Edelman, A. M., Mitchelhill, K. I., Selbert, M. A., Anderson, K. A., Hook, S. S., Stapleton, D., Goldstein, E. G., Means, A. R. and Kemp, B. E., 1996, *Multiple Ca²⁺-calmodulin-dependent protein* kinase kinases from rat brain: Purification, regulation by Ca²⁺-calmodulin and partial amino acid sequence, The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 271, pp 10806–10810.
- Elbing, K., McCartney, R. R. and Schmidt, M. C., 2006, Purification and characterization of the three Snf1-activating kinases of Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Biochem J, 393, pp 797–805.
- Enslen, H., Sun, P., Brickey, D., Soderling, S. H., Klamo, E. and Soderling, T. R., 1994, *Characterization of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV. Role in transcriptional regulation*, J Biol Chem, 269, pp 15520–7.
- Eto, K., Takahashi, N., Kimura, Y., Masuho, Y., Arai, K., Muramatsu, M. A. and Tokumitsu, H., 1999, Ca(2+)/Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase cascade in Caenorhabditis elegans. Implication in transcriptional activation, J Biol Chem, 274, pp 22556–62.
- Gardner, H. P., Rajan, J. V., Ha, S. I., Copeland, N. G., Gilbert, D. J., Jenkins, N. A., Marquis, S. T. and Chodosh, L. A., 2000, Cloning, characterization, and chromosomal localization of Pnck, a Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase, Genomics, 63, pp 279–88.
- Greider, C., Chattopadhyay, A., Parkhurst, C. and Yang, E., 2002, BCL-x(L) and BCL2 delay Mycinduced cell cycle entry through elevation of p27 and inhibition of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases, Oncogene, 21, pp 7765–75.
- Hamilton, B. A., Frankel, W. N., Kerrebrock, A. W., Hawkins, T. L., FitzHugh, W., Kusumi, K., Russell, L. B., Mueller, K. L., van Berkel, V., Birren, B. W., Kruglyak, L. and Lander, E. S., 1996, *Disruption of the nuclear hormone receptor RORalpha in staggerer mice*, Nature, 379, pp 736–9.
- Hamilton, S. R., O'Donnell, J. B., Jr., Hammet, A., Stapleton, D., Habinowski, S. A., Means, A. R., Kemp, B. E. and Witters, L. A., 2002, AMP-activated protein kinase kinase: detection with recombinant AMPK alpha1 subunit, Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 293, pp 892–8.
- Hanissian, S. H., Frangakis, M., Bland, M. M., Jawahar, S. and Chatila, T. A., 1993, Expression of a Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase, CaM kinase-Gr, in human T lymphocytes. Regulation of kinase activity by T cell receptor signaling, J Biol Chem, 268, pp 20055–63.
- Hardie, D. G., Carling, D. and Carlson, M., 1998, The AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase subfamily: metabolic sensors of the eukaryotic cell?, Annu Rev Biochem, 67, pp 821–55.
- Hardie, D. G., Scott, J. W., Pan, D. A. and Hudson, E. R., 2003, Management of cellular energy by the AMP-activated protein kinase system, FEBS Lett, 546, pp 113–20.
- Haribabu, B., Hook, S. S., Selbert, M. A., Goldstein, E. G., Tomhave, E. D., Edelman, A. M., Snyderman, R. and Means, A. R., 1995, *Human calcium-calmodulin dependent protein kinase I: cDNA cloning, domain structure and activation by phosphorylation at threonine-177 by calcium-calmodulin dependent protein kinase I kinase*, Embo J, 14, pp 3679–3686.

- Hawley, S. A., Boudeau, J., Reid, J. L., Mustard, K. J., Udd, L., Makela, T. P., Alessi, D. R. and Hardie, D. G., 2003, *Complexes between the LKB1 tumor suppressor*, *STRAD alpha/beta and MO25 alpha/beta are upstream kinases in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade*, J Biol, 2, pp 28.
- Hawley, S. A., Pan, D. A., Mustard, K. J., Ross, L., Bain, J., Edelman, A. M., Frenguelli, B. G. and Hardie, D. G., 2005, *Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-beta is an alternative upstream kinase for AMP-activated protein kinase*, Cell Metab, 2, pp 9–19.
- Hawley, S. A., Selbert, M. A., Goldstein, E. G., Edelman, A. M., Carling, D. and Hardie, D. G., 1995, 5'-AMP activates the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade, and Ca2+/calmodulin activates the calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I cascade, via three independent mechanisms, J Biol Chem, 270, pp 27186–91.
- Ho, N., Liauw, J. A., Blaeser, F., Wei, F., Hanissian, S., Muglia, L. M., Wozniak, D. F., Nardi, A., Arvin, K. L., Holtzman, D. M., Linden, D. J., Zhuo, M., Muglia, L. J. and Chatila, T. A., 2000, *Impaired* synaptic plasticity and cAMP response element-binding protein activation in Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase type IV/Gr-deficient mice, J Neurosci, 20, pp 6459–72.
- Hong, S. P., Leiper, F. C., Woods, A., Carling, D. and Carlson, M., 2003, Activation of yeast Snf1 and mammalian AMP-activated protein kinase by upstream kinases, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, pp 8839–43.
- Hong, S. P., Momcilovic, M. and Carlson, M., 2005, Function of mammalian LKB1 and Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase alpha as Snf1-activating kinases in yeast, J Biol Chem, 280, pp 21804–9.
- Hook, S. S., Kemp, B. E. and Means, A. R., 1999, Peptide specificity determinants at P-7 and P-6 enhance the catalytic efficiency of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I in the absence of activation loop phosphorylation, J Biol Chem, 274, pp 20215–22.
- Howe, C. J., LaHair, M. M., Maxwell, J. A., Lee, J. T., Robinson, P. J., Rodriguez-Mora, O., McCubrey, J. A. and Franklin, R. A., 2002, *Participation of the calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinases in hydrogen peroxide-induced Ikappa B phosphorylation in human T lymphocytes*, J Biol Chem, 277, pp 30469–76.
- Hsu, L. S., Chen, G. D., Lee, L. S., Chi, C. W., Cheng, J. F. and Chen, J. Y., 2001, Human Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase beta gene encodes multiple isoforms that display distinct kinase activity, J Biol Chem, 276, pp 31113–23.
- Hudmon, A. and Schulman, H., 2002, NEURONAL CA2+/CALMODULIN-DEPENDENT PROTEIN KINASE II: The Role of Structure and Autoregulation in Cellular Function, Annu Rev Biochem, 71, pp 473–510.
- Hudson, E. R., Pan, D. A., James, J., Lucocq, J. M., Hawley, S. A., Green, K. A., Baba, O., Terashima, T. and Hardie, D. G., 2003, A novel domain in AMP-activated protein kinase causes glycogen storage bodies similar to those seen in hereditary cardiac arrhythmias, Curr Biol, 13, pp 861–6.
- Hurley, R. L., Anderson, K. A., Franzone, J. M., Kemp, B. E., Means, A. R. and Witters, L. A., 2005, *The Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinases are AMP-activated protein kinase kinases*, J Biol Chem, 280, pp 29060–6.
- Impey, S., Fong, A. L., Wang, Y., Cardinaux, J. R., Fass, D. M., Obrietan, K., Wayman, G. A., Storm, D. R., Soderling, T. R. and Goodman, R. H., 2002, *Phosphorylation of CBP mediates transcriptional* activation by neural activity and CaM kinase IV, Neuron, 34, pp 235–44.
- Ishikawa, Y., Tokumitsu, H., Inuzuka, H., Murata-Hori, M., Hosoya, H. and Kobayashi, R., 2003, Identification and characterization of novel components of a Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase cascade in HeLa cells, FEBS Lett, 550, pp 57–63.
- Janumyan, Y. M., Sansam, C. G., Chattopadhyay, A., Cheng, N., Soucie, E. L., Penn, L. Z., Andrews, D., Knudson, C. M. and Yang, E., 2003, *Bcl-xL/Bcl-2 coordinately regulates apoptosis, cell cycle arrest and cell cycle entry*, Embo J, 22, pp 5459–70.
- Jiang, R. and Carlson, M., 1997, The Snf1 protein kinase and its activating subunit, Snf4, interact with distinct domains of the Sip1/Sip2/Gal83 component in the kinase complex, Mol Cell Biol, 17, pp 2099–106.
- Jones, M. W., Errington, M. L., French, P. J., Fine, A., Bliss, T. V., Garel, S., Charnay, P., Bozon, B., Laroche, S. and Davis, S., 2001, A requirement for the immediate early gene Zif268 in the expression of late LTP and long-term memories, Nat Neurosci, 4, pp 289–96.
- Joseph, J. D. and Means, A. R., 2000, Identification and characterization of two Ca2+/CaM-dependent protein kinases required for normal nuclear division in Aspergillus nidulans, J Biol Chem, 275, pp 38230–8.
- Kahl, C. R. and Means, A. R., 2003, Regulation of cell cycle progression by calcium/calmodulindependent pathways, Endocr Rev, 24, pp 719–36.
- Kahl, C. R. and Means, A. R., 2004, Regulation of cyclin D1/Cdk4 complexes by calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase I, J Biol Chem, 279, pp 15411–9.
- Kahn, B. B., Alquier, T., Carling, D. and Hardie, D. G., 2005, AMP-activated protein kinase: ancient energy gauge provides clues to modern understanding of metabolism, Cell Metab, 1, pp 15–25.
- Kandel, E. R., 2001, The molecular biology of memory storage: a dialog between genes and synapses, Biosci Rep, 21, pp 565–611.
- Kane CD, M. A., 2000, Activation of orphan receptor-mediated transcription by Ca(2+)/calmodulindependent protein kinase IV, EMBO J., 19, pp 691–701.
- Kang, H., Sun, L. D., Atkins, C. M., Soderling, T. R., Wilson, M. A. and Tonegawa, S., 2001, An important role of neural activity-dependent CaMKIV signaling in the consolidation of long-term memory, Cell, 106, pp 771–83.
- Kelleher, R. J., 3rd, Govindarajan, A., Jung, H. Y., Kang, H. and Tonegawa, S., 2004, *Translational control by MAPK signaling in long-term synaptic plasticity and memory*, Cell, 116, pp 467–79.
- Kemp, B. E., 2004, *Bateman domains and adenosine derivatives form a binding contract*, J Clin Invest, 113, pp 182–4.
- Kemp, B. E., Mitchelhill, K. I., Stapleton, D., Michell, B. J., Chen, Z. P. and Witters, L. A., 1999, Dealing with energy demand: the AMP-activated protein kinase, Trends Biochem Sci, 24, pp 22–5.
- Kemp, B. E., Stapleton, D., Campbell, D. J., Chen, Z. P., Murthy, S., Walter, M., Gupta, A., Adams, J. J., Katsis, F., van Denderen, B., Jennings, I. G., Iseli, T., Michell, B. J. and Witters, L. A., 2003, *AMP-activated protein kinase, super metabolic regulator*, Biochem Soc Trans, 31, pp 162–8.
- Kimura, Y., Corcoran, E. E., Eto, K., Gengyo-Ando, K., Muramatsu, M. A., Kobayashi, R., Freedman, J. H., Mitani, S., Hagiwara, M., Means, A. R. and Tokumitsu, H., 2002, A CaMK cascade activates CRE-mediated transcription in neurons of Caenorhabditis elegans, EMBO Rep, 3, pp 962–6.
- Kitani, T., Okuno, S. and Fujisawa, H., 1997, Molecular cloning of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase beta, J Biochem (Tokyo), 122, pp 243–50.
- Kitsos, C. M., Sankar, U., Illario, M., Colomer-Font, J. M., Duncan, A. W., Ribar, T. J., Reya, T. and Means, A. R., 2005, *Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV regulates hematopoietic stem cell maintenance*, J Biol Chem, 280, pp 33101–8.
- Klee, C. B. and Means, A. R., 2002, Keeping up with calcium: conference on calcium-binding proteins and calcium function in health and disease, EMBO Rep, 3, pp 823–7.
- Knott, J. G., Gardner, A. J., Madgwick, S., Jones, K. T., Williams, C. J. and Schultz, R. M., 2006, Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II triggers mouse egg activation and embryo development in the absence of Ca2+ oscillations, Dev Biol, 296, pp 388–95.
- Kung, A. L., Rebel, V. I., Bronson, R. T., Ch'ng, L. E., Sieff, C. A., Livingston, D. M. and Yao, T. P., 2000, Gene dose-dependent control of hematopoiesis and hematologic tumor suppression by CBP, Genes Dev, 14, pp 272–7.
- Lemrow, S. M., Anderson, K. A., Joseph, J. D., Ribar, T. J., Noeldner, P. K. and Means, A. R., 2004, *Catalytic activity is required for calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV to enter the nucleus*, J Biol Chem, 279, pp 11664–71.
- Liu, J. and Maller, J. L., 2005, Calcium elevation at fertilization coordinates phosphorylation of XErp1/Emi2 by Plx1 and CaMK II to release metaphase arrest by cytostatic factor, Curr Biol, 15, pp 1458–68.
- Lonze, B. E. and Ginty, D. D., 2002, Function and regulation of CREB family transcription factors in the nervous system, Neuron, 35, pp 605–23.

- Lorca, T., Cruzalegui, F. H., Fesquet, D., Cavadore, J.-C., Mery, J., Means, A. R. and Doree, M., 1993, Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II mediates inactivation of MPF and CSF upon fertilization of Xenopus eggs, Nature, 366, pp 270–273.
- Loseth, O. P., de Lecea, L., Calbet, M., Danielson, P. E., Gautvik, V., Hovring, P. I., Walaas, S. I. and Gautvik, K. M., 2000, Developmental regulation of two isoforms of Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I beta in rat brain, Brain Res, 869, pp 137–45.
- Marie, H., Morishita, W., Yu, X., Calakos, N. and Malenka, R. C., 2005, Generation of silent synapses by acute in vivo expression of CaMKIV and CREB, Neuron, 45, pp 741–52.
- Marsh, D. J., Hollopeter, G., Kafer, K. E. and Palmiter, R. D., 1998, *Role of the Y5 neuropeptide Y receptor in feeding and obesity*, Nat Med, 4, pp 718–21.
- Matthews, R. P., Guthrie, C. R., Wailes, L. M., Zhao, X., Means, A. R. and McKnight, G. S., 1994, Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase types II and IV differentially regulate CREB-dependent gene expression., Mol Cell Biol, 14, pp 6107–6116.
- Means, A., 2000, *Regulatory cascades involving calmodulin-dependent protein kinases*, Mol. Endocrinol., 14, pp 4–13.
- Means, A. R., Cruzalegui, F., LeMagueresse, B., Needleman, D. S., Slaughter, G. R. and Ono, T., 1991, A novel Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase and a male germ cell-specific calmodulin-binding protein are derived from the same gene, Mol Cell Biol, 11, pp 3960–3971.
- Melia, K. R., Ryabinin, A. E., Schroeder, R., Bloom, F. E. and Wilson, M. C., 1994, Induction and habituation of immediate early gene expression in rat brain by acute and repeated restraint stress, J Neurosci, 14, pp 5929–38.
- Minokoshi, Y., Alquier, T., Furukawa, N., Kim, Y. B., Lee, A., Xue, B., Mu, J., Foufelle, F., Ferre, P., Birnbaum, M. J., Stuck, B. J. and Kahn, B. B., 2004, *AMP-kinase regulates food intake by responding* to hormonal and nutrient signals in the hypothalamus, Nature, 428, pp 569–74.
- Mizuno, K., Ris, L., Sanchez-Capelo, A., Godaux, E. and Giese, K. P., 2006, Ca2+/Calmodulin Kinase Kinase {alpha} Is Dispensable for Brain Development But Is Required for Distinct Memories in Male, Though Not in Female, Mice, Mol Cell Biol, pp in press.
- Moffet, D. F., Moffet, S. B. and Schauf, C. L., 1993, *Human Physiology*, (J. M. Smith), Mosby-Year Book, Inc, St. Louis, MI.
- Momcilovic, M., Hong, S. P. and Carlson, M., 2006, Mammalian TAK1 Activates Snf1 Protein Kinase in Yeast and Phosphorylates AMP-activated Protein Kinase in Vitro, J Biol Chem, 281, pp 25336–43.
- Naito, Y., Watanabe, Y., Yokokura, H., Sugita, R., Nishio, M. and Hidaka, H., 1997, Isoform-specific activation and structural diversity of calmodulin kinase I, J Biol Chem, 272, pp 32704–8.
- Nakamura, Y., Okuno, S., Kitani, T., Otake, K., Sato, F. and Fujisawa, H., 2001, Immunohistochemical localization of Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase beta in the rat central nervous system, Neurosci Res, 39, pp 175–88.
- Nath, N., McCartney, R. R. and Schmidt, M. C., 2003, Yeast Pak1 kinase associates with and activates Snf1, Mol Cell Biol, 23, pp 3909–17.
- Nishimura, H., Sakagami, H., Uezu, A., Fukunaga, K., Watanabe, M. and Kondo, H., 2003, Cloning, characterization and expression of two alternatively splicing isoforms of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I gamma in the rat brain, J Neurochem, 85, pp 1216–27.
- Ohmstede, C. A., Jensen, K. F. and Sahyoun, N. E., 1989, Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase enriched in cerebellar granule cells. Identification of a novel neuronal calmodulin-dependent protein kinase, J Biol Chem, 264, pp 5866–75.
- Okuno, S., Kitani, T., Matsuzaki, H., Konishi, H., Kikkawa, U. and Fujisawa, H., 2000, Studies on the phosphorylation of protein kinase B by Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases, J Biochem (Tokyo), 127, pp 965–70.
- Ono, T., Slaughter, G. R., Cook, R. G. and Means, A. R., 1989, Molecular cloning sequence and distribution of rat calspermin, a high affinity calmodulin-binding protein, The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 264, pp 2081–2087.
- Pan, F., Means, A. R. and Liu, J. O., 2005, Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV regulates nuclear export of Cabin1 during T-cell activation, Embo J, 24, pp 2104–13.

- Park, I. K. and Soderling, T. R., 1995, Activation of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaMkinase) IV by CaM-kinase kinase in Jurkat T lymphocytes, J Biol Chem, 270, pp 30464–9.
- Patel, R., Holt, M., Philipova, R., Moss, S., Schulman, H., Hidaka, H. and Whitaker, M., 1999, Calcium/calmodulin-dependent phosphorylation and activation of human Cdc25-C at the G2/M phase transition in HeLa cells, J Biol Chem, 274, pp 7958–68.
- Pedrazzini, T., Seydoux, J., Kunstner, P., Aubert, J. F., Grouzmann, E., Beermann, F. and Brunner, H. R., 1998, *Cardiovascular response, feeding behavior and locomotor activity in mice lacking the NPY YI* receptor, Nat Med, 4, pp 722–6.
- Peters, M., Mizuno, K., Ris, L., Angelo, M., Godaux, E. and Giese, K. P., 2003, Loss of Ca2+/calmodulin kinase kinase beta affects the formation of some, but not all, types of hippocampus-dependent longterm memory, J Neurosci, 23, pp 9752–60.
- Picciotto, M., Czernik, A. and Nairn, A., 1993, Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I. cDNA cloning and identification of autophosphorylation site., J. Biol. Chem., 268, pp 26512–26521.
- Picciotto, M., Zoli, M., Bertuzzi, G. and AC., N., 1995, Immunochemical localization of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I, Synapse, 20, pp 75–84.
- Planas-Silva, M. D. and Means, A. R., 1992, Expression of a constitutive form of calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II leads to arrest of the cell cycle in G₂, EMBO Journal, 11, pp 507–517.
- Raman, V., Blaeser, F., Ho, N., Engle, D. L., Williams, C. B. and Chatila, T. A., 2001, Requirement for Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase type IV/Gr in setting the thymocyte selection threshold, J Immunol, 167, pp 6270–8.
- Rasmussen, C. D., 2000, Cloning of a calmodulin kinase I homologue from Schizosaccharomyces pombe, J Biol Chem, 275, pp 685–90.
- Rebel, V. I., Kung, A. L., Tanner, E. A., Yang, H., Bronson, R. T. and Livingston, D. M., 2002, *Distinct roles for CREB-binding protein and p300 in hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal*, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 99, pp 14789–94.
- Ribar, T. J., Rodriguiz, R. M., Khiroug, L., Wetsel, W. C., Augustine, G. J. and Means, A. R., 2000, Cerebellar defects in Ca2+/calmodulin kinase IV-deficient mice, J Neurosci, 20, pp RC107.
- Rina, S., Jusuf, A. A., Sakagami, H., Kikkawa, S., Kondo, H., Minami, Y. and Terashima, T., 2001, Distribution of Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I beta 2 in the central nervous system of the rat, Brain Res, 911, pp 1–11.
- Rodriguez-Mora, O., LaHair, M. M., Howe, C. J., McCubrey, J. A. and Franklin, R. A., 2005, *Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases as potential targets in cancer therapy*, Expert Opin Ther Targets, 9, pp 791–808.
- Rodriguez-Mora, O. G., LaHair, M. M., McCubrey, J. A. and Franklin, R. A., 2005, Calcium/calmodulindependent kinase I and calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase kinase participate in the control of cell cycle progression in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells, Cancer Res, 65, pp 5408–16.
- Rutter, G. A., Da Silva Xavier, G. and Leclerc, I., 2003, *Roles of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase* (AMPK) in mammalian glucose homoeostasis, Biochem J, 375, pp 1–16.
- Saitoh, Y., Hardman, J. G. and Wells, J. N., 1985, Differences in the association of calmodulin with cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase in relaxed and contracted arterial strips, Biochemistry, 24, pp 1613–1618.
- Saitoh, Y., Yamamoto, H., Fukunaga, K., Matsukado, Y. and Miyamoto, E., 1987, Inactivation and reactivation of the multifunctional calmodulin-dependent protein kinase from brain by autophosphorylation and dephosphorylation: Involvement of protein phosphatases from brain, Journal of Neurochemistry, 49, pp 1286–1292.
- Sakagami, H., Kamata, A., Nishimura, H., Kasahara, J., Owada, Y., Takeuchi, Y., Watanabe, M., Fukunaga, K. and Kondo, H., 2005, Prominent expression and activity-dependent nuclear translocation of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase Idelta in hippocampal neurons, Eur J Neurosci, 22, pp 2697–707.
- Sakagami, H. and Kondo, H., 1993, Cloning and sequencing of a gene encoding the beta polypeptide of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV and its expression confined to the mature cerebellar granule cells, Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 19, pp 215–8.

- Sakagami, H., Umemiya, M., Kobayashi, T., Saito, S. and Kondo, H., 1999, Immunological evidence that the beta isoform of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV is a cerebellar granule cell-specific product of the CaM kinase IV gene, Eur J Neurosci, 11, pp 2531–6.
- Sakagami, H., Umemiya, M., Saito, S. and Kondo, H., 2000, Distinct immunohistochemical localization of two isoforms of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinases in the adult rat brain, Eur J Neurosci, 12, pp 89–99.
- Sakagami, H., Watanabe, M. and Kondo, H., 1992, Gene expression of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase of the cerebellar granule cell type or type IV in the mature and developing rat brain, Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 16, pp 20–8.
- Sakamoto, K., McCarthy, A., Smith, D., Green, K. A., Grahame Hardie, D., Ashworth, A. and Alessi, D. R., 2005, *Deficiency of LKB1 in skeletal muscle prevents AMPK activation and glucose* uptake during contraction, Embo J, 24, pp 1810–20.
- Sakamoto, K., Zarrinpashneh, E., Budas, G. R., Pouleur, A. C., Dutta, A., Prescott, A. R., Vanoverschelde, J. L., Ashworth, A., Jovanovic, A., Alessi, D. R. and Bertrand, L., 2006, *Deficiency of LKB1 in heart prevents ischemia-mediated activation of AMPKalpha2 but not AMPKalpha1*, Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 290, pp E780–8.
- Sanchez-Piris, M., Posas, F., Alemany, V., Winge, I., Hidalgo, E., Bachs, O. and Aligue, R., 2002, *The serine/threonine kinase Cmk2 is required for oxidative stress response in fission yeast*, J Biol Chem, 277, pp 17722–7.
- Satterlee, J. S., Ryu, W. S. and Sengupta, P., 2004, The CMK-1 CaMKI and the TAX-4 Cyclic nucleotidegated channel regulate thermosensory neuron gene expression and function in C. elegans, Curr Biol, 14, pp 62–8.
- Sawamura, Y., Sakagami, H. and Kondo, H., 1996, Localization of mRNA for Ca2+/calmodulindependent protein kinase I in the brain of developing and mature rats, Brain Res, 706, pp 259–66.
- Schmitt, J. M., Guire, E. S., Saneyoshi, T. and Soderling, T. R., 2005, Calmodulin-dependent kinase kinase/calmodulin kinase I activity gates extracellular-regulated kinase-dependent long-term potentiation, J Neurosci, 25, pp 1281–90.
- Schmitt, J. M., Wayman, G. A., Nozaki, N. and Soderling, T. R., 2004, Calcium activation of ERK mediated by calmodulin kinase I, J Biol Chem, 279, pp 24064–72.
- Sebzda, E., Mariathasan, S., Ohteki, T., Jones, R., Bachmann, M. F. and Ohashi, P. S., 1999, Selection of the T cell repertoire, Annu Rev Immunol, 17, pp 829–74.
- See, V., Boutillier, A. L., Bito, H. and Loeffler, J. P., 2001, Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type IV (CaMKIV) inhibits apoptosis induced by potassium deprivation in cerebellar granule neurons, Faseb J, 15, pp 134–144.
- Segal-Lieberman, G., Trombly, D. J., Juthani, V., Wang, X. and Maratos-Flier, E., 2003, NPY ablation in C57BL/6 mice leads to mild obesity and to an impaired refeeding response to fasting, Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 284, pp E1131–9.
- Sejnowski T, C. S., and Stanton P, 1989, Induction of synaptic plasticity by hebbian covariance in the hippocampus, *The computing neuron*, (M. C. Durbin R, and Mitchison G), Addison-Wesley Publishers, Ltd, Reading, Massachusets.
- Selbert, M. A., Anderson, K. A., Huang, Q., Goldstein, E. G., Means, A. R. and Edelman, A. M., 1995, Phosphorylation and activation of Ca²⁺-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV by Ca²⁺-calmodulindependent protein kinase Ia kinase: Phosphorylation of threonine 196 is essential for activation, The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 270, pp 17616–17621.
- Selcher, J. C., Atkins, C. M., Trzaskos, J. M., Paylor, R. and Sweatt, J. D., 1999, A necessity for MAP kinase activation in mammalian spatial learning, Learn Mem, 6, pp 478–90.
- Shaw, R. J., Lamia, K. A., Vasquez, D., Koo, S. H., Bardeesy, N., Depinho, R. A., Montminy, M. and Cantley, L. C., 2005, *The kinase LKB1 mediates glucose homeostasis in liver and therapeutic effects* of metformin, Science, 310, pp 1642–6.
- Sheng, M., Thompson, M. A. and Greenberg, M. E., 1991, CREB: a Ca(2+)-regulated transcription factor phosphorylated by calmodulin-dependent kinases, Science, 252, pp 1427–30.
- Shieh, P. B. and Ghosh, A., 1999, Molecular mechanisms underlying activity-dependent regulation of BDNF expression, J Neurobiol, 41, pp 127–34.

- Shieh, P. B., Hu, S. C., Bobb, K., Timmusk, T. and Ghosh, A., 1998, Identification of a signaling pathway involved in calcium regulation of BDNF expression, Neuron, 20, pp 727–40.
- Silva, A. J. and Giese, K. P., 1994, Plastic genes are in!, Curr Opin Neurobiol, 4, pp 413-20.
- Soderling, T. R., 1999, The Ca-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase cascade, Trends Biochem Sci, 24, pp 232–6.
- Steinmayr, M., Andre, E., Conquet, F., Rondi-Reig, L., Delhaye-Bouchaud, N., Auclair, N., Daniel, H., Crepel, F., Mariani, J., Sotelo, C. and Becker-Andre, M., 1998, staggerer phenotype in retinoid-related orphan receptor alpha-deficient mice, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95, pp 3960–5.
- Sumi, M., Kiuchi, K., Ishikawa, T., Ishii, A., Hagiwara, M., Nagatsu, T. and Hidaka, H., 1991, The newly synthesized selective Ca2+/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II inhibitor KN-93 reduces dopamine contents in PC12h cells, Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 181, pp 968–75.
- Sun, P., Enslen, H., Myung, P. S. and Maurer, R. A., 1994, Differential activation of CREB by Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases type II and type IV involves phosphorylation of a site that negatively regulates activity, Genes Dev, 8, pp 2527–39.
- Sun, P., Lou, L. and Maurer, R. A., 1996, Regulation of activating transcription factor-1 and the cAMP response element-binding protein by Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases type I, II, and IV, J Biol Chem, 271, pp 3066–73.
- Sun, Z., Sassone-Corsi, P. and Means, A. R., 1995, Calspermin gene transcription is regulated by two cyclic AMP response elements contained in an alternative promoter in the calmodulin kinase IV gene, Molecular and Cellular Biology, 15, pp 561–571.
- Sweatt, J. D., 2004, Mitogen-activated protein kinases in synaptic plasticity and memory, Curr Opin Neurobiol, 14, pp 311–7.
- Takemoto-Kimura, S., Terai, H., Takamoto, M., Ohmae, S., Kikumura, S., Segi, E., Arakawa, Y., Furuyashiki, T., Narumiya, S. and Bito, H., 2003, *Molecular cloning and characterization of CLICK-III/CaMKIgamma, a novel membrane-anchored neuronal Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase* (CaMK), J Biol Chem, 278, pp 18597–605.
- Tamura, N., Tai, Y., Sugimoto, K., Kobayashi, R., Konishi, R., Nishioka, M., Masaki, T., Nagahata, S. and Tokuda, M., 2000, Enhanced expression and activation of Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV in hepatocellular carcinoma, Cancer, 89, pp 1910–6.
- Thomas, G. M. and Huganir, R. L., 2004, MAPK cascade signalling and synaptic plasticity, Nat Rev Neurosci, 5, pp 173–83.
- Tokumitsu, H., Chijiwa, T., Hagiwara, M., Mizutani, A., Terasawa, M. and Hidaka, H., 1990, KN-62, 1-[N,O-bis(5-isoquinolinesulfonyl)-N-methyl-L-tyrosyl]-4-phenylpiperazi ne, a specific inhibitor of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II, J Biol Chem, 265, pp 4315–20.
- Tokumitsu, H., Enslen, H. and Soderling, T. R., 1995, *Characterization of a Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent* protein kinase cascade. Molecular cloning and expression of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase, J Biol Chem, 270, pp 19320–4.
- Tokumitsu, H., Inuzuka, H., Ishikawa, Y., Ikeda, M., Saji, I. and Kobayashi, R., 2002, STO-609, a specific inhibitor of the Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase, J Biol Chem, 277, pp 15813–8.
- Tokumitsu, H. and Soderling, T. R., 1996, *Requirements for calcium and calmodulin in the calmodulin kinase activation cascade*, J Biol Chem, 271, pp 5617–22.
- Tokumitsu, H., Takahashi, N., Eto, K., Yano, S., Soderling, T. R. and Muramatsu, M., 1999, Substrate recognition by Ca2+/Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase. Role of the arg-pro-rich insert domain, J Biol Chem, 274, pp 15803–10.
- Tombes, R. M. and Krystal, G. W., 1997, *Identification of novel human tumor cell-specific CaMK-II variants*, Biochim Biophys Acta, 1355, pp 281–92.
- Tremper-Wells, B. and Vallano, M. L., 2005, Nuclear calpain regulates Ca2+-dependent signaling via proteolysis of nuclear Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type IV in cultured neurons, J Biol Chem, 280, pp 2165–75.
- Ueda, T., Sakagami, H., Abe, K., Oishi, I., Maruo, A., Kondo, H., Terashima, T., Ichihashi, M., Yamamura, H. and Minami, Y., 1999, *Distribution and intracellular localization of a mouse*

homologue of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase Ibeta2 in the nervous system, J Neurochem, 73, pp 2119–29.

- Vaisse, C., Halaas, J. L., Horvath, C. M., Darnell, J. E., Jr., Stoffel, M. and Friedman, J. M., 1996, Leptin activation of Stat3 in the hypothalamus of wild-type and ob/ob mice but not db/db mice, Nat Genet, 14, pp 95–7.
- Verploegen, S., Lammers, J. W., Koenderman, L. and Coffer, P. J., 2000, Identification and characterization of CKLiK, a novel granulocyte Ca(++)/calmodulin-dependent kinase, Blood, 96, pp 3215–23.
- Vinet, J., Carra, S., Blom, J. M., Harvey, M., Brunello, N., Barden, N. and Tascedda, F., 2003, Cloning of mouse Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase beta (CaMKKbeta) and characterization of CaMKKbeta and CaMKKalpha distribution in the adult mouse brain, Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 111, pp 216–21.
- Wang, S. L., Ribar, T. J. and Means, A. R., 2001, Expression of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV (CaMKIV) messenger RNA during murine embryogenesis, Cell Growth Differ, 12, pp 351–361.
- Wayman, G. A., Impey, S., Marks, D., Saneyoshi, T., Grant, W. F., Derkach, V. and Soderling, T. R., 2006, Activity-Dependent Dendritic Arborization Mediated by CaM-Kinase I Activation and Enhanced CREB-Dependent Transcription of Wnt-2, Neuron, 50, pp 897–909.
- Wayman, G. A., Kaech, S., Grant, W. F., Davare, M., Impey, S., Tokumitsu, H., Nozaki, N., Banker, G. and Soderling, T. R., 2004, *Regulation of axonal extension and growth cone motility by calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I*, J Neurosci, 24, pp 3786–94.
- Wei, F., Qiu, C. S., Liauw, J., Robinson, D. A., Ho, N., Chatila, T. and Zhuo, M., 2002, Calcium calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV is required for fear memory, Nat Neurosci, 5, pp 573–9.
- Wilson, B. E., Mochon, E. and Boxer, L. M., 1996, Induction of bcl-2 expression by phosphorylated CREB proteins during B-cell activation and rescue from apoptosis, Mol Cell Biol, 16, pp 5546–56.
- Woods, A., Dickerson, K., Heath, R., Hong, S. P., Momcilovic, M., Johnstone, S. R., Carlson, M. and Carling, D., 2005, Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-beta acts upstream of AMPactivated protein kinase in mammalian cells, Cell Metab, 2, pp 21–33.
- Wu, G. Y., Deisseroth, K. and Tsien, R. W., 2001, Activity-dependent CREB phosphorylation: convergence of a fast, sensitive calmodulin kinase pathway and a slow, less sensitive mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 98, pp 2808–13.
- Wu, J. Y., Gonzalez-Robayna, I. J., Richards, J. S. and Means, A. R., 2000, Female fertility is reduced in mice lacking Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV, Endocrinology, 141, pp 4777–83.
- Wu, J. Y. and Means, A. R., 2000, Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase IV is expressed in spermatids and targeted to chromatin and the nuclear matrix, J Biol Chem, 275, pp 7994–9.
- Yano, S., Tokumitsu, H. and Soderling, T. R., 1998, Calcium promotes cell survival through CaM-K kinase activation of the protein-kinase-B pathway, Nature, 396, pp 584–7.
- Yokokura, H., Picciotto, M. R., Nairn, A. C. and Hidaka, H., 1995, The regulatory region of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase I contains closely associated autoinhibitory and calmodulin-binding domains, J Biol Chem, 270, pp 23851–9.
- Zhang, X., Odom, D. T., Koo, S. H., Conkright, M. D., Canettieri, G., Best, J., Chen, H., Jenner, R., Herbolsheimer, E., Jacobsen, E., Kadam, S., Ecker, J. R., Emerson, B., Hogenesch, J. B., Unterman, T., Young, R. A. and Montminy, M., 2005, *Genome-wide analysis of cAMP-response element binding protein occupancy, phosphorylation, and target gene activation in human tissues*, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 102, pp 4459–64.

CHAPTER 8

CALCIUM CHANNELOPATHIES: VOLTAGE-GATED CALCIUM CHANNELS

P.J. ADAMS¹ AND T.P. SNUTCH^{1,2,*}

¹Michael Smith Laboratorie, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T1Z4 ²Neuromed Pharmaceuticals Inc., 2389 Health Sciences Mall Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T1Z4

- Abstract: Since the initial identification of native calcium currents, significant progress has been made towards our understanding of the molecular and cellular contributions of voltage-gated calcium channels in multiple physiological processes. Moreover, we are beginning to comprehend their pathophysiological roles through both naturally occurring channelopathies in humans and mice and through targeted gene deletions. The data illustrate that small perturbations in voltage-gated calcium channel function induced by genetic alterations can affect a wide variety of mammalian developmental, physiological and behavioral functions. At least in those instances wherein the channelopathies can be attributed to gain-of-function mechanisms, the data point towards new therapeutic strategies for developing highly selective calcium channel antagonists
- **Keywords:** calcium channel, L-type, P/Q-type, T-type, α_1 subunit, β subunit, $\alpha_2\delta$ subunit, γ subunit, familial hemiplegic migraine, episodic ataxia type 2, spinocerebellar ataxia type 6, Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome, incomplete X-linked congenital stationary night blindness, X-linked cone-rod dystrophy, hypokalemic periodic paralysis, malignant hyperthermia susceptibility, Timothy syndrome, idiopathic generalized epilepsy, autism spectrum disorders, lethargic, ducky, stargazin

1. INTRODUCTION

Voltage-gated calcium channels are found in all excitable and many non-excitable cells where they contribute to numerous physiological processes including triggering muscle contraction and neurotransmitter release, regulating calcium-dependent enzymes and gene expression, mediating repetitive firing patterns and pacemaker

^{*}Dr. Terrance P. Snutch, Michael Smith Laboratories, University of British Columbia, 2185 East Mall, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6T 1Z4 E-mail: snutch@msl.ubc.ca

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 215–251. © 2007 Springer.

activities, and developmentally controlling both neurite outgrowth and growth cone migration (reviewed in (Catterall, 2000)). As intracellular calcium concentrations must be finely controlled temporally and spatially, disruption of normal calcium channel activity can be highly detrimental physiologically. Biophysical analyses have generally categorized voltage-gated calcium channels into lowvoltage activated (LVA) and high-voltage activated (HVA) subtypes, depending upon the membrane potentials at which they first open; LVA (also known as T-type) calcium channels open in response to small changes from the resting membrane potential whereas HVA channels are activated by stronger depolarizations. LVA channels have other distinguishing properties including a small single channel conductance (~5-12 picosiemens, pS), overlapping activation and inactivation ranges, rapid activation and inactivation kinetics, slow deactivation (closing) although a poorly defined pharmacology. Contrastingly, HVA calcium channels generally possess larger conductances (\sim 15–25 pS), variable inactivation kinetics, faster deactivation, and have a well-defined pharmacology. Multiple types of distinct native HVA calcium currents have been categorized on the basis of single channel conductance, voltage-dependent, kinetic and pharmacological characteristics (called (L-, N-, P/O- and R-types).

Biochemical studies have established that HVA calcium channels are multisubunit protein complexes. The major α_1 subunit (~175–260 kDa) forms the channel proper and contains both the voltage-sensing mechanism and the calciumselective pore, and is also the target for most pharmacological agents and secondmessenger-dependent modulatory interactions. Mammalian genomes contain seven α_1 subunit genes encoding the HVA calcium channel family; $Ca_v 1.1(\alpha_{1S})$, $Ca_v 1.2$ (α_{1C}) , $Ca_v 1.3(\alpha_{1D})$ and $Ca_v 1.4(\alpha_{1F})$ all encode distinct L-type calcium channels, $Ca_v 2.1(\alpha_{1A})$ encodes P/Q-type channels, $Ca_v 2.2(\alpha_{1B})$ encodes the N-type channel, while $Ca_v 2.3(\alpha_{1F})$ encodes the R-type channel (reviewed in (Snutch et al., 2005)). There are also three genes encoding distinct T-type channel α_1 subunits; Ca_v3.1, $Ca_v 3.2$ and $Ca_v 3.3$. The various HVA α_1 subunits interact with single β and $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit proteins which serve to modulate a variety of calcium channel properties including regulation by second messenger pathways, channel processing and trafficking, and biophysical characteristics. In mammals there are four known genes encoding β subunits (β 1– β 4) and four genes encoding $\alpha_2\delta$ subunits ($\alpha_2\delta$ 1– $\alpha_2 \delta 4$). In the skeletal muscle L-type calcium channel complex there is also an associated forth subunit, γ , whose various members have been shown to also regulate calcium channel properties (Wei et al., 1991; Letts et al., 1998; Klugbauer et al., 2002). The γ subunit family of proteins is also known to be part of a group of AMPA receptor regulatory proteins (called TARPs) and thus they may not be specific to calcium channel complexes in vivo (Tomita et al., 2003). While the auxiliary β , $\alpha 2\delta$ and γ subunits can also modulate T-type α_1 subunit properties in some exogenous systems, there is as of yet no biochemical data supporting the notion that T-type calcium channels are a multi-subunit complex.

To date, human channelopathies have been associated with five of the ten calcium channel α_1 subunit genes and two of the auxiliary subunit genes. Given

their widespread expression and contributions in both neuronal and muscle physiologies, mutations in calcium channel genes tend to manifest as severe phenotypes. Also described have been a number of mouse mutations in both α_1 subunit and the auxiliary β , $\alpha 2\delta$ and γ subunits that are deserving of mention as they provide further important clues as to physiological contributions of calcium channel complexes in whole animals.

2. P/Q-TYPE (Ca_v2.1/ α_{1A}) CALCIUM CHANNELS; CACNA1A GENE

P/Q-type calcium channels are one of the most abundantly expressed calcium channel subtypes in the mammalian nervous system (Bourinet et al., 1999; Jun et al., 1999). As well as being expressed on many cell bodies and dendrites, they are highly localized at presynaptic terminals throughout the brain and spinal cord where they mediate calcium influx essential for neurotransmitter release (Takahashi and Momiyama, 1993). They also contribute to the precise modulation of intracellular calcium levels important in second messenger signaling and calciumdependent gene transcription (Sutton et al., 1999). Considering the widespread expression and essential neurophysiological roles, it is perhaps not unexpected that mutations in the CACNA1A gene encoding the P/Q-type channel α_1 subunit (Cav2.1) cause several severe channelopathies. CACNA1A mutations are associated with human neurological disorders such as Familial Hemiplegic Migraine (FHM1), Episodic Ataxia type 2 (EA2) and Spinocerebellar Ataxia type 6 (SCA6), and mice disorders tottering, leaner, rolling nagoya and rocker (Table 1 human, Table 2 mice). In addition to the defined mutations in the Ca, 2.1 calcium channel causing disease, an autoimmune attack on Ca_v2.1 channels is associated with Lambert-Eaton Myasthenic Syndrome (LEMS).

2.1. Familial Hemiplegic Migraine (FHM1)

Migraine is a severe neurological condition that affects approximately 11% of the North American and Western European populations. Migraine headaches can occur in isolation or, in approximately 20% of migraine sufferers, the migraine headache can be preceded by, or concurrent with, an aura (a subjective sensation; reviewed in (Goadsby et al., 2002)) FHM1 is a rare autosomal dominant subtype of migraine with aura, and other than its characteristic hemiplegia, has similar clinical features to typical migraine with aura. Based on neuroimaging and animal studies, it appears the aura phase of migraine is due to cortical spreading depression (CSD); CSD is a transient wave of neuronal hyperexcitability that begins at a focal point and slowly progresses over the cortex, followed by a long neuronal depression (Lauritzen, 1994). In FHM1, the aura manifests as a motor aura in combination with one or more visual, sensory and/or aphasic auras; the characteristic motor aura most frequently manifests as hemiplegia in both the upper and lower extremities and may or may not be associated with transient or permanent cerebellar

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
R192Q- Pure FHM	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} (Melliti et al., 2003) hyperpolarized shift in V_{50inact}, reduced excitatory and inhibitory neuro- transmission, reduced Ca²⁺ influx during action potential waveform (APW) (Cao and Tsien, 2005) no change in current voltage relationship (Kraus et al., 1998; Cao and Tsien, 2005) increased open probability (Hans et al., 1999) increased current density (Hans et al., 1999; Tottene et al., 2002; van den Maagdenberg et al., 2004) reduced current density (Tottene et al., 2002; Cao and Tsien, 2005) increased single channel conductance (Tottene et al., 2002) reduces G-protein inhibition (Melliti et al., 2003) reduced threshold and increased velocity of cortical spreading depression (CSD) in knock-in mice. (van den Maagdenberg et al., 2004) increased transmitter release at neuromuscular junction of knock-in mouse (Kaja et al., 2005)
T666M- FHM with cerebellar signs	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act}, increased rate of inactivation, increased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse, reduced rate of recovery from inactivation (Kraus et al., 1998; Hans et al., 1999); no change in current voltage relationship, reduced Ca²⁺ influx during action potential waveform (APW), reduced excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission (Cao and Tsien, 2005) increased open probability (Tottene et al., 2002) no change in open probability, reduced unitary conductance (Hans et al., 1999) reduced current density (Hans et al., 1999; Tottene et al., 2002; Barrett et al., 2005; Cao and Tsien, 2005) increased single channel conductance (Tottene et al., 2002) reduction in gating current (Barrett et al., 2005)
V714A- Pure FHM	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} (Kraus et al., 1998; Hans et al., 1999) increased rates of inactivation and recovery from inactivation (Kraus et al., 1998; Hans et al., 1999) increased open probability, decreased single channel conductance (Hans et al., 1999) reduced current density (Hans et al., 1999; Tottene et al., 2002) increased single channel conductance (Tottene et al., 2002) decreased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse (Kraus et al., 1998)
I1811L- FHM with cerebellar signs	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} (Kraus et al., 1998; Hans et al., 1999) no change in current voltage relationship (Cao and Tsien, 2005) increase rate of recovery from inactivation (Kraus et al., 1998; Hans et al., 1999) increased open probability (Hans et al., 1999)

Table 1. CACNA1A (Ca_v2.1, α_{1A}): Functional results for mutations associated with FHM = familial hemiplegic migraine, EA2 = episodic ataxia type 2, SCA6 = spinocerebellar ataxia type 6, PCA = progressive cerebellar ataxia (although addition mutations have been associated with these disorders, only those with reported functional data are listed)

	 reduced current density (Hans et al., 1999; Tottene et al., 2002) increased single channel conductance (Tottene et al., 2002) decreased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse (Kraus et al., 1998)
K1336E- Pure FHM	• hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} and V_{50inac} , increased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse, decreased inactivation time constant (Mullner et al., 2004) (most effects are β subunit dependent)
V1457L- Mild FHM	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} (Kraus et al., 2000; Tottene et al., 2002) slowed rate of inactivation and reduce rate of recovery from inactivation (Kraus et al., 2000) increased open probability, decreased unitary conductance, reduced current density (Tottene et al., 2002)
V1696I- Pure FHM	• slowed rate of inactivation, reduced rate of recovery from inactivation, increased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse (Mullner et al., 2004) (most effects are β subunit dependent)
W1684R- FHM with cerebellar signs	• hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} , hyperpolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$, reduced recovery from inactivation, increased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse (Mullner et al., 2004) (most effects are β subunit dependent)
R583Q- FHM/Ataxia	• hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} and $V_{50inact}$, reduced rate of recovery from inactivation, decreased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse (Kraus et al., 2000)
D715E- FHM/PCA	• hyperpolarized shift in $V_{\rm 50 act}$, hyperpolarized shift in $V_{\rm 50 inact}$, increased rate of inactivation, decreased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse (Kraus et al., 2000)
S218L- FHM with coma, following minor head injury	• hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} , increased rate of inactivation initially, followed by a large reduction in the rate of inactivation, increased rate of recovery from inactivation, increased open probability, increased current density at low voltages, and decreased current density at high voltages, increased current decay in response to short train pulses but a decrease in current decay in response to long train pulses (Tottene et al., 2005a)
E147K- EA2	• reduced current density, possibly due to less channels reaching the membrane, reduced rate of inactivation (Imbrici et al., 2004)
F1406C- EA2	 reduction in Ba²⁺ current (Jen et al., 2001) dominant negative effect – dramatic reduction in Ba²⁺ current (more pronounced effect in 47 than Δ47) (Jeng et al., 2006)
F1491S- EA2	• channel activity completely abolished (Guida et al., 2001)
R1547X , R1549X- EA2	 dramatic reduction in Ba²⁺ currents (Jen et al., 2001) dominant negative effect – dramatic reduction in Ba²⁺ current (more pronounced effect in 47 than Δ47) (Jeng et al., 2006)

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
E1761K- EA2	• dominant negative effect - dramatic reduction in Ba^{2+} current (more pronounced effect in 47 than $\Delta 47$) (Jeng et al., 2006)
G293R- EA2	 no significant shift in V_{50act}, hyperpolarized shift in V_{50inact}, reduced recovery rate from inactivation (Wan et al., 2005) depolarized shift in V_{50act}, no change in recovery rate from inactivation, increased rate of inactivation, decreased mean open time, decreased current density (Wappl et al., 2002); likely due to abnormalities in protein folding and trafficking to the plasma membrane (temperature dependent) (Wan et al., 2005) increased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse (Wappl et al., 2002; Wan et al., 2005)
C287Y- EA2	 depolarized shift in V_{50act}, hyperpolarized shift in V_{50inact}, decreased current density, likely due to protein abnormalities in protein folding and trafficking to the plasma membrane (temperature dependent; occurs at 37°C) (Wan et al., 2005)
H1736L- EA2	• depolarized shift in V_{50act} , increased rate of inactivation, decreased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse, increased recovery rate from inactivation, decreased current density (Spacey et al., 2004)
R1279X, R1281X- EA2	• reduction in Ba^{2+} current, dominant negative effect (more pronounced effect in 47 than $\Delta 47$) (Jeng et al., 2006)
R1820X Generalized epilepsy and episodic and	 dominant negative effect – dramatic reduction in Ba²⁺ current (Jouvenceau et al., 2001)
nt.4778-4780 : ctt deletion, deletion of A1593 and Y1594- EA2	• complete loss of channel activity in tsA-201 cells; in Xenopus oocytes depolarized shift in V_{50act} , increased rate of inactivation, increased current decay in response to 1Hz train pulse, reduced recovery rate from inactivation (Wappl et al., 2002)
polyQ expansion, 23 repeats -SCA6	 increased channel density (Piedras-Renteria et al., 2001) no change in voltage-dependent or time-dependent properties (Piedras- Renteria et al., 2001)
polyQ expansion, 24 repeats (-NP) - SCA6 polyQ expansion,	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50inact} (Toru et al., 2000) no change in the V_{50inact} (Matsuyama et al., 1999) increased channel density, no change in voltage-dependent or time-
27 repeats - SCA6 polyQ expansion, 28 repeats (-NP)- SCA6	 dependent properties (Piedras-Renteria et al., 2001) hyperpolarized shift in V_{50inact} (Toru et al., 2000)

polyQ expansion, 28 repeats (+NP) - SCA6	• depolarized shift in V _{50inact} (Toru et al., 2000)
polyQ expansion, 30 repeats- SCA6	• hyperpolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$ (Matsuyama et al., 1999); hyperpolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$ when expressed with beta 4 subunit, but not with beta 2 or beta 3, increased inactivation time constant when expressed with beta 4 subunit, but not beta 2, and impaired G-protein regulation others (Restituito et al., 2000)
polyQ expansion, 33 repeats - SCA6	• cytotoxic (Kordasiewicz et al., 2006)
PolyQ expansion, 40 repeats - SCA6	• hyperpolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$ (Matsuyama et al., 1999)
polyQ expansion, 28 repeats - SCA6	 perinuclear aggregates of P/Q-type calcium channel in Purkinje cells of SCA6 patients (Ishikawa et al., 1999)
	• P/Q-type channels with CAG expansion transfected in HEK293 cells results in perinuclear aggregates and cell death (Ishikawa et al., 1999)
polyQ expansion, 72 repeats - SCA6	• increased channel density, no change in voltage-dependent or time- dependent properties (Piedras-Renteria et al., 2001)

signs such as ataxia or nystagmus. In the majority of cases, the headache pain directly follows the aura phase of the migraine attack and is thought to involve the trigeminovascular system (reviewed in (Pietrobon, 2005a)). The headache pain can last from less than 30 minutes to greater than 72 hours, with the mean duration being approximately 24 hours (for an extensive review of FHM1 features and statistics see (Thomsen et al., 2002)). About 50% of FHM1 patients have a mutation in the CACNA1A calcium channel gene (Ophoff et al., 1996) (FHM1), whereas the other approximately 50% have mutations in either the Na(+)/K(+)-ATPase gene (De Fusco et al., 2003) (ATP1A2;FHM2) or the sodium channel gene (Dichgans et al., 2005) (SCN1A; FHM3).

FHM1 is the most extensively studied calcium channelopathy. Since the first mutations in the CACNA1A gene were discovered in 1996 (Ophoff et al., 1996), 17 in total have now been detected (Figure 1). The 17 mutations appear to be localized primarily to the S4 voltage sensors and flanking regions. Over the past ten years, several groups have investigated the pathophysiological effects of FHM1 mutations on biophysical properties of the $Ca_v2.1$ calcium channel using electrophysiological analysis in *Xenopus* oocytes and mammalian expression systems (Table 1). Overall, the results vary considerably, some even contradictory, leaving our understanding of the precise correlation between channel function and disease mechanism unresolved. For example, whereas some results indicate the R192Q mutation increases $Ca_v2.1$ whole cell current density (Hans et al., 1999; van den Maagdenberg et al., 2004), results obtained by other groups indicate the same mutation decreases whole cell current density (Tottene et al., 2002; Cao and Tsien, 2005). In addition, one group found that the most prevalent FHM1 mutation T666M shifts the voltage dependence

Mutation and Phenotype	Functional Analyses
P601L- Tottering (tg)	 reduced current density (Wakamori et al., 1998) no change in current density in dissociated Purkinje neurons (Dove et al., 1998) decreased P/Q-type channel contribution at hippocampal Schaffer collateral synapses of <i>tg</i> mice (Qian and Noebels, 2000; Zhou et al., 2003) decreased neurotransmitter release at parallel fiber-Purkinje cell synapse of <i>tg</i> mice (Matsushita et al., 2002) no change in neurotransmitter release at parallel fiber-Purkinje cell synapse of tg mice (Qian and Noebels, 2000; Zhou et al., 2003) decreased glutamate at GABA release in neocortex (Ayata et al., 2000) increased threshold and decreased duration for CSD (Ayata et al., 2000) alteration in gene transcription (Cicale et al., 2002) increased G-protein-dependent modulation at the hippocampal Schaffer collateral synapse of <i>tg</i> mice (Zhou et al., 2003)
nt. 5901: 98bp, Intron insertion and frame shift or nt. 5763–5901: 139bp, exon deletion- Leaner (<i>tg</i> ^{la})	 reduced current density (Dove et al., 1998; Lorenzon et al., 1998; Wakamori et al., 1998) depolarized shifts in V_{50act} and V_{50inact} (Wakamori et al., 1998) no change in voltage dependent properties but reduced open probability (Dove et al., 1998) decreased glutamate release in neocortex and increased threshold, decreased duration and reduced rate of CSD (Ayata et al., 2000) increased apoptotic cell death in cerebellar granule cells in P20 leaner mice (Lau et al., 2004)
R1262G- Rolling Nagoya (<i>tg</i> ^{rol})	 depolarized shift in V_{50act}, reduced current density, decreased neurotransmitter release at parallel fiber-Purkinje cell synapse of tg^{rol} mice (Matsushita et al., 2002); increased apoptotic cell death in cerebellar granule cells leaner mice (Suh et al., 2002)
T1310K- Rocker	• no electrophysiology data

Table 2. cacna1a (Ca_v2.1, α_{1A}): Functional results for mutations associated with tottering, leaner, rolling nagoya and rocker

of activation to more hyperpolarized potentials (Kraus et al., 1998), while another group found no change in the voltage dependent properties of the T666M mutant $Ca_v 2.1$ channels relative to wild-type (Cao and Tsien, 2005). Mutations found in patients with similar clinical phenotypes often have reported opposing effects on the biophysical properties of $Ca_v 2.1$ channels; e.g., K1336E and V714A have both been associated with pure FHM1 (without cerebellar signs) but cause reported increased (Mullner et al., 2004) or decreased (Kraus et al., 1998) current decay in response to 1Hz square pulse repetitive stimulations. Although different expression systems (Tottene et al., 2002), auxiliary subunits (Mullner et al., 2004), α_1 subunit splice variants (Adams et al., 2006) and experimental conditions likely account for a portion of the disparity



Figure 1. Mutations in the human $Ca_v 2.1$ (P/Q-type) voltage-gated calcium channel associated with Familial Hemiplegic Migraine (FHM) and Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type-6 (SCA6)

in results between research groups, it is clear that FHM1 mutation pathophysiology is multivariable and complex.

Interestingly, data from recently generated knock-in mice carrying the R192Q (van den Maagdenberg et al., 2004) and S218L (Gherardini et al., 2006) FHM1 mutations, in conjunction with heterologous expression system analyses, are beginning to show trends in FHM1 mutation effects that may begin to explain the pathology behind the aura phase of migraine. In the heterologous system, several mutations associated with both pure FHM1 as well as FHM1 with cerebellar signs show a hyperpolarizing shift in V_{50act} (Kraus et al., 1998; Hans et al., 1999; Melliti et al., 2003; Mullner et al., 2004) (Table 1), indicating the majority of mutant channels in the expression system are available for opening at lower membrane potentials. Similarly, several mutations studied using single channel recordings show increases in open probability and single channel conductance (Hans et al., 1999; Tottene et al., 2002). All of these affects are predicted gain-of-function phenotypes with the potential to increase calcium influx at lower membrane potentials. In vivo work on R192Q and S218L knock-in mice shows a lower threshold for stimulation of CSD depression and increased velocity of propagation across the cortex in intact animals, consistent with gain-of-function effects (van den Maagdenberg et al., 2004; Gherardini et al., 2006). In neuromuscular junction preparations from R192Q knock-in mice, there is increased neurotransmitter release suggesting that FHM1 mutations may directly alter neurotransmitter release at critical synapses and could therefore contribute to CSD susceptibility (Kaja et al., 2005). Although some data suggests that cultured neurons from Cav2.1 gene knockout mice and transfected with the R192Q mutation reduce P/Q-type channel contribution to neurotransmitter release without changing overall synaptic strength due to a compensation by N-type calcium channels, *in vivo* evidence from R192Q knock-in mice confirms the neuromuscular junction result in that Ca_v2.1 channel-dependent glutamate release at cortical synapses is significantly increased (Tottene et al., 2005b).

Overall, evidence for the pathology of the aura phase of migraine from both the heterologous systems and knock-in mice largely supports the hypothesis that FHM1 mutations increase channel availability and that calcium influx at lower membrane potentials results in increased neurotransmitter release and susceptibility to neuronal firing resulting in CSD causing aura. However, little data has been presented to explain the headache pain phase of migraine. Although one study did show that CSD can activate trigeminovascular afferents and evoke meningeal and brainstem activity consistent with headache pain (Bolay et al., 2002), little is known about the direct involvement, if any, of Ca_v2.1 channels in the trigeminal pain pathway itself in the 80% of migraines where aura and CSD are not involved. Some evidence supports the notion that Ca_v2.1 P/Q-type channels are important in pain modulation of the trigeminal pain pathway via the periaquaductal gray (Knight et al., 2002; Knight et al., 2003), however further research is required to determine the exact roles of P/Q-type channels and FHM1 mutations in the trigeminal pain pathway relevant to migraine headache.

2.2. Episodic Ataxia Type 2 (EA2)

EA2, similar to FHM1, is an autosomal dominant disorder associated with mutations in the CACNA1A gene, but is clinically quite distinct. EA2 patients experience spontaneous episodes of ataxia (poor muscle coordination) that last for hours to days. In between attacks, patients often experience gaze-evoked or down-beat nystagmus (rapid, involuntary eye oscillations). Approximately 50% of patients experience migraine-like symptoms, and cerebellar atrophy is common (Lorenzon and Beam, 2000). Attacks are often initiated by emotional stress, exercise, or alcohol. Most patients respond well to treatment with acetazolamide (reviewed in (Jen et al., 2004)). EA2 is genetically variable and has been associated with missense, truncation and alternative splice site mutations.

To date, more than 40 individual mutations in the CACNA1A gene have been found to be associated with EA2, although compared to FHM1, significantly less is known concerning the biophysical implications of EA2 mutations on $Ca_v2.1$ properties. EA2 genetic alterations are distributed throughout the channel, with a large number of missense and premature truncations identified within the pore forming p-loops (Figure 2). Generally, the structure-function findings are relatively consistent across experimental conditions (Table 1). Both truncations and missense mutations consistently show a reduction in current density, proposed to be a result



Figure 2. Mutations in the human Ca_v2.1 (P/Q-type) voltage-gated calcium channel associated with Episodic Ataxia Type-2 (EA2); mutations in the Ca_v2.1 mouse homolog associated with tottering (tg), leaner (tg^{la}), rolling nagoya (tg^{rol}) and rocker phenotypes

of fewer channels being properly folded and reaching the membrane (Imbrici et al., 2004; Wan et al., 2005; Jeng et al., 2006). The three EA2 missense mutations G293R, C287Y, H1736L and the deletion mutation nt 4778–4780 are consistent in demonstrating a net reduction of available channels due to a depolarizing shift in V_{50act} , increased rate of inactivation, and a reduced rate of recovery from inactivation (Wappl et al., 2002; Spacey et al., 2004; Wan et al., 2005) (Table 1). Whether it is through reduced trafficking of channels to the membrane or changes in gating properties, all EA2 mutations investigated thus far show a net reduction in Ca_v2.1-mediated currents, likely resulting in reduced transmitter release at critical synapses. Overall, unlike the general gain-of-function mutation effects observed for FHM1 mutations, EA2 mutations appear by and large to cause loss-of-channel function phenotypes.

The EA2 data is largely in agreement with results obtained from the epilepsy and ataxia mouse models tottering (tg), leaner (tg^{la}) , rolling nagoya (tg^{rol}) , and rocker (Figure 2). tg, tg^{la} , tg^{rol} and rocker all contain Ca_v2.1 gene mutations and show varying degrees of epilepsy and ataxia. Heterologous expression of mutations associated with tg, tg^{la} , tg^{rol} show similar biophysical properties to those for EA2; decreased current densities and depolarizing shifts in V_{50act} (Dove et al., 1998; Lorenzon et al., 1998; Wakamori et al., 1998; Mori et al., 2000). *In vivo* studies in the animal models confirms that the reduced channel function seen in the heterologous systems translates to decreased neurotransmitter release in neocortex, dissociated cerebellar Purkinje cells and parallel fibre – Purkinje synapses (Ayata et al., 2000; Matsushita et al., 2002) (for review on $Ca_v 2.1$ models see (Pietrobon, 2005b)). Collectively, these data suggest that EA2 mutations in $Ca_v 2.1$ channels likely alter neurotransmitter release in whole animals; although definitive *in vivo* analyses remain to be described.

2.3. Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 6 (SCA6)

A third autosomal dominant disorder associated with mutations in the Ca_v2.1 calcium channel is SCA6. SCA6 is characterized by progressive cerebellar atrophy resulting in progressive gait ataxia, incoordination, nystagmus, proprioceptive sensory loss and dysarthia (Zhuchenko et al., 1997). Zhuchenko and coworkers found that patients with SCA6 have a polyglutamine (CAG) expansion in exon 47 (Figure 1); making SCA6 a member in the group of neurodegenerative disorders containing CAG repeats, which includes Huntington's disease amongst others. Whereas unaffected people tend to have CAG repeats numbering between 4 and 16 in CACNA1A, patients with SCA6 have expansions of greater than 21 CAG repeats. The length of the expansion appears directly correlated with age of onset, e.g., greater CAG expansion is associated with early age of disease onset (Ishikawa et al., 1997). The CAG repeat expansion is associated with severe cerebellar Purkinje cell loss, moderate granule cell and dentate nucleus neuronal loss, and mild neuronal loss in the inferior olive (Zhuchenko et al., 1997). The mechanisms involved between SCA6 mutations in the Ca_y2.1 channel and neuronal death have not been completely resolved. Biophysical analyses of polyglutamine expansions in the Ca_v2.1 calcium channel show a range of effects on voltage and time dependent properties with a strong dependence on both auxiliary subunit and α_1 subunit splice variant composition when expressed in heterologous systems (Table 1) (Restituito et al., 2000; Toru et al., 2000). It has been speculated that the alterations in channel function may result in changes in intracellular calcium concentrations and consequently induced cell death. However, analysis of cerebellar tissue from SCA6 patients reveals perinuclear aggregates in Purkinje cells, and transfection of polyglutamine expanded Ca_v2.1 channel cDNA in HEK293 cells suggests that cell death is likely due to the perinuclear aggregates (Ishikawa et al., 1999). A interesting recent report showed that the carboxyl terminus of the $Ca_y 2.1$ channel is cleaved and translocated to the nucleus under wild-type conditions, but when the polyglutamine expansion is extended to greater than 33 repeats the nuclear translocated channel somehow induces cell death (Kordasiewicz et al., 2006). Overall, it appears that neuronal loss observed in SCA6 brains is likely due to a combination of altered channel properties resulting in abnormal intracellular calcium concentrations and perinuclear and/or nuclear channel protein aggregates ultimately resulting in cell death.

Although substantial progress has been made towards understanding the cellular mechanisms behind the channelopathies associated with the $Ca_v 2.1$ channel, important questions remain. First, all three disorders described above exhibit temporal-related phenotypes, e.g., FHM1 and EA2 are episodic and SCA6 is

progressive; what is responsible for these phenotypes being periodic or progressive? Second, the Ca_v2.1 channel is ubiquitously expressed in the mammalian brain (Bourinet et al., 1999; Jun et al., 1999), yet mutations result in highly localized phenotypes. Are these phenomena due to changes in the isoform expression of the α_1 subunit, auxiliary subunit composition or perhaps due to other protein interactions or environmental conditions? Some initial studies are beginning to address these questions (Toru et al., 2000; Mullner et al., 2004; Adams et al., 2006; Jeng et al., 2006)).

2.4. Lambert-Eaton Myasthenic Syndrome (LEMS)

LEMS is a neuromuscular transmission disorder characterized by reduced acetylcholine quantal release and is associated with small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) in approximately 60% of patients (Lang et al., 1983). P/Q-type channels are implicated in LEMS, although unlike FHM1, EA2 and SCA6, LEMS is not a true channelopathy as it does not result from defined mutations in the channel. Rather the sera from LEMS patients contains auto-antibodies against voltage-dependent calcium channels, with an apparent preferential targeting of $Ca_v 2.1$ calcium channels at the neuromuscular junction (Lennon et al., 1995; Pinto et al., 2002). Clinical features of LEMS includes skeletal muscle weakness in proximal and trunk muscles, with the most severe effects observed in lower limbs (for review see (Flink and Atchison, 2003)). Autoantibodies are thought to be initiated in response to the SCLC tumor (O'Neill et al., 1988) and via targeting Ca_y2.1 channels at the neuromuscular junctions reduce channel availability for neurotransmission (Lennon et al., 1995). It has been shown that the LEMS auto-antibodies do not alter channel voltage or kinetic properties, but instead act in an all or none fashion, likely eliminating available channels from the population (Grassi et al., 1994; Magnelli et al., 1996). Drugs that prolong the duration of action potentials and enhance intracellular calcium levels, such as 4-aminopyridine and 3,4diaminopyridine, offer symptomatic relief in some LEMS patients; however, side effects can often be severe (Flink and Atchison, 2003).

3. L-TYPE (Ca_v1.4/ α_{1F}) CALCIUM CHANNELS; CACNA1F GENE

L-type calcium channels are the primary trigger for excitation-contraction (EC) coupling in cardiac, skeletal, and smooth muscles (Bean, 1989). They are also found in most central and peripheral neurons where they in part control calcium-dependent gene expression, as well as in endocrine cells and many types of non-excitable cells where they contribute to a variety of processes including exocytotic release. Unlike most synapses in the brain and spinal cord that rely on P/Q- and N-type calcium channels for neurotransmitter release, (Wheeler et al., 1994), the presynaptic terminals in photoreceptor cells rely on the Ca_v1.4 (α_{1F}) L-type calcium channel for mediating glutamate release (Tachibana et al., 1993; Nachman-Clewner et al., 1999). Photoreceptor neurotransmission is atypical; first,

photoreceptor cells do not fire action potentials, but rather have continuous graded membrane potentials; and secondly, most photoreceptors are tonically depolarized in the absence of a light stimulus resulting in continuous glutamate release and subsequently hyperpolarize in response to light stimuli (Wu, 1994). Considering its critical role in vision, it is perhaps not surprising that mutations in the CACNA1F gene are implicated in the vision related channelopathies incomplete X-linked congenital stationary night blindness (IXLCSNB) and X-linked cone-rod dystrophy (CORDX).

3.1. Incomplete X-linked Congenital Stationary Night Blindness (IXLCSNB)

Congenital stationary night blindness begins in childhood and includes a series of non-progressive disorders of varying hereditary patterns including an autosomal dominant (adCSNB), autosomal recessive (arCSNB) and the X-linked (XLCSNB). Based on electroretinogram (ERG) readings, XLCSNB can be subdivided into complete and incomplete forms based on either no rod function or low level rod-mediated function, respectively (Miyake et al., 1986). More than 60 mutations have been identified in the CACNA1F gene in patients with incomplete X-linked congenital stationary night blindness (IXLCSNB). Missense and truncation mutations have been identified in nearly all structural domains of the channel without predominance of any particular region (Figure 3). Unlike the autosomal dominantly inherited channelopathies associated with the P/Q-type channel, XLCSNB follows an X-linked recessive pattern of inheritance (Berger et al., 1995). IXLCSNB is characterized by variable degrees of night blindness, reduced visual acuity, myopia or hyperopia (short and long sightedness, respectively), and nystagmus. Physiologically, the eye fundus is normal, however, ERG recordings indicate rod-related function is significantly reduced and cone function is below normal (Tremblay et al., 1995). Although it is beginning to gain acceptance that the visual impairments are a result of reduced neurotransmission efficiency between photoreceptors and second-order neurons as a result of mutations in the Ca_v1.4 channel, experimental results are not yet conclusive as to the precise molecular mechanisms involved.

Similar to that for the analyses of FHM1 mutations in heterologous systems, biophysical investigation of mutations associated with IXLCSNB in heterologous systems have led to variable results; ranging from no reported effects on biophysical properties to contradicting gain-of-function and loss-of-function effects (Table 3). McRory and coworkers found that three IXLCSNB mutations, G674D, L1364H and A928D, did not alter measurable L-type channel biophysical properties when expressed in HEK293 cells (McRory et al., 2004). Hoda and colleagues found a complete loss of channel expression for IXLCSNB mutation S229P, a loss-of-function effect for mutation L1068P due to reduced channel opening, an increased rate of inactivation and reduced rate of recovery from inactivation, and a gain-of-function effect for the G369D mutation due to a hyperpolarizing shift in



Figure 3. Mutations in the human $Ca_v 1.4$ (L-type) voltage-gated calcium channel associated with Incomplete X-linked Congenital Stationary Night Blindness (IXLCSNB)

V_{50act}, reduced rate of inactivation, and a loss of calcium dependent inactivation (Hoda et al., 2005). Contrastingly, McRory and coworkers found a loss-offunction effect due to a depolarizing shift in the $V_{\rm 50act}$ for the G369D mutation (McRory et al., 2004). Furthermore, Hemara-Wahanui et al found IXLCSNB mutation I745T caused a gain of function effect by shifting the V_{50act} to more hyperpolarized potentials and reducing the rate of inactivation (Hemara-Wahanui et al., 2005). Collectively, the biophysical data from IXLCSNB mutations thus far does not give a clear indication as to how the distinct point mutations might result in abnormal neurotransmission in photoreceptors. However, a recent investigation by Hoda et al. revealed that mutations R508Q and L1364H affect expression density in a temperature dependent manner (similar to EA2 mutation analysis (Wan et al., 2005)); showing no change at subphysiological temperatures of 29-30 °C but exhibiting reduced protein expression at physiological temperatures (Hoda et al., 2006). The authors speculate that the temperature dependence may be a critical factor in accurately determining the mutation effects in the physiologically relevant environment. Although a plausible hypothesis, similar to that for the FHM1 mutational analyses, the discrepancies in results for IXLCSNB may also be due to channel subunit composition, exogenous expression system, α_1 subunit splice variation and/or experimental conditions including temperature.

Table 3. CACNA1F (Ca _v 1.4, α_{1F}): Functional results for mutations associated with IXLCSNB =
incomplete X-linked congenital stationary night blindness and X-linked cone-rode dystrophy (although
addition mutations have been associated with IXLCSNB, only those with functional data completed
are listed)

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
S229P- IXLCSNB	• complete loss of channel activity (Hoda et al., 2005)
G369D- IXLCSNB	• hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} , decreased rate of inactivation, removed calcium-dependent inactivation (Hoda et al., 2005); increased rate of voltage-dependent activation and depolarized shift in V_{50act} (McRory et al., 2004)
R508Q- IXLCSNB	 reduced channel expression (temperature dependent; occurs at 37°C) (Hoda et al., 2006)
G674D- IXLCSNB	• no change in channel properties (McRory et al., 2004)
I745T- IXLCSNB	- hyperpolarized shift in $V_{\rm 50act}$ and reduced rate of inactivation (Hemara-Wahanui et al., 2005)
A928D- IXLCSNB	• no change in channel properties (McRory et al., 2004)
L1068P- IXLCSNB	• decreased channel opening, increased rate of inactivation and reduced rate of recovery from inactivation (Hoda et al., 2005)
L1364H- IXLCSNB	• reduced current density, reduced channel expression (temperature dependent), increased rate of inactivation, increased rate of recovery from inactivation (Hoda et al., 2006)
W1386X,	• no change in channel properties (McRory et al., 2004)
W1451X,	• complete loss of protein expression (Hoda et al., 2005)
W1459X, W1440X- IXLCSNB	
IVS28-1,	• no electrophysiology data (Jalkanen et al., 2006)
gcgtc to tgg conversion, aberrant splicing- CORDX	

3.2. X-linked Cone-Rod Dystrophy (CORDX)

CORDX usually begins within the first two decades of life and is progressive. Clinical features of the disorder include: reduced visual acuity, poor colour vision, fundus abnormalities, central scotomas in the visual field, photophobia, myopia and low b-waves in ERG recordings (Jacobson et al., 1989; Brown et al., 2000). A single mutation has been recently found in a CORDX family (Table 3). The mutation is in the splice acceptor site of intron 28 in the CACNA1F gene and is predicted to cause either a premature stop codon in the mRNA transcript, or variable size deletions of the transcript. The mutation co-segregated completely with the disease phenotype in the CORDX family studied (Jalkanen et al., 2006). As of yet, no biophysical analysis has been reported for this mutation.

4. L-TYPE (Ca_V1.1/ α_{1S}) CALCIUM CHANNELS; CACNA1S GENE

 $Ca_v 1.1$ (α_{1S}) L-type calcium channels are important in striated muscle cells for coupling membrane depolarization to the release of calcium from cytoplasmic stores and triggering EC coupling (Rios and Brum, 1987). In this instance, depolarizing changes in membrane potential cause a conformational change in $Ca_v 1.1$ and without a requirement for calcium influx, induce an allosteric interaction with the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) ryanodine receptor (RyR1) ultimately inducing calcium release and muscle contraction (Tanabe et al., 1990; Flucher and Franzini-Armstrong, 1996; Kugler et al., 2004). Related to this role as a voltage sensor for the RyR1, $Ca_v 1.1$ has been implicated in two muscle disorders: hypokalemic periodic paralysis (HypoPP) and malignant hyperthermia susceptibility (MHS).

4.1. Hypokalemic Periodic Paralysis (HypoPP)

HypoPP is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by periodic muscle weakness in association with low serum potassium levels. Disease progression is variable, however, typical progression includes onset during adolescence and symptoms decreasing by fifty or sixty years of age (Morrill et al., 1998). Experiments performed on biopsied intercostal muscle fibres from three patients with HypoPP have revealed that muscle fibres have a reduced excitability and increased sodium conductance, both of which are exacerbated in reduced extracellular potassium concentrations (Rudel et al., 1984). The effects are due to long-lasting depolarizations leading to sodium channel inactivation and loss of membrane excitability (Jurkat-Rott et al., 2000b; Ruff, 2000). Although mutations in both voltage-gated sodium and potassium channels contribute to HypoPP, five missense mutations in the CACNA1S gene encoding for the $Ca_v 1.1$ channel have been associated with HypoPP. Four of the five mutations are located in the voltage S4 voltage sensor domains of the $Ca_v 1.1$ L-type channel (Figure 4).

Biophysical investigations of mutant $Ca_v 1.1$ channels in a variety of heterologous and native systems have also given varying results, some contradictory (Table 4). Although contested, a dominant theme appears to be a reduced current density and reduced rate of activation in mutant channels relative to wild-type (Sipos et al., 1995; Morrill and Cannon, 1999). Both effects are loss of function and could result in less calcium influx into the muscle cells during depolarizations. In



Figure 4. Mutations in the human $Ca_v 1.1$ and $Ca_v 1.2$ (L-type) voltage-gated calcium channels associated with Hypokalaemic Periodic Paralysis (HypoPP) and Timothy Syndrome (TS), respectively. Also shown is the nucleotide deletion in the mouse $Ca_v 1.1$ homolog associated with Muscular Dysgenesis

attempts to correlate the biophysical data from mutant $Ca_v 1.1$ with the pathophysiological data, Morill and Cannon hypothesize the reduced calcium influx through $Ca_{v}1.1$ affects membrane potential through impairment in coupling to a calcium sensitive channel, such as the calcium activated potassium channel that has direct control over the resting potential of the cell. Alternatively, they suggest reduced calcium influx through mutant Ca, 1.1 channels throughout development may alter expression and trafficking of channels important in establishing and maintaining resting membrane potential; a hypothesis substantiated by reports that the dominant potassium channel in muscle cells (ATP-sensitive potassium channel) has reduced function in fibres from HypoPP patients and shows irreversible changes in gating properties in response to alterations in calcium concentrations (Morrill and Cannon, 1999; Tricarico et al., 1999). It is equally likely, however, that the pathophysiology of HypoPP is independent of calcium flow through the Ca, 1.1 channel, but is instead associated with an uncoupling of EC between the Ca_v1.1 channel and the RyR1, resulting in a reduced calcium release from internal stores as seen in the similar muscular dysgenesis disorder in mice (Table 5). To test the possibility of a Ca, 1.1 mutation effect on EC, Jurkat-Rott and coworkers compared calcium release from the SR in myotubes from HypoPP patients with the R528H mutation and myotubes from healthy individuals using fura-2 microfluorimetry. Results indicate no detectable difference in the time course or the magnitude of

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
R528H- HypoPP	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} (Lerche et al., 1996; Morrill and Cannon, 1999) no change in V_{50act} (Sipos et al., 1995; Lapie et al., 1996; Morrill et al., 1998) hyperpolarized shift in V_{50inact} (Sipos et al., 1995; Lerche et al., 1996) no change in V_{50inact} (Lapie et al., 1996; Jurkat-Rott et al., 1998; Morrill et al., 1998; Morrill and Cannon, 1999) reduced rate of activation (Morrill et al., 1996; Lerche et al., 1996; Morrill et al., 1998; Morrill and Cannon, 1999) decreased current density (Lapie et al., 1996; Lerche et al., 1996; Morrill et al., 1998; Morrill and Cannon, 1999) no change in current density (Sipos et al., 1995; Jurkat-Rott et al., 1998) no change in calcium release from internal stores (Jurkat-Rott et al., 1998)
R1239G- HypoPP	- depolarized shift in V_{50act} , reduced rate of activation, decreased current density (Morrill and Cannon, 1999)
R1239H- НуроРР	 depolarized shift in V_{50act}, reduced rate of activation (Morrill and Cannon, 1999) decreased current density (Sipos et al., 1995; Morrill and Cannon, 1999) no change in gating properties (Sipos et al., 1995)

Table 4. CACNA1S ($Ca_v 1.1$, α_{1S}): Functional results for mutations associated with HypoPP = Hypokalemic periodic paralysis and MHS = Malignant hyperthermia susceptibility (only those HypoPP mutations with functional data are listed)

calcium release from SR in response to membrane depolarizations between HypoPP patients and controls, thus it is likely that the pathological effects are too subtle to detect under the experimental conditions used (Jurkat-Rott et al., 1998). Overall, the mechanism by which mutations found in HypoPP patients leads to reduced muscle excitability is yet to be determined.

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
nt. 4010 – 1bp deletion, shift in the reading frame resulting in channel truncation Muscular dysgenesis	• membrane depolarization uncoupled from intracellular calcium release (Powell and Fambrough, 1973; Klaus et al., 1983)

Table 5. cacnals (Ca_v1.1, α_{1S}): Functional results for mutations associated with muscular dysgenesis

4.2. Malignant Hyperthermia Susceptibility (MHS)

MHS is an autosomal dominantly inherited disorder characterized by a predisposition in otherwise healthy individuals for muscle hypermetabolism in response to exposure to volatile anesthetics or depolarizing muscle relaxants. Upon exposure to the precipitating agents, calcium is release from SR in myotubules via the RyR1, resulting in elevated skeletal muscle contraction, glycogenolysis, cell metabolism and subsequent increased heat and lactic acid acidosis. Varying numbers and degrees of symptoms can follow, including: tachycardia, rhabdomyolysis with subsequent creatine kinase elevation, potential cardiac arrhythmia or arrest and possible renal failure. Approximately 70% of patients would die without immediate treatment; early administration of the SR calcium release inhibitor dantrolene drastically reduces mortality (for review see (Striessnig et al., 2004) and (Jurkat-Rott et al., 2000a)). Although many mutations in the RyR1 gene have been associated with MHS (Jurkat-Rott et al., 2000a), a R1086H mutation in the CACNA1S gene has been found in two families with MHS (Figure 4). No biophysical data is available yet and the connection between the mutation and the pathophysiology is still elusive. However, if common CACNA1S mutations are found to be associated with MHS, routine screening prior to exposure to volatile anesthetics and depolarizing muscle relaxants could reduce risks of attacks.

5. L-TYPE (Ca_V1.2/ α_{1C}) CALCIUM CHANNELS; CACNA1C GENE

The Ca_v1.2 L-type channel is widely expressed in heart, brain, smooth muscle, pituitary, gastrointestinal systems lungs, immune system and testis (Ertel et al., 2000; Splawski et al., 2004). In cardiac tissue and lung smooth muscle, the Ca_v1.2 channel is involved in EC coupling (Du et al., 2006). However, unlike EC coupling between Ca_v1.1 and RyR1 receptors in skeletal muscle, EC coupling in cardiac tissue requires calcium influx through Ca_v1.2 in order to activate the RyR2 in the SR and release calcium from internal calcium stores to initiate muscle contraction (Meissner, 1994). Two mutations in the sixth transmembrane segment of domain I of the Ca_v1.2 channel have recently been associated with a severe arrhythmic disorder, Timothy syndrome (TS) (Figure 4).

5.1. Timothy Syndrome (TS)

TS is a multisystem disorder, with characteristic functional and developmental abnormalities in several organ systems including heart, skin, eyes, teeth, immune system and the brain; consistent with the ubiquitous expression of the $Ca_v 1.2$ channel. In a study of seventeen children with TS, it was established that while arrhythmias are the most serious element of the disorder, patients have additional elements including congenital heart disease, dysmorphic facial features, developmental and cognitive delays, immune deficiency, intermittent hypoglycemia and hypothermia; and four of the seventeen children studied with TS met the criteria

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
G402S- TS	• near complete loss of voltage-dependent channel inactivation (Splawski et al., 2005)
G406R, G436R- TS and implicated in ASD	 near complete loss of voltage-dependent channel inactivation (Splawski et al., 2005) increased mode 2 gating (Erxleben et al., 2006)

Table 6. CACNA1C (Ca_v1.2, α_{1C}): Functional results for mutations associated with TS = Timothy Syndrome and implicated in ASD = autism spectrum disorder

for autism. Greater than 50% of TS patients die between two and three years of age (Splawski et al., 2004). In a study of 13 patients with TS, mutation analysis of a specific $Ca_v 1.2$ splice variant (found in ~20% of cardiac $Ca_v 1.2$ transcripts) revealed a *de novo* missense mutation in exon 8A in all 13 patients (Splawski et al., 2004). A subsequent study on two patients with severe TS (TS2) revealed two *de novo* missense mutations in exon 8 of the dominant $Ca_v 1.2$ splice variant found in heart and brain (Splawski et al., 2005). All patients had a heterozygous genotype suggesting the mutations are dominant.

Functional analysis of all mutations shows a near complete loss of voltagedependent inactivation (Splawski et al., 2004; Splawski et al., 2005) and increased mode 2 gating (CaMKII dependent channel gating characterized by prolonged channel open time) (Erxleben et al., 2006), both effects predicted to prolong calcium influx (Table 6). Simulation analysis indicates that the prolonged calcium current can cause significant cardiac action potential prolongation and prolonged QT intervals (Q-T interval is the time for electrical activation and inactivation of the ventricles). The prolonged QT interval can result in abnormal secondary depolarizations, arrhythmia and sudden death (Splawski et al., 2004; Splawski et al., 2005). It is conceivable that prolonged calcium influx through the mutant $Ca_v 1.2$ channels in TS patients could result in the additional functional and developmental abnormalities considering the requirement for precise regulation of internal calcium concentrations for normal cell signaling and gene transcription during development; however substantiating evidence is lacking.

6. T-TYPE (CA_V3.2/ α_{1H}) CALCIUM CHANNELS; CACNA1H GENE

T-type calcium channels play critical roles in shaping the electrical and plastic properties of neurons and are also implicated in hormone secretion, differentiation and muscle development (Huguenard, 1996; Perez-Reyes, 2003). In thalamic reticular and relay neurons, T-type channels contribute to rhythmic rebound burst firing and spindle waves associated with slow-wave sleep. T-type channels also play crucial roles in dendritic integration and calcium-mediated spiking in hippocampal pyramidal cells, and in synaptic release at olfactory dendrodendritic synapses (Tsakiridou et al., 1995; Kim et al., 2001; Anderson et al., 2005). Of the three genes encoding low voltage-activated calcium channels ($Ca_v 3.1$, $Ca_v 3.2$ and $Ca_v 3.3$), the $Ca_v 3.2$ isoform is thus far the only T-type channel known associated with channelopathies. $Ca_v 3.2$ channels are widely expressed in the juvenile and adult hippocampus, cerebellum, pons/medulla, striatum, thalamus/hypothalamus, olfactory bulb, and cortex (Talley et al., 1999; McRory et al., 2001; Perez-Reyes, 2003; McKay et al., 2006). Due to their unique biophysical properties, $Ca_v 3.2$ channels are predicted to be important in generating short burst firing potentials in the cortex and thalamus during slow wave sleep, however their specific contributions are only beginning to be revealed (Chemin et al., 2002). In the periphery, $Ca_v 3.2$ channels are found in the primary nociceptor pathway and have been shown to contribute to both acute and chronic nociceptive behaviors (Snutch and David, 2006).

6.1. Idiopathic Generalized Epilepsy (IGE)

The incidence of epilepsy is variable between age and gender, but occurrence is approximately 1.6% in the general population. IGE is a classification of general epilepsies including juvenile myoclonic and juvenile absence epilepsies (JME and JAE, respectively) and childhood absence epilepsy (CAE) which represent approximately 40% of all epilepsies. Absence seizures are the most characteristic general epilepsies and include short lasting seizures accompanied by sudden impairment of consciousness and a sudden synchronous 3 to 6 Hz spike-wave discharge (SWD) that propagates bilaterally over many cortical areas (Sander, 1996). Based on experiments on the rat genetic model for absence epilepsy, (WAG/Rij), initiation of the neuronal synchronization is thought to occur in the cortex with subsequent generation of an oscillatory cortico-thalamocortical loop network which sustains the synchronous SWD for the duration of the seizure (Meeren et al., 2002). In the last few years researchers have uncovered several point mutations in the CACNA1H gene in patients with CAE and IGE, implicating a pathogenic role of the Ca_v3.2 channel in these disorders. The majority of mutations in the CACNA1H channel for both CAE and IGE are densely localized in the Ca_v3.2 intracellular loop between domain I and II (Figure 5).

The IGEs are non-Mendelian "complex" idiopathic genetic disorders (Robinson and Gardiner, 2000), therefore, mutations in a single gene, such as the CACNA1H, may not always contribute substantially to the pathophysiology of IGE patients. However, biophysical analyses of CACNA1H mutations associated with IGEs indicate channel properties are in fact altered in many cases (Table 7), suggesting at least a contribution to the pathophysiology. Similar to that for some of the other channelopathy mutations described previously, biophysical analysis of some CAE and IGE mutations in the $Ca_v 3.2$ have produced a variety of results, some contradictory. The discrepancies may be due to the various expression systems and conditions utilized by different groups, however even mutations from patients with similar clinical phenotypes have very different, even opposite, affects on



Figure 5. Mutations in the human $Ca_v3.2$ (T-type) voltage-gated calcium channel associated with Childhood Absence Epilepsy (CAE), Idiopathic Generalized Epilepsy (IGE) and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)

Table 7. CACNA1H ($Ca_v 3.2, \alpha_{1H}$): Functional results for mutations associated with CAE = childhood absence epilepsy, IGE = Idiopathic generalized epilepsy and ASD = Autism Spectrum Disorder (only those mutations with functional data are listed)

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
F161L- CAE	• hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} (Khosravani et al., 2004); no change in V_{50act} , depolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$, increased rate of inactivation (Vitko et al., 2005)
E282K- CAE	 hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} (Khosravani et al., 2004) no change in channel properties (Vitko et al., 2005)
C456S- CAE	• no change in channel properties (Khosravani et al., 2004); hyperpolarized shift in V_{50act} and increased rate of activation (Vitko et al., 2005)
G499S- CAE	reduced rate of inactivation (Vitko et al., 2005)no change in channel properties (Peloquin et al., 2006)
P648L- CAE	 depolarized shift in V_{50inact}, reduced rate of inactivation and reduced rate of closed state inactivation (Vitko et al., 2005); no change in channel properties (Peloquin et al., 2006)

(Continued)

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
R744Q- CAE	• no change in channel properties (Vitko et al., 2005; Peloquin et al., 2006)
A748V- CAE	• increased rate of activation (Vitko et al., 2005); no change in channel properties (Peloquin et al., 2006)
G773D- CAE	• increased current density (Wang et al., 2006); depolarized shift in V_{50act} and depolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$, reduced rates of activation and deactivation (Vitko et al., 2005); no change in channel properties (Peloquin et al., 2006)
G784S- CAE	 decreased rate of activation and increased rate of closed state inactivation (Vitko et al., 2005); no change in channel properties (Peloquin et al., 2006)
V831M- CAE	• depolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$, reduced rates of activation and inactivation (Khosravani et al., 2004; Vitko et al., 2005); reduced rate of deactivation and increased recovery rate from inactivation (Vitko et al., 2005); no change in recovery rate from inactivation (Khosravani et al., 2004)
G848S- CAE	 reduced rate of deactivation (Vitko et al., 2005); reduced rates of activation and inactivation (Peloquin et al., 2006)
D1463N- CAE	 no change in channel properties (Khosravani et al., 2004) increased rate of activation (Vitko et al., 2005)
A480T- IGE	• No change in biophysical properties (Khosravani et al., 2005)
P618L- IGE	• increased rates of activation and inactivation (Khosravani et al., 2005)
G755D- IGE	• increased rate of inactivation (Khosravani et al., 2005)
R212C- ASD	• depolarized shift in V_{50act} , reduced rate of inactivation, increased rate of deactivation, reduced current density (Splawski et al., 2006),
R902W- ASD	• depolarized shift in V_{50act} , depolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$, reduced rate of activation, reduced rate of inactivation, increased rate of deactivation, reduced current density (Splawski et al., 2006)
W962C- ASD	• reduced current density (Splawski et al., 2006)
A1874V/R1871Q- ASD	• depolarized shift in V_{50act} , depolarized shift in $V_{50inact}$, reduced rate of activation, reduced rate of inactivation (Splawski et al., 2006)

biophysical properties when analyzed under the same experimental conditions; see analysis data from C456S and G773D (Table 7) (Vitko et al., 2005). However, in many mutations gain-of-function effects are demonstrated by hyperpolarizing shifts in V_{50act} , depolarizing shifts in $V_{50inact}$, increased rates of activation, decreased rates of inactivation, decreased rates of deactivation and increased current densities (Table 7). The gain-of-function effects are predicted to result in more available channels at lower membrane potentials, increased calcium influx, and likely to result in neuronal hyperexcitability and increased spike and wave discharge under certain conditions. Additional studies using native systems in combination with the heterologous data will likely contribute significantly to our understanding of the roles of $Ca_v 3.2$ channels in epilepsy. The somewhat mild and various effects of $Ca_v 3.2$ mutations are consistent with the polygenic, non-Mendelian inheritance of the IGEs and suggests that interactions with other proteins may come into consideration.

6.2. Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASDs)

The prevalence of ASDs has risen drastically over the last twenty years to a staggering 1 in 166. ASDs include prototypic autistic disorder, Asperger syndrome and pervasive developmental disorder-not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS). Autistic disorder is characterized by deficits in communication, abnormal social interactions and restrictive and/or repetitive behaviours and/or interests with considerable variation in the severity of each phenotype; Asperger syndrome does not typically include intelligence or communication deficits, and PDD-NOS does not include repetitive behaviours or communication deficits. All three disorders often occur within the same family, suggesting they are not genetically distinct (for review see (DiCicco-Bloom et al., 2006)). As diverse as the phenotypes associated with ASDs is the associated diversity in the pathological findings in brains of patients with ASD. Some consistent findings indicate histological abnormalities in limbic structures including the hippocampus and amygdale, abnormal brain size including enlargement in cortex and cerebellum, and reduced tissue volume in cerebellar vermis (Courchesne et al., 2001; Kaufmann et al., 2003; Matsuo et al., 2003; Hazlett et al., 2005; Sadamatsu et al., 2006). Postmortem neuropathological data indicate a dramatic loss of cerebellar Purkinje cells (Ritvo et al., 1986). fMRI imaging studies indicate that skill deficits in ASD patients are accompanied by reduced function in brain regions attributed to the specific skills (for a full review of pathology of ASD see (DiCicco-Bloom et al., 2006). Family studies show a strong polygenic genetic dependence for ASD with complex gene-gene and geneenvironmental interactions (Szatmari, 1999).

Four missense mutations have been identified in the CACNA1H gene encoding the Ca_v3.2 T-type calcium channel in six families from a sample of 461 individuals with ASD (none present in 480 ethically matched controls; (Splawski et al., 2006)). Two of the mutations are in the S4 voltage sensor regions, one is in the pore forming p-loop and the other is found in the carboxyl terminus (Figure 5). Biophysical analysis of the four missense mutations predicts an overall decrease in calcium entry (Table 7). Although unconfirmed by experimental data at this time, it is possible that the biophysical effects of the mutations translate into altered neuronal development and communication considering the tight regulation of internal calcium levels necessary for normal cell signaling and gene expression (Splawski et al., 2006). It is important to note that of the 461 ASD patients screened, only 6 carried the CACNA1H gene missense mutations. In addition, three families with a child having a CACNA1H missense mutation had an additional affected child without a CACNA1H mutation and one sibling and several parents contained one of the mutations but were not obviously affected. These data are consistent with the polygenic inheritance pattern of ASD, and indicate a potential, but likely small, role for the Ca_v3.2 channel in overall ASD susceptibility.

7. CALCIUM CHANNEL AUXILIARY SUBUNITS

In most instances, HVA calcium channel α_1 subunits appear to be associated with auxiliary β and $\alpha_2 \delta$ -subunits in order to fully reconstitute most native biophysical and modulatory characteristics (De Waard et al., 1996). The skeletal muscle Ca_v1.1 L-type channel also co-purifies with a $\gamma 1$ subunit although it remains unknown how generally this particular subunit is associated with voltage-gated calcium channel complexes. In addition to the ten genes coding for α_1 subunits, mammals possess four genes encoding for β -subunits (β_1 - β_4), four $\alpha_2\delta$ -subunit genes ($\alpha_2\delta 1$ - $\alpha_2\delta 4$) and eight γ subunits genes (γ 1- γ 8; (Snutch et al, 2005)). To date, two human calcium channel auxiliary subunits have been associated with disease; 1) linkage analysis has indicated mutations in the $\alpha_2 \delta 1$ auxiliary subunit may play a role in malignant hyperthermia susceptibility (discussed previously in association with the Ca_v1.1 L-type channel), although no mutations have yet been described in the CACNL2A gene that encodes for the $\alpha_2 \delta 1$ subunit (Iles et al., 1994) and 2) truncation and missense mutations in the CACNB4 gene (encoding the β_4 subunit) are associated with families with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy, generalized epilepsy/praxis-induced seizures and episodic ataxia (Escayg et al., 2000). As the β_4 subunit is known to interact directly with the Ca_v2.1 channel α_1 subunit (Walker and De Waard, 1998; Walker et al., 1999) Escayg and coworkers co-transfected the mutant β_4 subunit with Ca_v2.1 into Xenopus oocytes and examined channel biophysical properties. The results indicate that both truncation and missense mutations in the β_4 subunit increase current density while the truncation mutation selectively alters channel gating (Table 8). This association between mutations in the β modulatory subunit and Ca_y2.1 channel functional alterations and epilepsy and ataxia, supports the evidence described previously indicating a substantial role for the $Ca_v 2.1$ P/Q-type channel in these disorders.

Additional substantiating evidence that calcium channel auxiliary subunits might play pivotal roles in disease processes comes from the study of mouse models. Five murine diseases with similar phenotypes to $Ca_v 2.1$ P/Q-type channel mutant-associated diseases have been linked to calcium channel auxiliary subunits (Tables 9–11).

Mutation and Disease	Functional Analyses
R482X- JME	• increased current density and rate of inactivation (Escayg et al., 2000)
C104F- GE and EA	• increased current density (Escayg et al., 2000)

Table 8. CACNB4 (β_4): Functional results for mutations associated with JME = juvenile myoclonic epilepsy, GE = generalized epilepsy and EA = episodic ataxia

Table 9.	Cchb4 (β_4): Functional	l results for mutations	associated with lh = lethargic	

Mutation and Phenotype	Functional Analyses
4 bp insertion, aberrant splicing:deletion of α_1 subunit binding site	 no affect on calcium channel ratio or Ca²⁺ dependent neurotransmitter release in the hippocampal Schaffer collateral synapse in <i>lh</i> mice (Qian and Noebels, 2000). complete loss of β₄ expression in forebrain and cerebellum, associated with decreased Ca_v2.2 expression and increased β_{1b} expression; no change in β₂ or β₃ in lethargic brain (McEnery et al., 1998) increased Ca_v2.1 and Ca_v2.2 association with β₁₋₃, without any change to protein expression in immunolocalization assay in lethargic brain (Burgess et al., 1999)

Table 10. Cacna2D2 ($\alpha_2 \delta_2$): Functional results for mutations associated with du/du^{2J} = ducky and ent = entla.

Mutation and Phenotype	Functional Analyses
Aberrant splicing resulting in altered mRNA sequence and protein truncation-du	• reduced current density, no change in single channel conductance (Barclay et al., 2001; Brodbeck et al., 2002); abnormal cytoarchitecture in Purkinje cells (Brodbeck et al., 2002)
tg – deletion in exon 9, resulting in protein truncation- du^{2J}	no electrophysiological data
39 aa duplication near the N terminus, no protein truncation- <i>ent</i>	• reduced current density and decreased gabapentin binding (Brill et al., 2004)

7.1. Lethargic Mouse (Cchb4: β_4)

A deletion in the mouse β_4 gene (Cchb4) has been associated with the lethargic (*lh*) phenotype (Burgess et al., 1997). Lethargic mice display ataxia, lethargic behaviours and focal motor seizures; a similar phenotype to that associated with

Mutation Disease	and	Functional Analyses
Transposon insertion in intron 2: loss of transcription		 presence of wt stargazin (γ₂) causes a hyperpolarized shift in V_{50inact} and enhanced current amplitude for Ca_v2.1 channels, in mutant stargazin the lack of transcription ultimately would result in a depolarizing shift in V_{50inact}(Letts et al., 1998; Kang et al., 2001) no change in stimulating CSD (Ayata et al., 2000)

Table 11. Cacng2 (γ_2): Functional results for mutations associated with stargazer

human β_4 mutations. Functional studies on hippocampal Schaffer collateral synapses in *lh* mice, although not in complete agreement, indicate that the β_4 deletion results in a shift in β subunit expression and association with Ca_v2.1 P/Q-type and Ca_v2.2 N-type channels from predominantly β_4 to the β_1 , β_2 and β_3 subunits (Table 9). It is likely that this change in β subunit isoform interactions with α_1 subunits causes an overall reduction in channel function (Patil et al., 1998), leading to the observed ataxic and epileptic phenotypes.

7.2. Ducky/Entla Mice (Cacna2d2: $\alpha_2 \delta 2$)

Several genetic mutations, an aberrant splice, a deletion mutation and an amino terminal duplication in the calcium channel auxiliary subunit Cacna2d2 gene (encoding the $\alpha_2 \delta 2$ subunit) result in protein truncations associated with the allelic mutants ducky (du) and ducky2 (du^{2J}) and an elongated protein associated with entla (ent), respectively (Barclay et al., 2001; Brill et al., 2004). The ducky phenotypes are characterized by an ataxic gait, paroxysmal dyskinesia and pathological findings of abnormal cerebellar, medulla, and spinal cord development (Meier, 1968; Barclay et al., 2001). The *ent* phenotype is characterized by ataxia, paroxysmal dyskinesia and absence epilepsy without any gross anatomical abnormalities (Brill et al., 2004). The $\alpha_2\delta_1$, $\alpha_2\delta_2$, $\alpha_2\delta_3$ and $\alpha_2\delta_4$ subunits have previously been shown to be important modulators of several α_1/β -subunit combinations (Walker and De Waard, 1998; Barclay et al., 2001). In vitro analysis using whole cell and single cell recordings of heterozygous, homozygous and wild-type du mice in acutely dissociated Purkinje cells demonstrates a significant reduction in Ca_v2.1 channel current density in homozygous du/du mice, without changing single channel conductance (Table 10) (Barclay et al., 2001; Brodbeck et al., 2002). In vitro analysis of acutely dissociated Purkinje cells from heterozygous, homozygous and wild-type ent mice demonstrates a significant reduction in current density of Ca_v2.1 channels in homozygous *ent/ent* mice and also reduced gabapentin binding. An overall lossof-function effect on $Ca_v 2.1$ P/Q-type channels appears to be a consistent effect of the *du/du* and *ent/ent* mutations, possibly due to interference of the mutant $\alpha_2 \delta 2$ in contributing to channel function, trafficking and/or assembly.

7.3. Stargazin Mouse (Cacng2: γ_2)

An insertion in the mouse Cacng2 gene, which encodes the γ_2 auxiliary subunit stargazin, has been implicated in the stargazer phenotype. Stargazer mice are characterized by head-tossing, ataxic gait and electrocorticograph readings typical of absence seizures. The γ_2 subunit was found to be ubiquitously expressed in brain synaptic membranes, with altered expression in the stargazer mouse due to an intronic insertion (Letts et al., 1998). Functional studies in BHK cells and *Xenopus* oocytes indicates that co-expression of the wild-type γ_2 with the Ca_v2.1 α_1 subunit (and $\beta_{1a}/$ or β_3 and $\alpha_2\delta$) demonstrates a modulatory role of γ_2 on P/Q-type channels by shifting the V_{50inac} in the hyperpolarized direction and in reducing current density (Letts et al., 1998) (Table 11). It has been therefore suggested that the altered expression of the stargazin γ_2 may functionally affect P/Q-type channels, potentially leading to the observed seizure susceptibility (Letts et al., 1998). However, studies on stargazin mice examined for the threshold for initiating cortical spreading depression found no significant change in mutant mice relative to wild-type and substantiating evidence for the exact contribution of stargazin concerning the epileptic phenotype remains to be defined (Avata et al., 2000).

8. CONCLUSIONS

Structure-function analyses involving the introduction of genetic abnormalities into cloned voltage-gated calcium channels has provided important clues concerning gain-of-function and loss-of-function properties and may help lead to new therapeutic pathways. It should however be noted, that the data from exogenous expression studies can sometimes be contradictory and the more labor intensive approach of genetic knock-in will likely be required to resolve some of the mechanistic issues related to disease phenotype. Additionally, we have just touched the surface concerning the more obvious and robust phenotypes and there likely remains much to discover at multiple levels. For example, critical to the phenotypic aspects of human channelopathies, the various calcium channel α_1 and auxiliary subunits exhibit distinct temporal and spatial expression patterns, yet we know little concerning the exact correlation between channel expression-related processes and disease progression and phenotype. Additionally, there is a demonstrated preferential association between individual calcium channel α_1 subunit isoforms expressed in particular tissues and specific subtypes of β subunits (e.g., in skeletal muscle $Ca_v 1.1$ with β_{1a} , in cardiac muscle $Ca_v 1.2$ with β_{2c} , and in the cerebellum the cell type-specific expression of Ca_v2.1 with either β_4 or β_{2a}), yet we have few clues as to the physiological significance as this relates to channelopathies. Also of further importance, and this issues likely relates to all channelopathies, is to resolve the apparent disconnect between widespread ion channel expression patterns and the often highly localized disease phenotypes (e.g., pan-neuronal Ca, 2.1 expression yet mutations manifesting as cerebellar ataxias and congenital migraine headache). As alternative splicing can greatly diversify ion channel function and also provide for the precise localization of unique molecular isoforms, the contribution of splicing has the potential of greatly affecting the phenotypic expression of channelopathies in general. To date, this area has largely been understudied and the analysis of both the effects of individual splice-variants on specific genetic mutations, together with the developmental and spatial correlation of splice variant expression patterns may provide new and important insights into the clinical manifestation of channelopathies.

REFERENCES

- Adams PJ, Garcia E, Mulatz K, Spacey SD, Snutch TP (2006) Familial Hemiplegic Migraine Mutation K1336E Differentially Affects Calcium-Dependent Facilitation Of P/Q-Type Calcium Channel Splice Variants. FENS Forum Abstracts vol. 3:A084.082.
- Anderson MP, Mochizuki T, Xie J, Fischler W, Manger JP, Talley EM, Scammell TE, Tonegawa S (2005) Thalamic Cav3.1 T-type Ca²⁺ channel plays a crucial role in stabilizing sleep. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:1743–1748.
- Ayata C, Shimizu-Sasamata M, Lo EH, Noebels JL, Moskowitz MA (2000) Impaired neurotransmitter release and elevated threshold for cortical spreading depression in mice with mutations in the alphal A subunit of P/Q type calcium channels. Neuroscience 95:639–645.
- Barclay J, Balaguero N, Mione M, Ackerman SL, Letts VA, Brodbeck J, Canti C, Meir A, Page KM, Kusumi K, Perez-Reyes E, Lander ES, Frankel WN, Gardiner RM, Dolphin AC, Rees M (2001) Ducky mouse phenotype of epilepsy and ataxia is associated with mutations in the Cacna2d2 gene and decreased calcium channel current in cerebellar Purkinje cells. J Neurosci 21:6095–6104.
- Barrett CF, Cao YQ, Tsien RW (2005) Gating deficiency in a familial hemiplegic migraine type 1 mutant P/Q-type calcium channel. J Biol Chem 280:24064–24071.
- Bean BP (1989) Classes of calcium channels in vertebrate cells. Annu Rev Physiol 51:367-384.
- Berger W, van Duijnhoven G, Pinckers A, Smits A, Ropers HH, Cremers F (1995) Linkage analysis in a Dutch family with X-linked recessive congenital stationary night blindness (XL-CSNB). Hum Genet 95:67–70.
- Bolay H, Reuter U, Dunn AK, Huang Z, Boas DA, Moskowitz MA (2002) Intrinsic brain activity triggers trigeminal meningeal afferents in a migraine model. Nat Med 8:136–142.
- Bourinet E, Soong TW, Sutton K, Slaymaker S, Mathews E, Monteil A, Zamponi GW, Nargeot J, Snutch TP (1999) Splicing of alpha 1A subunit gene generates phenotypic variants of P- and Q-type calcium channels. Nat Neurosci 2:407–415.
- Brill J, Klocke R, Paul D, Boison D, Gouder N, Klugbauer N, Hofmann F, Becker CM, Becker K (2004) entla, a novel epileptic and ataxic Cacna2d2 mutant of the mouse. J Biol Chem 279:7322–7330.
- Brodbeck J, Davies A, Courtney JM, Meir A, Balaguero N, Canti C, Moss FJ, Page KM, Pratt WS, Hunt SP, Barclay J, Rees M, Dolphin AC (2002) The ducky mutation in Cacna2d2 results in altered Purkinje cell morphology and is associated with the expression of a truncated alpha 2 delta-2 protein with abnormal function. J Biol Chem 277:7684–7693.
- Brown J, Jr., Kimura AE, Gorin MB (2000) Clinical and electroretinographic findings of female carriers and affected males in a progressive X-linked cone-rod dystrophy (COD-1) pedigree. Ophthalmology 107:1104–1110.
- Burgess DL, Jones JM, Meisler MH, Noebels JL (1997) Mutation of the Ca^{2+} channel beta subunit gene Cchb4 is associated with ataxia and seizures in the lethargic (lh) mouse. Cell 88:385–392.
- Burgess DL, Biddlecome GH, McDonough SI, Diaz ME, Zilinski CA, Bean BP, Campbell KP, Noebels JL (1999) beta subunit reshuffling modifies N- and P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channel subunit compositions in lethargic mouse brain. Mol Cell Neurosci 13:293–311.
- Cao YQ, Tsien RW (2005) Effects of familial hemiplegic migraine type 1 mutations on neuronal P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channel activity and inhibitory synaptic transmission. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:2590–2595.
- Catterall WA (2000) Structure and regulation of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 16:521–555.
- Chemin J, Monteil A, Perez-Reyes E, Bourinet E, Nargeot J, Lory P (2002) Specific contribution of human T-type calcium channel isotypes (alpha(1G), alpha(1H) and alpha(1I)) to neuronal excitability. J Physiol 540:3–14.
- Cicale M, Ambesi-Impiombato A, Cimini V, Fiore G, Muscettola G, Abbott LC, de Bartolomeis A (2002) Decreased gene expression of calretinin and ryanodine receptor type 1 in tottering mice. Brain Res Bull 59:53–58.
- Courchesne E, Karns CM, Davis HR, Ziccardi R, Carper RA, Tigue ZD, Chisum HJ, Moses P, Pierce K, Lord C, Lincoln AJ, Pizzo S, Schreibman L, Haas RH, Akshoomoff NA, Courchesne RY (2001) Unusual brain growth patterns in early life in patients with autistic disorder: an MRI study. Neurology 57:245–254.
- De Fusco M, Marconi R, Silvestri L, Atorino L, Rampoldi L, Morgante L, Ballabio A, Aridon P, Casari G (2003) Haploinsufficiency of ATP1A2 encoding the Na+/K+ pump alpha2 subunit associated with familial hemiplegic migraine type 2. Nat Genet 33:192–196.
- De Waard M, Gurnett CA, Campbell KP (1996) Structural and functional diversity of voltage-activated calcium channels. Ion Channels 4:41–87.
- Dichgans M, Freilinger T, Eckstein G, Babini E, Lorenz-Depiereux B, Biskup S, Ferrari MD, Herzog J, van den Maagdenberg AM, Pusch M, Strom TM (2005) Mutation in the neuronal voltage-gated sodium channel SCN1A in familial hemiplegic migraine. Lancet 366:371–377.
- DiCicco-Bloom E, Lord C, Zwaigenbaum L, Courchesne E, Dager SR, Schmitz C, Schultz RT, Crawley J, Young LJ (2006) The developmental neurobiology of autism spectrum disorder. J Neurosci 26: 6897–6906.
- Dove LS, Abbott LC, Griffith WH (1998) Whole-cell and single-channel analysis of P-type calcium currents in cerebellar Purkinje cells of leaner mutant mice. J Neurosci 18:7687–7699.
- Du W, McMahon TJ, Zhang ZS, Stiber JA, Meissner G, Eu JP (2006) Excitation-contraction coupling in airway smooth muscle. J Biol Chem.
- Ertel EA, Campbell KP, Harpold MM, Hofmann F, Mori Y, Perez-Reyes E, Schwartz A, Snutch TP, Tanabe T, Birnbaumer L, Tsien RW, Catterall WA (2000) Nomenclature of voltage-gated calcium channels. Neuron 25:533–535.
- Erxleben C, Liao Y, Gentile S, Chin D, Gomez-Alegria C, Mori Y, Birnbaumer L, Armstrong DL (2006) Cyclosporin and Timothy syndrome increase mode 2 gating of CaV1.2 calcium channels through aberrant phosphorylation of S6 helices. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:3932–3937.
- Escayg A, De Waard M, Lee DD, Bichet D, Wolf P, Mayer T, Johnston J, Baloh R, Sander T, Meisler MH (2000) Coding and noncoding variation of the human calcium-channel beta4-subunit gene CACNB4 in patients with idiopathic generalized epilepsy and episodic ataxia. Am J Hum Genet 66:1531–1539.
- Flink MT, Atchison WD (2003) Ca^{2+} channels as targets of neurological disease: Lambert-Eaton Syndrome and other Ca^{2+} channelopathies. J Bioenerg Biomembr 35:697–718.
- Flucher BE, Franzini-Armstrong C (1996) Formation of junctions involved in excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal and cardiac muscle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:8101–8106.
- Gherardini L, Van Den Maagdenberg A, Van De Ven RCG, Ferrari MD, Frants RR, Pietrobon D, Pizzorusso T (2006) Increased susceptibility to cortical spreading depression in knockin mice carrying the S218L mutation of human Cav2.1 calcium channels: a new model for in vivo study of familial hemiplegic migraine type 1 (FHM1). Poster: Federation of European Neuroscience Societies Forum, Vienna Austria.
- Goadsby PJ, Lipton RB, Ferrari MD (2002) Migraine–current understanding and treatment. N Engl J Med 346:257–270.
- Grassi C, Magnelli V, Carabelli V, Sher E, Carbone E (1994) Inhibition of low- and high-threshold Ca²⁺ channels of human neuroblastoma IMR32 cells by Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS) IgGs. Neurosci Lett 181:50–56.
- Guida S, Trettel F, Pagnutti S, Mantuano E, Tottene A, Veneziano L, Fellin T, Spadaro M, Stauderman K, Williams M, Volsen S, Ophoff R, Frants R, Jodice C, Frontali M, Pietrobon D (2001) Complete loss

of P/Q calcium channel activity caused by a CACNA1A missense mutation carried by patients with episodic ataxia type 2. Am J Hum Genet 68:759–764.

- Hans M, Luvisetto S, Williams ME, Spagnolo M, Urrutia A, Tottene A, Brust PF, Johnson EC, Harpold MM, Stauderman KA, Pietrobon D (1999) Functional consequences of mutations in the human alpha1A calcium channel subunit linked to familial hemiplegic migraine. J Neurosci 19:1610–1619.
- Hazlett HC, Poe M, Gerig G, Smith RG, Provenzale J, Ross A, Gilmore J, Piven J (2005) Magnetic resonance imaging and head circumference study of brain size in autism: birth through age 2 years. Arch Gen Psychiatry 62:1366–1376.
- Hemara-Wahanui A, Berjukow S, Hope CI, Dearden PK, Wu SB, Wilson-Wheeler J, Sharp DM, Lundon-Treweek P, Clover GM, Hoda JC, Striessnig J, Marksteiner R, Hering S, Maw MA (2005) A CACNA1F mutation identified in an X-linked retinal disorder shifts the voltage dependence of Cav1.4 channel activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:7553–7558.
- Hoda JC, Zaghetto F, Koschak A, Striessnig J (2005) Congenital stationary night blindness type 2 mutations S229P, G369D, L1068P, and W1440X alter channel gating or functional expression of Cav1.4 L-type Ca²⁺ channels. J Neurosci 25:252–259.
- Hoda JC, Zaghetto F, Singh A, Koschak A, Striessnig J (2006) Effects of congenital stationary night blindness type 2 mutations R508Q and L1364H on Cav1.4 L-type Ca²⁺ channel function and expression. J Neurochem 96:1648–1658.
- Huguenard JR (1996) Low-threshold calcium currents in central nervous system neurons. Annu Rev Physiol 58:329–348.
- Iles DE, Lehmann-Horn F, Scherer SW, Tsui LC, Olde Weghuis D, Suijkerbuijk RF, Heytens L, Mikala G, Schwartz A, Ellis FR, et al. (1994) Localization of the gene encoding the alpha 2/deltasubunits of the L-type voltage-dependent calcium channel to chromosome 7q and analysis of the segregation of flanking markers in malignant hyperthermia susceptible families. Hum Mol Genet 3:969–975.
- Imbrici P, Jaffe SL, Eunson LH, Davies NP, Herd C, Robertson R, Kullmann DM, Hanna MG (2004) Dysfunction of the brain calcium channel CaV2.1 in absence epilepsy and episodic ataxia. Brain 127:2682–2692.
- Ishikawa K, Fujigasaki H, Saegusa H, Ohwada K, Fujita T, Iwamoto H, Komatsuzaki Y, Toru S, Toriyama H, Watanabe M, Ohkoshi N, Shoji S, Kanazawa I, Tanabe T, Mizusawa H (1999) Abundant expression and cytoplasmic aggregations of [alpha]1A voltage-dependent calcium channel protein associated with neurodegeneration in spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. Hum Mol Genet 8:1185–1193.
- Ishikawa K, Tanaka H, Saito M, Ohkoshi N, Fujita T, Yoshizawa K, Ikeuchi T, Watanabe M, Hayashi A, Takiyama Y, Nishizawa M, Nakano I, Matsubayashi K, Miwa M, Shoji S, Kanazawa I, Tsuji S, Mizusawa H (1997) Japanese families with autosomal dominant pure cerebellar ataxia map to chromosome 19p13.1-p13.2 and are strongly associated with mild CAG expansions in the spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 gene in chromosome 19p13.1. Am J Hum Genet 61:336–346.
- Jacobson DM, Thompson HS, Bartley JA (1989) X-linked progressive cone dystrophy. Clinical characteristics of affected males and female carriers. Ophthalmology 96:885–895.
- Jalkanen R, Mantyjarvi M, Tobias R, Isosomppi J, Sankila EM, Alitalo T, Bech-Hansen NT (2006) X-linked cone-rod dystrophy, CORDX3, is caused by a mutation in the CACNA1F gene. J Med Genet.

Jen J, Kim GW, Baloh RW (2004) Clinical spectrum of episodic ataxia type 2. Neurology 62:17-22.

- Jen J, Wan J, Graves M, Yu H, Mock AF, Coulin CJ, Kim G, Yue Q, Papazian DM, Baloh RW (2001) Loss-of-function EA2 mutations are associated with impaired neuromuscular transmission. Neurology 57:1843–1848.
- Jeng CJ, Chen YT, Chen YW, Tang CY (2006) Dominant-negative effects of human P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channel mutations associated with episodic ataxia type 2. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 290:C1209–1220.
- Jouvenceau A, Eunson LH, Spauschus A, Ramesh V, Zuberi SM, Kullmann DM, Hanna MG (2001) Human epilepsy associated with dysfunction of the brain P/Q-type calcium channel. Lancet 358:801–807.
- Jun K, Piedras-Renteria ES, Smith SM, Wheeler DB, Lee SB, Lee TG, Chin H, Adams ME, Scheller RH, Tsien RW, Shin HS (1999) Ablation of P/Q-type Ca(2+) channel currents, altered

synaptic transmission, and progressive ataxia in mice lacking the alpha(1A)-subunit. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:15245–15250.

- Jurkat-Rott K, McCarthy T, Lehmann-Horn F (2000a) Genetics and pathogenesis of malignant hyperthermia. Muscle Nerve 23:4–17.
- Jurkat-Rott K, Uetz U, Pika-Hartlaub U, Powell J, Fontaine B, Melzer W, Lehmann-Horn F (1998) Calcium currents and transients of native and heterologously expressed mutant skeletal muscle DHP receptor alpha1 subunits (R528H). FEBS Lett 423:198–204.
- Jurkat-Rott K, Mitrovic N, Hang C, Kouzmekine A, Iaizzo P, Herzog J, Lerche H, Nicole S, Vale-Santos J, Chauveau D, Fontaine B, Lehmann-Horn F (2000b) Voltage-sensor sodium channel mutations cause hypokalemic periodic paralysis type 2 by enhanced inactivation and reduced current. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:9549–9554.
- Kaja S, van de Ven RC, Broos LA, Veldman H, van Dijk JG, Verschuuren JJ, Frants RR, Ferrari MD, van den Maagdenberg AM, Plomp JJ (2005) Gene dosage-dependent transmitter release changes at neuromuscular synapses of CACNA1A R192Q knockin mice are non-progressive and do not lead to morphological changes or muscle weakness. Neuroscience 135:81–95.
- Kang MG, Chen CC, Felix R, Letts VA, Frankel WN, Mori Y, Campbell KP (2001) Biochemical and biophysical evidence for gamma 2 subunit association with neuronal voltage-activated Ca²⁺ channels. J Biol Chem 276:32917–32924.
- Kaufmann WE, Cooper KL, Mostofsky SH, Capone GT, Kates WR, Newschaffer CJ, Bukelis I, Stump MH, Jann AE, Lanham DC (2003) Specificity of cerebellar vermian abnormalities in autism: a quantitative magnetic resonance imaging study. J Child Neurol 18:463–470.
- Khosravani H, Bladen C, Parker DB, Snutch TP, McRory JE, Zamponi GW (2005) Effects of Cav3.2 channel mutations linked to idiopathic generalized epilepsy. Ann Neurol 57:745–749.
- Khosravani H, Altier C, Simms B, Hamming KS, Snutch TP, Mezeyova J, McRory JE, Zamponi GW (2004) Gating effects of mutations in the Cav3.2 T-type calcium channel associated with childhood absence epilepsy. J Biol Chem 279:9681–9684.
- Kim D, Song I, Keum S, Lee T, Jeong MJ, Kim SS, McEnery MW, Shin HS (2001) Lack of the burst firing of thalamocortical relay neurons and resistance to absence seizures in mice lacking alpha(1G) T-type Ca(2+) channels. Neuron 31:35–45.
- Klaus MM, Scordilis SP, Rapalus JM, Briggs RT, Powell JA (1983) Evidence for dysfunction in the regulation of cytosolic Ca^{2+} in excitation-contraction uncoupled dysgenic muscle. Dev Biol 99:152–165.
- Klugbauer N, Welling A, Specht V, Seisenberger C, Hofmann F (2002) L-type Ca²⁺ channels of the embryonic mouse heart. Eur J Pharmacol 447:279–284.
- Knight YE, Bartsch T, Goadsby PJ (2003) Trigeminal antinociception induced by bicuculline in the periaqueductal gray (PAG) is not affected by PAG P/Q-type calcium channel blockade in rat. Neurosci Lett 336:113–116.
- Knight YE, Bartsch T, Kaube H, Goadsby PJ (2002) P/Q-type calcium-channel blockade in the periaqueductal gray facilitates trigeminal nociception: a functional genetic link for migraine? J Neurosci 22:RC213.
- Kordasiewicz HB, Thompson RM, Clark HB, Gomez CM (2006) C-termini of P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channel alpha1A subunits translocate to nuclei and promote polyglutamine-mediated toxicity. Hum Mol Genet 15:1587–1599.
- Kraus RL, Sinnegger MJ, Glossmann H, Hering S, Striessnig J (1998) Familial hemiplegic migraine mutations change alpha1A Ca²⁺ channel kinetics. J Biol Chem 273:5586–5590.
- Kraus RL, Sinnegger MJ, Koschak A, Glossmann H, Stenirri S, Carrera P, Striessnig J (2000) Three new familial hemiplegic migraine mutants affect P/Q-type Ca(2+) channel kinetics. J Biol Chem 275:9239–9243.
- Kugler G, Weiss RG, Flucher BE, Grabner M (2004) Structural requirements of the dihydropyridine receptor alpha1S II-III loop for skeletal-type excitation-contraction coupling. J Biol Chem 279:4721–4728.
- Lang B, Newsom-Davis J, Prior C, Wray D (1983) Antibodies to motor nerve terminals: an electrophysiological study of a human myasthenic syndrome transferred to mouse. J Physiol 344: 335–345.

- Lapie P, Goudet C, Nargeot J, Fontaine B, Lory P (1996) Electrophysiological properties of the hypokalaemic periodic paralysis mutation (R528H) of the skeletal muscle alpha 1s subunit as expressed in mouse L cells. FEBS Lett 382:244–248.
- Lau FC, Frank TC, Nahm SS, Stoica G, Abbott LC (2004) Postnatal apoptosis in cerebellar granule cells of homozygous leaner (tg1a/tg1a) mice. Neurotox Res 6:267–280.
- Lauritzen M (1994) Pathophysiology of the migraine aura. The spreading depression theory. Brain 117 (Pt 1):199–210.
- Lennon VA, Kryzer TJ, Griesmann GE, O'Suilleabhain PE, Windebank AJ, Woppmann A, Miljanich GP, Lambert EH (1995) Calcium-channel antibodies in the Lambert-Eaton syndrome and other paraneoplastic syndromes. N Engl J Med 332:1467–1474.
- Lerche H, Klugbauer N, Lehmann-Horn F, Hofmann F, Melzer W (1996) Expression and functional characterization of the cardiac L-type calcium channel carrying a skeletal muscle DHP-receptor mutation causing hypokalaemic periodic paralysis. Pflugers Arch 431:461–463.
- Letts VA, Felix R, Biddlecome GH, Arikkath J, Mahaffey CL, Valenzuela A, Bartlett FS, 2nd, Mori Y, Campbell KP, Frankel WN (1998) The mouse stargazer gene encodes a neuronal Ca²⁺-channel gamma subunit. Nat Genet 19:340–347.
- Lorenzon NM, Beam KG (2000) Calcium channelopathies. Kidney Int 57:794-802.
- Lorenzon NM, Lutz CM, Frankel WN, Beam KG (1998) Altered calcium channel currents in Purkinje cells of the neurological mutant mouse leaner. J Neurosci 18:4482–4489.
- Magnelli V, Grassi C, Parlatore E, Sher E, Carbone E (1996) Down-regulation of non-L-, non-N-type (Q-like) Ca²⁺ channels by Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome (LEMS) antibodies in rat insulinoma RINm5F cells. FEBS Lett 387:47–52.
- Matsuo K, Taneichi K, Matsumoto A, Ohtani T, Yamasue H, Sakano Y, Sasaki T, Sadamatsu M, Kasai K, Iwanami A, Asukai N, Kato N, Kato T (2003) Hypoactivation of the prefrontal cortex during verbal fluency test in PTSD: a near-infrared spectroscopy study. Psychiatry Res 124:1–10.
- Matsushita K, Wakamori M, Rhyu IJ, Arii T, Oda S, Mori Y, Imoto K (2002) Bidirectional alterations in cerebellar synaptic transmission of tottering and rolling Ca²⁺ channel mutant mice. J Neurosci 22:4388–4398.
- Matsuyama Z, Wakamori M, Mori Y, Kawakami H, Nakamura S, Imoto K (1999) Direct alteration of the P/Q-type Ca^{2+} channel property by polyglutamine expansion in spinocerebellar ataxia 6. J Neurosci 19:RC14.
- McEnery MW, Copeland TD, Vance CL (1998) Altered expression and assembly of N-type calcium channel alpha1B and beta subunits in epileptic lethargic (lh/lh) mouse. J Biol Chem 273:21435–21438.
- McKay BE, McRory JE, Molineux ML, Hamid J, Snutch TP, Zamponi GW, Turner RW (2006) Ca(V)3 T-type calcium channel isoforms differentially distribute to somatic and dendritic compartments in rat central neurons. Eur J Neurosci 24:2581–2594.
- McRory JE, Santi CM, Hamming KS, Mezeyova J, Sutton KG, Baillie DL, Stea A, Snutch TP (2001) Molecular and functional characterization of a family of rat brain T-type calcium channels. J Biol Chem 276:3999–4011.
- McRory JE, Hamid J, Doering CJ, Garcia E, Parker R, Hamming K, Chen L, Hildebrand M, Beedle AM, Feldcamp L, Zamponi GW, Snutch TP (2004) The CACNA1F gene encodes an L-type calcium channel with unique biophysical properties and tissue distribution. J Neurosci 24:1707–1718.
- Meeren HK, Pijn JP, Van Luijtelaar EL, Coenen AM, Lopes da Silva FH (2002) Cortical focus drives widespread corticothalamic networks during spontaneous absence seizures in rats. J Neurosci 22:1480–1495.
- Meier H (1968) The neuropathology of ducky, a neurological mutation of the mouse. A pathological and preliminary histochemical study. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 11:15–28.
- Meissner G (1994) Ryanodine receptor/ Ca^{2+} release channels and their regulation by endogenous effectors. Annu Rev Physiol 56:485–508.
- Melliti K, Grabner M, Seabrook GR (2003) The familial hemiplegic migraine mutation R192Q reduces G-protein-mediated inhibition of P/Q-type (Ca(V)2.1) calcium channels expressed in human embryonic kidney cells. J Physiol 546:337–347.

- Miyake Y, Yagasaki K, Horiguchi M, Kawase Y, Kanda T (1986) Congenital stationary night blindness with negative electroretinogram. A new classification. Arch Ophthalmol 104:1013–1020.
- Mori Y, Wakamori M, Oda S, Fletcher CF, Sekiguchi N, Mori E, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Matsushita K, Matsuyama Z, Imoto K (2000) Reduced voltage sensitivity of activation of P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channels is associated with the ataxic mouse mutation rolling Nagoya (tg(rol)). J Neurosci 20:5654–5662.
- Morrill JA, Cannon SC (1999) Effects of mutations causing hypokalaemic periodic paralysis on the skeletal muscle L-type Ca²⁺ channel expressed in Xenopus laevis oocytes. J Physiol 520 Pt 2:321–336.
- Morrill JA, Brown RH, Jr., Cannon SC (1998) Gating of the L-type Ca channel in human skeletal myotubes: an activation defect caused by the hypokalemic periodic paralysis mutation R528H. J Neurosci 18:10320–10334.
- Mullner C, Broos LA, van den Maagdenberg AM, Striessnig J (2004) Familial hemiplegic migraine type 1 mutations K1336E, W1684R, and V1696I alter Cav2.1 Ca²⁺ channel gating: evidence for beta-subunit isoform-specific effects. J Biol Chem 279:51844–51850.
- Nachman-Clewner M, St Jules R, Townes-Anderson E (1999) L-type calcium channels in the photoreceptor ribbon synapse: localization and role in plasticity. J Comp Neurol 415:1–16.
- O'Neill JH, Murray NM, Newsom-Davis J (1988) The Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome. A review of 50 cases. Brain 111 (Pt 3):577–596.
- Ophoff RA, Terwindt GM, Vergouwe MN, van Eijk R, Oefner PJ, Hoffman SM, Lamerdin JE, Mohrenweiser HW, Bulman DE, Ferrari M, Haan J, Lindhout D, van Ommen GJ, Hofker MH, Ferrari MD, Frants RR (1996) Familial hemiplegic migraine and episodic ataxia type-2 are caused by mutations in the Ca²⁺ channel gene CACNL1A4. Cell 87:543–552.
- Patil PG, Brody DL, Yue DT (1998) Preferential closed-state inactivation of neuronal calcium channels. Neuron 20:1027–1038.
- Peloquin JB, Khosravani H, Barr W, Bladen C, Evans R, Mezeyova J, Parker D, Snutch TP, McRory JE, Zamponi GW (2006) Functional analysis of Ca3.2 T-type calcium channel mutations linked to childhood absence epilepsy. Epilepsia 47:655–658.
- Perez-Reyes E (2003) Molecular physiology of low-voltage-activated t-type calcium channels. Physiol Rev 83:117–161.
- Piedras-Renteria ES, Watase K, Harata N, Zhuchenko O, Zoghbi HY, Lee CC, Tsien RW (2001) Increased expression of alpha 1A Ca²⁺ channel currents arising from expanded trinucleotide repeats in spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. J Neurosci 21:9185–9193.
- Pietrobon D (2005a) Migraine: new molecular mechanisms. Neuroscientist 11:373-386.
- Pietrobon (2005b) Function and dysfunction of synaptic calcium channels: insight from mouse models. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 15:257–265.
- Pinto A, Iwasa K, Newland C, Newsom-Davis J, Lang B (2002) The action of Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome immunoglobulin G on cloned human voltage-gated calcium channels. Muscle Nerve 25:715–724.
- Powell JA, Fambrough DM (1973) Electrical properties of normal and dysgenic mouse skeletal muscle in culture. J Cell Physiol 82:21–38.
- Qian J, Noebels JL (2000) Presynaptic Ca(2+) influx at a mouse central synapse with Ca(2+) channel subunit mutations. J Neurosci 20:163–170.
- Restituito S, Thompson RM, Eliet J, Raike RS, Riedl M, Charnet P, Gomez CM (2000) The polyglutamine expansion in spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 causes a beta subunit-specific enhanced activation of P/Q-type calcium channels in Xenopus oocytes. J Neurosci 20:6394–6403.
- Rios E, Brum G (1987) Involvement of dihydropyridine receptors in excitation-contraction coupling in skeletal muscle. Nature 325:717–720.
- Ritvo ER, Freeman BJ, Scheibel AB, Duong T, Robinson H, Guthrie D, Ritvo A (1986) Lower Purkinje cell counts in the cerebella of four autistic subjects: initial findings of the UCLA-NSAC Autopsy Research Report. Am J Psychiatry 143:862–866.
- Robinson R, Gardiner M (2000) Genetics of childhood epilepsy. Arch Dis Child 82:121-125.
- Rudel R, Lehmann-Horn F, Ricker K, Kuther G (1984) Hypokalemic periodic paralysis: in vitro investigation of muscle fiber membrane parameters. Muscle Nerve 7:110–120.

- Ruff RL (2000) Skeletal muscle sodium current is reduced in hypokalemic periodic paralysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:9832–9833.
- Sadamatsu M, Kanai H, Xu X, Liu Y, Kato N (2006) Review of animal models for autism: implication of thyroid hormone. Congenit Anom (Kyoto) 46:1–9.
- Sander T (1996) The genetics of idiopathic generalized epilepsy: implications for the understanding of its aetiology. Mol Med Today 2:173–180.
- Sipos I, Jurkat-Rott K, Harasztosi C, Fontaine B, Kovacs L, Melzer W, Lehmann-Horn F (1995) Skeletal muscle DHP receptor mutations alter calcium currents in human hypokalaemic periodic paralysis myotubes. J Physiol 483 (Pt 2):299–306.
- Snutch TP (2005) Targeting chronic and neuropathic pain: the N-type calcium channel comes of age. NeuroRx 2:662–670.
- Snutch TP, David LS (2006) T-Type Calcium Channels: An Emerging Therapeutic Target for the Treatment of Pain. Drug Development Research:404–415.
- Snutch TP, Peloquin J, Mathews E, McRory JE (2005) Molecular Properties of Voltage-Gated Calcium Channels. In: Voltage-Gated Calcium Channels (Zamponi G, ed), pp 61–94: Landes Biosciences.
- Spacey SD, Hildebrand ME, Materek LA, Bird TD, Snutch TP (2004) Functional implications of a novel EA2 mutation in the P/Q-type calcium channel. Ann Neurol 56:213–220.
- Splawski I, Yoo DS, Stotz SC, Cherry A, Clapham DE, Keating MT (2006) CACNA1H Mutations in Autism Spectrum Disorders. J Biol Chem 281:22085–22091.
- Splawski I, Timothy KW, Decher N, Kumar P, Sachse FB, Beggs AH, Sanguinetti MC, Keating MT (2005) Severe arrhythmia disorder caused by cardiac L-type calcium channel mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8089–8096; discussion 8086–8088.
- Splawski I, Timothy KW, Sharpe LM, Decher N, Kumar P, Bloise R, Napolitano C, Schwartz PJ, Joseph RM, Condouris K, Tager-Flusberg H, Priori SG, Sanguinetti MC, Keating MT (2004) Ca(V)1.2 calcium channel dysfunction causes a multisystem disorder including arrhythmia and autism. Cell 119:19–31.
- Striessnig J, Hoda JC, Koschak A, Zaghetto F, Mullner C, Sinnegger-Brauns MJ, Wild C, Watschinger K, Trockenbacher A, Pelster G (2004) L-type Ca²⁺ channels in Ca²⁺ channelopathies. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322:1341–1346.
- Suh YS, Oda S, Kang YH, Kim H, Rhyu IJ (2002) Apoptotic cell death of cerebellar granule cells in rolling mouse Nagoya. Neurosci Lett 325:1–4.
- Sutton KG, McRory JE, Guthrie H, Murphy TH, Snutch TP (1999) P/Q-type calcium channels mediate the activity-dependent feedback of syntaxin-1A. Nature 401:800–804.
- Szatmari P (1999) Heterogeneity and the genetics of autism. J Psychiatry Neurosci 24:159-165.
- Tachibana M, Okada T, Arimura T, Kobayashi K, Piccolino M (1993) Dihydropyridine-sensitive calcium current mediates neurotransmitter release from bipolar cells of the goldfish retina. J Neurosci 13:2898–2909.
- Takahashi T, Momiyama A (1993) Different types of calcium channels mediate central synaptic transmission. Nature 366:156–158.
- Talley EM, Cribbs LL, Lee JH, Daud A, Perez-Reyes E, Bayliss DA (1999) Differential distribution of three members of a gene family encoding low voltage-activated (T-type) calcium channels. J Neurosci 19:1895–1911.
- Tanabe T, Beam KG, Adams BA, Niidome T, Numa S (1990) Regions of the skeletal muscle dihydropyridine receptor critical for excitation-contraction coupling. Nature 346:567–569.
- Thomsen LL, Eriksen MK, Roemer SF, Andersen I, Olesen J, Russell MB (2002) A population-based study of familial hemiplegic migraine suggests revised diagnostic criteria. Brain 125:1379–1391.
- Tomita S, Chen L, Kawasaki Y, Petralia RS, Wenthold RJ, Nicoll RA, Bredt DS (2003) Functional studies and distribution define a family of transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory proteins. J Cell Biol 161:805–816.
- Toru S, Murakoshi T, Ishikawa K, Saegusa H, Fujigasaki H, Uchihara T, Nagayama S, Osanai M, Mizusawa H, Tanabe T (2000) Spinocerebellar ataxia type 6 mutation alters P-type calcium channel function. J Biol Chem 275:10893–10898.

- Tottene A, Pivotto F, Fellin T, Cesetti T, van den Maagdenberg AM, Pietrobon D (2005a) Specific kinetic alterations of human CaV2.1 calcium channels produced by mutation S218L causing familial hemiplegic migraine and delayed cerebral edema and coma after minor head trauma. J Biol Chem 280:17678–17686.
- Tottene A, Shapovalova M, Frants RR, Ferrari M, van den Maagdenberg AMJ, Pietrobon D (2005b) Gain-Of-Function Of Cav2.1 Calcium Channels Leads To Increased Excitatory Synaptic Transmission In Microcultures Of Cortical Neurons From Cacna1a Knock-In Mice With The R192Q Familial Hemiplegic Migraine Mutation. Abstract Viewer/Itinerary Planner Washington, DC: Society for Neuroscience, 2005 Online.
- Tottene A, Fellin T, Pagnutti S, Luvisetto S, Striessnig J, Fletcher C, Pietrobon D (2002) Familial hemiplegic migraine mutations increase Ca(2+) influx through single human CaV2.1 channels and decrease maximal CaV2.1 current density in neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:13284–13289.
- Tremblay F, Laroche RG, De Becker I (1995) The electroretinographic diagnosis of the incomplete form of congenital stationary night blindness. Vision Res 35:2383–2393.
- Tricarico D, Servidei S, Tonali P, Jurkat-Rott K, Camerino DC (1999) Impairment of skeletal muscle adenosine triphosphate-sensitive K+ channels in patients with hypokalemic periodic paralysis. J Clin Invest 103:675–682.
- Tsakiridou E, Bertollini L, de Curtis M, Avanzini G, Pape HC (1995) Selective increase in T-type calcium conductance of reticular thalamic neurons in a rat model of absence epilepsy. J Neurosci 15:3110–3117.
- van den Maagdenberg AM, Pietrobon D, Pizzorusso T, Kaja S, Broos LA, Cesetti T, van de Ven RC, Tottene A, van der Kaa J, Plomp JJ, Frants RR, Ferrari MD (2004) A Cacnala knockin migraine mouse model with increased susceptibility to cortical spreading depression. Neuron 41:701–710.
- Vitko I, Chen Y, Arias JM, Shen Y, Wu XR, Perez-Reyes E (2005) Functional characterization and neuronal modeling of the effects of childhood absence epilepsy variants of CACNA1H, a T-type calcium channel. J Neurosci 25:4844–4855.
- Wakamori M, Yamazaki K, Matsunodaira H, Teramoto T, Tanaka I, Niidome T, Sawada K, Nishizawa Y, Sekiguchi N, Mori E, Mori Y, Imoto K (1998) Single tottering mutations responsible for the neuropathic phenotype of the P-type calcium channel. J Biol Chem 273:34857–34867.
- Walker D, De Waard M (1998) Subunit interaction sites in voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channels: role in channel function. Trends Neurosci 21:148–154.
- Walker D, Bichet D, Geib S, Mori E, Cornet V, Snutch TP, Mori Y, De Waard M (1999) A new beta subtype-specific interaction in alpha1A subunit controls P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channel activation. J Biol Chem 274:12383–12390.
- Wan J, Khanna R, Sandusky M, Papazian DM, Jen JC, Baloh RW (2005) CACNA1A mutations causing episodic and progressive ataxia alter channel trafficking and kinetics. Neurology 64:2090–2097.
- Wang J, Han C, Jing Y, Chen Y, Feng N, Lu J, Zhang Y, Pan H, Wu H, Xu K, Jiang Y, Liang J, Wang L, Wang X, Shen Y, Wu X (2006) [The effect of CACNA1H gene G773D mutation on calcium channel function.]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi 23:369–373.
- Wappl E, Koschak A, Poteser M, Sinnegger MJ, Walter D, Eberhart A, Groschner K, Glossmann H, Kraus RL, Grabner M, Striessnig J (2002) Functional consequences of P/Q-type Ca²⁺ channel Cav2.1 missense mutations associated with episodic ataxia type 2 and progressive ataxia. J Biol Chem 277:6960–6966.
- Wei XY, Perez-Reyes E, Lacerda AE, Schuster G, Brown AM, Birnbaumer L (1991) Heterologous regulation of the cardiac Ca²⁺ channel alpha 1 subunit by skeletal muscle beta and gamma subunits. Implications for the structure of cardiac L-type Ca²⁺ channels. J Biol Chem 266:21943–21947.
- Wheeler DB, Randall A, Tsien RW (1994) Roles of N-type and Q-type Ca²⁺ channels in supporting hippocampal synaptic transmission. Science 264:107–111.
- Wu SM (1994) Synaptic transmission in the outer retina. Annu Rev Physiol 56:141–168.
- Zhou YD, Turner TJ, Dunlap K (2003) Enhanced G protein-dependent modulation of excitatory synaptic transmission in the cerebellum of the Ca²⁺ channel-mutant mouse, tottering. J Physiol 547:497–507.
- Zhuchenko O, Bailey J, Bonnen P, Ashizawa T, Stockton DW, Amos C, Dobyns WB, Subramony SH, Zoghbi HY, Lee CC (1997) Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia (SCA6) associated with small polyglutamine expansions in the alpha 1A-voltage-dependent calcium channel. Nat Genet 15:62–69.

CHAPTER 9

TRP CHANNELS IN DISEASE

S.E. JORDT AND B.E. EHRLICH

Department of Pharmacology, Yale University School of Medicine, 333 Cedar Street, New Haven, CT 06520-8066

Abstract: The transient receptor potential (TRP) channels are a large family of proteins with six main subfamilies termed the TRPC (canonical), TRPV (vanilloid), TRPM (melastatin), TRPP (polycystin), TRPML (mucolipin), and TRPA (ankyrin) groups. The sheer number of different TRPs with distinct functions supports the statement that these channels are involved in a wide range of processes ranging from sensing of thermal and chemical signals to reloading intracellular stores after responding to an extracellular stimulus. Mutations in TRPs are linked to pathophysiology and specific diseases. An understanding of the role of TRPs in normal physiology is just beginning; the progression from mutations in TRPs to pathophysiology and disease will follow. In this review, we focus on two distinct aspects of TRP channel physiology, the role of TRP channels in intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis, and their role in the transduction of painful stimuli in sensory neurons

Keywords: transient receptor potential, intracellular calcium, polycystic kidney disease, pain

1. INTRODUCTION

The TRP channels were first identified in insects (Montell and Rubin 1989). Interest in the study of these channels increased greatly after the publication of several key findings: that the TRP channels are in mammalian cells, that these channels are used in many cell types for sensing thermal and chemical changes and for reloading intracellular calcium (Ca²⁺) stores, and that mutations and alterations in these channels are responsible for specific human diseases (Nilius, Voets et al. 2005). There have been a number of excellent reviews describing the history of these discoveries and of the current state of knowledge. In this brief review we will describe how TRP channels are involved in Ca²⁺ homeostasis and signaling and we will focus on aspects of the channels that may be altered in the generation of pathophysiological states.

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 253–271. © 2007 Springer.

We will discuss two well established examples for the involvement of TRP channels in disease. First, we will address the role of TRP channels in polycystic kidney disease, a Mendelian kidney disorder with high prevalence in caucasian populations. Two genes have been found to be mutated in this disorder, polycystin 1, a very large membrane protein, and polycystin 2, a TRP channel interacting with polycystin 1. In the second part of our review we will discuss the role of TRP ion channels in pain and somatosensation. Several members of the TRP family are specifically expressed in peripheral sensory neurons, including the nociceptors, the neurons involved in pain transduction. These channels are involved in the sensation of hot and cold temperature and are targets of inflammatory chemical mediators and signaling pathways.

2. TRP CHANNELS IN POLYCYSTIC KIDNEY DISEASE (PKD) AND INTRACELLULAR CA²⁺HOMEOSTASIS

Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD) is a systemic hereditary disease that is characterized by renal and hepatic cysts, and results in end-stage renal failure in approximately 50% of affected individuals (Wu, Kamimura et al. 2000). Most cases (>95%) are caused by genetic mutations in either the *PKD1* or the *PKD2* gene, which encode polycystin-1 (PC1) and polycystin-2 (PC2), respectively (Mahata, O'Connor et al. 1997). Although disease-associated mutations have been identified in these two proteins, the sequence of molecular events leading up to clinical symptoms is still unknown. There is no known treatment or preventative therapy for this disease. Elucidation of the signaling pathway involved in normal PC1/PC2 function, the functional consequences of PC1/PC2 mutation, and the role of Ca²⁺ signaling will all help to unravel the molecular mechanisms of cystogenesis in PKD.

2.1. Polycystin-1

PKD1 encodes a \sim 462-kDa protein (PC1), and it is expressed in many tissues, including the kidney, heart, brain, muscle, and bone (Hughes, Ward et al. 1995; Geng, Segal et al. 1997). Although PC1 is not a member of the TRP family, it is associated with PC2, which is a TRP, and is important for some functions of PC2. PC1 is localized to the plasma membrane and primary cilia (Hanaoka, Qian et al. 2000; Newby, Streets et al. 2002; Yoder, Hou et al. 2002). It has 11 transmembrane spanning domains, a long extracellular N-terminus, and a short intracellular C-terminus. The N-terminus contains several subdomains that have significant homology with defined functional units (Hughes, Ward et al. 1995). Domains in the extracellular amino terminus of the protein are predicted to support protein-protein interactions (Huan and van Adelsberg 1999; Boletta, Qian et al. 2000; Scheffers, van der Bent et al. 2000; Xu, Sikaneta et al. 2001; Dackowski, Luderer et al. 2002) and to constitute a G-protein-coupled receptor-type proteolytic site (GPS) (Ponting, Hofmann et al. 1999; Mengerink, Moy et al. 2002). The coiled-coil

and heterotrimeric G-protein binding and activation domains were identified in the cytoplasmic carboxy terminus (Sandford, Sgotto et al. 1997; Parnell, Magenheimer et al. 1998). Although PC1 has all these putative signaling motifs, its function is still poorly understood compared to PC2.

2.2. Polycystin-2

PKD2 gene product, PC2, encodes a 110-kDa protein (Mochizuki, Wu et al. 1996), and it is expressed in most adult and fetal tissues (Luo, Vassilev et al. 2003). PC2 has 6 transmembrane spanning domains and both the C- and N-terminus are intracellular. The C-terminus contains a coiled-coil domain, an EF hand motif, four putative phosphorylation sites and an ER retention signal. PC2 has N-glycosylation sites on its first and second cytoplasmic loops and three SH3 domains on its N-terminus (Mochizuki, Wu et al. 1996). The second through sixth transmembrane domains share significant sequence homology with the voltage-activated- Ca²⁺ and sodium-channels and TRPC1 (Mochizuki, Wu et al. 1996; Tsiokas, Arnould et al. 1999). PC2 can form homodimers and, it co-assembles with PC1 both *in vitro* and *in vivo* through its coiled-coil domains (Qian, Germino et al. 1997; Tsiokas, Kim et al. 1997; Hanaoka, Qian et al. 2000; Xu and Arnaout 2002).

It became more important to understand the channel properties of PC2 after it was found that a pathogenic missense mutation of PC2 (D511V), where a single amino acid in the third membrane-spanning domain is mutated, results in loss of PC2 channel activity (Koulen, Cai et al. 2002). This missense mutant retains its localization and C-terminal-mediated protein interaction and regulatory domains of the wild type protein, thus providing evidence that the loss of channel function alone is sufficient to cause PKD.

Recent studies indicate that the channel properties of PC2 are similar regardless of whether it is expressed exogenously in *Xenopus* oocytes, Sf9 insect cells, or mammalian cell lines, or it is reconstituted into lipid bilayer membranes from native vesicles or affinity-purified protein (Hanaoka, Qian et al. 2000; Gonzalez-Perrett, Kim et al. 2001; Vassilev, Guo et al. 2001; Koulen, Cai et al. 2002). PC2 is a nonselective cation channel with multiple subconductance states, and a high permeability to Ca²⁺(Gonzalez-Perrett, Kim et al. 2001). PC2 is permeable to monovalent cations such as Na⁺, Cs⁺, and K⁺ and to divalent cations such as Ba²⁺and Mg²⁺ (Gonzalez-Perrett, Kim et al. 2001; Koulen, Cai et al. 2002), but it is more permeable to divalent than monovalent cations (Koulen, Cai et al. 2002). PC2 channels are inhibited by high concentrations of Ca^{2+} (Cai, Anyatonwu et al. 2004). Other known inhibitors include La³⁺, Gd³⁺ (Figure 1), amiloride, and a reduction in pH (Gonzalez-Perrett, Kim et al. 2001). It is interesting to note that PC2 currents were insensitive to the regulators of the InsP₃R and the RyR, but PC2 was inhibited by gadolinium (Gd^{3+}) (Figure 1) in the same concentration range as other TRP's (Trebak, Bird et al. 2002).

It is unknown how many subunits make up the pore of the PC2 channel. With an understanding of the permeation properties of the PC2 channel, an estimate



Figure 1. PC2 channels inhibited by Gd^{3+} . The top panel shows currents obtained from PC2 incorporated into a bilayer. This is a control trace showing Cs⁺ current measured at -45 mV transmembrane potential. The solid and broken lines to the right of the traces indicate the closed and open states, respectively. The second and third traces show currents after the addition of Gd^{3+} . The bottom panel shows the concentration dependence of the block by Gd^{3+} , circles when added to the cytoplasmic side, squares when added to the lumenal side. The Kd is 206 μ M; Gd^{3+} only blocks when added to the cytoplasmic side. Modified from (Anyatonwu and Ehrlich 2005)

of the channel composition can be made. As with the RyR (Tinker and Williams 1993) we estimated the pore size of PC2 by using organic cations of increasing size as current carriers through the PC2 channel after PC2 was incorporated into lipid bilayers. We found that dimethylamine, triethylamine, tetraethylammonium, tetrabutylammonium, tetrapropylammonium, and tetrapentylammonium were permeable through the PC2 channel. The slope conductance of the PC2 channel decreased as



Figure 2. Comparison of the conductance of RyR and PC2. Modified from (Anyatonwu and Ehrlich 2005)

the ionic diameter of the organic cation increased (Figure 2). These results suggest that the PC2 channel has a minimum pore diameter of at least 11 Å.

The large pore suggests that the primary state found *in vivo* is closed to avoid rundown of cation gradients across the plasma membrane and excessive Ca^{2+} leak from the endoplasmic reticulum stores.

One of the big challenges in understanding the function of PC2 is finding the physiological activator of the channel. A knowledge of these activators is needed to investigate the mechanism of action of PC2 in normal cells and how alterations in this protein leads to disease. At the present time, only mechanical linkage to PC1 and alterations in intracellular Ca^{2+} are known to activate PC2.

2.3. PC1/PC2 Linkage

Because mutations in PC1 and PC2 result in similar kidney disease in humans and PC2 is able to interact with PC1 through its coiled-coil domain *in vitro*, it has been suggested that PC1 and PC2 form a functional complex. In cells containing both PC1 and PC2, deletion of the C-terminus of either PC1 or PC2 can alter intracellular Ca^{2+} signals (Hanaoka, Qian et al. 2000). These intracellular Ca^{2+} changes can be induced by fluid flow along the apical surface of kidney (Praetorius and Spring 2001) and bile duct cells (Masyuk, Masyuk et al. 2006). It is important to note that fluid-flow induced signaling requires the presence of primary cilia (Praetorius and Spring 2001). Reduction in the protein levels of either PC1 or

PC2 by small interfering RNAs abolishes the flow-induced Ca^{2+} signal (Masyuk, Masyuk et al. 2006), providing further evidence that the ciliary signaling complex utilizes both PC1 and PC2.

However, in cultured cells which lack the primary cilia, the intracellular Ca^{2+} signals can still be altered by PC2. Addition of the extracellular agonist, vasopressin, stimulated cells overexpressing full-length PC2 to generate a Ca^{2+} transient that is approximately two-fold larger in magnitude and approximately ten-fold longer in duration when compared to cells expressing native levels of wild type PC2 (Koulen, Cai et al. 2002). The increased duration and amplitude of transients persisted in the absence of extracellular Ca^{2+} , suggesting that the increase in cytosolic Ca^{2+} results from release from intracellular stores (Koulen, Cai et al. 2002). In addition, InsP₃R activation was required for PC2-mediated Ca^{2+} release (Koulen, Cai et al. 2002), providing further support for the role of intracellular stores as the major source of the released Ca^{2+} . These studies show that PC2 can function as a channel when expressed without PC1.

2.4. Alterations in Intracellular Ca²⁺

Channel activity was increased by elevating the free Ca^{2+} concentrations on the cytoplasmic side, but increases in the Ca^{2+} concentration above 1 µM decreased the open probability of PC2 channels. This bell-shaped dependence is similar to that found for the inositol 1,4,5 trisphosphate receptor (InsP₃R) and the ryanodine receptor (RyR), but PC2 is more sensitive to Ca^{2+} -dependent inhibition than the RyR, another intracellular channels (Figure 3).

This Ca^{2+} dependence can be altered by phosphorylation of PC2 (Cai, Anyatonwu et al. 2004), in particular, phosphorylation of serine 812. When the point mutation S812A of PC2 was tested in bilayer reconstitution experiments, it had channel activity similar to wild type PC2, except it was less sensitive to Ca^{2+} . When wild type PC2 channels were treated with alkaline phosphatase to remove the phosphate, the sensitivity to Ca^{2+} also declined, implying that this site could be important for Ca^{2+} -dependent regulation of PC2 (Cai, Anyatonwu et al. 2004). One caveat with using this type of regulation to explain changes in PC2 function in intact cells is that mutations of S812 have not been identified as a pathologenic mutation.

2.5. PC2 Channels can Regulate Intracellular Ca²⁺ Channels

The downstream effects of PC2 have been hypothesized to depend upon an interaction between PC2 and RyR (Nauli, Alenghat et al. 2003). Although previous work suggested that the RyR is important for propagating the intracellular Ca²⁺signals, the major intracellular Ca²⁺ channel in epithelial cells is the InsP₃R. Recently a functional interaction between the InsP₃R type 1 and PC2 was described (Li, Wright et al. 2005). The C terminal portion of PC2 was shown to bind directly to the InsP₃R and the duration of intracellular signals was prolonged after overexpression



Figure 3. The bell-shaped Ca^{2+} dependence of PC2 and RyR. Note that the PC2 channels are inhibited at a Ca^{2+} concentration lower than that needed to fully inhibit RyRs. Data from (Cai, Anyatonwu et al. 2004)

of either the C terminus or full length PC2 (Li, Wright et al. 2005). In this case, mutations in PC2, especially those that occur in the C terminal portion of the protein will lead to alterations in intracellular signals.

PC2 may also function as an intracellular Ca^{2+} channel itself. A large population of PC2 channels can be detected in the endoplasmatic reticulum (Vassilev, Guo et al. 2001; Koulen, Cai et al. 2002; Giamarchi, Padilla et al. 2006). Until recently, it was thought there were only two major classes of intracellular Ca^{2+} channels: the RyRs and the InsP₃Rs. It is now agreed that there are three classes of intracellular channels. Many cell types contain all three classes of channels, but the relative densities vary dramatically. Cells also can have multiple isoforms of these channels. The co-existence of a variety of intracellular channels is not surprising as cells need to respond to diverse stimuli with specific responses. Whether the intracellular function of PC2 channels is relevant for the disease mechanism of PKD remains to be established.

2.6. The Implications of Ca²⁺ Signaling by PC2 in PKD

PKD involves abnormal proliferation and differentiation of kidney epithelial cells, resulting in the formation of cysts that eventually destroy the kidneys in affected individuals. Together, PC1 and 2 appear to form a complex that senses the state of the kidney epithelium as an early step in a pathway that controls epithelial

proliferation, differentiation, and/or apoptosis (Igarashi and Somlo 2002). The molecular steps that are altered when there is a mutation in PC1 or PC2 are still poorly understood.

It is likely that the ciliary polycystins provide a Ca^{2+} signal in response to mechanosensory stimulation, and then this Ca^{2+} and other signals are integrated into an appropriate cellular response. The transformation of a renal epithelial cell into a hyperproliferating epithelial cell which divides and becomes a cyst will probably involve changes in gene expression that reflects aberrant Ca^{2+} mobilization from intracellular stores (Calvet 2003). Identifying the affected signaling pathways and their gene targets is crucial if one hopes to discover how the system interacts and ultimately the role they play in cyst formation in polycystic kidney disease.

Clearly, the disease begins with a defect in the polycystins, signaling proteins which are located on the kidney primary cilia. These defects render the PC complex incapable of transmitting their normal response to downstream signals which maintain cell function. The sensing function of PC1, the channel properties of PC2, the ability to hand off the signal are examples of steps that could be disrupted. Once the cascade is broken there are changes in the cell's ability to regulate proliferation, migration, and differentiation. Dissection of these questions and issues will be a challenge. An integration of these pathways, involving G proteins, phosphorylation of serine kinases and protein kinases, and intracellular second messengers including Ca^{2+} and cAMP, will be critical for understanding cell function in this disease. Studies of mice with targeted mutations of PKD1 and PKD2 (Lu, Peissel et al. 1997; Wu, D'Agati et al. 1998) or transgenic animals created in which either gene can be inactivated during adulthood could provide answers to these questions.

3. TRP CHANNELS, CALCIUM AND PAIN

Noxious and innocuous physical and chemical stimuli are sensed by peripheral sensory neurons (Wall 1999). Action potentials elicited by peripheral stimuli travel along sensory nerve fibers until they reach synapses in the spinal cord. These incoming signals are integrated within the CNS, resulting in the sensation of pain, warmth, cool or pressure. Intracellular Ca²⁺ levels in sensory neurons are tightly regulated. Ca²⁺ ions play an important role in sensory neural function, both by promoting depolarization and by activating the local release of pro-inflammatory mediators from sensory nerve endings, causing neurogenic inflammation (Julius and Basbaum 2001). These mediators, including neuropeptides such as Substance P and CGRP or chemical transmitters such as ATP, are stored within vesicles in the sensory nerve endings. Vesicles fuse with the plasma membrane upon Ca^{2+} influx, triggering the release of their cargo. Substance P and CGRP cause local vasodilation, vascular permeabilization and edema formation. In addition, these sensory neuropeptides modulate the function of immune cells, thereby acting as a link between the sensory neural system and the immune system. Neurogenic inflammation is an important inflammatory mechanism contributing to chronic inflammation in arthritis, asthma and other conditions.

Until recently, the major stimulus-dependent Ca^{2+} influx pathways in sensory neurons were unknown. Although sensory neurons express voltage-gated Ca^{2+} channels, neuronal Ca^{2+} dynamics and signaling can not be explained solely through the properties of these channels. The study of the mechanism of action of paininducing plant-derived natural products finally led to a breakthrough in our understanding of sensory neural excitability and Ca^{2+} -dynamics. Natural products such as capsaicin, the pungent ingredient in chili peppers, or mustard oil (allyl isothiocyanate) are strong activators of nociceptors, the sensory neurons involved in pain transduction (Wall 1999). Both capsaicin and mustard oil were used as important tools to define neural cellular subpopulations and to study the mechanism of neurogenic inflammation. Capsaicin also activates the sensation of warmth or heat. Other natural products can activate the sensation of cooling. These include menthol, the active ingredient in peppermint, and eucalyptol, a compound found in eucalyptus. Both compounds are thought to cause the sensation of cooling through the activation of cold-sensitive sensory neurons.

Pharmacological and functional studies of capsaicin, mustard oil and menthol activity found that all three compounds activate Ca²⁺ influx into specific neural subpopulations through the activation of non-selective cation conductances with properties similar to TRP channels. In 1997 the receptor for capsaicin was cloned through an expression cloning strategy based on its capsaicin-sensitive Ca²⁺-influx activity (Caterina, Schumacher et al. 1997). The receptor, TRPV1, is the founding member of a novel branch of the TRP gene family, the TRPV channels. Subsequent studies using similar approaches led to the discovery of the receptor for mustard oil, TRPA1, and TRPM8, the receptor for menthol (McKemy, Neuhausser et al. 2002; Jordt, Bautista et al. 2004). In the following paragraphs we will discuss the physiological properties and the biological functions of these TRP ion channels.

3.1. TRPV1, the Capsaicin Receptor

TRPV1 is very likely the most intensively studied mammalian TRP channel to date. Since the cloning of TRPV1 was reported in 1997, more than 1000 studies have been published describing the physiology, structure and function of TRPV1. Because a comprehensive review of this literature would go way beyond the limitations of this review, we will focus on some novel aspects of TRPV1 structure and function, and its involvement in inflammatory regulation in diabetes and asthma.

TRPV1 is a non-selective cation channel, permeable for sodium, potassium, calcium and magnesium (Caterina, Schumacher et al. 1997; Caterina and Julius 2001). It is expressed in C-fibers, the capsaicin-sensitive sensory neurons that mediate pain, thermal stimuli and inflammation. Many C-fibers contain inflammatory neuropeptides such as CGRP and Substance P. TRPV1 can fulfil multiple functions in the sensory neuron. TRPV1 is a polymodal detector of physical and chemical stimuli, activated by hot temperature, by extracellular acidity and capsaicin-like endogenous agonists. Activation of TRPV1 can lead to depolarization

of the neural membrane, triggering action potentials that signal pain. In addition, Ca²⁺-influx through TRPV1 can trigger the release of inflammatory neuropeptides into the surrounding tissue, causing neurogenic inflammation. In addition, TRPV1 is sensitized by inflammatory signaling pathways. For example, bradykinin, a peptide released in injured tissue, sensitizes TRPV1 through activation of the bradykinin receptor, a G-protein coupled receptor signaling through phospholipase C (Chuang, Prescott et al. 2001). Sensitization results in thermal hyperalgesia, the painful hypersensitivity to hot temperature. In addition to the bradykinin receptor, activation of TRPV1. These include protease activated receptors (PARs), receptors for ATP and ADP, and for chemokines. Tyrosine kinase receptors such as the nerve growth factor TrkA also sensitize TRPV1 through PLC and PI3-Kinase mediated pathways. Thus, TRPV1 is a central integrator of many inflammatory signaling pathways in neurons, translating inflammatory input into pain signaling and neurogenic release of inflammatory mediators.

3.2. TRPV1: Molecular Basis of Ligand Interaction

TRPV1 is a major target for the development of novel analgesic and antiinflammatory agents. Most major pharmaceutical companies established TRPV1 research programs. Some of the newly developed inhibitors show promising analgesic and anti-inflammatory activity in animal models and have progressed into clinical trials. Analgesics targeting TRPV1 may have advantages over classical analgesics, with high specificity for pain-transducing peripheral neurons, and less side effects on the cardiovascular or digestive system, when compared to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs).

Intensive structure function studies identified a single region in TRPV1 that is essential for interaction with agonists and antagonists (Jordt and Julius 2002). This region is localized to putative transmembrane domains 2–4 in the channel and can be transferred to capsaicin-insensitive ion channels such as TRPV2, establishing capsaicin-sensitivity in this channel. Initially, this region was identified as the binding site for capsaicin and resiniferatoxin, a highly potent capsaicin analog. Capsaicin is likely to bind to the channel from the intracellular side, and several amino acid residues in the binding domain are essential for capsaicin interaction. Antagonists such as capsazepine also bind to this region in the channel (Jordt and Julius 2002). It is likely that the ligand binding region is also involved in the gating of TRPV1 by temperature.

3.3. TRPV1 in Diabetes and Asthma

The more we learn about the function of sensory neurons and their receptors and signaling mechanisms, the more it becomes clear that sensory neurons are not only passive mediators of painful or inflammatory signals. Recently it has been shown that sensory neurons play an active role in the inflammatory process in

chronic diseases such as asthma and also in diabetes. Sensory neurons measure the inflammatory state of tissue, and provide active feedback by neurogenic release of mediators in their target tissues.

A recent study by Razawi et al. provides convincing evidence that normal sensory neural function is required to prevent autoimmune (type I) diabetes, in which the insulin-secreting beta cells in the pancreas are destroyed (Razavi, Chan et al. 2006). C-fibers are known to express receptors for insulin, and TRPV1 channels have been shown to be sensitized by insulin (Van Buren, Bhat et al. 2005). In addition, C-fiber nerve endings have been identified in close proximity to beta cells in the pancreas. Beta cells express receptors for the neuropeptide substance P that has been identified in sensory nerve endings in the vicinity (Razavi, Chan et al. 2006). Razawi et al. investigated the NOD mouse strain that spontaneously develops type I diabetes. Strikingly, the authors mapped the NOD locus to the mouse TRPV1 gene. Sequencing of the NOD TRPV1 gene revealed two mutations that are likely to affect the function of the ion channel. The authors hypothesize that a neuroendocrine feedback loop exists between beta cells and sensory nerve endings, requiring normal function of TRPV1. If TRPV1 is mutated, insulin is unable to elicit normal neural activity such as a tonic release of substance P. The authors could show that application of exogenous substance P to the pancreas delays the onset of diabetes in NOD mice, proving that substance P is a crucial mediator in this feedback mechanism. When substance P is withdrawn, or sensory neurons are eliminated by injections of large doses of capsaicin, the autoimmune response proceeds, resulting in beta cell damage and diabetes. While additional studies are required to elucidate the exact mechanism of this protective feedback, the authors provide strong evidence that in the case of type I diabetes sensory neurons play an active role in anti-inflammatory regulation. These data suggest that pharmacological modulation of sensory neurons by TRPV1 antagonists or agonists may be used to delay the onset of type I diabetes by suppressing the inflammatory process.

While the involvement of TRPV1 in other inflammatory diseases is not as clear as in diabetes, close contact between sensory nerve endings and specific immune cells have been observed in many different organs. For example, Langerhans cells in the skin are innervated by neurons expressing the neuropeptide CGRP (Hosoi, Murphy et al. 1993). Sensory nerve endings have also been identified in the thymus and lymph nodes, where sensory neural activity affects the maturation of different T-cell populations (Shepherd, Beresford et al. 2005). Sensory nerve fibers may also affect the etiology of a variety of inflammatory airway diseases such as asthma or chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder. The lower and upper airways are innervated by several types of mechano- and chemo-sensory nerve fibers that regulate the cough reflex. In certain forms of asthma, capsaicin induces cough at much lower concentrations than in normal subjects (Geppetti, Materazzi et al. 2006). Thus, TRPV1 is likely to be sensitized in asthma. Whether this is a consequence of immunogenic inflammation or a neurogenic phenomenon remains to be established. As in type I diabetes TRPV1 may represent a useful target to suppress inflammatory feedback in airway disease.

3.4. TRPA1, the Receptor for Mustard Oil and Environmental Irritants

TRPA1 is the only member of the TRPA subbranch of the TRP gene family in mammals. This ion channel is characterized by a large number of ankyrin repeats (\sim 17) in its cytosolic N-terminus, a TRP channel membrane domain, and a short cytosolic C-terminal domain. The transcript of TRPA1 was initially identified in a cell line derived from a lung tumor (Jaquemar, Schenker et al. 1999). However, its functional role in these cells has not been studied further, and expression in lung tissue could not be confirmed.

Because of its multiple ankyrin repeats TRPA1 shows significant homology to TRPN (nompC-like) channels, representing a different branch of the TRP channel family essential for certain aspects of sensory mechanotransduction in fruit flies and zebrafish (Walker, Willingham et al. 2000; Sidi, Friedrich et al. 2003). TRPN channels also have a large number of N-terminal ankyrin repeats, but show low homology to TRPA channels in their channel transmembrane moiety. While TRPN channels are present in most animals, mammals lost this branch of the TRP gene family during evolution. Because mammals retained all major mechanosensory modalities, it is therefore unclear whether TRPN channels play a role as primary mechanosensors, or if they have auxiliary roles in more species-specific specialized structures. Based on its partial similarity to TRPN channels, its biophysical and pharmacological properties and its localization it was hypothesized that TRPA1 represents the mechanotransduction channel in the hair cell of the inner ear (Corey, Garcia-Anoveros et al. 2004). This channel is involved in converting mechanical stimuli induced by sound waves into electrical signals, thereby allowing the hearing process to happen. However, recent studies of mice deficient in TRPA1 indicate that TRPA1 is not essential for hearing (Bautista, Jordt et al. 2006; Kwan, Allchorne et al. 2006).

The role of TRPA1 in pain transduction and inflammatory sensitization is much more firmly established. Initially, TRPA1 expression was identified in a small subset of peptidergic sensory nerve fibers, representing <4% of all sensory neurons (Story, Peier et al. 2003). Because TRPA1 can be activated by cold stimuli in some heterologous expression systems, it was hypothesized that TRPA1 is a sensor for noxious cold temperature (Story, Peier et al. 2003). However, later studies showed that TRPA1 is more broadly expressed (in 20–35% of all neurons) (Jordt, Bautista et al. 2004). Because cold-sensitive neurons represent a much smaller population of neurons, this observation implicated alternative or additional roles for TRPA1 in sensory transduction.

Indeed, it was found that TRPA1 is sensitive to a broad range of reactive noxious chemicals, establishing a role of TRPA1 in chemosensation (Jordt, Bautista et al. 2004). Evidence for this role came from a line of research investigating the effects of noxious and pungent chemicals on sensory neurons. This research focused on the effects of the noxious chemical mustard oil (allyl isothiocyanate), the pungent ingredient in mustard. Similar to capsaicin, mustard oil has been used for decades as a chemical probe to study the function of different subsets of sensory neurons in

vitro and in vivo. Mustard oil activates a subpopulation of sensory nerve fibers that is included with the C-fibers that are sensitive to capsaicin. Capsaicin can effectively desensitize these fibers, rendering them insensitive to mustard oil (Jancso, Jancso-Gabor et al. 1967). Thus, a potential receptor for mustard oil is likely to be expressed in fibers co-expressing the capsaicin receptor, TRPV1. Because initial reports about TRPA1 expression indicated exactly that, TRPA1 was tested for sensitivity to mustard oil. Mustard oil strongly activated TRPA1 channels expressed in *Xenopus* oocytes and mammalian culture cells, and also activated Ca²⁺-influx into TRPA1expressing cultured sensory neurons (Jordt, Bautista et al. 2004). These results indicated that, in addition to TRPV1, another TRP channel, TRPA1, functions as a sensor for noxious chemicals in inflammatory C-fibers.

Subsequent studies identified other chemical agonists of TRPA1. These included pungent chemicals derived from other plants, including cinnamon, garlic and onion (Bandell, Story et al. 2004; Bautista, Movahed et al. 2005; Macpherson, Geierstanger et al. 2005). In addition, TRPA1 was found to be activated by acrolein, a noxious environmental toxicant produced during combustion and present in tobacco smoke, automobile exhaust and chemical smog (Bautista, Jordt et al. 2006). Sensory nerve endings in the upper and lower airways are highly sensitive to acrolein, and acrolein has been shown to promote cough hypersensitivity and asthma (Morris, Stanek et al. 1999; Morris, Symanowicz et al. 2003). How can such broad sensitivity to such a diverse array of chemical structures be achieved? Most chemical activators of TRPA1 are reactive electrophiles capable of forming covalent bonds with cysteine and other amino acid residues such as lysine. Indeed, it could be found that TRPA1 channels mutated within a cluster of three N-terminal cysteine residues were unresponsive to mustard oil and other reactive activators, indicating that these residues are the targets for chemical modification (Hinman, Chuang et al. 2006). These data imply that TRPA1 activation does not occur through "classical" receptor-ligand interaction, but through covalent modification, explaining the broad sensitivity of TRPA1 to reactive chemicals. TRPA1 may have evolved to induce a flight response in animals exposed to reactive chemicals in fires or toxic environments.

TRPA1 is also affected by inflammatory signaling pathways in sensory neurons. For example, TRPA1 is activated through the receptor for bradykinin, a peptide produced during tissue injury and inflammation (Bandell, Story et al. 2004; Bautista, Jordt et al. 2006). The bradykinin receptor, a G-protein coupled receptor, activates phospholipase C (PLC), promoting phospholipid hydrolysis, followed by intracellular Ca²⁺-release and signaling through lipid metabolites. Both elevated intracellular Ca²⁺ and lipid signaling molecules may promote TRPA1 activity. Lowering intracellular Ca²⁺ affect TRPA1 activity? TRPA1 contains a predicted rudimentary EF-finger sequence in its N-terminus that may serve as an interaction site for Ca²⁺-ions. This domain is situated within the ankyrin repeat domain-containing part of the channel. Because of this unusual location, its partial overlap

with an ankyrin repeat domain, and its weak resemblance to classical EF-hand sequences, further studies are required to elucidate the role of this domain.

The recent analysis of mice deficient in TRPA1 confirmed its role as the sole pain-inducing receptor for mustard oil in sensory neurons (Bautista, Jordt et al. 2006; Kwan, Allchorne et al. 2006). Acute mustard oil-induced pain behavior is absent in these mice. In addition, mustard-oil induced thermal sensitization and mustard-oil dependent mechanical sensitization were eliminated. More interestingly, bradykinininduced thermal hyperalgesia, a mechanism previously ascribed to TRPV1, was dramatically reduced (Bautista, Jordt et al. 2006). This was a surprising finding that sheds light on a potential regulatory interaction between the bradykinin receptor, TRPA1 and TRPV1. The two independent studies of the TRPA1 knockout mouse differed in their results addressing mechanosensitivity and cold sensitivity. While the first study found no significant differences in either modality (Bautista, Jordt et al. 2006), the second study showed a reduction in certain aspects of mechanosensitivity and a moderate reduction in cold sensitivity in female knockout mice (Kwan, Allchorne et al. 2006). Further studies, involving larger cohorts of backcrossed animals, are likely to be required to prove significance of these differences.

3.5. TRPM8, the Cold/Menthol Receptor

Initially only TRPV channels were thought to have specific functions in sensory transduction in sensory neurons. This view changed when TRPM8, a channel of the TRPM (melastatin-like) branch of the TRP gene family, was identified as a cold-sensitive ion channel and receptor for the cooling agent menthol (McKemy, Neuhausser et al. 2002). Subsequently, other TRPM channels were identified as mediators of sensory input. For example, TRPM5 channels were found to be expressed in taste buds in the tongue, where they are thought to mediate gustatory signals activated through primary receptors for tastants (Zhang, Hoon et al. 2003).

TRPM8 is expressed in a small (\sim 5–15%) population of sensory neurons that is activated by cold and by menthol (McKemy, Neuhausser et al. 2002; Peier, Moqrich et al. 2002). These neurons have small soma diameters, but share only a few other aspects with inflammatory C-fibers expressing TRPA1 and TRPV1. Sensitivity to cold is increased in certain inflammatory conditions, resulting in cold allodynia, the painful hypersensitivity to cold. It is currently unknown whether TRPM8 is involved in this process, or if other cold-sensitive signaling mechanisms are required. Further studies are necessary to characterize the TRPM8-expressing cellular population and its role in cold transduction and, potentially, inflammatory pain.

Extensive biophysical and molecular studies identified several regions in TRPM8 essential for ligand-dependent activation and channel modulation. Similar to TRPA1, some aspects of channel function depend on the concentration of intracellular Ca^{2+} . For example, the activation of TRPM8 by icilin, a cooling agent more potent than menthol, is potently enhanced when intracellular Ca^{2+} -levels are

elevated, either through TRPM8 activity itself, or through release of Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores (Chuang, Neuhausser et al. 2004). Interestingly, a single amino acid change accounts for sensitivity to icilin in mammalian channels when compared to icilin-insensitive avian channels such as chicken TRPM8 (Chuang, Neuhausser et al. 2004). In contrast, activation by menthol is independent of Ca^{2+} and requires different structural determinants within the channel molecule (Bandell, Dubin et al. 2006). Sites essential for menthol interaction were identified in the second putative transmembrane domain, and in the C-terminal TRP domain, a short consensus sequence found in many TRP channels.

3.6. Outlook: TRP Channels in Disease

In our review we presented the more established roles of TRP channels in disease, including their involvement in PKD, pain and inflammation. Recently, several studies were published that indicated that TRP channels are important in other pathological conditions. For example, mutations in TRPM6 are responsible for hypomagnesemia and hypocalcemia in humans (Chubanov, Waldegger et al. 2004). TRPM6 is a magnesium uptake channel in the intestine and is essential for resorption of magnesium from the diet. TRPC channels have been implied in the regulation of vascular endothelial tone and permeability and in neural development and lung permeability (Freichel, Vennekens et al. 2005). These findings indicate that TRP channels may play additional important and diverse roles in normal physiology and pathophysiological processes.

REFERENCES

- Anyatonwu, G. I. and B. E. Ehrlich, 2005, Organic cation permeation through the channel formed by polycystin-2, *J Biol Chem*, 280, (33), pp. 29488–29493
- Bandell, M., A. E. Dubin, M. J. Petrus, A. Orth, J. Mathur, S. W. Hwang and A. Patapoutian, 2006, Highthroughput random mutagenesis screen reveals TRPM8 residues specifically required for activation by menthol, *Nat Neurosci*, 9, (4), pp. 493–500
- Bandell, M., G. M. Story, S. W. Hwang, V. Viswanath, S. R. Eid, M. J. Petrus, T. J. Earley and A. Patapoutian, 2004, Noxious cold ion channel TRPA1 is activated by pungent compounds and bradykinin, *Neuron*, 41, (6), pp. 849–857
- Bautista, D. M., S. E. Jordt, T. Nikai, P. R. Tsuruda, A. J. Read, J. Poblete, E. N. Yamoah, A. I. Basbaum and D. Julius, 2006, TRPA1 mediates the inflammatory actions of environmental irritants and proalgesic agents, *Cell*, 124, (6), pp. 1269–1282
- Bautista, D. M., P. Movahed, A. Hinman, H. E. Axelsson, O. Sterner, E. D. Hogestatt, D. Julius, S. E. Jordt and P. M. Zygmunt, 2005, Pungent products from garlic activate the sensory ion channel TRPA1, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, (34), pp. 12248–12252
- Boletta, A., F. Qian, L. F. Onuchic, A. K. Bhunia, B. Phakdeekitcharoen, K. Hanaoka, W. Guggino, L. Monaco and G. G. Germino, 2000, Polycystin-1, the gene product of PKD1, induces resistance to apoptosis and spontaneous tubulogenesis in MDCK cells, *Mol Cell*, 6, (5), pp. 1267–1273
- Cai, Y., G. Anyatonwu, D. Okuhara, K. B. Lee, Z. Yu, T. Onoe, C. L. Mei, Q. Qian, L. Geng, R. Witzgall, B. E. Ehrlich and S. Somlo, 2004, Calcium dependence of polycystin-2 channel activity is modulated by phosphorylation at Ser812, *J Biol Chem*,

Calvet, J. P., 2003, Ciliary signaling goes down the tubes, Nat Genet, 33, (2), pp. 113-114

- Caterina, M. J. and D. Julius, 2001, The vanilloid receptor: a molecular gateway to the pain pathway, *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 24, pp. 487–517
- Caterina, M. J., M. A. Schumacher, M. Tominaga, T. A. Rosen, J. D. Levine and D. Julius, 1997, The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway, *Nature*, 389, (6653), pp. 816–824
- Chuang, H. H., W. M. Neuhausser and D. Julius, 2004, The Super-Cooling Agent Icilin Reveals a Mechanism of Coincidence Detection by a Temperature-Sensitive TRP Channel, *Neuron*, 43, (6), pp. 859–869
- Chuang, H. H., E. D. Prescott, H. Kong, S. Shields, S. E. Jordt, A. I. Basbaum, M. V. Chao and D. Julius, 2001, Bradykinin and nerve growth factor release the capsaicin receptor from PtdIns(4,5)P2-mediated inhibition, *Nature*, 411, (6840), pp. 957–962
- Chubanov, V., S. Waldegger, M. Mederos y Schnitzler, H. Vitzthum, M. C. Sassen, H. W. Seyberth, M. Konrad and T. Gudermann, 2004, Disruption of TRPM6/TRPM7 complex formation by a mutation in the TRPM6 gene causes hypomagnesemia with secondary hypocalcemia, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A, 101, (9), pp. 2894–2899
- Corey, D. P., J. Garcia-Anoveros, J. R. Holt, K. Y. Kwan, S. Y. Lin, M. A. Vollrath, A. Amalfitano, E. L. Cheung, B. H. Derfler, A. Duggan, G. S. Geleoc, P. A. Gray, M. P. Hoffman, H. L. Rehm, D. Tamasauskas and D. S. Zhang, 2004, TRPA1 is a candidate for the mechanosensitive transduction channel of vertebrate hair cells, *Nature*, 432, (7018), pp. 723–730
- Dackowski, W. R., H. F. Luderer, P. Manavalan, N. O. Bukanov, R. J. Russo, B. L. Roberts, K. W. Klinger and O. Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, 2002, Canine PKD1 is a single-copy gene: genomic organization and comparative analysis, *Genomics*, 80, (1), pp. 105–112
- Freichel, M., R. Vennekens, J. Olausson, S. Stolz, S. E. Philipp, P. Weissgerber and V. Flockerzi, 2005, Functional role of TRPC proteins in native systems: implications from knockout and knock-down studies, *J Physiol*, 567, (Pt 1), pp. 59–66
- Geng, L., Y. Segal, A. Pavlova, E. J. Barros, C. Lohning, W. Lu, S. K. Nigam, A. M. Frischauf, S. T. Reeders and J. Zhou, 1997, Distribution and developmentally regulated expression of murine polycystin, *Am J Physiol*, 272, (4 Pt 2), pp. F451–459
- Geppetti, P., S. Materazzi and P. Nicoletti, 2006, The transient receptor potential vanilloid 1: role in airway inflammation and disease, *Eur J Pharmacol*, 533, (1–3), pp. 207–214
- Giamarchi, A., F. Padilla, B. Coste, M. Raoux, M. Crest, E. Honore and P. Delmas, 2006, The versatile nature of the calcium-permeable cation channel TRPP2, *EMBO Rep*, 7, (8), pp. 787–793
- Gonzalez-Perrett, S., K. Kim, C. Ibarra, A. E. Damiano, E. Zotta, M. Batelli, P. C. Harris, I. L. Reisin, M. A. Arnaout and H. F. Cantiello, 2001, Polycystin-2, the protein mutated in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease (ADPKD), is a Ca²⁺-permeable nonselective cation channel, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, (3), pp. 1182–1187
- Hanaoka, K., F. Qian, A. Boletta, A. K. Bhunia, K. Piontek, L. Tsiokas, V. P. Sukhatme, W. B. Guggino and G. G. Germino, 2000, Co-assembly of polycystin-1 and -2 produces unique cation-permeable currents, *Nature*, 408, (6815), pp. 990–994
- Hinman, A., H. H. Chuang, D. M. Bautista and D. Julius, 2006, TRP channel activation by reversible covalent modification, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, (51), pp. 19564–19568
- Hosoi, J., G. F. Murphy, C. L. Egan, E. A. Lerner, S. Grabbe, A. Asahina and R. D. Granstein, 1993, Regulation of Langerhans cell function by nerves containing calcitonin gene-related peptide, *Nature*, 363, (6425), pp. 159–163
- Huan, Y. and J. van Adelsberg, 1999, Polycystin-1, the PKD1 gene product, is in a complex containing E-cadherin and the catenins, *J Clin Invest*, 104, (10), pp. 1459–1468
- Hughes, J., C. J. Ward, B. Peral, R. Aspinwall, K. Clark, J. L. San Millan, V. Gamble and P. C. Harris, 1995, The polycystic kidney disease 1 (PKD1) gene encodes a novel protein with multiple cell recognition domains, *Nat Genet*, 10, (2), pp. 151–160
- Igarashi, P. and S. Somlo, 2002, Genetics and pathogenesis of polycystic kidney disease, *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 13, (9), pp. 2384–2398
- Jancso, N., A. Jancso-Gabor and J. Szolcsanyi, 1967, Direct evidence for neurogenic inflammation and its prevention by denervation and by pretreatment with capsaicin, Br J Pharmacol, 31, (1), pp. 138–151

- Jaquemar, D., T. Schenker and B. Trueb, 1999, An ankyrin-like protein with transmembrane domains is specifically lost after oncogenic transformation of human fibroblasts, *J Biol Chem*, 274, (11), pp. 7325–7333
- Jordt, S. E., D. M. Bautista, H. H. Chuang, D. D. McKemy, P. M. Zygmunt, E. D. Hogestatt, I. D. Meng and D. Julius, 2004, Mustard oils and cannabinoids excite sensory nerve fibres through the TRP channel ANKTM1, *Nature*, 427, (6971), pp. 260–265
- Jordt, S. E. and D. Julius, 2002, Molecular basis for species-specific sensitivity to "hot" chili peppers, *Cell*, 108, (3), pp. 421–430
- Julius, D. and A. I. Basbaum, 2001, Molecular mechanisms of nociception, Nature, 413, (6852), pp. 203-210
- Koulen, P., Y. Cai, L. Geng, Y. Maeda, S. Nishimura, R. Witzgall, B. E. Ehrlich and S. Somlo, 2002, Polycystin-2 is an intracellular calcium release channel, *Nat Cell Biol*, 4, (3), pp. 191–197
- Kwan, K. Y., A. J. Allchorne, M. A. Vollrath, A. P. Christensen, D. S. Zhang, C. J. Woolf and D. P. Corey, 2006, TRPA1 contributes to cold, mechanical, and chemical nociception but is not essential for hair-cell transduction, *Neuron*, 50, (2), pp. 277–289
- Li, Y., J. M. Wright, F. Qian, G. G. Germino and W. B. Guggino, 2005, Polycystin 2 interacts with type I inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor to modulate intracellular Ca²⁺ signaling, *J Biol Chem*, 280, (50), pp. 41298–41306
- Lu, W., B. Peissel, H. Babakhanlou, A. Pavlova, L. Geng, X. Fan, C. Larson, G. Brent and J. Zhou, 1997, Perinatal lethality with kidney and pancreas defects in mice with a targetted Pkd1 mutation, *Nat Genet*, 17, (2), pp. 179–181
- Luo, Y., P. M. Vassilev, X. Li, Y. Kawanabe and J. Zhou, 2003, Native polycystin 2 functions as a plasma membrane Ca²⁺-permeable cation channel in renal epithelia, *Mol Cell Biol*, 23, (7), pp. 2600–2607
- Macpherson, L. J., B. H. Geierstanger, V. Viswanath, M. Bandell, S. R. Eid, S. Hwang and A. Patapoutian, 2005, The pungency of garlic: activation of TRPA1 and TRPV1 in response to allicin, *Curr Biol*, 15, (10), pp. 929–934
- Mahata, S. K., D. T. O'Connor, M. Mahata, S. H. Yoo, L. Taupenot, H. Wu, B. M. Gill and R. J. Parmer, 1997, Novel autocrine feedback control of catecholamine release. A discrete chromogranin a fragment is a noncompetitive nicotinic cholinergic antagonist, *J Clin Invest*, 100, (6), pp. 1623–1633.
- Masyuk, A. I., T. V. Masyuk, P. L. Splinter, B. Q. Huang, A. J. Stroope and N. F. LaRusso, 2006, Cholangiocyte cilia detect changes in luminal fluid flow and transmit them into intracellular Ca²⁺ and cAMP signaling, *Gastroenterology*, 131, (3), pp. 911–920
- McKemy, D. D., W. M. Neuhausser and D. Julius, 2002, Identification of a cold receptor reveals a general role for TRP channels in thermosensation, *Nature*, 416, (6876), pp. 52–58.
- Mengerink, K. J., G. W. Moy and V. D. Vacquier, 2002, suREJ3, a polycystin-1 protein, is cleaved at the GPS domain and localizes to the acrosomal region of sea urchin sperm, *J Biol Chem*, 277, (2), pp. 943–948
- Mochizuki, T., G. Wu, T. Hayashi, S. L. Xenophontos, B. Veldhuisen, J. J. Saris, D. M. Reynolds, Y. Cai, P. A. Gabow, A. Pierides, W. J. Kimberling, M. H. Breuning, C. C. Deltas, D. J. Peters and S. Somlo, 1996, PKD2, a gene for polycystic kidney disease that encodes an integral membrane protein, *Science*, 272, (5266), pp. 1339–1342
- Montell, C. and G. M. Rubin, 1989, Molecular characterization of the Drosophila trp locus: a putative integral membrane protein required for phototransduction, *Neuron*, 2, pp. 1313–1323
- Morris, J. B., J. Stanek and G. Gianutsos, 1999, Sensory nerve-mediated immediate nasal responses to inspired acrolein, J Appl Physiol, 87, (5), pp. 1877–1886
- Morris, J. B., P. T. Symanowicz, J. E. Olsen, R. S. Thrall, M. M. Cloutier and A. K. Hubbard, 2003, Immediate sensory nerve-mediated respiratory responses to irritants in healthy and allergic airwaydiseased mice, *J Appl Physiol*, 94, (4), pp. 1563–1571
- Nauli, S. M., F. J. Alenghat, Y. Luo, E. Williams, P. Vassilev, X. Li, A. E. Elia, W. Lu, E. M. Brown, S. J. Quinn, D. E. Ingber and J. Zhou, 2003, Polycystins 1 and 2 mediate mechanosensation in the primary cilium of kidney cells, *Nat Genet*, 33, (2), pp. 129–137
- Newby, L. J., A. J. Streets, Y. Zhao, P. C. Harris, C. J. Ward and A. C. Ong, 2002, Identification, characterization, and localization of a novel kidney polycystin-1-polycystin-2 complex, *J Biol Chem*, 277, (23), pp. 20763–20773

Nilius, B., T. Voets and J. Peters, 2005, TRP channels in disease, Sci STKE, 2005, (295), pp. re8

- Parnell, S. C., B. S. Magenheimer, R. L. Maser, C. A. Rankin, A. Smine, T. Okamoto and J. P. Calvet, 1998, The polycystic kidney disease-1 protein, polycystin-1, binds and activates heterotrimeric G-proteins in vitro, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 251, (2), pp. 625–631
- Peier, A. M., A. Moqrich, A. C. Hergarden, A. J. Reeve, D. A. Andersson, G. M. Story, T. J. Earley, I. Dragoni, P. McIntyre, S. Bevan and A. Patapoutian, 2002, A TRP channel that senses cold stimuli and menthol, *Cell*, 108, (5), pp. 705–715.
- Ponting, C. P., K. Hofmann and P. Bork, 1999, A latrophilin/CL-1-like GPS domain in polycystin-1, *Curr Biol*, 9, (16), pp. R585–588
- Praetorius, H. A. and K. R. Spring, 2001, Bending the MDCK cell primary cilium increases intracellular calcium, J Membr Biol, 184, (1), pp. 71–79
- Qian, F., F. J. Germino, Y. Cai, X. Zhang, S. Somlo and G. G. Germino, 1997, PKD1 interacts with PKD2 through a probable coiled-coil domain, *Nat Genet*, 16, (2), pp. 179–183
- Razavi, R., Y. Chan, F. N. Afifiyan, X. J. Liu, X. Wan, J. Yantha, H. Tsui, L. Tang, S. Tsai, P. Santamaria, J. P. Driver, D. Serreze, M. W. Salter and H. M. Dosch, 2006, TRPV1+ sensory neurons control beta cell stress and islet inflammation in autoimmune diabetes, *Cell*, 127, (6), pp. 1123–1135
- Sandford, R., B. Sgotto, S. Aparicio, S. Brenner, M. Vaudin, R. K. Wilson, S. Chissoe, K. Pepin, A. Bateman, C. Chothia, J. Hughes and P. Harris, 1997, Comparative analysis of the polycystic kidney disease 1 (PKD1) gene reveals an integral membrane glycoprotein with multiple evolutionary conserved domains, *Hum Mol Genet*, 6, (9), pp. 1483–1489
- Scheffers, M. S., P. van der Bent, F. Prins, L. Spruit, M. H. Breuning, S. V. Litvinov, E. de Heer and D J. Peters, 2000, Polycystin-1, the product of the polycystic kidney disease 1 gene, co-localizes with desmosomes in MDCK cells, *Hum Mol Genet*, 9, (18), pp. 2743–2750
- Shepherd, A. J., L. J. Beresford, E. B. Bell and J. A. Miyan, 2005, Mobilisation of specific T cells from lymph nodes in contact sensitivity requires substance P, J Neuroimmunol, 164, (1–2), pp. 115–123
- Sidi, S., R. W. Friedrich and T. Nicolson, 2003, NompC TRP channel required for vertebrate sensory hair cell mechanotransduction, *Science*, 301, (5629), pp. 96–99
- Story, G. M., A. M. Peier, A. J. Reeve, S. R. Eid, J. Mosbacher, T. R. Hricik, T. J. Earley, A. C. Hergarden, D. A. Andersson, S. W. Hwang, P. McIntyre, T. Jegla, S. Bevan and A. Patapoutian, 2003, ANKTM1, a TRP-like Channel Expressed in Nociceptive Neurons, Is Activated by Cold Temperatures, *Cell*, 112, (6), pp. 819–829
- Tinker, A. and A. J. Williams, 1993, Probing the structure of the conduction pathway of the sheep cardiac sarcolpasmic reticulum calcium-release channel with permeant and impermeant organic cations, *J. Gen. Physiol.*, 102, pp. 1107–1129
- Trebak, M., G. S. Bird, R. R. McKay and J. W. Putney, Jr., 2002, Comparison of human TRPC3 channels in receptor-activated and store-operated modes. Differential sensitivity to channel blockers suggests fundamental differences in channel composition, J Biol Chem, 277, (24), pp. 21617–21623
- Tsiokas, L., T. Arnould, C. Zhu, E. Kim, G. Walz and V. P. Sukhatme, 1999, Specific association of the gene product of PKD2 with the TRPC1 channel, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, (7), pp. 3934–3939
- Tsiokas, L., E. Kim, T. Arnould, V. P. Sukhatme and G. Walz, 1997, Homo- and heterodimeric interactions between the gene products of PKD1 and PKD2, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, (13), pp. 6965–6970
- Van Buren, J. J., S. Bhat, R. Rotello, M. E. Pauza and L. S. Premkumar, 2005, Sensitization and translocation of TRPV1 by insulin and IGF-I, *Mol Pain*, 1, (1), pp. 17
- Vassilev, P. M., L. Guo, X. Z. Chen, Y. Segal, J. B. Peng, N. Basora, H. Babakhanlou, G. Cruger, M. Kanazirska, C. Ye, E. M. Brown, M. A. Hediger and J. Zhou, 2001, Polycystin-2 is a novel cation channel implicated in defective intracellular Ca(2+) homeostasis in polycystic kidney disease, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 282, (1), pp. 341–350
- Walker, R. G., A. T. Willingham and C. S. Zuker, 2000, A Drosophila mechanosensory transduction channel, *Science*, 287, (5461), pp. 2229–2234
- Wall, P. D., Melzack, R., 1999, The Textbook of Pain, W. B. Saunders, London, UK

- Wu, G., V. D'Agati, Y. Cai, G. Markowitz, J. H. Park, D. M. Reynolds, Y. Maeda, T. C. Le, H. Hou, Jr.,
 R. Kucherlapati, W. Edelmann and S. Somlo, 1998, Somatic inactivation of Pkd2 results in polycystic kidney disease, *Cell*, 93, (2), pp. 177–188
- Wu, J., N. Kamimura, T. Takeo, S. Suga, M. Wakui, T. Maruyama and K. Mikoshiba, 2000, 2-Aminoethoxydiphenyl borate modulates kinetics of intracellular Ca(2+) signals mediated by inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate-sensitive Ca(2+) stores in single pancreatic acinar cells of mouse, *Mol Pharmacol*, 58, (6), pp. 1368–1374
- Xu, G. M. and M. A. Arnaout, 2002, WAC, a novel WW domain-containing adapter with a coiled-coil region, is colocalized with splicing factor SC35, *Genomics*, 79, (1), pp. 87–94
- Xu, G. M., T. Sikaneta, B. M. Sullivan, Q. Zhang, M. Andreucci, T. Stehle, I. Drummond and M. A. Arnaout, 2001, Polycystin-1 interacts with intermediate filaments, *J Biol Chem*, 276, (49), pp. 46544–46552
- Yoder, B. K., X. Hou and L. M. Guay-Woodford, 2002, The polycystic kidney disease proteins, polycystin-1, polycystin-2, polaris, and cystin, are co-localized in renal cilia, *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 13, (10), pp. 2508–2516
- Zhang, Y., M. A. Hoon, J. Chandrashekar, K. L. Mueller, B. Cook, D. Wu, C. S. Zuker and N. J. Ryba, 2003, Coding of sweet, bitter, and umami tastes: different receptor cells sharing similar signaling pathways, *Cell*, 112, (3), pp. 293–301

CHAPTER 10

DISEASES ASSOCIATED WITH ALTERED RYANODINE RECEPTOR ACTIVITY

W.J. DURHAM¹, X.H.T. WEHRENS^{1,2}, S. SOOD¹ AND S.L. HAMILTON¹

¹Department of Molecular Physiology and Biophysics

²Department of Medicine (Division of Cardiology), Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX 77030

- Abstract: Mutations in two intracellular Ca²⁺ release channels or ryanodine receptors (RyR1 and RyR2) are associated with a number of human skeletal and cardiac diseases. This chapter discusses these diseases in terms of known mechanisms, controversies, and unanswered questions. We also compare the cardiac and skeletal muscle diseases to explore common mechanisms
- **Keywords:** calcium homeostasis, excitation-contraction coupling, malignant hyperthermia, central core disease, multi-minicore disease, and catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia type 2, heart failure, cardiomy-opathy, sudden death, and atrial fibrillation

1. RYR MUTATIONS AND HUMAN DISEASE OVERVIEW

Mutations in two intracellular Ca^{2+} -release channels (also known as ryanodine receptors), RyR1 and RyR2, are associated with several human diseases (Table 1). These two channels regulate the release of Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores in skeletal and cardiac muscle, respectively, and control muscle contraction. Mutations in RyR1 are associated with malignant hyperthermia (MH), exertional heat stroke (EHS), central core disease (CCD), and multi-minicore disease (MmD), while mutations in RyR2 have been linked to catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia (CPVT), sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS), and arrhythmogenic right ventricular dsyplasia type 2 (ARVD2, although this is now disputed, see below). Acquired defects in RyR2 also appear to contribute to human disease in heart failure (HF), diabetic cardiomyopathy and atrial fibrillation (AF). Before describing these diseases in more detail, the role of RyRs in striated muscle function is briefly reviewed.

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 273–321. © 2007 Springer.

	RyR1	RyR2
Inherited mutations	 Malignant Hyperthermia Exertional heat stroke Central Core Disease Multi-Mini Core Disease 	 Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia Arrhythmogenic RightVentricularDys plasia/Cardiomyopathy Sudden Infant Death Syndrome
Acquired defects	MH after Exertional Heat Stroke?Muscle Weakness in Heart Failure	 Heart Failure Diabetic Cardiomyopathy Atrial Fibrillation

Table 1. RyR Diseases

2. CA²⁺ HOMEOSTASIS IN STRIATED MUSCLE AND THE ROLE OF RYRS

In striated muscle, Ca²⁺ release occurs primarily through a very large, homotetrameric protein assembly known as the ryanodine receptor (named for its ability to bind the alkaloid ryanodine). When the RyR is open, Ca²⁺ travels down its concentration gradient from the lumen of the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR, ~ 1 mM) to the cytosol (~100 nM) (Lyfenko 2004), where it binds to troponin C, initiating movement of tropomyosin away from the myosin-binding sites on the actin filament and triggering contraction. Excitation-contraction (E-C) coupling refers to the process by which electrical depolarization of the muscle cell membrane produces Ca^{2+} release and, ultimately, contraction. In skeletal muscle, depolarization of the T-tubule leads to a conformational change in the dihydropyridine receptor (DHPR), which is an L-type voltage dependent Ca^{2+} channel (Cav1.1), leading to opening of RyR1 via mechanical coupling. Depolarization also causes Ca²⁺ influx via Cav1.1 but this Ca²⁺ is not required for skeletal muscle E-C coupling and the role of this entering Ca²⁺ in skeletal muscle function is currently unknown. The mechanically gated opening of RyR1 releases Ca²⁺ from the sarcoplasmic reticulum to initiate contraction. Since RyR1 is also activated by Ca^{2+} , the Ca^{2+} released from mechanically gated RyRs is likely to activate neighboring RyRs not coupled to DHPRs. This latter process is called calcium-induced calcium release (CICR). Complementing orthograde coupling (DHPR \rightarrow RyR), retrograde coupling (RyR \rightarrow DHPR) between RYR1 and the DHPR increases the conductance of the DHPR and the duration of the mechanical activation of RyR1 by the DHPR (Dirksen 2002a).

To prevent continuous Ca^{2+} influx and prolonged contraction, $SR Ca^{2+}$ release must be terminated and cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentrations reduced back to the resting level. Termination of release is brought about by several mechanisms. Repolarization of the t-tubule causes the DHPR to return to its original conformation, which prevents the activation of RyR1 via orthograde mechanical coupling and also terminates Ca^{2+} influx into the cell. In addition, high $[Ca^{2+}]$ may directly inhibit Ca^{2+} release via channel inactivation, providing a feedback mechanism to prevent a vicious cycle of Ca^{2+} release inducing CICR. Finally, Ca^{2+} reuptake into the SR removes Ca^{2+} from the cytosol, thereby lowering the cytosolic concentration (see below).

In contrast to skeletal muscle, in which the electrical initiation of contraction occurs at the neuromuscular junction, the electrical signal in cardiac muscle is in the form of a depolarization wave originating in the pacemaker cells of the right atrium and transmitted from cell to cell by means of gap junctions (Bers 2002a; Apkon 2003). As in skeletal muscle, however, the depolarization changes the conformation of the cardiac DHPR (Cav1.2), and leads to Ca²⁺ influx through Cav1.2. During the plateau phase of the action potential, this small influx of Ca²⁺ triggers a much greater Ca²⁺ release from the SR via RyR2 through CICR (Fabiato 1983), leading to contraction of the cardiac myocyte. In contrast to the situation in skeletal muscle, this CICR is the pivotal mechanism that controls E-C coupling in cardiac myocytes (Fabiato 1983), where there is no direct physical coupling between the L-type Ca²⁺ channel and RyR2. However, the Cav1.2 channels are apparently closely positioned to the RyR2 to form functional calcium release units (Franzini-Armstrong 1999).

Ca²⁺ removal from the cytosol is accomplished primarily by the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA), which pumps cytosolic Ca²⁺ back into the SR (Koss 1997; Apkon 2003). Several isoforms of SERCA exist in striated muscles: SERCA1a and SERCA1b are found in fast adult and neonatal skeletal muscles (Brandl 1987; Zhang 2003; Rossi 2006), respectively, whereas SERCA 2b is found in adult and neonatal cardiac and slow skeletal muscles (Rossi 2006). A Ca2+-ATPase and a Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger at the sarcolemma are of minor importance for reducing cytosolic Ca²⁺ in the setting of normal SERCA function, primarily acting to balance the small amount of Ca^{2+} influx through the DHPR in response to depolarization (Bers 1989; Apkon 2003). Mitochondria are also able to take up Ca^{2+} from the cytosol; however, their capacity for Ca^{2+} storage is much smaller than that of the SR (Sembrowich 1985). Although not a major route for Ca²⁺ removal from the cytosol, elevations in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ likely contribute to the increased production of ATP and reactive oxygen species (ROS) that occur in response to elevations of cytosolic Ca^{2+} , such as during contraction (Rudolf 2004; Rossi 2006).

Both RyR1 and RyR2 are homotetramers of four >500 kDa subunits that are inserted in the sarcoplasmic reticulum membrane (Smith 1988; Liu 2002). Roughly 90% of both RyRs is cytosolic, with the remainder forming the transmembrane and pore regions in the SR membrane (Shah 2001; Zhou H 2006). The carboxy terminus (spanning the carboxyterminal 600 amino acids) is the pore-forming region, which is thought to be composed of 6–8 transmembrane segments (Du 2002; Ma 2004). A model of the membrane spanning regions of RyR1 is shown in Figure 1a and an analysis of the regions of the protein that



Figure 1. RyR1 Sequences and Disease Mutations. A) Arrangement of RyR1 in the SR membrane, indicating the transmembrane domains. B) Location of transmembrane, cytoplasmic, P-loop, and lumenal regions in the primary sequence of RyR1. C-E) Location of MH, MH + CCD, and CCD mutations in the primary amino acid sequence of RyR1 (See Colour Plate 16)

are likely to be cytoplasmic and lumenal is shown in Figure 1b. Also shown in this figure are the location of mutations in RyR1 known to be associated with human disease and which will be discussed later. A 9Å structure of RyR1 with some of the transmembrane helices identified and demonstrating the much greater size of the cytoplasmic portion versus the lumenal portion is shown in Figure 2.

Given its massive size, the RyR represents an enormous target for binding and modification. Accordingly, RyRs are thought to form large macromolecular complexes with a number of modulators which influence activity. Junctin, triadin, and calsequestrin interact with RyRs in the SR lumen. The transmembrane proteins junctin and triadin appear to bind directly to both RyRs (Zhang 1997; Gyorke 2004) and calsequestrin. Calsequestrin, the major Ca²⁺-binding protein in the SR, provides a high capacity intra-SR Ca²⁺ buffer (Terentyev 2003) and is important for maintenance of SR Ca²⁺ stores. The larger cytoplasmic portion of the RyR binds to a number of important modulators, including the Cav1.1 (discussed above), calmodulin (Chu 1990; Tripathy 1996; Zhang 1999; Hamilton 2000), protein phosphatases (PP1, PP2A, and PP2B (calcineurin)), immunophilins such as the FK506 binding proteins (FKBP12 and FKBP12.6), (Marx 2001; Chelu 2004), sorcin



Figure 2. RYR1 structure at 9.5 Å. The color ribbons represent a helices, the inner helix is labeled red, the pore helix green, and other helices are colored blue or purple (See Colour Plate 17)

(Meyers 1995), protein kinase A (PKA) (Marx 2000), Ca²⁺/CaM-dependent kinase II (CaMKII); (Wehrens 2003a; Currie 2004), and phosphodiesterase 4D3 (PDE4D3 (Lehnart 2005). These kinases and phosphatases are targeted to RyR by scaffolding and anchoring proteins (Marx 2001; Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005; Rossi 2006; Yano 2006). A variety of cellular mediators and modifications can also modulate the activity of RyR, including Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, ATP, phosphorylation (Fill 2002), oxidation, S-nitrosylation, and S-glutathionlyation (Hidalgo 2005). Regulation by Ca²⁺ varies according to RyR isoform. Both RyR1 and RyR2 are activated at [Ca²⁺] of 0.1–10µM (Smith 1986; Bull 1993; Chu 1993; Coronado 1994; Tripathy 1996; Copello 1997; Fill 2002); but RyR1 is more sensitive to inhibition by higher concentrations of Ca²⁺. There is evidence to suggest that the different Ca²⁺ dependencies may be dictated at least partly by the redox environment of each of the channels (Marengo 1998). Lumenal Ca²⁺ may also regulate the activity of RyRs (Jiang 2004). Finally, environmental factors such as pO₂ (Eu 2000; Cheong and Salama 2005) and temperature (Konishi 1985) are known to modulate RyR activity as well.

3. RYR DISEASES: INTRODUCTION

To define the molecular events by which mutations in RyRs cause disease, it is essential to first consider the possible ways that the mutations in RyRs could alter intracellular Ca^{2+} handling and muscle function. We know that RyRs control the release of Ca^{2+} from internal stores and the mutations could alter this process by altering either the probability of channel opening or the magnitude of the Ca^{2+} efflux

via the channel. These effects could alter excitation-contraction coupling, resting Ca^{2+} concentrations, the magnitude of the Ca^{2+} transient and/or a large variety of Ca^{2+} -dependent signal transduction events. Changes in the contractile properties of the muscle could reflect the immediate effects of altered Ca^{2+} homeostasis and/or adaptive or developmental changes in muscle properties arising from earlier changes in Ca^{2+} handling. Although important information about inherent changes in the activity of RyRs can be obtained with purified proteins or by studying single channels, it is highly unlikely that these types of studies can alone define the consequences of the mutations to muscle function that produce the human disease.

4. RYR1 DISEASE: MALIGNANT HYPERTHERMIA

MH is a clinical syndrome in which genetically susceptible individuals respond to inhalation anesthetics (e.g. halothane) and muscle relaxants (e.g. succinylcholine) with attacks of skeletal muscle rigidity, extreme elevations in body temperature, rhabdomyolysis, hypermetabolism, lactic acidosis, hypoxia and tachycardia (Mickelson 1996; Jurkat-Rott 2000). There are some data to suggest that MH episodes can be triggered by other stimuli such as 3,4methylenedioxymethamphetamine ("ecstasy"), psychological stress, environmental heat, or re-warming following surgery (Fiege 2003; Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005; Crean 2006). In vitro contracture tests (IVCTs), in which the force produced by excised muscle samples in response to triggering stimuli, are used to detect MH susceptibility (McCarthy 2000), but recently genetic screens and analysis of Ca²⁺ homeostasis in lymphoblasts from patients with RyR1 diseases are being used more frequently. The incidence of MH has been estimated to be from ~ 1 in 15,000 anesthetized children and ~ 1 in 50,000–100,000 anesthetized adults, (Britt 1991), but the incidence of MH is thought to be grossly underestimated. For example, the incidence in the general population has been estimated to be 1 in 10, 000 in Japan (Ibarra 2006) and 1 in 2–3,000 in the French population (Monnier 2003). There also appears to be greater severity and higher probability of a response in males than in females (Strazis 1993).

As the name implies, during an MH episode a hypermetabolic state develops, characterized by increases in body temperature, metabolic rate, blood and muscle acidity, and blood CO₂ (Litman 2005). The rate of contracture development is very slow (minutes) relative to a normal, volitional contraction (milliseconds). Moreover, the maximal force developed, based on *in vitro* experiments in a mouse model, is \sim 40–50% of that produced during a maximal, electrically-stimulated contraction (Chelu 2006). This suggests that it is the unrelenting nature of the Ca²⁺ release, rather than an initial gross mismatch between release and uptake, that eventually manifests in a fulminant MH episode. These episodes also result in leakage of proteins and electrolytes from skeletal muscle which can lead to kidney failure and cardiac arrhythmias (Litman 2005). Left untreated, malignant hyperthermia is fatal in ~90% of cases (Lyfenko 2004; Litman 2005; Treves 2005) Treatment with dantrolene, an inhibitor of Ca²⁺ release through RyR, as well as suspension of the

triggering agent, and hyperventilation with 100% O_2 has reduced mortality from MH to ~5% (Lyfenko 2004; Litman 2005), (for review see, Parness, Chapter 24 in ryanodine receptors: structure, function and dysfunction in clinical disease 2005; Eds Wehrens and Marks).

Contained within the original description of MH by Denborough and colleagues (Denborough 1962) was the first mention of another notable characteristic of MH, namely, the temperature dependence of the response. These investigators related the case of a young man with a broken leg who was more apprehensive about receiving anesthesia than about his injury, due to the fact that several of his relatives had died after anesthetic treatment (Denborough 1962). His fear was well-founded, as he developed symptoms of MH (hyperthermia, tachycardia) following halothane treatment. Fortunately, whole body cooling rescued this patient, demonstrating that an interaction exists between development of an MH episode and temperature. Subsequent studies in pigs (Nelson 1990) and mice (Chelu 2006) have supported this notion, demonstrating that MH does not develop, despite exposure to a triggering stimulus, when core body temperature is reduced by as little as $1-2^{\circ}C$.

MH mutations are localized to human chromosome 19q13.1 (Table 2), which includes the locus of RyR1 (Loke 1998; Jurkat-Rott 2000; McCarthy 2000). Mutations in the RyR1 gene account for more than one-half of all MH families. At least 143 different point mutations or deletions in RyR1 (Figure 1c) are linked to MH (Robinson 2006). Although linkage to the RyR1 gene is shown for more than 50% of all MH kindred, other MH-susceptible gene loci exist on chromosomes 17 (17q11.2-q24), 7 (7q21-q22), 3 (3q13.1), and 1 (1q31) (Jurkat-Rott 2000; McCarthy 2000). Two different point mutations of a highly conserved arginine residue in the III-IV linker of the skeletal muscle DHPR a₁-subunit (R1086H and R1086C) are confirmed for the 1q31 locus (Monnier 1997; Jurkat-Rott 2000). The finding that MH manifests from point mutations in both the skeletal muscle DHPR and RyR1, two key proteins of muscle EC coupling, reinforces the notion that MH is a disease of muscle EC coupling.

In accordance with the pharmacogenetic nature of MH, pharmacological activators of RyR1 Ca^{2+} release such as caffeine, halothane, or 4-chloro-m-cresol induce contractures at lower concentrations in MH muscle than in normal muscle when studied *in vitro*. This differential susceptibility forms the basis of the *in vitro* contracture test (IVCT) used in the determination of MH susceptibility (1984; Larach 1989; Rosenberg 2002).

Research into the causes and manifestations of malignant hyperthermia was greatly aided by the serendipitous observation that pigs bred to produce leaner meat sometimes experienced episodes of malignant hyperthermia (Gronert 1994). Subsequent genetic analysis revealed that this condition was due to an R615C point mutation in RyR1 (Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005). Pigs with this mutation were found to be susceptible to episodes of malignant hyperthermia in response to stress (i.e., the 'porcine stress syndrome'), halogenated anesthetics, and heat (Ording 1985; Gronert 1994). The response to stress was initially thought to be initiated by increased sympathetic activity; however, subsequent studies support a

RyR1 Mutation	Exon	Disease	ref	RyR1 Mutation	Exon	Disease	ref
L13R	1	HM	(Ibarra 2006)	R2458H	46	НМ	(Manning 1998a)
ΔD17	2	HM	(Ibarra 2006)	R2508C	47	MH/CCD	(Ibarra 2006)
C35R	7	HM	(Lynch 1997)	R2508G	47	CCD	(Ibarra 2006)
R44C	7	HM	(Tammaro 2003)	R2508H	47	MH/CCD	(Galli 2006)
R44H	7	MH	(Robinson 2006)	Y2510H	48	MH	(Robinson 2006)
D60N	3	HM	(Robinson 2006)	E2545D	48	CCD	(Ibarra 2006)
S71Y	ŝ	MH	(Galli 2006)	R2591G	48	MH	(Galli 2006)
Q155K	9	HM	(Ibarra 2006)	V2627L	49	HM	(Galli 2006)
E160G	9	MH/CCD	(Shepherd 2004)	R2676W	50	MH/CCD/MmD	(Guis 2004)
R163C	9	MH/CCD/MmD	(Quane 1993)	G2733D	51	MH	(Sambuughin 2005)
R163L	9	HM	(Monnier 2005)	E2764K	52	MH	(Galli 2006)
G165R	9	MH	(Monnier 2005)	T2787S	53	MH with cores	(Guis 2004)
D166N	9	HM	(Rueffert 2002)	R2840W	54	HM	(Ibarra 2006)
R177C	9	MH	(Monnier 2005)	L2867G	55	MH	(Galli 2006)
Y178C	9	MH	(Monnier 2005)	E3104K	63	MH	(Robinson 2006)
G215E	8	MH/CCD	(Romero 2003)	R3350H	67	MH	(Sambuughin 2005)
V218I	8	MH	(Ibarra 2006)	K3367R	67	MH/CCD	(Wu 2006)
D227V	8	HM	(Monnier 2005)	P3527S	71	MmD	(Ferreiro 2002a)
G248R	6	MH	(Gillard 1992)				
R316L	10	MH	(Ibarra 2006)	Q3756E	79	MH	(Oyamada 2002)
R328W	11	MH	(Loke 2003)	V3840I	82	MH	(Ibarra 2006)
G341R	11	MH	(Quane 1994)	R3903Q	85	MH	(Galli 2006)
R367Q	11	MH	(Galli 2006)	I3916M	85	MH	(Monnier 2002)
R401C	12	MH/CCD/EHS	(Davis and Pollock 2002)	D3986E	87	MH	(Robinson 2006)
R401G	12	MH	(Robinson 2006)	G3990V	87	MH	(Robinson 2006)
R401H	12	HM	(Rueffert 2002)	R4041Y	89	MH	(Galli 2006)
I403M	12	MH/CCD	(Quane 1993)	S4050Y	89	HM	(Robinson 2006)
Q474H	13	MH/CCD	(Ibarra 2006)	T4081	89	HM	(Ibarra 2006)
Y522S	14	MH/CCD	(Quane 1994)	N4119Y	90	MH	(Sambuughin 2005)

Table 2. RyR1 Mutations

CCD	101	F4860V	(Wehner 2003)	HM	43	N2342S
HM	101	A4856G	(Galli 2006)	HM	43	R2336Q
MH/CCD	101	V4849I	(Robinson 2006)	HM	43	R2336H
HM	101	L4838V	(Galli 2002)	HM	42	V2280I
MH	100	T4826I	(Sambuughin 2001)	HM	40	V2214I
CCD	100	R4825P	(Galli 2006)	HM	40	V2212D
CCD	100	R4825C	(Sambuughin 2005)	HM	40	V2210F
MH/CCD	100	L4824P	(Manning 1998a)	HM	40	T2206M
MH	100	G4820W	(Sambuughin 2005)	HM	40	A2200V
HM	100	I4817F	(Manning 1998b)	MH	39	V2168M
MH/CCD	100	L4814F	(Fortunato 2000)	HM	39	R2163P
CCD	100	F4808I	(Manning 1998a)	MH/CCD	39	R2163H
CCD	100	Y4796C	(Manning 1998a)	MH	39	R2163C
CCD	100	L4793P	(Rueffert 2001)	MH	39	D2129E
MH	98	R4737Q	(Tammaro 2003)	MH	39	V2117L
MH	98	R4737W	(Monnier 2000)	HM	34	A1832G
MH	98	G4734E	(Robinson 2006)	MH	34	M1814K
MH	98	Y4733E	(Ibarra 2006)	MH	34	P1773S
CCD	96	K4724Q	(Robinson 2006)	MH	34	M1729R
MH/MmD	96	F4684S	(Robinson 2006)	MH	34	S1728F
HM	96	P4668S	(Sambuughin 2005)	MH	34	S1728P
CCD	95	H4651P	(Ibarra 2006)	MH	34	R1667C
CCD	95	L4650P	(Robinson 2006)	MH	26	R1140C
HM	95	R4645Q	(Quane 1997)	MH	17	R614L
CCD	95	G4638D	(Gillard 1991)	MH/CCD/EHS	17	R614C
CCD	95	T4637I	(Keating 1997)	MH	15	R552W
CCD	95	T4637A	(Brandt 1999)	MH	15	R533H
MH	91	V4234L	(Tammaro 2003)	MH	15	R533C
HM	90	R4136S	(Yeh 2005)	HM	14	Y522C
	MH MH CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD MH MH MH MH MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD MH/CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD CCD	90 MH 91 MH 95 CCD 96 MH 96 MH 96 MH 98 MH 98 MH 98 MH 98 MH 98 MH 910 CCD 98 MH 99 MH 910 MH 910 MH 910 CCD 100 CCD 100 MH 100 MH 101 MH 101	R4136S 90 MH V4234L 91 MH V4234L 95 CCD T4637A 95 CCD T4637I 95 CCD T4637I 95 CCD R4645Q 95 MH L4650P 95 CCD R4645Q 95 MH F4631B 95 CCD R4645Q 95 MH F4668S 96 MH F4684S 96 MH F4684S 98 MH F4737W 9	(Yeh 2005) R4136S 90 MH (Tammaro 2003) Y4234L 91 MH (Brandt 1999) (Tammaro 2003) Y4234L 95 CCD (Reating 1997) (T46371 95 CCD MH (Gillard 1991) (Golisson 2006) H4651P 95 CCD (Robinson 2006) H4651P 95 CCD MH (Robinson 2006) H4651P 95 CCD (Robinson 2006) H4651P 95 MH (Robinson 2006) H4651P 95 MH (Robinson 2006) H4651P 96 MH (Robinson 2006) K4724Q 96 MH (Robinson 2006) K4734E 98 MH (Robinson 2006) K4734E 98	MH (Yeh 2005) R4136S 90 MH MH (Tammaro 2003) V4234L 91 MH MH (Tammaro 2003) V4234L 91 MH MH (Familt 1991) 74637A 95 CCD MH (Rening 1997) 74637A 95 CCD MH (Runne 1997) R4645Q 95 MH MH (Robinson 2006) H4651P 95 CCD MH (Robinson 2006) H4734E 96 MH MH (Robinson 2006) K4734E 96 MH MH (Robinson 2006) K4734E 96 MH MH (Robinson 2006) K4734E 96 MH	

Table 2. (Continued	(p						
RyR1 Mutation	Exon	Disease	ref	RyR1 Mutation	Exon	Disease	ref
V2346M	44	MH/CCD	(Shepherd 2004)	R4861H	101	CCD	(Monnier 2001)
E2344D	44	HIM	(Monnier 2005)	R4861C	101	CCD	(Davis 2003)
E2348G	44	MH/CCD	(Shepherd 2004)	Y4864C	101	CCD	(Quinlivan 2003)
A2350T	44	HIM	(Sambuughin 2001)	K4876R	101	НН	(Monnier 2005)
R2355W	44	HIM	(McWilliams 2002)	M4880T	101	HM	(Sambuughin 2005)
E2362G	44	HIM	(Galli 2006)	G4891R	102	CCD	(Tilgen 2001)
F2364V	44	HIM	(Robinson 2006)	R4893W	102	CCD	(Monnier 2001)
P2366R	44	HIM	(Ibarra 2006)	R4893Q	102	CCD	(Davis 2003)
A2367T	44	HIM	(Sambuughin 2001)	A4894V	102	CCD	(Robinson 2006)
G2375A	44	HIM	(Wehner 2004)	A4894T	102	HM	(Ibarra 2006)
A2428T	45	HIM	(Rueffert 2002)	I4898T	102	MH/CCD	(Lynch 1999)
D2431N	45	HM	(Sambuughin 2001)	G4899R	102	MH/CCD	(Tilgen 2001)
D2431Y	45	HIM	(Robinson 2006)	G4899E	102	CCD	(Monnier 2001)
G2434R	45	HIM	(Keating 1997)	A4906V	102	CCD	(Tilgen 2001)
R2435H	45	MH/CCD	(Zhang 1993)	R4914G	102	CCD	(Monnier 2001)
R2435L	45	MH/CCD	(Barone 1999)	R4914T	102	CCD	(Davis 2003)
A2437V	45	HIM	(Sei 2004)	F4921S	102	CCD	(Davis 2003)
E2439D	45	HIM	(Galli 2006)	V4927F	102	CCD	(Robinson 2006)
R2452W	46	MH	(Chamley 2000)	I4938M	103	НМ	(Shepherd 2004)
R2452Q	46	HIM	(Ibarra 2006)	D4939E	103	MH/CCD	(Shepherd 2004)
12453T	46	MH/CCD	(Rueffert 2004)	A4940T	103	CCD	(Quinlivan 2003)
R2454C	46	HIM	(Brandt 1999)	G4942V	103	MH/CCD	(Galli 2002)
R2454H	46	HIM	(Barone 1999)	P4973L	104	НМ	(Monnier 2002)
R2458C	46	HM	(Manning 1998a)				
possible contributory, but secondary, role of sympathetic activation in the development of an episode (Haggendal 1990; Gronert 1994; Maccani 1996). More recently, mice with a Y522S mutation of RyR1 have been reported to be the first mouse model for malignant hyperthermia (Chelu 2006). Initial studies in these mice support the findings observed in pigs bearing the R615C mutation, including increased sensitivity to halogenated anesthetics (isoflurane) and temperature (Chelu 2006).

Although the disease-causing mutations in RyR1 were originally thought to cluster into three regions: the N-terminal (cytosolic) region ("region 1", amino acids 35–614), the central (cytosolic) region ("region 2", amino acids 2129–2458), and the C-terminal pore-forming region ("region 3", amino acids 3916–4973)) (Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005; Yano 2006), it is now becoming apparent that, at least for MH, the mutations are more widely distributed throughout the RyR1 primary sequence (Figure 1c).

A number of studies have addressed the effects of the MH mutations on RyR1 activity and Ca^{2+} homeostasis (Table 3). Studies of the effects of the disease causing mutations have been studied by expression of recombinant RyR1 channels in HEK cells or RyR1 deficient myotubes. The "pure" MH mutations that do not appear to be associated with a core myopathy (see below) appear to make the RyR1 open more readily in response to activators but, for the most part, are not associated with Ca^{2+} leak to produce store depletion and/or increased resting Ca^{2+} . One possible explanation for these findings has been put forward by Ikemoto and Yamamoto (Ikemoto 2002), who proposed that an intra-molecular interaction between regions 1 and 2 regulates channel activation by stabilizing a closed state of the channel. They suggested that the MH mutations weaken this interaction, allowing the channel to open more readily in response to activators. This explanation is not mutually exclusive of others, such as the possibility that mutations in cytoplasmic domains could also alter the binding of modulators of RyR function.

There are number of unanswered questions about MH. These include: 1. Is the enhanced sensitivity of RyR1 to MH-producing triggers due to an inherent change in the sensitivity of RyR1 to these agents, or does altered Ca^{2+} homeostasis in the muscle drive other changes that enhance RyR1 sensitivity to activation? 2. Why are MH episodes more prevalent in children? 3. Why are males more likely to have an MH response? 4. Do mutations in proteins other than RyR1 and the DHPR produce MH?

5. RYR1 DISEASE: EXERTIONAL HEAT STROKE (EHS)

Exertional heat stroke (EHS), a severe form of heat illness, occurs during exercise in the heat. Patients with the RyR1 mutations associated with MH may be more susceptible to exertional heat stroke and, conversely, patients who have had EH episodes may be more susceptible to an MH response (Sei 1999; Wappler 2001; Davis and Pollock 2002). The two disorders appear to have many common features

Table 3. Functio	nal Consequence	s of RyR1 Mutat	tions						
Mutation (human seq #)	Expression system	Human Disease	Rest Ca ²⁺	Maximal Caffeine induced release	Caffeine sensitivity	Maximal Voltage gated release	Sensitivity to voltage	Ca ²⁺ stores	ref
C35R	HEK	НМ	nc	→	~			→	(Tong 1997; Tong 1900)
R163L	HEK	MH/CCD			~				(Monnier 2005)
R163L	HEK	MH/CCD	nc	\rightarrow					(Lynch 1999)
R163C	RyR1 deficient	НМ		\rightarrow	~	~	~		(Yang 2003)
R163C	myotubes RyR1 deficient	НМ	~	\rightarrow	←	\rightarrow	←	\rightarrow	(Avila 2001a)
R163C	myotubes HEK	НМ	nc	\rightarrow	←			\rightarrow	(Tong 1997;
G248R	HEK	НМ	nc	\rightarrow	←			nc	(Tong 1997; Tong 1997;
G341R	RyR1 deficient	НМ	nc	\rightarrow	~			Uncertain (↓ caffeine	(Yang 2003)
	myotubes							response, \uparrow K ⁺ response)	

(Continued)									
in preparation									
Durham et al,		←		←	\rightarrow	←	MH/CCD	knockin mouse	Y522S-
								myotubes rm T	Heterozygous
(Chelu 2006)		←	←	~	nc	nc	MH/CCD	myotubes knockin mouse	Y522S
Avila 2003)								deficient	
(Avila 2001a;	\rightarrow	~	\rightarrow		\rightarrow	~	MH/CCD	myotubes RyR 1	Y522S
	only)							muscle	
(Brini 2004)	↓ (terminal SR		nc		nc		MH/CCD	rat	Y522S-het
Tong 1999)									
(Tong 1997;	\rightarrow			←	\rightarrow	←	MH/CCD	HEK	Y522S
(Lynch 1999)	\rightarrow				\rightarrow		MH/CCD	HEK	Y522S
(Brini 2004)	\rightarrow				nc	←	MH/CCD	HEK	Y522S
Tong 1999)									
(Tong 1997;	nc			~	\rightarrow	nc	MH/CCD	HEK	I403M
								deficient myotubes	
(Avila 2001a)	nc				\rightarrow	~	MH/CCD	RyR1	I403M
(Tong 1997; Tong 1999)	\rightarrow			~	\rightarrow	nc	HM	HEK	G341R

Table 3. (Contin	(pən)								
Mutation (human seq #)	Expression system	Human Disease	Rest Ca ²⁺	Maximal Caffeine induced release	Caffeine sensitivity	Maximal Voltage gated release	Sensitivity to voltage	Ca ²⁺ stores	ref
Homozygous Y522S-Het	myotubes rm T knockin mouse	MH/CCD	←	\rightarrow	~				Durham et al,
R552W	myotubes 3/°C	НМ	nc	\rightarrow	~			\rightarrow	In preparation (Tong 1997;
R614C	HEK	НМ	nc	\rightarrow	~			nc	(Tong 1997;
R614C	MH pig	НМ			~				1 ong 1999) (Hawkes
R614C	RyR1 deficient	НМ	nc	nc		nc	~	пс	1992) (Dirksen 2004)
R614C	myotubes RyR1 deficient	НМ		\rightarrow	~	~	~		(Yang 2003)
R614L R999H	HEK Lympho-blastoid	MH MmD	nc	\rightarrow	← a			\rightarrow	(Tong 1999) (Ducreux
									2006)

(Monnier 2005)	(Avila 2001a; Dirksen 2004)	(Tong 1997; Tong 1999)	(Avila 2001a; Dirksen 2004)	(Yang 2003)	(Tong 1997; Tong 1999)	(Monnier 2005)	(Yang 2003)	(Monnier 2005)	(Dirksen 2004)	(Continued)
	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	nc		\rightarrow				nc	
	←		←	~			←		~	
	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	nc	~			~		nc	
nc		~		~	~	~	~	~		
	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	пс	\rightarrow	\rightarrow		\rightarrow	\rightarrow	nc	
	~	~	nc		nc			nc	nc	
	MH/CCD	MH/CCD	НМ	НМ	НМ	НМ	НМ	НМ	НМ	
HEK	RyR1 deficient mvotubes	HEK	RyR1 deficient myotubes	RyR1 deficient mvotubes	HEK	HEK	RyR1 deficient mvotubes	HEK	RyR1 deficient myotubes	
P1787L	R2163H	R2163H	R2163C	R2163C	R2163C	V2168M	V2168M	T2206M	ΔE2347	

Mutation (human seq #)	Expression system	Human Disease	RestCa ²⁺	Maximal Caffeine induced release	Caffeine sensitivity	Maximal Voltage gated release	Sensitivity to voltage	Ca ²⁺ stores	ref
T2206R	HEK	HM			~				(Monnier
A2428T	HEK	НМ			←				(CUU2) (Monnier
R2435H	RyR1 deficient	MH/CCD	←				~		(Avila 2001a)
R2435L	myotubes RyR1 deficient	MH/CCD	~	\rightarrow		\rightarrow	~	\rightarrow	(Dirksen 2004)
R2435H	myotubes HEK	MH/CCD	nc	\rightarrow	~	\rightarrow		nc	(Tong 1997;
R2454C	HEK	HM	nc		←				100g 1999) (Monnier 2005)
R2454H	HEK	HM		nc	~				(Monnier
R2458H	RyR1 deficient	НМ		\rightarrow	←	÷	~		(Yang 2003)
R2458H	myotubes HEK	НМ	nc	\rightarrow	←			\rightarrow	(Tong 1997; Tong 1999)

Table 3. (Continued)

R2458C	HEK	HM	nc	nc	~			nc	(Tong 1997; Tong 1999)
P3527S heterozyoonis	Lympho-blastoid	MmD	←	nc	nc				(Ducreux 2006)
P3527 Pomozvenis	Lympho-blastoid	CCD/MmD	←	\rightarrow	÷				(Ducreux
Δ4214-4216	RyR1 deficient myotubes, HEK Lympho- blastoid	CCD		\rightarrow	пс	\rightarrow	←		2006) 2006)
T4637A	RyR1 deficient mvotubes	CCD	~	\rightarrow		\rightarrow	~	\rightarrow	(Dirksen 2004)
Y4796C	HEK	CCD	←	\rightarrow	~				(Monnier 2005)
Y4796C	RyR1 deficient mvotubes	CCD	~	\rightarrow		\rightarrow	~	\rightarrow	(Dirksen 2004)
T4826I	RyR1 deficient mvotubes	НМ	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	nc	(Dirksen 2004)
T4826I	RyR1 deficient myotubes	НМ		\rightarrow	~	~	~		(Yang 2003)
V4849I heterozygous	Lympho- blastoid	MH/CCD	←	ис	и				(Ducreux 2006) (Continued)

Table 3. (Contin	(pəni								
Mutation (human seq #)	Expression system	Human Disease	RestCa ²⁺	Maximal Caffeine induced release	Caffeine sensitivity	Maximal Voltage gated release	Sensitivity to voltage	Ca^{2+} stores	ref
V4849I	Lympho- blastoid	MH/CCD	←		nc				(Ducreux
Δ4863-4869	Lympho- blastoid HEK	CCD							Zorzato (Zorzato 2003)
G4891R	RyR1 deficient	CCD	nc	\rightarrow		\rightarrow		nc	(Avila 2003)
R4893W	myotubes RyR1 deficient	CCD	nc	<pre>↓ (small effect)</pre>		\rightarrow		nc	(Avila 2003)
R4893W	myotubes HEK	CCD		\rightarrow					(Du 2004)
I4898T	RyR1 deficient mvotubes	CCD	nc	→		\rightarrow	nc	nc	(Avila 2001b; Avila 2003)
14898T 14898T	HEK HEK	CCD CCD	${\rightarrow}$	\rightarrow	nc			\rightarrow	(Lynch 1999) (Brini 2004)
I4898T-Het G4899E	Rat myotubes RvR1	CCD CCD	uc u	\rightarrow		nc ←		uc ←	(Brini 2004) (Avila 2003)
	deficient myotubes								~

OOP	RvR1	MH/CCD	Ju				(Avila
4	deficient		21	``	÷	Ĩ	(AVIIA 2003)
^	myotubes RyR1 deficient	CCD	пс	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	пс	(Avila 2003)
U	myotubes RyR1 deficient	CCD	nc	→	→	nc	(Avila 2003)
-4928	myotubes RyR1 deficient myotubes	CCD		\rightarrow	\rightarrow		(Lyfenko 2006)
	Lympho- blastoid HEK						

including: rhabdomyolysis, increases in serum creatine kinase, hyperkalemia, tachycardia, metabolic acidosis and increased production of inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL1 β , aand IL-10) by skeletal muscle (Bouchama 2002; Ducreux 2004). Wappler et al (Wappler 2001) performed *in vitro* contracture tests on patients who had had episodes of EHS. Out of 12 patients, 10 showed IVCTs that suggested MH susceptibility with three having RyR1 mutations associated with MH. There also appears to be a correlation in the military with soldiers who have environmental heat illness with positive IVCT tests (Hackl 1991; Hopkins 2000; Bendahan 2001).

Two RyR1 mutations (R401C and R614C) are now thought to correlate with MH, exertional heat stroke and exercise-induced rhabdomyolysis (Wappler 2001; Davis 2002). These findings raise questions as to how exercise increases the probability of an MH response. Intense or prolonged exercise increases oxidative stress (Cooper 2002), core body temperature, and sympathetic activity (Seals 1991). Any of these changes could trigger SR Ca²⁺ release if the mutated RyR1 is more sensitive to these stimuli. The relationship between exertional heat illness and MH is currently a topic of great interest. A particularly intriguing question is whether MHS can be acquired as the result of an EHS episode. Interested readers are referred to an insightful and comprehensive review of the relationship between MH and environmental heat illness by Muldoon et al (Muldoon 2004).

6. RYR1 DISEASE: CENTRAL CORE DISEASE (CCD)

CCD (Shy 1956) is the most frequently observed congenital myopathy in humans (Shuaib 1987; Dirksen 2002b; Lueck 2004). Muscle weakness of the lower extremities leading to delayed attainment of motor skill milestones is the most common manifestation. In individuals exhibiting such characteristics, the diagnosis of CCD is based on histochemical identification in type 1 muscle fibers with clearly circumscribed amorphous areas (cores) that lack mitochondria and oxidative enzyme activity (Shuaib 1987). CCD was first described in 1956 (Shy 1956), making it the first reported human congenital myopathy (Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005). The clinical presentation of CCD is variable, with the functional spectrum ranging from individuals with no noticeable limitations of activities of daily living throughout their lives to those displaying profound muscle weakness from an early age, manifested as infantile hypotonia (floppy infant syndrome) and delayed achievement of motor milestones (Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005). In the latter cases, hip dislocation (Gonatas 1965; Bethlem 1971), kyphoscoliosis, and flat feet are common (Shuaib 1987; Lyfenko 2004). Weakness is usually more pronounced in proximal muscle groups and is non-progressive or slowly progressive (Patterson 1979; Lamont 1998; Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005). Until recently, CCD was thought to be inherited solely in an autosomal dominant fashion. However, it is now known that in rare instances inheritance can be autosomal recessive (Jungbluth 2002; Romero 2003).

The eponymous characteristic of this disease is a lack of oxidative staining in regions ("cores") of skeletal muscle fibers. These cores can either be centrally

located or at the periphery of the fiber (referred to as eccentric cores) and in longitudinal sections are observed to encompass numerous sarcomeres along the long axis of the fiber (Treves 2005). In addition to lack of mitochondrial or oxidative enzyme staining, cores lack glycogen granules and exhibit variable degrees of myofibrillar disorganization, such as Z-line streaming (Lyfenko 2004). Type I fiber predominance is typically observed (Lyfenko 2004; Treves 2005).

The factor(s) responsible for core development are not known. Currently proposed explanations center on responses to aberrant calcium signaling. In these scenarios, the core represents an area of the fiber in which Ca^{2+} homeostasis cannot be properly regulated. One possibility is that mitochondrial Ca^{2+} levels are either increased or reduced in CCD skeletal muscle, leading to pathological mitochondrial dysfunction. Calcium is an activator of mitochondrial ATP production (Lyfenko 2004) but Ca^{2+} overload can lead to destruction of mitochondria. It has also been proposed that core formation represents a protective response to calcium dysregulation in some parts of the cell (Loke 1998). In this case, the core isolates the dysfunctional region of the muscle fiber from the areas in which calcium homeostasis is better maintained. Notably, the presence of cores alone is not pathognomic for CCD, as ~40% of individuals exhibiting this characteristic may be clinically normal (Shuaib 1987). In addition, the prevalence of cores does not correlate with disease severity (Fardeau 1994; Sewry 2002).

Although primarily identified by the presence of central cores in the muscle fiber, RyR1 mutations can also be associated with eccentric or peripheral cores, multiple minicores, uniformity of type 1 fibers with or without cores, mild unevenness of oxidative enzyme staining, or marked muscle replacement by fatty tissue in association with cores (Muntoni 2003). Most disease-causing mutations in RyR1 are single point mutations that are likely to directly alter RyR1 function. Recently, however, Monnier et al (Monnier 2003) reported an out-of-frame mutation that leads to reduction of RyR1 in the muscle, suggesting the amount of RyR1 expressed is also crucial for function. In addition, as mentioned above, CCD may present as a multi-minicore myopathy and can show a recessive inheritance. Ferreiro et al. (Ferreiro 2002b) identified a homozygous mutation in the RYR1 gene in an Algerian family. The skeletal muscles from adult affected members of this family showed typical central cores, but muscle of the affected children presented as a minicore myopathy. These studies emphasize the need to assess the effects of aging in CCD and that the presentation of CCD can be highly variable even within a single family, with both severely affected and asymptomatic family members all carrying the same mutation.

One family with CCD arising from an RyR1 mutation also had nemaline rods similar to those found with nemaline myopathies (NM) (Scacheri 2000). Muscle fibers from these patients show frequent clusters of rod-like structures. The autosomal dominant form of NM has been linked to mutations in the genes for α -tropomyosin and skeletal α -actin. A recessive form is associated with mutations in nebulin and α -tropomyosin. A major, unanswered question is whether and/or how a mutation in RyR1 can produce a similar pathology.

For certain RyR1 mutations, individuals exhibit both MH and CCD, whereas others appear to result in either a pure MH phenotype or CCD in the absence of enhanced MH-susceptibility. Importantly, because MH and CCD are predominantly inherited in an autosomal dominant manner, the majority of these mutations are thought to produce "gain-of-function" effects on SR Ca²⁺ release channel activity, a prediction supported by the functional studies discussed below. As summarized in Table 3, most *in vitro* studies have found that mutations association with both MH and CCD are characterized as "leaky" in that Ca2+ stores are depleted and cytosolic resting Ca²⁺ concentrations may be elevated. A dichotomy exists in the functional effects of CCD mutations in region 3 of RyR. Some mutations in this region increase channel activity (Lyfenko 2006; Yano 2006), similar to the effects of the cytoplasmic, aminoterminal mutations. In contrast, a subset of mutations in region 3 is thought to inhibit permeation of Ca^{2+} through the pore (Lyfenko 2004; Lyfenko 2006). When expressed in vitro, such channels are insensitive to activation by voltage. Due to this insensitivity, such channels are sometimes referred to as "EC uncoupled" channels (Lyfenko 2006). It should be noted, however, that there is no evidence to suggest that there is an alteration in the interactions between the DHPR and RyR1. Instead, the lack of voltage-gated release is likely to reflect the altered conductance of the RyR1 channel itself rather than the coupling. We would like to suggest that this type of mutation be termed a "pore or conductance altering" mutation rather than an "EC uncoupling" mutation. The term "EC uncoupling" should be reserved for a condition in which the interactions between the DHPR and RyR can be clearly demonstrated to be altered.

To date, there are no convenient animal models of central core disease, although cores have been reported in horses (Paciello 2006). Chelu et al. (Chelu 2006) introduced a point mutation (Y522S) in RYR1 of mice that had previously been associated with central cores in a French kindred (Quane 1994). However, these mice did not exhibit central cores (Chelu 2006), but do develop muscle weakness with age (unpublished observation). For additional information on MH and CCD readers are referred to the recent excellent review/update by Robinson et al (Robinson 2006).

As with MH, there are a number of important questions that need to be answered to elucidate the molecular events altered in CCD: What causes cores to form? Why don't cores form in mice with mutations that produce cores in humans? How can a single mutation produce widely variable phenotypic outcomes?

7. RYR1 DISEASE: MULTI-MINICORE DISEASE (MMD)

Some patients exhibit cores that are smaller and shorter (longitudinally) than the cores observed in central core disease and that occur both in slow and fast type muscle fibers (Ferreiro 2002b; Robinson 2006). These cores are referred to as *multicores* or *minicores* and patients with myopathic symptoms (e.g. proximal muscle weakness, delayed motor development, difficulty rising, etc.) along with these core-like structures are said to have *multiminicore disease (MmD)*. Considerable overlap

exists between CCD and MmD, making it difficult to determine whether MmD is a disorder distinct from CCD or a subset of CCD which manifests unique histological characteristics (Lyfenko 2004; Robinson 2006). As for CCD, the presence of minicores alone is not sufficient for diagnosis and the disease follows a slowly or non-progressive course (Fardeau 1994).

Multiminicore disease may also result from mutations in another protein found in the lumen of the ER/SR, selenoprotein N (Ferreiro 2002b). The function of selenoprotein N is currently unknown but may be to participate in regulation of redox homeostasis. An intriguing question is the relationship between RyR1 and selenoprotein N such that mutations in either protein can produce similar changes in muscle structure and function.

8. DEFECTS IN RYR2 ASSOCIATED WITH CARDIAC DISEASE

Autosomal-dominant mutations in the RyR2 gene have been identified in families and in sporadic (*de novo*) patients affected by two inherited cardiac arrhythmia syndromes, 'catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia' (CPVT) and 'arrhythogenic right ventricular dysplasia type 2' (ARVD2) (see Table 1) (Laitinen 2001; Priori 2001; Tiso and Thiene 2001). Unlike ARVD2, which was originally reported to be associated with progressive degeneration of the right ventricular myocardium, CPVT is not typically characterized by structural heart degeneration (Tiso and Thiene 2001).

It was originally reported that the *RyR2* mutations linked to CPVT and ARVD2 cluster in three distinct 'hotspot' domains of the channel, corresponding to similar mutation domains in the type 1 ryanodine receptor (RyR1) linked to malignant hyperthermia and central core disease (see Table 3 and Table 4). However, the recent identification of *RyR1* mutations linked to MH between the first and second mutation domains suggests that disease-linked mutations may be found in additional RyR regions. Since the initial screening for mutations concentrated on the three known hotspot domains, it will not come as a surprise if many mutations in other regions of the channel have been overlooked during initial sequencing efforts.

9. RYR2 DISEASE: CATECHOLAMINERGIC POLYMORPHIC VENTRICULAR TACHYCARDIA (CPVT)

In most cases, CPVT is inherited as an autosomal-dominant disease. Genetic analysis has demonstrated that approximately 40% of these patients carry a mutation on the RyR2 gene (Priori 2002). In addition, mutations in the calsequestrin gene (*CASQ2*) have been linked to a rare, autosomal-recessive form of CPVT (Lahat 2001). Patients with CPVT characteristically develop ventricular arrhythmias during strenuous physical exercise or emotional stress (Priori 2001; Priori 2002). Studies in patients with RyR2 mutations have revealed that CPVT can be induced by catecholamine infusion, but typically not by programmed electrical stimulation

RyR2 mutations	Disease	References	RyR2 mutations	Disease	References
	Mutation	ı domain 1	Mut	tation domain 3	
A77V	AR VD2/CPVT	(d'Amati 2005; Tiziana di Gioia 2006)	L3778F	CPVT	(Priori 2002)
P164S	CPVT	(Tester 2006)	C3800F	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
R169Q*	CPVT	(Hsueh 2006)	S3938R	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
R176Q*	ARVD2	(Tiso and Thiene 2001)	G3946S*	CPVT	(Priori 2002)
V186M	CPVT	(Tester 2006)	F4020L	CPVT	(Postma 2005)
R414C/L	CPVT	(Tester 2005; Creighton 2006)	E4076K	CPVT	(Postma 2005)
I419F*	CPVT	(Tester 2005)	N4097S	CPVT	(Tester 2004)
R420W	ARVD2	(Bauce 2002; Tester 2004)	N4104K/I	CPVT	(Priori 2001)
L433P	ARVD2	(Tiso and Thiene 2001)	H4108N/Q	CPVT	(Postma 2005)
P466A	CPVT	(Tester 2005)	S4124T	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
	Mutatior	i domain 2	E4146K	CPVT	(Tester 2004)
E1724K	CPVT	(Postma 2005)	T4158P	CPVT	(Tester 2004)
S2246L	CPVT	(Prestle 2001; Priori 2002; Tester 2004)	T4196A	CPVT	(Tester 2006)
A2254V	CPVT	(Postma 2005)	Q4201R	CPVT	(Laitinen 2001)
R2267H	CPVT	(Tester 2006)	R4497C	CPVT	(Priori 2001)
V2306I	CPVT	(Laitinen 2003)	F4499C	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
E2311D*	CPVT	(Priori 2002)	M4504I	CPVT	(Bagattin 2004)
P2328S	CPVT	(Laitinen 2001)		CCD	(Wu 2006)
F2331S*	CPVT	(Creighton 2006)	A4510T	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
N2386I	ARVD2	(Tiso and Thiene 2001; Postma 2005)	A4556T	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
A2387T/P	CPVT	(Tiso and Thiene 2001; Bagattin 2004)	S4565R*	CPVT	(Tester 2006)
Y2392C	ARVD2	(Bauce 2002)	A4607P	CPVT	(Bagattin 2004)
A23946	CPVT	(Postma 2005)			
R2401H/L*	CPVT	(Aizawa and Takahashi 2005; Creighton 2006)	V4653F	CPVT	(Laitinen 2001)
A2403T*	CPVT	(Tester 2005)	INS EY4657-4658	CPVT	(Tester 2005)

Table 4. Inherited RyR2 mutations associated with cardiac arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death

	Mutation domain 2			Mutation domain 3	
R2474S*	CPVT	(Priori 2001)	G4662S*	CPVT	(Postma 2005)
T2504M	ARVD2	(Tiso 2001)	G4671R	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
L2534V	CPVT	(Hasdemir 2004)	H4762P	CPVT	(Postma 2005)
			V47711	CPVT	(Priori 2002)
			I4848V	CPVT	(Tester 2005)
			A4860G	CPVT	(Priori 2002)
			I4867M*	CPVT	(Priori 2002)
			V4880A	CPVT	(Bagattin 2004)
			N4895D	CPVT	(Priori 2002)
			P4902L/S*	CPVT	(Laitinen 2003)
			E4950K	CPVT	(Priori 2002)
			R4959Q	CPVT	(Laitinen 2003)

(Priori 2002; Sumitomo 2003). In addition, since the morphology of ventricular tachycardia observed in CPVT (bidirectional, broad complex tachycardia with alternating QRS complex polarity) resembles that of digitalis induced ventricular tachycardia (Wehrens 2005a; Liu 2006), it has been suggested that arrhythmogenesis in CPVT originates from delayed afterdepolarizations (DADs) and triggered activity.

Important insights into the electrophysiological and cellular mechanisms of CPVT were obtained in a knock-in mouse model of the R4496C mutation, which is the mouse equivalent of the R4497C mutation identified in patients with CPVT (Cerrone 2005). After exercise stress testing followed by epinephrine administration, heterozygous R4496C knockin mice developed bidirectional ventricular tachycardia (Cerrone 2005). Interestingly, pretreatment with β-adrenergic receptor blockers did not prevent the occurrence of these arrhythmias in this mouse model of CPVT, which is consistent with the observation in CPVT patients that β-blockers provide incomplete protection against arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death (Priori 2002). In cardiomyocytes isolated from R4496C mice, DADs were observed following rapid electrical stimulation (Liu 2006). These DADs most likely result from spontaneous SR Ca²⁺ release (Wehrens 2003b; Kannankeril 2006), which leads to the activation of the Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger associated with a transient inward current (I_{ti}) (Scoote 2002; Baartscheer 2005). If the amplitude of this inward current exceeds the threshold membrane potential, depolarization may occur and cardiac arrhythmia may be propagated (Wehrens 2005a; Lehnart 2006). Factors that increase the likelihood that the depolarization threshold will be reached include a faster heart rate and intracellular Ca²⁺ overload (Santana 1996). The association with faster heart rates may explain why arrhythmias in CPVT almost exclusively occur during exercise or stress (Priori 2002).

Experimental studies of CPVT-linked mutant RyR2 channel have revealed features consistent with the clinical phenotype in mutation carriers (Wehrens 2003b). Most studies have shown that under resting conditions, CPVT-mutant channels are indistinguishable from normal (wild-type) channels, in agreement with the observation that CPVT mutation carriers do not develop arrhythmias at rest (see Table 4) (George 2003; Wehrens 2003b). In contrast, mutant RyR2 typically show gain-of-function defects in response to channel activation by PKA phosphorylation (Wehrens 2003b; Lehnart 2004) or caffeine (George 2006; Kannankeril 2006). Although the molecular mechanisms underlying increased activity of mutant RyR2 are somewhat controversial (Wehrens 2004a; Liu 2006), most studies have demonstrated that CPVT-linked mutant RyR2 become hyperactive following stimulation leading to SR Ca²⁺ leak (Table 5). For example, using a planar lipid bilayer assay to characterize single channel gating features, Wehrens et al. (Wehrens 2003b; Lehnart 2004) demonstrated that CPVT-mutant RyR2 channels fail to remain fully closed under conditions that mimic diastole in the heart. Consistent with these studies, intracellular Ca^{2+} leak was observed after β -adrenergic stimulation in HL-1 atrial tumor cells expressing the same CPVT mutant RyR2 channels (George 2003). Jiang et al. (Jiang 2004) also demonstrated enhanced Ca²⁺ release through

Table 5. Functional	l consequences of RyR2 mu	tations					
RyR2 Mutation(s)	Experimental Methods	Basal RyR2 Act.	Stimulated RyR2 Act.	FKBP12.6 Affinity	Other Mechanisms	Ca Release Events	Reference
R4497C	[3H]ryanodine; bilayer; Ca release in HEK cells	~	↑ (w/ caffeine)	N/A		<i>←</i>	(Jiang 2002)
ARVD vs. CPVT	Yeast two-hybrid system	N/A	N/A	$\uparrow \text{CPVT}, \downarrow \text{ARVD}$		N/A	(Tiso and Thiene 2001)
S2246L R2474S R4497C	Bilayer; FKBP12.6 binding assay	II	↑ (w/ PKA)	↓ affinity		A/A	(Wehrens 2003b)
S2246L N4104K R4497C	Ca release in HL-1 cells	N/A	N/A	= binding		↑ (w/ caffeine, 4-CMC, iso)	(George 2003)
P2328S Q4201R V4653F	Bilayer; FKBP12.6 binding assay	II	↑ (w/ PKA)	↓ affinity	↓ inhibition by Mg	N/A	(Lehnart 2004)
N4104K R4496C N4895D	[3H]ryanodine; bilayer; Ca release in HEK cells	II	↑ (at high luminal [Ca])	N/A		↑ (w/ caffeine)	(Jiang 2004)

(Continued)

Table 5. (Continued	0						
RyR2 Mutation(s)	Experimental Methods	Basal RyR2 Act.	Stimulated RyR2 Act.	FKBP12.6 Affinity	Other Mechanisms	Ca Release Events	Reference
L433P N2386I R176Q/T2504M	Ca release in HEK cells	N/A	N/A	N/A		↑ (w/ caffeine)	(Thomas 2004)
L433P N2386I R176Q/T2504M	Ca release in HEK cells	N/A	N/A	N/A	loss of Ca-dependent inactivation	altered (w/caffeine)	(Thomas 2005)
R176Q/T2504M L433P S2246L Q4201R 14867M	[3H]ryanodine; bilayer; Ca release in HEK/HL-1	II	↑ (at high luminal [Ca])	= (at 4 °C)		↑ (w/ caffeine)	(Jiang 2005)
S2246L N4104K R4497C	FRET in CHO/HL1 cells	N/A	N/A	N/A	abnormal interdomain interactions	\uparrow (w/ caffeine)	(George 2006)
S2246L	Ca sparks and release; peptides in rat myocytes	N/A	N/A	N/A	abnormal interdomain interactions	\uparrow (w/ caffeine)	(Yang 2006)

mutant RyR2 expressed in HEK293 cells. Together, these studies revealed that mutant RyR2 channels exhibit diastolic SR Ca^{2+} leak and a reduced threshold for Ca^{2+} spilling from the SR, which under certain conditions may lead to delayed afterdepolarizations and cardiac arrhythmias.

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain decreased stability of the closed conformational state of mutant RyR2 channels. Wehrens et al. (Wehrens 2003b) reported that CPVT mutant RyR2 channels have a decreased binding affinity for the channel-stabilizing subunit FKBP12.6 (calstabin2). Additional evidence for the link between FKBP12.6 binding to RyR2 and arrhythmias has come from studies in FKBP12.6 knockout mice, in which FKBP12.6 deficiency has been linked to the development of catecholaminergic polymorphic VTs that resemble those occurring in CPVT patients (Wehrens 2003a; Wehrens 2004b). Moreover, increasing FKBP12.6 binding to RyR2 either using the experimental drug JTV519 (which enhances FKBP12.6 affinity for RyR2) (Wehrens 2004a; Wehrens 2004b) or transgenic overexpression of FKBP12.6 (Huang 2006) suppresses the vulnerability to ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death in mice. Nevertheless, decreased binding affinity of FKBP12.6 to CPVT-mutant RyR2 was not observed by George et al. (George 2003). These authors determined FKBP12.6 protein levels in microsomes isolated from HL-1 cell transfected with WT and CPVT-mutant RyR2 channels. However, loading controls and the expression levels of RyR2 were not provided for each sample, making it difficult to assess the implications of these findings.

As for RyR1 (see above discussion of MH), it has been proposed that inherited mutations in RyR2 may alter interdomain interactions and autoregulation of RyR2. George et al. (George 2006) co-expressed fluorescent RyR2 fusion proteins corresponding to the C terminus and cytoplasmic N-terminal domain containing either WT sequences or CPVT-linked mutations. Although biochemical evidence for binding of the C terminal and N terminal fusion proteins is not provided, the authors propose that CPVT mutations alter fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) between the two RyR2 domains, which might represent greater conformational changes in RyR2 following activation by caffeine (George 2006). Yang et al. (Yang 2006) also described potential changes in interdomain interactions associated with CPVT mutations. They perfused rat cardiomyocytes with a peptide homologous to the central domain of the RyR2 channel (DPc10; amino acids 2460-2496). Although the overall results show that the DPc10 peptide mimics the functional effects of the R2474S mutation (i.e. impaired interdomain interactions and autoregulation), most effects were transient and not consistent with diastolic SR Ca²⁺ leak, observed in many other studies. Thus, future studies will be necessary to determine the physiological significance of potential changes in interdomain interactions within the RyR2 channel.

Another mechanism has been proposed to contribute to diastolic SR Ca^{2+} leak through CPVT-mutant RyR2. Jiang et al. (Jiang 2004) expressed wildtype and mutant RyR2 in HEK293 cells and found altered luminal Ca^{2+} activation in cells expressing mutant RyR2. They proposed that a reduced threshold for store

overload-induced Ca^{2+} release (SOICR) in CPVT linked RyR2 mutations triggers the arrhythmias (Jiang 2004; Jiang 2005). However, it should be noted that these studies were conduced in HEK293 cells which are non-muscular in origin and lack junctional SR which is crucial for proper Ca^{2+} handling in cardiomyocytes. Moreover, these authors have reported that CPVT mutant channels are defective under baseline conditions, which is at odds with the clinical disease phenotype (i.e., exercise-induced cardiac arrest).

Nevertheless, most functional characterizations of RyR2 mutants performed so far agree on the presence of a diastolic SR Ca²⁺ leak upon β -adrenergic stimulation and on a lower threshold for Ca²⁺ spilling from the SR. These dysfunctions are likely to promote the development of DADs and triggered arrhythmias in CPVT.

Finally, a less common type of CPVT is caused by mutations in the calsequestrin gene (*CASQ2*). Although the molecular mechanisms of CASQ2-linked CPVT are beyond the scope of this chapter, it is thought that CASQ2 mutations reduce effective Ca^{2+} buffering inside the SR (Terentyev 2003), or cause altered interactions with the RyR2 channel complex leading to impaired RyR2 regulation by luminal Ca^{2+} (Terentyev 2006).

Unanswered questions: Are there disease-associated mutations in RyR2 that alter the pore and/or channel conductance, as have been described for RyR1 (see above)? To date, similar mechanisms have not been described for arrhythmia-linked RyR2 mutations. It has been suggested that the incidence of arrhythmias and syncope is higher in male patients with mutations in RyR2; however, the molecular mechanisms for such an occurrence remain to be studied (Priori 2002).

10. RYR2 DISEASE: ARRHYTHMOGENIC RIGHT VENTRICULAR DYSPLASIA (ARVD)

ARVD is an inherited disorder characterized by progressive replacement of right ventricular free wall with fibrous and fatty tissue (Corrado 1997). The clinical presentation of ARVD is characterized by arrhythmias of right ventricular origin, ranging from premature beats to sustained ventricular fibrillation, often associated with sudden cardiac death. To date, at least 10 genes have been linked to ARVD (Awad 2006). Like other forms of ARVD, ARVD type 2 (ARVD2) is characterized by fibrofatty substitution of myocardial tissue, but to a much lesser extent (Tiso and Thiene 2001). In addition, ARVD2 is distinctive in causing polymorphic effort-induced ventricular arrhythmias, similar to CPVT (Danieli 2002).

Missense mutations in *RyR2* have also been linked to arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia type 2 (ARVD2) (Tiso and Thiene 2001). This report was subject of recent debate, as ARVD was generally believed to be a disease of adhesion molecules (Corrado 2006). Only one research group has claimed an association of RyR2 mutation with ARVD (Bauce 2002), whereas several other cardiogenetics groups have failed to find evidence for such linkage (Priori 2005). To resolve this controversy, we have recently generated knockin mice carrying the ARVD2-associated R176Q mutation in RyR2 (Kannankeril 2006). This mutation

was originally identified in patients that also carry a second RyR2 mutation on the same allele, T2504M (Tiso and Thiene 2001). Although *in vitro* experiments revealed that the R176Q and T2504M mutations alone resulted in altered RyR2 function (Thomas 2004; Jiang 2005; Thomas 2005), it was unknown whether the R176Q mutation would be sufficient to cause ventricular arrhythmias and ventricular dysfunction in intact animals. Indeed, heterozygous R176Q mice develop catecholamine-induced ventricular tachycardia and sudden cardiac death following isoproterenol administration (Kannankeril 2006). In addition, we observed mild right ventricular contractile defects consistent with restrictive ventricular filling, although structural abnormalities such as fibrosis or fibrofatty replacement were not observed (Kannankeril 2006). Based on recent clinical and experimental data, it is currently believed that the presence of some minor structural abnormalities of the ventricle may be part of the CPVT phenotype that nonetheless remains a condition clinically and physiologically distinct from ARVD.

11. RYR2 DISEASE: SUDDEN INFANT DEATH SYNDROME (SIDS)

Recent molecular autopsy studies have suggested that mutations in RyR2 gene may cause sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS), the leading cause of death in infants under one year of age (Tester 2006a; Tester 2006b). Although the etiology of SIDS is largely unknown, several theories including fatal cardiac arrhythmias have been suggested (Schwartz 1998). Molecular autopsy studies have revealed that 10-20% of sudden deaths in young children can be attributed to mutations in the calcium release channel gene RyR2 (Tester 2004; Wehrens 2004b). These findings suggest that a CPVT-like arrhythmia syndrome may cause fatal arrhythmias in these infants. However, mechanistic studies of SIDS-linked RyR2 mutations are currently not available.

12. CARDIAC DISEASE ASSOCIATED WITH ACQUIRED RYR2 DEFECT

In addition to inherited mutations in RyR2, several cardiac disorders have been associated with acquired defects in RyR2 (Vest 2005; Wehrens 2005b; Phrommintikul 2006). Changes in the subunit composition or the regulation of the RyR2 channel complex have been reported in chronic heart failure, cardiomyopathy, and atrial fibrillation.

13. RYR2 DISEASE: HEART FAILURE

The pathogenesis of heart failure is characterized by depressed cardiac contractility, which is normally controlled by the rhythmic release and reuptake of Ca^{2+} from the SR. A reduction in SR Ca^{2+} content has consistently been described in various forms of heart failure. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the decrease in SR Ca^{2+} loading in failing hearts, including 1) increased diastolic SR Ca^{2+} release,

2) decreased Ca²⁺ reuptake into the SR, and 3) decreased Ca²⁺ buffering within the SR (Bers 2005). Since these mechanisms have been reviewed in great detail elsewhere (Eisner 2002; Trafford 2002; Bers 2003; Wehrens 2005b; Chu 2006), we will only focus on the potential contribution of RyR2 dysfunction to abnormal Ca²⁺ handling in heart failure.

Increased diastolic SR Ca²⁺ leak via RyR2 has been proposed as an important contributor to a reduction in SR Ca²⁺ load and, thus, to a reduced intracellular Ca²⁺ transient (Marx 2000; Bers 2003). Marks et al. (Marx 2000; Marks 2001) have proposed that chronic activation of the β-adrenergic pathways in heart failure results in maladaptive changes in the heart, including chronic PKA hyperphosphorylation of RyR2. Although several other groups have confirmed these findings, some have not found evidence for increased PKA phosphorylation of RyR2 in failing heart (reviewed in (Wehrens 2005b)). Indeed, the finding of chronically enhanced PKA phosphorylation of RyR2 seems counterintuitive in view of the downregulation and desensitization of beta-adrenergic receptors in heart failure (Rockman 2002). However, recent studies suggest that alterations in the local signaling modules associated with the RyR2 macromolecular channel complex may indeed create a local environment in which enhanced phosphorylation of RyR2 is favored. For example, reduced levels of the protein phosphatases PP1 and PP2A can prevent dephosphorylation of RyR2 (Marx 2000; Reiken 2003). Moreover, Lehnart et al. (Lehnart 2005) recently demonstrated that downregulation of the phosphodiesterase 4D3 isoform (PDE4D3) in the RyR2 complex in failing hearts leads to increased levels of 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) in the RyR2 microdomain, associated with enhanced activity of the cAMP-dependent enzyme PKA (Dodge 2001). Consistent with these findings in human heart biopsies, PDE4D-deficient mice develop defective RyR2 channel function associated with heart failure (Lehnart 2005). Thus, diastolic SR Ca²⁺ leak through defective and remodeling RyR2 channels may lead to depletions of the SR Ca²⁺ stores, associated with depressed contractility in the failing heart. Moreover, abnormal diastolic Ca²⁺ leak may provide the trigger for ventricular arrhythmias, which are frequently observed in patients with heart failure (Pogwizd 2004; Wehrens 2005a).

14. RYR2 DISEASE: DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

Decrease in the ability of the heart to effectively contract is one of the major causes for the increased incidence of morbidity and mortality in diabetic patients (Rubler 1972). Both electrical and mechanical properties of the myocardium from diabetic patients may be significantly impaired, which has been attributed to alterations in intracellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis (Pierce 1983; Bouchard 1991; Yaras 2005). Weakened contractility of myocytes isolated from streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetic rats correlated with a reduced rate of the rise and decline of intracellular Ca^{2+} transients elicited by electrical stimulation (Choi 2002), which has been attributed to abnormal SR pump activity (Ganguly 1983), decreased SR Ca^{2+} storage (Bouchard 1991), and reduced Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger activity (Yaras 2005). However,

abnormal Ca^{2+} handling in diabetic cardiomyopathy may also result from enhanced diastolic SR Ca^{2+} release through RyR2.

Yu and McNeill (Yu 1991) were the first to implicate RyR2 dysfunction in the etiology of diabetic cardiomyopathy when they noticed significantly reduced post-rest potentiation in heart from diabetic rats. They also showed that membrane vesicles prepared from diabetic rat hearts bound less [³H]-ryanodine compared with age-matched, control rats (Yu 1994), suggesting decreased RyR2 expression or activity during diabetes. Guner et al. (Guner 2004) subsequently showed that RyR2 expression is decreased in the hearts of chronic diabetic patients, as well as in hearts of STZ-induced diabetic rats (Teshima 2000; Bidasee 2001; Netticadan 2001; Zhong 2001). However, since critical Ca^{2+} cycling proteins are usually expressed in amounts that exceed that required for minimal physiologic functioning, it seems unlikely that decreased expression of RyR2 by itself could be solely responsible for the depressed post-rest potentiation associated with diabetes. Moreover, other studies have demonstrated that the expression of RyR2 may be unaltered in the STZinduced diabetic rat model (Zhong 2001). Thus, it seems likely that mechanisms other than changes in RyR2 expression are responsible for the loss in ventricular contractility associated with diabetes.

Diabetes-induced dysfunction of RyR2 could be, in part, due to the formation of disulfide bonds between adjacent sulfhydryl groups, while chronic diabetes increases advance glycation end (AGE) products (Bidasee 2003a; Bidasee 2003b; Bidasee 2005). Moreover, a reduced amount of FKBP12.6 binding and increased protein kinase A (PKA) phosphorylation of RyR2 has been demonstrated in rats with diabetic cardiomyopathy (Yaras 2005). Consistent with the findings, Yaras et al. (Yaras 2005) demonstrated decreased Ca^{2+} transient amplitudes and SR Ca^{2+} loads as well as increased diastolic Ca^{2+} levels in cardiomyocytes from rats with diabetes. Therefore, it is likely that the decrease in SR Ca^{2+} load is, at least in part, caused by anomalous RyR2 activity resulting from abnormal posttranslational modifications and changes in the binding affinity of regulatory subunits.

15. RYR2 DISEASE: ATRIAL FIBRILLATION

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most important cardiac rhythm disorder that commonly occurs in the context of structural heart disease, in particular congestive heart failure. Coordinated atrial activity is replaced by disorganized rapid atrial depolarizations, which may be of short duration in paroxysmal AF, or chronically present in permanent AF (Dobrev 2006). It is generally accepted that alterations in intracellular Ca²⁺ handling are associated with arrhythmias in patients with AF, although the underlying cellular mechanisms are not fully understood (Nattel 2002; Dobrev 2006). For example, it has been proposed that atrial myocytes alter L-type Ca²⁺ channel (LTCC) function as a compensatory response, contributing to action potential duration shortening and a reduction of the refractory period (Lai 1999; Van Wagoner 1999; Yue 1999). Data by Dobrev *et al.* (Christ 2004) suggest that changes

in LTCC function are caused by abnormal channel phosphorylation. Thus, electrical remodeling of the atrial myocardium may create a substrate for the initiation and maintenance of AF (Sun 1998; Nattel 2002).

In addition to changes in sarcolemmal ion channels, functional changes in proteins involved in intracellular Ca²⁺ handling have been reported in AF (Brundel 1999; Ohkusa 1999; El-Armouche 2006). Altered intracellular Ca²⁺ handling in AF may be associated with enhanced PKA and CaMKII phosphorylation of phospholamban, increasing SR-ATPase (SERCA2a) Ca²⁺ reuptake function (El-Armouche 2006). On the other hand, Vest et al. (Vest 2005) have shown that the activity of the SR Ca²⁺ release channel RyR2 is increased in patients with AF, which may be due to enhanced PKA phosphorylation of RyR2 and reduced binding of the channel-stabilizing subunit FKBP12.6 (Wehrens 2003b). Consistent with these findings, Hove-Madsen et al. (Hove-Madsen 2004) provided direct evidence for increased SR Ca²⁺ leak in single myocytes isolated from patients with chronic AF. The abnormal release of SR Ca^{2+} may activate the Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger, resulting in a transient inward current (I_{TI}) that depolarizes the cell membrane, causing after depolarizations and cardiac arrhythmias (Schlotthauer 2000; Bers 2002b; Wehrens 2003b). Thus, abnormal intracellular Ca^{2+} release can act as a local trigger generator, leading to a small reentry circuit or ectopic focal activity (Mandapati 2000; Mansour 2001). If these Ca²⁺ release events and subsequent I_{TI} reach the threshold membrane potential, spontaneous action potentials may result, producing ectopic firing (if they arise in tissue outside the sinus node) (Bers 2002; Nattel 2002). This theory is supported by the finding that left atrial sources of ectopic activity are of particular importance in a subset of patients with paroxysmal AF (Haissaguerre 1998). Thus, there is emerging evidence that defects in the regulation of RyR2 may contribute to arrhythmogenesis in atrial fibrillation.

RyR1 mutations	RyR2 mutations	Disease
R156K	R169Q	MH*/CPVT#
R163C/L	R176Q	MH, CCD*/ARVD2#
I403M	I419F	MH/CCD*/CPVT#
E2344D	E2311D	MH/CPVT
F2364V	F2331S	MH/CPVT
R2435H/L	R2401H/L	MH, CCD/CPVT
A2437V	A2403T	MH/CPVT
R2508C/G/H	R2474S	
G3990V	G3946S	MH*/CPVT#
T4637I/A	S4565R	CCD*/CPVT#
G4734E	G4662S	MH*/CPVT#
I4938M	I4867M	MH*/CPVT#
P4973L	P4902L/S	MH*/CPVT#

Table 6. Mutations found in both RyR1 and RyR2

16. SIMILARITIES IN RYR DYSFUNCTION: SAME DISEASE DIFFERENT TISSUE?

RyR1 and RyR2 are similar in the structure, subunit composition, gating behavior and response to most modulators. Mutations in the genes encoding RyR1 and RyR2 are associated with diseases of skeletal and cardiac muscle, respectively. Several inherited mutations in RyR1 have also been identified in the corresponding residue in RyR2 (Table 6). Moreover, studies at the molecular and cellular level have revealed that mutations in both RyR1 and RyR2 may lead to very similar mechanisms of abnormal calcium release.

Future studies will hopefully enlighten our understanding of the extent to which similar alterations in RyR structure and function, such as altered interdomain interactions, phosphorylation, modulator binding, and redox modifications, occur in both RyR1 and RyR2 and how such alterations lead to diseases of skeletal and cardiac muscle.

REFERENCES

- (1984). "A Protocol for the Investigation of Malignant Hyperpyrexia (MH) Susceptibility. The European Malignant Hyperpyrexia Group." *Br J Anaesth* **56**(11): 1267–9.
- Aizawa, Y., Ueda, K., Komura, S., Washizuka, T., Chinushi, M., Inagaki, N., Matsumoto, Y., Hayashi, T. and M. Takahashi, Nakano, N., Yasunami, M., Kimura, A., and Hiraoka, M. (2005). "A Novel Mutation in FKBP12.6 Binding Region of the Human Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Gene (R2401H) in a Japanese Patient with Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia." *Int J Cardiol* 99(2): 343–5.
- Apkon, M. (2003). Cellular Physiology of Skeletal, Cardiac, and Smooth Muscle. *Medical Physiology: A Cellular and Molecular Approach*. W. Boron, Boulpaep. Philadephia, Saunders: 230–254.
- Avila, G., and Dirksen, R. T. (2001a). "Functional Effects of Central Core Disease Mutations in the Cytoplasmic Region of the Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor." J Gen Physiol 118(3): 277–90.
- Avila, G., O'Brien, J. J., and Dirksen, R. T. (2001b). "Excitation-Contraction Uncoupling by a Human Central Core Disease Mutation in the Ryanodine Receptor." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98(7): 4215–20.
- Avila, G., O'Connell, K. M., Dirksen, R. T. (2003). "The Pore Region of the Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor is a Primary Locus for Excitation-Contraction Uncoupling in Central Core Disease." J Gen Physiol 121(4): 277–86.
- Awad, M. M., Dalal, D., Cho, E., Amat-Alarcon, N., James, C., Tichnell, C., Tucker, A., Russell, S. D., Bluemke, D. A., Dietz, H. C., Calkins, H., and Judge, D. P. (2006). "DSG2 Mutations Contribute to Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Dysplasia/Cardiomyopathy." Am J Hum Genet 79(1): 136–42.
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., van Borren, M. M., Belterman, C. N., Coronel, R., Opthof, T., and Fiolet, J. W. (2005). "Chronic Inhibition of N^{*a*+}/H⁺-Exchanger Attenuates Cardiac Hypertrophy and Prevents Cellular Remodeling in Heart Failure." *Cardiovasc Res* **65**(1): 83–92.
- Bagattin, A., Veronese, C., Bauce, B., Wuyts, W., Settimo, L., Nava, A., Rampazzo, A., and Danieli, G. A. (2004). "Denaturing HPLC-Based Approach for Detecting RYR2 Mutations Involved in Malignant Arrhythmias." *Clin Chem* 50(7): 1148–55.
- Barone, V., Massa, O., Intravaia, E., Bracco, A., Di Martino, A., Tegazzin, V., Cozzolino, S., and Sorrentino, V. (1999). "Mutation Screening of the RYR1 Gene and Identification of Two Novel Mutations in Italian Malignant Hyperthermia Families." *J Med Genet* 36(2): 115–8.
- Bauce, B., Rampazzo, A., Basso, C., Bagattin, A., Daliento, L., Tiso, N., Turrini, P., Thiene, G., Danieli, G. A., and Nava, A. (2002). "Screening for Ryanodine Receptor Type 2 Mutations in Families with Effort-Induced Polymorphic Ventricular Arrhythmias and Sudden Death: Early Diagnosis of Asymptomatic Carriers." J Am Coll Cardiol 40(2): 341–9.

- Bendahan, D., Kozak-Ribbens, G., Confort-Gouny, S., Ghattas, B., Figarella-Branger, D., Aubert, M., and Cozzone, P. J. (2001). "A Noninvasive Investigation of Muscle Energetics Supports Similarities Between Exertional Heat Stroke and Malignant Hyperthermia." *Anesth Analg* **93**(3): 683–9.
- Bers, D. M. (2002a). "Cardiac Excitation-Contraction Coupling." Nature 415(6868): 198–205.
- Bers, D. M., and Bridge, J. H. (1989). "Relaxation of Rabbit Ventricular Muscle by Na-Ca Exchange and Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Calcium Pump. Ryanodine and Voltage Sensitivity." *Circ Res* 65(2): 334–42.
- Bers, D. M., and Guo, T. (2005). "Calcium Signaling in Cardiac Ventricular Myocytes." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1047**: 86–98.
- Bers, D. M., Eisner, D. A., and Valdivia, H. H. (2003). "Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺ and Heart Failure: Roles of Diastolic Leak and Ca²⁺ Transport." *Circ Res* **93**(6): 487–90.
- Bers, D. M., Pogwizd, S. M., and Schlotthauer, K. (2002b). "Upregulated Na/Ca Exchange is Involved in both Contractile Dysfunction and Arrhythmogenesis in Heart Failure." *Basic Res Cardiol* 97 Suppl 1: 136–42.
- Bethlem, J., van Wijngaarden, G. K., Meijer, A. E., and Fleury, P. (1971). "Observations on Central Core Disease." *J Neurol Sci* 14(3): 293–9.
- Bidasee, K. R., Dincer, U. D., Besch, H. R., Jr. (2001). "Ryanodine Receptor Dysfunction in Hearts of Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Rats." *Mol Pharmacol* 60(6): 1356–64.
- Bidasee, K. R., Ingersoll, S., Shao, C. H. (2005). Ryanodine Receptor Dysfunction in the Diabetic Heart. *Ryanodine Receptors: Structure, Function and Dysfunction in Clinical Disease*. X. H. Wehrens and A. R. Marks. New York, U.S.A., Springer, Inc. 254: 209–218.
- Bidasee, K. R., Nallani, K., Besch, H. R., Jr., and Dincer, U. D. (2003a). "Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetes Increases Disulfide Bond Formation on Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor (RyR2)." J Pharmacol Exp Ther 305(3): 989–98.
- Bidasee, K. R., Nallani, K., Yu, Y., Cocklin, R. R., Zhang, Y., Wang, M., Dincer, U. D., and Besch, H. R., Jr. (2003b). "Chronic Diabetes Increases Advanced Glycation end Products on Cardiac Ryanodine Receptors/Calcium-Release Channels." *Diabetes* 52(7): 1825–36.
- Bouchama, A., and Knochel, J. P. (2002). "Heat Stroke." N Engl J Med 346(25): 1978-88.
- Bouchard, R. A., and Bose, D. (1991). "Influence of Experimental Diabetes on Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Function in Rat Ventricular Muscle." Am J Physiol 260(2 Pt 2): H341–54.
- Brandl, C. J., deLeon, S., Martin, D. R., and MacLennan, D. H. (1987). "Adult forms of the Ca²⁺ATPase of Sarcoplasmic Reticulum. Expression in Developing Skeletal Muscle." J Biol Chem 262(8):3768–74.
- Brandt, A., Schleithoff, L., Jurkat-Rott, K., Klingler, W., Baur, C., and Lehmann-Horn, F. (1999). "Screening of the Ryanodine Receptor Gene in 105 Malignant Hyperthermia Families: Novel Mutations and Concordance With the in Vitro Contracture Test." *Hum Mol Genet* 8(11): 2055–62.
- Brini, M. (2004). "Ryanodine Receptor Defects in Muscle Genetic Diseases." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322(4): 1245–55.
- Britt, BA (1991) "Malignant Hyperthermia A Review" *Thermoregulation: Pathology, Pharmacology* and *Therapy* (Schonbaum, E and Lomax, P eds) Pergamon Press, New York, USA, pp 179–292.
- Brown, R. L., Pollock, A. N., Couchman, K. G., Hodges, M., Hutchinson, D. O., Waaka, R., Lynch, P., McCarthy, T. V., and Stowell, K. M. (2000). "A Novel Ryanodine Receptor Mutation and Genotype-Phenotype Correlation in a Large Malignant Hyperthermia New Zealand Maori Pedigree." *Hum Mol Genet* 9(10): 1515–24.
- Brundel, B. J., van Gelder, I. C., Henning, R. H., Tuinenburg, A. E., Deelman, L. E., Tieleman, R. G., Grandjean, J. G., van Gilst, W. H., and Crijns, H. J. (1999). "Gene Expression of Proteins Influencing the Calcium Homeostasis in Patients with Persistent and Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation." *Cardiovasc Res* 42(2): 443–54.
- Bull, R., and Marengo, J. J. (1993). "Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Release Channels from Frog Skeletal Muscle Display two Types of Calcium Dependence." *FEBS Lett* 331(3): 223–7.
- Cerrone, M., Colombi, B., Santoro, M., di Barletta, M. R., Scelsi, M., Villani, L., Napolitano, C., and Priori, S. G. (2005). "Bidirectional Ventricular Tachycardia and Fibrillation Elicited in a Knock-in Mouse Model Carrier of a Mutation in the Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor." *Circ Res* 96(10): e77–82.

- Chamley, D., Pollock, N. A., Stowell, K. M., and Brown, R. L. (2000). "Malignant Hyperthermia in Infancy and Identification of Novel RYR1 Mutation." Br J Anaesth 84(4): 500–4.
- Chelu, M. G., Danila, C. I., Gilman, C. P., and Hamilton, S. L. (2004). "Regulation of Ryanodine Receptors by FK506 Binding Proteins." *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 14(6): 227–34.
- Chelu, M. G., Goonasekera, S. A., Durham, W. J., Tang, W., Lueck, J. D., Riehl, J., Pessah, I. N., Zhang, P., Bhattacharjee, M. B., Dirksen, R. T., and Hamilton, S. L. (2006). "Heat- and Anesthesia-Induced Malignant Hyperthermia in an RyR1 Knock-In Mouse." *Faseb J* 20(2): 329–30.
- Cheong, E., Tumbev, V., and Stoyanovsky, D. and G. Salama (2005). "Effects of pO2 on the Activation of Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptors by NO: A Cautionary Note." *Cell Calcium* 38(5): 481–8.
- Choi, K. M., Zhong, Y., Hoit, B. D., Grupp, I. L., Hahn, H., Dilly, K. W., Guatimosim, S., Lederer, W. J., and Matlib, M. A. (2002). "Defective Intracellular Ca(²⁺) Signaling Contributes to Cardiomyopathy in Type 1 Diabetic Rats." *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **283**(4): H1398–408.
- Christ, T., Boknik, P., Wohrl, S., Wettwer, E., Graf, E. M., Bosch, R. F., Knaut, M., Schmitz, W., Ravens, U., and Dobrev, D. (2004). "L-Type Ca²⁺ Current Downregulation in Chronic Human Atrial Fibrillation is Associated with Increased Activity of Protein Phosphatases." *Circulation* 110(17): 2651–7.
- Chu, A., Diaz-Munoz, M., Hawkes, M.J., Brush, K., and Hamilton, S.L. (1990). "Ryanodine as a Probe For the Functional State of the Skeletal Muscle Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺ Release Channel." *Mol. Pharmocol.* 37: 735–741.
- Chu, A., Fill, M., Stefani, E., and Entman, M. L. (1993). "Cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ Does not Inhibit the Cardiac Muscle Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ryanodine Receptor Ca²⁺ Channel, Although Ca(²⁺)-induced Ca²⁺ Inactivation of Ca²⁺ Release is Observed in Native Vesicles." J Membr Biol 135(1): 49–59.
- Chu, G., and Kranias, E. G. (2006). "Phospholamban as a Therapeutic Modality in Heart Failure." Novartis Found Symp 274: 156–71; discussion 172–5, 272–6.
- Cooper, C. E., Vollaard, N. B., Choueiri, T., and Wilson, M. T. (2002). "Exercise, Free Radicals and Oxidative Stress." *Biochem Soc Trans* 30(2): 280–5.
- Copello, J. A., Barg, S., Onoue, H., and Fleischer, S. (1997). "Heterogeneity of Ca²⁺ Gating of Skeletal Muscle and Cardiac Ryanodine Receptors." *Biophys J* 73(1): 141–56.
- Coronado, R., Morrissette, J., Sukhareva, M., Vaughan, D. M. (1994). "Structure and Function of Ryanodine Receptors." Am J Physiol 266(6 Pt 1): C1485–504.
- Corrado, D., Basso, C., Thiene, G., McKenna, W. J., Davies, M. J., Fontaliran, F., Nava, A., Silvestri, F., Blomstrom-Lundqvist, C., Wlodarska, E. K., Fontaine, G., and Camerini, F. (1997). "Spectrum of Clinicopathologic Manifestations of Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy/Dysplasia: a Multicenter Study." J Am Coll Cardiol 30(6): 1512–20.
- Corrado, D., Thiene, G. (2006). "Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy/Dysplasia: Clinical Impact of Molecular Genetic Studies." *Circulation* 113(13): 1634–7.
- Crean, R. D., Davis, S. A., Von Huben, S. N., Lay, C. C., Katner, S. N., and Taffe, M. A. (2006). "Effects of (+/-)3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine, (+/-)3,4-Methylenedioxyamphetamine and Methamphetamine on Temperature and Activity in Rhesus Macaques." *Neuroscience* 142(2): 515–25.
- Creighton, W., Virmani, R., Kutys, R., and Burke, A. (2006). "Identification of Novel Missense Mutations of Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Gene in Exercise-Induced Sudden Death at Autopsy." *J Mol Diagn* **8**(1): 62–7.
- Currie, S., Loughrey, C. M., Craig, M. A., and Smith, G. L. (2004). "Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase IIdelta Associates with the Ryanodine Receptor Complex and Regulates Channel Function in Rabbit Heart." *Biochem J* 377(Pt 2): 357–66.
- d'Amati, G., Bagattin, A., Bauce, B., Rampazzo, A., Autore, C., Basso, C., King, K., Romeo, M. D., Gallo, P., Thiene, G., Danieli, G. A., and Nava, A. (2005). "Juvenile Sudden Death in a Family with Polymorphic Ventricular Arrhythmias Caused by a Novel RyR2 Gene Mutation: Evidence of Specific Morphological Substrates." *Hum Pathol* 36(7): 761–7.
- Danieli, G. A., and Rampazzo, A. (2002). "Genetics of Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy." *Curr Opin Cardiol* 17(3): 218–21.

- Davis, M., Brown, R., Dickson, A., Horton, H., James, D., Laing, N., Marston, R., Norgate, M., Perlman, D. and N. Pollock, Stowell, K. (2002). "Malignant Hyperthermia Associated with Exercise-Induced Rhabdomyolysis or Congenital Abnormalities and a Novel RYR1 Mutation in New Zealand and Australian Pedigrees." Br J Anaesth 88(4): 508–15.
- Davis, M. R., Haan, E., Jungbluth, H., Sewry, C., North, K., Muntoni, F., Kuntzer, T., Lamont, P., Bankier, A., Tomlinson, P., Sanchez, A., Walsh, P., Nagarajan, L., Oley, C., Colley, A., Gedeon, A., Quinlivan, R., Dixon, J., James, D., Muller, C. R., and Laing, N. G. (2003). "Principal Mutation Hotspot for Central Core Disease and Related Myopathies in the C-Terminal Transmembrane Region of the RYR1 Gene." *Neuromuscul Disord* 13(2): 151–7.
- Denborough, M. A., Forster, J.F., Lovell, R.R., Maplestone, P.A., and Villiers. J.D. (1962). "Anaesthetic Deaths in a Family." Br J Anaesth 34: 395–96.
- Dirksen, R., and Avila, G. (2004). Pathophysiology of Muscle Disorders Linked to Mutations in the Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor. New York, Kluwer Academic Publisher.
- Dirksen, R. T. (2002a). "Bi-Directional Coupling Between Dihydropyridine Receptors and Ryanodine Receptors." Front Biosci 7: d659–70.
- Dirksen, R. T., and Avila, G. (2002b). "Altered Ryanodine Receptor Function in Central Core Disease: Leaky or Uncoupled Ca(²⁺) Release Channels?" *Trends Cardiovasc Med* **12**(5): 189–97.
- Dobrev, D. (2006). "Electrical Remodeling in Atrial Fibrillation." Herz 31(2): 108-12; quiz 42-3.
- Dodge, K. L., Khouangsathiene, S., Kapiloff, M. S., Mouton, R., Hill, E. V., Houslay, M. D., Langeberg, L. K., and Scott, J. D. (2001). "mAKAP Assembles a Protein Kinase A/PDE4 Phosphodiesterase cAMP Signaling Module." *Embo J* 20(8): 1921–30.
- Du, G. G., Khanna, V. K., Guo, X., and MacLennan, D. H. (2004). "Central Core Disease Mutations R4892W, I4897T and G4898E in the Ryanodine Receptor Isoform 1 Reduce the Ca²⁺ Sensitivity and Amplitude of Ca²⁺-Dependent Ca²⁺ Release." *Biochem J* 382(Pt 2): 557–64.
- Du, G. G., Sandhu, B., Khanna, V. K., Guo, X. H., and MacLennan, D. H. (2002). "Topology of the Ca²⁺ Release Channel of Skeletal Muscle Sarcoplasmic Reticulum (RyR1)." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(26): 16725–30.
- Ducreux, S., Zorzato, F., Ferreiro, A., Jungbluth, H., Muntoni, F., Monnier, N., Muller, C. R., and Treves, S., (2006). "Functional Properties of Ryanodine Receptors Carrying Three Amino Acid Substitutions Identified in Patients Affected by Multi-Minicore Disease and Central Core Disease, Expressed in Immortalized Lymphocytes." *Biochem J* 395(2): 259–66.
- Ducreux, S., Zorzato, F., Muller, C., Sewry, C., Muntoni, F., Quinlivan, R., Restagno, G., Girard, T., and Treves, S. (2004). "Effect of Ryanodine Receptor Mutations on Interleukin-6 Release and Intracellular Calcium Homeostasis in Human Myotubes from Malignant Hyperthermia-Susceptible Individuals and Patients Affected by Central Core Disease." J Biol Chem 279(42): 43838–46.
- Eisner, D. A., and Trafford, A. W. (2002). "Heart Failure and the Ryanodine Receptor: Does Occam's Razor Rule?" *Circ Res* **91**(11): 979–81.
- El-Armouche, A., Boknik, P., Eschenhagen, T., Carrier, L., Knaut, M., Ravens, U., and Dobrev, D. (2006). "Molecular Determinants of Altered Ca²⁺ Handling in Human Chronic Atrial Fibrillation." *Circulation* **114**(7): 670–80.
- Eu, J. P., Sun, J., Xu, L., Stamler, J. S., and Meissner, G. (2000). "The Skeletal Muscle Calcium Release Channel: Coupled O2 Sensor and NO Signaling Functions." *Cell* 102(4): 499–509.
- Fabiato, A. (1983). "Calcium-Induced Release of Calcium from the Cardiac Sarcoplasmic Reticulum." *Am J Physiol* 245(1): C1–14.
- Fardeau, M. a. T., FMS (1994). Congenital Myopathies. *Myology*. A. E. a. C. Franzini-Armstrong. New York, McGraw Hill. 2: 1488–94.
- Ferreiro, A., Monnier, N., Romero, N. B., Leroy, J. P., Bonnemann, C., Haenggeli, C. A., Straub, V., Voss, W. D., Nivoche, Y., Jungbluth, H., Lemainque, A., Voit, T., Lunardi, J., Fardeau, M., and Guicheney, P. (2002a). "A Recessive Form of Central Core Disease, Transiently Presenting as Multi-Minicore Disease, is Associated with a Homozygous Mutation in the Ryanodine Receptor Type 1 Gene." Ann Neurol 51(6): 750–9.
- Ferreiro, A., Quijano-Roy, S., Pichereau, C., Moghadaszadeh, B., Goemans, N., Bonnemann, C., Jungbluth, H., Straub, V., Villanova, M., Leroy, J. P., Romero, N. B., Martin, J. J., Muntoni, F.,

Voit, T., Estournet, B., Richard, P., Fardeau, M., and Guicheney, P. (2002b). "Mutations of the Selenoprotein N Gene, which is Implicated in Rigid Spine Muscular Dstrophy, Cuse the Cassical Penotype of Multiminicore Disease: Rassessing the Nsology of Early-Onset Mopathies." *Am J Hum Genet* **71**(4): 739–49.

- Fiege, M., Wappler, F., Weisshorn, R., Gerbershagen, M. U., Menge, M., and Schulte Am Esch, J. (2003). "Induction of Malignant Hyperthermia in Susceptible Swine by 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine ("Ecstasy")." Anesthesiology 99(5): 1132–6.
- Fill, M., and Copello, J. A. (2002). "Ryanodine Receptor Calcium Release Channels." *Physiol Rev* 82(4): 893–922.
- Fortunato, G, Berruti, R., Brancadoro, V., Fattore, M., Salvatore, F., and Carsana, A. (2000). "Identification of a Novel Mutation in the Ryanodine Receptor Gene (RYR1) in a Malignant Hyperthermia Italian Family." *Eur J Hum Genet* 8(2):149–52.
- Franzini-Armstrong, C. (1999). "The Sarcoplasmic Reticulum and the Control of Muscle Contraction." Faseb J 13 Suppl 2: S266–70.
- Galli, L., Orrico, A., Cozzolino, S., Pietrini, V., Tegazzin, V., and Sorrentino, V. (2002). "Mutations in the RYR1 Gene in Italian Patients at Risk for Malignant Hyperthermia: Evidence for a Cluster of Novel Mutations in the C-Terminal Region." *Cell Calcium* 32(3): 143–51.
- Galli, L., Orrico, A., Lorenzini, S., Censini, S., Falciani, M., Covacci, A., Tegazzin, V., and Sorrentino, V. (2006). "Frequency and Localization of Mutations in the 106 Exons of the RYR1 Gene in 50 Individuals with Malignant Hyperthermia." *Hum Mutat* 27(8): 830.
- Ganguly, P. K., Pierce, G. N., Dhalla, K. S., and Dhalla, N. S. (1983). "Defective Sarcoplasmic Reticular Calcium Transport in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy." Am J Physiol 244(6): E528–35.
- George, C. H., Higgs, G. V., and Lai, F. A. (2003). "Ryanodine Receptor Mutations Associated with Stress-Induced Ventricular Tachycardia Mediate Increased Calcium Release in Stimulated Cardiomyocytes." *Circ Res* 93(6): 531–40.
- George, C. H., Jundi, H., Walters, N., Thomas, N. L., West, R. R., and Lai, F. A. (2006). "Arrhythmogenic Mutation-Linked Defects in Ryanodine Receptor Autoregulation Reveal a Novel Mechanism of Ca²⁺ Release Channel Dysfunction." *Circ Res* 98(1): 88–97.
- Gillard, E. F., Otsu, K., Fujii, J., Duff, C., de Leon, S., Khanna, V. K., Britt, B. A., Worton, R. G., and MacLennan, D. H. (1992). "Polymorphisms and Deduced Amino Acid Substitutions in the Coding Sequence of the Ryanodine Receptor (RYR1) Gene in Individuals with Malignant Hyperthermia." *Genomics* 13(4): 1247–54.
- Gillard, E. F., Otsu, K., Fujii, J., Khanna, V. K., de Leon, S., Derdemezi, J., Britt, B. A., Duff, C. L., Worton, R. G., and MacLennan, D. H. (1991). "A Substitution of Cysteine for Arginine 614 in the Ryanodine Receptor is Potentially Causative of Human Malignant Hyperthermia." *Genomics* 11(3): 751–5.
- Gonatas, N. K., Perez, M. C., Shy, G. M. and Evangelista, I. (1965). "Central "Core" Disease of Skeletal Muscle. Ultrastructural and Cytochemical Observations in Two Cases." Am J Pathol 47: 503–24.
- Gronert, G. (1994). Malignant Hyperthermia. *Myology*. A. E. a. C. Franzini-Armstrong. New York, McGraw Hill. 2: 1661–78.
- Guis, S., Figarella-Branger, D., Monnier, N., Bendahan, D., Kozak-Ribbens, G., Mattei, J. P., Lunardi, J., Cozzone, P. J., and Pellissier, J. F. (2004). "Multiminicore Disease in a Family Susceptible to Malignant Hyperthermia: Histology, in Vitro Contracture Tests, and Genetic Characterization." *Arch Neurol* 61(1): 106–13.
- Guner, S., Arioglu, E., Tay, A., Tasdelen, A., Aslamaci, S., Bidasee, K. R., and Dincer, U. D. (2004).
 "Diabetes Decreases mRNA Levels of Calcium-Release Channels in Human Atrial Appendage." *Mol Cell Biochem* 263(1–2): 143–50.
- Gyorke, I., Hester, N., Jones, L. R., and Gyorke, S. (2004). "The role of Calsequestrin, Triadin, and Junctin in Conferring Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Responsiveness to Luminal Calcium." *Biophys J* 86(4): 2121–8.
- Hackl, W., Winkler, M., Mauritz, W., Sporn, P., and Steinbereithner, K. (1991). "Muscle Biopsy for Diagnosis of Malignant Hyperthermia Susceptibility in Two Patients with Severe Exercise-Induced Myolysis." Br J Anaesth 66(1): 138–40.

- Haggendal, J., Jonsson, L., and Carlsten, J. (1990). "The Role of Sympathetic Activity in Initiating Malignant Hyperthermia." Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 34(8): 677–82.
- Haissaguerre, M., Jais, P., Shah, D. C., Takahashi, A., Hocini, M., Quiniou, G., Garrigue, S., Le Mouroux, A., Le Metayer, P., and Clementy, J. (1998). "Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins." N Engl J Med 339(10): 659–66.
- Hamilton, S. L., and Reid, M. B. (2000). "RyR1 Modulation by Oxidation and Calmodulin." Antioxid Redox Signal 2(1): 41–5.
- Hasdemir, C., Priori, S. G., Overholt, E., and Lazzara, R. (2004) "Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia, Recurrent Syncope, and Implantable Loop Recorder." *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol* 15(6): 729.
- Hawkes, M. J., Nelson, T.E. and Hamilton, S.L. (1992). "^[3H] Ryanodine as a Probe of Changes in the Functional State of the Ca²⁺ -release Channel in Malignant Hyperthermia." *J. Biol. Chem.* **267**(10): 6702–6709.
- Hidalgo, C. (2005). "Cross Talk Between Ca^{2+} and Redox Signalling Cascades in Muscle and Neurons Through the Combined Activation of Ryanodine Receptors/ Ca^{2+} Release Channels." *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **360**(1464): 2237–46.
- Hopkins, P. M. (2000). "Malignant Hyperthermia: Advances in Clinical Management and Diagnosis." Br J Anaesth 85(1): 118–28.
- Hove-Madsen, L., Llach, A., Bayes-Genis, A., Roura, S., Rodriguez Font, E., Aris, A., and Cinca, J. (2004). "Atrial Fibrillation is Associated with Increased Spontaneous Calcium Release from the Sarcoplasmic Reticulum in Human Atrial Myocytes." *Circulation* 110(11): 1358–63.
- Hsueh, C. H., Weng, Y. C., Chen, C. Y., Lin, T. K., Lin, Y. H., Lai, L. P., and Lin, J. L. (2006). "A Novel Mutation (Arg169Gln) of the Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Gene Causing Exercise-Induced Bidirectional Ventricular Tachycardia." *Int J Cardiol* **108**(2): 276–8.
- Huang, F., Shan, J., Reiken, S., Wehrens, X. H., and Marks, A. R. (2006). "Analysis of Calstabin2 (FKBP12.6)-Ryanodine Receptor Interactions: Rescue of Heart Failure by Calstabin2 in Mice." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**(9): 3456–61.
- Ibarra, M., Wu, S., Murayama, K., Minami, N., Ichihara, Y., Kikuchi, H., Noguchi, S., Hayashi, Y. K., Ochiai, R., and Nishino, I. (2006). "Malignant Hyperthermia in Japan: Mutation Screening of the Entire Ryanodine Receptor Type 1 Gene Coding Region by Direct Sequencing." *Anesthesiology* 104(6): 1146–54.
- Ikemoto, N., and Yamamoto, T. (2002). "Regulation of Calcium Release by Interdomain Interaction within Ryanodine Receptors." *Front Biosci* 7: d671–83.
- Jiang, D., Wang, R., Xiao, B., Kong, H., Hunt, D. J., Choi, P., Zhang, L., and Chen, S. R. (2005). "Enhanced Store Overload-Induced Ca²⁺ Release and Channel Sensitivity to Luminal Ca²⁺ Activation are Common Defects of RyR2 Mutations Linked to Ventricular Tachycardia and Sudden Death." *Circ Res* 97(11): 1173–81.
- Jiang, D., Xiao, B., Yang, D., Wang, R., Choi, P., Zhang, L., Cheng, H., and Chen, S. R. (2004). "RyR2 Mutations Linked to Ventricular Tachycardia and Sudden Death Reduce the Threshold for Store-Overload-Induced Ca²⁺ Release (SOICR)." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**(35): 13062–7.
- Jiang, D., Xiao, B., Zhang, L., and Chen, S. R. (2002). "Enhanced Basal Activity of a Cardiac Ca²⁺ Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor) Mutant Associated with Ventricular Tachycardia and Sudden Death." *Circ Res* **91**(3): 218–25.
- Jungbluth, H., Muller, C. R., Halliger-Keller, B., Brockington, M., Brown, S. C., Feng, L., Chattopadhyay, A., Mercuri, E., Manzur, A. Y., Ferreiro, A., Laing, N. G., Davis, M. R., Roper, H. P., Dubowitz, V., Bydder, G., Sewry, C. A., and Muntoni, F. (2002). "Autosomal Recessive Inheritance of RYR1 Mutations in a Congenital Myopathy with Cores." *Neurology* 59(2): 284–7.
- Jurkat-Rott, K., McCarthy, T., and Lehmann-Horn, F. (2000). "Genetics and Pathogenesis of Malignant Hyperthermia." *Muscle Nerve* **23**(1): 4–17.
- Kannankeril, P., Mitchell, B., Goonasekera, S., Chelu, M., Zhang, W., Sood, S., Kearney, D., Danila, C., De Beasi, M., Wehrens, X. H., Pautler, R., Roden, D., Taffet, G. E., Dirksen, R., Anderson, M. E., and Hamilton, S. L. (2006). "Mice with the R176Q Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Mutation

Exhibit Catecholamine-Induced Ventricular Tachycardia and Mild Cardiomyopathy." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**(32): 12179–12184.

- Keating, K. E., Giblin, L., Lynch, P. J., Quane, K. A., Lehane, M., Heffron, J. J., and McCarthy, T. V. (1997). "Detection of a Novel Mutation in the Ryanodine Receptor Gene in an Irish Malignant Hyperthermia Pedigree: Correlation of the IVCT Response with the Affected and Unaffected Haplotypes." *J Med Genet* 34(4): 291–6.
- Konishi, M., Kurihara, S. and Sakai, T. (1985). "Change in Intracellular Calcium Ion Concentration Induced by Caffeine and Rapid Cooling in Frog Skeletal Muscle Fibres." J Physiol 365: 131–46.
- Koss, K. L., Grupp, I. L., and Kranias, E. G. (1997). "The Relative Phospholamban and SERCA2 Ratio: a Critical Determinant of Myocardial Contractility." *Basic Res Cardiol* **92 Suppl 1**: 17–24.
- Lahat, H., Eldar, M., Levy-Nissenbaum, E., Bahan, T., Friedman, E., Khoury, A., Lorber, A., Kastner, D. L., Goldman, B., and Pras, E. (2001). "Autosomal Recessive Catecholamine- or Exercise-Induced Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia: Clinical Features and Assignment of the Disease Gene to Chromosome 1p13–21." *Circulation* 103(23): 2822–7.
- Lai, L. P., Su, M. J., Lin, J. L., Lin, F. Y., Tsai, C. H., Chen, Y. S., Huang, S. K., Tseng, Y. Z., and Lien, W. P. (1999). "Down-Regulation of L-Type Calcium Channel and Sarcoplasmic Reticular Ca(²⁺)-ATPase mRNA in Human Atrial Fibrillation Without Significant Change in the mRNA of Ryanodine Receptor, Calsequestrin and Phospholamban: An Insight into the Mechanism of Atrial Electrical Remodeling." J Am Coll Cardiol 33(5): 1231–7.
- Laitinen, P. J., Brown, K. M., Piippo, K., Swan, H., Devaney, J. M., Brahmbhatt, B., Donarum, E. A., Marino, M., Tiso, N., Viitasalo, M., Toivonen, L., Stephan, D. A., and Kontula, K. (2001). "Mutations of the Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor (RyR2) Gene in Familial Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia." *Circulation* 103(4): 485–90.
- Laitinen, P. J., Swan, H., and Kontula, K. (2003). "Molecular Genetics of Exercise-Induced Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia: Identification of Three Novel Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Mutations and Two Common Calsequestrin 2 Amino-Acid Polymorphisms." *Eur J Hum Genet* 11(11): 888–91.
- Lamont, P. J., Dubowitz, V., Landon, D. N., Davis, M., and Morgan-Hughes, J. A. (1998). "Fifty Year Follow-Up of a Patient with Central Core Disease Shows Slow but Definite Progression." *Neuromuscul Disord* 8(6): 385–91.
- Larach, M. G. (1989). "Standardization of the Caffeine Halothane Muscle Contracture Tst. North American Malignant Hyperthermia Group." Anesth Analg 69(4): 511–5.
- Lehnart, S. E., Terrenoire, C., Reiken, S., Wehrens, X. H., Song, L. S., Tillman, E. J., Mancarella, S., Coromilas, J., Lederer, W. J., Kass, R. S., and Marks, A. R. (2006). "Stabilization of Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Prevents Intracellular Calcium Leak and Arrhythmias." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103(20): 7906–10.
- Lehnart, S. E., Wehrens, X. H., Laitinen, P. J., Reiken, S. R., Deng, S. X., Cheng, Z., Landry, D. W., Kontula, K., Swan, H., and Marks, A. R. (2004). "Sudden Death in Familial Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia Associated with Calcium Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor) Leak." *Circulation* 109(25): 3208–14.
- Lehnart, S. E., Wehrens, X. H., Reiken, S., Warrier, S., Belevych, A. E., Harvey, R. D., Richter, W., Jin, S. L., Conti, M., and Marks, A. R. (2005). "Phosphodiesterase 4D Deficiency in the Ryanodine-Receptor Complex Promotes Heart Failure and Arrhythmias." *Cell* **123**(1): 25–35.
- Litman, R. S., and Rosenberg, H. (2005). "Malignant Hyperthermia: Update on Susceptibility Testing." *Jama* **293**(23): 2918–24.
- Liu, N., Colombi, B., Memmi, M., Zissimopoulos, S., Rizzi, N., Negri, S., Imbriani, M., Napolitano, C., Lai, F. A., and Priori, S. G. (2006). "Arrhythmogenesis in Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia: Insights from a RyR2 R4496C Knock-In Mouse Model." *Circ Res* 99(3): 292–8.
- Liu, Z., Zhang, J., Li, P., Chen, S. R., and Wagenknecht, T. (2002). "Three-Dimensional Reconstruction of the Recombinant Type 2 Ryanodine Receptor and Localization of its Divergent Region 1." J Biol Chem 277(48): 46712–9.
- Loke, J., and MacLennan, D. H. (1998). "Malignant Hyperthermia and Central Core Disease: Disorders of Ca²⁺ Release Channels." *Am J Med* **104**(5): 470–86.

- Loke, J. C., Kraev, N., Sharma, P., Du, G., Patel, L., Kraev, A., and MacLennan, D. H. (2003). "Detection of a Novel Ryanodine Receptor Subtype 1 Mutation (R328W) in a Malignant Hyperthermia Family by Sequencing of a Leukocyte Transcript." *Anesthesiology* **99**(2): 297–302.
- Lueck, J. D., Goonasekera, S. A., Dirksen, R. T. (2004). "Ryanodinopathies: Muscle Disorders Linked to Mutations in Ryanodine Receptors." Bas Appl Myol (In Press).
- Lyfenko, A., Goonasekera, S. A., and Dirksen RT (2004). "Dynamic Alterations in Myoplasmic Ca²⁺ in Malignant Hyperthermia and Central Core Disease." *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun* **322**(4): 1256–66.
- Lyfenko, A. D., Ducreux, S., Wang, Y., Xu, L., Zorzato, F., Ferreiro, A., Meissner, G., Treves, S., and Dirksen, R. T. (2006). "Two Central Core Disease (CCD) Deletions in the C-Terminal Region of RYR1 Alter Muscle Excitation-Contraction (EC) Coupling by Distinct Mechanisms." *Hum Mutat*.
- Lynch, P. J., Krivosic-Horber, R., Reyford, H., Monnier, N., Quane, K., Adnet, P., Haudecoeur, G., Krivosic, I., McCarthy, T., and Lunardi, J. (1997). "Identification of Heterozygous and Homozygous Individuals with the Novel RYR1 Mutation Cys35Arg in a Large Kindred." *Anesthesiology* 86(3): 620–6.
- Lynch, P. J., Tong, J., Lehane, M., Mallet, A., Giblin, L., Heffron, J. J., Vaughan, P., Zafra, G., MacLennan, D. H., and McCarthy, T. V. (1999). "A Mutation in the Transmembrane/Luminal Domain of the Ryanodine Receptor is Associated with Abnormal Ca²⁺ Release Channel Function and Severe Central core Disease." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**(7): 4164–9.
- Ma, J., Hayek, S. M., and Bhat, M. B. (2004). "Membrane Topology and Membrane Retention of the Ryanodine Receptor Calcium Release Channel." *Cell Biochem Biophys* **40**(2): 207–24.
- Maccani, R. M., Wedel, D. J., and Hofer, R. E. (1996). "Norepinephrine Does Not Potentiate Porcine Malignant Hyperthermia." Anesth Analg 82(4): 790–5.
- Mandapati, R., Skanes, A., Chen, J., Berenfeld, O., and Jalife, J. (2000). "Stable Microreentrant Sources as a Mechanism of Atrial Fibrillation in the Isolated Sheep Heart." *Circulation* **101**(2): 194–9.
- Manning, B. M., Quane, K. A., Lynch, P. J., Urwyler, A., Tegazzin, V., Krivosic-Horber, R., Censier, K., Comi, G., Adnet, P., Wolz, W., Lunardi, J., Muller, C. R., and McCarthy, T. V. (1998a). "Novel Mutations at a CpG Dinucleotide in the Ryanodine Receptor in Malignant Hyperthermia." *Hum Mutat* 11(1): 45–50.
- Manning, B. M., Quane, K. A., Ording, H., Urwyler, A., Tegazzin, V., Lehane, M., O'Halloran, J., Hartung, E., Giblin, L. M., Lynch, P. J., Vaughan, P., Censier, K., Bendixen, D., Comi, G., Heytens, L., Monsieurs, K., Fagerlund, T., Wolz, W., Heffron, J. J., Muller, C. R., and McCarthy, T. V. (1998b).
 "Identification of Novel Mutations in the Ryanodine-Receptor Gene (RYR1) in Malignant Hyperthermia: Genotype-Phenotype Correlation." *Am J Hum Genet* 62(3): 599–609.
- Mansour, M., Mandapati, R., Berenfeld, O., Chen, J., Samie, F. H., and Jalife, J. (2001). "Left-to-Right Gradient of Atrial Frequencies During Acute Atrial Fibrillation in the Isolated Sheep Heart." *Circulation* 103(21): 2631–6.
- Marengo, J. J., Hidalgo, C., and Bull, R. (1998). "Sulfhydryl Oxidation Modifies the Calcium Dependence of Ryanodine-Sensitive Calcium Channels of Excitable Cells." *Biophys J* 74(3): 1263–77.
- Marks, A. R. (2001). "Ryanodine Receptors/Calcium Release Channels in Heart Failure and Sudden Cardiac Death." *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **33**(4): 615–24.
- Marx, S. O., Reiken, S., Hisamatsu, Y., Gaburjakova, M., Gaburjakova, J., Yang, Y. M., Rosemblit, N., and Marks, A. R. (2001). "Phosphorylation-Dependent Regulation of Ryanodine Receptors: a Novel Role for Leucine/Isoleucine Zippers." *J Cell Biol* 153(4): 699–708.
- Marx, S. O., Reiken, S., Hisamatsu, Y., Jayaraman, T., Burkhoff, D., Rosemblit, N., and Marks, A. R. (2000). "PKA Phosphorylation Dissociates FKBP12.6 from the Calcium Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor): Defective Regulation in Failing Hearts." *Cell* **101**(4): 365–76.
- McCarthy, T. V., Quane, K. A., and Lynch, P. J. (2000). "Ryanodine Receptor Mutations in Malignant Hyperthermia and Central Core Disease." *Hum Mutat* 15(5): 410–7.
- McWilliams, S., Nelson, T., Sudo, R. T., Zapata-Sudo, G., Batti, M., and Sambuughin, N. (2002).
 "Novel Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor Mutation in a Large Brazilian Family with Malignant Hyperthermia." *Clin Genet* 62(1): 80–3.

- Meyers, M. B., Pickel, V. M., Sheu, S. S., Sharma, V. K., Scotto, K. W., and Fishman, G. I. (1995). "Association of Sorcin with the Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor." *J Biol Chem* **270**(44): 26411–8.
- Mickelson, J. R., and Louis, C. F. (1996). "Malignant Hyperthermia: Excitation-Contraction Coupling, Ca²⁺ Release Channel, and Cell Ca²⁺ Regulation Defects." *Physiol Rev* **76**(2): 537–92.
- Monnier, N., Ferreiro, A., Marty, I., Labarre-Vila, A., Mezin, P., and Lunardi, J. (2003). "A Homozygous Splicing Mutation Causing a Depletion of Skeletal Muscle RYR1 is Associated with Multi-Minicore Disease Congenital Myopathy with Ophthalmoplegia." *Hum Mol Genet* 12(10): 1171–8.
- Monnier, N., Kozak-Ribbens, G., Krivosic-Horber, R., Nivoche, Y., Qi, D., Kraev, N., Loke, J., Sharma, P., Tegazzin, V., Figarella-Branger, D., Romero, N., Mezin, P., Bendahan, D., Payen, J. F., Depret, T., Maclennan, D. H., and Lunardi, J. (2005). "Correlations Between Genotype and Pharmacological, Histological, Functional, and Clinical Phenotypes in Malignant Hyperthermia Susceptibility." *Hum Mutat* 26(5): 413–25.
- Monnier, N., Krivosic-Horber, R., Payen, J. F., Kozak-Ribbens, G., Nivoche, Y., Adnet, P., Reyford, H., and Lunardi, J. (2002). "Presence of Two Different Genetic Traits in Malignant Hyperthermia Families: Implication for Genetic Analysis, Diagnosis, and Incidence of Malignant Hyperthermia Susceptibility." *Anesthesiology* 97(5): 1067–74.
- Monnier, N., Procaccio, V., Stieglitz, P., and Lunardi, J. (1997). "Malignant -Hyperthermia Susceptibility Is Associated With Mutation of the alpha 1-Subunit of the Human Dihydropyridine-Sensitive L-Type Voltage-Dependent Calcium-Channel Receptor in Skeletal Muscle." Am. J. Hum. Genet. 60: 1316–25.
- Monnier, N., Romero, N. B., Lerale, J., Landrieu, P., Nivoche, Y., Fardeau, M., and Lunardi, J. (2001). "Familial and Sporadic Forms of Central Core Disease are Associated with Mutations in the C-Terminal Domain of the Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor." *Hum Mol Genet* 10(22): 2581–92.
- Monnier, N., Romero, N. B., Lerale, J., Nivoche, Y., Qi, D., MacLennan, D. H., Fardeau, M., and Lunardi, J. (2000). "An Autosomal Dominant Congenital Myopathy with Cores and Rods is Associated with a Neomutation in the RYR1 Gene Encoding the Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor." *Hum Mol Genet* 9(18): 2599–608.
- Muldoon, S., Deuster, P., Brandom, B., and Bunger, R. (2004). "Is There a Link Between Malignant Hyperthermia and Exertional Heat Illness?" *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* **32**(4): 174–9.
- Muntoni, F., and Sewry, C. A. (2003). "Central Core Disease: New Findings in an Old Disease." *Brain* **126**(Pt 11): 2339–40.
- Nattel, S. (2002). "New Ideas About Atrial Fibrillation 50 Years On." Nature 415(6868): 219-26.
- Nelson, T. E. (1990). "Porcine Malignant Hyperthermia: Critical Temperatures for in Vivo and in Vitro Responses." *Anesthesiology* **73**(3): 449–54.
- Netticadan, T., Temsah, R. M., Kent, A., Elimban, V., and Dhalla, N. S. (2001). "Depressed Levels of Ca²⁺-Cycling Proteins May Underlie Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Dysfunction in the Diabetic Heart." *Diabetes* 50(9): 2133–8.
- Ohkusa, T., Ueyama, T., Yamada, J., Yano, M., Fujumura, Y., Esato, K., and Matsuzaki, M. (1999). "Alterations in Cardiac Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺ Regulatory Proteins in the Atrial Tissue of Patients with Chronic Atrial Fibrillation." *J Am Coll Cardiol* **34**(1): 255–63.
- Ording, H., Hald, A., and Sjontoft, E. (1985). "Malignant Hyperthermia Triggered by Heating in Anaesthetized Pigs." *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* **29**(7): 698–701.
- Oyamada, H., Oguchi, K., Saitoh, N., Yamazawa, T., Hirose, K., Kawana, Y., Wakatsuki, K., Tagami, M., Hanaoka, K., Endo, M., and Iino, M. (2002). "Novel Mutations in C-Terminal Channel Region of the Ryanodine Receptor in Malignant Hyperthermia Patients." *Jpn J Pharmacol* 88(2): 159–66.
- Paciello, O., Pasolini, M. P., Navas, L., Russo, V., and Papparella, S. (2006). "Myopathy with Central Cores in a Foal." Vet Pathol 43(4): 579–83.
- Patterson, V. H., Hill, T. R., Fletcher, P. J., and Heron, J. R. (1979). "Central Core Disease: Clinical and Pathological Evidence of Progression Within a Family." *Brain* **102**(3): 581–94.
- Phrommintikul, A., and Chattipakorn, N. (2006). "Roles of Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor in Heart Failure and Sudden Cardiac Death." *Int J Cardiol* 112(2): 142–52.
- Pierce, G. N., Kutryk, M. J., and Dhalla, N. S. (1983). "Alterations in Ca²⁺ Binding by and Composition of the Cardiac Sarcolemmal Membrane in Chronic Diabetes." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 80(17): 5412–6.

- Pogwizd, S. M., and Bers, D. M. (2004). "Cellular Basis of Triggered Arrhythmias in Heart Failure." *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 14(2): 61–66.
- Postma, A. V., Denjoy, I., Kamblock, J., Alders, M., Lupoglazoff, J. M., Vaksmann, G., Dubosq-Bidot, L., Sebillon, P., Mannens, M. M., Guicheney, P., and Wilde, A. A. (2005). "Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia: RYR2 Mutations, Bradycardia, and Follow up of the Patients." *J Med Genet* 42(11): 863–70.
- Prestle, J., Janssen, P. M., Janssen, A. P., Zeitz, O., Lehnart, S. E., Bruce, L., Smith, G. L., and Hasenfuss, G. (2001). "Overexpression of FK506-Binding Protein FKBP12.6 in Cardiomyocytes Reduces Ryanodine Receptor-Mediated Ca(²⁺) Leak from the Sarcoplasmic Reticulum and Increases Contractility." *Circ Res* 88(2): 188–94.
- Priori, S. G., and Napolitano, C. (2005). "Intracellular Calcium Handling Dysfunction and Arrhythmogenesis: A New Challenge for the Electrophysiologist." *Circ Res* 97(11): 1077–9.
- Priori, S. G., Napolitano, C., Memmi, M., Colombi, B., Drago, F., Gasparini, M., DeSimone, L., Coltorti, F., Bloise, R., Keegan, R., Cruz Filho, F. E., Vignati, G., Benatar, A., and DeLogu, A. (2002). "Clinical and Molecular Characterization of Patients with Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia." *Circulation* **106**(1): 69–74.
- Priori, S. G., Napolitano, C., Tiso, N., Memmi, M., Vignati, G., Bloise, R., Sorrentino, V. V., and Danieli, G. A. (2001). "Mutations in the Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Gene (hRyR2) Underlie Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia." *Circulation* 103(2): 196–200.
- Quane, K. A., Healy, J.M.S., Keating, K.E., Manning, B.M., Couch, F.J., Palmucci, L.M., Doriguzzi, C., Fagerlund, T.H., Berg, K., Ording, H., Bendixen, D., Mortier, W., Linz, U., Muller, C.R., McCarthy, T. V. (1993). "Mutations in the Ryanodine Receptor Gene in Central Core Disease and Malignant Hyperthermia." *Nature Genetics* 5: 51–55.
- Quane, K. A., Keating, K. E., Healy, J. M., Manning, B. M., Krivosic-Horber, R., Krivosic, I., Monnier, N., Lunardi, J., and McCarthy, T. V. (1994). "Mutation Screening of the RYR1 Gene in Malignant Hypertherima: Detection of a Novel Tyr to Ser Mutation in a Pedigree with Associated Central Core." *Genomics* 23(1): 236–9.
- Quane, K. A., Ording, H., Keating, K. E., Manning, B. M., Heine, R., Bendixen, D., Berg, K., Krivosic-Horber, R., Lehmann-Horn, F., Fagerlund, T., and McCarthy, T. V. (1997). "Detection of a Novel Mutation at Amino Acid Position 614 in the Ryanodine Receptor in Malignant Hyperthermia." *Br J Anaesth* 79(3): 332–7.
- Quinlivan, R. M., Muller, C. R., Davis, M., Laing, N. G., Evans, G. A., Dwyer, J., Dove, J., Roberts, A. P., and Sewry, C. A. (2003). "Central Core Disease: Clinical, Pathological, and Genetic Features." *Arch Dis Child* 88(12): 1051–5.
- Reiken, S., Wehrens, X. H., Vest, J. A., Barbone, A., Klotz, S., Mancini, D., Burkhoff, D., and Marks, A. R. (2003). "Beta-Blockers Restore Calcium Release Channel Function and Improve Cardiac Muscle Performance in Human Heart Failure." *Circulation* 107(19): 2459–66.
- Robinson, R., Carpenter, D., Shaw, M. A., Halsall, J., and Hopkins, P. (2006). "Mutations in RYR1 in Malignant Hyperthermia and Central Core Disease." *Hum Mutat* **27**(10): 977–89.
- Rockman, H. A., Koch, W. J., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2002). "Seven-Transmembrane-Spanning Receptors and Heart Function." *Nature* 415(6868): 206–12.
- Romero, N. B., Monnier, N., Viollet, L., Cortey, A., Chevallay, M., Leroy, J. P., Lunardi, J., and Fardeau, M. (2003). "Dominant and Recessive Central Core Disease Associated with RYR1 Mutations and Fetal Akinesia." *Brain* 126(Pt 11): 2341–9.
- Rosenberg, H., Antognini, J. F., and Muldoon, S. (2002). "Testing for Malignant Hyperthermia." Anesthesiology 96(1): 232–7.
- Rossi, A. E., and Dirksen, R. T. (2006). "Sarcoplasmic Reticulum: the Dynamic Calcium Governor of Muscle." *Muscle Nerve* 33(6): 715–31.
- Rubler, S., Dlugash, J., Yuceoglu, Y. Z., Kumral, T., Branwood, A. W., and Grishman, A. (1972). "New Type of Cardiomyopathy Associated with Diabetic Glomerulosclerosis." *Am J Cardiol* **30**(6): 595–602.
- Rudolf, R., Mongillo, M., Magalhaes, P. J., and Pozzan, T. (2004). "In Vivo Monitoring of Ca(²⁺) Uptake into Mitochondria of Mouse Skeletal Muscle During Contraction." J Cell Biol 166(4): 527–36.

- Rueffert, H., Kraus, H., Olthoff, D., Deutrich, C., and Froster, U. G. (2001). "Identification of a Novel Mutation in the Ryanodine Receptor Gene (RYR1) in Patients with Malignant Hyperthermia." *Hum Mutat* 17(3): 238.
- Rueffert, H., Olthoff, D., Deutrich, C., Meinecke, C. D., and Froster, U. G. (2002). "Mutation Screening in the Ryanodine Receptor 1 Gene (RYR1) in Patients Susceptible to Malignant Hyperthermia Who Show Definite IVCT Results: Identification of Three Novel Mutations." *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 46(6): 692–8.
- Rueffert, H., Olthoff, D., Deutrich, C., Schober, R., and Froster, U. G. (2004). "A New Mutation in the Skeletal Ryanodine Receptor Gene (RYR1) is Potentially Causative of Malignant Hyperthermia, Central Core Disease, and Severe Skeletal Malformation." *Am J Med Genet A* 124(3): 248–54.
- Sambuughin, N., Holley, H., Muldoon, S., Brandom, B. W., de Bantel, A. M., Tobin, J. R., Nelson, T. E., and Goldfarb, L. G. (2005). "Screening of the Entire Ryanodine Receptor Type 1 Coding Region for Sequence Variants Associated with Malignant Hyperthermia Susceptibility in the North American Population." *Anesthesiology* **102**(3): 515–21.
- Sambuughin, N., Nelson, T. E., Jankovic, J., Xin, C., Meissner, G., Mullakandov, M., Ji, J., Rosenberg, H., Sivakumar, K., and Goldfarb, L. G. (2001). "Identification and Functional Characterization of a Novel Ryanodine Receptor Mutation Causing Malignant Hyperthermia in North American and South American Families." *Neuromuscul Disord* 11(6–7): 530–7.
- Sambuughin, N., Sei, Y., Gallagher, K. L., Wyre, H. W., Madsen, D., Nelson, T. E., Fletcher, J. E., Rosenberg, H., and Muldoon, S. M. (2001). "North American Malignant Hyperthermia Population: Screening of the Ryanodine Receptor Gene and Identification of Novel Mutations." *Anesthesiology* 95(3): 594–9.
- Santana, L. F., Cheng, H., Gomez, A. M., Cannell, M. B., and Lederer, W. J. (1996). "Relation Between the Sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ Current and Ca²⁺ Sparks and Local Control Theories for Cardiac Excitation-Contraction Coupling." *Circ Res* 78(1): 166–71.
- Scacheri, P. C., Hoffman, E. P., Fratkin, J. D., Semino-Mora, C., Senchak, A., Davis, M. R., Laing, N. G., Vedanarayanan, V., and Subramony, S. H. (2000). "A Novel Ryanodine Receptor Gene Mutation Causing Both Cores and Rods in Congenital Myopathy." *Neurology* 55(11): 1689–96.
- Schlotthauer, K., and Bers, D. M. (2000). "Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺ Release Causes Myocyte Depolarization. Underlying Mechanism and Threshold for Triggered Action Potentials." *Circ Res* 87(9): 774–80.
- Schwartz, P. J., Stramba-Badiale, M., Segantini, A., Austoni, P., Bosi, G., Giorgetti, R., Grancini, F., Marni, E. D., Perticone, F., Rosti, D., and Salice, P. (1998). "Prolongation of the QT Interval and the Sudden Infant Death Syndrome." N Engl J Med 338(24): 1709–14.
- Scoote, M., and Williams, A. J. (2002). "The Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor (Calcium Release Channel): Emerging Role in Heart Failure and Arrhythmia Pathogenesis." *Cardiovasc Res* **56**(3): 359–72.
- Seals, D. R., and Victor, R. G. (1991). "Regulation of Muscle Sympathetic Nerve Activity During Exercise in Humans." *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 19: 313–49.
- Sei, Y., Gallagher, K. L., and Basile, A. S. (1999). "Skeletal Muscle Type Ryanodine Receptor is Involved in Calcium Signaling in Human B Lymphocytes." J Biol Chem 274(9): 5995–6002.
- Sei, Y., Sambuughin, N., and Muldoon, S. (2004). "Malignant Hyperthermia Genetic Testing in North America Working Group Meeting. Bethesda, Maryland. September 4–5, 2002." *Anesthesiology* 100(2): 464–5.
- Sembrowich, W. L., Quintinskie, J. J., and Li, G. (1985). "Calcium Uptake in Mitochondria from Different Skeletal Muscle Types." J Appl Physiol 59(1): 137–41.
- Sewry, C. A., Muller, C., Davis, M., Dwyer, J. S., Dove, J., Evans, G., Schroder, R., Furst, D., Helliwell, T., Laing, N., and Quinlivan, R. C. (2002). "The Spectrum of Pathology in Central Core Disease." *Neuromuscul Disord* 12(10): 930–8.
- Shah, P. K., and Sowdhamini, R. (2001). "Structural Understanding of the Transmembrane Domains of Inositol Triphosphate Receptors and Ryanodine Receptors Towards Calcium Channeling." *Protein Eng* 14(11): 867–74.

- Shepherd, S., Ellis, F., Halsall, J., Hopkins, P., and Robinson, R. (2004). "RYR1 Mutations in UK Central Core Disease Patients: More Than Just the C-Terminal Transmembrane Region of the RYR1 Gene." J Med Genet 41(3): e33.
- Shuaib, A., Paasuke, R. T., and Brownell, K. W. (1987). "Central Core Disease. Clinical Features in 13 Patients." *Medicine (Baltimore)* 66(5): 389–96.
- Shy, G. M., and Magee, K. R. (1956). "A New Congenital Non-Progressive Myopathy." *Brain* 79: 610–621.
- Smith, J., Coronado, R., and Meissner, G. (1986). "Single Channel Measurements of Calcium Release Channel from Skeletal Muscle Sarcoplasmic Reticulum." J. Gen. Physiol. 88: 573–588.
- Smith, J. S., Imagawa, T., Ma, J., Fill, M., Campbell, K. P., and Coronado, R. (1988). "Purified Ryanodine Receptor from Rabbit Skeletal Muscle is the Calcium-Release Channel of Sarcoplasmic Reticulum." J Gen Physiol 92(1): 1–26.
- Strazis, K. P., and Fox, A. W. (1993). "Malignant Hyperthermia: a Review of Published Cases." Anesth Analg 77(2): 297–304.
- Sumitomo, N., Harada, K., Nagashima, M., Yasuda, T., Nakamura, Y., Aragaki, Y., Saito, A., Kurosaki, K., Jouo, K., Koujiro, M., Konishi, S., Matsuoka, S., Oono, T., Hayakawa, S., Miura, M., Ushinohama, H., Shibata, T., and Niimura, I. (2003). "Catecholaminergic Polymorphic Ventricular Tachycardia: Electrocardiographic Characteristics and Optimal Therapeutic Strategies to Prevent Sudden Death." *Heart* 89(1): 66–70.
- Sun, H., Gaspo, R., Leblanc, N., and Nattel, S. (1998). "Cellular Mechanisms of Atrial Contractile Dysfunction Caused by Sustained Atrial Tachycardia." *Circulation* 98(7): 719–27.
- Tammaro, A., Bracco, A., Cozzolino, S., Esposito, M., Di Martino, A., Savoia, G., Zeuli, L., Piluso, G., Aurino, S., and Nigro, V. (2003). "Scanning for Mutations of the Ryanodine Receptor (RYR1) Gene by Denaturing HPLC: Detection of Three Novel Malignant Hyperthermia Alleles." *Clin Chem* 49(5): 761–8.
- Terentyev, D., Nori, A., Santoro, M., Viatchenko-Karpinski, S., Kubalova, Z., Gyorke, I., Terentyeva, R., Vedamoorthyrao, S., Blom, N. A., Valle, G., Napolitano, C., Williams, S. C., Volpe, P., Priori, S. G., and Gyorke, S. (2006). "Abnormal Interactions of Calsequestrin with the Ryanodine Receptor Calcium Release Channel Complex Linked to Exercise-Induced Sudden Cardiac Death." *Circ Res* 98(9): 1151–8.
- Terentyev, D., Viatchenko-Karpinski, S., Gyorke, I., Volpe, P., Williams, S. C., and Gyorke, S. (2003). "Calsequestrin Determines the Functional Size and Stability of Cardiac Intracellular Calcium Stores: Mechanism for Hereditary Arrhythmia." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**(20): 11759–64.
- Teshima, Y., Takahashi, N., Saikawa, T., Hara, M., Yasunaga, S., Hidaka, S., and Sakata, T. (2000). "Diminished Expression of Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase and Ryanodine Sensitive Ca²⁺ Channel mRNA in Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Rat Heart." *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **32**(4): 655–64.
- Tester, D. J., and Ackerman, M. J. (2006a). "The Role of Molecular Autopsy in Unexplained Sudden Cardiac Death." *Curr Opin Cardiol* **21**(3): 166–72.
- Tester, D. J., Carturan, E., Dura, M., Reiken, S., Wronska, A., Marks, A. R., and Ackerman, M. J. (2006b). "Molecular and Functional Characterization of Novel RyR2-Encoded Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor/Calcium Release Channel Mutations in Sudden Infant Death Syndrome." *Heart Rhythm* 3(5-S1): S67.
- Tester, D. J., Kopplin, L. J., Will, M. L., and Ackerman, M. J. (2005). "Spectrum and Prevalence of Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor (RyR2) Mutations in a Cohort of Unrelated Patients Referred Explicitly for Long QT Syndrome Genetic Testing." *Heart Rhythm* 2(10): 1099–105.
- Tester, D. J., Spoon, D. B., Valdivia, H. H., Makielski, J. C., and Ackerman, M. J. (2004). "Targeted Mutational Analysis of the RyR2-Encoded Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor in Sudden Unexplained Death: a Molecular Autopsy of 51 Medical Examiner/Coroner's Cases." *Mayo Clin Proc* 79(11): 1380–4.
- Thomas, N. L., George, C. H., and Lai, F. A. (2004). "Functional Heterogeneity of Ryanodine Receptor Mutations Associated with Sudden Cardiac Death." *Cardiovasc Res* 64(1): 52–60.
- Thomas, N. L., Lai, F. A., and George, C. H. (2005). "Differential Ca²⁺ Sensitivity of RyR2 Mutations Reveals Distinct Mechanisms of Channel Dysfunction in Sudden Cardiac Death." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **331**(1): 231–8.
- Tilgen, N., Zorzato, F., Halliger-Keller, B., Muntoni, F., Sewry, C., Palmucci, L. M., Schneider, C., Hauser, E., Lehmann-Horn, F., Muller, C. R., and Treves, S. (2001). "Identification of four Novel Mutations in the C-Terminal Membrane Spanning Domain of the Ryanodine Receptor 1: Association with Central Core Disease and Alteration of Calcium Homeostasis." *Hum Mol Genet* 10(25): 2879–87.
- Tiso, N., Stephan, D. A., Nava, A., Bagattin, A., Devaney, J. M., Stanchi, F., Larderet, G., Brahmbhatt, B., Brown, K., Bauce, B., Muriago, M., Basso, C., and G. Thiene, Danieli, G. A., and Rampazzo, A. (2001). "Identification of Mutations in the Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Gene in Families Affected with Arrhythmogenic Right Ventricular Cardiomyopathy Ttype 2 (ARVD2)." *Hum Mol Genet* 10(3): 189–94.
- Tiziana di Gioia, C. R., Autore, C., Romeo, D. M., Ciallella, C., Aromatario, M. R., Lopez, A., Pagannone, E., Giordano, C., Gallo, P., and d'Amati, G. (2006). "Sudden Cardiac Death in Younger Adults: Autopsy Diagnosis as a Tool for Preventive Medicine." *Hum Pathol* 37(7): 794–801.
- Tong, J., McCarthy, T. V., and MacLennan, D. H. (1999). "Measurement of Resting Cytosolic Ca²⁺ Concentrations and Ca²⁺ Store Size in HEK-293 Cells Transfected with Malignant Hyperthermia or Central Core Disease Mutant Ca²⁺ Release Channels." *J Biol Chem* **274**(2): 693–702.
- Tong, J., Oyamada, H., Demaurex, N., Grinstein, S., McCarthy, T. V., and MacLennan, D. H. (1997). "Caffeine and Halothane Sensitivity of Intracellular Ca²⁺ Release Is Altered by 15 Calcium Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor) Mutations Associated with Malignant Hyperthermia and/or Central Core Disease." J. Biol. Chem. 272(42): 26332–26339.
- Trafford, A. W., Diaz, M. E., O'Neill, S. C., and Eisner, D. A. (2002). "Integrative Analysis of Calcium Signalling in Cardiac Muscle." *Front Biosci* 7: d843–52.
- Treves, S., Anderson, A. A., Ducreux, S., Divet, A., Bleunven, C., Grasso, C., Paesante, S., and Zorzato, F. (2005). "Ryanodine Receptor 1 Mutations, Dysregulation of Calcium Homeostasis and Neuromuscular Disorders." *Neuromuscul Disord* 15(9–10): 577–87.
- Tripathy, A., and Meissner, G. (1996). "Sarcoplasmic Reticulum Lumenal Ca^{2+} has Access to Cytosolic Activation and Inactivation Sites of Skeletal Muscle Ca^{2+} Release Channel." *Biophys J* **70**(6): 2600–15.
- Van Wagoner, D. R., Pond, A. L., Lamorgese, M., Rossie, S. S., McCarthy, P. M., and Nerbonne, J. M. (1999). "Atrial L-Type Ca²⁺ Currents and Human Atrial Fibrillation." *Circ Res* 85(5): 428–36.
- Vest, J. A., Wehrens, X. H., Reiken, S. R., Lehnart, S. E., Dobrev, D., Chandra, P., Danilo, P., Ravens, U., Rosen, M. R., and Marks, A. R. (2005). "Defective Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor Regulation During Atrial Fibrillation." *Circulation* 111(16): 2025–32.
- Wappler, F., Fiege, M., Steinfath, M., Agarwal, K., Scholz, J., Singh, S., Matschke, J., and Schulte Am Esch, J. (2001). "Evidence for Susceptibility to Malignant Hyperthermia in Patients with Exercise-Induced Rhabdomyolysis." *Anesthesiology* **94**(1): 95–100.
- Wehner, M., Rueffert, H., Koenig, F., and Olthoff, D. (2003a). "Calcium Release from A Sarcoplasmic Reticulum is Facilitated in Human Myotubes Derived from Carriers of the Ryanodine Receptor Type 1 Mutations Ile2182Phe and Gly2375Ala." *Genet Test* 7(3): 203–11.
- Wehner, M., Rueffert, H., Koenig, F., and Olthoff, D. (2004). "Functional Characterization of Malignant Hyperthermia-Associated RyR1 Mutations in Exon 44, using the Human Myotube Model." *Neuromuscul Disord* 14(7): 429–37.
- Wehrens, X. H., and Marks, A. R. (2003b). "Altered Function and Regulation of Cardiac Ryanodine Receptors in Cardiac Disease." *Trends Biochem Sci* **28**(12): 671–8.
- Wehrens, X. H., and Marks, A. R. (2004a). "Novel Therapeutic Approaches for Heart Failure by Normalising Calcium Cycling." *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **3**: 565–73.
- Wehrens, X. H., and Marks, A. R. (2004b). "Sudden Unexplained Death Caused by Cardiac Ryanodine Receptor (RyR2) Mutations." *Mayo Clin Proc* 79(11): 1367–71.

- Wehrens, X. H., Lehnart, S. E., and Marks, A. R. (2005a). "Ryanodine Receptor-Targeted Anti-Arrhythmic Therapy." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **1047**: 366–75.
- Wehrens, X. H., Lehnart, S. E., Huang, F., Vest, J. A., Reiken, S. R., Mohler, P. J., Sun, J., Guatimosim, S., Song, L. S., Rosemblit, N., D'Armiento, J. M., Napolitano, C., Memmi, M., Priori, S. G., Lederer, W. J., and Marks, A. R. (2003). "FKBP12.6 Deficiency and Defective Calcium Release Channel (Ryanodine Receptor) Function Linked to Exercise-Induced Sudden Cardiac Death." *Cell* 113(7): 829–40.
- Wehrens, X. H. T., Lehnart, S. E., and Marks, A. R. (2005b). "Intracellular Calcium Release Channels and Cardiac Disease." *Annu Rev Physiol* 67: 69–98.
- Wu, S., Ibarra, M. C., Malicdan, M. C., Murayama, K., Ichihara, Y., Kikuchi, H., Nonaka, I., Noguchi, S., Hayashi, Y. K., and Nishino, I. (2006). "Central Core Disease is Due to RYR1 Mutations in More Than 90% of Patients." *Brain* 129(Pt 6): 1470–80.
- Yang, T., Ta, T. A., Pessah, I. N., and Allen, P. D. (2003). "Functional Defects in Six Ryanodine Receptor Isoform-1 (RyR1) Mutations Associated with Malignant Hyperthermia and their Impact on Skeletal Excitation-Contraction Coupling." *J Biol Chem* 278(28): 25722–30.
- Yang, Z., Ikemoto, N., Lamb, G. D., and Steele, D. S. (2006). "The RyR2 Central Domain Peptide DPc10 Lowers the Threshold for Spontaneous Ca²⁺ Release in Permeabilized Cardiomyocytes." *Cardiovasc Res* **70**(3): 475–85.
- Yano, M., Yamamoto, T., Ikeda, Y., and Matsuzaki, M. (2006). "Mechanisms of Disease: Ryanodine Receptor Defects in Heart Failure and Fatal Arrhythmia." *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med* 3(1): 43–52.
- Yaras, N., and Turan, B. (2005). "Interpretation of Relevance of Sodium-Calcium Exchange in Action Potential of Diabetic Rat Heart by Mathematical Model." *Mol Cell Biochem* **269**(1–2): 121–9.
- Yaras, N., Ugur, M., Ozdemir, S., Gurdal, H., Purali, N., Lacampagne, A., Vassort, G., and Turan, B. (2005). "Effects of Diabetes on Ryanodine Receptor Ca Release Channel (RyR2) and Ca²⁺ Homeostasis in Rat Heart." *Diabetes* 54(11): 3082–8.
- Yeh, H. M., Tsai, M. C., Su, Y. N., Shen, R. C., Hwang, J. J., Sun, W. Z., and Lai, L. P. (2005). "Denaturing high Performance Liquid Chromatography Screening of Ryanodine Receptor Type 1 Gene in Patients with Malignant Hyperthermia in Taiwan and Identification of a Novel Mutation (Y522C)." Anesth Analg 101(5): 1401–6.
- Yu, Z., and McNeill, J. H. (1991). "Force-Interval Relationship and its Response to Ryanodine in Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Rats." *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 69(9): 1268–76.
- Yu, Z., Tibbits, G. F., and McNeill, J. H. (1994). "Cellular Functions of Diabetic Cardiomyocytes: Contractility, Rapid-Cooling Contracture, and Ryanodine Binding." Am J Physiol 266(5 Pt 2): H2082–9.
- Yue, L., Melnyk, P., Gaspo, R., Wang, Z., and Nattel, S. (1999). "Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Ionic Remodeling in a Dog Model of Atrial Fibrillation." *Circ Res* 84(7): 776–84.
- Zhang, H., Zhang, J. Z., Danila, C. I., and Hamilton, S. L. (2003). "A Noncontiguous, Inter-Subunit Binding Site for Calmodulin on the Skeletal Muscle Ca²⁺ Release Channel." J Biol Chem 278(10): 8348–55.
- Zhang, J.-Z., Wu, Y., Williams, B.Y., Rodney, G., Mandel, F., Strasburg, G.M. and Hamilton, S.L. (1999). "Oxidation of the Skeletal Muscle Ca²⁺Release Channel Alters Calmodulin Binding." *Am. J. Physiol.* 276(1 Pt. 1): C46–C53.
- Zhang, L., Kelley, J., Schmeisser, G., Kobayashi, Y. M., and Jones, L. R. (1997). "Complex Formation Between Junctin, Triadin, Calsequestrin, and the Ryanodine Receptor. Proteins of the Cardiac Junctional Sarcoplasmic. reticulum membrane." J Biol Chem 272(37): 23389–97.
- Zhang, Y., Chen, H. S. ,Khanna, V. K. De Leon, S., Phillips, M.S., Schappert, K., Britt, B.A., Brownell, A.K., and MacLennan, D.H., (1993). "A Mutation in the Human Ryanodine Receptor Gene Associated with Central Core Disease." *Nature Genetics* 5: 46–50.
- Zhong, Y., Ahmed, S., Grupp, I. L., and Matlib, M. A. (2001). "Altered SR Protein Expression Associated with Contractile Dysfunction in Diabetic Rat Hearts." *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 281(3): H1137–47.

- Zhou H, Y. N., Xu L, Wang Y, Sewry C, Jungbluth H, Zorzato F, Bertini E, and M. G. Muntoni F, Treves S. (2006). "Characterization of Recessive RYR1 Mutations in Core Myopathies." *Hum Mol Genet* 15(18): 2791–803.
- Zorzato, F., Yamaguchi, N., Xu, L., Meissner, G., Muller, C. R., Pouliquin, P., Muntoni, F., Sewry, C., Girard, T., andTreves, S. (2003). "Clinical and Functional Effects of a Deletion in a COOH-Terminal Lumenal Loop of the Skeletal Muscle Ryanodine Receptor." *Hum Mol Genet* 12(4): 379–88.

CHAPTER 11

INOSITOL 1,4,5-TRIPSHOSPHATE RECEPTOR, CALCIUM SIGNALLING AND HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE

I. BEZPROZVANNY*

Department of Physiology, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas, Dallas, Texas 75390, USA

Abstract: Huntington's disease (HD) is an autosomal-dominant neurodegenerative disorder that has no cure. HD primarily affects medium spiny striatal neurons (MSN). HD is caused by polyglutamine (polyQ) expansion (exp) in the amino-terminal region of a protein huntingtin (Htt). The connection between polyQ expansion in Httexp and MSN neurodegeneration remains elusive. My laboratory discovered that mutant Httexp protein specifically binds to the carboxy-terminal region of the type 1 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor (InsP₃R1), an intracellular Ca²⁺ release channel. Moreover, we found that Httexp association with InsP3R1 causes sensitization of InsP3R1 to activation by InsP3 in planar lipid bilayers and in primary MSN. Mutant Httexp has also been shown to activate Ca²⁺-permeable NR2B-containing NMDA receptors. All these results suggested that deranged neuronal Ca²⁺ signaling may play an important role in pathogenesis of HD. In support of this idea, we demonstrated a connection between abnormal Ca²⁺ signaling and apoptosis of MSN cultured from YAC128 HD mouse model. These results indicate that InsP₃R and other Ca²⁺ signaling proteins should be considered as potential therapeutic targets for treatment of HD

Keywords: calcium signaling, huntingtin, neurodegeneration, polyglutamine expansion, inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate, NMDA receptor, apoptosis, mitochondria, memantine

1. HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE (HD) AND HUNTINGTIN (HTT)

Huntington's disease (HD) is an autosomal-dominant neurodegenerative disorder with the age of onset between 35 and 50 years and inexorable progression to death 15–20 years after onset. The symptoms include motor abnormalities including

^{*}Dr. Ilya Bezprozvanny, Dept. of Physiology, ND12.502, UT Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas, Dallas, TX 75390-9040, E-mail: Ilya.Bezprozvanny@UTSouthwestern.edu

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 323–335. © 2007 Springer.

chorea and psychiatric disturbance with gradual dementia (Vonsattel and DiFiglia, 1998). Neuropathological analysis reveals selective and progressive neuronal loss in the striatum (caudate nucleus, putamen and globus pallidus) (Vonsattel et al., 1985; Vonsattel and DiFiglia, 1998). GABAergic medium spiny striatal neurons (MSN) are the most sensitive to neuronal degeneration in HD (Vonsattel et al., 1985; Vonsattel and DiFiglia, 1998). Positional cloning efforts demonstrated that at the molecular level the cause of HD is polyglutamine (polyQ) expansion in the amino-terminal of a 350 kDa evolutionary conserved cytosolic protein called huntingtin (Htt) (1993). Clinical signs of HD develop if the length of polyQ track in Htt exceeds a pathological threshold of 35Q. The CAG repeat length is inversely correlated with age of onset (Langbehn et al., 2004). Htt is widely expressed in the brain and in non-neuronal tissues and not particularly enriched in the striatum (Li et al., 1993; Strong et al., 1993; Sharp et al., 1995). Htt plays an essential function in development, as deletion of the Htt gene in mice is embryonic lethal (Duyao et al., 1995; Nasir et al., 1995). Analysis of Htt primary sequence suggests that Htt is likely to function as a signaling scaffold (MacDonald, 2003), but the precise function of Htt in cells is not known. In order to elucidate the pathogenesis of HD, a number of transgenic HD mouse models have been generated (Menalled and Chesselet, 2002; Rubinsztein, 2002).

The key question in HD research is how does polyQ-expanded huntingtin (Htt^{exp}) kill MSN? The answer to this question is a prerequisite to development of effective HD therapies. The HD mutation at least in part creates a "gain of function". A number of toxic functions have been assigned to Htt^{exp} , including effects on gene transcription, induction of apoptosis, disruption of key neuronal functions such as proteasomal function, ubiquitination, axonal transport, endocytosis and synaptic transmission. The evidence in favor of these hypotheses are reviewed elsewhere (Tobin and Signer, 2000; Menalled and Chesselet, 2002; Ross, 2002; Rubinsztein, 2002; Harjes and Wanker, 2003; Sugars and Rubinsztein, 2003; Li and Li, 2004). All of these models are consistent with a toxic function of Htt^{exp} in neurons, but none of these models explain the selective vulnerability of MSN in HD. In this review I discuss recently emerging results that support the concept that HD may be a disease of deranged calcium (Ca²⁺) signaling.

2. HTT^{EXP} SENSITIZES INSP₃R1 TO INSP₃

The inositol (1,4,5)-triphosphate receptor ($InsP_3R$) is an intracellular calcium (Ca^{2+}) release channel that plays an important role in neuronal Ca^{2+} signaling (Berridge, 1998). Three isoforms of $InsP_3R$ have been identified (Furuichi et al., 1994). The type 1 receptor ($InsP_3R1$) is the predominant neuronal isoform. Mice lacking $InsP_3R1$ display severe ataxic behavior (Matsumoto et al., 1996), and mice with a spontaneous mutation in the $InsP_3R1$ gene experience convulsions and ataxia (Street et al., 1997), suggesting a major role of $InsP_3R1$ in neuronal function. In the search for novel $InsP_3R1$ -binding partners we performed a yeast two-hybrid screen with $InsP_3R1$ carboxy-terminal bait and isolated Htt-associated protein 1A



Figure 1. Mutant Htt^{exp} specifically binds to InsP₃R1 carboxy-terminal fragment.

IC8 (D2590-F2627) and IC10 (F2627-A2749) fragments of rat $InsP_3R1$ carboxy-terminal tail were expressed as GST fusion proteins in bacteria and utilized in pull-down experiments. Wild type Htt-23Q and mutant Htt-82Q were expressed in HEK293 cells. HA-HAP1A protein was expressed in COS7 cells and included in pull-down reaction as indicated. The precipitate Htt protein was detected by Western blotting with anti-Htt monoclonal antibodies. Adapted from (Tang et al., 2003)



Figure 2. Htt^{exp} amino-terminal fragment sensitizes $InsP_3R1$ to activation by $InsP_3$ in planar lipid bilayers.

(A) Effects of GST, GST-Htt-N-15Q and GST-Htt-N-138Q on activity of recombinant InsP₃R1 in planar lipid bilayers at 100 nM InsP₃. Each current trace corresponds to 10 sec (2 sec for expanded traces) of current recording from the same experiment. (B) The average InsP₃R1 open probability (P_o) in the presence of 100 nM InsP₃ is calculated for a 5 sec window of time and plotted for the duration of an experiment. The time of InsP₃, GST, GST-Htt-N-15Q, and GST-Htt-N-138Q additions are shown. Adapted from (Tang et al., 2003)

(HAP1A) (Tang et al., 2003). In biochemical experiments, we demonstrated the formation of $InsP_3R1$ -HAP1A-Htt ternary complex *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Tang et al., 2003).

What is an effect of Htt^{exp} mutation on ability of Huntingtin to associate with InsP₃R1? On InsP₃R1 function? In a series of pull-down experiments we discovered that mutant Htt^{exp} , but not wild type Htt, binds directly to the InsP₃R1 carboxy-termini (Figure 1). Furthemore, in planar lipid bilayer reconstitution experiments we demonstrated sensitization of InsP₃R1 to InsP₃ in the presence of Htt-138Q amino-terminal fragment (Figure 2a, 2b) or full-length Htt-82Q



Figure 3. Htt^{exp} facilitates InsP₃R1-mediated Ca²⁺ release in cultured MSN.

The images show Fura-2 340/380 ratios in transfected rat MSN. Pseudocolor calibration scale for 340/380 ratios is shown on the right. The recordings were performed in Ca^{2+} -free ACSF containing 100 μ M EGTA. GFP images (1st column) were captured before Ca^{2+} imaging to identify transfected cells (arrowheads). InsP₃R1-mediated Ca^{2+} release was initiated by addition of 10 μ M DHPG, a specific mGluR1/5 agonist. Ratio recordings are shown for DHPG-induced Ca^{2+} transients in MSN neurons transfected with EGFP (first row), EGFP + Htt-23Q (second row), EGFP + Htt-82Q (third row), and EGFP + Htt-138Q (fourth row). The 340/380 ratio images are shown for MSN neurons 1 min before (2nd column), and 8 sec, 30 sec, 1 min, 2 min, and 3 min after application of 10 μ M DHPG as indicated. Adapted from (Tang et al., 2003) (See Colour Plate 18)

(Tang et al., 2003). These effects were specific for Htt^{exp} , as the Htt-15Q aminoterminal fragment (Figure 2a, 2b) or full-length Htt-23Q (Tang et al., 2003) had no effect on $InsP_3R1$ sensitivity to $InsP_3$.

In experiments with primary cultures of rat MSN we demonstrated facilitation of $InsP_3R1$ -mediated Ca^{2+} release in the presence of Htt-82Q and Htt-138Q proteins, but not in the presence of Htt-23Q protein (Figure 3). The ability of Htt^{exp} to sensitize $InsP_3R1$ to activation by $InsP_3$ correlated with ability of Htt^{exp}, but not Htt, to associate directly with $InsP_3R1$ carboxyl-terminal region (Tang et al., 2003). Thus, we reasoned that potentiating effect of Htt^{exp} on $InsP_3R1$ -mediated Ca^{2+} release is due to direct association of Htt^{exp} with $InsP_3R1$ carboxyl-terminus.

From these results we proposed that upregulation of $InsP_3R1$ by Htt^{exp} may be a contributing factor to Ca^{2+} overload and degeneration of MSN in HD (Tang et al., 2003). MSN are highly enriched for mGluR5, a member of the group I mGluRs (Testa et al., 1995; Kerner et al., 1997; Tallaksen-Greene et al., 1998; Mao and Wang, 2001, 2002). Stimulation of group I mGluR in MSN leads to the generation of $InsP_3$ and release of Ca^{2+} (Figure 3). The alterations in ER enzymes that have been observed in HD postmortem brains (Cross et al., 1985) are consistent with malfunction of ER Ca^{2+} handling in HD MSN neurons.

3. HTT^{EXP} ACTIVATES NR2B-CONTAINING NMDA RECEPTORS

MSN abundantly express NR2B subtype of NMDA receptors (Monyer et al., 1994; Landwehrmeyer et al., 1995; Portera-Cailliau et al., 1996). In contrast to NMDA receptors containing NR2A subtype, NR2B-containing NMDA receptors have significant permeability for Ca²⁺ and activation of these receptors may have a dramatic effect on intracellular Ca²⁺ signals in MSN. Importantly, studies from Lynn Raymond's and Michael Hayden's laboratories suggested that expression of mutant Httexp protein facilitates activity of NR2B subtype of NMDAR receptors in a heterologous HEK293 cells expression system (Chen et al., 1999). Interestingly, the potentiating effect of Htt^{exp} was specific for the NR1/NR2B NMDAR subtype and not for the NR1/NR2A NMDAR subtype (Figures 4a, 4b). Using the same HEK293 cells expression system it was also demonstrated that cells co-transfected with NMDAR and Htt-138Q plasmids were more sensitive to NMDA-induced apoptosis than the cells co-transfected with NMDAR and Htt-15Q or GFP (control) plasmids (Zeron et al., 2001). Similar to effects on NMDAR currents (Figures 4a, 4b), potentiating effects of Htt-138Q on excitotoxic cell death were more pronounced in the presence of the NR1/NR2B NMDAR subunit combination than in the presence of the NR1/NR2A subunit combination (Zeron et al., 2001).

Further support for the potentiating effects of Htt^{exp} on NMDAR activity was obtained by Lynn Raymond's and Michael Hayden's laboratories in the analysis of YAC72 HD mouse model (Hodgson et al., 1999). NMDA-evoked currents (Figure 4c, 4d) (Zeron et al., 2002) and NMDA-mediated Ca^{2+} transients (Zeron et al., 2004) were significantly increased in striatal neurons from YAC72 mouse when compared to wild type controls. Consistent with the HEK293 cells expression



Figure 4. NR2B NMDAR are upregulated by Htt^{exp}.

(A). A combination of NR1 and NR2A NMDAR subunits was co-transfected into HEK293 cells together with β -gal plasmid (control), Htt-15Q, or Htt-138Q plasmids. The NMDA-induced currents in transfected cells were measured by whole-cell recordings and normalized to cell capacity. No significant differences in the size of NMDA-evoked currents were observed between 3 groups of cells. (B). A combination of NR1 and NRB NMDAR subunits was co-transfected into HEK293 cells together with β -gal plasmid (control), Htt-15Q, or Htt-138Q plasmids. The NMDA-induced currents in transfected cells were measured by whole-cell and normalized to cell capacity. The size of NMDA-evoked current is significantly higher in cells co-transfected with Htt-138Q (asterisk) than in other 2 groups of cells. (C) The size of NMDA-evoked current in primary MSN from non-transgenic (WT) and YAC72Q (72Q) mouse. Inhibition of NMDA-evoked current by ifenrpodil is shown for YAC72 mouse MSN.(D). An average NMDA-evoked peak current density in MSN from non-transgenic (WT) and YAC72 (72Q) mouse. Panels A and B are adapted from (Chen et al., 1999). Panels C and D are adapted from (Zeron et al., 2002)

data (Figures 4a, 4b), the NMDAR currents in striatal neurons potentiated in the presence of YAC72 transgene were selectively blocked by NR1/NR2B-specific antagonist ifenprodil (Figure 4c).

How does Htt^{exp} activate NMDAR? Experiments in a heterologous expression system demonstrated that Htt binds to a modular adaptor protein PSD95 and that Htt^{exp} binds to PSD95 less strongly than Htt (Sun et al., 2001). The PDZ domains of PSD95 bind to the carboxy-terminal region of the NMDAR NR2 subunit. The association of PSD95 with the NR2 subunit leads to recruitment of Src tyrosine kinase, tyrosine phosphorylation of NMDAR and an increase in NMDAR currents (Ali and Salter, 2001). It was proposed that weakened association of Htt^{exp} with PSD95 increases the pool of PSD95 available for interactions with NR2 subunits, leading to hyperphosphorylation of NMDAR by Src kinase. Consistent with this hypothesis, tyrosine hyperphosphorylation of NR2B subunits was observed in a heterologous expression system in the presence of a Htt-48Q construct (Song et al., 2003). Moreover, inhibition of NR2B phosphorylation by the Src tyrosine kinase inhibitor SU6656 attenuated Htt-48Q-facilitated apoptotic cells death in rat hippocampal neuronal cell line HN33 (Song et al., 2003). Future experiments will be needed to determine if PSD95 and Src mediated pathway is responsible for

NMDAR potentiation by Htt^{exp} *in vivo*. An alternative hypothesis may involve direct or cytoskeleton-mediated effects of Htt^{exp} on NMDAR gating or changes in NMDAR surface expression and/or localization in the presence of Htt^{exp}.

4. CA²⁺ SIGNALING AND APOPTOSIS OF HD MSN

Several lines of evidence indicate that glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity plays a role in neurodegeneration of HD MSN. Striatal injection of kainic acid induced death of MSN and yielded one of the first animal models of HD (Coyle and Schwarcz, 1976; McGeer and McGeer, 1976). Importantly, effects of kainate required presence of corticostriatal neurons (McGeer et al., 1978), suggesting that glutamate release is required for kainate-induced MSN cell death. More direct evidence for an involvement of NMDAR was obtained when HD-like lesions were observed following striatal injection of the NMDAR agonist quinolinic acid (Beal et al., 1986; Hantraye et al., 1990; Beal et al., 1991). Consistent with the excitotoxicity hypothesis, striatal neurons from YAC72 mouse were sensitized to neuronal death induced by quinolinic acid and NMDA (Zeron et al., 2002). Moreover, excitotoxic cell death of YAC72 MSN was blocked by ifenprodil (Zeron et al., 2002), supporting a direct involvement of NR1/NR2B NMDAR subtypes in HD.

Based on the results described above (sections 2 and 3) we previously suggested that overactivation of InsP₃R1-mediated Ca²⁺ release and NR2B-mediated Ca²⁺ influx in HD MSN may lead to Ca2+ overload and apoptosis of these neurons (Bezprozvanny and Hayden, 2004). To test this "Ca²⁺ hypothesis of HD" my laboratory recently used TUNEL assay to compare glutamate-induced apoptosis of MSN cultured from wild type mice and mice expressing mutant human Htt-1280 gene (YAC128 mouse (Slow et al., 2003)). The mice expressing normal human Htt-18Q gene (YAC18 (Hodgson et al., 1999)) was used as a control in these experiments. At 14 DIV all 3 groups of MSN were challenged by an 8 h application of glutamate (from 0 to 250 µM) to mimic physiological stimulation. Following exposure to glutamate, MSN were fixed, permeabilized and scored for apoptotic cell death using TUNEL staining. We determined that in basal conditions (no glutamate added) approximately 10% of MSN in all 3 experimental groups were apoptotic (TUNEL-positive) (Figures 5a, 5b). Addition of 25 µM or 50 µM glutamate increased the number of apoptotic cells to 15–20% in all 3 experimental groups (Figures 5a, 5b). Addition of 100 µM or 250 µM glutamate increased apoptotic death to 60-70% for YAC128 MSN (Figures 5a, 5b), but only to 25-30% for wild type and YAC18 MSN (Figures 5a, 5b). Thus we reasoned that exposure to glutamate concentrations in $100 - 250 \,\mu$ M range leads to selective apoptosis of YAC128 MSN (Tang et al., 2005).

The "*in vitro* HD" model described above (Figure 5) enabled us to test a connection between abnormal Ca^{2+} signaling and apoptosis of HD MSN. We found that inhibition of mGluR1/5 receptors (by a mixture of MPEP and CPCCOEt) reduced the glutamate-induced apoptosis of YAC128 MSN to WT MSN levels (Figure 6). NMDAR-inhibitor (+)MK801 or NR2B-specific antagonist ifenprodil



Figure 5. In vitro HD assay.

(A) 14 DIV MSN from wild type (WT), YAC18 and YAC128 mice were exposed to a range of glutamate concentrations for 8 h, fixed, permeabilized and analyzed by TUNEL staining (green) and propidium iodide counterstaining (PI). (B) The fraction of TUNEL-positive MSN nuclei was determined as shown on panel A and plotted against glutamate concentration for wild type (WT) (open circles), YAC128 (filled circles), and YAC18 (filled triangles) mice. At each glutamate concentration the data are shown as mean \pm SD (n = 4–6 microscopic fields, 200–300 MSN per field). At 100 μ M and 250 μ M glutamate the fraction of TUNEL-positive MSN is significantly (p < 0.05) higher for YAC128 than for WT or YAC18. Similar results were obtained with 10 independent MSN preparations. Adapted from (Tang et al. 2005) (See Colour Plate 19)

had similar neuroprotective effects (Figure 6). Consistent with direct involvement of $InsP_3R1$, preincubation of the MSN cultures with a membrane-permeable $InsP_3R$ blocker 2-APB (Maruyama et al., 1997) protected YAC128 MSN from glutamate-induced apoptosis (Figure 6). All these results supported an idea that





Glutamate released from corticostriatal projection neurons stimulates NR1A/NR2B NMDAR and mGluR5 receptors abundantly expressed in striatal MSN (Landwehrmeyer et al., 1995; Testa et al., 1995). Htt^{exp} affects Ca^{2+} signaling in HD MSN by sensitizing $InsP_3R1$ to activation by $InsP_3$ (Tang et al., 2003), stimulating NR2B/NR1 NMDAR activity (Chen et al., 1999; Sun et al., 2001; Zeron et al., 2002), and destabilizing mitochondrial Ca^{2+} handling (Panov et al., 2002; Choo et al., 2004). As a result, stimulation of glutamate receptors leads to supranormal Ca^{2+} responses in HD MSN and mitochondrial Ca^{2+} overload. Once mitochondrial Ca^{2+} storage capacity is exceeded, mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) opens, leading to release of cytochrome c into the cytosol and activation of caspases 9 and 3. Activation of caspase-3 leads to progression of apoptosis, MSN degeneration and HD. The model is supported by ability of blockers (shown in red) to reduce glutamate-induced apoptosis of YAC128 MSN to wild type levels in our experiments. The blockers which were effective in our experiments are: NMDAR blocker (+)MK801 and NR2B-specific blocker ifenprodil; mGluR1/5-specific blockers MPEP and CPCCOEt; membrane-permeable InsP₃R1 blockers 2-APB and Enoxaparin; MCU blocker Ru360, MPTP blockers BKA, Nortriptyline, Desipramine and Trifluoperazine, membrane-permeable caspase-9 blocker Z-LEHD-FMK and caspase-3 blocker Z-DEVD-FMK. Adapted from (Tang et al., 2005) (See Colour Plate 20)

glutamate-induced Ca^{2+} overload plays a key role in induction of apoptotic cell death of HD MSN.

How do supranormal Ca^{2+} signals induce apoptosis of HD MSN? The best known link between Ca^{2+} overload and apoptosis involves mitochondrial Ca^{2+} overload and activation of intrinsic apoptotic pathway (Choi, 1995; Hajnoczky et al., 2003; Orrenius et al., 2003; Rizzuto et al., 2003). Consistent with this idea, we found that glutamate-induced apoptosis of YAC128 MSN in our experiments can be prevented by Ruthenium 360 (Ru360), an inhibitor of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter/channel (MCU) (Figure 6).

The observation of dysfunctional mitochondria in HD mouse models and in HD patients (Panov et al., 2002; Choo et al., 2004) provides further support

to mitochondrial involvement in HD pathogenesis. We further found that the glutamate-induced apoptosis of YAC128 MSN was prevented by mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) inhibitor bongkrekic acid (BKA) and by memrbane permeable inhibitors of caspases-9 and 3 (Figure 6). These data support a model that links Htt^{exp} mutation, abnormal Ca²⁺ signaling and apoptosis of HD MSN (Figure 6) (Tang et al., 2005). Many similar conclusions have been reached in the studies of NMDA-induced apoptosis of YAC72 and YAC128 MSN performed recently by Lynn Raymond's laboratory (Zeron et al., 2004; Shehadeh et al., 2005, 2006).

5. CA²⁺-RELATED TARGETS AND TREATMENT OF HD

Despite efforts by many laboratories and cloning of Huntingtin in 1993, there is still no cure for HD. The proposed model (Figure 6) suggests that Ca²⁺ signaling blockers, such as NR2B-specific inhibitors of NMDAR and blockers of mGluR5 and InsP₃R1, may be beneficial for the treatment of HD. Inhibitors of Htt^{exp} association with InsP₃R1 may potentially be used as a more specific HD therapeutic. These concepts are currently being tested in my laboratory. When compared to inhibitors of apoptosis an advantage of using Ca²⁺ signaling blockers and inhibitors of InsP₃R1-Htt^{exp} association is that they may stop pathological process at its earliest point, before severe neuronal dysfunction triggers apoptotic cell death. In our recent study we demonstrated that clinically relevant NMDA receptor inhibitor memantine protected YAC128 MSN from glutamate-induced apoptosis in "in vitro HD" model (Wu et al., 2006). Interestingly, a 2-year-long human clinical study suggests that memantine also has an ability to retard the progression of HD based on observed UHDRS scores (Beister et al., 2004). Further evaluation of memantine and other clinically-relevant Ca²⁺ inhibitors will be required to establish if Ca²⁺ pathway constitute a useful target for treatment of HD.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank members of my laboratory for their hard work. I am also thankful to Michael Hayden (Univ British Columbia) for his generous collaboration with my laboratory on HD project. HD research in my laboratory supported by Huntington's Disease Society of America, Hereditary Disease Foundation, and by HighQ Foundation. I also hold Carla Cocke Francis professorship in Alzheimer's Research.

REFERENCES

- Ali DW, Salter MW (2001) NMDA receptor regulation by Src kinase signalling in excitatory synaptic transmission and plasticity. Curr Opin Neurobiol 11:336–342.
- Beal MF, Ferrante RJ, Swartz KJ, Kowall NW (1991) Chronic quinolinic acid lesions in rats closely resemble Huntington's disease. J Neurosci 11:1649–1659.

- Beal MF, Kowall NW, Ellison DW, Mazurek MF, Swartz KJ, Martin JB (1986) Replication of the neurochemical characteristics of Huntington's disease by quinolinic acid. Nature 321:168–171.
- Beister A, Kraus P, Kuhn W, Dose M, Weindl A, Gerlach M (2004) The N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist memantine retards progression of Huntington's disease. J Neural Transm Suppl:117–122.
- Berridge MJ (1998) Neuronal calcium signaling. Neuron 21:13-26.
- Bezprozvanny I, Hayden MR (2004) Deranged neuronal calcium signaling and Huntington disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322:1310–1317.
- Chen N, Luo T, Wellington C, Metzler M, McCutcheon K, Hayden MR, Raymond LA (1999) Subtypespecific enhancement of NMDA receptor currents by mutant huntingtin. J Neurochem 72:1890–1898.
- Choi DW (1995) Calcium: still center-stage in hypoxic-ischemic neuronal death. Trends Neurosci 18:58–60.
- Choo YS, Johnson GV, MacDonald M, Detloff PJ, Lesort M (2004) Mutant huntingtin directly increases susceptibility of mitochondria to the calcium-induced permeability transition and cytochrome c release. Hum Mol Genet 13:1407–1420.
- Coyle JT, Schwarcz R (1976) Lesion of striatal neurones with kainic acid provides a model for Huntington's chorea. Nature 263:244–246.
- Cross AJ, Crow TJ, Johnson JA, Dawson JM, Peters TJ (1985) Loss of endoplasmic reticulum-associated enzymes in affected brain regions in Huntington's disease and Alzheimer-type dementia. J Neurol Sci 71:137–143.
- Duyao MP, Auerbach AB, Ryan A, Persichetti F, Barnes GT, McNeil SM, Ge P, Vonsattel JP, Gusella JF, Joyner AL, et al. (1995) Inactivation of the mouse Huntington's disease gene homolog Hdh. Science 269:407–410.
- Furuichi T, Kohda K, Miyawaki A, Mikoshiba K (1994) Intracellular channels. Current Opinion Neurobiol 4:294–303.
- Hajnoczky G, Davies E, Madesh M (2003) Calcium signaling and apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 304:445–454.
- Hantraye P, Riche D, Maziere M, Isacson O (1990) A primate model of Huntington's disease: behavioral and anatomical studies of unilateral excitotoxic lesions of the caudate-putamen in the baboon. Exp Neurol 108:91–104.
- Harjes P, Wanker EE (2003) The hunt for huntingtin function: interaction partners tell many different stories. Trends Biochem Sci 28:425–433.
- Hodgson JG, Agopyan N, Gutekunst CA, Leavitt BR, LePiane F, Singaraja R, Smith DJ, Bissada N, McCutcheon K, Nasir J, Jamot L, Li XJ, Stevens ME, Rosemond E, Roder JC, Phillips AG, Rubin EM, Hersch SM, Hayden MR (1999) A YAC mouse model for Huntington's disease with full-length mutant huntingtin, cytoplasmic toxicity, and selective striatal neurodegeneration. Neuron 23:181–192.
- Kerner JA, Standaert DG, Penney JB, Jr., Young AB, Landwehrmeyer GB (1997) Expression of group one metabotropic glutamate receptor subunit mRNAs in neurochemically identified neurons in the rat neostriatum, neocortex, and hippocampus. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 48:259–269.
- Landwehrmeyer GB, Standaert DG, Testa CM, Penney JB, Jr., Young AB (1995) NMDA receptor subunit mRNA expression by projection neurons and interneurons in rat striatum. J Neurosci 15:5297–5307.
- Langbehn DR, Brinkman RR, Falush D, Paulsen JS, Hayden MR (2004) A new model for prediction of the age of onset and penetrance for Huntington's disease based on CAG length. Clin Genet 65:267–277.
- Li SH, Li XJ (2004) Huntingtin-protein interactions and the pathogenesis of Huntington's disease. Trends Genet 20:146–154.
- Li SH, Schilling G, Young WS, 3rd, Li XJ, Margolis RL, Stine OC, Wagster MV, Abbott MH, Franz ML, Ranen NG, et al. (1993) Huntington's disease gene (IT15) is widely expressed in human and rat tissues. Neuron 11:985–993.
- MacDonald ME (2003) Huntingtin: alive and well and working in middle management. Sci STKE 2003:pe48.
- Mao L, Wang JQ (2001) Upregulation of preprodynorphin and preproenkephalin mRNA expression by selective activation of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in characterized primary cultures of rat striatal neurons. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 86:125–137.

- Mao L, Wang JQ (2002) Glutamate cascade to cAMP response element-binding protein phosphorylation in cultured striatal neurons through calcium-coupled group I metabotropic glutamate receptors. Mol Pharmacol 62:473–484.
- Maruyama T, Kanaji T, Nakade S, Kanno T, Mikoshiba K (1997) 2APB, 2-aminoethoxydiphenyl borate, a membrane-penetrable modulator of Ins(1,4,5)P3-induced Ca²⁺ release. J Biochem (Tokyo) 122:498–505.
- Matsumoto M, Nakagawa T, Inoue T, Nagata E, Tanaka K, Takano H, Minowa O, Kuno J, Sakakibara S, Yamada M, Yoneshima H, Miyawaki A, Fukuuchi Y, Furuichi T, Okano H, Mikoshiba K, Noda T (1996) Ataxia and epileptic seizures in mice lacking type 1 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor. Nature 379:168–171.
- McGeer EG, McGeer PL (1976) Duplication of biochemical changes of Huntington's chorea by intrastriatal injections of glutamic and kainic acids. Nature 263:517–519.
- McGeer EG, McGeer PL, Singh K (1978) Kainate-induced degeneration of neostriatal neurons: dependency upon corticostriatal tract. Brain Res 139:381–383.
- Menalled LB, Chesselet MF (2002) Mouse models of Huntington's disease. Trends Pharmacol Sci 23:32–39.
- Monyer H, Burnashev N, Laurie DJ, Sakmann B, Seeburg PH (1994) Developmental and regional expression in the rat brain and functional properties of four NMDA receptors. Neuron 12: 529–540.
- Nasir J, Floresco SB, O'Kusky JR, Diewert VM, Richman JM, Zeisler J, Borowski A, Marth JD, Phillips AG, Hayden MR (1995) Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes. Cell 81:811–823.
- Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B, Nicotera P (2003) Regulation of cell death: the calcium-apoptosis link. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:552–565.
- Panov AV, Gutekunst CA, Leavitt BR, Hayden MR, Burke JR, Strittmatter WJ, Greenamyre JT (2002) Early mitochondrial calcium defects in Huntington's disease are a direct effect of polyglutamines. Nat Neurosci 5:731–736.
- Portera-Cailliau C, Price DL, Martin LJ (1996) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor proteins NR2A and NR2B are differentially distributed in the developing rat central nervous system as revealed by subunit-specific antibodies. J Neurochem 66:692–700.
- Rizzuto R, Pinton P, Ferrari D, Chami M, Szabadkai G, Magalhaes PJ, Di Virgilio F, Pozzan T (2003) Calcium and apoptosis: facts and hypotheses. Oncogene 22:8619–8627.
- Ross CA (2002) Polyglutamine pathogenesis: emergence of unifying mechanisms for Huntington's disease and related disorders. Neuron 35:819–822.
- Rubinsztein DC (2002) Lessons from animal models of Huntington's disease. Trends Genet 18:202–209.
- Sharp AH, Loev SJ, Schilling G, Li SH, Li XJ, Bao J, Wagster MV, Kotzuk JA, Steiner JP, Lo A, et al. (1995) Widespread expression of Huntington's disease gene (IT15) protein product. Neuron 14:1065–1074.
- Shehadeh J, Fernandes HB, Zeron Mullins MM, Graham RK, Leavitt BR, Hayden MR, Raymond LA (2005) Striatal neuronal apoptosis is preferentially enhanced by NMDA receptor activation in YAC transgenic mouse model of Huntington disease. Neurobiol Dis.
- Shehadeh J, Fernandes HB, Zeron Mullins MM, Graham RK, Leavitt BR, Hayden MR, Raymond LA (2006) Striatal neuronal apoptosis is preferentially enhanced by NMDA receptor activation in YAC transgenic mouse model of Huntington disease. Neurobiol Dis 21:392–403.
- Slow EJ, van Raamsdonk J, Rogers D, Coleman SH, Graham RK, Deng Y, Oh R, Bissada N, Hossain SM, Yang YZ, Li XJ, Simpson EM, Gutekunst CA, Leavitt BR, Hayden MR (2003) Selective striatal neuronal loss in a YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease. Hum Mol Genet 12:1555–1567.
- Song C, Zhang Y, Parsons CG, Liu YF (2003) Expression of polyglutamine-expanded huntingtin induces tyrosine phosphorylation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Biol Chem 278:33364–33369.
- Street VA, Bosma MM, Demas VP, Regan MR, Lin DD, Robinson LC, Agnew WS, Tempel BL (1997) The type 1 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor gene is altered in the opisthotonos mouse. J Neurosci 17:635–645.

- Strong TV, Tagle DA, Valdes JM, Elmer LW, Boehm K, Swaroop M, Kaatz KW, Collins FS, Albin RL (1993) Widespread expression of the human and rat Huntington's disease gene in brain and nonneural tissues. Nat Genet 5:259–265.
- Sugars KL, Rubinsztein DC (2003) Transcriptional abnormalities in Huntington disease. Trends Genet 19:233–238.
- Sun Y, Savanenin A, Reddy PH, Liu YF (2001) Polyglutamine-expanded huntingtin promotes sensitization of N-methyl-D- aspartate receptors via post-synaptic density 95. J Biol Chem 276:24713–24718.
- Tallaksen-Greene SJ, Kaatz KW, Romano C, Albin RL (1998) Localization of mGluR1a-like immunoreactivity and mGluR5-like immunoreactivity in identified populations of striatal neurons. Brain Res 780:210–217.
- Tang T-S, Tu H, Chan EY, Maximov A, Wang Z, Wellington CL, Hayden MR, Bezprozvanny I (2003) Huntingtin and huntingtin-associated protein 1 influence neuronal calcium signaling mediated by inositol-(1,4,5) triphosphate receptor type 1. Neuron 39:227–239.
- Tang T-S, Slow EJ, Lupu V, Stavrovskaya IG, Sugimori M, Llinas R, Kristal BS, Hayden MR, Bezprozvanny I (2005) Disturbed Ca^{2+} signaling and apoptosis of medium spiny neurons in Huntington's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:2602–2607.
- Testa CM, Standaert DG, Landwehrmeyer GB, Penney JB, Jr., Young AB (1995) Differential expression of mGluR5 metabotropic glutamate receptor mRNA by rat striatal neurons. J Comp Neurol 354:241–252.
- The., Huntington's., Disease., Collaborative., Research., Group. (1993) A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. Cell 72:971–983.
- Tobin AJ, Signer ER (2000) Huntington's disease: the challenge for cell biologists. Trends Cell Biol 10:531–536.
- Vonsattel JP, DiFiglia M (1998) Huntington disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 57:369-384.
- Vonsattel JP, Myers RH, Stevens TJ, Ferrante RJ, Bird ED, Richardson EP, Jr. (1985) Neuropathological classification of Huntington's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 44:559–577.
- Wu J, Tang T-S, Bezprozvanny I (2006) Evaluation of clinically-relevant glutamate pathway inhibitors in in vitro model of Huntington's disease. Neurosci Lett 407:219–223.
- Zeron MM, Chen N, Moshaver A, Lee AT, Wellington CL, Hayden MR, Raymond LA (2001) Mutant huntingtin enhances excitotoxic cell death. Mol Cell Neurosci 17:41–53.
- Zeron MM, Hansson O, Chen N, Wellington CL, Leavitt BR, Brundin P, Hayden MR, Raymond LA (2002) Increased sensitivity to N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated excitotoxicity in a mouse model of Huntington's disease. Neuron 33:849–860.
- Zeron MM, Fernandes HB, Krebs C, Shehadeh J, Wellington CL, Leavitt BR, Baimbridge KG, Hayden MR, Raymond LA (2004) Potentiation of NMDA receptor-mediated excitotoxicity linked with intrinsic apoptotic pathway in YAC transgenic mouse model of Huntington's Sdisease. Mol Cell Neurosci 25:469–479.

CHAPTER 12

SERCA PUMPS AND HUMAN DISEASES

A. HOVNANIAN

INSERM, U 563, Toulouse, F-31300 France; Université Toulouse III Paul-Sabatier, UMR-S 563, Toulouse, F-31400 France; E-mail: alain.hovnanian@toulouse.inserm.fr

Abstract:

Sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum (SER) Ca²⁺ ATPases represent a highly conserved family of Ca^{2+} pumps which actively transport Ca^{2+} from the cytosol to the SER against a large concentration gradient. In humans, 3 genes (ATP2A1-3) generate multiple isoforms (SERCA1a,b, SERCA2a-c, SECA3a-f) by developmental or tissue-specific alternative splicing. These pumps differ by their regulatory and kinetic properties, allowing for optimized function in the tissue where they are expressed. They play a central role in calcium signalling through regenerating SER Ca2+ stores, maintaining appropriate Ca2+ levels in this organelle and shaping cytosolic and nuclear Ca²⁺ variations which govern cell response. Defects in ATP2A1 encoding SERCA1 cause recessive Brody myopathy, mutations in ATP2A2 coding for SERCA2 underlie a dominant skin disease, Darier disease and its clinical variants. SERCA2a expression is reduced in heart failure in human and in mice models. Gene-targeting studies in mouse confirmed the expected function of these isoforms in some cases, but also resulted in unexpected phenotypes: SERCA1 null mutants die from respiratory failure, SERCA2 heterozygous mutant mice develop skin cancer with age and SERCA3 null mice display no diabetes. These unique phenotypes have provided invaluable information on the role of these pumps in specific tissues and species, and have improved our understanding of Ca^{2+} regulated processes in muscles, the heart and the skin in human and in mice. Although the understanding of the pathogenesis of these diseases is still incomplete, these recent advances hold the promise of improved knowledge on the disease processes and the identification of new targets for therapeutic interventions

Keywords: Sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum (SER) Ca²⁺-ATPases (SERCA), ATP2A1, ATP2A2, ATP2A3, SERCA1, SERCA2, SERCA3, Brody disease, Darier disease (Darier -White disease), Segmental Darier, Acantholytic dyskeratotic epidermal nevi, Acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf (Hopf disease), muscle, heart, skin, Ca²⁺ pump

1. SERCA PUMPS: STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

The SERCA pumps belong to the P-type ATPase family, which actively transport cations across membranes at the expense of ATP hydrolysis. They show a high degree of conservation among species and their structure has recently been

337

determined by X-crystallography. They play a key role in Ca^{2+} signaling by bringing the cytosolic free Ca^{2+} concentration back to its resting level after cell activation, and by replenishing the SER stores, which is indispensable for cell function. They act in concert with other Ca^{2+} regulatory proteins involved in Ca^{2+} clearance mechanism, including plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase (PMCAs) and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchangers (NCXs) (Brini and Carafoli, 2000; Carafoli *et al.*, 2001; Missiaen *et al.*, 2000; Strehler and Treiman, 2004; Wuytack *et al.*, 2002).

1.1. ATP2A1-3 Genes and SERCA1-3 Isoforms

In humans, SERCA pumps are encoded by three genes, *ATP2A1-3*, each encoding several protein isoforms (SERCA1a,b, SERCA2a-c, SERCA3a-f, respectively) as a result of developmental or tissue-specific alternative splicing (Table 1).

1.1.1. ATP2A1 and SERCA1a and b Isoforms

ATP2A1 maps to chromosomal region 16p12.1 (Callen *et al.*, 1991), spans 12.29 kb, contains 23 exons and encodes 3.3 kb transcripts. Exon 22 can be alternatively spliced to generate 2 isoforms: SERCA1a in adults and SERCA1b in neonates (Brandl *et al.*, 1986; Zhang *et al.*, 1995). SERCA1a (994 amino acids in human) and SERCA1b (1001 amino acids in human) differ by their carboxy-terminal end (Figure 1). In the SERCA1b form, a highly charged octapeptide (993 to 1001) replaces residue Glu994 of SERCA1a. Both isoforms are almost exclusively

Gene	Locus	Isoforms	Tissue specificity	Disease
ATP2A1	16p12.1	SERCA1a (adult) SERCA1b (neonate)	Fast twitch skeletal muscle (type 2) fibers	Brody's myopathy (recessive)
ATP2A2	12q23-q24.1	SERCA2a SERCA2b SERCA2c	Heart, slow twitch skeletal muscle, brain All tissues (<i>e.g.</i> epidermis) Epithelial, mesenchymal and hematopoietic cell lines, monocytes	Darier disease (dominant)
ATP2A3	17p13.3	SERCA3a, b, c, e, SERCA3d, 3f	Fetal tissue and most adult tissues, most abundant in hematopoietic cell lineages (bone marrow, leukocytes, platelets, lymph nodes, thymus, spleen), salivary glands trachea, lung, pancreas, kidney and colon All tissues	Type II diabetes?

Table 1. Human ATP2A1-3 genes, SERCA isoforms, tissue expression and disease

expressed in fast-twitch skeletal-muscle fibers in adults (SERCA1a) or in neonates (SERCA1b) where they represent abundant proteins of the SR.

1.1.2. ATP2A2 and SERCA2a-c isoforms

ATP2A2 is located on chromosomal region 12q23-q24, spans 65.69 kb, and is organized in 22 exons, exon 21 being a newly described coding sequence located within intron 22 (Gelebart *et al.*, 2003). It is transcribed into three alternatively-spliced mRNAs of 4.4 kb, encoding the SERCA2a, SERCA2b and SERCA2c isoforms, which differ in their carboxy termini and show different expressions patterns (Gelebart *et al.*, 2003; Verboomen *et al.*, 1992; Verboomen *et al.*, 1994). Alternative splicing of exon 20 gives rise to SERCA2a (997 amino acids) and SERCA2b (1042 amino acids), the latter having an eleventh transmembrane domain and a tail extending into the ER lumen. SERCA2c is a recently identified splice variant resulting from the inclusion of a short coding sequence (exon 21) located in intron 20 and containing an in-frame stop codon (Gelebart *et al.*, 2003) (Figure 1).

SERCA2a is expressed predominantly in the heart, in slow twitch skeletal muscle and in the brain, where it represents the main SERCA isoform. In contrast, SERCA2b is a "house-keeping" isoform, ubiquitously expressed in smooth muscle and non-muscle tissue (Wuytack *et al.*, 2002). Although both isoforms are detectable in keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts in culture, SERCA2b is the major isoform expressed in the epidermis from adult skin sections. SERCA2c is expressed in epithelial, mesenchymal and hematopoietic cell lines, and in monocytes (Table 1).

1.1.3. ATP2A3 and SERCA3a-f isoforms

ATP2A3 is the most recently identified member of the ATP2A family. The gene spans over 40.59 kb, was assigned on chromosomal region 17p13.3 and contains 23 exons encoding 4.7 kb transcripts. Alternative splicing of exons 21, 22 or 23 give rise to 6 different isoforms (SERCA3a-f) (Figure 1). SERCA3a (human 999 amino acids (aa)), SERCA3b (1043 aa), or SERCA3c (1024 aa) isoforms have different C termini and result from exclusion of exons 21 and 22 (SERCA3a), partial inclusion (SERCA3b) or total inclusion (SERCA3c) of exon 21 with exclusion of exon 22 (Dode et al., 1998). SERCA3d (1044 aa) and SERCA3e (1052 aa) retain partial or total exon 21, respectively, with inclusion of exon 22 (Martin et al., 2002). SERCA3f (1033 aa) is a recently identified isoform which lacks exon 21 but retains exon 22 (Bobe et al., 2004). However, at the protein level, there is at present evidence for expression of SERCA3a-c isoforms only. SERCA3 isoforms are most abundant in hematopoietic cell lineages (bone marrow, lymph nodes, thymus, spleen), salivary glands, trachea, colon and pancreas (endocrine pancreatic beta cells) (Wuytack et al., 1995) (Table 1). SERCA3 appears to be almost always co-expressed with the house-keeping SERCA2b.



Figure 1. Alternatively splicing of human ATP2A1-3 genes generates multiple SERCA isoforms. Exons are represented by open boxes, introns by horizontal lines. The different splicings are indicated by lines and letters and are described in the text. Sa-Se indicate the position of stop codons of the different isoforms. Boxes in grey represent coding sequences specific for the isoforms

1.2. SERCA1-3 Isoforms Structure

SERCA pumps are members of the P-type ATPase family, which use the energy derived from ATP hydrolysis to actively transport specific ions across biological membranes against a concentration gradient. The P-type Ca²⁺-ATPase family also includes the plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pumps PMCA1-4 (Shull *et al.*, 2003) and the secretory pathway Ca²⁺ ATPase SPCA1 of the Golgi complex (Hu *et al.*, 2000; Sudbrak *et al.*, 2000). Other P-type ATPase family members include Na⁺/K⁺-ATPAse and H⁺/K⁺-ATPAses. The term "P-type" refers to the formation of an energy-rich covalent aspartyl-phosphorylated intermediate after ATP binding to an aspartate residue in a highly conserved phosphorylation sequence <u>D</u>KTGT (Kuhlbrandt, 2004).

SERCA pumps are polypeptides with a molecular mass of 110 kDa. They are localized in the SR or the ER membrane where they play a pivotal role in intracellular Ca²⁺ signalling. They catalyse the hydrolysis of ATP coupled with the translocation of 2 Ca^{2+} ions from the cytosol (100 nanoM) to the endoplasmic reticulum lumen where Ca^{2+} is stored at high concentrations (500 microM) (MacLennan et al., 1997). SERCA1 was the first member of the Ptype Ca²⁺-ATPase family to be cloned. It has been extensively studied by site-directed mutagenesis, which allowed to understand its structure-function relationship. The crystal structure of SERCA1a has recently been determined in different conformations and provides detailed insights into the molecular mechanism of ATP-driven Ca^{2+} translocation (Toyoshima and Inesi, 2004; Toyoshima et al., 2000; Toyoshima et al., 2003). SERCA1 comprises 3 cytoplasmic domains (the actuator, the phosphorylation and the ATP binding domains) linked by 5 stalk domains to 10 transmembrane domains anchored in the ER membrane. Four of these domains (M4, M5, M6 and M8) form the two Ca²⁺ binding sites of the molecule (Figure 2). The predicted secondary structure of the SERCA2 and SERCA3 pumps is based on the crystallization and functional studies of SERCA1, which serves as an archetype for SERCA pumps (Carafoli and Brini, 2000; MacLennan et al., 2002). However, the primary sequence of SERCA2b and SERCA3b-f isoforms predicts the presence of an eleventh transmembrane domain.

1.3. SERCA1-3 Isoforms Function

1.3.1. Common cycle/function

To transport Ca^{2+} from the cytosol to the ER lumen, the SERCA pump goes through a complex cycle involving major conformational states. Upon binding of two Ca^{2+} ions, transphosphorylation from ATP leads to conformational modifications changing the high- Ca^{2+} -affinity SERCA protein into a low- Ca^{2+} -affinity phosphoenzyme intermediate (Figure 3). These steps result from critical interactions between the cytoplasmic domains (ATP binding domain, phosphorylation and actuator domains). These conformational changes are transmitted through stalks 4 and 5 to the Ca^{2+} binding sites and the translocation domain, to result



Figure 2. Ribbon diagram showing the different domains in the crystal structure of the rabbit skeletal muscle Ca^{2+} -ATPase (SERCA1) at 2.6 A resolution. The cytoplasmic region of the molecule is organized in three interacting domains: the nucleotide-binding (N) domain in red, which binds ATP; the phosphorylation (P) domain in yellow encompassing the phosphorylation site at Asp351, and the actuator (A) domain in blue. The transmembrane domain (M) in green comprises ten SER-transmembrane domains (M1–M10), four of which (M4, M5, M6 and 8) form the Ca²⁺ (red spheres) binding pocket. Stalk domains (S) link cytoplasmic domains to transmembrane domains. Major conformational changes occur during ATP-energized Ca²⁺ transport (Reprinted from (MacLennan et al., 2002) with permission from Elsevier) (See Colour Plate 21)

in the release of two Ca^{2+} ions into the ER lumen (Carafoli and Brini, 2000; MacLennan *et al.*, 2002).

1.3.2. Comparison of SERCA1, 2 and 3 isoform properties

The SERCA isoforms show a high degree of conservation in their primary structure, SERCA2a being 84% identical to SERCA1a, and SERCA3 sharing 75% identity to SERCA1 and SERCA2. Their primary structure being highly conserved, all SERCA isoforms are predicted to have similar transmembrane topology and protein conformation. However, differences in their C-terminal portion account for slightly different functional properties between SERCA isoforms. SERCA1 and SERCA2 isoforms, but not SERCA3 isoforms, are inhibited by thapsigargin.

1.3.2.1. SERCA1 and SERCA2a The enzymatic properties of SERCA isoforms have been studied in heterogous cell systems by overexpressing recombinant



Lumen of the sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum

Figure 3. Schematic representation of the reaction cycle of SERCA pumps. The SERCA pumps exist in two conformational state: E1 binds Ca^{2+} with high affinity at the cytoplasmic site of the SER membrane, while E2 has low affinity for Ca^{2+} and thus releases it on the opposite site of the membrane. ATP phosphorylates a highly conserved aspartic acid residue allowing for the translocation of Ca^{2+} in the SER lumen

SERCA pumps in cultured COS cells. Their functional properties were studied using isolated microsomes. The initial *in vitro* studies reported that SERCA1 and SERCA2a isoforms shared similar Ca^{2+} affinity and velocity of Ca^{2+} uptake (Vmax). Subsequently, a higher kinetic turnover was demonstrated for the SERCA1 compared with the SERCA2a isoform (5.0- versus 2.6-fold increase in calcium uptake rate) (Sumbilla *et al.*, 1999).

1.3.2.2. SERCA2*a*–*c* The three SERCA2 isoforms display functional differences: SERCA2b has a two-fold higher apparent affinity for Ca^{2+} but a two-fold lower catalytic turnover rate resulting in a lower rate of transport compared to 2a (Verboomen *et al.*, 1992). SERCA2a and SERCA2b display the same sensitivity towards phospholamban and thapsigargin (Lytton *et al.*, 1991). SERCA2c was recently shown to have a lower affinity for Ca^{2+} than SERCA2a and SERCA2b, and it is speculated that SERCA2c could work in a high local Ca^{2+} environment (Dally *et al.*, 2006).

1.3.2.3. SERCA1a, SERCA2a and SERCA3a–c SERCA3 isoforms show a 5-fold lower apparent affinity for Ca2⁺, which suggests that SERCA3 becomes active when Ca²⁺ cytosolic reaches high levels during cell stimulation (Dode *et al.*, 2002; Martin *et al.*, 2002). SERCA3 isoforms have a 10-fold higher apparent affinity for vanadate inhibition compared to other SERCA pumps and are not sensitive to phospholamban.

1.3.3. SERCA pumps in Ca^{2+} signaling

SERCA pumps are essential actors of the Ca²⁺ signaling pathway in excitable and non excitable cells. Following cell stimulation, they restore low Ca²⁺ cytosolic concentrations and contribute to generate intracellular Ca²⁺signals leading to specific cell responses. They reconstitute dynamic Ca²⁺ stores in the SR/ER required for post-translational modifications, for quality control in the SR/ER and for subsequent Ca²⁺ release.

In muscle and heart cells, SERCA pumps Ca^{2+} induce muscle relaxation 1.3.3.1. SERCA1 (fast-twitch skeletal muscles) and SERCA2a (heart and slow-twitch skeletal muscles) maintain low cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ levels during muscle inactivity and generate calcium stores (Gommans et al., 2002; Rossi and Dirksen, 2006). Upon excitation, membrane depolarization activates the voltage-sensing dishydropyridine receptors (DHPR) located in the transverse tubular system (T-tubules). These receptors directly interact with the ryanodine recpetor (RyR) located in the SR membrane, resulting in Ca^{2+} release from the SR into the cytosol. Ca^{2+} binding to troponin C induces changes in the troponin and tropomyosin complex, allowing mysosin to interact with actin and contraction to be generated. Thus, in both cardiac and skeletal muscle, the force-generating molecular motors (crossbridges) are turned on by increasing the intracellular free calcium level that regulates the troponin-tropomyosin system. Subsequent calcium reuptake by SERCA1 and SERCA2 initiates muscle relaxation. Other clearance mechanisms exist, including plasma membrane Ca^{2+} -ATPase (PMCAs), and Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchangers, but SERCA pumps are the most important contributor in removing Ca^{2+} during and after contraction.

SERCA pumps generate Ca^{2+} fluctuations leading to specific cell 1.3.3.2. In non excitable cells, Ca²⁺ signaling involves binding of an extracelresponses lular agonist to a plasma membrane receptor which activates phospholipase C and generates inositol 1,4,5-tris-phosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol from phosphatidyl inositol bis phosphate (PIP2). IP3 in turn acts as a second messenger, binds to its receptors onto the ER to trigger release of Ca^{2+} from the intracellular stores into the cytoplasm. Emptying of ER Ca²⁺ stores activates influx of extra-cellular Ca^{2+} through plasma membrane Ca^{2+} channels which function like store-operated channels (SOC) (capacitive entry mechanism) (Parekh and Putney, 2005; Prakriya et al., 2006). The SERCA pumps play a key role in Ca^{2+} signaling by refilling the internal reservoir of Ca²⁺ of the ER, which is considered as the major intracellular Ca²⁺ store. SERCA pumps also participate in the spatio-temporal distribution of Ca²⁺. They modulate the spatial profile of Ca²⁺ signals locally generated at the periphery of cells by the activation of individual cluster of Ca^{2+} channels. They prevent the globalization of Ca²⁺ induced responses, and thus contribute to the shaping of Ca²⁺ signals in space, time and amplitude in the cell (Mackenzie et al., 2004).

1.3.3.3. SERCA pumps sequester Ca^{2+} in the ER lumen By maintaining appropriate Ca^{2+} concentrations in the ER lumen, SERCA pumps also play an essential role in protein synthesis, folding and transport of membrane and secreted proteins. This involves in particular chaperone-dependent processing and post-translational modifications which require a unique calcium rich environment. Chaperone molecules such as calreticulin and calnexin are involved in the quality control pathway in the ER (Berridge, 2002; Ellgaard and Helenius, 2003; Michalak *et al.*, 2002).

1.3.4. Regulation of SERCA pumps activity

SERCA pump activity is tightly regulated to respond to cellular stimuli and stress signals. Regulation is achieved at the level of gene transcription and by protein-protein interactions with small regulatory molecules such as phospholamban (SERCA2) and sarcolipin (SERCA1 and SERCA2), or with other SER resident or associated molecules in a tissue-specific manner (Vangheluwe *et al.*, 2005).

In the heart and slow twich skeletal-muscle

Phospholamban (PLB) is a small-molecular-weight reversible endogenous inhibitor of SERCA which has been extensively studied (MacLennan *et al.*, 2003; MacLennan and Kranias, 2003). PLB is found in the SR or ER of mainly muscle cells including the heart, but is absent from fast-twitch skeletal-muscle fibers (where SERCA1 is the major Ca^{2+} pump isoform). Dephosphorylated PLB interacts *in vitro* with SERCA1, SERCA2a and SERCA2b, but not with SERCA3. Binding of PLP to SERCA2a results in lower affinity for Ca^{2+} and inhibition of the SERCA pump activity. PLB phosphorylation by the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) or the Ca^{2+} /calmodulin-dependent protein kinases, relieves SERCA inhibition. Together with sarcolipin, PLB represents the main regulator of SERCA2 pumps.

In fast- and slow twich skeletal muscle and in the heart

Sarcolipin (SLN) is a shorter homologue of PLB (Hellstern *et al.*, 2001). SLN is highly expressed in fast-twitch skeletal muscle where it is a key regulator of SERCA1. SLN is also expressed in slow-twitch and in cardiac muscle. Unlike PLB, the interaction of SLN with SERCA depends mainly on SLN's expression level, but not on its phosphorylation. At low Ca²⁺ concentrations, SLN inhibits SERCA1 activity by decreasing Ca²⁺ affinity, whereas it activates SERCA1 activity at high Ca²⁺ concentrations by increasing Vmax (Asahi *et al.*, 2003).

Other interactions described with SERCA2

Calnexin and **calreticulin** are Ca^{2+} binding proteins which act as chaperone molecules in the ER by binding to unfolded and newly synthesized glycoproteins. It has been proposed that **calnexin** and **calreticulin** could modulate the affinity/turnover state of SERCA2b, by interacting with a consensus site for N-linked glycosylation (Asn1036) located in the SERCA2b lumenal carboxy-terminal sequence (John *et al.*, 1998). However, recent evidence suggest that Asn1036 may not be glycosylated and that the interaction with calnexin would require the phosphorylation of Ser562 of SERCAb (Roderick *et al.*, 2000).

The ER oxydoreductase **Erp57** promotes disulphide bond formation during protein folding. Erp57 participates, together with calreticulin and calnexin, to the quality control and folding of newly synthesized (glyco)proteins. Erp57 was recently shown to interact with two conserved cysteine residues (C875 and C887) located in the intraluminal loop 4 of SERCA2b. This interaction is Ca^{2+} dependent, promotes disulphide bond formation and results in the inhibition of the pump. ER Ca^{2+} depletion would subsequently displace Erp57 from SERCA2b, resulting in relieve of the inhibition of SERCA2b activity. This suggests that Erp57 could modulate SERCA2b activity by modifying the redox state of ER facing thiols of the pump (Li and Camacho, 2004).

S100 proteins represent a large family of EF-hand Ca^{2+} binding proteins which regulate fundamental biological processes. S100A1 is abundantly expressed in the striated muscle and cardiac muscle, where it is a major regulator of cardiac contractility. S100A1 co-localizes with the SR *in vivo*, interacts with SERCA2a *in vitro* and was shown to stimulate Ca^{2+} uptake by SERCA2a pump (Kiewitz *et al.*, 2003). These observations suggest that S100 proteins could enhance SERCA2 activity through a direct protein-protein interaction.

Desmoplakins I and **II** are key plaque proteins which anchor desmosomes to keratin filaments in the epidermis. Desmosomes are critical adhesion complexes between adjacent epithelial cells, that assemble in response to cell–cell contact and raised levels of extracellular Ca^{2+} (Green and Gaudry, 2000). SERCA2 and desmoplakins have been shown to interact in a Ca^{2+} dependent manner on the ER membrane in cultured human primary keratinocytes, suggesting that SERCA2 may have an accessory function in desmosomal assembly (Dhitavat *et al.*, 2003a).

2. HUMAN DISEASES AND ANIMAL MODELS

Genetic defects in ATP2A1 encoding SERCA1 have been shown to cause recessive Brody myopathy, while mutations in ATP2A2 underlie a dominant skin disease, Darier disease and its clinical variants. SERCA2a expression is reduced in heart failure in human and in heterozygous Serca2 mutant mice. Gene-targeting studies in mouse have resulted in unexpected phenotypes, often distinct from human diseases, providing evidence for species specificity (Foggia and Hovnanian, 2004; Hovnanian, 2004; Missiaen *et al.*, 2000; Periasamy and Kalyanasundaram, 2007; Shull *et al.*, 2003).

2.1. Brody's Disease

Brody disease (BD, OMIM 601003) was first decribed by Dr. Irwin A. Brody in 1969 (Brody, 1969). It is a rare genetic muscular disease which can be transmitted in an autosomal recessive or dominant manner. The disease is genetically heterogeneous, and ATP2A1 mutations have been identified in recessive forms of the disease only (Odermatt *et al.*, 1996).

2.1.1. Clinical manifestations

This genetic myopathy is characterized by impaired muscle relaxation, painless cramps and stiffness following exercise. The symptoms occur after repetitive, sustained exercise and mainly affect the limb muscles. They are exacerbate in the cold.

2.1.2. Genetics

Early studies have reported reduced Ca²⁺ATPase activity in the sarcoplasmic reticulum of Brody patients, sometimes associated with diminished SERCA1 expression in fast-twitch skeletal muscles. These observations pointed to a possible involvement of ATP2A1 in the disease (Benders *et al.*, 1994; Karpati *et al.*, 1986). A first study in 3 Brody patients found no mutation in ATP2A1, although one of these patients was later shown to have an ATP2A1 mutation (Zhang *et al.*, 1995). In 1996, MacLennan and his group identified 3 causative mutations (a splice site and 2 mutations leading to premature termination codons (PTC)) in ATP2A1 encoding the SERCA1 isoform in 2 families affected with recessive Brody disease (Odermatt *et al.*, 1996). Since then, 3 mutations leading to PTC and a deleterious missense mutations in ATP2A1 were identified in a total of 6 families with the recessive form of the disease (Odermatt *et al.*, 2000; Odermatt *et al.*, 1997).

2.1.3. Heterogeneity

Sequence analysis of ATP2A1 in other recessive as well as dominant Brody disease could not identify ATP2A1 mutations. Moreover, genetic linkage with ATP2A1 was excluded in a family with recessive Brody disease. These results indicate that Brody disease is genetically heterogeneous, and that defects in a second gene must cause some forms of recessive Brody disease, whereas defects in a third gene underlie dominant forms of the disease. Of the molecules which modulate SERCA1 activity, SLN encoded by the SLN gene (Odermatt *et al.*, 1997) was a good candidate for an alternative causative gene. However, no SLN mutation has been identified in 13 Brody families studied (Odermatt *et al.*, 1997).

2.1.4. Pathophysiology

In muscle cells, the contraction is induced by Ca^{2+} release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, as a result of membrane depolarization and activation of RyR1 receptors located at the surface of the SR. The subsequent transport of cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} back into the lumen of the sarcoplasmic reticulum restores low resting calcium levels and allows muscle relaxation. In fast-twitch skeletal muscle fibers, Ca^{2+} uptake is mediated by the sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} ATPase SERCA1 which represents more than 99% of SERCA isoforms in these muscle fibers.

In Brody disease, as a result of loss of function mutations in ATP2A1, Ca²⁺ is not transported back into the SR after its release from the stores and accumulates in the myoplasm, resulting in delayed relaxation and muscle cramping. It is of interest that patients with Brody disease are still able to relax their fast-twitch skeletal muscles, even though relaxation is significantly reduced. This suggest that SERCA2

or SERCA3 ectopic expression could compensate in part for defective Ca^{2+} loading in the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Other compensatory mechanisms could also involve myoplasmic Ca^{2+} removal by Ca^{2+} -ATPases and Na+/ Ca^{2+} exchangers of the plasma membrane or uptake in the mitochondria (MacLennan, 2000).

2.1.5. Treatment

Some patients have been treated with dantrolene, which reduces the Ca^{2+} release from the SR by blocking the RyR. However, several patients treated with this molecule complained of muscle weakness, likely to result from a decreased Ca^{2+} release and ineffective muscular contraction.

2.1.6. Atp2a1 knock out mouse model

To gain a better understanding of the pathogenesis of Brody disease, David MacLennan's group developed knock out mice for Serca1 (Pan *et al.*, 2003). Serca1null mice displayed a gasping respiration, became cyanotic and die shortly after birth of respiratory failure. They also exhibited slow limb movement and evidence for cramping. Histological examination of diaphragm muscle revealed hypercontracture injury. Ca^{2+} uptake activity in tissue homogenates from the Serca1 null mice was severely reduced, consistent with defective Ca^{2+} removal from the cytosol. There was no evidence for compensation by Serca2 or Serca3, nor hanges in the levels of sarcolipin or phospholamban., These results confirmed the major role of Serca1 in contraction/relaxation coupling. However, patients with Brody disease do not show respiratory disease. The fact that the respiratory rate in newborn mice is much faster than in human, and that slow-twitch fibres account for less than 10% of diaphram muscle in mice, instead of 40% in human, could explain the species differencies observed (Pan *et al.*, 2003; Prasad *et al.*, 2004; Shull *et al.*, 2003).

2.2. Darier Disease

Darier's disease (DD)(MIM 124200) or Darier-White's disease (also referred as keratosis follicularis) is a rare autosomal dominant disease, first described by Darier and White in 1889. DD affects both sexes and all ethnic groups, with a prevalence estimated between 1 in 26 300 and 1 in 100,000 in different countries (Godic *et al.*, 2005), (Tavadia *et al.*, 2002), (Wilkinson, 1977) (Cooper and Burge, 2003; Svendsen and Albrecten, 1959). Penetrance of the disease is complete, and expression is highly variable between and within affected families.

2.2.1. Clinical manifestations

Onset of the disease is usually around puberty. The majority of patients will develop the first lesions between 10 and 20 years of age. Typical lesions are greasy, keratotic papules, skin coloured, yellow-brown or brown, which can be isolated or form relatively large, crusted and confluent plaques. The sites of predilection are the seborrhoeic areas of the trunck and face: the upper chest, the back, the sides of the neck, the forehead, the ears, and the scalp (Figure 4a). The flexures are also frequently involved. The skin lesions can become vegetating in the folds, are often infected, malodorous and responsible for major discomfort. They can be limited or form extensive plaques during acute phases. Careful examination of the palms and soles will frequently reveal small pits or punctuated keratoses which are highly suggestive of DD. Hands and feet can also show discrete flat, skin-coloured papules on the dorsum of the hands and feet, similar to acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf (Cooper and Burge, 2003). Nails show almost constant abnormalities which are highly specific of the disease. The nails are fragile and split easily, they show the combination of red and white longitudinal stripes, have a V-shaped nick at the free margin of the nail and subungual hyperkeratosis. The mucous membranes can be affected and may be the site of whitish small papules (Frezzini *et al.*, 2006). Intra-familial disease severity has been reported in several studies, indicating that additional genetic and/or environmental factors influence disease expression (Onozuka *et al.*, 2004).

2.2.2. Pathology

Histology examination of skin lesions shows hyperkeratosis (thickening of the stratum corneum), focal dyskeratosis (premature and abnormal keratinisation of single keratinocytes) associated with suprabasal acantholysis (cell separation above the basal layer) leading to suprabasal clefts (Figure 4b). Rounded eosinophilic dyskeratotic cells which have lost contact with neighbouring cells are called "corps ronds" or "grains" and are highly suggestive of the disease. They are thought to correspond to apoptotic keratinocytes. Electron-microscopy has revealed separation of the keratin filaments from the desmosomes (rupture of the desmosome-keratin complexes) with perinuclear tonofilaments clumping (Hakuno *et al.*, 2000).

2.2.3. Genetics

The gene for Darier's disease was mapped to chromosome 12q23-24 in 1993 (Craddock *et al.*, 1993) and was identified by positional cloning as being ATP2A2 in 1999 (Sakuntabhai *et al.*, 1999b). The identification of a Ca^{2+} pump as the defective protein in DD was unexpected and disclosed a key role of Ca^{2+} signalling and SERCA2 in the homeostasis of the epidermis (Hovnanian, 2004).

2.2.3.1. Spectrum of ATP2A2 mutations More than 130 ATP2A2 mutations have now been reported in Darier's disease patients, the majority of which being family specific (Dhitavat *et al.*, 2003c; Dhitavat *et al.*, 2003d; Godic *et al.*, 2004; Ikeda *et al.*, 2003; Jacobsen *et al.*, 1999; Onozuka *et al.*, 2004; Racz *et al.*, 2005; Racz *et al.*, 2004; Ren *et al.*, 2006; Ringpfeil *et al.*, 2001; Ruiz-Perez *et al.*, 1999; Sakuntabhai *et al.*, 2003; Yang *et al.*, 2001) (HGMD http://www.biobase.de/ggmd/gene.php? gene = ATP2A2). Mutations are distributed across the entire molecule, with no evidence for clustering or mutation hot spots, and disrupt critical functional domains of SERCA2. Spontaneous mutations are frequent. The majority of the ATP2A2



Figure 4. **a**, Clinical aspect of Darier disease showing extensive and confluent keratotic and inflammatory papules on the back of a 27 years old patient; **b**, Histology of affected skin in Darier disease showing suprabasal cleft of the epidermis containing acantholytic cells, associated with hyperkeratosis and rounded dyskeratotic cells (« corps ronds » or « grains »); **c**, Acantholytic epidermal naevi (segmental Darier disease). Limited and unilateral distribution of keratotic papules following Blaschko lines on the lower abdominal region. These lesions correspond to somatic mosaicism for an ATP2A2 mutation. (Courtesy of Dr Susan Burge, Department of Dermatology, Churchill hospital, Oxford, UK) (See Colour Plate 22)

mutations identified are missense mutations (50%) or in-frame deletions or insertions (8%) which predict the synthesis of a structurally abnormal protein. Other mutations include nonsense mutations (12%) and frameshift mutations (23%) which lead to premature termination codon (PTC) and predict loss of protein expression through nonsense mRNA decay. The remaining mutations are splice-site mutations (7%) the consequences of which on the mutated protein remain to be documented. Genotype-phenotype comparison has initially suggested that ATP2A2 missense mutations are more frequent in severe or atypical forms, but this has not been confirmed in other studies (Ringpfeil *et al.*, 2001). However, considerable interand intra-familial variability in the disease phenotype indicates that additional genetic or environmental factors influence disease expression (Onozuka *et al.*, 2004; Ruiz-Perez *et al.*, 1999; Sakuntabhai *et al.*, 1999b). *Mutations in SERCA2b isoform only can cause DD.* While the majority of Darier patients harbour a mutation in a region of ATP2A2 which is common to both isoforms, three families with classical Darier's disease were heterozygous for an ATP2A2 mutation located in a region of exon 20 which is specific for SERCA2b isoform (Dhitavat *et al.*, 2003c; Ikeda *et al.*, 2001). Each of these mutations leads to a PTC, indicating that loss of SERCA2b expression is sufficient to cause Darier's disease, and that SERCA2a isoform cannot compensate for it. This finding is consistent with the most prominent expression of SERCA2b in the epidermis, although both isoforms are expressed in cultured keratinocytes (Ruiz-Perez *et al.*, 1999; Tavadia *et al.*, 2004).

2.2.3.2. Functional effects of SERCA2 mutations

On Ca^{2+} transport capacities of the mutated pumps To date, the functional consequences of a total of 68 ATP2A2 mutations identified in DD patients have been studied by site-directed mutagenesis in three separate studies (Ahn et al., 2003; Dode et al., 2003; Miyauchi et al., 2006). Over-expression and functional analysis of recombinant mutated SERCA2 pumps in COS cells has shown that in most cases, DD missense mutations cause loss of Ca^{2+} transport through defective ATPase activity (Ahn et al., 2003; Dode et al., 2003; Miyauchi et al., 2006). Some mutants cause reduced protein expression due to protein instability. A rare mutant was found to have increased Ca²⁺ transport activity, but higher affinity. Together with ATP2A2 mutations leading to PTC and loss of expression of the mutant allele, these results support the proposition that haplo-insufficiency is a common mechanism for the dominant inheritance of Darier's disease (Ahn et al., 2003; Dode et al., 2003; Miyauchi et al., 2006). However, some missense mutations partially inhibit the co-expressed wild-type protein and were associated with a more severe phenotype (Ahn et al., 2003), suggesting that some missense mutants may act at least in part through a dominant negative mechanism.

On Ca^{2+} homeostasis in keratinocytes In normal keratinocytes, there is an increasing epidermal gradient in the normal skin, from the basal layer to the superficial layers. High extra-cellular concentrations are required for epidermal inter-cellular adhesion, differentiation and cornification. As a consequence of loss of SERCA2 Ca²⁺ transport on Ca²⁺ homeostasis, DD keratinocytes were shown to display depletion of ER Ca^{2+} stores in two studies (Foggia *et al.*, 2006; Leinonen et al., 2005). Cytosolic Ca²⁺ resting levels were found to be increased in the study by Leinonen and col., but were decreased in the study by Foggia and col. In the latter, reduced cytosolic Ca2+ was shown to result from upregulation of ATP2C1, encoding hSPCA1, the Ca^{2+} pump of the Golgi apparatus. The Ca²⁺-signaling capability of the DD cells was preserved, indicating that the Golgi Ca²⁺ store compensates for defective SERCA2-dependent signaling. In the same study, inhibition of ATPC1 by siRNA diminished DD keratinocyte viability, indicating that up-regulation of ATP2C1 was a compensatory mechanism against apoptosis. Recently, Pani and col. have shown up-regulation of a member of plasma membrane capacitative entry channels, TRPC1 (Transient receptor Potential Cationique channel) in DD and SERCA2+/– mouse keratinocytes (Pani *et al.*, 2006). These authors also show that up-regulation of TRPC1 enhances cell proliferation and restricts apoptosis, illustrating another compensatory mechanism in response to ER Ca²⁺ store depletion. These results emphasised the interplay between ER, Golgi apparatus and plasma membrane Ca²⁺ channels such as TRPC1 in Ca²⁺ signaling. They indicate that up-regulation of other Ca²⁺ transport ATPase (*ATP2C1*), and channels could at least in part compensate for *ATP2A2* dysfunction at a steady-state, and that blockade of these compensatory responses compromise cell viability.

On desmosome formation Ca^{2+} triggers the switch between keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation. Ca²⁺ is in particular required for the assembly of desmosomes and adherens junctions, and actin polymerisation (Kitajima, 2002). A change in the Ca^{2+} ER luminal content is likely to have a major effect on Ca²⁺signaling, protein post-translational modifications and trafficking. Although no glycosylation defect of the desmosomal proteins was detected in DD keratinocytes in culture, trafficking of desmoplakin to the membrane was shown to be significantly hindered (Dhitavat et al., 2003b). Defective addressing to the desmosomal plaque of this key molecule which links the cytoskeleton to the desmosomal complexes, could contribute to impair cell-to-cell adhesion in the epidermis in DD. Inappropriate Ca²⁺ concentrations in the lumen could cause dysfunction of calcium dependent chaperone molecules leading to impair folding, assembly and/or trafficking of proteins. Whether this effect preferentially affects proteins playing a key role in cell-to-cell adhesion and/or differentiation, or is a general consequence on protein processing remains to be determined. Finally, since Ca²⁺ plays a key role in the transcriptional regulation of a wide range of genes which are essential for epidermal cell-to-cell adhesion and terminal differentiation, it is also possible that abnormal Ca^{2+} signaling have a profound impact on the transcription of these genes.

The role of triggering factors The observation that exposure to UV B irradiation, heat and infection trigger the disease, illustrate the role of external factors unmasking the basic defect in DD. In the absence of stress, SERCA2 deficiency could be compensated by increased expression of the normal allele and/or other regulatory systems. Triggering factors would disrupt this subtle balance by downregulating ATP2A2 or increasing requirement of SERCA2 to maintain a unique Ca^{2+} content in the lumen. Because only one copy of ATP2A2 is functional, reduction of SERCA2 levels would be excessive, or compensation would not reach adequate levels. Consistent with this possibility, ultraviolet B irradiation and proinflammatory cytokines have been shown to down-regulate ATP2A2, as well as ATP2C1, mRNA expression (Mayuzumi *et al.*, 2005). Reduced levels of SERCA2 would impair Ca^{2+} signaling.

2.2.4. Course

The skin lesions generally appear between early childhood and the age of 20 years. The condition runs a chronic relapsing course, with exacerbations throughout life. Some patients will have a relatively mild disease, while others will develop a more severe form, sometimes within the same family. In particular, the skin lesions are exacerbated by exposure to sunlight or artificial 'UV B radiation, heat, sweating, friction and infections. Patients with Darier's disease appear to have an increased susceptibility to herpes simplex and chronic pyogenic. infections. The occurrence of spinous cell carcinoma has been rarely reported.

2.2.5. Associated manifestations

Behavior and learning difficulties have been observed in patients with DD, but they may be, at least in part, secondary to the social handicap caused by the disease. Neuro-psychiatric abnormalities have also been reported in families with Darier's disease (Craddock *et al.*, 1994). These include epilepsy, mild mental retardation, bipolar disease and schizophrenia. Familial cosegregation of DD and bipolar disorder has been reported in several families and strongly supports the existence of a bipolar disorder susceptibility gene in the DD region (Jones *et al.*, 2002). However, *ATP2A2* has been excluded as a common susceptibility gene for bipolar disease (Jacobsen *et al.*, 2001). These observations, together with SERCA2b expression in the brain (Baba-Aissa *et al.*, 1998) and the importance of calcium signaling in neurons, raise the question of occurrence of independent skin and neuro-psychiatric conditions, or expression of the same genetic defect affecting skin and brain (Jacobsen *et al.*, 1999).

2.2.6. Clinical forms

Erosive or bullous forms, others with malodorous, vegetating lesions in the flexures have been reported. More rarely, cornifying forms of the legs (Katta *et al.*, 2000), comedon-like (Hallermann and Bertsch, 2004) and haemorrhagic macules on palms and soles have been described (Foresman *et al.*, 1993). Two particular forms of the disease should be distinguished: **segmental and acral Darier disease**.

- a. Segmental Darier disease, or Acantholytic dyskeratotic epidermal naevi (ADEN), or linear, zosteriform Darier's disease present as localized and unilateral keratotic papules which follow Blaschko's lines (Figure 4c). (Munro and Cox, 1992; Reese *et al.*, 2005). Molecular analysis of these patients has shown that they correspond to mosaic forms of Darier's disease, carrying a postzygotic ATP2A2 mutation in affected areas only (Sakuntabhai *et al.*, 2000; Wada *et al.*, 2003). There has been no report of patients with segmental Darier's disease having a child with generalised Darier's disease, and the risk of transmission of a generalised form remains unknown.
- b. Acral forms are difficult to distinguish from Acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf, which could be considered as a clinical variant of Darier's disease, since both diseases are due to ATP2A2 mutations (see below)(Dhitavat *et al.*, 2003d; Niedleman and Mc, 1962).

Acrokeratosis veruciformis of Hopf (AKV)(MIM 101900) was originally described by Hopf in 1931 (Hopf, 1931). AKV is inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion. The onset is early in life, often since birth or later in infancy.

The disease affects distal extremities and usually presents with multiple, small flattopped papules predominantly on the dorsum of the hands and feet (Rallis *et al.*, 2005; Schueller, 1972). Punctate keratoses and pits on the palms and soles can be present. Nails can be involved. The rest of the skin is clear, with no involvement of seborrhoeic areas. Lesions tend to persist throughout life, increase in number slowly and become more prominent after sun exposure. Transformation to squamous cell carcinoma has been reported in two cases (Dogliotti and Schmaman, 1971; Panja, 1977; Wang *et al.*, 2006).

The histopathology of skin lesions shows hyperkeratosis, hypergranulosis and acanthosis with "church spikes" circumscribed elevations of the epidermis. There is no features of dyskeratosis or acantholysis, which are classical lesions of DD.

A possible relationship with Darier's disease has long been postulated. Although initially viewed as distinct entities, AKV and DD, especially in its acral form, have been considered as related disorders by several authors, even by Hopf and Darier themselves (Panja, 1977). In support of AKV being part of the DD spectrum is the description of the co-occurrence of AKV and DD in the same patient (Hafner and Vakilzadeh, 1997; Piskin *et al.*, 2004) or in affected members of the same family (Herndon and Wilson, 1966). In addition, it is notable that 50% of DD patients have acral warty papules and that patients with histological changes of AKV have been reported to develop typical histological features of DD (Penrod *et al.*, 1960; Waisman, 1960).

The recent identification of a heterogeneous Pro602Leu mutation in the ATP2A2 gene in a large British pedigree with AKV shows that both diseases can be due to defects in the same gene (i.e. are allelic disorders) (Dhitavat *et al.*, 2003d). This mutation is located in the ATP-binding domain of SERCA2 and has not been reported in patients with classical DD. Functional analysis showed that it abolishes Ca^{2+} transport. The mechanism by which this specific missense ATP2A2 mutation gives rise to AKV, and not classical DD, is not understood. It is possible that the variable expression may be determined by the nature and location of the mutation, but it is also likely that modifying genes could play a role in the phenotypic expression of AKV and DD.

In a recent study, no evidence for the implication of ATP2A2 could be found in a large Chinese family, raising the possibility of genetic heterogeneity in AKV (Wang *et al.*, 2006). It is thus possible that AKV and acral DD represent distinct entities caused by mutations in the same or another gene in other families (Wang *et al.*, 2006). Further identification of specific ATP2A2 mutations in AKV could help addressing this issue.

2.2.7. Why does Darier disease affect skin only?

It is not clear why clinical symptoms of DD are restricted to the epidermis and predominate to certain areas of the skin. A possible explanation could be that non-cutaneous tissues have compensatory mechanisms that are missing in the skin. SERCA1 expression is limited to fast-twitch muscles, but SERCA3 appears to be co-expressed with SERCA2b in a majority of tissues except the epidermis (Tavadia *et al.*, 2004). Thus, SERCA3 might provide some redundancy in noncutaneous tissues. Another explanation could be that the requirement of epidermal cells in SERCA2 pumps is more important than in other tissues, and that half the normal quantity of SERCA2 pumps is insufficient to achieve correct function in the epidermis (tissue-specific gene dosage effect), whereas it is sufficient in other tissues. This could also explain why the disease is exacerbated by external factors such as heat, UV exposure, friction and infection. Dysfunction of the SERCA2 pump would be compensated by other mechanisms at the basal state, but exposure to stress would require an increase in SERCA2 activity to a level that the cells cannot achieve, owing to the loss of function of one copy of the gene. This would disrupt a subtle balance and lead to clinical symptoms of the disease. The late onset of the disease (after puberty) suggests age-dependent and possibly hormoneinduced changes in the regulation of calcium homeostasis and consequently different SERCA2 requirements between adult and child skin.

2.2.8. Darier patients show no heart deficiency

As indicated above, the vast majority of Darier patients carry a mutation in the region of the ATP2A2 gene which is common to both SERCA2a and SERCA2b isoforms. However, there was no report in the literature of increased heart disease in Darier patients. Therefore, detailed cardiac investigation was performed in two independent cohorts of patients with Darier disease. Both studies showed that heterozygous disruption of SERCA2 a and b isoforms was not associated with impaired cardiac performance in DD patients (Mayosi *et al.*, 2006; Tavadia *et al.*, 2001).

2.2.9. Treatment

Patients with mild Darier disease will benefit from advice about sun protection and avoidance of heat. When skin lesions are limited, emollients containing urea or lactic acid, or topical applications of tretinoïn, isotretinoin or tazarotene can reduce crusting. Antiseptics (topical or in bath), antibiotics and anti-fungus are helpful to prevent or treat pyogenic and fungal infection. Herpes infection are suspected when lesions are painful and exacerbated, which requires antiviral treatment with acyclovir. For those with more severe disease, oral retinoids such as acitretine (Soriatane) is the most effective treatment. Their efficiency lasts only as long as the treatment is continued. The initial dose is usually 0.5 mg/kg/day for 1 to 2 months if if well tolerated. Possible side-effects must be monitored carefully and oral contraception is mandatory in females, 1 month before, during and 2 years after treatment. After initial clearing of the lesions, the dose is reduced progressively and stopped (in winter) or maintained as low as possible to avoid relapse (Cooper and Burge, 2003). Recently, topical Tacrolimus, a calcineurin inhibitor, has been successfully used to treat extensive DD (Rubegni et al., 2006). The disease can cause considerable social handicap and can require a specific psychological support by a medical psychologist. Genetic counselling should be offered, although prenatal diagnosis of the disease should be restricted to extremely disabling forms.

2.2.10. Mouse models for SERCA2 dysfunction

2.2.10.1. Serca2^{-/-}mice To gain a better understanding of the physiological functions of SERCA2 in vivo, Gary Shull's group developed knockout mice by deleting the promoter and first two coding exons of Serca2. Homozygous mutants were not observed, consistent with the idea that Serca2b serves an essential house-keeping function. Serca2 heterozygous mutants appeared healthy but showed reduced cardiac muscle contractility and relaxation. With age, heterozygous mutant mice did not develop Darier-like lesions but unexpectedly, a very high frequency of squamous cell carcinomas (Liu *et al.*, 2001; Periasamy *et al.*, 1999; Prasad *et al.*, 2005; Prasad *et al.*, 2004; Shull *et al.*, 2003). These tumors resulted from haploinsufficiency rather than loss of heterozygosity. Patients with Darier disease do not show a predisposition to cancer, although some squamous cell carcinoma have been reported in a limited number of patients. These results revealed significant species differences in susceptibility to the disease and disclosed a new mode of cancer susceptibility.

2.2.10.2. Serca2 $a^{-/-}$ mice To investigate the effect of selective loss of expression of Serca2a isoform, homozygous mutants expressing only Serca2b were developed by Frank Wuytack's group by disrupting the splicing mechanism generating the SERCA2a isoform (Ver Heyen *et al.*, 2001). Homozygous mice mutants expressing only SERCA2b were obtained with some embryolethality due to cardiac malformations. The homozygous mutants survived to adulthood and, in contrast to heterozygous mutant for SERCA2 a and b isoforms, adult mice expressing only SERCA2b developed a compensatory concentric cardiac hypertrophy (Ver Heyen *et al.*, 2001). This result showed that Serca2b could only in part compensate for SERC2a deficiency in the heart (Liu *et al.*, 2001; Periasamy *et al.*, 1999; Prasad *et al.*, 2005; Prasad *et al.*, 2004; Shull *et al.*, 2003).

2.3. SERCA2a in Heart Failure

Extensive studies in animal models and in human have reported decreased SR Ca²⁺ transport and SR Ca²⁺ content in heart failure, due to SERCA2a mRNA and protein diminution. Despite considerable heterogeneity in the expression level of SERCA in failing hearts, it is thought that altered Ca²⁺ transport plays a role in the mechanism of heart failure. However, the observation that heterozygous disruption of SERCA2 (a and b isoforms) is not associated with the impairment of cardiac performance in patients with Darier disease suggests that decreased SERCA2a levels in heart failure may not be a critical causal pathway in humans (Mayosi *et al.*, 2006; Tavadia *et al.*, 2001).

2.4. SERCA3 and Diabetes in Human and in Mice Model

The expression of SERCA3 in pancreatic beta-cells (Arredouani *et al.*, 2002), the association of sequence variants of ATP2A3 with Type II diabetes (Varadi *et al.*, 1999)
and the description of impaired Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in diabetic rats model (Levy et al., 1998) have suggested that SERCA 3 could be implicated in Ca²⁺ dysregulation that accompanies diabetes. To gain insight into Serca3 role in Ca²⁺ signaling, Gary Shull's group has generated Serca3 null mice (Liu et al., 1997). Serca3 null mutants were normal, suggesting that Serca3 plays a non dispensable role in mice. These mice displayed a smooth muscle relaxation defect in vitro, but with no disease phenotype. Blood pressure and cardiovascular performance which were impaired in Serca2 heterozygote mice, were normal. Despite some alterations in Ca²⁺ signaling, Serca3 null mice did not develop diabetes, were normoglycemic and have normal insulinemia, demonstrating that in this model, Serca3 was not essential for glucose homeostasis. However, this result does not exclude the possibility that in another background, reduction of SERCA3 activity could contribute to impaired glucose homeostasis and the development of diabetes. In addition, SERCA3 inhibition by antisense oligonucleotide does not deplete ER Ca^{2+} stores, in contrast to SERCA2b inhibition. These data suggest that the role of SERCA3 in pancreatic beta-cells may be different from the other SERCA pumps, and may be involved in buffering at Ca^{2+} peak levels (Martin *et al.*, 2002; Shull *et al.*, 2003).

3. CONCLUSION

These unique phenotypes have provided invaluable information on the role of these pumps in specific tissues and species, and have improved our understanding of Ca^{2+} regulated processes in muscles, the heart and the skin in human and in mice. Although the understanding of the pathogenesis of these diseases is still incomplete, these recent advances hold the promise of improved knowledge on the disease processes and the identification of new targets for therapeutic interventions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Laetitia Lacaze-Buzy is acknowledged for her help in the preparation of the figures.

REFERENCES

- Ahn, W., Lee, M. G., Kim, K. H., and Muallem, S., 2003, Multiple effects of SERCA2b mutations associated with Darier's disease. *J Biol Chem*, 278: 20795–801.
- Arredouani, A., Guiot, Y., Jonas, J. C., Liu, L. H., Nenquin, M., Pertusa, J. A., Rahier, J., Rolland, J. F., Shull, G. E., Stevens, M., Wuytack, F., Henquin, J. C., and Gilon, P., 2002, SERCA3 ablation does not impair insulin secretion but suggests distinct roles of different sarcoendoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+) pumps for Ca(2+) homeostasis in pancreatic beta-cells. *Diabetes*, 51: 3245–53.
- Asahi, M., Sugita, Y., Kurzydlowski, K., De Leon, S., Tada, M., Toyoshima, C., and MacLennan, D. H., 2003, Sarcolipin regulates sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) by binding to transmembrane helices alone or in association with phospholamban. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100: 5040–5.
- Baba-Aissa, F., Raeymaekers, L., Wuytack, F., Dode, L., and Casteels, R., 1998, Distribution and isoform diversity of the organellar Ca²⁺ pumps in the brain. *Mol Chem Neuropathol*, 33: 199–208.

- Benders, A. A., Veerkamp, J. H., Oosterhof, A., Jongen, P. J., Bindels, R. J., Smit, L. M., Busch, H. F., and Wevers, R. A., 1994, Ca²⁺ homeostasis in Brody's disease. A study in skeletal muscle and cultured muscle cells and the effects of dantrolene an verapamil. *J Clin Invest*, 94: 741–8.
- Berridge, M. J., 2002, The endoplasmic reticulum: a multifunctional signaling organelle. *Cell Calcium*, 32: 235–49.
- Bobe, R., Bredoux, R., Corvazier, E., Andersen, J. P., Clausen, J. D., Dode, L., Kovacs, T., and Enouf, J., 2004, Identification, expression, function, and localization of a novel (sixth) isoform of the human sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase 3 gene. *J Biol Chem*, 279: 24297–306.
- Brandl, C. J., Green, N. M., Korczak, B., and MacLennan, D. H., 1986, Two Ca²⁺ ATPase genes: homologies and mechanistic implications of deduced amino acid sequences. *Cell*, 44: 597–607.
- Brini, M., and Carafoli, E., 2000, Calcium signalling: a historical account, recent developments and future perspectives. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 57: 354–70.
- Brody, I. A., 1969, Muscle contracture induced by exercise. A syndrome attributable to decreased relaxing factor. N Engl J Med, 281: 187–92.
- Callen, D. F., Baker, E., Lane, S., Nancarrow, J., Thompson, A., Whitmore, S. A., MacLennan, D. H., Berger, R., Cherif, D., Jarvela, I., and et al., 1991, Regional mapping of the Batten disease locus (CLN3) to human chromosome 16p12. *Am J Hum Genet*, 49: 1372–7.
- Carafoli, E., and Brini, M., 2000, Calcium pumps: structural basis for and mechanism of calcium transmembrane transport. *Curr Opin Chem Biol*, 4: 152–61.
- Carafoli, E., Santella, L., Branca, D., and Brini, M., 2001, Generation, control, and processing of cellular calcium signals. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol*, 36: 107–260.
- Cooper, S. M., and Burge, S. M., 2003, Darier's disease: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. Am J Clin Dermatol, 4: 97–105.
- Craddock, N., Burge, S., Parfitt, L., and Owen, M., 1993, Linkage is excluded between Darier's disease and the Duffy blood group locus in five British families. *Ann Genet*, 36: 211–3.
- Craddock, N., Owen, M., Burge, S., Kurian, B., Thomas, P., and McGuffin, P., 1994, Familial cosegregation of major affective disorder and Darier's disease (keratosis follicularis). *Br J Psychiatry*, 164: 355–8.
- Dally, S., Bredoux, R., Corvazier, E., Andersen, J. P., Clausen, J. D., Dode, L., Fanchaouy, M., Gelebart, P., Monceau, V., Del Monte, F., Gwathmey, J. K., Hajjar, R., Chaabane, C., Bobe, R., Raies, A., and Enouf, J., 2006, Ca²⁺-ATPases in non-failing and failing heart: evidence for a novel cardiac sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase 2 isoform (SERCA2c). *Biochem J*, 395: 249–58.
- Dhitavat, J., Cobbold, C., Leslie, N., Burge, S., and Hovnanian, 2003a A. Impaired trafficking of the desmoplakins in cultured Darier's disease keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol, 121: 1349–55.
- Dhitavat, J., Dode, L., Leslie, N., Sakuntabhai, A., Lorette, G., and Hovnanian, A., 2003b, Mutations in the sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase isoform cause Darier's disease. J Invest Dermatol, 121: 486–9.
- Dhitavat, J., Macfarlane, S., Dode, L., Leslie, N., Sakuntabhai, A., MacSween, R., Saihan, E., and Hovnanian, A., 2003c, Acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf is caused by mutation in ATP2A2: evidence that it is allelic to Darier's disease. *J Invest Dermatol*, 120: 229–32.
- Dode, L., Andersen, J. P., Leslie, N., Dhitavat, J., Vilsen, B., and Hovnanian, A., 2003, Dissection of the functional differences between sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) 1 and 2 isoforms and characterization of Darier disease (SERCA2) mutants by steady-state and transient kinetic analyses. J Biol Chem, 278: 47877–89.
- Dode, L., De Greef, C., Mountian, I., Attard, M., Town, M. M., Casteels, R., and Wuytack, F., 1998, Structure of the human sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase 3 gene. Promoter analysis and alternative splicing of the SERCA3 pre-mRNA. J Biol Chem, 273: 13982–94.
- Dode, L., Vilsen, B., Van Baelen, K., Wuytack, F., Clausen, J. D., and Andersen, J. P., 2002, Dissection of the functional differences between sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) 1 and 3 isoforms by steady-state and transient kinetic analyses. *J Biol Chem*, 277: 45579–91.
- Dogliotti, M., and Schmaman, A., 1971, Acrokeratosis verruciformis: malignant transformation. *Dermatologica*, 143: 95–9.

- Ellgaard, L., and Helenius, A., 2003, Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 4: 181–91.
- Foggia, L., Aronchik, I., Aberg, K., Brown, B., Hovnanian, A., and Mauro, T. M., 2006, Activity of the hSPCA1 Golgi Ca²⁺ pump is essential for Ca²⁺-mediated Ca²⁺ response and cell viability in Darier disease. J Cell Sci, 119: 671–9.
- Foggia, L., and Hovnanian, A., 2004, Calcium pump disorders of the skin. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet, 131C: 20–31.
- Foresman, P. L., Goldsmith, L. A., Ginn, L., and Beck, A. L., 1993, Hemorrhagic Darier's disease. Arch Dermatol, 129: 511–2.
- Frezzini, C., Cedro, M., Leao, J. C., and Porter, S., 2006, Darier disease affecting the gingival and oral mucosal surfaces. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod, 102: e29–33.
- Gelebart, P., Martin, V., Enouf, J., and Papp, B., 2003, Identification of a new SERCA2 splice variant regulated during monocytic differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 303: 676–84.
- Godic, A., Glavac, D., Korosec, B., Miljkovic, J., Potocnik, M., and Kansky, A., 2004, P160L mutation in the Ca(2+) ATPase 2A domain in a patient with severe Darier disease. *Dermatology*, 209: 142–4.
- Godic, A., Miljkovic, J., Kansky, A., and Vidmar, G., 2005, Epidemiology of Darier's Disease in Slovenia. *Acta Dermatovenerol Alp Panonica Adriat*, 14: 43–8.
- Gommans, I. M., Vlak, M. H., de Haan, A., and van Engelen, B. G., 2002, Calcium regulation and muscle disease. J Muscle Res Cell Motil, 23: 59–63.
- Green, K. J., and Gaudry, C. A., 2000, Are desmosomes more than tethers for intermediate filaments? *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 1: 208–16.
- Hafner, O., and Vakilzadeh, F., 1997, [Acrokeratosis verruciformis-like changes in Darier disease]. *Hautarzt*, 48: 572–6.
- Hakuno, M., Shimizu, H., Akiyama, M., Amagai, M., Wahl, J. K., Wheelock, M. J., and Nishikawa, T., 2000, Dissociation of intra- and extracellular domains of desmosomal cadherins and E-cadherin in Hailey-Hailey disease and Darier's disease. *Br J Dermatol*, 142: 702–11.
- Hallermann, C., and Bertsch, H. P., 2004, Two sisters with familial dyskeratotic comedones. Eur J Dermatol, 14: 214–5.
- Hellstern, S., Pegoraro, S., Karim, C. B., Lustig, A., Thomas, D. D., Moroder, L., and Engel, J., 2001, Sarcolipin, the shorter homologue of phospholamban, forms oligomeric structures in detergent micelles and in liposomes. *J Biol Chem*, 276: 30845–52.
- Herndon, J., and Wilson, J., 1966, Acrokeratosis verruciformis (Hopf) and Darier's disease , genetic evidence for a unitary origin. *Arch Derm*, 93: 305–310.
- Hopf, G., 1931, Uber eine bisher nicht beschriebene disseminierte Keratose (Acreokeratosis verruciformis). Dermatol Z, 60: 227–250.
- Hovnanian, A., 2004, Darier's disease: from dyskeratosis to endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase deficiency. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 322: 1237–44.
- Hu, Z., Bonifas, J. M., Beech, J., Bench, G., Shigihara, T., Ogawa, H., Ikeda, S., Mauro, T., and Epstein, E. H., Jr., 2000, Mutations in ATP2C1, encoding a calcium pump, cause Hailey-Hailey disease. *Nat Genet*, 24: 61–5.
- Ikeda, S., Mayuzumi, N., Shigihara, T., Epstein, E. H., Jr., Goldsmith, L. A., and Ogawa, H., 2003, Mutations in ATP2A2 in patients with Darier's disease. J Invest Dermatol, 121: 475–7.
- Ikeda, S., Shigihara, T., Mayuzumi, N., Yu, X., and Ogawa, H., 2001, Mutations of ATP2C1 in Japanese patients with Hailey-Hailey disease: intrafamilial and interfamilial phenotype variations and lack of correlation with mutation patterns. J Invest Dermatol, 117: 1654–6.
- Jacobsen, N. J., Franks, E. K., Elvidge, G., Jones, I., McCandless, F., O'Donovan, M. C., Owen, M. J., and Craddock, N., 2001, Exclusion of the Darier's disease gene, ATP2A2, as a common susceptibility gene for bipolar disorder. *Mol Psychiatry*, 6: 92–7.
- Jacobsen, N. J., Lyons, I., Hoogendoorn, B., Burge, S., Kwok, P. Y., O'Donovan, M. C., Craddock, N., and Owen, M. J., 1999, ATP2A2 mutations in Darier's disease and their relationship to neuropsychiatric phenotypes. *Hum Mol Genet*, 8: 1631–6.
- John, L. M., Lechleiter, J. D., and Camacho, P., 1998, Differential modulation of SERCA2 isoforms by calreticulin. J Cell Biol, 142: 963–73.

- Jones, I., Jacobsen, N., Green, E. K., Elvidge, G. P., Owen, M. J., and Craddock, N., 2002, Evidence for familial cosegregation of major affective disorder and genetic markers flanking the gene for Darier's disease. *Mol Psychiatry*, 7: 424–7.
- Karpati, G., Charuk, J., Carpenter, S., Jablecki, C., and Holland, P., 1986, Myopathy caused by a deficiency of Ca²⁺-adenosine triphosphatase in sarcoplasmic reticulum (Brody's disease). Ann Neurol, 20: 38–49.

Katta, R., Reed, J., and Wolf, J. E., 2000, Cornifying Darier's disease. Int J Dermatol, 39: 844-5.

- Kiewitz, R., Acklin, C., Schafer, B. W., Maco, B., Uhrik, B., Wuytack, F., Erne, P., and Heizmann, C. W., 2003, Ca²⁺-dependent interaction of S100A1 with the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase2a and phospholamban in the human heart. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 306: 550–7.
- Kitajima, Y., 2002, Mechanisms of desmosome assembly and disassembly. *Clin Exp Dermatol*, 27: 684–90.
- Kuhlbrandt, W., 2004, Biology, structure and mechanism of P-type ATPases. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 5: 282–95.
- Leinonen, P. T., Myllyla, R. M., Hagg, P. M., Tuukkanen, J., Koivunen, J., Peltonen, S., Oikarinen, A., Korkiamaki, T., and Peltonen, J., 2005, Keratinocytes cultured from patients with Hailey-Hailey disease and Darier disease display distinct patterns of calcium regulation. *Br J Dermatol*, 153: 113–7.
- Levy, J., Zhu, Z., and Dunbar, J. C., 1998, The effect of glucose and calcium on Ca²⁺-adenosine triphosphatase in pancreatic islets isolated from a normal and a non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus rat model. *Metabolism*, 47: 185–9.
- Li, Y., and Camacho, P., 2004, Ca²⁺-dependent redox modulation of SERCA 2b by ERp57. *J Cell Biol*, 164: 35–46.
- Liu, L. H., Boivin, G. P., Prasad, V., Periasamy, M., and Shull, G. E., 2001, Squamous cell tumors in mice heterozygous for a null allele of Atp2a2, encoding the sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 2 Ca²⁺ pump. *J Biol Chem*, 276: 26737–40.
- Liu, L. H., Paul, R. J., Sutliff, R. L., Miller, M. L., Lorenz, J. N., Pun, R. Y., Duffy, J. J., Doetschman, T., Kimura, Y., MacLennan, D. H., Hoying, J. B., and Shull, G. E., 1997, Defective endothelium-dependent relaxation of vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cell Ca²⁺ signaling in mice lacking sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 3. *J Biol Chem*, 272: 30538–45.
- Lytton, J., Westlin, M., and Hanley, M. R., 1991, Thapsigargin inhibits the sarcoplasmic or endoplasmic reticulum Ca-ATPase family of calcium pumps. *J Biol Chem*, 266: 17067–71.
- Mackenzie, L., Roderick, H. L., Berridge, M. J., Conway, S. J., and Bootman, M. D., 2004, The spatial pattern of atrial cardiomyocyte calcium signalling modulates contraction. *J Cell Sci*, 117: 6327–37.
- MacLennan, D. H., 2000, Ca²⁺ signalling and muscle disease. Eur J Biochem, 267: 5291-7.
- MacLennan, D. H., Abu-Abed, M., and Kang, C., 2002, Structure-function relationships in Ca(2+) cycling proteins. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 34: 897–918.
- MacLennan, D. H., Asahi, M., and Tupling, A. R., 2003, The regulation of SERCA-type pumps by phospholamban and sarcolipin. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 986: 472–80.
- MacLennan, D. H., and Kranias, E. G., 2003, Phospholamban: a crucial regulator of cardiac contractility. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 4: 566–77.
- MacLennan, D. H., Toyofuku, T., and Kimura, Y., 1997, Sites of regulatory interaction between calcium ATPases and phospholamban. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 92 Suppl 1: 11–5.
- Martin, V., Bredoux, R., Corvazier, E., Van Gorp, R., Kovacs, T., Gelebart, P., and Enouf, J., 2002, Three novel sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) 3 isoforms. Expression, regulation, and function of the membranes of the SERCA3 family. *J Biol Chem*, 277: 24442–52.
- Mayosi, B. M., Kardos, A., Davies, C. H., Gumedze, F., Hovnanian, A., Burge, S., and Watkins, H., 2006, Heterozygous disruption of SERCA2a is not associated with impairment of cardiac performance in humans: implications for SERCA2a as a therapeutic target in heart failure. *Heart*, 92: 105–9.
- Mayuzumi, N., Ikeda, S., Kawada, H., and Ogawa, H., 2005, Effects of drugs and anticytokine antibodies on expression of ATP2A2 and ATP2C1 in cultured normal human keratinocytes. *Br J Dermatol*, 152: 920–4.
- Michalak, M., Robert Parker, J. M., and Opas, M., 2002, Ca²⁺ signaling and calcium binding chaperones of the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell Calcium*, 32: 269–78.

- Missiaen, L., Robberecht, W., van den Bosch, L., Callewaert, G., Parys, J. B., Wuytack, F., Raeymaekers, L., Nilius, B., Eggermont, J., and De Smedt, H., 2000, Abnormal intracellular Ca(2+)homeostasis and disease. *Cell Calcium*, 28: 1–21.
- Miyauchi, Y., Daiho, T., Yamasaki, K., Takahashi, H., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Danko, S., Suzuki, H., and Iizuka, H., 2006, Comprehensive analysis of expression and function of 51 sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase mutants associated with Darier disease. *J Biol Chem*, 281: 22882–95.
- Munro, C. S., and Cox, N. H., 1992, An acantholytic dyskeratotic epidermal naevus with other features of Darier's disease on the same side of the body. *Br J Dermatol*, 127: 168–71.
- Niedleman, M. L., and Mc, K. V., 1962, Acrokeratosis verruciformis (Hopf). A follow-up study. Arch Dermatol, 86: 779–82.
- Odermatt, A., Barton, K., Khanna, V. K., Mathieu, J., Escolar, D., Kuntzer, T., Karpati, G., and MacLennan, D. H., 2000, The mutation of Pro789 to Leu reduces the activity of the fast-twitch skeletal muscle sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase (SERCA1) and is associated with Brody disease. *Hum Genet*, 106: 482–91.
- Odermatt, A., Taschner, P. E., Khanna, V. K., Busch, H. F., Karpati, G., Jablecki, C. K., Breuning, M. H., and MacLennan, D. H., 1996, Mutations in the gene-encoding SERCA1, the fast-twitch skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase, are associated with Brody disease. *Nat Genet*, 14: 191–4.
- Odermatt, A., Taschner, P. E., Scherer, S. W., Beatty, B., Khanna, V. K., Cornblath, D. R., Chaudhry, V., Yee, W. C., Schrank, B., Karpati, G., Breuning, M. H., Knoers, N., and MacLennan, D. H., 1997, Characterization of the gene encoding human sarcolipin (SLN), a proteolipid associated with SERCA1: absence of structural mutations in five patients with Brody disease. *Genomics*, 45: 541–53.
- Onozuka, T., Sawamura, D., Yokota, K., and Shimizu, H., 2004, Mutational analysis of the ATP2A2 gene in two Darier disease families with intrafamilial variability. *Br J Dermatol*, 150: 652–7.
- Pan, Y., Zvaritch, E., Tupling, A. R., Rice, W. J., de Leon, S., Rudnicki, M., McKerlie, C., Banwell, B. L., and MacLennan, D. H., 2003, Targeted disruption of the ATP2A1 gene encoding the sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase isoform 1 (SERCA1) impairs diaphragm function and is lethal in neonatal mice. *J Biol Chem*, 278: 13367–75.
- Pani, B., Cornatzer, E., Cornatzer, W., Shin, D. M., Pittelkow, M. R., Hovnanian, A., Ambudkar, I. S., and Singh, B. B., 2006, Up-regulation of transient receptor potential canonical 1 (TRPC1) following sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase 2 gene silencing promotes cell survival: a potential role for TRPC1 in Darier's disease. *Mol Biol Cell*, 17: 4446–58.
- Panja, R. K., 1977, Acrokeratosis verruciformis: (Hopf)-A clinical entity? Br J Dermatol, 96: 643-52.
- Parekh, A. B., and Putney, J. W., Jr., 2005, Store-operated calcium channels. Physiol Rev, 85: 757-810.
- Penrod, J. N., Everett, M. A., and Mc, C. W., 1960, Observations on keratosis follicularis. Arch Dermatol, 82: 367–70.
- Periasamy, M., and Kalyanasundaram, A., 2007, SERCA pump isoforms: Their role in calcium transport and disease. *Muscle Nerve*.
- Periasamy, M., Reed, T. D., Liu, L. H., Ji, Y., Loukianov, E., Paul, R. J., Nieman, M. L., Riddle, T., Duffy, J. J., Doetschman, T., Lorenz, J. N., and Shull, G. E., 1999, Impaired cardiac performance in heterozygous mice with a null mutation in the sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 2 (SERCA2) gene. J Biol Chem, 274: 2556–62.
- Piskin, S., Saygin, A., Doganay, L., Kircuval, D., and Gurkan, E., 2004, Coexistence of Darier's disease and acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf. *Yonsei Med J*, 45: 956–9.
- Prakriya, M., Feske, S., Gwack, Y., Srikanth, S., Rao, A., and Hogan, P. G., 2006, Orail is an essential pore subunit of the CRAC channel. *Nature*, 443: 230–3.
- Prasad, V., Boivin, G. P., Miller, M. L., Liu, L. H., Erwin, C. R., Warner, B. W., and Shull, G. E., 2005, Haploinsufficiency of Atp2a2, encoding the sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 2 Ca²⁺ pump, predisposes mice to squamous cell tumors via a novel mode of cancer susceptibility. *Cancer Res*, 65: 8655–61.

- Prasad, V., Okunade, G. W., Miller, M. L., and Shull, G. E., 2004, Phenotypes of SERCA and PMCA knockout mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 322: 1192–203.
- Racz, E., Csikos, M., Benko, R., Kornsee, Z., and Karpati, S., 2005, Three novel mutations in the ATP2A2 gene in Hungarian families with Darier's disease, including a novel splice site generating intronic nucleotide change. J Dermatol Sci, 38: 231–4.
- Racz, E., Csikos, M., Kornsee, Z., Horvath, A., and Karpati, S., 2004, Identification of mutations in the ATP2A2 gene in patients with Darier's disease from Hungary. *Exp Dermatol*, 13: 396–9.
- Rallis, E., Economidi, A., Papadakis, P., and Verros, C., 2005, Acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf (Hopf disease): case report and review of the literature. *Dermatol Online J*, 11: 10.
- Reese, D. A., Paul, A. Y., and Davis, B., 2005, Unilateral segmental Darier disease following Blaschko lines: a case report and review of the literature. *Cutis*, 76: 197–200.
- Ren, Y. Q., Gao, M., Liang, Y. H., Hou, Y. X., Wang, P. G., Sun, L. D., Xu, S. X., Li, W., Du, W. H., Zhou, F. S., Shen, Y. J., Yang, S., and Zhang, X. J., 2006, Five mutations of ATP2A2 gene in Chinese patients with Darier's disease and a literature review of 86 cases reported in China. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 298: 58–63.
- Ringpfeil, F., Raus, A., DiGiovanna, J. J., Korge, B., Harth, W., Mazzanti, C., Uitto, J., Bale, S. J., and Richard, G., 2001, Darier disease–novel mutations in ATP2A2 and genotype-phenotype correlation. *Exp Dermatol*, 10: 19–27.
- Roderick, H. L., Lechleiter, J. D., and Camacho, P., 2000, Cytosolic phosphorylation of calnexin controls intracellular Ca(2+) oscillations via an interaction with SERCA2b. *J Cell Biol*, 149: 1235–48.
- Rossi, A. E., and Dirksen, R. T., 2006, Sarcoplasmic reticulum: the dynamic calcium governor of muscle. *Muscle Nerve*, 33: 715–31.
- Rubegni, P., Poggiali, S., Sbano, P., Risulo, M., and Fimiani, M., 2006, A case of Darier's disease successfully treated with topical tacrolimus. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 20: 84–7.
- Ruiz-Perez, V. L., Carter, S. A., Healy, E., Todd, C., Rees, J. L., Steijlen, P. M., Carmichael, A. J., Lewis, H. M., Hohl, D., Itin, P., Vahlquist, A., Gobello, T., Mazzanti, C., Reggazini, R., Nagy, G., Munro, C. S., and Strachan, T., 1999, ATP2A2 mutations in Darier's disease: variant cutaneous phenotypes are associated with missense mutations, but neuropsychiatric features are independent of mutation class. *Hum Mol Genet*, 8: 1621–30.
- Sakuntabhai, A., Burge, S., Monk, S., and Hovnanian, A., 1999a, Spectrum of novel ATP2A2 mutations in patients with Darier's disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 8: 1611–9.
- Sakuntabhai, A., Dhitavat, J., Burge, S., and Hovnanian, A., 2000, Mosaicism for ATP2A2 mutations causes segmental Darier's disease. J Invest Dermatol, 115: 1144–7.
- Sakuntabhai, A., Ruiz-Perez, V., Carter, S., Jacobsen, N., Burge, S., Monk, S., Smith, M., Munro, C. S., O'Donovan, M., Craddock, N., Kucherlapati, R., Rees, J. L., Owen, M., Lathrop, G. M., Monaco, A. P., Strachan, T., and Hovnanian, A., 1999b, Mutations in ATP2A2, encoding a Ca²⁺ pump, cause Darier disease. *Nat Genet*, 21: 271–7.
- Schueller, W. A., 1972, Acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf. Arch Dermatol, 106: 81-3.
- Shull, G. E., Okunade, G., Liu, L. H., Kozel, P., Periasamy, M., Lorenz, J. N., and Prasad, V., 2003, Physiological functions of plasma membrane and intracellular Ca²⁺ pumps revealed by analysis of null mutants. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 986: 453–60.
- Strehler, E. E., and Treiman, M., 2004, Calcium pumps of plasma membrane and cell interior. Curr Mol Med, 4: 323–35.
- Sudbrak, R., Brown, J., Dobson-Stone, C., Carter, S., Ramser, J., White, J., Healy, E., Dissanayake, M., Larregue, M., Perrussel, M., Lehrach, H., Munro, C. S., Strachan, T., Burge, S., Hovnanian, A., and Monaco, A. P., 2000, Hailey-Hailey disease is caused by mutations in ATP2C1 encoding a novel Ca²⁺ pump. *Hum Mol Genet*, 9: 1131–40.
- Sumbilla, C., Cavagna, M., Zhong, L., Ma, H., Lewis, D., Farrance, I., and Inesi, G., 1999, Comparison of SERCA1 and SERCA2a expressed in COS-1 cells and cardiac myocytes. *Am J Physiol*, 277: H2381–91.
- Svendsen, I. B., and Albrecten, B., 1959, The prevalence of dyskeratosis follicularis (Darier's disease) in Danemark. Acta Derm Venereol, 39: 256–69.

- Takahashi, H., Atsuta, Y., Sato, K., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Suzuki, H., and Iizuka, H., 2001, Novel mutations of ATP2A2 gene in Japanese patients of Darier's disease. J Dermatol Sci, 26: 169–72.
- Tavadia, S., Authi, K. S., Hodgins, M. B., and Munro, C. S., 2004, Expression of the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase type 2 and 3 isoforms in normal skin and Darier's disease. *Br J Dermatol*, 151: 440–5.
- Tavadia, S., Mortimer, E., and Munro, C. S., 2002, Genetic epidemiology of Darier's disease: a population study in the west of Scotland. *Br J Dermatol*, 146: 107–9.
- Tavadia, S., Tait, R. C., McDonagh, T. A., and Munro, C. S., 2001, Platelet and cardiac function in Darier's disease. *Clin Exp Dermatol*, 26: 696–9.
- Toyoshima, C., and Inesi, G., 2004, Structural basis of ion pumping by Ca²⁺-ATPase of the sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 73: 269–92.
- Toyoshima, C., Nakasako, M., Nomura, H., and Ogawa, H., 2000, Crystal structure of the calcium pump of sarcoplasmic reticulum at 2.6 A resolution. *Nature*, 405: 647–55.
- Toyoshima, C., Nomura, H., and Sugita, Y., 2003, Crystal structures of Ca²⁺-ATPase in various physiological states. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 986: 1–8.
- Vangheluwe, P., Raeymaekers, L., Dode, L., and Wuytack, F., 2005, Modulating sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca(2+) ATPase 2 (SERCA2) activity: cell biological implications. *Cell Calcium*, 38: 291–302.
- Varadi, A., Lebel, L., Hashim, Y., Mehta, Z., Ashcroft, S. J., and Turner, R., 1999, Sequence variants of the sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-transport ATPase 3 gene (SERCA3) in Caucasian type II diabetic patients (UK Prospective Diabetes Study 48). *Diabetologia*, 42: 1240–3.
- Ver Heyen, M., Heymans, S., Antoons, G., Reed, T., Periasamy, M., Awede, B., Lebacq, J., Vangheluwe, P., Dewerchin, M., Collen, D., Sipido, K., Carmeliet, P., and Wuytack, F., 2001, Replacement of the muscle-specific sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPase isoform SERCA2a by the nonmuscle SERCA2b homologue causes mild concentric hypertrophy and impairs contractionrelaxation of the heart. *Circ Res*, 89: 838–46.
- Verboomen, H., Wuytack, F., De Smedt, H., Himpens, B., and Casteels, R., 1992, Functional difference between SERCA2a and SERCA2b Ca²⁺ pumps and their modulation by phospholamban. *Biochem J*, 286 (Pt 2): 591–5.
- Verboomen, H., Wuytack, F., Van den Bosch, L., Mertens, L., and Casteels, R., 1994, The functional importance of the extreme C-terminal tail in the gene 2 organellar Ca²⁺-transport ATPase (SERCA2a/b). *Biochem J*, 303 (Pt 3): 979–84.
- Wada, T., Shirakata, Y., Takahashi, H., Murakami, S., Iizuka, H., Suzuki, H., and Hashimoto, K., 2003, A Japanese case of segmental Darier's disease caused by mosaicism for the ATP2A2 mutation. *Br J Dermatol*, 149: 185–8.
- Waisman, M., 1960, Verruciform manifestations of keratosis follicularis. Arch. Dermatol., 81: 1-14.
- Wang, P. G., Gao, M., Lin, G. S., Yang, S., Lin, D., Liang, Y. H., Zhang, G. L., Zhu, Y. G., Cui, Y., Zhang, K. Y., Huang, W., and Zhang, X. J., 2006, Genetic heterogeneity in acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf. *Clin Exp Dermatol*, 31: 558–63.
- Wilkinson, J. D., 1977, Orf: a family with unusual complications. Br J Dermatol, 97: 447-50.
- Wuytack, F., Dode, L., Baba-Aissa, F., and Raeymaekers, L., 1995, The SERCA3-type of organellar Ca²⁺ pumps. *Biosci Rep*, 15: 299–306.
- Wuytack, F., Raeymaekers, L., and Missiaen, L., 2002, Molecular physiology of the SERCA and SPCA pumps. *Cell Calcium*, 32: 279–305.
- Yang, Y., Li, G., Bu, D., and Zhu, X., 2001, Novel point mutations of the ATP2A2 gene in two Chinese families with Darier disease. J Invest Dermatol, 116: 482–3.
- Zhang, Y., Fujii, J., Phillips, M. S., Chen, H. S., Karpati, G., Yee, W. C., Schrank, B., Cornblath, D. R., Boylan, K. B., and MacLennan, D. H., 1995, Characterization of cDNA and genomic DNA encoding SERCA1, the Ca(2+)-ATPase of human fast-twitch skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum, and its elimination as a candidate gene for Brody disease. *Genomics*, 30: 415–24.

CHAPTER 13

THE PLASMA MEMBRANE CALCIUM ATPase AND DISEASE

B.L TEMPEL AND D.J. SHILLING

The Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, the Department of Pharmacology, and the V.M. Bloedel Hearing Research Center; University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle WA 98195-7923, USA

Abstract: The plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA) uses energy to pump calcium (Ca^{2+}) ions out of the cytosol into the extracellular milieu, usually against a strong chemical gradient. This energy expenditure is necessary to maintain a relatively low intracellular net Ca²⁺ load. Mammals have four genes (ATP2B1-ATP2B4), encoding the proteins PMCA1 through PMCA4. Transcripts from each of these genes are alternatively spliced to generate several variant proteins that are in turn post-translationally modified in a variety of ways. Expressed ubiquitously and with some level of functional redundancy in most vital tissues, only one of the four genes -Atp2b2 – has been causally linked through naturally occuring mutations to disease in mammals: specifically to deafness and ataxia in spontaneous mouse mutants. In humans, a missense amino acid substitution in PMCA2 modifies the severity of hearing loss. Targeted null mutations of the Atp2b1 and Atp2b4 genes in mouse are embryonic lethal and cause a sperm motility defect, respectively. These phenotypes point to complex human diseases like hearing loss, cardiac function and infertility. Changes in PMCA expression are associated with other diseases including cataract formation, carciniogenesis, diabetes, and cardiac hypertension and hypertrophy. Severity of these diseases may be affected by subtle changes in expression of the PMCA isoforms expressed in those tissues

Keywords: calcium, PMCA, *ATP2B*, deafness, hearing, cochlea, vision, retina, sperm motility, embryonic lethality, cardiac, mouse mutants, human disease

1. INTRODUCTION

In this review, we will focus on the diseases caused by genetic mutations of the plasma membrane calcium (Ca²⁺) ATPases (PMCA1 – PMCA4), encoded by distinct genes in mouse (Atp2b1-Atp2b4) and their orthologs (ATP2B1 - ATP2B4) in human. We will also cover diseases that are linked to the PMCA isoforms based on changes in their levels of expression. The reader is referred to several

365

other reviews, each of which address various aspects of PMCA alternative splicing, biochemical regulation, and tissue-specific expression in greater detail (Penniston and Enyedi, 1998; Carafoli, 2002; Lehotsky et al., 2002; Shull et al., 2003; Prasad et al., 2004; Strehler and Treiman, 2004; Guerini et al., 2005; Oceandy et al., 2006; Withers et al., 2006).

2. PMCA STRUCTURE AND ALTERNATIVE RNAS

The amino acid sequences of the PMCA isoforms are highly homologous with each other (Strehler et al., 1991) and highly conserved in critical functional regions with other P-type ATPases (Kuhlbrandt, 2004). The recent crystal structure determination of the sarco-endoplasmic reticular Ca^{2+} ATPase (SERCA) in each of four conformational states provides a model on which to predict the consequences of mutations occuring in PMCA (Toyoshima et al., 2004; Ma et al., 2005; Moller et al., 2005). Critical regions defined by the SERCA structure include the membranespanning helixes (numbered 1–10, Figure 1), which bind two Ca^{2+} ions at residues in transmembrane domains 4, 5, 6, and 8. The cytosolic portion of the pump can be divided into four functional regions. The large cytosolic loop between transmembrane segments 4 and 5 contains the nucleotide binding (N-)domain, which divides the phosphorylation (P-)domain into two parts. The P-domain is the catalytic core of the pump, containing the signature D*KTGTLT amino acid sequence that includes



Figure 1. Schematic drawing of PMCA. Transmembrane regions are numbered 1–10. Domains defined by the SERCA structure are indicated by differential stippling. Within the A-domain alternative splicing occurs; predominant variants are indicated for each isoform (*Z*, *X*, *Y* and *W* indicate 0, 1, 2 and 3 exons included, respectively). Approximate positions of the phosophoryl-aspartate (D*) and the signature lysine (K) of the nucleotide-binding site are shown. In the C-terminal region, the Ca²⁺-calmodulin binding site is boxed. Shorter "a" variants (not shown) at the C splice site have lower Ca²⁺-calmodulin affinity

the phosphorylated aspartate (D*). The N-terminus and cytosolic loop between transmembrane domains 2 and 3 together form the actuator (A-)domain, which contains an invariant TGE sequence motif, important in stabilizing the transfer of the phosphate from ATP to the phosphorylatable aspartate. The pumping cycle is quite dynamic. Intramembranous binding of two Ca²⁺ ions and ATP binding at a conserved lysine (K) in the N-domain start the cycle; hydrolosis and formation of the phosphorylated aspartate is accompanied by swinging and twisting of the A-domain and a tethered piston-like movement of the transmembrane helixes results in transport of the two Ca²⁺ ions to the extracellular milieu in exchange for two hydrogen ions. The C-terminus provides regulatory functions including a Ca²⁺ calmodulin binding site.

Each of the PMCA isoforms undergoes alternative splicing within the protein coding region at two sites (Strehler et al., 1991; Strehler and Zacharias, 2001). The C splice site lies in the C-terminal region and determines the affinity of PMCA for Ca²⁺-calmodulin and the presence or absence of phosphorylation sites. The longer "b" isoform maintains an intact calmodulin binding site, which, in PMCA4, has been shown to have an intramolecular regulatory interaction with the catalytic core region (Padanyi et al., 2003). The regulatory functions of C-site splice variants have been studied biochemically in detail and recently reviewed (Guerini et al., 2005). Importantly, in an intact cell system expressing Ca²⁺ indicator probes. expression of each of the four PMCA isoforms showed that PMCA2 was the most effective isoform at controlling induced Ca²⁺ influx and that PMCA3 was more effective than either of the ubiquitously expressed isoforms, PMCA1 and PMCA4 (Brini et al., 2003). Surprisingly, the shorter C-splice site variants of PMCA3 and PMCA4, with significantly reduced calmodulin affinity, were equally effective at clearing Ca²⁺ as their corresponding longer variants with intact calmodulin binding sites. These results suggest that in intact cells, regulatory signals other than calmodulin binding may be primary in determining functional PMCA activity levels.

Splice site A lies coincidentally within the A-domain and adjacent to a phospholipid-sensitive basic region of PMCA. Studies in MDCK cells transfected with A-splice site variants of PMCA2 showed that inclusion of 3 alternative exons in the "w" form specifically targeted to the apical membrane (Chicka and Strehler, 2003). This work was extended recently to auditory and vestibular hair cell bundles of the rat where endogenously PMCA2w was the primary A-site variant detected, being sufficient to direct stereociliary (i.e. apical) localization in epitope-tagged transfection studies using variants at both A- and C-splice sites (Grati et al., 2006a; Hill et al., 2006). These studies identify PMCA2wa as the primary splice variant of PMCA2 localized to stereocilia, extending other studies that have shown the abundant and specific localization of PMCA2 to stereocilia in various species including human (Dumont et al., 2001; Wood et al., 2004; Grati et al., 2006b; McCullough et al., 2007).

While splicing of the open reading frame results in alteration of protien structure, differential promoter usage at the 5' end of the transcript can critically determine

tissue specific expression levels and may direct downstream splice site usage. Gene structures including transcriptional start sites have been studied in human ATP2B1 and in mouse Atp2b2 (Hilfiker et al., 1993; Silverstein and Tempel, 2006). In ATP2B1, a single 5' untranslated first exon was identified approximately 35 kb upstream from the ATG-containing exon. Similar single first exons are predicted for Atp2b3 and Atp2b4 based on information in the UCSC Genome Database. In contrast, four independent first exons spanning 200 kb were identified at the Atp2b2 locus, each splicing into a common ATG-containing coding exon (Silverstein and Tempel, 2006). Two of the unique first exons were expressed in lactating mammary gland while the other two were abundant throughout the central nervous system as well as the cochlea. Using first exon specific probes, the two neuronal transcripts show differential expression in Purkinje and granule cells of the cerebellum, as well as in microdissected hair cell containing fractions of the cochlea. These results suggest that, in addition to the complex pattern of alternative splicing that occurs within the protein coding regions of each of the PMCA isoforms, additional transcriptional regulation is imposed at the level of unique first exons with independent promoter activities. Both forms of regulation could be affected by genetic changes that may contribute in turn to complex diseases discussed below.

3. PATTERNS OF PMCA EXPRESSION

As reviewed by Strehler and Zacharias (2001), PMCA1 and PMCA4 are expressed widely, being considered the "ubiquitous" isoforms. PMCA2 and PMCA3 have more limited expression, being referred to as the "neuronal" isoforms although PMCA2 is also expressed in heart, kidney, uterus, testis, and lactating mammary gland and PMCA3 is expressed in neonatal skeletal muscle (Strehler and Zacharias, 2001). Developmentally, all four PMCAs are detected in embryonic stem cells; PMCA1 is expressed strongly in various tissues during organogenesis while PMCA2 and 3 become prominent starting at embryonic day 12.5 in mouse (Zacharias and Kappen, 1999). In adult rodent brain, PMCA1 is expressed very broadly, but more strongly in olfactory bulb and hippocampus (Stahl et al., 1992). Expression of PMCA3 is especially strong in cerebellar granule cells and in the choriod plexus (Eakin et al., 1995). PMCA2 is expressed strongly in cerebellar Purkinje cells and granule cells although different promoters predominate in driving PMCA2 expression in these cells (Stahl et al., 1992; Silverstein and Tempel, 2006).

PMCAs are strongly and uniquely expressed in the visual and auditory peripheral nervous systems. All four PMCAs are expressed in the retina, but unique distributions between photoreceptor rods, cones and their respective bipolar cells suggest that specific cell types have unique requirements for calcium regulation. PMCA1 is expressed in photoreceptors, cone bipolar cells and horizontal cells; PMCA2 is expressed in inner segments and synaptic terminals of rod photoreceptors, rod bipolar and most retinal neuron types, but not in cones (Krizaj et al., 2002; Duncan et al., 2006). Given faster, stronger calcium clearance by PMCA2 (Brini et al., 2003), rods and their bipolar cells must need tight calcium regulation relative to

cones. In the auditory system, the expression and localization of PMCA has been studied extensively (Dumont et al., 2001; Wood et al., 2004). PMCA1 is expressed strongly in the stria vascularis and in the basolateral membranes of inner hair cells. Recent, rigorous studies showed that in stereocilia of rat vestibular and cochlear outer hair cells, the primary isoform found was PMCA2wa (3 exons included at the A-site; the short, low-affinity calmodulin splice alternative at the C-site) (Hill et al., 2006). The unique and precisely targeted expression of PMCAs suggests that specific isoforms are important to specific cellular functions. It follows that mutation or removal of a specific isoform may lead to functional loss, and in some instances to disease.

4. DISEASES OF THE UBIQUITOUS ISOFORMS, PMCA1 AND PMCA4

Because PMCA1 and 4 are expressed ubiquitously, they are often co-expressed in the same cell types and their roles in disease are studied in parallel. No spontaneous mutations of either gene have been identified in either mouse or human, so insight into the independent functions of these genes has come primarily from work on targeted null mutations generated in mice.

The phenotypes of Atp2b1 and Atp2b4 null mice have revealed the role that these proteins play in maintaining calcium homeostasis. Okunade et al. disrupted the genes encoding both PMCA1 and PMCA4 proteins by targeted deletion of the exon containing the catalytic phosphorylation site in each (Okunade et al., 2004). In heterozygous null mutants where one copy of either the PMCA1 or the PMCA4 gene product is lost, no overt phenotype was observed, despite the wide spread expression of both PMCA1 and PMCA4 (Greeb and Shull, 1989; Stauffer et al., 1993). However, loss of both copies of the gene encoding PMCA1 caused embryonic lethality. PMCA1 null embryos were observed before implantation, but did not survive the major period of organogenesis, dying before embryonic day 9.5 (Okunade et al., 2004). In contrast to PMCA1, PMCA4 null mice survived, and appeared normal and healthy. However, males were found to be infertile due to loss of sperm motility (Okunade et al., 2004; Schuh et al., 2004). Studies showed that PMCA4 null sperm contains only 10% of the PMCA compared to their wildtype littermates indicating that PMCA4 is the major isoform expressed in sperm. Additionally, calcium imaging revealed impaired calcium handling (Okunade et al., 2004) and immunostaining showed that PMCA4 is primarily located at the midsection of the sperm's tail (called the principal piece), where Ca^{2+} flux is strongest (Okunade et al., 2004; Schuh et al., 2004). Ultrastructure analysis revealed that the only structural differences between wild type and PMCA4 null sperm was an increased percentage of condensed mitochondria, indicative of calcium overload (Okunade et al., 2004).

Besides sperm dysfunction, comparison of PMCA4 null 129/SvJ and Black Swiss mixed background mice revealed a strain specific smooth muscle phenotype, impaired phasic contractions and an apoptotic tendency for portal vein smooth muscles (Okunade et al., 2004). When the PMCA4 null was transferred to a pure Black Swiss background, the phenotype was observed only if the mice were also heterozygous for the PMCA1 null. In summary, these studies on PMCA1 and PMCA4 null mice suggest a critical housekeeping role for PMCA1 during embryogenesis, and the sperm cell specific importance of PMCA4 for male fertility. These data also suggest PMCA4 may provide a target for non-hormonal male contraceptives. Finally, the loss of PMCA4 can lead to calcium overload and activity induced apoptosis in some tissues.

These studies suggest that the ubiquitously expressed forms of PMCA contribute to critcal cellular functions; loss of function causes embyronic lethality or male sterility. Perhaps more subtle changes - such as point mutations or changes in level of expression - would reveal a phenotype in one or more cell types. Here we review several processes in which PMCA expression plays a role. For example, cell proliferation (Lipskaia and Lompre, 2004) and apoptosis (Orrenius et al., 2003) are both sensitive to changes in cellular calcium levels. Aberrant PMCA expression has also been implicated in carcinogenesis, although the direction of the change can depend on the type of cancerous cell. Analysis of primary oral premalignant lesions (OPLs) and of oral squamous cell carcinomas (OSCCs) show a decrease in PMCA1 expression: by 40% in primary OPLs and by 43% in primary OSCCs where it has been shown that the promoter is hypermethylated (Saito et al., 2006). In contrast, groups studying breast cancer cell lines have reported an increase in the expression of PMCA1, 2 and 4. When human breast cancer cell lines were deprived of serum for 72h, PMCA1 expression increased as much as 270% compared to control mammary gland epithelial cells (Lee et al., 2002). Expression of PMCA2 and 4 increased 100-fold and 8-fold, respectively, in the ZR-75-1 breast cell cancer line as compared to the non-tumorigenic 184B5 cell line (Lee et al., 2005a). Yet more striking evidence for the role of PMCA in breast cancer was provided by anti-sense inhibition experiments. Using an inducible PMCA antisense expression construct to down-regulate expression of all PMCA isoforms in the MCF-7 breast cell cancer line, dramatic inhibition in cellular proliferation was observed along with a return to normal breast epithelial cell morphology for a subset of cells (Lee et al., 2005b). These findings suggest that PMCA expression levels may play a role in carcinogenesis. The contradictory changes of PMCA expression found in oral versus breast cancer cells reflect the ability of Ca²⁺ to promote cell cycle progression or apoptosis depending on its concentration within the cell.

In platelets, intracellular calcium is responsible for aggregation. Non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus (NIDDM) is a chronic disease that results in severe cardiovascular complications, in part due to platelet hyperactivity (Carr, 2001). Several groups have reported that patients suffering from NIDDM show elevated Ca^{2+} in various cell types including platelets (Balasubramanyam et al., 2001; Li et al., 2001). Indeed, platelets from NIDDM patients exhibited a significantly slower decay to resting calcium levels after Ca^{2+} release from intracellular stores was stimulated. A significant decrease in PMCA protein was found along with an increased level of tyrosine phosphorylation on residue 1176 (Rosado et al., 2004), a transient phosphorylation event that inhibits the activity of the pump (Wan et al., 2003). These finding suggest that PMCA is involved in platelet activation and may contribute to the severe cardiovascular complications resulting from NIDDM.

Elevated calcium concentrations in the lens are known to cause cataracts, a clouding of the lens that results in severe visual impairment. The abnormal calcium level causes calpain activation, a calcium dependent protease that degrades lens proteins (Paterson et al., 1997). Membranes prepared from cataractous lens epithelium showed 50% of the Ca²⁺ ATPase activity of those prepared from clear lens epithelium, leading to the suggestion that decreased PMCA activity underlay cataract formation (Paterson et al., 1997). Recent studies on the UPL rat, a model for hereditary cataract formation, showed that PMCA expression and Ca²⁺ ATPase activity increased during cataract development, whereas ATP concentrations decreased significantly (Nabekura et al., 2004). Previous reports had shown that nitric oxide is involved in cataract development (Ito et al., 2001) and that nitric oxide is toxic to ATP production (Moncada and Erusalimsky, 2002), leading Nabekura et al. to suggest that increased NO synthase activity was responsible for cataract formation. Excess nitric oxide would decrease the ATP concentration within the cell, diminishing the ability of PMCA to effectively expel calcium. This would lead to the increased calcium levels that cause calpain activation. The observed upregulation of PMCA expression during cataract development may be a compensatory mechanism. Supporting this hypothesis are the observations that inhibitors of inducible nitric oxide synthase prevent opacification of the lens (Ito et al., 2001; Nabekura et al., 2003) and HLE B-3 human lens epithelial cells are capable of upregulating PMCA1 in a time and dose-dependent manner when treated with thapsigargin (Marian et al., 2007). Thus, although PMCA is involved in the process of lens opacification, it does not appear to be the primary cause of the disorder.

In cardiomyocytes, the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger is the main mechanism for calcium extrusion. Despite its minor role in calcium homeostasis, important roles for PMCA in cardiac tissue have been suggested, including involvement in both hypertension and hypertrophy. The role of PMCA in hypertension has been primarily based on its ability to interact with nNOS. The importance of nNOS in the excitation contraction cycles of the heart and isolated cardiomyocytes has been demonstrated (Barouch et al., 2002; Sears et al., 2003). The specific inhibitory effect of PMCA4b on nNOS is mediated by PDZ binding. Inhibition was not observed when mutants of nNOS or PMCA4b that lacked their PDZ domains were tested. However, overexpression of PMCA4b containing an Asp672Glu mutation, which reduces activity of the pump by roughly 90%, did not result in nNOS inhibition. This suggests that inhibition of nNOS, a calcium/calmodulin dependent enzyme, is due to PMCA sequestering it in a low calcium environment (Schuh et al., 2001). More recently, another protein has been implicated in the PMCA-nNOS macromolecule. The catalytic loop of human PMCA1 and 4, the area between transmembrane regions four and five, has been reported to interact with α -1 syntrophin in cardiac cells (Williams et al., 2006). In addition, co-overexpression of both PMCA and α -1 syntrophin acted synergistically to down-regulate nNOS. Clearly, the role of PMCA in hypertension warrants further investigation.

Sustained increases in intracellular calcium levels in cardiac myocytes result in hypertrophy, an increase in myocardial cell size associated with activation of fetal cardiac genes. A prolonged increase in intracellular Ca²⁺-calmodulin is thought to contribute to cardiac hypertrophy by activating calcineurin, which dephosphorylates, thereby activating, the nuclear factor of activated T-cell (NFAT) transcription factors (Molkentin et al., 1998). Recent experiments show a direct role of PMCA in the Ca²⁺/calmodulin-NFAT pathway. Buch et al. used NFAT transcriptional activity as a measure for calcineurin activity in HEK 293 cells overexpressing PMCA4b (Buch et al., 2005). The increased PMCA activity caused endogenous calcineurin to move from the cytoplasm to the plasma membrane and resulted in a 60% inhibition in NFAT transcriptional activity. These effects were reversible by co-expression of the catalytic loop of PMCA4b, which contains the calcineurin interacting site. They also reported that the PMCA4b mediated inhibition was lost in the presence of mutant calcineurin A, a Ca²⁺/calmodulin-independent constitutively active protein. These findings support the hypothesis that PMCA4b recruits calcineurin to the plasma membrane, a low calcium environment, thereby inhibiting activation of NFAT. The role of PMCA in regulating the NFAT signaling pathway is becoming apparent. Further study in this area may provide insight into PMCA as a novel drug target in the treatment of cardiac disorders.

The function of PMCA 1 and 4 have been investigated in a variety of disorders. PMCA null mice revealed the crucial housekeeping function of PMCA1, and the requirement for PMCA4 in sperm motility. Additional studies suggest a role for PMCA4 in maintaining calcium homeostasis in smooth muscle cells. Research has also suggested that aberrant expression and/or activity of these PMCAs may play a role in many complex diseases: oral and breast cancers, cardiovascular complications associated with NIDDM, lens opacification, and cardiac hypertension and hypertrophy. Although improper regulation of PMCA1 and 4 may contribute quantitatively to complex disease phenotypes, to date there have been no reports linking changes in the nucleotide sequence of these genes to any human disease. Therefore, the exact role of these PMCAs in complex phenotypes is difficult to discern. More research will be required to determine if alterations in PMCA1 or PMCA4 expression play a primary role in these diseases, or if observed changes in levels of these PMCAs reflect compensatory responses. Independent of their status in terms of causality, the potential for PMCA1 or PMCA4 as a therapeutic target for drug therapy remains open.

5. DISEASES OF THE "NEURONAL" ISOFORMS, PMCA2 AND PMCA3

While PMCA2 and PMCA3 are expressed in some non-neuronal tissues, these isoforms are found predominantly in the central and peripheral nervous systems (CNS and PNS, respectively) (Strehler and Zacharias, 2001). The functional effects

of PMCA2 expression are best understood in auditory and visual sensory systems and in lactating mammary gland. Mutations in Atp2b2 have been shown to affect each of these tissues and will be discussed in detail below. No mutations in Atp2b3(encoding PMCA3) have been reported, so the role of PMCA3 in disease is difficult to predict. Given the strong expression of Atp2b3 in the choriod plexus of the brain (Eakin et al., 1995), one might anticipate an effect on the ionic composition of cerebral spinal fluid, affecting in turn either brain function or development. The generation of a null (KO) mutant allele of Atp2b3 would help to address these questions.

In contrast, for Atp2b2 (encoding PMCA2) several spontaneous as well as an induced null (KO) allele have been identified and studied extensively (Figure 2). The mutations identified in PMCA2 occur in several different structural regions as defined by alignment with the crystal structure determinations of the SERCA pump. Within the transmembrane regions, deaf waddler^{3J} ($Atp2b2^{dfw3J}$, referred to here as dfw^{3J}) causes a frameshift midway through transmembrane region 2 (McCullough and Tempel, 2004). Analogously, the targeted knockout, $Atp2b2^{tm1Ges}$ (referred to here as Atp2b2-KO or just KO) was constructed to interrupt exon 19, which encodes transmembrane region 8 (Kozel et al., 1998). Both mutations cause there to be a lack of both mRNA and protein for PMCA2, resulting in phenotypes that include profound deafness and severe ataxia. The wriggle mouse Sagami ($Atp2b2^{wri}$, referred to here as *wri*) shows a similar phenotype, the result of a point mutation that causes an amino acid change from acidic glutamate to basic lysine in transmembrane 4 (Takahashi and Kitamura, 1999), at a residue thought to provide a charge balance for Ca²⁺ ions being transported across the membrane by the pump.



Figure 2. Mutations of PMCA2. Mutations are named as referred to in the text and shown on the structural schematic from Figure 1. Approximate locations of mutations are indicated by circles for point (missense) mutations or triangles for frameshift (truncation) mutations

Two mutations directly affect the phosphorylation (P-)domain, which is divided into two parts. In the first section of the P-domain lies the P-type ATPase signature sequence, D*KTGTLT, which contains the aspartate (D) phosphorylated during ATP-hydrolosis (Kuhlbrandt, 2004). In the deaf waddler^{2J} ($Atp2b2^{dfw2J}$, referred to here as dfw^{2J}), a 2-basepair deletion located only two residues beyond the D*, causes a frameshift (Street et al., 1998) that results in the generation of an aberant protein, which is degraded (McCullough and Tempel, 2004). In the second section of the P-domain, Atp2b2^{m1Mae} (referred to here as T692K) is a missense mutation that substitutes threonine with lysine (T692K), imposing a sterically larger and charged residue into the alpha-helix that supports the conserved loop 686-TGDN, which is part of the active site that catalyzes aspartyl-phosphorylation (Toyoshima and Mizutani, 2004). This mutation is of particular interest genetically because it arose spontaneously during clonal expansion of a targeted embryonic stem cell line in the production of a mutant allele of a nearby gene, the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (Pparg) (Tsai et al., 2006). The mutation in Atp2b2 was suspected based on the phenotypes of ataxia and deafness in the *Pparg* targeted mice. Direct sequence analysis identified a spontaneous mutation in Atp2b2 hitchhiking with the targeted *Pparg* allele through the process of embryonic stem cell line selection. Each of the five mutations in Atp2b2 discussed above result in a severe phenotype, presumably the consequence of a non-functional protein being expressed or a truncated protein being degraded, as has been shown directly for dfw^{2J} , dfw^{3J} , and the targeted KO allele.

In contrast, two mutations have more subtle effects on protein structure, stability and function. The deaf waddler mutant $(Atp2b2^{dfw}, referred to here as dfw)$ carries a point mutation in the actuator (A-)domain, changing a very highly conserved glycine to a larger, polar serine (G283S) (Street et al., 1998). This substitution presumably disrupts the ß-sheet jelly-roll fold structure that is involved in positioning the invariant TGE sequence motif, found in all P-type pumps and known to move into close proximity of the phosphorylation site during the catalytic cycle (Kuhlbrandt, 2004). Biochemically, the G283S mutation in dfw reduces the Ca²⁺ transport activity to approximately 30% of that seen in wildtype PMCA2 (Penheiter et al., 2001). Genetically, the *dfw* mutation gives partial function, making it a hypomorphic allele. The homozygous dfw/dfw mutant would be expected to provide 30% activity while the heterozygous +/dfw mutant would provide approximately 65% activity (Figure 3). Anatomical data at both the light and transmission electron micrographic levels show that in 7 week old *dfw/dfw* mice inner hair cells (IHC) are present with intact afferent terminals while outer hair cells (OHC) - especially rows 2 and 3 – appear apoptotic and lack stereocilia (Dodson and Charalabapoulou, 2001). Spiral ganglion neurons are present but appear abnormal. In older (\sim 18 month old) homozygotes OHC and IHCs are lost, many spiral ganglion neurons are also lost while those remaining have very few cytoplasmic organelles. Even second order neurons of the cochlear nucleus are reduced in size. In contrast, heterozygous +/dfwappear similar to control +/+ mice at 7 weeks; at 18 months no loss of OHC or IHC is observed although the cytoplasm of spiral ganglion cells is shrunken and



Figure 3. An allelic series of mutations showing differential severity of phenotype caused by different dosages of PMCA2 activity. Homozygous null mutations provide 0% activity; heterozygous null mutations provide about 50% activity; wild type strain CBA/CaJ has 100%

vacuolated. These data suggest that starting with OHC and progressing to IHC and neurons of the central auditory pathway, loss of PMCA2 activity to the 30% level in dfw/dfw mice leads to progressive cell death or cellular pathology.

A second hypomorphic allele of ATP2B2 was discovered in a consanguineous family with autosomal recessive sensorineural hearing loss (Schultz et al., 2005). Among five affected siblings, two had hearing loss at high frequencies while the other three had severe to profound hearing loss at all frequencies. Genetic analysis showed linkage to chromosome 10q22.1 in all five affected individuals. The causative mutation was identified as a homozygous point mutation in cadherin 23 (CDH23), mutation of which is known to cause deafness in the waltzer mouse mutant (Di Palma et al., 2001) and Usher syndrome in human (Bolz et al., 2001). As for the different severities of hearing loss in the family, a modifier gene interaction was suspected based on previous studies in mice showing that the modifier of deafwaddler (mdfw) is Cdh23 (Noben-Trauth et al., 2003). Schultz et al. examined the ATP2B2 gene in the affected family and showed that individuals with severe to profound hearing loss at all frequencies had a point mutation, changing a valine to a bulkier methionine at residue 586 (referred to here as V586M). This mutation is only five amino acids away from the signature lysine (K) of the nucleotide-binding site; placement on the SERCA crystal structure suggests that V586M distorts the base of the nucleotide-binding pocket. Biochemically, V586M has approximately 50% of the Ca^{2+} pumping activity of wild type PMCA2 (Schultz et al., 2005). Because each of the severely affected individuals is heterozygous for V586M (of note, no instance of homozygosity was observed), we would predict that they have approximately 75% of wild type PMCA2 activity (Figure 3). This modest reduction in PMCA2 activity does not cause hearing loss by itself as heterozygous carriers of V586M showed no hearing loss; only in the presence of a causative mutation in another hearing loss gene (e.g. *CDH23*) does V586M cause severe to profound hearing loss to occur.

In support of the idea that mutation of *ATP2B2* is associated with hearing loss in humans, a recent study shows that in hemizygous individuals (i.e. having only one copy of the *ATP2B2* gene due to a chromosomal deletion syndrome) severe hearing loss is observed when one copy of *ATP2B2* is missing (McCullough et al., 2007). Additionally, immunostaining for PMCA2 showed localization in human cochlear hair cell stereocilia similar to that observed in previous rodent studies.

The mutations available in Atp2b2 provide the opportunity to study an allelic series in which the dosage of functional PMCA2 is reduced incrementally from 100% in littermate control animals to 0% in homozygous null mutants (Figure 3). Given the strong influence of genetic background on auditory function in mice, an allelic series is best studied with all alleles transferred to the same background by serial backcrosses to a good hearing inbred strain such as CBA/CaJ. Under these conditions, heterozygous +/dfw, $+/dfw^{2J}$ and $+/dfw^{3J}$ show haploinsufficiency with different ages of onset for both auditory and vestibulomotor dysfunction; homozygous mutants in the same background are deaf and severely ataxic (McCullough and Tempel, 2004). Wood et al. examined the Ca²⁺ concentration in endolymph, the unique extracellular solution with high potassium and low sodium that bathes the stereocilia of auditory and vestibular hair cells, finding Ca²⁺ to be significantly reduced in homozygous null dfw^{2J}/dfw^{2J} mice (6.6 \pm 0.6 μ M Ca²⁺ in $df w^{2J}/df w^{2J}$ vs 22.9 \pm 3.5 μ M Ca²⁺ in +/+ controls). Immunocytochemical studies on dfw^{2J}/dfw^{2J} mice reveal an up-regulation and re-localization of PMCA1 and PMCA4 to the stereocilia, indicating that these compensatory changes are not sufficient to restore hearing or normal Ca²⁺ concentration to the endolymph (Wood et al., 2004). Homozygous null alleles have additional deficits including the loss of otoconia, the calcium carbonate crystals that overlay the hair cells in the vestibular system and provide inertial momentum (Kozel et al., 1998). This loss of otoconia may be secondary to the reduced Ca²⁺ concentration in the endolymph. In sum, the allelic series of deaf waddler mice suggests that slight reductions in PMCA2 function impair high frequency hearing while elimination of PMCA2 causes profound deafness, a loss of Ca²⁺ in the endolymph and potential secondary effects including loss of hair cells (Dodson and Charalabapoulou, 2001) and otoconia.

As discussed earlier, PMCA2 is expressed in the retina, predominating in synaptic terminals of rod photoreceptors and rod bipolar cells, present in most retinal neuron types, but absent from cones (Krizaj et al., 2002; Duncan et al., 2006). Anatomically, at the light microscopic level, the retinas of dfw^{2J}/dfw^{2J} mice are indistiguishable from +/+ littermate controls throughout development. Electrophysiological recordings from the outer segment of the retina show no difference in the photosensitivity or amplitude of light responses between dfw^{2J} mutants and controls. However, rod-mediated electroretinogram (ERG) responses are ~45% smaller and

significantly slower in dfw^{2J} mutants. Further, recordings from individual rod bipolar cells show that the sensitivity of scotopic (i.e. dim light, rod-mediated) light-evoked synaptic transmission is reduced by ~50% in dfw^{2J} mice (Duncan et al., 2006). These data suggest that the synapse between rod terminals and bipolar cells is the primary site of the loss in sensitivity. As PMCA2 is localized to both the presynaptic rod terminal and the postsynaptic rod bipolar cell, it should provide high efficiency Ca²⁺ extrusion, potentially increasing the efficacy of neurotransmission at the synapse and providing a post-transduction mechanism for increasing the gain in the scotopic rod pathway (Duncan et al., 2006). Thus, the absence of PMCA2 from the retina causes no change in cytoarchitecture during development or with aging, but affects the synaptic signaling between rods and rod bipolar cells.

PMCA2 is expressed broadly in the CNS as well as in other tissues, notably in lactating mammary glands where, in rat, the splice variant PMCA2bw is localized on the apical membrane of the secretory cells (Reinhardt et al., 2000). As lactation starts, PMCA2bw mRNA and protein increase dramatically (~100-fold), in parallel with increased milk production. Milk from Atp2b2-KO null mutant mice had 60% less calcium than milk from either heterozygotes or wild type controls (Reinhardt et al., 2004). In support of this strong induction of PMCA2 in rodent mammary, rats and mice have evolved unique first exon and promoter regions that drive expression in mammary gland (Silverstein and Tempel, 2006). This strong, inducible mechanism for enriching calcium with lactation may be necessary to provide the relatively high levels of Ca²⁺ found in rodent milk or to accommodate the relatively short gestation time and large litter size typical of rodents. These promoter regions are not well conserved in other mammalian species (Silverstein and Tempel, 2006), although as discussed above, Atp2b2 mRNA is expressed in multiple human breast cancer cell lines (Lee et al., 2002). Further studies would be necessary to determine if PMCA2 is regulated strongly in primate lactation.

A number of studies have addressed the expression and regulation of specific PMCA isoforms in specific regions of the CNS. For example, PMCA2a is found to be enriched in forebrain synaptosomes and co-localizes with pre-synaptic markers in the CA3 region of the hippocampus (Jensen et al., 2006). Pharmacological inhibition of PMCA causes an increase in the frequency of mini-excitatory post-synatpic currents (mEPSCs), presumably because of a failure to clear calcium rapidly in the presynaptic terminal. The relationship of fast PMCA2a-mediated calcium clearance in the hippocampus to behavior or disease is unclear at present, but may relate to epilepsy or aging in the CNS.

PMCA2 is expressed strongly in Purkinje neurons of the cerebellum (Stahl et al., 1992). In the *wri* mutant, development of the Purkinje cell dentritic trees is impaired; synaptic connections of parallel fibers on dendritic spines of Pukinje cells are decreased at two weeks of age, but by nine weeks malformed synaptic boutons lacking synaptic membrane specializations are significantly increased (Inoue et al., 1993). These developmental abnormalities in synaptic structure of the cerebellum likely contribute to the ataxic behavior observed in *wri* and other *Atp2b2* mutants.

A similar approach has used the Atp2b2-KO to study the development of the neocortex in congenitally deaf mice (Hunt et al., 2006). In the absence of auditory input, the size and modality of cortical fields became mixed with other sensory fields. Neurons in the normal "auditory cortex" region responded to somatosensory and/or visual stimulation; primary visual cortex increased in size and contained neurons responding to somatosensory stimulation. These changes correlate with decreased auditory input. However, in light of the synaptic changes induced by changes in PMCA2 function within the CNS just discussed, one wonders how sensory cortex might be altered with normal auditory input, but with a genetically targeted local deficit of Atp2b2 function in the neocortex. These questions point to the emerging role of PMCAs as important modulators of calcium levels within cells and subcellular regions of cells throughout the organism.

6. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES ON PMCAS AND DISEASE

The PMCA family of pumps export calcium from the cell, being in a sense, a final mediator of net cellular calcium load. Four genes (*Atp2b1 – Atp2b4*) exist in mammals giving rise to four proteins (PMCA1 – PMCA4), each of which is alternatively splicing at two sites. PMCA1, 2 and 4 have each been implicated or directly proven through the occurance of spontaneous mutations to cause disease in mice and man. For PMCA1 and PMCA4 the only extant mutations are targeted null mutations. Male mice lacking PMCA4 are infertile, the result of a failure in sperm motility. The PMCA1 null is embryonic lethal, implicating a critical role in organogenesis, but preventing an analysis of the role of PMCA1 in cellular functions in mature animals. To study the functions PMCA in mature animals, conditional null alleles for PMCA1 and PMCA4 as well as for PMCA3 should be developed, allowing normal development to occur with the ability to turn off the gene in a time and tissue-specific manner.

PMCA2 plays a clear role in hearing loss and ataxia, as displayed in varying degrees of phenotypic severity by mutants with varying degrees of loss of function of the PMCA2 protein (Figure 3). This allelic series includes null alleles producing no functional protein and hypomorphic alleles whose protein product retains partial Ca^{2+} pumping activity. Of the seven different mutations known in the *Atp2b2* gene, three affect transmembrane regions, two affect the phosphorylation (P)-domain and one affects each of the actuator (A)-domain and the nucleotide binding (N)-domain. Interestingly, the two hypomorphic alleles – one discovered in deaf waddler mice and one in human families with hearing loss – are each point mutations, occurring in the A- and N-domains, respectively, and altering slightly the protein structure adjacent to invariant signature sequences involved in catalysis of ATP at the core of the pump. These mutations suggest that even a slight reduction in PMCA2 function results in hearing loss, probably a reflection of the unique localization of PMCA2 in the stereocilia where it provides the primary means for fast calcium clearance after Ca^{2+} ions enter the stereocilia during sound transduction. In contrast, only a

severe mutation of PMCA2 causes decreased sensitivity and slowing of scotopic visual signals in the rod pathway of the retina.

While a clear causitive role has been established for PMCA2 in hearing loss, further studies on hypomorphic alleles could address their effect on age-related or noise-induced hearing loss. Generating a mouse model of the human V586M mutation should provide an even less affected hypomorph for further studies.

The more subtle roles of different PMCAs in cardiac and sperm function, synaptic signaling in retina and hippocampus, etc. suggest that these are not housekeeping genes, rather they provide an important function in many cell types and tissues. It seems likely that changes in each of the PMCA isoforms may contribute quantitatively to a number of complex diseases in ways yet to be discovered.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Dr. V. Street for comments on the manuscript, Dr. N. Zheng for structural modeling of PMCA mutants on SERCA co-ordinates, and J. Kallman for generating the figures. This work was supported by NIH grants RO1-DC02739 and RO1-DC06305 to BLT.

REFERENCES

- Balasubramanyam, M., Balaji, R.A., Subashini, B., Mohan, V., 2001, Evidence for mechanistic alterations of Ca²⁺ homeostasis in Type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Exp Diabetes Res 1, 275–287.
- Barouch, L.A., Harrison, R.W., Skaf, M.W., Rosas, G.O., Cappola, T.P., Kobeissi, Z.A., Hobai, I.A., Lemmon, C.A., Burnett, A.L., O'Rourke, B., Rodriguez, E.R., Huang, P.L., Lima, J.A., Berkowitz, D.E., Hare, J.M., 2002, Nitric oxide regulates the heart by spatial confinement of nitric oxide synthase isoforms. Nature 416, 337–339.
- Bolz, H., von Brederlow, B., Ramirez, A., Bryda, E.C., Kutsche, K., Nothwang, H.G., Seeliger, M., del, C.S.C.M., Vila, M.C., Molina, O.P., Gal, A., Kubisch, C., 2001, Mutation of CDH23, encoding a new member of the cadherin gene family, causes Usher syndrome type 1D. Nat Genet 27, 108–112.
- Brini, M., Coletto, L., Pierobon, N., Kraev, N., Guerini, D., Carafoli, E., 2003, A comparative functional analysis of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pump isoforms in intact cells. J Biol Chem 278, 24500–24508.
- Buch, M.H., Pickard, A., Rodriguez, A., Gillies, S., Maass, A.H., Emerson, M., Cartwright, E.J., Williams, J.C., Oceandy, D., Redondo, J.M., Neyses, L., Armesilla, A.L., 2005, The sarcolemmal calcium pump inhibits the calcineurin/nuclear factor of activated T-cell pathway via interaction with the calcineurin A catalytic subunit. J Biol Chem 280, 29479–29487.
- Carafoli, E., 2002, Calcium signaling: A tale for all seasons. PNAS 99, 1115-1122.
- Carr, M.E., 2001, Diabetes mellitus: a hypercoagulable state. J Diabetes Complications 15, 44-54.
- Chicka, M.C., Strehler, E.E., 2003, Alternative splicing of the first intracellular loop of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase isoform 2 alters its membrane targeting. J Biol Chem 16, 18464–18470.
- Di Palma, F., Holme, R.H., Bryda, E.C., Belyantseva, I.A., Pellegrino, R., Kachar, B., Steel, K.P., Noben-Trauth, K., 2001, Mutations in Cdh23, encoding a new type of cadherin, cause stereocilia disorganization in waltzer, the mouse model for Usher syndrome type 1D. Nat Genet 27, 103–107.
- Dodson, H.C., Charalabapoulou, M., 2001, PMCA2 mutation causes structural changes in the auditory system in deafwaddler mice. J Neurocytol 30, 281–292.

- Dumont, R.A., Lins, U., Filoteo, A.G., Penniston, J.T., Kachar, B., Gillespie, P.G., 2001, Plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 2a is the PMCA of hair bundles. J Neurosci 21, 5066–5078.
- Duncan, J.L., Yang, H., Doan, T., Silverstein, R.S., Murphy, G.J., Nune, G., Liu, X., Copenhagen, D., Tempel, B.L., Rieke, F., Krizaj, D., 2006, Scotopic visual signaling in the mouse retina is modulated by high-affinity plasma membrane calcium extrusion. J Neurosci 26, 7201–7211.
- Eakin, T.J., Antonelli, M.C., Malchiodi, E.L., Baskin, D.G., Stahl, W.L., 1995, Localization of the plasma membrane Ca(2+)-ATPase isoform PMCA3 in rat cerebellum, choroid plexus and hippocampus. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 29, 71–80.
- Grati, M., Aggarwal, N., Strehler, E.E., Wenthold, R.J., 2006a, Molecular determinants for differential membrane trafficking of PMCA1 and PMCA2 in mammalian hair cells. J Cell Sci 119, 2995–3007.
- Grati, M., Schneider, M.E., Lipkow, K., Strehler, E.E., Wenthold, R.J., Kachar, B., 2006b, Rapid turnover of stereocilia membrane proteins: evidence from the trafficking and mobility of plasma membrane Ca(2+)-ATPase 2. J Neurosci 26, 6386–6395.
- Greeb, J., Shull, G.E., 1989, Molecular cloning of a third isoform of the calmodulin-sensitive plasma membrane Ca²⁺-transporting ATPase that is expressed predominantly in brain and skeletal muscle. J Biol Chem 264, 18569–18576.
- Guerini, D., Coletto, L., Carafoli, E., 2005, Exporting calcium from cells. Cell Calcium 38, 281-289.
- Hilfiker, H., Strehler-Page, M.A., Stauffer, T.P., Carafoli, E., Strehler, E.E., 1993, Structure of the gene encoding the human plasma membrane calcium pump isoform 1. J Biol Chem 268, 19717–19725.
- Hill, J.K., Williams, D.E., LeMasurier, M., Dumont, R.A., Strehler, E.E., Gillespie, P.G., 2006, Splice-site A choice targets Plasma-Membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 2 to hair bundles. J Neurosci 26, 6172–6180.
- Hunt, D.L., Yamoah, E.N., Krubitzer, L., 2006, Multisensory plasticity in congenitally deaf mice: how are cortical areas functionally specified? Neuroscience 139, 1507–1524.
- Inoue, Y., Matsumura, Y., Inoue, K., Ichikawa, R., Takayama, C., 1993, Abnormal synaptic architecture in the cerebellar cortex of a new dystonic mutant mouse, Wriggle Mouse Sagami. Neurosci Res 16, 39–48.
- Ito, Y., Nabekura, T., Takeda, M., Nakao, M., Terao, M., Hori, R., Tomohiro, M., 2001, Nitric oxide participates in cataract development in selenite-treated rats. Curr Eye Res 22, 215–220.
- Jensen, T.P., Filoteo, A., Knopfel, T., Empson, R.M., 2007, Pre-synaptic plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase isoform 2a regulates excitatory synaptic transmission in rat hippocampal CA3. J Physiol (Lond) 15, 85–99.
- Kozel, P.J., Friedman, R.A., Erway, L.C., Yamoah, E.N., Liu, L.H., Riddle, T., Duffy, J.J., Doetschman, T., Miller, M.L., Cardell, E.L., Shull, G.E., 1998, Balance and hearing deficits in mice with a null mutation in the gene encoding plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 2. J Biol Chem 273, 18693–18696.
- Krizaj, D., Demarco, S.J., Johnson, J., Strehler, E.E., Copenhagen, D.R., 2002, Cell-specific expression of plasma membrane calcium ATPase isoforms in retinal neurons. J Comp Neurol 451, 1–21.
- Kuhlbrandt, W., 2004, Biology, Structure and Mechanisms of P-Type ATPases. Nature Rev Molec Cell Biol 5, 282–295.
- Lee, W.J., Roberts-Thomson, S.J., Monteith, G.R., 2005a, Plasma membrane calcium-ATPase 2 and 4 in human breast cancer cell lines. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 337, 779–783.
- Lee, W.J., Roberts-Thomson, S.J., Holman, N.A., May, F.J., Lehrbach, G.M., Monteith, G.R., 2002, Expression of plasma membrane calcium pump isoform mRNAs in breast cancer cell lines. Cell Signal 14, 1015–1022.
- Lee, W.J., Robinson, J.A., Holman, N.A., McCall, M.N., Roberts-Thomson, S.J., Monteith, G.R., 2005b, Antisense-mediated Inhibition of the plasma membrane calcium-ATPase suppresses proliferation of MCF-7 cells. J Biol Chem 280, 27076–27084.
- Lehotsky, J., Kaplan, P., Murin, R., Raeymaekers, L., 2002, The role of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ pumps (PMCAs) in pathologies of mammalian cells. Front Biosci 7, 53–84.

- Li, Y., Woo, V., Bose, R., 2001, Platelet hyperactivity and abnormal Ca(2+) homeostasis in diabetes mellitus. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 280, H1480–1489.
- Lipskaia, L., Lompre, A.M., 2004, Alteration in temporal kinetics of Ca²⁺ signaling and control of growth and proliferation. Biol Cell 96, 55–68.
- Ma, H., Lewis, D., Xu, C., Inesi, G., Toyoshima, C., 2005, Functional and structural roles of critical amino acids within the "N", "P", and "A" domains of the Ca²⁺ ATPase (SERCA) headpiece. Biochemistry 44, 8090–8100.
- Marian, M.J., Mukhopadhyay, P., Borchman, D., Tang, D., Paterson, C.A., 2007, Regulation of sarco/endoplasmic and plasma membrane calcium ATPase gene expression by calcium in cultured human lens epithelial cells. Cell Calcium 41, 87–95.
- McCullough, B.J., Tempel, B.L., 2004, Haplo-insufficiency revealed in deafwaddler mice when tested for hearing loss and ataxia. Hear Res 195, 90–102.
- McCullough, B.J., Adams, J.C., Shilling, D.J., Feeney, M.P., Sie, K.C.Y., Tempel, B.L., 2007, 3p- Syndrome defines a hearing loss locus in 3p25.3. Hear Res. 224, 51–60.
- Molkentin, J.D., Lu, J.R., Antos, C.L., Markham, B., Richardson, J., Robbins, J., Grant, S.R., Olson, E.N., 1998, A calcineurin-dependent transcriptional pathway for cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 93, 215–228.
- Moller, J.V., Nissen, P., Sorensen, T.L., le Maire, M., 2005, Transport mechanism of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase pump. Curr Opin Struct Biol 15, 387–393.
- Moncada, S., Erusalimsky, J.D., 2002, Does nitric oxide modulate mitochondrial energy generation and apoptosis? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3, 214–220.
- Nabekura, T., Tomohiro, M., Ito, Y., Kitagawa, S., 2004, Changes in plasma membrane Ca^{2+} ATPase expression and ATP content in lenses of hereditary cataract UPL rats. Toxicology 197, 177–183.
- Nabekura, T., Koizumi, Y., Nakao, M., Tomohiro, M., Inomata, M., Ito, Y., 2003, Delay of cataract development in hereditary cataract UPL rats by disulfiram and aminoguanidine. Exp Eye Res 76, 169–174.
- Noben-Trauth, K., Zheng, Q.Y., Johnson, K.R., 2003, Association of cadherin 23 with polygenic inheritance and genetic modification of sensorineural hearing loss. Nat Genet 35, 21–23.
- Oceandy, D., Buch, M.H., Cartwright, E.J., Neyses, L., 2006, The emergence of plasma membrane calcium pump as a novel therapeutic target for heart disease. Mini Rev Med Chem 6, 583–588.
- Okunade, G.W., Miller, M.L., Pyne, G.J., Sutliff, R.L., O'Connor, K.T., Neumann, J.C., Andringa, A., Miller, D.A., Prasad, V., Doetschman, T., Paul, R.J., Shull, G.E., 2004, Targeted ablation of plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase (PMCA) 1 and 4 indicates a major housekeeping function for PMCA1 and a critical role in hyperactivated sperm motility and male fertility for PMCA4. J Biol Chem 279, 33742–33750.
- Orrenius, S., Zhivotovsky, B., Nicotera, P., 2003, Regulation of cell death: the calcium-apoptosis link. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4, 552–565.
- Padanyi, R., Paszty, K., Penheiter, A.R., Filoteo, A.G., Penniston, J.T., Enyedi, A., 2003, Intramolecular interactions of the regulatory region with the catalytic core in the plasma membrane calcium pump. J Biol Chem 278, 35798–35804.
- Paterson, C.A., Zeng, J., Husseini, Z., Borchman, D., Delamere, N.A., Garland, D., Jimenez-Asensio, J., 1997, Calcium ATPase activity and membrane structure in clear and cataractous human lenses. Curr Eye Res 16, 333–338.
- Penheiter, A.R., Filoteo, A.G., Croy, C.L., Penniston, J.T., 2001, Characterization of the deafwaddler mutant of the rat plasma membrane calcium-ATPase 2. Hear Res 162, 19–28.
- Penniston, J.T., Enyedi, A., 1998, Modulation of the Plasma Membrane Ca²⁺ Pump. J Membr Biol V165, 101–109.
- Prasad, V., Okunade, G.W., Miller, M.L., Shull, G.E., 2004, Phenotypes of SERCA and PMCA knockout mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 322, 1192–1203.
- Reinhardt, T.A., Filoteo, A.G., Penniston, J.T., Horst, R.L., 2000, Ca(2+)-ATPase protein expression in mammary tissue. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279, C1595–1602.

- Reinhardt, T.A., Lippolis, J.D., Shull, G.E., Horst, R.L., 2004, Null mutation in the gene encoding plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 2 impairs calcium transport into milk. J Biol Chem 279, 42369–42373.
- Rosado, J.A., Saavedra, F.R., Redondo, P.C., Hernandez-Cruz, J.M., Salido, G.M., Pariente, J.A., 2004, Reduced plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase function in platelets from patients with non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Haematologica 89, 1142–1144.
- Saito, K., Uzawa, K., Endo, Y., Kato, Y., Nakashima, D., Ogawara, K., Shiba, M., Bukawa, H., Yokoe, H., Tanzawa, H., 2006, Plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase isoform 1 down-regulated in human oral cancer. Oncol Rep 15, 49–55.
- Schuh, K., Uldrijan, S., Telkamp, M., Rothlein, N., Neyses, L., 2001, The plasmamembrane calmodulindependent calcium pump: a major regulator of nitric oxide synthase I. J Cell Biol 155, 201–205.
- Schuh, K., Cartwright, E.J., Jankevics, E., Bundschu, K., Liebermann, J., Williams, J.C., Armesilla, A.L., Emerson, M., Oceandy, D., Knobeloch, K.P., Neyses, L., 2004, Plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATPase 4 is required for sperm motility and male fertility. J Biol Chem 279, 28220–28226.
- Schultz, J.M., Yang, Y., Caride, A.J., Filoteo, A.G., Penheiter, A.R., Lagziel, A., Morell, R.J., Mohiddin, S.A., Fananapazir, L., Madeo, A.C., Penniston, J.T., Griffith, A.J., 2005, Modification of human hearing loss by plasma-membrane calcium pump PMCA2. N Engl J Med 352, 1557–1564.
- Sears, C.E., Bryant, S.M., Ashley, E.A., Lygate, C.A., Rakovic, S., Wallis, H.L., Neubauer, S., Terrar, D.A., Casadei, B., 2003, Cardiac neuronal nitric oxide synthase isoform regulates myocardial contraction and calcium handling. Circ Res 92, 52–59.
- Shull, G.E., Okunade, G., Liu, L.H., Kozel, P., Periasamy, M., Lorenz, J.N., Prasad, V., 2003, Physiological functions of plasma membrane and intracellular Ca²⁺ pumps revealed by analysis of null mutants. Ann N Y Acad Sci 986, 453–460.
- Silverstein, R.S., Tempel, B.L., 2006, Atp2b2, encoding plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase type 2, (PMCA2) exhibits tissue-specific first exon usage in hair cells, neurons, and mammary glands of mice. Neuroscience 141, 245–257.
- Stahl, W.L., Eakin, T.J., Owens, J.W., Jr., Breininger, J.F., Filuk, P.E., Anderson, W.R., 1992, Plasma membrane Ca(2+)-ATPase isoforms: distribution of mRNAs in rat brain by in situ hybridization. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 16, 223–231.
- Stauffer, T.P., Hilfiker, H., Carafoli, E., Strehler, E.E., 1993, Quantitative analysis of alternative splicing options of human plasma membrane calcium pump genes. J Biol Chem 268, 25993–26003.
- Street, V.A., McKee-Johnson, J.W., Fonseca, R.C., Tempel, B.L., Noben-Trauth, K., 1998, Mutations in a plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase gene cause deafness in deafwaddler mice. Nat Genet 19, 390–394.
- Strehler, E.E., Zacharias, D.A., 2001, Role of alternative splicing in generating isoform diversity among plasma membrane calcium pumps. Physiol Rev 81, 21–50.
- Strehler, E.E., Treiman, M., 2004, Calcium pumps of plasma membrane and cell interior. Curr Mol Med 4, 323–335.
- Strehler, E.E., Heim, R., Carafoli, E., 1991, Molecular characterization of plasma membrane calcium pump isoforms. Adv Exp Med Biol 307, 251–261.
- Takahashi, K., Kitamura, K., 1999, A point mutation in a plasma membrane Ca(2+)-ATPase gene causes deafness in Wriggle Mouse Sagami. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 261, 773–778.
- Toyoshima, C., Mizutani, T., 2004, Crystal structure of the calcium pump with a bound ATP analogue. Nature 430, 529–535.
- Toyoshima, C., Nomura, H., Tsuda, T., 2004, Lumenal gating mechanism revealed in calcium pump crystal structures with phosphate analogues. Nature 432, 361–368.
- Tsai, Y.S., Pendse, A., Moy, S.S., Mohri, I., Perez, A., Crawley, J.N., Suzuki, K., Maeda, N., 2006, A de novo deafwaddler mutation of Pmca2 arising in ES cells and hitchhiking with a targeted modification of the Pparg gene. Mamm Genome 17, 716–722.
- Wan, T.C., Zabe, M., Dean, W.L., 2003, Plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase isoform 4b is phosphorylated on tyrosine 1176 in activated human platelets. Thrombosis and haemostasis 89, 122–131.
- Williams, J.C., Armesilla, A.L., Mohamed, T.M., Hagarty, C.L., McIntyre, F.H., Schomburg, S., Zaki, A.O., Oceandy, D., Cartwright, E.J., Buch, M.H., Emerson, M., Neyses, L., 2006, The sarcolemmal

calcium pump, alpha-1 syntrophin, and neuronal nitric-oxide synthase are parts of a macromolecular protein complex. J Biol Chem 281, 23341–23348.

- Withers, S., Cartwright, E.J., Neyses, L., 2006, Sperm phenotype of mice carrying a gene deletion for the plasma membrane calcium/calmodulin dependent ATPase 4. Mol Cell Endocrinol 250, 93–97.
- Wood, J.D., Muchinsky, S.J., Filoteo, A.G., Penniston, J.T., Tempel, B.L., 2004, Low endolymph calcium concentrations in deafwaddler2J mice suggest that PMCA2 contributes to endolymph calcium maintenance. J Assoc Res Otolaryngol 5, 99–110.
- Zacharias, D.A., Kappen, C., 1999, Developmental expression of the four plasma membrane calcium ATPase (Pmca) genes in the mouse. Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) Gen Subj 1428, 397–405.

CHAPTER 14

DISEASES INVOLVING THE GOLGI CALCIUM PUMP

J. VANOEVELEN, L. DODE, L. RAEYMAEKERS, F. WUYTACK AND L. MISSIAEN

Laboratory of Physiology, KULeuven Campus Gasthuisberg O&N1, Herestraat 49 bus 802, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium

Abstract: Secretory-pathway Ca^{2+} -transport ATPases (SPCA) provide the Golgi apparatus with Ca^{2+} and Mn^{2+} needed for the normal functioning of this organelle. Loss of one functional copy of the human SPCA1 gene (*ATP2C1*) causes Hailey-Hailey disease, a rare skin disorder characterized by recurrent blisters and erosions in the flexural areas. Here, we will review the properties and functional role of the SPCAs. The relationship between Hailey-Hailey disease and its defective gene (*ATP2C1*) will be adressed as well

Keywords: SPCA, ATP2C1, ATP2C2, Hailey-Hailey disease, Golgi apparatus

1. INTRODUCTION

Intracellular Ca²⁺ stores release Ca²⁺ in the cytosol to control a whole range of physiological processes depending on the amplitude, frequency and subcellular localization of the rise in cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_c$) (Berridge, 1993). The Ca²⁺ concentration in the lumen of the store ($[Ca^{2+}]_l$) may however not become too low during this release process, since a sufficiently high $[Ca^{2+}]_l$ is needed for the normal synthesis, chaperone-dependent processing, glycosylation, sorting and eventual breakdown of newly formed proteins (Chanat and Huttner, 1991; Oda, 1992; Carnell and Moore, 1994; Meldolesi and Pozzan, 1998). The endoplasmic reticulum is the major agonist-sensitive intracellular Ca²⁺ store (Berridge, 2002). Experiments using aequorin targeted to the Golgi apparatus however revealed that also the Golgi complex loses Ca²⁺ during agonist stimulation (Pinton *et al.*, 1998).

 Ca^{2+} uptake in the Golgi apparatus is mediated by two groups of Ca^{2+} pumps: the sarco(endo)plasmic-reticulum Ca^{2+} -transport ATPases (SERCA) and the secretory-pathway Ca^{2+} -transport ATPases (SPCA) consisting of SPCA1 and SPCA2. SPCA1 is expressed in all cells (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005), whereas SPCA2 is only present in

© 2007 Springer.

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 385-404.

a limited number of cell types (Xiang *et al.*, 2005; Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005). SPCAs in addition transport Mn^{2+} (Mandal *et al.*, 2000a; Van Baelen *et al.*, 2001), which is a cofactor in many enzymatic reactions in the lumen of the Golgi apparatus. We will review the properties of the SPCAs and highlight the differences with the SERCAs.

Haploinsufficiency of human SPCA1 results in Hailey-Hailey disease (HHD) (Hu *et al.*, 2000; Sudbrak *et al.*, 2000), which highlights the critical role of this housekeeping Ca^{2+} and Mn^{2+} pump in cellular ion homeostasis. We will review the properties of this mutated SPCA1 and discuss how SPCA1 contributes to the physiology of the normal skin.

2. SPCAS

SPCAs, like the SERCAs and the plasma-membrane Ca^{2+} -transport ATPases (PMCAs), belong to the family of P-type ATPases. The name "P-type" refers to the transient formation of a high-energy covalent bond between the γ -phosphate of ATP and an aspartyl residue in a highly conserved phosphorylation motif during the catalytic cycle. SPCAs are, together with SERCAs, classified as type P_{2A} enzymes while PMCAs belong to the P_{2B} subfamily (Figure 1). The P₂-subfamily



Figure 1. Phylogenetic tree of P_{2A} and P_{2B} subfamilies of Ca^{2+} -transporting ATPases. Protein sequences of P-type ATPases of different species were aligned using ClustalW software and a phylogenetic tree was generated using TreeView. Three different branches representing the three main subtypes of Ca^{2+} -ATPases are apparent: SERCAs, PMCAs and SPCAs

is completed by the Na⁺,K⁺-ATPases and gastric H⁺,K⁺-ATPases (for complete classification, see http://www.patbase.kvl.dk/).

2.1. Gene Structure and Alternative Splicing

Pmr1 (for plasma-membrane ATPase-related) of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was the first intracellular Ca²⁺-ATPase that was identified as a member of the SPCA family (Rudolph *et al.*, 1989; Antebi and Fink, 1992; Sorin *et al.*, 1997). There are no introns in the coding region, like for most genes in *S. cerevisiae*. The Pmr1 protein (GenBankTM accession no. AAA34884) comprises of 950 amino acids and has a molecular weight of 104 kDa.

The SPCA gene in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* consists of 12 exons (Van Baelen *et al.*, 2001). Its transcripts are alternatively spliced and, like it is often the case in *C. elegans, trans*-spliced at their 5'-end. Despite the presence of three alternative polyadenylation signals within the 3'-terminus, no alternative splicing of the pre-mRNA could be demonstrated at this end. SPCA gene transcription in the worm leads to a single SPCA protein (GenBankTM accession no. CAC19896) with 901 amino acids.

The SPCA gene in *Drosophila melanogaster* (*SPoCk*) (GenBankTM accession no. AC014929) contains only 3 intervening sequences separating the 4 exons indicating that several introns have been lost during evolution. Three alternative splice variants have been described containing 901 (SPoCk-A), 1034 (SPoCk-B) or 924 (SPoCk-C) amino acids (Southall *et al.*, 2006).

The first mammalian member of the SPCA family was cloned from rat but could not be characterized functionally at that time (Gunteski-Hamblin *et al.*, 1992). The corresponding human gene (*ATP2C1*) was described by Hu *et al.* (2000) and Sudbrak *et al.* (2000). *ATP2C1* is localized on the *q* arm of chromosome 3 at position 24.1. Its exon/intron layout is more complex than in *C.elegans* and *D. melanogaster*. The gene consists of 28 exons. Only five intron/exon boundaries are conserved between the human and worm genes and only two between the human and fly genes. Initiation of *ATP2C1* transcription in human HaCaT cells (a keratinocyte derived cell line) depends on 2 critically important segments, namely the -347 to -311 and +22 to +76 DNA stretches located in a rather GC-rich region (Kawada *et al.*, 2005). Computer-assisted sequence analysis of the 5'-flanking region pointed to the absence of a canonical TATA box and the existence of highly conserved *cis*-acting binding sites for several transcription factors. YY1 and Sp1 factors, when overexpressed, transcriptionally activate the *ATP2C1* promoter in normal human keratinocytes.

Alternative processing at the 3'-end of the human ATP2C1 pre-mRNA results in four transcripts with C-termini differing in length and amino-acid sequence (Fairclough *et al.*, 2003) as shown in Figure 2. Isoforms ATP2C1a and ATP2C1c are generated by the coupling of exon 26 to exon 27 or to exon 28 respectively. Exon 27 contains two 5'-internal splice-donor sites D_1 and D_2 . The transcript ATP2C1b



Figure 2. Gene structure of ATP2C1 and alternative splicing. I. Shows the structure of the ATP2C1 gene. Exons are represented by boxes, with wide boxes depicting the open reading frame. The thin horizontal line represents the position of introns. Diagonal lines illustrate the splicing patterns generating isoforms ATP2C1a-d. II. Structure of the different ATP2C1 splice variants: a. Isoform a results from the splicing of exon 26 to exon 27; b. Isoform b is the product of cryptic splicing at D_1 ; c. Exon 26 splices directly to exon 28 to produce isoform c; d. Activation of splicing at cryptic site D_2 produces isoform d

contains exon 28 and the partial portions of exon 27 up to the D_1 splice-donor site. Transcript *ATP2C1d* contains exon 28 and the partial portions of exon 27 up to the D_2 splice-donor site.

The resulting SPCA1 isoforms contain 919 (SPCA1a), 939 (SPCA1b), 888 (SPCA1c) and 949 amino acids (SPCA1d). Human SPCA1d exhibits 49% and 59% overall amino-acid sequence identity with, respectively, SPCA1 from *S. cerevisiae* and *C.elegans*.

A second human SPCA gene (*ATP2C2*) codes for SPCA2 (Xiang *et al.*, 2005; Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005). *ATP2C2* is found at cytogenetic position q22.1 on chromosome 16. Corresponding SPCA2 genes are also present in birds, amphibians and mammals, but not in fish. *ATP2C2* consists of 27 exons. The intron/exon organizations of *ATP2C2* and *ATP2C1* are similar with conserved junctions at the interface between the constitutively spliced exons. They do not resemble those of SERCAs or PMCAs. The *ATP2C2* primary transcript is not known to be alternatively processed and, therefore, only one SPCA2 isoform of 946 amino acids is generated. Human SPCA1 and SPCA2 exhibit 64% amino-acid sequence identity. Since the transcriptional activation and regulation of the *ATP2C2* promoter is so far unknown, the restricted tissue and cellular expression pattern of *ATP2C2* cannot be explained at the moment.

2.2. SPCA Proteins

Like for all P-type ATPases, the SPCA proteins are composed of an actuator (A), a nucleotide-binding (N) and a phosphorylation (P) domain together making up the large cytosolic head of the molecule as well as 10 hydrophobic helices (M1-M10) forming the membrane-spanning domain.

The amino acid sequence of some subdomains is highly conserved between SPCAs and SERCAs. The phosphorylation domain contains the typical SDKTGTLT sequence for P-type ATPases. The phosphorylated residues are Asp³⁷¹(*S. cerevisiae* PMR1), Asp³³⁶ (*C. elegans* PMR1), Asp³³³ (*D. melanogaster* SPCA1), Asp³⁵⁰ (human SPCA1) and Asp³⁷⁹ (human SPCA2). Mutation of Asp³⁷¹to Glu or Asn in yeast led to SPCA mutants without Ca²⁺-transport activity, despite normal expression and proper targeting to the Golgi apparatus (Sorin *et al.*, 1997). The D⁶⁰¹PPR loop connecting the N and P domains in SERCA1a is conserved as D⁵⁴⁶PPR and D⁵⁷⁶PPR in SPCA1 and SPCA2 respectively. The T¹⁸⁹GET and T²²⁰GEA loops in domain A in, respectively, human SPCA1 and SPCA2, which correspond to the T¹⁸¹GES loop in SERCA1a, are also highly conserved. The latter 4 amino-acid-long loops must move upwards to contact the catalytic site during dephosphorylation of the phosphoenzyme intermediate E_2 -P.

Some structural differences between SPCAs and SERCAs should be highlighted. The SPCA1 peptide chain is shorter and the corresponding protein more compact than SERCA1a. In particular the luminal segments linking the membrane-spanning helices M1 and M2, M3 and M4, and M7 and M8 are shorter in SPCA1. Other loops in the N domain of SERCA1a are not conserved in SPCA1. The N-terminus, which is part of domain A, is longer in SPCA1 than in SERCA1. It contains a Ca^{2+} -binding EF hand-like motif, which is different from the actual ion-binding and transporting site located in the M domain. This motif modulates ion transport in *S. cerevisiae* (Wei *et al.*, 1999). Our own unpublished Ca^{2+} -overlay experiments indicate that the EF hand-like motif in human SPCA1 also binds Ca^{2+} .

SERCA1 contains two Ca²⁺-transport sites (site I and site II) (Clarke *et al.*, 1989; Andersen, 1995; Toyoshima *et al.*, 2000). Only site II is conserved in SPCA, like in PMCA (Glu³²⁹, Asn⁷⁷⁴ and Asp⁷⁷⁸ in yeast SPCA, Glu³⁰⁸, Asn⁷³⁸ and Asp⁷⁴² in human SPCA1, and Glu³³⁷, Asn⁷⁶⁸ and Asp⁷⁷² in human SPCA2). Analysis of mutant SPCA pumps confirmed the importance of site II for the transport of Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ in yeast (Wei *et al.*, 2000). The Hill coefficients (close to 1 and clearly lower than those in SERCA) deduced from the Ca²⁺ titration of phosphorylation also support the presence of a single ion-binding site per SPCA molecule (Dode *et al.*, 2005). All these findings suggest that SPCAs transport only one Ca²⁺ ion per each hydrolysed ATP.

In contrast to SERCA1, SPCAs in yeast (Mandal *et al.*, 2000a), worm (Van Baelen *et al.*, 2001) and man (Fairclough *et al.*, 2003; Xiang *et al.*, 2005; Vanoevelen

et al., 2005) can also transport Mn^{2+} with high affinity. This function in the yeast SPCA depends on critical packing interactions at the cytoplasmic interface between the side chains of Gln^{783} in M6 and Val^{335} in M4 (Mandal *et al.*, 2000a,b). These residues are conserved in the human SPCA1 as Gln^{747} and Val^{314} , and in human SPCA2 as Gln^{777} and Val^{343} . The Gly^{309} -residue in M4 of human SPCA1 (corresponding to Gly^{330} in yeast SPCA and Gly^{338} in human SPCA2) may also be important for Mn^{2+} binding at the cytoplasmic side (Fairclough *et al.*, 2003).

Some differences between human SPCA1 and SPCA2 should be stressed. As already mentioned both proteins show 64% overall amino-acid sequence identity. The N-terminus of human SPCA2 is longer (32 amino acids) than in human SPCA1 (Xiang *et al.*, 2005) and, as part of the A domain, may be involved in intramolecular conformational rearrangements altering ion affinity as proposed for the defective copper-ATPases typical of Wilson and Menkes diseases (Huster and Lutsenko, 2003). The EF hand-like motif, which in SPCA1 binds Ca²⁺, is less conserved in human SPCA2 (C⁷⁰VDLHTGLSEFS, where the conserved residues are underlined) and apparently lost its Ca²⁺-binding capacity. The C-terminus of SPCA2 is more divergent relative to SPCA1a. It contains a dileucine (L⁹²⁵L) motif, which may be a retrieval signal from the plasma membrane (Xiang *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, its extreme C-terminal P⁹⁴³EDV stretch might function as a PDZ-binding motif (Heilker *et al.*, 1996; Wang *et al.*, 2004). These two C-terminal motifs could be involved in localization and shuttling of SPCA2 between the stacks of the *trans*-Golgi network, vesicles derived from this network, and even the plasma membrane.

2.3. Tissue and Cellular Expression

SPCA1 is a housekeeping enzyme and is therefore expressed in all cells (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005). Results on the relative expression level in various tissues are still conflicting. Expression levels, both at the mRNA and at the protein level, in rat brain and testis were much higher than in other tissues like lung and liver (Wootton *et al.*, 2004). Such relatively high expression in brain and testis was not observed at the mRNA level in humans (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005). The cell-type dependent expression of SPCA1 in various animal species thus deserves further study.

SPCA1 is highly expressed in human epidermal keratinocytes (Hu *et al.*, 2000). The epidermis consists of undifferentiated keratinocytes in the basal layer that develop into the differentiated cells of the more superficial spinous, granular and cornified layers (Eckert *et al.*, 1997). Yoshida *et al.* (2006) reported a specific localization of SPCA1 in the basal layer, with low expression levels in differentiated keratinocytes in suprabasal layers. They correlated the preferential localization of SPCA1 in the undifferentiated cells of the basal layer with the induction of differentiation markers upon suppression of SPCA1 expression. This effect could be mimicked by addition of the ionophore Br-A23187, which has a higher affinity for Mn^{2+} than for Ca^{2+} , but not with the classical Ca^{2+} ionophore A23187. As a possible link between Mn^{2+} and differentiation, the authors suggest the requirement of integrin-dependent binding processes for Mn^{2+}

(Banères *et al.*, 2000), considering the orchestrating role integrin-mediated signaling plays in the regulation of keratinocyte differentiation (Levy *et al.*, 2000). It should however be remarked that these results on the preferential localization of SPCA1 in the undifferentiated cells of the basal layer contrast with the immunohistochemical data of Porgpermdee *et al.* (2005) and with our own unpublished observations, showing a clear labeling of both basal and suprabasal cells.

SPCA2 expression is more restricted than that of SPCA1. In mammals the mRNA for SPCA2 is abundant in the various segments of the gastrointestinal tract (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005; Dmitriev *et al.*, 2005). Its mRNA is also found to be enriched in trachea, salivary gland, thyroid, keratinocytes, prostate, mammary gland, brain and testis (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005; Xiang *et al.*, 2005). SPCA2 levels in the mammary gland increase during lactation (Dmitriev *et al.*, 2005). Together with the observation that SPCA2 is mainly expressed in the mucus-secreting goblet cells in human colon (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005), these data suggest a role of SPCA2 in the regulated secretory pathway. There is now an urgent need to complement the SPCA2 mRNA expression pattern with an analysis at the protein level.

2.4. Subcellular Localization

Antebi and Fink (1992) localized the yeast SPCA in the Golgi compartment. The SPCA from C. elegans heterologously expressed in COS-1 cells (Van Baelen et al., 2001; Missiaen et al., 2002) and the human SPCA1 overexpressed in CHO cells (Ton et al., 2002) also appeared in the Golgi area. These findings on overexpressed pumps were later confirmed for the endogenous SPCA1 in cultured cells and tissues. SPCA1 in rat liver cosedimented with the Golgi-localized Ca^{2+} -binding protein CALNUC (Reinhardt et al., 2004). Immunofluorescence microscopy of the endogenously expressed SPCA1 in HeLa cells (Van Baelen et al., 2003) and in PC12 cells (Reinhardt et al., 2004) also revealed a Golgi-like distribution. Intruigingly, the different splice variants of the Drosophila orthologue (SPoCk) all reside in a different subcellular compartment. The SPoCk-A variant is targeted to the Golgi apparatus while the SPoCk-B isoform is located in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum. Finally, the peroxisomes are equipped with the third splice variant, SPoCk-C (Southall et al., 2006). This contrasts with the situation in human where, with the notable exception of SPCA1c which is an inactive isoform retained in the endoplasmic reticulum for degradation, SPCA1a, -b, -c all are sent to the Golgi apparatus (Dode et al., 2005).

 Ca^{2+} uptake in the Golgi apparatus is partially inhibited by low concentrations of thapsigargin, suggesting that also SERCAs contribute to the Ca²⁺ uptake in this compartment (Taylor *et al.*, 1997; Pinton *et al.*, 1998; Lin *et al.*, 1999; Van Baelen *et al.*, 2003; Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2004). The relative contribution of SERCA and SPCA pumps to the uptake of Ca²⁺ into the Golgi is cell-type dependent. Among various cultured cells, the highest SPCA-dependent Ca²⁺ uptake (about 67%) was observed in human keratinocytes (Callewaert *et al.*, 2003). Because SERCAs are typically found in the endoplasmic reticulum and SPCAs in the downstream compartments of the secretory pathway, it is tempting to speculate that the SERCAs are preferentially localized in the upstream *cis*- and *medial*-Golgi. Behne *et al.* (2003) indeed observed an enrichment of SERCA and SPCA1 in, respectively, *cis*- and *trans*-Golgi membranes isolated from human keratinocytes. The differential localization of the Ca²⁺ pumps to either the proximal or distal regions of the secretory pathway may be determined by the cholesterol gradient. The cholesterol concentration is low in the endoplasmic reticulum and increases in the distal direction of the secretory pathway. Membranes of the *trans*-Golgi compartments are therefore thicker and more rigid. Both parameters are important determinants of Ca²⁺-ATPase function and possibly of their localization as well (Li *et al.*, 2004). A localization in the *trans*-Golgi implicates that SPCA1 may also appear in the more distal parts of the secretory pathway. Subcellular fractionation of β -cell-derived lines indeed revealed SPCA1 immunoreactivity in fractions enriched in dense-core secretory vesicles (Mitchell *et al.*, 2004).

SPCA1 in human spermatozoa is localized in an area behind the nucleus which extends into the midpiece (Harper *et al.*, 2005). SPCA1 may represent the only intracellular Ca^{2+} pump in these cells because no evidence for the presence of SERCAs could be obtained.

There are only few reports on the subcellular localization of SPCA2 and no clear picture emerges from them. SPCA2 in human goblet cells colocalizes with Golgi markers in a compact structure near the apical pole of the nucleus (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005). These observations contrast with those on cultured mouse hippocampal neurons, which show a punctate distribution of SPCA2 in the cell body and in the dendrites, with a partial colocalization with the *trans*-Golgi marker TGN38 (Xiang *et al.*, 2005). SPCA2 in hippocampal neurons may therefore be localized in post-Golgi segments of the secretory pathway.

2.5. Functional Properties

SPCAs reversibly cycle between an E_1 - and E_2 -conformation, in line with the current E_1/E_2 -catalytic model of P-type ATPases (De Meis and Vianna, 1979). The E_1 -state binds cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ or Mn²⁺ with high affinity, resulting in several conformational changes enabling ATP to phosphorylate a conserved aspartyl residue. Concomitant with the release of occluded ions, the high-energy phosphoenzyme $E_1 \sim P(Ca^{2+})$ or $E_1 \sim P(Mn^{2+})$ also undergoes a conformational change to a low-energy E_2 -P phosphoenzyme. The binding sites for Ca²⁺ or Mn²⁺ are now exposed to the lumen and are characterized by a low affinity. Hydrolysis of E_2 -P and regeneration of the Ca²⁺- or Mn²⁺-free E_2 -enzyme complete the reaction cycle.

The three functionally active splice variants of the human SPCA1 (SPCA1a, SPCA1b and SPCA1d) have a much higher apparent Ca²⁺ affinity ($K_{0.5} = 9-10$ nM) than the yeast SPCA ($K_{0.5} = 70$ nM) and SERCA1a ($K_{0.5} = 284$ nM) (Dode *et al.*, 2005). The high apparent affinity for Ca²⁺ of SPCA1 is due to a slower $E_1 \sim P(Ca^{2+})$ to E_2 -P transition, which also in SPCAs constitutes the most critical rate-limiting

step of the reaction cycle. The apparent Ca²⁺ affinity of SPCA2 ($K_{0.5} = 25$ nM) is about 2.5-fold lower than that of SPCA1d (Dode *et al.*, 2006) and might be explained by an enhanced rate of $E_1 \sim P(Ca^{2+})$ to E_2 -P transition and by a decreased rate of the Ca²⁺-binding transition.

The maximal turnover rates of the ATPase activity for SPCA1a (20 s^{-1}), SPCA1b (23 s^{-1}) and SPCA1d (27 s^{-1}) differ slightly (Dode *et al.*, 2005). This represents the first evidence for functional differences between the human SPCA1 isoforms. The physiological significance of this finding, and, implicitly, of the SPCA1 isoform diversity remains however to be further elucidated. The maximal turnover rate of the ATPase activity for SPCA2 (41 s^{-1}) is markedly higher than those of the SPCA1 isoforms (Dode *et al.*, 2006).

SPCA1c, one of the four splice isoforms of human SPCA1, is not functionally active (Dode *et al.*, 2005). Heterologous expression of human SPCA1c in HEK-293 cells resulted in a protein that was expressed at very low levels. Since this isoform has a truncated transmembrane segment M10, it could lead to an improperly folded protein that might be sensitive to enhanced cellular degradation. SPCA1c cannot be phosphorylated, and, therefore, cannot couple the energy from the energy-donating ATP molecule to the vectorial ion transport.

The SPCAs are less sensitive to inhibition by thapsigargin than the SERCAs. *E.g.* the K_d for thapsigargin inhibition of SPCA1d is 28 µM versus 0.031 nM for SERCA1a (Dode *et al.*, 2006). This is most likely explained by the fact that Phe²⁵⁶, which in SERCA1a is essential for binding thapsigargin, is not conserved in the SPCAs. SPCA2, with its faster rate of E_2 -P dephosphorylation and its decreased rate of E_2 to E_1 transition relative to SPCA1d, has a higher thapsigargin sensitivity ($K_d = 2 \mu$ M), because the E_2 -form that binds thapsigargin will accumulate to a higher extent in SPCA2 than in SPCA1d.

SPCA pumps have some unique catalytic adaptations, optimizing them to function in the Golgi and more down-stream compartments. (i) The maximal turnover rates of the ATPase activity for the various SPCA1 isoforms (20–27 s⁻¹) and for SPCA2 (41 s^{-1}) are lower than that of SERCA1a (130 s⁻¹). The low turnover rate of the SPCAs could represent necessary adaptations to function in the Golgi compartments, where a higher rate of ion transport is not required because the depletion of Ca^{2+} occurs only during the slower process of downstream trafficking of Ca²⁺-rich vesicles. On the other hand, the higher turnover rate may be required for SPCA2 in secretory cells, where the trafficking of Ca²⁺-rich vesicles must be faster than in nonsecretory cells. (ii) The relatively high apparent Ca²⁺ affinity of the SPCAs, with a $K_{0.5}$ below the resting $[Ca^{2+}]_c$, ensures a rapid refilling of the Golgi compartment with cytosolic Ca^{2+} , even in the absence of transient rises in $[Ca^{2+}]_{c}$. (*iii*) SPCAs, in contrast to SERCA1a, do not counter transport luminal protons because their Ca2+binding pocket has less potentially charged residues that can bind protons (Glu³⁰⁸ and Asp⁸¹⁹ in SPCA1, and Glu³³⁷ and Asp⁸⁵⁰ in SPCA2) than in SERCA1a (Glu⁵⁸, Glu³⁰⁹, Glu⁷⁷¹, and Glu⁹⁰⁸). Protons, which are needed for several vital functions in the Golgi apparatus, are therefore kept inside the lumen of this organelle during accumulation of Ca^{2+} and Mn^{2+} . (iv) Mn^{2+} is also transported with high affinity by SPCAs from yeast (Mandal *et al.*, 2000a), worm (Van Baelen *et al.*, 2001) and man (Fairclough *et al.*, 2003; Xiang *et al.*, 2005; Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005). Mn^{2+} is indispensable for normal Golgi function (see next section).

2.6. Role of Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ in the Golgi Apparatus

Many enzymatic reactions in the lumen of the Golgi apparatus require Ca^{2+} and/or Mn^{2+} . Glycosyltransferases, which add sugars to oligosaccharides, glycoproteins and glycolipids, often show a clear preference of Mn^{2+} over Ca^{2+} used as a cofactor (Kaufman *et al.*, 1994; Dürr *et al.*, 1998). This may explain the defects in glycan processing of secreted thyroglobulin when SPCA1 is downregulated with small interfering RNA (Ramos-Castaneda *et al.*, 2005). Sulfotransferases transfer a sulfuryl group from 3'-phosphoadenosine 5'-phosphosulfate to a tyrosyl residue in a protein or to an alcohol or amino group of complex glycoconjugates (Negishi *et al.*, 2001). Their basal activity is enhanced by Mn^{2+} (Rens-Domiano and Roth, 1989; Lo-Guidice *et al.*, 1995; Spiro *et al.*, 1996; Mishiro *et al.*, 2004; Seko *et al.*, 2005).

Ca²⁺ is needed for the proteolytic processing by pro-hormone convertases in the Golgi apparatus. Furin and pro-hormone convertase type 1 (PC1) require millimolar Ca²⁺ for half-maximal activation, whereas pro-hormone convertase type 2 (PC2) requires only ~5 to 100 µM Ca²⁺ (Davidson *et al.*, 1988; Molloy *et al.*, 1992; Zhou and Lindberg, 1993; Austin and Shields, 1996). In pancreatic β-cells, the high-affinity PC2 enzyme is expressed in the Golgi compartment, whereas the low-affinity PC1 is found in the insulin-containing secretory granules (Davidson *et al.*, 1988). Also proteases that cleave precursors of plasma proteins in liver (Oda, 1992) and a furin-like convertase responsible for processing the beta-site APP cleaving enzyme (BACE) depend on Ca²⁺ (Bennett *et al.*, 2000). Casein kinase in the Golgi apparatus also requires a sufficiently elevated [Ca²⁺] (Creemers *et al.*, 1998).

Secretory vesicles already have a high $[Ca^{2+}]_1$ when they bud off from the *trans*-Golgi network. These vesicles may subsequently lose and take up Ca²⁺ via specific Ca²⁺-release channels and Ca²⁺-uptake mechanisms. Ca²⁺ uptake relies on Ca²⁺ pumps including SPCAs (Mitchell *et al.*, 2001, 2004) and on Ca²⁺/H⁺ exchangers (Gonçalves *et al.*, 1999; Moreno *et al.*, 2005) and H⁺/Na⁺ in combination with Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchangers, using the energy of the proton gradient (Mahapatra *et al.*, 2004). Exocytosis of these vesicles could represent a detoxification pathway for removing excess Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ from the cell. Secretion of Ca²⁺ could be especially important in yeast, which lacks the well-defined plasma-membrane Ca²⁺-extrusion pumps.

2.7. Role of the Golgi Complex in Setting up Cytosolic Ca²⁺ Signals

There are so far no specific inhibitors of SPCAs. The role of this pump in setting up cytosolic Ca^{2+} signals can be assessed by downregulating SPCA1 with small interfering RNA. SPCA1 was not absolutely needed to set up agonist-elicited cytosolic
Ca²⁺ oscillations in HeLa cells, but contributed to the fine tuning of the shape of the Ca²⁺ spikes (Van Baelen *et al.*, 2003). Pancreatic β -cells with depleted SPCA1 had also modified Ca²⁺ oscillations in response to glucose (Mitchell *et al.*, 2004). These results indicate rather subtle effects of the SPCA1-containing Ca²⁺ store on cytosolic Ca²⁺ oscillations. Human spermatozoa may represent a notable exception. In these cells bis-phenol, a blocker of microsomal Ca²⁺-ATPase (Brown *et al.*, 1994), inhibited progesterone-induced Ca²⁺ oscillations (Harper *et al.*, 2005). This important role of SPCA1 in spermatozoa could be related to the absence of SERCAs in these cells.

3. HAILEY-HAILEY DISEASE

Familial benign chronic pemphigus or HHD (OMIM 169600) is a skin disorder with an incidence of 1:50,000. The disease was first described by the Hailey dermatologist brothers (Hailey and Hailey, 1939). The symptoms typically arise after puberty or after the third or fourth decade. It is a blistering skin disease with vesicles and itchy erosions. Pain and an unpleasant smell become dominant symptoms as fissures and maceration develop. The distribution of cutaneous lesions is usually symmetrical. They mainly occur in the bodily folds, particularly the groin and axillar regions. Mucosal surfaces are rarely involved. The disease has a fluctuating course with remissions and exacerbations triggered by friction, sweating, heat, stress, infection, ultraviolet radiation or tissue damage like in allergic contact dermatitis. Many patients have fingernails with asymptomatic longitudinal white lines. The skin lesions may develop into squamous cell carcinomas (Chun et al., 1988; Cockayne et al., 2000; Holst et al., 2000). Sporadic diseases associated with HHD are affective disorder (Korner et al., 1993; Wilk et al., 1994; Yokota and Sawamura, 2006) as well as liver injury (Amagai et al., 2001). HHD patients also display a higher frequency of contact allergies (Reitamo et al., 1989).

Histologically, the disease is characterized by a loss of adhesion between suprabasal keratinocytes (acantholysis) and abnormal keratinisation (dyskeratosis) of the epidermis. In HHD, acantholysis is the most prominent histological feature while in the clinically related Darier disease (OMIM 124200), dyskeratosis is much more apparent. Ultrastructural analysis of acantholytic cells reveals perinuclear aggregates of keratin filaments that have retracted from desmosomes (Harada *et al.*, 1994; Hashimoto *et al.*, 1995; Metze *et al.*, 1996).

3.1. Genetics

Both sexes are equally affected by HHD, which is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner with a family history in 70% of the patients. HHD is caused by germ-line mutations inactivating one allele of *ATP2C1*, the gene encoding SPCA1 (Hu *et al.*, 2000; Sudbrak *et al.*, 2000). Close to 100 mutations are known (Van Baelen *et al.*, 2004). They are scattered throughout the *ATP2C1* gene, indicating no 'hotspot' or clustering of mutations in the gene. There are no genotype-phenotype

correlations between the nature of the *ATP2C1* mutation and the clinical features (Ikeda *et al.*, 2001; Chao *et al.*, 2002). The variation of disease characteristics observed in patients belonging to the same family or in two unrelated individuals sharing the same mutation suggests that the phenotype is strongly influenced by genetic modifiers and/or environmental factors (Dobson-Stone *et al.*, 2002). HHD shows many similarities with Darier disease, in which the *ATP2A2* gene encoding SERCA2 is mutated (Sakuntabhai *et al.*, 1999).

Poblete-Gutiérrez *et al.* (2004) described HHD patients with more severely affected skin lesions appearing already at the age of 3 months. They occur in a mosaic form along the Blaschko lines. These unilateral patterned skin lesions correspond to clones of keratinocytes descending during embryogenesis from a common precursor that as a result of a somatic mutation had lost the only remaining wild-type *ATP2C1* allele. The exacerbated areas are therefore superimposed on the ordinary symmetrical germ-line transmitted HHD phenotype.

3.2. Effect of HHD Mutations on the SPCA1 Protein

Fairclough et al. (2003, 2004) introduced several of the HHD mutations into the human SPCA1d isoform and functionally investigated the consequences of the expressed mutant pumps in COS-1 cells. More than half of the investigated mutants resulted in low levels of protein expression despite normal mRNA levels and a correct targeting of the pump to the Golgi compartments (e.g. Leu³⁴¹ \rightarrow Pro, $Cys^{344} \rightarrow Tyr$, $Cys^{411} \rightarrow Arg$, $Ala^{528} \rightarrow Pro$, $Thr^{570} \rightarrow Ile$ and $Gly^{789} \rightarrow Arg$). This finding is consistent with the markedly reduced SPCA1 expression observed in keratinocytes of HHD patients (Behne et al., 2003). Porgpermdee et al. (2005) reported a 50% reduction of SPCA1 in uninvolved HHD epidermis and a 70-80% reduction in involved HHD epidermis versus normal epidermis. Other mutants resulted in a lack of ion transport. This was due to defects in Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ binding (Asp⁷⁴² \rightarrow Tyr and Gly³⁰⁹ \rightarrow Cys) or to the inability of the phosphoenzyme intermediate to undergo the major $E_1 \sim P(Ca^{2+})$ to E_2 -P conformational transition (Ile⁵⁸⁰ \rightarrow Val). The Pro²⁰¹ \rightarrow Leu mutant displayed wild-type properties with respect to its intracellular targeting and catalytic abilities. Expression of the latter mutant in yeast restored the cellular phenotype of a yeast strain lacking PMR1 (Ton and Rao, 2004). It is therefore unclear how this mutant leads to the HHD defect. This mutation may represent a benign polymorphism. The actual defect might be associated with the non-coding parts of ATP2C1.

3.3. Physiopathology of HHD

The precise link between altered expression or functionality of SPCA1 and the development of skin lesions has not yet been established. First, we do not know whether the symptoms are due to a defect in Ca^{2+} or Mn^{2+} transport by SPCA1. However, the similarity between HHD and Darier disease points to a major role of Ca^{2+} ions because SERCA2 is hardly capable of transporting Mn^{2+} relative to

SPCA1 (Gomes da Costa and Madeira, 1986). Secondly, we do not know whether the main defect in ion homeostasis is located in the lumen of the secretory pathway or in the cytosol. The lower $[Ca^{2+}]_1$ in the Golgi apparatus and possibly in post-Golgi secretory compartments may affect post-translational processing and sorting of key molecules involved in cell-cell adhesion. The defect may also be due to abnormal Ca^{2+} signaling in the cytosol, but here there is no consensus on how HHD mutations affect the $[Ca^{2+}]_c$. Hu *et al.* (2000) observed an elevated basal $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ in diseased keratinocytes, while basal levels remained unchanged in the experiments of Leinonen *et al.* (2005).

The rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ induced by thapsigargin was smaller in HHD keratinocytes (Leinonen *et al.*, 2005) as compared to normal keratinocytes. The size of the SERCA-dependent Ca²⁺ store was therefore decreased. It is an intriguing question whether SERCA levels would be decreased in HHD keratinocytes. If this were the case, the similarities between Darier disease and HHD would be easily explained. *Vice versa*, the expression of SPCA1 might be changed in Darier keratinocytes. SPCA1 might be upregulated and partially compensate for the lower SERCA activity (Foggia and Hovnanian, 2004). In contrast, Porgpermdee *et al.* (2005) observed a moderate decrease of SPCA1 levels in the affected skin of Darier patients, but not in the unaffected skin. On the other hand, our own observations indicate that overexpression of SPCA2 in COS-1 cells does not influence the expression levels of the other endogenous intracellular Ca²⁺ pumps (SPCA1 and SERCA2b) (Vanoevelen *et al.*, 2005).

Aronchik *et al.* (2003) reported defective actin re-organization in HHD keratinocytes and a marked decrease in cellular ATP. These findings implicate inadequate ATP stores as an additional factor in the pathophysiology of HHD.

Although HHD patients with affective disorder have been described (Korner *et al.*, 1993; Wilk *et al.*, 1994; Yokota and Sawamura, 2006), the symptoms in most patients seem to be restricted to the skin. This is intuitively not expected for a mutated protein that is ubiquitously expressed. One explanation may be that the relative contribution of SPCA and SERCA Ca^{2+} pumps to the Ca^{2+} uptake in the Golgi apparatus is cell-type dependent. Reliance on SPCA1 was much higher (roughly two-thirds of the Ca^{2+} uptake into the Golgi apparatus is resistant to thapsigargin) in human keratinocytes than in many other cells (Callewaert *et al.*, 2003). Additional factors might also be involved, like, amongst others, the disturbed glycosylation state of components involved in keratinocyte-specific cell-to-cell contacts, or modifications of specific keratins. Alternatively, compensatory mechanisms that protect non-cutaneous tissues may be lacking in keratinocytes.

The mere loss of one functional *ATP2C1* allele on its own is not sufficient to cause the HHD symptoms. Indeed, the skin of HHD patients is typically symptom-free during the first decades of life and even thereafter the symptoms are only seen in certain areas of the skin in response to sweating, local warming or friction. The symptoms in HHD patients can be elicited in a matter of minutes by locally rubbing the skin. This effect was also confirmed *in vitro*. Functional knockdown of *ATP2C1* in human keratinocytes renders them defective in post-translational processing and

makes these cells hypersensitive to ER stress (Ramos- Castaneda *et al.*, 2005). The complete absence of functional SPCA1 in the patients reported by Poblete-Gutiérrez *et al.* (2004) still allows keratinocytes to proliferate and to survive, at least for some time. Clearly other external factors contribute to the development of the phenotype.

3.4. The Epidermal Ca²⁺ Gradient

A unique Ca^{2+} gradient is present within the normal epidermis, with the lowest $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the basal layer and the highest $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the granular layer (Mauro *et al.*, 1998; Elias *et al.*, 2002). Although proton-induced X-ray emission analysis does not discriminate between intra- and extracellular Ca^{2+} , Ca^{2+} -precipitation studies suggest that the increased $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the outer epidermis is mainly extracellular (Menon *et al.*, 1985). This gradient of extracellular Ca^{2+} has profound effects on the behaviour of keratinocytes. Primary keratinocytes cultured in the presence of a low extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ proliferate and fail to develop intercellular contacts. Cell proliferation under normal conditions is therefore confined to the undifferentiated keratinocytes in the basal layer of the skin where the local extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ is kept low. Increases in extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ above 0.1 mM activate the Ca^{2+} -sensing receptor (CaR) in keratinocytes, stop proliferation and trigger differentiation. This is what happens in the more apical layers of the skin where keratinocytes slowly differentiate, move upwards and eventually enter terminal differentiation to form the cornified upper layer of the skin.

This unique Ca²⁺ gradient is no longer present in the skin of HHD patients, even not in the non-affected areas of the skin (Hu et al., 2000; Behne et al., 2003). The basal and suprabasal layers of the epidermis in HHD contain similar amounts of Ca^{2+} as in normal skin. Also the total $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the granular layer of the epidermis is significantly decreased in HHD skin. Kellermayer (2005) proposed that the absence of this unique epidermal Ca²⁺ gradient is a key pathogenic feature of HHD. In normal skin, noxious stimuli that disrupt the epidermal permeability barrier dissipate the epidermal Ca^{2+} gradient. Extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the lower layers of the epidermis rises resulting in a direct, post-translational effect that stabilizes desmosomal integrity. The elevated extracellular [Ca²⁺] also triggers CaR-mediated processes leading to cell-to-cell adhesion and differentiation. In HHD epidermis, noxious stimuli no longer increase the extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ in the suprabasal layer of the epidermis. The absence of a $[Ca^{2+}]$ rise results in the failure to reinforce the desmosomal connections and no activation of the CaR. Finally, Golgi functions are decreased as a result of the decreased Golgi $[Ca^{2+}]_1$ and $[Mn^{2+}]_1$ caused by the defective SPCA1. All these effects lead to a loss of cell-to-cell adhesion resulting in acantholysis.

The absence of an epidermal Ca^{2+} gradient in the epidermis in HHD may have direct effects on the expression of SPCA1. Extracellular Ca^{2+} may up regulate the expression of SPCA1 in keratinocytes (Kawada *et al.*, 2005; Mayuzumi *et al.*, 2005). According to one view, a rise in extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ would, at least in normal keratinocytes, result in a concomitant increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ followed by the

translocation of Sp1 from the cytosol to the nucleus where it activates enhancing elements in the *ATP2C1* promoter and thereby markedly increases SPCA1 mRNA levels. In HHD keratinocytes, the rise of $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ is suppressed, the translocation of Sp1 to the nucleus is blunted and the transcriptional upregulation of SPCA1 mRNA impaired (Kawada *et al.*, 2005). In other reports, however, either no change (Yoshida *et al.*, 2006) or a decrease in SPCA1 expression (Ramos-Castaneda *et al.*, 2005) was seen when the extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ increased.

4. CONCLUSIONS

We have reviewed the properties of the SPCA pumps. SPCAs are now recognized as important players in the regulation of cellular ion homeostasis, along with the SERCAs and PMCAs. We begin to understand their role in the Ca^{2+} and Mn^{2+} homeostasis in the Golgi apparatus and downstream compartments of the secretory pathway. This role seems to be crucial, since mutations in the SPCA1 gene (*ATP2C1*) cause HHD. There is now an urgent need to establish how mutations in SPCA1 lead to the clinical phenotype. A major problem to be resolved is why HHD only becomes manifest relatively late in life and why only the skin is affected by *ATP2C1* haploinsufficiency.

Due to its unique catalytic properties and restricted expression pattern, SPCA2 must have a special role to play in cellular ion homeostasis, a role which should be further investigated.

REFERENCES

- Amagai, M., Kobayashi, M., Wakabayashi, K., Hakuno, M., Hashiguchi, A., Nishikawa, T., Hata, J., 2001, A case of generalized Hailey-Hailey disease with fatal liver injury. *Keio J. Med.* 50, 109116
- Andersen, J.P., 1995, Dissection of the functional domains of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase by site-directed mutagenesis. *Biosci. Rep.* 15, 243–261
- Antebi, A, and Fink, G.R., 1992, The yeast Ca²⁺-ATPase homologue, PMR1, is required for normal Golgi function and localizes in a novel Golgi-like distribution. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 3, 633–654
- Aronchik, I., Behne, M.J., Leypoldt, L., Crumrine, D., Epstein, E., Ikeda, S., Mizoguchi M., Bench, G., Pozzan, T., Mauro, T., 2003, Actin reorganization is abnormal and cellular ATP is decreased in Hailey-Hailey keratinocytes. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 121, 681–687
- Austin, C.D., and Shields, D., 1996, Prosomatostatin processing in permeabilized cells. Calcium is required for prohormone cleavage but not formation of nascent secretory vesicles. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 1194–1199
- Banères, J.L., Roquet, F., Martin, A., and Parello J., 2000, A minimized human integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$ that retains ligand recognition. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 5888–5903
- Behne, M.J., Tu, C.L., Aronchik, I., Epstein, E., Bench, G., Bikle, D.D., Pozzan, T., and Mauro, T.M., 2003, Human keratinocyte ATP2C1 localizes to the Golgi and controls Golgi Ca²⁺ stores. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 121, 688–694
- Bennett, B.D., Denis, P., Haniu, M., Teplow, D.B., Kahn, S., Louis, J.C., Citron, M., and Vassar, R., 2000, A furin-like convertase mediates propeptide cleavage of BACE, the Alzheimer's beta-secretase. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 37712–37717
- Berridge, M.J., 1993, Inositol trisphosphate and calcium signalling. Nature 361, 315-325

- Berridge, M.J., 2002, The endoplasmic reticulum: a multifunctional signaling organelle. *Cell Calcium* 32, 235–249
- Brown., G.R., Benyon, S.L., Kirk, C.J., Wictome, M., East, J.M., Lee, A.G., and Michelangeli, F., 1994, Characterisation of a novel Ca²⁺ pump inhibitor (bis-phenol) and its effects on intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1195, 252–258
- Callewaert, G., Parys, J.B., De Smedt, H., Raeymaekers, L., Wuytack, F., Vanoevelen, J., Van Baelen, K., Simoni, A., Rizzuto, R., and Missiaen, L., 2003, Similar Ca²⁺-signaling properties in keratinocytes and in COS-1 cells overexpressing the secretory-pathway Ca²⁺-ATPase SPCA1. *Cell Calcium* 34, 157–162
- Carnell, L., and Moore, H.P., 1994, Transport via the regulated secretory pathway in semi-intact PC12 cells: role of intra-cisternal calcium and pH in the transport and sorting of secretogranin II. *J. Cell Biol.* 127, 693–705
- Chanat, E., and Huttner, W.B., 1991, Milieu-induced, selective aggregation of regulated secretory proteins in the trans-Golgi network. J. Cell Biol. 115, 1505–1519
- Chao, S.C., Tsai, Y.M., and Yang, M.H., 2002, Mutation analysis of *ATP2C1* gene in Taiwanese patients with Hailey-Hailey disease. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 146, 595–600
- Chun, S.I., Whang, K.C., and Su, W.P., 1988, Squamous cell carcinoma arising in Hailey-Hailey disease. *J. Cutan. Pathol.* 15, 234–237
- Clarke, D.M., Loo, T.W., Inesi, G., and MacLennan, D.H., 1989, Location of high affinity Ca²⁺-binding sites within the predicted transmembrane domain of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Nature* 339, 476–478
- Cockayne, S.E., Rassl, D.M., and Thomas, S.E., 2000, Squamous cell carcinoma arising in Hailey-Hailey disease of the vulva. Br. J. Dermatol. 142, 540–542
- Creemers, J.W., Jackson, R.S., and Hutton, J.C., 1998, Molecular and cellular regulation of prohormone processing. Semin. Cell. Dev. Biol. 9, 3–10
- Davidson, H.W., Rhodes, C.J., and Hutton, J.C., 1988, Intraorganellar calcium and pH control proinsulin cleavage in the pancreatic beta cell via two distinct site-specific endopeptidases. *Nature* 333, 93–96
- De Meis, L., and Vianna, A.L., 1979, Energy interconversion by the Ca²⁺-dependent ATPase of the sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 48, 275–292
- Dmitriev, R.I., Pestov, N.B., Korneenko, T.V., Kostina, M.B., and Shakhparonov, M.I., 2005, Characterization of second isoform of secretory pathway Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase. J. Gen. Physiol. 126, 71a–72a
- Dobson-Stone, C., Fairclough, R., Dunne, E., Brown, J., Dissanayake, M., Munro, C.S., Strachan, T., Burge, S., Sudbrak, R., Monaco, A.P., and Hovnanian, A., 2002, Hailey-Hailey disease: molecular and clinical characterization of novel mutations in the ATP2C1 gene. J. Invest. Dermatol. 118, 338–343
- Dode, L., Andersen, J.P., Raeymaekers, L., Missiaen, L., Vilsen, B., and Wuytack, F., 2005, Functional comparison between secretory pathway Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase (SPCA) 1 and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) 1 isoforms by steady-state and transient kinetic analyses. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 39124–39134
- Dode, L., Andersen, J.P., Vanoevelen, J., Raeymaekers, L., Missiaen, L., Vilsen, B., and Wuytack, F., 2006, Dissection of the functional differences between human secretory pathway Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase (SPCA) 1 and 2 isoenzymes by steady-state and transient kinetic analyses. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 3182–3189
- Dürr, G., Strayle, J., Plemper, R., Elbs, S., Klee, S.K., Catty, P., Wolf, D.H., and Rudolph, H.K., 1998, The medial-Golgi ion pump Pmr1 supplies the yeast secretory pathway with Ca²⁺ and Mn²⁺ required for glycosylation, sorting, and endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 9, 1149–1162
- Eckert, R.L., Crish, J.F., and Robinson, N.A., 1997, The epidermal keratinocyte as a model for the study of gene regulation and cell differentiation. *Physiol. Rev.* 77, 397–424
- Elias, P.M., Ahn, S.K., Denda, M., Brown, B.E., Crumrine, D., Kimutai, L.K., Komuves, L., Lee, S.H., and Feingold, K.R., 2002, Modulations in epidermal calcium regulate the expression of differentiationspecific markers. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 119, 1128–1136

- Fairclough, R.J., Dode, L., Vanoevelen, J., Andersen, J.P., Missiaen, L., Raeymaekers, L., Wuytack, F., and Hovnanian, A., 2003, Effect of Hailey-Hailey disease mutations on the function of a new variant of human secretory pathway Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase (hSPCA1). J. Biol. Chem. 278, 24721–24730
- Fairclough, R.J., Lonie, L., Van Baelen, K., Haftek, M., Munro, C.S., Burge, S.M., and Hovnanian, A., 2004, Hailey-Hailey disease: identification of novel mutations in ATP2C1 and effect of missense mutation A528P on protein expression levels. J. Invest. Dermatol. 123, 67–71
- Foggia, L., and Hovnanian, A., 2004, Calcium pump disorders of the skin. Am. J. Med. Genet. 131C, 20–31
- Gomes da Costa, A., and Madeira, V.M., 1986, Magnesium and manganese ions modulate Ca²⁺ uptake and its energetic coupling in sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 249, 199–206
- Gonçalves, P.P., Meireles, S.M., Neves, P., and Vale, M.G., 1999, Synaptic vesicle Ca²⁺/H⁺ antiport: dependence on the proton electrochemical gradient. *Mol. Brain Res.* 71, 178–184
- Gunteski-Hamblin, A.M., Clarke, D.M., and Shull, G.E., 1992, Molecular cloning and tissue distribution of alternatively spliced mRNAs encoding possible mammalian homologues of the yeast secretory pathway calcium pump. *Biochemistry* 31, 7600–7608
- Hailey, H., and Hailey, H., 1939, Familial benign chronic pemphigus. Report of 13 cases in 4 generations of a family and report of 9 additional cases in 4 generations of a family. *Arch. Dermatol. Syphilol.* 39, 679–685
- Harada, M., Hashimoto, K., and Fujiwara, K., 1994, Immunohistochemical distribution of CD44 and desmoplakin I & II in Hailey-Hailey's disease and Darier's disease. J. Dermatol. 21, 389–393
- Harper, C., Wootton, L., Michelangeli, F., Lefièvre, L., Barratt, C., and Publicover, S., 2005, Secretory pathway Ca²⁺-ATPase (SPCA1) Ca²⁺ pumps, not SERCAs, regulate complex [Ca²⁺]_i signals in human spermatozoa. *J. Cell Sci.* 118, 1673–1685
- Hashimoto, K., Fujiwara, K., Harada, M., Setoyama, M., and Eto, H., 1995, Junctional proteins of keratinocytes in Grover's disease, Hailey-Hailey's disease and Darier's disease. J. Dermatol. 22, 159–170
- Heilker, R., Manning-Krieg, U., Zuber, J.F., and Spiess, M., 1996, In vitro binding of clathrin adaptors to sorting signals correlates with endocytosis and basolateral sorting. *EMBO J.* 15, 2893–2899
- Holst, V.A., Fair, K.P., Wilson, B.B., and Patterson, J.W., 2000, Squamous cell carcinoma arising in Hailey-Hailey disease. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 43, 368–371
- Hu, Z., Bonifas, J.M., Beech, J., Bench, G., Shigihara, T., Ogawa, H., Ikeda, S., Mauro, T., and Epstein, E.H.Jr., 2000, Mutations in ATP2C1, encoding a calcium pump, cause Hailey-Hailey disease. *Nat. Genet.* 24, 61–65
- Huster, D., and Lutsenko, S., 2003, The distinct roles of the N-terminal copper-binding sites in regulation of catalytic activity of the Wilson's disease protein. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 32212–32218
- Ikeda, S., Mayuzumi, N., Ogawa, H., Shigihara, T., and Yu, X., 2001, Mutation of ATP2C1 in Japanese patients with Hailey-Hailey disease: Intrafamilial and interfamilial phenotype variations and lack of correlation with mutation patterns. J. Invest. Dermatol. 117, 1654–1656
- Kaufman, R.J., Swaroop, M., and Murtha-Riel, P., 1994, Depletion of manganese within the secretory pathway inhibits O-linked glycosylation in mammalian cells. *Biochemistry* 33, 9813–9819
- Kawada, H., Nishiyama, C., Takagi, A., Tokura, T., Nakano, N., Maeda, K., Mayuzumi, N., Ikeda, S., Okumura, K., and Ogawa, H., 2005, Transcriptional regulation of ATP2C1 gene by Sp1 and YY1 and reduced function of its promoter in Hailey-Hailey disease keratinocytes. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 124, 1206–1214
- Kellermayer, R., 2005, Hailey-Hailey disease as an orthodisease of PMR1 deficiency in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEBS Lett. 579, 2021–2025
- Korner, J., Rietschel, M., Nothen, M.M., Wilk, C.M., Bauer, R., and Moller, H.J., 1993, Familial cosegregation of affective disorder and Hailey-Hailey disease. Br. J. Psychiatry 163, 109–110
- Leinonen, P.T., Myllyla, R.M., Hagg, P.M., Tuukkanen, J., Koivunen, J., Peltonen, S., Oikarinen, A., Korkiamaki, T., and Peltone, J., 2005, Keratinocytes cultured from patients with Hailey-Hailey disease and Darier disease display distinct patterns of calcium regulation. Br. J. Dermatol. 153, 113–117
- Levy, L., Broad, S., Diekmann, D., Evans, R.D., and Watt, F.M., 2000, Beta1 integrins regulate keratinocyte adhesion and differentiation by distinct mechanisms. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 11, 453–466

- Li, Y., Ge, M., Ciani, L., Kuriakose, G., Westover, E.J., Dura, M., Covey, D.F., Freed, J.H., Maxfield, F.R., Lytton, J., and Tabas, I., 2004, Enrichment of endoplasmic reticulum with cholesterol inhibits sarcoplasmic-endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase-2b activity in parallel with increased order of membrane lipids: implications for depletion of endoplasmic reticulum calcium stores and apoptosis in cholesterol-loaded macrophages. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 37030–37039
- Lin, P., Yao, Y., Hofmeister, R., Tsien, R.Y., and Farquhar, M.G., 1999, Overexpression of CALNUC (nucleobindin) increases agonist and thapsigargin releasable Ca²⁺ storage in the Golgi. *J. Cell Biol.* 145, 279–289
- Lo-Guidice, J.M., Périni, J.M., Lafitte, J.J., Ducourouble, M.P., Roussel, P., and Lamblin, G., 1995, Characterization of a sulfotransferase from human airways responsible for the 3-O-sulfation of terminal galactose in N-acetyllactosamine-containing mucin carbohydrate chains. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 27544–27550
- Mahapatra, N.R., Mahata, M., Hazra, P.P., McDonough, P.M., O'Connor, D.T., and Mahata, S.K., 2004, A dynamic pool of calcium in catecholamine storage vesicles. Exploration in living cells by a novel vesicle-targeted chromogranin A-aequorin chimeric photoprotein. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 51107–51121
- Mandal, D., Woolf, T.B., and Rao, R., 2000a, Manganese selectivity of pmr1, the yeast secretory pathway ion pump, is defined by residue gln783 in transmembrane segment 6. Residue Asp778 is essential for cation transport. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 23933–23938
- Mandal, D., Rulli, S.J., and Rao, R., 2000b, Packing interactions between transmembrane helices alter ion selectivity of the yeast Golgi Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase PMR1. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 35292–35298
- Mauro, T., Bench, G., Sidderas-Haddad, E., Feingold, K., Elias, P., and Cullander, C., 1998, Acute barrier perturbation abolishes the Ca²⁺ and K⁺ gradients in murine epidermis: quantitative measurement using PIXE. J. Invest. Dermatol. 111, 1198–1201
- Mayuzumi, N., Ikeda, S., Kawada, H., and Ogawa, H., 2005, Effects of drugs and anticytokine antibodies on expression of ATP2A2 and ATP2C1 in cultured normal human keratinocytes. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 152, 920–924
- Meldolesi, J., and Pozzan, T., 1998, The endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ store: a view from the lumen. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 23, 10–14
- Menon, G.K., Grayson, S., and Elias, P.M., 1985, Ionic calcium reservoirs in mammalian epidermis: ultrastructural localization by ion-capture cytochemistry. J. Invest. Dermatol. 84, 508–512
- Metze, D., Hamm, H., Schorat, A., and Luger, T., 1996, Involvement of the adherens junction-actin filament system in acantholytic dyskeratosis of Hailey-Hailey disease: A histological, ultrastructural, and histochemical study of lesional and non-lesional skin. J. Cutan. Pathol. 23, 211–222
- Mishiro, E., Liu, M.Y., Sakakibara, Y., Suizo, M., and Liu, M.C., 2004, Zebrafish tyrosylprotein sulfotransferase: molecular cloning, expression, and functional characterization. *Biochem. Cell Biol.* 82, 295–303
- Missiaen, L., Vanoevelen, J., Van Acker, K., Raeymaekers, L., Parys, J.B., Callewaert, G., Wuytack, F., and De Smedt, H., 2002, Ca²⁺ signals in Pmr1-GFP expressing COS-1 cells with functional endoplasmic reticulum. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 294, 249–253
- Mitchell, K.J., Pinton, P., Varadi, A., Tacchetti, C., Ainscow, E.K., Pozzan, T., Rizzuto, R., and Rutter, G.A., 2001, Dense core secretory vesicles revealed as a dynamic Ca²⁺ store in neuroendocrine cells with a vesicle-associated membrane protein aequorin chimaera. J. Cell Biol. 155, 41–51
- Mitchell, K.J., Tsuboi, T., and Rutter, G.A., 2004, Role for plasma membrane-related Ca²⁺-ATPase-1 (ATP2C1) in pancreatic beta-cell Ca²⁺ homeostasis revealed by RNA silencing. *Diabetes* 53, 393–400
- Molloy, S.S., Bresnahan, P.A., Leppla, S.H., Klimpel, K.R., and Thomas G., 1992, Human furin is a calcium-dependent serine endoprotease that recognizes the sequence Arg-X-X-Arg and efficiently cleaves anthrax toxin protective antigen. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 16396–16402
- Moreno, A., Lobaton, C.D., Santodomingo, J., Vay, L., Hernandez-SanMiguel, E., Rizzuto, R., Montero, M., and Alvarez, J., 2005, Calcium dynamics in catecholamine-containing secretory vesicles. *Cell Calcium* 37, 555–564
- Negishi, M., Pedersen, L.G., Petrotchenko, E., Shevtsov, S., Gorokhov, A., Kakuta, Y., and Pedersen, L.C., 2001, Structure and function of sulfotransferases. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 390, 149–157

- Oda, K., 1992, Calcium depletion blocks proteolytic cleavages of plasma protein precursors which occur at the Golgi and/or trans-Golgi network. Possible involvement of Ca²⁺-dependent Golgi endoproteases. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, 17465–17471
- Pinton, P., Pozzan, T., and Rizzuto, R., 1998, The Golgi apparatus is an inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphatesensitive Ca²⁺ store, with functional properties distinct from those of the endoplasmic reticulum. *EMBO J.* 17, 5298–5308
- Poblete-Gutiérrez, P., Wiederholt, T., Konig, A., Jugert, F.K., Marquardt, Y., Rubben, A., Merk, H.F., Happle, R., and Frank, J., 2004, Allelic loss underlies type 2 segmental Hailey-Hailey disease, providing molecular confirmation of a novel genetic concept. J. Clin. Invest. 114, 1467–1474
- Porgpermdee, S., Yu, X., Takagi, A., Mayuzumi, N., Ogawa, H., and Ikeda, S., 2005, Expression of SPCA1 (Hailey-Hailey disease gene product) in acantholytic dermatoses. J. Dermatol. Sci. 40, 137–140
- Ramos-Castaneda, J., Park, Y.N., Liu, M., Hauser, K., Rudolph, H., Shull, G.E., Jonkman, M.F., Mori, K., Ikeda, S., Ogawa, H., and Arvan, P., 2005, Deficiency of ATP2C1, a Golgi ion pump, induces secretory pathway defects in endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-associated degradation and sensitivity to ER stress. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 9467–9473
- Reinhardt, T.A., Horst, R.L., and Waters, W.R., 2004, Characterization of Cos-7 cells overexpressing the rat secretory pathway Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Am. J. Physiol.* 286, C164-C169
- Reitamo, S., Remitz, A., Lauerma A.I., Forstrom L, 1989, Contact allergies in patients with familial benign chronic pemhigus (Hailey-Hailey disease). J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 21, 506–510
- Rens-Domiano, S., and Roth, J.A., 1989, Characterization of tyrosylprotein sulfotransferase from rat liver and other tissues. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 899–905
- Rudolph, H.K., Antebi, A., Fink, G.R., Buckley, C.M., Dorman, T.E., LeVitre, J., Davidow, L.S., Mao, J.I., and Moir, D.T., 1989, The yeast secretory pathway is perturbed by mutations in PMR1, a member of a Ca²⁺ ATPase family. *Cell* 58, 133–145
- Sakuntabhai, A., Ruiz-Perez, V., Carter, S., Jacobsen, N., Burge, S., Monk, S., Smith, M., Munro, C.S., O'Donovan, M., Craddock, N., Kucherlapati, R., Rees, J.L., Owen, M., Lathrop, G.M., Monaco, A.P., Strachan, T., and Hovnanian, A., 1999, Mutations in ATP2A2, encoding a Ca²⁺ pump, cause Darier disease. *Nat. Genet.* 21, 271–277
- Seko, A., Sumiya, J., and Yamashita, K., 2005, Porcine, mouse and human galactose 3-Osulphotransferase-2 enzymes have different substrate specificities; the porcine enzyme requires basic compounds for its catalytic activity. *Biochem. J.* 391, 77–85
- Sorin, A., Rosas, G., and Rao, R., 1997, PMR1, a Ca²⁺-ATPase in yeast Golgi, has properties distinct from sarco/endoplasmic reticulum and plasma membrane calcium pumps. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 9895–9901
- Southall, T.D., Terhzaz, S., Cabrero, P., Chintapalli, V.R., Evans, J.M., Dow, J.A.T., and Davies, S.A., 2006, Novel subcellular locations and functions for secretory pathway Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPases. *Physiol. Genomics* 26, 35–45
- Spiro, R.G., Yasumoto, Y., and Bhoyroo, V., 1996, Characterization of a rat liver Golgi sulphotransferase responsible for the 6-O-sulphation of N-acetylglucosamine residues in beta-linkage to mannose: role in assembly of sialyl-galactosyl-N-acetylglucosamine 6-sulphate sequence of N-linked oligosaccharides. *Biochem. J.* 319, 209–216
- Sudbrak, R., Brown, J., Dobson-Stone, C., Carter, S., Ramser, J., White, J., Healy, E., Dissanayake, M., Larregue, M., Perrussel, M., Lehrach, H., Munro, C.S., Strachan, T., Burge, S., Hovnanian, A., and Monaco, A.P., 2000, Hailey-Hailey disease is caused by mutations in ATP2C1 encoding a novel Ca²⁺ pump. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 1131–1140
- Taylor, R.S., Jones, S.M., Dahl, R.H., Nordeen, M.H., and Howell, K.E., 1997, Characterization of the Golgi complex cleared of proteins in transit and examination of calcium uptake activities. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 8, 1911–1931
- Ton, V.K., Mandal, D., Vahadji, C., and Rao, R., 2002, Functional expression in yeast of the human secretory pathway Ca²⁺,Mn²⁺-ATPase defective in Hailey-Hailey disease. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 6422–6427

- Ton, V.K., and Rao, R., 2004, Expression of Hailey-Hailey disease mutations in yeast. J. Invest. Dermatol. 123, 1192–1194
- Toyoshima, C., Nakasako, M., Nomura, H., and Ogawa, H., 2000, Crystal structure of the calcium pump of sarcoplasmic reticulum at 2.6 A resolution. *Nature* 405, 647–655
- Van Baelen, K., Vanoevelen, J., Missiaen, L., Raeymaekers, L., and Wuytack, F., 2001, The Golgi PMR1 P-type ATPase of Caenorhabditis elegans. Identification of the gene and demonstration of calcium and manganese transport. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 10683–10691
- Van Baelen, K., Vanoevelen, J., Callewaert, G., Parys, J.B., De Smedt, H., Raeymaekers, L., Rizzuto, R., Missiaen, L., and Wuytack, F., 2003, The contribution of the SPCA1 Ca²⁺ pump to the Ca²⁺ accumulation in the Golgi apparatus of HeLa cells assessed via RNA-mediated interference. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 306, 430–436
- Van Baelen, K., Dode, L., Vanoevelen, J., Callewaert, G., De Smedt, H., Missiaen, L., Parys, J.B., Raeymaekers, L., and Wuytack, F., 2004, The Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺ pumps in the Golgi apparatus. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1742, 103–112
- Vanoevelen, J., Raeymaekers, L., Parys, J.B., De Smedt, H., Van Baelen, K., Callewaert, G., Wuytack, F., and Missiaen, L., 2004, Inositol trisphosphate producing agonists do not mobilize the thapsigargininsensitive part of the endoplasmic-reticulum and Golgi Ca²⁺ store. *Cell Calcium* 35, 115–121
- Vanoevelen, J., Dode, L., Van Baelen, K., Fairclough, R.J., Missiaen, L., Raeymaekers, L., and Wuytack, F., 2005, The secretory pathway Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase 2 is a Golgi-localized pump with high affinity for Ca²⁺ ions. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 22800–22808
- Wang, P., Wang, X., and Pei, D., 2004, Mint-3 regulates the retrieval of the internalized membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase, MT5-MMP, to the plasma membrane by binding to its carboxyl end motif EWV. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 20461–20470
- Wei, Y., Marchi, V., Wang, R., and Rao, R., 1999, An N-terminal EF hand-like motif modulates ion transport by Pmr1, the yeast Golgi Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase. *Biochemistry* 38, 14534–14541
- Wei, Y., Chen, J., Rosas, G., Tompkins, D.A., Holt, P.A., and Rao, R., 2000, Phenotypic screening of mutations in Pmr1, the yeast secretory pathway Ca²⁺/Mn²⁺-ATPase, reveals residues critical for ion selectivity and transport. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 23927–23932
- Wilk, M., Rietschel, M., Korner, J., Moller, H.J., Nothen, M.M., Bauer, R., and Kreisel, H.W., 1994, Pemphigus chronicus benignus familiaris (Hailey-Hailey disease) and bipolar affective disease in three members of a family. *Hautarzt* 45, 313–317
- Wootton, L.L., Argent, C.C., Wheatley, M., and Michelangeli, F., 2004, The expression, activity and localisation of the secretory pathway Ca²⁺-ATPase (SPCA1) in different mammalian tissues. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1664, 189–197
- Xiang, M., Mohamalawari, D., and Rao, R., 2005, A novel isoform of the secretory pathway Ca²⁺,Mn²⁺-ATPase, hSPCA2, has unusual properties and is expressed in the brain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 11608–11614
- Yokota, K., and Sawamura, D., 2006, Hailey-Hailey disease with affective disorder: Report of a case with novel *ATP2C1* gene mutation. *J. Dermatol. Sci.* 43, 150–151
- Yoshida, M., Yamasaki, K., Daiho, T., Iizuka, H., and Suzuki, H., 2006, ATP2C1 is specifically localized in the basal layer of normal epidermis and its depletion triggers keratinocyte differentiation. *J. Dermatol. Sci.* 43, 21–33
- Zhou, Y., and Lindberg, I., 1993, Purification and characterization of the prohormone convertase PC1(PC3). J. Biol. Chem. 268, 5615–5623

CHAPTER 15

CALCIUM SIGNALLING AND CANCER CELL GROWTH

T. CAPIOD¹, Y. SHUBA², R. SKRYMA¹ AND N. PREVARSKAYA¹

¹INSERM U800, Laboratoire de Physiologie Cellulaire, Université des Sciences et Technologies Lille 1, 59655 Villeneuve d'Ascq Cedex, France

²Bogomoletz Institute of Physiology, NASU, Bogomoletz Str, 4, 01024 Kiev-24, Ukraine

Abstract: Cancer is caused by defects in the mechanisms underlying cell proliferation and cell death. Calcium ions are central to both phenomena, serving as major signalling agents with spatial localization, magnitude and temporal characteristics of calcium signals ultimately determining cell's fate. There are four primary compartments: extracellular space, cytoplasm, endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria that participate in the cellular Ca^{2+} circulation. They are separated by own membranes incorporating divers Ca^{2+} -handling proteins whose concerted action provides for Ca^{2+} signals with the spatial and temporal characteristics necessary to account for specific cellular response. The transformation of a normal cell into a cancer cell is associated with a major re-arrangement of Ca^{2+} pumps, Na/Ca exchangers and Ca^{2+} channels, which leads to the enhanced proliferation and impaired ability to die. In the present chapter we examine what changes in Ca^{2+} signalling and the mechanisms that support it underlie the passage from normal to pathological cell growth and death control. Understanding this changes and identifying molecular players involved provides new prospects for cancers treatment

Keywords: Apoptosis, proliferation, calcium channels

1. INTRODUCTION

Cancer is caused by defects in the mechanisms underlying cell proliferation and cell death. The development of tumours results from excessive cell proliferation combined with inhibition of cell apoptosis that eventually leads to imbalances in tissue homeostasis and uncontrolled growth. The molecular machineries of proliferation and apoptosis are different, with proliferation relying on cyclin-dependent protein kinases (CDKs) – regulators of cell division cycle (Nigg, 1995) – and apoptosis primarily dependent on caspases – cysteine proteases executing a cell death programme (Nicholson, 1999). Nevertheless, calcium ions are central to both phenomena, serving as major signalling agents. From these observations, it is clear

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 405–427. © 2007 Springer.

that changes in cytosolic free calcium $([Ca^{2+}]_i)$ alone are insufficient for governing such diverse processes deciding cell fate. Therefore, the amplitude, spatial localization and temporal characteristics of calcium signals are of major importance in determining death, survival and proliferation (Berridge, 1995, Berridge, et al., 1998, Kahl, et al., 2003, Lipskaia, et al., 2004, Munaron, et al., 2004, Orrenius, et al., 2003). Enzymatic reactions and gene activation obviously occur in the cytoplasm and nucleoplasm, and there is recent unequivocal evidence that calcium levels within the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria are at least as important as $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ changes. The formation of local signalling complexes due to restricted calcium diffusion (Allbritton, et al., 1992) may well allow even greater specialization of the cellular responses controlled by this divalent cation.

Cell transition from the normal to the malignant state is a multistage process characterized by a major reorganization of the molecular machinery of active and passive Ca^{2+} transport across cellular and subcellular membranes, and also Ca^{2+} buffering, accumulation and extrusion by various intracellular organelles (Berridge, et al., 2003). In this chapter we outline the major mechanisms of Ca^{2+} signalling and examine their involvement in the control of cell death and proliferation. However, the relationships to cancer development are not always straightforward and direct comparisons of normal and tumour cells are rare; indeed, cell lines have been widely used to understand some of the processes leading to abnormal cell proliferation.

2. EXTRACELLULAR CALCIUM AND CANCER

Extracellular Ca²⁺ is essential for a number of vital processes as diverse as bone formation and muscle contraction. The G protein-coupled Ca²⁺-sensing receptor (CaSR) can sense extracellular Ca^{2+} concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_{0}$) over the range of 0.05-5 mM, which makes it a key mediator of cellular responses to physiologically relevant changes in extracellular Ca²⁺ (Msaouel, et al., 2004). It is an essential component of the homeostatic system regulating parathyroid hormone secretion, Ca^{2+} excretion by kidney, and bone remodeling. For many cell types, including intestinal epithelial cells, breast epithelial cells, keratinocytes, and ovarian surface epithelial cells, changes in [Ca²⁺], in the 0.05–5 mM range can switch cellular behaviour from proliferation to terminal differentiation or quiescence. As cancer is the consequence of a disordered balance between proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis, disruption of the function of the CaSR is a likely contributor (Rodland, 2004). Loss of the growth suppressing effects of elevated extracellular Ca^{2+} have been demonstrated in parathyroid hyperplasias and in colon carcinoma, and have been correlated with changes in the levels of CaSR. Diminished CaSR expression results in abnormal differentiation and progression of colorectal carcinoma. For instance, the human colon adenocarcinoma-derived cell line, Caco-2, responds to low ambient $[Ca^{2+}]_{a}$ by activation of the protein kinase C-signalling pathway ultimately leading to upregulation of c-myc mRNA production and release from the G1/S phase control of the cell cycle (Kallay, et al., 2000). This proliferative response can be abolished by activation of CaSR either through raising $[Ca^{2+}]_{a}$ or by using the CaSR agonist Gd^{3+} as a substitute for Ca^{2+} . The inhibitory effect of $[Ca^{2+}]_{0}$ on cell replication has an IC_{50} =0.045 mM, indicating the existence of a highly sensitive CaSR operating at low ambient [Ca²⁺], and specific immunostaining demonstrates CaR-positive cells in the crypt epithelium of normal human colonic mucosa and in glandular (i.e. differentiated) structures of carcinomatous lesions (Kallay, et al., 2000). CaSR has been also implicated in increased expression and secretion of parathyroid hormone-related peptide (PTHrP), a primary causal factor in hypercalcaemia-induced malignancy and a contributor to metastatic processes involving bone. In parathyroid tissue, CaSR expression has been linked to proliferation of both parathyroid adenomas and carcinomas (Manning, et al., 2006). Activation of CaSR in H-500 rat Leydig cancer cells under conditions of model hypercalcaemia stimulates PTHrP release and proliferation (Tfelt-Hansen, et al., 2005). This effect was attributed to CaSR-mediated transactivation (by phosphorylation) of epidermal growth factor (EGF)-receptor tyrosine kinase. It was concluded that in Leydig cancer cells, calcium activates the EGF receptor, possibly through the CaSR, to regulate downstream signalling events and major biological functions.

CaSR may also influence the proliferative and apoptotic status of the cells indirectly via modulation of cell volume homeostasis. Indeed, stimulation of CaSR in human epithelial cells induces upregulation of volume-regulated anion channels (VRAC) via a G protein-mediated increase in intracellular cAMP (Shimizu, et al., 2000). Proliferation and apoptosis are associated with essential volume perturbations [e.g., (Lang, et al., 2000)] and VRAC, a key component of homeostatic volume regulation, has been directly implicated in proliferation (Chen, et al., 2002, Doroshenko, et al., 2001, Shen, et al., 2000, Wang, et al., 2002) and apoptosis (Lemonnier, et al., 2004, Okada, et al., 2001, Okada, et al., 2006, Shen, et al., 2002). Consequently, extracellular Ca²⁺ may affect carcinogenesis via the CaSR-VRAC-cell volume links. The Ca²⁺-permeable store-operated channel (SOC) is directly and functionally coupled to VRAC in an androgen-dependent LNCaP human prostate cancer epithelial cell line (Lemonnier, et al., 2002), evidence for another, CaSR-unrelated, potential mechanism for extracellular Ca²⁺ involvement in proliferative and apoptotic events.

There is convincing laboratory and clinical evidence that calcium and vitamin D reduce the risk of colorectal cancer (Chia, et al., 2004): colon cancer incidence is inversely proportional to the intake of calcium. The same is true for mammary cancers (Lipkin, et al., 1999). The molecular events and cellular actions of these micronutrients that contribute to their tumour-modulating effects include a complex series of signalling events that affect the structural and functional organization of colon cells (Lamprecht, et al., 2003). The value of calcium as dietary supplement for the prevention of colon tumorigenesis can in part be explained by action via CaSR. However, the intimate link between calcium, vitamin D and cancers was clearly revealed following the cloning of a channel-like transporter mediating intestinal calcium absorption (Peng, et al., 1999): it was initially called the Ca²⁺ transporter type 1 (CaT1) and then epithelial calcium channel 2 (ECaC2), but once its relation to the transient receptor potential (TRP) channel family was established it was

renamed TRPV6. TRPV6 is a highly selective calcium entry channel suggested to be responsible for apical calcium entry into the vitamin D-regulated transcellular pathway of Ca²⁺ absorption. TRPV6 is found in the apical membrane of intestinal absorptive cells, suggesting that it is an apical entry channel in the gastrointestinal tract (Zhuang, et al., 2002). In addition, TRPV6 protein is abundant in a number of exocrine organs including pancreas, prostate, and mammary gland implicating it as a component of transcellular calcium transport mechanisms in many tissues. Moreover, TRPV6 is more abundant in various prostate, breast, thyroid, colon, and ovarian carcinomas than in normal tissues (Zhuang, et al., 2002). There is strong evidence that TRPV6 is involved in store-operated calcium entry (SOCE) by serving as a major constituent of CRAC-(calcium release-activated channel)-type store-operated channel (Yue, et al., 2001), although any such involvement is not likely in all cell types. Work with LNCaP human prostate cancer cells implicates TRPV6 in prostate-specific SOC (Vanden Abeele, et al., 2004, Vanden Abeele, et al., 2003). Interestingly, TRPV6 expression correlates with prostate cancer grade (Fixemer, et al., 2003, Peng, et al., 2001, Wissenbach, et al., 2001). Its expression is also strongly vitamin D dependent (Bouillon, et al., 2003), suggesting that it may be important in the pro-apoptotic action of vitamin D-receptor ligands on prostate, and other, cancer cells (Guzey, et al., 2002). By acting via a vitamin D receptor, these ligands suppress the expression of Bcl-2-related anti-apoptotic proteins and stimulate cytochrome c (Cyt-c) release in LNCaP and ALVA-31 prostatic cell lines (Guzey, et al., 2002). It is plausible that TRPV6 is involved in providing the Ca²⁺ entry required for the mitochondrial permeability transition leading to Cyt-c release. The elevation of the cytosolic calcium concentration associated with vitamin D-induced apoptosis of mammary MCF-7 cells results not from Ca²⁺entry, but from Ca^{2+} release from the ER (Mathiasen, et al., 2002). Interestingly, increased cytosolic Ca^{2+} in this case stimulated the caspase-independent apoptotic pathway, which relied solely on the activation of Ca²⁺-dependent cysteine proteases of the calpain family (Mathiasen, et al., 2002). In normal mammary cells, vitamin D-receptor ligands trigger a transient Ca²⁺ response via activation of voltage-gated calcium channels, which are absent from breast cancer cells. The normal cells, but not breast cancer cells, also expressed the Ca²⁺-binding/buffering protein calbindin-D and were capable of buffering [Ca²⁺]; increases induced by a mobilizer of the ER Ca^{2+} stores, thapsigargin (TG), or a Ca^{2+} ionophore, ionomycin (Sergeev, 2005).

TRPV6 overexpression also increases the rate of Ca^{2+} -dependent cell proliferation which is a prerequisite for its potential role in tumour progression (Schwarz, et al., 2006).

3. CYTOSOLIC CALCIUM AND CANCER

The cytosol is the cell compartment in which most mechanisms of Ca^{2+} signalling converge to produce the specific spatial-temporal pattern of the signal appropriate for targeting its effectors. The resting concentration of calcium in the cytosol is low,

around 10^{-7} M, but there is fine regulation of the amplitude, localization, propagation and timing of changes. Plasma membrane (PM) Ca²⁺-ATPases (PMCA), Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchangers (NCX), voltage-gated (VGCC), receptor-gated (RGCC) and store-operated (SOC) Ca²⁺ channels are the major components of calcium shuttling between the cytosol and extracellular space.

Increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ are associated with progression through the cell cycle: the exit from quiescence in early G1 phase, the G1/S transition, and other checkpoints during S and M phases (Berridge, 1995, Munaron, et al., 2004). Calcium exerts its regulatory role by acting as a ubiquitous allosteric activator or inhibitor of several intracellular enzymes in the cytosol, of which probably the most relevant calcium decoder for cell proliferation is calmodulin, regulating various processes and in particular the family of Ca²⁺-calmodulin dependent kinases type II (CaMKII) and several membrane channels. There is a substantial amount of data indicating that CaMKII is directly involved at several transition points during cell cycle progression (Kahl, et al., 2003). Calcium-dependent enzymes also regulate the activation of several nuclear transcription factors and factors involved in the DNA division machinery, including CDKs and cyclins (Santella, 1998).

Sustained cytosolic Ca^{2+} overload usually results in a different route leading to cell death. It mainly relies on the activation of the calcium/calmodulin (CaM)-dependent phosphatase, calcineurin. Calcineurin-catalyzed dephosphorylation promotes apoptosis by regulating the activity of a number of downstream targets, including the pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family member, Bad (Wang, et al., 1999), and transcription factors of the NFAT (nuclear factor of activated T cells) family (Rao, et al., 1997). There are also other Ca^{2+} -dependent enzymes contributing to the apoptotic events, and they include several DNA-degrading endonucleases (Robertson, et al., 2000) and Ca^{2+} -activated cystein proteases of the calpain family essential for the enzymatic activation of the crucial pro-apoptotic effectors (Altznauer, et al., 2004).

Depending on cell type, Ca²⁺ influx pathways mostly involve combinations of various subtypes of VGCCs, RGCCs and SOCs. Data concerning the expression and function of PM Ca²⁺-permeable channels during malignant transformation are diverse such that consideration of each specific case is required. For instance, differentiation of androgen-dependent LNCaP prostate cancer cells into the malignant, terminally differentiated, apoptotic resistant neuroendocrine (NE) phenotype, characteristic of incurable androgen-independent prostate cancer, is associated with strong overexpression of voltage-gated T-type Ca^{2+} channels and in particular their α 1H (Cav3.2) isoform (Mariot, et al., 2002). By providing constant Ca²⁺ influx around the resting potential, these channels seem to be involved in the formation of neuronal-like morphological features (i.e., neurite outgrowth). However, whether or not these channels contribute to the enhanced anti-apoptotic potential of NE cells is not clear. NE cells, and another androgen-independent, apoptosis-resistant prostate cancer cell phenotype overexpressing antiapoptotic Bcl-2 protein, are characterized by reduced SOCE most likely due to a diminishing density of SOCs (Vanden Abeele, et al., 2002, Vanoverberghe, et al., 2004). In general, reduced SOCE seems to be a common feature of enhanced resistance to apoptosis, or at least that due to Bcl-2 overexpression (Pinton, et al., 2000), although there are also contradictory reports (Williams, et al., 2000).

Recent preliminary results suggest that novel T-type calcium channel blockers suppress the growth of some human cancer cells by blocking Ca²⁺ influx through this type of VGCC involved in cell cycle progression and proliferation via an unknown mechanism (Lee, et al., 2006). Findings concerning the value of pharma-cological modulation of T type Ca²⁺ channels in cytostatic cancer chemotherapy are controversial (Gray, et al., 2006). The elevation of mRNA for another VGCC – the cardiac isoform of the voltage-gated L-type calcium channel (α 1C) — has been detected in colon cancer (Wang, et al., 2000). The increase in α 1C protein was higher in nonconfluent and dividing than other colonic cells, which may account for the increase in cancer.

Controlling intracellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis is a potential strategy to prevent or enhance programmed cell death. This could be accomplished, for instance, by overexpressing the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger, an ubiquitous mechanism for Ca²⁺ extrusion from excitable and non-excitable cells (Blaustein, et al., 1999). The Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger couples the electrogenic transport of three Na⁺ ions down their electrochemical gradient for Ca²⁺ ion against the electrochemical gradient. In some cell types including cardiac myocytes (Reuter, et al., 2005), Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange is the major mechanism for Ca²⁺ extrusion participating in the control of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$.

Overexpression of the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger in insulin-secreting tumoral BRIN-BD11 cells results in the depletion of ER Ca²⁺ stores, a phenomenon that leads to ER stress, activation of caspase-12, and an increase in Ca²⁺-dependent and -independent apoptosis. ER depletion is probably the major reason for apoptosis, as it was enhanced despite the reduction in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Diaz-Horta, et al., 2002, Diaz-Horta, et al., 2003). Reduction in ER Ca²⁺ stores due to an increase in Ca²⁺ extrusion, also explains why overexpression of NCX1.7 Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger isoform or PMCA2 results in a decrease in cell proliferation (Diaz-Horta, et al., 2002, Diaz-Horta, et al., 2003). Thus, because excessive cell proliferation and decreased ability to undergo apoptosis are the two characteristics of cancer, overexpression of Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger in cancer cells by gene therapy is a potential approach to cancer therapy.

Cardiac glycosides, which are mostly known for their positive inotropic effects on heart function by indirectly enhancing the reverse mode of the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger, also exert a potent pro-apoptotic effect on prostate cancer cells, and this involves a perturbation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Huang, et al., 2004, McConkey, et al., 2000). Using the androgen-independent PC-3 cell line as a model system, it was demonstrated that cardiac glycosides induce Ca²⁺ influx (Huang, et al., 2004, McConkey, et al., 2000) probably due to reversed Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange activity. This influx was accompanied by the loss of the mithochondrial membrane potential (Huang, et al., 2004) and release of Cyt-c followed by caspase-3 and -8 processing (McConkey, et al., 2000).

Another plasmalemmal pathway for decreasing the cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration is provided by the PMCA pump (Carafoli, 1994). There is increasing awareness

that PMCA alterations are associated with tumorigenesis, including that of the mammary gland (Reinhardt, et al., 2000, Reinhardt, et al., 1999). Four PMCA isoforms (PMCA1-4) encoded by genes mapping on different chromosomes have been identified (Carafoli, 1994). PMCA1 and PMCA4 are ubiquitously expressed, whereas PMCA2 and PMCA3 are generally found in excitable tissues (Strehler, et al., 2001). PMCA expression is increased in cancer cells and PMCA2 levels are 100-fold higher in tumorigenic MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cell lines than in non-tumorigenic MCF-10A human breast epithelial cells (Lee, et al., 2005a). Although not to the same degree, mRNAs coding for PMCA1 and PMCA4 are also more abundant in tumorigenic cells (Lee, et al., 2002, Lee, et al., 2005a). Conversely, antisense-mediated depletion of PMCA inhibits proliferation of MCF-7 cells (Lee, et al., 2005b). However, as PMCA overexpression reduces the Ca^{2+} content of ER and mitochondria, and also increases the rate of Ca^{2+} extrusion from the cytosol (Brini, et al., 2000), it is not clear whether PMCA is directly or indirectly involved in regulation of tumorigenic breast cancer cell proliferation (Lee, et al., 2005a).

PMCA expression and activity are also enhanced in hepatocarcinomas (Delgado-Coello, et al., 2003, Mas-Oliva, et al., 1991). PMCA activity is more efficient in AS-30D ascites hepatocarcinoma than in the membrane fraction isolated from normal mouse liver (Mas-Oliva, et al., 1991) and this may be due to changes in the synthesis of mRNA for several PMCA isoforms (Delgado-Coello, et al., 2003).

4. ER CALCIUM AND CANCER

The ER is central to a variety of normal cellular processes. It is the principal site of protein synthesis, folding and proper targeting (Rao, et al., 2001). The ER is also the site of biosynthesis of steroids, cholesterol and other critical lipids (Rao, et al., 2001). The ER can accumulate and release calcium and is a major Ca^{2+} storage organelle involved in calcium signalling and maintenance of intracellular calcium homeostasis (Rao, et al., 2001). In eukaryotic cells, surface and secreted proteins are translocated in an unfolded state through the specialized protein channel in the ER where they encounter an oxidising and calcium-rich environment, in which they become modified (Cooper, et al., 1997, Ma, et al., 2004). The maturation of nascent proteins requires high calcium levels, and the ER resident chaperone proteins are required for proper protein folding (Ma, et al., 2004). Properly folded proteins leave the ER and progress down the normal secretory pathway, whereas unfolded or misfolded proteins are exported from the ER and degraded by the cytoplasmic proteosomes (Ma, et al., 2004).

The ER is highly sensitive to even minor perturbations in its environment, and is particularly sensitive to alterations in calcium content. ER stress, resulting from the disruption of its Ca^{2+} homeostasis or accumulation of excess proteins within the ER, causes the activation of caspase-12 (Van de Craen, et al., 1997) that triggers apoptosis (Nakagawa, et al., 2000). A variety of physiological conditions including glucose deprivation, oxidative stress, ischaemia and infection can affect ER function, as can external agents such as calcium ionophores and chemical toxicants (Rao, et al., 2001) which can cause ER stress. ER responds to stress by triggering a specific signalling pathway termed the unfolded protein response (UPR). The UPR serves to protect the cell from normal variations that occur in the cellular environment (Ma, et al., 2004, Rao, et al., 2001). Recent evidence suggests that the UPR can also be activated in tumours (Ma, et al., 2004).

The ER is endowed with multiple mechanisms facilitating effective uptake, storage and release of Ca^{2+} . The primary molecular determinants involved in Ca^{2+} handling by the ER include: inositol trisphosphate (IP₃R) and ryanodine (RyR) receptors permitting active Ca^{2+} release, the ER leak channels underlying passive loss of Ca^{2+} , the Sarco-Endoplasmic Reticulum Ca^{2+} -Mg²⁺-ATPases (SERCA) providing for Ca^{2+} reuptake back into the ER, and Ca^{2+} -binding proteins (chaperones) participating in intraluminal Ca^{2+} storage. ER leak channels, SERCA pumps and intraluminal Ca^{2+} -binding chaperones function in concert to maintain the optimal basal Ca^{2+} concentration within the ER required for protein synthesis and processing.

Sustained SERCA inhibition by thapsigargin (TG) or similar agents induces the ER stress response and simultaneous activation of apoptotic pathways within the ER and the mitochondria. However, as SERCA is a ubiquitous protein, thapsigargin is significantly toxic to both normal and cancer cells. The cytotoxicity of thapsigargin can be circumvented by coupling it to a carrier peptide to produce an inactive prodrug that is activated only in targeted malignant cells. In prostate cancer, prostate cancer-specific serine protease and prostate-specific antigen (PSA) have been used: *in vivo* efficacy studies demonstrated that daily or continuous treatment with such a prodrug resulted in complete block of PSA-producing LNCaP tumour growth during the period of exposure (Denmeade, et al., 2003). These prodrugs are currently undergoing preclinical evaluation as potential targeted therapy for prostate cancer, and they use SERCA pumps as a novel therapeutic target in cancer treatment (Denmeade, et al., 2005).

Thapsigargin, by blocking SERCA activity, induces ER stress. This effect is also produced by some other agents including diindolylmethane (DIM) derived from indole-3-carbinoal found in cruciferius vegetables (Savino, et al., 2006). DIM, like thapsigargin, rapidly mobilizes ER Ca^{2+} in cancer cell lines, but induces apoptosis in a cell-specific manner. In the androgen-independent DU-145 human prostate cancer cell line, DIM-induced apoptosis required both a decrease in the ER Ca^{2+} content and an increase in cytosolic calcium, whereas in the C33A cervical cancer cell line ER depletion was sufficient by itself (Savino, et al., 2006). Therefore, it was concluded that alteration of Ca^{2+} homeostasis within the ER can induce apoptosis via different mechanisms depending on the cell lines used.

Infection by human hepatitis B or C virus is a major risk factor for the development of liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (Brechot, et al., 2000, Colombo, et al., 2003). Although they act via different mechanisms, both viruses directly influence the control of Ca^{2+} homeostasis in human hepatocytes. One of the proteins encoded by the HBV genome, the hepatitis virus X protein (HBx), is central to HBV replication and may contribute to liver oncogenesis. HBx is a multifunctional protein (Murakami, 2001), and HBx expression deregulates cell growth (Lee, et al., 2001). HBV DNA has been found integrated into the host cell genome in more than 90% of HBV-related HCCs (Paterlini, et al., 1993). Paterlini-Brechot's group demonstrated that HBV DNA integration into the gene coding for SERCA1 in a liver tumour causes the expression of mutated protein, which results in a decreased ER Ca²⁺ content and an associated increase in apoptosis (Chami, et al., 2000). SERCA1 splice variants similar to the mutated proteins are also expressed in normal liver, but overexpression of these truncated pumps increases Ca^{2+} leakage from the ER, decreased its Ca^{2+} content and induced apoptosis (Chami, et al., 2001). Moreover, HBx itself directly modifies calcium homeostasis in several cell lines including the human hepatoma cell line Hep G2 (Chami, et al., 2003). Overexpression of HBx augmented cytosolic Ca²⁺ signals in response to inositol trisphosphate-(IP₃)-producing agonists most probably due to enhancement of caspase-dependent cleavage of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ ATP-ase without any modification of either basal ER Ca²⁺ filling or the kinetics of Ca²⁺ release (Chami, et al., 2003). HBx also caused major morphological changes to the mitochondria (fragmentation and swelling) and reduced mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake. It was concluded that HBx perturbs intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis mainly by acting on extrusion mechanisms, and that this effect plays an important role in the control of HBx-related apoptosis (Chami, et al., 2003).

The HCV core has recently been implicated in liver oncogenesis (Pawlotsky, 2004). It has been reported to interfere with Ca^{2+} signalling (Giannini, et al., 2003) and may directly induce apoptosis in transfected cells (Realdon, et al., 2004). The HCV core interferes with Ca^{2+} accumulation in the ER without affecting ER Ca^{2+} leakage or ER depletion (Benali-Furet, et al., 2005). Although calreticulin (CRT) overexpression was observed in HCV core-transfected cells, this probably leads to inhibition of SERCA2b function (John, et al., 1998) rather than to an increase in the ER Ca^{2+} content (Benali-Furet, et al., 2005). These observations are consistent with the HCV core directly triggering apoptosis in a proportion of transfected cells by inducing ER stress and ER Ca^{2+} depletion (Benali-Furet, et al., 2005) without any parallel decrease in store-operated calcium influx (Pinton, et al., 2000).

ER Ca²⁺ filling is largely determined by the expression of SERCA pumps. Several SERCA gene families have been identified; SERCA3 represents the largest family with numerous and species-specific isoforms (Bobe, et al., 2005), but their roles in cell physiology are still poorly defined. However, SERCA3 is not expressed in colon carcinomas but is abundantly expressed in normal colonic and gastric epithelial cells (Gelebart, et al., 2002). Consistent with this, intracellular calcium homeostasis becomes progressively anomalous during colon carcinogenesis, as reflected by deficient SERCA3 expression (Brouland, et al., 2005). A similar phenomenon is characteristic of prostate cancer. The only known tissue-specific SERCA-pump isoform detected in androgen-dependent human prostate cancer LNCaP cell line was the widely distributed phospholamban-dependent SERCA2b (Legrand, et al., 2001, Vanden Abeele, et al., 2002). Transformation of LNCaP cells



Figure 1. Endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ pool as a key determinant of cell destiny. Each panel shows cellular plasma membrane (PM) and endoplasmic reticulum membrane (ERM) incorporating key Ca²⁺-handling molecules: store operated channels (SOC), SERCA pump and ER leak channels. The inset graphs show ER calcium concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_{ER}$) characteristic of each depicted state. Stable growth (upper left panel) is characterized by balanced expression of the SERCA pump and ER leak channel that provide optimal basal calcium filling of the ER (blue symbols marked by "2" in the inset graph). Transient decreases in the [Ca²⁺]_{ER} caused by physiological stimuli (red symbols marked by "1" in the inset graph) do not impair stable growth. Increased growth (upper right panel) is characterized by sustained elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_{FR}$ (red symbols in the inset graph) mainly due to SERCA pump overexpression; the result is stimulated cell proliferation. Lowered growth (lower left panel) is characterized by a small decrease in the basal [Ca²⁺]_{ER} (red symbols in the inset graph) due to SERCA pump underexpression, which slows cell proliferation, but does not induce apoptosis yet. Apoptosis (lower right panel) can be induced by massive reduction in $[Ca^{2+}]_{FR}$ (red symbols marked by "1" in the inset graph); big long-lasting reduction in $[Ca^{2+}]_{FR}$ (blue symbols marked by "2" in the inset graph) due to substantial decrease in SERCA pump expression (marked by slash) and increased leak (marked as thiker arrows through the channels) shifts the whole balance towards growth arrest and enhanced programmed death. Black arrows indicate possible transitions between the states (See Colour Plate 23)

to androgen-independent phenotypes, characterized by increased malignancy and apoptotic resistance, results in the decreased expression of the SRCA2b Ca^{2+} pump. This decrease is one of the reasons for chronic underfilling of the ER Ca^{2+} pool and enhanced resistance of androgen-independent cells to the ER stress-induced apoptosis (Vanden Abeele, et al., 2002, Vanoverberghe, et al., 2004).

SERCA pumps also play a crucial role in cell proliferation (Lipskaia, et al., 2004). Proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) is associated with a marked decrease in SERCA2a expression and overexpression of SERCA2a inhibited VSMC proliferation in a balloon injury model of the rat carotid artery (Lipskaia, et al., 2005). SERCA2a overexpression also resulted in an increase in the ER Ca²⁺ content, but reduced P2Y purinoceptor-stimulated rise in cytosolic calcium, largely due to the extremely fast rate of Ca^{2+} reuptake (Lipskaia, et al., 2005). The role of ER Ca²⁺ filling in the induction of apoptosis is generally well defined but data concerning its involvement in cellular proliferation is ambiguous. Using LNCaP cells, a model of human prostate cancer, we established that modulation of cell growth by such factors as epidermal growth factor (EGF), serum and androgens correlates with ER Ca²⁺ content: the increased growth rate induced by EGF was associated with a higher Ca²⁺ content and growth inhibition by androgens or serum deprivation was associated with a lower Ca^{2+} content (Legrand, et al., 2001). An increase or decrease of the ER load was accompanied by the increase or decrease of SERCA2b expression, respectively. Moreover, IGF was unable to enhance proliferation of TG-treated cells. Qualitatively and quantitatively similar results have been reported for other growth modulators: insulin growth factor (IGF), which stimulates proliferation, and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which reduces proliferation and induces apoptosis (Humez, et al., 2004). As ER depletion is the key determinant of LNCaP cells apoptosis (Skryma, et al., 2000), these various findings allowed us to propose a general scheme for the involvement of ER Ca^{2+} load in the growth and death regulation of at least prostate cancer cells: stable growth is characterized by optimal filling due to balanced expression of the SERCA2b Ca²⁺ pump and ER leak channels, increased proliferation is characterized by overfilling due to increased expression of SERCA2b, inhibited proliferation is characterized by underfilling due to decreased expression of SERCA2b, and apoptosis is characterized by depletion due to decreased expression of SERCA2b and increased leak (Figure 1).

5. MITOCHONDRIAL CALCIUM AND CANCER

Mitochondria are essential for a number of cellular processes including those important for cancer progression such as growth, division, energy metabolism, and apoptosis. As organelles possessing the necessary apparatus for initiating suicidal process, they are a central integration point for the signals regulating a cell's destiny. Cellular Ca^{2+} overload, which may be triggered by various initial stimuli, promotes mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake. Excessive Ca^{2+} accumulation within the mitochondrial matrix is one of the primary reasons for mitochondrial permeability transition,

which is at least partly mediated by the opening of a permeability transition pore (PTP) – a multi-protein complex located at the contact sites between the inner and the outer mitochondrial membranes. PTP opening permits the release of mitochondrial apoptogenic factors, particularly cytochrome c (Cyt-c) and an apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF), into the cytoplasm where they activate a death-executing caspase cascade. Mitochondrial permeability in general, and the PTP complex in particular, are regulated by members of Bcl-2 family of proteins, of which those preventing apoptogenic factor release, Bcl-2 per se, Bcl- x_L , and Mcl-1, protect against apoptosis, whereas those promoting it, Bax and Bak, act as apoptosis enhancers (Antonsson, et al., 2000).

Effective Ca²⁺ transport mechanisms permit mitochondria to take up and release Ca²⁺ across their inner membrane (Rizzuto, et al., 2000) thereby controlling local and overall cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration. The PTP together with H⁺-Ca²⁺ and Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange mechanisms form Ca²⁺ efflux pathways from mitochondria, whereas mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake mainly occurs via a channel-like uniporter (Kirichok, et al., 2004). Mitochondria are phically close to specialized cellular Ca²⁺ compartments (Rizzuto, et al., 1998) and Ca²⁺ channels (Varadi, et al., 2004) and are determinant in the regulation of vital Ca²⁺-dependent processes, including activation of transcription factors and gene expression (Chen, et al., 2001, Dolmetsch, et al., 1997). In T lymphocyte leukaemia cells, gating of Ca²⁺ release-activated Ca²⁺ channels (CRAC), as well as the kinetics and magnitude of Ca²⁺ current (I_{CRAC}) through these type of store-operated Ca²⁺ channels, are determined by the mitochondrial status, underscoring the significance of mitochondria in defining cell cycle progression (Gilabert, et al., 2000, Hoth, et al., 2000, Hoth, et al., 1997).

A potential-dependent Ca²⁺ uptake into energized mitochondria reduces cytosolic Ca²⁺ in the proximity of CRAC channels, promoting channel opening (Gilabert, et al., 2000, Hoth, et al., 2000). Conversely, in cells with de-energized mitochondria and reduced mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake, the elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ maintains store-operated channels closed, consistent with the Ca²⁺-dependent inactivation of I_{CRAC} (Hoth, et al., 2000, Parekh, 1998). As mitochondria have the potential to regulate intracellular Ca²⁺ signalling and determine the transcriptional potential of a cell (Hoth, et al., 2000), targeting mitochondria has recently been exploited to control I_{CRAC}-mediated Ca²⁺ influx and associated cell proliferation (Enfissi, et al., 2004, Holmuhamedov, et al., 2002, Mignen, et al., 2005, Nunez, et al., 2006).

Drugs such as carboxyamidotriazole (CAI) or salicylate, which inhibit mitochondrial calcium import (Mignen, et al., 2005, Nunez, et al., 2006), or diazoxide, which displays a predilection for the inner mitochondrial membrane (Holmuhamedov, et al., 2002), can arrest cell cycle progression and block cell proliferation. The mitochondrial membrane potential must surge before proliferating cells can engage in S phase (Sweet, et al., 1999). Therefore, clamping the mitochondrial membrane potential at a depolarized level with diazoxyde provides a mechanistic basis for the antiproliferative action and cell arrest in the G0/G1 phase, thereby avoiding S phase.

6. CELL CYCLE BLOCK AND CALCIUM SIGNALLING

The role of growth factor-driven signalling in the pathogenesis of human cancers is well established and cancer is often associated with overexpression of growth factor receptors (Aaronson, 1991). Serum withdrawal may therefore block the cell cycle and mimic the difference between normal and cancerous cells. Serum deprivation for 48–72 hours blocks cell proliferation and has several consequences on the levels of expression of proteins involved in calcium signalling, including IP_3R , plasma membrane calcium channels, Ca²⁺ pumps, and Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchangers (Gill, et al., 1996, Golovina, et al., 2001, Smith, et al., 1994, Vallot, et al., 2000, Waldron, et al., 1994, Yu, et al., 2004). In Jurkat cells for instance, withdrawal of serum for 72 h has no significant effect on IP₃R or cyclin 1, but causes a 5-fold increase in the expression of calcium homoeostasis endoplasmic reticulum protein (CHERP), which could be completely reversed by restoring serum to the culture medium (O'Rourke, et al., 2003). CHERP is an integral ER membrane protein involved in the regulation of IP₃-mediated Ca²⁺ release (Laplante, et al., 2000). The initial arrest of cell proliferation due to the absence of serum allows comparison of Ca²⁺ mobilization in CHERP-depleted cells with that in control cells, to determine whether the lack of proliferation is a consequence of decreased Ca²⁺ mobilization. Serum deprivation for 72 h did not inhibit the rise in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in response to phytohaemagglutinin (PHA) or thrombin. The increase in the steady-state $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ due to the SERCA inhibitor cyclopiazonic acid was larger in the absence of serum than in its presence. The principal finding of these experiments is that an antisense-mediated depletion of CHERP impaired the ability of Jurkat cells to increase [Ca²⁺], in response to activation by PHA or thrombin. There was a direct correlation between the extent of CHERP depletion and the amplitude of Ca²⁺ transients. Reduction of CHERP expression by half reduced the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ rise in response to PHA, but had no effect on Ca^{2+} influx, whereas a larger depletion of CHERP (>70%) further diminished the PHA-induced rise of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, decreased Ca^{2+} influx and reduced TG-sensitive ER Ca²⁺ store filling. These various observations indicate that severe depletion of CHERP affected not only the size of Ca^{2+} mobilization, but also the magnitude of the ER Ca^{2+} load and the mechanism for activation of store-operated Ca^{2+} entry (SOCE). Cell proliferation was also affected by CHERP. The antisense-mediated knockdown of CHERP arrested proliferation of Jurkat cells and HEL cells (Laplante, et al., 2000). It was accompanied by a substantial decline in cyclin D1 concentration. Similarly, the ER Ca^{2+} content declines and proliferation is attenuated in other cell types under serum deprivation (Golovina, et al., 2001, Sweeney, et al., 2002), and these experimental conditions result in a notable drop in SERCA expression levels (see above).

Serum withdrawal affects the expression of plasma membrane calcium channels in diverse ways. Voltage-dependent calcium channels have their expression increased in the absence of serum in the culture medium (Ihara, et al., 2002, Kushmerick, et al., 2001, Patel, et al., 2005), whereas non voltage-dependent channels are down regulated (Golovina, 1999, Golovina, et al., 2001, Sweeney, et al., 2002, Yu, et al., 2004, Yu, et al., 2003). The major changes in cell physiology during normal cell transformation to cancer cells suggest that the cells adapt their calcium signals to their new needs. However, calcium signals are highly organized and often restricted to specific sites to allow the diversity of normal and pathological cellular responses.

7. SPECIFICITY OF CA²⁺ SIGNALS

Various cellular Ca^{2+} -dependent processes rely on the specific spatial and temporal patterns of Ca²⁺ signalling (Thomas, et al., 1996). However, the type and manner of their organization during carcinogenesis is not completely understood. As Ca²⁺ signalling is an essential part of growth regulation, it is important to understand how various growth factors, neurotransmitters and hormones that control physiological and pathological cell proliferation, trigger specific Ca²⁺ signals. For instance, stimulation of two receptors on prostate cancer epithelial cells, *α*1-adrenoceptor (a1-AR) and metabotropic purinergic receptor (P2Y-R), produce divergent effects on cell proliferation: a1-AR stimulation enhances proliferation (Thebault, et al., 2006), and stimulation of P2Y-R results in growth arrest (Vanoverberghe, et al., 2003). These divergent effects on proliferation are surprising, given that both receptors act via a common phospholipase C (PLC)-catalyzed inositol phospholipid breakdown signalling pathway that results in the derivation of two second messengers important for Ca²⁺ signalling (Marshall, et al., 1999, von Kugelgen, et al., 2000), IP₃ and diacylglycerol (DAG). Our recent work with primary human prostate cancer epithelial cells brought some insight into these puzzling observations (Thebault, et al., 2006). Ca^{2+} signalling controlled by the two receptors relies on different Ca²⁺-entry pathways ultimately targeting different intracellular effectors. It appeared that stimulation of α 1-AR activates plasma membrane non-specific cationic channels via direct DAG gating (Thebault, et al., 2003) without affecting ER Ca²⁺ stores. In contrast, P2Y-R stimulation brings about IP₃R -mediated ER store depletion and activation of SOCs (Vanoverberghe, et al., 2003). Consistent with these peculiarities the *α*1-AR agonist, phenylephrin, stimulated oscillatorytype intracellular Ca²⁺ signalling involving DAG-gated cationic channels, whereas the P2Y-R agonist, ATP, induced a transient $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ rise followed by a smaller sustained elevation due to store depletion and SOC activation. The two Ca^{2+} entry pathways also appeared to have different molecular origins with the first mostly relying on TRPC6, a DAG-gated representative of the transient receptor potential (TRP) channel family, and the second on TRPC1 and TRPC4, both store-dependent members of the same family.

The expression of genes involved in cell proliferation and cell death is regulated by nuclear transcriptional factors. NFAT (Nuclear Factor of Activated T cells) proteins are a family of Ca^{2+} -dependent transcription factors (Crabtree, 2001), whose nuclear translocation and transcriptional activity is regulated by Ca^{2+} /calmodulin-dependent protein phosphatase, calcineurin (Crabtree, 2001). Thus, NFAT proteins can potentially be activated by diverse stimuli that lead to increased intracellular calcium levels. The NF-kB (nuclear factor kappa B) family

is another ubiquitously expressed family of transcription factors dependent on Ca^{2+} homeostasis, especially on the filling status of Ca^{2+} ER stores (Li, et al., 2002) (Clapham, 2003). a1-AR stimulation enhances prostate cancer epithelial cell proliferation by inducing store-independent, TRPC6-mediated Ca^{2+} entry resulting in NFAT activation (Thebault, et al., 2006). TRPC6 antisense knockout has effects similar to those of pharmacological α 1-AR inhibition, i.e. suppression of agonistinduced Ca²⁺ entry, cessation of oscillatory-type Ca²⁺ signalling and consequent termination of cell proliferation. Furthermore, chronic treatment with *α*1-agonists enhanced TRPC6 protein expression, and altered the expression of two cell-cycle regulators, CDK4 and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27; this provides direct evidence for the α 1-AR-TRPC6-NFAT-cell proliferation link. In contrast, Ca²⁺ entry associated with P2Y-R stimulation by extracellular ATP and related growth arrest did not involve either activation of TRPC6 channels or NFAT translocation. Our findings demonstrate that the α 1-AR-dependent Ca²⁺ signalling which promotes proliferation of prostate cancer epithelial cells specifically requires the activation of TRPC6 channels coupled to NFAT, and thereby suggest TRPC6 as a new potential therapeutic target for controlling prostate cancer cell proliferation.

Clinical studies also implicate α 1-AR antagonists as pro-apoptotic agents capable of inducing apoptosis of human prostate cancer epithelial and smooth muscle cells without affecting their cellular proliferation (Kyprianou, et al., 2000b). However, existing evidence indicate that these effects may be unrelated to α 1-AR (Benning, et al., 2002, Kyprianou, et al., 2000a) and associated Ca²⁺ signalling.

Interestingly, recent evidence suggests that the expression of TRPC1, TRPC3 and TRPV6 proteins in androgen-dependent prostatic LNCaP cells is under the control of ER Ca²⁺ filling: after a prolonged (24–48 h) depletion of the stores with thapsigargin, which generally exerts pro-apoptotic action, expression of these factors was enhanced. The upregulation of TRPC1 and TRPC3 involved the activation of the Ca²⁺/calmodulin/calcineurin/NFAT pathway (Pigozzi, et al., 2006). Functionally, cells overexpressing TRPC1, TRPC3 and TRPV6 channels after a prolonged depletion of the stores showed an increased $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ response to α -adrenergic stimulation, although the SOCE was unchanged. The selected overexpression of TRPV6 (without overexpression of TRPC1 or TRPC3) did not produce this increased response to agonists, suggesting that TRPC1 and/or TRPC3 proteins are responsible for the response to α -adrenergic stimulation but that TRPC1, TPRC3 and TRPV6 proteins, expressed alone or concomitantly, are not sufficient for SOC formation. Increased expression of store-dependent TRP members under ER store depletion is difficult to reconcile with the findings that androgen-independent, apoptosisresistant prostate cancer cell phenotypes, for which chronic underfilling of the ER Ca²⁺ pool represents a new equilibrium helping them to withstand ER stressmediated apoptosis, are characterized by reduced SOCE (Prevarskaya, et al., 2004, Vanden Abeele, et al., 2002, Vanoverberghe, et al., 2004). It is, therefore, likely that native SOC in prostate cancer epithelial cells is a much more complex entity whose functional expression does not correlate directly with any of the TRP members implicated.

Recent evidence points to the important functions of NFAT in other, non-prostatic human carcinomas as well. Specifically, NFAT is active in human breast and colon carcinoma cells. In human breast epithelial cells, NFAT1 is connected with breast cancer metastasis, and can be activated by a non-transforming secreted Wingless (Wnt) signalling protein, Wnt-5a, through a non-canonical Ca^{2+} signalling pathway (Dejmek, et al., 2006). NFATc1 is commonly overexpressed in pancreatic carcinomas and enhances the malignant potential of tumour cells through transcriptional activation of the c-myc proto-oncogene, ultimately resulting in increased cell proliferation and enhanced anchorage-independent growth (Buchholz, et al., 2006). Conversely, c-myc transcription and anchorage-dependent and -independent cell growth is significantly attenuated by inhibition of Ca^{2+} /calcineurin signalling or siRNA-mediated knock down of NFATc1 and the Ca^{2+} /calcineurin signalling pathway is an important mechanism of oncogenic c-myc activation in pancreatic cancer (Buchholz, et al., 2006).

8. CONCLUSION

The transformation of a normal cell into a cancer cell is associated with a major re-arrangement of Ca²⁺ pumps, Na/Ca exchangers, and plasma and reticular calcium channels. They form signalling complexes that can deliver Ca^{2+} signals with the spatial and temporal characteristics necessary to account for the new cellular processes. Differential transcription and expression mechanisms underlie the passage from normal to pathological cell growth and proliferation. Expression of a new member of the Ca²⁺-signalling kit specifically in cancer cells is therefore a potential therapeutic target as long as its block results in a clear inhibition of cell proliferation. However, most of these targets are expressed in a large number of cell types and organs where they may have a different function. Therefore, inhibitors or blockers of these channels, pumps or exchangers must be specifically addressed to cancer sites. Nevertheless, various approaches to the development of novel cancer therapies can be envisaged: prodrugs activated by specific proteases, for example serine protease prostate-specific antigen (PSA); and transfection reagents based on SiRNA designed to target tissue-specific membrane receptors which thereby regulate the expression of channels, pumps or exchangers.

REFERENCES

Aaronson, S. A., 1991, Growth factors and cancer. Science 254, 1146-53.

- Allbritton, N. L., Meyer, T. and Stryer, L., 1992, Range of messenger action of calcium ion and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate. *Science* **258**, 1812–5.
- Altznauer, F., Conus, S., Cavalli, A., Folkers, G. and Simon, H. U., 2004, Calpain-1 regulates Bax and subsequent Smac-dependent caspase-3 activation in neutrophil apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 279, 5947–57. Antonsson, B. and Martinou, J. C., 2000, The Bcl-2 protein family. *Exp Cell Res* 256, 50–7.

Benali-Furet, N. L., Chami, M., Houel, L., De Giorgi, F., Vernejoul, F., Lagorce, D., Buscail, L., Bartenschlager, R., Ichas, F., Rizzuto, R. and Paterlini-Brechot, P., 2005, Hepatitis C virus core

triggers apoptosis in liver cells by inducing ER stress and ER calcium depletion. *Oncogene* 24, 4921-33.

- Benning, C. M. and Kyprianou, N., 2002, Quinazoline-derived alpha1-adrenoceptor antagonists induce prostate cancer cell apoptosis via an alpha1-adrenoceptor-independent action. *Cancer Res* 62, 597–602. Berridge, M. J., 1995, Calcium signalling and cell proliferation. *Bioessays* 17, 491–500.
- Berridge, M. J., Bootman, M. D. and Lipp, P., 1998, Calcium-a life and death signal. *Nature* 395, 645-8.
- Berridge, M. J., Bootman, M. D. and Roderick, H. L., 2003, Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**, 517–29.
- Blaustein, M. P. and Lederer, W. J., 1999, Sodium/calcium exchange: its physiological implications. *Physiol Rev* 79, 763–854.
- Bobe, R., Bredoux, R., Corvazier, E., Lacabaratz-Porret, C., Martin, V., Kovacs, T. and Enouf, J., 2005, How many Ca(2)+ATPase isoforms are expressed in a cell type? A growing family of membrane proteins illustrated by studies in platelets. *Platelets* 16, 133–50.
- Bouillon, R., Van Cromphaut, S. and Carmeliet, G., 2003, Intestinal calcium absorption: Molecular vitamin D mediated mechanisms. J Cell Biochem 88, 332–9.
- Brechot, C., Gozuacik, D., Murakami, Y. and Paterlini-Brechot, P., 2000, Molecular bases for the development of hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). *Semin Cancer Biol* 10, 211–31.
- Brini, M., Bano, D., Manni, S., Rizzuto, R. and Carafoli, E., 2000, Effects of PMCA and SERCA pump overexpression on the kinetics of cell Ca(2+) signalling. *Embo J* **19**, 4926–35.
- Brouland, J. P., Gelebart, P., Kovacs, T., Enouf, J., Grossmann, J. and Papp, B., 2005, The loss of sarco/endoplasmic reticulum calcium transport ATPase 3 expression is an early event during the multistep process of colon carcinogenesis. *Am J Pathol* 167, 233–42.
- Buchholz, M., Schatz, A., Wagner, M., Michl, P., Linhart, T., Adler, G., Gress, T. M. and Ellenrieder, V., 2006, Overexpression of c-myc in pancreatic cancer caused by ectopic activation of NFATc1 and the Ca²⁺/calcineurin signaling pathway. *Embo J* 25, 3714–24.
- Carafoli, E., 1994, Biogenesis: plasma membrane calcium ATPase: 15 years of work on the purified enzyme. *Faseb J* **8**, 993–1002.
- Chami, M., Ferrari, D., Nicotera, P., Paterlini-Brechot, P. and Rizzuto, R., 2003, Caspase-dependent alterations of Ca²⁺ signaling in the induction of apoptosis by hepatitis B virus X protein. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 31745–55.
- Chami, M., Gozuacik, D., Lagorce, D., Brini, M., Falson, P., Peaucellier, G., Pinton, P., Lecoeur, H., Gougeon, M. L., le Maire, M., Rizzuto, R., Brechot, C. and Paterlini-Brechot, P., 2001, SERCA1 truncated proteins unable to pump calcium reduce the endoplasmic reticulum calcium concentration and induce apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 153, 1301–14.
- Chami, M., Gozuacik, D., Saigo, K., Capiod, T., Falson, P., Lecoeur, H., Urashima, T., Beckmann, J., Gougeon, M. L., Claret, M., le Maire, M., Brechot, C. and Paterlini-Brechot, P., 2000, Hepatitis B virus-related insertional mutagenesis implicates SERCA1 gene in the control of apoptosis. *Oncogene* 19, 2877–86.
- Chen, L., Fischle, W., Verdin, E. and Greene, W. C., 2001, Duration of nuclear NF-kappaB action regulated by reversible acetylation. *Science* 293, 1653–7.
- Chen, L., Wang, L., Zhu, L., Nie, S., Zhang, J., Zhong, P., Cai, B., Luo, H. and Jacob, T. J., 2002, Cell cycle-dependent expression of volume-activated chloride currents in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 283, C1313–23.
- Chia, V. and Newcomb, P. A., 2004, Calcium and colorectal cancer: some questions remain. *Nutr Rev* 62, 115–20.
- Clapham, D. E., 2003, TRP channels as cellular sensors. Nature 426, 517-24.
- Colombo, M. and Sangiovanni, A., 2003, Etiology, natural history and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Antiviral Res* **60**, 145–50.
- Cooper, G. R., Brostrom, C. O. and Brostrom, M. A., 1997, Analysis of the endoplasmic reticular Ca²⁺ requirement for alpha1-antitrypsin processing and transport competence. *Biochem J* **325** (**Pt 3**), 601–8.

Crabtree, G. R., 2001, Calcium, calcineurin, and the control of transcription. J Biol Chem 276, 2313-6.

- Dejmek, J., Safholm, A., Kamp Nielsen, C., Andersson, T. and Leandersson, K., 2006, Wnt-5a/Ca²⁺-induced NFAT activity is counteracted by Wnt-5a/Yes-Cdc42-casein kinase 1alpha signaling in human mammary epithelial cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 26, 6024–36.
- Delgado-Coello, B., Santiago-Garcia, J., Zarain-Herzberg, A. and Mas-Oliva, J., 2003, Plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase mRNA expression in murine hepatocarcinoma and regenerating liver cells. *Mol Cell Biochem* 247, 177–84.
- Denmeade, S. R. and Isaacs, J. T., 2005, The SERCA pump as a therapeutic target: making a "smart bomb" for prostate cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther* **4**, 14–22.
- Denmeade, S. R., Jakobsen, C. M., Janssen, S., Khan, S. R., Garrett, E. S., Lilja, H., Christensen, S. B. and Isaacs, J. T., 2003, Prostate-specific antigen-activated thapsigargin prodrug as targeted therapy for prostate cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 95, 990–1000.
- Diaz-Horta, O., Kamagate, A., Herchuelz, A. and Van Eylen, F., 2002, Na/Ca exchanger overexpression induces endoplasmic reticulum-related apoptosis and caspase-12 activation in insulinreleasing BRIN-BD11 cells. *Diabetes* 51, 1815–24.
- Diaz-Horta, O., Van Eylen, F. and Herchuelz, A., 2003, Na/Ca exchanger overexpression induces endoplasmic reticulum stress, caspase-12 release, and apoptosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1010, 430–2.
- Dolmetsch, R. E., Lewis, R. S., Goodnow, C. C. and Healy, J. I., 1997, Differential activation of transcription factors induced by Ca²⁺ response amplitude and duration. *Nature* **386**, 855–8.
- Doroshenko, P., Sabanov, V. and Doroshenko, N., 2001, Cell cycle-related changes in regulatory volume decrease and volume-sensitive chloride conductance in mouse fibroblasts. J Cell Physiol 187, 65–72.
- Enfissi, A., Prigent, S., Colosetti, P. and Capiod, T., 2004, The blocking of capacitative calcium entry by 2-aminoethyl diphenylborate (2-APB) and carboxyamidotriazole (CAI) inhibits proliferation in Hep G2 and Huh-7 human hepatoma cells. *Cell Calcium* **36**, 459–467.
- Fixemer, T., Wissenbach, U., Flockerzi, V. and Bonkhoff, H., 2003, Expression of the Ca²⁺-selective cation channel TRPV6 in human prostate cancer: a novel prognostic marker for tumor progression. *Oncogene* 22, 7858–61.
- Gelebart, P., Kovacs, T., Brouland, J. P., van Gorp, R., Grossmann, J., Rivard, N., Panis, Y., Martin, V., Bredoux, R., Enouf, J. and Papp, B., 2002, Expression of endomembrane calcium pumps in colon and gastric cancer cells. Induction of SERCA3 expression during differentiation. *J Biol Chem* 277, 26310–20.
- Giannini, C. and Brechot, C., 2003, Hepatitis C virus biology. Cell Death Differ 10 Suppl 1, S27-38.
- Gilabert, J. A. and Parekh, A. B., 2000, Respiring mitochondria determine the pattern of activation and inactivation of the store-operated Ca(2+) current I(CRAC). *Embo J* **19**, 6401–7.
- Gill, D. L., Waldron, R. T., Rys-Sikora, K. E., Ufret-Vincenty, C. A., Graber, M. N., Favre, C. J. and Alfonso, A., 1996, Calcium pools, calcium entry, and cell growth. *Biosci Rep* 16, 139–57.
- Golovina, V. A., 1999, Cell proliferation is associated with enhanced capacitative Ca(2+) entry in human arterial myocytes. *Am J Physiol* **277**, C343–9.
- Golovina, V. A., Platoshyn, O., Bailey, C. L., Wang, J., Limsuwan, A., Sweeney, M., Rubin, L. J. and Yuan, J. X., 2001, Upregulated TRP and enhanced capacitative Ca(2+) entry in human pulmonary artery myocytes during proliferation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 280, H746–55.
- Gray, L. S. and Macdonald, T. L., 2006, The pharmacology and regulation of T type calcium channels: new opportunities for unique therapeutics for cancer. *Cell Calcium* **40**, 115–20.
- Guzey, M., Kitada, S. and Reed, J. C., 2002, Apoptosis induction by 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in prostate cancer. *Mol Cancer Ther* **1**, 667–77.
- Holmuhamedov, E., Lewis, L., Bienengraeber, M., Holmuhamedova, M., Jahangir, A. and Terzic, A., 2002, Suppression of human tumor cell proliferation through mitochondrial targeting. *Faseb J* 16, 1010–6.
- Hoth, M., Button, D. C. and Lewis, R. S., 2000, Mitochondrial control of calcium-channel gating: a mechanism for sustained signaling and transcriptional activation in T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 10607–12.
- Hoth, M., Fanger, C. M. and Lewis, R. S., 1997, Mitochondrial regulation of store-operated calcium signaling in T lymphocytes. J Cell Biol 137, 633–48.

- Huang, Y. T., Chueh, S. C., Teng, C. M. and Guh, J. H., 2004, Investigation of ouabain-induced anticancer effect in human androgen-independent prostate cancer PC-3 cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* 67, 727–33.
- Humez, S., Legrand, G., Vanden-Abeele, F., Monet, M., Marchetti, P., Lepage, G., Crepin, A., Dewailly, E., Wuytack, F. and Prevarskaya, N., 2004, Role of endoplasmic reticulum calcium content in prostate cancer cell growth regulation by IGF and TNFalpha. J Cell Physiol 201, 201–13.
- Ihara, E., Hirano, K., Hirano, M., Nishimura, J., Nawata, H. and Kanaide, H., 2002, Mechanism of down-regulation of L-type Ca(2+) channel in the proliferating smooth muscle cells of rat aorta. *J Cell Biochem* 87, 242–51.
- John, L. M., Lechleiter, J. D. and Camacho, P., 1998, Differential modulation of SERCA2 isoforms by calreticulin. *J Cell Biol* **142**, 963–73.
- Kahl, C. R. and Means, A. R., 2003, Regulation of cell cycle progression by calcium/calmodulindependent pathways. *Endocr Rev* 24, 719–36.
- Kallay, E., Bajna, E., Wrba, F., Kriwanek, S., Peterlik, M. and Cross, H. S., 2000, Dietary calcium and growth modulation of human colon cancer cells: role of the extracellular calcium-sensing receptor. *Cancer Detect Prev* **24**, 127–36.
- Kirichok, Y., Krapivinsky, G. and Clapham, D. E., 2004, The mitochondrial calcium uniporter is a highly selective ion channel. *Nature* 427, 360–4.
- Kushmerick, C., Romano-Silva, M. A., Gomez, M. V. and Prado, M. A., 2001, Changes in Ca(2+) channel expression upon differentiation of SN56 cholinergic cells. *Brain Res* 916, 199–210.
- Kyprianou, N. and Benning, C. M., 2000a, Suppression of human prostate cancer cell growth by alpha1-adrenoceptor antagonists doxazosin and terazosin via induction of apoptosis. *Cancer Res* 60, 4550–5.
- Kyprianou, N., Chon, J. and Benning, C. M., 2000b, Effects of Alpha(1)-adrenoceptor (alpha(1)-AR) antagonists on cell proliferation and apoptosis in the prostate: therapeutic implications in prostatic disease [In Process Citation]. *Prostate Suppl* 9, 42–6.
- Lamprecht, S. A. and Lipkin, M., 2003, Chemoprevention of colon cancer by calcium, vitamin D and folate: molecular mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer* **3**, 601–14.
- Lang, F., Ritter, M., Gamper, N., Huber, S., Fillon, S., Tanneur, V., Lepple-Wienhues, A., Szabo, I. and Gulbins, E., 2000, Cell volume in the regulation of cell proliferation and apoptotic cell death. *Cell Physiol Biochem* **10**, 417–28.
- Laplante, J. M., O'Rourke, F., Lu, X., Fein, A., Olsen, A. and Feinstein, M. B., 2000, Cloning of human Ca²⁺ homoeostasis endoplasmic reticulum protein (CHERP): regulated expression of antisense cDNA depletes CHERP, inhibits intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilization and decreases cell proliferation. *Biochem J* 348 Pt 1, 189–99.
- Lee, J. Y., Park, S. J., Lee, M. J., Rhim, H., Seo, S. H. and Kim, K. S., 2006, Growth inhibition of human cancer cells in vitro by T-type calcium channel blockers. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 16, 5014–7.
- Lee, W. J., Roberts-Thomson, S. J., Holman, N. A., May, F. J., Lehrbach, G. M. and Monteith, G. R., 2002, Expression of plasma membrane calcium pump isoform mRNAs in breast cancer cell lines. *Cell Signal* **14**, 1015–22.
- Lee, W. J., Roberts-Thomson, S. J. and Monteith, G. R., 2005a, Plasma membrane calcium-ATPase 2 and 4 in human breast cancer cell lines. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **337**, 779–83.
- Lee, W. J., Robinson, J. A., Holman, N. A., McCall, M. N., Roberts-Thomson, S. J. and Monteith, G. R., 2005b, Antisense-mediated Inhibition of the plasma membrane calcium-ATPase suppresses proliferation of MCF-7 cells. *J Biol Chem* 280, 27076–84.
- Lee, Y. I., Kang-Park, S. and Do, S. I., 2001, The hepatitis B virus-X protein activates a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent survival signaling cascade. J Biol Chem 276, 16969–77.
- Legrand, G., Humez, S., Slomianny, C., Dewailly, E., Vanden Abeele, F., Mariot, P., Wuytack, F. and Prevarskaya, N., 2001, Ca²⁺ pools and cell growth. Evidence for sarcoendoplasmic Ca²⁺-ATPases 2B involvement in human prostate cancer cell growth control. *J Biol Chem* **276**, 47608–14.
- Lemonnier, L., Prevarskaya, N., Shuba, Y., Vanden Abeele, F., Nilius, B., Mazurier, J. and Skryma, R., 2002, Ca²⁺ modulation of volume-regulated anion channels: evidence for colocalization with storeoperated channels. *Faseb J* 16, 222–4.

- Lemonnier, L., Shuba, Y., Crepin, A., Roudbaraki, M., Slomianny, C., Mauroy, B., Nilius, B., Prevarskaya, N. and Skryma, R., 2004, Bcl-2-dependent modulation of swelling-activated Cl- current and ClC-3 expression in human prostate cancer epithelial cells. *Cancer Res* 64, 4841–8.
- Li, X. and Stark, G. R., 2002, NFkappaB-dependent signaling pathways. Exp Hematol 30, 285-96.
- Lipkin, M. and Newmark, H. L., 1999, Vitamin D, calcium and prevention of breast cancer: a review. *J Am Coll Nutr* **18**, 392S-397S.
- Lipskaia, L., del Monte, F., Capiod, T., Yacoubi, S., Hadri, L., Hours, M., Hajjar, R. J. and Lompre, A. M., 2005, Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase gene transfer reduces vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and neointima formation in the rat. *Circ Res* 97, 488–95.
- Lipskaia, L. and Lompre, A. M., 2004, Alteration in temporal kinetics of Ca²⁺ signaling and control of growth and proliferation. *Biol Cell* **96**, 55–68.
- Ma, Y. and Hendershot, L. M., 2004, The role of the unfolded protein response in tumour development: friend or foe? *Nat Rev Cancer* **4**, 966–77.
- Manning, A. T., O'Brien, N. and Kerin, M. J., 2006, Roles for the calcium sensing receptor in primary and metastatic cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 32, 693–7.
- Mariot, P., Vanoverberghe, K., Lalevee, N., Rossier, M. F. and Prevarskaya, N., 2002, Overexpression of an alpha 1H (Cav3.2) T-type calcium channel during neuroendocrine differentiation of human prostate cancer cells. *J Biol Chem* 277, 10824–33.
- Marshall, I., Burt, R. P. and Chapple, C. R., 1999, Signal transduction pathways associated with alpha1-adrenoceptor subtypes in cells and tissues including human prostate. *Eur Urol* 36 Suppl 1, 42–7; discussion 65.
- Mas-Oliva, J., Perez-Montfort, R., Cardenas-Garcia, M. and Rivas-Duro, M., 1991, Altered coupling states between calcium transport and (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺)-ATPase in the AS-30D ascites hepatocarcinoma plasma membrane. *Mol Cell Biochem* **100**, 39–50.
- Mathiasen, I. S., Sergeev, I. N., Bastholm, L., Elling, F., Norman, A. W. and Jaattela, M., 2002, Calcium and calpain as key mediators of apoptosis-like death induced by vitamin D compounds in breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem 277, 30738–45.
- McConkey, D. J., Lin, Y., Nutt, L. K., Ozel, H. Z. and Newman, R. A., 2000, Cardiac glycosides stimulate Ca²⁺ increases and apoptosis in androgen-independent, metastatic human prostate adenocarcinoma cells. *Cancer Res* **60**, 3807–12.
- Mignen, O., Brink, C., Enfissi, A., Nadkarni, A., Shuttleworth, T. J., Giovannucci, D. R. and Capiod, T., 2005, Carboxyamidotriazole-induced inhibition of mitochondrial calcium import blocks capacitative calcium entry and cell proliferation in HEK-293 cells. J Cell Sci 118, 5615–23.
- Msaouel, P., Nixon, A. M., Bramos, A. P., Baiba, E. and Kentarchos, N. E., 2004, Extracellular calcium sensing receptor: an overview of physiology, pathophysiology and clinical perspectives. *In Vivo* 18, 739–53.
- Munaron, L., Antoniotti, S. and Lovisolo, D., 2004, Intracellular calcium signals and control of cell proliferation: how many mechanisms? J Cell Mol Med 8, 161–8.
- Murakami, S., 2001, Hepatitis B virus X protein: a multifunctional viral regulator. *J Gastroenterol* **36**, 651–60.
- Nakagawa, T., Zhu, H., Morishima, N., Li, E., Xu, J., Yankner, B. A. and Yuan, J., 2000, Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid-beta. *Nature* 403, 98–103.
- Nicholson, D. W., 1999, Caspase structure, proteolytic substrates, and function during apoptotic cell death. *Cell Death Differ* 6, 1028–42.
- Nigg, E. A., 1995, Cyclin-dependent protein kinases: key regulators of the eukaryotic cell cycle. *Bioessays* 17, 471–80.
- Nunez, L., Valero, R. A., Senovilla, L., Sanz-Blasco, S., Garcia-Sancho, J. and Villalobos, C., 2006, Cell proliferation depends on mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake: inhibition by salicylate. *J Physiol* 571, 57–73.
- Okada, Y. and Maeno, E., 2001, Apoptosis, cell volume regulation and volume-regulatory chloride channels. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* **130**, 377–83.
- Okada, Y., Shimizu, T., Maeno, E., Tanabe, S., Wang, X. and Takahashi, N., 2006, Volume-sensitive chloride channels involved in apoptotic volume decrease and cell death. J Membr Biol 209, 21–9.

- O'Rourke, F. A., LaPlante, J. M. and Feinstein, M. B., 2003, Antisense-mediated loss of calcium homoeostasis endoplasmic reticulum protein (CHERP; ERPROT213-21) impairs Ca²⁺ mobilization, nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT) activation and cell proliferation in Jurkat T-lymphocytes. *Biochem J* **373**, 133–43.
- Orrenius, S., Zhivotovsky, B. and Nicotera, P., 2003, Regulation of cell death: the calcium-apoptosis link. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**, 552–65.
- Parekh, A. B., 1998, Slow feedback inhibition of calcium release-activated calcium current by calcium entry. J Biol Chem 273, 14925–32.
- Patel, M. K., Clunn, G. F., Lymn, J. S., Austin, O. and Hughes, A. D., 2005, Effect of serum withdrawal on the contribution of L-type calcium channels (CaV1.2) to intracellular Ca²⁺ responses and chemotaxis in cultured human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 145, 811–7.
- Paterlini, P., Driss, F., Nalpas, B., Pisi, E., Franco, D., Berthelot, P. and Brechot, C., 1993, Persistence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C viral genomes in primary liver cancers from HBsAg-negative patients: a study of a low-endemic area. *Hepatology* 17, 20–9.
- Pawlotsky, J. M., 2004, Pathophysiology of hepatitis C virus infection and related liver disease. *Trends Microbiol* 12, 96–102.
- Peng, J. B., Chen, X. Z., Berger, U. V., Vassilev, P. M., Tsukaguchi, H., Brown, E. M. and Hediger, M. A., 1999, Molecular cloning and characterization of a channel-like transporter mediating intestinal calcium absorption. J Biol Chem 274, 22739–46.
- Peng, J. B., Zhuang, L., Berger, U. V., Adam, R. M., Williams, B. J., Brown, E. M., Hediger, M. A. and Freeman, M. R., 2001, CaT1 expression correlates with tumor grade in prostate cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 282, 729–34.
- Pigozzi, D., Ducret, T., Tajeddine, N., Gala, J. L., Tombal, B. and Gailly, P., 2006, Calcium store contents control the expression of TRPC1, TRPC3 and TRPV6 proteins in LNCaP prostate cancer cell line. *Cell Calcium* 39, 401–15.
- Pinton, P., Ferrari, D., Magalhaes, P., Schulze-Osthoff, K., Di Virgilio, F., Pozzan, T. and Rizzuto, R., 2000, Reduced loading of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores and downregulation of capacitative Ca²⁺ influx in Bcl-2-overexpressing cells. *J Cell Biol* 148, 857–62.
- Prevarskaya, N., Skryma, R. and Shuba, Y., 2004, Ca²⁺ homeostasis in apoptotic resistance of prostate cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 322, 1326–35.
- Rao, A., Luo, C. and Hogan, P. G., 1997, Transcription factors of the NFAT family: regulation and function. Annu Rev Immunol 15, 707–47.
- Rao, R. V., Hermel, E., Castro-Obregon, S., del Rio, G., Ellerby, L. M., Ellerby, H. M. and Bredesen, D. E., 2001, Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program. Mechanism of caspase activation. J Biol Chem 276, 33869–74.
- Realdon, S., Gerotto, M., Dal Pero, F., Marin, O., Granato, A., Basso, G., Muraca, M. and Alberti, A., 2004, Proapoptotic effect of hepatitis C virus CORE protein in transiently transfected cells is enhanced by nuclear localization and is dependent on PKR activation. *J Hepatol* **40**, 77–85.
- Reinhardt, T. A., Filoteo, A. G., Penniston, J. T. and Horst, R. L., 2000, Ca(2+)-ATPase protein expression in mammary tissue. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279, C1595–602.
- Reinhardt, T. A. and Horst, R. L., 1999, Ca²⁺-ATPases and their expression in the mammary gland of pregnant and lactating rats. Am J Physiol 276, C796–802.
- Reuter, H., Pott, C., Goldhaber, J. I., Henderson, S. A., Philipson, K. D. and Schwinger, R. H., 2005, Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange in the regulation of cardiac excitation-contraction coupling. *Cardiovasc Res* **67**, 198–207.
- Rizzuto, R., Bernardi, P. and Pozzan, T., 2000, Mitochondria as all-round players of the calcium game. *J Physiol* **529 Pt 1**, 37–47.
- Rizzuto, R., Pinton, P., Carrington, W., Fay, F. S., Fogarty, K. E., Lifshitz, L. M., Tuft, R. A. and Pozzan, T., 1998, Close contacts with the endoplasmic reticulum as determinants of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ responses. *Science* **280**, 1763–6.
- Robertson, J. D., Orrenius, S. and Zhivotovsky, B., 2000, Review: nuclear events in apoptosis. *J Struct Biol* **129**, 346–58.
- Rodland, K. D., 2004, The role of the calcium-sensing receptor in cancer. Cell Calcium 35, 291-5.

- Santella, L., 1998, The role of calcium in the cell cycle: facts and hypotheses. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 244, 317–24.
- Savino, J. A., 3rd, Evans, J. F., Rabinowitz, D., Auborn, K. J. and Carter, T. H., 2006, Multiple, disparate roles for calcium signaling in apoptosis of human prostate and cervical cancer cells exposed to diindolylmethane. *Mol Cancer Ther* 5, 556–63.
- Schwarz, E. C., Wissenbach, U., Niemeyer, B. A., Strauss, B., Philipp, S. E., Flockerzi, V. and Hoth, M., 2006, TRPV6 potentiates calcium-dependent cell proliferation. *Cell Calcium* **39**, 163–73.
- Sergeev, I. N., 2005, Calcium signaling in cancer and vitamin D. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 97, 145–51.
- Shen, M. R., Droogmans, G., Eggermont, J., Voets, T., Ellory, J. C. and Nilius, B., 2000, Differential expression of volume-regulated anion channels during cell cycle progression of human cervical cancer cells. *J Physiol* **529 Pt 2**, 385–94.
- Shen, M. R., Yang, T. P. and Tang, M. J., 2002, A novel function of BCL-2 overexpression in regulatory volume decrease. Enhancing swelling-activated Ca²⁺ entry and Cl⁻ channel activity. *J Biol Chem* 277, 15592–9.
- Shimizu, T., Morishima, S. and Okada, Y., 2000, Ca²⁺-sensing receptor-mediated regulation of volumesensitive Cl⁻ channels in human epithelial cells. J Physiol 528, 457–72.
- Skryma, R., Mariot, P., Bourhis, X. L., Coppenolle, F. V., Shuba, Y., Vanden Abeele, F., Legrand, G., Humez, S., Boilly, B. and Prevarskaya, N., 2000, Store depletion and store-operated Ca²⁺ current in human prostate cancer LNCaP cells: involvement in apoptosis. *J Physiol* **527 Pt 1**, 71–83.
- Smith, L. and Smith, J. B., 1994, Regulation of sodium-calcium exchanger by glucocorticoids and growth factors in vascular smooth muscle. J Biol Chem 269, 27527–31.
- Strehler, E. E. and Zacharias, D. A., 2001, Role of alternative splicing in generating isoform diversity among plasma membrane calcium pumps. *Physiol Rev* 81, 21–50.
- Sweeney, M., Yu, Y., Platoshyn, O., Zhang, S., McDaniel, S. S. and Yuan, J. X., 2002, Inhibition of endogenous TRP1 decreases capacitative Ca²⁺ entry and attenuates pulmonary artery smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283, L144–55.
- Sweet, S. and Singh, G., 1999, Changes in mitochondrial mass, membrane potential, and cellular adenosine triphosphate content during the cell cycle of human leukemic (HL-60) cells. *J Cell Physiol* 180, 91–6.
- Tfelt-Hansen, J., Ferreira, A., Yano, S., Kanuparthi, D., Romero, J. R., Brown, E. M. and Chattopadhyay, N., 2005, Calcium-sensing receptor activation induces nitric oxide production in H-500 Leydig cancer cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 288, E1206–13.
- Thebault, S., Flourakis, M., Vanoverberghe, K., Vandermoere, F., Roudbaraki, M., Lehen'kyi, V., Slomianny, C., Beck, B., Mariot, P., Bonnal, J. L., Mauroy, B., Shuba, Y., Capiod, T., Skryma, R. and Prevarskaya, N., 2006, Differential role of transient receptor potential channels in Ca²⁺ entry and proliferation of prostate cancer epithelial cells. *Cancer Res* 66, 2038–47.
- Thebault, S., Roudbaraki, M., Sydorenko, V., Shuba, Y., Lemonnier, L., Slomianny, C., Dewailly, E., Bonnal, J. L., Mauroy, B., Skryma, R. and Prevarskaya, N., 2003, Alpha1-adrenergic receptors activate Ca²⁺-permeable cationic channels in prostate cancer epithelial cells. *J Clin Invest* **111**, 1691–701.
- Thomas, A. P., Bird, G. S., Hajnoczky, G., Robb-Gaspers, L. D. and Putney, J. W., Jr., 1996, Spatial and temporal aspects of cellular calcium signaling. *Faseb J* 10, 1505–17.
- Vallot, O., Combettes, L., Jourdon, P., Inamo, J., Marty, I., Claret, M. and Lompre, A. M., 2000, Intracellular Ca²⁺ handling in vascular smooth muscle cells is affected by proliferation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 20, 1225–35.
- Van de Craen, M., Vandenabeele, P., Declercq, W., Van den Brande, I., Van Loo, G., Molemans, F., Schotte, P., Van Criekinge, W., Beyaert, R. and Fiers, W., 1997, Characterization of seven murine caspase family members. *FEBS Lett* **403**, 61–9.
- Vanden Abeele, F., Lemonnier, L., Thebault, S., Lepage, G., Parys, J. B., Shuba, Y., Skryma, R. and Prevarskaya, N., 2004, Two types of store-operated Ca²⁺ channels with different activation modes and molecular origin in LNCaP human prostate cancer epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 279, 30326–37.

- Vanden Abeele, F., Roudbaraki, M., Shuba, Y., Skryma, R. and Prevarskaya, N., 2003, Store-operated Ca²⁺ current in prostate cancer epithelial cells. Role of endogenous Ca²⁺ transporter type 1. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 15381–9.
- Vanden Abeele, F., Skryma, R., Shuba, Y., Van Coppenolle, F., Slomianny, C., Roudbaraki, M., Mauroy, B., Wuytack, F. and Prevarskaya, N., 2002, Bcl-2-dependent modulation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis and store-operated channels in prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Cell* 1, 169–79.
- Vanoverberghe, K., Mariot, P., Vanden Abeele, F., Delcourt, P., Parys, J. B. and Prevarskaya, N., 2003, Mechanisms of ATP-induced calcium signaling and growth arrest in human prostate cancer cells. *Cell Calcium* 34, 75–85.
- Vanoverberghe, K., Vanden Abeele, F., Mariot, P., Lepage, G., Roudbaraki, M., Bonnal, J. L., Mauroy, B., Shuba, Y., Skryma, R. and Prevarskaya, N., 2004, Ca²⁺ homeostasis and apoptotic resistance of neuroendocrine-differentiated prostate cancer cells. *Cell Death Differ* **11**, 321–30.
- Varadi, A., Cirulli, V. and Rutter, G. A., 2004, Mitochondrial localization as a determinant of capacitative Ca²⁺ entry in HeLa cells. *Cell Calcium* **36**, 499–508.
- von Kugelgen, I. and Wetter, A., 2000, Molecular pharmacology of P2Y-receptors. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 362, 310–23.
- Waldron, R. T., Short, A. D., Meadows, J. J., Ghosh, T. K. and Gill, D. L., 1994, Endoplasmic reticulum calcium pump expression and control of cell growth. J Biol Chem 269, 11927–33.
- Wang, H. G., Pathan, N., Ethell, I. M., Krajewski, S., Yamaguchi, Y., Shibasaki, F., McKeon, F., Bobo, T., Franke, T. F. and Reed, J. C., 1999, Ca²⁺-induced apoptosis through calcineurin dephosphorylation of BAD. *Science* 284, 339–43.
- Wang, L., Chen, L., Zhu, L., Rawle, M., Nie, S., Zhang, J., Ping, Z., Kangrong, C. and Jacob, T. J., 2002, Regulatory volume decrease is actively modulated during the cell cycle. *J Cell Physiol* **193**, 110–9.
- Wang, X. T., Nagaba, Y., Cross, H. S., Wrba, F., Zhang, L. and Guggino, S. E., 2000, The mRNA of L-type calcium channel elevated in colon cancer: protein distribution in normal and cancerous colon. *Am J Pathol* 157, 1549–62.
- Williams, S. S., French, J. N., Gilbert, M., Rangaswami, A. A., Walleczek, J. and Knox, S. J., 2000, Bcl-2 overexpression results in enhanced capacitative calcium entry and resistance to SKF-96365-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Res* 60, 4358–61.
- Wissenbach, U., Niemeyer, B. A., Fixemer, T., Schneidewind, A., Trost, C., Cavalie, A., Reus, K., Meese, E., Bonkhoff, H. and Flockerzi, V., 2001, Expression of CaT-like, a novel calcium-selective channel, correlates with the malignancy of prostate cancer. J Biol Chem 276, 19461–8.
- Yu, Y., Fantozzi, I., Remillard, C. V., Landsberg, J. W., Kunichika, N., Platoshyn, O., Tigno, D. D., Thistlethwaite, P. A., Rubin, L. J. and Yuan, J. X., 2004, Enhanced expression of transient receptor potential channels in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 13861–6.
- Yu, Y., Sweeney, M., Zhang, S., Platoshyn, O., Landsberg, J., Rothman, A. and Yuan, J. X., 2003, PDGF stimulates pulmonary vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation by upregulating TRPC6 expression. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 284, C316–30.
- Yue, L., Peng, J. B., Hediger, M. A. and Clapham, D. E., 2001, CaT1 manifests the pore properties of the calcium-release-activated calcium channel. *Nature* 410, 705–9.
- Zhuang, L., Peng, J. B., Tou, L., Takanaga, H., Adam, R. M., Hediger, M. A. and Freeman, M. R., 2002, Calcium-selective ion channel, CaT1, is apically localized in gastrointestinal tract epithelia and is aberrantly expressed in human malignancies. *Lab Invest* 82, 1755–64.

CHAPTER 16

CALCIUM MISREGULATION AND THE PATHOGENESIS OF MUSCULAR DYSTROPHY

F.W. HOPF¹, P.R. TURNER² AND R.A. STEINHARDT^{3,*}

¹Ernest Gallo Clinic and Research Center, University of California, San Francisco, 5858 Horton St., Suite 200, Emeryville, CA 94608, woody@egcrc.net

 ²Panomics, 6519 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA, 94555, paulturner727@btopenworld.com
³Department of Molecular and Cell biology, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA 94720-3200

- Abstract: Although the exact nature of the relationship between calcium and the pathogenesis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is not fully understood, this is an important issue which has been addressed in several recent reviews (Alderton and Steinhardt, 2000a, Gailly, 2002, Allen et al., 2005). A key question when trying to understand the cellular basis of DMD is how the absence or low level of expression of dystrophin, a cytoskeletal protein, results in the slow but progressive necrosis of muscle fibres. Although loss of cytoskeletal and sarcolemmal integrity which results from the absence of dystrophin clearly plays a key role in the pathogenesis associated with DMD, a number of lines of evidence also establish a role for misregulation of calcium ions in the DMD pathology, particularly in the cytoplasmic space just under the sarcolemma. A number of calciumpermeable channels have been identified which can exhibit greater activity in dystrophic muscle cells, and existing evidence suggests that these may represent different variants of the same channel type (perhaps the transient receptor potential channel, TRPC). In addition, a prominent role for calcium-activated proteases in the DMD pathology has been established, as well as modulation of other intracellular regulatory proteins and signaling pathways. Whether dystrophin and its associated proteins have a direct role in the regulation of calcium ions, calcium channels or intracellular calcium stores, or indirectly alters calcium regulation through enhancement of membrane tearing, remains unclear. Here we focus on areas of consensus or divergence amongst the existing literature, and propose areas where future research would be especially valuable
- **Keywords:** dystrophin-glycoprotein complex, sarcolemma, membrane tears, calcium channels, calcium-activated proteases

^{*}R.A.Steinhardt, ricksteinhardt@berkeley.edu

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 429–464. © 2007 Springer.

1. STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

1.1. The Dystrophic Genome

There is an excellent understanding of the different muscular dystrophies at the gene level. The genetic changes responsible for DMD are found on the X chromosome (Koenig et al., 1987, Monaco et al., 1986), specifically at Xp21 (Boyd and Buckle, 1986). This location was confirmed using DNA markers (Davies et al., 1983). The disease was shown to be allelic with the milder Beckers Muscular Dystrophy (BMD) (Kingston et al., 1983). The DMD gene is the largest and one of the most complex vet described, spanning \sim 2.5 Mb of genomic sequence and composed of 79 exons (Coffey et al., 1992, Monaco et al., 1992, Roberts et al., 1983). The full-length 14-kb mRNA transcript is predominantly expressed in skeletal and cardiac muscle, with smaller amounts found in the CNS (Monaco et al., 1986, Koenig et al., 1987, Monaco et al., 1987). The protein product encoded by this transcript was named dystrophin as the lack of it causes dystrophy (Hoffman et al., 1987, Koenig et al., 1987). Expression of the full 14-kb dystrophin transcript is controlled by three independent promoters. The brain, muscle, and Purkinje promoters each consist of unique first exons spliced to a common set of 78 exons (Nudel et al., 1989, Chelly et al., 1990, Klamuth et al., 1990, Boyce et al., 1991, Mackover et al., 1991, Gorecki et al., 1992). The brain promoter regulates expression in cortical neurons and the hippocampus (Barnea et al., 1990, Chelly et al., 1990, Gorecki et al., 1992), the Purkinje promoter drives expression in the cerebellar Purkinje cells and also in skeletal muscle (Gorecki et al., 1992, Holder et al., 1996), and the muscle promoter causes high levels of expression in skeletal muscle and cardiomyocytes, and low levels in some glial cells in the CNS (Barnea et al., 1990, Chelly et al., 1990). Although the majority of studies have examined calcium regulation in dystrophic skeletal muscle, loss of dystrophin also alters the function of cardiac (Yasuda et al., 2005) and smooth muscle (e.g., Serio and Mule, 2001). In fact, loss of dystrophin may have a more detrimental effect on cardiac than skeletal muscle; cardiac failure is the second leading cause of death in DMD patients (Muntoni, 2003).

1.2. Dystrophin Isoforms and Splice Variants

Alternative splicing at the 3'-end of the dystrophin gene can give rise to a number of isoforms (Feener et al., 1989, Bies et al., 1992). In addition, the DMD gene has four internal promoters, whose activity can give rise to truncated COOH-terminal isoforms. Each promoter utilizes a unique first exon that generates proteins of 260 kDa (Hoffman et al., 1987), 140 kDa (Lidov et al., 1995), 116 kDa (Byers et al., 1993), and 71 kDa (Blake et al., 1992, Hugnot et al., 1992, Lederfein et al., 1992) respectively. The 71 kDa isoform is detected in most nonmuscle tissues including brain, kidney, liver, and lung (Blake et al., 1992, Schofield et al., 1994, Howard et al., 1998, 1999, Sarig et al., 1999) while the remaining short isoforms are primarily expressed in the central and peripheral nervous system (Byers et al., 1993, Schofield et al., 1994, Lidov et al., 1995). These truncated proteins contain binding

sites for a number of dystrophin-associated proteins (DAPs), and they are thought to be involved in the stabilization and function of non-muscle dystrophin-like protein complexes (DPCs). Alternative splicing at the 3'-end is also found in the shorter isoforms. This differential splicing may regulate the binding of dystrophin to DAPs at the membrane (Crawford et al., 2000).

1.3. Protein Structure

Dystrophin is 427-kDa protein with homology to the β -spectrin/ α -actinin protein family (Koenig et al., 1988). Dystrophin contains at least four separate regions: the actin-binding domain at the N-terminus, a central rod domain containing spectrin like repeats, a cysteine-rich domain, and the COOH-terminal domain. The NH2 terminus and a region in the rod domain bind directly to, but do not cross-link, cytoskeletal actin (Winder et al., 1995, Rybakova et al., 1996). The flexible rod domain is composed of 24 spectrin-like repeats. These α -helical repeats are interrupted by four proline-rich hinge regions (Koenig and Kunkel, 1990), and at the end of the 24th repeat, the fourth hinge region is followed by a WW (tryptophan) binding domain. This is found in several signaling and regulatory molecules (Bork and Sudol, 1994, Macias et al., 1996). Although a specific ligand for the WW domain of dystrophin has not been determined, this region mediates the interaction between βdystroglycan and dystrophin. The entire WW domain of dystrophin does not appear to be required for this interaction with dystroglycan. The 71 kDa dystrophin isoform which contains only part of the WW domain, can bind to β-dystroglycan (Rosa et al., 1996). Interestingly, transgenic mice overexpressing the 71 kDa isoform in dystrophin-deficient muscle restore α -dystroglycan and the DPCs at the membrane but do not prevent muscle degeneration (Cox et al., 1994, Greenberg et al., 1994). The cysteine rich domain contains two EF-hand motifs that could bind intracellular Ca²⁺ (Koenig et al., 1988). The ZZ domain is also part of this cysteine-rich domain and contains conserved cysteine residues that can form coordination sites for divalent metal cations such as Zn^{2+} (Ponting et al., 1996). This ZZ domain zinc finger of dystrophin binds to calmodulin in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner (Anderson et al., 1996). Thus the ZZ domain may represent a functional calmodulin-binding site and may have implications for calmodulin binding to other dystrophin-related proteins. The COOH terminus of dystrophin contains two polypeptide stretches that are predicted to form α -helical coiled coils similar to those in the rod domain (Blake et al., 1995). Each coiled coil has a conserved repeating heptad domain similar to those found in leucine zippers (Lupas, 1996, Burkhard et al., 2001). This domain has been named the CC (coiled coil) domain. The CC region of dystrophin forms the binding site for dystrobrevin and may modulate the interaction between syntrophin and other DAPs (Blake et al., 1995, Saoulet-Puccio et al., 1997).

Dystrophin is linked to the sarcolemma of normal muscle by a protein complex composed of at least 10 different proteins (McNeil and Steinhardt, 2003). In contrast to spectrin that appears operate as a heterodimer, the dystrophin complex is monomeric (Rybakova and Ervasti, 1997). This complex spans the membrane and
links the actin-based cytoskeleton to the muscle basal lamina (Figure 1). Thus the DPC can be thought of as a scaffold connecting the inside of a muscle fiber to the outside. The DPC can be divided into several separate subcomplexes based on their location within the cell and their physical association with each other. Using detergent extraction and two-dimensional gel electrophoresis, Yoshida et al. (1994) showed that the DPC could be dissociated into three distinct complexes. These complexes are 1) the dystroglycan complex, 2) the sarcoglycan/sarcospan complex and 3) the cytoplasmic, dystrophin-containing complex.

Dystroglycan was the first component of the DPC to be cloned (Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya et al., 1992). The single dystroglycan gene produces a precursor protein that is processed by an unidentified protease to produce α - and β -dystroglycan. The dystroglycan gene is composed of only two exons, and there is no evidence of alternative splicing, although several glycoforms are produced (Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya et al., 1993). The relative molecular weights of α -dystroglycan differ in different tissues as a result of the aforementioned differential glycosylation. In muscle, β -dystroglycan has a molecular mass of 156 kDa, whereas β -dystroglycan is 43 kDa. In brain, β -dystroglycan has a molecular mass of 120 kDa and was independently identified as a protein called cranin (Smalheiser and Schwartz, 1987, Smalheiser and Kim, 1995). Dystroglycan has a single transmembrane domain and is inserted into the muscle plasma membrane with the COOH terminus on the cytoplasmic side. In contrast, β -dystroglycan is located



Figure 1. The muscle dystrophin-glycoprotein complex. The dystrophin-glycoprotein complex normally spans the plasma membrane of the skeletal muscle cell and may stabilize the sarcolemma and cytoskeleton to allow force transduction between the intracellular cytoskeleton (F-actin filaments) and the extracellular matrix. The molecules indicated are core components of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex. Laminin 2 is the predominant laminin isoform in skeletal muscle basement membranes. Modified from McNeil and Steinhardt (2003)

in the extracellular matrix where it is thought to be directly associated with α dystroglycan through multiple covalent interactions. The extreme C-terminus of α -dystroglycan contains several proline residues that are required for dystroglycan binding to dystrophin (Suzuki et al., 1992, 1994, Jung et al., 1995, Rentschler et al., 1999). The last 15 amino acids of β -dystroglycan appear to bind directly to the cysteine-rich region of dystrophin. This region of β -dystroglycan is proline rich and contains a site for tyrosine phosphorylation (James et al., 2000). Recently, the crystal structure of β -dystroglycan bound to dystrophin has been determined (Huang et al., 2000). The structure of this region of dystrophin shows that dystroglycan forms contacts with both the WW domain and EF-hands of dystrophin. The C-terminus of β -dystroglycan also binds to the adaptor protein Grb2 (Yang et al., 1995). This interaction is mediated by the SH3 domain of Grb2 that binds to proline-rich sequences in the cytoplasmic tail of β -dystroglycan. Thus β -dystroglycan may participate in the transduction of extracellular-mediated signals to the muscle cytoskeleton (Yang et al., 1995).

The dystrophin complex also interacts with neuronal-type nitric oxide synthase (nNOS), whose biological product, NO, regulates contraction in skeletal muscle (Stamler and Meissner, 2001). Another protein associated with the DGC, although not essential for the biogenesis of the complex itself, is caveolin-3 (Cav-3), a member of the caveolin protein family. Caveolins are the main structural components of caveolae, which are cholesterol- and sphingolipid-rich vescicular invaginations of the plasma membrane (Williams and Lisanti, 2004). The complete loss of dystrophin perturbs the structural composition of the DGC, such that all members of the DGC complex are greatly reduced in skeletal muscle fibers from DMD patients and from *mdx* mice (see above). The only exception is Cav-3, which was shown to be up-regulated by 2-fold in dystrophin-deficient skeletal muscle (Repetto et al., 1999). Caveolin regulation of sarcolemmal integrity and muscle regeneration in skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle are likely impaired in dystrophin-deficient muscle (Rando, 2001, Volonte et al., 2003, Halayko and Stelmack, 2005).

Finally, although much work has focused upon dystrophin and the associated DAG as a structural scaffold protecting the sarcolemma and intracellular contractile machinery, it is also clear that the DGC plays an important role in regulation of intracellular signaling, in particular through a number of kinase cascades implicated in cell survival (reviewed in Rando, 2001).

1.4. Mutations in DMD

Mutations that cause DMD generally result in the absence, or greatly reduced levels, of dystrophin protein, while BMD patients generally make some partially functional protein. There is some correlation between mutations in the DMD gene and the resulting phenotype. The study of such mutations has revealed the importance of a number of the structural domains of dystrophin and facilitated the design of dystrophin "mini-genes" for gene therapy approaches (Amalfitano et al., 1997). Approximately 65% of DMD and BMD patients have gross deletions of the DMD

gene (Monaco et al., 1985, Koenig et al., 1989). Monaco et al. (1988) argue that if a deletion leads to the expression of an internally truncated transcript without shifting the normal open reading frame, then a smaller, but functional version of dystrophin can be produced. This scenario would be consistent with a BMD phenotype. If, on the other hand, the deletion creates a translational frameshift, then premature termination of translation will result in the synthesis of a truncated protein. This latter scenario is often associated with extremely low levels of dystrophin expression and a DMD phenotype. There are exceptions (Malhotra et al., 1988, Baumbach et al., 1989, Winnard et al., 1993): complete dystrophin deficiency may be associated with a relatively benign phenotype (Hattori et al., 1999). The vast majority of large deletions detected in BMD and DMD cluster around two mutation "hot spots" (Koenig et al., 1989). Deletion cluster region I spans exons 45–53 (Beggs et al., 1990) and removes part of the rod domain, while deletion cluster region II spans exons 2-20 and removes some or all of the actin-binding sites together with part of the rod domain (Liechti-Gallati et al., 1989). One-third of DMD cases are caused by very small deletions and point mutations, most of which introduce premature stop codons (Hoffman et al., 1987, Lenk et al., 1993). These small deletions and point mutations appear to be evenly distributed throughout the gene (Beggs and Kunkel, 1990, Chamberlain, 1992, Roberts et al., 1994, Prior et al., 1995). Although it might be predicted that such mutations would give rise to normal amounts of truncated protein, usually very little or no protein is detected (see below for results with proteosome inhibition) (Vainzof et al., 1993).

A small number of useful mutations have been identified that generate mutated or truncated proteins. At the N-terminus of dystrophin, the importance of the actinbinding domain was demonstrated by the identification of a missense mutation (Arg for Leu-54) that resulted in a DMD phenotype associated with reduced amounts of protein (Prior et al., 1995). The rod domain of dystrophin has been found to accommodate large in-frame deletions without serious clinical consequences. The most notable example was the discovery of a patient with an in-frame deletion of 46% of the dystrophin coding sequence which resulted in only a mild case of BMD (England et al., 1990). This observation suggests that the rod domain acts merely as a spacer between the actin binding domain and the cysteine-rich and COOH-terminal domains of dystrophin. This deletion has been the basis of a dystrophin mini-gene used for transfer to muscle fibers in vivo (Acsadi et al., 1991, Dunckley et al., 1991, Ragot et al., 1993), which is able to restore the normal muscle phenotype in transgenic *mdx* mice (Phelps et al., 1995, Wells et al., 1995). The substitution of a conserved cysteine residue with a tyrosine at position 3340 results in reduced but detectable levels of dystrophin. This mutation alters one of the coordinating residues in the ZZ domain that is thought to interfere with the binding of the dystrophin-associated protein β -dystroglycan (Lenk et al., 1996). Another reported substitution, this time a histidine residue for an aspartate residue at position 3335, is also thought to affect the β -dystroglycan binding site, and although normal localization and amounts of dystrophin were detected, a severe phenotype resulted (Goldberg et al., 1998). The cysteine-rich domain is never deleted in BMD patients, suggesting that this domain is critical for dystrophin function (Hoffman et al., 1991, Bies et al., 1992, Helliwell et al., 1992, Rafael et al., 1996), and presumably reflects the interactions with other dystrophin-associated proteins. Finally, cases of X-linked cardiomyopathy are caused by mutations in the DMD gene that abolish the cardiac gene expression of dystrophin, while retaining expression in skeletal muscle. This condition involves ventricular wall dysfunction, dilated cardiomyopathy, and cardiac failure in the absence of skeletal myopathy (Ferlini et al., 1994). Mutations in the muscle-specific M-promoter selectively abolish expression in the heart.

1.5. The mdx Mouse

The discovery of dystrophin has allowed the identification and targeted disruption of orthologous genes in other species. Thus far, dystrophin deficient cats, mice and dogs, have all been identified, and the gene has also been targeted in *C. elegans* (Bessou et al., 1998). All of these animal models have potential for the study of the pathophysiology of DMD. The dystrophin-deficient mouse (*mdx*) was initially identified because of raised serum creatine kinase levels, an enzyme released following damage to muscle fibres (see below), and these mice were also found to have significant muscle pathology (Bulfield et al., 1984). The *mdx* mouse lacks fullength dystrophin (Hoffman et al., 1987), a point mutation in exon 23 having formed a premature stop codon (Sicinski et al., 1989), but animals retain expression of some COOH-terminal dystrophin isoforms. Subsequent studies with ethyl-nitrosourea induced and insertional mutagenesis have produced similar genetic lesions, with resultant mice phenotypically similar to the *mdx* mouse (Chapman et al., 1989, Cox et al., 1993, Im et al., 1996, Wertz and Fuchtbauer, 1998). The full-length dystrophin is therefore the functionally significant isoform.

However, the validity of this model for the study of DMD has been questioned (Dangain and Vrbova, 1984), because obvious animal weakness is not evident unless subjected to exercise, and, unlike the case in humans, the life span of *mdx* mice is not greatly reduced (Pastoret and Sebille, 1995, Lunch et al., 2001). Nonetheless, mdx skeletal muscles are dysfunctional (Rafael et al., 2000), with force production and power output both significantly reduced (Carlson and Makiejus, 1990, Lynch et al., 2001). Significant muscle fiber necrosis occurs, particularly at 3-4 wks of age (Tanabe et al., 1986). This is balanced in part by a vigorous regenerative response, with fibers now expressing the fetal myosin heavy chain isoform and with centrally located nuclei, which also occurs when normal muscle regenerates after a nonspecific insult (Hall-Craggs and Seyan, 1975, Coulton et al., 1988, Dimario et al., 1991). After this initial crisis period, many fibers remain centrally nucleated, but expression of the fetal myosin heavy chain declines. Degeneration and regeneration of muscle fibers continues apace (Jin et al., 2000) particularly in the diaphragm (Stedman et al., 1991, Pagel and Partridge, 1999), with the proliferating satellite muscle precursor cells expressing markers of activation (Jin et al., 2000). Fibrosis does eventually become apparent in the limb muscles of older *mdx* mice (Pastoret and Sebille, 1993). Thus, mdx mice show many features of DMD, but often at later times relative to humans. Why this should be is not clear but may relate to differences in the murine biology of muscle regeneration (Gorospe et al., 1997). Despite these differences, the mdx mouse has been a key resource in the exploration of dystrophic pathophysiology, and mdx mice have already been used to screen for potential therapeutic treatments (Allamand and Campbell, 2000, Granchelli et al., 2000).

2. INCREASED FRAGILITY OF THE DYSTROPHIC SARCOLEMMA IS CRITICAL FOR ENHANCED MUSCLE DAMAGE

It is widely accepted that the sarcolemma of dystrophic muscle fibers is more susceptible to membrane tearing than tissue from control muscle (for review, see Allen et al., 2005). In normal muscle, dystrophin and the complex of DAGs is thought to anchor the intracellular cytoskeleton of the muscle fiber to the extracellular matrix. In the absence of this mechanical support, the sarcolemma is subject to excess mechanical strain during contractile activity, leading to tearing of the membrane. A number of lines of evidence demonstrate the increased fragility of the sarcolemma in dystrophic muscle, especially studies of damage to control and dystrophic muscle during strong contractile activity (discussed below). Membrane damage is most pronounced after eccentric contractions, where the intracellular contractile machinery shortens while the overall muscle length increases, which places particular strain upon the sarcolemma (Allen et al. 2005). Membrane fragility is not an intrinsic property of the sarcolemma, since the amount of pressure required to rupture the membrane is not different between dystrophic and normal muscle (Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 1994). Thus, any increased tearing or disruption of the sarcolemmal integrity likely results from altered sarcolemmal-cytoskeletal interactions, perhaps with weakening at particular regions of the sarcolemma where spectrin is less dense (Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 1994).

Early studies noted increased levels of creatine kinase in the blood of dystrophic patients and mice (for review, see Gillis, 1999). Since creatine kinase normally resides within the muscle cell, it could only leave the myofiber through tears in the membrane. In control muscle, creatine kinase is primarily observed outside of muscle fibers after intense or eccentric exercise. In contrast, dystrophic humans and mice have elevated creatine kinase levels under basal conditions, and levels are especially exaggerated after prolonged muscle contraction. Similar results are observed using loss of basic fibroblastic growth factor from dystrophic muscle as an indicator of membrane permeability (Clarke et al., 1993). In addition, endogenous or exogenous membrane-impermeant molecules, such as albumin, Flourescein-Lycine polymer, procion orange or Evans blue (Clarke et al., 1993, Petrof et al., 1993, Matsuda et al., 1995, Doran et al., 2006), do not normally pass through the fatty sarcolemmal membrane. Thus, any conditions under which these molecules are able to enter a muscle cell indicate that the integrity of the sarcolemma is compromised. Entry of these dyes into dystrophic muscle is far greater than control in unexercised

animals (Clarke et al., 1993, Matsuda et al., 1995), and exercise dramatically enhances dye entrance in dystrophic muscle, with a much more moderate effect in control muscle (Petrof et al., 1993). Increased susceptibility of dystrophic muscle to osmotic shock (Menke and Jockusch, 1991, Imbert et al., 1996, Vandebrouck et al., 2001) also suggests that enhanced mechanical disruption of the dystrophic sarcolemma is a primary contributor to the dystrophic pathology. However, it is likely that any membrane tears that do occur in control or dystrophic muscle heal rapidly (Carpenter and Karpati, 1979, Clarke et al., 1993, Bansal et al., 2003), otherwise membrane-impermeant dyes would not be retained within the cell free within the cytoplasm. In support of the primary importance of wounding and membrane resealing, loss of dysferlin decreases membrane resealing and results in a DMD-like pathology (Bansal et al., 2003, Doherty and McNally, 2003). Thus, increased dye entry and creatine kinase loss suggest decreased integrity of the sarcolemma in the absence of the dystrophin protein.

In addition to dye flux studies, a number of groups have measured the loss of force generation after eccentric contractions (contraction with stretching) as a measure of muscle damage, and have generally observed that the degree of loss of force generation is greater in dystrophic muscle (for review, see Allen et al., 2005, but see Sacco et al., 1992). Markers of degeneration and apoptosis are also more prevalent in dystrophic muscle after exercise (Weller et al., 1990, Matsuda et al., 1995, De Luca et al., 2003), supporting the idea that muscle damage after exercise is greater in dystrophic tissue. The loss of force and necrosis which typify the dystrophic pathology could result from increased sarcolemmal permeability or damage to the myofibrils of the intracellular contractile machinery in the absence of dystrophin. However, after permeabilization, which essentially removes the sarcolemma, muscle damage after contraction and stretching is identical and pronounced in both dystrophic and control muscle (Lynch et al., 2000). Thus, muscle damage after exercise likely occurs secondarily to sarcolemmal disruption, which is more severe in dystrophic muscle. In agreement, dye entry correlates with loss of force generation (Petrof et al., 1993) and with the presence of markers for apoptosis (Matsuda et al., 1995). Further, restoring dystrophin expression in dystrophic muscle reduces both dye influx and the loss of force during eccentric contraction (Deconinck et al., 1996). It has also been widely noted that dystrophic muscles are larger and heavier, with larger fibers, perhaps as a consequence of regeneration (e.g., see Tutdibi et al., 1999). Despite this greater size, dystrophic muscle develops less force relative to the cross-sectional area. This may be due to accumulation of damage from which there is no recovery (Woods et al., 2005).

Cardiac muscle may be more sensitive than skeletal muscle to the loss of dystrophin, and heart failure is the second leading cause of death among DMD patients (see Yasuda et al., 2005). Interestingly, the decreased compliance and increased stretch-induced calcium overload in dystrophic cardiac muscle are reduced by poloxamer 188, a membrane sealant (Yasuda et al., 2005), suggesting that enhancing sarcolemmal integrity could significantly reduce cardiac damage and represent a novel therapeutic intervention for DMD.

We should note that the exact mechanism underlying the loss of force after eccentric contractions remains unclear (see Allen et al., 2005), with a possible role for impaired excitation-contraction coupling (e.g., depolarization and partly inactivation of voltage-dependent calcium channels (Imbert et al., 2001, Friedrich et al., 2004), to calcium-dependent processes, and/or to damage to contractile machinery. In fact, increased membrane fragility might be secondary to increased intracellular free calcium levels (Iwata et al., 2003, Allen et al., 2005), although calcium-induced enhancement of membrane permeability does not involve proteases in normal muscle (Jackson et al., 1984) and overexpression of a calpain inhibitor reduces necrosis without altering sarcolemmal permeability (Spencer and Mellgren, 2002).

3. IS INTRACELLULAR CALCIUM ALTERED IN DYSTROPHIC MUSCLE CELLS?

As described below, there has been some controversy as to whether calcium levels are elevated within muscle cells lacking dystrophin. However, it is clear from several lines of evidence that free calcium levels are elevated in dystrophic muscle cells in a region lying just under the sarcolemma, and are also elevated in the bulk cytoplasm in some cases. This elevated calcium likely results from increased influx through calcium-permeable channels (described in section 4), and in turn contributes to calcium-dependent proteolysis (described in section 5) which facilitates muscle cell necrosis. Importantly, calcium influx through increased levels of muscle tearing in dystrophic muscle (described in section 2) can activate certain calcium channels, providing a cellular mechanism linking the increased fragility in the absence of dystrophin which is clearly important for the pathogenesis of muscular dystrophy to the misregulation of calcium which also facilitates muscle cell death.

3.1. Sub-Sarcolemmal Calcium Levels are Elevated in Dystrophic Muscle

Early studies showed that the total muscle calcium content is enhanced in dystrophic myofibers (for review, see Gillis, 1999), suggesting that dysregulation of calcium could contribute to the dystrophic pathology. There were, however, a number of questions, in particular the route of entry of the calcium, and whether calcium loading occurred early or late in the progression of myofiber necrosis. Since then, considerable work from a number of groups has examined whether dysfunction in calcium regulation contributes to the dystrophic pathology. Although there has been some controversy concerning the role of calcium, significant evidence supports the hypothesis that there is increased calcium influx into dystrophic muscle, which results in enhanced proteolysis and myofiber apoptosis and/or necrosis.

Work from our group was the first to demonstrate that resting intracellular free calcium ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) levels are elevated, both in isolated, non-enzymatically-treated myofibers (Turner et al., 1988) and in cultured myotubes (Fong et al., 1990). Since

that time, many other studies have examined $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels, with many finding elevated calcium levels (Bakker et al., 1993, Imbert et al., 1995, Tutdibi et al., 1999, Robert et al., 2001, Fraysse et al., 2004) but several others not (Gailly, 1993, Head, 1993, Pressmar et al., 1994, Collet et al., 1999, DeBacker et al., 2002). A number of issues could contribute to such discrepancies. Some are critical technical concerns regarding fluorescent calcium indicators, including the fact that loading esterified forms of the dyes at higher concentrations or temperatures will enhance dye compartmentalization and sequestration into calcium stores, resulting in erroneous measurements of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ because compartmentalized dye contributes to fluorescence but does not measure cytoplasmic $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. Use of the compartmentalizationresistant fura-PE3 negates many of these problems (see Hopf et al., 1996b), as does microinjection of the free form of the dye (Turner et al., 1988).

Variables related to the activity of the muscle are also important. For example, human dystrophic DMD myotubes only develop differences in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ relative to control when cultured in the presence of spinal cord tissue, which induces muscle contractions (Imbert et al., 1995). This requirement is not necessary for myotubes cultured from the *mdx* mouse, which spontaneously contract (Hopf et al., 1996b). In both cases, chronic but not acute inhibition of contraction with tetrodotoxin returns resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels in dystrophic muscle to normal levels. In addition, osmotic shock causes elevations in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ primarily in dystrophic muscle (Imbert et al., 1996).

A critical variable that could be negated by bulk cytoplasmic measurements of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is the possibility that $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels just under the sarcolemma are significantly higher in dystrophic muscle. This has been confirmed using the calcium indicator aequorin targeted to the sarcolemma (Robert et al., 2001, Basset et al., 2004) using single channel activity of the large calcium-activated potassium channel, BK (Mallouk et al., 2000), and using fura-2 measures of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Turner et al., 1991). In fact, Mallouk and colleagues (2000) found significantly higher sub-sarcolemmal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ with no apparent difference in bulk cytoplasmic $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels. In addition, Robert et al. (2001) found that enhanced mitochondrial accumulation of calcium precedes the development of enhanced cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels in dystrophic muscle. Vandebrouck et al. (2006) also found an interaction of increased sarcolemmal cation flux after store depletion and mitochondrial regulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels. Thus, elevated cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ may only become apparent once the tremendous calcium buffering capacity of the muscle cell becomes saturated.

Increased $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ could be due to altered intracellular calcium uptake or buffering, and/or increased calcium flux across the sarcolemma in dystrophic muscle. In support of the latter, measurements of sarcolemmal cation influx have generally observed greater flux into dystrophic muscle. These studies have primarily examined influx of manganese, which quenches the fluorescence of calcium indicators at a rate proportional to the entry of manganese, and have been carried out both in cultured myotubes (Hopf et al., 1996b) and myofibers (Tutdibi et al., 1999, Fraysse et al., 2004). The increased rate of quenching in dystrophic muscle is prevented by nickel, a non-specific blocker of calcium channels (Fraysse et al., 2004), confirming that manganese influx occurs through channels and not tears in the membrane. The nature of these channels is discussed in detail below.

The controversy regarding possible differences in calcium regulation in dystrophic and normal muscle has continued into the present decade. Several recent studies did not observe differences in manganese flux in collagenase-isolated fibers (De Backer et al., 2002) or acutely dissected fibers (Carlson et al., 2003), and also did not find differences in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. However, Frayyse et al. (2004) examined acutely dissected muscle fibers, and found both elevated resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and manganese flux rates, as well as differential modulation of manganese influx by exercise. Thus, there are clearly a number of lines of evidence, including targeted calcium sensors and measurements of calcium-activated potassium channels, that indicate that subsarcolemmal calcium is elevated, but whether this can be partly or fully explained by increased flux through calcium-permeable channels (section 4) or alterations in other calcium regulatory pathways will require more experimentation, with particular care taken in regard to technical issues such as the method of calcium measurement and the exact state of the muscle tissue under investigation.

3.2. Are Calcium Regulatory Pathways Altered in Dystrophic Muscle?

Detecting differences in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in dystrophic and normal muscle might be complicated by the huge capacity for calcium uptake and buffering in skeletal muscle, which could efficiently compensate for any increased calcium influx. Skeletal muscle resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels are under complex and potent regulation (for review, see Gillis, 1999, Gailly, 2002). In addition to sarcolemmal calcium pumps (Ca²⁺-ATPases) and mitochondrial calcium uptake, skeletal muscle has large amounts of sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) which is rich in Ca²⁺ pumps. Strong and rapid regulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is critical for repeated, efficient muscle contraction. Thus, misregulation of calcium regulatory pathways could contribute to elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels and the downstream negative consequences for muscle viability.

The existing evidence regarding the possibility of differences in various calcium pumps or store calcium release is diverse, and thus it is more difficult to definitively conclude whether intracellular components of the excitation-contraction and calcium release machinery are altered in dystrophic muscle. For example, a number of groups have shown no differences in calcium kinetics after stimulation with a single action potential (Head, 1993, Tutdibi et al., 1999), which involves a number of steps in the excitation-contraction process including T-tubule depolarization, voltage-dependent calcium channels (VDCC) and subsequent ryanodine receptor activation, and calcium release from the SR. Other studies of store calcium release also have not observed differences in the caffeine-releasible pool (Imbert et al., 2005, Collet et al., 1999, Fraysse et al., 2004). In agreement, ryanodine receptor and SR Ca²⁺-ATPase levels are not altered in dystrophic skeletal muscle (Culligan et al., 2002, but see Divet et al., 2005), although they are reduced in dystrophic cardiac muscle (Rohman et al., 2003). In contrast, Woods et al. (2005) have found a reduced AP amplitude, and through a series of careful studies have shown normal

electrical propagation but reduced SR calcium release in dystrophic muscle (see also Nicolas-Metral et al., 2001). Tutdibi et al. (1999) also reported slower decay in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ after stimulation in some but not all, suggesting decreased uptake. Finally, Divet et al. (2002, 2005) found reduced SR calcium uptake in fast-twitch but not slow-twitch muscle that correlated with increased expression of a slow Ca-ATPase isoform, in agreement with Kargacin and Kargacin (1996) who showed decreased maximal velocity of calcium uptake in dystrophic muscle. Possible differential regulation of intracellular calcium stores is discussed in further detail below.

Calcium buffering and other calcium regulatory proteins, including calsequestrin or a calsequestrin-like protein, sarcalumenin, and regucalcin, are reduced in dystrophic muscle (Culligan et al., 2002, Doran et al, 2004, Dowling et al., 2004, Doran et al., 2006). Thus, enhanced calcium levels in dystrophic muscle might be secondary to decreased calcium buffering or altered regulation of Ca^{2+} -ATPases. However, a number of other proteins are also altered in dystrophic muscle (Ge et al., 2004, Doran et al., 2006), making it unclear whether changes in calcium-regulatory proteins are a primary cause or a secondary consequence of the myofiber degeneration.

4. ARE CALCIUM-PERMEABLE CHANNELS MORE ACTIVE IN DYSTROPHIC MUSCLE?

Increased sub-sarcolemmal calcium in dystrophic muscle cells could result from increased influx through a calcium-permeable ion channel in the sarcolemma. A significant amount of work has gone into trying to identify the calcium-permeable channels that might underlie the enhanced cation influx and increased subsarcolemmal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels described above. These studies have been remarkable for the diversity of different channels which have been observed. We will describe here the evidence for several major types of channels, mechanosensitive (MS) channels, store-activated channels (SOC), calcium leak channels, and growth factor-regulated channels (GRC), all of which have been reported to be differentially active in dystrophic muscle. A major challenge is understanding the relationship among these different types of channels, and the potential contribution of each to the dystrophic pathology. However, we believe there is enough evidence to suggest potential relationships between the channels, as well as different conditions under which the contribution or activity of particular channels might be enhanced in dystrophin-deficient muscle tissue (Figure 2).

4.1. The Mechanosensitive (MS) Channel

Stretch-activated MS channels are observed in a number of types of cells, including skeletal muscle. Original studies from Lansman and colleagues showed that a lower-activity, stretch-activated channel is present in both control and *mdx* muscle, with greater open probability in *mdx* myotubes and collagenase-isolated fibers (Franco



Figure 2. A proposed model demonstrating several different prominent calcium-related pathways whose activity may be altered in dystrophic muscle. Increased activity of mechanosensitive channels (MS) and store-activated channels (SOC), which are likely derived from the same gene product (TRPC), and the calcium leak channel, which could represent a proteolyzed TRPC SOC channel. Decreased mechanical coupling between L-type VGCC and ryanodine receptors may increase basal calcium release from calcium stores (not shown). Further, increased IP₃ and IP₃ receptor levels may also enhance basal and stimulated calcium-induced calcium release (CICR) from calcium stores. Calcium store depletion can increase translocation of SOCs from intracellular vesicles to the sarcolemma. Finally, the relationship between increased membrane fragility and tearing is less certain, but calcium influx through sarcolemmal tears could lead to calcium-dependent proteolysis and increased activity of calcium leak channels, as well as proteolysis of other targets, and increased release of calcium-related molecules are discussed in the text

and Lansman, 1990, Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 1994). In addition, a highactivity, stretch-inactivated channel is present only in *mdx* muscle cells (Franco and Lansman, 1990). More recent studies from this group (Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 2002) show that stretch-activated and stretch-inactivated channels likely represent the same channel, since strong suction caused some channels in *mdx* muscle to irreversibly switch into a high open probability mode that is inactivated by stretch, and stretch-activated and -inactivated channels exhibit very similar voltage-dependence of gating. These authors thus conclude that decreased stability of the sarcolemma in dystrophic muscle facilitates the transition of channels to a high-activity state after strong mechanical strain and loss of cytoskeletal regulation.

We should note that there is some diversity among studies examining MS channels in dystrophic muscle. MS channel abundance (the number of membrane patches containing channels) is greater in cultured myotubes but not in acutely isolated myofibers (Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 1994). Also, stretch-inactivated channels are observed in myotubes but not myofibers. In addition, Vandebrouck et al. (2002b) reported a channel with some similar biophysical properties as an MS channel. However, channels from dystrophic muscle show an increased abundance but no differences in open probability, somewhat divergent from the observations of Lansman and colleagues (Franco and Lansman, 1990,

Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 1994); several other properties are also different, including increased activity with depolarization in Lansman (and other studies of canonical MS channels) but decreased activity with depolarization in Vandebrouck. Finally, McBride and Hamill (1992) observed stretch-activated channels with no clear evidence for stretch-inactivated channels in dystrophic muscle, although the number of channels studied might not have been sufficient to observe such channels.

Others have observed indirect evidence for MS channels. For example, Tutdibi et al (1999) showed that manganese flux is not blocked by a putative SOC inhibitor, and is not enhanced by nifedipine, an activator of calcium leak channels (Coulombe et al., 1989), but is inhibited by Gd³⁺, a MS channel blocker. Thus, they attribute the greater cation flux in dystrophic muscle to MS channels. Increased activity of MS channels is also suggested by studies showing elevated resting sodium levels in dystrophic muscle (Dunn et al., 1993, Yeung et al., 2003), although this was not observed by Turner et al. (1991) in non-enzymatically isolated muscle fibers. MS channels are cationic, passing sodium as well as calcium, and MS channel blockers such as Gd³⁺ and streptomycin reduce resting sodium and calcium levels in mdx muscle with no effect in controls (Yeung et al., 2003, 2005, but see Carlson et al., 2005). Yeung et al. (2003) have proposed that contraction in the absence of mechanical stability in dystrophic muscle enhances the transition of MS channels into a high-activity state (as described in Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 2002), resulting in greater tonic MS activity and thus sodium and calcium influx.

A number of lines of evidence suggest that MS channels play a critical role in exercise-induced alterations in muscle function, both in control and *mdx* muscle. Eccentric muscle contraction with stretching leads to persisting depolarization and enhancement in sodium and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels in control muscle (McBride et al., 2000, Yeung et al., 2003, 2005), which is greater in dystrophic muscle and is normalized by blocking MS channels. In addition, MS blockers prevent the loss of force normally produced by eccentric contractions, suggesting that ion influx through MS channels is causal to the reduced force generation in normal muscle and is more pronounced in dystrophic muscle. Also interesting is the observation that, in the absence of dystrophin, muscle stretching induces aberrant activation of MAP kinase pathways through SR calcium store release and a Gd³⁺-sensitive conductance, which could contribute to necrosis (Kumar et al., 2004).

Several studies have tried to address the therapeutic value of reducing MS channel activity on the dystrophic pathology. Two week treatment of *mdx* mice with the MS blocker streptomycin protects against muscle damage (Yeung et al., 2005). On the other hand, Squire et al. (2002) showed that partial expression of utrophin in the *mdx* mouse normalized MS properties and assembly of the DAG, but led to only partial recovery of force loss after eccentric contractions and partial reduction in the number of central nuclei, an indicator of necrosis and regeneration. These MS channels are of the type reported in Vandebrouck et al. (2002b). Thus, abnormal calcium influx through MS channels may partly contribute to the dystrophic pathology,

but inhibiting MS channels only may not be sufficient to reverse the dystrophic muscle wasting, and thus other calcium sources are clearly also important. Further, De Backer et al. (2002) found elevated MS channel activity but no differences in manganese flux or resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, suggesting that a pathway other than the MS channel might carry a considerable portion of the Mn^{2+} flux observed in dystrophic fibers. In addition, to test the contribution of MS channels to resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, Turner et al. (1991) stretched adult myofibers and examined changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. Although a small increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is observed in control fibers, and a small decrease in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in *mdx* fibers, these authors concluded that the changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ are too small to fully account for the differences in resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ between *mdx* and control muscle.

4.2. The Store-Operated Channel (SOC)

SOCs, also known as ICRAC (calcium-release activated channels), have been observed in a wide range of cell types (Parekh and Penner, 1997). The defining property is that depletion of intracellular calcium stores results in increased calcium influx at the plasma membrane. The actual SOC that carries this calcium influx may vary between cells, and cloning studies have identified "transient receptor potential channel" (TRPC) (Parekh and Penner, 1997, Vandebrouck et al., 2002b) and CRACM1 (Peinelt et al., 2006) as candidate genes. Also, the exact mechanism by which SOCs are activated by store depletion has only been partly elucidated, with a role suggested for a calcium sensor on the endoplasmic reticulum (see Peinelt et al., 2006) and for IP₃ (Kiselyov et al., 1998).

Work from Vandebrouck and colleagues (2002b) have significantly advanced our understanding of the role of SOCs in muscular dystrophy, and helped clarify the relationship between the different channels observed in dystrophic muscle. They describe a channel with many similar biophysical properties as the MS channel, whose abundance is greater in dystrophic muscle. The activity of this channel is significantly enhanced by depletion of calcium stores with thapsigargin or caffeine. In addition, antisense knockdown of the genes for several TRPC isoforms (TRPC1 or 4) significantly reduces the occurance of both the putative MS channel and the ability of store depletion to enhance channel activity. Recently, a stretchactivated MS channel with ~ 40 pS conductance in normal Ringer's was shown to be encoded by the TRPC1 gene (Maroto et al., 2005). Taken together, these results suggest that MS and SOC channels represent the same channel, whose activity is greater in dystrophic muscle. However, this channel is not inhibited by 2-aminoethoxydiphenyl borate (2-APB), which inhibits SOCs in other cell types (see Wang et al., 2005), suggesting that muscle SOCs may differ from those in other cell types.

The calcium leak channel (described below) is also a SOC, since the single channel activity of the leak channel and manganese influx through the leak channel are greatly increased in cultured myotubes by depletion of the intracellular calcium stores (Hopf et al., 1996a).

4.3. Altered Regulation of Calcium Stores?

Since SOCs might be important for the enhanced calcium influx in dystrophic muscle, lack of dystrophin and disruption of the integrity of the cytoskeleton might impair the tight regulation of calcium release from the SR. Normally, SR calcium release is tightly regulated by L-type VDCCs in the T-tubules: SR calcium is only released when depolarization enters the T-tubules, activating VDCCs and in turn ryanodine receptors on the SR, resulting in calcium release from the SR. Disruption of this regulation might allow a persisting leak from dystrophic calcium stores, which could either directly elevate $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels, or could activate SOCs and increase $[Ca^{2+}]_i$.

An interesting study in this regard comes from Wang et al. (2005), who examined calcium sparks, considered elementary events in intracellular calcium release. These small, highly localized events are necessary for rhythmic activity of cardiac muscle, but few calcium sparks are normally observed in skeletal muscle, perhaps to maintain calcium stores quiescent and ready for release during contractile events. Wang et al. used osmotic changes to cause contraction or expansion of the sarcolemma. In control muscle, calcium spark activity is induced by osmotic changes, and disappears within 5-10 minutes of returning to normal osmotic solution. However, in *mdx* muscle, calcium spark activation is essentially irreversible. Also, store release after osmotic challenge is reduced in *mdx* muscle, suggesting persistent store depletion. Osmotic shock also increases $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in both normal and *mdx* muscle, with a greater increase in *mdx* tissue. Finally, mild exercise produces calcium sparks in *mdx* tissue in the absence of osmotic shock, and heavy exercise leads to calcium sparks in normal and *mdx* tissue, but still significantly more events in *mdx* muscle. Taken together, these results strongly suggest that enhanced SOC activity in dystrophic muscle might be secondary to impaired regulation of calcium stores, a condition which is also observed in normal muscle after heavy exercise.

Altered inositol trisphosphate (IP₃) regulation might also contribute to differential calcium store activity in dystrophic muscle. Kiselyov et al. (1998) used inside-out excised patches, where a piece of the cell plasma membrane is removed from the cell, to show that activation of the IP₃ receptor by IP₃ can activate a SOC. Thus, altered regulation of IP₃ signaling in dystrophic muscle might enhance calcium influx. Calcium store release in control skeletal muscle occurs predominantly through the ryanodine receptor on the SR. However, both IP_3 receptor abundance and IP_3 levels are increased in *mdx* muscle (Liberona et al., 1998), and carbachol-induced increases in sub-sarcolemmal calcium are significantly greater in dystrophic muscle and only involve IP_3 in dystrophic muscle (Basset et al., 2004). Thus, regulation of IP₃ signaling in dystrophic muscle may be impaired, and enhanced IP₃ levels might increase SOC activity directly (as described by Kiselyov et al., 1998) and indirectly by releasing calcium from SR calcium stores. Also, bcl-2, an apoptosis inhibitor, reduces [Ca²⁺], and mitochondrial calcium levels in dystrophic muscle by inhibiting IP₃ receptors (Basset et a., 2006). However, we should note that several studies have not found differences in the magnitude of intracellular calcium stores, for example, caffeine-induced store release in normal versus dystrophic muscle (Imbert et al., 2005, Collet et al., 1999, Fraysse et al., 2004). In contrast, using a calcium sensor aequorin targeted to the SR, Robert et al. (2001) found higher steady-state SR calcium levels in dystrophic muscle. Also, these studies do not strictly rule out the possibility of a small increased tonic calcium release from SR in dystrophic muscle, which has been observed by Divet and Huchet-Cadiou (2002). In fact, even partial store depletion is sufficient to activate SOCs in skeletal muscle (Kurebayashi and Ogawa, 2001). In addition, store depletion leads to greater sarcolemmal cation flux in DMD relative to normal myotubes, suggesting that a small basal efflux from the calcium stores might have a disproportionate effect in dystrophic muscle (Vandebrouck et al., 2006).

4.4. The Growth Factor-Regulated Channel (GRC)

A recent paper from Iwata et al. (2003) described a channel of the TRP family which is activated in response to growth factors or stretch, and whose activity is elevated in dystrophic skeletal and cardiac muscle. Under normal conditions, the GRC is located on vesicles in the cytoplasm, but translocates to the sarcolemma in response to growth factor signaling or stretch. This translocation is calcium-dependent, and, interestingly, requires a Gd³⁺-sensitive conductance, which could represent a basal level of GRC activity or some other perhaps MS-type channel. In addition, the translocation is inhibited by ruthenium red, a blocker of ryanodine receptor-dependent release of SR calcium, suggesting that store calcium release is also necessary for sarcolemmal GRC insertion. Whether the GRC is an SOC was not reported.

Most interestingly, creatine kinase loss (an indicator on membrane tearing) is greater in dystrophic tissue, as widely observed, and is significantly reduced by antisense for the GRC, or by channel inhibition with Gd^{3+} . These results support the interesting possibility that enhanced susceptibility to membrane tearing might be under direct and acute control of calcium influx through GRC, in agreement with previous studies suggesting that increasing $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ enhances membrane permeability (see Allen et al., 2005). This idea significantly refines our understanding of the etiology of dystrophy: other hypotheses (including our own) suggest that increased calcium channel activity is secondary to membrane tearing (McCarter and Steinhardt, 2000), but the results of Iwata suggest that calcium dysregulation could be the primary dysfunction. It is also likely that there is a positive feedback cycle through which membrane tearing enhances channel activity, and channel activity enhances sarcolemmal tearing.

4.5. The Calcium Leak Channel

Studies from our lab have identified a calcium-permeable, voltage-independent channel, whose probability of opening is significantly greater in cultured myotubes derived from *mdx* mouse or human DMD tissue (Fong et al., 1990) and in isolated,

non-enzyme-treated myofibers (Hopf et al., 1996b). These channels have several properties similar to previously described calcium leak channels (Coulombe et al., 1989). In particular, leak channels are activated by the dihydropyridine agonist nifedipine, which also enhances resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels in control and dystrophic cultured myotubes and non-enzymatically isolated adult fibers (Fong et al., 1990, Turner et al., 1991), and manganese influx in myotubes (Hopf et al., 1996b) and myofibers (Fraysse et al., 2004), confirming the presence of such channels in adult muscle.

Since calcium-dependent proteolysis is also increased in dystrophic muscle (discussed in detail below), the relationship between proteolysis and leak channel activity has been extensively investigated, and the calcium leak channel has been shown to play an important role both in regulation of proteolysis and regulation by proteolysis. Inhibition of leak channel activity reduces levels of calcium-dependent proteolysis to normal (Alderton and Steinhardt, 2000b). In addition, inhibitors of calcium-dependent proteolysis reduce calcium leak channel activity and resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in *mdx* myotubes to normal levels (Turner et al., 1993). These results suggest a positive feedback cycle, whereby calcium influx activates leak channels through proteolysis, further enhancing calcium influx and proteolysis, in a vicious cycle that perhaps culminates in muscle cell death. Since the dystrophic sarcolemma is more susceptible to membrane tearing and could act as a calcium source for proteases, membrane tears were generated by forming a seal with a patch electrophysiology pipette and then pulling the electrode away. Leak channels near this wound are significantly more active than more distant channels, and this increase in activity is prevented by an inhibitor of calcium-activated proteases (McCarter and Steinhardt, 2000). Thus, calcium influx through membrane tears can activate proteases and the leak channel, which would further increase the calcium load in dystrophic muscle. In agreement, Fraysse et al. (2004) found that exercise significantly increases the ability of the leak channel activator nifedipine to enhance manganese influx in mdx but not control muscle.

In myotubes, about 50% of patches contained leak channels. In contrast, in adult non-enzyme-treated myofibers, only about 5% of patches contained leak channels. Thus, in adult muscle, calcium leak channels might be clustered or restricted to specific regions of the fiber. Interestingly, leak channels from DMD myotubes are significantly more active than those from mdx mice, and there is the increased muscle wasting in DMD relative to mdx mice. Decreased mechanical stress on muscles due to the lighter weight of the mouse might lead to less membrane tearing, resulting in less activation of leak channels, and thus less development of proteolysis and necrosis.

4.6. Voltage-Dependent Calcium Channels

The L-type VDCC plays a critical role in excitation-contraction coupling, as voltage activation of VDCC results in activation of ryanodine receptors and release of calcium from the SR. Studies of VDCC in dystrophic muscle have produced

somewhat mixed results. The total number of dihydropyridine receptor binding sites is unaltered (Pereon et al., 1997). In contrast, several groups have reported reduced total L-type VDCC currents (Imbert et al., 2001, Friedrich et al., 2004, but see Desnuelle et al., 1986, Trautman et al., 1986), which might contribute to the reduced overall force generation in dystrophic muscle (see above). However, there are reports of unaltered voltage-dependence of inactivation (Friedrich et al., 2004, in *mdx* myotubes) or reduced voltage-dependence of inactivation (Imbert et al., 2001, in DMD myotubes). The latter condition could contribute to enhanced calcium influx in dystrophic muscle under conditions of depolarization. In cardiac muscle, the role of the L-type VDCC is clearer. Several groups have observed a decrease in L channel inactivation in dystrophic muscle, with no change in peak current (Sadeghi et al., 2002, Woolf et al., 2006), as well as several other kinetic changes. In agreement, there is a prolonged QT interval in the electrocardiogram from *mdx* mice (Sadeghi et al., 2002).

4.7. Do the Different Channels Contribute under Different Conditions?

How can these observations of apparently different types of channels contributing to the dystrophic pathology be reconciled? One possibility is that the different channel types are all present in muscle cells, and that they contribute to the dystrophic pathology under different conditions. In this regard, Fraysse et al. (2004) performed a particularly interesting study of the effects of exercise on dystrophic muscle. This study is valuable in part because it examined calcium regulation in muscle fibers which are dissected and pinned down but not collagenase-isolated; this perhaps represents the closest model to the *in vivo* situation, without possible disruption by enzymes or the artificial development which might occur during culturing of myotubes.

Fraysse et al. found that manganese influx is greater in dystrophic tissue at rest, and is increased in dystrophic and normal muscle by exercise. However, using Gd^{3+} as an indicator of MS channel activity, they found that the Gd^{3+} -sensitive portion of the manganese flux is $\sim 20\%$ in basal control, and $\sim 40\%$ in exercised control and in mdx with or without exercise. Thus, flux through MS channels is greater in mdx at rest, but not enhanced in mdx by exercise. On the other hand, the ability of nifedipine to enhance manganese flux (an indicator of calcium leak channel activity) is low and not different between normal and dystrophic muscle at rest, but is significantly enhanced by exercise only in dystrophic muscle. Taken together, these results suggest that the greater $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in resting muscle is due to MS channel activity, but that any changes in muscle function in dystrophic animals after chronic exercise (such as decreased force generation) is more likely related to increased leak channel activity. In this regard, utrophin expression in mdx mice normalized the activity of MS channels, but did not reverse the progression of muscle degeneration, raising the question of the "sole involvement of this channel type in the progression of the pathology" (Squire et al., 2002)

4.8. Are the Different Channels in Fact Variants of the Same Channel?

Another possible explanation for the apparently different channel types is that they in fact are derived from the same initial gene product, but that proteolysis or other forms of regulation alter the properties of the channel. In fact, Allen et al. (2005) have suggested that all the channel types represent a TRP-type SOC, although the muscle SOC channel is likely to be different from the canonical SOC, since it is not inhibited by APB (Wang et al., 2005) or carboxyamidotriazole (Tutdibi et al., 1999), and some SOCs show a single-channel conductance an order of magnitude smaller than reported for muscle leak and MS channels (Parekh and Penner, 1997). Nonetheless, the work of Vandebrouck et al. (2002b) has shown that at least some SOC variants are MS channels. Loss of cytoskeletal regulation may facilitate transition of some of these MS/SOCs into persistently active, stretchinactivated channels. In addition, we propose that activation of calcium-dependent proteolysis above some threshold level, especially after eccentric contractions and membrane tearing, might convert these SOC/MS channels to the calcium leak channels (McCarter and Steinhardt, 2000).

In support of a relationship between MS/SOC and calcium leak channels, calcium leak channels exhibit evidence of being both MS channels (Fong et al., 1990) and SOCs (Hopf et al., 1996a). Also, Vandebrouck et al. (2001, 2002a) described a leak/MS channel that had greater abundance and open probability in DMD myotubes. Mechanical stretch inactivates a portion of these channels, so that the abundance of patches of channels is now the same in dystrophic and normal tissue, although the open probability of the remaining channels is still significantly elevated in dystrophic muscle. Since all channels had the same single channel properties, this may indicate that the MS channels represented a subset of the calcium leak channels.

We should also note that Gu et al. (2001) showed mechanosensitivity in a Shakertype channel, and suggest that mechanosensitivity might be a general property of "multiconformational" channels. Thus, the presence of mechanosensitivity might not be evidence of channel relatedness.

Arguing against the hypothesis that MS and leak channels derive from a SOC is the observation that the different channels have different biophysical properties (see Allen et al., 2005). For example, the calcium leak channel is relatively impermeable to sodium, while the other channel types are more permeable to sodium. This permeability difference may merely reflect that Franco and Lansman (1990) tested for sodium permeability in the absence of calcium, a condition under which channels can lose specificity. Further, few leak channels observed by our lab exhibited the degree of activity reported for MS channels (Franco and Lansman, 1990, Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 2002, Vandebrouck et al., 2002b). However, the fact that the TRPC1 gene contributes both to MS channels and SOC (Vandebrouck et al., 2002b, Maroto et al., 2005), and that these channels have somewhat different properties (Allen et al., 2005), suggest that a particular channel could in fact undergo an as-of-yet undefined transition into a different channel species.

4.9. Channels: Conclusions

Although there is diversity in the types of channels whose activity is reported to be different in dystrophic vs. normal muscle tissue, it is clear that some of these channels may in fact represent variants of the same channel type, where, e.g., channel properties might be modified slightly by proteolysis. In addition, inhibition of these channels has been shown to reduce proteolysis and muscle degeneration. Thus, it is likely that altered regulation of calcium-permeable channels plays a primary role in the elevations in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and calcium-dependent proteolysis and cellular degeneration observed in dystrophic muscle.

5. PROTEASE ACTIVATION

To date the available data supports altered cell membrane integrity as a key component of the pathological progression of DMD and *mdx* dystrophies. Reports from our lab and others of increased $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels led to the hypothesis that muscle cell death results from activation of proteases and in particular calpains (Turner et al., 1988, Spencer et al., 1995, Mariol and Segalat, 2001, Alderton and Steinhardt, 2000b). Calpains are cytosolic, nonlysosomal, cysteine proteases with high homology to the papain protease family (Sorimachi and Suzuki, 2001). Skeletal muscle expresses three isoforms of calpain called calpain 1, calpain 2 and calpain 3 (Sorimachi et al., 1989). Calpains 6, 7 and 10 (Sorimachi and Suzuki, 2001) have not been identified in muscle. Abnormal levels of several proteases are a feature of a wide variety of muscle diseases (Pearson and Kar, 1979, Sorimachi et al., 1989, Voisin et al., 1996, Kumamoto et al., 1997, Helliwell et al., 1998), so changes in protease expression or activity in DMD or mdx muscle may be a nonspecific feature, causally far removed from the primary pathological process (Kar and Pearson, 1978, Zeman et al., 1985, Furono and Goldberg, 1986, Kumamoto et al., 2000). In terms of gain of function experiments, net protein degradation rates in isolated normal muscle as assessed by tyrosine release can be raised or lowered by manipulations that raise or lower [Ca²⁺]; (Turner et al., 1988). Turner et al. (1988), having found a raised $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in *mdx* myofibers, therefore studied tyrosine release rates in isolated *mdx* muscle. The net rate was elevated 80% above normal, an effect that could be blocked by leupeptin (a cysteine and serine protease inhibitor protease inhibitor). Loss of function studies were also striking: reducing $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels in *mdx* muscle to close to those in normal muscle abolished the increase in net proteolysis. Alderton and Steinhardt (2000b) went on to show that leupeptin not only blocked the extra proteolysis of mdx myotubes but also normalized their $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and the open probability of their calcium leak channels. The increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ seen in *mdx* myotubes after hypo-osmolar shock is also abolished by a protease inhibitor (Leijendekker et al., 1996). Furthermore, in vivo studies using leupeptin to treat *mdx* mice by intramuscular injection showed a reduction in muscle pathology as assessed by a decrease in centrally nucleated (regenerated) fibers (Bell and Cohen, 1968). A variety of proteolysis inhibitors showed that most of the extra proteolysis was not due to lysosomal or proteosomal pathways (Turner et al., 1988).

There is a body of evidence which specifically implicates calpains in the pathology of muscular dystrophy (Spencer and Tidball, 1992, Combaret et al., 1996). Candidates for this proteolytic activity include calpains I and II (Spencer et al., 1995). Studies in vitro using mdx myotubes have demonstrated that elevations in extracellular calcium result in increased proteolysis of a calpain substrate (Alderton and Steinhardt, 2000b). Alderton and Steinhardt (2000b) used hydrolysis of a fluorogenic calpain substrate to confirm that calpain-mediated proteolysis was elevated in *mdx* myotubes relative to controls, and showed that this can be prevented by lowering external calcium concentrations or by using an antagonist of calcium leak channel activity. In addition, whole-muscle extracts showed an increase in expression of m-calpain in mdx mice (Spencer et al., 1995) and DMD (Reddy et al., 1986). However, calpain assays of whole-muscle extracts are probably not indicative of in vivo activity, because of the presence of calpastatin, the specific inhibitor of calpains I and II. In an attempt to overcome this, examination of the calpain propeptide was used to assess activation of calpains in vivo (Spencer and Tidball, 1992), and propeptide cleavage results in activation of the protease. The ratio of cleaved propeptide to intact calpain I was higher in 4-week mdx mice than in controls, while m-calpain propeptide cleavage remained unchanged, suggesting that m-calpain was specifically activated during the dystrophic process (Spencer and Tidball, 1992). It is also of interest to note that calpains have an altered distribution in the cell during muscle necrosis and regeneration of mdx myofibers (Spencer and Tidball, 1996), which may be a result of the increased calcium flux near the sarcolemma.

Several interesting studies have addressed the effects of calpain inhibition in vivo on muscle wasting. Calpain inhibitors reduced signs of necrosis (Badalamente and Stracher, 2000) and reduced the loss of muscle strength in exercised mdx mice (Granchelli, 2000). Also, transgenic *mdx* mice have been produced to overexpress the calpain inhibitor calpastatin in muscle (Spencer and Mellgren, 2002). Interestingly, calpastatin expression ameliorated dystrophic symptoms, although it did not repair the primary membrane defect. Taken together, the existing data strongly imply that decreased sarcolemma integrity is a primary aspect of dystrophic muscle, and that intracellular calpain activity is necessary for increased sarcolemmal fragility to translate into muscle damage, and that inhibition of calpain is a potentially promising treatment for DMD. These are not the results that would have been expected if the abnormalities of calcium influx were a direct result of dystrophin deficiency. Transient membrane ruptures may allow an influx of calcium which then causes local activation of proteases, which modify calcium leak channels in turn to cause further calcium influx. McCarter and Steinhardt (2000) simulated the initial steps in this process by using a patch clamp electrode to rupture the membrane of a normal myotube. The patch clamp was then resealed either close to $(5 \ \mu m)$ or far from $(50 \ \mu m)$ the initial rupture, and the calcium leak channel activity was measured. Channels close to the lesion had a fourfold increased open probability, an effect that was abolished by incubation with leupeptin.

Calpains may be only part of the story. Similar to other tissues, skeletal muscle has at least three different pathways for protein degradation: 1) proteolysis by lysosomal proteases, such as the cathepsins, 2) proteolysis by non-lysosomal Ca²⁺-dependent proteases, such as calpain, and 3) proteolysis by non-lysosomal ATP-ubiquitindependent proteases, such as the multi-catalytic protease complex (or proteasome). Inhibition of the proteasome (Bonuccelli et al., 2003) has produced some striking results. mdx mice were treated in vivo with the inhibitor MG-132 by both local injections and systemic treatment using an osmotic pump that delivered different concentrations of the proteasomal inhibitor, over an 8-day period. By immunofluorescence and Western blot analysis, MG-132 effectively rescued the expression levels and plasma membrane localization of dystrophin, α -dystroglycan, β -dystroglycan, and α -sarcoglycan in skeletal muscle fibers from *mdx* mice. Furthermore, treatment reduced muscle membrane damage, as revealed by vital staining (with Evans blue dye) and ameliorated the histopathological signs of muscular dystrophy, as judged by hematoxylin and eosin staining (Bonuccelli et al., 2003). As yet, no reports of effects on channel activity or calcium handling have been made. In addition, several groups have noted the presence of apoptotic fibers even when necrosis is not yet evident (see Robert et al., 2001), and Robert et al. (2001) have suggested that the elevated steady state calcium within the mitochondria or SR may contribute to this apoptosis. Further, the anti-apoptotic molecule bcl-2 decreases the calcium overload in the cytoplasm and mitochondria of dystrophic muscle (Basset et al., 2006). Thus, enhanced calcium-dependent proteolysis may be only one of several mechanisms which contribute to cell death during dystrophic pathology.

6. FUTURE QUESTIONS

A preponderance of evidence suggests that there is elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels in the subsarcolemmal space of muscle cells lacking dystrophin, and that increased activity of calcium-permeable channels in the sarcolemma as well as altered regulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels by intracellular proteins could contribute to this elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. However, there are many important and unresolved questions regarding the role of calcium in the dystrophic pathology. For example, a number of groups discuss the possible importance of calcium-dependent proteolysis, but, in fact, only a few studies have directly examined the consequences of proteolysis, including ours examining calcium leak channel regulation by proteases (Turner et al., 1993, Alderton and Steinhardt, 2000b, McCarter and Steinhardt, 2000) and others examining decreases in muscle damage after inhibition of calcium-dependent proteases (Badalamente and Stracher, 2000, Granchelli et al., 2000, Spencer and Mellgren, 2002). It would be interesting to determine whether the activity of MS, SOC, or GRC channels is also modulated by proteases, and in particular whether the transition of MS channels to the high-activity form (Franco-Obregon and Lansman, 2002) might depend on proteolysis. It would also be interesting to determine whether the dependence of muscle tearing on GRC activity (Iwata et al.,2003) requires proteolysis. Although Jackson et al. (1984) found that calcium-induced enhancement of membrane permeability did not require calcium-dependent proteases, an additional protease-dependent process might be present in dystrophic muscle. On the other hand, overexpression of the calpain inhibitor calpastatin decreased necrosis without altering membrane tearing (Spencer and Mellgren, 2002). Such studies could provide significant insight into the interrelationship of the intracellular dysregulations that contribute to the dystrophic pathology, and also might clarify the relationship between the observed channel types.

There are several important technical questions to be addressed. Very useful would be a deterministic study to examine the effect of collagenase treatment on channel properties and calcium regulation in isolated adult fibers. In particular, dystrophin links the intracellular cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix through the DAG, and provides mechanical support for the sarcolemma through this linkage. Thus, removal of the extracellular matrix with enzymes might be predicted to alter the consequence of loss of dystrophin. To address this, fibers could be mechanically isolated and pinned out, then treated with collagenase.

Finally, the relation between loss of the dystrophin-DAG complex and the misregulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels, calcium-permeable channel activity, and calcium store integrity, remain elusive. Whether there are direct associations between DAG proteins and the various calcium-related proteins remains largely undetermined. Although calcium influx through membrane tears, and the subsequent proteolysis, may explain some of the cellular changes associated with muscular dystrophy, direct experimental demonstration of the link between increased fragility and altered regulation of intracellular or surface proteins is needed. Some changes could occur through altered gene transcription (perhaps calcium-dependent) or could represent post-translational modifications. In addition, the membrane sealant poloxamer 188, which reduces degeneration in dystrophic cardiac tissue (Yasuda et al., 2005), could provide very important insights into the role of membrane tearing versus simply the lack of the DAG in the cellular alterations which result in necrosis in dystrophic tissue.

7. OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

It is clear that there is a great deal more understood about the primary gene and protein changes in DMD patients than there is about the cellular mechanisms which drive the necrosis/apoptosis and muscle wasting with such tragic results for DMD patients. Although increased muscle tearing is clearly of primary importance in the dystrophic etiology, increased subsarcolemmal calcium levels and enhanced calcium-dependent proteolysis also seem to be critical contributors to muscle degeneration. A number of calcium regulatory molecules, including calcium-permeable channels, IP₃ receptors and calcium stores, and calcium buffering proteins, are likely altered in dystrophic muscle. Further, since muscle cells have such tremendous calcium buffering capacity, changes in all these pathways may be required for

elevations in calcium to drive proteolysis and cellular degeneration. Although much remains to be learned about the different contributors to the pathogenesis of muscular dystrophy, there is enough information to suggest several exciting targets for therapeutic intervention to prevent the muscle wasting of DMD.

REFERENCES

- Acsadi, G., Dickson, G., Love, D.R., Jani, A., Walsh, F.S., Gurusinghe, A., Wolff, J.A., and Davies, K.E., 1991, Human dystrophin expression in mdx mice after intramuscular injection of DNA constructs, *Nature*, 352, pp 815–818.
- Alderton, J.M., and Steinhardt, R.A., 2000a, How calcium influx through calcium leak channels is responsible for the elevated levels of calcium-dependent proteolysis in dystrophic myotubes, *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 10, pp 268–272.
- Alderton, J.M., and Steinhardt, R.A., 2000b, Calcium influx through calcium leak channels is responsible for the elevated levels of calcium-dependent proteolysis in dystrophic myotubes, *J Biol Chem*, 275, pp 9452–9460.
- Allamand, V., and Campbell, K.P., 2000, Animal models for muscular dystrophy: valuable tools for the development of therapies, *Hum Mol Genet*, 9, pp 2459–2467.
- Allen, D.G., Whitehead, N.P., and Yeung, E.W., 2005, Mechanisms of stretch-induced muscle damage in normal and dystrophic muscle: role of ionic changes, *J Physiol*, 567, pp 723–735.
- Amalfitano, A., Rafael, J.A., and Chamberlain, J.S., 1997, Structure and mutation of the dystrophin gene. In: *Dystrophin: Gene, Protein and Cell Biology* (S. Brown and J.A. Lucy, eds) Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 1–26.
- Anderson, J.T., Rogers, R.P., and Jarrett, H.W., 1996, Ca²⁺-calmodulin binds to the carboxyl-terminal domain of dystrophin, J Biol Chem, 271, pp 6605–6610.
- Badalamente, M.A., and Stracher, A., 2000, Delay of muscle degeneration and necrosis in mdx mice by calpain inhibition, *Muscle Nerve*, 23, pp 106–111.
- Bakker, A.J., Head, S.I., Williams, D.A., and Stephenson, D.G., 1993, Ca²⁺ levels in myotubes grown from the skeletal muscle of dystrophic (mdx) and normal mice, *J Physiol*, 460, pp 1–13.
- Bansal, D., Miyake, K., Vogel, S.S., Groh, S., Chen, C.C., Williamson, R., McNeil, P.L., and Campbell, K.P., 2003, Defective membrane repair in dysferlin-deficient muscular dystrophy, *Nature*, 423, pp 168–172.
- Barnea, E., Zuk, D., Simantov, R., Nudel, U., and Yaffe, D., 1990, Specificity of expression of the muscle and brain dystrophin gene promoters in muscle and brain cells, *Neuron*, 5, pp 881–888.
- Basset, O., Boittin, F.X., Cognard, C., Constantin, B., and Ruegg, U.T., 2006, Bcl-2 overexpression prevents calcium overload and subsequent apoptosis in dystrophic myotubes, *Biochem J*, 395, pp 267–276.
- Basset, O., Boittin, F.X., Dorchies, O.M., Chatton, J.Y., van Breemen, C., and Ruegg, U.T., 2004, Involvement of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate in nicotinic calcium responses in dystrophic myotubes assessed by near-plasma membrane calcium measurement, *J Biol Chem*, 279, pp 47092–47100.
- Baumbach, L.L., Chamberlain, J.S., Ward, P.A., Farwell, N.J., and Caskey, C.T., 1989, Molecular and clinical correlations of deletions leading to Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies, *Neurology*, 39, pp 465–474.
- Beggs, A.H., Koenig, M., Boyce, F.M., and Kunkel, L.M., 1990, Detection of 98% of DMD/BMD gene deletions by polymerase chain reaction, *Hum Genet*, 86, pp 45–48.
- Beggs, A.H., and Kunkel, L.M., 1990, Improved diagnosis of Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy, *J Clin Invest*, 85, pp 613–619.
- Bell, C.D., and Conen, P.E., 1968, Histopathological changes in Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *J Neurol Sci*, 7, pp 529–544.
- Bessou, C., Giugia, J.B., Franks, C.J., Holden-Dye, L., and Segalat, L., 1998, Mutations in the Caenorhabditis elegans dystrophin-like gene dys-1 lead to hyperactivity and suggest a link with cholinergic transmission, *Neurogenetics*, 2, pp 61–72.

- Bies, R.D., Caskey, C.T., and Fenwick, R., 1992a, An intact cysteine-rich domain is required for dystrophin function, J Clin Invest, 90, pp 666–672.
- Bies, R.D., Phelps, S.F., Cortez, M.D., Roberts, R., Caskey, C.T., and Chamberlain, J.S., 1992b, Human and murine dystrophin mRNA transcripts are differentially expressed during skeletal muscle, heart, and brain development, *Nucleic Acids Res*, 20, pp 1725–1731.
- Blake, D.J., Love, D.R., Tinsley, J., Morris, G.E., Turley, H., Gatter, K., Dickson, G., Edwards, Y.H., and Davies, K.E., 1992, Characterization of a 4.8kb transcript from the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus expressed in Schwannoma cells, *Hum Mol Genet*, 1, pp 103–109.
- Blake, D.J., Tinsley, J.M., Davies, K.E., Knight, A.E., Winder, S.J., and Kendrick-Jones, J., 1995, Coiled-coil regions in the carboxy-terminal domains of dystrophin and related proteins: potentials for protein-protein interactions, *Trends Biochem Sci*, 20, pp 133–135.
- Bonuccelli, G., Sotgia, F., Schubert, W., Park, D.S., Frank, P.G., Woodman, S.E., Insabato, L., Cammer, M., Minetti, C., and Lisanti, M.P., 2003, Proteasome inhibitor (MG-132) treatment of mdx mice rescues the expression and membrane localization of dystrophin and dystrophin-associated proteins, *Am J Pathol*, 163, pp 1663–1675.
- Bork, P., and Sudol, M., 1994, The WW domain: a signalling site in dystrophin?, *Trends Biochem Sci*, 19, pp 531–533.
- Boyce, F.M., Beggs, A.H., Feener, C., and Kunkel, L.M., 1991, Dystrophin is transcribed in brain from a distant upstream promoter, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88, pp 1276–1280.
- Boyd, Y., and Buckle, V.J., 1986, Cytogenetic heterogeneity of translocations associated with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *Clin Genet*, 29, pp 108–115.
- Bulfield, G., Siller, W.G., Wight, P.A., and Moore, K.J., 1984, X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) in the mouse, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 81, pp 1189–1192.
- Burkhard, P., Stetefeld, J., and Strelkov, S.V., 2001, Coiled coils: a highly versatile protein folding motif, *Trends Cell Biol*, 11, pp 82–88.
- Byers, T.J., Lidov, H.G., and Kunkel, L.M., 1993, An alternative dystrophin transcript specific to peripheral nerve, *Nat Genet*, 4, pp 77–81.
- Carlson, C.G., Gueorguiev, A., Roshek, D.M., Ashmore, R., Chu, J.S., and Anderson, J.E., 2003, Extrajunctional resting Ca²⁺ influx is not increased in a severely dystrophic expiratory muscle (triangularis sterni) of the mdx mouse, *Neurobiol Dis*, 14, pp 229–239.
- Carlson, C.G., and Makiejus, R.V., 1990, A noninvasive procedure to detect muscle weakness in the mdx mouse, *Muscle Nerve*, 13, pp 480–484.
- Carlson, C.G., Samadi, A., and Siegel, A., 2005, Chronic treatment with agents that stabilize cytosolic IkappaB-alpha enhances survival and improves resting membrane potential in MDX muscle fibers subjected to chronic passive stretch, *Neurobiol Dis*, 20, pp 719–730.
- Carpenter, S., and Karpati, G., 1979, Duchenne muscular dystrophy: plasma membrane loss initiates muscle cell necrosis unless it is repaired, *Brain*, 102, pp 147–161.
- Chamberlain, J.S., 1992, X-linked dystrophies: from gene localization to gene therapy, *Curr Opin Neurol Neurosurg*, 5, pp 610–614.
- Chapman, V.M., Miller, D.R., Armstrong, D., and Caskey, C.T., 1989, Recovery of induced mutations for X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy in mice, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86, pp 1292–1296.
- Chelly, J., Hamard, G., Koulakoff, A., Kaplan, J.C., Kahn, A., and Berwald-Netter, Y., 1990, Dystrophin gene transcribed from different promoters in neuronal and glial cells, *Nature*, 344, pp 64–65.
- Clarke, M.S., Khakee, R., and McNeil, P.L., 1993, Loss of cytoplasmic basic fibroblast growth factor from physiologically wounded myofibers of normal and dystrophic muscle, *J Cell Sci*, 106 (Pt 1), pp 121–133.
- Coffey, A.J., Roberts, R.G., Green, E.D., Cole, C.G., Butler, R., Anand, R., Giannelli, F., and Bentley, D.R., 1992, Construction of a 2.6-Mb contig in yeast artificial chromosomes spanning the human dystrophin gene using an STS-based approach, *Genomics*, 12, pp 474–484.
- Collet, C., Allard, B., Tourneur, Y., and Jacquemond, V., 1999, Intracellular calcium signals measured with indo-1 in isolated skeletal muscle fibres from control and mdx mice, *J Physiol*, 520 Pt 2, pp 417–429.

- Combaret, L., Taillandier, D., Voisin, L., Samuels, S.E., Boespflug-Tanguy, O., and Attaix, D., 1996, No alteration in gene expression of components of the ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway in dystrophin-deficient muscles, *FEBS Lett*, 393, pp 292–296.
- Coulombe, A., Lefevre, I.A., Baro, I., and Coraboeuf, E., 1989, Barium- and calcium-permeable channels open at negative membrane potentials in rat ventricular myocytes, *J Membr Biol*, 111, pp 57–67.
- Coulton, G.R., Morgan, J.E., Partridge, T.A., and Sloper, J.C., 1988, The mdx mouse skeletal muscle myopathy: I. A histological, morphometric and biochemical investigation, *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 14, pp 53–70.
- Cox, G.A., Phelps, S.F., Chapman, V.M., and Chamberlain, J.S., 1993, New mdx mutation disrupts expression of muscle and nonmuscle isoforms of dystrophin, *Nat Genet*, 4, pp 87–93.
- Cox, G.A., Sunada, Y., Campbell, K.P., and Chamberlain, J.S., 1994, Dp71 can restore the dystrophinassociated glycoprotein complex in muscle but fails to prevent dystrophy, *Nat Genet*, 8, pp 333–339.
- Crawford, G.E., Faulkner, J.A., Crosbie, R.H., Campbell, K.P., Froehner, S.C., and Chamberlain, J.S., 2000, Assembly of the dystrophin-associated protein complex does not require the dystrophin COOHterminal domain, *J Cell Biol*, 150, pp 1399–1410.
- Culligan, K., Banville, N., Dowling, P., and Ohlendieck, K., 2002, Drastic reduction of calsequestrin-like proteins and impaired calcium binding in dystrophic mdx muscle, *J Appl Physiol*, 92, pp 435–445.
- Dangain, J., and Vrbova, G., 1984, Muscle development in mdx mutant mice, *Muscle Nerve*, 7, pp 700–704.
- Davies, K.E., Pearson, P.L., Harper, P.S., Murray, J.M., O'Brien, T., Sarfarazi, M., and Williamson, R., 1983, Linkage analysis of two cloned DNA sequences flanking the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus on the short arm of the human X chromosome, *Nucleic Acids Res*, 11, pp 2303–2312.
- De Backer, F., Vandebrouck, C., Gailly, P., and Gillis, J.M., 2002, Long-term study of Ca(2+) homeostasis and of survival in collagenase-isolated muscle fibres from normal and mdx mice, *J Physiol*, 542, pp 855–865.
- De Luca, A., Pierno, S., Liantonio, A., Cetrone, M., Camerino, C., Fraysse, B., Mirabella, M., Servidei, S., Ruegg, U.T., and Conte Camerino, D., 2003, Enhanced dystrophic progression in mdx mice by exercise and beneficial effects of taurine and insulin-like growth factor-1, *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 304, pp 453–463.
- Deconinck, N., Ragot, T., Marechal, G., Perricaudet, M., and Gillis, J.M., 1996, Functional protection of dystrophic mouse (mdx) muscles after adenovirus-mediated transfer of a dystrophin minigene, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 93, pp 3570–3574.
- Desnuelle, C., Renaud, J.F., Delpont, E., Serratrice, G., and Lazdunski, M., 1986, [3H]nitrendipine receptors as markers of a class of putative voltage-sensitive Ca²⁺ channels in normal human skeletal muscle and in muscle from Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients, *Muscle Nerve*, 9, pp 148–151.
- DiMario, J.X., Uzman, A., and Strohman, R.C., 1991, Fiber regeneration is not persistent in dystrophic (MDX) mouse skeletal muscle, *Dev Biol*, 148, pp 314–321.
- Divet, A., and Huchet-Cadiou, C., 2002, Sarcoplasmic reticulum function in slow- and fast-twitch skeletal muscles from mdx mice, *Pflugers Arch*, 444, pp 634–643.
- Divet, A., Lompre, A.M., and Huchet-Cadiou, C., 2005, Effect of cyclopiazonic acid, an inhibitor of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca-ATPase, on skeletal muscles from normal and mdx mice, *Acta Physiol Scand*, 184, pp 173–186.
- Doherty, K.R., and McNally, E.M., 2003, Repairing the tears: dysferlin in muscle membrane repair, *Trends Mol Med*, 9, pp 327–330.
- Doran, P., Dowling, P., Donoghue, P., Buffini, M., and Ohlendieck, K., 2006, Reduced expression of regucalcin in young and aged mdx diaphragm indicates abnormal cytosolic calcium handling in dystrophin-deficient muscle, *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1764, pp 773–785.
- Doran, P., Dowling, P., Lohan, J., McDonnell, K., Poetsch, S., and Ohlendieck, K., 2004, Subproteomics analysis of Ca⁺-binding proteins demonstrates decreased calsequestrin expression in dystrophic mouse skeletal muscle, *Eur J Biochem*, 271, pp 3943–3952.
- Dowling, P., Doran, P., and Ohlendieck, K., 2004, Drastic reduction of sarcalumenin in Dp427 (dystrophin of 427 kDa)-deficient fibres indicates that abnormal calcium handling plays a key role in muscular dystrophy, *Biochem J*, 379, pp 479–488.

- Dunckley, M.G., Wells, D.J., Walsh, F.S., and Dickson, G., 1993, Direct retroviral-mediated transfer of a dystrophin minigene into mdx mouse muscle in vivo, *Hum Mol Genet*, 2, pp 717–723.
- Dunn, J.F., Bannister, N., Kemp, G.J., and Publicover, S.J., 1993, Sodium is elevated in mdx muscles: ionic interactions in dystrophic cells, *J Neurol Sci*, 114, pp 76–80.
- England, S.B., Nicholson, L.V., Johnson, M.A., Forrest, S.M., Love, D.R., Zubrzycka-Gaarn, E.E., Bulman, D.E., Harris, J.B., and Davies, K.E., 1990, Very mild muscular dystrophy associated with the deletion of 46% of dystrophin, *Nature*, 343, pp 180–182.
- Feener, C.A., Koenig, M., and Kunkel, L.M., 1989, Alternative splicing of human dystrophin mRNA generates isoforms at the carboxy terminus, *Nature*, 338, pp 509–511.
- Ferlini, A., Sewry, C., Melis, M.A., Mateddu, A., and Muntoni, F., 1999, X-linked dilated cardiomyopathy and the dystrophin gene, *Neuromuscul Disord*, 9, pp 339–346.
- Fong, P.Y., Turner, P.R., Denetclaw, W.F., and Steinhardt, R.A., 1990, Increased activity of calcium leak channels in myotubes of Duchenne human and mdx mouse origin, *Science*, 250, pp 673–676.
- Franco-Obregon, A., Jr., and Lansman, J.B., 1994, Mechanosensitive ion channels in skeletal muscle from normal and dystrophic mice, J Physiol, 481 (Pt 2), pp 299–309.
- Franco-Obregon, A., and Lansman, J.B., 2002, Changes in mechanosensitive channel gating following mechanical stimulation in skeletal muscle myotubes from the mdx mouse, *J Physiol*, 539, pp 391–407.
- Franco, A., Jr., and Lansman, J.B., 1990, Calcium entry through stretch-inactivated ion channels in mdx myotubes, *Nature*, 344, pp 670–673.
- Fraysse, B., Liantonio, A., Cetrone, M., Burdi, R., Pierno, S., Frigeri, A., Pisoni, M., Camerino, C., and De Luca, A., 2004, The alteration of calcium homeostasis in adult dystrophic mdx muscle fibers is worsened by a chronic exercise in vivo, *Neurobiol Dis*, 17, pp 144–154.
- Friedrich, O., Both, M., Gillis, J.M., Chamberlain, J.S., and Fink, R.H., 2004, Mini-dystrophin restores L-type calcium currents in skeletal muscle of transgenic mdx mice, *J Physiol*, 555, pp 251–265.
- Furuno, K., and Goldberg, A.L., 1986, The activation of protein degradation in muscle by Ca²⁺ or muscle injury does not involve a lysosomal mechanism, *Biochem J*, 237, pp 859–864.
- Gailly, P., 2002, New aspects of calcium signaling in skeletal muscle cells: implications in Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1600, pp 38–44.
- Gailly, P., Boland, B., Himpens, B., Casteels, R., and Gillis, J.M., 1993, Critical evaluation of cytosolic calcium determination in resting muscle fibres from normal and dystrophic (mdx) mice, *Cell Calcium*, 14, pp 473–483.
- Gardner, R.J., Bobrow, M., and Roberts, R.G., 1995, The identification of point mutations in Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients by using reverse-transcription PCR and the protein truncation test, Am J Hum Genet, 57, pp 311–320.
- Ge, Y., Molloy, M.P., Chamberlain, J.S., and Andrews, P.C., 2004, Differential expression of the skeletal muscle proteome in mdx mice at different ages, *Electrophoresis*, 25, pp 2576–2585.
- Gillis, J.M., 1999, Understanding dystrophinopathies: an inventory of the structural and functional consequences of the absence of dystrophin in muscles of the mdx mouse, *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*, 20, pp 605–625.
- Goldberg, L.R., Hausmanowa-Petrusewicz, I., Fidzianska, A., Duggan, D.J., Steinberg, L.S., and Hoffman, E.P., 1998, A dystrophin missense mutation showing persistence of dystrophin and dystrophin-associated proteins yet a severe phenotype, *Ann Neurol*, 44, pp 971–976.
- Gorecki, D.C., Monaco, A.P., Derry, J.M., Walker, A.P., Barnard, E.A., and Barnard, P.J., 1992, Expression of four alternative dystrophin transcripts in brain regions regulated by different promoters, *Hum Mol Genet*, 1, pp 505–510.
- Gorospe, J.R.M., Nishikawa, B.K., and Hoffman, E.P., Pathophysiology of dystrophin deficiency: a clinical and biological enigma. In: *Dystrophin: Gene, Protein and Cell Biology* (S. Brown and J.A. Lucy, eds) Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 201–232.
- Granchelli, J.A., Pollina, C., and Hudecki, M.S., 2000, Pre-clinical screening of drugs using the mdx mouse, *Neuromuscul Disord*, 10, pp 235–239.
- Greenberg, D.S., Sunada, Y., Campbell, K.P., Yaffe, D., and Nudel, U., 1994, Exogenous Dp71 restores the levels of dystrophin associated proteins but does not alleviate muscle damage in mdx mice, *Nat Genet*, 8, pp 340–344.

- Gu, C., Jan, Y.N., and Jan, L.Y., 2003, A conserved domain in axonal targeting of Kv1 (Shaker) voltage-gated potassium channels, *Science*, 301, pp 646–649.
- Gu, C.X., Juranka, P.F., and Morris, C.E., 2001, Stretch-activation and stretch-inactivation of Shaker-IR, a voltage-gated K+ channel, *Biophys J*, 80, pp 2678–2693.
- Hall-Craggs, E.C., and Seyan, H.S., 1975, Histochemical changes in innervated and denervated skeletal muscle fibers following treatment with bupivacaine (marcain), *Exp Neurol*, 46, pp 345–354.
- Halayko, A.J., and Stelmack, G.L., 2005, The association of caveolae, actin, and the dystrophinglycoprotein complex: a role in smooth muscle phenotype and function?, *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 83, pp 877–891.
- Hattori, N., Kaido, M., Nishigaki, T., Inui, K., Fujimura, H., Nishimura, T., Naka, T., and Hazama, T., 1999, Undetectable dystrophin can still result in a relatively benign phenotype of dystrophinopathy, *Neuromuscul Disord*, 9, pp 220–226.
- Helliwell, T.R., Ellis, J.M., Mountford, R.C., Appleton, R.E., and Morris, G.E., 1992, A truncated dystrophin lacking the C-terminal domains is localized at the muscle membrane, *Am J Hum Genet*, 50, pp 508–514.
- Helliwell, T.R., Wilkinson, A., Griffiths, R.D., McClelland, P., Palmer, T.E., and Bone, J.M., 1998, Muscle fibre atrophy in critically ill patients is associated with the loss of myosin filaments and the presence of lysosomal enzymes and ubiquitin, *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 24, pp 507–517.
- Hoffman, E.P., Brown, R.H., and Kunkel, L.M., 1992, Dystrophin: the protein product of the Duchene muscular dystrophy locus. 1987, *Biotechnology*, 24, pp 457–466.
- Hoffman, E.P., Garcia, C.A., Chamberlain, J.S., Angelini, C., Lupski, J.R., and Fenwick, R., 1991, Is the carboxyl-terminus of dystrophin required for membrane association? A novel, severe case of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *Ann Neurol*, 30, pp 605–610.
- Holder, E., Maeda, M., and Bies, R.D., 1996, Expression and regulation of the dystrophin Purkinje promoter in human skeletal muscle, heart, and brain, *Hum Genet*, 97, pp 232–239.
- Hopf, F.W., Reddy, P., Hong, J., and Steinhardt, R.A., 1996a, A capacitative calcium current in cultured skeletal muscle cells is mediated by the calcium-specific leak channel and inhibited by dihydropyridine compounds, J Biol Chem, 271, pp 22358–22367.
- Hopf, F.W., Turner, P.R., Denetclaw, W.F., Jr., Reddy, P., and Steinhardt, R.A., 1996b, A critical evaluation of resting intracellular free calcium regulation in dystrophic mdx muscle, *Am J Physiol*, 271, pp C1325–1339.
- Howard, P.L., Dally, G.Y., Ditta, S.D., Austin, R.C., Worton, R.G., Klamut, H.J., and Ray, P.N., 1999, Dystrophin isoforms DP71 and DP427 have distinct roles in myogenic cells, *Muscle Nerve*, 22, pp 16–27.
- Howard, P.L., Dally, G.Y., Wong, M.H., Ho, A., Weleber, R.G., Pillers, D.A., and Ray, P.N., 1998, Localization of dystrophin isoform Dp71 to the inner limiting membrane of the retina suggests a unique functional contribution of Dp71 in the retina, *Hum Mol Genet*, 7, pp 1385–1391.
- Huang, X., Poy, F., Zhang, R., Joachimiak, A., Sudol, M., and Eck, M.J., 2000, Structure of a WW domain containing fragment of dystrophin in complex with beta-dystroglycan, *Nat Struct Biol*, 7, pp 634–638.
- Hugnot, J.P., Gilgenkrantz, H., Vincent, N., Chafey, P., Morris, G.E., Monaco, A.P., Berwald-Netter, Y., Koulakoff, A., Kaplan, J.C., Kahn, A., and et al., 1992, Distal transcript of the dystrophin gene initiated from an alternative first exon and encoding a 75-kDa protein widely distributed in nonmuscle tissues, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89, pp 7506–7510.
- Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., Ervasti, J.M., Leveille, C.J., Slaughter, C.A., Sernett, S.W., and Campbell, K.P., 1992, Primary structure of dystrophin-associated glycoproteins linking dystrophin to the extracellular matrix, *Nature*, 355, pp 696–702.
- Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., Milatovich, A., Ozcelik, T., Yang, B., Koepnick, K., Francke, U., and Campbell, K.P., 1993, Human dystroglycan: skeletal muscle cDNA, genomic structure, origin of tissue specific isoforms and chromosomal localization, *Hum Mol Genet*, 2, pp 1651–1657.
- Im, W.B., Phelps, S.F., Copen, E.H., Adams, E.G., Slightom, J.L., and Chamberlain, J.S., 1996, Differential expression of dystrophin isoforms in strains of mdx mice with different mutations, *Hum Mol Genet*, 5, pp 1149–1153.

- Imbert, N., Cognard, C., Duport, G., Guillou, C., and Raymond, G., 1995, Abnormal calcium homeostasis in Duchenne muscular dystrophy myotubes contracting in vitro, *Cell Calcium*, 18, pp 177–186.
- Imbert, N., Vandebrouck, C., Constantin, B., Duport, G., Guillou, C., Cognard, C., and Raymond, G., 1996, Hypoosmotic shocks induce elevation of resting calcium level in Duchenne muscular dystrophy myotubes contracting in vitro, *Neuromuscul Disord*, 6, pp 351–360.
- Imbert, N., Vandebrouck, C., Duport, G., Raymond, G., Hassoni, A.A., Constantin, B., Cullen, M.J., and Cognard, C., 2001, Calcium currents and transients in co-cultured contracting normal and Duchenne muscular dystrophy human myotubes, *J Physiol*, 534, pp 343–355.
- Iwata, Y., Katanosaka, Y., Arai, Y., Komamura, K., Miyatake, K., and Shigekawa, M., 2003, A novel mechanism of myocyte degeneration involving the Ca²⁺-permeable growth factor-regulated channel, *J Cell Biol*, 161, pp 957–967.
- Jackson, M.J., Jones, D.A., and Edwards, R.H., 1984, Experimental skeletal muscle damage: the nature of the calcium-activated degenerative processes, *Eur J Clin Invest*, 14, pp 369–374.
- James, M., Nuttall, A., Ilsley, J.L., Ottersbach, K., Tinsley, J.M., Sudol, M., and Winder, S.J., 2000, Adhesion-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of (beta)-dystroglycan regulates its interaction with utrophin, J Cell Sci, 113 (Pt 10), pp 1717–1726.
- Jin, Y., Murakami, N., Saito, Y., Goto, Y., Koishi, K., and Nonaka, I., 2000, Expression of MyoD and myogenin in dystrophic mice, mdx and dy, during regeneration, *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, 99, pp 619–627.
- Jung, D., Yang, B., Meyer, J., Chamberlain, J.S., and Campbell, K.P., 1995, Identification and characterization of the dystrophin anchoring site on beta-dystroglycan, J Biol Chem, 270, pp 27305–27310.
- Kar, N.C., and Pearson, C.M., 1978, Muscular dystrophy and activation of proteinases, *Muscle Nerve*, 1, pp 308–313.
- Kargacin, M.E., and Kargacin, G.J., 1996, The sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium pump is functionally altered in dystrophic muscle, *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1290, pp 4–8.
- Kingston, H.M., Harper, P.S., Pearson, P.L., Davies, K.E., Williamson, R., and Page, D., 1983, Localisation of gene for Becker muscular dystrophy, *Lancet*, 2, pp 1200.
- Kiselyov, K., Xu, X., Mozhayeva, G., Kuo, T., Pessah, I., Mignery, G., Zhu, X., Birnbaumer, L., and Muallem, S., 1998, Functional interaction between InsP3 receptors and store-operated Htrp3 channels, *Nature*, 396, pp 478–482.
- Klamut, H.J., Gangopadhyay, S.B., Worton, R.G., and Ray, P.N., 1990, Molecular and functional analysis of the muscle-specific promoter region of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene, *Mol Cell Biol*, 10, pp 193–205.
- Koenig, M., Beggs, A.H., Moyer, M., Scherpf, S., Heindrich, K., Bettecken, T., Meng, G., Muller, C.R., Lindlof, M., Kaariainen, H., and et al., 1989, The molecular basis for Duchenne versus Becker muscular dystrophy: correlation of severity with type of deletion, *Am J Hum Genet*, 45, pp 498–506.
- Koenig, M., Hoffman, E.P., Bertelson, C.J., Monaco, A.P., Feener, C., and Kunkel, L.M., 1987, Complete cloning of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) cDNA and preliminary genomic organization of the DMD gene in normal and affected individuals, *Cell*, 50, pp 509–517.
- Koenig, M., and Kunkel, L.M., 1990, Detailed analysis of the repeat domain of dystrophin reveals four potential hinge segments that may confer flexibility, *J Biol Chem*, 265, pp 4560–4566.
- Koenig, M., Monaco, A.P., and Kunkel, L.M., 1988, The complete sequence of dystrophin predicts a rod-shaped cytoskeletal protein, *Cell*, 53, pp 219–226.
- Kumamoto, T., Fujimoto, S., Ito, T., Horinouchi, H., Ueyama, H., and Tsuda, T., 2000, Proteasome expression in the skeletal muscles of patients with muscular dystrophy, *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)*, 100, pp 595–602.
- Kumamoto, T., Ueyama, H., Sugihara, R., Kominami, E., Goll, D.E., and Tsuda, T., 1997, Calpain and cathepsins in the skeletal muscle of inflammatory myopathies, *Eur Neurol*, 37, pp 176–181.
- Kumar, A., Khandelwal, N., Malya, R., Reid, M.B., and Boriek, A.M., 2004, Loss of dystrophin causes aberrant mechanotransduction in skeletal muscle fibers, *Faseb J*, 18, pp 102–113.
- Kurebayashi, N., and Ogawa, Y., 2001, Depletion of Ca²⁺ in the sarcoplasmic reticulum stimulates Ca²⁺ entry into mouse skeletal muscle fibres, *J Physiol*, 533, pp 185–199.

- Lederfein, D., Levy, Z., Augier, N., Mornet, D., Morris, G., Fuchs, O., Yaffe, D., and Nudel, U., 1992, A 71-kilodalton protein is a major product of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene in brain and other nonmuscle tissues, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89, pp 5346–5350.
- Leijendekker, W.J., Passaquin, A.C., Metzinger, L., and Ruegg, U.T., 1996, Regulation of cytosolic calcium in skeletal muscle cells of the mdx mouse under conditions of stress, *Br J Pharmacol*, 118, pp 611–616.
- Lenk, U., Hanke, R., Thiele, H., and Speer, A., 1993, Point mutations at the carboxy terminus of the human dystrophin gene: implications for an association with mental retardation in DMD patients, *Hum Mol Genet*, 2, pp 1877–1881.
- Lenk, U., Oexle, K., Voit, T., Ancker, U., Hellner, K.A., Speer, A., and Hubner, C., 1996, A cysteine 3340 substitution in the dystroglycan-binding domain of dystrophin associated with Duchenne muscular dystrophy, mental retardation and absence of the ERG b-wave, *Hum Mol Genet*, 5, pp 973–975.
- Liberona, J.L., Powell, J.A., Shenoi, S., Petherbridge, L., Caviedes, R., and Jaimovich, E., 1998, Differences in both inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate mass and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors between normal and dystrophic skeletal muscle cell lines, *Muscle Nerve*, 21, pp 902–909.
- Lidov, H.G., Selig, S., and Kunkel, L.M., 1995, Dp140: a novel 140 kDa CNS transcript from the dystrophin locus, *Hum Mol Genet*, 4, pp 329–335.
- Liechti-Gallati, S., Koenig, M., Kunkel, L.M., Frey, D., Boltshauser, E., Schneider, V., Braga, S., and Moser, H., 1989, Molecular deletion patterns in Duchenne and Becker type muscular dystrophy, *Hum Genet*, 81, pp 343–348.
- Lupas, A., 1996, Coiled coils: new structures and new functions, Trends Biochem Sci, 21, pp 375–382.
- Lynch, G.S., Hinkle, R.T., Chamberlain, J.S., Brooks, S.V., and Faulkner, J.A., 2001, Force and power output of fast and slow skeletal muscles from mdx mice 6–28 months old, *J Physiol*, 535, pp 591–600.
- Lynch, G.S., Rafael, J.A., Chamberlain, J.S., and Faulkner, J.A., 2000, Contraction-induced injury to single permeabilized muscle fibers from mdx, transgenic mdx, and control mice, *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 279, pp C1290–1294.
- Macias, M.J., Hyvonen, M., Baraldi, E., Schultz, J., Sudol, M., Saraste, M., and Oschkinat, H., 1996, Structure of the WW domain of a kinase-associated protein complexed with a proline-rich peptide, *Nature*, 382, pp 646–649.
- Makover, A., Zuk, D., Breakstone, J., Yaffe, D., and Nudel, U., 1991, Brain-type and muscle-type promoters of the dystrophin gene differ greatly in structure, *Neuromuscul Disord*, 1, pp 39–45.
- Malhotra, S.B., Hart, K.A., Klamut, H.J., Thomas, N.S., Bodrug, S.E., Burghes, A.H., Bobrow, M., Harper, P.S., Thompson, M.W., Ray, P.N., and et al., 1988, Frame-shift deletions in patients with Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy, *Science*, 242, pp 755–759.
- Mallouk, N., Jacquemond, V., and Allard, B., 2000, Elevated subsarcolemmal Ca²⁺ in mdx mouse skeletal muscle fibers detected with Ca²⁺-activated K⁺ channels, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, pp 4950–4955.
- Mariol, M.C., and Segalat, L., 2001, Muscular degeneration in the absence of dystrophin is a calciumdependent process, *Curr Biol*, 11, pp 1691–1694.
- Maroto, R., Raso, A., Wood, T.G., Kurosky, A., Martinac, B., and Hamill, O.P., 2005, TRPC1 forms the stretch-activated cation channel in vertebrate cells, *Nat Cell Biol*, 7, pp 179–185.
- Matsuda, R., Nishikawa, A., and Tanaka, H., 1995, Visualization of dystrophic muscle fibers in mdx mouse by vital staining with Evans blue: evidence of apoptosis in dystrophin-deficient muscle, *J Biochem (Tokyo)*, 118, pp 959–964.
- McBride, D.W., Jr., and Hamill, O.P., 1992, Pressure-clamp: a method for rapid step perturbation of mechanosensitive channels, *Pflugers Arch*, 421, pp 606–612.
- McBride, T.A., Stockert, B.W., Gorin, F.A., and Carlsen, R.C., 2000, Stretch-activated ion channels contribute to membrane depolarization after eccentric contractions, *J Appl Physiol*, 88, pp 91–101.
- McCarter, G.C., and Steinhardt, R.A., 2000, Increased activity of calcium leak channels caused by proteolysis near sarcolemmal ruptures, *J Membr Biol*, 176, pp 169–174.
- McNeil, P.L., and Steinhardt, R.A., 2003, Plasma membrane disruption: repair, prevention, adaptation, Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 19, pp 697–731.

- Menke, A., and Jockusch, H., 1991, Decreased osmotic stability of dystrophin-less muscle cells from the mdx mouse, *Nature*, 349, pp 69–71.
- Monaco, A.P., Bertelson, C.J., Colletti-Feener, C., and Kunkel, L.M., 1987, Localization and cloning of Xp21 deletion breakpoints involved in muscular dystrophy, *Hum Genet*, 75, pp 221–227.
- Monaco, A.P., Bertelson, C.J., Liechti-Gallati, S., Moser, H., and Kunkel, L.M., 1988, An explanation for the phenotypic differences between patients bearing partial deletions of the DMD locus, *Genomics*, 2, pp 90–95.
- Monaco, A.P., Bertelson, C.J., Middlesworth, W., Colletti, C.A., Aldridge, J., Fischbeck, K.H., Bartlett, R., Pericak-Vance, M.A., Roses, A.D., and Kunkel, L.M., 1985, Detection of deletions spanning the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus using a tightly linked DNA segment, *Nature*, 316, pp 842–845.
- Monaco, A.P., Neve, R.L., Colletti-Feener, C., Bertelson, C.J., Kurnit, D.M., and Kunkel, L.M., 1986, Isolation of candidate cDNAs for portions of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene, *Nature*, 323, pp 646–650.
- Monaco, A.P., Walker, A.P., Millwood, I., Larin, Z., and Lehrach, H., 1992, A yeast artificial chromosome contig containing the complete Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene, *Genomics*, 12, pp 465–473.
- Muntoni, F., 2003, Cardiomyopathy in muscular dystrophies, Curr Opin Neurol, 16, pp 577-583.
- Nicolas-Metral, V., Raddatz, E., Kucera, P., and Ruegg, U.T., 2001, Mdx myotubes have normal excitability but show reduced contraction-relaxation dynamics, *J Muscle Res Cell Motil*, 22, pp 69–75.
- Nudel, U., Zuk, D., Einat, P., Zeelon, E., Levy, Z., Neuman, S., and Yaffe, D., 1989, Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene product is not identical in muscle and brain, *Nature*, 337, pp 76–78.
- Pagel, C.N., and Partridge, T.A., 1999, Covert persistence of mdx mouse myopathy is revealed by acute and chronic effects of irradiation, *J Neurol Sci*, 164, pp 103–116.
- Parekh, A.B., and Penner, R., 1997, Store depletion and calcium influx, Physiol Rev, 77, pp 901-930.
- Pastoret, C., and Sebille, A., 1995, mdx mice show progressive weakness and muscle deterioration with age, J Neurol Sci, 129, pp 97–105.
- Pearson, C.M., and Kar, N.C., 1979, Muscle breakdown and lysosomal activation (biochemistry), Ann NY Acad Sci, 317, pp 465–477.
- Peinelt, C., Vig, M., Koomoa, D.L., Beck, A., Nadler, M.J., Koblan-Huberson, M., Lis, A., Fleig, A., Penner, R., and Kinet, J.P., 2006, Amplification of CRAC current by STIM1 and CRACM1 (Orai1), *Nat Cell Biol*, 8, pp 771–773.
- Pereon, Y., Dettbarn, C., Navarro, J., Noireaud, J., and Palade, P.T., 1997, Dihydropyridine receptor gene expression in skeletal muscle from mdx and control mice, *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1362, pp 201–207.
- Petrof, B.J., Shrager, J.B., Stedman, H.H., Kelly, A.M., and Sweeney, H.L., 1993, Dystrophin protects the sarcolemma from stresses developed during muscle contraction, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, pp 3710–3714.
- Phelps, S.F., Hauser, M.A., Cole, N.M., Rafael, J.A., Hinkle, R.T., Faulkner, J.A., and Chamberlain, J.S., 1995, Expression of full-length and truncated dystrophin mini-genes in transgenic mdx mice, *Hum Mol Genet*, 4, pp 1251–1258.
- Ponting, C.P., Blake, D.J., Davies, K.E., Kendrick-Jones, J., and Winder, S.J., 1996, ZZ and TAZ: new putative zinc fingers in dystrophin and other proteins, *Trends Biochem Sci*, 21, pp 11–13.
- Pressmar, J., Brinkmeier, H., Seewald, M.J., Naumann, T., and Rudel, R., 1994, Intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations are not elevated in resting cultured muscle from Duchenne (DMD) patients and in MDX mouse muscle fibres, *Pflugers Arch*, 426, pp 499–505.
- Prior, T.W., Bartolo, C., Pearl, D.K., Papp, A.C., Snyder, P.J., Sedra, M.S., Burghes, A.H., and Mendell, J.R., 1995, Spectrum of small mutations in the dystrophin coding region, *Am J Hum Genet*, 57, pp 22–33.
- Rafael, J.A., Cox, G.A., Corrado, K., Jung, D., Campbell, K.P., and Chamberlain, J.S., 1996, Forced expression of dystrophin deletion constructs reveals structure-function correlations, *J Cell Biol*, 134, pp 93–102.

- Rafael, J.A., Nitta, Y., Peters, J., and Davies, K.E., 2000, Testing of SHIRPA, a mouse phenotypic assessment protocol, on Dmd(mdx) and Dmd(mdx3cv) dystrophin-deficient mice, *Mamm Genome*, 11, pp 725–728.
- Ragot, T., Vincent, N., Chafey, P., Vigne, E., Gilgenkrantz, H., Couton, D., Cartaud, J., Briand, P., Kaplan, J.C., Perricaudet, M., and et al., 1993, Efficient adenovirus-mediated transfer of a human minidystrophin gene to skeletal muscle of mdx mice, *Nature*, 361, pp 647–650.
- Rando, T.A., 2001, The dystrophin-glycoprotein complex, cellular signaling, and the regulation of cell survival in the muscular dystrophies, *Muscle Nerve*, 24, pp 1575–1594.
- Reddy, P.A., Anandavalli, T.E., and Anandaraj, M.P., 1986, Calcium activated neutral proteases (milliand micro-CANP) and endogenous CANP inhibitor of muscle in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), *Clin Chim Acta*, 160, pp 281–288.
- Rentschler, S., Linn, H., Deininger, K., Bedford, M.T., Espanel, X., and Sudol, M., 1999, The WW domain of dystrophin requires EF-hands region to interact with beta-dystroglycan, *Biol Chem*, 380, pp 431–442.
- Repetto, S., Bado, M., Broda, P., Lucania, G., Masetti, E., Sotgia, F., Carbone, I., Pavan, A., Bonilla, E., Cordone, G., Lisanti, M.P., and Minetti, C., 1999, Increased number of caveolae and caveolin-3 overexpression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 261, pp 547–550.
- Robert, V., Massimino, M.L., Tosello, V., Marsault, R., Cantini, M., Sorrentino, V., and Pozzan, T., 2001, Alteration in calcium handling at the subcellular level in mdx myotubes, *J Biol Chem*, 276, pp 4647–4651.
- Roberts, R.G., Coffey, A.J., Bobrow, M., and Bentley, D.R., 1993, Exon structure of the human dystrophin gene, *Genomics*, 16, pp 536–538.
- Roberts, R.G., Gardner, R.J., and Bobrow, M., 1994, Searching for the 1 in 2,400,000: a review of dystrophin gene point mutations, *Hum Mutat*, 4, pp 1–11.
- Rohman, M.S., Emoto, N., Takeshima, Y., Yokoyama, M., and Matsuo, M., 2003, Decreased mAKAP, ryanodine receptor, and SERCA2a gene expression in mdx hearts, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 310, pp 228–235.
- Rosa, G., Ceccarini, M., Cavaldesi, M., Zini, M., and Petrucci, T.C., 1996, Localization of the dystrophin binding site at the carboxyl terminus of beta-dystroglycan, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 223, pp 272–277.
- Rybakova, I.N., Amann, K.J., and Ervasti, J.M., 1996, A new model for the interaction of dystrophin with F-actin, *J Cell Biol*, 135, pp 661–672.
- Rybakova, I.N., and Ervasti, J.M., 1997, Dystrophin-glycoprotein complex is monomeric and stabilizes actin filaments in vitro through a lateral association, *J Biol Chem*, 272, pp 28771–28778.
- Sacco, P., Jones, D.A., Dick, J.R., and Vrbova, G., 1992, Contractile properties and susceptibility to exercise-induced damage of normal and mdx mouse tibialis anterior muscle, *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 82, pp 227–236.
- Sadeghi, A., Doyle, A.D., and Johnson, B.D., 2002, Regulation of the cardiac L-type Ca²⁺ channel by the actin-binding proteins alpha-actinin and dystrophin, Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 282, pp C1502–1511.
- Sadoulet-Puccio, H.M., Rajala, M., and Kunkel, L.M., 1997, Dystrobrevin and dystrophin: an interaction through coiled-coil motifs, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, pp 12413–12418.
- Sarig, R., Mezger-Lallemand, V., Gitelman, I., Davis, C., Fuchs, O., Yaffe, D., and Nudel, U., 1999, Targeted inactivation of Dp71, the major non-muscle product of the DMD gene: differential activity of the Dp71 promoter during development, *Hum Mol Genet*, 8, pp 1–10.
- Schofield, J.N., Blake, D.J., Simmons, C., Morris, G.E., Tinsley, J.M., Davies, K.E., and Edwards, Y.H., 1994, Apo-dystrophin-1 and apo-dystrophin-2, products of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy locus: expression during mouse embryogenesis and in cultured cell lines, *Hum Mol Genet*, 3, pp 1309–1316.
- Serio, R., Bonvissuto, F., and Mule, F., 2001, Altered electrical activity in colonic smooth muscle cells from dystrophic (mdx) mice, *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 13, pp 169–175.
- Sicinski, P., Geng, Y., Ryder-Cook, A.S., Barnard, E.A., Darlison, M.G., and Barnard, P.J., 1989, The molecular basis of muscular dystrophy in the mdx mouse: a point mutation, *Science*, 244, pp 1578–1580.

- Smalheiser, N.R., and Kim, E., 1995, Purification of cranin, a laminin binding membrane protein. Identity with dystroglycan and reassessment of its carbohydrate moieties, J Biol Chem, 270, pp 15425–15433.
- Smalheiser, N.R., and Schwartz, N.B., 1987, Cranin: a laminin-binding protein of cell membranes, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 84, pp 6457–6461.
- Sorimachi, H., Imajoh-Ohmi, S., Emori, Y., Kawasaki, H., Ohno, S., Minami, Y., and Suzuki, K., 1989, Molecular cloning of a novel mammalian calcium-dependent protease distinct from both m- and mu-types. Specific expression of the mRNA in skeletal muscle, *J Biol Chem*, 264, pp 20106–20111.
- Sorimachi, H., and Suzuki, K., 2001, The structure of calpain, J Biochem (Tokyo), 129, pp 653-664.
- Spencer, M.J., and Mellgren, R.L., 2002, Overexpression of a calpastatin transgene in mdx muscle reduces dystrophic pathology, *Hum Mol Genet*, 11, pp 2645–2655.
- Spencer, M.J., and Tidball, J.G., 1996, Calpain translocation during muscle fiber necrosis and regeneration in dystrophin-deficient mice, *Exp Cell Res*, 226, pp 264–272.
- Squire, S., Raymackers, J.M., Vandebrouck, C., Potter, A., Tinsley, J., Fisher, R., Gillis, J.M., and Davies, K.E., 2002, Prevention of pathology in mdx mice by expression of utrophin: analysis using an inducible transgenic expression system, *Hum Mol Genet*, 11, pp 3333–3344.
- Stamler, J.S., and Meissner, G., 2001, Physiology of nitric oxide in skeletal muscle, *Physiol Rev*, 81, pp 209–237.
- Stedman, H.H., Sweeney, H.L., Shrager, J.B., Maguire, H.C., Panettieri, R.A., Petrof, B., Narusawa, M., Leferovich, J.M., Sladky, J.T., and Kelly, A.M., 1991, The mdx mouse diaphragm reproduces the degenerative changes of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *Nature*, 352, pp 536–539.
- Suzuki, A., Yoshida, M., Hayashi, K., Mizuno, Y., Hagiwara, Y., and Ozawa, E., 1994, Molecular organization at the glycoprotein-complex-binding site of dystrophin. Three dystrophin-associated proteins bind directly to the carboxy-terminal portion of dystrophin, *Eur J Biochem*, 220, pp 283–292.
- Suzuki, A., Yoshida, M., Yamamoto, H., and Ozawa, E., 1992, Glycoprotein-binding site of dystrophin is confined to the cysteine-rich domain and the first half of the carboxy-terminal domain, *FEBS Lett*, 308, pp 154–160.
- Tanabe, Y., Esaki, K., and Nomura, T., 1986, Skeletal muscle pathology in X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) mouse, Acta Neuropathol (Berl), 69, pp 91–95.
- Trautmann, A., Delaporte, C., and Marty, A., 1986, Voltage-dependent channels of human muscle cultures, *Pflugers Arch*, 406, pp 163–172.
- Turner, P.R., Fong, P.Y., Denetclaw, W.F., and Steinhardt, R.A., 1991, Increased calcium influx in dystrophic muscle, J Cell Biol, 115, pp 1701–1712.
- Turner, P.R., Schultz, R., Ganguly, B., and Steinhardt, R.A., 1993, Proteolysis results in altered leak channel kinetics and elevated free calcium in mdx muscle, *J Membr Biol*, 133, pp 243–251.
- Turner, P.R., Westwood, T., Regen, C.M., and Steinhardt, R.A., 1988, Increased protein degradation results from elevated free calcium levels found in muscle from mdx mice, *Nature*, 335, pp 735–738.
- Tutdibi, O., Brinkmeier, H., Rudel, R., and Fohr, K.J., 1999, Increased calcium entry into dystrophindeficient muscle fibres of MDX and ADR-MDX mice is reduced by ion channel blockers, *J Physiol*, 515 (Pt 3), pp 859–868.
- Vainzof, M., Takata, R.I., Passos-Bueno, M.R., Pavanello, R.C., and Zatz, M., 1993, Is the maintainance of the C-terminus domain of dystrophin enough to ensure a milder Becker muscular dystrophy phenotype?, *Hum Mol Genet*, 2, pp 39–42.
- Vandebrouck, A., Ducret, T., Basset, O., Sebille, S., Raymond, G., Ruegg, U., Gailly, P., Cognard, C., and Constantin, B., 2006, Regulation of store-operated calcium entries and mitochondrial uptake by minidystrophin expression in cultured myotubes, *Faseb J*, 20, pp 136–138.
- Vandebrouck, C., Duport, G., Cognard, C., and Raymond, G., 2001, Cationic channels in normal and dystrophic human myotubes, *Neuromuscul Disord*, 11, pp 72–79.
- Vandebrouck, C., Duport, G., Raymond, G., and Cognard, C., 2002a, Hypotonic medium increases calcium permeant channels activity in human normal and dystrophic myotubes, *Neurosci Lett*, 323, pp 239–243.
- Vandebrouck, C., Martin, D., Colson-Van Schoor, M., Debaix, H., and Gailly, P., 2002b, Involvement of TRPC in the abnormal calcium influx observed in dystrophic (mdx) mouse skeletal muscle fibers, *J Cell Biol*, 158, pp 1089–1096.

- Voisin, L., Breuille, D., Combaret, L., Pouyet, C., Taillandier, D., Aurousseau, E., Obled, C., and Attaix, D., 1996, Muscle wasting in a rat model of long-lasting sepsis results from the activation of lysosomal, Ca²⁺-activated, and ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathways, *J Clin Invest*, 97, pp 1610– 1617.
- Volonte, D., Peoples, A.J., and Galbiati, F., 2003, Modulation of myoblast fusion by caveolin-3 in dystrophic skeletal muscle cells: implications for Duchenne muscular dystrophy and limb-girdle muscular dystrophy-1C, *Mol Biol Cell*, 14, pp 4075–4088.
- Wang, X., Weisleder, N., Collet, C., Zhou, J., Chu, Y., Hirata, Y., Zhao, X., Pan, Z., Brotto, M., Cheng, H., and Ma, J., 2005, Uncontrolled calcium sparks act as a dystrophic signal for mammalian skeletal muscle, *Nat Cell Biol*, 7, pp 525–530.
- Weller, B., Karpati, G., and Carpenter, S., 1990, Dystrophin-deficient mdx muscle fibers are preferentially vulnerable to necrosis induced by experimental lengthening contractions, *J Neurol Sci*, 100, pp 9–13.
- Wells, D.J., Wells, K.E., Asante, E.A., Turner, G., Sunada, Y., Campbell, K.P., Walsh, F.S., and Dickson, G., 1995, Expression of human full-length and minidystrophin in transgenic mdx mice: implications for gene therapy of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *Hum Mol Genet*, 4, pp 1245–1250.
- Wertz, K., and Fuchtbauer, E.M., 1998, Dmd(mdx-beta geo): a new allele for the mouse dystrophin gene, *Dev Dyn*, 212, pp 229–241.
- Williams, T.M., and Lisanti, M.P., 2004, The caveolin proteins, Genome Biol, 5, pp 214.
- Winder, S.J., Gibson, T.J., and Kendrick-Jones, J., 1995, Dystrophin and utrophin: the missing links!, *FEBS Lett*, 369, pp 27–33.
- Winnard, A.V., Klein, C.J., Coovert, D.D., Prior, T., Papp, A., Snyder, P., Bulman, D.E., Ray, P.N., McAndrew, P., King, W., and et al., 1993, Characterization of translational frame exception patients in Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy, *Hum Mol Genet*, 2, pp 737–744.
- Woods, C.E., Novo, D., DiFranco, M., Capote, J., and Vergara, J.L., 2005, Propagation in the transverse tubular system and voltage dependence of calcium release in normal and mdx mouse muscle fibres, *J Physiol*, 568, pp 867–880.
- Woolf, P.J., Lu, S., Cornford-Nairn, R., Watson, M., Xiao, X.H., Holroyd, S.M., Brown, L., and Hoey, A.J., 2006, Alterations in dihydropyridine receptors in dystrophin-deficient cardiac muscle, *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 290, pp H2439–2445.
- Yang, B., Jung, D., Motto, D., Meyer, J., Koretzky, G., and Campbell, K.P., 1995, SH3 domain-mediated interaction of dystroglycan and Grb2, *J Biol Chem*, 270, pp 11711–11714.
- Yasuda, S., Townsend, D., Michele, D.E., Favre, E.G., Day, S.M., and Metzger, J.M., 2005, Dystrophic heart failure blocked by membrane sealant poloxamer, *Nature*, 436, pp 1025–1029.
- Yeung, E.W., Head, S.I., and Allen, D.G., 2003, Gadolinium reduces short-term stretch-induced muscle damage in isolated mdx mouse muscle fibres, *J Physiol*, 552, pp 449–458.
- Yeung, E.W., Whitehead, N.P., Suchyna, T.M., Gottlieb, P.A., Sachs, F., and Allen, D.G., 2005, Effects of stretch-activated channel blockers on [Ca²⁺]i and muscle damage in the mdx mouse, *J Physiol*, 562, pp 367–380.
- Yoshida, M., Suzuki, A., Yamamoto, H., Noguchi, S., Mizuno, Y., and Ozawa, E., 1994, Dissociation of the complex of dystrophin and its associated proteins into several unique groups by n-octyl beta-D-glucoside, *Eur J Biochem*, 222, pp 1055–1061.
- Zeman, R.J., Kameyama, T., Matsumoto, K., Bernstein, P., and Etlinger, J.D., 1985, Regulation of protein degradation in muscle by calcium. Evidence for enhanced nonlysosomal proteolysis associated with elevated cytosolic calcium, *J Biol Chem*, 260, pp 13619–13624.

CHAPTER 17 CALCIUM AND CELL DEATH

A. VERKHRATSKY

Faculty of Life Sciences, The University of Manchester, 1.124 Stopford Building, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PT, UK Email: alex.verkhratsky@manchester.ac.uk

Abstract: Calcium signalling system controls majority of cellular reactions. Calcium signals occurring within tightly regulated temporal and spatial domains, govern a host of Ca^{2+} -dependent enzymes, which in turn determine specified cellular responses. Generation of Ca^{2+} signals is achieved through coordinated activity of several families of Ca^{2+} channels and transporters differentially distributed between intracellular compartments. Cell damage induced by environmental insults or by overstimulation of physiological pathways results in pathological Ca^{2+} signals, which trigger necrotic or apoptotic cellular death

Keywords: Calcium; Ca²⁺ signalling; apoptosis; necrosis; cell death

Claude Bernard was the first to realise that life is a relentless struggle for constancy of "milieu interior", the concept, which we now know as homeostasis. When homeostasis fails, the organism dies. This, however, does not always stand true for the elementary units of the organism that is for single cells. For many cells the death is pre-planned, which occurs for instance upon **programmed cell death**, necessary for orderly succession of cells in development or in **physiological cells death**, which controls cell turnover in the adulthood. The injury-induced or pathological cell death also may take two distinct routes; the cells may exit through the process of apoptosis ("falling away"; (Kerr et al., 1972)) that is also often responsible for programmed and physiological cell death, or by cell destruction achieved by necrosis, which destroys the cells and triggers release of harmful cellular content; this invariably affects surrounding tissues and ends up with more or less long-lasting and unpleasant consequences. The process of apoptosis is genetically controlled and relies on numerous intracellular signalling systems. The apoptotic cell death is triggered by activation of distinct cascades and undergoes several clearly defined stages, which eventually turn the dying cell into encapsulated apoptotic bodies, easily removed by tissue macrophages without leaving a trace. Conversely, necrosis invariably leads to the loss of membrane integrity and proceeds to cell lysis and release of cell components, which in turn trigger inflammatory tissue reactions. Despite these differences both apoptosis and necrosis are regulated by a single signalling system, which uses Ca^{2+} ions as a universal messenger; even more strikingly the same signalling system controls a vast majority of cellular activities during everyday life.

The multiple roles of calcium, which controls birth, life and death were identified in the late 19 century, when Sydney Ringer discovered that Ca^{2+} ions control heart contractions, regulate fertilisation and development of tadpole and determine survival of fishes (Ringer 1883a, b, 1886, 1890; Ringer and Sainsbury 1894). In late 1960-es/ early 1970-es it has been recognised that cell death is associated with an increase in cell calcium content (see (Farber 1981) for review), and in 1974 the key role of excessive plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ entry and subsequent Ca²⁺ overload in triggering ischemic death of cardiomyocytes was hypothesised (Fleckenstein et al., 1974). Several years later massive translocation of Ca^{2+} from the extracellular space into neural cells was identified in ischemic cerebellum (Nicholson et al., 1977). In the following 30 years the role of Ca^{2+} overload and cell Ca^{2+} dyshomeostasis in initiation and regulation of various death pathways was firmly established (see e.g. (Nicotera et al., 1992; Orrenius and Nicotera, 1994; Choi, 1995; Kristian and Siesjo, 1998; Ermak and Davies 2002; Eisner et al., 2006)). In this chapter I shall present the overall view on Ca²⁺ homeostasis and dyshomeostasis, discuss the role of various Ca²⁺ regulating pathways on pathological developments and briefly overview the Ca²⁺-dependent systems involved in controlling apoptosis and necrosis.

1. CALCIUM HOMEOSTASIS IN VARIOUS INTRACELLULAR COMPARTMENTS

Calcium ions act as both extra- and intra-cellular messenger. The fluctuations of extracellular Ca^{2+} are picked up by a broad family of Ca^{2+} sensors, whose role still remains largely unknown (Riccardi 2004). At the same time Ca^{2+} is the most versatile intracellular messenger discovered so far, since it is involved in the regulation of almost all known cellular functions and reactions (Petersen et al., 2005). There are exceptions, but they are few, the most notable probably being the propagation of nerve action potentials, which depends on Na⁺ and K⁺ channels that are not acutely Ca^{2+} -regulated. The most important properties of Ca^{2+} signalling are the promiscuity with respect to its effector systems and its autoregulation. Indeed, Ca^{2+} regulates a truly remarkable variety of intracellular processes, within extremely different temporal domains, from microseconds (e.g. exocytosis) to months or even years (e.g. memory processes). At the same time, the actual molecular systems responsible for producing Ca^{2+} signalling events are limited to only a few protein families (Ca^{2+} channels and transporters), and these systems appear to be very well conserved and ubiquitously expressed within the cellular

kingdom. Most importantly, all these systems are regulated by Ca^{2+} itself, thus making a very robust, albeit versatile and adaptable piece of molecular machinery.

Fundamentally, calcium homeostasis is a result of coordinated transportation of Ca^{2+} ions through several sets of membranes, which delineate distinct cellular compartments; these compartments maintain very different Ca^{2+} concentrations, and have a specific role in both physiological and pathological Ca^{2+} signalling (Petersen et al., 1994; Berridge et al., 2003; Carafoli 2004; Verkhratsky 2005).

These compartments are represented by the cytosol, by endoplasmic reticulum, which is often connected with nuclear envelope and complex Golgi, by mitochondria and by the nucleus (Figure 1). Although each of these compartments has its own Ca²⁺ homeostatic pattern, they all rely on Ca²⁺ movements across relevant membranes, which are governed by relatively restricted number of Ca²⁺ channels and Ca²⁺ transporters. Calcium-binding proteins, whose Ca²⁺ affinities vary between several nM and 0.5–1.0 mM, represent second important element, which controls Ca²⁺ traffic within the said compartments. The Ca²⁺ binding proteins also act as Ca²⁺ sensors, which control cellular biochemistry and execute cellular reactions. Calcium fluxes between different cellular compartments occur either by diffusion down the concentration gradient, or by active energy dependent transport against the latter.



Figure 1. Compartmentalisation of cellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis
The Ca²⁺ concentration gradients, build across different membranes are, as a rule, quite steep, which ensures the high signal to noise of Ca²⁺ signalling system; simultaneously these steep gradients present a danger of rapid Ca²⁺ overload upon disruptions of Ca²⁺ homeostasis. The extracellular Ca²⁺ concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_0$) varies within the range of 1.2–1.5 mM. The cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration (or $[Ca^{2+}]_i$) is 4 orders in magnitude lower, being set around 30–100 nM. Free Ca²⁺ concentration in the lumen of endoplasmic reticulum ($[Ca^{2+}]_L$) can reach 0.5–1.0 mM, being thus comparable with $[Ca^{2+}]_o$. Mitochondria have another degree of complexity, added by an electrical gradient between cytosol and mitochondrial matrix, which can reach up to 200 mV, and thus favour Ca²⁺ influx down the electrogenic gradient.

Passive "downhill" calcium transport (down to concentration- or electrical gradients) between the compartments occurs via several sets of Ca^{2+} permeable channels (Figure 2). Plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} influx is a function of voltage- ligandand store-operated Ca^{2+} channels, which have a variable Ca^{2+} selectivity (the highest for voltage- and store-operated, the intermediate for ligand-operated) and through non-selective cation channels, also permeable to Ca^{2+} . The endomembrane (which forms the ER) contains several sets of intracellular Ca^{2+} channels, the ryanodine receptors (RyRs), the InsP₃ receptors (InsP₃Rs) and possibly the NAADP receptors (Bezprozvanny 2005; Galione and Ruas 2005; Hamilton 2005). Activity of these channels is controlled by intracellular messengers (RyRs by cyclic ADP ribose; InsP₃Rs by InsP₃) and by Ca^{2+} ions, which directly activate RyRs and modulate the openings of InsP₃Rs. Finally, mitochondria contain the Ca^{2+} uniporter (which is in fact a highly selective Ca^{2+} channel – (Kirichok et al., 2004)), and a



Figure 2. Molecular cascades responsible for Ca²⁺ homeostasis and Ca²⁺ signalling

complex permeability transition pore, which can allow Ca^{2+} flux. The uphill Ca^{2+} transport against concentration gradient is the function of Ca^{2+} pumps, represented by plasmalemmal variety PMCA (plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} ATPases – see (Wuytack et al., 2002; Guerini et al., 2005)), by endomembrane variety SERCA (sarco-endoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} ATPases – (Wuytack et al., 2002; Vangheluwe et al., 2005)) and by several other pumps (e.g. PMR1 pump) residing for instance in the membrane of Golgi complex (Sorin et al., 1997). The second energy-dependent transmembrane Ca^{2+} transporter is a sodium-calcium exchanger, the NCX, present in plasma membrane and in mitochondria; the NCX exchanges Ca^{2+} for Na⁺ and can operate in forward and reverse mode depending on the transmembrane Na/Ca²⁺ gradients and membrane polarisation (Guerini et al., 2005).

All molecular systems involved in Ca²⁺ homeostatic processes are regulated by Ca²⁺ itself, which operates numerous feedback loops. That is, increase in cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration induces a Ca²⁺-dependent inactivation of voltage-operated plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ channels. Fluctuations in $[Ca^{2+}]_L$ differentially regulate Ca²⁺ transport across the endomembrane: elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_L$ increases the susceptibility of RyRs and InsP₃Rs to activation, and inhibits the SERCAs; when $[Ca^{2+}]_L$ falls, the SERCA pumping is much activated, and the Ca²⁺ release channels are inhibited (Burdakov et al., 2005; Burdakov and Verkhratsky 2006).

Physiological cell stimulation triggers openings of different sets of channels, which results in a rapid Ca^{2+} fluxes aimed at the cytosol; Ca^{2+} can originate either from extracellular space and enter the cell through plasmalemmal channels, or from the ER via intracellular Ca²⁺ channels. This Ca²⁺ influx triggers the cytosolic Ca²⁺ signals, which are transient in nature and often are spatially localised. The preferred routes vary between different cell types: in excitable cells such as neurones and muscle cells the leading role in Ca²⁺ signal generation belongs to plasmalemma; in non-excitable cells the main source of Ca^{2+} ions is intracellular. The role of plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ channels is particularly important for neurones, where depolarisation brought by action potential activates several sets of voltageoperated calcium channels, which rapidly and effectively increase the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$; alternatively the plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ influx can be also achieved through ligandoperated channels, gated by various neurotransmitters. In this way plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ channels swiftly transform membrane events into cytosolic Ca²⁺ signals. In cardiac muscle cells plasmalemmal Ca²⁺ influx acts mostly as a trigger event, which activates massive Ca^{2+} release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum that actually delivers bulk of Ca²⁺ necessary for triggering contraction. In non-excitable cells the ER takes the leading role: activation of numerous plasmalemmal receptors initiates synthesis of InsP₃, which opens InsP₃Rs and induces intracellular Ca²⁺ release; the Ca²⁺ release depletes the ER lumen, and releases a yet unidentified signal (but see (Liou et al., 2005; Soboloff et al., 2006)), which opens store-operated Ca^{2+} channels residing in the plasma membrane (Parekh and Putney 2005). Thus, by combining different pathways and connecting various Ca²⁺ handling molecules the versatility and adaptability of Ca²⁺ signalling machinery is achieved.

Upon entering cellular compartments Ca^{2+} ions are subject to buffering by Ca^{2+} binding proteins, which to a very large extent determine the shape of resulting Ca^{2+} signals. Cytosolic Ca^{2+} buffers are characterised by high (in a submicromolar range) affinity to Ca^{2+} ions (Lewit-Bentley and Rety 2000; Ikura et al., 2002). These high affinity cytosolic buffers tend to hamper diffusion and localise cytosolic Ca^{2+} events thus assisting in forming a focal micro- or even nano-domains of high $(1-100 \ \mu\text{M}) \ [Ca^{2+}]_i$, which in turn control highly focal and rapid cellular reactions, such as e.g. neurotransmitter release (Barclay et al., 2005; Rizzuto and Pozzan 2006).

To the contrary, the Ca²⁺ binding proteins residing in the ER lumen (e.g. calsequestrin, calreticulin or calumenin), have a very low affinity, their K_D being around 0.5–1 mM (Michalak et al., 2002). This low affinity is, however, combined with very high capacity to bind Ca²⁺ (each molecule of calsequestrin or calreticulin may bind up to 20–50 Ca²⁺ ions). This arrangement allows unhampered diffusion, and thus permits much freedom for intra-ER Ca²⁺ movement, as compared to the cytosol (Mogami et al., 1999). As the ER lumen is internally continuous (Park et al., 2000; Solovyova and Verkhratsky 2003), the $[Ca²⁺]_L$ can rapidly equilibrate, providing thus a system for long-range and relatively rapid Ca²⁺ movements within the cell (Mogami et al., 1997; Petersen et al., 2001; Verkhratsky 2005).

Finally, the termination of cellular Ca^{2+} signals achieved through energy dependent Ca^{2+} transporters, which restore the physiological distribution of Ca^{2+} within various compartments, either by exporting Ca^{2+} into the extracellular space (PMCA and NCX – (Guerini et al., 2005)), or accumulating Ca^{2+} into the lumen of the ER (SERCA's – (Wuytack et al., 2002)). Importantly, part of Ca^{2+} ions entering the cytosol during Ca^{2+} signal generation are accumulated by mitochondria; Ca^{2+} elevation within the mitochondrial matrix activates enzymes of citric acid cycle, hence stimulating production of ATP (Rizzuto et al., 2004); this is a fundamental signalling cascade which links cellular activity and ATP production. The mechanisms of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} homeostasis and role of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} signalling in controlling the cell death are, however, covered by another chapter of this volume, and therefore will not be discussed in this essay.

A broad family of Ca²⁺ sensors, which are in effect Ca²⁺-regulated enzymes, accomplishes the decoding of calcium signals and execution of Ca²⁺-regulated processes. When binding/unbinding Ca²⁺ these enzymes change their activity, and thus control cellular responses. These enzymes are distributed between different compartments, and quite obviously, display different sensitivity to Ca²⁺. For example, intra-ER chaperons, assisting protein folding require 100 μ M of free Ca²⁺ in the ER lumen to perform; many cytosolic Ca²⁺ sensors are governed by low- μ M changes in [Ca²⁺]_i, yet some of them (e.g. proteins controlling exocytosis) are activated by [Ca²⁺] levels approaching 10–100 μ M, which may be reached in focal [Ca²⁺]_i microdomains.

All systems described above, operate physiologically and provide for normal cell function; yet the very same systems are also involved in generation of pathological signals activated upon cell injury.

2. CALCIUM DYSHOMEOSTASIS UPON CELL INJURY

Cell injury results from two conceptually different sources. First, cells can be injured by disruption of endogenous structures or processes, which can lead either to pathological over(under)stimulation (i.e. hyper-release of glutamate in the brain) or to deprivations to extracellular environment (i.e. anoxia, ischemia, glucose deprivation etc.). Second, cells can be injured by exogenous toxins, substances or physical factors representing the environmental attack. Irrespective to the injury signal, the cytotoxicity is invariably accompanied by a sustained and long-lasting elevation in cellular Ca²⁺ content. Increases in intracellular Ca²⁺ are observed upon toxicity of various organic and non-organic substances, from cyanides to mercury; it is detected during cell death initiated by toxic components of viruses wall, or even by mechanical trauma. Similarly, intracellular Ca²⁺ increase accompany ischemic cell death, glutamate toxicity, hormonal killing of immunocompetent cells and complement- or T-cells dependent cytolysis (see (Orrenius et al., 1991; Nicotera et al., 1992; Orrenius and Nicotera 1994) for review and relevant references).

All in all, cell injury almost invariably results in generation of pathological Ca^{2+} signals, which usually appear in a form of prolonged elevations of cytosolic Ca^{2+} concentration. These pathological Ca^{2+} signals originate from increased plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} entry, increased Ca^{2+} release, compromised Ca^{2+} extrusion or



Figure 3. Pathological Ca²⁺ signalling regulate cell death via apoptosis or necrosis

combinations of the above. Whatever the nature of triggering event, cell Ca^{2+} overload compromises Ca^{2+} homeostatic machinery, which eventually sets up a vicious circle of positive feedbacks further exacerbating Ca^{2+} overload and leading to irreparable damage. The pathological Ca^{2+} signals also set into motion the cell death process, which may proceed either via benign apoptotic route or end up in necrosis. Conceptually, the choice between the two depends on the intensity of injury and the status of the cell - e.g. the resting concentration of ATP and the mitochondrial status very much affect the mode of cellular death (Orrenius et al., 2003).

To conclude, pathological Ca^{2+} signals result from cell overstimulation and/or failure of Ca^{2+} homeostasis. These pathological Ca^{2+} signals activate several intracellular enzymatic cascades, which in turn trigger or execute death subroutines (Figure 3). Depending on the type of cell, severity of pathological signalling or cell status, the same cascades may initiate either apoptotic or necrotic cell death.

3. GENERATION OF PATHOLOGICAL CA²⁺ SIGNALS: PLASMALEMMAL CA²⁺ ENTRY

Massive Ca^{2+} entry trough the plasmalemma may result in very rapid and severe cellular Ca^{2+} overload. This Ca^{2+} entry may occur either from overstimulation of existing ion channels or through the formation of pathological ion channels; alternatively chronic diseases may affect expression of Ca^{2+} channels and thus modulate Ca^{2+} entry.

Increased Ca^{2+} influx through **voltage-operated calcium channels** (VOCCs) is implicated in many forms of both apoptotic and necrotic cell death. For example, the physiological apoptosis of spermatocytes is controlled to a large extend by Ca^{2+} entry through VOCCs (Barone et al., 2004). From another hand, an excessive or prolonged activation of VOCCs may trigger Ca^{2+} overload and necrotic cell death. This happens, for instance in chromaffin cells, where Ca^{2+} entry through L-type channels induces rapid cell death (Cano-Abad et al., 2001) or in organotypic hippocampal neurones, where T channels significantly contribute to ischemiainduced pathological Ca^{2+} entry (Nikonenko et al., 2005). The chronic changes in expression of VOCCs occur upon physiological ageing (Landfield 1996; Toescu et al., 2004) and in certain forms of experimental Alzheimer disease-like pathologies (Toescu et al., 2004); elevated Ca^{2+} entry may underlie long-term damage of cells in these conditions.

Sometimes pathological Ca^{2+} overload may result from Ca^{2+} influx through other types of channels, as for example was shown for DEGF/ENaC sodium channel, which could generate a Ca^{2+} influx, sufficient to trigger intracellular Ca^{2+} release and thus induce the necrotic cell death (Bianchi et al., 2004).

Ligand-operated Ca²⁺ channels (LOCCs), known also as ionotropic receptors, are important progressors of pathological Ca^{2+} entry, especially in the brain tissue. The best example of toxic plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} entry is represented by glutamate-induced excitotoxic death of neural cells (or glutamate excitotoxicity) in damaged

brain, initially descried in late 1960-s (Olney 1969; Olney and Ho 1970). Every type of brain insult results in substantial release of glutamate; the latter in turn activates numerous glutamate receptors, which provide a pathway for excessive Ca^{2+} entry. The Ca^{2+} entry mainly occurs through highly Ca^{2+} -permeable NMDA subtype of glutamate receptors; these receptors conduct not only Ca^{2+} ions, but have very slow desensitisation, which results in a long-lasting periods of Ca^{2+} influx (Siesjo 1989; Choi 1995; Leist and Nicotera 1998). Glutamate excitotoxicity represents the main mechanism of neural cell death upon ischemia and stroke. Other types of LOCCs may also trigger pathological Ca^{2+} overload: Ca^{2+} entry resulting in a cell death may occur for example via AMPA/KA glutamate receptors (Kwak and Weiss 2006) or though various subtypes of P2X purinoreceptors (Franke et al., 2006), with particular role for P2X₇ receptor (Sperlagh et al., 2006).

Transient receptor potential or TRP channels belong to a diverse super-family of cationic non-voltage gated channels, present in almost all types of eukaryotic cells (Pedersen et al., 2005). Many of TRP channels have substantial Ca^{2+} permeability and can mediate relevant Ca^{2+} fluxes. Mechanisms of TRP channels activation are sundry; many of them are sensitive to environmental factors such as e.g. temperature; alternatively, diacylglycerols or relative substances, which occur following activation of G-protein coupled metabotropic receptors, activate many of TRP channels. Pathological activation of TRP channels may create cell Ca^{2+} overloads, which can cause cellular death; the later was documented for photoreceptors (Yoon et al., 2000). Massive Ca^{2+} influx through TRPM7 channels was also proposed as a key mechanism of anoxia-induced death of cortical neurones (Aarts et al., 2003).

4. GENERATION OF PATHOLOGICAL CA²⁺ SIGNALS: INTRACELLULAR CA²⁺ STORES

The intracellular Ca²⁺ stores, mostly associated with the ER also play important role in generation of pathological Ca^{2+} signals and in controlling cell death. The role of ER Ca²⁺ homeostasis in cellular pathology is complex: firstly ER generates Ca^{2+} release, which can contribute to cytosolic Ca^{2+} overload and is sensed by mitochondria; secondly, disruptions of ER Ca²⁺ homeostasis can also generate relevant death signals. These two processes often go in parallel, as aberrant activity of Ca^{2+} release channels can simultaneously trigger $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increases and deplete the $[Ca^{2+}]_{I}$. The intra-ER Ca²⁺ homeostasis is critical for many ER functions, most notably for posttranslational processing of proteins; failures in ER Ca²⁺ handling affect chaperones and alter protein folding. This results in generation of ER stress response, which generally appears in two forms, the unfolding protein response (UPR) and ER overload response (EOR), see (Pahl and Baeuerle 1997; Patil and Walter 2001; Glazner and Fernyhough 2002). The ER stress response, in turn generates several signals aimed towards the nucleus, which are meant to assist the protein folding recovery. Under severe stress, however, these signals became detrimental and may initiate apoptotic or necrotic cell death. Particularly important is an activation of nuclear factor NK-KB, which regulates production of cytokines and interferons; the latter being important factors in triggering cell death (Ferri and Kroemer 2001). Prolonged ER stress can also stimulate pro-caspase-12, localised in the endomembrane; when activated the caspase 12 stimulates other pro-apoptotic caspases (Nakagawa et al., 2000).

The cell death signals can be associated with malfunctioning of both RyRs and $InsP_3Rs$. For example, an aberrant activity of RyRs was shown to trigger apoptotic and necrotic cell death in CHO cell lines and in prostate cancer cell line LNCaP (Mariot et al., 2000; Pan et al., 2000). Incidentally, cytosolic Ca²⁺ buffering prevented necrosis, but did not affect apoptosis, indicating a specific role of ER Ca²⁺ depletion in the initiation of the latter (Pan et al., 2000).

Particular importance in regulation of apoptotic death pathway belongs to $InsP_3Rs$, activation of which stimulates various pro-apoptotic factors. The $InsP_3R$ mediated Ca^{2+} release increases mitochondrial Ca^{2+} , with subsequent release/activation of numerous pro-apoptotic molecules such as cytochrom C, apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF), and second mitochondrial activator of caspases (SMAC/Daiblo) (Hanson et al., 2004). In addition $InsP_3$ -induced Ca^{2+} release may activate calcineurin with subsequent phosphorylaytion of pro-apoptotic protein Bad (Jayaraman and Marks 1997). Genetic removal of $InsP_3Rs$ reduces the susceptibility of cells to apoptosis (Sugawara et al., 1997).

Activation of $InsP_3Rs$ relevant to apoptosis can occur through physiological pathway, by stimulation of relevant metabotropic receptors. This mechanism, for example, ensures the extinction of immature B cells, which is essential for immunological self-tolerance. In this case the $InsP_3$ induced Ca^{2+} release is activated by stimulation of B-cell receptors (Hanson et al., 2004). Alternatively, the $InsP_3$ receptors can be activated indirectly, for instance through proteolysis of $InsP_3R$ type 1 by caspase 3; the truncated $InsP_3R$ remains in the endomembrane and provides for a continuous Ca^{2+} leak from the ER (Nakayama et al., 2004).

The role of ER Ca²⁺ leak in generation of cell death signals is not entirely understood, mostly because the nature of the ER leak pathways remain enigmatic (Camello et al., 2002), yet it may play a key role in various types of cellular pathology, such as e.g. in Alzheimer disease-related neurodegeneration. In the latter case the aberrant Ca²⁺ leak may be controlled by mutant presenilins (Tu et al., 2006). Another important and relevant for pathology ER Ca²⁺ leak pathway may be associated with recently discovered channels of pannexin family, which can form Ca²⁺ permeable channels in the endomembrane (Vanden Abeele et al., 2006). All in all the pathological role of ER Ca²⁺ leakage needs further attention.

5. GENERATION OF PATHOLOGICAL CA²⁺ SIGNALS: CA²⁺ EXTRUSION SYSTEMS

Excess of Ca^{2+} is removed from the cytosol by plasmalemmal Ca^{2+} pumps and sodium-calcium exchangers. The abnormal function of both systems can result in alteration of basal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and prolongation of evoked Ca^{2+} signals. Inhibition of PMCA results in pathological Ca^{2+} homeostasis in several cellular preparations

(Waring 2005). The activity of NCX can be even more important for maintenance of physiological Ca^{2+} signalling, as cleavage and incapacitation of NCX in brain ischemia was instrumental for triggering the excitotoxic cell death (Bano et al., 2005). The intracellular SERCA pumps not only remove excess of Ca^{2+} from the cytosol, but also control the ER Ca^{2+} homeostasis; inhibition of SERCA pumping has a prominent detrimental effect on many cells, and often triggers rapid cell death (see e.g. (Paschen 2003; Paschen and Mengesdorf 2005)). Mutation of SERCA2 pumps, which underlies the autosomal-dominant Darier disease, is associated with severe neurodegeneration, manifested by mental retardation, schizophrenia, epilepsy and progressive encephalopathy (Missiaen et al., 2000).

6. CA²⁺ SENSORS IN CELL DEATH REACTIONS

Fluctuations in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ affect multiple enzymes, some of which are directly associated with initiation of cell death. These enzymes control the breakdown of various cellular constituents, and their pathological activation can have fatal consequences.

- Ca^{2+} -activated proteases. Ca^{2+} -activated proteases or calpains are ubiquitously distributed in the cytosol (Nicotera et al., 1992). Upon activation they may degrade various intracellular proteins, including components of cytoskeleton. Inhibition of calpains by specific inhibitors greatly reduces the proteolysis and toxic cell death (Nicotera et al., 1986; Lee et al., 1991).
- **Calcineurin.** The calcineurin, or Ca^{2+} -calmodulin dependent protein phosphatase (Aramburu et al., 2004) mediates apoptosis through at least two routes. First, this action can be achieved through steroid receptor Nur77 and CD95 ligand; this pathway was found in lymphoid cells (Shi et al., 1989). Alternatively, calcineurin dephosphorylates a pro-apoptotic protein Bad (a member of Bcl-2 family), which in turn translocates into mitochondria and triggers release of cytochrome C and activation of caspases (Wang et al., 1999).
- **Endonucleases.** Endonucleases provide for DNA cleavage into small (200 base pairs) fragments, which is an essential step in apoptotic cascade (Wyllie 1980; Wyllie 1998). Endonucleases are stimulated by Ca^{2+} and their activation was detected in several cell types undergoing apoptosis (McConkey et al., 1988; Aw et al., 1990). The intimate mechanisms of endonucleases action remain not fully described; at least in part they can be explained through the involvement of caspase-3 activated endonuclease (or caspase-activated DNAase (Enari et al., 1998)). Nonetheless, the chromatin fragmentation was also observed in cell (and caspase)-free system, when isolated nuclei were treated with Ca^{2+} and ATP, suggesting the existence of caspase-independent DNA cleavage mechanism (Jones et al., 1989).
- **Phospholipases.** Calcium controls several phospholipases, most notably the phospholipase C (PLC), which produces $InsP_3$ and diacylglycerol (Berridge 1981), and phospholipase A_2 (PLA₂), which regulates the liberation of arachidonic acid from phospholipids (Exton et al., 1991). Overstimulation of

phospholipases, therefore, may cause a further increase in Ca^{2+} release from the ER stores, extensive membrane breakdown and generation of toxic substrates (Nicotera et al., 1992). In particular, Ca^{2+} -dependent over-activation of PLA₂ was observed upon ischemia and following treatment with some toxins (Nicotera et al., 1992).

- Nitric oxide synthase. The NO synthase (NOS) can generate both pro- and antiapoptotic effects. The deleterious effects of excessive NO production are well documented in neuronal damage following ischemia and glutamate excitotoxicity (Dawson et al., 1991; Huang et al., 1994).
- **Transglutaminases.** Ca²⁺-dependent transglutaminase activation was detected in dying and apoptotic cells; its actual role can be related to cross-linking of plasmalemmal proteins with cytoskeleton (Orrenius et al., 2003).

7. CONCLUSIONS

Calcium signalling systems play central role in regulation of cell fate and in determining the choice of cell death. This role is inseparable from a general importance of Ca^{2+} signalling, which controls most of cellular reactions. By tight coordination of several molecular cascades, expressed in various cellular compartments, Ca^{2+} signals achieve a remarkable versatility in governance over multitude of biochemical reactions. The temporal and spatial appearance of Ca^{2+} signals determines the outcome and conductance of cellular processes. Similarly, pre-orchestrated Ca^{2+} signals control the programmed cell death, which is vitally important for development and survival of multicellular organisms. The overstimulation of Ca^{2+} signalling system either by endogenous factors or by environmental insults triggers cell death, which may occur in apoptotic or necrotic disguise.

REFERENCES

- Aarts M., Iihara K., Wei W.L., Xiong Z.G., Arundine M., Cerwinski W., MacDonald J.F., and Tymianski M. 2003 A key role for TRPM7 channels in anoxic neuronal death. Cell 115, 863–877.
- Aramburu J., Heitman J., and Crabtree G.R. 2004 Calcineurin: a central controller of signalling in eukaryotes. EMBO Rep 5, 343–348.
- Aw T.Y., Nicotera P., Manzo L., and Orrenius S. 1990 Tributyltin stimulates apoptosis in rat thymocytes. Arch Biochem Biophys 283, 46–50.
- Bano D., Young K.W., Guerin C.J., Lefeuvre R., Rothwell N.J., Naldini L., Rizzuto R., Carafoli E., and Nicotera P. 2005 Cleavage of the plasma membrane Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger in excitotoxicity. Cell 120, 275–285.
- Barclay J.W., Morgan A., and Burgoyne R.D. 2005 Calcium-dependent regulation of exocytosis. Cell Calcium 38, 343–353.
- Barone F., Aguanno S., D'Alessio A., and D'Agostino A. 2004 Sertoli cell modulates MAA-induced apoptosis of germ cells throughout voltage-operated calcium channels. Faseb J 18, 353–354.
- Berridge M.J. 1981 Phosphatidylinositol hydrolysis: a multifunctional transducing mechanism. Mol Cell Endocrinol 24, 115–140.
- Berridge M.J., Bootman M.D., and Roderick H.L. 2003 Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4, 517–529.
- Bezprozvanny I. 2005 The inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors. Cell Calcium 38, 261-272.

- Bianchi L., Gerstbrein B., Frokjaer-Jensen C., Royal D.C., Mukherjee G., Royal M.A., Xue J., Schafer W.R., and Driscoll M. 2004 The neurotoxic MEC-4(d) DEG/ENaC sodium channel conducts calcium: implications for necrosis initiation. Nat Neurosci 7, 1337–1344.
- Burdakov D., and Verkhratsky A. 2006 Biophysical re-equilibration of Ca^{2+} fluxes as a simple biologically plausible explanation for complex intracellular Ca^{2+} release patterns. FEBS Lett 380, 463–468.
- Burdakov D., Petersen O.H., and Verkhratsky A. 2005 Intraluminal calcium as a primary regulator of endoplasmic reticulum function. Cell Calcium 38, 303–310.
- Camello C., Lomax R., Petersen O.H., and Tepikin A.V. 2002 Calcium leak from intracellular stores–the enigma of calcium signalling. Cell Calcium 32, 355–361.
- Cano-Abad M.F., Villarroya M., Garcia A.G., Gabilan N.H., and Lopez M.G. 2001 Calcium entry through L-type calcium channels causes mitochondrial disruption and chromaffin cell death. J Biol Chem 276, 39695–39704.
- Carafoli E. 2004 Calcium-mediated cellular signals: a story of failures. Trends Biochem Sci 29, 371-379.
- Choi D.W. 1995 Calcium: still center-stage in hypoxic-ischemic neuronal death. Trends Neurosci 18, 58–60.
- Dawson V.L., Dawson T.M., London E.D., Bredt D.S., and Snyder S.H. 1991 Nitric oxide mediates glutamate neurotoxicity in primary cortical cultures. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88, 6368–6371.
- Eisner D.A., Venetucci L.A., and Trafford A.W. 2006 Life, sudden death, and intracellular calcium. Circ Res 99, 223–224.
- Enari M., Sakahira H., Yokoyama H., Okawa K., Iwamatsu A., and Nagata S. 1998 A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. Nature 391, 43–50.
- Ermak G., and Davies K.J. 2002 Calcium and oxidative stress: from cell signaling to cell death. Mol Immunol 38, 713–721.
- Exton J.H., Taylor S.J., Augert G., and Bocckino S.B. 1991 Cell signalling through phospholipid breakdown. Mol Cell Biochem 104, 81–86.
- Farber J.L. 1981 The role of calcium in cell death. Life Sci 29, 1289-1295.
- Ferri K.F., and Kroemer G. 2001 Organelle-specific initiation of cell death pathways. Nat Cell Biol 3, E255–263.
- Fleckenstein A., Janke J., Doring H.J., and Leder O. 1974 Myocardial fiber necrosis due to intracellular Ca overload-a new principle in cardiac pathophysiology. Recent Adv Stud Cardiac Struct Metab 4, 563–580.
- Franke H., Krugel U., and Illes P. 2006 P2 receptors and neuronal injury. Pflugers Arch 452, 622-644.
- Galione A., and Ruas M. 2005 NAADP receptors. Cell Calcium 38, 273-280.
- Glazner G.W., and Fernyhough P. 2002 Neuronal survival in the balance: are endoplasmic reticulum membrane proteins the fulcrum? Cell Calcium 32, 421–433.
- Guerini D., Coletto L., and Carafoli E. 2005 Exporting calcium from cells. Cell Calcium 38, 281-289.
- Hamilton S.L. 2005 Ryanodine receptors. Cell Calcium 38, 253-260.
- Hanson C.J., Bootman M.D., and Roderick H.L. 2004 Cell signalling: IP₃ receptors channel calcium into cell death. Curr Biol 14, R933–935.
- Huang Z., Huang P.L., Panahian N., Dalkara T., Fishman M.C., and Moskowitz M.A. 1994 Effects of cerebral ischemia in mice deficient in neuronal nitric oxide synthase. Science 265, 1883–1885.
- Ikura M., Osawa M., and Ames J.B. 2002 The role of calcium-binding proteins in the control of transcription: structure to function. Bioessays 24, 625–636.
- Jayaraman T., and Marks A.R. 1997 T cells deficient in inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor are resistant to apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol 17, 3005–3012.
- Jones D.P., McConkey D.J., Nicotera P., and Orrenius S. 1989 Calcium-activated DNA fragmentation in rat liver nuclei. J Biol Chem 264, 6398–6403.
- Kerr J.F., Wyllie A.H., and Currie A.R. 1972 Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer 26, 239–257.
- Kirichok Y., Krapivinsky G., and Clapham D.E. 2004 The mitochondrial calcium uniporter is a highly selective ion channel. Nature 427, 360–364.
- Kristian T., and Siesjo B.K. 1998 Calcium in ischemic cell death. Stroke 29, 705-718.

- Kwak S., and Weiss J.H. 2006 Calcium-permeable AMPA channels in neurodegenerative disease and ischemia. Curr Opin Neurobiol 16, 281–287.
- Landfield P.W. 1996 Aging-related increase in hippocampal calcium channels. Life Sci 59, 399-404.
- Lee K.S., Frank S., Vanderklish P., Arai A., and Lynch G. 1991 Inhibition of proteolysis protects hippocampal neurons from ischemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88, 7233–7237.
- Leist M., and Nicotera P. 1998 Calcium and neuronal death. Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol 132, 79–125.
- Lewit-Bentley A., and Rety S. 2000 EF-hand calcium-binding proteins. Curr Opin Struct Biol 10, 637–643.
- Liou J., Kim M.L., Heo W.D., Jones J.T., Myers J.W., Ferrell J.E., Jr., and Meyer T. 2005 STIM is a Ca²⁺ sensor essential for Ca²⁺-store-depletion-triggered Ca²⁺ influx. Curr Biol 15, 1235–1241.
- Mariot P., Prevarskaya N., Roudbaraki M.M., Le Bourhis X., Van Coppenolle F., Vanoverberghe K., and Skryma R. 2000 Evidence of functional ryanodine receptor involved in apoptosis of prostate cancer (LNCaP) cells. Prostate 43, 205–214.
- McConkey D.J., Hartzell P., Duddy S.K., Hakansson H., and Orrenius S. 1988 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin kills immature thymocytes by Ca²⁺-mediated endonuclease activation. Science 242, 256–259.
- Michalak M., Robert Parker J.M., and Opas M. 2002 Ca²⁺ signaling and calcium binding chaperones of the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell Calcium 32, 269–278.
- Missiaen L., Robberecht W., van den Bosch L., Callewaert G., Parys J.B., Wuytack F., Raeymaekers L., Nilius B., Eggermont J., and De Smedt H. 2000 Abnormal intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis and disease. Cell Calcium 28, 1–21.
- Mogami H., Nakano K., Tepikin A.V., and Petersen O.H. 1997 Ca²⁺ flow via tunnels in polarized cells: recharging of apical Ca²⁺ stores by focal Ca²⁺ entry through basal membrane patch. Cell 88, 49–55.
- Mogami H., Gardner J., Gerasimenko O.V., Camello P., Petersen O.H., and Tepikin A.V. 1999 Calcium binding capacity of the cytosol and endoplasmic reticulum of mouse pancreatic acinar cells. J Physiol 518 (Pt 2), 463–467.
- Nakagawa T., Zhu H., Morishima N., Li E., Xu J., Yankner B.A., and Yuan J. 2000 Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid-beta. Nature 403, 98–103.
- Nakayama T., Hattori M., Uchida K., Nakamura T., Tateishi Y., Bannai H., Iwai M., Michikawa T., Inoue T., and Mikoshiba K. 2004 The regulatory domain of the inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor is necessary to keep the channel domain closed: possible physiological significance of specific cleavage by caspase 3. Biochem J 377, 299–307.
- Nicholson C., Bruggencate G.T., Steinberg R., and Stockle H. 1977 Calcium modulation in brain extracellular microenvironment demonstrated with ion-selective micropipette. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74, 1287–1290.
- Nicotera P., Bellomo G., and Orrenius S. 1992 Calcium-mediated mechanisms in chemically induced cell death. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 32, 449–470.
- Nicotera P., Hartzell P., Baldi C., Svensson S.A., Bellomo G., and Orrenius S. 1986 Cystamine induces toxicity in hepatocytes through the elevation of cytosolic Ca²⁺ and the stimulation of a nonlysosomal proteolytic system. J Biol Chem 261, 14628–14635.
- Nikonenko I., Bancila M., Bloc A., Muller D., and Bijlenga P. 2005 Inhibition of T-type calcium channels protects neurons from delayed ischemia-induced damage. Mol Pharmacol 68, 84–89.
- Olney J.W. 1969 Glutamate-induced retinal degeneration in neonatal mice: electron microscopy of the acutely evolving lesion. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 28, 455–474.
- Olney J.W., and Ho O.L. 1970 Brain damage in infant mice following oral intake of glutamate, aspartate or cysteine. Nature 227, 60–611.
- Orrenius S., and Nicotera P. 1994 The calcium ion and cell death. J Neural Transm Suppl 43, 1-11.
- Orrenius S., McConkey D.J., and Nicotera P. 1991 Role of calcium in toxic and programmed cell death. Adv Exp Med Biol 283, 419–425.
- Orrenius S., Zhivotovsky B., and Nicotera P. 2003 Regulation of cell death: the calcium-apoptosis link. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4, 552–565.

- Pahl H.L., and Baeuerle P.A. 1997 The ER-overload response: activation of NF-kappa B. Trends Biochem Sci 22, 63–67.
- Pan Z., Damron D., Nieminen A.L., Bhat M.B., and Ma J. 2000 Depletion of intracellular Ca²⁺ by caffeine and ryanodine induces apoptosis of chinese hamster ovary cells transfected with ryanodine receptor. J Biol Chem 275, 19978–19984.

Parekh A.B., and Putney J.W., Jr. 2005 Store-operated calcium channels. Physiol Rev 85, 757–810.

- Park M.K., Petersen O.H., and Tepikin A.V. 2000 The endoplasmic reticulum as one continuous Ca²⁺ pool: visualization of rapid Ca²⁺ movements and equilibration. Embo J 19, 5729–5739.
- Paschen W. 2003 Endoplasmic reticulum: a primary target in various acute disorders and degenerative diseases of the brain. Cell Calcium 34, 365–383.
- Paschen W., and Mengesdorf T. 2005 Endoplasmic reticulum stress response and neurodegeneration. Cell Calcium 38, 409–415.
- Patil C., and Walter P. 2001 Intracellular signaling from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus: the unfolded protein response in yeast and mammals. Curr Opin Cell Biol 13, 349–355.
- Pedersen S.F., Owsianik G., and Nilius B. 2005 TRP channels: an overview. Cell Calcium 38, 233-252.
- Petersen O.H., Petersen C.C., and Kasai H. 1994 Calcium and hormone action. Annu Rev Physiol 56, 297–319.
- Petersen O.H., Tepikin A., and Park M.K. 2001 The endoplasmic reticulum: one continuous or several separate Ca²⁺ stores? Trends Neurosci 24, 271–276.
- Petersen O.H., Michalak M., and Verkhratsky A. 2005 Calcium signalling: Past, present and future. Cell Calcium 38, 161 –169.
- Riccardi D. 2004 The role of extracellular calcium in the regulation of intracellular calcium and cell function (II). Some answers and more questions. Cell Calcium 35, 179–181.
- Ringer S. 1883a The influence of saline media on fishes. J Physiol Lond 4, vi-viii.
- Ringer S. 1883b A further contribution regardoing the influence of different constituents of the blood on the contractions of the heart. J Physiol Lond 4, 29–43.
- Ringer S. 1886 Further experiments regarding the influence of small quantities of lime, potassium and other salts on muscular tissue. J Physiol Lond 7, 291–308.
- Ringer S. 1890 Concernng experiments to test the influence of lime, sodium and potassium salts on the development of ova and growth of tadpoles. J Physiol Lond 11, 79–84.
- Ringer S., and Sainsbury H. 1894 The action of potassium, sodium and calcium salts on Tubifex rivulorum. J Physiol Lond 16, 1–9.
- Rizzuto R., and Pozzan T. 2006 Microdomains of intracellular Ca²⁺: molecular determinants and functional consequences. Physiol Rev 86, 369–408.
- Rizzuto R., Duchen M.R., and Pozzan T. 2004 Flirting in little space: the ER/mitochondria Ca²⁺ liaison. Sci STKE 2004, re1.
- Shi Y.F., Sahai B.M., and Green D.R. 1989 Cyclosporin A inhibits activation-induced cell death in T-cell hybridomas and thymocytes. Nature 339, 625–626.
- Siesjo B.K. 1989 Calcium and cell death. Magnesium 8, 223-237.
- Soboloff J., Spassova M.A., Tang X.D., Hewavitharana T., Xu W., and Gill D.L. 2006 Orai1 and STIM reconstitute store-operated calcium channel function. J Biol Chem 281, 20661–20665.
- Solovyova N., and Verkhratsky A. 2003 Neuronal endoplasmic reticulum acts as a single functional Ca^{2+} store shared by ryanodine and inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors as revealed by intra-ER $[Ca^{2+}]$ recordings in single rat sensory neurones. Pflugers Arch 446, 447–454.
- Sorin A., Rosas G., and Rao R. 1997 PMR1, a Ca²⁺-ATPase in yeast Golgi, has properties distinct from sarco/endoplasmic reticulum and plasma membrane calcium pumps. J Biol Chem 272, 9895–9901.
- Sperlagh B., Vizi E.S., Wirkner K., and Illes P. 2006 P2X7 receptors in the nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 78, 327–346.
- Sugawara H., Kurosaki M., Takata M., and Kurosaki T. 1997 Genetic evidence for involvement of type 1, type 2 and type 3 inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors in signal transduction through the B-cell antigen receptor. Embo J 16, 3078–3088.
- Toescu E.C., Verkhratsky A., and Landfield P.W. 2004 Ca²⁺ regulation and gene expression in normal brain aging. Trends Neurosci 27, 614–620.

- Tu H., Nelson O., Bezprozvanny A., Wang Z., Lee S.F., Hao Y.H., Serneels L., De Strooper B., Yu G., and Bezprozvanny I. 2006 Presenilins Form ER Ca²⁺ Leak Channels, a Function Disrupted by Familial Alzheimer's Disease-Linked Mutations. Cell 126, 981–993.
- Vanden Abeele F., Bidaux G., Gordienko D., Beck B., Panchin Y.V., Baranova A.V., Ivanov D.V., Skryma R., and Prevarskaya N. 2006 Functional implications of calcium permeability of the channel formed by pannexin 1. J Cell Biol 174, 535–546.
- Vangheluwe P., Raeymaekers L., Dode L., and Wuytack F. 2005 Modulating sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ ATPase 2 (SERCA2) activity: cell biological implications. Cell Calcium 38, 291–302.
- Verkhratsky A. 2005 Physiology and pathophysiology of the calcium store in the endoplasmic reticulum of neurons. Physiol Rev 85, 201–279.
- Wang H.G., Pathan N., Ethell I.M., Krajewski S., Yamaguchi Y., Shibasaki F., McKeon F., Bobo T., Franke T.F., and Reed J.C. 1999 Ca²⁺-induced apoptosis through calcineurin dephosphorylation of BAD. Science 284, 339–343.
- Waring P. 2005 Redox active calcium ion channels and cell death. Arch Biochem Biophys 434, 33-42.
- Wuytack F., Raeymaekers L., and Missiaen L. 2002 Molecular physiology of the SERCA and SPCA pumps. Cell Calcium 32, 279–305.
- Wyllie A. 1998 Apoptosis. An endonuclease at last. Nature 391, 20-21.
- Wyllie A.H. 1980 Glucocorticoid-induced thymocyte apoptosis is associated with endogenous endonuclease activation. Nature 284, 555–556.
- Yoon J., Ben-Ami H.C., Hong Y.S., Park S., Strong L.L., Bowman J., Geng C., Baek K., Minke B., and Pak W.L. 2000 Novel mechanism of massive photoreceptor degeneration caused by mutations in the trp gene of Drosophila. J Neurosci 20, 649–659.

CHAPTER 18

CALCIUM AND CELL DEATH: THE MITOCHONDRIAL CONNECTION

P. BERNARDI AND A. RASOLA

Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Padova, Viale Giuseppe Colombo 3, 35121 Padova, Italy

Physiological stimuli causing an increase of cytosolic free Ca^{2+} [Ca^{2+}]_c or the release Abstract: of Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum invariably induce mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake, with a rise of mitochondrial matrix free $[Ca^{2+}]$ ($[Ca^{2+}]_m$). The $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ rise occurs despite the low affinity of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake systems measured in vitro and the often limited amplitude of the cytoplasmic $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ increases. The $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ increase is typically in the 0.2-3 µM range, which allows the activation of Ca2+-regulated enzymes of the Krebs cycle; and it rapidly returns to the resting level if the $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ rise recedes due to activation of mitochondrial efflux mechanisms and matrix Ca²⁺ buffering. Mitochondria thus accumulate Ca²⁺ and efficiently control the spatial and temporal shape of cellular Ca²⁺ signals, yet this situation exposes them to the hazards of Ca²⁺ overload. Indeed, mitochondrial Ca2+, which is so important for metabolic regulation, can become a death factor by inducing opening of the permeability transition pore (PTP), a high conductance inner membrane channel. Persistent PTP opening is followed by depolarization with Ca²⁺ release, cessation of oxidative phosphorylation, matrix swelling with inner membrane remodeling and eventually outer membrane rupture with release of cytochrome c and other apoptogenic proteins. Understanding the mechanisms through which the Ca²⁺ signal can be shifted from a physiological signal into a pathological effector is an unresolved problem of modern pathophysiology that holds great promise for disease treatment

Keywords: Ca²⁺; channel; mitochondria; permeability transition pore; apoptosis

1. INTRODUCTION

Mitochondria play a central role in a variety of biological processes, including ATP synthesis, steroid hormone synthesis, the urea cycle, lipid and amino acid metabolism, and cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis. Ca^{2+} is an essential regulator of vital processes, such as secretion, motility, metabolic control, synaptic plasticity, proliferation, gene expression and apoptosis. Therefore, the location, amplitude,

481

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 481–506. © 2007 Springer.

and kinetics of free Ca²⁺ transients within the cell are tightly controlled. Ca²⁺ enters cells using three channel families: (i) voltage-gated channels; (ii) ligand-operated channels; and (iii) capacitative channels, which are controlled by the filling state of the cellular Ca²⁺ stores; whereas it is extruded by either high-affinity plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase pumps or lower affinity Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchangers (Carafoli, 2004). Eukaryotic cells reduce resting cytosolic free Ca²⁺ concentrations ([Ca²⁺]_c) to below the micromolar level also by storing it into intracellular organelles. These operations generate a 10,000-fold concentration gradient between the extracellular spaces and the cytosol, in which resting free [Ca²⁺] is 100–200 nM.

Cells use a variety of mechanisms to transiently increase Ca²⁺ in the cytosol in response to specific signals (Gunter et al., 2004). The cytosolic concentration of Ca^{2+} may be much higher in discrete microdomains, for instance in the cytosolic regions close to the Ca²⁺ channels and immediately beneath the plasma membrane, and near the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum sites where Ca²⁺ release occurs. Hot spots of high Ca²⁺ concentration in the vicinity of the organelles result in highly efficient mitochondrial Ca²⁺ accumulation (Nicholls and Budd, 2000; Vandecasteele et al., 2001). In intact cells, apposition of mitochondria to the ER is a common finding and involves a significant portion of the mitochondrial surface (Rizzuto et al., 1998). Given their variable distribution, mitochondria actively orchestrate the spatiotemporal profiles of intracellular Ca^{2+} by using a machinery of exquisite precision and complexity. Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ accumulation allows to cope with potentially lethal Ca2+ loads, as the mitochondrial matrix can accumulate large amounts of Ca²⁺ without significantly changing its free matrix concentration due to the coupled accumulation of inorganic phosphate (Pi). In addition, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ satisfies cell energy demands by stimulating ATP production (Hajnoczky et al., 1995). To add a further layer of complexity to Ca²⁺ signalling, all organelles so far studied including nucleus, Golgi, lysosomes, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria, can act as mobilizable Ca²⁺ stores, and many of these appear to interact with each other (Michelangeli et al., 2005).

Physiological stimuli causing an increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ or the release of Ca^{2+} from the ER invariably induce mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake, with a rise of mitochondrial matrix free $[Ca^{2+}]$ ($[Ca^{2+}]_m$) despite the low affinity of the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uptake systems measured *in vitro* and the often limited amplitude of the measured cytoplasmic $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ increases (Duchen, 1999). The $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ increase is typically in the 0.2–3 μ M range, which allows the activation of Ca^{2+} -regulated enzymes of the Krebs cycle (Hajnoczky et al., 1995); and the $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ transient rapidly returns to the resting level if the $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ rise recedes. Indeed, the mitochondrial efflux mechanisms and the matrix Ca^{2+} buffering activity keep $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ relatively stable, allowing mitochondria to accumulate Ca^{2+} and to efficiently control the spatial and temporal shape of global cellular Ca^{2+} signals (Brini, 2003; Szabadkai et al., 2006). On the other hand this situation exposes mitochondria to the hazards of Ca^{2+} overload. Mitochondrial Ca²⁺, which is so important for metabolic regulation, can indeed become a death factor through induction of the permeability transition (PT). The PT is a permeability increase of the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) to ions and solutes mediated by the PT pore (PTP), a voltage-dependent, highconductance channel that requires a permissive load of matrix Ca²⁺ for opening. Persistent PTP opening is followed by depolarization with Ca²⁺ release, cessation of oxidative phosphorylation, matrix swelling with IMM remodeling and eventually outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) rupture with release of cytochrome *c* (cyt *c*) and other apoptogenic proteins (Bernardi, 1999; Crompton, 1999; Bernardi et al., 2001; Halestrap et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2003a; Bernardi et al., 2006). The early consequences of PTP-dependent mitochondrial dysfunction are easily appreciated in contractile tissues such as the heart where the combination of elevated cytosolic [Ca²⁺] and decreased ATP levels prevent muscle relaxation with hypercontracture, sarcolemmal damage and myocyte death (Di Lisa and Bernardi, 2006).

Understanding the mechanisms through which Ca^{2+} can be shifted from a physiological signal into a pathological effector is one of the most fascinating problems in modern pathophysiology. Here we will focus on the role of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} homeostasis in this process with some emphasis on the PTP. The reader is referred to previous reviews (Gunter et al., 1994; Pozzan et al., 1994; Rizzuto et al., 1998; Bernardi, 1999; Duchen, 1999; Crompton, 1999; Nicholls and Budd, 2000; Rizzuto et al., 2000; Bernardi et al., 2001; Vandecasteele et al., 2001; Halestrap et al., 2002; Orrenius et al., 2003; Brini, 2003; Kim et al., 2003; Gunter et al., 2004; Carafoli, 2004; Michelangeli et al., 2005; Bernardi et al., 2006; Di Lisa and Bernardi, 2006; Szabadkai et al., 2006) and to other articles in this issue for an exhaustive coverage of the multiple facets of mitochondrial and cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis.

2. MITOCHONDRIAL Ca²⁺ UPTAKE

In energized mitochondria, electrophoretic Ca^{2+} uptake across the IMM is mediated by the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} uniporter (MCU) and/or the rapid uptake mode (RaM) (Gunter et al., 2004). In addition, the OMM voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) may regulate Ca^{2+} access to the mitochondrial intermembrane space (Gincel et al., 2001) and thus contribute to the control of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} fluxes.

(i) The MCU transports Ca^{2+} and Sr^{2+} but not Mg^{2+} . It is inhibited by ruthenium red (RR) and it is activated by external Ca^{2+} itself, and it undergoes deactivation upon removal of extramitochondrial Ca^{2+} (Kröner, 1986). *In vitro* at least, activation/deactivation of the uniporter are slow processes, requiring the order of 1 min to be achieved, and the rate of Ca^{2+} uptake via the uniporter is zero at $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ less than about 200 to 300 nM. Thus, at low $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ the activity of the uniporter could be extremely low (Gunter and Pfeiffer, 1990), due also to inhibition by adenine nucleotides (ATP> ADP>AMP) (Litsky and Pfeiffer, 1997). The activity of the uniporter could be affected by (de)phosphorylation, as suggested by the stimulation observed after treatment with the p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase inhibitor SB202190 (Montero et al., 2002). Single channel recording from mitoplasts (organelles where the outer membrane has been largely removed) identified a highly selective Ca^{2+} channel exhibiting a complex gating mechanism with multiple sub-conductance states, which has ion-conductive properties identical to those of the MCU studied in intact mitochondria (Kirichok et al., 2004).

(ii) RaM is a transport mechanism that might contribute to mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake from $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ transients *in vivo*. It was observed that Ca^{2+} uptake is more efficient when energized mitochondria are exposed to trains of Ca^{2+} pulses of about 400 nM rather than to an identical steady Ca^{2+} concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_{a}$) for the same overall time (Sparagna et al., 1995). In vitro at least, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake via the RaM is faster than via the MCU and RaM inhibition is also very rapid. It is blocked by $[Ca^{2+}]_0$ above 100–150 nM, while no uptake takes place via the RaM at a steady state [Ca²⁺]_o above 180-200 nM, suggesting that RaM is inactivated by the drop of $[Ca^{2+}]_0$ below 100–150 nM. Hence, as RaM-mediated uptake depends more on the frequency of the signal than on its amplitude, mitochondria may store Ca²⁺ via the RaM in a frequency-modulated fashion (Sparagna et al., 1995). Uptake via the RaM is inhibited by uncouplers, suggesting that it is driven by the Ca^{2+} electrochemical gradient as is the case for the MCU (Gunter et al., 2000). It was suggested that the very rapid Ca^{2+} uptake via the RaM may function in a non equilibrium manner to produce high, transient $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ even when total Ca^{2+} is low, allowing the storage of enough matrix Ca^{2+} to activate metabolism (Gunter et al., 2000; Buntinas et al., 2001). Therefore, rapid mitochondrial sequestration of Ca²⁺ from physiological transients might stimulate ADP phosphorylation to allow matching of energy production with energy use. Notably, increased $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ enhances both the rate of F_0F_1 ATP synthase activity and the rate of ATP hydrolysis (Territo et al., 2000).

As Ca²⁺ sequestered into the matrix by both the MCU and the RaM is capable of modulating the shape and amplitude of cytosolic Ca²⁺ transients (Gunter and Gunter, 2001) and to rapidly increase rate of NADH production (Hajnoczky et al., 1995), oxygen use (Territo et al., 2000; Territo et al., 2001) and ATP levels (Jouaville et al., 1999), the question arises of why different modes for Ca^{2+} uptake have evolved. Different hypotheses have been proposed to explain the connection between mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake and regulation of ATP production. The uniporter hypothesis postulates that the MCU sequesters enough Ca²⁺ because mitochondria are located in hotspots close to the release sites for Ca2+ of ER or plasma membrane (Rizzuto et al., 2000). Only when [Ca²⁺] increases in a small region near the mitochondria, the MCU is markedly activated. Conversely, when Ca²⁺ transients are averaged across the cell around the micromolar level, the uniporter alone is usually insufficient to sequester enough Ca²⁺ for the activation mitochondrial metabolism (Gunter et al., 1998). The RaM hypothesis holds that the RaM and the MCU both sequester the Ca²⁺ necessary to stimulate ATP production, but the latter would prevail when cytosolic Ca²⁺ pulses are longer-lasting (Sparagna et al., 1995). In a third model it was proposed that influx via the RaM creates a short period of high $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ before equilibration in the matrix, and that this high $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ transients would suffice to stimulate mitochondrial metabolism (Buntinas et al., 2001); under slower accumulation conditions, the total amount of Ca^{2+} required would be much higher. Remarkably, in the hotspot theory mitochondria close to the Ca^{2+} release sites could receive dangerous amounts of Ca^{2+} that may lead to induction of the PT. It is possible that inactivation of both MCU and RaM protects mitochondria against unnecessary Ca^{2+} uptake in these cases (Gunter and Pfeiffer, 1990; Sparagna et al., 1995; Buntinas et al., 2001). However, the MCU could have a primary role in PT induction because the amount of RaM-mediated uptake per Ca^{2+} pulse is limited. Moreover, the MCU only sequesters Ca^{2+} when $[Ca^{2+}]_o$ rises above about 200–300 nM. Altogether, both the MCU and the RaM are probably involved in the response to physiological Ca^{2+} transients or pulses, with the uniporter playing a greater role as the duration of the transients increases (Gunter and Gunter, 2001).

Given that cytosolic free $[Ca^{2+}]$ ($[Ca^{2+}]_c$) in most cell types is about 100 nM (Pozzan et al., 1994), and that the IMM potential ($\Delta \Psi_m$) is of the order of 180 mV (negative inside), equilibrium $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ should be at least 0.1M (Azzone et al., 1977) whereas most measurement indicate a basal $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ level in the sub- to micromolar range (Wan et al., 1989; McCormack et al., 1989). Displacement from equilibrium is due to the fact that Ca^{2+} distribution is modulated by kinetic rather than thermodynamic parameters (Azzone et al., 1977), and that Ca^{2+} uptake is matched by Ca^{2+} efflux via distinct pathways.

3. MITOCHONDRIAL Ca²⁺ EFFLUX

Respiring, coupled mitochondria (which maintain a high transmembrane potential) release Ca^{2+} through two pathways that can be studied in isolated mitochondria after the addition of RR to block Ca^{2+} reuptake.

(i) Na⁺-independent Ca²⁺ efflux. Respiring mitochondria in vitro maintain a steady-state extramitochondrial free $[Ca^{2+}]$ at a constant value of 0.25–1.0 μ M. If RR is added to block the MCU and RaM, a process of Ca²⁺ efflux ensues suggesting that a RR-insensitive Ca²⁺ efflux (coupled to MCU-mediated reuptake) was also occurring prior to the addition of RR (Vasington et al., 1972). The interpretation of many studies of RR-insensitive Ca^{2+} efflux from mitochondria is complicated by the often unrecognized contribution of the PT. Indeed, a small fraction of mitochondria may undergo reversible opening of the PTP. In the steady state, Ca²⁺ released from this permeabilized fraction would be taken up by polarized mitochondria. Addition of RR would prevent the reuptake process resulting in what appears to be net Ca²⁺ efflux from the whole mitochondrial population, while release is occurring from the subset of permeabilized mitochondria (Riley and Pfeiffer, 1985). The properties of the Na⁺-independent pathway for Ca²⁺ efflux in rat liver mitochondria have therefore been reassessed under conditions where occurrence of the PT could be excluded. These important experiments established that this pathway saturates at Ca²⁺ loads of 25 nmol x mg protein⁻¹; that its V_{max} does not exceed a rate of 1.2 nmol Ca²⁺ x mg protein⁻¹ x min⁻¹ and is not affected by the concentration of Pi; and that this system releases Ca²⁺ against a gradient that is much higher than thermodynamically permissible to an electroneutral H⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger (Wingrove and Gunter, 1986a). Thus, either Ca²⁺ efflux occurs via a nH⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger with n>2, or it has an active component as also suggested by the finding that steady state Ca²⁺ efflux is inhibited rather than stimulated by small depolarizations (Bernardi and Azzone, 1983).

(ii) Na^+ -dependent Ca^{2+} efflux. After the addition of RR, the rate of Ca^{2+} efflux can be substantially stimulated by the addition of Na⁺, which is evidence that mitochondria possess a Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger mediating physiological Ca²⁺ cycling (Crompton et al., 1976; Crompton et al., 1978). Its V_{max} ranges between 2.6 nmol Ca²⁺ x mg protein⁻¹ x min⁻¹ in the liver and 18 nmol Ca²⁺ x mg protein⁻¹ x min⁻¹ in the heart. The dependence on Na⁺ is sigmoidal, with typical K_m values of about 8–10 mM Na⁺. Ca²⁺ efflux is inhibited by Sr²⁺, Ba²⁺, Mg^{2+} or Mn^{2+} , by RR above 5 nmol x mg protein⁻¹, by submicromolar concentrations of the membrane potential probe triphenylmethylphosphonium, and by a variety of compounds of pharmacological interest such as amiloride, trifluoperazine, diltiazem, verapamil, clonazepam, bepridil and CGP37157, while it is stimulated by short-chain alcohols (Wingrove and Gunter, 1986b; Cox et al., 1993). It is modulated by matrix pH (optimum at pH 7.6) and by in vivo treatment with glucagon and β-adrenergic agonists (Goldstone et al., 1983). Ca²⁺ efflux is inhibited by antimycin A and protonophores, indicating that the transmembrane potential stimulates the exchange (Crompton et al., 1976). This is consistent with studies indicating that the likely stoichiometry is 3Na⁺:Ca²⁺ (Wingrove and Gunter, 1986b; Jung et al., 1995).

4. CONTROL OF MATRIX Ca²⁺ THROUGH REGULATION OF Ca²⁺ FLUXES

As discussed above, the rise of $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ following stimulation is rapidly followed by a return to baseline levels. The $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ decrease could depend on a decreased activity of the Ca²⁺ uptake systems, on an increased activity of the Ca²⁺ efflux systems, or both (Nicholls and Crompton, 1980). The consequences are however quite different depending on whether the former or the latter mechanism prevails. If net efflux results from stimulation of the efflux pathways, the increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_o$ will also increase the rate of uptake through the MCU with increased rate of Ca²⁺ cycling and therefore energy drain. This can be experimentally observed by adding electroneutral H⁺-Ca²⁺ ionophores to respiring mitochondria that have accumulated Ca²⁺, a condition where all the respiratory capacity is diverted into Ca²⁺ cycling (Heaton and Nicholls, 1976; Bernardi and Pietrobon, 1982). Thus, as long as the membrane potential is high, net Ca²⁺ efflux through stimulation of the efflux pathways bas a very high energetic cost. The low V_{max} and saturation of the efflux pathways by $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ are probably designed to pose a limit to the energy that can be spent in regulation of $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ and $[Ca^{2+}]_o$ through "Ca²⁺ cycling". On the other hand this situation exposes mitochondria to the risks of Ca²⁺ overload, which could be prevented by Ca²⁺ release through transient openings (flickering) of the PTP (Bernardi and Petronilli, 1996) as we discuss in the following paragraph.

5. POTENTIAL ROLE OF THE PTP IN THE REGULATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL Ca²⁺ HOMEOSTASIS

If there is a $[Ca^{2+}]$ concentration gradient between the matrix and the external medium (or the cytosol), opening of the PTP will lead to Ca^{2+} release. The possibility that the PT might serve as a mitochondrial Ca²⁺ release channel has been discussed in the field (Bernardi and Petronilli, 1996) but it has also been criticized based on the lack of channel selectivity. Emergence of channels with different ion selectivity has been an evolutionary process, which is reflected by the high degree of homology among the main channel subfamilies. For example, both the voltage-gated and the cyclic nucleotide-gated K⁺ channels have evolved from an ancestral channel, followed by further evolution into the more complex voltage-gated Ca²⁺ and Na⁺ channels by small mutations coupled to gene duplication events. Yet, only the existence of Ca^{2+} and Na⁺ gradients across the plasma membrane conferred an evolutionary advantage to the independent emergence of different ion selectivities. As already noted elsewhere, PTP opening could lead to selective Ca²⁺ release without major consequences on K⁺ and Na⁺ homeostasis because no K⁺ and Na⁺ concentration gradients are maintained across the IMM and therefore no evolutionary pressure may have existed for the development of cation selectivity (Bernardi, 1999). A similar function could be performed by the ryanodine receptor (RyR) isoform 1, which was found to localize to the IMM in excitable cells (Beutner et al., 2001).

Another important point is that Ca^{2+} efflux down its concentration gradient via a selective channel (like the MCU; this could occur if mitochondria depolarize) is opposed by the buildup of a Ca^{2+} diffusion potential (Åkerman, 1978). According to the Nernst equation, the magnitude of the Ca^{2+} diffusion potential is -30 mV per log of the Ca^{2+} concentration difference. The magnitude of the Ca^{2+} diffusion potential can be decreased (leading in turn to an increased rate of Ca^{2+} efflux) by charge-compensating currents, but given the very low IMM permeability to charged species the basal rate of Ca^{2+} efflux through the MCU would be extremely low. The PTP lack of selectivity and its large size would provide charge compensation within the channel itself, thus allowing maximal Ca^{2+} flux (*i.e.*, at zero potential). This would in turn allow fast Ca^{2+} release even for small [Ca^{2+}] gradients; and regulation of the Ca^{2+} efflux rate could be achieved through modulation of the pore open time (Bernardi and Petronilli, 1996; Bernardi, 1999).

We would like to stress that transient PTP openings, which could correspond to lower conductance states of the pore (Ichas and Mazat, 1998), have been documented in isolated mitochondria (Hüser et al., 1998; Hüser and Blatter, 1999), at the single channel level as conductance "flickerings" (Kinnally et al., 1989; Petronilli et al., 1989; Szabó and Zoratti, 1991) and in intact cells (Petronilli et al., 1999). Transient openings are not associated with irreversible mitochondrial alterations, and PTP flickering could be responsible for the spontaneous transient depolarizations ranging from <10 mV to >100 mV measured in individual mitochondria *in situ* (O'Reilly et al., 2003). This mode of PTP operation could also mediate the CsA-sensitive cristae remodeling that follows apoptotic stimulation and may precede overt swelling (Scorrano et al., 2002). In our view, a rigorous testing of the hypothesis that pore flickering takes part in regulation of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ release under physiological conditions awaits the identification of PTP blockers or of PTP inactivation by genetic means. Indeed, CsA does not block the PTP, but rather desensitizes it with an inhibitory effect that can be overcome by increasing the Ca²⁺ and Pi load (Bernardi et al., 1992).

6. PTP REGULATION BY Ca²⁺

Several pore regulators may modify (directly or indirectly) the PTP sensitivity to Ca^{2+} . OMM VDAC is modulated by Ca^{2+} , and this could in turn affect the amount of Ca^{2+} delivered to the matrix via the MCU and RaM (Gincel et al., 2001) irrespective of whether VDAC takes directly part in PTP formation (Krauskopf et al., 2006). Cyclophilin D (CyP-D, the mitochondrial ligand for CsA) appears to be involved in the modulation of PTP affinity for Ca^{2+} since (i) Ca^{2+} displaces CsA from high-affinity binding sites in rat liver mitochondria (McGuinness et al., 1990); (ii) higher concentrations of CsA are required to inhibit spreading of the PTP to a population of mitochondria when the Ca^{2+} load is increased (Bernardi et al., 1992); and (iii) ablation of CyP-D doubles the threshold Ca^{2+} load required to open the PTP in the presence of Pi (Baines et al., 2005; Nakagawa et al., 2005; Basso et al., 2005; Schinzel et al., 2005). Finally, the PTP of adenosine nucleotide translocator (ANT)-null mitochondria requires three-fold higher levels of Ca^{2+} for activation when compared to control mitochondria (Kokoszka et al., 2004).

Matrix Ca^{2+} acts as a permissive factor for PTP induction, apparently for all pore inducers. We have reported that phenylarsine oxide induces PTP opening in the absence of added Ca^{2+} (Lenartowicz et al., 1991; Bernardi, 1992), yet depletion of endogenous Ca^{2+} abolishes the inducing effects of phenylarsine oxide (P. Bernardi, unpublished observations). The PTP dependence on matrix Ca^{2+} represents somewhat of a paradox, however, because there is no obvious correlation between $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ and onset of the PT. Indeed, decreasing Pi from 5 mM to 2 mM increased the apparent threshold for PTP opening from 1.8 μ M to 5.0 μ M free $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ in rat brain mitrochondria (Chalmers and Nicholls, 2003). Based on these results, we suspect that the PTP Ca^{2+} -binding sites saturate at very low matrix free $[Ca^{2+}]$ and that it is unlikely that PTP opening may be caused by Ca^{2+} overload as such. We consider more likely that the uptake of substantial amounts of Ca^{2+} causes further modifications that independently sensitize the PTP to opening, like

the matching changes of matrix H^+ and Pi concentration (Bernardi, 1992; Chalmers and Nicholls, 2003), the generation of lipid mediators (Scorrano et al., 1999; Kristal and Brown, 1999; Garcia-Ruiz et al., 2002; Penzo et al., 2004; Gadd et al., 2006) and of reactive oxygen species (Kowaltowski et al., 1998; Colell et al., 2004), as well as additional factors whose effect may be mediated by (de)phosphorylation reactions (Juhaszova et al., 2004).

7. THE STATUS OF MATRIX Ca^{2+}

Already 40 years ago it was observed that mitochondria (particularly those isolated from muscle) display an enormous capacity to accumulate Ca²⁺ (up to 1 micromole x mg protein⁻¹, which corresponds to a total matrix concentration of about 1 M) (Rossi and Lehninger, 1964; Lehninger et al., 1967; Lehninger, 1974). This is made possible by the simultaneous accumulation of Pi, which precipitates with Ca²⁺ in the alkaline ambient of the matrix in the form of deposits in which, quite remarkably, calcium does not become crystalline but remains indefinitely amorphous thus facilitating its discharge (Carafoli et al., 2001; Carafoli, 2004). When $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ is maintained below a certain set point there is too little matrix Ca^{2+} accumulation to form the calcium-phospate complexes, and $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ varies with $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ allowing for the Ca²⁺-dependent control of matrix metabolism. When $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ rises above the set-point, mitochondria accumulate Ca^{2+} and Pi, the calciumphosphate complexes form in the matrix and $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ becomes invariant with matrix Ca²⁺ load (Nicholls and Chalmers, 2004). A major conundrum is that calciumphosphate complexes are extremely difficult to redissolve in vitro, whereas the addition of a protonophore to Ca²⁺-loaded mitochondria leads to an extremely rapid efflux of Ca^{2+} via the PTP (Igbavboa and Pfeiffer, 1988; Petronilli et al., 1993). Thus, the calcium-phosphate complex that forms within the matrix is rapidly dissociable. The structure of the matrix calcium-phosphate complex might be either hydroxyapatite $[Ca_5(PO4)_3OH]$ or tricalcium phosphate $[Ca_3(PO4)_3]$. Probably matrix pH plays a key role in controlling the stability of these complexes. The Pi carrier transports H₂PO4⁻ in exchange for OH⁻, which is thermodynamically equivalent to the electroneutral transport of H₃PO₄. Because dissociation of three protons is required to form PO_4^{3-} , at constant extramitochondrial Pi the concentration of this species is inversely proportional to the cube of the proton concentration in the matrix (Chalmers and Nicholls, 2003). The uniport activity increases as the 2.5 power of $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ (Zoccarato and Nicholls, 1982). Because the concentration of PO_4^{3-} increases with pH, an increase in matrix pH from 7 to 8 would increase the matrix PO_4^{3-} concentration by 1000-fold. In this model, protonophore addition leads to a drastic acidification of the matrix, increasing [Ca²⁺]_m 100-fold (Nicholls and Chalmers, 2004; Nicholls, 2005). Importantly, this mitochondrial Ca²⁺ buffer system only activates when $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ rises above 0.5 μ M, whereas basal $[Ca^{2+}]_{c}$ is about 0.1 μ M. This difference protects from an otherwise inexorable loading of the matrix with Ca²⁺, which could rapidly lead to cell death.

8. THE PT AS AN EFFECTOR MECHANISM OF CELL DEATH

As previously mentioned, the mitochondrial PT can be defined as a sudden increase of IMM permeability to solutes with molecular masses up to 1500 Da, and is due to the opening of a voltage- and Ca²⁺-dependent, cyclosporin A (CsA)-sensitive, high-conductance channel (Bernardi, 1999; Crompton, 1999; Bernardi et al., 2006). Following prolonged PTP opening, equilibration across the IMM of ions and of solutes with molecular masses below the pore size induces massive release of the Ca²⁺ stored in the matrix and extensive swelling of mitochondria, given the colloidosmotic pressure exerted by matrix proteins. As a consequence, the unrestricted cristae unfolding causes breaches in the OMM and release of intermembrane proteins including cyt *c* (Petronilli et al., 1994) and other proapoptotic factors like apoptosis inducing factor (Susin et al., 1996), Smac-Diablo (Du et al., 2000; Ekert et al., 2000), Omi/HtrA2 (Hegde et al., 2001) and endonuclease G (Li et al., 2001).

PTP opening has major consequences on energy conservation. The initial uncoupling would be followed by inhibition of respiration due to the release of pyridine nucleotides (Vinogradov et al., 1972; Di Lisa et al., 2001), and cessation of mitochondrial ATP synthesis would be matched by hydrolysis of glycolytic ATP by the F_0F_1 ATPase working "in reverse" because of the collapse of the proton gradient. The combination of the bioenergetic deficit, altered Ca²⁺ homeostasis and release of apoptogenic proteins easily explains why prolonged PTP opening has detrimental and potentially lethal consequences on cell viability (Bernardi et al., 2006).

For individual mitochondria the PT is an all-or-nothing phenomenon. *In situ*, however, a subpopulation of mitochondria may have a lower threshold for opening and therefore open the PTP first. In this scenario there may be enough release of cyt c and other proapoptotic factors from these permeabilized mitochondria to activate apoptosis; and enough ATP production by the subpopulation of mitochondria that has not undergone the PT to support the energy requirements of apoptosis signalling. At later stages, Ca²⁺ or other diffusible signals released by the permeabilized mitochondria might propagate a wave of PTP openings, eventually culminating in permeabilization of the whole mitochondrial population (Ichas et al., 1997; Pacher and Hajnoczky, 2001) and possibly to a switch of the mode of cell death to necrosis due to the concomitant worsening of ATP depletion (Ankarcrona et al., 1995).

9. ROLE OF BCL-2 FAMILY PROTEINS IN PTP REGULATION AND MITOCHONDRIAL Ca²⁺ LOADING

It is generally accepted that Bcl-2 family proteins localize to the OMM where they act as "gatekeepers" of the permeability to cyt c, with Bcl-2 inhibiting the formation of the permeation channels by Bax and/or Bak multimers (Antonsson et al., 2000; Scorrano and Korsmeyer, 2003). The anti-apoptotic effects of Bcl-2 (and Bcl-X_L) have been originally interpreted as the result of direct PTP modulation at the OMM. The first indication that the PT could be modulated by Bcl-2 family

proteins was obtained in 1996 by Kroemer and collaborators, who found that PTP opening by specific stimuli was inhibited by Bcl-2 with matching inhibition of the release of AIF (Susin et al., 1996). In addition, Bcl-2/X_L were proposed to interact with VDAC, within the framework of a model where the PTP forms at contact sites through the interaction of ANT with VDAC (Susin et al., 1996; Zamzami and Kroemer, 2001). Although genetic evidence questions the role of ANT (Susin et al., 1996) and VDAC1 (Krauskopf et al., 2006) in PTP formation, the idea that Bcl-2 directly modulates the pore has recently been reinforced by the finding that a set of chemically unrelated Bcl-2 ligands facilitates the PT in isolated mitochondria (Milanesi et al., 2006).

When evaluated in a cellular context, however, it is clear that Bcl-2 family members can also influence the PTP indirectly by modulating the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ load through an effect exerted on ER Ca²⁺ homeostasis. The ER is a multifunctional signaling organelle that controls a wide range of cellular processes and acts as the main cellular Ca2+ store. Ca2+ homeostasis in the ER is complex, and it is regulated by ryanodine and InsP3 receptors, SERCA pumps and luminal Ca²⁺-binding proteins, including calreticulin, GRP78 and GRP94 (Berridge et al., 2003). Certain stimuli induce apoptosis by promoting matrix uploading following release of Ca²⁺ from ER stores. In this context interorganelle Ca²⁺ movements appear to be regulated by Bcl-2 family proteins, and the PTP could integrate different Ca²⁺ signals switching their output towards death or survival (Ferrari et al., 2002; Pinton et al., 2002; Scorrano et al., 2003; Scorrano and Korsmeyer, 2003; Demaurex and Distelhorst, 2003; Annis et al., 2004). Waves of mitochondrial depolarization and Ca^{2+} release might also propagate through the cell, resulting in cyt c release and apoptosis (Pacher and Hajnoczky, 2001). Travelling mitochondrial waves are prevented by anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members, perhaps by reducing the transfer of Ca^{2+} from the ER to mitochondria, and are likely to involve PT activation since they can be blocked by CsA (Pacher and Hajnoczky, 2001). Wave propagation is promoted by pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family, which sensitize the PT to Ca^{2+} and therefore promote mitochondrial Ca²⁺ release (Pacher and Hajnoczky, 2001; Csordas et al., 2002; Forte and Bernardi, 2005).

Indeed, Bcl-2 family members are localized both in mitochondria and in the ER, and contribute to the modulation of intracellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis with important implications for the death/survival equilibrium. Several reports indicate that Bcl-2 inhibits Ca^{2+} release from the ER and preserves ER luminal Ca^{2+} , whereas other studies suggest that Bcl-2 increases the leakage of Ca^{2+} across the ER membrane, thereby reducing luminal Ca^{2+} . Consistent with the first model, it was found that disruption of intracellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis by the SERCA inhibitor thapsigargin induces apoptosis, which is inhibited by Bcl-2 overexpression (Lam et al., 1994; Pan et al., 2000). Following the second model, Bcl-2 overexpression would decrease the ER [Ca^{2+}] pool (Foyouzi-Youssefi et al., 2000; Pinton et al., 2000; Vanden Abeele et al., 2002), thus protecting cells from apoptosis by limiting the amount of Ca^{2+} released into the cytoplasm and its subsequent uptake into the mitochondria

(Ferrari et al., 2002). Overexpression of Bcl-X_L has also been reported (i) to decrease apoptosis through decreased expression of IP3 receptors and the matching decrease of IP3-dependent Ca²⁺signalling (Li et al., 2002), and (ii) to favor the opening of VDAC (Vander Heiden et al., 2001) which may in turn affect mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake (Gincel et al., 2001; Rapizzi et al., 2002). These conflicting findings may be due to the study of overexpressed rather than endogenous Bcl-2, which may in turn lead to substantial differences in its expression levels and subcellular localization (Distelhorst and Shore, 2004).

Whatever the model, there is general agreement that Bcl-2 family proteins are involved in ER-to-mitochondria communication to modulate both cell survival and death. The BH3-only proteins Bax, Bak, Bik and tBid can induce apoptosis from the ER (Germain et al., 2002; Mathai et al., 2002; Nutt et al., 2002a; Scorrano et al., 2003; Zong et al., 2003). Bax- or Bak-overexpression prompts an early increase in mitochondrial Ca^{2+} , whose inhibition abrogates Bax/Bak-induced apoptosis (Nutt et al., 2002a; Nutt et al., 2002b). The picture is made more complex by the observations that Bik integrates in the ER membrane, facing the cytosolic side, and stimulates ER Ca^{2+} depletion in a Bax-Bak dependent manner (Mathai et al., 2005; Walter and Hajnoczky, 2005); and that tBid also propagates the IP3-induced Ca^{2+} signal to mitochondria (Csordas et al., 2002).

In summary, the regulation of steady state ER $[Ca^{2+}]$ by pro- and anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins is an important mechanism underlying the sensitivity of cells to apoptosis, possibly through the matching changes of mitochondrial $[Ca^{2+}]$ that affect PTP opening. The resulting modulation of Ca^{2+} release from the ER and Ca^{2+} uptake into mitochondria in turn is pivotal in regulating the cell death/survival balance (Scorrano and Korsmeyer, 2003; Szabadkai and Rizzuto, 2004).

10. THE PTP IN PATHOLOGY

Mitochondria are involved in many human pathologies. These do not include only primary mitochondrial diseases (Di Mauro, 2004), but also conditions where mitochondria play a key role in disease onset, often through derangement of Ca^{2+} homeostasis and abnormal PT induction (Bernardi et al., 2006). PTP involvement in cell death was initially established in a series of seminal studies published in the early 1990s in hepatocytes subjected to oxidative stress (Broekemeier et al., 1992; Imberti et al., 1993), anoxia (Pastorino et al., 1993) or treatment with ATP (Zoeteweij et al., 1993), and in cardiomyocytes (Duchen et al., 1993) and isolated hearts (Griffiths and Halestrap, 1995) exposed to ischemia-reperfusion. The link with apoptosis was made in 1996, with the demonstration that the PT was involved in the release of an apoptogenic protease from the intermembrane space (Susin et al., 1996). After these pioneering papers, and largely based on the protective effects of CsA, PTP-dependent mitochondrial dysfunction and Ca²⁺ deregulation have been subsequently implied in so many cellular models of programmed and accidental cell death that we must refer the reader to recent reviews for a coverage of the original literature (Halestrap et al., 1998; Lemasters et al., 1998; Di Lisa and Bernardi, 1998; Pfeiffer et al., 2001; Jordan et al., 2003; Weiss et al., 2003; Rama Rao et al., 2003; Tempestini et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2003b; Green and Kroemer, 2004; Kristal et al., 2004; Halestrap, 2004; Crompton, 2004; Di Lisa and Bernardi, 2005; Stavrovskaya and Kristal, 2005; Sullivan et al., 2005). The new frontier, however, is establishing the role of the PTP in models of disease *in vivo*, and to devise effective therapies based on its inhibition, issues that have seen a considerable progress over the last few years. We summarize below recent progress on the role of the PTP in diseases, and we refer the reader to a recent review for a more thorough coverage of this topic (Bernardi et al., 2006).

Myocardial ischemia-reperfusion. Paradoxically, in the heart mitochondrial function is not only essential for contraction but also for the sudden onset of cell death in post-ischemic reperfusion (Jennings and Ganote, 1976; Di Lisa et al., 1998; Halestrap et al., 1998). In this condition partial recovery of mitochondrial function may generate enough ATP for contraction but not for relaxation, resulting in hypercontracture and sarcolemmal rupture [4-6]. We assessed the role of PTP opening in heart ischemia-reperfusion injury through the redistribution of mitochondrial pyridine nucleotides, which do not readily permeate the inner membrane unless a PT occurs (Vinogradov et al., 1972). In isolated hearts subjected to ischemiareperfusion pyridine nucleotides are released from the mitochondrial matrix into the intermembrane and the cytosolic spaces, where they become the substrate of a wide array of NAD⁺ utilizing enzymes (Di Lisa et al., 2001). Formation of cyclic nucleotides from NAD⁺ (such as cADP ribose) may profoundly affect cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis and further increase the probability of PTP opening through the release of Ca^{2+} from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Clear support for a role of the PTP in myocardial pathophysiology is provided by the reduced susceptibility to ischemic injury observed in mice lacking CyP-D (Baines et al., 2005; Nakagawa et al., 2005).

Liver diseases. The protective effects of CsA have been tested in several in vivo models of liver disease (Yoshiba et al., 1995; Wasaki et al., 1997; Pastorino et al., 1999; Kawakami et al., 2000) (Feldmann et al., 2000; Haouzi et al., 2002; Masubuchi et al., 2002; Crouser et al., 2002a; Crouser et al., 2002b; Hirakawa et al., 2003; Morin et al., 2004; Crouser et al., 2004; Soriano et al., 2004; Teckman et al., 2004; Masubuchi et al., 2005). Protection by CsA could be traced to PTP inhibition in a model of fulminant hepatitis caused by *Streptococcus* lipopolysaccharide plus D-Galactosamine, a treatment that sensitizes the liver to the proapoptotic effects of TNF α (Soriano et al., 2004). The PTP is also involved in a rodent model of hepatocarcinogenesis. Feeding rats with the arylamine 2-acetylaminofluorene (AAF) causes onset of liver tumors within 30-50 weeks (Neumann et al., 1994), which is preceded by a sequence of alterations that closely resembles the clinical course of chronic hepatitis gradually evolving into cyrrhosis (Neumann et al., 1994). Very early into AAF feeding an adaptative mitochondrial response takes place with upregulation of mitochondrial Bcl-2 and desensitization of the PTP and of the liver mitochondrial apoptotic pathway to TNF α in vivo. This adaptive response is a tumor-promoting event that may contribute to the selection of resistant hepatocytes in the population of chemically-transformed cells (Klöhn et al., 2003). Also other conditions that predispose to liver cancer (alcoholic liver disease, chronic hepatitis C and cholestasis) may involve a mitochondrial response with involvement of the PTP. The hepatitis C virus core protein localizes to mitochondria, where it inhibits electron flow at Complex I causing increased ROS production and possibly increased PTP opening (Korenaga et al., 2005); and a similar sequence of events may take place in liver chronic alcohol exposure (Hoek et al., 2002) and after bile duct ligation (Lieser et al., 1998).

Neurological diseases. Many neurological disorders are caused or worsened by mitochondrial dysfunction. Based on the protective effects of CsA, the PTP has been implied in brain damage due to both hyperglycemia (Li et al., 1997; Folbergrova et al., 1997) and hypoglycemia (Friberg et al., 1998; Ferrand-Drake et al., 1999), to ischemia (Uchino et al., 1998; Yoshimoto and Siesjo, 1999; Matsumoto et al., 1999; Nakai et al., 2004), trauma (Okonkwo et al., 1999; Okonkwo and Povlishock, 1999; Scheff and Sullivan, 1999; Sullivan et al., 2000; Alessandri et al., 2002) and injection of 3-nitropropionic acid (Leventhal et al., 2000); in cell death following facial motoneuron axotomy in neonatal rodents (Vanderluit et al., 2003) and in photoreceptor apoptosis (Fox et al., 2003). CsA prolongs the survival of mouse models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Keep et al., 2001; Karlsson et al., 2004), an effect that is also exerted by minocycline through inhibition of the PTP (Zhu et al., 2002). Protective effects that could be traced to inhibition of the PTP have been reported for promethazine in a mouse model of stroke (Stavrovskaya et al., 2004), and for topiramate in pilocarpine-induced epilepsy (Kudin et al., 2004). Independent evidence that the PTP may be involved in brain ischemic damage is the striking decrease of emispheric damage after middle cerebral artery occlusion in mice with genetic inactivation of the gene encoding for CyP-D (Schinzel et al., 2005). PTP-dependent mitochondrial defects appear to be involved in the pathogenesis of the Huntington's disease (HD) (Panov et al., 2002; Panov et al., 2005). Mutant huntingtin, containing an expanded polyglutamine tract, reduced mitochondrial membrane potential in normal mitochondria, thus impairing the capacity of mitochondria to take up Ca^{2+} . This finding partially reproduced the defects seen in HD patients and in HD mutant transgenic mice, whose mitochondria are much more prone to depolarize than control mitochondria (Piccioni et al., 2002).

Muscle diseases. The hypothesis that Ca^{2+} -dependent mitochondrial dysfunction could play a role in muscular dystrophies has been put forward 30 years ago (Wrogemann and Pena, 1976). A recent development has been the demonstration that the PT plays a key role in the pathogenesis of muscular dystrophy due to collagen VI deficiency (Irwin et al., 2003). Inherited mutations of collagen VI genes cause two muscle diseases in humans, Bethlem myopathy (Jöbsis et al., 1996) and Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy (Camacho Vanegas et al., 2001). Collagen VI-deficient (*Col6a1^{-/-}*) mice display a muscle phenotype resembling Bethlem myopathy, with loss of strength associated with ultrastructural alterations of sarcoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria, and spontaneous apoptosis (Bonaldo et al., 1998). These defects are due to inappropriate PTP opening, and could be normalized by treatment with CsA, which rescued the muscle ultrastructural defects and dramatically decreased the number of apoptotic nuclei *in vivo* in the first successful pharmacological treatment of an animal model of a genetic muscle disease (Bonaldo et al., 1998). We have found that the same defect is present in myoblast cultures from patients with Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy (Angelin et al., 2007). This observation suggests that mitochondrial dysfunction triggered by PTP opening could be a component of the human disease as well, and opens new perspectives for treatment of the human collagen VI diseases.

11. PATHOLOGICAL CHANGES OF $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ UNRELATED TO THE PTP

The mitochondrion's high capacity to store and release Ca^{2+} is likely to play a critical role in a variety of disease processes also in a manner not directly linked to induction of PTP openings. Activity of the Na⁺-dependent Ca^{2+} efflux pathway was shown to be increased, leading to lower than normal levels of $[Ca^{2+}]_m$, in mitochondrial complex I deficiency (Visch et al., 2004) and hereditary cardiomyopathy (Kuo et al., 2002). Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ response to agonists is drastically reduced in models of mitochondrial encephalomyopathy with ragged-red fibers (MERRF), causing a smaller increase in ATP levels upon agonist stimulation which could be restored by applying an inhibitor of the mitochondrial Ca^{2+} efflux pathways (Brini et al., 1999). The role of $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ in modulating ATP levels is fundamental in the insulin-secreting pancreatic β -cells (Rutter and Rizzuto, 2000), since ATP levels control the gating of ATP-sensitive K^+ channels and thus the initiation of the secretion process. A reduction in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ accumulation prompts a diminished insulin secretion (Maechler et al., 1998). Intriguingly, diabetes mellitus is very common in patients affected by mitochondrial encephalomyopathies, and a maternally inherited form of diabetes is associated to mtDNA mutations (Ballinger et al., 1992).

Depending on the ATP levels, excitotoxicity can induce necrosis or apoptosis in neuronal cells in response to overexposure to excitatory amino acids such as glutamate (Ankarcrona et al., 1995). In particular, prolonged activation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor leads to $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ overload and cell death, which have been ascribed to $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ overload (Duchen, 2000). Moreover, during the progression to excitotoxic cell death, a late secondary increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ occurs, termed "delayed Ca^{2+} deregulation" (DCD). Although the mechanisms underlying DCD are still under debate, it is agreed that the speed of DCD is strongly dependent on the magnitude of $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ accumulation (Brookes et al., 2004). It should be mentioned that earlier work suggested that the PTP was involved also in excitotoxicity (Schinder et al., 1996).

12. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Mitochondria play a key role in cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis, and Ca^{2+} plays a key role in regulation of mitochondrial metabolism, allowing a perfect match between varying metabolic demand and mitochondrial performance. This essential

integration is achieved through an extraordinarily complex network that involves Ca^{2+} fluxes across the mitochondrial membranes. This arrangement exposes the cell to severe risks, however. Primary derangements of cytosolic Ca^{2+} regulation may cause secondary mitochondrial dysfunction, with worsening of Ca^{2+} deregulation; and primary mitochondrial dysfunction will inevitably cause cellular Ca^{2+} deregulation, in a vicious circle that may precipitate cell death through the PTP. Understanding the mechanistic basis for the switch of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} homeostasis from physiology to pathology is a challenge that holds great promise for disease treatment.

REFERENCES

- Åkerman, K.E., 1978, Changes in membrane potential during calcium ion influx and efflux across the mitochondrial membrane, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 502, pp. 359–366
- Alessandri, B., Rice, A. C., Levasseur, J., DeFord, M., Hamm, R. J., and Bullock, M. R., 2002, Cyclosporin A improves brain tissue oxygen consumption and learning/memory performance after lateral fluid percussion injury in rats, *J. Neurotrauma* 19, pp. 829–841
- Angelin, A., Tiepolo, T., Sabatelli, P., Grumati, P., Bergamin, N., Golfieri, C., Mattioli, E., Gualandi, F., Ferlini, A., Merlini, L., Maraldi, N. M., Bonaldo, P., Bernardi, P., 2007, Mitochondrial dysfunction in the pathogenesis of Ullrich congenital muscular dystrophy and prospective therapy with cyclosporins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A* 104, pp. 991–996
- Ankarcrona, M., Dypbukt, J. M., Bonfoco, E., Zhivotovsky, B., Orrenius, S., Lipton, S. A., and Nicotera, P., 1995, Glutamate-induced neuronal death: a succession of necrosis or apoptosis depending on mitochondrial function, *Neuron* 15, pp. 961–973
- Annis, M.G., Yethon, J. A., Leber, B., and Andrews, D. W., 2004, There is more to life and death than mitochondria: Bcl-2 proteins at the endoplasmic reticulum, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1644, pp. 115–123
- Antonsson, B., Montessuit, S., Lauper, S., Eskes, R., and Martinou, J. C., 2000, Bax oligomerization is required for channel-forming activity in liposomes and to trigger cytochrome c release from mitochondria, *Biochem. J.* 345 Part 2, pp. 271–278
- Azzone, G.F., Pozzan, T., Massari, S., Bragadin, M., and Dell'Antone, P., 1977, H⁺/site ratio and steady state distribution of divalent cations in mitochondria, *FEBS Lett.* 78, pp. 21–24
- Baines, C.P., Kaiser, R. A., Purcell, N. H., Blair, N. S., Osinska, H., Hambleton, M. A., Brunskill, E. W., Sayen, M. R., Gottlieb, R. A., Dorn, G. W., Robbins, J., and Molkentin, J. D., 2005, Loss of cyclophilin D reveals a critical role for mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death, *Nature* 434, pp. 658–662
- Ballinger, S.W., Shoffner, J. M., Hedaya, E. V., Trounce, I., Polak, M. A., Koontz, D. A., and Wallace, D. C., 1992, Maternally transmitted diabetes and deafness associated with a 10.4 kb mitochondrial DNA deletion, *Nat Genet.* 1, pp. 11–15
- Basso, E., Fante, L., Fowlkes, J., Petronilli, V., Forte, M. A., and Bernardi, P., 2005, Properties of the permeability transition pore in mitochondria devoid of Cyclophilin D, J. Biol. Chem. 280, pp. 18558–18561
- Bernardi, P., 1992, Modulation of the mitochondrial cyclosporin A-sensitive permeability transition pore by the proton electrochemical gradient. Evidence that the pore can be opened by membrane depolarization, *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, pp. 8834–8839
- Bernardi, P., 1999, Mitochondrial transport of cations: Channels, exchangers and permeability transition, *Physiol. Rev.* 79, pp. 1127–1155
- Bernardi, P. and Azzone, G. F., 1983, Regulation of Ca²⁺ efflux in rat liver mitochondria. Role of membrane potential, *Eur. J. Biochem.* 134, pp. 377–383
- Bernardi, P. and Petronilli, V., 1996, The permeability transition pore as a mitochondrial calcium release channel: a critical appraisal, *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 28, pp. 131–138

- Bernardi, P., Petronilli, V., Di Lisa, F., and Forte, M., 2001, A mitochondrial perspective on cell death, *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 26, pp. 112–117
- Bernardi, P. and Pietrobon, D., 1982, On the nature of Pi-induced, Mg²⁺-prevented Ca²⁺ release in rat liver mitochondria, *FEBS Lett.* 139, pp. 9–12
- Bernardi, P., Vassanelli, S., Veronese, P., Colonna, R., Szabo, I., and Zoratti, M., 1992, Modulation of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. Effect of protons and divalent cations, *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, pp. 2934–2939
- Bernardi, P., Krauskopf, A., Basso, E., Petronilli, V., Blachly-Dyson, E., Di Lisa, F., and Forte, M. A., 2006, The mitochondrial permeability transition from in vitro artifact to disease target, *FEBS J.* 273, pp. 2077–2099
- Berridge, M.J., Bootman, M. D., and Roderick, H. L., 2003, Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling, *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 4, pp. 517–529
- Beutner, G., Sharma, V. K., Giovannucci, D. R., Yule, D. I., and Sheu, S. S., 2001, Identification of a ryanodine receptor in rat heart mitochondria, J. Biol. Chem. 276, pp. 21482–21488
- Bonaldo, P., Braghetta, P., Zanetti, M., Piccolo, S., Volpin, D., and Bressan, G. M., 1998, Collagen VI deficiency induces early onset myopathy in the mouse: an animal model for Bethlem myopathy, *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 7, pp. 2135–2140
- Brini, M., 2003, Ca²⁺ signalling in mitochondria: mechanism and role in physiology and pathology, *Cell Calcium* 34, pp. 399–405
- Brini, M., Pinton, P., King, M. P., Davidson, M., Schon, E. A., and Rizzuto, R., 1999, A calcium signaling defect in the pathogenesis of a mitochondrial DNA inherited oxidative phosphorylation deficiency, *Nat. Med.* 5, pp. 951–954
- Broekemeier, K.M., Carpenter Deyo, L., Reed, D. J., and Pfeiffer, D. R., 1992, Cyclosporin A protects hepatocytes subjected to high Ca²⁺ and oxidative stress, *FEBS Lett.* 304, pp. 192–194
- Brookes, P.S., Yoon, Y., Robotham, J. L., Anders, M. W., and Sheu, S. S., 2004, Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle, *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 287, p. C817–C833
- Buntinas, L., Gunter, K. K., Sparagna, G. C., and Gunter, T. E., 2001, The rapid mode of calcium uptake into heart mitochondria (RaM): comparison to RaM in liver mitochondria, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1504, pp. 248–261
- Camacho Vanegas, O., Bertini, E., Zhang, R. Z., Petrini, S., Minosse, C., Sabatelli, P., Giusti, B., Chu, M. L., and Pepe, G., 2001, Ullrich scleroatonic muscular dystrophy is caused by recessive mutations in collagen type VI, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98, pp. 7516–7521
- Carafoli, E., 2004, Calcium-mediated cellular signals: a story of failures, *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 29, pp. 371–379
- Carafoli, E., Santella, L., Branca, D., and Brini, M., 2001, Generation, control, and processing of cellular calcium signals, *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 36, pp. 107–260
- Chalmers, S. and Nicholls, D. G., 2003, The Relationship between Free and Total Calcium Concentrations in the Matrix of Liver and Brain Mitochondria, *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, p. 19062
- Colell, A., Garcia-Ruiz, C., Mari, M., and Fernandez-Checa, J. C., 2004, Mitochondrial permeability transition induced by reactive oxygen species is independent of cholesterol-regulated membrane fluidity, *FEBS Lett* 560, pp. 63–68
- Cox, D.A., Conforti, L., Sperelakis, N., and Matlib, M. A., 1993, Selectivity of inhibition of Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchange of heart mitochondria by benzothiazepine CGP-37157, *J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol.* 21, pp. 595–599
- Crompton, M., 1999, The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death, *Biochem. J.* 341, pp. 233–249
- Crompton, M., 2004, Mitochondria and aging: a role for the permeability transition?, *Aging Cell* 3, pp. 3–6
- Crompton, M., Capano, M., and Carafoli, E., 1976, The sodium-induced efflux of calcium from heart mitochondria. A possible mechanism for the regulation of mitochondrial calcium, *Eur. J. Biochem.* 69, pp. 453–462
- Crompton, M., Moser, R., Ludi, H., and Carafoli, E., 1978, The interrelations between the transport of sodium and calcium in mitochondria of various mammalian tissues, *Eur. J. Biochem.* 82, pp. 25–31

- Crouser, E.D., Julian, M. W., Blaho, D. V., and Pfeiffer, D. R., 2002a, Endotoxin-induced mitochondrial damage correlates with impaired respiratory activity, *Crit. Care Med.* 30, pp. 276–284
- Crouser, E.D., Julian, M. W., Huff, J. E., Joshi, M. S., Bauer, J. A., Gadd, M. E., Wewers, M. D., and Pfeiffer, D. R., 2004, Abnormal permeability of inner and outer mitochondrial membranes contributes independently to mitochondrial dysfunction in the liver during acute endotoxemia, *Crit Care Med.* 32, pp. 478–488
- Crouser, E.D., Julian, M. W., Joshi, M. S., Bauer, J. A., Wewers, M. D., Hart, J. M., and Pfeiffer, D. R., 2002b, Cyclosporin A ameliorates mitochondrial ultrastructural injury in the ileum during acute endotoxemia, *Crit. Care Med.* 30, pp. 2722–2728
- Csordas, G., Madesh, M., Antonsson, B., and Hajnoczky, G., 2002, tcBid promotes Ca²⁺ signal propagation to the mitochondria: control of Ca²⁺ permeation through the outer mitochondrial membrane, *EMBO J.* 21, pp. 2198–2206
- Demaurex, N. and Distelhorst, C., 2003, Cell biology. Apoptosis-the calcium connection, *Science* 300, pp. 65–67
- Di Lisa, F. and Bernardi, P., 1998, Mitochondrial function as a determinant of recovery or death in cell response to injury, *Mol. Cell Biochem.* 184, pp. 379–391
- Di Lisa, F. and Bernardi, P., 2005, Mitochondrial function and myocardial aging. A critical analysis of the role of permeability transition, *Cardiovasc. Res.* 66, pp. 222–232
- Di Lisa, F. and Bernardi, P., 2006, Mitochondria and ischemia-reperfusion injury of the heart: fixing a hole, *Cardiovasc. Res.* 70, pp. 191–199
- Di Lisa, F., Menabò, R., Canton, M., Barile, M., and Bernardi, P., 2001, Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore causes depletion of mitochondrial and cytosolic NAD⁺ and is a causative event in the death of myocytes in postischemic reperfusion of the heart, *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, pp. 2571–2575
- Di Lisa, F., Menabò, R., Canton, M., and Petronilli, V., 1998, The role of mitochondria in the salvage and the injury of the ischemic myocardium, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1366, pp. 69–78
- Di Mauro, S., 2004, Mitochondrial diseases, *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Bioenergetics* 1658, pp. 80–88
- Distelhorst, C.W. and Shore, G. C., 2004, Bcl-2 and calcium: controversy beneath the surface, *Oncogene* 23, pp. 2875–2880
- Du, C., Fang, M., Li, Y., Li, L., and Wang, X., 2000, Smac, a mitochondrial protein that promotes cytochrome c-dependent caspase activation by eliminating IAP inhibition, *Cell* 102, pp. 33–42
- Duchen, M.R., 1999, Contributions of mitochondria to animal physiology: from homeostatic sensor to calcium signalling and cell death, J. Physiol. Lond. 516, pp. 1–17
- Duchen, M.R., 2000, Mitochondria and Ca²⁺ in cell physiology and pathophysiology, *Cell Calcium* 28, pp. 339–348
- Duchen, M.R., McGuinness, O., Brown, L. A., and Crompton, M., 1993, On the involvement of a cyclosporin A sensitive mitochondrial pore in myocardial reperfusion injury, *Cardiovasc. Res.* 27, pp. 1790–1794
- Ekert, P.G., Silke, J., Connolly, L. M., Reid, G. E., Moritz, R. L., and Vaux, D. L., 2000, Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein that promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins, *Cell* 102, pp. 43–53
- Feldmann, G., Haouzi, D., Moreau, A., Durand, S. A., Bringuier, A., Berson, A., Mansouri, A., Fau, D., and Pessayre, D., 2000, Opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore causes matrix expansion and outer membrane rupture in Fas-mediated hepatic apoptosis in mice, *Hepatology* 31, pp. 674–683
- Ferrand-Drake, M., Friberg, H., and Wieloch, T., 1999, Mitochondrial permeability transition induced DNA-fragmentation in the rat hippocampus following hypoglycemia, *Neuroscience* 90, pp. 1325–1338
- Ferrari, D., Pinton, P., Szabadkai, G., Chami, M., Campanella, M., Pozzan, T., and Rizzuto, R., 2002, Endoplasmic reticulum, Bcl-2 and Ca²⁺ handling in apoptosis, *Cell Calcium* 32, pp. 413–420
- Folbergrova, J., Li, P. A., Uchino, H., Smith, M. L., and Siesjo, B. K., 1997, Changes in the bioenergetic state of rat hippocampus during 2.5 min of ischemia, and prevention of cell damage by cyclosporin A in hyperglycemic subjects, *Exp. Brain Res.* 114, pp. 44–50

- Forte, M. and Bernardi, P., 2005, Genetic Dissection of the Permeability Transition Pore, J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 37, pp. 121–128
- Fox, D.A., Poblenz, A. T., He, L., Harris, J. B., and Medrano, C. J., 2003, Pharmacological strategies to block rod photoreceptor apoptosis caused by calcium overload: a mechanistic target-site approach to neuroprotection, *Eur. J. Ophthalmol.* 13 Suppl 3, p. S44–S56
- Foyouzi-Youssefi, R., Arnaudeau, S., Borner, C., Kelley, W. L., Tschopp, J., Lew, D. P., Demaurex, N., and Krause, K. H., 2000, Bcl-2 decreases the free Ca²⁺ concentration within the endoplasmic reticulum, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 97, pp. 5723–5728
- Friberg, H., Ferrand-Drake, M., Bengtsson, F., Halestrap, A. P., and Wieloch, T., 1998, Cyclosporin A, but not FK 506, protects mitochondria and neurons against hypoglycemic damage and implicates the mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death, J. Neurosci. 18, pp. 5151–5159
- Gadd, M.E., Broekemeier, K. M., Crouser, E. D., Kumar, J., Graff, G., and Pfeiffer, D. R., 2006, Mitochondrial iPLA2 Activity Modulates the Release of Cytochrome c from Mitochondria and Influences the Permeability Transition, J. Biol. Chem. 281, pp. 6931–6939
- Garcia-Ruiz, C., Colell, A., Morales, A., Calvo, M., Enrich, C., and Fernandez-Checa, J. C., 2002, Trafficking of Ganglioside GD3 to Mitochondria by Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha, *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, pp. 36443–36448
- Germain, M., Mathai, J. P., and Shore, G. C., 2002, BH-3-only BIK functions at the endoplasmic reticulum to stimulate cytochrome c release from mitochondria, J. Biol. Chem. 277, pp. 18053–18060
- Gincel, D., Zaid, H., and Shoshan-Barmatz, V., 2001, Calcium binding and translocation by the voltagedependent anion channel: a possible regulatory mechanism in mitochondrial function, *Biochem. J.* 358, pp. 147–155
- Goldstone, T.P., Duddridge, R. J., and Crompton, M., 1983, The activation of Na⁺-dependent efflux of Ca²⁺ from liver mitochondria by glucagon and beta-adrenergic agonists, *Biochem. J.* 210, pp. 463–472
- Green, D.R. and Kroemer, G., 2004, The pathophysiology of mitochondrial cell death, *Science* 305, pp. 626–629
- Griffiths, E.J. and Halestrap, A. P., 1995, Mitochondrial non-specific pores remain closed during cardiac ischaemia, but open upon reperfusion, *Biochem. J.* 307, pp. 93–98
- Gunter, T.E., Buntinas, L., and Gunter, K. K., 1998, The Ca²⁺ transport mechanisms of mitochondria and Ca²⁺ uptake from physiological-type Ca²⁺ transients, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1399, pp. 5–15
- Gunter, T.E., Buntinas, L., Sparagna, G., Eliseev, R., and Gunter, K., 2000, Mitochondrial calcium transport: mechanisms and functions, *Cell Calcium* 28, pp. 285–296
- Gunter, T.E. and Gunter, K. K., 2001, Uptake of calcium by mitochondria: transport and possible function, *IUBMB Life* 52, pp. 197–204
- Gunter, T.E., Gunter, K. K., Sheu, S. S., and Gavin, C. E., 1994, Mitochondrial calcium transport: physiological and pathological relevance, *Am. J. Physiol.* 267, p. C313–C339
- Gunter, T.E. and Pfeiffer, D. R., 1990, Mechanisms by which mitochondria transport calcium, *Am. J. Physiol.* 258, p. C755–C786
- Gunter, T.E., Yule, D. I., Gunter, K. K., Eliseev, R. A., and Salter, J. D., 2004, Calcium and mitochondria, FEBS Lett. 567, pp. 96–102
- Hajnoczky, G., Robb-Gaspers, L. D., Seitz, M. B., and Thomas, A. P., 1995, Decoding of cytosolic calcium oscillations in the mitochondria, *Cell* 82, pp. 415–424
- Halestrap, A.P., 2004, Does the mitochondrial permeability transition have a role in preconditioning?, *Circulation* 110, p. e303
- Halestrap, A.P., Kerr, P. M., Javadov, S., and Woodfield, K. Y., 1998, Elucidating the molecular mechanism of the permeability transition pore and its role in reperfusion injury, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1366, pp. 79–94
- Halestrap, A.P., McStay, G. P., and Clarke, S. J., 2002, The permeability transition pore complex: another view, *Biochimie* 84, pp. 153–166
- Haouzi, D., Cohen, I., Vieira, H. L., Poncet, D., Boya, P., Castedo, M., Vadrot, N., Belzacq, A. S., Fau, D., Brenner, C., Feldmann, G., and Kroemer, G., 2002, Mitochondrial permeability transition as a novel principle of hepatorenal toxicity in vivo, *Apoptosis* 7, pp. 395–405

- Heaton, G.M. and Nicholls, D. G., 1976, The calcium conductance of the inner membrane of rat liver mitochondria and the determination of the calcium electrochemical gradient, *Biochem. J.* 156, pp. 635–646
- Hegde, R., Srinivasula, S. M., Zhang, Z., Wassell, R., Mukattash, R., Cilenti, L., DuBois, G., Lazebnik, Y., Zervos, A. S., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., and Alnemri, E. S., 2001, Identification of Omi/HtrA2 as a mitochondrial apoptotic serine protease that disrupts inhibitor of apoptosis proteincaspase interaction, J. Biol. Chem. 277, pp. 432–438
- Hirakawa, A., Takeyama, N., Nakatani, T., and Tanaka, T., 2003, Mitochondrial permeability transition and cytochrome c release in ischemia-reperfusion injury of the rat liver, J. Surg. Res. 111, pp. 240–247
- Hoek, J.B., Cahill, A., and Pastorino, J. G., 2002, Alcohol and mitochondria: a dysfunctional relationship, *Gastroenterology* 122, pp. 2049–2063
- Hüser, J. and Blatter, L. A., 1999, Fluctuations in mitochondrial membrane potential caused by repetitive gating of the permeability transition pore, *Biochem J* 343 Pt 2, pp. 311–317
- Hüser, J., Rechenmacher, C. E., and Blatter, L. A., 1998, Imaging the permeability pore transition in single mitochondria, *Biophys. J* 74, pp. 2129–2137
- Ichas, F., Jouaville, L. S., and Mazat, J.-P., 1997, Mitochondria are excitable organelles capable of generating and conveying electrical and calcium signals, *Cell* 89, pp. 1145–1153
- Ichas, F. and Mazat, J. P., 1998, From calcium signaling to cell death: two conformations for the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. Switching from low- to high-conductance state, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1366, pp. 33–50
- Igbavboa, U. and Pfeiffer, D. R., 1988, EGTA inhibits reverse uniport-dependent Ca^{2+} release from uncoupled mitochondria. Possible regulation of the Ca^{2+} uniporter by a Ca^{2+} binding site on the cytoplasmic side of the inner membrane, *J. Biol. Chem.* 263, pp. 1405–1412
- Imberti, R., Nieminen, A. L., Herman, B., and Lemasters, J. J., 1993, Mitochondrial and glycolytic dysfunction in lethal injury to hepatocytes by t-butylhydroperoxide: protection by fructose, cyclosporin A and trifluoperazine, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 265, pp. 392–400
- Irwin, W.A., Bergamin, N., Sabatelli, P., Reggiani, C., Megighian, A., Merlini, L., Braghetta, P., Columbaro, M., Volpin, D., Bressan, G. M., Bernardi, P., and Bonaldo, P., 2003, Mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis in myopathic mice with collagen VI deficiency, *Nat. Genet.* 35, pp. 267–271
- Jennings, R.B. and Ganote, C. E., 1976, Mitochondrial structure and function in acute myocardial ischemic injury, Circ. Res. 38, p. 180–191
- Jöbsis, G.J., Keizers, H., Vreijling, J. P., de Visser, M., Speer, M. C., Wolterman, R. A., Baas, F., and Bolhuis, P. A., 1996, Type VI collagen mutations in Bethlem myopathy, an autosomal dominant myopathy with contractures, *Nat. Genet.* 14, pp. 113–115
- Jordan, J., Cena, V., and Prehn, J. H., 2003, Mitochondrial control of neuron death and its role in neurodegenerative disorders, *J. Physiol. Biochem.* 59, pp. 129–141
- Jouaville, L.S., Pinton, P., Bastianutto, C., Rutter, G. A., and Rizzuto, R., 1999, Regulation of mitochondrial ATP synthesis by calcium: evidence for a long-term metabolic priming, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 96, pp. 13807–13812
- Juhaszova, M., Zorov, D. B., Kim, S. H., Pepe, S., Fu, Q., Fishbein, K. W., Ziman, B. D., Wang, S., Ytrehus, K., Antos, C. L., Olson, E. N., and Sollott, S. J., 2004, Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta mediates convergence of protection signaling to inhibit the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, *J. Clin. Invest.* 113, pp. 1535–1549
- Jung, D.W., Baysal, K., and Brierley, G. P., 1995, The sodium-calcium antiport of heart mitochondria is not electroneutral, J. Biol. Chem. 270, pp. 672–678
- Karlsson, J., Fong, K. S., Hansson, M. J., Elmer, E., Csiszar, K., and Keep, M. F., 2004, Life span extension and reduced neuronal death after weekly intraventricular cyclosporin injections in the G93A transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, *J. Neurosurg.* 101, pp. 128–137
- Kawakami, T., Sato, S., and Suzuki, K., 2000, Beneficial effect of Cyclosporin A on acute hepatic injury induced by galactosamine and lipopolysaccharide in rats, *Hepatol. Res.* 18, pp. 284–297
- Keep, M., Emer, E., Fong, K. S. K., and Csiszar, K., 2001, Intrathecal cyclosporin prolongs survival of late-stage ALS mice, *Brain Res.* 894, pp. 327–331

- Kim, J.S., He, L., and Lemasters, J. J., 2003a, Mitochondrial permeability transition: a common pathway to necrosis and apoptosis, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 304, pp. 463–470
- Kim, J.S., Qian, T., and Lemasters, J. J., 2003b, Mitochondrial permeability transition in the switch from necrotic to apoptotic cell death in ischemic rat hepatocytes, *Gastroenterology* 124, pp. 494–503
- Kinnally, K.W., Campo, M. L., and Tedeschi, H., 1989, Mitochondrial channel activity studied by patch-clamping mitoplasts, J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 21, pp. 497–506
- Kirichok, Y., Krapivinsky, G., and Clapham, D. E., 2004, The mitochondrial calcium uniporter is a highly selective ion channel, *Nature* 427, pp. 360–364
- Klöhn, P.C., Soriano, M. E., Irwin, W., Penzo, D., Scorrano, L., Bitsch, A., Neumann, H. G., and Bernardi, P., 2003, Early resistance to cell death and to onset of the mitochondrial permeability transition during hepatocarcinogenesis with 2-acetylaminofluorene, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 100, pp. 10014–10019
- Kokoszka, J.E., Waymire, K. G., Levy, S. E., Sligh, J. E., Cai, J., Jones, D. P., MacGregor, G. R., and Wallace, D. C., 2004, The ADP/ATP translocator is not essential for the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, *Nature* 427, pp. 461–465
- Korenaga, M., Okuda, M., Otani, K., Wang, T., Li, Y., and Weinman, S. A., 2005, Mitochondrial dysfunction in hepatitis C, J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 39, p. S162–S166
- Kowaltowski, A.J., Naia-da-Silva, E. S., Castilho, R. F., and Vercesi, A. E., 1998, Ca²⁺-stimulated mitochondrial reactive oxygen species generation and permeability transition are inhibited by dibucaine or Mg²⁺, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 359, pp. 77–81
- Krauskopf, A., Eriksson, O., Craigen, W. J., Forte, M. A., and Bernardi, P., 2006, Properties of the permeability transition in VDAC1^{-/-} mitochondria, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Bioenergetics* 1757, pp. 590–595
- Kristal, B.S. and Brown, A. M., 1999, Apoptogenic ganglioside GD3 directly induces the mitochondrial permeability transition, J. Biol. Chem. 274, pp. 23169–23175
- Kristal, B.S., Stavrovskaya, I. G., Narayanan, M. V., Krasnikov, B. F., Brown, A. M., Beal, M. F., and Friedlander, R. M., 2004, The mitochondrial permeability transition as a target for neuroprotection, *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 36, pp. 309–312
- Kröner, H., 1986, Ca²⁺ ions, an allosteric activator of calcium uptake in rat liver mitochondria, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 251, pp. 525–535
- Kudin, A.P., Debska-Vielhaber, G., Vielhaber, S., Elger, C. E., and Kunz, W. S., 2004, The mechanism of neuroprotection by topiramate in an animal model of epilepsy, *Epilepsia* 45, pp. 1478–1487
- Kuo, T.H., Zhu, L., Golden, K., Marsh, J. D., Bhattacharya, S. K., and Liu, B. F., 2002, Altered Ca²⁺ homeostasis and impaired mitochondrial function in cardiomyopathy, *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 238, pp. 119–127
- Lam, M., Dubyak, G., Chen, L., Nunez, G., Miesfeld, R. L., and Distelhorst, C. W., 1994, Evidence that BCL-2 represses apoptosis by regulating endoplasmic reticulum-associated Ca²⁺ fluxes, . *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 91, pp. 6569–6573
- Lehninger, A.L., 1974, Role of phosphate and other proton-donating anions in respiration-coupled transport of Ca²⁺ by mitochondria, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 71, pp. 1520–1524
- Lehninger, A.L., Carafoli, E., and Rossi, C. S., 1967, Energy-linked ion movements in mitochondrial systems, *Adv. Enzymol. Relat. Areas. Mol. Biol.* 29, pp. 259–320
- Lemasters, J.J., Nieminen, A. L., Qian, T., Trost, L., Elmore, S. P., Nishimura, Y., Crowe, R. A., Cascio, W. E., Bradham, C. A., Brenner, D. A., and Herman, B., 1998, The mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death: A common mechanism in necrosis, apoptosis and autophagy, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1366, pp. 177–196
- Lenartowicz, E., Bernardi, P., and Azzone, G. F., 1991, Phenylarsine oxide induces the cyclosporin A-sensitive membrane permeability transition in rat liver mitochondria, *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 23, pp. 679–688
- Leventhal, L., Sortwell, C. E., Hanbury, R., Collier, T. J., Kordower, J. H., and Palfi, S., 2000, Cyclosporin A protects striatal neurons in vitro and in vivo from 3-nitropropionic acid toxicity, J. Comp. Neurol. 425, pp. 471–478

- Li, C., Fox, C. J., Master, S. R., Bindokas, V. P., Chodosh, L. A., and Thompson, C. B., 2002, Bcl-X_L affects Ca²⁺ homeostasis by altering expression of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99, pp. 9830–9835
- Li, L.Y., Luo, X., and Wang, X., 2001, Endonuclease G is an apoptotic DNase when released from mitochondria, *Nature* 412, pp. 95–99
- Li, P.A., Uchino, H., Elmer, E., and Siesjo, B. K., 1997, Amelioration by cyclosporin A of brain damage following 5 or 10 min of ischemia in rats subjected to preischemic hyperglycemia, *Brain Res.* 753, pp. 133–140
- Lieser, M.J., Park, J., Natori, S., Jones, B. A., Bronk, S. F., and Gores, G. J., 1998, Cholestasis confers resistance to the rat liver mitochondrial permeability transition, *Gastroenterology* 115, pp. 693–701
- Litsky, M.L. and Pfeiffer, D. R., 1997, Regulation of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter by external adenine nucleotides: the uniporter behaves like a gated channel which is regulated by nucleotides and divalent cations, *Biochemistry* 36, pp. 7071–7080
- Maechler, P., Kennedy, E. D., Wang, H., and Wollheim, C. B., 1998, Desensitization of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ and insulin secretion responses in the beta cell, *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, pp. 20770–20778
- Masubuchi, Y., Nakayama, S., and Horie, T., 2002, Role of mitochondrial permeability transition in diclofenac-induced hepatocyte injury in rats, *Hepatology* 35, pp. 544–551
- Masubuchi, Y., Suda, C., and Horie, T., 2005, Involvement of mitochondrial permeability transition in acetaminophen-induced liver injury in mice, *J. Hepatol.* 42, pp. 110–116
- Mathai, J.P., Germain, M., Marcellus, R. C., and Shore, G. C., 2002, Induction and endoplasmic reticulum location of BIK/NBK in response to apoptotic signaling by E1A and p53, *Oncogene* 21, pp. 2534–2544
- Mathai, J.P., Germain, M., and Shore, G. C., 2005, BH3-only BIK regulates BAX,BAK-dependent release of Ca²⁺ from endoplasmic reticulum stores and mitochondrial apoptosis during stress-induced cell death, *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, pp. 23829–23836
- Matsumoto, S., Friberg, H., Ferrand-Drake, M., and Wieloch, T., 1999, Blockade of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore diminishes infarct size in the rat after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 19, pp. 736–741
- McCormack, J.G., Browne, H. M., and Dawes, N. J., 1989, Studies on mitochondrial Ca²⁺-transport and matrix Ca²⁺ using fura-2-loaded rat heart mitochondria, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 973, pp. 420–427
- McGuinness, O., Yafei, N., Costi, A., and Crompton, M., 1990, The presence of two classes of highaffinity cyclosporin A binding sites in mitochondria. Evidence that the minor component is involved in the opening of an inner-membrane Ca²⁺-dependent pore, *Eur. J. Biochem.* 194, pp. 671–679
- Michelangeli, F., Ogunbayo, O. A., and Wootton, L. L., 2005, A plethora of interacting organellar Ca²⁺ stores, *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol* 17, pp. 135–140
- Milanesi, E., Costantini, P., Gambalunga, A., Colonna, R., Petronilli, V., Cabrelle, A., Semenzato, G., Cesura, A. M., Pinard, E., and Bernardi, P., 2006, The mitochondrial effects of small organic ligands of BCL-2: Sensitization of BCL-2-overexpressing cells to apoptosis by a pyrimidine-2,4,6-trione derivative, J. Biol. Chem. 281, pp. 10066–10072
- Montero, M., Lobaton, C. D., Moreno, A., and Alvarez, J., 2002, A novel regulatory mechanism of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter revealed by the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitor SB202190, *FASEB J.* 16, pp. 1955–1957
- Morin, D., Pires, F., Plin, C., and Tillement, J. P., 2004, Role of the permeability transition pore in cytochrome C release from mitochondria during ischemia-reperfusion in rat liver, *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 68, pp. 2065–2073
- Nakagawa, T., Shimizu, S., Watanabe, T., Yamaguchi, O., Otsu, K., Yamagata, H., Inohara, H., Kubo, T., and Tsujimoto, Y., 2005, Cyclophilin D-dependent mitochondrial permeability transition regulates some necrotic but not apoptotic cell death, *Nature* 434, pp. 652–658
- Nakai, A., Shibazaki, Y., Taniuchi, Y., Miyake, H., Oya, A., and Takeshita, T., 2004, Role of mitochondrial permeability transition in fetal brain damage in rats, *Pediatr. Neurol.* 30, pp. 247–253
- Neumann, H.G., Ambs, S., and Bitsch, A., 1994, The role of nongenotoxic mechanisms in arylamine carcinogenesis, *Environ. Health Perspect.* 102 Suppl 6, pp. 173–176
- Nicholls, D.G., 2005, Mitochondria and calcium signaling, Cell Calcium 38, pp. 311-317

Nicholls, D.G. and Budd, S. L., 2000, Mitochondria and neuronal survival, Physiol. Rev. 80, pp. 315-360

- Nicholls, D.G. and Chalmers, S., 2004, The integration of mitochondrial calcium transport and storage, *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 36, pp. 277–281
- Nicholls, D.G. and Crompton, M., 1980, Mitochondrial calcium transport, FEBS Lett. 111, pp. 261-268
- Nutt, L.K., Chandra, J., Pataer, A., Fang, B., Roth, J. A., Swisher, S. G., O'Neil, R. G., and McConkey, D. J., 2002a, Bax-mediated Ca²⁺ mobilization promotes cytochrome c release during apoptosis, *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, pp. 20301–20308
- Nutt, L.K., Pataer, A., Pahler, J., Fang, B., Roth, J., McConkey, D. J., and Swisher, S. G., 2002b, Bax and Bak Promote Apoptosis by Modulating Endoplasmic Reticular and Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ Stores, *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, pp. 9219–9225
- O'Reilly, C.M., Fogarty, K. E., Drummond, R. M., Tuft, R. A., and Walsh, J. V., Jr., 2003, Quantitative analysis of spontaneous mitochondrial depolarizations, *Biophys. J.* 85, pp. 3350–3357
- Okonkwo, D.O., Buki, A., Siman, R., and Povlishock, J. T., 1999, Cyclosporin A limits calcium-induced axonal damage following traumatic brain injury, *Neuroreport* 10, pp. 353–358
- Okonkwo, D.O. and Povlishock, J. T., 1999, An intrathecal bolus of cyclosporin A before injury preserves mitochondrial integrity and attenuates axonal disruption in traumatic brain injury, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 19, pp. 443–451
- Orrenius, S., Zhivotovsky, B., and Nicotera, P., 2003, Regulation of cell death: the calcium-apoptosis link, *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 4, pp. 552–565
- Pacher, P. and Hajnoczky, G., 2001, Propagation of the apoptotic signal by mitochondrial waves, *EMBO J.* 20, pp. 4107–4121
- Pan, Z., Damron, D., Nieminen, A. L., Bhat, M. B., and Ma, J., 2000, Depletion of intracellular Ca²⁺ by caffeine and ryanodine induces apoptosis of chinese hamster ovary cells transfected with ryanodine receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 275, pp. 19978–19984
- Panov, A.V., Gutekunst, C. A., Leavitt, B. R., Hayden, M. R., Burke, J. R., Strittmatter, W. J., and Greenamyre, J. T., 2002, Early mitochondrial calcium defects in Huntington's disease are a direct effect of polyglutamines, *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, pp. 731–736
- Panov, A.V., Lund, S., and Greenamyre, J. T., 2005, Ca²⁺-induced permeability transition in human lymphoblastoid cell mitochondria from normal and Huntington's disease individuals, *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 269, pp. 143–152
- Pastorino, J.G., Marcineviciute, A., Cahill, A., and Hoek, J. B., 1999, Potentiation by chronic ethanol treatment of the mitochondrial permeability transition, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 265, pp. 405–409
- Pastorino, J.G., Snyder, J. W., Serroni, A., Hoek, J. B., and Farber, J. L., 1993, Cyclosporin and carnitine prevent the anoxic death of cultured hepatocytes by inhibiting the mitochondrial permeability transition, *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, pp. 13791–13798
- Penzo, D., Petronilli, V., Angelin, A., Cusan, C., Colonna, R., Scorrano, L., Pagano, F., Prato, M., Di Lisa, F., and Bernardi, P., 2004, Arachidonic acid released by phospholipase A2 activation triggers Ca²⁺-dependent apoptosis through the mitochondrial pathway, *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, pp. 25219–25225
- Petronilli, V., Cola, C., and Bernardi, P., 1993, Modulation of the mitochondrial cyclosporin A-sensitive permeability transition pore. II. The minimal requirements for pore induction underscore a key role for transmembrane electrical potential, matrix pH, and matrix Ca²⁺, J. Biol. Chem. 268, pp. 1011–1016
- Petronilli, V., Miotto, G., Canton, M., Brini, M., Colonna, R., Bernardi, P., and Di Lisa, F., 1999, Transient and long-lasting openings of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore can be monitored directly in intact cells by changes in mitochondrial calcein fluorescence, *Biophys. J.* 76, pp. 725–734
- Petronilli, V., Nicolli, A., Costantini, P., Colonna, R., and Bernardi, P., 1994, Regulation of the permeability transition pore, a voltage-dependent mitochondrial channel inhibited by cyclosporin A, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1187, pp. 255–259
- Petronilli, V., Szabó, I., and Zoratti, M., 1989, The inner mitochondrial membrane contains ionconducting channels similar to those found in bacteria, *FEBS Lett.* 259, pp. 137–143
- Pfeiffer, D.R., Gunter, T. E., Eliseev, R., Broekemeier, K. M., and Gunter, K. K., 2001, Release of Ca²⁺ from mitochondria via the saturable mechanisms and the permeability transition, *IUBMB Life* 52, pp. 205–212
- Piccioni, F., Pinton, P., Simeoni, S., Pozzi, P., Fascio, U., Vismara, G., Martini, L., Rizzuto, R., and Poletti, A., 2002, Androgen receptor with elongated polyglutamine tract forms aggregates that alter axonal trafficking and mitochondrial distribution in motor neuronal processes, *FASEB J.* 16, pp. 1418–1420
- Pinton, P., Ferrari, D., Magalhaes, P., Schulze-Osthoff, K., Di Virgilio, F., Pozzan, T., and Rizzuto, R., 2000, Reduced loading of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores and downregulation of capacitative Ca²⁺ influx in Bcl-2-overexpressing cells, *J. Cell Biol.* 148, pp. 857–862
- Pinton, P., Ferrari, D., Rapizzi, E., Di Virgilio, F., Pozzan, T., and Rizzuto, R., 2002, A role for calcium in Bcl-2 action?, *Biochimie* 84, pp. 195–201
- Pozzan, T., Rizzuto, R., Volpe, P., and Meldolesi, J., 1994, Molecular and cellular physiology of intracellular calcium stores, *Physiol. Rev.* 74, pp. 595–636
- Rama Rao, K.V., Jayakumar, A. R., and Norenberg, D. M., 2003, Ammonia neurotoxicity: role of the mitochondrial permeability transition, *Metab. Brain Dis.* 18, pp. 113–127
- Rapizzi, E., Pinton, P., Szabadkai, G., Wieckowski, M. R., Vandecasteele, G., Baird, G., Tuft, R. A., Fogarty, K. E., and Rizzuto, R., 2002, Recombinant expression of the voltage-dependent anion channel enhances the transfer of Ca²⁺ microdomains to mitochondria, *J. Cell Biol.* 159, pp. 613–624
- Riley, W.W.Jr. and Pfeiffer, D. R., 1985, Relationships between Ca²⁺ release, Ca²⁺ cycling, and Ca²⁺mediated permeability changes in mitochondria, J. Biol. Chem. 260, pp. 12416–12425
- Rizzuto, R., Bernardi, P., and Pozzan, T., 2000, Mitochondria as all-round players of the calcium game, J. Physiol. Lond. 529, pp. 37–47
- Rizzuto, R., Pinton, P., Carrington, W., Fay, F. S., Fogarty, K. E., Lifshitz, L. M., Tuft, R. A., and Pozzan, T., 1998, Close contacts with the endoplasmic reticulum as determinants of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ responses, *Science* 280, pp. 1763–1766
- Rossi, C.S. and Lehninger, A. L., 1964, Stoichiometry of respiratory stimulation, accumulation of Ca⁺⁺ and phosphate, and oxidative phosphorylation in rat liver mitochondria, *J. Biol. Chem.* 239, pp. 3971–3980
- Rutter, G.A. and Rizzuto, R., 2000, Regulation of mitochondrial metabolism by ER Ca²⁺ release: an intimate connection, *Trends. Biochem. Sci.* 25, pp. 215–221
- Scheff, S.W. and Sullivan, P. G., 1999, Cyclosporin A significantly ameliorates cortical damage following experimental traumatic brain injury in rodents, J. Neurotrauma 16, pp. 783–792
- Schinder, A.F., Olson, E. C., Spitzer, N. C., and Montal, M., 1996, Mitochondrial dysfunction is a primary event in glutamate neurotoxicity, J. Neurosci. 16, pp. 6125–6133
- Schinzel, A.C., Takeuchi, O., Huang, Z., Fisher, J. K., Zhou, Z., Rubens, J., Hetz, C., Danial, N. N., Moskowitz, M. A., and Korsmeyer, S. J., 2005, Cyclophilin D is a component of mitochondrial permeability transition and mediates neuronal cell death after focal cerebral ischemia, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 102, pp. 12005–12010
- Scorrano, L., Ashiya, M., Buttle, K., Weiler, S., Oakes, S. A., Mannella, C. A., and Korsmeyer, S. J., 2002, A distinct pathway remodels mitochondrial cristae and mobilizes cytochrome c during apoptosis, *Dev. Cell* 2, pp. 55–67
- Scorrano, L. and Korsmeyer, S. J., 2003, Mechanisms of cytochrome c release by proapoptotic BCL-2 family members, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 304, pp. 437–444
- Scorrano, L., Oakes, S. A., Opferman, J. T., Cheng, E. H., Sorcinelli, M. D., Pozzan, T., and Korsmeyer, S. J., 2003, BAX and BAK Regulation of Endoplasmic Reticulum Ca²⁺: A Control Point for Apoptosis, *Science* 300, p. 135
- Scorrano, L., Petronilli, V., Di Lisa, F., and Bernardi, P., 1999, Commitment to apoptosis by GD3 ganglioside depends on opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, pp. 22581–22585
- Soriano, M.E., Nicolosi, L., and Bernardi, P., 2004, Desensitization of the permeability transition pore by cyclosporin A prevents activation of the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway and liver damage by tumor necrosis factor-alpha, J. Biol. Chem. 279, pp. 36803–36808
- Sparagna, G.C., Gunter, K. K., Sheu, S. S., and Gunter, T. E., 1995, Mitochondrial calcium uptake from physiological-type pulses of calcium. A description of the rapid uptake mode, *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, pp. 27510–27515

- Stavrovskaya, I.G. and Kristal, B. S., 2005, The powerhouse takes control of the cell: is the mitochondrial permeability transition a viable therapeutic target against neuronal dysfunction and death?, *Free Rad. Biol. Med.* 38, pp. 687–697
- Stavrovskaya, I.G., Narayanan, M. V., Zhang, W., Krasnikov, B. F., Heemskerk, J., Young, S. S., Blass, J. P., Brown, A. M., Beal, M. F., Friedlander, R. M., and Kristal, B. S., 2004, Clinically approved heterocyclics act on a mitochondrial target and reduce stroke-induced pathology, *J. Exp. Med.* 200, pp. 211–222
- Sullivan, P.G., Rabchevsky, A. G., Waldmeier, P. C., and Springer, J. E., 2005, Mitochondrial permeability transition in CNS trauma: cause or effect of neuronal cell death?, *J. Neurosci. Res.* 79, pp. 231–239
- Sullivan, P.G., Thompson, M., and Scheff, S. W., 2000, Continuous infusion of cyclosporin A postinjury significantly ameliorates cortical damage following traumatic brain injury, *Exp. Neurol.* 161, pp. 631–637
- Susin, S.A., Zamzami, N., Castedo, M., Hirsch, T., Marchetti, P., Macho, A., Daugas, E., Geuskens, M., and Kroemer, G., 1996, Bcl-2 inhibits the mitochondrial release of an apoptogenic protease, *J. Exp. Med.* 184, pp. 1331–1341
- Szabadkai, G. and Rizzuto, R., 2004, Participation of endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondrial calcium handling in apoptosis: more than just neighborhood?, *FEBS Lett.* 567, pp. 111–115
- Szabadkai, G., Simoni, A. M., Bianchi, K., De Stefani, D., Leo, S., Wieckowski, M. R., and Rizzuto, R., 2006, Mitochondrial dynamics and Ca²⁺ signaling, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1763, pp. 442–449
- Szabó, I. and Zoratti, M., 1991, The giant channel of the inner mitochondrial membrane is inhibited by cyclosporin A, J. Biol. Chem. 266, pp. 3376–3379
- Teckman, J.H., An, J. K., Blomenkamp, K., Schmidt, B., and Perlmutter, D., 2004, Mitochondrial autophagy and injury in the liver in alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency, Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 286, p. G851–G862
- Tempestini, A., Schiavone, N., Papucci, L., Witort, E., Lapucci, A., Cutri, M., Donnini, M., and Capaccioli, S., 2003, The mechanisms of apoptosis in biology and medicine: a new focus for ophthalmology, *Eur. J. Ophthalmol.* 13 Suppl 3, p. S11–S18
- Territo, P.R., French, S. A., Dunleavy, M. C., Evans, F. J., and Balaban, R. S., 2001, Calcium activation of heart mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation: rapid kinetics of mVO₂, NADH and light scattering, *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, pp. 2586–2599
- Territo, P.R., Mootha, V. K., French, S. A., and Balaban, R. S., 2000, Ca²⁺ activation of heart mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation: role of the F0/F1-ATPase, *Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol.* 278, p. C423–C435
- Uchino, H., Elmer, E., Uchino, K., Li, P. A., He, Q. P., Smith, M. L., and Siesjo, B. K., 1998, Amelioration by cyclosporin A of brain damage in transient forebrain ischemia in the rat, *Brain Res*. 812, pp. 216–226
- Vandecasteele, G., Szabadkai, G., and Rizzuto, R., 2001, Mitochondrial calcium homeostasis: mechanisms and molecules, *IUBMB Life* 52, pp. 213–219
- Vanden Abeele, F., Skryma, R., Shuba, Y., Van Coppenolle, F., Slomianny, C., Roudbaraki, M., Mauroy, B., Wuytack, F., and Prevarskaya, N., 2002, Bcl-2-dependent modulation of Ca²⁺ homeostasis and store-operated channels in prostate cancer cells, *Cancer Cell* 1, pp. 169–179
- Vander Heiden, M.G., Li, X. X., Gottlieb, E., Hill, R. B., Thompson, C. B., and Colombini, M., 2001, Bcl-X_L promotes the open configuration of the voltage-dependent anion channel and metabolite passage through the outer mitochondrial membrane, *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, pp. 19414–19419
- Vanderluit, J.L., McPhail, L. T., Fernandes, K. J., Kobayashi, N. R., and Tetzlaff, W., 2003, In vivo application of mitochondrial pore inhibitors blocks the induction of apoptosis in axotomized neonatal facial motoneurons, *Cell Death Differ*. 10, pp. 969–976
- Vasington, F.D., Gazzotti, P., Tiozzo, R., and Carafoli, E., 1972, The effect of ruthenium red on Ca²⁺ transport and respiration in rat liver mitochondria, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 256, pp. 43–54
- Vinogradov, A., Scarpa, A., and Chance, B., 1972, Calcium and pyridine nucleotide interaction in mitochondrial membranes, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 152, pp. 646–654

- Visch, H.-J., Rutter, G. A., Koopman, W. J. H., Koenderink, J. B., Verkaart, S., de Groot, T., Varadi, A., Mitchell, K. J., van den Heuvel, L. P., Smeitink, J. A. M., and Willems, P. H. G. M., 2004, Inhibition of Mitochondrial Na⁺-Ca²⁺ Exchange Restores Agonist-induced ATP Production and Ca²⁺ Handling in Human Complex I Deficiency, J. Biol. Chem. 279, pp. 40328–40336
- Walter, L. and Hajnoczky, G., 2005, Mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum: the lethal interorganelle cross-talk, J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 37, pp. 191–206
- Wan, B., LaNoue, K. F., Cheung, J. Y., and Scaduto-RC, J., 1989, Regulation of citric acid cycle by calcium, J. Biol. Chem. 264, pp. 13430–13439
- Wasaki, S., Sakaida, I., Uchida, K., Kimura, T., Kayano, K., and Okita, K., 1997, Preventive effect of cyclosporin A on experimentally induced acute liver injury in rats, *Liver* 17, pp. 107–114
- Weiss, J.N., Korge, P., Honda, H. M., and Ping, P., 2003, Role of the mitochondrial permeability transition in myocardial disease, *Circ. Res* 93, pp. 292–301
- Wingrove, D.E. and Gunter, T. E., 1986a, Kinetics of mitochondrial calcium transport. I. Characteristics of the sodium-independent calcium efflux mechanism of liver mitochondria, J. Biol. Chem. 261, pp. 15159–15165
- Wingrove, D.E. and Gunter, T. E., 1986b, Kinetics of mitochondrial calcium transport. II. A kinetic description of the sodium-dependent calcium efflux mechanism of liver mitochondria and inhibition by ruthenium red and by tetraphenylphosphonium, *J. Biol. Chem.* 261, pp. 15166–15171
- Wrogemann, K. and Pena, S. D., 1976, Mitochondrial calcium overload: A general mechanism for cell-necrosis in muscle diseases, *Lancet* 1, pp. 672–674
- Yoshiba, M., Sekiyama, K., Inoue, K., and Fujita, R., 1995, Interferon and cyclosporin A in the treatment of fulminant viral hepatitis, J. Gastroenterol. 30, pp. 67–73
- Yoshimoto, T. and Siesjo, B. K., 1999, Posttreatment with the immunosuppressant cyclosporin A in transient focal ischemia, *Brain Res.* 839, pp. 283–291
- Zamzami, N. and Kroemer, G., 2001, The mitochondrion in apoptosis: how Pandora's box opens, *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2, pp. 67–71
- Zhu, S., Stavrovskaya, I. G., Drozda, M., Kim, B. Y., Ona, V., Li, M., Sarang, S., Liu, A. S., Hartley, D. M., Wu, d. C., Gullans, S., Ferrante, R. J., Przedborski, S., Kristal, B. S., and Friedlander, R. M., 2002, Minocycline inhibits cytochrome c release and delays progression of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice, *Nature* 417, pp. 74–78
- Zoccarato, F. and Nicholls, D. G., 1982, The role of phosphate in the regulation of the independent calcium-efflux pathway of liver mitochondria, *Eur. J. Biochem.* 127, pp. 333–338
- Zoeteweij, J.P., van de Water, B., de Bont, H. J., Mulder, G. J., and Nagelkerke, J. F., 1993, Calciuminduced cytotoxicity in hepatocytes after exposure to extracellular ATP is dependent on inorganic phosphate. Effects on mitochondrial calcium, J. Biol. Chem. 268, pp. 3384–3388
- Zong, W.X., Li, C., Hatzivassiliou, G., Lindsten, T., Yu, Q. C., Yuan, J., and Thompson, C. B., 2003, Bax and Bak can localize to the endoplasmic reticulum to initiate apoptosis, *J. Cell Biol.* 162, p. 59

CHAPTER 19

ROLE OF CALCIUM IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE AND TRANSGENIC MODELS

K.N. GREEN, I.F. SMITH AND F.M. LAFERLA*

Department of Neurobiology and Behavior, University of California, Irvine CA 92697-4545

Abstract: Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder of the elderly that is characterized by memory loss. Neuropathologically, the AD brain is marked by an increased AB burden, hyperphosphorylated tau aggregates, synaptic loss, and inflammatory responses. Disturbances in calcium homeostasis are also one of the earliest molecular changes that occur in AD patients, alongside alterations in calcium-dependent enzymes in the post-mortem brain. The sum of these studies suggests that calcium dyshomeostasis is an integral part of the pathology, either influencing AB production, mediating its effects or both. Increasing evidence from in vitro studies demonstrates that the $A\beta$ peptide could modulate a number of ion channels increasing calcium influx, including voltage-gated calcium and potassium channels, the NMDA receptor, the nicotinic receptor, as well as forming its own calcium-conducting pores. In vivo evidence has shown that $A\beta$ impairs both LTP and cognition, whereas all of these ion channels cluster at the synapse and underlie synaptic transmission and hence cognition. Here we consider the evidence that $A\beta$ causes cognitive deficits through altering calcium homeostasis at the synapse, thus impairing synaptic transmission and LTP. Furthermore, this disruption appears to occur without overt or extensive neuronal loss, as it is observed in transgenic mouse models of AD, but may contribute to the synaptic loss, which is an early event that correlates best with cognitive decline

Keywords: Alzheimer disease, calcium, long term potentiation, cognition, transgenic, amyloid beta

1. INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is neuropathologically characterized by a buildup of extracellular amyloid- β peptide (A β) plaques and of intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) composed of hyperphosphorylated tau, in addition to marked

^{*}Frank M. LaFerla, Department of Neurobiology and Behavior, University of California, Irvine, 1109 Gillespie Neuroscience Bldg., Irvine, CA 92697-4545, E-mail: laferla@uci.edu

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 507–521. © 2007 Springer.

neuronal and synaptic loss and other changes such as brain inflammation. Accompanying these neuropathological lesions are progressive memory loss and reduced cognitive function which the "amyloid cascade hypothesis" states occurs as a consequence of the progressive buildup of A β and the subsequent downstream changes such as tangle accumulation, eventually leading to neuronal toxicity. In support of this hypothesis, humans with familial mutations in proteins and enzymes involved in AB metabolism, such as the amyloid precursor protein (APP) and presenilin which releases AB via intramembraneous proteolysis, robustly develop all hallmarks of AD with nearly complete penetrance. Further support comes from transgenic mouse models of AD – animals that overexpress APP develop extensive plaque pathology, and show cognitive decline (Holcomb et al., 1998) illustrating that AB production is sufficient to cause memory impairment. Other key features of human AD are also mimicked in these A β overexpressing mouse models, such as inflammatory responses and oxidative stress (Benzing et al., 1999; Lim et al., 2001). This shows that overproduction of A β is enough to mimic many facets of the human disorder, placing the hydrophobic peptide firmly at the root of the disease.

Abundant production of the $A\beta$ peptide alone in mice is not sufficient to fully mimic all aspects of AD, most notably tau pathology and neuronal loss which is likely due to differences between mice and humans and the duration of the disease in each species. Recently, we derived the 3xTg-AD mouse model that overexpresses mutant tau (P301L) as well as mutant APP (SWE) and presenilin 1 (PS1M146V) to better mimic the key neuropathological features of AD (Oddo et al., 2003a; Oddo et al., 2003b). The 3xTg-AD mice develop tau pathology, which first manifests with the accumulation of tau in the neuronal somatodendritic compartment, followed by its hyperphosphorlyation as a function of age, eventually leading to the formation of Gallyas-positive NFTs. Importantly, consistent with the predictions of the AB cascade hypothesis, removal of the A β pathology leads to clearance of the tau aggregates as well (Oddo et al., 2004), suggesting that pathological tau accumulates as a consequence of A β . Despite robust formation of both A β and tau lesions neuronal loss is not apparent, certainly not to the striking levels observed in the late stage human AD brain. Although this may be due to the longevity of the human disorder, which may last 20 years, compared to the 2 years that a mouse may live, it does present some interesting observations about the role that A β may play in the disease. Firstly, and most importantly, $A\beta$ overproduction is sufficient to cause memory impairments and cognitive dysfunction in the *absence* of neuronal loss (Billings et al., 2005). Secondly, despite the lack of neuronal loss, A β causes many facets of the human disease. And thirdly, due to the longevity of AD, in which neuronal loss occurs, cell death is a slow gradual process which may or may not be a consequence of A β peptide.

In this review, we consider the evidence that disturbances in calcium triggered by A β may contribute to the synaptic loss in human AD. Furthermore, we discuss the likelihood that calcium dyshomeostasis in AD, and AD mouse models, may contribute to memory impairments. We have not discussed the role of the presenilins in calcium homeostasis as they have recently been reviewed (LaFerla, 2002; Smith et al., 2005), and mounting evidence supports presenilins as physiological global calcium regulators which explains why various mutations lead to disrupted calcium signaling (Tu et al., 2006), rather than presenilin mediated calcium dysregulation being a pathological event.

Calcium is a vital cellular signaling ion whose concentration and localization are tightly regulated by a variety of membrane voltage-gated and ligand-operated channels, pumps and sequestering proteins (Toescu et al., 2004). Cytoplasmic concentrations are kept low by actively pumping cytosolic calcium into the endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria or outside of the cell. In addition cytosolic proteins bind calcium, sequestering it and effectively crippling its transduction. Localized increases in cytosolic calcium can occur through ion channel entry across the plasma membrane, or from release from ER calcium stores within the cells. These controlled increases can activate a variety of enzymes, proteins and signaling transduction pathways as well as alter membrane potential and the properties of other ion channels upon which neural action potentials depend. It is therefore easy to see how a disruption in normal neuronal calcium homeostasis could lead to alterations in memory and cognition, and/or cell death.

2. APP

Many studies have focused on the effects of the various APP fragments on cellular calcium homeostasis. Of the several proteolytic byproducts, A β is by far the most widely characterized. Surprisingly, relatively little has been shown on how alterations in calcium could affect APP processing; AD patients have altered cellular calcium levels and responses early on in the disease (Gibson et al., 1987; Peterson et al., 1985; Peterson and Goldman, 1986; Peterson et al., 1986) and it would be useful to understand if these changes could underlie AB pathology, or if they are a consequence of it. Of note, increased cellular calcium levels could lead to an increase in either α - or β -cleavage of APP (Sinha and Lieberburg, 1999). Elevated calcium levels triggered by the ionophore ionomycin increased processing of APP by the non-amyloidogenic pathway, resulting in higher sAPP α levels, an effect which could be blocked by tyrosine kinase inhibitors (Petryniak et al., 1996). Furthermore, stimulation of α -secretase cleavage with phorbol esters, which activate PKC, have been shown to be dependent on both calcium and calpain activation (Chen and Fernandez, 2004), a calcium-dependent protease, whereas phorbol esters have been shown to elevate intracellular calcium levels and activate calpain (Kishimoto et al., 1989; Pontremoli et al., 1987). This therefore links elevated calcium levels with an increase in α -secretase processing of APP. It has been shown that an increase in α -secretase cleavage is usually accompanied by a concomitant decrease in A β production which is why activation of this pathway is a potential therapeutic for AD and is currently being targeted through muscarinic receptor agonists (Caccamo et al., 2006; Fahrenholz and Postina, 2006).

BACE1 is the sole identified β -secretase and is an aspartyl protease produced with a 46 amino acid pro-domain. This pro-domain must be removed for efficient

APP cleavage to occur (Shi et al., 2001), and removal is carried out by furin, a member of the pro-protein convertase enzymes (Bennett et al., 2000). Furin is a calcium dependent protease and so increases in calcium lead to an increase in activity. Treatment of cells with a calcium ionophore (A23187), which depleted intracellular stores of calcium, leads to a reduction in both furin and BACE activity (Bennett et al., 2000) and thus demonstrates one pathway through how intracellular calcium can regulate A β production through BACE.

Using the same calcium ionophore, but this time with calcium in the external media to increase cytosolic calcium levels Querfurth and Selkoe (Querfurth and Selkoe, 1994) showed that A β levels were increased 3-fold in HEK293 cells overexpressing APP. As caffeine, which causes calcium release from ER stores via the ryanodine receptor, also increased A β production they concluded that either calcium influx or release from stores into the cytosol could increase A β (Querfurth et al., 1997). Therefore, it seems that despite studies showing that elevated cytosolic calcium levels could increase α -secretase processing of APP, the effects on the β -secretase pathway are dominant, resulting in a net increase in A β . Conversely, we have found that SERCA (Sarco Endoplasmic Reticulum ATPase) pump activity, an integral ER calcium pump which actively keeps cytosolic calcium low and ER calcium high by pumping calcium into the ER, is linked to A β production. Thapsigargin, an irreversible inhibitor of SERCA reduces A β production while overexpression of SERCA increases it (Akbari et al; manuscript in prep).

Capacitative calcium entry (CCE), is a way of replenishing intracellular calcium stores through tightly controlled plasma membrane channels. Our group was the first to demonstrate that mutations in presenilin attenuate CCE (Leissring et al., 2000). A potential linkage of CCE as a modulator of the length of AB was first suggested by Yoo et al. (Yoo et al., 2000), who showed that by using CCE inhibitors, they could increase the AB42:40 ratio without affecting total levels, in both HEK293 and CHO cells overexpressing APP, whereas blockers of either L- or N-type voltage gated calcium channels (VGCCs) had no effect. They also showed that although CCE affects APP processing, most likely by affecting the γ -secretase by shifting the cleavage site, elevated APP or A β 42 did not affect CCE. As A β 42 is more hydrophobic than its shorter cousin A β 40, it aggregates more readily and is thought to be the more pathogenic species. Therefore, shifting the ratio of AB42:40 may be beneficial to AD patients and these results suggested that modulators of CCE could be therapeutic. Pierrot et al. (Pierrot et al., 2004) further showed that increasing intracellular calcium in rat cortical neurons through depolarization selectively increased Aβ42, through a CCE-dependent mechanism, which could be blocked by nimodipine – a selective L-type VGCC blocker. They reported that the higher calcium levels inhibited the α -secretase processing of APP, leading to enhanced AB production.

Figure 1 illustrates how modulators of cellular calcium may affect A β production in N2A cells and suggests that it is calcium entry through VGCCs which plays a key role in A β production, as blockers of VGCCs reduced production and activators



Figure 1. Aβ40 levels after 8 hours treatment with various calcium modulators in N2A cells stably overexpressing APP_{SWE} and PS1. We incubated N2A cells, a mouse neuronal cell line stably overexpressing APPSWE and PS1, with various calcium modulators for 8 hours and then the media collected and Aβ40 levels measured by sandwich ELISA. Ionomycin (10 µM), an ionophore had no effect on levels, while bradykinin (Bk; 100 nM) elevated levels but did not reach significance. The combination of bradykinin and 200 µM Gd³⁺, a blocker of CCE and VGCCs, dramatically reduced Aβ levels. Likewise nifedipine (nif; 5 µM), reduced Aβ levels by about 30% indicating that calcium entry through the L-type VGCC contributes to Aβ production, while Cd²⁺ (200 µM), a non selective blocker of all VGCCs reduced Aβ levels to a similar level as Bk + Gd³⁺, indicating that VGCC calcium entry is a key regulator of Aβ production. Thapsigargin (Tg; 1 µM) a potent inhibitor of SERCA effectively blocked all production of Aβ. Stimulation of calcium entry through VGCCs with KCl (50 mM), significantly increased Aβ production which was again reduced with either nifedipine, thapsigargin or Cd²⁺. These results indicate that calcium influx into the cytosol through VGCCs can regulate Aβ production. * indicates significance vs. KCl (p < 0.05)

enhance production. All of these studies suggest that elevations in calcium entry into cells, or increased release from intracellular stores can shift APP processing to the amyloidogenic pathway resulting in more A β production.

3. CALCIUM AND AD

Evidence for a disruption of calcium homeostasis in AD has been shown indirectly, through activation of calcium-dependent proteins obtained from post mortem brains and from studies on peripheral tissues from AD patients. Direct evidence of calcium disruption has not been shown due to the impossibility of using fresh human tissue for determining neuronal calcium dynamics, and problems associated with working with post-mortem tissue. However, using tissues from the periphery of AD patients, one of the first observations made was that calcium levels were altered compared to age-matched controls. As far back as 1986, Peterson et al. (Peterson et al., 1986) measured the free calcium concentration in fibroblasts using calcium-binding fluorescent dyes and found that AD patients had decreased levels compared to age-matched controls (70%), and even further decreased compared to young adults (81%). This study was followed up in 1988 by stimulating calcium release from stores, using bradykinin which stimulates release via the IP₃ receptor, in fibroblasts and recording the transients (Peterson et al., 1988). The rise and

amplitude of calcium release was slower and decreased in aged and AD patients compared to young adults, showing that calcium homeostasis was altered as a function of aging, but that it was the basal calcium levels in AD fibroblasts which were altered compared to controls. Huang et al (Huang et al., 1991) repeated these studies and found that bradykinin-induced IP₃ calcium transients were decreased with age but again found no difference between AD patients and age-matched controls. Despite these data, IP₃ receptor binding assays showed a decrease in AD brain tissue compared to age-matched controls, suggesting that there was decreased IP₃-mediated calcium release in the AD brain, which was not represented in the periphery (Young et al., 1988). In agreement, IP3 receptor binding assays of platelets from AD patients and controls showed no difference (Garlind et al., 1995). More recently, though, it has been shown that low doses of bradykinin almost exclusively elicit calcium transients in fibroblasts from AD patients while producing no response in age-matched controls (Hirashima et al., 1996). Discrepancies in these studies may have been due to different stages of the disease as well as not distinguishing between sporadic and familial AD, in which presenilin mutations are known to have diverse effects on calcium homeostasis in their own right. Addressing this, a study involving only sporadic AD patients and age-matched controls found that fibroblasts from sporadic AD patients had lower basal calcium levels than the controls and, interestingly, only fibroblasts from the controls elicited responses to $A\beta$ (Palotas et al., 2001).

Platelets from mild AD patients display decreased basal calcium levels, in agreement with fibroblasts, compared to age matched controls in the absence of extracellular calcium (Ripova et al., 2004; Ripovi et al., 2000). Upon addition of 1 mM calcium into the extracellular media, intracellular calcium levels markedly increased in AD patients compared to a small increase in the controls. These results suggested that platelets from AD patients had compromised buffering capabilities that allowed intracellular calcium to rise to dangerous levels, but that this was an early event in the disease progression. Altered calcium homeostasis has also been reported in lymphocytes. Lymphocytes from sporadic AD patients exhibit elevated basal intracellular calcium levels versus age-matched controls and calcium transients induced by A β fragments were higher in the AD lymphocytes than controls (Ibarreta et al., 1997). Again, the authors concluded that the calcium buffering capacity of the lymphocytes from AD patients was impaired. In contrast, no difference in calcium response was seen in platelets from AD patients compared to age-matched controls when stimulated with A β fragments (Hedin et al., 2001). In conclusion, altered calcium homeostasis has been observed by many groups in peripheral tissues from AD patients compared to age-matched controls and appears to be an early event in the disease, even prompting some to suggest using altered calcium responses in platelets as a diagnosis tool for AD (Ripova et al., 2004).

Discrepancies in results between studies could be due to the disease stage at which the measurements were established as well any other underlying conditions or medications being taken by the participants in the studies, which is a common problem when utilizing human tissue. Unfortunately, no study has been published on calcium dynamics in peripheral tissues of AD transgenic mouse models, in the absence of global presenilin mutations, which would help to determine if changes in peripheral tissue calcium homeostasis preceded A β pathology in humans or if increased A β leads to altered calcium homeostasis.

Data have also been published providing evidence for calcium dyshomeostasis in AD brain tissue, which offers invaluable insights since direct studies on human AD brain tissue calcium dynamics are impossible. These studies either reported altered activity or levels of proteins involved in calcium homeostasis, or activation of calcium-dependent proteases and other enzymes not found in control brains. For example, Colvin et al. (Colvin et al., 1991) demonstrated that there was increased Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger activity in AD patient brain tissue compared to age-matched controls, providing direct evidence of a facet of calcium homeostasis altered in AD. As already mention IP₃ receptor binding assays showed decreased receptor numbers in the AD brain (Young et al., 1988). L-type VGCCs were found to be increased in both the dentate gyrus and CA1 region of the hippocampus in AD brains compared to age-matched controls utilizing binding assays (Coon et al., 1999), which is consistent with *in vitro* data showing A β increases L-type VGCCs (Green and Peers, 2001; Ueda et al., 1997), whereas NMDA receptor binding and mRNA is decreased (Greenamyre et al., 1987; Ulas and Cotman, 1997). What these alterations in proteins involved in calcium homeostasis mean in the AD brain is unknown but suggests that calcium homeostasis is changed by the pathology. In support of calcium disturbances underlying neuronal death in AD, calcium-dependent calpain 1 is activated in the AD brain (Grynspan et al., 1997; Saito et al., 1993; Veeranna et al., 2004), as well as one of its substrates, calcineurin, being truncated (Liu et al., 2005). Calpain and calcineurin are amongst the most important calcium-dependent enzymes in the central nervous system. Calpain is a family of cysteine proteases which are activated by increased intracellular calcium concentration and have been implicated in the activation of cyclin-dependent protein kinase 5 (cdk5; (Lee and Tsai, 2001)). Cdk5 itself has been shown to cause hyperphosphorylation of tau leading to NFTs and neuronal death (Cruz et al., 2003), both of which are implicated in AD.

It seems that altered intracellular calcium homeostasis may be a crucial event in the initiation and progression of AD however the therapeutic value has thus far been mixed. For example, the use of calcium channel blockers, including dihydropyridines and non-dihydropyridines, has no effect on the risk of AD (Yasar et al., 2005), whereas the NMDA-antagonist memantine improves cognition in mild to moderate AD (Peskind et al., 2006).

4. Aβ, ION CHANNELS AND SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY

The *in vitro* effects of exogenous $A\beta$ on a variety of ion channels have been widely documented and reviewed, including VGCCs (Price et al., 1998), in particular the L-type channel (Brown et al., 2005; Ekinci et al., 1999; Green and Peers, 2001; Green and Peers, 2002; Ueda et al., 1997), potassium channels

(Ramsden et al., 2001), NMDA receptors (Goto et al., 2006; Nomura et al., 2005; Snyder et al., 2005; Ye et al., 2004) and nicotinic receptors (Liu et al., 2001; Pettit et al., 2001; Takenouchi and Munekata, 1994; Wu et al., 2004), as well as forming its own novel calcium conducting ion channels (Arispe et al., 1993; Kawahara and Kuroda, 1997). Although direct evidence for the involvement of any of these channels is lacking in AD patients, evidence exists from transgenic mouse models as well as extensive in vitro studies from which we can postulate the underlying disturbances in the AD brain. Transgenic mouse models of AD, through overexpression of APP or AB, display cognitive impairments (Holcomb et al., 1998) in the absence of extensive neuronal loss and it is easy to see how disturbances in any of these ion channel activities could result in perturbed memory formation or consolidation. Of note, all of the above ion channels are involved in calcium regulation (potassium channels through determining the membrane potential upon which VGCC's depend) and are highly concentrated in both pre- and post-synaptic terminals, whereas synaptic loss in the AD brain correlates best with cognitive deficits (DeKosky et al., 1996; Terry et al., 1991) and is an early event. As synaptic activity underlies cognition and memory, it remains a highly relevant target for AB mediated disturbances in calcium to cause the clinical cognitive deficits seen in both AD and mouse models. For example APP overexpressing mice provide evidence that A β pathology can impair synaptic functioning as long term potentiation (LTP), a form of synaptic plasticity thought to underlie learning and memory (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993). Hippocampal synaptic transmission is impaired in mice containing AB plaques compared to age matched controls (Chapman et al., 1999). Utilizing the 3xTg-AD mouse model, our group demonstrated the same impaired hippocampal LTP at 6 months of age, compared to controls (Oddo et al., 2003b), whereas no differences were seen at 1 month of age. At 6 months of age, the 3xTg-AD have no AB plaque pathology but accumulate intraneuronal AB within the hippocampus (Billings et al., 2005). Moreover, they also display deficits in learning and memory at this age (Billings et al., 2005), specifically impaired retention of memories, rather than problems learning. The deficits in memory could be reversed by removing the intraneuronal A β via immunotherapy, demonstrating that intraneuronal accumulation of A β causes cognitive decline (Billings et al., 2005). Supporting these data in which non-plaque AB causes LTP and retention deficits, other groups have shown that direct injections of $A\beta$ into the hippocampus impairs memory (Nabeshima and Nitta, 1994), whereas others have shown that exogenous application of A β to hippocampal slices impairs LTP (Chen et al., 2000). These observations have been taken further by showing that inhibition of LTP depends upon the aggregation state of $A\beta$ and that it is the oligometric form that inhibits, not the monomeric or fibrillar species (Walsh et al., 2005). Notably, we recently reported that the 3xTg-AD mice at 6 months of age, when appreciable memory and LTP deficits occur, coincides with increased AB oligomer levels (Oddo et al., 2006) providing strong in vivo evidence for naturally produced oligomers disrupting both LTP and cognition. As LTP is strongly dependent upon NMDA receptors (Morris et al., 1986), which conduct calcium into the post-synaptic terminal, as well as neurotransmitter release, such as glutamate, which is dependent upon pre-synaptic calcium entry, A β oligomers disrupting any pre- or post-synaptic ion channel could impair LTP. Two recent articles have highlighted a role for $A\beta$ in regulation of two crucial ion channels involved in LTP – the L-type VGCC and the NMDA receptor. One of the earliest documented effects of $A\beta$ on any ion channel was that it could enhance calcium current through the L-type VGCC (Ueda et al., 1997), which was found to involve production of reactive oxygen species (Green and Peers, 2002), a feature central to AD pathology, but the significance or consequences of this were not reported. Scragg and colleagues (Scragg et al., 2005) took these observations further and found that endogenous produced, or exogenously applied, AB acted post translationally to promote channel insertion into the plasma membrane, through increased channel trafficking or insertion/retention into the membrane, resulting in an increase in channel activity. Although this observation alone, suggesting that $A\beta$ has a physiological role in L-type VGCC regulation, which could go wrong in AD leading to deregulated calcium entry in the synapse inhibiting LTP and memory, is astounding, a further study has found that A β also regulates trafficking of the NMDA receptor (Snyder et al., 2005), another integral component of LTP and memory. Here the authors found that naturally secreted A β promoted endocytosis of NMDA receptors in cortical neurons, whereas mouse models of AD with increased Aß production displayed reduced quantities of cell surface NMDA receptors. Interestingly endocytosis was found to be dependent upon another calcium conduction ion channel with which A β has been reported to interact - the α 7 nicotinic receptor (Takenouchi and Munekata, 1994; Liu et al., 2001; Pettit et al., 2001). Although the effects of AB binding to the NMDA receptor remain controversial, it was found that application of A β led to the activation of PP2B which is a calcium sensitive enzyme known to regulate NMDA receptor transmission (Shi et al., 2000). In conclusion, A β may have a role in the regulation of a number of ion channels involved in synaptic transmission, which would explain why cognitive decline is seen in AD where AB levels are increased, and mouse models of the disease correlating with reduced LTP, highlighting the synapse as the major site of calcium dysregulation in the disease. This may also help to explain why synapse loss is an early event in AD and correlates best with cognitive decline, whereas plaque load does not (Braak and Braak, 1997).

In addition to $A\beta$ altering the activity of a number of ion channels involved in synaptic transmission, it has also been shown to increase exocytosis of neurotransmitter containing vesicles, an event largely dependent upon calcium entry. $A\beta$ was first shown to enhance exocytosis of MTT formazan (Liu and Schubert, 1997) by altering intracellular vesicle trafficking (Liu et al., 1998). Following this, it was shown that endogenously produced or exogenously added $A\beta$ could markedly increase secretion of catcholamine-containing vesicles from PC12 cells (Taylor et al., 1999), an effect that was dependent upon calcium entry. However, this calcium entry was found to be very small – less than 1 pA/pF but coupled to a doubling in secretory vesicles (Green and Peers, 2001), suggesting that this calcium entry was located in very close proximity to the vesicles themselves, and the docking machinery. Furthermore, it appeared that the calcium was entering the cell through a novel route not attributed to any VGCC, and was postulated to be through the novel A β channel as it could be blocked by Congo red, which disrupts Aß aggregation, or antibodies against Aß (Taylor et al., 1999). This demonstrated that AB could endogenously form channels which, upon membrane depolarization, would conduct tiny amounts of calcium into the cell but result in enormous secretion of neurotransmitter containing vesicles. Although AB increasing neurotransmitter secretion has not yet been reported in animal models of AD, it has been shown that incubating nerve terminals in physiological concentrations of AB42 increased both glutamate and noradrenaline exocytosis from rat cortical neurons (Bobich et al., 2004), of which oligomers probably mediated the effect. Of note, Demuro and colleagues (Demuro et al., 2005) have recently shown that application of AB oligomers rapidly increases intracellular calcium levels via entry across the plasma membrane not attributable to any VGCC. Supporting a role for AB in secretion of neurotransmitter containing vesicles has come from a recent in vivo study by Cirrito and colleagues (Cirrito et al., 2005). Using in vivo microdialysis alongside field potential recordings, the authors demonstrated that $A\beta$ was secreted into the interstitial fluid dynamically with synaptic activity. Secretion of AB was dependent upon exocytosis suggesting that $A\beta$ is present, or secreted, alongside neurotransmitter containing vesicles and due to the close proximity that AB must have with the vesicles and their docking machinery could support a role for modulating secretion as shown in vitro. Disruption of neurotransmitter release from the pre-synaptic membrane by $A\beta$ is another way in which both memory and LTP could be impaired in AD and mouse models, alongside changes in intracellular calcium levels caused by Aβ deregulation of ion channels either pre- or post-synaptically.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Calcium may play a vital role in any number of aspects of AD – from modulating APP processing towards the amyloidogenic processing pathway, to underlying memory, and neuronal loss. As calcium dysregulation seems to be an early event in the disease, as shown from peripheral cells from AD patients, it seems likely that if this does not underlie the increased A β pathology, it certainly could contribute to it through a positive feedback loop. As the evidence for calcium involvement comes from peripheral cells, it also suggests that the effects of AD are not restricted to the CNS and more subtle global changes occur.

Many *in vitro* studies have highlighted the ability of the A β peptide to modulate ion channel function and activity, resulting in increased calcium influx into the cytosol. These observations make it highly likely that any changes in calcium seen in AD are as a result of the A β peptide, which may be because there are increased levels in the AD brain, or because the aggregation state is altered to a more predominantly oligomeric species which seems to mediate many of the effects on synaptic plasticity (Walsh et al., 2005). Regardless, *in vivo* evidence has shown that A β impairs LTP and induces learning and memory deficits highlighting the synapse as a target. Synaptic transmission is highly dependent upon tightly regulated calcium at both the pre- and post-synaptic membranes and it is at these membranes all the ion channels A β has been reported to disrupt are clustered. Therefore, if any of the properties of A β to alter ion channel function reported in *in vitro* studies occurs *in vivo*, it will interfere with synaptic transmission, explaining the LTP and memory deficits observed in transgenic mice. Furthermore, evidence is accumulating that A β has a physiological role in ion channel regulation (Snyder et al., 2005), which would explain why calcium homeostasis is disrupted in AD once A β levels become deregulated.

Understanding the precise actions of $A\beta$ on the ion channels that control calcium homeostasis will be crucial in the future and we will need to turn to sophisticated animal models to fully explore the effects on neuronal calcium, synaptic transmission, LTP and cognition. Indeed, the NMDA receptor antagonist memantine is currently being used as a therapeutic for AD, with patients displaying improved cognition (Peskind et al., 2006). This therapy is thought to target the actions of $A\beta$ on ion channels underlying cognition rather than targeting the production of $A\beta$ in the first place. Better understanding will lead to the realization of new drug targets to combat the pathological effects of $A\beta$, in the event that therapies designed to prevent or reduce the production of $A\beta$ fail, or that preventing $A\beta$ production does not prevent memory loss in AD, highlighting perhaps another APP fragment as the culprit.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (AG17968 and AG16573).

REFERENCES

- Arispe, N., Rojas, E., and Pollard, H. B. (1993). Alzheimer disease amyloid beta protein forms calcium channels in bilayer membranes: blockade by tromethamine and aluminum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 567–571.
- Bennett, B. D., Denis, P., Haniu, M., Teplow, D. B., Kahn, S., Louis, J. C., Citron, M., and Vassar, R. (2000). A furin-like convertase mediates propeptide cleavage of BACE, the Alzheimer's beta-secretase. J Biol Chem 275, 37712–37717.
- Benzing, W. C., Wujek, J. R., Ward, E. K., Shaffer, D., Ashe, K. H., Younkin, S. G., and Brunden, K. R. (1999). Evidence for glial-mediated inflammation in aged APP(SW) transgenic mice. Neurobiol Aging 20, 581–589.
- Billings, L. M., Oddo, S., Green, K. N., McGaugh, J. L., and LaFerla, F. M. (2005). Intraneuronal Abeta causes the onset of early Alzheimer's disease-related cognitive deficits in transgenic mice. Neuron 45, 675–688.
- Bliss, T. V., and Collingridge, G. L. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature 361, 31–39.
- Bobich, J. A., Zheng, Q., and Campbell, A. (2004). Incubation of nerve endings with a physiological concentration of Abeta1–42 activates CaV2.2(N-Type)-voltage operated calcium channels and acutely increases glutamate and noradrenaline release. J Alzheimers Dis 6, 243–255.

- Brown, S. T., Scragg, J. L., Boyle, J. P., Hudasek, K., Peers, C., and Fearon, I. M. (2005). Hypoxic augmentation of Ca²⁺ channel currents requires a functional electron transport chain. J Biol Chem 280, 21706–21712.
- Caccamo, A., Oddo, S., Billings, L. M., Green, K. N., Martinez-Coria, H., Fisher, A., and LaFerla, F. M. (2006). M1 receptors play a central role in modulating AD-like pathology in transgenic mice. Neuron 49, 671–682.
- Chapman, P. F., White, G. L., Jones, M. W., Cooper-Blacketer, D., Marshall, V. J., Irizarry, M., Younkin, L., Good, M. A., Bliss, T. V., Hyman, B. T., *et al.* (1999). Impaired synaptic plasticity and learning in aged amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. Nat Neurosci 2, 271–276.
- Chen, M., and Fernandez, H. L. (2004). Stimulation of beta-amyloid precursor protein alpha-processing by phorbol ester involves calcium and calpain activation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 316, 332–340.
- Chen, Q. S., Kagan, B. L., Hirakura, Y., and Xie, C. W. (2000). Impairment of hippocampal long-term potentiation by Alzheimer amyloid beta-peptides. J Neurosci Res 60, 65–72.
- Cirrito, J. R., Yamada, K. A., Finn, M. B., Sloviter, R. S., Bales, K. R., May, P. C., Schoepp, D. D., Paul, S. M., Mennerick, S., and Holtzman, D. M. (2005). Synaptic activity regulates interstitial fluid amyloid-beta levels in vivo. Neuron 48, 913–922.
- Colvin, R. A., Bennett, J. W., Colvin, S. L., Allen, R. A., Martinez, J., and Miner, G. D. (1991). Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange activity is increased in Alzheimer's disease brain tissues. Brain Res 543, 139–147.
- Coon, A. L., Wallace, D. R., Mactutus, C. F., and Booze, R. M. (1999). L-type calcium channels in the hippocampus and cerebellum of Alzheimer's disease brain tissue. Neurobiol Aging 20, 597–603.
- Cruz, J. C., Tseng, H. C., Goldman, J. A., Shih, H., and Tsai, L. H. (2003). Aberrant Cdk5 activation by p25 triggers pathological events leading to neurodegeneration and neurofibrillary tangles. Neuron 40, 471–483.
- DeKosky, S. T., Scheff, S. W., and Styren, S. D. (1996). Structural correlates of cognition in dementia: quantification and assessment of synapse change. Neurodegeneration 5, 417–421.
- Demuro, A., Mina, E., Kayed, R., Milton, S. C., Parker, I., and Glabe, C. G. (2005). Calcium dysregulation and membrane disruption as a ubiquitous neurotoxic mechanism of soluble amyloid oligomers. J Biol Chem 280, 17294–17300.
- Ekinci, F. J., Malik, K. U., and Shea, T. B. (1999). Activation of the L voltage-sensitive calcium channel by mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase following exposure of neuronal cells to beta-amyloid. MAP kinase mediates beta-amyloid-induced neurodegeneration. J Biol Chem 274, 30322–30327.
- Fahrenholz, F., and Postina, R. (2006). Alpha-secretase activation–an approach to Alzheimer's disease therapy. Neurodegener Dis 3, 255–261.
- Garlind, A., Cowburn, R. F., Forsell, C., Ravid, R., Winblad, B., and Fowler, C. J. (1995). Diminished [3H]inositol(1,4,5)P3 but not [3H]inositol(1,3,4,5)P4 binding in Alzheimer's disease brain. Brain Res 681, 160–166.
- Gibson, G. E., Nielsen, P., Sherman, K. A., and Blass, J. P. (1987). Diminished mitogen-induced calcium uptake by lymphocytes from Alzheimer patients. Biol Psychiatry 22, 1079–1086.
- Goto, Y., Niidome, T., Akaike, A., Kihara, T., and Sugimoto, H. (2006). Amyloid beta-peptide preconditioning reduces glutamate-induced neurotoxicity by promoting endocytosis of NMDA receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 351, 259–265.
- Green, K. N., and Peers, C. (2001). Amyloid beta peptides mediate hypoxic augmentation of Ca(2+) channels. J Neurochem 77, 953–956.
- Green, K. N., and Peers, C. (2002). Divergent pathways account for two distinct effects of amyloid beta peptides on exocytosis and Ca(2+) currents: involvement of ROS and NF-kappaB. J Neurochem *81*, 1043–1051.
- Greenamyre, J. T., Penney, J. B., D'Amato, C. J., and Young, A. B. (1987). Dementia of the Alzheimer's type: changes in hippocampal L-[3H]glutamate binding. J Neurochem 48, 543–551.
- Grynspan, F., Griffin, W. R., Cataldo, A., Katayama, S., and Nixon, R. A. (1997). Active site-directed antibodies identify calpain II as an early-appearing and pervasive component of neurofibrillary pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 763, 145–158.

- Hedin, H. L., Eriksson, S., and Fowler, C. J. (2001). Human platelet calcium mobilisation in response to beta-amyloid (25–35): buffer dependency and unchanged response in Alzheimer's disease. Neurochem Int 38, 1450–151.
- Hirashima, N., Etcheberrigaray, R., Bergamaschi, S., Racchi, M., Battaini, F., Binetti, G., Govoni, S., and Alkon, D. L. (1996). Calcium responses in human fibroblasts: a diagnostic molecular profile for Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 17, 549–555.
- Holcomb, L., Gordon, M. N., McGowan, E., Yu, X., Benkovic, S., Jantzen, P., Wright, K., Saad, I., Mueller, R., Morgan, D., *et al.* (1998). Accelerated Alzheimer-type phenotype in transgenic mice carrying both mutant amyloid precursor protein and presenilin 1 transgenes. Nat Med 4, 97–100.
- Huang, H. M., Toral-Barza, L., Thaler, H., Tofel-Grehl, B., and Gibson, G. E. (1991). Inositol phosphates and intracellular calcium after bradykinin stimulation in fibroblasts from young, normal aged and Alzheimer donors. Neurobiol Aging 12, 469–473.
- Ibarreta, D., Parrilla, R., and Ayuso, M. S. (1997). Altered Ca²⁺ homeostasis in lymphoblasts from patients with late-onset Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord *11*, 220–227.
- Kawahara, M., and Kuroda, Y. (1997). [Molecular mechanism of neuronal death in Alzheimer's disease: Ca(2+)-channel formation of beta amyloid protein molecules]. Tanpakushitsu Kakusan Koso 42, 2002–2010.
- Kishimoto, A., Mikawa, K., Hashimoto, K., Yasuda, I., Tanaka, S., Tominaga, M., Kuroda, T., and Nishizuka, Y. (1989). Limited proteolysis of protein kinase C subspecies by calcium-dependent neutral protease (calpain). J Biol Chem 264, 4088–4092.
- LaFerla, F. M. (2002). Calcium dyshomeostasis and intracellular signalling in Alzheimer's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 3, 862–872.
- Lee, M. S., and Tsai, L. H. (2001). Cdk5 at the junction. Nat Neurosci 4, 340-342.
- Leissring, M. A., Akbari, Y., Fanger, C. M., Cahalan, M. D., Mattson, M. P., and LaFerla, F. M. (2000). Capacitative calcium entry deficits and elevated luminal calcium content in mutant presenilin-1 knockin mice. J Cell Biol 149, 793–798.
- Lim, G. P., Chu, T., Yang, F., Beech, W., Frautschy, S. A., and Cole, G. M. (2001). The curry spice curcumin reduces oxidative damage and amyloid pathology in an Alzheimer transgenic mouse. J Neurosci 21, 8370–8377.
- Liu, F., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Oda, Y., Tomizawa, K., and Gong, C. X. (2005). Truncation and activation of calcineurin A by calpain I in Alzheimer disease brain. J Biol Chem 280, 37755–37762.
- Liu, Q., Kawai, H., and Berg, D. K. (2001). beta -Amyloid peptide blocks the response of alpha 7-containing nicotinic receptors on hippocampal neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 4734–4739.
- Liu, Y., Peterson, D. A., and Schubert, D. (1998). Amyloid beta peptide alters intracellular vesicle trafficking and cholesterol homeostasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 13266–13271.
- Liu, Y., and Schubert, D. (1997). Cytotoxic amyloid peptides inhibit cellular 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) reduction by enhancing MTT formazan exocytosis. J Neurochem 69, 2285–2293.
- Morris, R. G., Anderson, E., Lynch, G. S., and Baudry, M. (1986). Selective impairment of learning and blockade of long-term potentiation by an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, AP5. Nature 319, 774–776.
- Nabeshima, T., and Nitta, A. (1994). Memory impairment and neuronal dysfunction induced by beta-amyloid protein in rats. Tohoku J Exp Med 174, 241–249.
- Nomura, I., Kato, N., Kita, T., and Takechi, H. (2005). Mechanism of impairment of long-term potentiation by amyloid beta is independent of NMDA receptors or voltage-dependent calcium channels in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. Neurosci Lett 391, 1–6.
- Oddo, S., Billings, L., Kesslak, J. P., Cribbs, D. H., and LaFerla, F. M. (2004). Abeta immunotherapy leads to clearance of early, but not late, hyperphosphorylated tau aggregates via the proteasome. Neuron *43*, 321–332.
- Oddo, S., Caccamo, A., Kitazawa, M., Tseng, B. P., and LaFerla, F. M. (2003a). Amyloid deposition precedes tangle formation in a triple transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 24, 1063–1070.

- Oddo, S., Caccamo, A., Shepherd, J. D., Murphy, M. P., Golde, T. E., Kayed, R., Metherate, R., Mattson, M. P., Akbari, Y., and LaFerla, F. M. (2003b). Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. Neuron 39, 409–421.
- Oddo, S., Caccamo, A., Tran, L., Lambert, M. P., Glabe, C. G., Klein, W. L., and LaFerla, F. M. (2006). Temporal profile of amyloid-beta (Abeta) oligomerization in an in vivo model of Alzheimer disease. A link between Abeta and tau pathology. J Biol Chem 281, 1599–1604.
- Palotas, A., Kalman, J., Laskay, G., Juhasz, A., Janka, Z., and Penke, B. (2001). Comparative studies on [Ca²⁺]i-level of fibroblasts from Alzheimer patients and control individuals. Neurochem Res 26, 817–820.
- Peskind, E. R., Potkin, S. G., Pomara, N., Ott, B. R., Graham, S. M., Olin, J. T., and McDonald, S. (2006). Memantine treatment in mild to moderate Alzheimer disease: a 24-week randomized, controlled trial. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 14, 704–715.
- Peterson, C., Gibson, G. E., and Blass, J. P. (1985). Altered calcium uptake in cultured skin fibroblasts from patients with Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med 312, 1063–1065.
- Peterson, C., and Goldman, J. E. (1986). Alterations in calcium content and biochemical processes in cultured skin fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 2758–2762.
- Peterson, C., Ratan, R. R., Shelanski, M. L., and Goldman, J. E. (1986). Cytosolic free calcium and cell spreading decrease in fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 7999–8001.
- Peterson, C., Ratan, R. R., Shelanski, M. L., and Goldman, J. E. (1988). Altered response of fibroblasts from aged and Alzheimer donors to drugs that elevate cytosolic free calcium. Neurobiol Aging 9, 261–266.
- Petryniak, M. A., Wurtman, R. J., and Slack, B. E. (1996). Elevated intracellular calcium concentration increases secretory processing of the amyloid precursor protein by a tyrosine phosphorylationdependent mechanism. Biochem J 320 (Pt 3), 957–963.
- Pettit, D. L., Shao, Z., and Yakel, J. L. (2001). beta-Amyloid(1–42) peptide directly modulates nicotinic receptors in the rat hippocampal slice. J Neurosci 21, RC120.
- Pierrot, N., Ghisdal, P., Caumont, A. S., and Octave, J. N. (2004). Intraneuronal amyloid-beta1–42 production triggered by sustained increase of cytosolic calcium concentration induces neuronal death. J Neurochem 88, 1140–1150.
- Pontremoli, S., Melloni, E., Michetti, M., Sparatore, B., Salamino, F., Sacco, O., and Horecker, B. L. (1987). Phosphorylation by protein kinase C of a 20-kDa cytoskeletal polypeptide enhances its susceptibility to digestion by calpain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84, 398–401.
- Price, S. A., Held, B., and Pearson, H. A. (1998). Amyloid beta protein increases Ca²⁺ currents in rat cerebellar granule neurones. Neuroreport 9, 539–545.
- Querfurth, H. W., Jiang, J., Geiger, J. D., and Selkoe, D. J. (1997). Caffeine stimulates amyloid betapeptide release from beta-amyloid precursor protein-transfected HEK293 cells. J Neurochem 69, 1580–1591.
- Querfurth, H. W., and Selkoe, D. J. (1994). Calcium ionophore increases amyloid beta peptide production by cultured cells. Biochemistry 33, 4550–4561.
- Ramsden, M., Plant, L. D., Webster, N. J., Vaughan, P. F., Henderson, Z., and Pearson, H. A. (2001). Differential effects of unaggregated and aggregated amyloid beta protein (1–40) on K(+) channel currents in primary cultures of rat cerebellar granule and cortical neurones. J Neurochem 79, 699–712.
- Ripova, D., Platilova, V., Strunecka, A., Jirak, R., and Hoschl, C. (2004). Alterations in calcium homeostasis as biological marker for mild Alzheimer's disease? Physiol Res 53, 449–452.
- Ripovi, D., Platilova, V., Strunecka, A., Jirak, R., and Hoschl, C. (2000). Cytosolic calcium alterations in platelets of patients with early stages of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 21, 729–734.
- Saito, K., Elce, J. S., Hamos, J. E., and Nixon, R. A. (1993). Widespread activation of calcium-activated neutral proteinase (calpain) in the brain in Alzheimer disease: a potential molecular basis for neuronal degeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 2628–2632.
- Scragg, J. L., Fearon, I. M., Boyle, J. P., Ball, S. G., Varadi, G., and Peers, C. (2005). Alzheimer's amyloid peptides mediate hypoxic up-regulation of L-type Ca²⁺ channels. Faseb J 19, 150–152.

- Shi, J., Townsend, M., and Constantine-Paton, M. (2000). Activity-dependent induction of tonic calcineurin activity mediates a rapid developmental downregulation of NMDA receptor currents. Neuron 28, 103–114.
- Shi, X. P., Chen, E., Yin, K. C., Na, S., Garsky, V. M., Lai, M. T., Li, Y. M., Platchek, M., Register, R. B., Sardana, M. K., *et al.* (2001). The pro domain of beta-secretase does not confer strict zymogen-like properties but does assist proper folding of the protease domain. J Biol Chem 276, 10366–10373.
- Sinha, S., and Lieberburg, I. (1999). Cellular mechanisms of beta-amyloid production and secretion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 11049–11053.
- Smith, I. F., Green, K. N., and LaFerla, F. M. (2005). Calcium dysregulation in Alzheimer's disease: recent advances gained from genetically modified animals. Cell Calcium 38, 427–437.
- Snyder, E. M., Nong, Y., Almeida, C. G., Paul, S., Moran, T., Choi, E. Y., Nairn, A. C., Salter, M. W., Lombroso, P. J., Gouras, G. K., and Greengard, P. (2005). Regulation of NMDA receptor trafficking by amyloid-beta. Nat Neurosci 8, 1051–1058.
- Takenouchi, T., and Munekata, E. (1994). Inhibitory effects of beta-amyloid peptides on nicotine-induced Ca²⁺ influx in PC12h cells in culture. Neurosci Lett *173*, 147–150.
- Taylor, S. C., Batten, T. F., and Peers, C. (1999). Hypoxic enhancement of quantal catecholamine secretion. Evidence for the involvement of amyloid beta-peptides. J Biol Chem 274, 31217–31222.
- Terry, R. D., Masliah, E., Salmon, D. P., Butters, N., DeTeresa, R., Hill, R., Hansen, L. A., and Katzman, R. (1991). Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. Ann Neurol 30, 572–580.
- Toescu, E. C., Verkhratsky, A., and Landfield, P. W. (2004). Ca²⁺ regulation and gene expression in normal brain aging. Trends Neurosci 27, 614–620.
- Tu, H., Nelson, O., Bezprozvanny, A., Wang, Z., Lee, S. F., Hao, Y. H., Serneels, L., De Strooper, B., Yu, G., and Bezprozvanny, I. (2006). Presenilins form ER Ca²⁺ leak channels, a function disrupted by familial Alzheimer's disease-linked mutations. Cell *126*, 981–993.
- Ueda, K., Shinohara, S., Yagami, T., Asakura, K., and Kawasaki, K. (1997). Amyloid beta protein potentiates Ca²⁺ influx through L-type voltage-sensitive Ca²⁺ channels: a possible involvement of free radicals. J Neurochem *68*, 265–271.
- Ulas, J., and Cotman, C. W. (1997). Decreased expression of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor 1 messenger RNA in select regions of Alzheimer brain. Neuroscience 79, 973–982.
- Veeranna, Kaji, T., Boland, B., Odrljin, T., Mohan, P., Basavarajappa, B. S., Peterhoff, C., Cataldo, A., Rudnicki, A., Amin, N., *et al.* (2004). Calpain mediates calcium-induced activation of the erk1,2 MAPK pathway and cytoskeletal phosphorylation in neurons: relevance to Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol *165*, 795–805.
- Walsh, D. M., Townsend, M., Podlisny, M. B., Shankar, G. M., Fadeeva, J. V., El Agnaf, O., Hartley, D. M., and Selkoe, D. J. (2005). Certain inhibitors of synthetic amyloid beta-peptide (Abeta) fibrillogenesis block oligomerization of natural Abeta and thereby rescue long-term potentiation. J Neurosci 25, 2455–2462.
- Wu, J., Kuo, Y. P., George, A. A., Xu, L., Hu, J., and Lukas, R. J. (2004). beta-Amyloid directly inhibits human alpha4beta2-nicotinic acetylcholine receptors heterologously expressed in human SH-EP1 cells. J Biol Chem 279, 37842–37851.
- Yasar, S., Corrada, M., Brookmeyer, R., and Kawas, C. (2005). Calcium channel blockers and risk of AD: the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Neurobiol Aging 26, 157–163.
- Ye, C., Walsh, D. M., Selkoe, D. J., and Hartley, D. M. (2004). Amyloid beta-protein induced electrophysiological changes are dependent on aggregation state: N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) versus non-NMDA receptor/channel activation. Neurosci Lett 366, 320–325.
- Yoo, A. S., Cheng, I., Chung, S., Grenfell, T. Z., Lee, H., Pack-Chung, E., Handler, M., Shen, J., Xia, W., Tesco, G., *et al.* (2000). Presenilin-mediated modulation of capacitative calcium entry. Neuron 27, 561–572.
- Young, L. T., Kish, S. J., Li, P. P., and Warsh, J. J. (1988). Decreased brain [3H]inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate binding in Alzheimer's disease. Neurosci Lett 94, 198–202.

CHAPTER 20

CALCIUM AND CARDIOMYOPATHIES

E.G. KRANIAS^{1,*}AND D.M. BERS²

¹Department of Pharmacology and Cell Biophysics, College of Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH 45267 ² Department of Physiology, Loyola University Chicago, Stritch School of Medicine, Maywood,

² Department of Physiology, Loyola University Chicago, Stritch School of Medicine, Maywood, IL 60153

Abstract: Regulation of Calcium (Ca) cycling by the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) underlies the control of cardiac contraction during excitation-contraction (E-C) coupling. Moreover, alterations in E-C coupling occurring in cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure are characterized by abnormal Ca-cycling through the SR network. A large body of evidence points to the central role of: a) SERCA and its regulator phospholamban (PLN) in the modulation of cardiac relaxation; b) calsequestrin in the regulation of SR Ca-load; and c) the ryanodine receptor (RyR) Ca-channel in the control of SR Ca-release. The levels or activity of these key Ca-handling proteins are altered in cardiomyopathies, and these changes have been linked to the deteriorated cardiac function and remodeling. Furthermore, genetic variants in these SR Ca-cycling proteins have been identified, which may predispose to heart failure or fatal arrhythmias. This chapter concentrates on the pivotal role of SR Ca-cycling proteins in health and disease with specific emphasis on their recently reported genetic modifiers

Keywords: calcium, sarcoplasmic reticulum, cardiomyopathy, mutations

1. INTRODUCTION

Excitation-contraction coupling in cardiac myocytes is initiated by the cardiac action potential (AP), where depolarization-activates an inward Ca current (I_{Ca}), that is called the Ca-trigger, as it promotes the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Ca release. The combination of I_{Ca} and SR Ca release raises intracellular free [Ca] ([Ca]_i), allowing Ca to bind to the myofilament protein troponin C, which activates contraction. For

^{*}Evangelia G. Kranias, University of Cincinnati, College Medicine, Department of Pharmacology & Cell Biophysics, 231 Albert Sabin Way, Cincinnati, OH 45267-0575, E-mail: Litsa.kranias@uc.edu

E. Carafoli and M. Brini (eds.), Calcium Signalling and Disease, 523–537. © 2007 Springer.

relaxation to occur $[Ca]_i$ declines, causing Ca dissociation from troponin C. This $[Ca]_i$ decline is due to transport from the cytosol by four pathways: 1) SR Ca-ATPase; 2) sarcolemmal Na/Ca exchange (NCX); 3) sarcolemmal Ca-ATPase; and 4) mitochondrial Ca uniport. The most prominent of these is the SR Ca-ATPase. For the myocyte to be in a steady state with respect to Ca balance, the amount of Ca extruded from the cell during relaxation must be the same as the amount of Ca entry at each beat. Likewise, the amount of Ca released from the SR must equal that re-accumulated by the action of the SR Ca-ATPase.

During heart failure (HF), functional expression of different proteins involved in E-C coupling is altered, and these changes contribute to altered Ca transients, contractility and arrhythmias in HF. Furthermore, genetic mutations in the key Ca-cycling proteins have been recently identified, which contribute to heart failure and fatal arrhythmias. This chapter will concentrate in recent studies on genetic modifiers of cardiac function at the level of the sarcoplasmic reticulum.

2. SR CALCIUM-CYCLING

During cardiac relaxation, Ca is transported into the SR lumen by the SR Ca-ATPase, which is under reversible regulation by phospholamban (PLN). Dephosphorylated PLN binds to SERCA2a and inhibits the enzyme's apparent Ca-affinity. However, phosphorylation of PLN relieves the Ca-ATPase inhibition and enhances Ca-sequestration, associated with increased relaxation rates and contractility (*Simmerman et al., 1998; MacLennan et al., 2003). In vivo*, PLN is phosphorylated by both cAMP-dependent and Ca-CaM-dependent protein kinases (PKA and CaMK) during β -adrenergic stimulation (*Kranias, et al., 1982; Wegener, et al., 1989; Talosi, et al., 1993; Lindemann, et al., 1983; Garvey, et al., 1988; Mundina-Weilenmann, et al., 1996).* PLN is the major phosphoprotein mediating the positive inotropic and lusitropic effects of β -adrenergic receptor (β -AR) agonists (*Wegener, et al., 1989; Talosi, et al., 1993; Lindemann, et al., 1983; Garvey, et al., 1988; Mundina-Weilenmann, et al., 1996).* Reversal of PLN phosphorylation occurs by the SR-associated type 1 phosphatase, which is regulated by an endogenous inhibitor-1 protein (*Kranias, et al., 1988*).

Initiation of contractions occurs when a Ca-trigger through the outer cell membrane induces SR Ca-release through the RyRs (SR Ca release channels), which are coupled to other proteins at the luminal SR surface (triadin, junctin and calse-questrin) (*Zhang, et al., 1997*). This quaternary Ca-signaling complex participates in both intra-SR Ca buffering and modulation of the Ca release process. Termination of SR Ca release most likely includes RyR inactivation (or adaptation) and a partial decline in $[Ca]_{SR}$. When the SR Ca load is elevated, it enhances the fraction of SR Ca that is released due to stimulation of RyR open probability (*Bassani, et al., 1995; Shannon, et al., 2000*). In addition to effects of $[Ca]_{SR}$ also increases the probability of spontaneous SR Ca release events that can propagate through the

myocyte as Ca waves and activate aftercontractions, transient inward current and delayed afterdepolarizations that are arrhythmogenic (*Bers*, *DM*, 2001).

2.1. Regulation of SR Calcium-Cycling by Phospholamban

The functional significance of PLN in cardiac muscle has been elucidated through the generation of mouse models with altered PLN expression levels. Heterozygous (40% of PLN) and homozygous (no PLN) for PLN deficiency mice (Luo, et al., 1994; Luo, et al., 1996) indicated that the decreases in PLN levels were associated with a linear increase in the affinity of SERCA2a for Ca, (Luo, et al., 1996) and with a linear increase in contractile parameters of isolated cardiomyocytes, perfused hearts and intact mice (Luo, et al., 1996; Wolska, et al., 1996; Li, et al., 1998; Lorenz, et al., 1997). The hyperdynamic cardiac function of PLN null hearts could be minimally stimulated by β -AR agonists. Furthermore, there were no effects of aging on the hyperdynamic cardiac function and there was no compromise of exercise performance (Desai, et al., 1999). On the other hand, cardiac overexpression (twofold) of PLN was associated with significant inhibition of cardiac function (Kadambi et a., 1996; Dash et al., 2001). The inhibitory effects of PLN overexpression could be reversed by β -AR agonist stimulation, which resulted in phosphorylation of the increased PLN levels. These findings in genetically altered models indicate that PLN is a major regulator of basal cardiac Ca²⁺ cycling and contractile parameters (Figure 1). PLN is also a key determinant of β -AR agonist responses. Furthermore, only a fraction of the SERCA2 molecules in cardiac SR are functionally regulated by PLN in vivo.

2.2. Regulation of Cardiac Function by β-Adrenergic Receptor Signalling

 β -adrenergic receptor stimulation of the heart increases cardiac contractility through enhanced Ca-cycling. The major substrates for the cAMP-PKA axis include PLN, L-type Ca channels, RyR, troponin I and myosin binding protein C (Figure 2). The relaxant effect of PKA is mediated mainly by phosphorylation of PLN and troponin I. PLN phosphorylation speeds up SR Ca reuptake, while phosphorylation of troponin I speeds up dissociation of Ca from the myofilaments.

Current evidence indicates that PLN phosphorylation appears to be dominant over troponin I phosphorylation (*Li*, *et al.*, 2000). The faster SR Ca uptake by phosphorylated PLN also contributes to increased SR Ca load, which is available for subsequent release, resulting in an inotropic effect. The increased I_{Ca} by PKA activation also contributes to the inotropic effects of the β -AR agonists. The myofilament effects of PKA appear to be almost entirely attributable to troponin I phosphorylation (vs. myosin binding protein C) because substitution of troponin I with a non-phosphorylatable troponin I abolishes myofilament effects of PKA (*Kentish*, *et al.*, 2001; *Pi*, *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 1. Schematic representation of PLN regulation of the SR Ca-ATPase Ca-affinity, which reflects altered SR Ca-load (green dots in SR) (See Colour Plate 24)

RyR phosphorylation by PKA also alters its open probability. In recordings of single RyR channels in lipid bilayers, PKA treatment enhanced the immediate RyR opening in response to a very rapid $[Ca]_i$ rise (meant to simulate I_{Ca} activation), but it decreased the steady state open probability at a given $[Ca]_I$ (*Valdivia*, *et al.*, 1995).



Figure 2. Both PKA and CaMKII have common molecular targets in E-C Coupling (I_{Ca} , RyR and PLN), The specific amino acids that are targets for phosphorylation (P) differ between PKA and CaMKII, as well as the intensity of functional regulation (indicated by arrow thickness). Both kinases may bind directly to the RyR and L-type Ca channel (via an anchoring protein for PKA) (See Colour Plate 25)

In contrast, Marx, *et al.*, 2000, found that PKA enhanced steady state RyR open probability in bilayers, attributing this to RyR phosphorylation and consequent release of FKBP-12.6 from the RyR. PKA effects on diastolic RyR function remain equivocal because several groups have not found FKBP dissociation from RyR upon PKA-dependent phosphorylation, and Li, *et al.*, 2002, found no effect of PKA-dependent RyR phosphorylation on Ca spark frequency in intact or permeabilized PLN-knockout myocytes (where SR Ca load was not increased) (*Li, et al.*, 2002; *Stange, et al.*, 2003; *Xiao, et al.*, 2004). During E-C coupling PKA effects on RyR are also somewhat mixed, and are generally complicated by simultaneous enhancement of I_{Ca} and SR Ca-ATPase and SR Ca content upon PKA activation. In a systematic E-C coupling voltage clamp study, where I_{Ca} and SR Ca content were controlled, PKA was found not to alter the amount of SR Ca released, but to increase the initial and maximal rate of Ca release and speed the shut-off of Ca release (*Ginsburg, et al.*, 2004).

2.3. Regulation of SR by Ca-Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase

Parallel to the long-studied regulation of I_{Ca}, SR Ca-ATPase/PLN and RyR by PKA-dependent phosphorylation (Figure 2), these three key targets are also phosphorylated by Ca-Calmodulin dependent protein kinase (CaMKII), and the phosphorylation occurs at different molecular sites (Maier, et al., 2003). CaMKII is responsible for Ca-dependent facilitation of Ca current, which may contribute somewhat to the positive force-frequency relationship in heart (Yuan, et al, 1994; Xiao, et al., 1994; Anderson, et al., 1994). However, this is a quantitatively small stimulation of I_{Ca} compared to that produced by PKA activation. PLN phosphorylation (at Thr-17) by CaMKII also increases SR Ca-ATPase activity similar to PKA-dependent phosphorylation of Ser-16 on PLN. While sympathetic stimulation enhances phosphorylation at both of these sites, PKA-dependent phosphorylation seems to be functionally predominant (Luo, et al., 1998).CaMKII also phosphorylates the RyR and appears to strongly activate SR Ca release, both during diastole and during E-C coupling (Li, et al., 1997; Guo, et al., 2006). Both PKA and CaMKII are likely to be co-activated during normal sympathetic stimulation, creating synergy between these important regulatory signaling pathways.

3. HEART FAILURE (HF)

A major characteristic of human and experimental HF is depressed Ca-cycling in the cardiac myocyte. The differences in Ca-cycling and contractility between non-failing and failing myocytes are mainly observed at high heart rates and the force-frequency relationship is generally less positive in failing vs. non-failing hearts. This is mainly attributed to depressed SR Ca-transport and SR Ca content, as suggested by findings on alterations of the protein levels or activity of the key Ca-cycling proteins (e.g. I_{Ca} , SR Ca-ATPase, Na/Ca exchange, myofilament Ca sensitivity), (*Hasenfuss, et al., 1998; Richard, et al., 1998; Mukherjee, et al., 1998;* Wickenden, et al., 1998; Nabauer, et al., 1998; Phillips, et al., 1998; de Tombe, et al., 1998; Houser, et al., 2000) and direct cellular measurements of both SR Ca-ATPase function and SR Ca content (*Pogwizd*, et al., 2001; Hobai, et al., 2001; *Piacentino*, et al., 20003).

3.1. SERCA2A and PLN

Most reports indicate that the SR Ca-ATPase is functionally decreased in almost all HF models. However the PLN levels are not altered in HF, indicating decreased Ca-affinity of the SR Ca transport system (*Dash*, *et al.*, 2001). There are also data to suggest that the phosphorylation state of PLN may be reduced in HF (*Richard*, *et al.*, 1998; Huang, *et al.*, 1999; Schwinger, *et al.*, 1999). This would further reduce the [Ca]-sensitivity of SR Ca uptake and further slow Ca transport at physiological [Ca]_i. Reduced SR Ca-ATPase function fits well with the characteristic slowed relaxation and [Ca]_i decline of HF. Moreover, when SERCA2 expression in myocytes or failing hearts is increased or PLN expression is decreased, by adenoviral gene transfer, relaxation and [Ca]_i decline can be accelerated (*del Monte*, *et al.*, 1999; *Miyamoto*, *et al.*, 2000). Thus, it seems clear that reduced SR Ca-transport function is important in the slowed relaxation and [Ca]_i decline characteristic of HF, and correction of this depressed SR Ca-uptake may hold promise as a therapeutic approach in heart failure.

3.2. Ryanodine Receptor

Western blots and ryanodine binding generally indicate that the RyR protein levels are unchanged in heart failure (*Go, et al, 1995; Schillinger, et al., 1996; Sainte Beuve, et al., 1997*). However, in the pacing-induced dog HF model and a rabbit pressure/volume overload HF model, there seems to be down-regulation of RyR (*Vatner et al., 1994; Yano, et al., 2000; Bossuyt, et al., 2005*).

The regulation of RyR function may also be altered in HF since some studies have reported enhanced RyR phosphorylation by PKA and/or CaMKII. This increased RyR phosphorylation can enhance diastolic RyR open probability, and increased SR Ca leak has been measured in HF (*Marx, et al., 2000; Schwinger, et al., 1999; Bossuyt, et al., 2005)*. Whether this involves loss of FKBP binding to the RyR, (*Marx, et al., 2000; McCall, et al., 1996*) is controversial. Indeed, some investigators have indicated that PKA-dependent RyR phosphorylation has no effect on Ca sparks (*Li, et al., 2002*) and may not alter FKBP12.6 binding (*Stange, et al., 2003; Xiao, et al., 2004*).

Buffering of Ca inside the SR is probably unaltered in HF, because calsequestrin (and calreticulin) does not seem to be altered in HF (*Maier*, et al., 2003; Richard, et al., 1998). This means that if SR Ca content is lower in HF, free $[Ca]_{SR}$ may also be lower. Although there are few measures of SR Ca in HF under relatively physiological conditions, SR Ca content seems to be reduced in human, (*Piacentino*, et al., 2003; Lindner, et al., 1998) rabbit (*Pogwizd*, et al., 1999 & 2001) and dog,

(*Hobai*, *et al.*, 2001) based on caffeine-induced Ca transients. Reduced SR Ca content is sufficient to largely explain the reduced twitch Ca-peak and contractile function in HF.

3.3. Human SERCA2 Mutations in Heart Failure

There is only one report on naturally occurring mutations in the human SERCA2 gene (*Schmidt, et al., 2003*). This study concentrated on exons 8, 15, 16, 18, and 19, corresponding to the SERCA2-PLN interaction domains, as well as exons 10, 13, and 14, which covered the phosphorylation and the nucleotide binding/hinge domain of SERCA2, since mutations in these regions may predispose to the development of heart failure.

One hundred and sixty one patients with ischemic or idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy (New York Heart Association functional class II-IV) were screened for SERCA mutations. Double strand sequencing revealed nucleotide changes in exons 8, 15 and 18. However, none of these naturally occurring genetic variants resulted in amino acid alterations. Furthermore, there were no mutations or single nucleotide changes observed in exons 10, 13, 14, 16, and 19. Thus, although the SERCA2 mRNA and protein levels are altered in human heart failure, the SERCA2 gene is highly conserved in patients with heart failure. There were only four nucleotide changes identified in the SERCA2 gene in three out of eight exons examined. All of these alterations were conservative (*Schmidt, et al., 2003*). Thus, the SERCA2a gene is tightly regulated to maintain proper intracellular Ca²⁺ cycling. It is interesting to speculate that even minor alterations in the SERCA2a gene cannot be accommodated and result in premature death, which may not allow their discovery in adult heart failure.

3.4. Human PLN Mutations in Dilated Cardiomyopathy

Three PLN mutations in the coding region have been reported to date. Interestingly, all three appeared to be inherited in a familial manner. One of these is the mutation of R9C, which was associated with the inheritance of dilated cardiomyopathy in a large American family (*Schmitt, et al., 2003*). Carriers of this mutation had a mean age of 25 years. The effects of R9C-PLN appeared to be linked to significant decreases in PLN phosphorylation. Transgenic mice overexpressing human PLN-R9C mutant exhibited dilated cardiomyopathy and early death. To elucidate the mechanisms underlying the detrimental effects of this mutant, the R9C-PLN was expressed in HEK cells. When the mutant-PLN was co-expressed with WT-PLN, it did not relieve the inhibition of SERCA2a by WT-PLN. The R9C mutant appeared to exhibit enhanced affinity for PKA, preventing the PKA-phosphorylation of WT-PLN. These findings suggest that the dominant effects of this mutation in affected individuals may be associated with chronic inhibition of SERCA2a. Thus, inhibition of PLN phosphorylation is sufficient to cause the onset of dilated cardiomyopathy in humans in their teenage years.

A second mutation, associated with a termination codon at amino acid 39 (L39stop) was discovered in two large families (Franz, et al., 2001). Truncation of the 52 amino acid protein occurred in transmembrane domain II, which is highly conserved among species (Mc Tiernan, et al., 1999) and involved in PLN regulation of SERCA2a affinity for Ca²⁺ (Brittsan, et al., 2000). In the first family, there were two homozygous individuals, which developed severe dilated cardiomyopathy and required cardiac transplantation at young age. Histopathological examination of both explanted hearts revealed fibrosis and myofibrillar disarrangement. The heterozygous individuals exhibited normal left ventricular function but some of them appeared with left ventricular hypertrophy. In the second family, there were two brothers identified, who were heterozygous for the L39stop-PLN mutation. Interestingly, both of them were diagnosed with cardiomyopathy. Their father had also died of dilated cardiomyopathy and their mother was homozygous for wildtype PLN. The rest of the heterozygous subjects in this family had normal left ventricular systolic function but some of them exhibited left ventricular hypertrophy, similar to the first family. These finding indicate incomplete penetrance of the cardiomyopathy phenotype.

The function of PLN-L39stop on SR Ca²⁺ transport was elucidated by expression studies in HEK cells. Co-expression of human wild-type PLN (PLN-WT) with SERCA2a resulted in decreased apparent affinity for Ca²⁺, but co-expression of SERCA2a with PLN-L39stop had no effect. When the wild type and mutant PLN were co-expressed with SERCA2a, the decrease in the apparent Ca²⁺ affinity was similar to that observed in by WT-PLN, indicating that the PLN-L39stop mutant does not exert any effects on SERCA2a activity.

Furthermore, infection of adult rat myocytes with adenoviral vectors containing either wild-type or L39stop PLN cDNAs indicated that wild type PLN decreased the contractile parameters and calcium kinetics, compared to control cells infected with an adenovirus expression GFP. However, the PLN-L39stop did not alter myocyte mechanics or calcium cycling.

Western blots of microsomal fractions from transfected HEK-293 cells with the PLN-L39stop mutant, indicated that the PLN-L39stop protein could not be detected. In addition, confocal microscopy in HEK-293 cells transfected with PLN-L39stop revealed detectable immunoreactive protein signals in a small percent of cells and the PLN-mutant was mainly localized to the cell membrane, compared with PLN-WT, which localized to the endoplasmic reticulum. Consistent with these findings, human PLN-L39stop homozygous ventricles had no detectable PLN.

Thus, PLN is an important regulator of human SERCA2a due to the large cardiac reserve required for flight or fight situations, allowing 2–3 fold increases in heart rate. In contrast, the mouse exhibits heart rates ranging up to 800 bpm and it is operating close to its maximal rate, with low cardiac reserve. Intuitively, the rapid Ca-cycling in mouse hearts does not depend on PLN, while PLN is essential for normal function in the human heart.

More recently, another human PLN mutation, which deletes Arg 14 in the coding region was identified. This mutation is associated with inherited human dilated cardiomyopathy and premature death. Some of the heterozygous individuals presented dilated cardiomyopathy with ventricular extra systolic beats and ventricular tachycardia. These symptoms progressed to congestive heart failure by middle age. However, other young heterozygous subjects were asymptomatic with normal echocardiography, indicating that the effects of this mutation may be age-dependent. In accordance, cardiac overexpression of PLN-R14Del in the mouse recapitulated human dialed cardiomyopathy with abnormal histopathology and premature death.

Expression of the heterozygous mutant-PLN in HEK-293 cells resulted in SERCA superinhibition. The dominant effect of the PLN-R14Del mutation could not be reversed, even after β -adrenergic stimulation. Thus, mutant-PLN remains a chronic inhibitor of SERCA and cardiac Ca-cycling. In accordance, cardiac overexpression of PLN-R14Del in the mouse recapitulated human dilated cardiomyopathy with abnormal histopathology and premature death. Increased PLN inhibition over a period of years may lead to cardiac remodeling, which may progress to failure in later years.

The superinhibitory effects of the PLN-R14Del mutant maybe due to its structure. One charged residue (Arg 14) is missing from the three charged Arg (at positions 9, 13, and 14) in wild-type PLN, which may influence the interaction of PLN with SERCA. Another effect of the Arg 14 deletion is partial disruption of the PLN pentameric structure. Increases in monomeric PLN are expected to gain inhibitory function on the apparent affinity of SERCA2a for Ca^{2+} , which may not be relieved even upon PKA-mediated phosphorylation. A mutation in the PLN promoter region, which increases PLN expression, has been also identified in human hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (*Minamisawa, et al., 2003*). Consistent with findings in transgenic mice, an increase in the apparent stoichiometry of PLN/SERCA2 is expected to result in depressed Ca-cycling and contractility, which may lead to cardiac remodeling.

Collectively, the human PLN mutant studies indicate that chronic inhibition of either basal SERCA2a activity (PLN-R14Del mutant) or the β -adrenergic stimulation (PLN-R9C mutant) (*Schmitt, et al., 2003*) result in heart failure. On the other hand, absence of PLN inhibition by the PLN-L39stop mutant, associated with the lack of cardiac reserve, also results in heart failure (Figure 3). Thus, the identification of these human PLN mutations point to the paramount importance of PLN and its role in maintaining normal calcium homeostatic mechanisms in the human heart.

3.5. Human Calsequestrin Mutations

Calsequestrin (CSQ) is the most abundant Ca-binding protein in the SR lumen, acting as a low affinity but high capacity Ca buffer (Figure 4) (*Mitchell, et al., 1988*). CSQ has also been suggested to have a regulatory effect on the activity of the RyR (*Schillinger, et al., 1996*). Some insight into the physiological function of the protein came from mice overexpressing either canine or murine cardiac CSQ



Figure 3. Schematic representation of the effects of Human PLN Mutations on the SR Ca-ATPase Activity and contractility under basal and isoproterenol (PKA)-stimulated conditions (See Colour Plate 26)



Figure 4. Calsequestrin (CSQ) is the main intra-SR Ca buffering protein, and its structure and interaction with other CSQ and partner proteins (triadin and junctin) is influenced by intra-SR [Ca]. In addition to its role as a low affinity Ca buffer, CSQ may also regulate RyR gating via its interaction with triadin and junctin (See Colour Plate 27)

in the heart. Overexpression of the heterologous protein resulted in hypertrophy which progressed to heart failure (*Solaro*, *et al.*, 1974). Overexpression of the homologous protein was also associated with cardiac hypertrophy and induction of a fetal gene expression program (*Sato*, *et al.*, 2001). These mice also exhibited depressed contractility and Ca transients even though the Ca storage capacity of the SR was enhanced, which may be due to increased SR Ca buffering.

There are currently two different CSQ genes, a skeletal isoform and a cardiac isoform (Lehnart, et al., 2004). The cardiac isoform is highly conserved between species and is the only isoform expressed in the heart. The levels of CSQ are not altered in the developing heart and in many pathological disease states such as hypertrophic, ischemic or dilated cardiomyopathy (Gyorke, et al., 2004; Wang, et al., 2001), suggesting that CSQ expression is under rigid genetic regulation. Interestingly, recent studies have indicated that human mutations in the CSO gene may be responsible for catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia (CPVT). More specifically, a missense mutation was discovered that replaced aspartic acid (negatively charged residue) with histidine, (a positively charged residue), at position 307 (Farrell, et al., 2003; Wehrens, et al., 2003). This residue is localized in a highly conserved Ca binding region and CPVT may therefore be triggered by disrupted Ca binding. However, it is possible that this mutation may also disrupt the interaction of CSQ with the RyR. Also, a nonsense mutation was described, which results in a truncated protein, associated with CSQ ablation (Leenhardt, et al., 1995). In both situations, the patients present with recurrent syncope, seizures or sudden death following physical activity or emotional stress. The seizures associated with the disease are often misdiagnosed as epilepsy, especially since the patients may recover spontaneously without the need of any resuscitation. These patients appear to have structurally normal hearts and marked bradycardia under resting conditions. In general, these patients exhibit arrhythmogenic activity, when a threshold heart rate of 120 beats per minute (bpm) is exceeded. Although the mean age at which the first syncope occurs is around 7 years old, cases have been reported, where the patients were as young as 3 years old. Some insight into the cellular mechanism underlying this disease were obtained from experiments on reduction of CSQ levels, using antisense methodology or expression of the D307H mutant in myocytes. Both of these resulted in disturbances in rhythmic Ca transients with signs of delayed afterdepolarizations (DADs), when undergoing periodic electrical stimulation and exposure to isoproterenol (Hoit, et al., 1995; Bassani, et al., 1995). Thus, it was suggested that the development of this arrhythmogenic disorder is due to impaired SR Ca storage as well as impaired release through the RyR, resulting in an increase in diastolic leak, which may cause delayed afterdepolarizations.

4. CONCLUSION

Many proteins contribute centrally to the delicate balance of Ca in cardiac myocytes that controls cardiac contractility and influence electrical activity. These include voltage-gated Ca channels, RyR, SERCA2, PLN, calsequestrin and regulatory

kinases (and phosphatases), Both genetic and acquired alterations in these Ca handling proteins in cardiac myocytes contribute to pathophysiological cardiovascular disease. Altered cellular Ca^{2+} handling can cause reduced systolic or diastolic cardiac function and also contribute to cardiac arrhythmias.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We wish to thank Dr. Wen Zhao and Ms. Persoulla Nicolaou for assistance in parts of this work and Ms. Sarah Figueira for secretarial assistance. This work was supported by the NIH HL6057, HL6418, HL77101, HL30077, HL64724 and the Leducq Foundation 05CVD03.

REFERENCES

- Anderson, M.E., Braun, A.P., Schulman, H., et al., 1994, Multifunctional Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase mediates Ca(2+)-induced enhancement of the L-type Ca²⁺ current in rabbit ventricular myocytes. *Circ Res*, 75(5), pp 854–61.
- Bassani, J.W., Yuan, W., and Bers, D.M., 1995, Fractional SR Ca release is regulated by trigger Ca and SR Ca content in cardiac myocytes. *Am J Physiol*, 268(5 Pt 1), pp C1313–9.
- Bers, D.M., 2001, *Excitation-Contraction Coupling and Cardiac Contractile Force*. 2nd ed: Kluwer Academic Press, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Bossuyt, J., Ai, X., Moorman, J.R., *et al.*, 2005, Expression and phosphorylation of the na-pump regulatory subunit phospholemman in heart failure. *Circ Res*, 97(6), pp 558–65.
- Brittsan, A.G., and Kranias, E.G., 2000, Phospholamban and cardiac contractile function. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol., 32, pp 2131–2139.
- Dash, R., Frank, K.F., Carr, A.N., et al., 2001, Gender influences on sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺handling in failing human myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 33(7), pp 1345–53.
- Dash, R., Kadambi, V., Schmidt, A.G., et al., 2001, Interactions between phospholamban and betaadrenergic drive may lead to cardiomyopathy and early mortality. *Circulation*, 103(6), pp 889–96.
- de Tombe, P.P., 1998, Altered contractile function in heart failure. Cardiovasc Res, 37(2), pp 367-80.
- del Monte, F., Harding, S.E., Schmidt, U., *et al.*, 1999, Restoration of contractile function in isolated cardiomyocytes from failing human hearts by gene transfer of SERCA2a. *Circulation*, 100, pp 2308–11.
- Desai, K.H., Schauble, E., Luo, W., et al., 1999, Phospholamban deficiency does not compromise exercise capacity. Amer. J. Physiol, 276(4), pp H1172–7.
- Farrell, E.F., Antaramian, A., Rueda, A., *et al.*, 2003, Sorcin inhibits calcium release and modulates excitation-contraction coupling in the heart. *J Biol Chem*, 278, pp 34660–66.
- Franz, W.M., Muller, O.J., and Katus, H.A., 2001. Cardiomyopathies: from genetics to the prospect of treatment. *Lancet*, 358, pp 1627–1637.
- Garvey, J.L., Kranias, E.G., and Solaro, R.J., 1988, Phosphorylation of C-protein, troponin I and phospholamban in isolated rabbit hearts. *Biochem J*, 249(3), pp 709–14.
- Ginsburg, K.S., and Bers, D.M., 2004, Modulation of excitation-contraction coupling by isoproterenol in cardiomyocytes with controlled SR Ca load and I_{Ca} trigger. *J Physiol*, 556(Pt 2), pp 463–80.
- Go, L.O., Moschella, M.C., Watras, J., et al. 1995, Differential regulation of two types of intracellular calcium release channels during end-stage heart failure. J Clin Invest, 95(2), pp 888–94.
- Guo, T., Zhang, T., Mestril, R., Bers, D.M., 2006, Ca/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II Phosphorylation of Ryanodine Receptor Does Affect Calcium Sparks in Mouse Ventricular Myocytes. *Circ Res*, 99(4), pp 398–406.
- Gyorke, I., Hester, N., Jones, L.R., Gyorke, S., 2004, The role of calsequestrin, triadin, and junctin in conferring cardiac ryanodine receptor responsiveness to luminal calcium. *Biophys J.*, 86(4), pp 2121–8.

- Hasenfuss, G. 1998, Alterations of calcium-regulatory proteins in heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res*, 37(2), pp 279–89.
- Hobai, I.A., O'Rourke, B. 2001, Decreased sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium content is responsible for defective excitation-contraction coupling in canine heart failure. *Circulation*, 103(11), pp 1577–84.
- Hoit, B.D., Khoury, S.F., Kranias, E.G., et al., 1995, In vivo echocardiographic detection of enhanced left ventricular function in gene-targeted mice with phospholamban deficiency. Circ Res,77(3), pp 632–7.
- Houser, S.R., Piacentino, V. 3rd., Mattiello, J., et al., 2000, Functional properties of failing human ventricular myocytes. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 10(3), pp 101–7.
- Huang, B., Wang, S., Qin, D., et al., 1999, Diminished basal phosphorylation level of phospholamban in the postinfarction remodeled rat ventricle: role of beta-adrenergic pathway, G(i) protein, phosphodiesterase, and phosphatases. Circ Res, 85(9), pp 848–55.
- Kadambi, V.J., Ponniah, S., Harrer, J.M., et al., 1996, Cardiac-specific overexpression of phospholamban alters calcium kinetics and resultant cardiomyocyte mechanics in transgenic mice. J Clin Invest, 97(2), pp 533–9.
- Kentish, J.C., McCloskey, D.T., Layland, J., et al. 2001, Phosphorylation of troponin I by protein kinase A accelerates relaxation and crossbridge cycle kinetics in mouse ventricular muscle. Circ Res, 88(10), pp 1059–65.
- Kranias, E.G., and Solaro, R.J., 1982, Phosphorylation of troponin I and phospholamban during catecholamine stimulation of rabbit heart. *Nature*, 298(5870), pp 182–4.
- Kranias, E.G., Steenaart, N.A., and Di Salvo, J., 1988, Purification and characterization of phospholamban phosphatase from cardiac muscle. J Biol Chem, 263(30), pp 15681–7.
- Leenhardt, A., Lucet, V., Denjoy, I., et al., 1995, Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia in children. A 7-year follow-up of 21 patients. *Circulation*, 91(5), pp 1512–9.
- Lehnart, S.E., Wehrens, X.H., Laitinen, P.J., *et al.*, 2004, Sudden death in familial polymorphic ventricular tachycardia associated with calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor) leak. *Circulation*, 109(25), pp 3208–14.
- Li, L., Chu, G., Kranias, E.G., et al., 1998, Cardiac myocyte calcium transport in phospholamban knockout mouse: relaxation and endogenous CaMKII effects. Am J Physiol, 274(4 Pt 2), pp H1335–47.
- Li, L., Desantiago, J., Chu, G., et al., 2000, Phosphorylation of phospholamban and troponin I in betaadrenergic-induced acceleration of cardiac relaxation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 278(3), pp H769–79.
- Li, L., Satoh, H., Ginsburg, K.S., *et al.*, 1997, The effect of Ca(2+)-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II on cardiac excitation-contraction coupling in ferret ventricular myocytes. *J Physiol*. 501(Pt 1), pp 17–31.
- Li, Y., Kranias, E.G., Mignery, G.A., et al., 2002, Protein kinase A phosphorylation of the ryanodine receptor does not affect calcium sparks in mouse ventricular myocytes. Circ Res, 90(3), pp 309–16.
- Lindemann, J.P., Jones, L.R., Hathaway, D.R., *et al.*, 1983, beta-Adrenergic stimulation of phospholamban phosphorylation and Ca²⁺-ATPase activity in guinea pig ventricles. *J Biol Chem*, 258(1), pp 464–71.
- Lindner, M., Erdmann, E., and Beuckelmann, D.J., 1998, Calcium content of the sarcoplasmic reticulum in isolated ventricular myocytes from patients with terminal heart failure. *J Mol Cell Cardiol*, 30(4), pp 743–9.
- Lorenz, J.N., and Kranias, E.G., 1997, Regulatory effects of phospholamban on cardiac function in intact mice. Am J Physiol, 273(6 Pt 2), pp H2826–31.
- Luo, W., Grupp, I.L., Harrer, J., *et al.*, 1994, Targeted ablation of the phospholamban gene is associated with markedly enhanced myocardial contractility and loss of beta-agonist stimulation. *Circ Res*, 75(3), pp 401–9.
- Luo, W., Wolska, B.M., Grupp, I.L., et al., 1996, Phospholamban gene dosage effects in the mammalian heart. Circ Res, 78(5), pp839–47.
- Luo, W., Chu, G., Sato, Y., *et al.*, 1998, Transgenic approaches to define the functional role of dual site phospholamban phosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 273, pp 4734–4739.
- MacLennan, D.H., and Kranias, E.G., 2003, Phospholamban: a crucial regulator of cardiac contractility. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 4(7), pp 566–77.

- Maier, L.S., Zhang, T., Chen, L., et al., 2003, Transgenic CaMKIIdeltaC overexpression uniquely alters cardiac myocyte Ca²⁺ handling: reduced SR Ca²⁺ load and activated SR Ca²⁺ release. Circ Res, 92(8), pp 904–11.
- Marx, S.O., Reiken, S., Hisamatsu, Y. *et al.*, 2000, PKA phosphorylation dissociates FKBP12.6 from the calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor): defective regulation in failing hearts. *Cell*, 101(4), pp 365–76.
- McCall, E., Li, L., Satoh, H., et al., 1996, Effects of FK-506 on contraction and Ca²⁺ transients in rat cardiac myocytes. Circ Res, 79(6), pp 1110–21.
- McTiernan, C.F., Frye, C.S., Lemster, B.H., et al., 1999, The human phospholamban gene: structure and expression. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol, 31, pp 679–692.
- Minamisawa, S., Sato, Y., Tatsuguchi, *et al.*, 2003, Mutation of the phospholamban promoter associated with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 304(1), pp 1–4.
- Mitchell, R.D., Simmerman, H.K., and Jones, L.R., 1988, Ca²⁺ binding effects on protein conformation and protein interactions of canine cardiac calsequestrin. J Biol Chem, 263(3), pp 1376–81.
- Miyamoto, M.I., del Monte, F., Schmidt, U., *et al.*, 2000, Adenoviral gene transfer of SERCA2a improves left-ventricular function in aortic-banded rats in transition to heart failure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97(2), pp 793–8.
- Mukherjee, R., and Spinale, F.G., 1998, L-type calcium channel abundance and function with cardiac hypertrophy and failure: a review. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 30(10), pp 1899–916.
- Mundina-Weilenmann, C., Vittone, L., Ortale, M., et al. 1996, Immunodetection of phosphorylation sites gives new insights into the mechanisms underlying phospholamban phosphorylation in the intact heart. J Biol Chem, 271(52), pp 33561–7.
- Nabauer, M., and Kaab, S., 1998, Potassium channel down-regulation in heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res*, 37(2), pp 324–34.
- Phillips, R.M., Narayan, P., Gomez, A.M., et al., 1998, Sarcoplasmic reticulum in heart failure: central player or bystander? Cardiovasc Res, 37(2), pp 346–51.
- Pi, Y., Kemnitz, K.R., Zhang, D., *et al.*, 2002, Phosphorylation of troponin I controls cardiac twitch dynamics: evidence from phosphorylation site mutants expressed on a troponin I-null background in mice. *Circ Res*, 90(6), pp 649–56.
- Piacentino, V. 3rd, Weber, C.R., Chen, X., et al., 2003, Cellular basis of abnormal calcium transients of failing human ventricular myocytes. Circ Res., 92(6), pp 651–8.
- Pogwizd, S.M., Qi, M., Yuan, W., *et al.*, 1999, Upregulation of Na(+)/Ca(2+) exchanger expression and function in an arrhythmogenic rabbit model of heart failure. *Circ Res*, 85(11), pp 1009–19.
- Pogwizd, S.M., Schlotthauer, K., Li, L., *et al.*, 2001, Arrhythmogenesis and contractile dysfunction in heart failure: Roles of sodium-calcium exchange, inward rectifier potassium current, and residual beta-adrenergic responsiveness. *Circ Res.*, 88(11), pp 1159–67.
- Richard, S., Leclercq, F., Lemaire, S., et al., 1998, Ca²⁺ currents in compensated hypertrophy and heart failure. Cardiovasc Res, 37(2), pp 300–11.
- Sainte, Beuve C., Allen, P.D., Dambrin, G., *et al.*, 1997, Cardiac calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor) in control and cardiomyopathic human hearts: mRNA and protein contents are differentially regulated. *J Mol Cell Cardiol.*, 29(4), pp 1237–46.
- Sato, Y., Kiriazis, H., Yatani, A., *et al.*, 2001, Rescue of contractile parameters and myocyte hypertrophy in calsequestrin overexpressing myocardium by phospholamban ablation. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 276(12), pp 9392–9,
- Schillinger, W., Meyer, M., Kuwajima, G., et al., 1996, Unaltered ryanodine receptor protein levels in ischemic cardiomyopathy. Mol Cell Biochem, 160–161, pp 297–302.
- Schmidt, A.G., Haghighi, K., Frank, B., et al., 2003, Polymorphic SERCA2a variants do not account for inter-individual differences in phospholamban –SERCA2a interaction in human heart failure. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol, 35, pp 867–870.
- Schmitt, J.P., Kamisago, M., Asahi, M., et al., 2003, Dilated cardiomyopathy and heart failure caused by a mutation in phospholamban. Science, 299(5611), pp 1410–1413.

- Schwinger, R.H., Munch, G., Bolck, B., et al., 1999, Reduced Ca(2+)-sensitivity of SERCA 2a in failing human myocardium due to reduced serin-16 phospholamban phosphorylation. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 31(3), pp 479–91.
- Shannon, T.R., Ginsburg, K.S., and Bers, D.M., 2000, Potentiation of fractional sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium release by total and free intra-sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium concentration. *Biophys J*, 78(1), pp 334–43.
- Simmerman, H.K., and Jones, L.R., 1998, Phospholamban: protein structure, mechanism of action, and role in cardiac function. *Physiol Rev*, 78(4), pp 921–47.
- Solaro, R.J., and Briggs, F.N., 1974, Estimating the functional capabilitities of sarcoplasmic reticulum in cardiac muscle. *Circ. Res.*, 34, pp 531–540.
- Stange, M., Xu, L., Balshaw, D., *et al.*, 2003, Characterization of recombinant skeletal muscle (Ser-2843) and cardiac muscle (Ser-2809) ryanodine receptor phosphorylation mutants. *J Biol Chem*, 278(51), pp 51693–702.
- Talosi, L., Edes. I., and Kranias, E.G., 1993, Intracellular mechanisms mediating reversal of betaadrenergic stimulation in intact beating hearts. *Am J Physiol*, 264(3 Pt 2), pp H791–7.
- Valdivia, H.H., Kaplan, J.H., Ellis-Davies, G.C., et al., 1995, Rapid adaptation of cardiac ryanodine receptors: modulation by Mg2+ and phosphorylation. *Science*, 267, pp 997–2000.
- Vatner, D.E., Sato, N., Kiuchi, K., *et al.*, 1994, Decrease in myocardial ryanodine receptors and altered excitation-contraction coupling early in the development of heart failure. *Circulation*, 90(3), pp 1423–30.
- Wang, J., Maertz, N.A., Lokua, A.J., et al., 2001, Regulation of cardiac Ryanodine Receptors activity by calsequestrin. Biophys J, 80, pp 590a.
- Wegener, A.D., Simmerman, H.K., Lindemann, J.P., et al., 1989, Phospholamban phosphorylation in intact ventricles. Phosphorylation of serine 16 and threonine 17 in response to beta-adrenergic stimulation. J Biol Chem, 264(19), pp 11468–74.
- Wehrens, X.H., Lehnart, S.E., Huang, F., *et al.*, 2003, FKBP12.6 deficiency and defective calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor) function linked to exercise-induced sudden cardiac death. *Cell*, 113(7), pp 829–40.
- Wickenden, A.D., Kaprielian, R., Kassiri, Z., *et al.*, 1998, The role of action potential prolongation and altered intracellular calcium handling in the pathogenesis of heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res*, 37(2), pp 312–23.
- Wolska, B.M., Stojanovic, M.O., Luo, W., et al., 1996, Effect of ablation of phospholamban on dynamics of cardiac myocyte contraction and intracellular Ca²⁺. Am J Physiol, 271(1 Pt 1), pp C391–7.
- Xiao, B., Sutherland, C., Walsh, M.P., *et al.* 2004, Protein kinase A phosphorylation at serine-2808 of the cardiac Ca²⁺-release channel (ryanodine receptor) does not dissociate 12.6-kDa FK506-binding protein (FKBP12.6). *Circ Res*, 94(4), pp 487–95.
- Xiao, R.P., Cheng, H., Lederer, W.J., *et al.* 1994, Dual regulation of Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent kinase II activity by membrane voltage and by calcium influx. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 91(20), pp 9659–63.
- Yano, M., Ono, K., Ohkusa, T., *et al.* 2000, Altered stoichiometry of FKBP12.6 versus ryanodine receptor as a cause of abnormal Ca(2+) leak through ryanodine receptor in heart failure. *Circulation*, 102(17), pp 2131–6.
- Yuan, W., Bers, D.M. 1994, Ca-dependent facilitation of cardiac Ca current is due to Ca-calmodulindependent protein kinase. Am J Physiol. 267(3 Pt 2), pp H982–93.
- Zhang, L., Kelley, J., Schmeisser, G., *et al.* 1997, Complex formation between junctin, triadin, calsequestrin, and the ryanodine receptor. Proteins of the cardiac junctional sarcoplasmic reticulum membrane. *J Biol Chem*, 272(37), pp 23389–97.

CHAPTER 21

CALCIUM SIGNALLING AND CALCIUM TRANSPORT IN BONE DISEASE

H.C. BLAIR, P.H. SCHLESINGER, C.L.-H. HUANG, AND M. ZAIDI

Departments of Pathology and of Cell Biology and Physiology, University of Pittsburgh and Veterans' Affairs Health System, Pittsburgh, PA 15261, Department of Physiology and Cell Biology, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO 63110, Physiological Laboratory, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, CB2 3EG, United Kingdom, and The Bone Program, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, New York 10029

Abstract: Calcium transport and calcium signalling mechanisms in bone cells have, in many cases, been discovered by study of diseases with disordered bone metabolism. Calcium matrix deposition is driven primarily by phosphate production, and disorders in bone deposition include abnormalities in membrane phosphate transport such as in chondrocalcinosis, and defects in phosphate-producing enzymes such as in hypophosphatasia. Matrix removal is driven by acidification, which dissolves the mineral. Disorders in calcium removal from bone matrix by osteoclasts cause osteopetrosis. On the other hand, although bone is central to management of extracellular calcium, bone is not a major calcium sensing organ, although calcium sensing proteins are expressed in both osteoblasts and osteoclasts. Intracellular calcium signals are involved in secondary control including cellular motility and survival, but the relationship of these findings to specific diseases is not clear. Intracellular calcium signals may regulate the balance of cell survival versus proliferation or anabolic functional response as part of signalling cascades that integrate the response to primary signals via cell stretch, estrogen, tyrosine kinase, and tumor necrosis factor receptors

Keywords: Hypophosphatasia; chondrocalcinosis; osteopetrosis; osteoporosis

Although bone is not considered a major calcium sensing organ in humans, the cells of bone tissue control over 99% of the human body's calcium content. The principal calcium sensors that regulate bone calcium uptake and release are in the parathyroid glands. Bone function is also modified by vitamin D and by calcium transport in the kidney and intestine. These indirect mechanisms of controlling bone calcium metabolism are beyond the scope of our considerations here. In spite of processing

539

such massive quantities of the Ca^{2+} , bone cells use calcium in their homeostatic control processes. The massive movement of calcium is carried out by specialized and regulated transporters. Defects in the transporters cause diseases with affect bone structure or function. Indeed, inborn errors have been very important in defining the calcium transport mechanisms in bone.

Additionally, calcium is used by bone forming and bone degrading cells as a secondary mediator of hormone and cytokine action. These actions include roles in intercellular communication within groups of osteoblasts, which are connected by gap junctions (Henriksen et al., 2006). These osteoblast groups function in a coordinated fashion in bone synthesis and maintenance, and are collectively known as the osteon. Osteoblasts in these groups are connected by gap junctions which are capable of propagating signals in the cell groups, including calcium waves (Xia and Ferrier, 1992). Calcium is also an important regulator of cellular attachment, motility, endosome function (Piper and Luzio, 2004) and survival (Davies and Madesh, 2004). These are all critical functions in bone bone degrading osteoclasts.

In this chapter, we will describe calcium transport and calcium regulation from the standpoint of bulk mineral transport, and then from the standpoint of cellular regulation. We will use inborn errors of metabolism where possible to illustrate the major calcium-related activities of the cells. After the framework of functional calcium transport is established, we will discuss calcium-dependent cellular regulatory functions.

1. BULK CALCIUM TRANSPORT BY THE OSTEOBLAST AND RELATED CELLS

The osteoblast is a mesenchymal stem cell derivative (Pittenger et al., 1999). Specialization of the osteoblast allows it to produce an extracellular matrix of type I collagen and accessory proteins including osteocalcin (Young 2003), which are present in minor quantities. The type I collagen is very dense and heavily crosslinked, creating an extremely high tensile strength. To provide strength to the skeleton, it comprises approximately 10% of the dry mass of bone. Osteocalcin is a calcium-binding low molecular weight protein, its calcium binding properties conferred by post-translational modification to produce γ -carboxyglutamate (Bugel, 2005; Weber, 2001). Osteocalcin is important in proper calcification of the matrix. Dozens of other accessory proteins found in bone matrix also play important, but secondary, roles in bone structure. The major component of bone matrix is bone mineral, which provides its resistance to compression, and in combination with type I collagen produces a skeleton of great strength and durability. However, the bone matrix is also a massive depot of minerals (Neuman and Neuman, 1958). This includes over 99% of the body's calcium, but the calcium-balancing anions, mainly PO_4^{3-} , are also important and, in the presence of a chronic acid load, amount to approximately 1.5 moles of available base equivalents for each calcium (Cho et al., 2003). When necessary the skeleton is sacrificed to maintain the pH of the extracellular fluid (Bushinsky, 2001; Carano et al., 1993).

How the osteoblast deposits mineral has long been an interesting mystery. Details of the process are still unclear, although some general principals can be derived from diseases of mineralization which point to the central mechanisms. The chemistry of bone mineral, hydroxyapatite, requires that any mechanism of bone formation include a supply of Ca^{2+} and $H_2PO_4^-$ and some way to dispose of 1.4 H+ per each Ca^{2+} deposited.

(1)
$$10Ca^{2+} + 6H_2PO_4^- + 2H_2O \leftrightarrow Ca_{10}(H_2PO_4)_6(OH)_2 + 14H^+$$

The need for local control of extracellular ion composition and pH buffering is reflected in the multicellular structure that regulates bone formation in the airbreathing vertebrates, which is called the "osteon". This is an extended group of gap-junction connected cells that are embedded in the bone matrix, together with a layer of osteoblasts "covering" the bone surface at the interface of the osteon with the bone marrow (Figure 1). This multicellular structure is of key importance. That the surface osteoblasts are connected to the earlier generations of osteoblasts (called osteocytes), which have become embedded in the matrix produced by the cells, allows the unit to be regulated by interaction with marrow cells and serum components. It has long been known that the access of water and ions to bone matrix is very restricted (Deakins and Burt, 1944; Neuman and Neuman, 1958). Thus the bone matrix is entirely surrounded by cells, which control the movement of constituent proteins of bone matrix and also of the ions which are deposited to produce bone mineral. Therefore it is mainly by active or facilitated transport that constituents in the extracellular fluid can reach the matrix. Note, for example, that tetracycline or calcein will accumulate very specifically in the mineralizing layer of bone at the surface of an active osteon, while bone surfaces deep within the osteon are unlabeled. When the osteon dies, as in osteonecrosis following high-dose glucocorticoid exposure, the cell-matrix surfaces can be labeled by tetracycline in an osteon specific geometry (Eberhardt et al., 2001). The control of this cellular array surrounding bone matrix requires both connexin43 and purinergic receptors (Civitelli et al., 1993; A. Hoebertz et al., 2003).

The mechanism of bulk calcium transport for bone formation is partly established from experimental work and is partly conjectural (Figure 1). The source of the calcium is obviously the extracellular fluid, and its transport through the active surface osteoblasts of a bone forming osteon is clearly regulated. However, the molecular mechanism is poorly understood. There is insufficient Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity for mineralization to be supported by direct transport (Gay and Lloyd, 1995), and this would be, energetically, very inefficient as well. It was long hypothesized that there was a calbindin-dependent calcium ferry (Balmain et al., 1989), but this is either not to be the case, or the calcium buffer system for facilitated transport involves a unique mechanism not yet described, in that calbindin-negative osteoblasts lose 25% of their calcium binding capacity but transport calcium at a normal rate (Turnbull et al., 2004). Osteoblasts express abundant sodium-calcium exchangers, however, in a pattern likely to correlate with bulk mineral transport (Stains et al., 2002), so it is probably premature to discard the calcium ferry


Figure 1. Bulk calcium transport by the osteoblast. While chondrocytes are individual cells embedded in an acellular matrix, and calcify the matrix focally by producing high local concentrations of phosphate, osteoblasts are arrayed in a three-dimensional organized matrix that allows calcium to be deposited in an efficient site-directed mechanism. The osteoblasts are connected into sheets of cells at the surface of bone by gap junctions containing connexin 43. The osteoblasts secrete an organic matrix comprised mainly of type I collagen, which is oriented in layers alternately along the axis of stretch of the bone and orthogonal to this axis. There are also minor proteins, including the calcium binding low molecular weight protein osteocalcin, which facilitate mineral deposition. Mineral deposition is driven by alkaline phosphatase activity which degrades pyrophosphate. Pyrophosphate can be transported either by membrane transporters including ANKH, or may be produced locally by nucleoside pyrophosphatase (PC-1) activity. The high phosphate produced is balanced by calcium transport and by alkalinization of the mineralization site, which are required for continuing mineral deposition, but the specific transporters involved in these activities are unclear (See Colour Plate 28)

hypothesis entirely, and it is more likely that a calbindin-independent mechanism of some sort exists.

The only essential components of the mineral deposition mechanism that are fairly certain at this time relate to phosphate. Even for phosphate, alternative mechanisms are proposed, which are not mutually exclusive but probably function in parallel, in the regulation of different aspects of skeletal calcium transport, and to some extent provide redundancy that allows many mineral transport disorders to be survivable. Alkaline phosphatase activity is essential to produce phosphate. Its major substrate is pyrophosphate. In the absence of the alkaline phosphatase, normally highly expressed as an ectoenzyme by osteoblasts, there is little matrix mineralization

and very high serum pyrophosphate accumulation occurs (Whyte et al., 1995). The pyrophosphate is, to a major extent, produced by a nucleoside pyrophosphatase, PC-1 (Lotz et al., 1995; Hessle et al., 2002). This gene is also expressed in other organs, where polymorphisms may be related to pathology, but mutations in the bone are not described. A multipass transmembrane protein related to progressive ankylosis (fusion of joints), ANK, is also major additional source of pyrophosphate (Ho, Johnson, and Kingsley, 2000). It is a pyrophosphate transporter, so presumably the source of the pyrophosphate is intracellular although the biochemical pathway is unknown. Mutations in its human homolog, ANKH, cause a group of diseases including craniometaphysial dysplasia and chondrocalcinosis (Reichenberger et al., 2001; Nurnberg et al., 2001; Williams et al., 2002; Pendleton et al., 2002).

2. A PROTON CONNECTION

The third component required for bone formation, removal of protons, is essential but it is frequently ignored in considerations of mineralization. High concentrations of phosphate and calcium at neutral pH will form an initial precipitate, but mineral formation is quickly limited as the pH falls below 5.6 (Neuman and Neuman, 1958). From the hydroxyapatite formation equation (Equation 1) it is clear that ~1.5 moles of H⁺ is produced by the combination of H₂PO₄⁻, Ca²⁺ and H₂O. The exact stoichiometry depends on the pH at the deposition site, which determines the ratio of HPO₄²⁻ to H₂PO₄⁻; this detail is excluded, for clarity, from Equation 1, where only the predominant phosphate ion, H₂PO₄⁻, is shown; the phosphoric acid K₂ is 6.70. On the other hand, PO₄³⁻ and H₃PO₄ are of no importance biologically since the phosphoric acid K₁ is 1.96 and K₃ is 12.32.

The deposition of limited quantities of hydroxyapatite in extracellular matrix has been observed without bounding cells. Cartilage calcification is such a case where local pH control and Ca^{2+} are dependent upon diffusion and the rate of mineral deposition is driven by phosphate presentation. Chondrocytes produce alkaline phosphatase that generates the required phosphate, but cartilage is not delimited by any cellular structures and transfer of Ca^{2+} and H^+ is by diffusion from extracellular fluid.

Bone mineral, on the other hand, is deposited rapidly along a line of new bone within an osteon where the matrix is completely enclosed by cells. The calcium deposition is carefully orchestrated and precise, requiring regulated Ca^{2+} and H^+ transport (Figure 1). The existence of local alkalinization at the site of mineral deposition was long ago noted in using a pH indicator (Cretin, 1951). We noted in genescreen studies of human osteoblasts that many subunits of the vacuolar-type H^+ -ATPase are highly expressed, but no clear vectorial localization of the pump (hypothetically in the opposite orientation as in the osteoclast, discussed below) has been observed. Other possibilities include an H^+ -pyrophosphatase, which could make the requisite (outward) acid gradient as well as producing pyrophosphate for mineral formation, but such transporters have not been found in metazoans.

3. CALCIUM-DEPENDENT CELLULAR REGULATION IN THE OSTEOBLAST AND IN RELATED CELLS

As noted in the introduction, the bone is not a classical calcium sensing organ. However, osteoblasts express a G-protein coupled calcium receptor, GPRC6A (Pi et al., 2005), and purinergic receptors that mediate calcium uptake or regulation in the osteoblast (Hoebertz et al., 2003). The osteoblast may thus play a role in adaptation to abnormal extracellular calcium such as in diseases where the parathyroid calciostat is unable to maintain extracellular calcium activity within its normal narrow limits, and knockout of the calcium sensing receptor does impair calcium homeostasis independently of PTH (Kos et al., 2003). This mechanism will, however, require further study. Activating mutations of the calcium sensing receptor are associated with Bartter's syndrome (Watanabe et al., 2002), which is a renal calcium reabsorption defect, and no osteoblast-related phenotype is known. Purinergic receptors are known to be present on osteoblasts and ATP or UTP coordinate osteoblast activity in bone remodeling (Hoebertz et al., 2002). Similarly, in the mineralization of otoliths purines play an important role in mineral deposition by otoconial epithelial cells (Suzuki et al., 1997). From mice defective in vestibular function a new and unique family of membrane proteins has been identified, the otopetrins (Hurle et al., 2001). These membrane proteins are essential for otolith mineralization but are found in many tissues. We have studied the expression of otopetrin 1 in cultured cells and are studying it as a potential novel regulator of P2Y and P2X activity. Although the function of otopetrins in osteoblasts has not been studied, they are essential for mineralization in otolith formation (Hurle et al., 2003; Hughes et al., 2004).

As in most cells, osteoblasts express several calcium channels. The clearest role of calcium channels in functional osteoblast regulation is for L-type voltage-sensitive channels. These channels mediate changes in osteoblast intracellular calcium that vary with major osteoblast regulatory agents including vitamin D and PTH (Li et al., 1997; Gu et al., 2001; Ryder et al., 2001; Bergh et al., 2006). Pharmacological inhibitor studies of L-type calcium channels show mixed results in assays of osteoblast differentiation (Zahanich et al., 2005; Nishiya et al., 2002). However, the L-type calcium channels are probably essential intermediates in osteoblast intercellular calcium signals (Jorgensen et al., 2003). Additional calcium channels may be involved in metabolic coupling to osteoblastic intracellular calcium, including the ryanodine receptor, purinergic receptors, and IP3Rs (Sun et al., 2002; Jorgensen et al, 2003). There are also sodium/calcium channels such as ENaC that may respond to membrane swelling in the osteoblast (Kizer et al., 1997). These transporters may be important, and some associations with cytokine response are known (Kirkwood, et al., 1997; Bradford et al., 2000). However, physiological mechanisms are for the most part not clear.

Osteoblast intracellular calcium is regulated by membrane stretch or shear stress and by other mechanisms (Kamioka et al., 2006). Further, the absence of stretch causes atrophy. This effect is important, with acute and severe bone loss caused by disuse or unweighting (Bikle and Halloran, 1999). Stretch-induced calcium transients, probably via L-type calcium channels, are important in the coupling of bone flexion to the activity and proliferation of osteoblasts and related cells (Hughes-Fulford, 2004). Skeletal flexion also promotes chondrocyte growth (Drescher et al., 2003). Osteoblastic cellular responses include cell proliferation (Riddle et al., 2006), as well as diverse, generally anabolic, effects on differentiation and activity.

It is likely that the calcium signal is secondary to potassium-dependent depolarization (Wiltink et al., 1994; Gofa and Davidson, 1996; Hattori et al., 2001; Jorgensen et al., 2003). Stretch-activated potassium channel activity has been demonstrated (Duncan and Misler 1989; Ypey et al., 1992; Davidson, 1993). This may be due to two-pore domain potassium channels (Chen et al., 2005; Hughes et al., 2006), although the mechanism is not firmly established. Other channels have been proposed, including activation by focal adhesion kinase or outwardly-rectifying BK potassium channels (Rezzonico et al., 2003). Stretch-activated channels are, in turn, co-regulated with cell attachment-related proteins. These may, in addition to the ion signals, modify the cell attachment and attachment-related kinases. This has been demonstrated in chondrocytes (Lee et al., 2000), and a similar mechanism in osteoblasts probably modifies the focal adhesion kinase (Boutahar et al., 2004).

While stretch activation of calcium signals involves interaction with attachment proteins, not all stretch-related signals require calcium. All mechanical stimuli activate ERK1/2, with downstream upregulation of pro-growth transcription factors, such as c-fos (Ruwhof and van der Laarse, 2000). The integrin β subunit is essential for ERK1/2 activation and downstream signals in response to mechanical stimulation (MacKenna et al., 1998). However, the cation channels may be dispensable for most of the gene expression effects (Sadoshima et al., 1992). On the other hand, in connected osteoblasts and osteocytes, calcium is a key intercellular signal.

Calcium fluxes in osteoblasts may have anabolic effects or may promote apoptosis, depending on the context of the signal. Survival mechanisms triggered along with cell stretch, including PI-3-kinase activity and phosphorylation of Akt (Danciu et al., 2003), are probably involved in the promotion of cell survival and anabolic effects in stretch related calcium signals. The IP3R receptor family may be important in changes of nuclear calcium transport with senescence (Huang et al., 2000). On the other hand, induction of calcium via NAD⁺ and the RyR induces apoptosis (Romanello et al., 2001). This is not surprising in that this type of calcium signal is unrelated, as far as is known, to adhesion-related survival signals. Further, the RyR is a critical regulator of nuclear calcium in osteoblasts (Adebanjo et al., 1999). The anabolic/apoptotic decision may also be dependent on the type of calcium channel, and on the magnitude and location of the calcium current.

Abnormal calcium transport undoubtedly contribute to bone defects but specific examples are poorly described. For the major calcium transporters, significant defects are lethal in embryonic life, such as in the Cav1.2 L-type calcium channel

(Seisenberger et al., 2000). Interestingly, for the closely related Cav1.2 and Cav1.3 L-type calcium channels, which are likely to be the principal calcium channels in stretch-related calcium fluxes in osteoblasts, the Cav1.3 channel may partially compensate for loss of function of Cav1.2 (Xu et al., 2003). There are mutations of Cav1.2 with cardiac defects and a variety of other developmental abnormalities including syndactyly (fusion of fingers), but no clear bone phenotype at the level of bone matrix structure (Splawski et al., 2005). In other cases, knockouts are survivable, but, as in the IP3R1 knockout (Hirota et al., 1998), with complex defects including runting; specific skeletal changes have not been characterized.

4. BULK CALCIUM TRANSPORT BY THE OSTEOCLAST

The osteoclast is unique in mobilizing massive quantities of calcium from mineralized tissue. Dissolving hydroxyapatite requires the addition of protons, just as deposition of hydroxyapatite liberates acid (see Equation 1). To allow acidification, the osteoclast produces an isolated micro-compartment on the bone surface. This is achieved by close apposition to the matrix via adhesion of αv integrins to matrix RGD peptides, with $\beta 3$ the major complementary subunit (Miyauchi et al., 1991). Inside the osteoclast the cytoskeleton (Akisaka et al., 2006), and transport activities (Vaananen et al., 2000; Schlesinger et al., 1994) are reorganized to support the resorption compartment.

The key metabolic activity within this sealed compartment is acid transport. It is driven by a V-type H⁺-ATPase (Blair et al., 1989). This ATPase is comprised of two major subassemblies, membrane (Vo) and cytoplasmic (V_1) . The Vo component consists of a hydrogen channel, 17 kDa, and large, 116 kDa, protein with several transmembrane domains. This protein is crucial for membrane insertion, and four homologous genes encode variants of it (Nishi & Forgac, 2002). The isoform TCIRG1 (ATP6i; A3) is amplified specifically in osteoclasts (Li et al., 1999; Mattsson et al., 2000). Defects in this protein are common causes of osteopetrosis in the human (Blair et al., 2004). Heterogeneity in TCIRG1 expression and function may also affect bone density (Carn et al., 2002). The V₁ assembly is essential to life. The proton pump mechanism is inferred by analogy to the homologous mitochondrial F-ATPase, which produces ATP from proton gradients rather than vice versa. It was described in detail in the 1980s and 90s (Boyer, 1997). The F_1 or V_1 assemblies are nano-motors that couple ATP hydrolysis to electrogenic H⁺ translocation (Finbow and Harrison, 1997). The F and V-ATPases are electrogenic and transport H⁺ without counter-ions. Thus, counter-transport of cations or cotransport of anions is required for H⁺ transport in meaningful quantity, as for mineral removal. And the osteoclast must move an amazing amount of acid, since bone mineral requires addition of ~ 1.5 moles of H⁺ per mole of calcium removed at pH 7.4, and the osteoclast can degrade approximately its own volume in bone mineral per day. Indeed, the quality of cultured osteoclasts in vitro is relatively easy to judge from rapid acidification of the medium completely out of proportion from the quantity of cells (Carano et al., 1993).

Thus, calcium mobilization is dependent on and requires a cotransport of ions to balance the electrogenic proton pump. Studies of isolated osteoclast vesicles made it clear that this cotransport includes primarily chloride (Blair et al., 1991). A Cl⁻ channel was isolated from the avian osteoclast ruffled border (Schlesinger et al., 1997), which is a homologue of a human intracellular chloride channel 5 (CLIC5) belonging to a family of proteins which form chloride channels in their membrane conformation (Heiss & Poustka, 1997; Ashley, 2003). These proteins are structurally related to the omega family of glutathione S-transferases, and are required for development in C. elegans (Berry et al., 2003). However, transgenic mice deficient in an unrelated and also widely expressed chloride transporter, CLCN7 (Brandt and Jentsch, 1995), are osteopetrotic (Cleiren et al., 2001; Kornak et al., 2001). Polymorphisms in CLCN7 are associated with osteopetrosis in several families as reported in a number of studies (Blair et al., 2004). However, CLCN7 is a chloride-proton antiporter (Picollo & Pusch, 2005; Scheel, et al., 2005) rather than a chloride channel. This complicates the model for osteoclastic acid secretion a bit in that a chloride-proton antiporter will not transport chloride without a significant H⁺ gradient (Diewald et al., 2002: Accardi et al., 2005). In an elegant experiment correcting CLCN7 expression in osteoclasts rescued bone metabolism and uncovered an underlying lysosomal defect (Kasper et al., 2005). Thus it is clear that multiple Cl^{-} transporters play important roles in osteoclast function (Jentsch et al., 2005). The CLIC family of intracellular proteins, which are chloride channels, have been identified with acidification in osteoclasts for some time (Blair & Schlesinger, 1990: Schlesinger et al., 1997). Recently, CLIC5, has been directly implicated in osteoclast bone resorption and H⁺ transport (Edwards et al., 2006). In combination the CLCN7 exchanger and CLIC5 provide a H⁺ leak and charge neutralization that are important in acidification [(Grabe & Oster, 2001).

This would extend our model of balanced HCl transport for mineral dissolution, but additional studies are required to understand the integration of this model (Blair et al., 2002), Figure 2. There is a pervasive cytoskeletal-src dependence of proper targeting for the ion transporters of osteoclasts (Zuo et al., 2006: Tehrani et al., 2006: Abu-Amer et al., 1997: Soriano et al., 1991). The actin-directed disposition of CLIC protein has also been observed in microvilli of placental cells (Berryman et al., 2004). In osteoclasts the coordinated disposition of V-ATPase and CLIC required for full expression of the bone resorption phenotype (Edwards et al., 2006). It is clear that much of the osteoclasts organization exists to support the massive acid secretion for bone calcium solubilization.

To complete bulk calcium transport, the high calcium solution at the osteoclast attachment (Silver et al., 1988) must be moved to and diluted in the extracellular space. Some calcium may be released when the osteoclast detaches, occurring under normal circumstances at intervals of roughly one day, but the volume of solublized bone producing calcium and phosphate is too great for this to be



Figure 2. Bulk calcium transport by the osteoclast. Net acid transport is driven by the vacuolar-type H^+ -ATPase with a specialized large membrane subunit. Transport is balanced by chloride transport, probably involving both a chloride channel (CLIC-5) and a chloride bicarbonate antiporter (CLCN7). Supporting transport processes include chloride-bicarbonate exchange. Insertion of transporters is specific for subcellular locations and involves interaction of transporters with specific cytoskeletal components, including actin (See Colour Plate 29)

the sole mechanism. Studies using confocal imaging and labeled matrix showed that the bulk transport of calcium and other degraded membrane components by vacuolar transcytosis through the osteoclast plays a role in this process (Nesbitt and Horton, 1997; Salo et al., 1997). However, there is also good evidence for calcium binding proteins and an epithelial calcium channel, TRPV5, that support a calcium-ferry mechanism (van der Eerden et al., 2005). The osteoclast has several other calcium transport proteins, including a Ca^{2+} ATPase (Bekker and Gay, 1990), which is expressed highly, as expected for a cell which may undertake significant cytoplasmic calcium transcytosis. Contrariwise, knockout of the TRPV5 calcium channel does not cause osteopetrosis, although rickets and hyperparathyroidism occur (Renkema et al., 2005). The massive calcium movement occurring

in bone resorption undoubtedly requires that the osteoclast have a mechanism for protecting cytoplasmic and organelle calcium content even if the bulk transport is vesicular. Therefore understanding the parallel contributions of transcytosis and cytoplasmic transport will require a quantitative analysis of their relative activities.

5. CALCIUM-DEPENDENT CELLULAR REGULATION IN THE OSTEOCLAST

5.1. Ca²⁺ Signalling in Osteoclasts

Osteoclasts show a cell membrane Ca^{2+} sensor function: this is not unexpected from the increases in ambient $[Ca^{2+}]$ to levels as high as 8–20 mM (Silver et al., 1988) following hydroxyapatite dissolution by osteoclastic activity. Thus, such extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ alterations alter bone resorptive activity in isolated rat osteoclasts (Malgaroli et al., 1989, Zaidi et al., 1989) following rapid and sustained changes in micro-spectrofluometrically determined cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$, cell retraction ('R' effect) and longer-term inhibition of enzyme release and bone resorption (Datta et al., 1989a correct to 1989, Zaidi et al., 1989, Moonga et al., 1990; Zaidi, 1990). These findings suggest an existence of long and short term feedback mechanisms on both enzyme release (Zaidi et al., 1989; Moonga et al., 1990) and osteoclastic bone resorptive activity (Datta et al., 1989) controlled by the increases in extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ that result from the latter process.

Cell physiological studies using fura-2 fluorescence to measure increases in free cytsolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ suggested that such signals likely arise both through release of intracellularly stored Ca^{2+} and extracellular Ca^{2+} entry. Thus, ionomycin applications elicited cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ transients in osteoclasts exposed to Ca^{2+} -free external solutions that fully recovered to baseline, persisted following surface membrane potential manipulations but disappeared following repeated ionophore application as would have been expected by progressive depletion of Ca^{2+} stores. Restoration of extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ then elicited cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ overshoots consistent with the capacitative Ca^{2+} entry reported in other cells. In contrast Ca^{2+} transients in osteoclasts studied in Ca^{2+} -containing bathing solutions decayed to sustained levels and persisted despite repeated ionophore application. (Shankar et al., 1994).

5.2. Evidence for a Surface Membrane Ca²⁺ Receptor (CaR)

Neither the increase in cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ nor the associated cell retraction or inhibition of bone resorption appear to involve voltage-dependent L-type Ca²⁺ channels. These were largely insensitive to both dihydropyridine or phenylalky-lamine Ca²⁺ channel specific reagents even under depolarizing conditions (Datta et al., 1990; see also: Zaidi et al., 1990). The available evidence favours specialist cellular mechanisms that sense ambient $[Ca^{2+}]$ that parallel situations described in

a number of other cell types, including CT-secreting thyroid parafollicular cells, parathyroid hormone (PTH)-secreting chief cells of the parathyroid gland (Brown et al., 1993), gastrointestinal enterocytes (Gama et al., 1997; Pazianas et al., 1995) renin-secreting renal juxtaglomerular and proximal tubular cells (Riccardi et al., 1995), neurones (Quinn et al., 1997), cytotrophoblasts (Lundgren et al., 1994), keratinocytes (Zaidi, 1990; Brown, 1991) and testicular Leydig cells (Adebanjo et al., 1998a).

Such a hypothesis would similarly suggest for the osteoclast an existence of specific surface membrane Ca²⁺ receptors (CaR) sensitive to higher, millimolar, $[Ca^{2+}]$ changes than some of the other examples suggested above. Nevertheless, one could then suggest an activation scheme in which Ca²⁺ acts both as extracellular regulator and intracellular messenger. This suggestion was compatible with the action of even some membrane-impermeant divalent or trivalent ions that similarly triggered cytosolic [Ca²⁺] changes: this would remain compatible with their interaction with a surface membrane CaR (Malgaroli et al., 1989; Zaidi et al., 1991; Zaidi et al., 1992a; Shankar et al., 1992a,b). Thus, applications of the divalent cation Ni²⁺ as surrogate extracellular trigger elicited rapid, concentration-dependent, cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ elevations. These showed use-dependence inactivation, persisted despite extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ deprivation, and a dependence on agonist $[Ni^{2+}]$ suggesting a unity Hill coefficient. They were prevented by prior depletion of intracellular Ca²⁺ stores by ionomycin and modified by extracellular levels of the divalent cations, Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} . They were potentiated by acidification from pH 7.8 to 4 suggesting possible linkages between Ca²⁺ sensing and extracellular acidification. The latter effect persisted in Ca²⁺-free, EGTA-containing solutions, implicating actions on the release of intracellularly stored Ca²⁺ as opposed to its entry from the extracellular space (Adebanjo et al., 1994). Finally, alterations of membrane voltage produced by altered extracellular [K⁺] in the presence of a valinomycin ionophore modified both the activation and inactivation kinetics of the [Ca²⁺] transients (Shankar et al., 1995a; Pazianas et al., 1993). Findings of this kind were clearly compatible with regulation of cytosolic [Ca²⁺] through a integral surface membrane receptor for the divalent cation regulators Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ that was also sensitive to the surrogate agonist Ni²⁺, whose occupancy activated and subsequently inactivated release of intracellularly stored Ca2+.

5.3. Functional Consequences of CaR Activation

Such a CaR activation were accompanied by a specific causally related set of functional and morphometric events culminated in a reduction of bone resorptive activity over hours (Bax et al., 1993; Bax et al., 1992; Zaidi et al., 1992b; Shankar et al., 1993) and reduced acid phosphatase release, whose extent depended on agonist concentration. These effects followed a pronounced cell retraction (R effect) but preserved granule movement, cell migration, and quantitative indicators of margin ruffling. Again, they could be reproduced following application of different alkaline

earth or other metal cations in a common potency sequence: $La^{3+} > Cd^{2+} > Ni^{2+} > Ca^{2+} > Ba^{2+} = Sr^{2+} > Mg^{2+}$ (Zaidi et al., 1991; Shankar et al., 1992a), again consistent with actions at a single surface membrane CaR (Zaidi et al., 1991).

The CaR activation mechanism also appeared to interact with other regulatory processes involving more systemic mechanisms that influence osteoclast activity. Physiological, femtomolar, CT concentrations reduced the sensitivity of the CaR system to both Ca²⁺ and Ni²⁺. Amylin, calcitonin gene-related peptide, cholera toxin and dibutyryl-cAMP, all believed to act through the osteoclast cAMP signaling system exerted similar effects (Zaidi et al., 1996). Such cross coupling phenomena may also involve cytokine systems particularly those involving interleukin-6 (IL-6). Osteoclast surface membrane expresses IL-6 receptor, and IL-6 but not IL-11 reversed the inhibition of osteoclastic bone resorption induced by high extracellular Ca²⁺. This effect was reversed by excess soluble IL-6 receptor. IL-6 also inhibited cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ signals triggered by extracellular Ca^{2+} or Ni^{2+} . Conversely, elevated ambient [Ca²⁺] or their culture on a bony matrix increased osteoclastic IL-6 secretion as well as IL-6 receptor mRNA expression. Together such observations suggest that ambient $[Ca^{2+}]$ enhances secretion of IL-6 that in turn attenuates Ca²⁺ sensing and Ca²⁺ inhibition of bone resorption in an autocrine-paracrine loop that sustains osteoclastic activity despite local elevations in extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ generated by bone resorption. (Adebanjo et al 1998c).

Finally, both vitamin D-binding protein (DBP) and the macrophage-activating factor (DBP-MAF) left following removal of its sialic acid or galactose residue inhibit extracellular Ca^{2+} and cation sensing with the order of potency: native DBP = sialidase-treated DBP > beta-galactosidase-treated DBP (Adebanjo et al., 1998b).

5.4. Ca²⁺ Recovery in the Osteoclast

Mechanisms that then restore the basal cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ levels remain unclear. Besides a Ca²⁺-ATPase on the osteoclast dorsal surface relatively little is known of alternative or parallel methods for Ca²⁺ extrusion (Zaidi et al., 1993) although there is recent functional, evidence for a Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger that, in analogy to the regulation of cytoplasmic $[Ca^{2+}]$ in cardiac muscle could be linked to the proton extrusion that is a primary determinant of the rate and extent of bone resorption (Moonga et al., 2001).

In common with other cellular systems, refilling of Ca^{2+} stores following their release appears to depend upon a thapsigargin-sensitive Ca^{2+} -ATPase. Furthermore, such store depletion appears to induce a capacitative Ca^{2+} influx. Thus, the Ca^{2+} -ATPase inhibitor thapsigargin produced the expected elevation of cytosolic [Ca^{2+}] in osteoclasts studied in Ca^{2+} -free extracellular solutions. Restoration of the extracellular [Ca^{2+}] then produced a cytosolic [Ca^{2+}] overshoot. Similar effects followed Ca^{2+} store depletion by ionomycin in cells bathed in EGTA-containing solutions when extracellular [Ca^{2+}] was similarly restored. Both studies suggested capacitative Ca^{2+} influx processes from the extracellular space by a cytosolic route (Shankar et al., 1994).

5.5. Functional Evidence for Ryanodine Receptor (RyR) Participation in Osteoclast Ca²⁺ Sensing

Increasing evidence implicates the rvanodine-receptor (RvR) in the transduction processes described here. Initial indications for this came from experiments that investigated the effect of perchlorate ions, known to facilitates skeletal muscle excitation-contraction coupling processes through acting on the RyR-Ca²⁺ release channel, on osteoclast function. Its intravenous infusion reduced plasma [Ca] in rats. Perchlorate reduced in vitro cortical bone resorption, induced transient cytosolic free $[Ca^{2+}]$ elevations, and marked and sustained cell retraction in isolated cultured osteoclasts whilst conserving cell motility parameters or of supernatant concentrations of tartrate-resistant (osteoclastic) acid phosphatase (Moonga et al., 1991). Conversely, the RyR-inhibitor dantrolene Na inhibits Ca^{2+} -induced cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ elevations (Miyauchi et al., 1990). Furthermore, ryanodine itself induced transient elevations of cytosolic [Ca²⁺] in fura 2-loaded osteoclasts to extents dependent upon surface membrane potential. Conversely the RyR agonist caffeine triggered releases of intracellularly stored Ca²⁺ through a bell-shaped concentration-response curve that varied with extracellular [Ca²⁺] whilst inhibiting Ni²⁺-induced elevations in cytosolic [Ca²⁺] [Shankar et al., 1995b].

These physiological findings prompted labeling and fluorescence studies that went on more directly to implicate a RyR, or at the very least a RyR-like molecule, that uniquely existed in the cell surface as opposed to the microsomal membrane of the osteoclast, in the process by which changes in extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ become transduced into elevations of cytosolic [Ca²⁺]. Certainly extracellular applications of the cell-impermeant RyR modulators ruthenium red and adenosine 3',5'-cyclic diphosphate ribose (cADPr) both triggered elevations in cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ that were sensitive to manipulations of the surface membrane voltage. Both modulators additionally attenuated cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ responses to external Ni²⁺ applications (Adebanjo et al., 1996). This correlated well with binding and microscopy studies that demonstrated that [³H]-ryanodine specifically bound to freshly isolated rat osteoclasts but was then displaced by ryanodine itself, the CaR agonist Ni²⁺ and the RyR antagonist ruthenium red. Labelled ryanodine inhibited but antisera raised to an epitope located within the channel-forming domain of the type II RyR potentiated Ni²⁺-induced cytosolic Ca²⁺ elevations. Serial confocal sections and immunogold scanning electron microscopy localized a staining to the plasma membrane staining by antiserum directed to a putatively intracellular RyR epitope only staining fixed, permeabilized cells in a distinctive cytoplasmic pattern (Zaidi et al., 1995).

Additionally, possible roles for cADPr in regulation of a surface RyR were suggested by demonstrations of cytosolic mRNA for the multifunctional ADP-ribosyl cyclase, CD38 which catalyzes NAD⁺ cyclization to cADPr, known in turn to gate Ca^{2+} release through microsomal membrane-resident ryanodine receptors (RyRs). Both confocal microscopy and Western blotting then localized the CD38 protein to the plasma membrane (Sun et al., 1999).

5.6. Is Ca²⁺ Sensing Coupled to Changes in Cytosolic [Ca²⁺]?

A possible involvement of a unique cell surface-situated RyR by which extracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ is transduced into changes in intracellularly stored $[Ca^{2+}]$ nevertheless leaves a number of mechanistic questions unresolved. It remains uncertain as to whether the RyR-2 also itself functions as the Ca²⁺ sensor, conceivably through its intraluminal low-affinity Ca²⁺ binding site (Anderson et al., 1989) or is coupled to a distinct intramembrane entity of the conventional 7-pass G-protein coupled types described elsewhere (Kameda et al., 1998). The mechanism by which such a surface event would induce a release of intracellularly stored Ca²⁺ remains unclear. Finally, the role of such a unique surface membrane site in the osteoclast for the RyR in longer term osteoclast regulation certainly merits further exploration (Adebanjo et al., 1999; Gerasimenko et al., 1995; Santella & Carafoli, 1997).

6. FINAL THOUGHTS

Calcium is a unique cation in living systems because of it dominant role in intracellular signaling. Therefore bone cells which must handle massive amounts of this mineral take special care in its regulation. Sustained elevation of intracellular calcium leads to cell death that is not effectively opposed by the usual regulators of apoptosis. We have undertaken to present what is known about how bone cells deal with calcium. However much remains to be learned and the acquisition of this knowledge will inform our treatment of many important medical conditions.

REFERENCES

- Accardi A, Walden M, Nguitragool W, Jayaram H, Williams C, Miller C. 2005. Separate Ion Pathways in a Cl⁻/H⁺ Exchanger. J Gen Physiol 126:263–570.
- Abu-Amer Y, Ross FP, Schlesinger P, Tondravi MM, Teitelbaum SL. 1997. Substrate recognition by osteoclast precursors induces {C}-src/microtubule association. J. Cell Biol 137:247–258.
- Adebanjo OA, Biswas G, Moonga BS, Anandatheerthavarada HK, Sun L, Bevis PJ, Sodam BR, Lai FA, Avadhani NG, Zaidi M. 2000. Novel biochemical and functional insights into nuclear Ca²⁺ transport through IP3Rs and RyRs in osteoblasts. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 278: F784–91.
- Adebanjo OA, Anandathreethavarada HK, Koval AP, Moonga BS, Biswas G, Sun L, Sodam BR, Bevis PJR, Huang CL-H, Epstein S, Lai FA, Avadhani NG, Zaidi M. 1999. A new function for CD38/ADP-ribosyl cyclase in nuclear Ca²⁺ homeostasis. Nature Cell Biology 7: 409–414.
- Adebanjo OA, Igietseme J, Huang CL-H, Zaidi, M. 1998a. The effect of extracellularly applied divalent cations on cytosolic Ca²⁺ in murine leydig cells: evidence for a Ca²⁺-sensing receptor. Journal of Physiology 513: 399–410.
- Adebanjo OA, Moonga BS, Haddad JG, Huang CL-H, Zaidi, M. 1998b. A possible new role for vitamin D-binding protein in osteoclast control. Inhibition of Ca²⁺ sensing at low physiological concentrations. Biochem Biophys Res Commun249: 668–671.
- Adebanjo OA, Moonga BS, Yamate T, Sun L, Minkin C, Abe E, Zaidi M. 1998c. Mode of action of interleukin-6 on mature osteoclasts. Novel interactions with extracellular Ca²⁺ sensing in the regulation of osteoclastic bone resorption. J Cell Biol 142: 1347–1356.
- Adebanjo OA, Shankar VS, Pazianas M, Simon BJ, Lai FA, Huang CL-H, Zaidi M. 1996. Extracellularly applied ruthenium red and cADP ribose elevate cytosolic Ca²⁺ in isolated rat osteoclasts. Am J Physiol 270: F469–F475.

- Adebanjo OA, Shankar VS, Pazianas M, Zaidi A, Huang CL-H, Zaidi M. 1994. Modulation of the osteoclast Ca²⁺ receptor by extracellular protons. Possible linkage between Ca²⁺ sensing and extracellular acidification. Biochem Biophys Res Commun194: 742–747.
- Akisaka T, Yoshida H, Suzuki R. 2006. The ruffled border and attachment regions of the apposing membrane of resorbing osteoclasts as visualized from the cytoplasmic face of the membrane.J Electron Microsc (Tokyo) 55:53–61.
- Anderson K, Lai F., Liu QY, Rousseau E, Erickson HP, Meissner G. 1989.. Structural and functional characterization of the purified cardiac ryanodine receptor-Ca²⁺ release channel complex. J Biol Chem 264: 1329–35.
- Armour KE, Armour KJ, Gallagher ME, Godecke A, Helfrich MH, Reid DM, Ralston SH. 2001. Defective bone formation and anabolic response to estrogen in mice with targeted disruption of eNOS. Endocrinology 142: 760–6.
- Ashley RH. 2003. Challenging accepted ion channel biology: p64 and the CLIC family of putative intracellular anion channel proteins. Mol Membr Biol 20: 1–11.
- Balmain N, Berdal A, Hotton D, Cuisinier-Gleizes P, Mathieu H. 1989. Calbindin-D9K immunolocalization and vitamin D-dependence in the bone of growing and adult rats. Histochemistry 92: 359–65.
- Bax BE, Shankar VS, Bax CMR., Alam ASMT, Zara SJ, Pazianas M., Huang CL-H, Zaidi M. 1993. Functional consequences of the interaction of Ni^{2+} with the osteoclast Ca^{2+} receptor. Exper Physiol 78: 517–529.
- Bax CM, Shankar VS, Moonga BS, Huang CL-H, Zaidi M. 1992. Is the osteoclast calcium "receptor" a receptor-operated calcium channel? Biochem Biophys Res Commun183: 619–625.
- Bekker PJ, Gay CV. 1990. Characterization of a Ca²⁺-ATPase in osteoclast plasma membrane. J Bone Miner Res 5: 557–67.
- Bennett BD, Alvarez U, Hruska KA. 2001. Receptor-operated osteoclast calcium sensing. Endocrinology 142: 1968–74.
- Bergh JJ, Shao Y, Puente E, Duncan RL, Farach-Carson MC. 2006. Osteoblast Ca²⁺ permeability and voltage-sensitive Ca²⁺ channel expression is temporally regulated by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Am J Physiol 290: C822–31.
- Berry KL, Bulow HE, Hall DH, Hobert O. 2003. A C. elegans CLIC-like Protein Required for Intracellular Tube Formation and Maintenance. Science 302: 2134–37.
- Berryman M, Bruno J, Price J, Edwards JC. 2004. CLIC-5A functions as a chloride channel in vitro and associates with the cortical actin cytoskeleton in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem 279: 34794–801.
- Bikle DD, Halloran BP. 1999. The response of bone to unloading. J Bone Miner Metab 17: 233-44.
- Blair HC, Borysenko CW, Villa A, Schlesinger PH, Kalla SE, Yaroslavskiy BB, Garcia-Palacios V, Oakley JI, Orchard PJ. 2004. In vitro differentiation of CD14 cells from osteopetrotic subjects: contrasting phenotypes with TCIRG1, CLCN7, and attachment defects. J Bone Miner Res 19: 1329–38.
- Blair HC, Zaidi M., Schlesinger PH. 2002. Mechanisms Balancing Skeletal Matrix Synthesis and Degradation. Biochem J, 364: 329–341.
- Blair HC, Schlesinger PH. 1990. Purification of a stilbene sensitive chloride channel and reconstitution of chloride conductivity into phsopholipid vesicles. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 171: 920–25.
- Blair HC, Teitelbaum SL, Ghiselli R, Gluck S. 1989. Osteoclastic bone resorption by a polarized vacuolar proton pump. Science 245: 855–7.
- Blair HC, Teitelbaum SL, Tan HL, Koziol CM, Schlesinger PH. 1991. Passive chloride permeability charge coupled to H⁺-ATPase of avian osteoclast ruffled membrane. Am J Physiol 260: C1315–24.
- Boutahar N, Guignandon A, Vico L, Lafage-Proust MH. 2004. Mechanical strain on osteoblasts activates autophosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase and proline-rich tyrosine kinase-2 tyrosine sites involved in ERK activation. J Biol Chem 279: 30588–99.
- Bowler WB, Littlewood-Evans A, Bilbe G, Gallagher JA, Dixon CJ. 1998. P2Y2 receptors are expressed by human osteoclasts of giant cell tumor but do not mediate ATP-induced bone resorption. Bone 22: 195–200.

Boyer PD. 1997. The ATP synthase-a splendid molecular machine. Annu Rev Biochem 66:717-49.

- Bradford PG, Maglich JM, Kirkwood KL. 2000. IL-1β increases type 1 inositol trisphosphate receptor expression and IL-6 secretory capacity in osteoblastic cell cultures. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 3: 73–5.
- Brandt S, Jentsch TJ. 1995. CIC-6 and CIC-7 are two novel broadly expressed members of the CLC chloride channel family. FEBS Lett 377: 15–20.
- Brown EM. 1991. Extracellular Ca²⁺ sensing, regulation of parathyroid cell function, and role of Ca²⁺ and other ions as extracellular (first) messengers. Physiol Rev 71: 371–411.
- Brown EM, Gamba G, Riccardi ID, Lombardi M, Butters R, Kifor O, Sun A, Hediger MA, Lytton J, Hebert SC. 1993. Cloning and characterization of an extracellular calcium sensing receptor from bovine parathyroid. Nature 366: 575–9.
- Bugel S. 2005. Vitamin k and bone health. Proc. Nutri. Soc 62: 839-843.
- Bushinsky D. 2001. Acid-base imbalance and the skeleton. Eur J Nutr 40: 238-244.
- Carano A., Schlesinger PH, Athanasou NA, Teitelbaum, SL, Blair, HC. 1993. Acid and base effects on avian osteoclast activity. Am. J. Physiol., 264: C694–701.
- Carn G, Koller DL, Peacock M, Hui SL, Evans WE, Conneally PM, Johnston CC Jr, Foroud T, Econs MJ. 2002. Sibling pair linkage and association studies between peak bone mineral density and the gene locus for the osteoclast-specific subunit of the vacuolar proton pump on chromosome 11p12–13. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87: 3819–24.
- Chen X, Macica CM, Ng KW, Broadus AE. 2005. Stretch-induced PTH-related protein gene expression in osteoblasts. J Bone Miner Res 20:1454–61.
- Civitelli R, Beyer EC, Warlow PM, Robertson AJ, Geist ST, Steinberg TH. 1993. Connexin43 mediates direct intercellular communication in human osteoblastic cell networks. J. Clin. Invest 91: 1888–1896.
- Cleiren E, Benichou O, Van Hul E, Gram J, Bollerslev J, Singer FR, Beaverson K, Aledo A, Whyte MP, Yoneyama T, deVernejoul MC, Van Hul W. 2001. Albers-Schonberg disease (autosomal dominant osteopetrosis, type II) results from mutations in the CICN7 chloride channel gene. Hum Mol Genet 10: 2861–7.
- Cretin A. 1951. Contribution histochimique a etude de la construction et de la destruction osseuse. La Presse Medicale 59: 1240–1242.
- Danciu TE, Adam RM, Naruse K, Freeman MR, Hauschka PV. 2003. Calcium regulates the PI3K-Akt pathway in stretched osteoblasts. FEBS Lett 536: 193–7.
- Datta HK, MacIntyre I, Zaidi M. 1989. The effect of extracellular calcium elevation on morphology and function of isolated rat osteoclasts. Bioscience Reports 9, 747–51.
- Datta HK, MacIntyre I, Zaidi M. 1990. Intracellular calcium in the control of osteoclast function. I. Voltage-insensitivity and lack of effects of nifedipine, BAYK8644 and diltiazem. Biochem Biophys Res Commun167: 183–8.
- Davidson RM. 1993. Membrane stretch activates a high-conductance K⁺ channel in G292 osteoblasticlike cells. J Membr Biol 131:81–92.
- Davies GHE, Madesh M. 2004. Calcium signaling and apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 304: 445–54.
- Deakins M, Burt RL. 1944. The deposition of calcium, phosphorus, and carbon dioxide in calcifying dental enamel. J Biol Chem 156: 77.
- Diewald L, Rupp J, Dreger M, Hucho F, Gillen C, Nawrath H. 2002. Activation by acidic pH of CLC-7 expressed in oocytes from Xenopus laevis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 291: 421–424.
- Duncan R, Misler S. 1989. Voltage-activated and stretch-activated Ba2+ conducting channels in an osteoblast-like cell line (UMR 106). FEBS Lett 251: 17–21.
- Eberhardt AW, Yeager-Jones A, Blair HC. 2001. Regional trabecular bone matrix degeneration and osteocyte death in femora of glucocorticoid- treated rabbits. Endocrinology 142: 1333–40.
- Edwards JC, Cohen C, Xu W, Schlesinger PH. 2006. c-Src Control of Chloride Channel Support for Osteoclast HCl Transport and Bone Resorption. J Biol Chem 281: 28011–22.
- Elsegood CL, Zhuo Y, Wesolowski GA, Hamilton JA, Rodan GA, Duong LT. 2006. M-CSF induces the stable interaction of cFms with $\alpha V\beta 3$ integrin in osteoclasts. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 38: 1518–1529.

- Eu JP, Xu L, Stamler JS, Meissner G. 1999. Regulation of ryanodine receptors by reactive nitrogen species. Biochem Pharmacol 57: 1079–84.
- Falsafi R, Tatakis DN, Hagel-Bradway S, Dziak R. 1991. Effects of inositol trisphosphate on calcium mobilization in bone cells. Calcif Tissue Int 49: 333–9.
- Finbow ME, Harrison MA. 1997. The vacuolar H⁺-ATPase: a universal proton pump of eukaryotes. Biochem J 324 697–712.
- Gama L, Baxendale-Cox LM, Breitwieser GE. 1997. Ca²⁺-sensing receptors in intestinal epithelium. Am J Physiol 273: C1168–75.
- Gay CV, Lloyd QP. 1995. Characterization of calcium efflux by osteoblasts derived from long bone periosteum. Comp Biochem Physiol A Physiol. 111: 257–61.
- Gerasimenko OV, Gerasimenko JV, Tepikin AV, Petersen OH. 1995. ATP-dependent accumulation and inositol trisphosphate- or cyclic ADP-ribose-mediated release of Ca²⁺ from the nuclear envelope. Cell 80: 439–444.
- Gofa A, Davidson RM. 1996. NaF potentiates a K+-selective ion channel in G292 osteoblastic cells. J Membr Biol 149: 211–9.
- Golden LH, Insogna KL. 2004. The expanding role of PI3-kinase in bone. Bone 34: 3-12.
- Grabe, M., Oster, G. 2001. Regulation of Organelle Acidity. J. Gen. Physiol. 117:329–343.
- Gu Y, Preston MR, Magnay J, El Haj AJ, Publicover SJ. 2001. Hormonally-regulated expression of voltage-operated Ca²⁺ channels in osteocytic (MLO-Y4) cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 282: 536–42.
- Hattori T, Maehashi H, Miyazawa T, Naito M. 2001. Potentiation by stannous chloride of calcium entry into osteoblastic MC3T3-E1 cells through voltage-dependent L-type calcium channels. Cell Calcium 30: 67–72.
- Heiss NS, Poustka A. 1997. Genomic structure of a novel chloride channel gene, CLIC2, in Xq28. Genomics 45: 224–8.
- Henriksen Z, Hiken JF, Steinberg TH, Jorgensen NR. 2006. The predominant mechanism of intercellular calcium wave propagation changes during long-term culture of human osteoblast-like cells. Cell Calcium 39: 435–44.
- Hessle L, Johnson KA, Anderson HC, Narisawa S, Sali A, Goding JW, Terkeltaub R, Millan JL. 2002. Tissue-nonspecific alkaline phosphatase and plasma cell membrane glycoprotein-1 are central antagonistic regulators of bone mineralization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99: 9445–9.
- Hirota J, Baba M, Matsumoto M, Furuichi T, Takatsu K, Mikoshiba K. 1998. T-cell-receptor signalling in inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor (IP3R) type-1-deficient mice: is IP3R type 1 essential for T-cell-receptor signalling? Biochem J 333: 615–9.
- Ho AM, Johnson MD, Kingsley DM. 2000. Role of the mouse ank gene in control of tissue calcification and arthritis. Science 289: 265–70.
- Hoebertz A, Arnett TR, Burnstock G. 2003. Regulation of bone resorption and formation by purines and pyrimidines. TRENDS in Pharm. Sci., 24, 290–297.
- Huang MS, Adebanjo OA, Awumey E, Biswas G, Koval A, Sodam BR, Sun L, Moonga BS, Epstein J, Goldstein S, Lai FA, Lipschitz D, Zaidi M. 2000. IP(3), IP(3) receptor, and cellular senescence. Am J Physiol 278: F576–84.
- Hughes S, Magnay J, Foreman M, Publicover SJ, Dobson JP, El Haj AJ. 2006. Expression of the mechanosensitive 2PK⁺ channel TREK-1 in human osteoblasts. J Cell Physiol 206: 738–48.
- Hughes-Fulford M. 2004. Signal transduction and mechanical stress. Sci STKE. 2004: RE12.
- Hurle B, Ignatova E, Massironi SM, Mashimo T, Rios X., Thalmann I., Thalman R. Ornitz DM. 2003. Non-syndromic vestibular disorder with otoconial agenesis in Tilted/Mergulhador mice caused by mutations in otopetrin 1. Human Molecular Genetics 12: 777–89.
- Hurle B, Lane K, Kenney J, Tarantino LM, Bucan M, Brownstein BH, Ornitz M. 2001. Physical mapping of the mouse tilted locus identifies an association between human deafness loci dfna6/14 and vestibular system development. Genomics 77: 189–99.
- Iqbal J, Kumar K, Sun L, Zaidi M. 2006. Selective Upregulation of the ADPribosyl-cyclases CD38 and CD157 by TNF but not by RANK-L Reveals Differences in Downstream Signaling. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 291: F557–66.

- Jentsch TJ, Poet M, Fuhrmann JC, A-A, Zdebik AA. 2005. Physiological Functions of ClC Cl⁻ Channels Gleaned from Human Genetic Disease and Mouse Models. Ann Rev Physiol 67: 779–807.
- Jorgensen NR, Teilmann SC, Henriksen Z, Civitelli R, Sorensen OH, Steinberg TH. 2003. Activation of L-type calcium channels is required for gap junction-mediated intercellular calcium signaling in osteoblastic cells. J Biol Chem 278: 4082–6.
- Kameda T, Mano H, Yamada Y, Takai H, Amizuka N, Kobori M, Izumi N, Kawashima H, Ozawa H, Ikeda K, Kameda A, Hakeda Y, Kumegawa M. 1998. Calcium-sensing receptor in mature osteoclasts, which are bone resorbing cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun245: 419–22.
- Kamioka H, Sugawara Y, Murshid SA, Ishihara Y, Honjo T, Takano-Yamamoto T. 2006. Fluid shear stress induces less calcium response in a single primary osteocyte than in a single osteoblast: implication of different focal adhesion formation. J Bone Miner Res 21: 1012–21.
- Kasper, D., Planells-Cases, R., Fuhrmann, J.C., Scheel, O., Zeitz, O., Ruether, K., Schmitt, A., Poe, M., Steinfeld, R., Schweizer, M., Kornak, U., Jentsch, T.J. 2005. Loss of the chloride channel CIC-7 leads to lysosomal storage disease and neurodegeneration. EMBO J 24: 1079–1091.
- Kirkwood KL, Homick K, Dragon MB, Bradford PG. 1997. Cloning and characterization of the type I inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptor gene promoter. Regulation by 17β- estradiol in osteoblasts. J Biol Chem 272: 22425–31.
- Kizer N, Guo XL, Hruska K. 1997. Reconstitution of stretch-activated cation channels by expression of the alpha-subunit of the epithelial sodium channel cloned from osteoblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 94: 1013–8.
- Kornak U, Kasper D, Bosl MR, Kaiser E, Schweizer M, Schulz A, Friedrich W, Delling G, Jentsch TJ. 2001. Loss of the CIC-7 chloride channel leads to osteopetrosis in mice and man. Cell 104: 205–15.
- Kos CH, Karaplis AC, Peng JB, Hediger MA, Goltzman D, Mohammad KS, Guise TA, Pollak MR. 2003. The calcium-sensing receptor is required for normal calcium homeostasis independent of parathyroid hormone. J Clin Invest 111: 1021–8.
- Lakkakorpi PT, Lehenkari PP, Rautiala TJ, Vaananen HK. 1996. Different calcium sensitivity in osteoclasts on glass and on bone and maintenance of cytoskeletal structures on bone in the presence of high extracellular calcium. J Cell Physiol 168: 668–77.
- Lee HS, Millward-Sadler SJ, Wright MO, Nuki G, Salter DM. 2000. Integrin and mechanosensitive ion channel-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion proteins and beta-catenin in human articular chondrocytes after mechanical stimulation. J Bone Miner Res 15: 1501–9.
- Li W, Duncan RL, Karin NJ, Farach-Carson MC. 1997. 1,25 (OH)₂D3 enhances PTH-induced Ca²⁺ transients in preosteoblasts by activating L-type Ca²⁺ channels. Am J Physiol. 273: E599–605.
- Li YP, Chen W, Liang Y, Li E, Stashenko P. 1999. Atp6i-deficient mice exhibit severe osteopetrosis due to loss of osteoclast-mediated extracellular acidification. Nat Genet. 23: 447–451.
- Lotz M, Rosen F, McCabe G, Quach J, Blanco F, Dudler J, Solan J, Goding J, Seegmiller JE, Terkeltaub R. 1995. Interleukin 1 beta suppresses transforming growth factor-induced inorganic pyrophosphate (PPi) production and expression of the PPi-generating enzyme PC-1 in human chondrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 92: 10364–8.
- Lu Z, Jiang YP, Ballou LM, Cohen IS, Lin RZ. 2005. G α q inhibits cardiac L-type Ca²⁺ channels through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. J Biol Chem 2005 280: 40347–54.
- Lundgren S, Hjalm G, Hellman P, Ek B, Juhlin C, Rastad J, Klareskog L, Akerstrom G, Rask L. 1994. A protein involved in calcium sensing of the human parathyroid and placental cytotrophoblast cells belongs to the LDL-receptor protein superfamily. Exper Cell Res 212: 344–50.
- MacKenna DA, Dolfi F, Vuori K, Ruoslahti E. 1998. Extracellular signal-regulated kinase and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase activation by mechanical stretch is integrin-dependent and matrix-specific in rat cardiac fibroblasts. J Clin Invest 101: 301–10.
- Malgaroli, A., Meldolesi, J., Zallone, A. Z. & Teti, A. 1989. Control of cytosolic free calcium in rat and chicken osteoclasts. The role of extracellular calcium and calcitonin. J Biol Chem 264: 14342–7.
- Marcantoni A, Levi RC, Gallo MP, Hirsch E, Alloatti G. 2006. Phosphoinositide 3-kinaseγ controls L-type calcium current through its positive modulation of type-3 phosphodiesterase. J Cell Physiol 206: 329–36.

- Mattsson JP, Li X, Peng S-B, Nilsson F, Adersen P, Lundberg LG, Stone DK, Keeling DJ. 2000. Properties of three isoforms of the 116-kDa Subunit of vacuolar H⁺-ATPase from a single vertebrate species. Cloning, gene expression and protein characterization of functionally distinct isoforms in *Gallus domesticus*. Euro J Bioch 267: 4115–26.
- Miyauchi A, Alvarez J, Greenfield EM, Teti A, Grano M, Colucci S, Zambonin-Zallone A, Ross FP, Teitelbaum SL, Cheresh D. 1991. Recognition of osteopontin and related peptides by an alpha v beta 3 integrin stimulates immediate cell signals in osteoclasts. J Biol Chem. 266: 20369–74.
- Miyauchi A, Hruska KA, Greenfield EM, Duncan R, Alvarez J, Barattolo R, Colucci S, Zambonin-Zallone A, Teitelbaum SL, Teti A. 1990. Osteoclast cytosolic calcium, regulated by voltage-gated calcium channels and extracellular calcium, controls podosome assembly and bone resorption. J Cell Biol 111: 2543–52.
- Moonga BS, Li S, Iqbal J, Davidson R, Shankar VS, Bevis PJ, Inzerillo A, Abe E, Huang CL, Zaidi M. 2002. Ca²⁺ influx through the osteoclastic plasma membrane ryanodine receptor. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 282: F921–32.
- Moonga BS, Datta HK, Bevis PJR, Huang C.-H, MacIntyre I, Zaidi M. 1991. Correlates of osteoclast function in the presence of perchlorate ions in the rat. Exper Physiol 76: 923–33.
- Moonga BS, Davidson R, Sun L, Adebanjo OA, Moser J, Abedin M, Zaidi N, Huang CL-H, Zaidi M. 2001. Identification and characterization of a sodium/calcium exchanger, NCX-1, in osteoclasts and its role in bone resorption. Biochem Biophys Res Commun283: 770–5.
- Moonga BS, Moss DW, Patchell A, Zaidi M. 1990. Intracellular regulation of enzyme secretion from rat osteoclasts and evidence for a functional role in bone resorption. J Physiol 429: 29–45.
- Morrison MS, Turin L, King BF, Burnstock G, Arnett TR. 1998. ATP is a potent stimulator of the activation and formation of rodent osteoclasts. J Physiol. 511: 495–500.
- Nesbitt SA, Horton MA. 1997. Trafficking of matrix collagens through bone-resorbing osteoclasts. Science 27: 266–9.
- Neuman WF, Neuman MW. 1958. The chemical dynamics of bone mineral. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Nishi T, Forgac M. 2002. The vacuolar H⁺-ATPases Natures most versitile proton pumps. Nature Rev 3: 94–102.
- Nishiya Y, Kosaka N, Uchii M, Sugimoto S. 2002. A potent 1,4-dihydropyridine L-type calcium channel blocker, benidipine, promotes osteoblast differentiation. Calcif Tissue Int 70: 30–9.
- Nomura S, Takano-Yamamoto T. 2000. Molecular events caused by mechanical stress in bone. Matrix Biol 19: 91–6.
- Nurnberg P, Thiele H, Chandler D, Hohne W, Cunningham ML, Ritter H, Leschik G, Uhlmann K, Mischung C, Harrop K, Goldblatt J, Borochowitz ZU, Kotzot D, Westermann F, Mundlos S, Braun HS, Laing N, Tinschert S. 2001. Heterozygous mutations in ANKH, the human ortholog of the mouse progressive ankylosis gene, result in craniometaphyseal dysplasia. Nat Genet 28: 37–41.
- Pazianas M, Adebanjo OA, Shankar VS, James SY, Colston KW, Maxwell JD, Zaidi M. 1995. Extracellular cation sensing by the enterocyte. Prediction of a novel divalent cation receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Comm210: 948–53.
- Pazianas M, Zaidi M, Huang CL-H, Moonga BS, Shankar VS. 1993. Voltage-sensitivity of the osteoclast calcium receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun192: 1100–5.
- Pendleton A, Johnson MD, Hughes A, Gurley KA, Ho AM, Doherty M, Dixey J, Gillet P, Loeuille D, McGrath R, Reginato A, Shiang R, Wright G, Netter P, Williams C, Kingsley DM. 2002. Mutations in ANKH cause chondrocalcinosis. Am J Hum Genet. 71:933–40.
- Pi M, Faber P, Ekema G, Jackson PD, Ting A, Wang N, Fontilla-Poole M, Mays RW, Brunden KR, Harrington JJ, Quarles LD. 2005. Identification of a novel extracellular cation-sensing G-proteincoupled receptor. J Biol Chem 280:40201–9.
- Picollo, A., Pusch, M. 2005. Chloride/proton antiporter activity of mammalian CLC proteins ClC-4 and ClC-5. Nature 436:420–423.
- Piper RC, Luzio JP. 2004. CUPpling calcium to lysosomal biogenesis. TRENDS in Cell Biol. 14: 471–3.

- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA, Simonetti DW, Craig S, Marshak DR. 1999. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284: 143–7.
- Quinn SJ, Ye CP, Diaz R, Kifor O, Bai M., Vassilev P, Brown E. 1997. The Ca²⁺-sensing receptor: a target for polyamines. Am J Physiol 273: C1315–23.
- Radding W, Jordan SE, Hester RB, Blair HC. 1999. Intracellular calcium puffs in osteoclasts. Exp Cell Res. 253: 689–96.
- Reichenberger E, Tiziani V, Watanabe S, Park L, Ueki Y, Santanna C, Baur ST, Shiang R, Grange DK, Beighton P, Gardner J, Hamersma H, Sellars S, Ramesar R, Lidral AC, Sommer A, Raposo do Amaral CM, Gorlin RJ, Mulliken JB, Olsen BR. 2001. Autosomal dominant craniometaphyseal dysplasia is caused by mutations in the transmembrane protein ANK. Am J Hum Genet 68:1321–6.
- Renkema KY, Nijenhuis T, van der Eerden BC, van der Kemp AW, Weinans H, van Leeuwen JP, Bindels RJ, Hoenderop JG. 2005. Hypervitaminosis D mediates compensatory Ca²⁺ hyperabsorption in TRPV5 knockout mice. J Am Soc Nephrol 16: 3188–95.
- Rezzonico R, Cayatte C, Bourget-Ponzio I, Romey G, Belhacene N, Loubat A, Rocchi S, Van Obberghen E, Girault JA, Rossi B, Schmid-Antomarchi H. 2003. Focal adhesion kinase pp125FAK interacts with the large conductance calcium-activated hSlo potassium channel in human osteoblasts: potential role in mechanotransduction. J Bone Miner Res 18: 1863–71.
- Riccardi D, Park J, Lee WS, Gamba G, Brown EM, Hebert SC. 1995. Cloning and functional expression of a rat kidney extracellular calcium/polyvalent cation-sensing receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92: 131–5.
- Riddle RC, Taylor AF, Genetos DC, Donahue HJ. 2006. MAP kinase and calcium signaling mediate fluid flow-induced human mesenchymal stem cell proliferation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 290: C776–84.
- Romanello M, Padoan M, Franco L, Veronesi V, Moro L, D'Andrea P. 2001. Extracellular NAD⁺ induces calcium signaling and apoptosis in human osteoblastic cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 285: 1226–31.
- Ruwhof C, van der Laarse A. 2000. Mechanical stress-induced cardiac hypertrophy: mechanisms and signal transduction pathways. Cardiovasc Res 47: 23–37.
- Ryder KD, Duncan RL. 2001. Parathyroid hormone enhances fluid shear-induced $[Ca^{2+}]i$ signaling in osteoblastic cells through activation of mechanosensitive and voltage-sensitive Ca^{2+} channels. J Bone Miner Res 16: 240–8.
- Sadoshima J, Takahashi T, Jahn L, Izumo S. 1992. Roles of mechano-sensitive ion channels, cytoskeleton, and contractile activity in stretch-induced immediate-early gene expression and hypertrophy of cardiac myocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 89: 9905–9.
- Salo J, Lehenkari P, Metsikko K, Vanananen HK. 1997. Removal of osteoclast bone resorption products by transcytosis. Science 276: 270–273.
- Santella L, Carafoli E. 1997. Calcium signaling in the cell nucleus. FASEB J 11: 1091-2109.
- Scheel O, Zdebik AA, Lourdel S, Jentsch TJ. 2005. Voltage-dependent electrogenic chloride/proton exchange by endosomal CLC proteins. Nature 436: 424–7.
- Schlesinger PH, Blair HC, Teitelbaum SL, Edwards JC. 1997. Characterization of the osteoclast ruffled border chloride channel and its role in bone resorption. J Biol Chem 272: 18636–43.
- Schlesinger PH, Mattsson JP, Blair HC. 1994. Osteoclastic Acid Transport: Mechanism and Implications for Physiology and Pharmacological Regulation. Mineral Eletrolyte Metab 20: 31–9.
- Seisenberger C, Specht V, Welling A, Platzer J, Pfeifer A, Kuhbandner S, Striessnig J, Klugbauer N, Feil R, Hofmann F. 2000. Functional embryonic cardiomyocytes after disruption of the L-type alpha1C (Cav1.2) calcium channel gene in the mouse. J. Biol. Chem., 275: 39193–9.
- Shankar VS, Alam AS, Bax CM, Bax BE, Pazianas M, Huang CL-H, Zaidi, M. 1992a. Activation and inactivation of the osteoclast Ca²⁺ receptor by the trivalent cation, La³⁺. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 187: 907–12.
- Shankar VS, Bax CMR, Bax BE, Alam ASMT., Simon B, Pazianas M, Moonga BS, Huang CL-H, Zaidi M. 1993. Activation of the Ca²⁺ receptor on the osteoclast by Ni²⁺ elicits cytosolic Ca²⁺ signals:

Evidence for receptor activation and inactivation, intracellular Ca^{2+} redistribution and divalent cation modulation. J Cell Physiol 155: 120–9.

- Shankar V S, Bax CM, Alam A., Bax BE, Huang CL-H, Zaidi M. 1992b. The osteoclast Ca²⁺ receptor is highly sensitive to activation by transition metal cations. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 187: 913–8.
- Shankar VS, Huang CL-H, Adebanjo OA, Pazianas M, Zaidi M. 1994. Calcium influx and release in isolated rat osteoclasts. Exper Physiol 79: 537–545.
- Shankar VS, Huang CL-H, Adebanjo OA, Simon BJ, Alam ASMT, Moonga BS, Pazianas M, Scott RH, Zaidi M. 1995. The effect of membrane potential on surface Ca²⁺ receptor activation in rat osteoclasts. J Cell Physiol 162: 1–8.
- Shankar VS, Pazianas M, Huang CL-H, Simon B, Adebanjo OA, Zaidi M. 1995. Caffeine modulates Ca²⁺ receptor activation in isolated rat osteoclasts and induces intracellular Ca²⁺ release. Am J Physiol 268: F447–54.
- Silver IA, Murrills RJ, Etherington DJ. 1988. Microelectrode studies on the acid microenvironment beneath adherent macrophages and osteoclasts. Exper Cell Res 175: 266–276.
- Soriano P, Montgomery C, Geske R, Bradley A. 1991. Targeted disruption of the c-src proto-oncogene leads to osteopetrosis in mice. Cell 64: 693–702.
- Splawski I, Timothy KW, Decher N, Kumar P, Sachse FB, Beggs AH, Sanguinetti MC, Keating MT. 2005. Severe arrhythmia disorder caused by cardiac L-type calcium channel mutations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 102: 8089–96.
- Stains JP, Weber JA, Gay CV. 2002. Expression of Na+/Ca²⁺ exchanger isoforms (NCX1 and NCX3) and plasma membrane Ca²⁺-ATPase during osteoblast differentiation. J Cell Biochem 84: 625–35.
- Sun L, Adebanjo OA, Koval A, Anandatheerthavarada HK, Iqbal J, Wu XY, Moonga BS, Wu XB, Biswas G, Bevis PJ, Kumegawa M, Epstein S, Huang CL, Avadhani NG, Abe E, Zaidi M. 2002. A novel mechanism for coupling cellular intermediary metabolism to cytosolic Ca²⁺ signaling via CD38/ADP-ribosyl cyclase, a putative intracellular NAD+ sensor. FASEB J. 16: 302–14.
- Sun L, Iqbal J, Dolgilevich S, Yuen T, Wu XB, Moonga BS, Adebanjo OA, Bevis PJ, Lund F, Huang CL, Blair HC, Abe E, Zaidi M. 2003. Disordered osteoclast formation and function in a CD38 (ADPribosyl cyclase)-deficient mouse establishes an essential role for CD38 in bone resorption. FASEB J 17: 369–75.
- Sun L, Adebanjo OA, Moonga BS, Corisdeo S, Anandatheerthavarada HK, Biswas G, Arakawa T, Hakeda Y, Koval A, Sodam B, Bevis PJ, Moser AJ, Lai FA, Epstein S, Troen BR, Kumegawa M, Zaidi M. 1999. CD38/ADP-ribosyl cyclase: a new role in the regulation of osteoclastic bone resorption. J Cell Biology 146: 1161–71.
- Suzuki H., Ikeda K, Furukawa M., Takasaka T. 1997. P2 purinoceptor of the globular substance in the otoconial membrane of the guinea pig inner ear. Am J Physiol 273: C1533–40.
- Tehrani, S., Faccio, R., Ross, F.P., Cooper, J.A. 2006. Cortactin has an essential and highly specific role in osteoclast actin assembly. Molec. Biol. Cell., epub 2006.
- Teti A, Grano M, Colucci S, Argentino L, Barattolo R, Miyauchi A, Teitelbaum SL, Hruska KA, Zambonin Zallone A. 1989. Voltage dependent calcium channel expression in isolated osteoclasts. Boll Soc Ital Biol Sper 65: 1115–8.
- Turnbull CI, Looi K, Mangum JE, Meyer M, Sayer RJ, Hubbard MJ. 2004. Calbindin independence of calcium transport in developing teeth contradicts the calcium ferry dogma. J Biol Chem. 279: 55850–4.
- van der Eerden BC, Hoenderop JG, de Vries TJ, Schoenmaker T, Buurman CJ, Uitterlinden AG, Pols HA, Bindels RJ, van Leeuwen JP. 2005. The epithelial Ca²⁺ channel TRPV5 is essential for proper osteoclastic bone resorption.Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102: 17507–12.
- Vaananen HK, Zhao H, Halleen JH. 2000. The cell biology of osteoclast function. J Cell Sci 113: 377–81.
- Watanabe S, Fukumoto S, Chang H, Takeuchi Y, Hasegawa Y, Okazaki R, Chikatsu N, Fujita T. 2002. Association between activating mutations of calcium-sensing receptor and Bartter's syndrome. Lancet 360: 692–4.

Weber P. 2001. Vitamin K and bone health. Nutrition 17: 880-7.

- Whyte MP, Landt M, Ryan LM, Mulivor RA, Henthorn PS, Fedde KN, Mahuren JD, Coburn SP. 1995. Alkaline phosphatase: placental and tissue-nonspecific isoenzymes hydrolyze phosphoethanolamine, inorganic pyrophosphate, and pyridoxal 5'-phosphate. Substrate accumulation in carriers of hypophosphatasia corrects during pregnancy. J Clin Invest 95: 1440–5.
- Wiebe SH, Sims SM, Dixon SJ. 1999. Calcium signalling via multiple P2 purinoceptor subtypes in rat osteoclasts. Cell Physiol Biochem 9: 323–37.
- Williams CJ, Zhang Y, Timms A, Bonavita G, Caeiro F, Broxholme J, Cuthbertson J, Jones Y, Marchegiani R, Reginato A, Russell RG, Wordsworth BP, Carr AJ, Brown MA. 2002. Autosomal dominant familial calcium pyrophosphate dihydrate deposition disease is caused by mutation in the transmembrane protein ANKH. Am J Hum Genet. 71: 985–91.
- Wiltink A, Van Duijn B, Weidema AF, De Vos A, van der Meer JM, Nijweide PJ, Ypey DL. 1994. Differential depolarization-activated calcium responses in fetal and neonatal rat osteoblast-like cells. Calcif Tissue Int 54: 278–83.
- Xia SL, Ferrier J. 1992. Propagation of a calcium pulse between osteoblastic cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 186: 1212–9.
- Xia SL, Ferrier J. 1996. Localized calcium signaling in multinucleated osteoclasts. J Cell Physiol 167: 148–55.
- Xu M, Welling A, Paparisto S, Hofmann F, Klugbauer N. 2003. Enhanced expression of L-type Cav1.3 calcium channels in murine embryonic hearts from Cav1.2-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 278: 40837–41.
- Yaroslavskiy BB, Zhang Y, Kalla SE, Garcia Palacios V, Sharrow AC, Li Y, Zaidi M, Wu C, Blair HC. 2005. NO-dependent osteoclast motility: reliance on cGMP-dependent protein kinase I and VASP. J Cell Science 118: 5479–87.
- Young MF. 2003. Bone matrix proteins: their function, regulation, and relationship to osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 14 Suppl 3: S35–42.
- Ypey DL, Weidema AF, Hold KM, Van der Laarse A, Ravesloot JH, Van Der Plas A, Nijweide PJ. 1992. Voltage, calcium, and stretch activated ionic channels and intracellular calcium in bone cells. J Bone Miner Res. 7 Suppl 2: S377–87.
- Zahanich I, Graf EM, Heubach JF, Hempel U, Boxberger S, Ravens U. 2005. Molecular and functional expression of voltage-operated calcium channels during osteogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Bone Miner Res 20: 1637–46.
- Zaidi M. 1990. "Calcium receptors" on eukaryotic cells with special reference to the osteoclast. Biosci Rep 10: 493–507.
- Zaidi M, Datta HK, Patchell A, Moonga B, MacIntyre I. 1989. 'Calcium-activated' intracellular calcium elevation: A novel mechanism of osteoclast regulation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 163: 1461–5.
- Zaidi, M., Huang, A. S. M. T., Shankar, V. S., Pazianas, M., Bax, B. E., Bax, C. M. R., Moonga, B. S., Bevis, P. J. R., Stevens, C. R., Blake, D. R., Huang, C. L.-H. 1993. Cellular biology of bone resorption. Biological Reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society 68, 197–264.
- Zaidi M, Kerby J, Huang C.-H, Alam ASMT, Rathod H, Chambers TJ, Moonga BS. 1991. Divalent cations mimic the inhibitory effects of extracellular ionized calcium on bone resorption by isolated rat osteoclasts: Further evidence for a "calcium receptor". J Cell Physiol 149: 422–7.
- Zaidi M, MacIntyre I, Datta, H. 1990. Intracellular calcium in the control of osteoclast function. II. Paradoxical elevation of cytosolic free calcium by verapamil. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 167: 807–12.
- Zaidi M., Shankar VS, Adebanjo OA, Lai FA, Pazianas M, Sunavala G, Spielman AI, Rifkin BR. 1996. Regulation of extracellular calcium sensing in rat osteoclasts by femtomolar calcitonin concentrations. Am J Physiol 271: F637–44.
- Zaidi M, Shankar VS, Bax CMR, Bax BE, Alam ASMT, Banerji B, Bevis PJR, Gill JS, Moonga BS, Huang CL-H. 1992a. Characterization of the osteoclast calcium receptor. In: Calcium Regulation and Bone metabolism. Eds: Cohn DV & Tashjian AR Jr., pp 170–4. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Zaidi M, Shankar VS, Towhidul Alam AS, Moonga BS, Pazianas M, Huang CL. 1992b. Evidence that a ryanodine receptor triggers signal transduction in the osteoclast. Biochem Biophys Res Commun.188: 1332–6.

- Zaidi M, Shankar VS, Tunwell R, Adebanjo OA, Mackrill J, Pazianas M, O'Connell D, Simon BJ, Rifkin BR, Venkitaraman AR, Huang, CL-H, Lai FA. 1995. A ryanodine receptor-like molecule expressed in the osteoclast plasma membrane functions in extracellular Ca²⁺ sensing. J Clin Invest 96: 1582–90.
- Zuo J, Jiang J, Chen SH, Vergara S, Gong Y, Xue J, Huang H, Kaku M, Holliday LS. 2006, Actin binding activity of subunit B of vacuolar H⁺-ATPase is involved in its targeting to ruffled membranes of osteoclasts. J Bone Miner Res 21: 714–21.

INDEX

Acantholytic dyskeratotic epidermal nevi, 337.353 Acquired hypoparathyroidism, 139 Acrokeratosis verruciformis of Hopf (Hopf disease), 337, 348, 353 Alzheimer disease, 12, 29, 30, 44, 61, 97, 100, 105, 110, 121, 122, 472, 474, 507 Amyloid beta, 101, 119, 144, 507 Amyloidosis, 55, 57, 61, 567 Annexin, 1-20, 96, 98, 108, 110, 113, 114, 563 Apoptosis, 16, 29, 30, 39, 43, 45, 55, 60, 100, 101, 104, 120, 121, 149, 157, 169, 179, 180, 194, 198, 205, 260, 323, 324, 327, 329-332, 351, 370, 405–416, 419, 437, 438, 445, 452, 453, 465, 466, 471, 472, 474, 475, 481, 490-492, 494, 495, 545, 553, 581, 584 Arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia type 2, 287, 297, 298, 300, 306, 273 ATP2A1, 337, 338, 346-348 ATP2A2, 337-339, 346, 349-355, 396, 583 ATP2A3, 337-339, 356 ATP2B, 365 ATP2C1, 351, 352, 385, 387, 388, 395-397, 399 ATP2C2, 385, 388, 389 Atrial fibrillation, 273, 283, 301, 303, 306 Autism spectrum disorders, 215, 235, 237, 239 Autosomal dominant hypoparathyroidism, 139, 140, 154, 155, 159 Brody disease, 337, 346-348 Ca²⁺ -binding proteins, 115, 345, 346, 467, 470

- Ca^{2+} pump, 337, 341, 345, 350, 351, 385, 392,
- 394, 397, 405, 415, 417, 420, 469, 474
- Ca²⁺ signalling, 100, 193, 254, 259, 323, 324, 329, 331, 332, 338, 341, 343, 344, 350–352, 356, 397, 405, 406, 408, 413, 416, 418–420, 465–471, 475, 476, 482, 492, 548, 581 Calcilytic, 139, 145, 157, 159

Calcimimetic, 139, 140, 145, 147, 149, 151, 154, 157–159

- Calcium, 1–4, 9–11, 13, 15, 19, 29, 31–37, 41, 42, 44, 45, 55, 57–60, 64, 71, 93, 95, 96, 98, 100, 102, 106, 111, 117, 139–141, 143–150, 153–159, 170, 215–217, 221, 223–227, 229–237, 239–243, 253, 260, 261, 274, 275, 281, 301, 307, 324, 342, 344, 347, 352, 353, 355, 365, 368–372, 376–378, 385, 405–418, 420, 429, 430, 437–454, 465–472, 474–476, 481, 489, 507–517, 523–525, 530, 531, 539–549, 552, 553, 563, 567, 568, 582, 584, 587, 588
- Calcium-activated proteases, 429, 446
- Calcium channels, 273, 281, 355, 369, 371, 372, 411, 413, 466, 467
- Calcium homeostasis, 10, 11, 13, 44, 45, 117, 139–141, 146, 147, 156, 157, 159
- Calcium-sensing receptor, 139-141, 144, 544
- Calcium signaling, 281, 323, 337, 353, 405, 406, 411, 417, 465, 476, 509, 539
- Calmodulin dependent protein kinase, 106, 169, 527, 572
- Calpain, 10, 29, 41-45
- Calpain-3, 29, 30, 36-41, 450
- Cancer, 1, 3, 16–18, 30, 55, 63, 64, 93, 94, 97, 102, 107–109, 111, 112, 115, 117, 120, 139, 144, 145, 157, 158, 169, 170, 175, 177, 179–181, 205, 337, 356, 370, 372, 377, 405–413, 415, 417–420, 494, 563
- Cardiac, 10, 11, 39, 64, 101, 103–105, 120, 158, 200, 201, 227, 234, 235, 243, 273–275, 278, 287, 296, 297, 299–301, 303, 306, 307, 344–346, 355, 356, 365, 371, 372, 379, 410, 430, 433, 435, 437, 440, 444, 445, 447, 453, 469, 523–525, 527, 530, 531, 533, 534, 546, 550
- Cardiomyopathy, 11, 93, 94, 97, 273, 283, 300–303, 435, 495, 523, 529–531, 533

Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia, 273, 287, 296-301, 304, 306, 533 Cell cycle regulation, 29, 94, 144, 169, 175, 176, 179.181 Cell death, 31, 44, 45, 64, 105, 179, 180, 221, 222, 226, 327, 329, 331, 332, 375, 405, 406, 409, 410, 418, 438, 446, 450, 452, 465, 466, 470-476, 481, 489, 490, 492-496, 508, 509, 553 Central core disease, 273, 276, 281-295, 297, 306, 578 Channel, 10, 13, 72, 73, 103, 106, 113, 148, 215-243, 253-267, 274, 277, 280, 282, 287, 296, 299-303, 306, 323, 324, 331, 351, 407, 408, 410, 411, 414, 416, 418, 429, 439, 441-453, 468, 472, 481-484, 487, 490, 509, 513-517, 523, 526, 545-549, 551, 552, 569, 572, 584, 585, 588 Chondrocalcinosis, 453, 539

- Cochlea, 365, 368
- Cognition, 116, 122, 148, 507, 509, 513, 514, 517
- Cone dystrophy, 71, 73, 78, 80-82, 569
- Darier disease (Darier-White disease), 337, 338, 346, 348–356, 395–397, 475, 583
- Deafness, 365, 373-376
- Diseases, 300–303, 306, 307, 323, 324, 332, 337, 338, 346–358, 365, 368–370, 372, 373, 375, 378, 379, 385, 386, 390, 395–397, 430, 450, 472, 474, 475, 481, 492–496, 507–509, 512, 515, 516, 523, 533, 534, 539–541, 543, 544, 563, 569, 578, 583
- Dominant cone dystrophy, 71, 78, 80, 81
- Ducky, 215, 241, 242
- Dystrophin-glycoprotein complex, 429, 432

EF-hand, 2, 10, 31, 33, 37, 41, 80, 81, 93, 94, 97–100, 108, 109, 111, 115–117, 170, 266, 346, 389, 390, 433

- EF-hand motif, 31, 32, 37, 41, 71, 77, 79, 82–85, 97, 98, 255, 431
- Embryonic lethality, 9–11, 78, 101, 324, 365, 369
- Endosome, 1, 14, 15, 148, 540
- Episodic ataxia type 2, 215, 217, 218, 224, 225, 240, 241
- Excitation-contraction coupling, 10, 227, 231, 234, 273, 274, 277, 279, 438, 447, 523, 551

- Familial hemiplegic migraine, 215, 217, 218, 221–229
- Familial hypocalciuric hypercalcemia, 139–141, 149–157, 159
- Fibrinolysis, 1, 3, 5, 10, 17, 563
- Gelsolin, 55–69, 566–568
- Glucocorticoid, 1, 11, 12, 541
- Golgi apparatus, 351, 353, 386, 389, 391, 393, 394, 397, 399
- Guanylate cyclase, 71–73, 75, 77, 78, 80–83, 85, 569, 570
- Guanylate cyclase-activating proteins (GCAPS), 71–79

Hailey-Hailey disease, 385, 386, 395

Hearing, 264, 365, 375, 376, 378, 379

- Heart, 1, 10, 11, 18, 30, 41, 103, 104, 106, 115, 157, 172, 204, 234, 235, 254, 287, 296, 302, 303, 337–339, 344, 345, 355, 356, 358, 368, 371, 410, 435, 466, 483, 486, 493, 524, 527, 530, 531, 533, 572
- Heart failure, 10, 105, 273, 283, 301–303, 337, 346, 356, 437, 523, 524, 527–531, 535
- Hematopoiesis, 169, 199, 205
- Human disease, 19, 29–53, 61, 73, 93, 94, 97, 121, 122, 145, 205, 253, 273, 275, 277, 288, 290, 292, 294, 337–363, 365, 372, 495, 508, 569
- Huntingtin, 323, 324, 326, 332, 494
- Hypercalcemia, 5, 139, 140, 146, 149–153, 155, 156, 158, 159
- Hyperparathyroidism, 139, 140, 145, 149–153, 156–159, 548
- Hypokalemic periodic paralysis, 215, 231, 233
- Hypophosphatasia, 539

Idiopathic generalized epilepsy, 215, 216, 237

Incomplete X-linked congenital stationary night blindness, 215, 228–230

- Inflammation, 1, 11, 12, 29, 55, 61–64, 93, 97, 101, 111, 112, 115, 120, 121, 260–263, 265, 267, 508
- Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate, 258, 323, 344

Intracellular calcium, 1, 29, 44, 48, 149, 170, 216, 217, 226, 227, 233, 253, 324, 370, 372, 411, 413, 418, 429, 439, 441, 443–445, 509, 510, 512, 513, 516, 539, 544, 553

- Kinase cascade, 169, 170, 172, 174, 175, 179, 433
- Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome, 215, 217, 227
- Leber congenital amaurosis (LCA), 71, 73, 76–78, 85, 569
- Lethargic, 215, 241
- Long term memory, 169, 181, 185, 186, 190, 191
- Long term potentiation, 29, 181, 185–188, 190, 191, 507, 514–517
- L-type, 10, 11, 104, 106, 215, 216, 227–229, 232, 234, 240, 274, 275, 303, 410, 444, 447, 448, 472, 510, 511, 513, 515, 525, 526, 544–546, 549, 572, 585
- Malignant hyperthermia, 273, 277-279, 283, 287
- Malignant hyperthermia susceptibility, 215, 231, 233, 234, 240, 280
- Memantine, 323, 332, 513, 517
- Membrane tears, 429, 437, 446, 453
- Metabolism regulation, 169
- Mitochondria, 8, 281, 323, 331, 347, 369, 405, 406, 411–413, 415, 416, 452, 467–470, 473, 475, 481–492, 494, 495, 509
- Mouse mutants, 365, 375
- Multi-minicore disease, 273, 283
- Muscle, 18, 19, 29, 30, 33, 35–41, 43, 57, 60, 63, 102–104, 110, 115, 119, 172, 200, 204, 215–217, 224, 227, 231–235, 240, 243, 254, 263–275, 277–283, 287, 289, 307, 337–339, 342, 344–348, 354–356, 358, 368–370, 372, 406, 415, 419, 429–454, 469, 483, 489, 494, 495, 525, 550, 551, 582
- Muscular dystrophy, 29–31, 38, 40, 429, 430, 438, 443, 451–454, 494, 495
- Mutations, 1, 7, 13, 15, 19, 30, 31, 38–40, 43, 57, 61, 62, 71, 73, 75–78, 109, 139, 140, 142, 149–155, 157, 159, 176, 177, 217, 218, 220–244, 253–255, 257–260, 263, 267, 273, 275–284, 286–288, 290, 292, 294, 296–301, 304, 306, 307, 324, 326, 332, 337, 346, 347, 349–351, 353–355, 365, 366, 369–371, 373–376, 378, 379, 389, 395–397, 399, 433–435, 475, 487, 494, 495, 508–510, 512, 513, 523, 524, 529–533, 543, 544, 546, 567, 569, 571, 573, 578, 583, 586
- Necrosis, 7, 29, 30, 39, 64, 415, 429, 435, 437, 438, 443, 447, 451–453, 465, 466, 471, 472, 474, 490, 495, 539 Neurite growth, 169, 192

- Neurodegeneration, 29, 44, 45, 323, 329, 474, 475
- NMDA receptor, 187, 192, 323, 327, 332, 495, 507, 513–515, 517
- Osteopetrosis, 539, 546-548
- Osteoporosis, 139, 145, 157, 159, 539
- P/Q-type, 215–217, 221–225, 227, 228, 240, 242, 243
- Pain, 122, 221, 224, 253, 254, 260–262, 264, 266, 267, 395
- Permeability transition pore, 331, 332, 416, 469, 481, 483, 485, 487–496
- Phospholipid, 1, 2, 4–7, 14, 31, 35, 265, 367, 448, 475
- PMCA, 106, 365–372, 377–379, 389, 409–411, 469, 470, 474, 572
- Polycystic kidney disease, 253, 254, 260
- Polyglutamine expansion, 226, 323
- Proliferation, 18, 101, 102, 105, 111, 121, 140, 147, 149, 169, 181, 259, 260, 351, 352, 370, 398, 405–411, 414–420, 481, 539, 545, 584
- RAGE, 93, 94, 99, 100, 108, 112, 114, 117-122
- Retina, 7–79, 81, 82, 85, 120, 365, 368, 376, 377, 379
- Rod and cone photoreceptors, 71, 74
- S100 proteins, 93, 94, 97–99, 103, 108–112, 114, 115, 117–122, 346
- Sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum (SER) Ca²⁺-ATPases (SERCA), 275, 337–358, 366, 373, 375, 385, 389, 391, 392, 397, 412–415, 417, 469, 475, 491, 510, 511, 523, 529, 531, 584
- Sarcolemma, 39, 41, 103, 275, 429, 431–433, 436–439, 441, 442, 444–446, 448, 451–453
- Sarcoplasmic reticulum, 10, 11, 173, 231
- Segmental Darier, 337, 349, 353, 583
- SERCA1, 275, 337–339, 341–348, 354, 389, 392, 393, 413, 582
- SERCA2, 103, 104, 106, 306, 337–339, 341–348, 350–357, 396, 397, 413, 415, 475, 524, 525, 528–531, 533, 572
- SERCA3, 337–339, 341–343, 345, 347, 348, 354, 356, 357, 413
- Seven transmembrane receptor, 139-141
- *Skin*, 60, 61, 103, 110–112, 234, 263, 337, 339, 346, 348, 349, 351–355, 358, 385, 386, 395–399, 583

SPCA, 385, 387–393, 397, 399
Sperm motility, 365, 369, 372, 378
Spinocerebellar ataxia type, 6, 215, 217, 218, 223, 226
Stargazin, 215, 242, 243
Sudden death, 235, 273, 301, 533

- T cell activation, 169, 194, 199
- Timothy syndrome, 215, 232, 234, 235
- Transgenic, 43, 78, 79, 100, 105, 174, 179, 184, 185, 187, 188, 190, 194, 195, 204, 260, 299, 324, 328, 431, 434, 451, 494, 507, 508, 513, 514, 517, 529, 531, 547
- Transient receptor potential, 113, 253–255, 257, 259–261, 264–267, 407, 418, 419, 429, 443, 445, 449, 473

T-type, 215, 216, 235–237, 239, 409, 410 Type 2 diabetes, 9, 29–31, 42–45

Vision, 80-82, 228, 230, 365

X-linked cone-rod dystrophy, 215, 228, 230, 231

- α₁ subunit, 215–217, 222, 226, 227, 229, 240–243, 279
- $\alpha_2\delta$ gubunit, 215–217, 240
- β subunit, 22, 199, 215, 217, 219, 240, 243, 545
- γ subunit, 73, 199, 215–217, 240



Plate 1. Schematic view of the putative roles of annexin 2 in disease pathology

A: Extracellular annexin 2 acts as a receptor for calcium oxalate crystals in collecting duct epithelial cells in Dent's disease. B: It acts as a receptor for respiratory syncytial virus and cytomegalovirus. C: It is necessary for maturation of the gag protein of HIV and virion maturation on the internal membranes of multivesicular bodies in macrophages. D: Annexin 2 is enriched in the PIP2 and actin-rich pedestals of non-invasive enteropathogenic E.coli. E: Annexin 2 acts as a 'fibrinolytic receptor' binding both tissue plasminogen activator (tPa) and Plasminogen (P) on the cell surface. Activated plamin (P) is then involved in degradation of fibrin (fib). F: Antibodies with specificity for annexin 2 (F) or the formation of Advanced Glycation Products (G) can interfere with the role of annexin 2 in fibrinolysis. Annexin 2 expression is often altered as normoplastic cells become cancer cells. This may reflect the role of annexin 2 in regulation of actin polymerisation. Dramatic changes in actin structure are associated with loss of focal adhesions (H) and the formation of invadopodia (I). Annexin 2 modulation of plamin activation (P) has knock-on effects on the activation of metalloproteinases (M) which degrade extracellular matrix (ECM) and encourage cellular migration. N is the nucleus. Annexin 2 is coloured green throughout (See Chapter 1 Figure 1, p. 3.)



Plate 2. 3D structure of heterodimeric m-calpain, from Suzuki et al., 2004 (See Chapter 2 Figure 1, p. 32.)



Plate 3. Domain organization of calpains from Branca, et al., 1999 (See Chapter 2 Figure 2, p. 34.)





Actin dynamics follows a complex kinetic that is regulated by actin binding proteins. ATP-bound globular actin (G-actin) first forms a trimer in a nucleation step after which rapid polymerization occurs into filamentous actin (F-actin). Due to the intrinsic ATP as activity of actin the growing filament comprises an ATP-actin cap and an aged ADP-actin tail. Gelsolin preferentially binds to the ADP-actin containing filaments and severs them. Gelsolin then remains attached to the + end (barbed end) of filaments as a cap blocking further addition of actin monomers. Uncapping of gelsolin can liberate polymerization competent filament ends and thereby induce actin polymerization (See Chapter 3 Figure 1, p. 56.)



Plate 5. Gelsolin structure.

Gelsolin is composed of six domains, named S1-S6, that have arisen from of an ancestral gene encoding a protein of about 15 kDa. Gelsolin activity is regulated by calcium binding (yellow ovals) and by phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) binding (black ovals). The isolated domain S1 contains severing activity, while domain S1-3 has capping activity. Biochemicals studies have identified three actin-binding sites (red ovals), a caspase-3 cleavage site (black arrow) and a furin cleavage site. In the Finnish type familial amyloidosis (FAF) a point mutations in gelsolin (orange star) activates the furin cleavage site eventually leading to aberrant intracellular cleavage and the production of amyloidogenic fragments (See Chapter 3 Figure 2, p. 57.)



Plate 6. Gelsolin activation by Ca²⁺.

Gelsolin is a Ca^{2+-} -activated actin filament severing protein. Depending on the Ca^{2+-} -concentration, gelsolin becomes gradually activated by controlled unfolding of the individual domains. Ca^{2+} opens up gelsolin by inducing a conformational change in the C-terminus (S4-6) to expose the actin binding sites on the N-terminus. This is called the "tail latch hypothesis".

In the presence of low calcium concentration, Ca^{2+} binds to the S6 domain, induces release of the C- tail domain and frees the actin binding sites present in domains S1-2. In order for severing to occur, higher concentrations of the ion are required. Additional calcium binding, most likely to domains S1, S2 and S4, fully activates the molecule, thus allowing severing to take place.

Activated gelsolin domains are shown as red hexagons and calcium ion concentrations required for each conformation change are indicated. F-actin is shown in yellow (See Chapter 3 Figure 3, p. 59.)



Plate 7. The rod phototransduction cascade and human diseases associated with mutations in GC1 and GCAP1. The main proteins of the cascade are shown in gray. GC1 and GCAP1 represent the main components of the Ca^{2+} -regulated GC in rods and cones responsibel for cGMP synthesis (See Chapter 4 Figure 2, p. 73.)



Plate 8. Stimulation of GC activity in ROS membranes by normal and mutant GCAP1s as a function of Ca²⁺. The dark shaded area indicates low $[Ca^{2+}]_{free}$ expected in the dark-adapted photoreceptors, the lighter shaded area reflects high $[Ca^{2+}]_{free}$ expected in the light. Mutant GCAP1s are active at Ca²⁺ concentrations which inactivate normal GCAP1 (See Chapter 4 Figure 8, p. 83.)



Plate 9. The structure of GCAP3 (Stephen et al., 2006). Residues that correspond to pathogenic mutation in GCAP1, the structure of which is unknown, is shown in yellow with the side chains. Ca^{2+} is shown as yellow spheres. Molecular graphics representations were created with PYMOL (Warren L. DeLano "The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System." DeLano Scientific LLC, San Carlos, CA, USA. http://www.pymol.org) (See Chapter 4 Figure 9, p. 84.)



Adapted from Nature Revisions Genetics, Nov 2004, 5, p814



Legend: S100A1 occurs in the cytoplasm and was shown to physically interact and functionally modulate the sarcoplasmatic reticulum calcium ATPase (SERCA2a) and the ryanodine receptor (RyR). In addition, S100A1 can bind phospholamban (PLB). Our preliminary in vivo results indicate that loss of S100A1 results in reduced Ca²⁺-induced Ca²⁺ release and prolonged Q-T intervals upon (-adrenergic stimulation (Ackermann et al. 2006, unpublished data). Abbreviations: adenylate cyclase (AC), A-kinase anchoring protein (AKAP), angiotensin II receptor (Ang-IIR), alpha and beta adrenergic receptor (α / β -AR), beta adrenergic receptor kinase (β -ARK), calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), calsequestrin (CSQ), dihydropyridine receptor (DHPR) or L-type calcium channel (LTCC), endothelin-1 receptor (ET-1R), FK506-binding protein (FKBP), G-proteins (Gq α and Gs α), phosphatase inhibitor 1(I-1), sodium/calcium exchanger (NCX), phospholipase C (PLC), plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA), protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C alpha (PKCA), protein phosphatase 1 (PP1), PP1 regulatory subunit 3A (Rg1), sarcoplasmatic reticulum (SR), transverse tubule (TT) (See Chapter 5 Figure 1, p. 106.)



Plate 11. Topology of the CaR showing naturally occuring mutations

Scissors indicate end of signal peptide, circled P's at amino acids T646, S794, S915, S895, T888 are protein kinase C sites, blue symbols are polymorphisms, green are inactivating mutations, red are activating mutations, and black on top of green are two inactivating mutations (See Chapter 6 Figure 1, p. 142.)


Plate 12. Schematic representation of the activation of the cdk4/cyclin D complex during G1. Evidence shows that CaMKI alpha, which can be activated by either CaMKK alpha or beta, activates the cdk4/cyclin D complex, leading to the phosphorylation of Rb and therefore de-repression of E2F transcription factor members. The mechanism by which CaMKI regulates cdk4/cyclin D remains to be determined. GFR, receptor for a growth factor; CAK, cdk activating kinase; p21/p27, members of the inhibitory Cip and Kip families, respectively; E2F 1-3, transcription factors 1-3 of the E2F family; Rb, Retinoblastoma protein; P, phosphorylation event (See Chapter 7 Figure 2, p. 178.)



Plate 13. Neuron representing different CaMK cascade pathways that might be activated after electrical stimulation of the cell. Electrical stimulation (represented as a wave on the top left corner) induces a surge of Ca²⁺, which binds to calmodulin and activates CaMKK a or β , which in turn activate CaMKIV (both activate CaMKIV, although in different neuron types), which proceeds to induce the expression of some genes, possibly by CREB phosphorylation. On the other hand, a CaMKK has been proposed to activate CaMKI α , which would crosstalk with the MAPK/ERK pathway and enhance translation of the mRNAs whose synthesis is regulated by the CaMKIV pathway. The production of such proteins is necessary for synaptic plasticity. Also, there is evidence that the CaMKK/CaMKI γ pathway is involved in dendrite growth, in particular stimulating the growth cone of the dendrites through activation of Wnt 2 expression. This figure a summary of data collected from the different mouse models and neuron types studied, and details of some of the CaMKK/CaMKI pathways still require clarification (See Chapter 7 Figure 3, p. 188.)



Plate 14. Schematic representation of the Ca²⁺/CaM/CaMKK/CaMKIV/CREB/immediate early genes/IL pathway in T cells. Activation only takes place after the triple stimulation of the TCR, IL-1R and CD4/8 receptors. The end point effect of CaMKIV, which is the synthesis of interleukins and other growth factors, is common to T cells and thymocytes. Interleukines and other growth factors may have an autocrine or a paracrine effect. The different pathways included here have been addressed using Camk4-/- mice models. Since the role of the CaMK cascade in hematopoietic stem cells and neutrophils is a little different, they are not included here (See Chapter 7 Figure 4, p. 197.)



Plate 15. Arcuate nucleus neuron representing a CaMKK β /AMPK cascade pathway that might be activated after hormonal stimulation. Stimulation by hormones such as ghrelin induce a surge in cytoplasmic Ca²⁺, which binds to calmodulin and activates CaMKK β , which in turn activates AMPK a by phosphorylation. Active AMPK can either promote transcription of some orexygenic factors such as neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related peptide (AgRP), or can phosphorylate metabolic enzymes such as acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC). Both NPY (N) and AgRP (A) are paracrine factors that will target other neurons of the central nervous system. This pathway is based on observations in Camkk2–/– mice as well as on several cell lines. Intermediate steps that are currently unknown are represented by several arrows in a row (See Chapter 7 Figure 5, p. 204.)



Plate 16. RyR1 Sequences and Disease Mutations. A) Arrangement of RyR1 in the SR membrane, indicating the transmembrane domains. B) Location of transmembrane, cytoplasmic, P-loop, and lumenal regions in the primary sequence of RyR1. C-E) Location of MH, MH + CCD, and CCD mutations in the primary amino acid sequence of RyR1 (See Chapter 10 Figure 1, p. 276.)



Plate 17. RYR1 structure at 9.5 Å. The color ribbons represent a helices, the inner helix is labeled red, the pore helix green, and other helices are colored blue or purple (See Chapter 10 Figure 2, p. 276.)



Plate 18. Htt^{exp} facilitates InsP₃R1-mediated Ca²⁺ release in cultured MSN.

The images show Fura-2 340/380 ratios in transfected rat MSN. Pseudocolor calibration scale for 340/380 ratios is shown on the right. The recordings are performed in Ca²⁺-free ACSF containing 100 μ M EGTA. GFP images (1st column) were captured before Ca²⁺ imaging to identify transfected cells (arrowheads). InsP₃R1-mediated Ca²⁺ release is initiated by addition of 10 μ M DHPG, a specific mGluR1/5 agonist. Ratio recordings are shown for DHPG-induced Ca²⁺ transients in MSN neurons transfected with EGFP (first row), EGFP + Htt-23Q (second row), EGFP + Htt-82Q (third row), and EGFP + Htt-138Q (fourth row). The 340/380 ratio images are shown for MSN neurons 1 min before (2nd column), and 8 sec, 30 sec, 1 min, 2 min, and 3 min after application of 10 μ M DHPG as indicated. Adapted from (Tang et al., 2003) (See Chapter 11 Figure 3, p. 326.)



Plate 19. In vitro HD assay.

(A) 14 DIV MSN from wild type (WT), YAC18 and YAC128 mice were exposed to a range of glutamate concentrations for 8 h, fixed, permeabilized and analyzed by TUNEL staining (green) and propidium iodide counterstaining (PI). (B) The fraction of TUNEL-positive MSN nuclei was determined as shown on panel A and plotted against glutamate concentration for wild type (WT) (open circles), YAC128 (filled circles), and YAC18 (filled triangles) mice. At each glutamate concentration the data are shown as mean \pm SD (n = 4–6 microscopic fields, 200–300 MSN per field). At 100 μ M and 250 μ M glutamate the fraction of TUNEL-positive MSN is significantly (p < 0.05) higher for YAC128 than for WT or YAC18. Similar results were obtained with 10 independent MSN preparations. Adapted from (Tang et al. 2005) (See Chapter 11 Figure 5, p. 330.)



Plate 20. Ca2+ hypothesis of HD.

Glutamate released from corticostriatal projection neurons stimulates NR1A/NR2B NMDAR and mGluR5 receptors abundantly expressed in striatal MSN (Landwehrmeyer et al., 1995; Testa et al., 1995). Htt^{exp} affects Ca²⁺ signaling in HD MSN by sensitizing InsP₃R1 to activation by InsP₃ (Tang et al., 2003), stimulating NR2B/NR1 NMDAR activity (Chen et al., 1999; Sun et al., 2001; Zeron et al., 2002), and destabilizing mitochondrial Ca²⁺ handling (Panov et al., 2002; Choo et al., 2004). As a result, stimulation of glutamate receptors leads to supranormal Ca²⁺ responses in HD MSN and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload. Once mitochondrial Ca²⁺ storage capacity is exceeded, mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) opens, leading to release of cytochrome c into the cytosol and activation of caspases 9 and 3. Activation of caspase-3 leads to progression of apoptosis, MSN degeneration and HD. The model is supported by ability of blockers (shown in red) to reduce glutamate-induced apoptosis of YAC128 MSN to wild type levels in our experiments. The blockers which were effective in our experiments are: NMDAR blocker (+)MK801 and NR2B-specific blocker ifenprodil; mGluR1/5-specific blockers MPEP and CPCCOEt; membrane-permeable InsP₃R1 blockers 2-APB and Enoxaparin; MCU blocker Ru360, MPTP blockers BKA, Nortriptyline, Desipramine and Trifluoperazine, membrane-permeable caspase-9 blocker Z-LEHD-FMK and caspase-3 blocker Z-DEVD-FMK. Adapted from (Tang et al., 2005) (See Chapter 11 Figure 6, p. 331.)



Plate 21. Ribbon diagram showing the different domains in the crystal structure of the rabbit skeletal muscle Ca^{2+} -ATPase (SERCA1) at 2.6 A resolution. The cytoplasmic region of the molecule is organized in three interacting domains: the nucleotide-binding (N) domain in red, which binds ATP; the phosphorylation (P) domain in yellow encompassing the phosphorylation site at Asp351, and the actuator (A) domain in blue. The transmembrane domain (M) in green comprises ten SER-transmembrane domains (M1–M10), four of which (M4, M5, M6 and 8) form the Ca²⁺ (red spheres) binding pocket. Stalk domains (S) link cytoplasmic domains to transmembrane domains. Major conformational changes occur during ATP-energized Ca²⁺ transport (Reprinted from (MacLennan et al., 2002) with permission from Elsevier) (See Chapter 12 Figure 2, p. 342.)



Plate 22. **a**, Clinical aspect of Darier disease showing extensive and confluent keratotic and inflammatory papules on the back of a 27 years old patient; **b**, Histology of affected skin in Darier disease showing suprabasal cleft of the epidermis containing acantholytic cells, associated with hyperkeratosis and rounded dyskeratotic cells (« corps ronds » or « grains »); **c**, Acantholytic epidermal naevi (segmental Darier disease). Limited and unilateral distribution of keratotic papules following Blaschko lines on the lower abdominal region. These lesions correspond to somatic mosaicism for an ATP2A2 mutation. (Courtesy of Dr Susan Burge, Department of Dermatology, Churchill hospital, Oxford, UK) (See Chapter 12 Figure 4, p. 349.)



Plate 23. Endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ pool as a key determinant of cell destiny. Each panel shows cellular plasma membrane (PM) and endoplasmic reticulum membrane (ERM) incorporating key Ca²⁺-handling molecules: store operated channels (SOC), SERCA pump and ER leak channels. The inset graphs show ER calcium concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_{FR}$) characteristic of each depicted state. Stable growth (upper left panel) is characterized by balanced expression of the SERCA pump and ER leak channel that provide optimal basal calcium filling of the ER (blue symbols marked by "2" in the inset graph). Transient decreases in the $[Ca^{2+}]_{FR}$ caused by physiological stimuli (red symbols marked by "1" in the inset graph) do not impair stable growth. Increased growth (upper right panel) is characterized by sustained elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_{ER}$ (red symbols in the inset graph) mainly due to SERCA pump overexpression; the result is stimulated cell proliferation. Lowered growth (lower left panel) is characterized by a small decrease in the basal $[Ca^{2+}]_{FR}$ (red symbols in the inset graph) due to SERCA pump underexpression, which slows cell proliferation, but does not induce apoptosis yet. Apoptosis (lower right panel) can be induced by massive reduction in $[Ca^{2+}]_{ER}$ (red symbols marked by "1" in the inset graph); big long-lasting reduction in $[Ca^{2+}]_{ER}$ (blue symbols marked by "2" in the inset graph) due to substantial decrease in SERCA pump expression (marked by slash) and increased leak (marked as thiker arrows through the channels) shifts the whole balance towards growth arrest and enhanced programmed death. Black arrows indicate possible transitions between the states (See Chapter 15 Figure 1, p. 414.)



Plate 24. Schematic representation of PLN Regulation of the SR Ca-ATPase Ca-affinity, which reflects altered SR Ca-load (green dots in SR) (See Chapter 20 Figure 1, p. 526.)



Plate 25. Both PKA and CaMKII have common molecular targets in E-C Coupling (ICa, RyR and PLN), The specific amino acids that are targets for phosphorylation (P) differ between PKA and CaMKII, as well as the intensity of functional regulation (indicated by arrow thickness). Both kinases may bind directly to the RyR and L-type Ca channel (via an anchoring protein for PKA) (See Chapter 20 Figure 2, p. 526.)



Plate 26. Schematic representation of the effects of Human PLN Mutations on the SR Ca-ATPase Activity and contractility under basal and isoproterenol (PKA)-stimulated conditions (See Chapter 20 Figure 3, p. 532.)



Plate 27. Calsequestrin (CSQ) is the main intra-SR Ca buffering protein, and its structure and interaction with other CSQ and partner proteins (triadin and junctin) is influenced by intra-SR [Ca]. In addition to its role as a low affinity Ca buffer, CSQ may also regulate RyR gating via its interaction with triadin and junctin (See Chapter 20 Figure 4, p. 532.)



Plate 28. Bulk calcium transport by the osteoblast. While chondrocytes are individual cells embedded in an acellular matrix, and calcify the matrix focally by producing high local concentrations of phosphate, osteoblasts are arrayed in a three-dimensional organized matrix that allows calcium to be deposited in an efficient site-directed mechanism. The osteoblasts are connected into sheets of cells at the surface of bone by gap junctions containing connexin-43. The osteoblasts secrete an organic matrix comprised mainly of type I collagen, which is oriented in layers alternately along the axis of stretch of the bone and orthogonal to this axis. There are also minor proteins, including the calcium binding low molecular weight protein osteocalcin, which facilitate mineral deposition. Mineral deposition is driven by alkaline phosphates activity which degrades pyrophosphate. Pyrophosphate can be transported either by membrane transporters including ANKH, or may be produced locally by nucleoside pyrophosphatase (PC-1) activity. The high phosphate produced is balanced by calcium transport and by alkalinization of the mineralization site, which are required for continuing mineral deposition, but the specific transporters involved in these activities are unclear (See Chapter 21 Figure 1, p. 542.)



Plate 29. Bulk calcium transport by the osteoclast. Net acid transport is driven by the vacuolar-type H^+ -ATPase with a specialized large membrane subunit. Transport is balanced by chloride transport, probably involving both a chloride channel (CLIC-5) and a chloride bicarbonate antiporter (CLCN7). Supporting transport processes include chloride-bicarbonate exchange. Insertion of transporters is specific for subcellular locations and involves interaction of transporters with specific cytoskeletal components, including actin (See Chapter 21 Figure 2, p. 552.)